

Report of the WHO Expert Committee on Selection and Use of Essential Medicines, 2023 (including the 23rd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 9th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children)



1049

The World Health Organization was established in 1948 as a specialized agency of the United Nations serving as the directing and coordinating authority for international health matters and public health. One of WHO's constitutional functions is to provide objective and reliable information and advice in the field of human health, a responsibility that it fulfils in part through its extensive programme of publications.

The Organization seeks through its publications to support national health strategies and address the most pressing public health concerns of populations around the world. To respond to the needs of Member States at all levels of development, WHO publishes practical manuals, handbooks and training material for specific categories of health workers; internationally applicable guidelines and standards; reviews and analyses of health policies, programmes and research; and state-of-the-art consensus reports that offer technical advice and recommendations for decision-makers. These books are closely tied to the Organization's priority activities, encompassing disease prevention and control, the development of equitable health systems based on primary health care, and health promotion for individuals and communities. Progress towards better health for all also demands the global dissemination and exchange of information that draws on the knowledge and experience of all WHO's Member countries and the collaboration of world leaders in public health and the biomedical sciences.

To ensure the widest possible availability of authoritative information and guidance on health matters, WHO secures the broad international distribution of its publications and encourages their translation and adaptation. By helping to promote and protect health and prevent and control disease throughout the world, WHO's books contribute to achieving the Organization's principal objective – the attainment by all people of the highest possible level of health.

The *WHO Technical Report Series* makes available the findings of various international groups of experts that provide WHO with the latest scientific and technical advice on a broad range of medical and public health subjects. Members of such expert groups serve without remuneration in their personal capacities rather than as representatives of governments or other bodies; their views do not necessarily reflect the decisions or the stated policy of WHO.

To purchase WHO publications, please contact: WHO Press, World Health Organization, 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland; email: bookorders@who.int; order online: www.who.int/bookorders.

WHO Technical Report Series 1049

# The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines

Report of the WHO Expert Committee on Selection and Use of Essential Medicines, 2023 (including the 23rd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 9th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children)

This report contains the collective views of an international group of experts and does not necessarily represent the decisions or the stated policy of the World Health Organization



The selection and use of essential medicines: report of the WHO Expert Committee on Selection and Use of Essential Medicines, 2023 (including the 23rd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 9th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children)

(WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1049)

ISBN 978-92-4-008926-6 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-008927-3 (print version) ISSN 0512-3054

© World Health Organization 2024

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/ iqo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

**Suggested citation.** The selection and use of essential medicines: report of the WHO Expert Committee on Selection and Use of Essential Medicines, 2023 (including the 23rd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 9th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2024 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1049). Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/ about/licensing.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

**General disclaimers.** The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

This publication contains the collective views of an international group of experts and does not necessarily represent the decisions or the policies of WHO.

The recommendations contained in this publication are based on the advice of independent experts, who have considered the best available evidence, a risk-benefit analysis and other factors, as appropriate. This publication may include recommendations on the use of medicinal products for an indication, in a dosage form, dose regimen, population or other use parameters that are not included in the approved labelling. Relevant stakeholders should familiarize themselves with applicable national legal and ethical requirements. WHO does not accept any liability for the procurement, distribution and/or administration of any product for any use.

Layout by Interligar

# Contents

| Executive summary    |  |   |   |  |  |
|----------------------|--|---|---|--|--|
| List of participants |  |   |   |  |  |
| Dee                  | claration o  | f interests   | li  |  |  |
| 1.                   | Introduction   |   |   |  |  |
| 2.                   | Open session   |   |   |  |  |
| 3.                   | General  | items   | 6   |  |  |
| 4.                   | Summar   | y of recommendations  | 9   |  |  |
| 5.                   | Applications for the 23rd Model List of Essential Medicines and the 9th Model List of Essential Medicines for Children |   |   |  |  |
|                      | Section 1:<br>1.1  | Anaesthetics, preoperative medicines and medical gases<br>General anaesthetics and oxygen<br>Sevoflurane – addition – EML & EMLc  | 16<br>16<br>16  |  |  |
|                      | Section 2:<br>2.2  | Medicines for pain and palliative care<br>Opioid analgesics<br>Fentanyl – new formulation – EML   | 28<br>28<br>28  |  |  |
|                      | Section 5:   | <b>Medicine for diseases of the nervous system</b><br>Donepezil – addition – EML<br>Risdiplam – addition – EML and EMLc   | 41<br>41<br>51  |  |  |
|                      | 5.1  | Antiseizure medicines<br>Levetiracetam – addition – EML and EMLc  | 61<br>61  |  |  |
|                      | 5.2  | Medicines for multiple sclerosis<br>Cladribine, glatiramer and rituximab – addition – EML<br>Ocrelizumab – addition – EML   | 71<br>71<br>90  |  |  |
|                      | Section 6:<br>6.2  | Anti-infective medicines<br>Antibacterials<br>Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid – new formulation – EMLc<br>Flomoxef sodium – addition – EML and EMLc<br>Ceftolozane + tazobactam – addition – EML and EMLc<br>Imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam – addition – EML<br>Tedizolid phosphate – addition – EML<br>Ethionamide – new indication – EML and EMLc<br>Pretomanid – addition – EML<br>Bedaquiline – age restriction – EML and EMLc<br>Delamanid – age restriction – EML and EMLc<br>Antituberculosis medicines – formulations for deletion – EML and EMLc | 102<br>102<br>108<br>120<br>131<br>140<br>147<br>151<br>159<br>163<br>167 |  |  |
|                      | 6.4  | Antiviral medicines<br>Ravidasvir – addition – EML<br>Dasabuvir, ombitasvir + paritaprevir + ritonavir, pegylated interferon alfa   | 171<br>171  |  |  |
|                      | 6.7  | (2a & 2b) – deletion – EML<br>Medicines for Ebola virus disease<br>Anti-Ebola virus disease monoclonal antibodies – addition – EML and EMLc   | 180<br>184<br>184   |  |  |

| 6.8                      | Medicines for COVID-19<br>Baricitinib – addition – EML and EMLc<br>Molnupiravir – addition – EML<br>Nirmatrelvir and ritonavir – addition – EML and EMLc<br>Remdesivir – addition – EML and EMLc<br>Tocilizumab – addition – EML and EMLc | 190<br>193<br>197<br>202<br>206<br>210 |
|--------------------------|---|--|
| Section 8:<br>8.1<br>8.2 | Immunomodulators and antineoplastics<br>Immunomodulators for non-malignant disease<br>Methotrexate – new formulation – EML and EMLc<br>Antineoplastics and supportive medicines<br>CAR T-cell therapy – addition – EMI                    | 214<br>214<br>214<br>222<br>222        |
|                          | Cancer medicines for children – new indication for anaplastic large cell<br>lymphoma – EML and EMLc<br>Cancer medicines for children – new indication for Langerhans cell   | 241                                    |
|                          | histiocytosis – EML and EMLc<br>Doxorubicin, pegylated liposomal – addition – EML and EMLc<br>Cyclin-dependent kinase 4/6 inhibitors – addition – EML<br>Osimertinib – addition – EMI   | 248<br>254<br>262<br>273               |
|                          | Rituximab – new indication – EML and EMLc<br>Zanubrutinib – addition – EML<br>PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors – addition – EML  | 281<br>286<br>294                      |
|                          | Pegfilgrastim – addition – EML and EMLc<br>Tislelizumab – addition – EML<br>Toripalimab – addition – EML  | 311<br>317<br>325                      |
| Section 9:               | Therapeutic foods<br>Ready-to-use therapeutic food – addition –EMLc   | 333<br>333                             |
| Section 10:<br>10.1      | Medicines affecting the blood<br>Antianaemia medicines<br>Ferrous salt + folic acid – new formulation – EML   | 344<br>344<br>344                      |
| 10.3                     | <b>Other medicines for haemoglobinopathies</b><br>Deferasirox and deferoxamine – change square box listing – EML and EMLc<br>Deferiprone – addition – EML and EMLc  | 353<br>353<br>365                      |
| Section 11:<br>11.1      | Blood products of human origin and plasma substitutes<br>Blood and blood components<br>Cryoprecipitate, pathogen-reduced – addition – EML and EMLc  | 377<br>377<br>377                      |
| 11.2                     | Coagulation factors for haemophilia – review of square box alternatives – EML and EMLc  | 389                                    |
| Section 12:<br>12.5      | Cardiovascular medicines<br>Antithrombotic medicines<br>Ticagrelor – addition – EML   | 396<br>396<br>396                      |
| 12.7                     | Fixed-dose combinations for prevention of<br>atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease<br>Fixed-dose combinations of cardiovascular medicines – addition – EML   | 407<br>407                             |
| Section 13:              | Dermatological medicines<br>Sunscreen – addition – EML and EMLc   | 420<br>420                             |

| 13.4        | Medicines affecting skin differentiation and proliferation                                  | 430 |
|-------------|---|-----|
|             | Methotrexate – new indication – EML and EMLc  | 430 |
|             | Ustekinumad – addition – EML  | 437 |
| Section 18: | Medicines for endocrine disorders   | 444 |
|             | Alfacalcidol and calcitriol – addition – EML and EMLc                                       | 444 |
|             | Phosphorus – addition – EMLc  | 449 |
|             | Zoledronic acid – new indication – EML and EMLc   | 454 |
|             | Ketoconazole – addition – EML<br>Chusagan like nentide 1 recentor ageniste – addition – EML | 402 |
| 10.2        | Sincagon-like peptide-Treceptor agonists – addition – EML                                   | 4/0 |
| 10.5        | Estradial – addition – EMI  | 401 |
| 18 5        | Medicines for diabetes  | 487 |
| 10.5        | Human insulin – new formulation – FML and FML c   | 487 |
| 18.6        | Medicines for hypoglycaemia   | 495 |
|             | Somatropin – addition – EMLc  | 495 |
| 18.8        | Medicines for disorders of the pituitary hormone system                                     | 501 |
|             | Bromocriptine and cabergoline – addition – EML  | 501 |
|             | Lanreotide and octreotide – addition – EML  | 510 |
| Section 21: | Ophthalmological preparations   | 517 |
| 500001211   | Hypromellose – addition – EML and EMLc  | 517 |
| Section 22: | Medicines for reproductive health and perinatal care  | 523 |
| 22.2        | Ovulation inducers  | 523 |
|             | Letrozole – addition – EML  | 523 |
| 22.3        | Uterotonics   | 530 |
|             | Mifepristone – misoprostol – new indication – EML   | 530 |
| Section 24: | Medicines for mental and behavioural disorders  | 540 |
| 24.1        | Medicines used in psychotic disorders   | 540 |
|             | Chlorpromazine and haloperidol – deletion – EMLc  | 540 |
|             | Chlorpromazine injection – deletion/olanzapine injection – addition – EML                   | 547 |
|             | Chlorpromazine, fluphenazine decanoate/enantate and haloperidol – review                    | A   |
|             | of square box alternatives – EML  | 554 |
|             | Paliperidone paimitate – new formulation – EML  | 559 |
| 24.2        | Madicines used in mood disorders  | 507 |
| 24.2        | Amitrintyline – removal of cause box – FMI  | 582 |
|             | Fluovetine – deletion – FMI c   | 585 |
|             | Phenelzine – addition – EMI   | 594 |
|             | Ouetiapine – addition – EMI   | 603 |
| 24.3        | Medicines for anxiety disorders   | 615 |
|             | Diazepam – change to listing – EML  | 615 |
|             | Fluoxetine – new indication – EML   | 624 |
| 24.4        | Medicines used for obsessive-compulsive disorders   | 632 |
|             | Fluoxetine – new indication – EML   | 632 |
| 24.5        | Medicines for disorders due to psychoactive substance use                                   | 640 |
|             | Acamprosate – addition – EML  | 640 |
|             | Naltrexone – addition – EML   | 649 |
|             | Nicotine replacement therapy – new formulation – EML  | 659 |

| Section 29: Medicines for diseases of joints                                | 665 |
|---|-----|
| 29.3 Juvenile joint diseases  | 665 |
| Anakinra – addition – EML and EMLc  | 665 |
| Tocilizumab – addition – EML and EMLc                                       | 676 |
| Triamcinolone – addition – EML and EMLc                                     | 689 |
| Section 30: Dental medicines and preparations                               | 698 |
| Fluoride – new formulations – EML and EMLc                                  | 698 |
| Resin-based composites – addition – EML and EMLc                            | 709 |
| Acknowledgements  |     |
| Annex 1   |     |
| WHO Model List of Essential Medicines – 23rd List (2023)                    | 719 |
| Annex 2   |     |
| WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children – 9th List (2023)        | 803 |
| Annex 3   |     |
| Alphabetical list of essential medicines (with ATC codes & section numbers) | 865 |

:

# **Executive summary**

The meeting of the 24th WHO Expert Committee on the Selection and Use of Essential Medicines took place in person in Geneva, Switzerland, from 24 to 28 April 2023. The aim of the meeting was to review and update the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines (EML) and the 8th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children (EMLc) (the "Model Lists").

Essential medicines are those that satisfy the priority health care needs of a population. They are selected with due regard to disease prevalence and public health relevance, evidence of efficacy and safety, and comparative cost–effectiveness. They are intended to be available in functioning health systems at all times, in appropriate dosage forms, of assured quality and at prices individuals and health systems can afford.

The WHO Model Lists are updated every two years, intended as a guide for countries or regional authorities to adopt or adapt in accordance with local priorities and treatment guidelines for the development and updating of national essential medicines lists. Selection of a limited number of medicines as essential, taking into consideration national disease burden and clinical need, can lead to improved access through streamlined procurement and distribution of quality-assured medicines, support more rational or appropriate prescribing and use, and lower costs for both health care systems and for patients.

The Expert Committee considered a total of 85 applications, including 52 proposals for the addition of new medicines or medicine classes, nine proposals for new indications for 22 currently listed medicines, nine proposals for the addition of new formulations of currently listed medicines, six proposals for the removal of 13 medicines, formulations or indications, and nine proposals for other changes to current listings on the Model Lists. In accordance with applicable procedures<sup>1</sup>, the Expert Committee reviewed and evaluated the scientific evidence for the effectiveness, safety and comparative cost–effectiveness of the medicines in question. The Committee also considered a review of the age-appropriateness of formulations of essential medicines for children on the EMLC.

In summary, the Expert Committee:

- recommended the addition of 25 new medicines to the EML (16 to the core list and nine to the complementary list);
- recommended the addition of 13 new medicines to the EMLc (nine to the core list and four to the complementary list);
- recommended adding additional indications for 16 currently listed medicines;
- recommended the addition of new formulations of 22 medicines on the EML and of medicines on the EMLc;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/EB109/eeb1098.pdf

- recommended the deletion of three medicines from the EML and three medicines from the EMLc and of specific formulations of a further 13 medicines from the EML and 23 medicines from the EMLc; and
- did not recommend proposals for inclusion, change or deletion for 32 medicines, medicine classes or formulations.

The recommended changes bring the total number of medicines (including fixed-dose combinations) on the EML to 502 (from 479 in 2021), including 361 on the EMLc (from 350 in 2021).

Changes to the Model Lists are shown in Tables 1–3. Applications for proposed changes to the Model Lists that were not recommended are shown in Table 4.

# Section 1: Anaesthetics, preoperative medicines and medical gases Section 1.1.1 Inhalational medicines

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of sevoflurane as an inhalational anaesthetic on the core list of the EML and EMLc based on evidence of similar efficacy and safety to currently listed isoflurane. The Committee noted that sevoflurane has a lower global warming potential than other volatile anaesthetics, particularly desflurane, which is not listed as an essential medicine, but also halothane and isoflurane, which are both currently included. More efficient use of sevoflurane, in preference to other inhalational anaesthetics, can contribute to reducing greenhouse gas emissions and the environmental impact of climate change.

# Section 2: Medicines for pain and palliative care Section 2.2 Opioid analgesics

The Expert Committee did not recommend the inclusion of fast-acting oral transmucosal formulations of fentanyl citrate on the EML for the treatment of breakthrough cancer pain based on significant incremental costs compared to immediate-release oral morphine, which were considered disproportionate to the marginal incremental benefits. The Committee also noted that fentanyl has much higher potency and more drug-interactions than other opioids, which limit its manageability. The Committee was also concerned that transmucosal fentanyl formulations have greater potential for misuse and addiction.

# Section 5: (renamed) Medicines for diseases of the nervous system

This section of the Model Lists has been renamed from "Anticonvulsants/antiepileptics" to "Medicines for diseases of the nervous system" and includes new subsections for antiseizure medicines, medicines for multiple sclerosis and medicines for parkinsonism (formerly listed in Section 9).

The Expert Committee did not recommend inclusion of donepezil on the EML for the treatment of dementia due to Alzheimer disease. The Committee noted that moderate-certainty evidence suggested donepezil may be associated with short-term improvements in cognitive outcome scores compared with placebo. However, these improvements are unlikely to be clinically

Х

meaningful. The Committee noted that the evidence suggests that the effect on activities of daily living is limited and there is no impact on behavioural symptoms and quality of life and a lack of longer-term clinical cognitive benefits. The Committee noted that adverse effects of donepezil are generally mild, but the risk increases with higher doses, (those associated with greater cognitive benefits in the short term), and there is potential for numerous drug-drug and drug-disease interactions. The Committee considered that the patients included in dementia trials are generally younger and characterized by a better performance than patients seen in routine dementia care, affecting the generalizability of trial results. Consequently, the Committee considered the overall benefit-to-harm profile of the medicine to be unfavourable.

The Expert Committee did not recommend inclusion of risdiplam on the core list of the EML and EMLc for treatment of spinal muscular atrophy. The Committee noted that the body of evidence for efficacy and safety of risdiplam in spinal muscular atrophy is still limited, with only a small number of patients exposed to long-term treatment. The Committee, therefore, considered that the overall magnitude and long-term duration of benefits and potential harms were still uncertain. The Committee noted that based on the available evidence in patients with symptomatic disease, improvements in motor function were observed in younger children (younger than 5 years) but that these improvements became increasingly less prominent in older children, adolescents and adults. The Committee took note of ongoing clinical trials of risdiplam in presymptomatic infants up to 6 weeks of age and the introduction of routine newborn screening for spinal muscular atrophy in some settings and considered that the outcomes of these trials and screening programmes would be informative for future consideration of risdiplam for inclusion on the Model Lists.

#### Section 5.1 (new sub-section) Antiseizure medicines

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of oral levetiracetam on the core list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of focal-onset and generalized-onset seizures in adults in children. The Committee also recommended the inclusion of parenteral levetiracetam on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for use in the management of benzodiazepine-refractory status epilepticus. These recommendations were made based on evidence of effectiveness and safety, and in recognition of the need for treatment strategies for people with epilepsy to be individualized taking into account multiple factors including, but not limited to, pregnancy and patient preferences, seizure type, comorbidities, and concomitant use of other medications. These recommendations are also aligned with expected recommendations in the updated WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guidelines.

#### Section 5.2 (new sub-section) Medicines for multiple sclerosis

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of cladribine, glatiramer acetate and rituximab as individual medicines on the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of multiple sclerosis. The Committee did not recommend the inclusion of ocrelizumab for this indication, either as an individual medicine, or as a therapeutic alternative to rituximab under a square box listing.

The Committee noted that multiple sclerosis is the most common non-traumatic cause of neurological disability in young adults, with approximately 2.8 million people living with multiple

sclerosis worldwide. Until now, the EML has not included any medicines for the treatment of multiple sclerosis. The Committee considered that the inclusion of effective and safe treatments for multiple sclerosis on the EML would address an important public health need and support global advocacy efforts to reduce the global burden of multiple sclerosis, especially in low- and middle-income countries.

The Committee acknowledged the availability of a large number of disease-modifying medicines for multiple sclerosis (particularly for the treatment of relapsing and remitting forms of the disease) and the need to prioritize the most effective, tolerable and affordable options. The Committee considered that the approach taken in the application submitted by the Multiple Sclerosis International Federation (MSIF) to identify which medicines to prioritize for EML listing from among the many available was comprehensive, up-to-date, transparent, robust and evidence based. The Committee recognized the value of involving different organizations and stakeholders at the global level, including consultation with people living with multiple sclerosis. The Committee considered that the application's selection of cladribine, glatiramer acetate and rituximab as priority medicines for EML inclusion was well justified and supported by evidence of clinical benefit and safety across different settings, as well as suitability for use in different patient populations (e.g. pregnant women) and feasibility. The inclusion on the EML of three medicines, with different routes of administration, different prices (including the availability of generics and biosimilars) and different recommended uses, would provide valuable options for patients and national selection decisions and could facilitate improved access to treatment for people living with multiple sclerosis. The Committee acknowledged that rituximab does not have market authorization by regulatory authorities for treatment of multiple sclerosis and is thus used "off-label" for this indication. The Committee reiterated that the Model List can play an important role in identifying those medicines for which off-label use is supported by convincing evidence, complementing the assessment and labelling by jurisdictional authorities.

The Committee acknowledged the benefits of ocrelizumab in the management of relapsing and primary progressive forms of multiple sclerosis. However, there was no compelling evidence of its superiority over other alternatives, specifically rituximab, which has the same target (CD20) and a similar peptide sequence, is widely used, more affordable and reimbursed for use in multiple sclerosis in several countries. The Committee considered the option of listing ocrelizumab as an alternative to rituximab, but also recognized the large difference in current prices of the two products which decreases ocrelizumab competitiveness. The Committee concluded that including ocrelizumab as a therapeutic alternative to rituximab could result in considerable additional expenditure at the country level for patients and health systems, without offering additional clinical benefit.

# Section 6: Anti-infective medicines Section 6.2.1 Access group antibiotics

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of a new strength, child-friendly dispersible tablet formulation of amoxicillin + clavulanic acid (200 mg + 28.5 mg) as an Access group antibiotic on the core list of the EMLc for treatment of bacterial infections in children – specifically those infections for

which amoxicillin + clavulanic acid is already recommended on the EMLc. The Committee noted that the 7:1 ratio of amoxicillin to clavulanic acid is associated with similar efficacy to the 4:1 ratio but has a reduced frequency of gastrointestinal adverse effects. The Committee endorsed the importance of age-appropriate formulations to better meet the dosing needs of children.

#### Section 6.2.2 Watch group antibiotics

The Expert Committee did not recommend inclusion of flomoxef sodium as a Watch group antibiotic on the EML and EMLc for empiric treatment of community acquired mild/moderate intraabdominal and upper urinary tract infections caused by extended-spectrum  $\beta$ -lactamase-producing Enterobacterales because of uncertainty in the available evidence.

#### Section 6.2.3 Reserve group antibiotics

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of ceftolozane + tazobactam as a Reserve group antibiotic on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of infections caused or suspected to be caused by carbapenem-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, a "critical" priority pathogen on the 2017 WHO list of priority pathogens. The Committee acknowledged that the clinical evidence for efficacy of ceftolozane + tazobactam against this specific pathogen is limited but considered that the availability of carbapenem-sparing alternatives for treatment of drug-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* was important as part of the strategy to limit/prevent further emergence and spread of carbapenem-resistant organisms.

The Committee did not recommend inclusion of imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam as a Reserve group antibiotic on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of infections caused by multidrug-resistant organisms. The Committee noted that imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam lacks in vitro activity against the carbapenemase genotypes most commonly associated globally with carbapenem resistance in Enterobacterales and that other antibiotics with similar spectrum of activity (e.g. cefiderocol, ceftazidime + avibactam and meropenem + vaborbactam) are already included as Reserve antibiotics on the Model Lists.

The Committee recommended inclusion of tedizolid phosphate on the complementary list of the EML as a Reserve group antibiotic for the treatment of infections caused or suspected to be caused by multidrug-resistant Gram-positive pathogens (methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*, vancomycin-resistant enterococci), as an alternative to linezolid under a square box listing. The recommendation was based on evidence indicating that tedizolid is non-inferior to linezolid for the treatment of acute bacterial skin and skin structure infections, with a lower incidence of adverse events. However, the Committee observed that tedizolid phosphate is currently less widely available and considerably more expensive than linezolid.

#### Update to the AWaRe (Access, Watch, Reserve) classification of antibiotics

No changes were recommended to the classification of antibiotics as Access, Watch or Reserve. The 2023 AWaRe classification database will be updated to reflect the recommended inclusion of ceftolozane + tazobactam on the EML and EMLc and of tedizolid phosphate as a therapeutic alternative to linezolid on the EML. The AWaRe classification database is available at Web Annex C.

#### Section 6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of ethionamide on the core list of the EML and EMLc for the new indication for treatment of drug-susceptible tuberculosis meningitis in children and adolescents, as part of a 6-month intensive regimen in combination with isoniazid, rifampicin and pyrazinamide. The Committee also recommended the inclusion of pretomanid on the complementary list of the EML for treatment of multidrug-resistant or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis, in a combination regimen with bedaquiline, linezolid with or without moxifloxacin.

The Committee recommended deletion from the EML and/or EMLc of various formulations and strengths of amikacin, ethambutol, ethionamide, isoniazid, linezolid, p-aminosalicylic acid and pyrazinamide, noting that they are not optimal formulations and strengths for tuberculosis treatment. A new strength formulation of p-aminosalicylic acid (as p-aminosalicylate sodium) was recommended for inclusion to replace the previously listed one which has been discontinued by the only manufacturer. The Committee also recommended that the age restrictions associated with the listings for bedaquiline and delamanid on the EML and EMLc should be removed.

These recommendations are fully aligned with recommendations in current WHO guidelines for tuberculosis.

#### Section 6.4.4.2 Medicines for hepatitis C

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of ravidasvir on the core list of the EML as a therapeutic alternative under the square box listing for pangenotypic direct-acting antivirals for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C virus infection in adults. Ravidasvir is pangenotypic when used in combination with sofosbuvir. The recommendation was made based on evidence of effectiveness and safety, similar to that seen with other pangenotypic direct-acting antiviral regimens.

The Committee also recommended deletion of non-pangenotypic treatment options for hepatitis C virus infection (dasabuvir, ombitasvir + paritaprevir + ritonavir, and pegylated interferon alfa 2a and 2b) from the core list of the EML. These treatments are no longer recommended in WHO guidelines for treatment of hepatitis C.

#### Section 6.7 (new sub-section) Medicines for Ebola virus disease

The Expert Committee recommended the addition of the monoclonal antibodies ansuvimab and atoltivimab + maftivimab + odesivimab to the core list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of confirmed Ebola virus disease caused by *Zaire ebolavirus* in adults and children, and in neonates of unconfirmed infection status aged 7 days or younger, born to mothers with confirmed infection. The Committee noted that Ebola virus disease is a life-threatening disease with a high case-fatality rate, for which effective treatments are of public health importance. The Committee considered that the available clinical trial evidence for ansuvimab and atoltivimab + maftivimab + odesivimab has demonstrated important reductions in mortality compared to standard supportive care alone. The Committee considered that their inclusion on the Model Lists would represent a strong equity and advocacy message, fully aligned with WHO guidelines, that could contribute to broader actions being undertaken to ensure reliable, affordable access to quality-assured therapeutics for Ebola virus disease.

#### Section 6.8 (new sub-section) Medicines for COVID-19

Taking account of the global recognition of the need for effective therapeutics to prevent and treat coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), as well as the need to ensure adequate and affordable access globally to these treatments, the Expert Committee recommended that effective and safe therapeutics for COVID-19 be considered as essential medicines and therefore be prioritized by countries for national selection and procurement. However, the Committee also recognized the continued rapid evolution of the evidence base for COVID-19 therapeutics, which contrasts with the 2-year update cycle of the Model Lists. Furthermore, the evolution of the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), combined with changing population immunity may influence disease severity and thus have an impact on the relative and absolute benefits associated with COVID-19 therapeutics. The Committee considered that in the context of public health emergencies, there is a risk in listing medicines on the WHO Model Lists that later must be removed because they are no longer relevant for the reasons outlined above, a scenario that ideally should be avoided. The Committee recommended that countries should refer to WHO and national guidelines as tools to orient prioritization of medicines during public health emergencies.

The Expert Committee recommended a new section be added to the EML and EMLc for COVID-19 therapeutics, but that specific, individual medicines should not be listed at this time. Rather, the Committee recommended that this section of the Model Lists should direct national decision-makers to the WHO living guidelines for COVID-19 therapeutics, noting that these are being revised and updated regularly. Importantly, these living guidelines also include recommendations for use of other medicines already included on the Model Lists (e.g. dexamethasone, oxygen), as well as recommendations against the use of medicines that are included on the Model Lists for other indications (e.g. hydroxychloroquine, lopinavir-ritonavir).

# Section 8: Immunomodulators and antineoplastics Section 8.1 Immunomodulators for non-malignant disease

The Expert Committee did not recommend the inclusion of subcutaneous injection formulations of methotrexate on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis, juvenile idiopathic arthritis, psoriasis and arthritic psoriasis, and Crohn disease in patients not responding to maximum tolerable doses of oral methotrexate. The Committee noted that methotrexate is one of the mainstays of treatment for these conditions, but that data on clinical efficacy and safety of subcutaneous methotrexate compared to oral or intramuscular formulations are limited and are based mostly on studies in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Overall, the Committee considered the possible benefits of subcutaneous compared to oral methotrexate were unclear, and with limited available evidence suggesting only modest benefits in a small proportion of patients, at a considerably higher price.

#### Section 8.2 Antineoplastic and supportive medicines

A total of 12 applications for cancer medicines were considered by the Expert Committee. These included requests for addition of new cancer medicines, and requests for new indications for already listed cancer medicines. Three applications (programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) and

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) immune checkpoint inhibitors for non-oncogene-addicted locally advanced and metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer, osimertinib for epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)-mutated locally advanced or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer, and cyclin-dependent kinase 4/6 inhibitors for hormone-receptor positive/HER2-negative advanced breast cancer) were resubmissions following recommendations not to list them made by the 2021 Expert Committee. All applications were reviewed by the EML Cancer Medicines Working Group prior to the meeting, who provided written comments to inform the Expert Committee's considerations.

#### Expert Committee recommendations to include new cancer and supportive medicines

- The inclusion of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of Kaposi sarcoma. The Committee noted evidence that pegylated liposomal doxorubicin is associated with similar or improved survival benefits and reduced harms in comparison to nonliposomal doxorubicin and other routinely used chemotherapies, and pegylated doxorubicin is a preferred therapeutic alternative to paclitaxel in children as the experience with paclitaxel in this setting is still limited.
- The inclusion of pegfilgrastim (including quality-assured biosimilars) on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for primary prophylaxis in patients at high risk for developing febrile neutropenia associated with myelotoxic chemotherapy, and for secondary prophylaxis in patients who have experienced neutropenia following prior myelotoxic chemotherapy. The Committee noted that a single dose of pegfilgrastim (once every 2 weeks) is an efficacious and safe alternative to daily injections of filgrastim. The Committee considered that pegfilgrastim may offer advantages over filgrastim in settings where refrigerated storage outside of secondary treatment centres is limited. In these settings, patients being treated with filgrastim face longer hospital stays or daily clinic visits and this has been associated with lower adherence to treatment and increased risk of life-threatening infections. The Committee noted that filgrastim remains a relevant treatment option for patients in whom a treatment duration of less than 2 weeks is indicated.

# Expert Committee recommendations to include new indications for existing listed cancer and supportive medicines

 The extension of current listings of cyclophosphamide, cytarabine, dexamethasone, doxorubicin, etoposide, ifosfamide, methotrexate, prednisolone and vinblastine on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc to include the new indication of anaplastic large-cell lymphoma. These medicines are recognized as part of the standard of care for anaplastic large cell lymphoma. Their benefits and harms were accepted as being well established from use in other indications in children and in adults.

- The extension of current listings of cytarabine, immunoglobulin, mercaptopurine, methotrexate, prednisolone, vinblastine and vincristine on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc to include the new indication of Langerhans cell histiocytosis. While Langerhans cell histiocytosis is considered a rare disease, the Committee acknowledged that treatment is associated with very high survival rates in many cases. These medicines are recognized as part of the standard of care for children with Langerhans cell histiocytosis. Their benefits and harms were accepted as being well established from use in other indications in children and in adults.
- The extension of the current listing for rituximab on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc to include the new indication of Burkitt lymphoma. The Committee noted that rituximab, when added to standard chemotherapy, is associated with meaningful benefits in terms of event-free and overall survival in children and adolescents, with a well known and acceptable safety profile.

# The Expert Committee did not recommend listing for the following new medicines and/or new indications

- Cladribine for the treatment of refractory Langerhans cell histiocytosis with involvement of risk organs (a high-risk subgroup) in children and adolescents. The Committee noted that cladribine is associated with serious haematological toxicities limiting its safe use to specialist tertiary care centres and impacting the feasibility of use.
- Crizotinib for the treatment of relapsed/refractory anaplastic large-cell lymphoma in children and adolescents because of insufficient evidence and toxicity concerns.
- Cyclin-dependent kinase 4/6 inhibitors (abemaciclib, palbociclib and ribociclib) for the treatment of hormone receptor positive/HER2-negative advanced breast cancer. The Committee acknowledged that clinical trial results for this class of medicines in the first- and second-line settings suggest a meaningful survival benefit when added to endocrine therapy compared with endocrine therapy alone. However, the Committee considered that uncertainties still exist regarding the optimal, most active and best tolerated dose, noting that many patients had to reduce the dose in the pivotal trials. The Committee also considered that there were uncertainties regarding the duration of treatment, positioning as first or second line in the metastatic setting, and whether clinically significant differences exist between agents within the pharmacological class. As in 2021, the Committee noted the enduring high prices of these medicines, which would pose serious affordability challenges, especially in low- and middle-income countries. The Committee recommended that data for these medicines continue to be evaluated as they evolve and reiterated the recommendation of the 2021 Expert Committee that this class of medicines be flagged to the Medicines Patent Pool as potential candidates for voluntary licensing agreements.

- Osimertinib for first-line treatment of EGFR-mutated locally advanced or metastatic non-small cell lung cancer. The Committee acknowledged that current data show meaningful survival benefits for osimertinib, a thirdgeneration tyrosine kinase inhibitor, compared to first- and second-generation EML-listed alternatives for this indication (erlotinib, gefitinib and afatinib). However, the Committee noted that osimertinib remains very highly priced, and as such would still be unaffordable in many low- and middle-income countries. The Committee expressed concern that the inclusion of osimertinib on the EML could worsen health inequity by diverting limited resources from less expensive alternatives (including generics) already listed on the EML for this indication. The Committee requested that data for osimertinib continue to be evaluated as they evolve and encouraged efforts to facilitate affordable access to osimertinib in low- and middle-income settings, for example, through negotiation of public health licensing agreements through the Medicines Patent Pool.
- Zanubrutinib for treatment-naïve or relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma. The Committee noted the results of clinical trials comparing zanubrutinib with bendamustine plus rituximab in previously untreated patients, and with ibrutinib in patients with relapsed/ refractory disease, showed promising survival gains. However, the Committee considered that the magnitude of these gains may be limited, and that few longterm data were available. The Committee also noted important toxicity concerns (particularly neutropenia). The Committee considered that at the current high price, zanubrutinib would neither be considered cost-effective nor affordable in most low- and middle-income settings. The Committee considered that substitution of ibrutinib with zanubrutinib would not necessarily be associated with health budget savings as proposed in the application, because lower ibrutinib doses than those described in the application may be used in clinical practice.
- CD-19-directed antigen receptor (CAR) T-cells (axicabtagene ciloleucel, tisagenlecleucel, lisocabtagene maraleucel) for the treatment of adults with relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphoma. The Committee acknowledged that CAR T-cell treatment outperforms the standard of care with salvage immunochemotherapy in terms of progression free-survival, however the survival data remain immature. The Committee noted variability across trials (with one study suggesting a potential negative effect associated with CAR T-cell therapy) and limited long-term follow-up for all CAR-T therapies proposed, making the actual survival benefit uncertain. The Committee noted significant safety concerns including cytokine release syndrome and neurological toxicity that can occur in a high proportion of patients and which requires highly specialized medical management. The Committee recognized that treatment of patients using CART-cell therapy requires dedicated health system resources and infrastructure well beyond those available in most settings. CAR T-cell therapy has generally been found not to be cost-effective with large budget impacts due

xviii

to prohibitive production costs for administration and management of toxicities. However, the Committee noted with interest that these therapies are becoming increasingly available in academic settings and closed/semi-automated manufacturing process systems are now available which may substantially reduce prices and likely increase availability. Recognizing the promising role of CART-cell therapy for large B-cell lymphoma and potentially also other cancers, the Committee recommended that evidence for these therapies, as well as their growing availability and affordability, should continue to be monitored by WHO.

- PD-1 and PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors for the first-line treatment of non-oncogene-addicted metastatic NSCLC in patients with tumour PD-L1 expression  $\geq$  50% (pembrolizumab, atezolizumab, cemiplimab) and of nononcogene addicted locally advanced, unresectable non-small cell lung cancer following chemo-radiotherapy in patients with tumour PD-L1 expression  $\geq$  1% (durvalumab). As was the case in 2021, the Committee accepted these medicines continue to demonstrate a relevant and meaningful survival benefit for eligible patients, and possible improvements in guality of life compared with platinum-based chemotherapy. The available evidence is particularly strong for pembrolizumab, for which overall survival benefits are maintained over 5 years. Atezolizumab and cemiplimab show similar benefits, although the available follow-up data are shorter. Similarly, durvalumab data are less mature and will require further consideration. The Committee considered that an overall net benefit can be reasonably assumed for the entire class when compared to platinum-based chemotherapies. However, more data are needed regarding the optimal doses and duration of treatment, with some data already suggesting that for several immune checkpoint inhibitors, lower doses and shorter durations may be sufficient. In principle, the Committee considered that the availability of several immune checkpoint inhibitors as therapeutic options can boost competition and facilitate affordable access. These considerations notwithstanding, the Committee noted that prices for immune checkpoint inhibitors remain prohibitively high in most settings, and global access to affordable companion diagnostic tests is limited. Coupled with the high global prevalence of non-small-cell lung cancer, the opportunity costs of providing treatment with immune checkpoint inhibitors would be substantial for many health systems and would divert limited available resources from other public health programmes. The Expert Committee encouraged WHO to continue to work on strategies to address the issue of high prices of effective cancer medicines and identify solutions to facilitate increased affordable access.
- Tislelizumab for the treatment of non-oncogene-addicted locally advanced and metastatic non-small cell lung cancer, without patient preselection based on PD-L1 tumour expression. The Committee noted that survival data from clinical trials comparing tislelizumab plus chemotherapy versus chemotherapy alone were immature, with less than 2 years of follow-up, and therefore, while promising based on the available data, the overall survival benefit was still

uncertain. The Committee acknowledged that the reported price of tislelizumab in China (the only country where tislelizumab is currently approved and available for this indication) was notably lower than the price of other immune checkpoint inhibitors in this setting.

Toripalimab for the treatment of locally advanced or metastatic nasopharyngeal and oesophageal cancers. The Committee noted that the survival benefit observed when toripalimab is added to chemotherapy for first-line treatment of advanced nasopharyngeal cancer was currently modest, and that toripalimab had been assigned a score of 3 on the European Society for Medical Oncology's Magnitude of Clinical Benefit Scale (below the accepted score for cancer medicines on the EML). For advanced oesophageal cancer, the Committee noted that toripalimab plus chemotherapy compared to chemotherapy alone might meaningfully improve survival, however the available evidence was still preliminary with only a short follow-up. The Committee acknowledged that the reported price of toripalimab in China (the only country where toripalimab is currently approved and available for these indications) was considerably lower than other immune checkpoint inhibitors in this setting.

## Section 9: (renamed) Therapeutic foods

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of ready-to-use therapeutic food (RUTF) on the core list of the EMLc for the treatment of severe acute malnutrition in children aged 6 months to 5 years based on evidence from systematic reviews that demonstrated that the use of RUTF is associated with important benefits in terms of nutritional recovery and weight gain compared to standard care. The Committee was satisfied with the information provided by the applicants addressing the specific concerns highlighted by the 2019 Expert Committee regarding potential consequences of including RUTF on the Model List and associated risk-mitigation measures. The Committee was also reassured by the publication of Codex Alimentarius guidelines which define the nutritional composition, production and labelling standards for RUTF as a food for special medical purposes.

# Section 10: Medicines affecting the blood Section 10.1 Antianaemia medicines

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of a new strength formulation of ferrous salt + folic acid (60 mg elemental iron + 2.8 mg folic acid) on the core list of the EML as a weeklyadministered supplement for prevention of anaemia in menstruating women and adolescent girls, and for reducing the risk of pregnancies affected by neural tube defects. The Committee noted that weekly intermittent supplementation with this formulation was associated with similar outcomes as daily iron and folic acid supplementation and is likely to be associated with advantages in terms of adherence. The Committee also noted that weekly iron and folic acid supplementation is recommended in multiple WHO guidelines.

#### Section 10.3 Other medicines for haemoglobinopathies

The Expert Committee recommended that oral deferasirox be transferred to the core list of the EML and EMLc for use in the treatment of transfusional iron overload in patients with thalassaemia syndromes, sickle-cell disease and other chronic anaemias, with a square box listing specifying oral deferiprone as a therapeutic alternative. The Committee also recommended that intravenous deferoxamine remain listed on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for these indications, and the square box associated with the current listing be removed. The Committee accepted that the comparative efficacy and safety of deferiprone, deferoxamine and deferasirox were generally similar, and that orally administered treatments may be preferred options. The Committee recognized the value in having multiple iron chelating agents included on the Model Lists to enable countries to make appropriate national selection decisions taking into consideration relevant contextual factors.

# Section 11: Blood products of human origin and plasma substitutes Section 11.1 Blood and blood components

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of pathogen-reduced cryoprecipitate on the core list of the EML and EMLc with a square box, indicating non-pathogen-reduced cryoprecipitate as a therapeutic alternative. The Committee noted that cryoprecipitate is used to replace coagulation factors in cases of massive haemorrhage, von Willebrand disease and deficiency of coagulation factor XIII. It may also be used as an alternative to coagulation factor VIII concentrate in haemophilia A in settings where this is unavailable or unaffordable. The Committee also noted that pathogen reduction of cryoprecipitate can reduce the risk of transmission of bloodborne infectious agents and has been associated with lower risks of alloimmunization and allergic transfusion reactions compared to other blood components.

#### Section 11.2.2 Blood coagulation factors

The Expert Committee did not recommend inclusion of recombinant coagulation factors or bypassing agents as therapeutic alternatives to plasma-derived coagulation factors under the square box listings for coagulation factors VIII and/or IX on the EML and EMLc. The Committee advised that future consideration for the inclusion of these products on the Model Lists will require full applications, compliant with the requirements for EML applications and containing all relevant information, so that the available evidence can be evaluated in line with standard procedures.

The Committee recommended that the square box be removed from the current listing of coagulation factor VIII, noting that other proposed alternatives (desmopressin and cryoprecipitate) are included in the Model Lists as independent listings. The Committee recommended the inclusion of additional strength formulations (250 IU and 1000 IU per vial) of factor VIII, acknowledging that these are the most commonly used and available formulations.

The Committee agreed that coagulation factor IX complex is a suitable therapeutic alternative to coagulation factor IX in situations where purified factor IX is not available. The Committee therefore recommended that coagulation factor IX complex be included as a therapeutic alternative under the current square box listing for factor IX.

The Committee did not recommend removal of dextran from the Model Lists. While it is not used in the treatment of haemophilia, it remains an essential plasma substitute for patients in need of blood volume replacement.

# Section 12: Cardiovascular medicines Section 12.5.1 Anti-platelet medicines

The Expert Committee did not recommend the addition of ticagrelor to the core list of the EML for the prevention of atherothrombotic events in adults with acute coronary syndromes or highrisk patients with a history of myocardial infarction. The Committee considered that there was uncertainty in efficacy outcomes across trials comparing ticagrelor and clopidogrel and among different patient subpopulations. The Committee also noted that ticagrelor was associated with significantly increased risks of some important bleeding outcomes (e.g. fatal intracranial bleeding). Further, while it was noted that generics of ticagrelor are available, it remains more expensive than clopidogrel in many settings.

# Section 12.7 (new sub-section) Fixed-dose combinations for prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease

The Committee recommended the inclusion of three fixed-dose combinations of cardiovascular medicines (acetylsalicylic acid + simvastatin + ramipril + atenolol + hydrochlorothiazide; acetylsalicylic acid + atorvastatin + ramipril; atorvastatin + perindopril + amlodipine) on the core list of the EML for use in primary and secondary prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases. Components of the combinations are listed with a square box, indicating other medicines within the respective pharmacological classes represent therapeutic alternatives, consistent with the current square box listings for hydrochlorothiazide, antihypertensives and statins. The Committee noted evidence from large randomized controlled trials that indicate that use of these combinations is associated with reduced risks of cardiovascular events, including fatal and nonfatal myocardial infarction and stroke and the need for revascularization in primary and secondary prevention settings. The Committee also noted data that indicates that the combination products are associated with improved adherence and quality of life, at prices equal to or lower than multiple component monotherapies. This recommendation notwithstanding, the Committee emphasized that the ongoing availability of single agent cardiovascular medicines was critical to allow treatment modification where necessary, and that combination products should not displace single components at the country level. The Committee further considered that guidance concerning the most appropriate use of these fixed-dose combinations for different indications should be provided in separate WHO guidance documents.

# Section 13: Dermatological medicines

The Expert Committee did not recommend the inclusion of sunscreen on the EML and EMLc for the prevention of skin cancer in people with albinism or xeroderma pigmentosum. The Committee acknowledged the public health relevance and effectiveness of sunscreen in preventing skin cancer especially in high-risk subgroups, such as people with albinism or xeroderma pigmentosum, but

also in the general population. The Committee agreed that the use of sunscreens, as well as other sun-protection and sun-avoidance strategies and behaviours, are important, effective preventive interventions to reduce the incidence and prevalence of skin cancers, including melanoma. The Committee also noted that the global burden of disease of such cancers is increasing, and that their treatment is associated with considerable costs for both individuals and health systems.

The Committee considered that before being able to recommend sunscreen products for inclusion on the Model Lists, it would be necessary to define relevant standards and specifications for therapeutic (as distinct from cosmetic) sunscreen products protecting against both ultraviolet A and B rays (i.e. broad spectrum). This would include details of specific active ingredients and their concentration, and the range of sun protection factor rating. This information needs to be supported by evidence and implications for labelling standards, to provide clear and reliable guidance for countries for selection of the most appropriate sunscreen products.

#### 13.4 Medicines affecting skin differentiation and proliferation

The Expert Committee acknowledged the global burden of psoriasis and the public health need for effective treatments. Until now, only topical therapies for psoriasis have been included on the Model Lists. The Committee recommended the inclusion of methotrexate on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the new indication of psoriasis, based on a favourable balance of desirable to undesirable effects. The Committee did not recommend the inclusion of ustekinumab on the EML for the treatment of severe psoriasis in adults. The Committee recognized the important role of biological disease-modifying agents in the management of moderate to severe psoriasis. The Committee requested that a comprehensive review of all biological disease-modifying medicines in the treatment of moderate-to-severe forms of psoriasis be undertaken to inform future consideration for EML and EMLc listing.

#### Section 18: Medicines for endocrine disorders

The Expert Committee did not recommend inclusion of the vitamin D analogues alfacalcidol and calcitriol on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the proposed indications of hypoparathyroidism, hypophosphataemic rickets, hypocalcaemic vitamin D dependent/ resistant rickets, neonatal hypocalcaemia, chronic kidney disease, and other disorders of vitamin D metabolism or transport. While the application included reference to conditional guideline recommendations for the use of vitamin D analogues in chronic kidney disease, hypophosphataemic rickets and hypoparathyroidism, overall, the Committee noted that the evidence base was uncertain due to risk of bias, indirectness when assessing patient-important outcomes, inconsistencies and imprecision. The Committee considered that the limited likelihood of influencing important clinical outcomes was potentially outweighed by the risks associated with the use of alfacalcidol and calcitriol, such as hypercalciuria, decrease in renal function and cardiovascular risk.

The Expert Committee did not recommend the inclusion of phosphorus on the complementary list of the EMLc, for the treatment of hypophosphataemic rickets in children. The Committee noted evidence from small cohort studies which suggests that early introduction of treatment

with phosphorus and vitamin D in children with hypophosphataemic rickets has beneficial effects in terms of growth, improved bone mineralization and reduced bone deformities. However, the Committee considered that hypophosphataemic rickets is a relatively rare condition which constitutes only a small subgroup of all hypophosphataemic conditions that may benefit from phosphorus supplementation. The Committee therefore considered that a comprehensive review of the evidence for phosphorus treatment across all conditions for which it is indicated should be requested for future consideration.

The Expert Committee did not recommend inclusion of zoledronic acid on the EML and EMLc for the new indication of osteogenesis imperfecta. The Committee noted that available evidence suggests that bisphosphonates may increase bone mineral density but considered that the benefits of bisphosphonate treatment on other important outcomes such as fracture risk, bone pain and physical functioning were unclear.

The Expert Committee did not recommend inclusion of ketoconazole on the EML for the treatment of Cushing syndrome. The Committee noted that the available evidence suggests that a significant proportion of patients have a good response to treatment with ketoconazole, however, the certainty of evidence was low, and there are serious concerns about the safety profile associated with systemic use of ketoconazole, including potentially severe liver toxicity, and the potential for numerous drug–drug interactions.

The Expert Committee did not recommend inclusion of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists (GLP-1 RAs) to the core list of the EML for weight loss in obesity because of uncertain long-term clinical benefit and safety in this patient population. The Committee noted that GLP-1 RAs have been shown to reduce weight and body mass index in the short term compared to placebo. However, data are lacking on long-term effectiveness, optimal duration of treatment, maintenance of weight reduction once the therapy is stopped and effect on other clinically important outcomes (e.g. hypertension or hyperglycaemia). Long-term safety data are also lacking.

#### Section 18.3 Estrogens

The Expert Committee did not recommend inclusion of 17-β-estradiol on the complementary list of the EML for the management of pubertal development in adolescents with primary or secondary ovarian failure. The Committee considered that the application reported insufficient information on the evidence supporting the use of estradiol for the proposed indication, including optimal dosages and formulations. The Committee noted that global prevalence of primary ovarian failure or primary ovarian insufficiency varies among different populations but is generally low. The Committee considered that re-evaluation of estradiol should be made taking into account additional indications for which estradiol is routinely used, such as hormone replacement therapy in menopause or following hysterectomy.

#### Section 18.5.1 Insulins

The Expert Committee recommended that the current listings for human insulin on the core list of the EML and EMLc be extended to include cartridge and prefilled pen delivery systems. The Committee considered that cartridges and prefilled pens may offer advantages for patients over

vials and syringes in terms of ease of use, greater accuracy of dosing and improved adherence. The Committee acknowledged that affordable access to insulin products remains a critical global health priority.

#### Section 18.6 Medicines for hypoglycaemia

The Expert Committee did not recommend the inclusion of somatropin on the complementary list of the EMLc for the management of hypoglycaemia secondary to growth hormone deficiency in neonates, infants and young children. The Committee acknowledged that the management of hypoglycaemia, of any etiology, in neonates and infants is critical to prevent permanent neurological sequelae. However, the Committee considered that comparative evidence for somatropin versus other medicines for management of hypoglycaemia currently included on the Model Lists (e.g. diazoxide, glucagon, glucose) and information regarding the comparative costs and cost–effectiveness would be necessary to inform any future consideration for somatropin in this indication.

# Section 18.8 (new sub-section) Medicines for disorders of the pituitary hormone system

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of cabergoline on the core list of the EML for the medical management of hyperprolactinaemia associated with prolactin-secreting pituitary adenomas (prolactinomas). Listing was recommended with bromocriptine as a therapeutic alternative under a square box listing. Overall, the Committee considered that the available evidence suggests medical therapy with dopamine agonists can achieve prolactin normalization in most patients. The Committee noted that dopamine agonist therapy is a preferred first-line intervention for management of hyperprolactinaemia and prolactinomas and may be the only option in settings where specialist neurosurgery is not available, or in patients for whom surgery is not feasible. Cabergoline may be superior to bromocriptine in decreasing the serum prolactin concentration and has fewer adverse effects but is usually more costly.

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of octreotide immediate-release and modified-release injections on the complementary list of the EML for use in the management of gigantism and acromegaly in adults with growth hormone-producing tumours. The Committee noted that trans-sphenoidal surgery is the treatment of first choice for this condition but accepted that pharmacological treatment with somatostatin analogues is an effective alternative in situations where surgery is not possible or available. The Committee did not recommend the inclusion of lanreotide depot injection either as an individual listing or as a therapeutic alternative to octreotide, because it was not shown to be superior to octreotide, is more expensive, and unlike octreotide, is not yet available as generics.

#### Section 19: Immunologicals Section 19.3 Vaccines

This section was reviewed by the Secretariat for consistency and full alignment with the latest WHO recommendations for routine immunization (March 2023). No changes to the current vaccine listings on the EML and EMLc were required.

## Section 21: Ophthalmological preparations

The Expert Committee did not recommend inclusion of hypromellose on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of dry eye disease in adults and children. The Committee accepted that hypromellose is a safe and effective ocular surface lubricant for reducing the signs and symptoms of dry eyes, especially for patients with mild-to-moderate symptoms. However, the Committee considered that the sight-threatening complications of dry eye disease are primarily associated with severe forms of the condition. There was limited evidence comparing hypromellose versus other artificial tear preparations, including combinations, for improvement in relevant clinical outcomes, specifically in patients with severe dry eye disease.

# Section 22: Medicines for reproductive health and perinatal care Section 22.2 Ovulation inducers

The Expert Committee recommended inclusion of letrozole on the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of anovulatory infertility associated with polycystic ovary syndrome or unexplained infertility. Listing was recommended with anastrozole as a therapeutic alternative under a square box listing. The Committee noted evidence that letrozole is associated with a moderate increase in live births and clinical pregnancies compared to clomifene (a medicine currently included in the EML) in patients with infertility due to polycystic ovary syndrome, and similar efficacy to clomifene for live births or biochemically tested pregnancy in couples with unexplained infertility. The Committee noted that WHO guidelines for the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of infertility are in development, and are expected to include recommendations for use of letrozole for ovulation induction in these populations.

#### Section 22.3 Uterotonics

The Committee recommended that the current listing of mifepristone + misoprostol on the core list of the EML be extended to include the new indication of medical management of intra-uterine fetal demise. The Committee noted evidence that the combination regimen was associated with higher rates of expulsion and shorter expulsion times than misoprostol alone. The Committee considered that adverse effects associated with use of the combination were generally mild, well known and manageable. The Committee also noted that the medical management of intra-uterine fetal demise using this combination regimen has been included in WHO guidelines for medical management of abortion since 2018.

## Section 24: Medicines for mental and behavioural disorders

A total of 16 applications for medicines for mental health conditions and substance use disorders were considered by the Expert Committee. Many were developed by, or in consultation with the WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use, with the goal of optimizing alignment between the Model Lists and recommendations in relevant WHO guidelines.

#### Section 24.1 Medicines used in psychotic disorders

The Expert Committee recommended the removal of chlorpromazine immediate-release injection from the core list of the EML for the treatment of schizophrenia and related psychoses because of a lack of high-quality evidence of benefit versus either placebo, or the alternative EML-listed haloperidol immediate-release injection, with a likely increased risk of adverse effects. The Committee recommended inclusion of olanzapine immediate-release injection on the core list of the EML for the acute treatment of schizophrenia and related psychoses based on evidence of similar effectiveness and greater tolerability compared to haloperidol immediate-release injection.

The Expert Committee did not recommend inclusion of paliperidone palmitate 3-month longacting injection on the EML for maintenance treatment of schizophrenia. The Committee noted that compared to the 1-month formulation, the 3-month formulation has evidence of similar clinical efficacy and safety and may offer advantages to patients in terms of fewer injections. However, the Committee noted that it is not recommended to initiate treatment with the 3-month formulation, rather it is used in patients who demonstrate benefit and tolerance to the 1-month formulation over at least 4 months. In addition, the 3-month formulation is more highly priced, not yet available as a generic and currently has limited availability in low- and middle-income countries.

The Expert Committee recommended the addition of a square box to the listing of risperidone on the EML for treatment of schizophrenia and related chronic psychotic disorders, specifying oral aripiprazole, olanzapine, paliperidone and quetiapine as therapeutic alternatives. The Committee noted that evidence from several high-quality meta-analyses on the acute and maintenance treatment of schizophrenia and other chronic psychoses found most oral second-generation antipsychotics were similarly effective and tolerable.

The Expert Committee recalled the request made by the 2021 Committee that therapeutic alternatives for the square box listings for chlorpromazine, fluphenazine and haloperidol in this section of the EML be reviewed. The Expert Committee accepted the rationale applied by the WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use in identifying suitable therapeutic alternatives, and made the following recommendations:

- chlorpromazine (oral formulations only) should be included as a therapeutic alternative to oral haloperidol (This recommendation, coupled with the recommendation above to remove chlorpromazine injection, effectively removes the independent listing for chlorpromazine from the EML);
- haloperidol decanoate and zuclopenthixol decanoate should be included as therapeutic alternatives to fluphenazine (decanoate/enantate).

The Expert Committee recommended the deletion of chlorpromazine and haloperidol (all dosage forms) from the complementary list of the EMLc. The Committee noted that schizophrenia and other chronic psychotic disorders are rare in children younger than 12 years. The Committee agreed that the available evidence for these medicines in the treatment of psychoses in children was inconclusive and insufficient to support their ongoing inclusion on the EMLc.

#### Section 24.2.1 Medicines used in depressive disorders

The Expert Committee recommended that the square box be removed from the current listing for amitriptyline for the treatment of depressive disorders on the EML. The Committee considered that there are insufficient data to support the inclusion of other tricyclic antidepressants as therapeutic alternatives for amitriptyline. The Committee considered that amitriptyline is the tricyclic antidepressant with the larger evidence base and other molecules have insufficient evidence, or are likely to be inferior to amitriptyline in some relevant areas (e.g. clomipramine is likely to be less acceptable to patients than amitriptyline and placebo).

The Expert Committee recommended the deletion of fluoxetine for the treatment of depressive disorders in children from the complementary list of the EMLc. The Committee accepted that fluoxetine may be used in children younger than 12 years in some setting where there is limited access to mental health facilities and non-pharmacological interventions and may be recommended in some consensus guidelines. However, the Committee noted that the reported prevalence of depression in children younger than 12 years is low and considered that the current evidence for use of fluoxetine in this age group was inconclusive and insufficient to support its ongoing inclusion the EMLc. This recommendation therefore also applies to the listing of fluoxetine on the EMLc in Section 2.3 Medicines for other common symptoms in palliative care. The Committee noted that the prevalence of depression substantially increases throughout adolescence and into adulthood and confirmed that fluoxetine will remain on the EML for the treatment of depression in adults.

The Expert Committee did not recommend the inclusion of phenelzine on the complementary list of the EML for use in treatment-resistant depression because of uncertain evidence for benefit in the proposed patient population and increased risk of harms. The Committee noted that the systematic reviews and meta-analyses presented in the application which evaluated the comparative efficacy of phenelzine versus placebo or other antidepressants did not include participants with treatment-resistant depression. The Committee also noted that phenelzine is associated with potentially serious adverse effects and has high potential for drug–drug and drug–food interactions. Treatment with phenelzine therefore would require careful and specialized monitoring and management, which may not be available in many low- and middle-income settings.

#### Section 24.2.2 Medicines used in bipolar disorders

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of quetiapine, with a square box indicating aripiprazole, olanzapine and paliperidone as specified therapeutic alternatives, on the core list of the EML for treatment of bipolar disorders. The Committee considered that the evidence presented in the application demonstrated the effectiveness of the proposed second-generation antipsychotics in the acute treatment and long-term prevention of mania/hypomania and/or depression in bipolar disorders was similar to that of classic mood stabilizers currently included on the EML (carbamazepine, lithium carbonate and valproic acid). All proposed medicines were shown to be either superior or non-inferior to placebo for acceptability (determined by all-cause discontinuations). The Committee agreed that second-generation antipsychotics have an important role in bipolar disorders in patients who do not adequately respond to or experience adverse events from mood stabilizers. Moreover, the Committee noted that the two classes of medicines may be used in combination in selected patients in clinical practice.

xxviii

#### Section 24.3 Medicines for anxiety disorders

The Expert Committee recommended the addition of a note to the listing of diazepam in this section of the EML to indicate use is only recommended for the short-term emergency management of acute and severe anxiety symptoms as the balance of benefits and risks of diazepam use under these circumstances is considered favourable. The Committee also recommended that lorazepam be specified as the only therapeutic alternative under the square box listing for diazepam for this indication. These recommendations are aligned with expected recommendations in updated mhGAP guidelines.

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of fluoxetine on the EML for the new indications of use in generalized anxiety disorder, panic disorder and social anxiety disorder. Listing is recommended with a square box specifying citalopram, escitalopram, fluvoxamine, paroxetine and sertraline as therapeutic alternatives. The Committee considered that the evidence presented in the application supported the use of fluoxetine and the proposed alternative selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) for these indications as they were shown to be more effective than placebo in reducing anxiety symptoms and have a well known and acceptable safety profile.

#### Section 24.4 Medicines used for obsessive-compulsive disorders

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of fluoxetine on the EML for the new indication of obsessive–compulsive disorder in adults. Listing is recommended with a square box specifying citalopram, escitalopram, fluvoxamine, paroxetine and sertraline as therapeutic alternatives. The Committee considered that the evidence presented in the application supported the use of fluoxetine and the proposed alternative SSRIs for the treatment of obsessive–compulsive disorder, indicating that SSRIs are more effective than placebo in reducing obsessive–compulsive symptoms, and have a more favourable safety profile than tricyclic antidepressants.

#### Section 24.5 Medicines for disorders due to psychoactive substance use

This section of the Model Lists has been updated to include separate subsections for medicines for alcohol, nicotine and opioid use disorders.

#### Section 24.5.1 (new sub-section) Medicines for alcohol use disorders

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of acamprosate and naltrexone on the core list of the EML for the treatment of alcohol use disorder in adults. The Committee considered that the available evidence showed these medicines to be associated with moderate improvements in abstinence rates, which would translate to meaningful impact at the population level. Both medicines are generally well tolerated and are recommended in WHO guidelines. The Committee considered that the availability of different medicines for alcohol use disorder would provide valuable options and choice for patients and clinicians, and could facilitate increased market competition, reduce costs and improve affordable access for national health systems.

#### Section 24.5.2 (new sub-section) Medicines for nicotine use disorders

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of nicotine lozenges and mouth spray on the core list of the EML as additional forms of nicotine replacement therapy for tobacco and smoking

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

cessation. The Committee noted high-quality evidence from multiple randomized controlled trials that all licensed forms of nicotine replacement therapy are effective at increasing cessation rates. The Committee considered that the availability of different forms of nicotine replacement therapy would provide options and choice for patients and clinicians, and could facilitate increased market competition, reduce costs and improve affordable access for national health systems.

# Section 29: Medicines for diseases of joints Section 29.3 Juvenile joint diseases

The Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of triamcinolone hexacetonide on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for use in the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Listing is recommended with a square box with triamcinolone acetonide as a therapeutic alternative for national selection in situations where triamcinolone hexacetonide is not available. The Committee noted that the evidence indicates that triamcinolone hexacetonide is superior to triamcinolone acetate in terms of efficacy and duration of response but it has been subject to supply shortages worldwide. As was the case in 2021, the Committee considered that the available evidence was still limited and of suboptimal quality, but accepted that use of intra-articular glucocorticoid injections with triamcinolone (hexacetonide, and to a lesser extent acetonide) may be associated with improvements in joint inflammation in oligoarticular forms of juvenile idiopathic arthritis and have advantages over long-term systemic corticosteroid use in terms of harms.

The Expert Committee did not recommend the inclusion of anakinra for treatment of systemiconset juvenile idiopathic arthritis with macrophage activation syndrome, nor of tocilizumab for treatment of systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis on the EML and EMLc. As was the case when these medicines were considered in 2021, the Expert Committee considered that the clinical benefits and safety of these medicines (including risk of infection) remain uncertain based on the limited available evidence. The Committee also considered that the feasibility of use of these medicines, particularly in low-resource settings was unlikely given their current high prices, and requirements for specialized care and monitoring and management of adverse events.

# Section 30: (renamed) Dental medicines and preparations

The Expert Committee recalled the request made by the 2021 Committee for WHO to identify alternative fluoride-containing formulations recommended for use in the prevention of dental caries so they can be clearly defined in the Model Lists to provide clear guidance to countries. The Committee considered that the evidence presented in the applications for fluoride gel, mouthrinse and varnish supported the effectiveness and safety of these products in the prevention of dental caries, and therefore recommended their inclusion on the core list of the EML and EMLc, as specific fluoride-containing formulations.

The Committee also recommended the inclusion of resin-based composites on the core list of the EML and EMLc for use as dental sealants (low-viscosity forms) and as filling materials (high-viscosity forms) in the prevention and treatment of dental caries. The Committee noted that these products are effective and safe and have functional and aesthetic advantages compared to glass ionomer cement, however they require more specialized expertise and facilities for application. The Committee noted that the availability of effective alternatives to dental amalgam is important

to enable parties to the Minamata Convention on Mercury to achieve the mandated phase-down of dental amalgam use, decreasing environmental mercury pollution.

### Other matters considered by the Expert Committee Age-appropriateness of formulations of essential medicines for children

In consideration of the review of the age-appropriateness of formulations of medicines on the EMLc, and the comparison report of the EML versus EMLc, the Expert Committee recommended changes to the EMLc for addition of new, age-appropriate formulations and strengths of existing essential medicines, deletion of unavailable or age-inappropriate formulations and strengths, and other listing modifications as proposed in the application. The Committee also endorsed the proposals for further review of the public health relevance and evidence of specific medicines for use in children for potential future consideration for inclusion on the EMLc. The Committee noted and welcomed the ongoing review being coordinated by the Secretariat for the remaining sections of the EMLc for consideration by the 2025 Expert Committee.

#### Off-label use of medicines

The Expert Committee noted the comments received from the International Federation of Pharmaceutical Manufacturers and Associations (IFPMA) regarding off-label use of medicines included on the Model Lists. The Committee reiterated the views expressed by the 2015 Expert Committee regarding consideration of medicines for inclusion on the Model Lists for off-label uses or indications – namely, that labelling is the responsibility of national regulatory authorities, and there may consequently be different labels for the same product in different countries, and that there is thus no global standard for what is considered "off-label". Furthermore, updating approved labels for older products may not be pursued by market authorization holder(s) if doing so is not determined to be commercially viable, and that there are many examples of older products whose regulatory labels are inconsistent with current clinical evidence and current clinical practice. Consequently, the Expert Committee reaffirmed that off-label status of a medicine need not be a reason to exclude it from the Model Lists if it otherwise meets the criteria for inclusion. Because of the intended global audience of the Model Lists and the differences in national regulatory labelling, the Committee recommended that off-label status should not be specifically marked in the Model Lists. The Committee recognized that it is a responsibility of relevant national decisionmakers to consider national labelling and legal requirements in the selection and use of medicines at the country level. The Committee considered that the inclusion on the Model Lists of those off-label medicines that are associated with relevant clinical benefits and financial advantages can play an important role in informing national selection and facilitating progress towards universal health coverage.

#### Rare diseases

Medicines to treat rare diseases have been included on the Model Lists since the first EML was published in 1977. The Expert Committee acknowledged that rare diseases are a diverse group of conditions that individually affect a small portion of the population. However, collectively, they can affect millions of people worldwide. There is no universally agreed definition of "rare",

with prevalence-based national and regional definitions of rare diseases (often in the context of orphan medicine legislation) varying considerably. Furthermore, a disease may be considered rare in one population or setting, while being highly prevalent in another, as disease prevalence can vary depending on various population-specific, environmental and geographic factors. The Committee also noted that with increasing advancements in precision medicine and targeted treatments in some areas (e.g. oncology), small/rare subcategories of otherwise more common diseases are emerging. The Committee noted that many, but not all, medicines for rare diseases are highly priced and may be unaffordable for many patients and health care systems, particularly in resource-constrained settings.

The Expert Committee recognized the role of the Model Lists in providing an evidence-based blueprint to inform decision-making for national essential medicines lists, including selection of medicines for rare diseases. The Committee also recognized the important advocacy role that inclusion on the Model Lists can play in fostering further actions that can lead to increased access to and affordability of essential medicines for rare diseases. The Committee seases to exclude medicines for its treatment from the Model Lists if they otherwise meet the criteria for inclusion.

#### Procedures for updating the WHO Model Lists

The Expert Committee noted that the procedure for updating the Model Lists has only been updated once since the publication of the first EML in 1977. The Committee also took note of the fact that since the revised procedures were introduced in 2001 (as outlined in Executive Board document EB109/8) the medicine evaluation landscape has become increasingly complex and that some aspects of the procedure may benefit from revision. Issues that were discussed by the Committee and can be considered as part of a broader discussion with Member States are: the actual application process, including how to balance the guality of the applications against the openness of the process that accepts applications without filtering them for quality; the issues surrounding effective but highly priced medicines which pose difficulties as feasibility and acceptability could be low; the role of products commonly not classified as medicines on the list such as condoms, oxygen and toothpastes; the role of the Model Lists in the clinical areas where WHO does not have guidelines; the dissemination of the Model Lists; the role of national lists to facilitate progress towards universal health coverage; and the role of the Model Lists in the context of public health emergencies of international concern. The Committee therefore recommended that WHO consider initiating a process to reassess the procedure for updating WHO's Model Lists of Essential Medicines. This should be an inclusive collaboration with Member States and other relevant stakeholders, including for example other United Nations (UN) organizations, WHO Collaborating Centres, universities and scientific societies, international procurement agencies, nongovernmental organizations, professional associations, representatives of national essential medicines programmes, representatives from the pharmaceutical industry, and patient organizations.

All applications and documents reviewed by the Expert Committee are available on the WHO website at: https://www.who.int/groups/expert-committee-on-selection-and-use-of-essential-medicines/24th-eml-expert-committee

xxxii

#### Table 1 Recommended changes on the 2023 EML

| EML – New medicines added   |   |  |  |  |
|---|---|--|--|--|
| Medicine  | Indication  |  |  |  |
| Acamprosate   | Alcohol use disorder  |  |  |  |
| Acetylsalicylic acid + atorvastatin + ramipril                                    | Prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases       |  |  |  |
| Acetylsalicylic acid + simvastatin + ramipril +<br>atenolol + hydrochlorothiazide | Prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases       |  |  |  |
| Ansuvimab   | Ebola virus disease   |  |  |  |
| Atoltivimab + maftivimab + odesivimab   | Ebola virus disease   |  |  |  |
| Atorvastatin + perindopril + amlodipine   | Prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases       |  |  |  |
| Cabergoline   | Hyperprolactinaemia   |  |  |  |
| Ceftolozane + tazobactam  | Multidrug-resistant bacterial infections                    |  |  |  |
| Cladribine  | Multiple sclerosis  |  |  |  |
| Cryoprecipitate, pathogen-reduced   | Bleeding disorders  |  |  |  |
| Deferasirox   | Iron overload   |  |  |  |
| Glatiramer acetate  | Multiple sclerosis  |  |  |  |
| Letrozole   | Infertility   |  |  |  |
| Levetiracetam   | Partial- and generalized-onset seizures, status epilepticus |  |  |  |
| Naltrexone  | Alcohol use disorder  |  |  |  |
| Octreotide  | Gigantism and acromegaly                                    |  |  |  |
| Olanzapine  | Schizophrenia and related psychoses                         |  |  |  |
| Pegfilgrastim   | Febrile neutropenia prophylaxis                             |  |  |  |
| Pegylated liposomal doxorubicin   | Kaposi sarcoma  |  |  |  |
| Pretomanid  | Multidrug-resistant tuberculosis                            |  |  |  |
| Quetiapine  | Bipolar disorder  |  |  |  |
| Resin-based composites  | Dental caries   |  |  |  |
| Ravidasvir  | Hepatitis C virus infection                                 |  |  |  |
| Sevoflurane   | General anaesthesia   |  |  |  |
| Triamcinolone hexacetonide  | Juvenile idiopathic arthritis                               |  |  |  |

#### Table 1 continued

| EML – New indications          |  |  |  |
|--------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Medicine                       | Indication   |  |  |
| Cyclophosphamide               | Anaplastic large-cell lymphoma   |  |  |
| Cytarabine                     | Anaplastic large-cell lymphoma, Langerhans cell histiocytosis  |  |  |
| Dexamethasone                  | Anaplastic large-cell lymphoma   |  |  |
| Doxorubicin                    | Anaplastic large-cell lymphoma   |  |  |
| Ethionamide                    | Drug-susceptible tuberculosis meningitis   |  |  |
| Etoposide                      | Anaplastic large-cell lymphoma   |  |  |
| Fluoxetine                     | Generalized anxiety disorder, panic disorder, social anxiety disorder, obsessive–compulsive disorder |  |  |
| lfosfamide                     | Anaplastic large-cell lymphoma   |  |  |
| Immunoglobulin                 | Langerhans cell histiocytosis  |  |  |
| Mercaptopurine                 | Langerhans cell histiocytosis  |  |  |
| Methotrexate                   | Anaplastic large-cell lymphoma, Langerhans cell histiocytosis, psoriasis                             |  |  |
| Mifepristone – misoprostol     | Intrauterine fetal demise  |  |  |
| Prednisolone                   | Anaplastic large-cell lymphoma, Langerhans cell histiocytosis  |  |  |
| Rituximab                      | Multiple sclerosis, Burkitt lymphoma   |  |  |
| Vinblastine                    | Anaplastic large-cell lymphoma, Langerhans cell histiocytosis  |  |  |
| Vincristine                    | Langerhans cell histiocytosis  |  |  |
| EML – New formulation/strength |  |  |  |
| Medicine                       | Formulation/strength   |  |  |
| Arsenic trioxide               | Concentrate for solution for infusion: 2 mg/mL   |  |  |
| Calcium folinate               | Injection: 7.5 mg/mL in 2 mL ampoule,<br>10 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule                                    |  |  |
| Carbamazepine                  | Tablet (scored): 400 mg  |  |  |
| Cefotaxime                     | Powder for injection: 500 mg, 1 g, 2 g<br>(as sodium) in vial  |  |  |
| Ceftriaxone                    | Powder for injection: 500 mg (as sodium) in vial   |  |  |

xxxiv
| EML – New formulation/strength  |  |  |  |
|---|--|--|--|
| Formulation/strength  |  |  |  |
| Injection: 100 mg/mL  |  |  |  |
| Powder for injection: 200 mg in vial  |  |  |  |
| Injection: 2 mg/mL, 5 mg/mL in vial<br>Powder for injection: 20 mg in vial  |  |  |  |
| Injection: 2 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 5 mL,<br>25 mL vial   |  |  |  |
| Tablet: 10 mg (as hydrogen maleate)   |  |  |  |
| Powder for injection: 100 mg (as phosphate)<br>in vial  |  |  |  |
| Tablet: equivalent to 60 mg elemental iron +<br>2.8 mg folic acid   |  |  |  |
| Gel: containing 2500 to 12 500 ppm fluoride<br>(any type)<br>Mouth rinse: containing 230 to 900 ppm<br>fluoride (any type)<br>Varnish: containing 22 500 ppm fluoride (any<br>type) |  |  |  |
| Injection: 10 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule<br>Tablet: 20 mg  |  |  |  |
| Injection: 100 lU/mL in 3 mL cartridge<br>or prefilled pen  |  |  |  |
| Injection: 100 lU/mL in 3 mL cartridge<br>or prefilled pen  |  |  |  |
| Injection: 50 mg/2 mL (Section 8.2.1)<br>Concentrated injection: 1000 mg/10 mL<br>(Section 8.2.1)   |  |  |  |
| Lozenge: 2 mg, 4 mg<br>Oral spray: 1 mg per actuation   |  |  |  |
| Powder for oral solution: 5.52 g in sachet<br>(equivalent to 4 g p-aminosalicylic acid)   |  |  |  |
| Powder for injection: 3750 units in vial  |  |  |  |
| Powder for injection: 300 mg (as isethionate)<br>in vial  |  |  |  |
| Injection: 100 mg/mL in 3 mL ampoule  |  |  |  |
|   |  |  |  |

| EML – Medicines/formulations deleted  |  |  |  |
|---------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Medicine                              | Formulation/strength   |  |  |
| Amikacin                              | Capsule 250 mg<br>Oral liquid: 150 mg/5 mL (as palmitate)  |  |  |
| Chloramphenicol                       | lnjection: 7.5 mg/mL in 2 mL ampoule,<br>10 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule  |  |  |
| Chlorpromazine                        | Injection: 25 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 2 mL<br>ampoule<br>Oral liquid: 25 mg/5 mL (hydrochloride) <sup>a</sup><br>Tablet: 10 mg, 25 mg, 50 mg, 100 mg<br>(hydrochloride) <sup>a</sup><br><sup>a</sup> Oral formulations of chlorpromazine are now<br>included as therapeutic alternatives under the<br>square box listing for oral haloperidol (Section<br>24.1) |  |  |
| Dasabuvir                             | Tablet: 250 mg   |  |  |
| Ethionamide                           | Tablet: 125 mg   |  |  |
| Hydroxycarbamide                      | Solid oral dosage form: 250 mg   |  |  |
| Linezolid                             | Powder for oral liquid: 100 mg/5 mL (Section<br>6.2.5)<br>Tablet: 400 mg (Section 6.2.3)   |  |  |
| Nifurtimox                            | Tablet: 250 mg   |  |  |
| Nystatin                              | Tablet: 100 000 IU   |  |  |
| Ombitasvir + paritaprevir + ritonavir | Tablet: 12.5 mg + 75 mg + 50 mg  |  |  |
| p-aminosalicylic acid                 | Granules: 4 g in sachet  |  |  |
| Paracetamol                           | Tablet: 100 mg   |  |  |
| Pegylated interferon alfa (2a or 2b)  | Vial or prefilled syringe: 180 micrograms<br>(peginterferon alfa 2a); 80 micrograms,<br>100 micrograms (peginterferon alfa 2b)   |  |  |
| Pentamidine                           | Powder for injection: 200 mg (as isethionate)<br>in vial   |  |  |
| Phenytoin                             | Oral liquid: 25 mg/5 mL (phenytoin)  |  |  |
| Pyrantel                              | Oral liquid: 50 mg/mL (as embonate or pamoate)   |  |  |

xxxvi

## Table 2 Recommended changes on the 2023 EMLc

| EMLc – New medicines added            |  |  |  |
|---------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Medicine                              | Indication   |  |  |
| Ansuvimab                             | Ebola virus disease  |  |  |
| Atoltivimab + maftivimab + odesivimab | Ebola virus disease  |  |  |
| Ceftolozane + tazobactam              | Multidrug-resistant bacterial infections                                 |  |  |
| Cryoprecipitate, pathogen-reduced     | Bleeding disorders   |  |  |
| Deferasirox                           | Iron overload  |  |  |
| Levetiracetam                         | Partial- and generalized-onset seizures, status epilepticus              |  |  |
| Pegfilgrastim                         | Febrile neutropenia prophylaxis  |  |  |
| Pegylated liposomal doxorubicin       | Kaposi sarcoma   |  |  |
| Ready-to-use therapeutic food         | Severe acute malnutrition  |  |  |
| Resin-based composites                | Dental caries  |  |  |
| Selenium sulfide                      | Seborrhoeic dermatitis, pityriasis versicolor                            |  |  |
| Sevoflurane                           | General anaesthesia  |  |  |
| Triamcinolone hexacetonide            | Juvenile idiopathic arthritis  |  |  |
| EMLc – New indications                |  |  |  |
| Medicine                              | Indication   |  |  |
| Cyclophosphamide                      | Anaplastic large-cell lymphoma   |  |  |
| Cytarabine                            | Anaplastic large-cell lymphoma, Langerhans cell histiocytosis            |  |  |
| Dexamethasone                         | Anaplastic large-cell lymphoma   |  |  |
| Doxorubicin                           | Anaplastic large-cell lymphoma   |  |  |
| Ethionamide                           | Drug-susceptible tuberculosis meningitis                                 |  |  |
| Etoposide                             | Anaplastic large-cell lymphoma   |  |  |
| lfosfamide                            | Anaplastic large-cell lymphoma   |  |  |
| Immunoglobulin                        | Langerhans cell histiocytosis  |  |  |
| Mercaptopurine                        | Langerhans cell histiocytosis  |  |  |
| Methotrexate                          | Anaplastic large-cell lymphoma, Langerhans cell histiocytosis, psoriasis |  |  |

| EMLc – New indications          |   |  |
|---------------------------------|---|--|
| Medicine                        | Indication  |  |
| Prednisolone                    | Anaplastic large-cell lymphoma, Langerhans<br>cell histiocytosis  |  |
| Rituximab                       | Burkitt lymphoma  |  |
| Vinblastine                     | Anaplastic large-cell lymphoma, Langerhans<br>cell histiocytosis  |  |
| Vincristine                     | Langerhans cell histiocytosis   |  |
| EMLc – New formulation/strength |   |  |
| Medicine                        | Formulation/strength  |  |
| Adalimumab                      | Injection: 10 mg/0.2 mL, 20 mg/0.4 mL   |  |
| Albendazole                     | Tablet (chewable): 200 mg (Section 6.1.4)   |  |
| Amikacin                        | Injection: 50 mg/mL (as sulfate) in 2 mL vial<br>(Section 6.2.1)  |  |
| Amoxicillin                     | Tablet (dispersible, scored): 250 mg, 500 mg<br>(as trihydrate)   |  |
| Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid   | Tablet (dispersible): 200 mg (as trihydrate +<br>28.5 mg (as potassium salt), 250 mg (as<br>trihydrate) + 62.5 mg (as potassium salt) |  |
| Arsenic trioxide                | Concentrate for solution for infusion: 2 mg/mL  |  |
| Azathioprine                    | Oral liquid: 10 mg/mL<br>Powder for injection: 50 mg (as sodium salt)<br>in vial<br>Tablet: 25 mg                                     |  |
| Azithromycin                    | Powder for oral liquid: 200 mg/5 mL<br>(anhydrous)  |  |
| Calcium folinate                | Injection: 7.5 mg/mL in 2 mL ampoule,<br>10 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule   |  |
| Carbamazepine                   | Tablet (scored): 400 mg   |  |
| Cefalexin                       | Tablet (dispersible): 125 mg, 250 mg  |  |
| Cefotaxime                      | Powder for injection: 500 mg, 1 g, 2 g (as sodium) in vial  |  |
| Ceftriaxone                     | Powder for injection: 500 mg (as sodium) in vial  |  |
| Ciclosporin                     | Oral solution: 100 mg/mL  |  |

xxxviii

.....

| EMLc – New formulation/strength |   |  |  |
|---------------------------------|---|--|--|
| Medicine                        | Formulation/strength  |  |  |
| Ciprofloxacin                   | Solid oral dosage form: 100 mg (as<br>hydrochloride)  |  |  |
| Clarithromycin                  | Solid oral dosage form: 250 mg  |  |  |
| Clindamycin                     | Powder for oral liquid: 75 mg/5 mL (as palmitate hydrochloride)   |  |  |
| Cloxacillin                     | Capsule: 250 mg<br>Powder for injection: 250 mg (as sodium) in vial<br>Powder for oral liquid: 250 mg/5 mL (as<br>sodium)   |  |  |
| Cytarabine                      | Injection: 100 mg/mL  |  |  |
| Dacarbazine                     | Powder for injection: 200 mg in vial  |  |  |
| Daunorubicin                    | Injection: 2 mg/mL, 5 mg/mL in vial<br>Powder for injection: 20 mg in vial  |  |  |
| Digoxin                         | Injection: 100 micrograms/mL in 1 mL<br>ampoule<br>Tablet: 125 micrograms   |  |  |
| Doxorubicin                     | Injection: 2 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 5 mL,<br>25 mL vial   |  |  |
| Doxycycline                     | Powder for oral liquid: 25 mg/5 mL<br>(monohydrate)<br>Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL (calcium)<br>Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg (as monohydrate)   |  |  |
| Enalapril                       | Oral solution: 1 mg/mL (as hydrogen maleate)<br>Tablet: 10 mg (as hydrogen maleate)   |  |  |
| Etoposide                       | Powder for injection: 100 mg (as phosphate)<br>in vial  |  |  |
| Fluconazole                     | Powder for oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL  |  |  |
| Fluoride                        | Gel: containing 2500 to 12 500 ppm fluoride<br>(any type)<br>Mouth rinse: containing 230 to 900 ppm<br>fluoride (any type)<br>Varnish: containing 22 500 ppm fluoride (any<br>type) |  |  |
| Furosemide                      | Injection: 10 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule<br>Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL<br>Tablet: 20 mg   |  |  |

| EMLc – New formulation/strength  |   |  |  |
|----------------------------------|---|--|--|
| Medicine                         | Formulation/strength  |  |  |
| Hydroxycarbamide                 | Solid oral dosage form: 100 mg  |  |  |
| lbuprofen                        | Oral liquid: 100 mg/5 mL  |  |  |
| Insulin injection (soluble)      | Injection: 100 lU/mL in 3 mL cartridge<br>or prefilled pen  |  |  |
| Intermediate-acting insulin      | Injection: 100 lU/mL in 3 mL cartridge<br>or prefilled pen  |  |  |
| Linezolid                        | Tablet (dispersible): 150 mg (Section 6.2.3)  |  |  |
| Mebendazole                      | Tablet (chewable): 100 mg (Section 6.1.4)   |  |  |
| Mercaptopurine                   | Oral liquid: 20 mg/mL   |  |  |
| Methotrexate                     | Injection: 50 mg/2 mL (Section 8.2.1)<br>Concentrated injection: 1000 mg/10 mL<br>(Section 8.2.1) |  |  |
| Nifurtimox                       | Tablet (scored): 30 mg (Section 6.5.5.1)  |  |  |
| Nitrofurantoin                   | Solid oral dosage form: 50 mg   |  |  |
| p-aminosalicylate sodium         | Powder for oral solution: 5.52 g in sachet<br>(equivalent to 4 g p-aminosalicylic acid)           |  |  |
| Paracetamol                      | Oral liquid: 250 mg/5 mL<br>Suppository: 250 mg<br>Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg, 250 mg           |  |  |
| Pegaspargase                     | Powder for injection: 3750 units in vial  |  |  |
| Pentamidine                      | Powder for injection: 300 mg (as isethionate)<br>in vial  |  |  |
| Phenobarbital                    | Injection: 30 mg/mL, or 60 mg/mL (sodium)   |  |  |
| Praziquantel                     | Tablet: 150 mg (Sections 6.1.3 & 6.1.4)<br>Tablet: 500 mg (Sections 6.1.1 & 6.1.3)                |  |  |
| Rifampicin                       | Oral liquid: 20 mg/mL (Section 6.2.4)   |  |  |
| Sulfamethoxazole + trimethoprim  | Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg + 20 mg (Sections<br>6.2.1 & 6.5.4)                                  |  |  |
| Valproic acid (sodium valproate) | Injection: 100 mg/mL in 3 mL ampoule  |  |  |
| Vancomycin (intravenous)         | Powder for injection: 500 mg, 1 g (as<br>hydrochloride) in vial                                   |  |  |

| EMLc – Medicines/formulations deleted |   |  |
|---------------------------------------|---|--|
| Medicine                              | Formulation/strength  |  |
| Amikacin                              | Injection: 100 mg/2 mL (as sulfate) in 2 mL vial<br>(Section 6.2.5)   |  |
| Azithromycin                          | Oral liquid: 200 mg/5 mL  |  |
| Chloramphenicol                       | Capsule 250 mg<br>Oral liquid: 150 mg/5 mL (as palmitate)   |  |
| Chlorpromazine                        | Injection: 25 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 2 mL<br>ampoule<br>Oral liquid: 25 mg/5 mL (hydrochloride)<br>Tablet: 10 mg, 25 mg, 50 mg, 100 mg<br>(hydrochloride) |  |
| Clarithromycin                        | Solid oral dosage form: 500 mg  |  |
| Clindamycin                           | Oral liquid: 75 mg/5 mL (as palmitate)  |  |
| Dasatinib                             | Tablet: 100 mg, 140 mg  |  |
| Doxycycline                           | Oral liquid: 25 mg/5 mL (anhydrous)   |  |
| Ethambutol                            | Oral liquid: 25 mg/mL   |  |
| Ethionamide                           | Tablet: 125 mg  |  |
| Haloperidol                           | Injection: 5 mg in 1 mL ampoule<br>Oral liquid: 2 mg/mL<br>Solid oral dosage form: 0.5 mg, 2 mg, 5 mg   |  |
| Fluoxetine                            | Solid oral dosage form: 20 mg (as<br>hydrochloride) (Sections 2.3 & 24.2.1)   |  |
| Furosemide                            | Tablet: 10 mg   |  |
| Hydroxycarbamide                      | Solid oral dosage form: 250 mg  |  |
| Isoniazid                             | Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL   |  |
| Levamisole                            | Tablet: 150 mg (as hydrochloride)   |  |
| Linezolid                             | Powder for oral liquid: 100 mg/5 mL (Section<br>6.2.5)<br>Tablet: 400 mg; 600 mg (Section 6.2.3)  |  |
| Nifurtimox                            | Tablet: 250 mg  |  |
| Nystatin                              | Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL<br>Tablet: 100 000 IU   |  |
| p-aminosalicylic acid                 | Granules: 4 g in sachet   |  |

| EMLc – Medicines/formulations deleted |  |  |
|---------------------------------------|--|--|
| Medicine                              | Formulation/strength                                     |  |
| Paracetamol                           | Tablet: 100 mg   |  |
| Pentamidine                           | Powder for injection: 200 mg (as isethionate)<br>in vial |  |
| Phenytoin                             | Oral liquid: 25 mg/5 mL (phenytoin)                      |  |
| Pyrantel                              | Oral liquid: 50 mg/mL (as embonate or pamoate)           |  |
| Pyrazinamide                          | Oral liquid: 30 mg/mL                                    |  |
| Vinorelbine                           | Capsule: 80 mg   |  |

## Table 3 Other changes to the 2023 EML and EMLc

| Other changes to listings – EML and/or EMLc |  |            |  |
|---|--|------------|--|
| Albendazole                                 | Add "(scored)" to listings for albendazole 400 mg chewable tablets   | EML & EMLc |  |
| Amitriptyline                               | Remove square box  | EML        |  |
| Amphotericin B                              | Add note stating "Liposomal amphotericin B has<br>a better safety profile than the deoxycholate<br>formulation and should be prioritized for<br>selection and use depending on local availability<br>and cost" | EML & EMLc |  |
| Azithromycin                                | Replace "capsule" with "solid oral dosage form"  | EML & EMLc |  |
| Bedaquiline                                 | Remove age restriction   | EML & EMLc |  |
| Benznidazole                                | Add "(scored)" to listings of benznidazole 50 mg<br>and 100 mg tablets   | EML & EMLc |  |
| Bleomycin                                   | Modify strength description from 15 mg to 15 000 IU  | EML & EMLc |  |
| Calcium folinate                            | Include the alternative medicine name<br>"leucovorin calcium" in the listing   | EML & EMLc |  |
| Clofazimine                                 | Replace "capsule" with "solid oral dosage form"  | EML & EMLc |  |
| Colistin                                    | Add equivalent strength in colistin base activity  | EML & EMLc |  |
| Cyclophosphamide                            | Replace "tablet" with "solid oral dosage form"   | EML & EMLc |  |
| Deferoxamine                                | Remove square box  | EML & EMLc |  |
| Delamanid                                   | Remove age restriction   | EML & EMLc |  |
| Diazepam                                    | Modify listing for rectal formulations for use in status epilepticus to better describe available dosage forms (Section 2.3 & Section 5.1)   | EML & EMLc |  |
| Diazepam                                    | Specify lorazepam as therapeutic alternative<br>and add note stating "For short-term emergency<br>management of acute and severe anxiety<br>symptoms only" (Section 24.3)                                      | EML        |  |
| Digoxin                                     | Transfer listing from the core to the complementary list   | EMLc       |  |
| Eflornithine                                | Amend bottle size from 100 mL to 50 mL   | EML & EMLc |  |
| Fluorouracil                                | Remove specification of vial size  | EML & EMLc |  |

| Other changes to listings – EML and/or EMLc |  |            |  |
|---|--|------------|--|
| Fluphenazine                                | Specify haloperidol decanoate and zuclopenthixol decanoate as therapeutic alternatives   | EML        |  |
| Haloperidol                                 | Specify chlorpromazine (oral formulations only) as therapeutic alternative   | EML        |  |
| Hydroxycarbamide                            | Include the alternative medicine name<br>"hydroxyurea" in the listing  | EML & EMLc |  |
| lvermectin                                  | Remove "(scored)" from listings for ivermectin<br>3 mg tablets   | EML & EMLc |  |
| Linezolid                                   | Add square box specifying tedizolid phosphate as<br>a therapeutic alternative for infections caused by<br>multidrug-resistant organisms (Section 6.2.3)  | EML        |  |
| Metronidazole                               | Replace tablet formulation strength range with specific strengths  | EML & EMLc |  |
| Midazolam                                   | Modify listings for use in status epilepticus to better describe available dosage forms  | EML & EMLc |  |
| Nifurtimox                                  | Add "(scored)" to listings of nifurtimox 30 mg and 120 mg tablets  | EML & EMLc |  |
| Nitrofurantoin                              | Replace "tablet" with "solid oral dosage form"   | EML & EMLc |  |
| Nystatin                                    | Replace "tablet" with "solid oral dosage form"   | EML & EMLc |  |
| Paracetamol                                 | Include the alternative medicine name<br>"acetaminophen" in the listing<br>Replace tablet formulation strength range with<br>specific strengths<br>Add note stating "The presence of both<br>120 mg/5 mL and 125 mg/5 mL strengths on the<br>same market would cause confusion in prescribing<br>and dispensing and should be avoided" | EML & EMLc |  |
| Phenoxymethylpenicillin                     | Replace "tablet" with "solid oral dosage form"   | EML & EMLc |  |
| Phenytoin                                   | Specify salt or free acid form for all formulations;<br>remove reference to vial size for 50 mg/mL<br>injection formulation  | EML & EMLc |  |
| Polymyxin B                                 | Include equivalent strength in mg of polymyxin B base  | EML & EMLc |  |
| Praziquantel                                | Add "(scored)" to listings for praziquantel 600 mg tablets   | EML & EMLc |  |

xliv

| Other changes to listings – EML and/or EMLc          |  |   |  |
|--|--|---|--|
| Risperidone  | Add square box specifying aripiprazole,<br>olanzapine, paliperidone and quetiapine as<br>therapeutic alternatives for schizophrenia and<br>related psychoses |   | EML  |
| Sodium stibogluconate<br>or meglumine<br>antimoniate | List each medicine separately  |   | EML & EMLc                                 |
| Triclabendazole                                      | Add "(scored)" to listings for triclabendazole<br>250 mg tablets   |   | EML & EMLc                                 |
| Vancomycin (oral)                                    | Add note stating "vancomycin powder<br>for injection may also be used for oral<br>administration"  |   | EML & EMLc                                 |
| Vecuronium   | Include atracurium as a therapeutic alternative El<br>under the square box listing of vecuronium   |   | EMLc                                       |
| Vinorelbine  | Modify listing to read 10 mg/mL in 1 mL or<br>5 mL vial  |   | EML & EMLc                                 |
| Changes to sections an                               | d sub-sections   |   |  |
|  | 2021   | 2023  |  |
| Section 5  | Anticonvulsants/antiepileptics   | Medicines for d<br>nervous system                     | iseases of the                             |
| Section 5.1  | N/A  | Antiseizure med                                       | dicines                                    |
| Section 5.2  | N/A  | Medicines for multiple sclerosis                      |  |
| Section 5.3  | N/A  | Medicines for parkinsonism                            |  |
| Section 6.7  | N/A  | Medicines for Ebola virus<br>disease                  |  |
| Section 6.8  | N/A  | Medicines for COVID-19                                |  |
| Section 9  | Antiparkinsonism medicines   | Therapeutic foc                                       | ods  |
| Section 12.7   | N/A  | Fixed-dose com<br>prevention of a<br>cardiovascular o | binations for<br>therosclerotic<br>disease |

| Changes to sections and sub-sections |                     |                                       |  |
|--------------------------------------|---------------------|---------------------------------------|--|
|                                      | 2021                | 2023                                  |  |
| Section 24.5.2                       | N/A                 | Medicines for nicotine use disorders  |  |
| Section 24.5.3                       | N/A                 | Medicines for opioid use<br>disorders |  |
| Section 30                           | Dental preparations | Dental medicines and preparations     |  |

N/A: not applicable.

## Table 4 Applications not recommended

| New medicines  |            |
|--|------------|
| Addition of alfacalcidol and calcitriol for treatment of disorders of bone and calcium metabolism  | EML & EMLc |
| Addition of anakinra for treatment of systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis with macrophage activation syndrome   | EML & EMLc |
| Addition of CD-19-directed antigen receptor (CAR) T cells (axicabtagene ciloleucel, tisagenlecleucel, lisocabtagene maraleucel) for treatment of relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphoma                                      | EML        |
| Addition of cladribine for treatment of refractory Langerhans cell histiocytosis   | EML & EMLc |
| Addition of crizotinib for treatment of relapsed/refractory anaplastic large-cell lymphoma   | EML & EMLc |
| Addition of cyclin-dependent kinase 4/6 inhibitors (abemaciclib, palbociclib, ribociclib) for treatment of hormone receptor positive/human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2)-negative advanced or metastatic breast cancer | EML        |
| Addition of donepezil for treatment of Alzheimer disease dementia  | EML        |
| Addition of estradiol for induction of puberty   | EML        |
| Addition of flomoxef sodium for empiric treatment of community acquired mild/moderate intraabdominal and upper urinary tract infections  | EML & EMLc |
| Addition of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor antagonists for treatment of obesity  | EML        |
| Addition of hypromellose for treatment of dry eye disease  | EML & EMLc |
| Addition of imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam for treatment of bacterial infections due to multidrug-resistant organisms  | EML & EMLc |
| Addition of ketoconazole for treatment of Cushing syndrome   | EML        |
| Addition of ocrelizumab for treatment of multiple sclerosis  | EML        |
| Addition of osimertinib for treatment of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)-mutation positive advanced or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer   | EML        |
| Addition of PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors (pembrolizumab, atezolizumab, cemiplimab, durvalumab) for non-oncogene-addicted locally advanced or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer                                      | EML        |
| Addition of phenelzine for treatment of treatment-resistant depression   | EML        |
| Addition of phosphorus for treatment of hypophosphataemic rickets  | EMLc       |

| New medicines   |            |
|---|------------|
| Addition of recombinant coagulation factors or bypassing agents as therapeutic alternatives to plasma-derived coagulation factors | EML & EMLc |
| Addition of risdiplam for treatment of spinal muscular atrophy  | EML & EMLc |
| Addition of somatropin for management of hypoglycaemia secondary to growth hormone deficiency                                     | EMLc       |
| Addition of sunscreen for prevention of skin cancer in people with albinism or xeroderma pigmentosum                              | EML & EMLc |
| Addition of ticagrelor for prevention of atherothrombotic events  | EML        |
| Addition of tislelizumab for treatment of non-oncogene-addicted locally advanced and metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer        | EML        |
| Addition of tocilizumab for treatment of systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis   | EML & EMLc |
| Addition of toripalimab for treatment of locally advanced or metastatic nasopharyngeal and oesophageal cancers                    | EML        |
| Addition of ustekinumab for treatment of severe psoriasis   | EML        |
| Addition of zanubrutinib for treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/<br>small lymphocytic lymphoma                            | EML        |
| New formulations/strengths  |            |
| Oral transmucosal formulations of fentanyl citrate for treatment of breakthrough cancer pain                                      | EML        |
| Methotrexate subcutaneous injection for severe inflammatory conditions  | EML & EMLc |
| Paliperidone palmitate 3-month long-acting injection for maintenance treatment of schizophrenia                                   | EML        |
| New indications   |            |
| Zoledronic acid for treatment of osteogenesis imperfecta  | EML & EMLc |

xlviii

## List of participants

#### **Expert Committee Members**

- Loice Achieng Ombajo, Infectious disease specialist, and senior lecturer at the University of Nairobi Department of Medicine, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Zeba Aziz, Professor of Medical Oncology, Rashid Latif Medical College, Lahore, Pakistan.
- **Rita Banzi**, Head of the Centre for Health Regulatory Policies, Mario Negri Institute, Milan, Italy (*Rapporteur*).
- **Francesco Ceppi**, Staff physician in Paediatric Oncology/Haematology, University Hospital CHUV, Lausanne, Switzerland.
- **Abdol Majid Cheraghali**, Professor of Pharmacology, Faculty of Pharmacy, BMS University, Tehran, Islamic Republic of Iran.
- **Pem Chuki**, Assistant Professor of Medicine, Jigme Dorji Wangchuck National Hospital, Thimphu, Bhutan.
- **Carlos Alberto Cuello Garcia**, Assistant Professor, Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence, and Impact, McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada; Professor, Evidence-Based Healthcare Quality Improvement, Tecnologico de Monterrey School of Medicine, Monterrey, Mexico.
- **Elisabeth de Vries**, Professor of Medical Oncology, University Medical Center, Groningen, the Kingdom of the Netherlands.
- **Wei Hao**, Professor of Psychiatry and Director of the WHO Collaborating Centre for Psychosocial Factors, Substance Abuse and Health, Central South University, Changsha, China.
- **Patrick Okwen**, Primary care clinician, district medical officer and health economist, Bali, Cameroon.
- **Gabriela Prutsky Lopez**, Assistant Professor of Pediatrics, Mayo Clinic, Mankato, United States of America; co-founder of Unidad de Conocimiento y Evidencia (CONEVID), Universidad Peruana Cayetano Heredia, Lima, Peru (*Chair*).
- **Mike Sharland**, Professor of Paediatric Infectious Diseases, St George's University, London, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland (*Co-chair*).
- Sangeeta Sharma, Professor of Neuropsychopharmacology, Institute of Human Behaviour and Allied Sciences, New Delhi, India.
- Fatima Suleman, Research Professor, School of Health Sciences, and Director of the WHO Collaborating Centre for Pharmaceutical Policy and Evidence Based Practice, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban, South Africa.
- Indah Widyahening, Associate Professor, Community Medicine Department, Universitas Indonesia, Jakarta, Indonesia.

**Temporary advisers** 

- Elie Akl, Professor of Medicine and Associate Dean for Clinical Research, American University of Beiruit, Beiruit, Lebanon.
- **Claudia Garcia Serpa Osorio de Castro**, Professor and Senior Researcher, Sergio Arouca National School of Public Health, Oswaldo Cruz Foundation, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.
- **Ilisabeta Pesamino**, Chief Pharmacist, Fiji Ministry of Health and Medical Services and Fiji Medicines Regulatory Authority, Suva, Fiji.
- **Zoubida Tazi Mezalek**, Professor of Internal Medicine and Head of the Clinical Hematology Department, University of Rabat, Rabat, Morocco.

### **United Nations agencies**

United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF)

Mary Atieno Ojoo, Technical Manager, Medicines and Nutrition Center, UNICEF Supply Division, Copenhagen, Denmark.

## WHO regional offices

Region of the Americas

Hector Eduardo Castro Jaramillo, Unit Chief, Medicines and Health Technologies, Department of Health Systems and Services, Washington, DC, United States of America.

South-East Asia Region

Uhjin Kim, Technical Officer, Essential Drugs and Medicines, New Delhi, India.

*Eastern Mediterranean Region* Adi Al-Nuseirat, Technical Officer, Access to Pharmaceuticals, Cairo, Egypt.

## WHO headquarters Geneva - Secretariat

- Benedikt Huttner, Secretary of the Expert Committee on Selection and Use of Essential Medicines, Department of Health Product Policy and Standards, Access to Medicines and Health Products.
- **Bernadette Cappello**, Technical Officer, EML Secretariat, Department of Health Product Policy and Standards, Access to Medicines and Health Products.
- **Kristina Jenei**, Temporary Adviser, EML Secretariat, Department of Health Product Policy and Standards, Access to Medicines and Health Products.
- Lorenzo Moja, Scientist, EML Secretariat, Department of Health Product Policy and Standards, Access to Medicines and Health Products.
- **Clive Ondari**, Director, Department of Health Product Policy and Standards, Access to Medicines and Health Products.

Т

## **Declaration of interests**

To be effective, the work of WHO and the contributions of its experts must be, and must be perceived to be, objective and independent. In this regard, to ensure the highest integrity and public confidence in its activities, WHO requires that experts serving in an advisory role disclose any circumstances that could give rise to a potential or reasonably perceived conflict of interest related to the subject of the activity in which they will be involved. Declarations of interest and management of any disclosures is an important process governed by the WHO Guidelines for Declaration of Interests (WHO Experts). More information regarding WHO's policy on declarations of interest is available on the WHO website<sup>2</sup>.

Prior to being invited to participate in the 24th meeting of the WHO Expert Committee on Selection and Use of Essential Medicines, all experts submitted written declarations of interest. In reviewing and assessing the declarations of interest, the WHO Essential Medicines List Secretariat sought the advice of the Office of Compliance, Risk Management and Ethics.

The declaration of interest process resulted in the participation of the Expert Committee Members and Temporary Advisers, as reported in the list of participants.

Experts who declared having no conflicts of interest were Elie Akl, Zeba Aziz, Francesco Ceppi, Abdol Majid Cheraghali, Pem Chuki, Patrick Okwen, Ilisabeta Pesamino, Gabriela Prutsky-Lopez, Sangeeta Sharma, Fatima Suleman and Indah Widyahening.

The following experts disclosed interests, which were assessed by the Secretariat for actual or potential conflicts and management strategies (if required):

Loice Achieng Ombajo disclosed receiving honoraria from GSK to serve on a scientific advisory board for the Africa Open Lab research programme, from ViiV Healthcare to serve on a scientific advisory board on HIV and Aging, and from Astra Zeneca to serve on a COVID-19 advisory board. She also disclosed having received honoraria from Astra Zeneca, Merck Sharp and Dohme and Mylan Laboratories for speaker engagements and conference travel on topics not related to medicines under evaluation at this meeting. All payments were below the threshold of significant financial interest. Dr Achieng Ombajo also disclosed funding to her institution (University of Nairobi) from ViiV Healthcare and Gilead Sciences for investigator-initiated clinical trials on medicines for HIV (not under evaluation at this meeting), for which she is the principal investigator. Dr Ombajo is the clinical lead of two country grant programmes, the first to improve surveillance of *Candida auris* in Kenya (funded by the Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention) and the second to improve antimicrobial surveillance (funded by the Fleming Fund). These disclosures were considered minor, unrelated to the subject matter of the Expert Committee meeting and did not require further management.

Rita Banzi disclosed research funding to her research unit and institution (Mario Negri Institute for Pharmaceutical Research) below the threshold of significant financial interest from Janssen

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> https://www.who.int/about/ethics/declarations-of-interest

Pharmaceuticals to support an educational programme for systematic review methodology. She also disclosed funding to her research unit and institution from AC.TA .s.r.l. to support a series of ongoing investigator-initiated clinical trials on the use of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) for the treatment of different cancers. No personal salary support was received. These disclosures were considered minor, unrelated to the subject matter of the Expert Committee meeting and did not require further management.

Carlos Alberto Cuello Garcia disclosed an appointment as senior research officer by the Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technology in Health (CADTH). In this capacity, Dr Cuello prepares evaluations of medicines that are presented to Agency's policy-makers to make reimbursement decisions. This disclosure was considered not to represent a conflict and did not require further management.

Elisabeth de Vries disclosed that she serves as an expert in data safety monitoring committees for an ongoing trial investigating atezolizumab in adjuvant breast cancer sponsored by a non-profit research programme (National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Colon Project) and for a completed trial investigating trastuzumab deruxtecan in advanced breast cancer sponsored by a for-profit company (Daiichi Sankyo). Dr de Vries also disclosed that she provides advice to Crescendo Biologics on improving the quality of the design and conduct of preclinical and phase I clinical studies exploring biological activity of bispecific molecules for the treatment of cancers. Sponsors provide funding to Dr de Vries' institution (University Medical Center Groningen) to cover her time commitment.

She also disclosed that her institution is involved in early phase clinical trials to explore the therapeutic and diagnostic/prognostic roles of cancer medicines and biomarkers. Her institution receives institutional funding from Amgen, Bayer, CytomX, Crescendo Biologics, Genetech, G1 Therapeutics, Regeneron, Roche, Servier and Synthon. No personal salary support was received. The trials concerned were not considered to be directly related to medicines under evaluation at the Expert Committee meeting.

She disclosed that she is a current member of the European Society for Medical Oncology Magnitude of Clinical Benefit Scale Working Group, having served as its Chair from 2013 to 2019, and is a current member of the Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumours Working Group, having been its co-chair from 2009 to 2022. She has served as the Chair of the EML Cancer Medicines Working Group since 2020 and was involved in the Working Group's evaluation of cancer medicine applications under consideration at the Expert Committee meeting. All these positions are unpaid.

These disclosures were considered to be unrelated, or not directly related, to the subject matter of the Expert Committee meeting and did not require further management.

Wei Hao disclosed that he was the principal investigator of a phase II clinical trial evaluating a long-acting naltrexone implant to treat opioid dependence sponsored by Shenzhen Sciencare Medical Industries. He disclosed having received honoraria in relation to the conduct of the trial, below the threshold for significant financial interest. The sponsors provided funding to Dr Hao's institution (Second Xiangya Hospital, Central South University) to cover trial costs. Naltrexone (oral formulation and extended-release injection) is a medicine under evaluation at the Expert Committee meeting for treatment of alcohol use disorders. This disclosure was considered to

represent an ostensible conflict of interest. A determination was made that he should be excluded from the deliberation and recommendation for the application for naltrexone. He recused himself from the meeting while the application for naltrexone was being discussed.

Claudia Garcia Serpa Osorio de Castro disclosed that she has received grant funding for consultancy work from Oswaldo Cruz Foundation Funding Agency to support a project on litigation for access to high-cost medicines sponsored by the Brazilian Ministry of Health, and research grant funding from the National Council for Scientific and Technological Development, a foundation linked to the Brazilian Ministry of Science and Technology, to support masters and PhD students involved in comparative effectiveness research. These disclosures were considered not to represent a conflict and did not require further management.

Mike Sharland disclosed that his institution (St George's University of London) has received research funding from the Global Antibiotic Research and Development Partnership (GARDP) to support the development of academic activities, including observational cohort studies, and monitoring antibiotic use in children. GARDP is funded exclusively from independent, non-commercial sources. He also disclosed that he is the Vice Chair and Board Member of the Penta Foundation, an Italian Charitable Foundation that globally supports trials to advance treatments for paediatric infectious diseases. Penta collaborates with multiple drug companies on the optimal design and conduct of observational and interventional trials of medicines. He has served as the Chair of the EML Antimicrobials Working Group since 2017 and was involved in the Working Group's evaluation of antibiotic applications under consideration at the Expert Committee meeting. Both positions are unpaid. These disclosures were considered not to represent a conflict and did not require further management.

He also disclosed that he is the chief investigator of the ongoing PediCAP trial, a European Unionfunded study comparing amoxicillin to amoxicillin + clavulanic acid in children admitted to hospital with severe pneumonia in Africa. Sandoz is donating amoxicillin + clavulanic dispersible tablets for the trial. He also disclosed that he is the chief investigator of the NeoSEP1 trial, funded by GARDP and the European & Developing Countries Clinical Trials Partnership, which compares novel combinations of generic antibiotics to treat neonatal sepsis. The antibiotics under study include fosfomycin, provided by InfectoPharm, and flomoxef, provided by Shionogi & Co. Both positions are unpaid. Applications for amoxicillin + clavulanic acid dispersible tablets (submitted by Sandoz) and flomoxef (submitted by GARDP) were under evaluation at the Expert Committee meeting. These disclosures were considered to represent an ostensible conflict of interest. A determination was made that he should be excluded from the deliberation and recommendation on the applications for amoxicillin + clavulanic acid dispersible tablets. He recused himself from the meeting while these applications were being discussed.

Zoubida Tazi Mezalek disclosed financial support below the threshold for significant financial interest from pharmaceutical companies (Hikma, Janssen, AfricPhar and Health Innovation) for reimbursement of travel and accommodation expenses for attendance at conferences. She also disclosed that she served as an investigator in an observational study sponsored by Servier and a phase IV study sponsored by Roche. These disclosures were considered minor, unrelated to the subject matter of the Expert Committee meeting and did not require further management.

## **1. Introduction**

The meeting of the 24th WHO Expert Committee on the Selection and Use of Essential Medicines took place at WHO headquarters in Geneva, Switzerland, from 24 April to 28 April 2023. The aim of the meeting was to review and update the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines (EML) and the 8th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children (EMLc), the "Model Lists". The meeting agenda included 85 applications covering more than 100 medicines across multiple medicine classes and formulations for addition, deletion, amendment and review.

The meeting was opened by Dr Clive Ondari, Director, Health Products Policy and Standards Department, on behalf of WHO Director-General, Dr Tedros Adhanom Ghebreyesus. Dr Ondari welcomed Committee members and temporary advisers, representatives from WHO regional offices and other UN agencies.

In his opening remarks, Dr Ondari highlighted that in 2023 WHO was celebrating its 75th anniversary and that the WHO Essential Medicines List was approaching 50 years since it was first released. He noted that the Director-General of WHO in 1975, Dr Halfdan Mahler, warned at the World Health Assembly in that year of the "urgent need to ensure that most essential drugs are available at a reasonable price", which led the publication of the first EML 2 years later. He noted that since the first EML, WHO had endeavoured both internally and in partnership with external stakeholders to improve global access to essential medicines for those who need them. This period has seen several important success stories such as widespread access to affordable medicines for HIV, hepatitis C and tuberculosis. However, access to numerous other essential medicines, from 100-year-old insulin to new, sophisticated, targeted treatments for certain cancers, is still limited in many settings and efforts to improve access must continue.

Dr Ondari further elaborated that the central role of the WHO EML to facilitate global access to medicines raised the question of how essential medicines are selected from the thousands available worldwide, with several dozen new ones becoming available each year. Since the beginning of the millennium, decisions on essential medicines have not only increased in number, but they have also become increasingly complex because some new medicines require advanced technological underlying infrastructure for everything from diagnosis to administration to the management of side-effects. Innovative new treatment methods, such as gene and CAR T-cell therapies, are increasingly being studied and have the potential to change the treatment paradigm for many diseases while also being associated with a whole new set of challenges. Dr Ondari noted that at its current meeting the Expert Committee would be reviewing several applications that have been developed following recent updates to WHO guidelines, including for mental health and coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). He observed that when the first EML was published in 1977, the concept of evidence-based medicine had not yet been established but that since then, evidence-based and transparent decision-making had become the cornerstone of WHO recommendations in the EML and in WHO guidelines. He noted that essential medicines should not just be available and affordable for patients, but they must also be used appropriately. This is where the strong relationship between the EML and WHO guidelines comes into play as transparent and evidence-based recommendations from WHO serve to justify and maintain the trust that countries, health care professionals and patients place in the Model List and WHO guidelines.

Dr Ondari also noted that the 2023 Expert Committee would also consider applications for medicines for rare diseases and that there was sometimes the misconception that medicines for rare diseases could not qualify as essential because of the low prevalence of the diseases. While disease prevalence was one of the factors looked at when selecting essential medicines, low disease prevalence did not necessarily prevent a medicine from being considered essential if the clinical benefits for patients were highly relevant. Furthermore, a disease may be deemed rare in one geographical location and yet be highly prevalent in another. He elaborated that with the increasing availability of targeted treatments and precision medicines, even so-called common diseases were increasingly stratified into "rarer" subcategories for treatment purposes. The EML was an important tool for improving access to essential medicines, but the EML listing was just one step in the process that must be accompanied by other measures to ensure access at the country level. As an example, long-acting insulin analogues, following the recommendation to include them on the EML in 2021, were also included in a call for expression of interest for WHO prequalification. He was happy to report that WHO prequalified the first human insulin in 2022, but acknowledged that it was too early to evaluate the effect of these actions on global insulin prices and access. Nevertheless, a recent publication in the New England Journal of Medicine reported that the prices for long-acting insulins in the United States had fallen by over 70% since 2021.

Dr Ondari further remarked that the mandate of the Medicine Patent Pool, which had long contributed to improving access to essential medicines for infectious diseases in low- and middle-income countries by negotiating voluntary licensing agreements, had been broadened beyond infectious diseases in October 2022. Following this move, the Medicine Patent Pool signed a voluntary licensing agreement with Novartis AG to increase access to nilotinib – an essential medicine for the treatment of chronic myeloid leukaemia. He stressed that WHO strongly encouraged licence holders of other essential medicines for noncommunicable diseases, to engage with the Medicine Patent Pool to make these medicines accessible for patients globally. WHO recognized the importance of medical innovation and novel medicines to advance global health and well-being, but numerous older medicines were available that had not been sufficiently studied

#### Introduction

for the benefits they may offer in indications for which they were not originally approved. This was particularly true for antibiotics, where it has proven difficult to develop entirely new medicines, especially for the treatment of multidrugresistant pathogens. He emphasized the role of the Global Antibiotic Research & Development Partnership (GARDP) in improving the evidence base for new and old antibiotics for difficult-to-treat infections and in making the most effective treatments accessible for patients who need them.

Finally, Dr Ondari reminded Committee members and temporary advisers of their obligations to provide advice to WHO in their individual capacities as experts, and not as representatives of their governments, institutions or organizations. He acknowledged the considerable work that had already been undertaken in preparation for the meeting and thanked the experts for dedicating their time and expertise to support and contribute to WHO's work on essential medicines.

Dr Hanan Balkhy, Assistant Director-General a.i. of the Access to Medicines and Health Products Division and Assistant Director-General of the Antimicrobial Resistance Division, also addressed the Committee. She noted that the concept of essential medicines remains highly relevant after nearly 50 years and that it will need the combined efforts of all stakeholders to adapt the WHO Model Lists to face the challenges of the next 75 years. In her role as assistant Director-General of the Antimicrobial Resistance Division, she took the opportunity to comment on the role of antibiotics on the EML. She reminded the audience that antibiotics have occupied a large section on the EML ever since its first edition in 1977 and that in 2017 the AWaRe framework revolutionized the listing of antibiotics on the EML by classifying them into three categories (Access, Watch, Reserve). She noted that the AWaRe framework had been adopted by many countries to monitor antibiotic use and guide antibiotic stewardship activities. She recalled that WHO had adopted a target that at least 60% of antibiotic use should be from the Access category, a target endorsed most recently by the Muscat ministerial manifesto. She highlighted that WHO now has a companion publication available in multiple formats, the WHO AWaRe antibiotic book, which will help countries achieve this goal by providing up-to-date, evidence-based guidance on the management of over 30 infectious syndromes and the use of Reserve antibiotics. She noted that the AWaRe antibiotic book potentiates the impact of the EML and WHO guidelines by providing a key tool to improve antibiotic use and combat antimicrobial resistance worldwide. She also mentioned that the Secretariat was exploring ways that this approach could be applied in different therapeutic areas, building on the success of the AWaRe antibiotic book.

Dr Balkhy concluded that prioritizing those medicines that provide the most benefit, the EML was an important tool to achieve WHO's Triple Billion target and thanked the experts for their enthusiasm, dedication, and commitment as vital contributors to the success of the EML.

3

## 2. Open session

The open session of the meeting was held in person and virtually and was chaired by Clive Ondari, Director, Department of Health Product Policy and Standards on behalf of the Director-General. A variety of interested parties attended the session, including representatives of WHO Member States, nongovernmental organizations, academia and civil society.

Updates from the WHO Secretariat were presented by Benedikt Huttner, Essential Medicines Team Lead and Secretary of the Expert Committee, Ana Aceves Capri, Essential Diagnostics List Secretariat, and Martina Penazzato, Global Accelerator for Pediatric Formulations (GAP-f) Secretariat.

Chairs of the EML Working Groups for antimicrobials (Mike Sharland) and cancer medicines (Elisabeth de Vries) presented updates of the work undertaken by these working groups since the last Expert Committee meeting.

Three speakers gave presentations on topics of relevance to the current and ongoing work of WHO on essential medicines. Holger Schunemann, Professor of Medicine and Clinical Epidemiology at McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada presented on integrity and transparency of decisions on essential medicines. Subasree Srinivasan, Medical Director of the Global Antibiotic Research & Development Partnership (GARDP), Geneva, Switzerland presented on bridging antibiotic innovation and access and preserving the power of antibiotics, and Enrico Costa from the WHO Collaborating Centre for Pharmaceutical Policy and Regulation at Utrecht University in the Kingdom of the Netherlands presented an evaluation of rare diseases and the WHO Model Lists.

Additional presentations and/or statements were made by the following participants:

- Wendy Weidner, Alzheimer's Disease International
- Paul Domanico, Clinton Health Access Initiative
- George Pentheroudakis, European Society for Medical Oncology
- James Anderson, International Federation of Pharmaceutical Manufacturers & Associations
- Esin Aysel Kandemir, International Society of Oncology Pharmacy Practitioners
- Thiru Balasubramanian, Knowledge Ecology International
- Daniela Garone, Médecins Sans Frontières
- Giulia Segafredo, Medicines Patent Pool
- Joanna Laurson, Neurology Organizations
- Ian Tannock, Optimal Cancer Care Alliance

4

.....

- Durhane Wong-Rieger, Rare Diseases International
- Kacper Rucinski, Spinal Muscular Atrophy Organizations

Copies of all presentations and statements are available on the WHO website<sup>3</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> 24th Expert Committee on Selection and Use of Essential Medicines [webpage]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://www.who.int/groups/expert-committee-on-selection-and-use-of-essentialmedicines/24th-eml-expert-committee, accessed 30 August 2023).

## 3. General items

## Procedure for updating the WHO Model Lists

The Expert Committee noted that the procedure for updating the Model Lists has only been updated once since the publication of the first EML in 1977. The Committee also took note of the fact that since the revised procedures were introduced in 2001 (as outlined in Executive Board document EB109/8), the medicine evaluation landscape has become increasingly complex and that some aspects of the procedure may benefit from revision. Issues that were discussed by the Committee and can be considered as part of a broader discussion with Member States are: the actual application process, including how to balance the quality of the applications against the openness of the process that accepts applications without filtering them for quality; issues surrounding effective but highly priced medicines which pose difficulties as feasibility and acceptability could be low; the role of products commonly not classified as medicines on the Model Lists, such as condoms, oxygen and toothpastes; the role of the Model Lists in clinical areas where WHO does not have guidelines; the dissemination of the Model Lists; the role with national lists to facilitate progress towards universal health coverage; and the role of the Model Lists in the context of public health emergencies of international concern. The Committee therefore recommended that WHO consider initiating a process to reassess the procedure for updating WHO's Model Lists of Essential Medicines. This process should be an inclusive collaboration with Member States and other relevant stakeholders, including for example other UN organizations, WHO Collaborating Centres, universities and scientific societies, international procurement agencies, nongovernmental organizations, professional associations, national essential medicines programme representatives, representatives from the pharmaceutical industry and patient organizations.

## Off-label use of medicines

The Expert Committee noted the comments received from the International Federation of Pharmaceutical Manufacturers and Associations on off-label use of medicines included on the Model Lists. The Committee reiterated the views expressed by the 2015 Expert Committee regarding consideration of medicines for inclusion on the Model Lists for off-label uses or indications. Namely, that labelling is the responsibility of national regulatory authorities and consequently different labels may exist for the same product in different countries, and that there is thus no global standard for what is considered off-label. Furthermore, market authorization holder(s) may not seek to update approved labels for older products if doing so is not determined to be commercially viable, and there are many examples of older products whose regulatory labels are inconsistent with

current clinical evidence and current clinical practice. Consequently, the Expert Committee reaffirmed that off-label status of a medicine need not be a reason to exclude it from the Model Lists, if it otherwise meets the criteria for inclusion. Because of the intended global audience of the Model Lists and the differences in national regulatory labelling, the Committee recommended that off-label status should not be specifically marked in the Model Lists. The Committee recognized that it is a responsibility of relevant national decision-makers to consider national labelling and legal requirements in the selection and use of medicines at the country level. The Committee considered that the inclusion on the Model Lists of off-label medicines that are associated with relevant clinical benefits and financial advantages can play an important role in informing national selection and facilitating progress towards universal health coverage.

## **Rare diseases**

Medicines to treat rare diseases have been included on the Model Lists since the first EML was published in 1977. The Expert Committee acknowledged that rare diseases include a diverse group of conditions that individually affect a small portion of the population. However, collectively, they can affect millions of people worldwide. There is no universally agreed definition of "rare", with prevalence-based national and regional definitions of rare diseases (often in the context of orphan medicine legislation) varying considerably. Furthermore, a disease may be considered rare in one population or setting, while being highly prevalent in another, as disease prevalence can vary depending on various population-specific, environmental and geographic factors. The Committee also noted that with increasing advances in precision medicine and targeted treatments in some areas (e.g. oncology), small/rare subcategories of otherwise more common diseases are emerging. The Committee noted that many, but not all, medicines for rare diseases are highly priced and may be unaffordable for many patients and health care systems, particularly in resource-constrained settings.

The Expert Committee recognized the role of the Model Lists in providing an evidence-based blueprint to inform decision-making for national essential medicines lists, including selection of medicines for rare diseases. The Committee also recognized the important advocacy role that inclusion on the Model Lists can play in fostering further action that can lead to increased access and affordability of essential medicines for rare diseases. The Committee considered that the low prevalence of a disease should not be a reason to exclude medicines for its treatment from the Model Lists, if they otherwise meet the criteria for inclusion.

7

# Age appropriateness of formulations of essential medicines for children

In consideration of the review of the age appropriateness of formulations of medicines on the EMLc, and the comparison report of the EML versus EMLc, the Expert Committee recommended changes to the EMLc for addition of new, age-appropriate formulations and strengths of existing essential medicines, deletion of unavailable or age-inappropriate formulations and strengths, and other listing modifications as proposed in the application. The Committee also endorsed the proposals for further review of the public health relevance and evidence for specific medicines for use in children for potential future consideration for inclusion on the EMLc. The Committee noted and welcomed the ongoing review being coordinated by the Secretariat for the remaining sections of the EMLc for consideration by the 2025 Expert Committee.

## **COVID-19 therapeutics**

Given the global recognition of the need for effective therapeutics to prevent and treat COVID-19, as well as the need to ensure adequate and affordable access globally to these treatments, the Expert Committee recommended that effective and safe therapeutics for COVID-19 should be considered as essential medicines and should therefore be prioritized by countries for national selection and procurement. However, the Committee also recognized the continued rapid evolution of the evidence base for COVID-19 therapeutics, which contrasts with the biennial timeline of the updates of the Model Lists. Furthermore, the evolution of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), combined with changing population immunity, may influence disease severity and thus affect the relative and absolute benefits associated with COVID-19 therapeutics. The Committee considered that in the context of public health emergencies, there is a risk in listing medicines on the WHO Model Lists that later must be removed because they are no longer relevant for the reasons outlined above, a scenario that should be avoided. The Committee recommended that countries should refer to WHO and national guidelines to determine prioritization of medicines during public health emergencies.

The Expert Committee recommended a new section be added to the EML and EMLc for COVID-19 therapeutics, but that specific, individual medicines should not be listed at this time. Rather, the Committee recommended that this section of the Model Lists should direct national decision-makers to the WHO living guidelines for COVID-19 therapeutics, noting that these are being revised and updated regularly. Importantly, these living guidelines also include recommendations for use of other medicines already included on the Model Lists (e.g. dexamethasone, oxygen), as well as recommendations against the use of medicines that are included on the Model Lists for other indications (e.g. hydroxychloroquine, lopinavir-ritonavir).

## 4. Summary of recommendations

## Changes to sections of the Model Lists

Refer to Table 3 of the Executive Summary for details of changes to sections and subsections of the Model Lists.

## Additions to the Model Lists

<u>Section 1.1.1</u>: Sevoflurane was added to the core list of the EML and EMLc as an inhalational anaesthetic.

<u>Section 5.1</u>: Levetiracetam was added to the core list of the EML and EMLc for treatment of focal- and generalized-onset seizures. Levetiracetam injection was added to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for management of status epilepticus.

<u>Section 5.2</u>: Cladribine and glatiramer acetate were added to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of multiple sclerosis.

<u>Section 6.2.3</u>: Ceftolozane + tazobactam was added to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for treatment of infections due to multidrug-resistant organisms. Tedizolid phosphate was added as a therapeutic alternative to linezolid.

<u>Section 6.2.5</u>: Pretomanid was added to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis.

<u>Section 6.4.4.2.1</u>: Ravidasvir was added to the core list of the EML for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C virus infection for use in combination with sofosbuvir.

<u>Section 6.7</u>: Ansuvimab and atoltivimab + maftivimab + odesivimab were added to the core list of the EML and EMLc for treatment of Ebola virus disease in accordance with recommendations in WHO guidelines.

<u>Section 8.2.1</u>: Pegylated liposomal doxorubicin was added to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for treatment of Kaposi sarcoma.

<u>Section 8.2.2</u>: Pegfilgrastim was added to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for prophylaxis of febrile neutropenia and to facilitate administration of dose-dense chemotherapy regimens.

<u>Section 9</u>: Ready-to-use therapeutic food was added to the core list of the EMLc for treatment of severe acute malnutrition in children.

<u>Section 10.3</u>: Deferasirox was added to the core list of the EML and EMLc for treatment of transfusional iron overload in patients with thalassaemia syndromes, sickle-cell disease and other chronic anaemias, with a square box listing specifying oral deferiprone as a therapeutic alternative.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

<u>Section 11.1</u>: Pathogen-reduced cryoprecipitate was added to the core list of the EML and EMLc for use as a transfusional blood component, with a square box listing specifying non-pathogen-reduced cryoprecipitate as a therapeutic alternative.

<u>Section 12.7</u>: Three fixed-dose combinations of cardiovascular medicines (acetylsalicylic acid + simvastatin + ramipril + atenolol + hydrochlorothiazide; acetylsalicylic acid + atorvastatin + ramipril; atorvastatin + perindopril + amlodipine) were added to the core list of the EML for use in primary and secondary prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases. Components of the combinations are listed with a square box, indicating other medicines within the respective pharmacological classes as therapeutic alternatives.

<u>Section 13.1</u>: Selenium sulfide was added to the core list of the EMLc for treatment of seborrhoeic dermatitis and pityriasis versicolor in children.

<u>Section 18.8</u>: Cabergoline was added to the core list of the EML for management of hyperprolactinaemia associated with prolactin-secreting pituitary adenomas (prolactinomas), with a square box listing specifying bromocriptine as a therapeutic alternative. Octreotide was added to the complimentary list of the EML for use in the management of gigantism and acromegaly in adults with growth hormone-producing tumours.

<u>Section 22.2</u>: Letrozole was added to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of anovulatory infertility associated with polycystic ovary syndrome or unexplained infertility, with a square box listing specifying anastrozole as a therapeutic alternative.

<u>Section 24.1</u>: Olanzapine immediate-release injection was added to the core list of the EML for the acute treatment of schizophrenia and related psychoses.

<u>Section 24.2.2</u>: Quetiapine was added to the core list of the EML for the treatment of bipolar disorders, with a square box listing specifying aripiprazole, olanzapine and paliperidone as therapeutic alternatives.

<u>Section 24.5.1</u>: Acamprosate and naltrexone were added to the core list of the EML for treatment of alcohol use disorder.

<u>Section 29.3</u>: Triamcinolone hexacetonide was added to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for use in the treatment of oligoarticular forms of juvenile idiopathic arthritis.

<u>Section 30</u>: resin-based composites were added to the core list of the EML and EMLc for use as dental sealants (low-viscosity forms) and as filling materials (high-viscosity forms) in the prevention and treatment of dental caries.

## **Deletions from the Model Lists**

The following medicines were deleted from the Model Lists:

- chlorpromazine for the treatment of psychotic disorders in children (EMLc)
- dasabuvir for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C virus infection (EML)
- fluoxetine for the treatment of depression in children (EMLc)
- haloperidol for the treatment of psychotic disorders in children (EMLc)
- ombitasvir + paritaprevir + ritonavir for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C virus infection (EML)
- pegylated interferon alfa (2a or 2b) for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C virus infection (EML).

Refer to Tables 1 and 2 of the Executive Summary for details of the deletion of specific formulations and/or strengths of listed medicines from the EML and EMLc, respectively.

## **New indications**

Section 5.2: New indication of multiple sclerosis for rituximab on the EML.

<u>Section 6.2.5</u>: New indication of drug-susceptible tuberculosis meningitis for ethionamide on the EML and EMLc.

Section 8.2:

- New indication of anaplastic large cell lymphoma for cyclophosphamide, cytarabine, dexamethasone, doxorubicin, etoposide, ifosfamide, methotrexate, prednisolone and vinblastine on the EML and EMLc.
- New indication of Langerhans cell histiocytosis for cytarabine, immunoglobulin (Section 11.2.1), mercaptopurine, methotrexate, prednisolone, vinblastine and vincristine on the EML and EMLc.
- New indication of Burkitt lymphoma for rituximab on the EML and EMLc.

<u>Section 13.4</u>: New indication of psoriasis for methotrexate tablets on the EML and EMLc.

<u>Section 22.3</u>: New indication of intrauterine fetal demise for mifepristone – misoprostol on the EML.

<u>Section 24</u>: New indications of anxiety disorders and obsessive–compulsive disorder for fluoxetine on the EML.

## New formulations/strengths

<u>Section 6.2.1</u>: Inclusion of amoxicillin + clavulanic acid 200 mg + 28.5 mg dispersible tablet on the EMLc.

<u>Section 10.1</u>: Inclusion of ferrous salt + folic acid tablet containing 60 mg elemental iron + 2.8 g folic acid on the EML.

<u>Section 18.5.1</u>: Inclusion of 100 IU/mL cartridge and prefilled pen delivery systems for human insulin on the EML and EMLc.

<u>Section 24.5.2</u>: Inclusion of nicotine replacement therapy lozenges (2 mg and 4 mg) and oral spray (1 mg per actuation) on the EML.

<u>Section 30</u>: Inclusion of fluoride gel, mouth rinse and varnish formulations to the EML and EMLc.

Refer also to Tables 1 and 2 of the Executive Summary for details of the addition of other new formulations/strengths of listed medicines on the EML and EMLc, respectively.

## Other changes to listings

Refer to Table 3 of the Executive Summary for details of other changes to the listing of medicines on the Model Lists.

## Applications not recommended

<u>Section 2</u>: Inclusion of fast-acting oral transmucosal formulations of fentanyl citrate on the EML for the treatment of breakthrough cancer pain.

Section 5:

- Inclusion of donepezil on the EML for the treatment of dementia due to Alzheimer disease.
- Inclusion of risdiplam on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of spinal muscular atrophy.
- Inclusion of ocrelizumab on the EML for the treatment of multiple sclerosis.

Section 6:

- Inclusion of flomoxef sodium on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of community-acquired mild-to-moderate intraabdominal and upper urinary tract infections.
- Inclusion of imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam on the EML for the treatment of infections due to multidrug-resistant organisms.

## Section 8:

- Inclusion of CD-19-directed antigen receptor (CAR) T-cells (axicabtagene ciloleucel, tisagenlecleucel, lisocabtagene maraleucel) on the EML for the treatment of adults with relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphoma.
- Inclusion of cladribine on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of Langerhans cell histiocytosis.
- Inclusion of crizotinib on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of relapsed or refractory anaplastic large cell lymphoma.
- Inclusion of cyclin-dependent kinase 4/6 inhibitors (abemaciclib, palbociclib and ribociclib) on the EML for the treatment of hormone receptor positive/HER2-negative advanced breast cancer.
- Inclusion of osimertinib on the EML for the treatment of EGFRmutated locally advanced or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer.
- Inclusion of PD-1 and PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors on the EML for first-line treatment of metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer in patients with tumour PD-L1 expression ≥ 50% (pembrolizumab, atezolizumab, cemiplimab), and of locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer in patients with tumour PD-L1 expression ≥ 1% (durvalumab).
- Inclusion of tislelizumab on the EML for the treatment of locally advanced and metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer without patient preselection based on PD-L1 tumour expression.
- Inclusion of toripalimab on the EML for the treatment of locally advanced and metastatic nasopharyngeal and oesophageal cancers.
- Inclusion of zanubrutinib on the EML for the treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia and small lymphocytic lymphoma.

13

<u>Section 10</u>: Inclusion of recombinant coagulation factors or bypassing agents on the EML and EMLc as therapeutic alternatives to plasma-derived coagulation factors.

<u>Section 12</u>: Inclusion of ticagrelor on the EML for the prevention of atherothrombotic events.

#### Section 13:

- Inclusion of sunscreen on the EML and EMLc for the prevention of skin cancer in people with albinism or xeroderma pigmentosum.
- Inclusion of ustekinumab on the EML for the treatment of severe psoriasis.

### Section 18:

- Inclusion of alfacalcidol and calcitriol on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of disorders of bone and calcium metabolism.
- Inclusion of  $17-\beta$ -estradiol on the EML for induction of puberty.
- Inclusion of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists on the EML for weight loss in obesity.
- Inclusion of ketoconazole on the EML for the treatment of Cushing syndrome.
- Inclusion of phosphorus on the EMLc for the treatment of hypophosphataemic rickets.
- Inclusion of somatropin on the EMLc for the management of hypoglycaemia secondary to growth hormone deficiency.
- Inclusion of zoledronic acid on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of osteogenesis imperfecta.

Section 21: Inclusion of hypromellose on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of dry eye disease.

## Section 24:

- Inclusion of paliperidone palmitate 3-month long-acting injection on the EML for maintenance treatment of schizophrenia.
- Inclusion of phenelzine on the EML for the treatment of treatment-resistant depression.

Section 29:

- Inclusion of anakinra on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis with macrophage activation syndrome.
- Inclusion of tocilizumab on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis.

## 5. Applications for the 23rd Model List of Essential Medicines and the 9th Model List of Essential Medicines for Children

Section 1: Anaesthetics, preoperative medicines and medical gases

1.1 General anaesthetics and oxygen

## 1.1.1 Inhalational medicines

Sevoflurane – addition – EML & EMLc

### Sevoflurane

ATC code: N01AB08

## Proposal

Addition of sevoflurane to the core list of the EML and EMLc as an inhalational gas for general anaesthesia.

## Applicant

AbbVie Biopharmaceuticals GmbH, Chicago, IL, United States of America

### WHO technical department

Not applicable

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

1.1.1 Inhalational medicines

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Inhalation

## Core/complementary

Core

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

## Background

The Model Lists currently include halothane, isoflurane and nitrous oxide as inhalational gases for general anaesthesia.

16
A review of the evidence on inhalational anaesthetics was considered by the Expert Committee in 2011. At that time, the Model List included only halothane (with a square box) and nitrous oxide. The Committee noted that halothane was widely used in both induction and maintenance in adults and children but had been gradually replaced in high-income countries by isoflurane, enflurane, desflurane, and sevoflurane for safety reasons. Furthermore, it was noted that ensuring the availability of halothane was increasingly problematic in many settings. The Committee considered that none of these medicines was best in all situations, with choice determined by the availability of the medicines and specific vaporizers. While isoflurane causes less hepatic failure than halothane and has advantages for maintenance, it is unsuitable for induction. Enflurane also has a lower rate of hepatic failure and less cardiovascular toxicity than halothane but increases the risk of seizure and has to be avoided in patients with epilepsy. Isoflurane and enflurane have more rapid onset and recovery times than halothane. Sevoflurane and desflurane have the most rapid onset and offset of action and few adverse effects, such as airway irritation (desflurane), agitation in more than 20% of children during recovery, and convulsions (sevoflurane). Both sevoflurane and desflurane were noted to be more expensive than halothane, isoflurane or enflurane. The Committee recommended the inclusion of isoflurane but not enflurane (due to the risks of convulsions) or sevoflurane (due to cost). The Committee recommended that halothane remain listed, but the square box be removed. The Committee concluded that where available, halothane provides an affordable option for induction and maintenance of anaesthesia. However, where availability is a problem, isoflurane would provide an acceptable option for maintenance. The Committee noted that nitrous oxide can be used as a single agent where general anaesthesia is not required, or in combination with inhalational anaesthetics. Use in combination reduces the dose, toxicity and costs of inhalational drugs. The Committee therefore recommended nitrous oxide remain listed (1).

#### Public health relevance

According to estimates from 2016, about 6% of the world's population requires surgery each year and about 92% of the surgeries will require anaesthesia (2). The overarching goal of anaesthesia is to block sensation to a specific area or the whole body. In general anaesthesia, the patient is kept in a safe and controlled state of unconsciousness by a mixture of medicines and sensation is blocked to the entire body. In 2008, it was estimated that about 234 million major surgical procedures are performed worldwide every year (3). Inhalational anaesthetics, including sevoflurane, are not only used in major surgeries, but may also be used in outpatient surgeries and dental procedures.

The most commonly used inhalational anaesthetics are halothane, sevoflurane, desflurane, isoflurane and nitrous oxide (4). Of these, sevoflurane is

17

the most used because of its low blood–gas solubility allowing for rapid induction and quick recovery time, less irritation to the airway passages, lower pungency and acceptable cardiovascular side-effects (5–7).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The application presented summaries of the findings of multiple meta-analyses and clinical trials comparing sevoflurane and other EML-listed inhalational anaesthetics for various outcomes. A summary from the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved product information for the AbbVie brand of sevoflurane was also presented (8).

#### Meta-analyses

A meta-analysis of 56 studies in adults and children found that sevoflurane reduced mean extubation time after surgery by 13% (95% confidence interval (CI) 1.4% to 23%) compared with isoflurane. Sevoflurane was also associated with reduced incidence of prolonged extubation (51%, 95% CI 49% to 54%) and reduced mean time to following commands (27%, 95% CI 18% to 36%) compared with isoflurane (9).

A meta-analysis of nine studies (1562 participants) found that sevoflurane was associated with statistically significant shorter recovery times (in minutes) than isoflurane for time of emergence (mean difference (MD) -2.9, 95% CI -3.1 to -2.7), extubation (MD -1.6, 95% CI -1.9 to -1.3), response to commands (MD -3.0, 95% CI -3.3 to -2.7), orientation (MD -4.5, 95% CI -4.8 to -4.2) and first post-operative analgesic (MD -8.9, 95% CI -10.8 to -7.0). There was no significant difference between the anaesthetics for time to discharge from recovery room (MD 0.7 minutes, 95% CI -2.7 to 4.1 minutes) (10).

A meta-analysis of six studies (634 participants) compared the recovery profile after ambulatory anaesthesia for isoflurane and sevoflurane (*11*). Statistically significant differences were reported between isoflurane and sevoflurane, favouring sevoflurane, for time to opening eyes (2.4 minutes; 95% CI 1.8 to 2.9 minutes), time to obeying commands (2.4 minutes, 95% CI 1.8 to 2.9 minutes), time to transfer from phase I to phase II recovery (8.2 minutes, 95% CI 5.7 to 10.6 minutes), time to home readiness (5.1 minutes, 95% CI 2.8 to 7.4 minutes) and time to home discharge (25 minutes, 95% CI 0.4 to 50.0 minutes). In addition, sevoflurane patients showed significantly less postoperative drowsiness. There were no significant differences between treatments for postoperative nausea, vomiting or dizziness.

A network meta-analysis of 38 randomized controlled trials (3996 participants) evaluated survival in patients undergoing cardiac surgery receiving inhalational or intravenous (IV) anaesthesia (12). Sevoflurane and desflurane were each associated with significantly reduced mortality compared with total IV

anaesthesia. The posterior mean of odds ratios (OR) and 95% credible intervals (CrI) were OR 0.31 (95% CrI 0.14 to 0.64) for sevoflurane and OR 0.43 (95% CrI 0.21 to 0.82) for desflurane.

A meta-analysis of 16 randomized controlled trials (961 participants) compared sevoflurane with isoflurane on postoperative outcomes of cardiac surgery (13). There were no significant differences between anaesthetics for length of time in the intensive care unit, length of hospital stay, time to extubation or levels of S100 $\beta$  (a marker of cerebral ischaemia) and troponin after surgery. Levels of creatinine kinase (CK)-MB 24 hours after surgery were significantly higher with isoflurane than with sevoflurane. The authors concluded that the choice of anaesthetic does not have a significant impact on postoperative outcomes.

Another systematic review and meta-analysis of 68 randomized controlled trials (7104 participants) evaluated the effects of inhalational anaesthetics on mortality and postoperative pulmonary and other complications following cardiac and non-cardiac surgery (14). Overall, inhalational anaesthetics were associated with significantly reduced mortality, and fewer pulmonary and other complications compared with total IV anaesthesia. In non-cardiac surgery, inhalational anaesthetics were not associated with reduced mortality or complications. Compared with isoflurane in cardiac surgery, sevoflurane showed reduced mortality and fewer pulmonary and other complications but the differences were not statistically significant. In non-cardiac surgery, sevoflurane showed reduced mortality and fewer other complications than isoflurane, while isoflurane was associated with fewer pulmonary complications than sevoflurane. All differences were not statistically significant.

A meta-analysis of six randomized controlled trials (873 participants) evaluated the effect on kidney function of sevoflurane and isoflurane 24 and 72 hours after anaesthesia (15). There were no statistically significant differences between the groups at either time point for serum/plasma creatinine, blood urea nitrogen, urinary protein or glucose excretion. Another meta-analysis of 41 randomized controlled trials also reported on the effect of sevoflurane versus other anaesthetics (inhaled and total IV anaesthesia) on renal function (16). No difference was found between the groups for serum creatinine, creatinine clearance or blood urea nitrogen at 24 hours.

A meta-analysis of 23 randomized controlled trials (2363 participants) evaluated the incidence of emergence agitation in children younger than 12 years anaesthetized with sevoflurane versus halothane (*17*). Emergence agitation was significantly more common with sevoflurane in pooled meta-analyses of all studies (OR 2.21, 95% CI 1.77 to 2.77) and only high-quality studies (OR 1.82, 95% CI 1.37 to 2.41).

#### Other studies

A retrospective study and a prospective trial of adult patients undergoing noncardiac surgery compared length of hospital stay for inhalational anaesthetics (18). In the retrospective analysis, the adjusted geometric mean for length of hospital stay was significantly longer for isoflurane (2.85 days) than sevoflurane (2.55 days) and desflurane (2.64 days). There was no difference between isoflurane and sevoflurane on the secondary outcome of mean 72-hour verbal response scale pain scores. In the prospective trial, no significant differences were found between sevoflurane and isoflurane for length of hospital stay.

A randomized study compared the induction characteristics of maximum initial inspired concentrations of 8% sevoflurane and 5% halothane in 51 children aged 3 months to 3 years (19). There was no significant difference between treatments in the mean time to loss of consciousness, although the time was shorter with sevoflurane than halothane (72 seconds versus 76 seconds). Similarly, mean time to acceptance of the face mask and mean time taken to reach complete induction were shorter with sevoflurane but neither difference was statistically significant. Ten (of 25) and 17 (of 26) patients in the sevoflurane and halothane groups, respectively, had severe struggling. Another study compared 2% sevoflurane with 0.75% halothane, supplementing 66% nitrous oxide in oxygen for induction, maintenance and recovery in 63 children aged 5-12 years undergoing outpatient dental extractions (20). The mean time to loss of eyelash reflex was significantly shorter with sevoflurane than halothane (89 seconds versus 127 seconds). Mean time to eve opening after anaesthesia was significantly longer with sevoflurane than halothane (167 seconds versus 102 seconds). Times to walking and standing and discharge were not significantly different between the treatment groups. Complications did not differ significantly between treatment groups during recovery, but nausea was significantly lower in sevoflurane patients than halothane patients after discharge from the hospital. A third study compared sevoflurane and halothane during induction, surgery and recovery in 100 patients aged 2-12 years undergoing outpatient dental anaesthesia (21). Mean time to loss of eyelash reflex was significantly shorter with sevoflurane than halothane (1.5 minutes versus 1.9 minutes). Mean time to insertion of mouth prop was significantly longer with sevoflurane than halothane (3.9 minutes versus 3.5 minutes). Times to eye opening and discharge were shorter for sevoflurane than halothane but the differences were not statistically significant. The incidence of arrhythmias was significantly greater for halothane than sevoflurane (62% versus 28%).

A randomized trial compared recovery times with isoflurane and sevoflurane in 80 children undergoing spinal surgery (22). Sevoflurane patients had significantly shorter mean extubation times compared to isoflurane patients (6.4 minutes versus 10.7 minutes). Compared with isoflurane, sevoflurane was associated with significantly shorter mean emergence time (7.8 minutes versus 12.8 minutes) and time to full modified Aldrete score (13.9 minutes versus 20.3 minutes). Meeting the discharge criteria and postoperative events were similar for both treatment groups. Another study compared recovery times with isoflurane and sevoflurane in 84 children aged 2-24 months following cleft lip surgery (23). Sevoflurane patients had significantly shorter mean extubation times than isoflurane patients (320 seconds versus 583 seconds). The sevoflurane group also had significantly shorter mean times for spontaneous respiration, hip flexion and eye opening. A third study assessed recovery times with sevoflurane, isoflurane and desflurane in 60 children aged 7–18 years undergoing craniotomy for supratentorial tumour excision (24). Compared with isoflurane, sevoflurane patients had significantly shorter mean extubation times (14.0 minutes versus 21.3 minutes), mean emergence times (11.7 minutes versus 15.5 minutes) and mean times to reach Aldrete score  $\geq 9$  (29.3 minutes versus 35.6 minutes). The desflurane group also had significantly shorter times on all three measures versus the isoflurane group. No significant differences were seen between the sevoflurane and desflurane groups.

A prospective randomized trial compared sevoflurane and isoflurane for maintenance of and recovery from anaesthesia in 104 elderly patients (25). Sevoflurane patients had significantly shorter median extubation time than isoflurane patients (8 minutes versus 11 minutes). The sevoflurane group also had significantly shorter time to eye opening (8.5 minutes versus 12.5 minutes) and time to discharge from the post-anaesthesia care unit (21 minutes versus 27.5 minutes) compared with the isoflurane group.

## Summary of evidence: harms

The application stated that most adverse events with sevoflurane were mild or moderate in severity and transient in duration. Nausea and vomiting were observed in the postoperative period, which are common sequelae of surgery and general anaesthesia and may be due to inhalational anaesthetic, other agents administered intra-operatively or postoperatively and the patient's response to the surgical procedure. As with all potent inhaled anaesthetics, sevoflurane may cause dose–dependent cardiorespiratory depression.

The most commonly reported adverse reactions with sevoflurane described were:

- adults hypotension, nausea and vomiting;
- elderly people bradycardia, hypotension and nausea; and
- children agitation, cough, vomiting and nausea.

A summary of the most frequent adverse drug reactions in sevoflurane clinical trials is shown in Table 5.

## Table 5 Most frequent adverse drug reactions in sevoflurane clinical trials

| System organ class                                   | Adverse reactions  | Frequency                                    |
|--|--|--|
| Psychiatric disorders                                | Agitation  | Very common                                  |
| Nervous system<br>disorders                          | Somnolence, dizziness, headache  | Common                                       |
| Cardiac disorders                                    | Bradycardia<br>Tachycardia<br>Atrioventricular block complete<br>QT prolongation associated with torsade<br>de pointes                     | Very common<br>Common<br>Uncommon<br>Unknown |
| Vascular disorders                                   | Hypotension<br>Hypertension  | Very common<br>Common                        |
| Respiratory, thoracic and mediastinal disorders      | Cough<br>Respiratory disorder, laryngospasm  | Very common<br>Common                        |
| Gastrointestinal disorders                           | Nausea, vomiting<br>Salivary hypersecretion  | Very common<br>Common                        |
| General disorders and administration site conditions | Chills, pyrexia  | Common                                       |
| Investigations                                       | Blood glucose abnormal, liver function<br>test abnormal <sup>a</sup> , white blood cell count<br>abnormal, fluoride increased <sup>b</sup> | Common                                       |
| Injury, poisoning<br>and procedural<br>complications | Hypothermia  | Common                                       |

<sup>a</sup> Occasional cases of transient changes in hepatic function tests were reported with sevoflurane and reference agents.

<sup>b</sup> Transient increases in serum inorganic fluoride levels may occur during and after sevoflurane anaesthesia. Concentrations of inorganic fluoride generally peak within 2 hours of the end of sevoflurane anaesthesia and return within 48 hours to pre-operative levels. In clinical trials, elevated fluoride concentrations were not associated with impairment of renal function.

Source: Sevoflurane company core data sheet

Important risks for sevoflurane include:

- cardiovascular changes, including cardiac arrhythmias/cardiac events in children,
- hepatic disorders,

- malignant hyperthermia,
- perioperative hyperkalaemia,
- convulsions,
- history of Pompe disease,
- mitochondrial disorders, and
- hypothermia.

Systematic standardized surveillance for reports associated with these risks are conducted by AbbVie. Reports of these risks are reviewed as cases are received, and reviews of aggregate reports are performed on a quarterly basis. The application reported that no new safety signals had been detected through these surveillance activities coincident with sevoflurane therapy during the current reporting interval.

Common adverse effects of halothane include hypotension, bradycardia, arrhythmias (particularly in neonates and children) and mild liver dysfunction. Halothane has also been associated with hepatotoxicity that in some cases can lead to liver failure, so-called halothane hepatitis, which has a high mortality rate. Halothane-related hepatotoxicity has been the main reason for the declining use of this medicine in many settings (26).

## WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for surgical anaesthesia are not currently available.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

Anaesthetics generally contribute to less than 5% of a hospital pharmacy budget and account for about 3–4% of the cost of a surgical procedure (*27*). The cost of anaesthesia is driven by the choice of volatile agent and depends on several other factors, including patient populations, duration of anaesthesia, length of surgical unit stay, and cost of the anaesthesia delivery system.

Specific information on the cost of sevoflurane marketed by AbbVie was not provided in the application. Rather, the application described studies in which factors including reduced mean extubation time (9) and reduced length of hospital stay (18) associated with sevoflurane use were proposed as potentially resulting in reduced overall costs.

The cost–effectiveness of general anaesthetic agents in adult and child day surgery patients was evaluated in a 2003 study in the United Kingdom (28). Total costs were calculated for individual patient resource use up to 7 days after discharge. Incremental cost–effectiveness ratios were expressed as cost per episode of postoperative nausea and vomiting avoided. In both adults and children, induction and maintenance anaesthesia with sevoflurane had higher costs and a higher incidence of postoperative nausea and vomiting and was dominated by the alternative regimens (total intravenous anaesthesia (propofol) or intravenous induction with propofol or inhalational maintenance with halothane, isoflurane or sevoflurane).

In most settings, the direct costs of sevoflurane are higher than for halothane and isoflurane. A full evaluation of the comparative cost–effectiveness needs to take into account many other associated costs (e.g. delivery systems, carrier gases and disposables) (29).

#### Availability

Sevoflurane, in innovator and generic brands, has wide global marketing approval.

#### Other considerations

#### Global warming potential of inhaled anaesthetics

The global warming potential of desflurane, isoflurane and sevoflurane have been evaluated to determine their impact on climate change (*30*). Various techniques were used to estimate the potential for each gas. The 20-year global warming potential values (a higher number indicates a greater impact) for sevoflurane, isoflurane and desflurane were 440, 1800 and 6810, respectively (global warming potential for carbon dioxide being 1; a ton of sevoflurane in the atmosphere thus corresponds to an emission of 440 tons of  $CO_2$ ). The gases atmospheric lifetimes were estimated to be 1.1, 3.2 and 14.0 years for sevoflurane, isoflurane, desflurane, respectively.

#### Committee recommendations

The Expert Committee noted that the use of anaesthetics has steadily increased globally over the past few years, with the expansion of health care services. The Committee recognized that volatile anaesthetics are greenhouse gases, with detrimental environmental impact due to their contribution to global warming if leaked into the atmosphere.

The Committee noted that among the volatile anaesthetic gases, sevoflurane has a lower global warming potential than the alternatives, primarily desflurane, which is not currently included on the Model Lists, but also halothane and isoflurane, which are included.

The Committee noted that the clinical efficacy and safety of sevoflurane appears to be similar to isoflurane, with consistent findings across type of surgery and setting. Sevoflurane is indicated for induction and maintenance of general anaesthesia in adult and paediatric patients for inpatient and outpatient surgery. The Committee also noted that vaporizers are essential components of anaesthesia equipment with inhaled anaesthetics. As with other inhalational anaesthetics, degradation and production of degradation products can occur when sevoflurane is exposed to desiccated absorbents. Since the level of anaesthesia may be altered rapidly, only vaporizers producing predictable concentrations of sevoflurane should be used.

In consideration of the volatile anaesthetics already included on the Model Lists, the Committee noted that halothane is no longer used in many countries because of its harm profile. The Committee also noted that the price difference between halothane, isoflurane and sevoflurane had decreased since sevoflurane was previously considered for inclusion in the Model Lists in 2011.

Therefore, the Committee recommended the inclusion of sevoflurane on the core list of the EML and EMLc as an inhalational anaesthetic based on evidence of similar efficacy and safety to isoflurane, and a lower global warming potential than the currently listed alternatives. The Committee considered that more efficient use of sevoflurane in preference to halothane and isoflurane can contribute to reducing greenhouse gas emissions. In addition, given the limited role of halothane among anaesthetic gases, the Committee recommended that halothane be flagged for deletion from the Model Lists without further discussion in 2025, unless an application is received in support of its retention.

#### References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2011 (including the 17th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 3rd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 965; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44771, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Harris MJ. We Need More Reports of Global Health Anesthesia Articles. Anesthesiology. 2016;124(2):267–9.
- Weiser TG, Regenbogen SE, Thompson KD, Haynes AB, Lipsitz SR, Berry WR, et al. An estimation of the global volume of surgery: a modelling strategy based on available data. Lancet. 2008;372(9633):139-44.
- Miller AL, Theodore D, Widrich J. Inhalational anesthetic. Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
- 5. Brioni JD, Varughese S, Ahmed R, Bein B. A clinical review of inhalation anesthesia with sevoflurane: from early research to emerging topics. J Anesth. 2017;31(5):764–78.
- Goa KL, Noble S, Spencer CM. Sevoflurane in paediatric anaesthesia: a review. Paediatr Drugs. 1999;1(2):127–53.
- Delgado-Herrera L, Ostroff RD, Rogers SA. Sevoflurance: approaching the ideal inhalational anesthetic. a pharmacologic, pharmacoeconomic, and clinical review. CNS Drug Rev. 2001;7(1):48–120.
- Prescribing Information. ULTANE (sevoflurane) volatile liquid for inhalation. Silver Spring, MD: United States Food and Drug Administration; 2022 (https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_ docs/label/2022/020478s034lbl.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Agoliati A, Dexter F, Lok J, Masursky D, Sarwar MF, Stuart SB, et al. Meta-analysis of average and variability of time to extubation comparing isoflurane with desflurane or isoflurane with sevoflurane. Anesth Analg. 2010;110(5):1433–9.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

 Robinson BJ, Uhrich TD, Ebert TJ. A review of recovery from sevoflurane anaesthesia: comparisons with isoflurane and propofol including meta-analysis. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 1999;43(2):185–90.

- 11. Gupta A, Stierer T, Zuckerman R, Sakima N, Parker SD, Fleisher LA. Comparison of recovery profile after ambulatory anesthesia with propofol, isoflurane, sevoflurane and desflurane: a systematic review. Anesth Analg. 2004;98(3):632–41.
- 12. Landoni G, Greco T, Biondi-Zoccai G, Nigro Neto C, Febres D, Pintaudi M, et al. Anaesthetic drugs and survival: a Bayesian network meta-analysis of randomized trials in cardiac surgery. Br J Anaesth. 2013;111(6):886–96.
- 13. Zorrilla-Vaca A, Núñez-Patiño RA, Torres V, Salazar-Gomez Y. The impact of volatile anesthetic choice on postoperative outcomes of cardiac surgery: a meta-analysis. Biomed Res Intl. 2017;2017:7073401.
- 14. Uhlig C, Bluth T, Schwarz K, Deckert S, Heinrich L, De Hert S, et al. Effects of volatile anesthetics on mortality and postoperative pulmonary and other complications in patients undergoing surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Anesthesiology. 2016;124(6):1230–45.
- 15. Ong Sio LCL, Dela Cruz RGC, Bautista AF. Sevoflurane and renal function: a meta-analysis of randomized trials. Med Gas Res. 2017;7(3):186–93.
- 16. Sondekoppam RV, Narsingani KH, Schimmel TA, McConnell BM, Buro K, Özelsel TJ. The impact of sevoflurane anesthesia on postoperative renal function: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized-controlled trials. Can J Anaesth. 2020;67(11):1595–623.
- 17. Kuratani N, Oi Y. Greater incidence of emergence agitation in children after sevoflurane anesthesia as compared with halothane: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Anesthesiology. 2008;109(2):225–32.
- Kopyeva T, Sessler DI, Weiss S, Dalton JE, Mascha EJ, Lee JH, et al. Effects of volatile anesthetic choice on hospital length-of-stay: a retrospective study and a prospective trial. Anesthesiology. 2013;119(1):61–70.
- 19. Sigston PE, Jenkins AM, Jackson EA, Sury MR, Mackersie AM, Hatch DJ. Rapid inhalation induction in children: 8% sevoflurane compared with 5% halothane. Br J Anaesth. 1997;78(4):362–5.
- 20. Ariffin SA, Whyte JA, Malins AF, Cooper GM. Comparison of induction and recovery between sevoflurane and halothane supplementation of anaesthesia in children undergoing outpatient dental extractions. Br J Anaesth. 1997;78(2):157–9.
- 21. Paris ST, Cafferkey M, Tarling M, Hancock P, Yate PM, Flynn PJ. Comparison of sevoflurane and halothane for outpatient dental anaesthesia in children. Br J Anaesth. 1997;79(3):280–4.
- 22. Singh D, Rath GP, Dash HH, Bithal PK. Sevoflurane provides better recovery as compared with isoflurane in children undergoing spinal surgery. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2009;21(3):202–6.
- 23. Jindal P, Khurana G, Oberoi D, Sharma JP. Recovery profile and emergence delirium following sevoflurane and isoflurane anesthesia in children posted for cleft lip surgery. Middle East J Anaesthesiol. 2012;21(5):679–84.
- 24. Ghoneim AA, Azer MS, Ghobrial HZ, El Beltagy MA. Awakening properties of isoflurane, sevoflurane, and desflurane in pediatric patients after craniotomy for supratentorial tumours. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2015;27(1):1–6.
- 25. Peduto VA, Peli S, Amicucci G, Giardina B, Pelaia P, Pasetto A, et al. Maintenance of and recovery from anaesthesia in elderly patients. A clinical comparison between sevoflurane and isoflurane. Minerva Anestesiol. 1998;64(9 Suppl 3):18–25.
- 26. Gyorfi MJ, Kim PY. Halothane toxicity. Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls Publishing; 2023.

26

27. Smith I. Cost considerations in the use of anaesthetic drugs. Pharmacoeconomics. 2001;19(5 Pt 1):469–81.

- 28. Elliott RA, Payne K, Moore JK, Harper NJ, St Leger AS, Moore EW, et al. Clinical and economic choices in anaesthesia for day surgery: a prospective randomised controlled trial. Anaesthesia. 2003;58(5):412–21.
- Ryksen E, Diedericks BJS. Calculation of comparative utilisation and cost: a South African perspective on intravenous vs. inhalational anaesthesia for procedures of differing duration. S Afr J Anaesth Analg. 2012;18(6):310–7.
- Sulbaek Andersen MP, Nielsen OJ, Karpichev B, Wallington TJ, Sander SP. Atmospheric chemistry of isoflurane, desflurane, and sevoflurane: kinetics and mechanisms of reactions with chlorine atoms and OH radicals and global warming potentials. J Phys Chem A. 2012;116(24):5806–20.

# Section 2: Medicines for pain and palliative care 2.2 Opioid analgesics

Fentanyl – new formulation – EML

## Fentanyl

## ATC code: N02AB03

## Proposal

Addition of oral transmucosal formulations of fentanyl citrate on the complementary list of the EML for use in the treatment of breakthrough pain in adult patients with cancer already receiving opioid analgesics to manage cancer pain.

## Applicant

Yolanda Escobar, Hospital Gregorio Marañon, Madrid, Spain Cesar Margarit, Hospital General de Alicante, Alicante, Spain

## WHO technical department

Noncommunicable Diseases

## EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

2.2 Opioid analgesics

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Buccal film: 200 micrograms, 400 micrograms, 600 micrograms, 800 micrograms, 1.2 mg (as citrate)

Lozenge: 200 micrograms, 400 micrograms, 600 micrograms, 800 micrograms, 1.2 mg, 1.6 mg (as citrate)

Tablet (sublingual): 100 micrograms, 200 micrograms, 300 micrograms,400 micrograms, 600 micrograms, 800 micrograms (as citrate)

## Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing Individual

#### Background

Oral transmucosal formulations of fentanyl have not previously been considered for inclusion in the EML. In 2017, fentanyl transdermal patches were included on the EML for the management of chronic cancer pain.

While intravenous morphine was included on the first list in 1977, immediate-release formulations of oral morphine have been included on the EML (tablets and oral liquid) since 1984. Hydromorphone and oxycodone are included as alternatives to morphine under a square box listing.

#### Public health relevance

Cancer is a major public health problem worldwide and is the second leading cause of death, accounting for an estimated 9.9 million deaths and more than 19 million new cases in 2020 (1). The cancer burden continues to grow globally, with an estimated doubling of the yearly incidence by 2040, and places tremendous physical, emotional and financial strain on individuals, families, communities and health systems (2,3). Despite this growth in incidence, the number of deaths from cancer is decreasing annually because more patients are benefiting from early detection and new improved treatments (4).

More than 80% of patients with cancer develop pain before death, and pain is one of the most feared consequences of cancer for both patients and families (5). Moderate-to-severe pain has been reported in 38% of the cases (6). This pain is often assessed at 7 or higher in the numeric rating scale (with 0 being no pain and 10 the worst pain imaginable) (7). Breakthrough cancer pain is a transient exacerbation of pain in the context of otherwise adequately controlled background pain.

An accurate estimate of the prevalence of breakthrough cancer pain is not available. A systematic review and meta-analysis of 19 observational studies (6065 participants) reported a pooled prevalence rate of breakthrough cancer pain of 59.2% (95% confidence interval (CI) 58.0% to 60.4%, high heterogeneity). Subgroup analysis found that the lowest and highest pooled prevalence rates were reported in studies conducted in the outpatient setting (39.9%, 95% CI 35.8% to 44.0%) and hospice setting (80.5%, 95% CI 77.9% to 83.1%) (8).

Breakthrough cancer pain can occur as a direct consequence of the tumour (70–80% of cases), as a result of cancer therapy (10–20% of cases) or be unrelated to the tumour or treatment (< 10% cases) (9).

Breakthrough pain has a significant impact on the quality of life of patients, being associated with more severe pain-related functional impairment and psychological distress (10,11). It is also associated with high use of health care resources, mainly related to a higher number of hospital admissions and drug costs (12,13).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

A 2013 Cochrane systematic review of 15 randomized trials (1699 participants) evaluated the efficacy of opioid analgesics compared with placebo or active comparator for management of breakthrough cancer pain (14). The studies included reported on seven different transmucosal fentanyl formulations - five administered orally and two administered nasally. Eight studies compared the transmucosal fentanyl formulations with placebo, four studies compared them with another opioid, one study was a comparison of different doses of the same formulation and two were randomized titration studies. For the comparison of transmucosal fentanyl versus placebo, transmucosal fentanyl was significantly superior to placebo for pain intensity difference at 10 minutes (mean difference (MD) 0.39, 95% CI 0.27 to 0.52; six studies, 988 participants), and at 15 minutes (MD 0.49, 95% CI 0.35 to 0.62; seven studies, 538 participants). No significant difference was observed at 30 minutes (MD 0.92, 95% CI 0.75 to 1.09; seven studies, 538 participants). For the comparison of transmucosal fentanyl versus oral morphine, the point estimate in the mean pain intensity difference at 15 minutes favoured fentanyl, but this was not statistically significant (MD 0.37, 95% CI 0.00 to 0.73; two studies, 308 participants). Similarly, for the comparison of oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate versus intravenous morphine, the point estimate for mean pain intensity difference at 15 minutes favoured fentanyl, but was not statistically significant (MD 0.80, 95% CI 0.00 to 1.60; one study, 50 participants). Results for other time points for comparisons with oral and intravenous morphine were not reported.

Brief summaries of the results of eight trials from the 2013 Cochrane review, considered by the applicants to be relevant to the application, are presented below.

A randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind study evaluated oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate for treatment of breakthrough pain in 93 adult patients with cancer (*15*). After titration to an effective fentanyl dose, participants were given 10 randomly ordered treatment units (seven fentanyl, three placebo). Of 804 breakthrough pain episodes treated, 247 were with placebo and 557 were with fentanyl. Episodes of breakthrough pain treated with fentanyl had significantly larger changes in pain intensity and better pain relief at all time points (15, 30, 45 and 60 minutes) than episodes treated with placebo. Episodes of breakthrough pain treated with placebo required the use of rescue medication significantly more often than episodes treated with fentanyl (34% versus 15%; relative risk (RR) 2.27, 95% CI 1.51 to 3.26).

Two randomized trials compared fentanyl buccal tablet with placebo in patients with breakthrough cancer pain (16,17). In the first study, after an openlabel titration phase to determine effective dose, 77 patients were randomly assigned to receive a prespecified dose sequence of 10 tablets (seven fentanyl, three placebo). Of 701 breakthrough pain episodes treated, 208 were with placebo and 493 were with fentanyl. The primary outcome measure was the summed pain intensity difference at 30 minutes. Mean summed pain intensity difference at 30 minutes (standard error (SE)) was significantly greater for buccal fentanyl (3.0 (SE 0.12)) than for placebo (1.8 (SE 0.18)). For other outcome measures including pain relief, pain intensity difference, summed pain intensity differences and summed total pain relief and patient ratings of global performance, results all significantly favoured buccal fentanyl (*16*). The second study, of similar design, included 87 patients in the double-blind phase. The primary outcome measure was summed pain intensity difference at 60 minutes, which significantly favoured buccal fentanyl compared to placebo – 9.7 (SE 0.63) versus 4.9 (SE 0.50). Pain intensity differences and pain relief also significantly favoured buccal fentanyl at all time points (*17*).

A randomized phase II study evaluated efficacy and tolerability of sublingual fentanyl tablets in 27 patients with breakthrough cancer pain (18). Participants received placebo, fentanyl 100 micrograms, 200 micrograms and 400 micrograms in random order at four breakthrough pain episodes. The primary efficacy measure was pain intensity difference; overall, the difference was significantly larger with 400 micrograms of fentanyl compared with placebo, and improved pain relief was reported for 100 micrograms and 200 micrograms of fentanyl, although this was not statistically significant. The 400 microgram strength was also associated with significantly reduced use of rescue medication and improved global assessment of treatment.

A randomized placebo-controlled, phase III study evaluated efficacy and tolerability of sublingual fentanyl orally disintegrating tablet for breakthrough cancer pain, with 61 patients included in the primary efficacy analysis (19). Following a 2-week open-label titration phase, participants received fentanyl or placebo in random order. For the primary efficacy measure of summed pain intensity difference at 30 minutes, there was a significant improvement for fentanyl compared with placebo (49.5 versus 36.6, P = 0.0004). Treatment was also associated with significant improvements in pain intensity difference and pain relief at time points from 10 minutes after dose administration. A similar study evaluated the efficacy and tolerability of fentanyl buccal soluble film formulation in 80 adults with breakthrough cancer pain (20). Mean summed pain intensity difference at 30 minutes was significantly greater for episodes treated with fentanyl compared with placebo, with significant differences maintained to the last assessed time point of 60 minutes. Pain relief values for fentanyl were significantly better than placebo at 30 minutes after dose administration, and the percentage of pain episodes with a 33% or 50% decrease in pain was also significantly greater with fentanyl than placebo.

A randomized, double-blind, double-dummy, multiple crossover trial compared oral transmucosal fentanyl and immediate-release morphine sulfate in

93 adults with breakthrough cancer pain (21). After an open-label dose titration phase, participants received 10 prenumbered sets of randomized capsules and oral transmucosal units (5 x successful fentanyl dose + 5 x placebo, 5 x successful morphine dose + 5 x placebo). Oral transmucosal fentanyl performed significantly better than immediate-release morphine for efficacy measures including pain intensity, pain intensity difference and pain relief at all time points. Global performance rating scores also significantly favoured fentanyl. Significantly more pain episodes treated with oral transmucosal fentanyl had a greater than 33% change in pain intensity score at 15 minutes than episodes treated with immediate-release morphine (42.3% versus 31.8%, P < 0.001).

A randomized, double-blind dose titration study in ambulatory cancer patients evaluated safety and efficacy of increasing doses of oral transmucosal fentanyl for treatment of breakthrough cancer pain (22). This study was not designed to compare fentanyl with usual opioid rescue medicines, however exploratory analyses were performed. These analyses showed that fentanyl treatment was associated with significantly greater analgesic effects at time points up to 60 minutes, and a more rapid onset of effect than usual rescue opioids. Participants rated the global satisfaction of oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate significantly higher than global performance of their usual opioid rescue medicine (2.74 versus 2.09, P = 0.0002).

The following studies were not included in the 2013 Cochrane review.

A mixed-treatment meta-analysis of five randomized trials indirectly compared fentanyl preparations, morphine and placebo for the treatment of breakthrough cancer pain to determine the relative contributions to pain relief from oral morphine and the fentanyl preparations using placebo as the common comparator (23). The overall probability of superior pain relief, as measured by differences in pain intensity difference scores, compared with placebo was calculated for 15- to 60-minute intervals after dosing. For the first 30 minutes after dosing, the probabilities of superiority over placebo were 56%, 83%, 66% and 73% for immediate-release morphine, fentanyl buccal tablet, fentanyl orally disintegrating tablet and fentanyl lozenge, respectively. Comparing fentanyl preparations with immediate-release morphine over the first 30 minutes after dosing, the probabilities of superiority over morphine were estimated to be 58% for buccal tablet, 56% for orally disintegrating tablet and 62% for lozenge.

The long-term effectiveness of fentanyl orally disintegrating tablets for treatment of breakthrough cancer pain was assessed in a non-randomized, openlabel, phase III study (139 participants) (24). Effectiveness was evaluated at screening for participation and at each monthly visit using patients' global evaluation of medication, the brief pain inventory and the depression, anxiety and positive outlook scale. Evaluation of patient satisfaction using the patients' global evaluation of medication measure showed an increase in satisfaction ("very satisfied" or "satisfied") with study pain medication at the end of the study (12 months) versus time at study enrolment (77% versus 54%). For quality-of-life measures, the brief pain inventory evaluation of pain severity indicated that mean levels of pain generally remained stable throughout the study, except for current pain, which was significantly lower at the 6-month visit, compared with at screening. Mean brief pain inventory scores for pain relief improved significantly at both the 6-month and end-of-study visits, compared with at screening. Brief pain inventory scores for interference of pain with daily functioning decreased over the study period, suggesting improvement. The scores on the depression, anxiety and positive outlook scale showed numerical trends towards improvement in all three quality-of-life domains (depression, anxiety and well-being) at the end of the study, compared with at screening. Improvement in depression scores at 6 months was statistically significant.

Subgroup analyses from a multicentre, prospective, observational, openlabel study assessed the effect of fentanyl sublingual tablets in the management of breakthrough pain in patients with cancer according to age (< 65 and  $\geq$  65 years), measuring pain intensity, onset of pain relief, frequency and duration of breakthrough pain episodes, and adverse events at 3, 7, 15 and 30 days. Healthstatus tools used were the Short Form 12, version 2 questionnaire, and the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (25). Self-reported levels of pain intensity improved significantly compared with baseline for all assessment points and both subgroups. For each assessment point, reduction in pain intensity was greater in the younger age group (67.3% reduction versus 56.3% reduction).

A randomized, open-label study compared the efficacy and safety of oral transmucosal fentanyl and oral morphine in Indian patients (186 participants) (26). Primary efficacy endpoints were reduction in pain determined by numerical rating scale at 5, 15, 30 and 60 minutes, and percentage of breakthrough pain episodes showing at least 33% reduction in pain intensity at 15 minutes. Patients treated with fentanyl experienced significantly greater reduction in pain intensity of breakthrough episodes compared with those treated with oral morphine at all time points assessed. The percentage of breakthrough pain episodes with more than 33% reduction in pain intensity at 15 minutes was significantly greater in patients treated with fentanyl compared with patients treated with morphine (56% versus 39%).

Efficacy and safety studies of oral transmucosal fentanyl versus placebo conducted in the Japanese population also showed positive results (27,28).

## Summary of evidence: harms

The adverse effects of fentanyl citrate are generally consistent with the known adverse effects of potent opioid analgesics (14). The most commonly reported adverse effects associated with fentanyl formulations in the treatment of breakthrough cancer pain reported across various studies include asthenia, constipation, dizziness, headache, nausea, pruritus, somnolence and vomiting (15-19,21,22).

Studies with transmucosal fentanyl citrate have shown no differences in pharmacokinetic parameters between younger and older people, and so dose modification is not considered necessary for elderly patients (29).

An alert published in 2018 by the Spanish Medicines Agency reported that almost 60% of the cases of abuse and/or dependence reported to the Spanish Pharmacovigilance System involved patients in whom immediate-release fentanyl was used for off-label indications. A systematic review of the literature found an overall incidence of addiction of up to 50% in non-oncology patients, while in oncology patients it was up to 7.7%. In the context of trials evaluating new presentations of rapid-acting fentanyl, 11% of patients were found to have aberrant behaviour associated with its use, of whom < 1% were found to be addicted (*30*).

#### **WHO** guidelines

The 2018 WHO guidelines for the pharmacological and radiotherapeutic management of cancer pain in adults and adolescents includes the best practice statement, "breakthrough pain should be treated with a rescue medicine, which should be an opioid such as morphine in its immediate-release formulation" (*31*).

The WHO Guideline Development Group considered a single small randomized controlled trial (68 participants) which compared analgesics specifically for management of breakthrough pain in an older population with multiple cancer types. The trial provided low strength of evidence that the choice between sustained-release and immediate-release morphine may make no difference in preventing breakthrough pain or reducing pain. The trial did not report on pain relief speed, pain relief maintenance, quality of life, functional outcomes or respiratory depression. The Guideline Development Group agreed that they could not justify making a recommendation on the basis of only one eligible low-quality trial that looked at too few of the options that were clinically available. However, given the urgent need for guidance to manage breakthrough pain for both patients and clinicians, the Guideline Development Group decided to make a best practice statement that breakthrough pain should always be relieved with rescue medicine based on clinical experience and patient need.

The Guideline Development Group highlighted that the cost of certain formulations, such as transmucosal fentanyl, was likely to be prohibitively expensive for some low- and middle-income settings, and that cheaper medicines, such as immediate-release oral morphine, should be made available as a priority if they were not already available (*31*).

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

Breakthrough cancer pain imposes a significant financial burden on patients and health systems through increased hospitalization and health care utilization (*12,32*).

An economic analysis of oral fentanyl formulations for treatment of breakthrough cancer pain was conducted from the Italian national health services perspective (33). The base-case analysis found that compared with placebo, all formulations assessed (sublingual fentanyl citrate, fentanyl sublingual tablets, fentanyl buccal soluble film, fentanyl buccal tablet and oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate) were associated with incremental costs per quality-adjusted life year gained lower than €50 000–60 000, the incremental cost–effectiveness ratio threshold generally used in Italy. Among formulations, sublingual fentanyl citrate dominated all others (lower cost, greater effectiveness).

An economic analysis from Sweden evaluated the cost–effectiveness of intranasal fentanyl spray compared with oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate and fentanyl buccal tablet for the treatment of breakthrough cancer pain (34). The base-case analysis found that compared with placebo, all formulations assessed were associated with incremental costs per quality-adjusted life year gained lower than the willingness-to-pay threshold in Sweden of €45 000.

The application presented estimates of annual treatment costs of transmucosal fentanyl by country and region. Average national treatment costs per patient per year calculated in the application based on the defined daily dose for sublingual fentanyl of 600 micrograms ranged from US\$ 189.70 in Egypt to US\$ 48 386.40 in Lebanon. Average treatment costs per patient per year by region based on the defined daily dose of 600 micrograms were reported in the application as US\$ 4695.60 in Africa, US\$ 6455.50 in Asia and the South Pacific, US\$ 5673.10 in Europe, US\$ 28 534.30 in North America and US\$ 3214.60 in South America.

#### Availability

The application reported that 24 brands (innovator and generic) of transmucosal fentanyl formulations were variously available in 47 countries globally. Availability in low- and middle-income countries appears limited.

## Other considerations

The Expert Committee noted the comments received during the public consultation period in relation to the application from the International Association for Hospice and Palliative Care, the Worldwide Hospice Palliative Care Alliance, the Groupe de Recherche et d'Actions Sociales in Burkina Faso and the WHO Collaborating Centre for Training and Policy on Access to Pain Relief. These stakeholders all expressed their opposition to the proposed inclusion of oral transmucosal fentanyl on the Model List, citing the following reasons.

 Patients must remain on around-the-clock opioids while taking oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate. Given the limited availability of opioids for pain and palliative care in resource-constrained settings, it would be challenging to meet these requirements in low- and middle-income countries. The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- Morphine (with oxycodone and hydromorphone as alternatives) is already included in the EML. The inclusion of both immediaterelease and sustained-release oral preparations enables morphine to be successfully used in both acute and chronic cancer pain, and breakthrough pain. Morphine is the strong opioid of choice for treatment of moderate-to-severe pain. No evidence exists to support the need for, or the addition of, another pure agonist to treat breakthrough pain.
- Data are lacking on dose-equivalence for transmucosal fentanyl compared with other opioids and oral, modified-release formulation of fentanyl. This means that using transmucosal fentanyl to commence or titrate opioids to effect is less safe than the usual, recommended practice of immediate- and modified-release morphine (or equivalent opioids).
- Because of its rapid onset and lipophilic characteristics with selective activity for µ-receptors expressed in the brain, spinal cord and other tissues, fentanyl citrate has a higher risk of nonmedical use compared with the other pure agonists included in the WHO EML. Its short time to onset should be considered of equal importance to its short duration of action. In many cases, patients using fentanyl citrate for breakthrough pain often consume more opioid in total over a 24-hour period than if they had been prescribed their usual regimen of immediate-release with or without modified release morphine (or equivalent longer-acting opioids) for breakthrough pain.
- Oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate is available in only a few, mostly high-income, countries. Appropriate use of oral transmucosal fentanyl may not be feasible in low-income settings, where health care workers may not receive training in the administration and pharmacokinetics of fentanyl, which could lead to serious adverse events and potential fatalities.
- The cost-effectiveness of oral transmucosal fentanyl versus immediate-release morphine is not known. Inclusion of oral transmucosal fentanyl on the EML may result in the allocation of public funds for the procurement of an expensive formulation in lieu of more cost-effective formulations already included in the list.
- Breakthrough pain is not homogenous and whilst transmucosal fentanyl has a place in treating some types of breakthrough pain and for some patients, it does not and must not replace immediaterelease morphine.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged that most cancer patients with active cancer develop pain during the course of the disease, and that pain is one of the most feared consequences of cancer for both patients and their families. The Committee noted that the EML currently includes immediate-release formulations of oral morphine, which is recognized as the strong opioid of choice for breakthrough cancer pain. The Committee also acknowledged the serious problems with access to morphine in many parts of the world.

The Committee acknowledged that the evidence presented in the application shows oral transmucosal fentanyl (on a background of regular opioid dosing) to be an effective option for the treatment of breakthrough cancer pain. When compared with immediate-release morphine, oral transmucosal fentanyl might provide some advantage in terms of lower pain intensity and better pain relief scores. However, the Committee noted that most studies compared oral transmucosal fentanyl to placebo and therefore these data did not provide compelling evidence of the superiority of transmucosal fentanyl compared with other fast-acting opioids, including immediate-release oral morphine which is already included on the Model List.

The Committee considered that any advantages of oral transmucosal fentanyl are easily off-set by several safety concerns. Fentanyl has an estimated 50 to 100 times greater potency than morphine, has more complex pharmacokinetics and is associated with greater potential for drug–drug interactions – factors that necessitate specialist training for its safe and appropriate use, which may not be widely available in low- and middle-income settings. The Committee also recognized that access to immediate-release oral morphine in many settings is limited, meaning that the necessary background opioid treatment required for appropriate use of oral transmucosal fentanyl may not be available, further compromising its safe and appropriate use. Furthermore, while opioid misuse is reported to be uncommon in patients with cancer, fentanyl has a higher addictive potential than other opioids and has been associated with increased trends in opioid overdose deaths in non-medical users of opioids in several countries.

The Committee noted a lack of cost-effectiveness data comparing oral transmucosal fentanyl with immediate-release morphine, but considered that oral transmucosal fentanyl is more costly than oral morphine, which is not matched by commensurate therapeutic benefits.

Therefore, the Expert Committee did not recommend the addition of oral transmucosal fentanyl to the EML for use in the treatment of breakthrough cancer pain in adults based on the lack of evidence of superiority over already listed immediate-release morphine, safety concerns and lack of compelling cost– effectiveness data.

#### References

- 1. Ferlay J, Colombet M, Soerjomataram I, Parkin DM, Piñeros M, Znaor A, et al. Cancer statistics for the year 2020: an overview. Int J Cancer. 2021;149(4):778–89.
- WHO report on cancer: setting priorities, investing wisely and providing care for all. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.Who.Int/iris/handle/10665/330745, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 3. Las cifras del cáncer en españa 2020 [Cancer figures in Spain 2020]. Barcelona: Sociedad Española de Oncología Médica; 2020.
- 4. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2021. CA Cancer J Clin. 2021;71(1):7–33.
- 5. Bruera E, Kim HN. Cancer pain. JAMA. 2003;290(18):2476–9.
- Van Den Beuken-Van MH, Hochstenbach LM, Joosten EA, Tjan-Heijnen VC, Janssen DJ. Update on prevalence of pain in patients with cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2016;51(6):1070–90.
- 7. Woo A, Lechner B, Fu T, Wong CS, Chiu N, Lam H, et al. Cut points for mild, moderate, and severe pain among cancer and non-cancer patients: a literature review. Ann Palliat Med. 2015;4(4):176–83.
- Deandrea S, Corli O, Consonni D, Villani W, Greco MT, Apolone G. Prevalence of breakthrough cancer pain: a systematic review and a pooled analysis of published literature. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2014;47(1):57–76.
- Alamo Gonzalez C, Cabezón Gutiérrez L, Proyecto ADAPTA Gdt. Adapta project: adequacy of treatment in breakthrough cancer pain. Rev Soc Esp Dolor. 2019;26(1):31–43.
- 10. Portenoy RK, Payne D, Jacobsen P. Breakthrough pain: characteristics and impact in patients with cancer pain. Pain. 1999;81(1–2):129–34.
- 11. Narayana A, Katz N, Shillington AC, Stephenson JJ, Harshaw Q, Frye CB, et al. National breakthrough pain study: prevalence, characteristics, and associations with health outcomes. Pain. 2015;156(2):252–9.
- Pérez-Hernández C, Jiménez-López AJ, Sanz-Yagüe A, Mar-Medina J, Larrañaga I, Soler-López B. Observational study evaluating the economic impact of breakthrough pain in cancer patients in clinical practice in spain: the IMDI study. Pain Ther. 2018;7(2):227–40.
- 13. Davies A, Buchanan A, Zeppetella G, Porta-Sales J, Likar R, Weismayr W, et al. Breakthrough cancer pain: an observational study of 1000 European oncology patients. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2013;46(5):619–28.
- 14. Zeppetella G, Davies AN. Opioids for the management of breakthrough pain in cancer patients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013(10):CD004311.
- Farrar JT, Cleary J, Rauck R, Busch M, Nordbrock E. Oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate: randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled trial for treatment of breakthrough pain in cancer patients. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1998;90(8):611–6.
- Portenoy RK, Taylor D, Messina J, Tremmel L. A randomized, placebo-controlled study of fentanyl buccal tablet for breakthrough pain in opioid-treated patients with cancer. Clin J Pain. 2006;22(9):805–11.
- 17. Slatkin NE, Xie F, Messina J, Segal TJ. Fentanyl buccal tablet for relief of breakthrough pain in opioid-tolerant patients with cancer-related chronic pain. J Support Oncol. 2007;5(7):327–34.

- Lennernäs B, Frank-Lissbrant I, Lennernäs H, Kälkner KM, Derrick R, Howell J. Sublingual administration of fentanyl to cancer patients is an effective treatment for breakthrough pain: results from a randomized phase II study. Palliat Med. 2010;24(3):286–93.
- 19. Rauck RL, Tark M, Reyes E, Hayes TG, Bartkowiak AJ, Hassman D, et al. Efficacy and long-term tolerability of sublingual fentanyl orally disintegrating tablet in the treatment of breakthrough cancer pain. Curr Med Res Opin. 2009;25(12):2877–85.
- Rauck R, North J, Gever LN, Tagarro I, Finn AL. Fentanyl buccal soluble film (FBSF) for breakthrough pain in patients with cancer: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Ann Oncol. 2010;21(6):1308–14.
- 21. Coluzzi PH, Schwartzberg L, Conroy JD, Charapata S, Gay M, Busch MA, et al. Breakthrough cancer pain: a randomized trial comparing oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate (OTFC) and morphine sulfate immediate release (MSIR). Pain. 2001;91(1–2):123–30.
- 22. Portenoy RK, Payne R, Coluzzi P, Raschko JW, Lyss A, Busch MA, et al. Oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate (otfc) for the treatment of breakthrough pain in cancer patients: a controlled dose titration study. Pain. 1999;79(2–3):303–12.
- Jandhyala R, Fullarton JR, Bennett MI. Efficacy of rapid-onset oral fentanyl formulations vs. oral morphine for cancer-related breakthrough pain: a meta-analysis of comparative trials. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2013;46(4):573–80.
- Nalamachu S, Hassman D, Wallace MS, Dumble S, Derrick R, Howell J. Long-term effectiveness and tolerability of sublingual fentanyl orally disintegrating tablet for the treatment of breakthrough cancer pain. Curr Med Res Opin. 2011;27(3):519–30.
- 25. Guitart J, Vargas MI, De Sanctis V, Folch J, Salazar R, Fuentes J, et al. Breakthrough pain management with sublingual fentanyl tablets in patients with cancer: age subgroup analysis of a multicenter prospective study. Drugs R D. 2017;17(3):419–25.
- Bhatnagar S, Devi S, Vinod N, Jain P, Durgaprasad G, Maroo SH, et al. Safety and efficacy of oral transmucosal fentanyl citrate compared to morphine sulphate immediate release tablet in management of breakthrough cancer pain. Indian J Palliat Care. 2014;20(3):182–7.
- 27. Kosugi T, Hamada S, Takigawa C, Shinozaki K, Kunikane H, Goto F, et al. A randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled study of fentanyl buccal tablets for breakthrough pain: efficacy and safety in Japanese cancer patients. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2014;47(6):990–1000.
- Shimoyama N, Gomyo I, Katakami N, Okada M, Yukitoshi N, Ohta E, et al. Efficacy and safety of sublingual fentanyl orally disintegrating tablet at doses determined by titration for the treatment of breakthrough pain in japanese cancer patients: a multicenter, randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind phase III trial. Int J Clin Oncol. 2015;20(1):198–206.
- 29. Moya Riera J, Murillo González M, Rodríguez Mesa D, Escobar Álvarez Y. Fentanilo en el dolor irruptivo oncológico [Fentanyl for breakthrough cancer pain]. Rev Soc Esp Dolor. 2013;20(3):137–41.
- 30. Blázquez Puerta A, Chacón Coronado AM, De Juan Roldán JI, Esteban Bueno G, Guerrero García FJ, Lozano Prieto PP, et al. Fentanilo de acción rápida: Indicaciones, diagnóstico y abrodaje de problemas relacionados con su uso [Fast-acting fentanyl: indications, diagnosis and addressing problems related to its use]. Med Fam Andal. 2020;21(1 Suppl):30–43.
- WHO guidelines for the pharmacological and radiotherapeutic management of cancer pain in adults and adolescents. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.Who.Int/iris/ handle/10665/279700, accessed 6 October 2023).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 32. Kuo K-L, Saokaew S, Stenehjem DD. The pharmacoeconomics of breakthrough cancer pain. J Pain Palliat Care Pharmacother. 2013;27(2):167–75.
- Cortesi PA, D'Angiolella LS, Vellucci R, Allegri M, Casale G, Favaretti C, et al. Cost-effectiveness analysis of oral fentanyl formulations for breakthrough cancer pain treatment. PLoS One. 2017;12(6):e0179523.
- Vissers DCJ, Lenre M, Tolley K, Jakobsson J, Sendersky V, Jansen JP. An economic evaluation of short-acting opioids for treatment of breakthrough pain in patients with cancer. Value Health. 2011;14(2):274–81.

40

## Section 5: Medicine for diseases of the nervous system

Donepezil – addition – EML

## Donepezil

ATC code: N06DA02

## Proposal

Addition of donepezil to the complementary list of the EML for the management of Alzheimer disease dementia.

## Applicant

Louise Robinson and Eugene Tang, Newcastle University, Newcastle, United Kingdom

Martin Knapp, Derek King, Elisa Aguizzoli and Julia Pauschardt, London School of Economics, London, United Kingdom

Wendy Weidner, Alzheimer's Disease International

## WHO technical department

Brain Health Unit, Department of Mental Health and Substance Use

## EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

5 Medicines for diseases of the nervous system

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Tablet: 5 mg, 10 mg Tablet (orodispersible): 5 mg, 10 mg Oral solution: 1 mg/mL

## Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

## Background

Medicines for Alzheimer disease dementia have not previously been evaluated for inclusion in the EML.

41

#### Public health relevance

In 2019, it was estimated that there were over 55 million people with dementia worldwide, 61% of whom lived in low- and middle-income countries. Due to rapidly ageing populations, this number is set to increase to 78 million by 2030 and to at least 139 million by 2050. Dementia causes disability and care dependency in older age and ranks as the 25th leading cause of disability-adjusted life years. Alzheimer disease and other dementias were the seventh leading cause of death globally in 2019 (1).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

Consensus is lacking on what represents clinically important effect sizes for outcome measures for patients with Alzheimer disease dementia, their families or care-givers or their doctors (2-4).

The application identified national health technology appraisals undertaken to inform dementia clinical guideline development, and additional systematic reviews and randomized trials.

The application presented a brief summary of findings of the 2018 United Kingdom National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) dementia care health technology appraisal of cholinesterase inhibitors (donepezil, galantamine, rivastigmine) and memantine for treatment of Alzheimer disease (5). This appraisal updated the 2016 NICE clinical guidelines and included data from 19 randomized trials comparing donepezil with placebo in adults with a diagnosis of mild to moderately severe Alzheimer disease (6).

Pooled cognitive outcomes showed a statistically significant difference in favour of donepezil measured using cognitive assessment scale scores:

- Mini Mental State Examination score: weighted mean difference (WMD) 1.17 points (95% confidence interval (CI) 0.88 to 1.45) at 12 weeks and 1.21 points (95% CI 0.84 to 1.57) at 24 weeks;
- Alzheimer Disease Assessment Scale–Cognitive Subscale score: WMD –1.97 (95% CI –3.38 to –0.56) at 12 weeks and –2.90 (95% CI –3.61 to –2.18) at 24 weeks.

A 2018 systematic review and network meta-analysis of 142 studies (110 randomized controlled trials, 21 non-randomized controlled trials and 11 cohort studies) evaluated the comparative effectiveness and safety of cholinesterase inhibitors or memantine for Alzheimer disease (7). The network meta-analyses of cognitive outcomes measured using Mini Mental State Examination scale (56 randomized controlled trials, eight treatments, 10 446 participants) found the following interventions to be superior to placebo:

- donepezil (mean difference (MD) 1.39, 95% credible interval (CrI) 0.53 to 2.24),
- donepezil + memantine (MD 2.59, 95% CrI 0.12 to 4.98),
- transdermal rivastigmine (MD 2.02, 95% CrI 0.02 to 4.08).

Network meta-analyses of cognitive outcomes measured using the Alzheimer Disease Assessment Scale–Cognitive Subscale (53 randomized controlled trials, six treatments, 11 348 participants) found the following interventions to be superior to placebo:

- donepezil (MD -3.29, 95% CrI -4.57 to -1.99),
- galantamine (MD –2.13, 95% CrI –3.91 to –0.27).

A subsequent systematic review and individual patient data network meta-analysis of 80 randomized controlled trials (21 138 participants) including 12 randomized controlled trials with individual patient data (6906 participants) evaluated the comparative efficacy and safety of cholinesterase inhibitors or memantine by patient characteristics for managing Alzheimer dementia (8). Significant improvements in Mini Mental State Examination scores were seen for donepezil (MD 1.41, 95% CI 0.51 to 2.32) and donepezil + memantine (MD 2.57, 95% CI 0.07 to 5.07) compared with placebo. Transdermal rivastigmine and the combinations of donepezil + memantine, galantamine + memantine, and transdermal rivastigmine + memantine showed MDs greater than 1.40, however associated 95% CIs were wide and included zero. Donepezil, memantine and their combination showed a larger improvement in cognitive performance in patients with moderate-to-severe cognitive impairment. Donepezil and transdermal rivastigmine showed the greatest improvement in cognitive performance in patients with mild-to-moderate disease.

A 2019 meta-analysis of 36 randomized trials (6611 participants) evaluated the efficacy and safety of cholinesterase inhibitors and memantine for the treatment of Alzheimer disease (9). From studies of donepezil versus placebo, there were significant differences favouring donepezil in cognition as measured using the Alzheimer Disease Assessment Scale–Cognitive Subscale, functional outcomes measured using the AD Cooperative Study Activities of Daily Living subscale and global assessment of change measured using Clinician's Interview-Based Impression of Change Plus Caregiver Input scale. No effect of donepezil was observed for behavioural outcomes measured using the Neuropsychiatric Inventory scale.

## Summary of evidence: harms

The application described donepezil as being generally safe and well tolerated, with minor side-effects including nausea, vomiting, diarrhoea, loss of appetite, weight loss, muscle cramps and urinary difficulties. QTc interval prolongation and

torsade de pointes have been reported in postmarketing studies and routine pulse checks are recommended at baseline, monthly intervals during dose titration, and 6-monthly intervals thereafter (*10*). Rhabdomyolysis and neuroleptic malignant syndrome have been reported rarely in association with donepezil.

Safety outcomes from the systematic reviews and meta-analyses described above were not reported in the application but are summarized below.

The 2018 systematic review reported no increased risk of adverse events, falls or bradycardia with any of the medicines evaluated. Increased risks of diarrhoea, nausea and vomiting were reported for donepezil (7).

In the systematic review and individual patient data network metaanalysis, a network meta-analysis of studies with individual patient data and aggregate data, compared all available treatments for adverse events (8). According to *P*-scores (a statistical score used to rank treatments in meta-analyses), oral rivastigmine and donepezil had the least favourable safety profiles. Estimated treatment effects were imprecise compared with placebo.

The 2019 meta-analysis noted that high drop-out rates and adverse effects associated drop-outs were observed in randomized controlled trials of cholinesterase inhibitors and memantine. The meta-analysis reported discontinuation due to adverse events and drop-outs due to any reason. Compared with placebo, donepezil was significantly associated with increased discontinuation due to adverse events (odds ratio (OR) 1.24, 95% CI 1.04 to 1.19). There was no significant difference between donepezil and placebo for drop-outs due to any reason (OR 1.12, 95% CI 0.91 to 1.37) (9). Adverse effects observed were gastrointestinal and nervous system effects including nausea, vomiting, diarrhoea, anorexia, dizziness, depression and headache; however, the incidence of these effects was not compared.

## Additional evidence

A Cochrane systematic review of 30 randomized controlled trials (8257 participants) identified during the application review process assessed the efficacy and safety of donepezil in people with Alzheimer disease of all severities, and also compared efficacy and safety of different doses of donepezil (11). Most of the included studies were of 6 months' duration or shorter. One study (286 participants) had a duration of 52 weeks. The studies tested mainly donepezil capsules at a dose of 5 mg/day or 10 mg/day. Two studies tested a slow-release oral formulation that delivered 23 mg/day. Most of the included studies (n=21) included participants with mild-to-moderate disease. The primary analysis compared the efficacy and safety of donepezil 10 mg/day versus placebo at 24 to 26 weeks of treatment (13 randomized controlled trials, 3396 participants). Seventeen studies were industry funded or sponsored, four studies were funded independently of industry and for nine studies no information was given on

the funding source. Donepezil was associated with improved outcomes after 26 weeks for cognitive function measured with the Alzheimer Disease Assessment Scale-Cognitive Subscale (MD -2.67, 95% CI -3.31 to -2.02), Mini Mental State Examination score (MD 1.05, 95% CI 0.73 to 1.37) and the Severe Impairment Battery (MD 5.92, 95% CI 4.53 to 7.31). Donepezil was also associated with improved functioning measured with the Alzheimer Disease Cooperative Study activities of daily living score for severe Alzheimer disease (MD 1.03, 95% CI 0.21 to 1.85). A higher proportion of participants treated with donepezil experienced improvement on the Clinician-rated Global Impression of Change scale (OR 1.92, 95% CI 1.54 to 2.39). No difference was observed between treatment groups for behavioural symptoms measured by the Neuropsychiatric Inventory (MD -1.62, 95% CI -3.43 to 0.19) or by the Behavioural Pathology in Alzheimer Disease scale (MD 0.4, 95% CI -1.28 to 2.08). No difference was observed between treatment groups for quality of life (MD -2.79, 95% CI -8.15 to 2.56). Participants treated with donepezil were more likely to withdraw from the studies before the end of treatment (24% versus 20%; OR 1.25, 95% CI 1.05 to 1.50) or to experience an adverse event during the studies (72% versus 65%; OR 1.59, 95% 1.31 to 1.95).

## **WHO guidelines**

The 2015 WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guidelines make the following recommendations on cholinesterase inhibitors and memantine for the treatment of dementia in non-specialist health settings (*12*).

"Cholinesterase inhibitors and memantine may be offered to people with dementia in non-specialist health settings. Non-specialists need to be trained and supervised to ensure competence in diagnosis and monitoring. The use of cholinesterase inhibitors should be focused upon those with mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease, where the majority of evidence is available. Memantine may be considered for those with moderate to severe Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. Memantine should not be prescribed for Lewy Body dementia." (quality of evidence: very low, strength of recommendation: conditional).

"Rationale: Cholinesterase inhibitors and memantine offer symptomatic benefits in cognitive, functional, global and behavioural outcomes, although the size of this benefit is uncertain and the quality of the evidence very low. Adverse effects and safety in the long-term may represent serious concerns. Dementia diagnosis and subtype definition and management with the above medications require training, supervision, and support. Moreover, these medications are associated with high acquisition costs. Remarks: Consideration should be given to adherence and monitoring of adverse effects."

The 2016 WHO mhGAP Intervention Guide includes the following recommendations for the use of cholinesterase inhibitors or memantine in dementia (13).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

"For dementia without behavioural and/or psychological symptoms, do not consider cholinesterase inhibitors (like donepezil, galantamine and rivastigmine) or memantine routinely for all cases of dementia. Consider medications only in settings where specific diagnosis of Alzheimer disease can be made AND where adequate support and supervision by specialists and monitoring (for side-effects and response) from carers is available. If appropriate: For dementia with suspected Alzheimer disease, and with close monitoring, consider cholinesterase inhibitors (e.g. donepezil, galantamine, rivastigmine) OR memantine. For dementia with associated vascular disease, consider memantine."

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The application presented the findings of multiple systematic reviews, health technology assessments and other studies that evaluated the cost–effectiveness of treatments for Alzheimer disease, including donepezil. Most were conducted more than 15 years ago, before the introduction of generic donepezil, and may be of limited applicability today because of changes in acquisition costs.

The most recent systematic review of seven cost–effectiveness analyses was published in 2012 (14). Analyses for patients treated in trials of donepezil versus placebo showed incremental cost–effectiveness ratios ranging from dominance (clinically superior and cost saving) up to €20 867 per quality-adjusted life year (QALY), suggesting that donepezil was a cost-effective or even a cost-saving strategy at common willingness to pay thresholds in high-income countries.

A 2020 analysis of the cost-effectiveness of treatments for Alzheimer disease using real-world evidence from Thailand utilized a simulation model to compare the costs and cost-effectiveness of donepezil, galantamine, rivastigmine, memantine and no treatment (15). Effectiveness was measured as QALYs, and costs included direct medical expenditures (outpatient, inpatient and emergency visits; medications), out-of-pocket payments, costs of transportation and formal caregiving services, and the indirect costs of unpaid informal caregiving time. From a societal perspective, the mean incremental cost-effectiveness ratio for donepezil treatment was US\$ 4062 per QALY, and thus cost-effective at the willingness-to-pay threshold of 160 000 Thai bahts/QALY gained (US\$ 4994/QALY gained) applied in Thailand. The incremental cost-effectiveness ratio decreased with early introduction of treatment.

Multiple other (older) economic evaluation studies, primarily conducted in high-income settings, have found donepezil to be a cost-effective intervention compared with placebo (16-28).

A global survey conducted by the applicants collected information on the price of a 5 mg tablet of donepezil. Reported prices ranged from US\$ 0.13 to US\$ 6.60 per tablet.

#### Availability

Donepezil is available in innovator and generic brands.

Medicines to treat dementia are approved in fewer low- and middle-income countries compared with high-income countries (78% and 97%, respectively). Generics are reported to be available in 59% of low- and middle-income countries compared with 85% of high-income countries. Full reimbursement of such medicines has been reported in 26% of low- and middle-income compared to 76% of high-income countries (1).

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recognized that Alzheimer disease is a leading cause of disability and dependency worldwide, with high disease burden and associated costs. It also recognized that there is a substantial demand and need for effective treatments for dementia due to Alzheimer disease. The Committee noted that medicines such as donepezil and other cholinesterase inhibitors have been available in several regions of the world for symptomatic management of dementia due to Alzheimer disease for a long time but they had not previously been evaluated for inclusion on the EML.

The Committed acknowledged that moderate-certainty evidence suggested donepezil may be associated with a statistically significant effect on cognitive outcome scores compared with placebo. However, most of the Committee members considered that these improvements were unlikely to be clinically meaningful. Committee members held different views about the interpretation of the clinical importance of possible benefits associated with donepezil. Most of them considered the benefits of donepezil at the population level to be minimal or nil. A few members considered the benefits to be small but would consider offering donepezil to people with dementia due to Alzheimer disease in the absence of other effective treatments. All experts agreed that there was no clear evidence of prolonged benefits over time.

The Committee noted from the evidence that the effect of donepezil on activities of daily living was limited, while no difference on behavioural symptoms and quality of life was found. The limited duration of studies was also considered by the Committee to be inadequate to assess the longer-term clinical benefit of a treatment for a chronic degenerative disorder such as Alzheimer disease. There is no evidence that donepezil or other cholinesterase inhibitors can reverse or slow the progression of Alzheimer disease.

The Committee accepted that the adverse effects of donepezil are generally mild and that donepezil is well tolerated in most patients. However, the Committee noted that the risk of adverse effects increases with higher doses, and there is potential for numerous drug–drug and drug–disease interactions, especially considering that polypharmacy is common in older people. The Committee considered that patients included in dementia trials are generally younger and characterized by a better performance status compared with patients seen in routine dementia health care facilities, which affects generalizability of trial results to the population with Alzheimer dementia encountered in routine clinical care.

Overall, it was the view of most of the Committee members that the overall benefit-to-harm profile of donepezil was unfavourable.

The Committee noted evidence from studies conducted primarily in highincome countries that determined donepezil to be cost-effective compared with placebo when added to standard of care for patients with dementia. However, given the Committee's views about the benefit-to-harm profile, this evidence was not considered compelling and did not influence the recommendation.

The Committee noted that diagnosis of Alzheimer disease dementia in later stages is potentially feasible even in the context of resource-constrained settings, as it is mostly based on clinical symptoms, which become clearer as the disease progresses. However, diagnosis in early stages is more challenging, and it is usually managed by specialized health care professionals experienced in the use of validated memory or cognitive function tests. The Committee expressed concerns about the feasibility and availability of specialized diagnostic services for Alzheimer disease, especially in resource-constrained settings. While the 2015 WHO guidelines state that donepezil may be offered in non-specialist settings, clinicians must be adequately trained to ensure safe and effective treatment, which may be an important barrier to diagnosis and feasibility of appropriate use.

The Committee noted that donepezil is already included in some national essential medicines and reimbursement lists. The Committee also noted however that debate over the overall clinical benefit at the population level in recent years has resulted in reconsideration of continued reimbursement for donepezil in some countries, notably France. Other countries have introduced prescribing limitations or shared-care protocols and monitoring in specialist settings.

Therefore, based on these considerations, the Expert Committee did not recommend inclusion of donepezil on the EML for the treatment of dementia due to Alzheimer disease.

## References

- 1. Global status report on the public health response to dementia. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/344701, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Molnar FJ, Man-Son-Hing M, Fergusson D. Systematic review of measures of clinical significance employed in randomized controlled trials of drugs for dementia. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2009;57(3):536–46.

- Blanco-Silvente L, Castells X, Garre-Olmo J, Vilalta-Franch J, Saez M, Barceló MA, et al. Study of the strength of the evidence and the redundancy of the research on pharmacological treatment for Alzheimer's disease: a cumulative meta-analysis and trial sequential analysis. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2019;75(12):1659–67.
- Burback D, Molnar FJ, St John P, Man-Son-Hing M. Key methodological features of randomized controlled trials of Alzheimer's disease therapy. Minimal clinically important difference, sample size and trial duration. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 1999;10(6):534–40.
- Donepezil, galantamine, rivastigmine and memantine for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2018 (Technology appraisal guidance TA217) (https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta217, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 6. Bond M, Rogers G, Peters J, Anderson R, Hoyle M, Miners A, et al. The effectiveness and costeffectiveness of donepezil, galantamine, rivastigmine and memantine for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease (review of Technology Appraisal No. 111): a systematic review and economic model. Health Technol Assess. 2012;16(21):1–470.
- Tricco AC, Ashoor HM, Soobiah C, Rios P, Veroniki AA, Hamid JS, et al. Comparative effectiveness and safety of cognitive enhancers for treating Alzheimer's disease: systematic review and network metaanalysis. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2018;66(1):170–8.
- 8. Veroniki AA, Ashoor HM, Rios P, Seitidis G, Stewart L, Clarke M, et al. Comparative safety and efficacy of cognitive enhancers for Alzheimer's dementia: a systematic review with individual patient data network meta-analysis. BMJ Open. 2022;12(4):e053012.
- Li DD, Zhang YH, Zhang W, Zhao P. Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials on the efficacy and safety of donepezil, galantamine, rivastigmine, and memantine for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. Front Neurosci. 2019;13:472.
- 10. Rowland JP, Rigby J, Harper AC, Rowland R. Cardiovascular monitoring with acetylcholinesterase inhibitors: a clinical protocol. Adv Psychiatr Treat. 2007;13(3):178–84.
- 11. Birks JS, Harvey RJ. Donepezil for dementia due to Alzheimer's disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018;6(6):CD001190.
- 12. Update of the Mental Health Gap Action Programe (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders. May 2015. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/204132, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 13. mhGAP intervention guide for mental, neurological and substance use disorders in nonspecialized health settings: mental health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) version 2.0. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/250239, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Pouryamout L, Dams J, Wasem J, Dodel R, Neumann A. Economic evaluation of treatment options in patients with Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review of cost-effectiveness analyses. Drugs. 2012;72(6):789–802.
- Kongpakwattana K, Chaiyakunapruk N. Application of discrete-event simulation in health technology assessment: a cost-effectiveness analysis of Alzheimer's disease treatment using realworld evidence in Thailand. Value Health. 2020;23(6):710–8.
- Knapp M, Kin gD, Romeo R, Adams J, Baldwin A, Ballard C, et al. Cost-effectiveness of donepezil and memantine in moderate to severe Alzheimer's disease (the DOMINO-AD trial). Int J Psychiatry. 2016;32(12):1205–16.
- 17. da Silva LR, Vianna CMM, Mosegui GBG, Peregrino AAF, Marinho V, Laks J. Cost-effectiveness analysis of the treatment of mild and moderate Alzheimer's disease in Brazil. Braz J Psychiatry. 2019;41(3):218–24.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- Hartz S, Getsios D, Tao S, Blume S, Maclaine GD. Evaluating the cost effectiveness of donepezil in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease in Germany using discrete event simulation. BMC Neurol. 2012;12(1):2.
- 19. Teipel SJ, Ewers M, Reisig V, Schweikert B, Hampel H, Happich M. Long-term cost-effectiveness of donepezil for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2007;257(6):330–6.
- 20. López-Bastida J, Hart W, García-Pérez L, Linertová R. Cost-effectiveness of donepezil in the treatment of mild or moderate Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis. 2009;16(2):399–407.
- 21. Fuh JL, Wang SJ. Cost-effectiveness analysis of donepezil for mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease in Taiwan. Int J Psychiatry. 2008;23(1):73–8.
- 22. Feldman H, Gauthier S, Hecker J, Vellas B, Hux M, Xu Y, et al. Economic evaluation of donepezil in moderate to severe Alzheimer disease. Neurology. 2004;24(63):644–50.
- 23. Wimo A, Winblad B, Engedal K, Soininen H, Verhey F, Waldemar G, et al. An economic evaluation of donepezil in mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease: results of a 1-year, double-blind, randomized trial. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2003;15(1):44–54.
- 24. Jönsson L, Lindgren P, Wimo A, Jönsson B, Winblad B. The cost-effectiveness of donepezil therapy in Swedish patients with Alzheimer's disease: a Markov model. Clin Ther. 1999;21(7):1230–40.
- O'Brien BJ, Goeree R, Hux M, Iskedjian M, Blackhouse G, Gagnon M, et al. Economic evaluation of donepezil for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease in Canada. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1999;47(5):570–8.
- 26. Getsios D, Blume S, Ishak KJ, Maclaine GD. Cost effectiveness of donepezil in the treatment of mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease: a UK evaluation using discrete-event simulation. Pharmacoeconomics. 2010;28(5):411–27.
- 27. Neumann PJ, Hermann RC, Kuntz KM, Araki SS, Duff SB, Leon J, et al. Cost-effectiveness of donepezil in the treatment of mild or moderate Alzheimer's disease. Neurology. 1999;52(6):1138–45.
- 28. Small GW, Donohue JA, Brooks RL. An economic evaluation of donepezil in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. Clin Ther. 1998;20(4):838–50.

.....

Risdiplam – addition – EML and EMLc

## Risdiplam

ATC code: M09AX10

#### Proposal

Addition of risdiplam to the core list of the EML and EMLc for treatment of spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) in paediatric and adult patients.

#### Applicant

Knowledge Ecology International

#### WHO technical department

Not applicable

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

#### Section

5 Medicines for diseases of the nervous system

#### Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Powder for oral liquid: 0.75 mg/mL

#### Core/complementary

Core

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

#### Background

Risdiplam has not previously been considered for inclusion on the Model Lists. There are currently no treatments for SMA included on the EML or EMLc.

#### Public health relevance

SMA is a hereditary genetic disease caused by a mutation in the survival motor neuron (*SMN1*) gene resulting in insufficient levels of survival motor neuron protein. Signs of SMA include muscle weakness and hypotonia, motor difficulties, loss of motor skills, proximal muscle weakness, hyporeflexia, tongue fasciculations and signs of low motor neuron disease (1). Estimates of the incidence of SMA vary from 1 in 6000 to 1 in 12 000 live births (2, 3). The data and research on the incidence of SMA is predominately from Europe and North America. However,

the few studies conducted in low- and middle-income countries have reported similar birth incidence with fewer cases surviving the first year of life (4).

Five types of SMA exist, which are classified by age at onset of symptoms. Type 0 is usually identified in utero because of a decrease or loss of fetal movement and infants born with SMA type 0 have survival of under 6 months. Type 1 develops in babies younger than 6 months, and this type is the leading genetic cause of death in early infancy (5). Type 2 clinically manifests between 7 months and 18 months, type 3 develops after 18 months, and type 4 develops in adulthood and usually causes mild problems (1).

Patients diagnosed with SMA exhibit a wide range of motor function, from extremely weak infants unable to sit to adults who can play sport (3). Clinically meaningful treatment outcomes for infants and children are achieving motor milestones, improvement or stabilization of motor and respiratory function, ventilation-free survival and overall survival. For adults, stabilization of motor function and respiratory function, maintaining independence, fewer hospital visits and health-related quality of life are meaningful treatment outcomes (6).

Risdiplam is the first oral treatment for SMA. There are currently two other disease-modifying therapies to treat SMA. Nusinersen is an *SMN2* targeting antisense oligonucleotide administered by intrathecal injection. Onasemnogene abeparvovec is a gene therapy using a recombinant adeno-associated viral vector containing DNA encoding the normal *SMN1* gene administered through a one-time intravenous infusion. Unlike the alternatives, risdiplam treatment does not require hospitalization for administration.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

No systematic reviews or meta-analyses involving risdiplam have been done nor any direct head-to-head studies comparing risdiplam with the two other treatments for SMA. As such, the only studies comparing risdiplam with nusinersen and/or onasemnogene abeparvovec are indirect treatment comparisons. The main clinical trials and indirect comparisons are summarized below.

Risdiplam has been evaluated in three clinical trials. FIREFISH examined risdiplam for type 1 SMA in infants (28 days to 7 months), SUNFISH examined risdiplam for type 2/3 non-ambulant SMA in children and young adults (2 to 25 years) and RAINBOWFISH evaluated risdiplam in genetically diagnosed, presymptomatic infants (birth to 6 weeks). FIREFISH and SUNFISH each had two parts: a dose-finding exploratory phase II trial, and a phase III trial testing efficacy and safety.

In FIREFISH part 1, 21 patients were enrolled. Their baseline characteristics were consistent with symptomatic patients with type 1 SMA. The median age at enrolment was 6.7 months (range: 3.3–6.9 months) and the median time between onset of symptoms and the first dose was 4.0 months
(range: 2.0–5.8 months). A total of 17 patients received the therapeutic dose of risdiplam (the dose selected for part 2). After 12 months of treatment, 41% (7/17) of these patients were able to sit independently for at least 5 seconds. After 24 months of treatment, three more patients receiving the therapeutic dose were able to sit independently for at least 5 seconds, leading to a total of 59% (10/17) achieving this motor milestone (7).

In FIREFISH part 2, 41 patients with type 1 SMA were enrolled. The median age at onset of clinical signs and symptoms of type 1 SMA was 1.5 months (range: 1.0-3.0 months), 54% were females, 54% were described as Caucasian and 34% as Asian. The median age at enrolment was 5.3 months (range: 2.2–6.9 months) and the median time between onset of symptoms and the first dose was 3.4 months (range: 1.0–6.0 months). At baseline, the median score on the Children's Hospital of Philadelphia Infant Test for Neuromuscular Disease (CHOP-INTEND) was 22.0 points (range: 8.0-37.0 - possible scores ranged from 0 to 64 with lower scores indicating more severe disease) and the median Hammersmith Infant Neurological Examination Module 2 (HINE-2) score was 1.0 (range: 0.0-5.0 possible scores ranged from 0 to 26 with lower scores indicating more severe disease). At month 24, 44% (18/41) (90% confidence interval (CI) 31% to 58%) of patients achieved sitting without support for 30 seconds. Patients continued to achieve additional motor milestones as measured by the Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development-third edition (BSID-III): 85% (35/41) were able to roll (8). In a pooled efficacy analysis of FIREFISH part 1 and part 2 outcomes based on the patients treated with the recommended dose, 28% (16/58) of patients achieved the ability to stand as measured by HINE-2. Despite the progress described, no infants achieved independent standing or walking, as assessed by the BSID-III gross motor subscale (9).

RAINBOWFISH was an open-label, single-arm, multicentre clinical study to investigate the efficacy, safety, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of risdiplam in infants up to 6 weeks of age who had been genetically diagnosed with SMA but had not presented any symptoms (10). The primary analysis was conducted at 12 months in six infants with two or three *SMN2* copies. The primary endpoint was the proportion of infants sitting without support for 5 or more seconds. Efficacy data from the study indicated that the infants reached a sufficient CHOP-INTEND score: six (100%) infants were able to sit without support, four (67%) were able to stand and three (50%) were able to walk independently. In addition, the infants maintained their swallowing and feeding abilities. Thus far, the study has shown that, after 12 months of treatment with risdiplam, most presymptomatic infants met key milestones.

SUNFISH was conducted in non-ambulant patients with types 2 and 3 SMA aged from 2 to 25 years. Part 1 of SUNFISH was dose-finding and exploratory. Part 2 was a multicentre trial to investigate the efficacy, safety, pharmacokinetics

53

and pharmacodynamics of risdiplam. In SUNFISH Part 1, 51 patients were enrolled. Exploratory efficacy analyses showed improvements in motor function scores after 24 months of treatment with mean increases from baseline in the 32-item Motor Function Measure (MFM32) total score (2.7 points, 95% CI 1.2 to 4.2, n = 44), Revised Upper Limb Module total score (2.5 points, 95% CI 1.5 to 3.4, n = 51) and Hammersmith Functional Motor Scale–Expanded total score (0.6 points, 95% CI -0.6 to 1.8, n = 51). Younger patients (2–11 years) achieved greater improvements in motor function than older patients (12–25 years) (11).

SUNFISH part 2 is a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind study of 180 non-ambulant patients with type 2 (128 patients, 71%) or type 3 (52 patients, 29%) SMA (12). Patients were randomized 2:1 to receive either a therapeutic dose of risdiplam or placebo. Randomization was stratified by age group. The primary endpoint was change from baseline in the 32-item MFM-32 score at month 12. MFM-32 has a possible range of scores from 0 (severe functional impairment) to 100 (no functional impairment). Patients in SUNFISH part 2 had a mean baseline MFM-32 score of 46.1. The baseline demographic characteristics were balanced between risdiplam and placebo arms except for scoliosis (63% of patients in the risdiplam arm and 73% of patients in the placebo control). At 12 months, the least squares mean change from baseline in MFM-32 scores in the risdiplam and placebo groups were 1.36 (95% CI 0.61 to 2.11) and -0.19 (95% CI -1.22 to 0.84), respectively, and a treatment difference of 1.55 points (95% CI 0.30 to 2.81, P = 0.016) favouring risdiplam. This difference is encouraging, particularly if progress is going to be maintained over time.

#### Indirect comparisons

#### **Risdiplam and nusinersen**

Three studies explored indirect comparisons with nusinersen. The first qualitative comparison of treatment between risdiplam and nusinersen concluded that both medicines have had a substantial positive impact on the quality of life of patients with SMA (13). The second study, (funded by the manufacturer of risdiplam) concluded that risdiplam may be superior to nusinersen with regard to survival and motor function in patients with type 1 SMA. The comparison reported a lower likelihood of serious adverse events with risdiplam compared with intrathecally injected nusinersen. The authors noted that the lower likelihood of serious adverse events may also be associated with better efficacy for risdiplam, as there could be some collinearity between motor function and severe adverse events. Comparing risdiplam with nusinersen in types 2 or 3 SMA was challenging due to the large differences in population. As a result, the study could not draw concrete conclusions from indirect comparisons with types 2 and 3 SMA (14). The third indirect comparison was conducted by the German Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care. The agency concluded that there was no evidence of

differences in efficacy between risdiplam and nusinersen, with the exception of long-term ventilation that might be necessary less often with risdiplam (15).

#### Risdiplam and onasemnogene abeparvovec

Two studies indirectly compared risdiplam and onasemnogene abeparvovec and found mixed results. One study found that treatment with onasemnogene abeparvovec compared with risdiplam was associated with greater improvement in CHOP-INTEND scores. However, the study cohorts were not fully matched for their disease severity and age (16). The second study was an indirect comparison by the manufacturer of risdiplam which found insufficient evidence to draw conclusions on the relative efficacy of the two treatments because of the substantial differences in study populations (14).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The safety of risdiplam in treatment of later-onset SMA was evaluated in the SUNFISH part 2 study (12). The most common adverse events were fever, diarrhoea and rash, reported in less than 10% of the patients that received risdiplam. Adverse events that occurred in at least 5% of patients treated with risdiplam and at an incidence of  $\geq$  5 percentage points higher than placebo included fever (22% versus 17%), diarrhoea (17% versus 8%), rash (17% versus 2%), mouth and aphthous ulcers (7% versus 0%), arthralgia (5% versus 0%) and urinary tract infection (5% versus 0%).

The safety of risdiplam in infantile-onset SMA was evaluated in the FIREFISH study (parts 1 and 2) (7,8). The most frequent adverse reactions reported were similar to those reported in later-onset SMA patients. In addition, in FIREFISH part 2, 54% of infants experienced upper respiratory tract infections. Serious adverse events were reported in 68% of patients, with the most frequently reported serious adverse event being pneumonia, a frequent complication due to the SMA itself (e.g. because of bronchoaspiration) which might lead to death.

The safety of risdiplam in presymptomatic infants with genetically diagnosed SMA was evaluated in the RAINBOWFISH study (10). No treatment-related serious adverse events were reported in infants treated for  $\leq$  22.8 months.

#### WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for treatment of SMA are not available.

# Costs/cost-effectiveness

All three available treatments for SMA are currently very costly.

The application described health technology assessments and reimbursement considerations of risdiplam made by health technology assessment agencies in Canada (6,17), Ireland (18), the Kingdom of the Netherlands (19)

and the United Kingdom (20). Overall, health technology assessment agencies found cost–effectiveness analyses difficult to conduct due to the limited number of studies comparing the efficacy of risdiplam with nusinersen or onasemnogene abeparvovec. In some settings, risdiplam was recommended for reimbursement subject to conditions such as price reductions or managed entry arrangements. In others, risdiplam was not recommended for reimbursement until the cost– effectiveness relative to the alternative treatments was improved.

A cost-effectiveness study comparing risdiplam and nusinersen for the treatment of SMA type 1 patients in China reported risdiplam to be dominant over nusinersen, with increased quality-adjusted life years and lower costs (21).

Table 6 reports a cost comparison of risdiplam, nusinersen and onasemnogene abeparvovec provided in the application.

| Medicine                 | Price, in US\$ per patient   |
|--------------------------|--|
| Risdiplam                | Up to 340 000 a year   |
| Onasemnogene abeparvovec | 2 125 000 (single injection)                                       |
| Nusinersen               | 750 000 for the first year; 375 000 a year<br>for subsequent years |

# Table 6 Cost comparison of current SMA treatments

The application highlights that the most important component of the manufacturing cost of the medicine is the cost of the active pharmaceutical ingredient. The prices of the active pharmaceutical ingredient depend upon manufacturing methods, the scale of production and the extent of competition among suppliers. The current price of risdiplam per unit of active pharmaceutical ingredient in high-income countries ranges from US\$ 118 to US\$ 209 million per kg. According to the applicant, in a competitive market, manufacturing costs for risdiplam active pharmaceutical ingredient per kg could be as low as US\$ 4000 to US\$ 40 000, depending on the production scale.

# Availability

As of December 2022, risdiplam was approved in 81 countries. Marketing authorization has been filed in several additional countries. Currently, there are no generic manufacturers, nor existing or planned licensing agreements between the patent holder (Roche) and generic manufacturers. A request by Knowledge Ecology International for a voluntary licence to manufacture and sell a generic version of risdiplam was not granted by Roche. Roche has offered access programmes in some lower-income countries to make risdiplam more affordable.

#### Other considerations

In about 10 high-income countries, universal newborn screening programmes now include screening for SMA to identify infants with possible mutations of the *SMN1* gene, allowing presymptomatic infants to be treated before the loss of motor neurons, with the goal of achieving improved clinical outcomes (22). This number is likely to increase over the next few years.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged that SMA, a hereditary genetic disease caused by a defect or mutation in the *SMN1* gene is associated with considerable morbidity and mortality in affected children and adults. While it has a relatively low incidence in the general population, disease clusters are possible, particularly in families with increased prevalence of consanguinity. The Committee reaffirmed that low incidence of a disease is not a factor on its own that precludes the inclusion of medicines in the Model Lists. Indeed, essential medicines for rare diseases have been included since the first Model List was published (e.g. blood coagulation factors, antirabies hyperimmune serum (later equine rabies immunoglobulin)).

The Committee noted the current availability of three different treatments for SMA: one small molecule (risdiplam); one antisense oligonucleotide (nusinersen); and one gene therapy (onasemnogene abeparvovec). These treatments share some characteristics: they are associated with potentially important clinical benefits which appear to be greatest with early introduction of treatment in presymptomatic infants who carry the gene mutation and in symptomatic patients with recent onset of symptoms; and they are all highly priced. Between risdiplam and nusinersen, the Committee noted the feasibility advantages of risdiplam over nusinersen. The latter requires an intrathecal injection every 4 months which must be done in hospital by trained health professionals and has adverse effects such as headaches, vomiting, back pain and risk of infections, while risdiplam is given orally at home.

The Committee noted that the body of evidence for efficacy and safety of risdiplam in SMA was still limited, with only a small number of patients exposed to long-term treatment. The Committee noted that most patients had a disease duration of at least 3 months when they were enrolled in the clinical trials. About 50% of children treated with risdiplam showed improvement in motor function (e.g. sitting without support for 5 or more seconds) at 24 months, and more children achieved motor milestones with prolonged treatment. While risdiplam is likely associated with longer survival without requirement for permanent mechanical ventilation, based on the available data so far, no participants could stand or walk alone when risdiplam has been given after disease onset. The Committee noted that based on the available evidence in patients with symptomatic disease,

improvements in motor function were observed in younger children (younger than 5 years) but that these improvements became increasingly less noticeable in older children, adolescents and adults. Treatment-related adverse effects were generally mild. Overall, the Committee considered that the magnitude and long-term duration of benefits and potential harms of risdiplam were still uncertain.

The Committee noted that newborn screening for SMA has been introduced into routine screening panels in some high-income countries in recent years. However, the effectiveness of such screening programmes in identifying potential patients in a presymptomatic stage of the disease has not yet been assessed. The Committee also noted the preliminary results of ongoing clinical trials of risdiplam in presymptomatic infants up to 6 weeks of age. As risdiplam is likely to be associated with larger benefits when treatment is started before symptom onset, the Committee considered that it would be important to study its long-term effectiveness in those settings where routine newborn screening programmes for SMA are implemented.

The Committee advised that data on SMA screening programmes and use of risdiplam in presymptomatic infants should be reviewed as they become available, as well as longer term trial clinical outcomes for use of risdiplam in older, less severely affected, symptomatic patients.

The Committee noted the current high price of risdiplam and that reimbursement decisions in some high-income countries have been made subject to managed entry arrangements or price reductions. Generic versions of risdiplam are not currently available. The Committee also noted that a request made by Knowledge Ecology International for a voluntary licence to manufacture and sell a generic version of risdiplam had not been granted by the patent holder. Nevertheless, the Committee considered that risdiplam could be flagged to the Medicines Patent Pool as a potential candidate for negotiating public healthoriented licences, to facilitate affordable access in low- and middle-income countries.

Based on these considerations, the Expert Committee did not recommend inclusion of risdiplam on the core list of the EML and EMLc for treatment of spinal muscular atrophy.

# References

- 1. Spinal muscular atrophy [internet]. Bethseda, MD: National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke, 2023 (https://www.ninds.nih.gov/health-information/disorders/spinal-muscular-atrophy, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Verhaart IEC, Robertson A, Leary R, McMacken G, König K, Kirschner J, et al. A multi-source approach to determine SMA incidence and research ready population. J Neurol. 2017;264(7):1465–73.
- 3. D'Amico A, Mercuri E, Tiziano FD, Bertini E. Spinal muscular atrophy. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2011;6(1):71.

- 4. Global, regional, and national burden of motor neuron diseases 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet Neurol. 2018;17(12):1083–97.
- Chaytow H, Faller KME, Huang Y-T, Gillingwater TH. Spinal muscular atrophy: from approved therapies to future therapeutic targets for personalized medicine. Cell Reports Medicine. 2021;2(7):100346.
- 6. Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health. CADTH reimbursement review. Risdiplam (Evrysdi). Can J Health Technol. 2021;1(11):205.
- 7. Baranello G, Darras BT, Day JW, Deconinck N, Klein A, Masson R, et al. Risdiplam in type 1 spinal muscular atrophy. N Engl J Med. 2021;384(10):915–23.
- Masson R, Mazurkiewicz-Bełdzińska M, Rose K, Servais L, Xiong H, Zanoteli E, et al. Safety and efficacy of risdiplam in patients with type 1 spinal muscular atrophy (FIREFISH part 2): secondary analyses from an open-label trial. Lancet Neurol. 2022;21(12):1110–9.
- Darras BT, Boespflut-Tanguy O, Day JW, Deconinck N, Klein A, Masson R, et al. FIREFISH Parts 1 and 2: 24-month safety and efficacy of risdiplam in infants with Type 1 SMA. Paper presented at the Muscular Dystrophy Association Clinical and Scientific Conference, Nashville, Tennessee, 13–16 March 2022.
- Finkel RS, Farrar MA, Vlodavets D, Servais L, Zanoteli E, Al-Muhaizea M, et al. RAINBOWFISH: preliminary efficacy and safety data in risdiplam-treated infants with presymptomatic SMA (P17-5.003). Neurology. 2022;98(18 Suppl):1636.
- 11. Mercuri E, Baranello G, Boespflug-Tanguy O, De Waele L, Goemans N, Kirschner J, et al. Risdiplam in types 2 and 3 spinal muscular atrophy: a randomised, placebo-controlled, dose-finding trial followed by 24 months of treatment. Eur J Neurol. 2023;30(7):1945–56.
- Mercuri E, Deconinck N, Mazzone ES, Nascimento A, Oskoui M, Saito K, et al. Safety and efficacy of once-daily risdiplam in type 2 and non-ambulant type 3 spinal muscular atrophy (SUNFISH part 2): a phase 3, double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Neurol. 2022;21(1):42–52.
- 13. Zhu X. Comparison of nusinersen and Evrysdi in the treatment of spinal muscular atrophy. E3S Web Conf. 2021;271:03035.
- 14. Ribero VA, Daigl M, Martí Y, Gorni K, Evans R, Scott DA, et al. How does risdiplam compare with other treatments for types 1–3 spinal muscular atrophy: a systematic literature review and indirect treatment comparison. J Comp Eff Res. 2022;11(5):347–70.
- Risdiplam (Evrysdi) for spinal muscular atrophy [internet]. Köln: Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care; 2021 (https://www.gesundheitsinformation.de/risdiplam-evrysdi-bei-spinalermuskelatrophie.html, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Finkel RS, Dabbous O, Arjunji R, Droege M, Feltner DE, Novack A, et al. P.060 time to treatment effect in spinal muscular atrophy type 1 (SMA1): an indirect comparison of treatments. Can J Neurol Sci. 2019;46(S1):S30.
- 17. Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health. CADTH reimbursement recommendation. Risdiplam (Evrysdi). Can J Health Technol. 2021;1(8):15.
- Technical summary risdiplam (Evrysdi). HTA ID: 21006. Dublin: National Centre for Pharmacoeconomics; 2022 (https://ncpe.ie/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/Technical-summary-Risdiplam-HTAID-21006.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Package advice risdiplam (Evrysdi<sup>®</sup>) for the treatment of 5q spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) [internet]. Diemen: National Health Care Institute (Zorginstituut Nederland); 2022 (https:// english.zorginstituutnederland.nl/publications/reports/2022/07/15/package-advice-risdiplamevrysdi, accessed 6 October 2023).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 20. Risdiplam for treating spinal muscular atrophy [internet]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2021 (Technology appraisal guidance [TA755]) (https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta755, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 21. Hu J, Sutherland CS, Aponte Ribero V, Zhu L, Hou X, Xia Y, et al. POSC94 cost-effectiveness of risdiplam versus nusinersen for treating patients with spinal muscular atrophy type 1 in China. Value Health. 2022;25(1):S105.
- 22. Dangouloff T, Vrščaj E, Servais L, Osredkar D. Newborn screening programs for spinal muscular atrophy worldwide: where we stand and where to go. Neuromuscul Disord. 2021;31(6):574–82.

# 5.1 Antiseizure medicines

Levetiracetam – addition – EML and EMLc

# Levetiracetam

# ATC code: N03AX14

# Proposal

Addition of levetiracetam to the core list of the EML and EMLc for treatment of focal-onset and generalized-onset epilepsy and benzodiazepine-refractory status epilepticus in adults and children.

# Applicant

Arjune Sen, Nuffield Department of Clinical Neurosciences, University of Oxford, Oxford, United Kingdom

Helen Cross, University College London – Great Ormond Street Institute of Child Health, London, United Kingdom

# WHO technical department

Mental Health and Substance Use, Brain Health Unit

# EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

# Section

5.1 Antiseizure medicines

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Oral solution: 100 mg/mL

Tablet: 250 mg, 500 mg, 750 mg, 1000 mg

Concentrate solution for infusion: 500 mg/5 mL in 5 mL vial

Solution for infusion: 5 mg/mL, 10 mg/mL, 15 mg/mL in 100 mL bag

# Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

Levetiracetam has not previously been evaluated for inclusion on the Model Lists.

61

The EML currently lists 10 antiseizure medicines: carbamazepine, diazepam, ethosuximide, lamotrigine, lorazepam, magnesium sulfate, midazolam, phenobarbital, phenytoin, and valproic acid. With the exception of magnesium sulfate (which is listed for use only in eclampsia and severe pre-eclampsia), the same medicines are also included on the EMLc. These medicines are intended to treat generalized and partial epilepsy, mostly as first-line therapies.

#### Public health relevance

The public health relevance of effective and safe treatments for epilepsy is well established. Epilepsy, a disorder characterized by spontaneous unprovoked seizures, is one of the most common serious neurological conditions and affects more than 50 million people worldwide (1). Seizures may start in one part of the brain (focal epilepsy) or in both hemispheres simultaneously (2). Both types of epilepsy are associated with risk of injury, head injury and death. About 70% of people can achieve freedom from seizures with appropriately selected antiseizure medicines (3).

While older antiseizure medicines can be effective in controlling seizures, they can be associated with long-term side-effects (phenobarbital, carbamazepine, valproic acid, phenytoin) and slow cognition (phenobarbital), can have complex drug-drug interactions (phenobarbital, carbamazepine, phenytoin) and can be teratogenic (valproic acid). Lamotrigine, a newer antiseizure medicine, can cause skin rash in 1 in 30 people, may have its metabolism affected by estrogencontaining oral contraceptives/hormone replacement therapies, and is not a medicine that can be used in emergency settings.

Treatment strategies for epilepsy should be individualized according to the seizure type, coprescribed medications and comorbidities, the person's lifestyle, and the preferences of the person and their family and/or caregivers.

Levetiracetam is a well established medicine in the pharmacological armamentarium for epilepsy treatment, and offers the following benefits:

- effective in both focal-onset and generalized-onset epilepsies;
- no adverse effects on cognition;
- no known long-term side-effects;
- minimal drug-drug interactions; no interaction with contraception or hormone replacement therapy;
- effective in all ages;
- can be used intravenously in the emergency treatment of generalized tonic-clonic status epilepticus (prolonged convulsive seizures associated with significant risk);
- parenteral preparation available that can be used in people with symptomatic seizures, people with comorbid liver/cardiac conditions and people with epilepsy who are unable to take oral preparations;

62

- effective in older people with lower risk of adverse events;
- safe in pregnancy with no increased risk above the background risk of teratogenicity in the general population.

Levetiracetam is particularly beneficial for more vulnerable groups such as older people with seizures and women/girls of childbearing potential who have epilepsy.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The applicants conducted and presented the findings of a systematic literature review and network meta-analysis which summarized the evidence from recent meta-analyses comparing the effectiveness and safety of antiseizure medications in adults and children with epilepsy.

The evidence synthesis included one Cochrane systematic review and network meta-analysis of individual patient data of the efficacy and tolerability of antiseizure medications in children and adults with focal or generalized epilepsy (4). Carbamazepine, phenytoin, valproic acid, phenobarbital, oxcarbazepine, lamotrigine, gabapentin, topiramate, levetiracetam, zonisamide, eslicarbazepine acetate and lacosamide were compared for time to seizure remission (efficacy) when used as monotherapy in children and adults with focal-onset seizures (simple focal, complex focal or secondary generalized) or generalized tonic-clonic seizures with or without other generalized seizure types. The analysis included 14 789 records from 39 randomized trials, with certainty of evidence profiles elaborated according to the confidence in network meta-analysis (CiNeMA) approach. For focal-onset seizures, carbamazepine and lamotrigine were taken as comparators, while for generalized-onset seizures valproic acid was used as the comparator, as these medicines are considered first-choice in the treatment of the respective epilepsy types.

The network meta-analysis (4) showed high-certainty evidence that for focal-onset seizures, levetiracetam was as effective as lamotrigine (hazard ratio (HR) 1.01, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.87 to 1.18; two randomized controlled trials, 902 participants) and carbamazepine (HR 1.08, 95% CI 0.94 to 1.24; three studies, 1567 participants).

The network meta-analysis also showed high-certainty evidence that for generalized-onset seizures, levetiracetam was as effective as valproic acid (HR 0.99, 95% CI 0.82 to 1.20; two randomized controlled trials, 1032 participants).

The network meta-analysis reported sensitivity analysis results adjusted for age, which showed similar estimates to those in the main results. Overall, the age range for the network meta-analysis was 1 to 95 years, with 4/39 studies providing individual patient data for people 15 years or younger, and 35/39 studies including people older than 15 years (4). An update was reported in 2018 of American Academy of Neurology/ American Epilepsy Society guidelines on treatment of adults with new-onset epilepsy (5). The authors systematically searched records up to November 2015 to update the previous guidelines, dating back to 2004. Several second-generation antiseizure medications were considered to be effective for new-onset focal epilepsy. The authors highlighted that lamotrigine, levetiracetam and zonisamide were the preferred antiseizure medications to decrease seizure frequency in adults with new-onset focal epilepsy.

Another study reported on the indications to start an antiseizure medication treatment after a first seizure, but the efficacy and safety of levetiracetam were not investigated (6).

A narrative review in 2022 covered optimal antiseizure medication choices in adults with epilepsy (7). Among 26 medications for epilepsy approved by the US Food and Drug Administration, 24 were considered to have similar antiseizure efficacy for focal epilepsy and nine had similar efficacy for generalized epilepsy. The authors stressed that the choice of antiseizure medication must be based on the seizure and epilepsy types, the epilepsy syndrome, and the adverse effects associated with the drug. Levetiracetam, together with lamotrigine, was suggested as a first-line option for both focal-onset and generalized-onset seizures, particularly for women and girls of childbearing potential given the low teratogenic risk.

The SANAD II study was a randomized, open-label, non-inferiority, phase IV trial which compared levetiracetam to valproic acid for treatment of generalized and unclassified epilepsy (8). Although levetiracetam did not reach the non-inferiority margins defined versus valproic acid, it was associated with a similar probability of 12-month remission compared with valproic acid in the long-term and is considered non-inferior to valproic acid for generalized epilepsy.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The Cochrane systematic review and network meta-analysis provided data on both acceptability of treatments (i.e. all-cause treatment discontinuation, generally considered a pragmatic proxy of the balance between desirable and undesirable effects) and tolerability (i.e. adverse events) (4).

The network meta-analysis showed high-certainty evidence that:

- for focal-onset seizures, levetiracetam had better acceptability (HR 0.80, 95% CI 0.69 to 0.93) and tolerability (HR 0.65, 95% CI 0.47 to 0.90) compared with carbamazepine (three studies, 1567 participants).
- for focal-onset seizures, levetiracetam had similar acceptability (HR 1.01, 95% CI 0.86 to 1.20) and tolerability (HR 1.16, 95% CI 0.81 to 1.66) compared with lamotrigine (two studies, 902 participants).

 for generalized-onset seizures, levetiracetam had similar acceptability (HR 1.13, 95% CI 0.89 to 1.42) and tolerability (HR 1.21, 95% CI 0.66 to 2.21) compared with valproic acid (two studies, 1032 participants).

The most commonly reported adverse events across all antiseizure medicines were drowsiness/fatigue, headache or migraine, gastrointestinal disturbances, dizziness/faintness, and rash or skin disorders.

A systematic review and meta-analysis of 96 studies (58 461 participants) evaluated the risk of congenital malformations and prenatal outcomes of antiseizure medications in infants and children exposed to antiseizure medications in utero (9). Levetiracetam and lamotrigine emerged as the only antiseizure medications with risks similar to placebo, suggesting the preferred use of lamotrigine and levetiracetam for women and girls of childbearing potential.

# WHO guidelines

The 2023 WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders (10) includes the following recommendations.

- Monotherapy with lamotrigine or levetiracetam, or valproic acid (sodium valproate), should be offered as first-line treatment for generalized-onset seizures in men/boys and women/girls who are not of childbearing potential (strong recommendation, high certainty of evidence).
- In women and girls of childbearing potential with generalizedonset seizures, lamotrigine or levetiracetam should be offered as first-line monotherapy (strong recommendation, high certainty of evidence).
- Monotherapy with lamotrigine or levetiracetam should be offered as first-line treatment for focal onset seizures in children and adults with epilepsy. If neither lamotrigine nor levetiracetam are available, then carbamazepine should be used as an alternate firstline treatment for focal onset seizures in children and adults with epilepsy (strong recommendation, high certainty of evidence).
- In adults with established status epilepticus (i.e. seizures persisting after two doses of benzodiazepines), either intravenous postherniation, intravenous phenytoin, intravenous levetiracetam, intravenous phenobarbital or intravenous valproic acid (sodium valproate) should be considered with appropriate monitoring (conditional recommendation, low certainty of evidence).

In children with established status epilepticus (i.e. seizures persisting after two doses of benzodiazepines), intravenous fosphenytoin, intravenous phenytoin, intravenous levetiracetam, intravenous phenobarbital or intravenous valproic acid (sodium valproate), should be considered with appropriate monitoring (conditional recommendation, moderate certainty of evidence).

# Costs/cost-effectiveness

The SANAD-II trial provided an economic evaluation alongside a randomized trial including 990 people comparing antiseizure medicines for people with newly diagnosed focal epilepsy in the United Kingdom (8). The study reported quality-adjusted life years (QALYs) calculated from participant-completed EuroQol-5 Dimension (EQ-5D) questionnaires scored using the United Kingdom tariff. The study took a National Health Services payer perspective and a personal social services perspective, which includes services provided by local communities. Lamotrigine was shown to be cost-saving and health-improving in the base case, dominating the other options. At a £20 000 per QALY threshold, lamotrigine had a greater than 99.9% probability of being the preferred option. This was the case in the adult subgroup analysis but not for people younger than 16 years, where levetiracetam was cost saving and health improving when compared to lamotrigine. From the sensitivity analyses, lamotrigine remained dominant apart from when QALYs were valued using the epilepsy specific NEWQOL-6D (levetiracetam becomes the preferred option at a £20 000 per QALY threshold).

The application presented a summary comparison of costs in the fully government-funded National Health Service in the United Kingdom of starting doses of levetiracetam and other EML-listed antiseizure medicines (Table 7).

# Table 7

| National Ucalth  | Convice indicative | muico of amticaizuro | madicinas    | Inited Kingdom |
|------------------|--------------------|----------------------|--------------|----------------|
| inalional meallu | Service indicative | Drice of antiseizure | medicines, c | Jnilea kinaaom |
|                  |                    |                      |              |                |

| Medicine                   | Dose, in mg | Number of doses | Indicative price, in £ |
|----------------------------|-------------|-----------------|------------------------|
| Carbamazepine              | 200         | 84              | 3.83                   |
| Lamotrigine (originator)   | 25          | 56              | 23.53                  |
| Lamotrigine (generic)      | 25          | 56              | 2.64                   |
| Levetiracetam (originator) | 250         | 60              | 28.01                  |
| Levetiracetam (generic)    | 250         | 60              | 2.51                   |
| Phenytoin                  | 300         | 28              | 9.11                   |
| Phenobarbital              | 30          | 28              | 0.63–0.94              |

#### Availability

Levetiracetam is available globally in originator and generic brands.

Levetiracetam is already listed on the country-specific EMLs in Albania, Algeria, Bahrain, Bhutan, Bulgaria, Czechia, Estonia, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Iraq, Jordan, Latvia, Lithuania, Maldives, Mexico, Montenegro, North Macedonia, Oman, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Russian Federation, Rwanda, Serbia, Seychelles, Slovakia, Sweden, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, Timor Leste and Viet Nam (11).

#### Other considerations

#### Women and girls of childbearing potential

Very specific risks arise in females with epilepsy that need to be considered across the lifespan (12). It is important that antiseizure medicines have limited interactions with contraception or hormone replacement therapy and that medications with limited teratogenic risk are available (9). Enzyme-inducing medications such as carbamazepine, phenytoin and phenobarbital can interfere with the oral contraceptive and render it less effective. Oestrogen-containing oral contraceptives can lower lamotrigine levels. Levetiracetam does not interact with oral contraceptives thereby making it preferred for women taking these products.

Levetiracetam is also the antiseizure medicine with the best overall safety in pregnancy (12, 13). Levetiracetam is not thought to substantially increase teratogenic risk above that seen in the general population. By contrast, valproic acid increases the risk of structural anomalies (e.g. spina bifida, cleft lip, cleft palate, cardiac anomalies) up to around 10% and women taking valproic acid through pregnancy have a 30–40% risk that their offspring will have neurodevelopmental anomalies (autism, learning disabilities) (13).

# Older people

Levetiracetam has previously been reported as effective in reducing seizure frequency in older adults aged > 65 years (14). In that study, 76.9% of patients had at least a 50% reduction in seizure frequency, with only 19.2% experiencing an adverse event leading to discontinuation.

Levetiracetam is not an enzyme-inducing antiseizure medicine. The reduced drug-drug interactions are particularly important in older people who may be on polytherapy. Levetiracetam also does not have an adverse effect on bone health, giving it additional advantages over carbamazepine, phenytoin, phenobarbital and valproic acid.

#### Specific ethnic populations

Many antiseizure medicines can cause skin rashes, including carbamazepine, lamotrigine and phenytoin. However, the HLA-B\*1502 allele, which is more

common in people of Han Chinese origin, is associated with a marked increase in the risk of severe skin rashes with carbamazepine and phenytoin (15). Levetiracetam is substantially less likely to be associated with rash, even in people who have experienced dermatological reactions with one of the other antiseizure medicines.

#### Status epilepticus

Status epilepticus is defined as a convulsive seizure lasting more than 5 minutes. It is associated with a significant risk of morbidity and mortality and expedient management is essential. Benzodiazepines (diazepam, lorazepam) are established as first-line treatment, but the choice of second-line treatment if benzodiazepines are ineffective is uncertain. Two recent studies have evaluated different antiseizure medicines for use in status epilepticus. The Established Status Epilepticus Treatment Trial (ESETT) randomized 384 adult participants to receive levetiracetam, fosphenytoin or valproic acid. Efficacy and incidence of adverse events were similar for all agents (*16*). The EcLiPSE trial randomly assigned 1432 children aged 6 months to 18 years to receive phenytoin or levetiracetam for benzodiazepine-refractory status epilepticus, which concurs with another study (ConSEPT) (*18*). However, the EcLiPSE study investigators concluded that the ease of administration of levetiracetam meant that it could be an appropriate treatment for benzodiazepine-refractory status epilepticus.

Although levetiracetam is not necessarily more effective than either phenytoin or valproic acid in treating established status epilepticus, there may be some specific advantages in resource-constrained settings of having levetiracetam available to treat status epilepticus.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recognized that epilepsy is a common, serious neurological condition with a significant disease burden, affecting millions of people around the world. The Committee acknowledged that treatment strategies for people with epilepsy need to be individualized considering multiple factors including, but not limited to, seizure type, comorbidities, adverse event profile, concomitant medication use, pregnancy and patient preferences. The Committee also noted that three quarters of people living with epilepsy in low-income countries do not get the treatment they need, increasing their risk of dying prematurely and condemning many to a life of stigma.

The Committee noted the high-certainty evidence presented in the application that levetiracetam was as effective as alternative EML-listed antiseizure medicines for focal-onset seizures and generalized-onset seizures. The Committee also noted that levetiracetam is an effective treatment option for

.....

use in adults and children in the treatment of status epilepticus that does not respond to treatment with benzodiazepines.

The Committee also noted the high-certainty evidence presented for safety, which indicates that levetiracetam has similar or greater acceptability and tolerability than alternative antiseizure medicines. Importantly, the Committee noted that the risks of congenital malformation and neurodevelopmental disorders in infants and children exposed to levetiracetam (and lamotrigine) in utero are similar to those of placebo, while other antiseizure medicines currently included on the Model Lists have a significant risk of inducing congenital malformations and neurodevelopmental disorders. Carbamazepine, phenobarbital and valproic acid are associated with chronic and severe teratogenic effects, the most common of which are congenital heart disease, cleft lip/palate, and urogenital and neural tube defects. Therefore, levetiracetam and lamotrigine are preferred antiseizure medications for use in women and girls of childbearing potential. The Committee noted that levetiracetam (and lamotrigine) will be recommended in the updated WHO mhGAP guidelines as first-line treatment options for women and girls of childbearing potential with generalized-onset seizures.

Based on these considerations, the Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of oral levetiracetam on the core list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of focal- and generalized- onset seizures in adults and children. The Committee also recommended the inclusion of intravenous levetiracetam on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of benzodiazepine-refractory status epilepticus in adults and children.

Additionally, the Committee recommended that the section title in the Model Lists be updated from "anticonvulsants/antiepileptics" to "antiseizure medicines".

# References

- Epilepsy fact sheet [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://www.who.int/ news-room/fact-sheets/detail/epilepsy, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Thijs RD, Surges R, O'Brien TJ, Sander JW. Epilepsy in adults. Lancet. 2019;393(10172):689–701.
- 3. Kwan P, Brodie MJ. Clinical trials of antiepileptic medications in newly diagnosed patients with epilepsy. Neurology. 2003;60(11 Suppl 4):S2–12.
- Nevitt SJ, Sudell M, Cividini S, Marson AG, Tudur Smith C. Antiepileptic drug monotherapy for epilepsy: a network meta-analysis of individual participant data. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2022;4(4):CD011412.
- Kanner AM, Ashman E, Gloss D, Harden C, Bourgeois B, Bautista JF, et al. Practice guideline update summary: efficacy and tolerability of the new antiepileptic drugs I: Treatment of newonset epilepsy: Report of the Guideline Development, Dissemination, and Implementation Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology and the American Epilepsy Society. Neurology. 2018;91(2):74–81.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- Leone MA, Giussani G, Nevitt SJ, Marson AG, Beghi E. Immediate antiepileptic drug treatment, versus placebo, deferred, or no treatment for first unprovoked seizure. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2021;5(5):CD007144.
- 7. Kanner AM, Bicchi MM. Antiseizure medications for adults with epilepsy: a review. JAMA. 2022;327(13):1269–81.
- Marson A, Burnside G, Appleton R, Smith D, Leach JP, Sills G, et al. The SANAD II study of the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of valproate versus levetiracetam for newly diagnosed generalised and unclassifiable epilepsy: an open-label, non-inferiority, multicentre, phase 4, randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2021;397(10282):1375–86.
- 9. Veroniki AA, Cogo E, Rios P, Straus SE, Finkelstein Y, Kealey R, et al. Comparative safety of antiepileptic drugs during pregnancy: a systematic review and network meta-analysis of congenital malformations and prenatal outcomes. BMC Med. 2017;15(1):95.
- Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders. Third edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://iris.who.int/ handle/10665/374250, accessed 21 November 2023).
- 11. Global essential medicines [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://global. essentialmeds.org/dashboard/countries, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 12. Stephen LJ, Harden C, Tomson T, Brodie MJ. Management of epilepsy in women. Lancet Neurol. 2019;18(5):481–91.
- Antiepileptic drugs in pregnancy: updated advice following comprehensive safety review [internet]. London: Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency; 2021 (https://www. gov.uk/drug-safety-update/antiepileptic-drugs-in-pregnancy-updated-advice-followingcomprehensive-safety-review, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 14. Ferrendelli JA, French J, Leppik I, Morrell MJ, Herbeuval A, Han J, et al. Use of levetiracetam in a population of patients aged 65 years and older: a subset analysis of the KEEPER trial. Epilepsy Behav. 2003;4(6):702–9.
- 15. Chen P, Lin JJ, Lu CS, Ong CT, Hsieh PF, Yang CC, et al. Carbamazepine-induced toxic effects and HLA-B\*1502 screening in Taiwan. N Engl J Med. 2011;364(12):1126–33.
- 16. Kapur J, Elm J, Chamberlain JM, Barsan W, Cloyd J, Lowenstein D, et al. Randomized trial of three anticonvulsant medications for status epilepticus. N Engl J Med. 2019;381(22):2103–13.
- 17. Lyttle MD, Rainford NEA, Gamble C, Messahel S, Humphreys A, Hickey H, et al. Levetiracetam versus phenytoin for second-line treatment of paediatric convulsive status epilepticus (EcLiPSE): a multicentre, open-label, randomised trial. Lancet. 2019;393(10186):2125–34.
- 18. Dalziel SR, Borland ML, Furyk J, Bonisch M, Neutze J, Donath S, et al. Levetiracetam versus phenytoin for second-line treatment of convulsive status epilepticus in children (ConSEPT): an open-label, multicentre, randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2019;393(10186):2135–45.

# 5.2 Medicines for multiple sclerosis

Cladribine, glatiramer and rituximab – addition – EML

| Cladribine         | ATC code: L04AA40 |
|--------------------|-------------------|
| Glatiramer acetate | ATC code: L03AX13 |
| Rituximab          | ATC code: L01FA01 |

# Proposal

Addition of cladribine, glatiramer acetate and rituximab (with a square box specifying ocrelizumab as a therapeutic alternative) to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of adults with multiple sclerosis (MS).

# Applicant

Multiple Sclerosis International Federation

WHO Collaborating Centre in Evidence Based Research Synthesis and Guideline Development, Direzione Generale Cura della Persona Salute e Welfare, Regione Emilia-Romagna, Bologna, Italy

# WHO technical department

The Department of Mental Health and Substance Use provided comments on two applications submitted for Expert Committee consideration for diseasemodifying therapies for MS – this application and an application for ocrelizumab submitted by the patent holder, Roche.

The technical department supported the inclusion of disease-modifying therapies for MS on the EML, highlighting that the proposals were well aligned with the mandate of the intersectoral global action plan on epilepsy and other neurological disorders (1), which includes a strategic objective to "provide effective, timely and responsive diagnosis, treatment, and care" for people with neurological disorders such as MS.

| EML/EMLc |  |
|----------|--|
|----------|--|

EML

# Section

5.2 Medicines for multiple sclerosis

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Cladribine – Tablet: 10 mg Glatiramer acetate – Injection: 20 mg/mL, 40 mg/mL Rituximab – Injection: 500 mg/50 mL in 50 mL vial

#### Core/complementary

Complementary

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual listings for cladribine and glatiramer acetate. Square box listing for rituximab, specifying ocrelizumab as a therapeutic alternative.

Individual listing for ocrelizumab was also requested in a separate application submitted by F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd and considered by the Expert Committee at this meeting.

### Background

In 2019, the Expert Committee reviewed an application from the Multiple Sclerosis International Federation requesting the addition of glatiramer acetate, fingolimod and ocrelizumab on the Model Lists for use in the treatment of MS. The Committee acknowledged the important public health burden of MS and the need for effective and affordable treatments. However, the Committee noted that the superiority of the proposed medicines over other therapeutic options in terms of benefits, harms and affordability did not clearly emerge from the application. The Committee noted that some commonly used treatments were not included in the application (e.g. azathioprine, natalizumab, dimethyl fumarate, cladribine), or were not given full consideration (e.g. rituximab), with reasons for their exclusion being unclear. In particular, the Committee noted the evidence presented in the application in relation to rituximab and considered that rituximab could have a relevant clinical role in the treatment of MS and recommended that any future application include evidence for rituximab versus active comparators, not just placebo. The Committee therefore did not recommend listing of glatiramer acetate, fingolimod or ocrelizumab at the time, and requested a revised application which comprehensively reviewed the relative roles of relevant available medicines for MS (2).

#### Public health relevance

MS is a chronic autoimmune disease characterized by inflammation of the central nervous system that leads to demyelination, axonal loss and progressive neuronal degeneration, resulting in irreversible disability and cognitive impairment (3, 4). Common symptoms include pain, fatigue, mood and cognitive changes, mobility and sensory impairment, visual disturbances, and elimination dysfunction. Symptoms can vary in severity and can result in significant disability, and reduction in quality and length of life.

Data on the global prevalence of MS vary. The Global Burden of Disease study reported that globally, about 1.8 million people (23 per 100 000) had MS in

2019. Age-standardized prevalence per 100 000 population shows large variability across WHO regions, ranging from 4 cases per 100 000 in the Western Pacific Region to 60 per 100 000 in the European Region (5). The atlas of MS estimated that globally, about 2.8 million people (36 per 100 000) had MS in 2020 (6). The number of people with MS per 100 000 population also showed large variability across WHO regions, ranging from 5 per 100 000 in the African and Western Pacific regions to 133 per 100 000 in the European Region (6).

MS is most often diagnosed between the ages of 20 and 50 years, but the disease may also first manifest in older adults and children. Women are affected 2-3 times more than men (7, 8).

MS is broadly divided into relapsing and progressive forms, classified in three different clinical phenotypic patterns based on the presence of transient attacks of neurological symptoms and/or a progressive worsening of the neurological function: relapsing-remitting MS, secondary progressive MS and primary progressive MS (9). Relapsing-remitting MS is characterized by relapses and remissions of neurological symptoms, with relapses associated with new areas of inflammation in the central nervous system. Over time, most people with relapsing-remitting MS will transition to secondary progressive MS, marked by gradual worsening of neurological function with or without additional inflammatory events. Primary progressive MS is characterized by the absence of clearly defined relapses (9, 10).

The course of MS is highly variable and unpredictable, and patients may have a broad range of neurological symptoms or signs, depending on the location and degree of central nervous system inflammation. Life expectancy for patients with MS is 5–10 years shorter than for the general population (3, 11, 12). Exposure to any disease-modifying therapy for MS is associated with a lower risk of death compared with no exposure (13).

MS has a substantial negative impact on health-related quality of life (14-16). People with MS have significantly lower health-related quality of life scores than people who have other chronic diseases, such as chronic ischaemic heart disease, gastro-oesophageal reflux disease, non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus, or inflammatory bowel disease (17). People with MS are less likely to be employed, more likely to take time off work when they are employed, and more likely to retire early than the general population (18-20).

Globally, an estimated 1 million people (unpaid spouses, partners, children, family members or friends) are involved in the overall care of people living with MS (21). Caregivers often stop working to care for the person with MS, further increasing the societal burden of the disease (22). Caregivers of people with MS also experience high levels of distress and reduced quality of life (23, 24).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The application described the detailed process undertaken by the applicants to prioritize the medicines being proposed for EML listing from among 30 medicines used in the treatment of MS. The EML application was planned as part of a comprehensive guideline coordinated by the Multiple Sclerosis International Federation. The evidence synthesis informing the guideline process was supported by a Cochrane network meta-analysis on treatments for both progressive (25) and relapsing/remitting MS (26). The network meta-analyses were conducted with placebo as the common comparator. The network meta-analyses are in later stages of preparation for publication in the Cochrane Library. The guideline followed the Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluations (GRADE) method. The guideline panel and the supporting methodological team first generated all questions following the patient, intervention, comparison and outcome (PICO) framework and prioritized outcomes using a structured approach which included health outcome descriptors and definitions, establishing a priori all important and critical outcomes. Absolute effects were estimated across all outcomes. A summary table demonstrating the desirable and undesirable effects, net balance of effects and certainty of the evidence was created. The medicines evaluated in the network meta-analyses were ranked based on a numeric coefficient summing the values calculated for the desirable and undesirable effects. Based on the relevance of the outcomes and associated net benefit, the guideline panel was then requested to prioritize the 10 medicines with the largest net benefit, and then prioritize among these medicines those that would offer the greatest benefits taking into account the needs of special populations, such as adolescents, and pregnant or breastfeeding women. Short-listed medicines were cladribine, rituximab/ocrelizumab, dimethyl fumarate, fingolimod, interferon beta 1b/1a and glatiramer acetate. Four medicines were ultimately proposed for addition to the EML by the guideline panel. The justification for the selection of rituximab (with ocrelizumab as a therapeutic alternative), cladribine and glatiramer acetate, and summaries of evidence for benefit for each medicine are described below.

#### Rituximab/ocrelizumab

Rituximab (with ocrelizumab as a square box alternative) was considered a feasible and acceptable option in resource-constrained settings due to balance of effects, mode of administration (6-monthly infusions), and low requirements for screening and monitoring. These medicines have a low risk of rebound effect if treatment is discontinued and low discontinuation rates by people with MS. They require infusion facilities and cold storage at the health care facility. Rituximab and ocrelizumab, while contraindicated during pregnancy, may be used in pregnant women with careful timing of treatment. Rituximab and ocrelizumab have

been extensively used off-label in paediatric MS. Clinical trials of ocrelizumab in children and adolescents with relapsing-remitting MS are ongoing. On-label ocrelizumab is more costly than off-label rituximab, but off-label prescribing is limited in some settings, making ocrelizumab potentially more acceptable and/or feasible in these settings. Rituximab is already listed on the WHO EML for other indications, is off-patent with many authorized biosimilar products, and is part of the WHO prequalification programme. For these reasons, rituximab was proposed as the representative of the square box grouping.

#### Rituximab

A randomized controlled trial compared rituximab with placebo in patients with relapsing-remitting MS switching from a previous disease-modifying therapy (*27*). There was low-certainty evidence of an appreciable benefit in the number of patients presenting with relapses at 48 weeks: absolute difference 198 fewer per 1000 (95% confidence interval (CI) 304 fewer to 17 fewer), and very low-certainty evidence of benefit in terms of the number of patients with new gadolinium-enhancing positive T1 lesions seen on magnetic resonance imaging (MRI): absolute difference 307 fewer per 1000 (95% CI 394 to 141 fewer).

A non-randomized study compared rituximab with other disease modifying therapies (interferon beta or glatiramer acetate, dimethyl fumarate, fingolimod, natalizumab) as initial treatment in patients with relapsing-remitting MS, assessing relapse and new gadolinium-enhancing positive T1 lesions seen on MRI as desirable effects (28). There was low-certainty evidence of a large effect in relapse risk over 24 months for rituximab compared with interferon beta or glatiramer acetate: absolute difference 227 fewer per 1000 (95% CI 254 to 154 fewer). There was low-certainty evidence that rituximab may result in an appreciable reduction in relapses when compared with natalizumab (absolute difference 148 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 187 to 0 fewer) and dimethyl fumarate (absolute difference 84 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 110 to 0 fewer).

Efficacy data on rituximab versus other disease-modifying therapies in patients with relapsing-remitting MS switching from a previous diseasemodifying therapy were evaluated in three Swedish cohort register-based studies (29–31). There was moderate-certainty evidence that rituximab showed the highest appreciable benefit in terms of risk of relapse versus interferon beta or glatiramer acetate (absolute risk difference 215 fewer patients with relapse per 1000, 95% CI 248 to 127 fewer) over a median follow-up of 24 and 18 months. There was also very low-certainty evidence of benefit for rituximab in terms of new or enlarging T2 weighted lesions seen on MRI versus fingolimod (absolute risk difference 286 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 290 to 266 fewer), over median follow up of 24 and 18 months, respectively. Other desirable effects for which rituximab showed appreciable benefit versus fingolimod were: fewer new gadoliniumenhancing positive T1 weighted lesions seen on MRI (172 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 186 to 126 fewer, very low-certainty evidence); fewer relapses (161 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 172 to 116 fewer; moderate-certainty evidence) with median follow up of 18 months; and disability versus interferon or glatiramer acetate (12 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 42 fewer to 35 more; very low-certainty evidence), with median follow up of 24 months.

A randomized controlled trial conducted in the United States and Canada assessed the efficacy and safety of rituximab versus placebo as initial treatment in patients with primary progressive MS over 24 months' follow-up (*32*). Both disability and frequency of relapse were reduced in patients treated with rituximab (absolute risk reduction: 75 fewer per 1000 (95% CI 158 fewer to 24 more; moderate-certainty evidence) and 13 fewer per 1000 (95% CI 28 fewer to 31 more; low-certainty evidence), respectively.

Rituximab in patients with secondary progressive MS switching from a previous disease modifying therapy was assessed in two small randomized controlled trials in the Islamic Republic of Iran (*33*, *34*), and one small casecontrol study in Switzerland and the Kingdom of the the Netherlands (*35*). One of the trials comparing rituximab with cyclophosphamide did not report any prioritized benefit outcome (*34*). The other trial compared rituximab with glatiramer acetate and showed a benefit on new gadolinium-enhancing positive T1 weighted MRI lesions in favour of rituximab (absolute risk difference: 28 fewer lesions per 1000, 95% CI 82 fewer to 166 more; very low-certainty evidence) over a median follow-up of 12 months (*33*). The non-randomized study showed a benefit on disability in patients treated with rituximab versus those treated with other disease modifying therapies (absolute risk difference 164 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 250 to 20 fewer; very low-certainty evidence) (*35*).

#### Ocrelizumab

No direct evidence of ocrelizumab versus placebo in patients with relapsing forms of MS was available. Two pivotal randomized controlled trials (OPERA I and OPERA II) assessed the efficacy and safety of ocrelizumab versus interferon beta 1a in this patient population (*36*). The OPERA studies used the calculated annualized relapse rate as the outcome measure of relapse reduction. These results were not included in the network meta-analysis performed by the applicants, which instead used as the outcome measure, the proportion of people who had or did not have a relapse within defined time periods. Refer to the ocrelizumab summary for details of the evidence from the OPERA I and OPERA II studies.

One randomized controlled trial (ORATORIO) assessed the efficacy and safety of ocrelizumab versus placebo in patients with primary progressive MS (*37*). Ocrelizumab was associated with a benefit on disability (absolute risk difference 61 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 160 fewer to 89 more; very low-certainty evidence) and on quality of life measured using the SF-36 (physical) scale (standardized mean difference 0.04 higher; 95% CI 0.12 lower to 0.19 higher; moderate-certainty evidence) at 36 months' follow-up.

#### Cladribine

Cladribine, fingolimod and dimethyl fumarate were all considered to be feasible and acceptable options in resource-constrained settings due to the balance of effects, mode of administration (oral) and easy storage. Fingolimod requires more maintenance for screening and monitoring and has a risk of rebound of MS disease activity if access to treatment is discontinued suddenly, for example, due to unreliable supply of medicine, and it can diminish response to vaccines. Dimethyl fumarate has low requirements for screening and monitoring but has a higher discontinuation rate compared with other oral treatments. Cladribine has a short treatment period of four short courses over 2 years (although subsequent treatment may be required in some people), which is an advantage for settings where drug supply irregularities are common. Further advantages of cladribine include its allowance of family planning (because of its treatment period of four short courses over 2 years), a low risk of rebound, low requirements for screening and monitoring, a low discontinuation rate, and potentially favourable costeffectiveness. Cladribine, while contraindicated in pregnancy, may be used in women of childbearing age with careful timing of treatment.

A randomized controlled trial (CLARITY) assessed the efficacy and safety of cladribine versus placebo in patients with relapsing-remitting MS (*38*). Cladribine produced appreciable benefit on disability (absolute risk difference 53 fewer people developing disability per 1000, 95% CI 83 to 17 fewer; low-certainty evidence), on relapse (240 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 285 to 183 fewer; high-certainty evidence), quality of life assessed using the EQ-5D VAS (standardized mean difference (SMD) 0.19 higher, 95% CI 0.06 to 0.32 higher; moderate-certainty evidence) and the EQ-5D index (SMD 0.24 higher, 95% CI 0.11 to 0.37 higher; moderate-certainty evidence) at 24 months' follow-up.

No evidence from randomized controlled trials was identified for cladribine in progressive MS.

#### Glatiramer acetate

Glatiramer acetate was considered an important treatment option mainly for special populations, as it is safe for use in pregnancy and during breastfeeding, and is used in paediatric MS. The most appropriate medicines during pregnancy are glatiramer acetate and interferon, both of which are also safe to use during breastfeeding. Glatiramer acetate was judged to have a better safety profile than interferon, and is generally more tolerated than interferons, which may cause flu-like adverse effects. Both medicines have the disadvantage of the need for frequent injections as their mode of administration and require refrigeration. While both have few screening and monitoring requirements, glatiramer acetate has the fewest requirements. Glatiramer acetate also has the advantage of no known drug interactions. Generic forms are available.

Three randomized controlled trials provided direct evidence of glatiramer acetate versus placebo in patients with relapsing-remitting MS (*39–41*). Treatment with glatiramer acetate reduced: disability at 24 months (absolute risk difference 49 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 73 to 21 fewer; very low-certainty evidence); relapse at 24 months (82 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 122 to 36 fewer; very low-certainty evidence); and new MRI gadolinium-enhancing positive T1 lesions at 24 months (135 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 191 to 53 fewer; very low-certainty evidence).

Two randomized controlled trials provided direct evidence of glatiramer acetate versus placebo in patients with primary progressive MS (*42*, *43*). Treatment with glatiramer acetate reduced disability at 24 months (absolute risk difference 68 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 174 fewer to 85 more; very low-certainty evidence).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

#### Rituximab

Two randomized controlled trials assessed the safety of rituximab in patients switching from a previous disease modifying therapy in relapsing-remitting MS (*27*) and primary progressive MS (*32*) and showed a higher frequency of serious adverse events versus placebo (pooled absolute risk difference 21 more adverse events per 1000, 95% CI 36 fewer to 100 more), including common infections (19 more per 1000, 95% CI 67 fewer to 96 more) and infusion reactions within 24 hours of the first infusion (435 more per 1000, 95% CI 344 more to 513 more). Conversely, death, cancer and infusion reaction after the second infusion were less frequent in patients treated with rituximab – absolute differences: six fewer deaths per 1000, 95% CI 10 fewer to 24 more); three fewer cancers per 1000, 95% CI 101 fewer to 24 more); three fewer cancers per 1000, 95% CI 101 fewer to 266 more).

A Swedish non-randomized study compared rituximab with other disease modifying therapies (interferon or glatiramer acetate, dimethyl fumarate, fingolimod, natalizumab) in treatment-naive patients with relapsing-remitting MS (28). Rituximab versus interferon or glatiramer acetate produced fewer serious adverse effects (grade 3 or 4): four fewer serious adverse effects per 1000, 95% CI 27 fewer to 68 more; very low-certainty evidence. It also produced fewer serious adverse effects than natalizumab (46 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 71 fewer to 45 more; very low-certainty evidence). In comparison with dimethyl fumarate, more patients treated with rituximab experienced serious adverse effects (22 more per 1000, 95% CI 8 fewer to 227 more). No absolute difference in estimates on serious adverse effects could be drawn with fingolimod, given the extremely wide 95% CI of the odds ratio (0.07 to 26.21). For opportunistic infections, the

point estimate versus natalizumab favoured rituximab (17 fewer infections per 1000, 95% CI 20 fewer to 45 more; very low-certainty evidence).

Six retrospective non-randomized studies reported undesirable effects of rituximab versus other disease-modifying therapies in patients with relapsingremitting MS switching treatment (29-31,44-46). Rituximab a lower frequency of serious adverse effects when compared with fingolimod and natalizumab (17 fewer per 1000; 95% CI 24 fewer to 27 more, and 29 fewer per 1000; 95% CI 38 fewer to 111 more, respectively, very low certainty evidence). Similarly, the frequency of common infections was lower among patients treated with rituximab compared to those on ocrelizumab (61 fewer per 1000; 95% CI 62 fewer to 36 fewer; very low-certainty evidence) and higher than interferon or glatiramer acetate, fingolimod or natalizumab: 24 more per 1000, 95% CI 4 to 53 more; 14 more per 1000, 95% CI 5 fewer to 39 more; and 27 more per 1000, 95% CI 4 to 59 more, respectively; very low-certainty evidence in all comparisons. Cancer was less frequent in patients treated with rituximab compared with patients treated with fingolimod and natalizumab: 7 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 11 fewer to 1 more; and 3 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 6 fewer to 3 more, respectively; very low-certainty evidence in both comparisons. Infusion reactions within 24 hours of the first infusion were less common with rituximab than ocrelizumab (6 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 12 fewer to 35 more; very low-certainty evidence). Relative estimates on mortality were too imprecise (few events, very wide CIs) to allow reporting absolute differences.

Two small randomized controlled trials assessed safety of rituximab compared with glatiramer acetate (*33*) and cyclophosphamide (*34*) in patients with progressive MS switching from a previous disease-modifying therapy. Their results were not pooled with those of the non-randomized studies. Common infections were more frequent in patients treated with rituximab than those on glatiramer acetate (45 more per 1000, 95% CI 17 fewer to 405 more; very low-certainty evidence) and less frequent than in patients on cyclophosphamide (204 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 337 fewer to 26 more; very low-certainty evidence).

#### Ocrelizumab

No direct evidence of safety of ocrelizumab versus placebo in patients with relapsing MS was available.

Safety data of ocrelizumab versus placebo in patients with primary progressive MS from the ORATORIO trial (*37*) showed that serious adverse events were more common in patients treated with ocrelizumab (18 more per 1000, 95% CI 99 fewer to 97 more; very low-certainty evidence), as was treatment discontinuation due to adverse events (8 more discontinuations per 1000, 95% CI 15 fewer to 57 more; moderate-certainty evidence) and death (4 more per 1000, 95% CI 3 fewer to 65 more; very low-certainty evidence).

#### Cladribine

From the CLARITY trial of cladribine versus placebo in patients with relapsingremitting MS (*38*), mortality was not higher (0 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 2 fewer to 12 more; moderate-certainty evidence), while serious adverse events were more common with cladribine (27 more per 1000, 95% CI 15 fewer to 92 more; very low-certainty evidence). Treatment discontinuation due to adverse events was also higher with cladribine (18 more per 1000, 95% CI 26 fewer to 128 more; low-certainty evidence).

No evidence from randomized controlled trials was identified for cladribine in progressive MS.

#### Glatiramer acetate

Three randomized controlled trials provided direct evidence of glatiramer acetate versus placebo in patients with relapsing-remitting MS (*39–41*), showing similar mortality (1 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 2 fewer to 4 more; low-certainty evidence) and serious adverse events (4 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 24 fewer to 20 more; low-certainty evidence). More patients on glatiramer acetate discontinued treatment due to adverse events (22 more per 1000, 95% CI 1 to 51 more; moderate-certainty evidence).

One randomized controlled trial compared glatiramer acetate with placebo in patients with progressive MS (*43*). Compared with placebo, serious adverse events were more frequent with glatiramer acetate (9 more per 1000, 95% CI 9 fewer to 55 more; low-certainty evidence), as was treatment discontinuation due to adverse events (36 more per 1000, 95% CI 6 to 108 more; moderate-certainty evidence). Mortality was lower in the glatiramer acetate group (16 fewer per 1000, 95% CI 20 to 0 fewer; moderate-certainty evidence).

#### **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for the treatment of MS are not currently available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Median prices (cost per patient per year in US\$), and price ranges for the proposed medicines based on 18 countries across different income settings were identified in the application (Table 8). Ex-factory price was retrieved whenever available.

| Medicine, formulation    | Median cos                | t (range) per patient   | a year, US\$ª     |
|--------------------------|---------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------|
|                          | High-income               | Upper middle-           | Lower middle-     |
|                          | countries                 | income countries        | income countries  |
| Cladribine, 10 mg tablet | 26 298<br>(24 684–62 628) | 23 834<br>(9480–31 104) | 6602 <sup>b</sup> |
| Glatiramer acetate,      | 8511                      | 6618                    | 960 <sup>b</sup>  |
| 40 mg/mL injection       | (6355–12 566)             | (1987–11 797)           |                   |
| Ocrelizumab,             | 24 192                    | 17 928                  | 4600              |
| 300 mg/10 mL injection   | (24 090–66 681)           | (6790–25 296)           | (1200–22 580)     |
| Rituximab,               | 4298                      | 3089                    | 2330              |
| 500 mg/50 mL injection   | (3912–8813)               | (2899–4596)             | (120–7184)        |

# Table 8Median price of medicines for multiple sclerosis, by country income level

<sup>a</sup> Currency exchange rates on 6 June 2022.

<sup>b</sup> Only one value available.

The dynamic nature and wide variations observed among countries may depend on context-dependent price components such as the local health system, supply chain, regulatory measures, ability and willingness to negotiate, and non-context-specific factors, such as market fluctuations, availability of alternatives, and available follow-on products (47). The information is also unreliable as national drug agency price databases are often unavailable, or their access may be restricted due to pharmaceutical companies requesting nondisclosure agreements. Negotiations between the local ministry of health and drug companies may end in substantial discounts, up to > 70%, and are usually confidential.

Evidence on cost-effectiveness of disease modifying therapies included in the application was retrieved through a systematic search of economic analysis studies on all available disease-modifying therapies, but these data have several limitations when used to inform clinical practice recommendations. Most economic analyses are available on recently marketed drugs and most studies are performed in high-income settings. Therefore, their results may not be transferable to countries with a different income level and willingness-to-pay threshold. Most studies are funded by the company producing the medicine being assessed, thus their results should be interpreted with caution. Moreover, the results of economic analysis studies cannot be quantitatively pooled in a meta-analysis, and their methodological quality is hard to assess due to the lack of established evaluation criteria. In some cases, parameters used by the analysis authors to assess clinical effectiveness and cost vary, producing inconsistent and sometimes conflicting results. Most of the studies identified focused on specific direct costs (e.g. medicine price) while other direct costs (e.g. for administration, monitoring of MS course and activity, relapse treatment, and adverse event management), as well as indirect costs (e.g. loss of productivity, absenteeism, early retirement, and travel costs to reach health care facilities) are often not considered in economic modelling.

Among the studies identified in the application, several suggested a superiority of cladribine over other disease-modifying therapies for cost-effectiveness, but they were all funded by the company producing the medicine, so their results should be interpreted with caution. Similar considerations can be made for studies of glatiramer acetate and ocrelizumab. An independent cost-effectiveness analysis from the Islamic Republic of Iran found rituximab to be cost-effective when compared with natalizumab in the treatment of relapsing-remitting MS (*48*).

#### Availability

Cladribine, glatiramer acetate and ocrelizumab are approved by stringent regulatory authorities including in Australia, Canada, European Union, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States for the treatment of relapsing-remitting MS. Only ocrelizumab has regulatory approval for treatment of progressive forms of MS. Rituximab is used off-label for MS but has regulatory approval for other indications.

The availability of the medicines proposed in this application varies between regions and country-income classifications. Survey data on global use of the proposed medicines from the Multiple Sclerosis International Federation Atlas are shown in Table 9 (49).

Table 9

| ō          |
|------------|
| .5         |
| a,         |
| Ľ          |
| 0          |
| Ť          |
| 5          |
| $\geq$     |
| Ъ          |
| Ē          |
| с,         |
| e          |
| >          |
| <u>e</u>   |
| Ð          |
| Ē          |
| 2          |
| ŭ          |
| L          |
| 1          |
| <u>í</u>   |
| -          |
| is.        |
| S          |
| Ľ          |
| e          |
| J          |
| S          |
| e          |
| Ы          |
| ÷          |
| ÷.         |
| E          |
| 2          |
| Z          |
| ų          |
| S          |
| e          |
| .⊑         |
| <u>.</u>   |
| σ          |
| ē          |
| Ξ          |
| 0          |
| ĕ          |
| S          |
| 8          |
| 8          |
| 2          |
| d          |
| e          |
| -          |
| 1          |
| S          |
| . <b>L</b> |
| SL         |
| -          |
| ä          |
| ÷Ξ         |
| Ē          |
| JL         |
| 5          |
| ŭ          |
| 4          |
| 0          |
| L.         |
| ă          |
| L          |
| L.         |
| 1          |

| Medicine                            |         | lno       | ome le   | vel      |               |            |                  | WHO re                   | igion  |                    |                    |
|-------------------------------------|---------|-----------|----------|----------|---------------|------------|------------------|--------------------------|--------|--------------------|--------------------|
|                                     | HIC     | UMIC      | LMIC     | LIC      | Total         | Africa     | Americas         | Eastern<br>Mediterranean | Europe | Western<br>Pacific | South-East<br>Asia |
| Surveys completed, no.              | 44      | 30        | 23       | 10       | 107           | 15         | 17               | 18                       | 42     | 6                  | 9                  |
| Rituximab                           | 33      | 20        | 16       | -        | 70            | 9          | 13               | 12                       | 28     | Ŋ                  | 9                  |
| Ocrelizumab                         | 39      | 19        | ∞        | 0        | 66            | 2          | 15               | 12                       | 35     | 2                  | 0                  |
| Cladribine                          | 35      | 11        | 9        | 0        | 52            |            | 6                | œ                        | 29     | 4                  | -                  |
| Glatiramer acetate                  | 39      | 17        | 8        | -        | 65            | 5          | 12               | 7                        | 35     | 5                  | -                  |
| HIC: high income countries; UMIC: ( | upper m | ddle-inco | me count | ries; LN | IIC: lower mi | ddle-incom | e countries; LIC | : low-income countrie    | s.     |                    |                    |

An evaluation of 137 national essential medicines lists (50) found the following information.

- Rituximab is included in 41 of the national EMLs assessed, however it was not possible to determine if the listing is for the indication of MS. .
- Ocrelizumab is not included in any of the national EMLs assessed.
- Cladribine is included in national EMLs of 16/137 countries, however it was not possible to determine whether this is the oral or intravenous formulation, nor if the listing is for the indication of MS.
- Glatiramer acetate is included in 19 of the national EMLs assessed.

Rituximab 500 mg/50 mL injection was produced by three manufacturers (Celltrion Inc., Sandoz GmbH and Roche Products Limited) at the time for the application and has been prequalified by WHO under the pilot programme for prequalification of biotherapeutics. In line with prequalification processes, these products were prequalified for the indications for which rituximab is included on the EML, namely oncology indications.

83

#### Other considerations

The product patents on rituximab and glatiramer acetate have expired, and several biosimilar and generic products have been approved and are used in several countries. Secondary patents have been granted in some jurisdictions, but they may not prevent entry of follow-on products.

Cladribine compound patents expired in 2005. Secondary patent applications on the treatment regimen for MS, expected expiry in 2025, were filed in several countries and granted (e.g. in Brazil, China, Russia, South Africa, Ukraine, United States and Europe). In India the equivalent application was abandoned. A secondary patent for oral formulation of cladribine has been granted in several countries including Brazil, China, India, South Africa, United States, and also in Europe. Patents originally expiring in 2024 have been extended by way of Supplementary Protection Certificates in Europe until 2029. A United States patent owned by Merck for treating progressive forms of MS was recently granted with equivalents pending in several countries; the expected expiry is 2041.

Ocrelizumab is protected by a product patent expiring in 2023, sometimes extended by patent term extensions or supplementary protection certificates until 2028 or 2029. It is unlikely follow-on products can enter the market before expiry. Secondary patents have been filed and granted, which are expiring in 2029 or possibly as late as 2036.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that MS is the most common non-traumatic cause of neurological disability in young adults. About 2.8 million people are living with MS worldwide, with women affected 2–3 times more than men. The most common form is relapsing-remitting MS, characterized by relapses and remissions of neurological symptoms. Over time, most people with relapsing-remitting MS develop a secondary progressive course of the disease (secondary progressive MS) marked by gradual worsening with or without additional inflammatory events. Currently, there are no medicines specifically for the treatment of MS included on the Model List. However, rituximab is included for other conditions, is widely available and is listed on many national essential medicines lists.

The Committee acknowledged the availability of a large number of disease-modifying medicines for MS (particularly for the treatment of relapsing and remitting forms of the disease) and the need to prioritize the most effective, best tolerated, and most affordable options. In 2019, the Committee considered an application to include glatiramer acetate, fingolimod and ocrelizumab and noted that there was no clear-cut superiority of these drugs over other options in terms of safety, efficacy and affordability. Moreover, commonly used agents (e.g. natalizumab) and off-label medications (e.g. rituximab) were excluded from that application.

The Committee considered that the approach taken in the current application submitted by the Multiple Sclerosis International Federation, based on the work done by two specific initiatives – MSIF Off-Label Treatments (MOLT) and MSIF Essential Medicines (MEMP) guidelines - to identify which medicines to prioritize for EML listing from among the many available was comprehensive, up-to-date, transparent, robust and evidence-based. The Committee recognized the value of involving different organizations and stakeholders at the global level, including consultation with people living with MS. The Committee considered that the application's selection of cladribine, glatiramer acetate and rituximab as priority medicines for EML inclusion was well justified and supported by evidence of clinical benefit and safety across different settings, as well as suitability for use in different patient populations (e.g. pregnant women) and feasibility. The inclusion on the EML of three medicines, with different routes of administration, different prices (including the availability of generic and biosimilar products) and different recommended uses, would provide valuable options for patients and national selection decisions and could facilitate improved access to treatment for people living with MS.

The Committee noted that, in line with the MEMP and MOLT recommendations, rituximab, cladribine and glatiramer acetate emerged as effective, feasible and acceptable options for the treatment of MS. The addition of multiple medicines allows options with different price, routes of administration and potential use in pregnancy. Generics of glatiramer acetate and rituximab biosimilars are available at lower cost than branded products, which could facilitate access to treatment.

The Committee considered that inclusion of a new section for medicines for the treatment of MS in the WHO Model List of Essential Medicines could increase global advocacy efforts to reduce the global burden of MS, especially in low- and middle-income countries where the unmet need for access is greater. This would also raise awareness of the need for specialized care and diagnostics, as well as monitoring of the disease response and progression.

The Committee recognized that rituximab did not have regulatory approval for the indication of MS but is widely used in clinical practice, is supported by evidence of efficacy and safety, and is reimbursed for MS in several countries. The Committee acknowledged the benefits of ocrelizumab in the management of relapsing/remitting and primary progressive forms of MS. However, there was no compelling evidence of its superiority over alternative treatments, specifically rituximab, which has the same molecular target (CD20). The Committee considered the option of listing ocrelizumab as alternative to rituximab, but also recognized the difference in current prices of the two products and the fact that off-label use of medicines is allowed in many countries, when robust evidence exists. The Committee concluded that including ocrelizumab as a therapeutic alternative to rituximab could result in considerable additional expenditure at the country level for patients and health systems, without offering additional clinical benefit. The Committee considered that inclusion only of the less expensive rituximab on the EML might serve to facilitate its use (albeit off-label) for MS.

The Committee recalled and reiterated the views expressed by the 2015 Expert Committee on consideration of medicines for inclusion on the Model Lists for off-label uses or indications: that is, labelling is the responsibility of national regulatory authorities and there may consequently be different labels for the same product in different countries, and there is thus no global standard for what is considered off-label. Furthermore, updating approved labels for older products may not be pursued by market authorization holder(s) if doing so is not considered commercially viable, and there are many examples of older products whose regulatory labels are inconsistent with current clinical evidence and current clinical practice. Consequently, the Expert Committee reaffirmed that off-label status of a medicine need not be a reason to exclude it from the Model Lists if it otherwise meets the criteria for inclusion. The Committee considered that the Model List can play an important role in identifying those medicines for which off-label use is supported by convincing evidence, complementing the assessment and labelling by jurisdictional authorities.

Therefore, the Committee recommended the inclusion of cladribine, glatiramer acetate and rituximab as individual medicines on the complementary list of the EML in a new section dedicated to medicines for MS. The recommendation was based on the important public health need, and evidence of efficacy, safety and feasibility of use of the medicines proposed. The Committee did not recommend the inclusion of ocrelizumab as an alternative under a square box listing for rituximab for the reasons outlined above.

# References

- Intersectoral global action plan on epilepsy and other neurological disorders 2022–2031. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/371495, accessed 6 October 2023).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 3. Compston A, Coles A. Multiple sclerosis. Lancet. 2008;372(9648):1502–17.
- 4. Nylander A, Hafler DA. Multiple sclerosis. J Clin Invest. 2012;122(4):1180-8.
- 5. Global Burden of Disease database [internet]. Seattle, WA: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation; 2019 (https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-results/, accessed 6 October 2023).

 Atlas of MS, 3rd edition. Part 1. Mapping multiple sclerosis around the world: key epidemiology findings. London: Multiple Sclerosis International Federation; 2020 (https://www.msif.org/wpcontent/uploads/2020/10/Atlas-3rd-Edition-Epidemiology-report-EN-updated-30-9-20.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).

- 7. Walton C, King R, Rechtman L, Kaye W, Leray E, Marrie RA, et al. Rising prevalence of multiple sclerosis worldwide: insights from the Atlas of MS. Third edition. Mult Scler. 2020;26(14):1816–21.
- 8. Ascherio A, Munger KL. Epidemiology of multiple sclerosis: from risk factors to prevention-an update. Semin Neurol. 2016;36(2):103–14.
- 9. Lublin FD, Reingold SC, Cohen JA, Cutter GR, Sørensen PS, Thompson AJ, et al. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: the 2013 revisions. Neurology. 2014;83(3):278–86.
- Frischer JM, Bramow S, Dal-Bianco A, Lucchinetti CF, Rauschka H, Schmidbauer M, et al. The relation between inflammation and neurodegeneration in multiple sclerosis brains. Brain. 2009;132(Pt 5):1175–89.
- 11. Kingwell E, van der Kop M, Zhao Y, Shirani A, Zhu F, Oger J, et al. Relative mortality and survival in multiple sclerosis: findings from British Columbia, Canada. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2012;83(1):61–6.
- 12. Brønnum-Hansen H, Koch-Henriksen N, Stenager E. Trends in survival and cause of death in Danish patients with multiple sclerosis. Brain. 2004;127(Pt 4):844–50.
- 13. Ng HS, Zhu F, Kingwell E, Yao S, Ekuma O, Evans C, et al. Disease-modifying drugs for multiple sclerosis and association with survival. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2022;9(5):e200005.
- 14. Nortvedt MW, Riise T, Myhr KM, Nyland HI. Quality of life in multiple sclerosis: measuring the disease effects more broadly. Neurology. 1999;53(5):1098–103.
- 15. Orme M, Kerrigan J, Tyas D, Russell N, Nixon R. The effect of disease, functional status, and relapses on the utility of people with multiple sclerosis in the UK. Value Health. 2007;10(1):54–60.
- 16. Zwibel HL, Smrtka J. Improving quality of life in multiple sclerosis: an unmet need. Am J Manag Care. 2011;17(Suppl 5 Improving):S139–45.
- 17. Kobelt G, Kasteng F. Access to innovative treatments in multiple sclerosis in Europe. A report prepared for the European Federation of Pharmaceutical Industry Associations (EFPIA). Brussels: European Federation of Pharmaceutical Industry Associations; 2009.
- 18. Bishop M, Rumrill PD. Multiple sclerosis: etiology, symptoms, incidence and prevalence, and implications for community living and employment. Work. 2015;52(4):725–34.
- 19. Doogan C, Playford ED. Supporting work for people with multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2014;20(6):646-50.
- Schiavolin S, Leonardi M, Giovannetti AM, Antozzi C, Brambilla L, Confalonieri P, et al. Factors related to difficulties with employment in patients with multiple sclerosis: a review of 2002–2011 literature. Int J Rehabil Res. 2013;36(2):105–11.
- 21. Maguire R, Maguire P. Caregiver burden in multiple sclerosis: recent trends and future directions. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2020;20(7):18.
- 22. Hategeka C, Traboulsee AL, McMullen K, Lynd LD. Association of unemployment and informal care with stigma in multiple sclerosis: evidence from the survey on living with neurological conditions in Canada. Int J MS Care. 2019;21(5):214–25.
- 23. McKenzie T, Quig ME, Tyry T, Marrie RA, Cutter G, Shearin E, et al. Care partners and multiple sclerosis: differential effect on men and women. Int J MS Care. 2015;17(6):253–60.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 24. Figved N, Myhr K-M, Larsen J-P, Aarsland D. Caregiver burden in multiple sclerosis: the impact of neuropsychiatric symptoms. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2007;78(10):1097–102.
- 25. Ridley B, Minozzi S, Gonzalez-Lorenzo M, Del Giovane C, Filippini G, Peryer G, et al. Immunomodulators and immunosuppressants for progressive multiple sclerosis: a network metaanalysis (protocol). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2022(11):CD015443.
- 26. Tramacere I, Del Giovane C, Salanti G, D'Amico R, Filippini G. Immunomodulators and immunosuppressants for relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a network meta-analysis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015(9):CD011381.
- 27. Hauser SL, Waubant E, Arnold DL, Vollmer T, Antel J, Fox RJ, et al. B-cell depletion with rituximab in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(7):676–88.
- 28. Granqvist M, Boremalm M, Poorghobad A, Svenningsson A, Salzer J, Frisell T, et al. Comparative effectiveness of rituximab and other initial treatment choices for multiple sclerosis. JAMA Neurol. 2018;75(3):320–7.
- 29. Alping P, Frisell T, Novakova L, Islam-Jakobsson P, Salzer J, Björck A, et al. Rituximab versus fingolimod after natalizumab in multiple sclerosis patients. Ann Neurol. 2016;79(6):950–8.
- 30. Boremalm M, Juto A, Axelsson M, Novakova L, Frisell T, Svenningsson A, et al. Natalizumab, rituximab and fingolimod as escalation therapy in multiple sclerosis. Eur J Neurol. 2019;26(8):1060–7.
- Spelman T, Frisell T, Piehl F, Hillert J. Comparative effectiveness of rituximab relative to IFN-β or glatiramer acetate in relapsing-remitting MS from the Swedish MS registry. Mult Scler. 2018;24(8):1087–95.
- 32. Hawker K, O'Connor P, Freedman MS, Calabresi PA, Antel J, Simon J, et al. Rituximab in patients with primary progressive multiple sclerosis: results of a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled multicenter trial. Ann Neurol. 2009;66(4):460–71.
- Cheshmavar M, Mirmosayyeb O, Badihian N, Badihian S, Shaygannejad V. Rituximab and glatiramer acetate in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis: a randomized clinical trial. Acta Neurol Scand. 2021;143(2):178–87.
- Etemadifar M, Ghourchian S, Mahinparvar N, Salari M, Etemadifar F, Nikanpour Y, et al. Cyclophosphamide versus rituximab in progressive forms of multiple sclerosis. Acta Med Iran. 2019;57(8):484–91.
- 35. Naegelin Y, Naegelin P, Felten S, Lorscheider J, Sonder J, Uitdehaag BMJ, et al. Association of rituximab treatment with disability progression among patients with secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. JAMA Neurol. 2019;76(3):274–81.
- 36. Hauser SL, Bar-Or A, Comi G, Giovannoni G, Hartung H-P, Hemmer B, et al. Ocrelizumab versus interferon beta-1a in relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(3):221–34.
- 37. Wolinsky JS, Montalban X, Hauser SL, Giovannoni G, Vermersch P, Bernasconi C, et al. Evaluation of no evidence of progression or active disease (NEPAD) in patients with primary progressive multiple sclerosis in the ORATORIO trial. Ann Neurol. 2018;84(4):527–36.
- 38. Giovannoni G, Comi G, Cook S, Rammohan K, Rieckmann P, Soelberg Sorensen P, et al. A placebocontrolled trial of oral cladribine for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2010;362(5):416–26.
- 39. Bornstein MB, Miller A, Slagle S, Weitzman M, Crystal H, Drexler E, et al. A pilot trial of Cop 1 in exacerbating-remitting multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 1987;317(7):408–14.
- 40. Khan O, Rieckmann P, Boyko A, Selmaj K, Zivadinov R, Group GS. Three times weekly glatiramer acetate in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol. 2013;73(6):705–13.

88
41. Johnson KP, Brooks BR, Cohen JA, Ford CC, Goldstein J, Lisak RP, et al. Copolymer 1 reduces relapse rate and improves disability in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: results of a phase III multicenter, double-blind placebo-controlled trial. The Copolymer 1 Multiple Sclerosis Study Group. Neurology. 1995;45(7):1268–76.

- 42. Bornstein MB, Miller A, Slagle S, Weitzman M, Drexler E, Keilson M, et al. A placebo-controlled, double-blind, randomized, two-center, pilot trial of Cop 1 in chronic progressive multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 1991;41(4):533–9.
- 43. Wolinsky JS, Narayana PA, O'Connor P, Coyle PK, Ford C, Johnson K, et al. Glatiramer acetate in primary progressive multiple sclerosis: results of a multinational, multicenter, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Ann Neurol. 2007;61(1):14–24.
- 44. Evertsson B, Hoyt T, Christensen A, Nimer FA, Foley J, Piehl F. A comparative study of tolerability and effects on immunoglobulin levels and CD19 cell counts with ocrelizumab vs low dose of rituximab in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin. 2020;6(4):2055217320964505.
- 45. Luna G, Alping P, Burman J, Fink K, Fogdell-Hahn A, Gunnarsson M, et al. Infection risks among patients with multiple sclerosis treated with fingolimod, natalizumab, rituximab, and injectable therapies. JAMA Neurol. 2020;77(2):184–91.
- 46. Alping P, Askling J, Burman J, Fink K, Fogdell-Hahn A, Gunnarsson M, et al. Cancer risk for fingolimod, natalizumab, and rituximab in multiple sclerosis patients. Ann Neurol. 2020;87(5):688–99.
- 47. Moon S, Mariat S, Kamae I, Pedersen HB. Defining the concept of fair pricing for medicines. BMJ. 2020;368:I4726.
- Rezaee M, Morowvat MH, Poursadeghfard M, Radgoudarzi A, Keshavarz K. Cost-effectiveness analysis of rituximab versus natalizumab in patients with relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis. BMC Health Serv Res. 2022;22(1):118.
- Atlas of MS, 3rd edition. Part 2: Clinical management of multiple sclerosis around the world: key findings about the diagnosis and clinical management of MS. London: Multiple Sclerosis International Federation; 2020 (https://www.msif.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Atlas-3rd-Edition-clinical-management-report-EN-5-5-21.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 50. Global essential medicines [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://global. essentialmeds.org/dashboard/countries, accessed 6 October 2023).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

Ocrelizumab – addition – EML

# Ocrelizumab

# ATC code: L04AA36

# Proposal

Addition of ocrelizumab to the complementary list of the EML for treatment of adults with relapsing and progressive forms of multiple sclerosis (MS).

## Applicant

F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd, Basel, Switzerland

#### WHO technical department

The Department of Mental Health and Substance Use provided comments on two applications submitted for Expert Committee consideration for diseasemodifying therapies for MS – this application and an application for inclusion of three disease-modifying therapies for MS submitted by the Multiple Sclerosis International Federation. The technical department supported the inclusion of disease-modifying therapies for MS on the EML, highlighting that the proposals were well aligned with the mandate of the intersectoral global action plan on epilepsy and other neurological disorders (1), which includes a strategic objective to "provide effective, timely and responsive diagnosis, treatment, and care" for people with neurological disorders such as MS.

#### EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

5.2 Medicines for multiple sclerosis

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Injection: 30 mg/mL in 10 mL vial

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

In 2019, the Expert Committee reviewed an application from the Multiple Sclerosis International Federation requesting the addition of glatiramer acetate, fingolimod

90

and ocrelizumab on the Model Lists for use in the treatment of MS. The Committee acknowledged the important public health burden of MS and the need for effective and affordable treatments. However, the Committee noted that the superiority of the proposed medicines over other therapeutic options in terms of benefits, harms and affordability did not clearly emerge from the application. The Committee noted that some commonly used treatments were not included in the application (e.g. azathioprine, natalizumab, dimethyl fumarate, cladribine), or were not given full consideration (e.g. rituximab), with reasons for their exclusion being unclear. In particular, the Committee noted that rituximab could have a relevant clinical role in the treatment of MS and recommended that any future application include evidence for rituximab versus active comparators, not just placebo. The Committee therefore did not recommend listing of glatiramer acetate, fingolimod or ocrelizumab at the time, and requested a revised application which comprehensively reviewed the relative roles of relevant available medicines for MS (2).

#### Public health relevance

MS is a chronic autoimmune disease characterized by inflammation of the central nervous system that leads to demyelination, axonal loss and progressive neuronal degeneration, resulting in irreversible disability and cognitive impairment (3,4). Common symptoms include pain, fatigue, mood and cognitive changes, mobility and sensory impairment, visual disturbances, and elimination dysfunction. Symptoms can vary in severity and can result in significant disability, and reduction in quality and length of life.

Data on the global prevalence of MS vary. The Global Burden of Disease study reported that globally, about 1.8 million people (23 per 100 000) had MS in 2019. Age-standardized prevalence per 100 000 population shows large variability across WHO regions, ranging from 4 cases per 100 000 in the Western Pacific Region to 60 per 100 000 in the European Region (5). The atlas of MS estimated that globally, about 2.8 million people (36 per 100 000) had MS in 2020 (6). The number of people with MS per 100 000 population also showed large variability across WHO regions, ranging from 5 per 100 000 in the African and Western Pacific regions to 133 per 100 000 in the European Region (6).

MS is most often diagnosed between the ages of 20 and 50 years, but the disease may also first manifest in older adults and children. Women are affected 2–3 times more than men (*7*,*8*).

MS is broadly divided into relapsing and progressive forms, classified in three different clinical phenotypic patterns based on the presence of transient attacks of neurological symptoms and/or a progressive worsening of the neurological function: relapsing-remitting MS, secondary progressive MS and primary progressive MS (9). Relapsing-remitting MS is characterized by relapses and remissions of

neurological symptoms, with relapses associated with new areas of inflammation in the central nervous system. Over time, most people with relapsing-remitting MS will transition to secondary progressive MS, marked by gradual worsening of neurological function with or without additional inflammatory events. Primary progressive MS is characterized by the absence of clearly defined relapses (9,10).

The course of MS is highly variable and unpredictable, and patients may have a broad range of neurological symptoms or signs, depending on the location and degree of central nervous system inflammation. Life expectancy for patients with MS is 5-10 years shorter than for the general population (3,11,12). Exposure to any disease-modifying therapy for MS is associated with a lower risk of death compared with no exposure (13).

MS has a substantial negative impact on health-related quality of life (14-16). People with MS have significantly lower health-related quality of life scores than people who have other chronic diseases, such as chronic ischaemic heart disease, gastro-oesophageal reflux disease, non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus, or inflammatory bowel disease (17). People with MS are less likely to be employed, more likely to take time off work when they are employed, and more likely to retire early than the general population (18-20).

Globally, an estimated 1 million people (unpaid spouses, partners, children, family members or friends) are involved in the overall care of people living with MS (21). Caregivers often stop working to care for the person with MS, further increasing the societal burden of the disease (22). Caregivers of people with MS also experience high levels of distress and reduced quality of life (23, 24).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The application presented a summary of evidence from pivotal studies of ocrelizumab in relapsing and primary progressive MS.

#### **Relapsing MS**

Two identically designed industry-sponsored, randomized, multicentre, activecontrolled, double-blind, phase III studies (OPERA I and OPERA II) evaluated the efficacy and safety of ocrelizumab in 1651 adults with relapsing MS (25). Participants received ocrelizumab 600 mg by intravenous infusion every 6 months or subcutaneous interferon beta-1a 44 micrograms three times a week. The primary efficacy endpoint was annualized relapse rate over 96 weeks. Ocrelizumab treatment was associated with a statistically significant and clinically meaningful improvement in annualized relapse rate, compared with interferon.

- OPERA I: annualized relapse rate 0.16 versus 0.29 (rate ratio (RR) 0.54, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.40 to 0.72; relative reduction 46%);
- OPERA II: annualized relapse rate 0.16 versus 0.29 (RR 0.53, 95% CI 0.40 to 0.71; relative reduction 47%).

Ocrelizumab treatment was also associated with statistically significant and clinically meaningful improvements compared with interferon for several secondary endpoints, including the proportion of patients with confirmed disability progression at 12 and 24 weeks and proportion of patients with no evidence of disease activity. Patients receiving ocrelizumab also had significantly lower mean numbers of T1 gadolinium-enhancing lesions and new and/or enlarging T2 lesions on magnetic resonance imaging (MRI).

Periodic analyses of efficacy data from patients in the OPERA I and II trials who continued on to the open-label extension phase reported that: the benefits of earlier initiation of ocrelizumab were maintained compared with patients switching from interferon (26-28); the risk of requiring a walking aid was lower (29, 30); and rates of upper- and lower-limb disability were lower (31).

In the phase IIIb ENSEMBLE study (1225 participants), most treatmentnaïve patients with early-stage relapsing-remitting MS treated with ocrelizumab over 2 years showed minimal disease activity based on clinical and MRI measures – 86.5% had no evidence of clinical activity and 88.9% had no evidence of MRI activity. Expanded Disability Status Scale scores remained stable or showed improvements in most patients (87.4%) (*32*). In an analysis of 7-year open-label extension data from the OPERA I and II studies, 81% of treatment-naive patients with early MS had no disability progression over 7 years on treatment with ocrelizumab (*33*).

#### **Progressive MS**

The industry-funded phase III randomized, multicentre, double-blind, parallelgroup, placebo-controlled ORATORIO trial evaluated the efficacy of ocrelizumab in the treatment of 732 patients with primary progressive MS (34). Participants were randomized 2:1 to receive ocrelizumab 600 mg by intravenous infusion every 6 months or placebo. The primary efficacy endpoint was the proportion of patients with 12-week confirmed disability progression. Secondary endpoints included 24-week confirmed disability progression, timed 25-foot walk, T2 lesion volume and total brain volume loss. The percentage of patients with 12-week confirmed disability progression was 32.9% with ocrelizumab versus 39.3% with placebo (hazard ratio (HR) 0.76, 95% CI 0.59 to 0.98). The percentage of patients with 24-week confirmed disability progression was 29.6% with ocrelizumab versus 35.7% with placebo (HR 0.75, 95% CI 0.58 to 0.98). By week 120, performance on the timed 25-foot walk worsened by 38.9% with ocrelizumab versus 55.1% with placebo; the total volume of brain lesions on T2-weighted MRI decreased by 3.4% with ocrelizumab and increased by 7.4% with placebo; and the percentage of brain volume loss was 0.90% with ocrelizumab versus 1.09% with placebo.

The ongoing CONSONANCE trial is a single-arm phase IIIb trial to evaluate the effectiveness and safety of ocrelizumab across the spectrum of progressive MS (i.e. in patients with either primary progressive MS or secondary progressive MS) (*35*). Primary outcomes are proportion of patients with no

evidence of progression, and the proportion of patients with no evidence of progression and no active disease. In the 2-year interim analysis, treatment with ocrelizumab was associated with comparable rates of no evidence of progression and no active disease in patients with secondary progressive MS and primary progressive MS and with functional improvement in about one third of patients.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

Pooled results for adverse events reported during the controlled treatment period of the pivotal phase III studies in relapsing MS (OPERA I and OPERA II (25)) are presented in Table 10.

#### Table 10

# Adverse events in relapsing multiple sclerosis phase III studies in the controlled treatment period

| Variable   | OPERA I and OPERA II, no. (%) |                                 |
|--|-------------------------------|---------------------------------|
|  | IFNβ1a<br>( <i>n</i> = 826)   | OCR 600 mg<br>( <i>n</i> = 825) |
| Patients with at least one adverse event                   | 688 (83.3)                    | 687 (83.3)                      |
| Total adverse events                                       | 4141                          | 4194                            |
| Deaths   | 2 (0.2)                       | 1 (0.1)                         |
| Patients with at least one:                                |                               |                                 |
| fatal adverse event  | 2 (0.2)                       | 1 (0.1)                         |
| serious adverse event                                      | 72 (8.7)                      | 57 (6.9)                        |
| serious adverse event leading to treatment discontinuation | 9 (1.1)                       | 6 (0.7)                         |
| adverse event leading to treatment discontinuation         | 51 (6.2)                      | 29 (3.5)                        |
| Patients with malignancies                                 | 2 (0.2)                       | 4 (0.5)                         |
| Patients with infections <sup>a</sup>                      | 433 (52.4)                    | 482 (58.4)                      |
| Patients with serious infections <sup>a</sup>              | 24 (2.9)                      | 11 (1.3)                        |
| Patients with infusion-related reaction                    | 80 (9.7)                      | 283 (34.3)                      |

IFNβ1a: interferon beta-1a; OCR: ocrelizumab.

<sup>a</sup> Infections are defined using adverse events falling into the Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities (MedDRA) (*36*) System Organ Class "Infections and Infestations.

Adverse events reported during the controlled treatment period of the phase III ORATORIO study (*34*) on primary progressive MS are presented in Table 11.

#### Table 11

# Adverse events in primary progressive multiple sclerosis phase III study in the controlled treatment period

| Variable  | No. (%)                      |                                 |
|---|------------------------------|---------------------------------|
|   | Placebo<br>( <i>n</i> = 239) | OCR 600 mg<br>( <i>n</i> = 486) |
| Patients with at least one adverse event                            | 215 (90.0)                   | 462 (95.1)                      |
| Total adverse events  | 1762                         | 3690                            |
| Deaths  | 1 (0.4)                      | 4 (0.8)                         |
| Patients with at least one:   |                              |                                 |
| fatal adverse event   | 1 (0.4)                      | 4 (0.8)                         |
| serious adverse event   | 53 (22.2)                    | 99 (20.4)                       |
| serious infectiona  | 14 (5.9)                     | 30 (6.2)                        |
| serious adverse event leading to withdrawal from treatment          | 6 (2.5)                      | 13 (2.7)                        |
| serious adverse event leading to dose modification/<br>interruption | 4 (1.7)                      | 8 (1.6)                         |
| adverse event leading to withdrawal from treatment                  | 8 (3.3)                      | 20 (4.1)                        |
| adverse event leading to dose modification/<br>interruption         | 12 (5.0)                     | 47 (9.7)                        |
| infusion-related reaction leading to withdrawal at first infusion   | 0                            | 1 (0.2)                         |
| Patients with:  |                              |                                 |
| malignancies <sup>b</sup>   | 2 (0.8)                      | 11 (2.3)                        |
| infections <sup>a</sup>   | 162 (67.8)                   | 339 (69.8)                      |

OCR: ocrelizumab.

<sup>a</sup> Infections are defined using adverse events falling into the Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities (MedDRA) (*36*) System Organ Class "Infections and Infestations".

<sup>b</sup> Identified using the malignant tumours Standardized MedDRA Query. Non-serious relapses are excluded. Notes: Investigator text for adverse events encoded using MedDRA version MedDRA v18.0.

Multiple occurrences of the same adverse events in one individual are counted only once except for the total number of adverse events row in which multiple occurrences of the same adverse events are counted separately.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

A phase II, randomized placebo-controlled trial of ocrelizumab in relapsing-remitting MS found that treatment with 2 x 300 mg or 2 x 1000 mg of ocrelizumab was generally well tolerated (*37*). The adverse event profile of ocrelizumab during the open-label treatment period up to week 96 and during follow-up and monitoring/observation periods up to week 144 was consistent with observations during the first 24 weeks. The single most common adverse event was infusion-related reactions, reported more often in patients treated with ocrelizumab compared with patients given placebo (9.3% in placebo arm, 34.5% in the 300-mg x 2 arm and 43.6% in the 1000-mg x 2 arm, after the first infusion of day 1 of the study).

Safety data were pooled up to a clinical cut-off date of November 2020 from the phase II study and three pivotal phase III studies, and the "all-exposure population" including the same studies plus an additional seven phase IIIb studies. Safety findings, excluding coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) infections, remain generally consistent with the controlled treatment period in the pooled relapsing MS/primary progressive MS population from the phase II study and pivotal phase III studies.

Very common (frequency  $\geq 1/10$ ) adverse drug reactions reported in association with the use of ocrelizumab in the pivotal phase III studies were infusion-related reactions, upper respiratory tract infections, nasopharyngitis and influenza. Common (frequency ( $\geq 1/100$  to < 1/10) adverse drug reactions reported were sinusitis, bronchitis, cough, gastroenteritis, oral herpes, respiratory tract infection, viral infection herpes zoster, conjunctivitis and cellulitis.

The application reported that suspected or confirmed COVID-19 cases were identified from 10 ongoing Roche/Genentech clinical trials, as of 28 May 2021. Symptomatic COVID-19 was reported in 406 (9.9%) of 4089 patients treated with ocrelizumab across 10 clinical trials. Most cases of COVID-19 were non-serious (274/406, 67.5%) and most patients had recovered or were recovering at the time of the analysis (347/406, 85.5%). Eighteen patients (out of 406; 4.4%) had not recovered from COVID-19 and in 32/406 cases (7.9%), there was a fatal outcome. Most of the symptomatic COVID-19 cases (265/406, 65.3%) had a mild/moderate presentation, with 86 (21.2%) cases being classified as severe, 13 (3.2%) life-threatening and 32 (7.9%) fatal; information on severity was missing for 10 patients (2.5%).

#### WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for the treatment of MS are not currently available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The application reported that in France, Germany, Italy, Spain and the United Kingdom, ex-factory prices for ocrelizumab range from €5125 to €6250 per vial, or €20 500 to €25 000 per patient per year. In upper and lower middle-income

countries and low-income countries, excluding countries with high foreign and exchange market rate fluctuations, the average ocrelizumab list price is  $\notin$ 4450 per vial with the lowest list price starting at  $\notin$ 1495 per vial.

Roche has implemented an international differential pricing model which is reported to apply in 75 upper and lower middle-income countries and low-income countries, either through public funding or the out-of-pocket paying sector, where pricing is added to non-pricing support in the form of patient assistance programmes. These programmes include components such as medicine doses, donations, patient awareness educational campaigns involving health care practitioners, patient assistance to treatment adherence, and health service delivery improvements. To date, and with the implementation of a greater price flexibility, as part of its international differential pricing model, Roche reports to have supported governments and private institutions in more than 30 upper and lower middle-income countries and low-income countries in providing access to patients for ocrelizumab in MS, including Argentina, Armenia, Belarus, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Brazil, Bulgaria, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Egypt, El Salvador, Georgia, Ghana, Guatemala, Honduras, Jordan, Kazakhstan, Kenya, Kosovo, Lebanon, Libya, Malaysia, Mexico, Montenegro, Morocco, Namibia, Nicaragua, Nigeria, North Macedonia, Pakistan, Paraguay, Peru, South Africa, Tunisia, Türkiye, Ukraine, Uzbekistan and Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of).

The use of ocrelizumab to treat MS was evaluated in health technology assessments and eventually resulted in positive reimbursement decisions in several high-income countries, following price negotiations and (confidential) pricing agreements (38–43).

The application did not present a review of published economic evaluations of ocrelizumab or other disease-modifying therapies for MS, arguing that comparability of results across studies and generalizability of conclusions are limited and affected by many factors, including different study parameters, inputs and modelling assumptions.

#### Availability

Ocrelizumab has marketing approval in more than 100 countries worldwide. Regulatory applications are currently being submitted in Asia. Approved indications are for treatment of adults with relapsing forms of MS and treatment of adults with primary progressive MS.

#### Other considerations

A separate application submitted by the Multiple Sclerosis International Federation, requesting individual listings for cladribine and glatiramer acetate, and a square box listing for rituximab, specifying ocrelizumab as a therapeutic alternative, was also considered by the Expert Committee at this meeting.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that MS is the most common non-traumatic cause of neurological disability in young adults. About 2.8 million people are living with MS worldwide, with women affected 2–3 times more than men. The most common form is relapsing-remitting MS, characterized by relapses and remissions of neurological symptoms. Over time, most people with relapsing-remitting MS develop a secondary progressive course of the disease (secondary progressive MS) marked by gradual worsening with or without additional inflammatory events. Currently, there are no medicines specifically for the treatment MS included on the Model List. However, rituximab is included for other conditions, is widely available and is listed on many national essential medicines lists.

The Committee acknowledged the benefits of ocrelizumab in the management of relapsing-remitting and primary progressive forms of MS. However, there was no compelling evidence of its superiority over alternative treatments, specifically rituximab, which has the same molecular target (CD20). The Committee considered the option of listing ocrelizumab as alternative to rituximab, but also recognized the difference in current prices of the two products and the fact that off-label use of medicines is allowed in many countries, when robust evidence exists. The Committee concluded that including ocrelizumab as a therapeutic alternative to rituximab could result in considerable additional expenditure at the country level for patients and health systems, without offering additional clinical benefit. The Committee considered that inclusion only of the less expensive rituximab on the EML might serve to facilitate its use (albeit off-label) for MS.

The Committee recalled and reiterated the views expressed by the 2015 Expert Committee on consideration of medicines for inclusion on the Model Lists for off-label uses or indications: that is, labelling is the responsibility of national regulatory authorities and there may consequently be different labels for the same product in different countries, and there is thus no global standard for what is considered off-label. Furthermore, updating approved labels for older products may not be pursued by market authorization holder(s) if doing so is not considered commercially viable, and there are many examples of older products whose regulatory labels are inconsistent with current clinical evidence and current clinical practice. Consequently, the Expert Committee reaffirmed that off-label status of a medicine need not be a reason to exclude it from the Model Lists if it otherwise meets the criteria for inclusion. The Committee considered that the Model List can play an important role in identifying those medicines for which off-label use is supported by convincing evidence, complementing the assessment and labelling by jurisdictional authorities.

The Committee therefore did not recommend the inclusion of ocrelizumab as an individual medicine, or as a therapeutic alternative to rituximab under a square box listing, on the EML for the treatment of MS.

# References

- Intersectoral global action plan on epilepsy and other neurological disorders 2022–2031. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/371495, accessed 6 October 2023).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 3. Compston A, Coles A. Multiple sclerosis. Lancet. 2008;372(9648):1502–17.
- 4. Nylander A, Hafler DA. Multiple sclerosis. J Clin Invest. 2012;122(4):1180–8.
- 5. Global burden of disease database [internet]. Seattle, WA: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation; 2019 (https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-results/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Atlas of MS, 3rd edition. Part 1. Mapping multiple sclerosis around the world: key epidemiology findings. London: The Multiple Sclerosis International Federation; 2020 (https://www.msif.org/ wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Atlas-3rd-Edition-Epidemiology-report-EN-updated-30-9-20.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 7. Walton C, King R, Rechtman L, Kaye W, Leray E, Marrie RA, et al. Rising prevalence of multiple sclerosis worldwide: Insights from the Atlas of MS. Third edition. Mult Scler. 2020;26(14):1816–21.
- 8. Ascherio A, Munger KL. Epidemiology of multiple sclerosis: from risk factors to prevention:-an update. Semin Neurol. 2016;36(2):103–14.
- 9. Lublin FD, Reingold SC, Cohen JA, Cutter GR, Sørensen PS, Thompson AJ, et al. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: the 2013 revisions. Neurology. 2014;83(3):27886.
- Frischer JM, Bramow S, Dal-Bianco A, Lucchinetti CF, Rauschka H, Schmidbauer M, et al. The relation between inflammation and neurodegeneration in multiple sclerosis brains. Brain. 2009;132(Pt 5):1175–89.
- 11. Kingwell E, van der Kop M, Zhao Y, Shirani A, Zhu F, Oger J, et al. Relative mortality and survival in multiple sclerosis: findings from British Columbia, Canada. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2012;83(1):61–6.
- 12. Brønnum-Hansen H, Koch-Henriksen N, Stenager E. Trends in survival and cause of death in Danish patients with multiple sclerosis. Brain. 2004;127(Pt 4):844–50.
- 13. Ng HS, Zhu F, Kingwell E, Yao S, Ekuma O, Evans C, et al. Disease-modifying drugs for multiple sclerosis and association with survival. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm. 2022;9(5):e200005.
- 14. Nortvedt MW, Riise T, Myhr KM, Nyland HI. Quality of life in multiple sclerosis: measuring the disease effects more broadly. Neurology. 1999;53(5):1098–103.
- 15. Orme M, Kerrigan J, Tyas D, Russell N, Nixon R. The effect of disease, functional status, and relapses on the utility of people with multiple sclerosis in the UK. Value Health. 2007;10(1):54–60.
- 16. Zwibel HL, Smrtka J. Improving quality of life in multiple sclerosis: an unmet need. Am J Manag Care. 2011;17(Suppl 5 Improving):S139–45.
- 17. Kobelt G, Kasteng F. Access to innovative treatments in multiple sclerosis in Europe. A report prepared for the European Federation of Pharmaceutical Industry Associations (EFPIA). Brussels: European Federation of Pharmaceutical Industry Associations; 2009..
- 18. Bishop M, Rumrill PD. Multiple sclerosis: etiology, symptoms, incidence and prevalence, and implications for community living and employment. Work. 2015;52(4):725–34.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 19. Doogan C, Playford ED. Supporting work for people with multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2014;20(6):646-50.
- Schiavolin S, Leonardi M, Giovannetti AM, Antozzi C, Brambilla L, Confalonieri P, et al. Factors related to difficulties with employment in patients with multiple sclerosis: a review of 2002–2011 literature. Int J Rehabil Res. 2013;36(2):105–11.
- 21. Maguire R, Maguire P. Caregiver burden in multiple sclerosis: recent trends and future directions. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2020;20(7):18.
- 22. Hategeka C, Traboulsee AL, McMullen K, Lynd LD. Association of unemployment and informal care with stigma in multiple sclerosis: evidence from the survey on living with neurological conditions in Canada. Int J MS Care. 2019;21(5):214–25.
- 23. McKenzie T, Quig ME, Tyry T, Marrie RA, Cutter G, Shearin E, et al. Care partners and multiple sclerosis: differential effect on men and women. Int J MS Care. 2015;17(6):253–60.
- 24. Figved N, Myhr K-M, Larsen J-P, Aarsland D. Caregiver burden in multiple sclerosis: the impact of neuropsychiatric symptoms. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2007;78(10):1097–102.
- 25. Hauser SL, Bar-Or A, Comi G, Giovannoni G, Hartung H-P, Hemmer B, et al. Ocrelizumab versus interferon beta-1a in relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(3):221–34.
- 26. Hauser SL, Brochet B, Montalban X, Naismith RT, Wolinsky JS, Manfrini M, et al. Long-term reduction of relapse rate and confirmed disability progression after 5 years of ocrelizumab treatment in patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler J. 2018;24(2 Suppl):285–6.
- 27. Hauser SL, Kappos L, Giovannoni G, Montalban X, Koendgen H, Wang Q, et al. Long-term reduction of relapse rate and confirmed disability progression after 6 years of ocrelizumab treatment in patients with relapsing MS. ACTRIMS Forum 2020 Poster Session 1. Mult Scler J. 2020;26(1 Suppl):16–89.
- Giovannoni G, Kappos L, Seze Jd, Hauser S, Overell J, Koendgen H, et al. Long-term reduction of confirmed disability progression and time to walking aid after 6 years of ocrelizumab treatment in patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis (1847). Neurology. 2020;94(15):1847.
- 29. Giovannoni G, Kappos L, de Seze J, Hauser SL, Overell J, Koendgen H, et al. Risk of requiring a walking aid after 6.5 years of ocrelizumab treatment in patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis: Data from the OPERA I and OPERA II trials. Eur J Neurol. 2022;29(4):1238–42.
- Giovannoni G, Kappos L, de Seze J, Hauser SL, Bonati U, Overell J, et al. Long-term reduction of relapse rate and confirmed disability progression after 7.5 years of ocrelizumab treatment in patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis in the OPERA OLE. ECTRIMS 2021 – ePoster. Mult Scler J. 2021;27(2 Suppl):134–740.
- 31. Kappos L, Hartung HP, Hauser SL, Naismith RT, Schneble H, Townsend B, et al. Eight-year analyses of repeated confirmed disability progressions in the OPERA and ORATORIO studies and their open-label extensions. ECTRIMS 2022 Poster. Mult Scler J. 2022;28(3 Suppl):130–691.
- 32. Hartung HP, Brochet B, Freedman M, Vollmer T, Holmøy T, Karabudak R, et al. Treatment-naive patients with early-stage relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis showed low disease activity after 2-year ocrelizumab therapy, with no new safety signals; the Phase IIIb ENSEMBLE study. ECTRIMS 2022 Poster. Mult Scler J. 2022;28(3 Suppl):130–691.
- 33. Cerqueira J, Berthele A, Cree B, Filippi M, Pardo G, Pearson O, et al. Long-term efficacy and safety of ocrelizumab in treatment-naive patients with early relapsing multiple sclerosis: 7-year data from the OPERA open-label extension trials. ECTRIMS 2022 (P723). Mult Scler J. 2022;28(3 Suppl):130–691.

100

- 34. Montalban X, Hauser SL, Kappos L, Arnold DL, Bar-Or A, Comi G, et al. Ocrelizumab versus placebo in primary progressive multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(3):209–20.
- Comi G, Bermel R, Bar-Or A, McGinley M, Arnold D, Henry R, et al. A multicentre, open label, single-arm, phase 3b study (CONSONANCE) to assess the effectiveness and safety of ocrelizumab in patients with primary and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis: year 2 interim analysis. ECTRIMS 2022 – Poster. Mult Scler J. 2022;28(3 Suppl):130–691.
- 36. Brown EG, Wood L, Wood S. The medical dictionary for regulatory activities (MedDRA). Drug Saf. 1999;20(2):109-17.
- Kappos L, Li D, Calabresi PA, O'Connor P, Bar-Or A, Barkhof F, et al. Ocrelizumab in relapsingremitting multiple sclerosis: a phase 2, randomised, placebo-controlled, multicentre trial. Lancet. 2011;378(9805):1779–87.
- 38. Ocrelizumab for treating relapsing–remitting multiple sclerosis. Final appraisal document. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2018.
- 39. Ocrelizumab (Ocrevus®) for RMS. Dublin: National Centre for Pharmacoeconomics, Ireland; 2018.
- 40. OCREVUS (SEP récurrente). Paris: Haute Autorité de Santé; 2018.
- 41. Benefit assessment procedure for the active substance ocrelizumab. Resolution: August 2, 2018. Berlin: Gemeinsamer Bundesausschuss; 2018.
- 42. Buscador de la Información sobre la situación de financiación de los medicamentos: Orelizumab (Ocrevus<sup>®</sup>). Madrid: Ministry of Health, Government of Spain; 2022.
- 43. Ocrelizumab. Ottowa, ON: Canada's Drug Health Technology Assessment Agency; 2017.

.....

# Section 6: Anti-infective medicines 6.2 Antibacterials

# 6.2.1 Access group antibiotics

Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid – new formulation – EMLc

Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid

ATC code: J01CR02

#### Proposal

Addition of amoxicillin + clavulanic acid 200 mg + 28.5 mg dispersible tablet to the core list of the EMLc for the same indications for which other formulations of amoxicillin + clavulanic acid are currently listed.

#### Applicant

Sandoz International GmbH, Bavaria, Germany

#### WHO technical department

The Global Coordination and Partnership department within the Antimicrobial Resistance division reviewed and provided comments on the application, indicating its support for the addition of the proposed new dispersible tablet formulation of amoxicillin + clavulanic on the EMLc.

#### EML/EMLc

EMLc

## Section

6.2.1 Access group antibiotics

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Tablet (dispersible): 200 mg (as trihydrate) + 28.5 mg (as potassium salt)

#### Core/complementary

Core

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

Multiple amoxicillin + clavulanic acid formulations in a 4:1 ratio are included on the EMLc as first- or second-choice empiric treatment for various bacterial infections.

102

- First choice: community-acquired pneumonia, complicated intraabdominal infections, hospital acquired pneumonia, low-risk febrile neutropenia, lower urinary tract infections, sinusitis, and skin and soft tissue infections.
- Second choice: bone and joint infections, community-acquired pneumonia, otitis media and surgical prophylaxis.

In 2021, a higher strength formulation of amoxicillin + clavulanic acid in a 7:1 ratio (875 mg + 125 mg) was recommended for inclusion on the EML for treatment of community-acquired pneumonia and intra-abdominal infections in adults. In making its recommendation, the Expert Committee noted that a higher ratio of amoxicillin to clavulanic acid is generally associated with less diarrhoea, a recognized adverse effect of this combination (1).

#### Public health relevance

The public health relevance of age-appropriate formulations of essential medicines for children is well established. The Global Accelerator for Paediatric Formulations was developed in response to the World Health Assembly resolution 69.20 on promoting innovation and access to high quality medicines for children. In the 2022–2024 strategy, the Global Accelerator for Paediatric Formulations clearly stated that the development of dispersible tablets over bulky syrups or the enabling of formulary consolidation with flexible dosage forms should be one of the priority tasks (2).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The evidence of benefits presented by the applicants was mostly based on studies from the 1990s when the formulation of amoxicillin + clavulanic acid at a 7:1 ratio was first developed. No specific evidence on the efficacy of the dispersible formulation was included.

A randomized, observer-blinded, multicentre study conducted in the 1990s evaluated the efficacy of amoxicillin + clavulanic acid as twice daily dosing at a 7:1 ratio compared with three times daily dosing at a 4:1 ratio in 463 children, aged 2–12 years with acute otitis media (*3*). The two treatment groups demonstrated similar efficacy with clinical success rates at the end of therapy (10 days) of 91.8% for the twice-daily 7:1 group versus 90.5% for the three-timesdaily 4:1 group. No significant difference was seen between treatment groups in the incidence of adverse events, however the incidence of diarrhoea was lower in the twice-daily group (6.7% versus 10.3%) group. Significantly more patients in the twice-daily group than the three-times-daily group were reported to have at least 80% compliance with treatment.

Another United States study from the 1990s randomized 868 children aged 2–12 years with acute otitis media to receive amoxicillin (45 mg) + clavulanic acid

(6.4 mg) twice daily for 10 days, 40/10 mg three times daily for 10 days or 45/6.4 mg twice daily for 5 days (4). Treatment successes (clinical cure or improvement) were reported as 86.5%, 78.7% and 71.1% in the three treatment groups, respectively. The incidence of diarrhoea was significantly greater in the three-times daily group (26.7%), than in the two twice-daily groups (9.6% and 8.7%).

A third randomized study from the 1990s of 415 children aged 2 months to 12 years with acute otitis media compared amoxicillin + clavulanic acid twice daily in a 7:1 ratio with three times daily in a 4:1 ratio given for 7 or 10 days (5). At the end of therapy (days 7–12), clinical success (cure) was achieved by about 94% of patients in both treatment groups. At follow-up (days 38–42), 93.3% of patients in the twice-daily group and 87.9% in the three-times-daily group continued to have a clinically successful response. Both treatment regimens were well tolerated, with most adverse events being of a mild-to-moderate and transient nature. Diarrhoea was reported in 7.2% and 10.7% of the twice-daily and three-times daily groups, respectively. Compliance with treatment was reported as 82.8% in the twice-daily group and 73.3% in the three-times-daily group.

Results of the three studies mentioned above were pooled in a subgroup analysis in a 2013 Cochrane systematic review (6). No significant differences were found between once- or twice- daily groups and the three-times daily group for: clinical cure rate at the end of therapy (risk ratio (RR) 1.03, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.99 to 1.07); clinical cure rate during therapy (RR 1.00, 95% CI 0.70 to 1.42); clinical cure rate at post-treatment (RR 1.04, 95% CI 0.98 to 1.10); recurrent infection after completion of therapy (RR 1.01, 95% CI 0.39 to 2.60); overall adverse reactions (RR 0.92, 95% CI 0.52 to 1.63); diarrhoea (RR 0.70, 95% CI 0.48 to 1.00); skin adverse events (RR 0.72, 95% CI 0.44 to 1.17) or compliance rate (RR 1.05, 95% CI 0.98 to 1.13).

An observer-blinded, multicentre study conducted in the 1990s randomized 437 children aged 2–12 years with lower respiratory tract infections to receive 7 days of treatment with amoxicillin + clavulanic acid either twice daily in a 7:1 ratio or three times daily in a 4:1 ratio (7). Both regimens had similar clinical success (cure) rates (81.0% and 77.8%, respectively). Both regimens were well tolerated, and no statistically significant difference was found in the incidence of adverse events between the two groups. Compliance with study medication was high and similar for both groups (80% compliance was 90.0% and 87.0% for the twice-daily and three-times-daily groups, respectively).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The safety profile of amoxicillin + clavulanic acid is well known. In children, the most frequently reported adverse events are mild gastrointestinal disturbances, with diarrhoea being largely attributed to clavulanic acid.

In the trials with a direct comparison between amoxicillin + clavulanic acid 4:1 versus 7:1 ratios, no significant difference was seen in the safety profile of the two products overall. Some trials reported a significantly lower incidence of diarrhoea in the twice-daily 7:1 groups, which is plausible due to the lower dose of clavulanic acid administered (3,4,8).

## **WHO** guidelines

The WHO AWaRe (Access, Watch, Reserve) antibiotic book (9) provides guidance on the prescribing and use of antibiotics on the WHO Model Lists of Essential Medicines for the empiric treatment of common infections in adults and children. It reflects the recommendations for essential antibiotics made by the WHO Expert Committee on Selection and Use of Essential Medicines, incorporating the principles of the WHO AWaRe classification of antibiotics.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The price of the proposed product is reported in the application as US\$ 2.05 per pack of 32 dispersible tablets (US\$ 0.064 per tablet).

Indicative prices for amoxicillin + clavulanic acid 4:1 formulations included in the UNICEF supply catalogue are:

- 250 mg/62.5 mg dispersible tablet: US\$ 5.06 per pack of 50 tablets (US\$ 0.10 per tablet);
- 125 mg/31.25 mg powder for oral suspension: US\$ 1.87 per 100 mL bottle (US\$ 0.09 per 125 mg amoxicillin dose).

## Availability

Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid 200 mg + 28.5 mg dispersible tablet is not currently available in any markets. It has regulatory approval in Malawi. Submissions made to regulatory authorities for Kenya, Rwanda and Uganda are pending approval.

## Other considerations

The EML Antimicrobial Working Group reviewed the application and advised that it supports the inclusion of amoxicillin + clavulanic acid dispersible tablets at a 7:1 ratio (200 mg + 28.5 mg) on the EMLc.

The Working Group noted that the 7:1 dispersible tablets proposed in the application offer several advantages over currently listed paediatric formulations such as ease of administration and heat stability at a similar price. The oral liquid formulations currently listed on the Model Lists must be refrigerated after reconstitution which is a challenge in many resource-constrained settings.

The Working Group acknowledged that amoxicillin + clavulanic acid was identified as one of the priority antibiotics during the WHO meeting on paediatric

drug optimization for antibiotics in November–December 2022. While UNICEF currently procures amoxicillin + clavulanic acid dispersible tablets at a 4:1 ratio (250 mg + 62.5 mg), which is also being proposed for inclusion on the EMLc as part of the EMLc formulation review in the context of the Global Accelerator for Paediatric Formulations project, it was considered that the additional availability of a dispersible tablet at a 7:1 ratio may offer certain advantages. These advantages include allowing higher doses of amoxicillin without dose-related side-effects associated with a higher clavulanic acid dose (e.g. in settings where penicillin non-susceptible pneumococci are prevalent).

The Working Group noted that the dispersible tablets proposed in this application did not receive regulatory approval from the European Medicines Agency as they did not meet its requirement of disintegration within 3 minutes, an issue which does not seem to affect hospital or community use or offset the key advantages. Given the public health need for this formulation, the Working Group did not consider this should preclude its addition to the EMLc.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recognized the importance of age-appropriate formulations of essential medicines to better meet the dosing needs of children.

The Committee noted that the 7:1 ratio of amoxicillin to clavulanic acid is associated with similar efficacy to the 4:1 ratio but has a reduced frequency of gastrointestinal adverse effects. The dispersible tablet formulation also offers advantages over oral liquid formulations for ease of administration and heat stability.

The Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of the 200 mg + 28.5 mg dispersible tablet formulation of amoxicillin + clavulanic acid as an Access group antibiotic on the core list of the EMLc for treatment of bacterial infections in children – specifically those infections for which amoxicillin + clavulanic acid is already recommended on the EMLc.

#### References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035; https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/351172, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Shaping the global innovation and access landscape for better paediatric medicines: Global Accelerator for Paediatric Formulations 2022–2024 business plan. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/362635, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 3. Behre U, Burow HM, Quinn P, Cree F, Harrison HE. Efficacy of twice-daily dosing of amoxycillin/ clavulanate in acute otitis media in children. Infection. 1997;25(3):163–6.

 Hoberman A, Paradise JL, Burch DJ, Valinski WA, Hedrick JA, Aronovitz GH, et al. Equivalent efficacy and reduced occurrence of diarrhea from a new formulation of amoxicillin/clavulanate potassium (Augmentin) for treatment of acute otitis media in children. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1997;16(5):463–70.

- Damrikarnlert L, Jauregui AC, Kzadri M. Efficacy and safety of amoxycillin/clavulanate (Augmentin) twice daily versus three times daily in the treatment of acute otitis media in children. The Augmentin 454 Study Group. J Chemother. 2000;12(1):79–87.
- 6. Thanaviratananich S, Laopaiboon M, Vatanasapt P. Once or twice daily versus three times daily amoxicillin with or without clavulanate for the treatment of acute otitis media. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013(12):CD004975.
- Cook RC, Zachariah J, Cree F, Harrison HE. Efficacy of twice-daily amoxycillin/clavulanate ('Augmentin-Duo' 400/57) in mild to moderate lower respiratory tract infection in children. Br J Clin Pract. 1996;50(3):125–8.
- Calver AD, Walsh NS, Quinn PF, Baran C, Lonergan V, Singh KP, et al. Dosing of amoxicillin/ clavulanate given every 12 hours is as effective as dosing every 8 hours for treatment of lower respiratory tract infection. Lower Respiratory Tract Infection Collaborative Study Group. Clin Infect Dis. 1997;24(4):570–4.
- 9. The WHO AWaRe (Access, Watch, Reserve) antibiotic book. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/365237, accessed 6 October 2023).

# 6.2.2 Watch group antibiotics

Flomoxef sodium – addition – EML and EMLc

# Flomoxef sodium

# ATC code: J01DC14

#### Proposal

Addition of flomoxef sodium to the core list of the EML and EMLc for the empiric treatment of mild/moderate community-acquired intra-abdominal infections and mild/moderate upper urinary tract infections in adults and children at high risk of infections caused by extended-spectrum  $\beta$ -lactamase (ESBL)-producing Enterobacterales.

#### Applicant

Global Antibiotic Research and Development Partnership (GARDP)

#### WHO technical department

The Global Coordination and Partnership department within the Antimicrobial Resistance division reviewed and provided comments on the application. The technical department acknowledged that flomoxef sodium could have an added role in the treatment of the indications outlined and could potentially be a viable carbapenem-sparing option for the treatment of resistant bacterial infections caused by ESBL-producing Enterobacterales, especially in settings with a high prevalence of ESBL-producing Enterobacterales. However, the technical department considered that more in vivo data were needed to support its inclusion on the Model Lists. Additionally, it was noted that flomoxef sodium may be of interest for the management of neonatal sepsis but that a determination in this regard is currently premature. However, flomoxef sodium could be considered for inclusion in the future once more data become available, including from the ongoing GARDP neonatal sepsis trials.

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

6.2.2 Watch group antibiotics

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Powder for injection: 0.5 g, 1 g in vial

#### Core/complementary

Core

Individual/square box listing

#### Background

Flomoxef sodium has not been previously considered for inclusion on the EML. It has been classified as a watch group antibiotic under the AWaRe (Access, Watch, Reserve) classification.

Flomoxef sodium is an oxacephem antibiotic belonging to the oxacephem subclass of second-generation cephalosporins that are not inactivated by ESBL and narrow spectrum  $\beta$ -lactamases. However, flomoxef sodium is inactivated by carbapenemases and class C  $\beta$ -lactamases (AmpC). It has good activity against Gram-positive (except *Enterococcus* spp.) and Gram-negative bacteria (except *Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Acinetobacter* and Enterobacterales producing AmpC) and against anaerobes.

## Public health relevance

There is currently no efficacious and safe alternative to the use of carbapenems for patients who are not severely ill but need treatment for intra-abdominal infections and upper urinary tract infections caused by ESBL-producing Enterobacterales, which are often quinolone resistant. However, overuse of carbapenems has caused increasing levels of carbapenem resistance, especially in pathogens that are transmitted in hospitals, increasing the urgency for alternative carbapenemsparing options especially for non-severe infections.

Cephamycins have been identified as potential definitive treatments of non-severe urinary tract infections caused by ESBL-producing Enterobacterales in a recent systematic review (1) and in two narrative reviews on this topic (2,3).

## Summary of evidence: benefits

Flomoxef sodium was first approved in 1988, based on clinical studies that were conducted between 1983 and 1988. Given the age of the antibiotic and the old pivotal trials that were conducted with different standards of rigor, the applicants compiled the evidence of efficacy based on a combination of in vitro susceptibility studies, clinical trials literature review and recommendations in guidelines.

## In-vitro studies

The application reported the main findings of 14 studies (mostly conducted in Asia) that assessed the in vitro activity of flomoxef sodium against clinical isolates (4-17). They demonstrated a wide range of species susceptible to flomoxef sodium, both Gram-positive and Gram-negative organisms, including ESBL-producing Enterobacterales (especially the enzymes from the CTX-M group). However, flomoxef sodium did not exhibit antibacterial activity against Enterobacterales

with inducible chromosomal AmpC (e.g. *Enterobacter cloacae*, *Serratia marcescens* and *Citrobacter freundii*) and it was inhibited by carbapenemases. It was also not active against *Enterococcus* spp., *Pseudomonas* spp. and *Acinetobacter* spp. The application stated that based on these in vitro studies, flomoxef displays potentially better activity than both third- and fourth-generation cephalosporins and piperacillin-tazobactam" and that flomoxef activity is inferior to the activity of all carbapenems.

#### In vitro susceptibility studies conducted by GARDP

In 2018, susceptibility to flomoxef sodium was evaluated and compared with meropenem in 40 Enterobacterales from the International Health Management Associates repository (collected from worldwide locations between 2013 and 2016) (18). Flomoxef sodium showed potent activity against the 26 ESBLproducing Enterobacterales, with a minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) to inhibit growth of 50% of organisms (MIC<sub>50</sub>) at 0.06/0.12 mg/L, and an MIC to inhibit growth of 90% of organisms (MIC<sub>on</sub>) at 8 mg/L but it was inactive against the three carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae and AmpC producers. A second study tested flomoxef sodium on about 1000 Enterobacterales isolates collected between 2019 and 2021, of which 80% were resistant to third-generation cephalosporins - (70% of these were ESBL producers (19). Susceptibility to flomoxef sodium was observed in 816 isolates (82%). In comparison, susceptibility to cefuroxime was 17%, susceptibility to ceftazidime 21% and susceptibility to piperacillin-tazobactam 41%. Amikacin and fosfomycin also exhibited potent activity against the isolates of the panel, with 90% of them being susceptible. Resistance to flomoxef sodium was mainly due to AmpC and/or carbapenemase expression, although 17 (2%) ESBLproducing isolates were resistant to flomoxef sodium.

#### Data from preapproval studies and postmarketing use

Data were derived from the interview form version 11 (February 2022) (20) which, in Japan, the market authorization holder is required to provide to complement the information in the package insert. Data from preapproval studies were pooled, about 1500 patients including all indications. For urinary tract infections the pooled cure rate was 63.0% and for acute prostatitis 95.0%. For intra-abdominal infections (peritonitis and intra-abdominal abscess), the pooled cure rate was 81.6% (71.8% for cholecystitis and cholangitis).

Data from postmarketing use included almost 25 000 patients. Reported pooled cure rates were 84.2% for upper urinary tract infections and 89.5% for prostatitis/urethritis. For intra-abdominal infections (peritonitis and intra-abdominal abscess), pooled cure rates were 84.6% (83.4% for cholecystitis and cholangitis) and 91.3% in children. Cure rates were lower for severe compared to mild infections (67.9% versus 84.6% for urinary tract infections, 76.4% versus

87.2% for intra-abdominal infections) and for bloodstream/systemic infections (44.8% cure rates for severe systemic infections versus 78.7% for mild systemic infections).

# Systematic review

GARDP conducted a systematic literature review for the purpose of the application, with the primary objective of identifying clinical efficacy and safety data for flomoxef sodium in adults, children and neonates. They included 37 studies from English databases and 176 from a Japanese database. Most studies were published before 2000, were uncontrolled and included patients with multiple sources of infection within the same study. A meta-analysis could therefore not be performed due to the low quality of studies. However, the applicants performed a targeted analysis of the subset of studies focused on intra-abdominal and urinary tract infections. Results were presented by type of infection.

#### Intra-abdominal infections

Eight studies (one randomized controlled trial, four single-arm trials and three observational studies) were identified. The randomized, double-blind, multicentre trial compared flomoxef sodium (1 g every 12 hours for 10 days) with cefotiam (1 g every 12 hours for 10 days) in 296 patients aged 16 years and older with postoperative infections (*21*). This was one of the pivotal trials that led to the approval of the medicine in Japan. As the trial was conducted in the 1987, no patients had intra-abdominal infections caused by ESBL-producing Enterobacterales. The per-protocol analysis included 253 evaluable patients. The clinical cure rate in the overall population was 71.4% (90/126; 95% confidence interval (CI) 63.5% to 79.3%) for flomoxef sodium and 62.2% (79/127; 95% CI 53.8% to 70.6%) for cefotiam, with no statistically significant difference. Of note, in patients with postoperative infections of the abdominal cavity and retroperitoneal space, the cure rate was significantly higher for flomoxef sodium (67.3% (37/55); 95% CI 54.9% to 79.7%) than for cefotiam (49.2% (30/61); 95% CI 36.6% to 61.7%).

Results from observational studies of flomoxef sodium for the treatment of postsurgical intra-abdominal infections reported high cure rates of > 90% (22–24). A single-arm study, including only patients with biliary tract infections, reported an overall cure rate of 77.8%. The cure rate was higher for the cholecystitis subgroup (90.0%) but lower for the cholangitis subgroup (70.6%) (25). Two other single-arm studies in women reported overall cure rates of 89.4% and 90.5% for pelvic infections treated with flomoxef sodium (26,27).

## Urinary tract infections

Sixteen studies (one randomized controlled trial, three single-arm trials and 12 observational studies) were identified. The randomized controlled trial

was a double-blind, multicentre trial in adults with complicated urinary tract infections where flomoxef sodium (1 g given every 12 hours for 5 days) was compared with latamoxef (1 g given every 12 hours for 5 days) (28). The primary outcome was clinical cure. Clinical response was rated on a three-point scale (excellent, moderate or poor) based on the presence or absence of pyuria and/or bacteriuria at day 5 or end of treatment. The clinical cure rate was 68.2% (60/88, 95% CI 58.5% to 77.9%) for flomoxef sodium and 69.6% (78/112, 95% CI 61.1% to 78.2 %) for latamoxef when including all pathogens except *P. aeruginosa*. When only *Escherichia coli* infections were included, cure rates were higher in both groups (90.6% with flomoxef sodium versus 92.6% with latamoxef). As the trial was conducted in 1987, no infections were caused by extended-spectrum  $\beta$ -lactamase Enterobacterales.

Of the 15 remaining uncontrolled studies, five had more than 25 patients (29-33) and showed varying clinical cure rates ranging from 50% (31) to 72% in patients with strains susceptible to flomoxef sodium (32). Ten studies included fewer than 25 patients (27,34-40) with clinical cure rates ranging from 45% to 100% with most having rates in the overall population of about 65%. The applicants noted that results of most of these observational trials were difficult to interpret as they enrolled few patients with infections in different sites and of varying severity.

#### **Bloodstream infections**

Five observational retrospective studies assessed the efficacy of flomoxef sodium monotherapy for the treatment of bloodstream infections caused by ESBLproducing Enterobacterales. Data for only four studies were available, three of which compared flomoxef sodium with a carbapenem, and one had no comparator (41-44). Overall, the conclusions were that the appropriateness of flomoxef sodium seems to depend on the MIC and severity of disease. One study compared flomoxef sodium (1 g given every 6 hours) with carbapenems (43). The 30-day all-cause mortality was 28.8% (95% CI 21.2% to 37.3%) in the flomoxef sodium group and 12.8% (95% CI 9.0% to 17.6%) in the carbapenem group (P < 0.01). However, a subgroup analysis showed that with a flomoxef sodium MIC of < 1 mg/L, no statistically significant difference was seen in the 30-day all-cause mortality between the two groups (8.7% with flomoxef sodium and 6.4% with meropenem, P = 0.73). However, the difference was statistically significant for flomoxef sodium MIC levels of 2-8 mg/L (38.4% with flomoxef sodium and 15.6% with carbapenems, P < 0.01). In another study comparing flomoxef sodium with ertapenem for the treatment of adults with sepsis with a confirmed bacteraemia due to ESBL-producing Enterobacterales (42), no statistically significant difference in the 28-day all-cause mortality was observed between treatment groups - 20.7% (95% CI 11.2% to 33.4%) for flomoxef sodium and 15.4% (95% CI 10.6% to 21.4%)

for ertapenem, P = 0.42). In a study comparing flomoxef sodium and ertapenem in adult patients with haemodialysis and bacteraemia due to ESBL-producing *K*. *pneumoniae*, there was a statistically significant difference in the 14-day mortality between flomoxef sodium and ertapenem (73.0% versus 47.0%, P < 0.05) (44).

#### Efficacy in children

According to the applicants, efficacy of flomoxef sodium in children is challenging to interpret as most studies are old, uncontrolled, have small sample sizes and included patients with multiple sources of infections in the same study. The application focused on the efficacy of flomoxef sodium for the treatment of urinary tract and intra-abdominal infections. Only two studies with more than 10 patients were available and reported data on the efficacy of flomoxef sodium for the treatment of urinary tract infections (45,46). In both cases, clinical cure rates were 100%, but due to the small sample sizes (13 and 10 patients, respectively), the results were difficult to interpret. No studies with more than 10 patients were available for intra-abdominal infections. The applicants concluded that, given that urinary tract and intra-abdominal infections present similarly in children and adults, extrapolation of efficacy for these indications is generally accepted by regulatory authorities.

#### Pharmacokinetic (PK) and pharmacodynamics (PD) studies

Evidence in adults comes from two recent studies. The optimal dosage for the treatment of urinary tract infections caused by ESBL-producing Enterobacterales was 1 g every 6 hours with normal renal function (taking 70% time above MIC as PK/PD index) (47). For intra-abdominal infections, PK/PD simulations showed the dosing regimens of 1 g 3–4 times a day had a bactericidal effect in all tissues (at an MIC of 1 mg/L and using 40% time above MIC as the PK/PD index (48). PK/PD data for neonates presented in the application suggest three different doses in the first month of life (20 mg/kg given every 12 hours in the first week, then every 6 to 8 hours in the second week and then 40 mg/kg given every 6 to 8 hours in the third and fourth week of life) (49).

Of note, there is no MIC breakpoint available for flomoxef sodium and physicians in countries where flomoxef sodium is available are using the latamoxef or moxalactam MIC breakpoint, which is available from the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute but not from the European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing. Moxalactam is no longer in use and latamoxef is only used in Japan.

The application concluded that the available evidence suggests flomoxef sodium is effective for the treatment of mild and moderate urinary tract and intraabdominal infections. However, most evidence comes from old studies that were often not as methodologically rigorous as would be required today. Additionally, all data (including PK data) come from Asia, and it is unclear if differences may exist in different populations. Importantly, flomoxef sodium monotherapy for the indication of bloodstream/systemic infections showed lower efficacy with increasing severity, suggesting that this agent on its own may not be appropriate in cases with severe infections.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

Safety data are derived both from patients exposed in clinical trials (about 3400 patients exposed before 1988) and patients exposed in the postmarketing setting (estimated 20.6 million patients based on sales data between 1988 and 2022). In general, the safety of flomoxef sodium is comparable to other cephalosporins and the incidence of adverse events in children and adults is similar. As with other cephalosporins, frail elderly patients who may have concomitant vitamin deficiencies, particularly vitamin K deficiencies, must be monitored closely for bleeding disorders when treated with flomoxef sodium. In pregnant and breastfeeding women, the safety of flomoxef sodium has not yet been established.

Safety data in adults were extrapolated from the Japanese Flumarin<sup>®</sup> information sheet (50) and the Shionogi & Co. Interview Form v11 (February 2022) (20). According to these documents, the incidence of adverse reactions was 12.7% (414/3267 patients) in clinical trials and 2.9% (810/27 651) in a 6-year postmarketing observational survey. Seven types of clinically significant adverse reactions are reported, however no incidence data are available – shock/anaphylaxis, acute renal injury, pancytopenia/agranulocytosis/ thrombocytopenia/haemolytic anaemia, pseudomembranous colitis, toxic epidermal necrolysis/Stevens–Johnson syndrome, interstitial pneumonia/ pulmonary infiltration with eosinophilia, and hepatic dysfunction/jaundice. The applicants hypothesize that these adverse reactions are rare events (< 0.1% of patients) based on previous versions of the Interview Form. Less than 5% of patients treated with flomoxef sodium had at least one adverse event in the nine small trials included in the systematic review performed by GARDP. Diarrhoea was reported in 1.4–4.4% of participants.

Safety data in children are very limited. In the 6-year postmarketing observational survey, the incidence of adverse events was higher in infants (4.4%, 16/360) compared with older children up to 15 years (2.6% (74/2840). The incidence of adverse events tended to increase with longer treatment even though most children (97%) in the cohort were treated for < 14 days. Most adverse events were classified as gastrointestinal disorders. In the systematic review performed by GARDP, the overall incidence of adverse events in children was < 5%, with diarrhoea being the most frequent adverse event reported.

#### **WHO** guidelines

Flomoxef sodium is not currently included in existing WHO guidelines.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

No published cost-effectiveness studies are available for flomoxef sodium. The application included a summary of available data of the wholesale prices of flomoxef sodium in some markets where it is available. Reported prices were US\$ 5.16 (for 0.5 g) and US\$ 10.35-10.38 (for 1 g).

#### Availability

Flomoxef sodium is off-patent and is currently available only in a small number of Asian countries. The three manufactures are all located in Asia and Shionogi & Co. has about 60% of the total market share.

#### Other considerations

The EML Antimicrobial Working Group reviewed the application and advised that it did not support the inclusion of flomoxef sodium for the treatment of intra-abdominal and upper urinary tract infections in adults and children at high risk of infection caused by ESBL-producing Enterobacterales on the EML and EMLc at this time.

The Working Group acknowledged that flomoxef sodium is associated with some positive characteristics such as activity against most strains of ESBLproducing Enterobacterales. It therefore could be used as an alternative to carbapenems for empiric or targeted use of infections suspected or known to be caused by these organisms in certain situations. The Working Group also noted that there was considerable real-life experience of effective and safe use of this antibiotic over several decades in millions of patients in some countries in Asia.

The Working Group noted, however, that: clinical data specifically for the efficacy of flomoxef sodium for the treatment of infections by ESBLproducing Enterobacterales were limited (especially for severe infections where it would be most useful); clinical trial data mostly predate the period when ESBL-producing Enterobacterales emerged as a common pathogen; clinical experience was mostly limited to a few Asian countries where the medicine is currently approved; validated clinical breakpoints for susceptibility testing were not available from the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute or the European Committee for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing; and a trial funded by the applicant studying flomoxef sodium in combination with another antibiotic for neonatal sepsis (an indication not requested in this application) was still ongoing, with active recruitment. Furthermore, the Working Group considered that there were also other  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics that could be used as carbapenem-sparing options due to their activity against ESBL-producing Enterobacterales (e.g. temocillin, cefoxitin) that have not been evaluated for addition to the Model Lists.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Committee noted that while the available in vitro studies demonstrate that flomoxef sodium has activity against most strains of ESBL-producing Enterobacterales, validated clinical breakpoints for susceptibility testing were not currently available. The Committee also noted that most clinical trials of flomoxef sodium were performed before the emergence of ESBL-producing Enterobacterales as a common pathogen, and that evidence for the efficacy of flomoxef sodium in severe infections, where it may be of greatest value, was limited. The Committee also considered that clinical evidence for flomoxef sodium in comparison with other potentially carbapenem-sparing antibiotics in the treatment of infections caused by ESBL-producing Enterobacterales was not available.

The Committee also noted that real-life experience of effective and safe use of flomoxef sodium was considerable, albeit limited to few countries in Asia. Furthermore, the Committee noted that the current market availability of flomoxef sodium was similarly limited to a small number of Asian countries.

Because of these limitations, the Expert Committee considered the evidence for flomoxef sodium was uncertain, and therefore did not recommend its inclusion on the EML and EMLc for empiric treatment of community-acquired mild/moderate intra-abdominal and upper urinary tract infections caused by ESBL-producing Enterobacterales.

However, the Committee acknowledged the need for effective carbapenem-sparing treatments for infections caused by ESBL-producing Enterobacterales, especially in settings where the pathogen is highly prevalent. Given this need, the Committee considered that future evaluation of flomoxef sodium may be worthwhile once more data are available, including those from the ongoing trial in neonatal sepsis.

#### References

- 1. Aslan AT, Akova M. Extended spectrum β-lactamase producing enterobacteriaceae: carbapenem sparing options. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther. 2019;17(12):969–81.
- 2. Karaiskos I, Giamarellou H. Carbapenem-sparing strategies for ESBL Producers: when and how. Antibiotics (Basel). 2020;9(2):61.
- 3. Gutierrez-Gutierrez B, Rodriguez-Bano J. Current options for the treatment of infections due to extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing Enterobacteriaceae in different groups of patients. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2019;25(8):932–42.
- 4. Simon C, Simon M, Plieth C. In vitro activity of flomoxef in comparison to other cephalosporins. Infection. 1988;16(2):131–4.
- Ruckdeschel G, Eder W. Comparative in vitro activity of the new oxacephem antibiotic, flomoxef (6315-S). Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 1988;7(5):687–91.

 Bauernfeind A, Schweighart S, Eberlein E, Jungwirth R. In vitro activity and stability against novel beta-lactamases of investigational beta-lactams (cefepime, cefpirome, flomoxef, SCE2787 and piperacillin plus tazobactam) in comparison with established compounds (cefotaxime, latamoxef and piperacillin). Infection. 1991;19(Suppl 5):S264–75.

- 7. Cui L, Li Y, Lv Y, Xue F, Liu J. Antimicrobial resistance surveillance of flomoxef in China. J Infect Chemother. 2015;21(5):402–4.
- 8. Yang Q, Zhang H, Cheng J, Xu Z, Xu Y, Cao B, et al. In vitro activity of flomoxef and comparators against Escherichia coli, Klebsiella pneumoniae and Proteus mirabilis producing extended-spectrum beta-lactamases in China. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2015;45(5):485–90.
- Yang Q, Zhang H, Cheng J, Xu Z, Hou X, Xu Y. Flomoxef showed excellent in vitro activity against clinically important gram-positive and gram-negative pathogens causing community- and hospital-associated infections. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. 2015;81(4):269–74.
- Sato T, Hara T, Horiyama T, Kanazawa S, Yamaguchi T, Maki H. Mechanism of resistance and antibacterial susceptibility in extended-spectrum beta-lactamase phenotype Klebsiella pneumoniae and Klebsiella oxytoca isolated between 2000 and 2010 in Japan. J Med Microbiol. 2015;64(Pt 5):538–43.
- Matsumura Y, Yamamoto M, Nagao M, Tanaka M, Takakura S, Ichiyama S. In vitro activities and detection performances of cefmetazole and flomoxef for extended-spectrum beta-lactamase and plasmid-mediated AmpC beta-lactamase-producing Enterobacteriaceae. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. 2016;84(4):322–7.
- Chiu CC, Lin TC, Wu RX, Yang YS, Hsiao PJ, Lee Y, et al. Etiologies of community-onset urinary tract infections requiring hospitalization and antimicrobial susceptibilities of causative microorganisms. J Microbiol Immunol Infect. 2017;50(6):879–85.
- 13. Takesue Y, Kusachi S, Mikamo H, Sato J, Watanabe A, Kiyota H, et al. Antimicrobial susceptibility of pathogens isolated from surgical site infections in Japan: comparison of data from nationwide surveillance studies conducted in 2010 and 2014–2015. J Infect Chemother. 2017;23(6):339–48.
- 14. Fujita K, Takata I, Sugiyama H, Suematsu H, Yamagishi Y, Mikamo H. Antimicrobial susceptibilities of clinical isolates of the anaerobic bacteria which can cause aspiration pneumonia. Anaerobe. 2019;57:86–9.
- Miyazaki M, Yamada Y, Matsuo K, Komiya Y, Uchiyama M, Nagata N, et al. Change in the antimicrobial resistance profile of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing Escherichia coli. J Clin Med Res. 2019;11(9):635–41.
- 16. Ngoi ST, Muhamad AN, Teh CSJ, Chong CW, Abdul Jabar K, Chai LC, et al. Beta-lactam resistance in upper respiratory tract pathogens isolated from a tertiary hospital in Malaysia. Pathogens. 2021;10(12):1062.
- 17. Ngoi ST, Teh CSJ, Chong CW, Abdul Jabar K, Tan SC, Yu LH, et al. In vitro efficacy of flomoxef against extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing Escherichia coli and Klebsiella pneumoniae associated with urinary tract infections in Malaysia. Antibiotics (Basel). 2021;10(2):181.
- 18. Activity of flomoxef against selected Enterobacteriaceae with extended-spectrum beta-lactamases and CMY (AmpC) beta-lactamases. Report study 3464-1. Monthey: IHMA Europe Sàrl; 2018.
- 19. Antimicrobial susceptibility testing of global clinical isolates. Report study 5158. Monthey: IHMA Europe Sàrl; 2022.
- 20. [Pharmaceutical interview form 11th version for FLUMARIN<sup>®</sup> 0.5 g, 1 g and 1 g kit for intravenous injection]. Osaka: Shionogi & Co. Ltd; 2022 [Japanese].

21. Sakai K, Fujimoto M, Ueda T, Nakamura T, Hashimoto I, Sawada Y, et al. [A comparative study on the efficacy of 6315-S (flomoxef) and cefotiam against postoperative infections]. Chemotherapy. 1987;35:912-43 [Japanese].

- 22. Shimada M, Takenaka K, Sugimachi K. A comprehensive multi-institutional study of empiric therapy with flomoxef in surgical infections of the digestive organs. J Chemother. 1994;6(4):251–6.
- 23. Niwa H, Kataoka M, Kobayashi S, Yamakawa Y, Masaoka A, Hotta T, et al. [Clinical efficacy of flomoxef in surgical infections patients. assessment of empiric therapy]. Clin Rep. 1993;27(11):4413–20 [Japanese].
- 24. Ota J, Taguchi T, Kawahara T, Endoh S, Tomita K, Matsunaga S, et al. [6315-S (flomoxef) in surgical infections]. Chemotherapy. 1987;35:884–95 [Japanese].
- 25. Tanimura H, Kobayashi N, Saito T, Huang W, Yoshida K, Takahashi H, et al. [Chemotherapy of biliary tract infection: tissue concentration in gallbladder, biliary excretion and clinical effects of 6315-S (flomoxef)]. Chemotherapy. 1987;35:852–73 [Japanese].
- Matsuda S, Okada H, Ninomiya K, Shimizu T, Noda K, Deguchi K. [Experimental and clinical studies of flomoxef in the field of obstetrics and gynecology]. Jpn J Antibiot. 1988;41(12):1822–40 [Japanese].
- 27. Chimura T, Kaneko S, Haraya H, Imai T, Funaki K, Tada K, et al. [Empiric therapy of flomoxef for treatment of obstetric-gynecological infections and the prophylaxis of postoperative infections]. Antibiot Chemother. 1992;8(2):129–39 [Japanese].
- 28. Kumazawa J, Matsumoto T, Kumamoto Y, Orikasa S, Niijima T, Macheda T, et al. [6315-S (flomoxef) in complicated urinary tract infections: a double-blind controlled study using LMOX]. Chemotherapy. 1987;35:1138–63 [Japanese].
- 29. Goto T, Yamauchi D, Ohi Y, Kawahara K, Mizuma Y, Nakame Y, et al. [Empiric therapy with flomoxef for febrile patients with urinary tract infections]. Antibiot Chemother. 1992;8(11):2236–42 [Japanese].
- 30. Matsumoto T, Kitada S, Kumazawa J, Yokoo D, H. I, Ikeda M, et al. [Clinical experience with 6315-S (flomoxef) in urinary tract infection]. Chemotherapy. 1987;35:1102–21 [Japanese].
- Kobayashi N, Yoshida K, Saitoh H, Negishi T, Yamada T, Kageyama Y, et al. [Clinical efficacy of flomoxef (FMOX) on patients with complicated urinary tract infections and patients with acute bacterial prostatitis]. Clin Rep. 1990;24(8):4121–9 [Japanese].
- 32. Mizuno A, Kishi M, Miyata K, Kumon H, Ohmori H, Kondo K, et al. [6315-S (Flomoxef) in complicated urinary tract infections]. Chemotherapy. 1987;35:1070–83 [Japanese].
- 33. Ohta N, Sudoko H, Fukuta K, Nakano M, Ushiyama T, Tajima A, et al. [Clinical trials of flomoxef in complicated urinary tract infections]. Jpn J Antibiot. 1987;40(10):1835–44 [Japanese].
- 34. Kuriyama M, Takahashi Y, Kato N, Ban Y, Nishiura T, Hasegawa Y, et al. 6315-S (flomoxef), a newly synthesized oxacephem, in urology. Chemotherapy. 1987;35:1032–49.
- 35. Fujii A, Nakanishi T, Matsumoto O, Kataoka N, Sia I, Kamidono S, et al. [6315-S (flomoxef) in urinary tract infection]. Chemotherapy. 1987;35:1059–69 [Japanese].
- 36. Goto T, Shimada T, Kawahara M, Kawabata T, Sakamoto N, Ohi Y, et al. [6315-S (Flomoxef) in Urinary Tract Infection]. Chemotherapy. 1987;35:1130-7 [Japanese].
- 37. Miyake M, Okayama S, Hirose T, Saito S, Kumamoto Y, Nishio A, et al. [6315-S (Flomoxef) in complicated urinary tract infection]. Chemotherapy. 1987;35:952–67 [Japanese].
- 38. Sumii T, Sanda N, Seko S, Onishi Y, Nakano H, Nihira H, et al. [6315-S (flomoxef) in urology]. Chemotherapy. 1987;35:1084–93 [Japanese].

118

- Suzuki K, Takanashi K, Naide Y, Ogawa T, Tamai H, Arai T. [6315-S (flomoxef) in urological infections]. Chemotherapy. 1987;35:1016–31 [Japanese].
- 40. Tominaga T, Kitahara K, Kishi H, Niijima T, Ishii Y, Saitoh I, et al. [6315-S (flomoxef) in urology]. Chemotherapy. 1987;35:979–88 [Japanese].
- Lee CH, Chen IL, Li CC, Chien CC. Relation between flomoxef minimum inhibitory concentrations and clinical outcomes of patients treated with flomoxef for Enterobacteriaceae bacteremia. Infect Drug Resist. 2018;11:2471–80.
- 42. Lee CH, Chen IL, Li CC, Chien CC. Clinical benefit of ertapenem compared to flomoxef for the treatment of cefotaxime-resistant Enterobacteriaceae bacteremia. Infect Drug Resist. 2018;11:257-66.
- 43. Lee CH, Su LH, Chen FJ, Tang YF, Li CC, Chien CC, et al. Comparative effectiveness of flomoxef versus carbapenems in the treatment of bacteraemia due to extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing Escherichia coli or Klebsiella pneumoniae with emphasis on minimum inhibitory concentration of flomoxef: a retrospective study. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2015;46(6):610–5.
- 44. Yang CC, Wu CH, Lee CT, Liu HT, Chen JB, Chiu CH, et al. Nosocomial extended-spectrum betalactamase-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae bacteremia in hemodialysis patients and the implications for antibiotic therapy. Int J Infect Dis. 2014;28:3–7.
- Fujii R, Fujita K, Murono K, Saijo M, Kakuya F, Yoshioko H, et al. [Pharmacokinetics and clinical studies on Flomoxef in neonates and premature infants]. Jpn J Antibiot. 1993;46(7):518–38 [Japanese].
- 46. Motohiro T, Oda K, Aramaki M, Kawakami A, Tanaka K, Koga T, et al. [Pharmacokinetics and clinical studies of flomoxef in the paediatric field]. Jpn J Antibiot. 1987;40(8):1515-34 [Japanese].
- 47. Hamada Y, Kasai H, Suzuki-Ito M, Matsumura Y, Doi Y, Hayakawa K. Pharmacokinetic/ pharmacodynamic analysis and dose optimization of cefmetazole and flomoxef against extendedspectrum beta-lactamase-producing Enterobacterales in patients with invasive urinary tract infection considering renal function. Antibiotics (Basel). 2022;11(4):456.
- 48. Hirano T, Ohge H, Ikawa K, Uegami S, Watadani Y, Shigemoto N, et al. Pharmacokinetics of flomoxef in plasma, peritoneal fluid, peritoneum, and subcutaneous adipose tissue of patients undergoing lower gastrointestinal surgery: dosing considerations based on site-specific pharmacodynamic target attainment. J Infect Chemother. 2023;29(2):186–92.
- 49. Darlow CA, Hope W. Flomoxef for neonates: extending options for treatment of neonatal sepsis caused by ESBL-producing Enterobacterales. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2022;77(3):711–8.
- [Japanese Pharmacopoeia (product information sheet) for FLUMARIN® for intravenous injection]. Osaka: Shionogi & Co. Ltd; 2022 [Japanese].

# 6.2.3 Reserve group antibiotics

Ceftolozane + tazobactam – addition – EML and EMLc

#### Ceftolozane + tazobactam

# ATC code: J01DI54

#### Proposal

Addition of ceftolozane + tazobactam to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc as a reserve antibiotic for use in the treatment of confirmed or suspected infections due to multidrug-resistant organisms.

#### Applicant

Merck, Sharp & Dohme, Rahway, NJ, United States of America

#### WHO technical department

The Global Coordination and Partnership department within the Antimicrobial Resistance division reviewed the application and advised that it supported the inclusion of ceftolozane + tazobactam on the Model Lists as a reserve group antibiotic. The technical department stressed that the use of ceftolozane + tazobactam must always be informed by evidence-based guidance and strong stewardship activities, and that access and affordability of the medicine must be considered, particularly for patients in low- and middle-income countries.

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

#### Section

6.2.3 Reserve group antibiotics

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Powder for injection: 1 g + 0.5 g in vial

#### Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

## Background

Ceftolozane + tazobactam was previously considered for inclusion on the EML for treatment of infections due to carbapenem-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Inclusion was not recommended at the time, with the Expert Committee noting

120

that although ceftolozane + tazobactam was active against some strains of carbapenem-resistant *P. aeruginosa*, it lacked activity against carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae, which is more prevalent in the community and represents a greater public health threat (1).

#### Public health relevance

According to data from the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, from 2015 to 2017, *Escherichia coli*, *Klebsiella pneumoniae* and *P. aeruginosa* represented over 30% of all pathogens associated with health careassociated infections in US hospitals (2).

A recent study estimated that drug-resistant *E. coli*, *K. pneumoniae*, and *P. aeruginosa* were directly responsible for almost 500 000 deaths globally in 2019 (3). Rates of resistance of these pathogens to carbapenems and third-generation cephalosporins show wide global variability. For example, resistance of *P. aeruginosa* to carbapenems is reported to range from 8% in Australia and the United Kingdom, to 30% in India and South Africa, to 87% in Belarus (4).

In 2017, WHO designated carbapenem-resistant *P. aeruginosa* and carbapenem-resistant and third-generation cephalosporin-resistant Enterobacterales critical priority pathogens in need of new therapeutic options (5).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The applicants conducted a comprehensive review of the available evidence for ceftolozane + tazobactam. A summary of the included evidence published since the 2019 EML application is reported below. A summary of the evidence considered in the 2019 application is reported in the technical report of the 2019 Expert Committee meeting (1).

#### Randomized clinical trials

ASPECT-NP was a randomized, double-blind, non-inferiority, phase III trial assessing the efficacy and safety of ceftolozane + tazobactam (3 g every 8 hours) compared with meropenem (1 g every 8 hours) for the treatment of adults with Gram-negative nosocomial pneumonia – ventilated hospital-acquired pneumonia (HAP) and ventilator-associated pneumonia (VAP) (6). Antibiotic treatment was given for 8–14 days. The primary efficacy endpoint was all-cause mortality at day 28 in the intention-to-treat population. Mortality at 28 days was 24.0% in the ceftolozane + tazobactam group and 25.3% in the meropenem group with a weighted treatment difference of 1.1% (95% confidence interval (CI) –5.1% to 7.4%). Ceftolozane + tazobactam met the criteria for non-inferiority to meropenem with a prespecified 10% margin. In the VAP subgroup, 28-day mortality was 24% in the ceftolozane + tazobactam group and 20.3% in the meropenem group with a weighted treatment difference of -3.6% (95% CI –10.7%

to 3.5%). Of note, the lower limit of the 95% CI included the 10% non-inferiority margin (i.e. results inconclusive), but the authors stated that this analysis was not powered for non-inferiority testing. The key secondary endpoint was clinical response 7–14 days after the end of therapy. Clinical cure was achieved in 54% of patients in the ceftolozane + tazobactam group and 53% in the meropenem group with a weighted treatment difference of 1.1% (95% CI –6.2% to 8.3%) demonstrating non-inferiority of ceftolozane + tazobactam with a prespecified 12.5% margin.

A substudy of the ASPECT-NP trial investigated the emergence of nonsusceptibility and found that all 59 isolates that were susceptible to ceftolozane + tazobactam at baseline remained susceptible, while 22.4% (13/58) of those initially susceptible to meropenem became resistant during treatment (7).

A randomized, single-centre, open-label trial compared the efficacy and safety of ceftolozane + tazobactam (1.5 g every 8 hours plus vancomycin, daptomycin or linezolid) with standard of care (cefepime, piperacillin + tazobactam or meropenem plus vancomycin, daptomycin or linezolid) for the empiric treatment of febrile neutropenia in 100 adults with haematological malignancies (8). The duration of treatment was between 3 and 14 days. The primary efficacy endpoint was favourable clinical response at the end of intravenous treatment in the modified intention-to-treat population. The noninferiority margin for the primary outcome was 10%. At the end of intravenous treatment, the proportion of patients with a favourable clinical response was higher in the ceftolozane + tazobactam group than the standard of care group (87% versus 72%, P = 0.1). From the 1-sided non-inferiority analysis, noninferiority of ceftolozane + tazobactam was concluded because the lower limit of the 95% CI for favourable clinical response was -1.4% (i.e. it did not cross the prespecified -10% non-inferiority margin). All-cause 30-day mortality was 4% in both treatment groups with no deaths attributed to the infection.

#### **Observational studies**

A retrospective study using data collected from 20 hospitals in the United States investigated outcomes in 205 patients who received ceftolozane + tazobactam for the treatment of multidrug-resistant P. aeruginosa infections from any source (pneumonia in 59% of cases) (9). The primary outcome was 30-day and inpatient mortality. Secondary outcomes were clinical success and microbiological cure. Death occurred in 39 patients (19.0%), clinical success in 151 (73.7%) and microbiological cure in 145 (70.7%). Of note the median time from culture collection to treatment initiation was 9 days. Commencement of treatment with ceftolozane + tazobactam more than 4 days after culture collection was associated with worse outcomes in the multivariable analysis (odds ratio (OR) 5.5, 95% CI 2.1 to 14.4) although a causative association cannot be assumed. High doses of ceftolozane + tazobactam (3 g every 8 hours) were used in 47.3% of patients.

Another retrospective study reported outcomes in 101 adult patients with severe *P. aeruginosa* infections from any source (pneumonia in 31.7% of cases) treated with ceftolozane + tazobactam in 22 hospitals across Italy (*10*). Just over half (52.5%) of the patients were infected with an extensively drug-resistant or pandrug-resistant isolate, 17.8% with a multidrug-resistant isolate and 29.7% were classified as non-multidrug-resistant. The primary outcome was clinical success at the end of treatment which occurred in 83.2% of cases – 77.7% of cases with multidrug-resistant infections, 81.1% with extensively drug-resistant or pandrug-resistant infections, and 90% with non-multidrug-resistant infections. Predictive factors for clinical failure included sepsis (OR 3.02, P = 0.05) and continuous renal replacement therapy (OR 4.50, P = 0.02). High doses of ceftolozane + tazobactam (3 g every 8 hours) were used in 65.6% of patients.

A case-control study in Spain compared patients with haematological malignancy and *P. aeruginosa* infection treated with ceftolozane + tazobactam (19 cases) or other antibiotics (38 controls) (*11*). A higher proportion of cases than controls had neutropenia (63.2% versus 52.6%) and were infected with extensively drug-resistant pathogens (47.4% versus 21.1%). Patients treated with ceftolozane + tazobactam had higher clinical success rates than controls (89.5% versus 71.1%) and lower mortality (5.3% versus 28.9%).

Another retrospective, multicentre observational cohort study compared ceftolozane + tazobactam with treatment with either polymyxins or aminoglycosides-based regimens for infections due to drug-resistant *P. aeruginosa* (12). Baseline characteristics were similar between the two groups and the outcomes assessed were clinical cure, acute kidney injury and in-hospital mortality. Clinical cure was 81% in the ceftolozane + tazobactam group and 61% in the comparator group. In-hospital mortality was 20% with ceftolozane + tazobactam and 25% in the comparator group. The development of acute kidney injury occurred in 6% of patients treated with ceftolozane + tazobactam and 34% of patients in the comparator group. After adjusting for differences between groups, treatment with ceftolozane + tazobactam was independently associated with clinical cure (adjusted OR 2.63, 95% CI 1.31 to 5.30) and protection against acute kidney injury (adjusted OR 0.08, 95% CI 0.03 to 0.22). No difference between the groups was seen for in-hospital mortality.

The ZENITH study was a matched case-control study that compared ceftolozane + tazobactam with other antibiotics with anti-pseudomonas activity for the treatment of bloodstream infections due to *P. aeruginosa* in neutropenic haematological patients (*13*). Matching was done on the multidrug-resistance profile of the *P. aeruginosa* isolate, closest date of bloodstream infection, underlying disease and polymicrobial infection. A total of 44 cases (treated with ceftolozane + tazobactam as empiric and/or targeted therapy) and 88 controls (treated with other antibiotic regimens) were analysed. Among the cases, 91%

of infections were caused by multidrug-resistant *P. aeruginosa*. The primary endpoints were 7- and 30-day case fatality rates. At both time points, the case fatality rate was lower in the ceftolozane + tazobactam group (day 7: 6.8% versus 34.1%; day 30: 22.7 % versus 48.9%). After adjusting for potential confounders, the odds of dying from the *Pseudomonas* infection were lower in the ceftolozane + tazobactam group compared with the control group both at day 7 (adjusted OR 0.16, 95% CI 0.04 to 0.58) and day 30 (adjusted OR 0.19, 95% CI 0.07 to 0.55).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The application reported that among patients in the randomized trials, ceftolozane + tazobactam was generally well tolerated and the overall safety profile and tolerability were similar to the comparator in the ASPECT-cUTI (14), ASPECT-cIAI (15) and ASPECT-NP (6) trials. The safety results of the ASPECT-NP trial are reported below. Safety results from ASPECT-cUTI and ASPECT-cIAI trials considered by the Expert Committee were previously reported in 2019 (1).

In ASPECT-NP, the incidence of treatment-emergent and severe adverse events, discontinuation due to adverse events, and death were comparable between treatment groups (6). Overall, 11% of patients in the ceftolozane + tazobactam group experienced at least one treatment-related adverse event compared with 8% in the meropenem group. The most frequently reported treatment-related adverse events in the ceftolozane + tazobactam group were liver function test abnormalities, *Clostridioides difficile* colitis and diarrhoea. The most common treatment-emergent adverse events were anaemia, urinary tract infections, diarrhoea and decubitus ulcers (*16*). The proportion of severe treatment-related events was the same in both groups (1%) as was the proportion of treatmentrelated adverse event resulted in death (*6*).

The application presented safety data for ceftolozane + tazobactam in the paediatric population. Two randomized, double-blind, phase II trials compared ceftolozane + tazobactam and meropenem in treatment of paediatric patients with complicated urinary tract infections (17) and intra-abdominal infections (18). In the trial including patients with complicated urinary tract infections, 133 children were included and the proportion of patients with treatment-related adverse events was similar in the two groups (14.0% with ceftolozane + tazobactam versus 15.2% with meropenem) with no serious treatment-related adverse events. In the trial including patients with complicated intra-abdominal infections, 91 patients were included and the proportion of treatment-related adverse events was higher with ceftolozane + tazobactam (plus metronidazole) than with meropenem (18.6% versus 14.3%). Overall adverse events were also higher in the ceftolozane + tazobactam group (80.0% versus 61.9%).
## Additional evidence

The ASPIRE-ICU team recently published a study where resistance to ceftolozane + tazobactam in *P. aeruginosa* isolates from mechanically ventilated patients in the intensive care unit was 23.4% (*19*). In the study, 723 isolates obtained from respiratory samples or perirectal swabs from 402 patients in 11 European countries were analysed.

#### **WHO** guidelines

Ceftolozane + tazobactam is not currently included in existing WHO guidelines.

The Infectious Diseases Society of America guidelines (20) and the European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases guidelines (21) include ceftolozane + tazobactam as a preferred treatment option for drug resistant *P. aeruginosa* infections. In particular, the US guidelines recommend it for difficult-to-treat *Pseudomonas* infections and as a reasonable alternative for moderate-to-severe infections caused by carbapenem-resistant *Pseudomonas* susceptible to traditional  $\beta$ -lactams (20). The European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases guidelines recommend ceftolozane + tazobactam for difficult-to-treat carbapenem-resistant *P. aeruginosa*, if active in vitro (21).

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

A cost–effectiveness analysis was performed comparing ceftolozane + tazobactam to meropenem to treat hospital-acquired pneumonia and ventilator-associated pneumonia in Italy (22). Cost–effectiveness of both empiric and targeted use were analysed. The study concluded that ceftolozane + tazobactam was cost-effective compared with meropenem with an incremental cost–effectiveness ratio (ICER) of €1913 to €2203 (for empiric treatment) and €6163 to €6597 (for targeted treatment) per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) gained. The same comparison was done from the perspective of the US health care sector (23) and showed that in the confirmed treatment setting, the ICER for ceftolozane + tazobactam compared with meropenem for the treatment of ventilated hospital-acquired pneumonia or ventilator-associated pneumonia was US\$ 12 126 per QALY. The ICER decreased to US\$ 4775 per QALY when used early (before susceptibility results).

A cost-effectiveness analysis compared ceftolozane + tazobactam with piperacillin + tazobactam for the empiric treatment of complicated urinary tract infection in Taiwan, China (24). Empiric use of ceftolozane + tazobactam resulted in higher total costs per patient compared with piperacillin + tazobactam (US\$ 4199 versus US\$ 3594) but a higher gain in QALYs (4.80 versus 4.78 QALYs). The additional cost per discounted QALY gained associated with the empiric use of ceftolozane + tazobactam was US\$ 32 521. The same comparison was done from the perspective of the United States health care sector (25), and showed that treatment with ceftolozane + tazobactam had higher costs than piperacillin + tazobactam (US\$ 36 413 versus US\$ 36 028), a higher QALY gained (9.19 versus 9.13 QALY) and an ICER of US\$ 6128/QALY. The authors concluded that ceftolozane + tazobactam remained cost-effective at a willingness to pay of US\$ 100 000 per QALY compared with piperacillin + tazobactam.

Another cost-effectiveness analysis compared ceftolozane + tazobactam (plus metronidazole) with piperacillin + tazobactam for the empiric treatment of patients with nosocomial complicated intra-abdominal infections at risk of infection with resistant pathogens (26). The authors concluded that based on national antimicrobial resistance surveillance data in the United States, ceftolozane + tazobactam with metronidazole was associated with lower costs per patient compared to piperacillin + tazobactam (US\$ 44 226 versus US\$ 44 811) and a higher QALY gain (12.85 versus 12.70 QALYs). They concluded that ceftolozane + tazobactam was more likely to be an appropriate empiric therapy for complicated intra-abdominal infections in the US. The same comparison was done in the United Kingdom, which showed that ceftolozane + tazobactam (plus metronidazole) was cost-effective compared with piperacillin + tazobactam with an ICER of £4350 per QALY and 0.36 hospitalization days saved per patient (27). Treatment with ceftolozane + tazobactam was associated with higher costs per patient compared with piperacillin + tazobactam (£2576 versus £2168) and a higher QALY gain (14.31 versus 14.21).

#### Availability

Ceftolozane + tazobactam is manufactured by Merck, Sharp & Dohme and has regulatory approval from the United States Food and Drug Administration and the European Medicines Agency. It is currently available in 27 European countries, 17 Asian countries and nine countries in the Americas. In Africa, it is only available in Egypt and South Africa. It is also available in Australia and New Zealand.

# Other considerations

The EML Antimicrobial Working Group reviewed the application and advised that it supported the inclusion of ceftolozane + tazobactam on the EML and EMLc as reserve antibiotic for the treatment of infections caused or suspected to be caused by carbapenem-resistant *P. aeruginosa*, but emphasized the importance of associated stewardship interventions to ensure its appropriate use.

The Working Group highlighted that ceftolozane + tazobactam has particularly high activity against carbapenem-resistant *P. aeruginosa*, a critical priority pathogen on the WHO priority pathogens list, which in some settings is a common cause of severe pneumonia in ventilated patients in intensive care, including patients with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19).

The Working Group noted that clinical trial and observational data suggest that ceftolozane + tazobactam is as effective in patients with nosocomial pneumonia as other commonly used older antibiotics. However, high levels of resistance to the most widely used antibiotics in high-risk settings are increasingly common and alternative antibiotics are needed to provide wider treatment options.

The Working Group also noted that ceftolozane + tazobactam was generally well tolerated, with no specific safety concerns. Published phase I pharmacokinetic and phase II safety studies also support the safety of ceftolozane + tazobactam in paediatric patients (*28,29*).

The Working Group commented that ceftolozane + tazobactam was notably more expensive than other antibiotics for which generics are available. The primary patent is due to expire in 2023, but secondary patents will be active until 2035. The Working Group also noted that limited cost–effectiveness data were available from low- and middle-income settings.

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recognized the global health importance of effective new treatments for infections caused by multidrug-resistant pathogens, especially those designated as critical priority on the WHO priority pathogens list, for which few effective treatment options exist or are in development.

The Committee noted that clinical trial evidence for efficacy of ceftolozane + tazobactam against carbapenem-resistant *P. aeruginosa* and Enterobacterales specifically was positive, albeit limited, and that the medicine had shown good activity against carbapenem-resistant *P. aeruginosa* in in vitro studies. The Committee considered that data presented from observational studies also supported the efficacy of ceftolozane + tazobactam in the treatment of infections caused by drug-resistant *P. aeruginosa*. The Committee noted no serious safety or tolerability concerns associated with ceftolozane + tazobactam, in both adult and paediatric patients. Overall, the Committee considered that the availability of carbapenem-sparing alternatives for treatment of drug-resistant *P. aeruginosa* was important as part of the strategy to limit and prevent further emergence and spread of carbapenem-resistant organisms.

The Committee noted the higher price of ceftolozane + tazobactam compared with other antibiotics, but also that it had generally been found to be acceptably cost-effective in high-income settings.

Given the seriousness of infections due to carbapenem-resistant *P. aeruginosa*, particularly hospital-acquired and ventilator-associated pneumonia, and the limited number of effective treatment options available, the Committee considered that inclusion of ceftolozane + tazobactam on the Model Lists was sufficiently justified. The Expert Committee therefore recommended the addition

of ceftolozane + tazobactam as a reserve group antibiotic on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of infections caused or suspected to be caused by carbapenem-resistant *P. aeruginosa*. The Committee also emphasized the importance of associated stewardship activities to ensure its appropriate use.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Weiner-Lastinger LM, Abner S, Edwards JR, Kallen AJ, Karlsson M, Magill SS, et al. Antimicrobialresistant pathogens associated with adult healthcare-associated infections: summary of data reported to the National Healthcare Safety Network, 2015-2017. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2020;41(1):1–18.
- 3. Murray CJL, Ikuta KS, Sharara F, Swetschinski L, Aguilar GR, Gray A, et al. Global burden of bacterial antimicrobial resistance in 2019: a systematic analysis. Lancet. 2022;399(10325):629–55.
- OneHealthTrust. Resistancemap: Antibiotic resistance. Washington, DC: Center for Disease Dynamics, Economics & Policy; 2023 (https://resistancemap.onehealthtrust.org/AntibioticResistance.php, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Prioritization of pathogens to guide discovery, research and development of new antibiotics for drug-resistant bacterial infections, including tuberculosis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/311820, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Kollef MH, Nováček M, Kivistik Ü, Réa-Neto Á, Shime N, Martin-Loeches I, et al. Ceftolozanetazobactam versus meropenem for treatment of nosocomial pneumonia (ASPECT-NP): a randomised, controlled, double-blind, phase 3, non-inferiority trial. Lancet Infect Dis. 2019;19(12):1299–311.
- Johnson MG, Bruno C, Castanheira M, Yu B, Huntington JA, Carmelitano P, et al. Evaluating the emergence of nonsusceptibility among Pseudomonas aeruginosa respiratory isolates from a phase-3 clinical trial for treatment of nosocomial pneumonia (ASPECT-NP). Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2021;57(3):106278.
- 8. Chaftari AM, Hachem R, Malek AE, Mulanovich VE, Szvalb AD, Jiang Y, et al. A Prospective randomized study comparing ceftolozane/tazobactam to standard of care in the management of neutropenia and fever in patients with hematological malignancies. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2022;9(6):ofac079.
- 9. Gallagher JC, Satlin MJ, Elabor A, Saraiya N, mccreary EK, Molnar E, et al. Ceftolozane-tazobactam for the treatment of multidrug-resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa infections: a multicenter study. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2018;5(11):ofy280.
- Bassetti M, Castaldo N, Cattelan A, Mussini C, Righi E, Tascini C, et al. Ceftolozane/tazobactam for the treatment of serious P. Aeruginosa infections: a multicenter nationwide clinical experience. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2019;53(4):408–15.
- 11. Fernández-Cruz A, Alba N, Semiglia-Chong MA, Padilla B, Rodríguez-Macías G, Kwon M, et al. A case-control study of real-life experience with ceftolozane-tazobactam in patients with hematologic malignancy and Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2019;63(2):e02340-18.

128

- 12. Pogue JM, Kaye KS, Veve MP, Patel TS, Gerlach AT, Davis SL, et al. Ceftolozane/tazobactam vs polymyxin or aminoglycoside-based regimens for the treatment of drug-resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Clin Infect Dis. 2020;71(2):304–10.
- 13. Bergas A, Albasanz-Puig A, Fernández-Cruz A, Machado M, Novo A, van Duin D, et al. Real-life use of ceftolozane/tazobactam for the treatment of bloodstream infection due to Pseudomonas aeruginosa in neutropenic hematologic patients: a matched control study (ZENITH Study). Microbiol Spectr. 2022;10(3):e0229221.
- Wagenlehner FM, Umeh O, Steenbergen J, Yuan G, Darouiche RO. Ceftolozane-tazobactam compared with levofloxacin in the treatment of complicated urinary-tract infections, including pyelonephritis: a randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial (ASPECT-cuti). Lancet. 2015;385(9981):1949–56.
- Solomkin J, Hershberger E, Miller B, Popejoy M, Friedland I, Steenbergen J, et al. Ceftolozane/ tazobactam plus metronidazole for complicated intra-abdominal infections in an era of multidrug resistance: results from a randomized, double-blind, phase 3 trial (ASPECT-ciai). Clin Infect Dis. 2015;60(10):1462–71.
- 16. Data on file: ASPECT-NP clinical study report. New York, NY: Merck & Co; 2018.
- MK-7625A versus meropenem in pediatric participants with complicated urinary tract infection (cuti) (MK-7625A-034). Bethesda, MD: US National Library of Medicine; 2023 (clinicaltrials.gov identifier: NCT03230838; https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT03230838, accessed 6 October 2023).
- MK-7625A plus metronidazole versus meropenem in pediatric participants with complicated intraabdominal infection (ciai) (MK-7625A-035). Bethesda, MD: US National Library of Medicine; 2023 (clinicaltrials.gov Identifier: NCT03217136; https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT03217136, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Torrens G, van der Schalk TE, Cortes-Lara S, Timbermont L, Del Barrio-Tofiño E, Xavier BB, et al. Susceptibility profiles and resistance genomics of Pseudomonas aeruginosa isolates from European icus participating in the ASPIRE-ICU trial. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2022;77(7):1862–72.
- Tamma PD, Aitken SL, Bonomo RA, Mathers AJ, van Duin D, Clancy CJ. Infectious Diseases Society of America 2022 guidance on the treatment of extended-spectrum β-lactamase producing enterobacterales (ESBL-E), carbapenem-resistant enterobacterales (CRE), and Pseudomonas aeruginosa with difficult-to-treat resistance (DTR-P. Aeruginosa). Clin Infect Dis. 2022;75(2):187–212.
- Paul M, Carrara E, Retamar P, Tängdén T, Bitterman R, Bonomo RA, et al. European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases (ESCMID) guidelines for the treatment of infections caused by multidrug-resistant Gram-negative bacilli (endorsed by European Society of Intensive Care Medicine). Clin Microbiol Infect. 2022;28(4):521–47.
- 22. Mennini FS, Paoletti M, Bini C, Marcellusi A, Falcone M, Andreoni M. Cost-utility analysis of ceftolozane/tazobactam vs meropenem in patients with hospital-acquired pneumonia (HABP) or ventilator-associated pneumonia (VABP). Glob Regl Health Technol Assess. 2022;9(1):45–57.
- Naik J, Puzniak L, Critchlow S, Elsea D, Dillon RJ, Yang J. Cost effectiveness of ceftolozane/ tazobactam compared with meropenem for the treatment of patients with ventilated hospitalacquired bacterial pneumonia and ventilator-associated bacterial pneumonia. Infect Dis Ther. 2021;10(2):939–54.
- 24. Chen GJ, Pan SC, Foo J, Morel C, Chen WT, Wang JT. Comparing ceftolozane/tazobactam versus piperacillin/tazobactam as empiric therapy for complicated urinary tract infection in Taiwan: a costutility model focusing on gram-negative bacteria. J Microbiol Immunol Infect. 2019;52(5):807–15.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 25. Kauf TL, Prabhu VS, Medic G, Borse RH, Miller B, Gaultney J, et al. Cost-effectiveness of ceftolozane/ tazobactam compared with piperacillin/tazobactam as empiric therapy based on the in-vitro surveillance of bacterial isolates in the United States for the treatment of complicated urinary tract infections. BMC Infect Dis. 2017;17(1):314.
- 26. Prabhu VS, Solomkin JS, Medic G, Foo J, Borse RH, Kauf T, et al. Cost-effectiveness of ceftolozane/ tazobactam plus metronidazole versus piperacillin/tazobactam as initial empiric therapy for the treatment of complicated intra-abdominal infections based on pathogen distributions drawn from national surveillance data in the United States. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6:107.
- Prabhu V, Foo J, Ahir H, Sarpong E, Merchant S. Cost-effectiveness of ceftolozane/tazobactam plus metronidazole compared with piperacillin/tazobactam as empiric therapy for the treatment of complicated intra-abdominal infections based on the in-vitro surveillance of bacterial isolates in the UK. J Med Econ. 2017;20(8):840–9.
- Bradley JS, Ang JY, Arrieta AC, Larson KB, Rizk ML, Caro L, et al. Pharmacokinetics and safety of single intravenous doses of ceftolozane/tazobactam in children with proven or suspected gramnegative infection. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2018;37(11):1130–6.
- 29. Roilides E, Ashouri N, Bradley JS, Johnson MG, Lonchar J, Su FH, et al. Safety and efficacy of ceftolozane/tazobactam versus meropenem in neonates and children with complicated urinary tract infection, including pyelonephritis: a phase 2, randomized clinical trial. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2023;42(4):292–8.

Imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam – addition – EML

# Imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam

ATC code: J01DH56

# Proposal

Addition of imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam to the complementary list of the EML as a reserve antibiotic for use in the treatment of confirmed or suspected infections due to multidrug-resistant organisms.

# Applicant

Merck, Sharp & Dohme, Rahway, NJ, United States of America

# WHO technical department

The Global Coordination and Partnership department within the Antimicrobial Resistance division reviewed the application and advised that it supported the inclusion of imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam on the EML as a reserve group antibiotic. The technical department stressed that the use of imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam must be always informed by evidence-based guidance and strong stewardship activities, and that access and affordability of the medicine must be considered, particularly for patients in low- and middle-income countries.

# EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

6.2.3 Reserve group antibiotics

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Powder for injection: 500 mg (as monohydrate) + 500 mg (as sodium) + 250 mg (as monohydrate) in vial

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

Imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam has not previously been considered for inclusion on the EML. It has been classified as a reserve group antibiotic under the AWaRe (Access–Watch–Reserve) classification.

#### Public health relevance

Worldwide in 2019, an estimated 4.95 million people died of drug-resistant bacterial infections, of which 1.27 million were directly attributable to resistant infections, most of these were concentrated in low- and middle-income countries. Drug-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* was responsible for 84 600 deaths, of which almost half were carbapenem-resistant, drug-resistant *Klebsiella pneumoniae* was responsible for 193 000 deaths, of which almost 30% were carbapenem-resistant and drug-resistant *Escherichia coli* was responsible for 219 000 deaths, of which almost 15% were carbapenem-resistant (1).

Antibiotic resistance among Gram-negative pathogens is a problem worldwide. The European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control reported increasing trends of carbapenem resistance in invasive isolates of *K. pneumoniae* (+ 20% in 2021 compared with the previous year) with a population-weighted mean of 11.7%, (range 0–73.7%) in 2021 (2). Population-weighted mean resistance percentages among *K. pneumoniae* invasive isolates were also very high for other antibiotic classes, in particular for third-generation cephalosporins (34.3%), fluoroquinolones (33.6%) and aminoglycosides (23.7%) with about a third of *K. pneumoniae* cases (34.3%) in the European Union/European Economic Area resistant to at least one antimicrobial class under surveillance in 2021. For *P. aeruginosa*, no increasing trend of carbapenem-resistance in the 2017–2021 period was reported, even though levels remain high in some countries, with a mean of 18.1% among invasive isolates in the European Union/European Economic Area in 2021 and wide intercountry variation (3.5% to 45.9%). Additionally, 18.7% of isolates were resistant to at least one antimicrobial classes under surveillance.

In the United States, the proportions of carbapenem-resistant *K. pneumoniae* and *P. aeruginosa* isolates have decreased overall since 2011 among tracked health care-associated infections. In 2020, the mean national resistance level was 4.8% for *Klebsiella* and 12.9% for *Pseudomonas* (compared to 9.8% and 20.0%, respectively in 2011); however, wide variation exist across states (3).

In 2017, WHO designated carbapenem-resistant *P. aeruginosa* and carbapenem-resistant and third-generation cephalosporin-resistant Enterobacterales critical priority pathogens in need of new therapeutic options (4).

## Summary of evidence: benefits

# Randomized clinical trials

RESTORE-IMI 1 was a randomized, double-blind, multicentre, phase III trial that investigated the activity of imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam (500 mg + 500 mg + 250 mg every 6 hours) compared with colistin (300 mg loading dose, then 150 mg every 12 hours) plus imipenem + cilastatin relebactam (500 mg + 500 mg every 6 hours) for the treatment of complicated intra-abdominal and urinary tract infections and hospital acquired pneumonia, including ventilator-

associated pneumonia (5). The primary efficacy endpoint was overall response, however the study was not powered to infer statistically significant differences in efficacy between treatment arms. The trial only included patients with infections caused by imipenem non-susceptible (but colistin susceptible) Gram-negative pathogens in adults and excluded patients with Acinetobacter spp. infections. There were 31 and 16 patients in the intervention group and comparator group, respectively. The primary outcome was calculated on the microbiological modified intention-to-treat population which included 21 and 10 patients in the intervention and comparator groups, respectively. These were patients with a positive culture for an imipenem-resistant Gram-negative pathogen that had received at least one dose of the study medicine. Most patients had Pseudomonas infections -80% in the comparator group and 76% in the intervention group. Overall, the β-lactamases most frequently detected were AMPc (84%) and extended-spectrum β-lactamases (35%). Carbapenemases were detected in a minority of patient with Klebsiella pneumoniae carbapenemase detected in five patients (of whom four were randomized to imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam) and OXA-48 in one patient randomized to the control group. Despite being protocol-required, only nine patients had baseline blood cultures and only two of those had a bacteraemia. A favourable overall response was reported in 71.4% and 70.0% of patients in the intervention and comparator groups, respectively. The overall adjusted difference for favourable response was -7.3% (90% confidence interval (CI) -27.7% to 21.4%), favouring the comparator group. Definitions of overall response differed by type of infection: for hospital-acquired pneumonia/ventilator-associated pneumonia, it was survival at day 28; for complicated intra-abdominal infections it was clinical response at day 28; and for complicated urinary tract infections it was clinical plus microbiological response 5–9 days after the end of therapy. A favourable clinical response at day 28 was reported in 71.4% and 40.0% of patients in the intervention and comparator groups, respectively (adjusted difference 26.3%, 90% CI 1.3% to 51.5%). Among secondary endpoints, all-cause mortality at day 28 was lower in the intervention group (9.5% versus 30%; adjusted difference -17.3%, 90% CI -46.4% to 6.4%). Results by type of infection showed that for hospital-acquired pneumonia/ ventilator-associated pneumonia 28-day survival was 20.8% higher with imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam (87.5% versus 66.7%). None of the four patients with a complicated intra-abdominal infections had a favourable response at day 28 while for complicated urinary tract infections, results for the primary efficacy endpoint favoured the comparator group with an adjusted difference of -27.3% (90% CI -52.8% to 12.8%). Of the two patients with bacteraemia (randomized one to each group) only the one in the comparator group had a favourable response.

The RESTORE-IMI 2 was a randomized controlled, double-blind, multicentre, non-inferiority, phase III trial comparing imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam (500 mg + 500 mg + 250 mg every 6 hours) with piperacillin + tazobactam (4 g + 500 mg every 6 hours) for the treatment of hospital-acquired

133

pneumonia/ventilator-associated pneumonia in adults (6). Treatment duration was 7–14 days. In total, 537 patients were included, 268 in the intervention group and 269 in the comparator group. The primary and secondary outcomes were evaluated in the modified intention-to-treat population, which excluded patients where only Gram-positive cocci were isolated at baseline. Results for the primary endpoint of 28-day all-cause mortality showed lower mortality in the intervention group (15.9% versus 21.3%) with an adjusted difference of -5.3% (95% CI -11.9% to 1.2%). With a prespecified 10% margin, non-inferiority was concluded. The key secondary endpoint was favourable clinical response at early follow-up (7–14 days after the end of treatment). Results favoured the intervention group (61.0% versus 55.8%) with an adjusted difference of 5.0% (95% CI -3.2% to 13.2%). With a prespecified 12.5% margin, non-inferiority was concluded. At day 28, a favourable clinical response was reported in 51.9% of patients in the intervention group and 50.6% in the comparator group, with an adjusted difference of 1.1% (95% CI -7.2% to 9.4%).

The application also presented findings from a series of post-hoc and secondary analyses of the RESTORE-IMI 2 trial presented at conferences that reported results for imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam in patients with imipenem-resistant infections, in critically ill patients, in patients with renal augmentation or impairment, and in patients with polymicrobial hospital-acquired pneumonia/ventilator-associated pneumonia infections (7–10).

A randomized, double-blind, multicentre, non-inferiority, dose-ranging, phase II study compared the efficacy of relebactam 250 mg, relebactam 125 mg or placebo each given with imipenem + cilastatin for the treatment of 351 adult patients with complicated intra-abdominal infections regardless of baseline susceptibility of the pathogen (*11*). The primary efficacy endpoint was favourable clinical response at discontinuation of therapy (5–9 days after the start of therapy) and at late follow-up (28–42 days). With a prespecified non-inferiority margin of 15%, both doses of relebactam with imipenem + cilastatin were non-inferior to imipenem + cilastatin monotherapy for the primary efficacy endpoint. A similar study was conducted in adult patients with complicated urinary tract infections regardless of baseline susceptibility of the pathogen (*12*). Again, with a prespecified non-inferiority margin of 15%, both doses of relebactam with imipenem + cilastatin monotherapy for the pathogen (*12*). Again, with a prespecified non-inferiority margin of 15%, both doses of relebactam with imipenem + cilastatin monotherapy for the pathogen (*12*). Again, with a prespecified non-inferiority margin of 15%, both doses of relebactam with imipenem + cilastatin were non-inferior to imipenem + cilastatin monotherapy for the pathogen (*12*). Again, with a prespecified non-inferiority margin of 15%, both doses of relebactam with imipenem + cilastatin were non-inferior to imipenem + cilastatin monotherapy for the primary efficacy endpoint of the proportion of patients who achieved a favourable microbiological response.

#### **Observational studies**

A retrospective case series described outcomes in 21 adult patients with mixed infection sources (52% were pulmonary infections) who were treated with imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam. Most infections were caused by *P. aeruginosa* (16/21, 76%), of which all except one were multidrug-resistant. Survival at 30 days

was observed in 67% of patients. Two patients experienced adverse events, neither of which led to treatment discontinuation. Imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam was used as combination therapy in 29% of cases (6/21), with tobramycin as the most common concomitant antibiotic (13).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The applicants presented the safety data for imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam for each interventional study in the previous section.

In the RESTORE-IMI 1 trial, adverse events were recorded during therapy and in the 14-day follow-up period. Overall, the incidence of adverse events, deaths, serious adverse events, drug-related adverse events and discontinuations due to adverse events was lower with imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam than with colistin plus imipenem + cilastatin; however, the trial was not powered to detect statistical significance in safety outcomes. Drug-related adverse events were reported in 16.1% (5/31) of patients treated with imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam and in 31.3% (5/16) of patients in the comparator group. Two patients discontinued treatment in the comparator group because of a drug-related adverse event and none discontinued in the imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam group. No serious drug-related adverse events were reported in either group. Treatment-emergent nephrotoxicity was significantly lower with imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam than with colistin plus imipenem + cilastatin: 3/29 (10.3%) versus 9/16 (56.3%), P = 0.002 (5).

In the RESTORE-IMI 2 trial, adverse events were recorded during therapy and in the 14-day follow-up period. The incidence of adverse events, deaths, serious adverse events, drug-related adverse events and discontinuations due to adverse events were comparable between patients who received imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam and those who received piperacillin + tazobactam. Drugrelated adverse events were reported in 11.7% of patients treated with imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam and in 9.7% of patients in the comparator group. In total 10 patients had to discontinue therapy due to a drug-related adverse event - 6/266, 2.3% in the imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam and 4/269, 1.5% in the comparator group. Five serious drug-related adverse event were reported, three in the imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam (of whom two had to discontinue therapy) and two with piperacillin + tazobactam (with therapy discontinued in one) (6).

In the dose-ranging study in patients with complicated intra-abdominal infections, drug-related adverse events occurred in 13.7% (16/117) of patients treated with imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam 250 mg, 13.8% (16/116) of patients treated with imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam 125 mg and in 9.6% (11/114) of patients treated with imipenem cilastatin monotherapy. In total, four patients discontinued therapy due to a drug-related adverse event, three in the monotherapy group and one in the imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam 125 mg group. One patient in the monotherapy group had a serious drug-related adverse event necessitating discontinuation of therapy (11).

In the dose-ranging study in patients with complicated urinary tract infections, drug-related adverse events occurred in 10.1% (10/99) of patients treated with imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam 250 mg, 9.1% (9/99) of patients treated with imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam 125 mg and in 9.0% (9/100) of patients treated with imipenem + cilastatin monotherapy. Four patients discontinued therapy due to a drug-related adverse event, of whom one was in the monotherapy group. Two serious drug-related adverse events were reported, one in the imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam 250 mg and one in the monotherapy group (12).

#### **WHO** guidelines

Imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam is not currently included in WHO guidelines. WHO recognized its usefulness against carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales but noted the uncertainty on its activity against *P. aeruginosa* due to inconclusive data (*14*).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The application presented the findings of a cost-effectiveness analysis of imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam compared with colistin plus imipenem + cilastatin using clinical data from the RESTORE-IMI 1 trial. On average, a patient treated with imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam gained additional 3.7 quality adjusted life years (QALYs) over their lifetime. Higher drug acquisition costs for imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam were offset by shorter length of hospital stay and lower costs related to adverse events, which resulted in net savings of US\$ 11 015 per patient. Sensitivity analyses suggested that imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam had a high likelihood of being cost-effective at a US willingness-to-pay threshold of US\$ 100 000–150 000 per QALY (*15*).

A second cost-effectiveness analysis compared imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam and piperacillin + tazobactam using clinical data from the RESTORE-IMI 2 trial. QALYs gained were reported as 7.92 and 7.08 for imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam and piperacillin + tazobactam, respectively. Total treatment costs were US\$ 185 254 and US\$ 170 513 for imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam and piperacillin + tazobactam, respectively. Total treatment and piperacillin + tazobactam, respectively. This resulted in an incremental cost per QALY gained of US\$ 17 529, which is lower than the typical US willingness-to-pay threshold. The authors concluded that imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam may be a cost-effective treatment for payers and a valuable option for clinicians (*16*).

## Availability

Imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam is manufactured by Merck and has regulatory approval from the United States Food and Drug Administration and the European Medicines Agency. It is currently available in 19 European countries, in the United States and in Japan. Market availability is currently pending in Argentina, Belgium, Denmark, Ireland, Palau and Spain.

## Other considerations

The EML Antimicrobial Working Group reviewed the application and advised that it supported the inclusion of imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam on the EML as a reserve antibiotic for the treatment of infections caused by multidrug-resistant organisms, but emphasized the importance of associated stewardship interventions to ensure its appropriate use.

The Working Group highlighted that imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam activity against extended-spectrum  $\beta$ -lactamase-producing has broad Enterobacterales, some carbapenemase-producing Enterobacterales (mainly Class A Klebsiella pneumoniae carbapenemase and Class C AmpC, but not Class B metallo-β-lactamases and Class D OXA) and carbapenem-resistant P. aeruginosa. Although New Delhi metallo- $\beta$ -lactamases and Class D OXA carbapenemases are globally the most common genotypes associated with carbapenem resistance in Enterobacterales, Klebsiella pneumoniae carbapenemase remains an important cause in some low- and middle-income countries, where treatment options are limited. Infections caused by carbapenem-resistant Enterobacterales and carbapenem-resistant *P. aeruginosa* are a major public health concern and in many low- and middle-income countries settings, antibiotic treatment options are now very limited; indeed, the only options may be older agents with important toxicity concerns, such as colistin.

The Working Group noted that some clinical trial and observational data suggest that imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam had clinical efficacy in patients with infections caused by multidrug-resistant pathogens. Although the medicine has limited activity against some types of carbapenem resistance, it has good activity against other types seen in both high-income countries and low-and middle-income countries. The Working Group also noted that the medicine is well tolerated, with no specific safety concerns. However, imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam is significantly more expensive than antibiotics for which generics are available and there are few cost–effectiveness data in low- and middle-income settings.

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recognized the global health importance of effective new treatments for infections caused by multidrug-resistant pathogens, especially those designated as critical priority on the WHO priority pathogens list, for which few effective treatment options exist or are in development.

The Committee noted that imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam has broad in vitro activity against multidrug-resistant Gram-negative pathogens but lacks in vitro activity against the carbapenemase genotypes most commonly associated with carbapenem resistance in Enterobacterales globally. The Committee also noted that other Reserve antibiotic options which have a similar spectrum of activity are already included on the EML for the treatment of other types of carbapenem-resistance in Enterobacterales (e.g. cefiderocol, ceftazidime + avibactam and meropenem + vaborbactam).

The Committee considered that the available clinical trial evidence for efficacy of imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam was generally positive, albeit limited, and noted that no serious safety or tolerability concerns were identified. The Committee also noted the high price of the medicine compared with older antibiotics, but also that it has been found to be acceptably cost-effective at willingness-to-pay thresholds in high-income settings.

Based on these considerations, the Expert Committee did not recommend the inclusion of imipenem + cilastatin + relebactam as a Reserve group antibiotic for the treatment of infections caused by multidrug-resistant organisms on the EML.

## References

- 1. Murray CJL, Ikuta KS, Sharara F, Swetschinski L, Robles Aguilar G, Gray A, et al. Global burden of bacterial antimicrobial resistance in 2019: a systematic analysis. Lancet. 2022;399(10325):629–55.
- Antimicrobial resistance in the EU/EEA (EARS-Net) Annual epidemiological report 2021. Stockholm: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control; 2022 (https://www.ecdc.europa. eu/en/publications-data/surveillance-antimicrobial-resistance-europe-2021, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 3. Antibiotic resistance and patient safety portal [internet]. Atlanta, GA: US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2023 (https://arpsp.cdc.gov/profile/antibiotic-resistance?tab=antibiotic-resistance, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Prioritization of pathogens to guide discovery, research and development of new antibiotics for drug-resistant bacterial infections, including tuberculosis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/311820, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Motsch J, Murta de Oliveira C, Stus V, Köksal I, Lyulko O, Boucher HW, et al. RESTORE-IMI 1: a multicenter, randomized, double-blind trial comparing efficacy and safety of imipenem/ relebactam vs colistin plus imipenem in patients with imipenem-nonsusceptible bacterial infections. Clin Infect Dis. 2020;70(9):1799–808.
- 6. Titov I, Wunderink RG, Roquilly A, Rodríguez Gonzalez D, David-Wang A, Boucher HW, et al. A randomized, double-blind, multicenter trial comparing efficacy and safety of imipenem/cilastatin/ relebactam versus piperacillin/tazobactam in adults with hospital-acquired or ventilator-associated bacterial pneumonia (RESTORE-IMI 2 Study). Clin Infect Dis. 2021;73(11):e4539–e48.
- Chen L, Young K, Hilbert DW, Losada MC, DeRyke CA, Du J, et al. Imipenem/cilastatin (IMI)/ relebactam (REL) in hospital-acquired/ventilator-associated bacterial pneumonia (HABP/VABP): Subgroup analyses of critically ill patients in the RESTORE-IMI 2 trial. Poster presented at the 31st European Congress of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases, 9–12 July 2021.
- Chen LF, Losada MC, Mahoney KA, Du J, Brown ML, Tipping R, et al. 1460. Imipenem/cilastatin (IMI)/relebactam (REL) in hospital-acquired/ventilator-associated bacterial pneumonia (HABP/ VABP): subgroup analyses of critically ill patients in the RESTORE-IMI 2 trial. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2020;7(Suppl 1):S732-S.

- Chen L, Losada MC, DU J, DeRyke CA, Patel M, Pasche A. Imipenem/cilastatin/relebactam efficacy, safety, and probability of target attainment in adults with hospital-acquired or ventilatorassociated bacterial pneumonia and renal impairment or augmented renal clearance. Poster presented at the 31st European Congress of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases, 9–12 July 2021.
- Losada MC, Young K, Hilbert DW, DeRyke CA, Du J, Paschke A, et al. Polymicrobial hospitalacquired/ventilator-associated bacterial pneumonia (HABP/VABP) treated with imipenem/ cilastatin (IMI)/relebactam (REL) versus piperacillin/tazobactam (PIP/TAZ). Presented at the World Microbe Forum, 20–24 June 2021.
- 11. Lucasti C, Vasile L, Sandesc D, Venskutonis D, McLeroth P, Lala M, et al. Phase 2, dose-ranging study of relebactam with imipenem-cilastatin in subjects with complicated intra-abdominal infection. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2016;60(10):6234–43.
- 12. Sims M, Mariyanovski V, McLeroth P, Akers W, Lee YC, Brown ML, et al. Prospective, randomized, double-blind, phase 2 dose-ranging study comparing efficacy and safety of imipenem/cilastatin plus relebactam with imipenem/cilastatin alone in patients with complicated urinary tract infections. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2017;72(9):2616–26.
- 13. Rebold N, Morrisette T, Lagnf AM, Alosaimy S, Holger D, Barber K, et al. Early multicenter experience with imipenem-cilastatin-relebactam for multidrug-resistant gram-negative infections. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2021;8(12):ofab554.
- 14. 2021 Antibacterial agents in clinical and preclinical development: an overview and analysis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/354545, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 15. Yang J, Naik J, Massello M, Ralph L, Dillon RJ. Cost-effectiveness of imipenem/cilastatin/relebactam compared with colistin in treatment of gram-negative infections caused by carbapenem-non-susceptible organisms. Infect Dis Ther. 2022;11(4):1443–57.
- Naik J, Dillon R, Massello M, Ralph L, Yang Z. Cost-effectiveness of imipenem/cilastatin/ relebactam for hospital-acquired and ventilator-associated bacterial pneumonia. J Comp Eff Res. 2023;12(3):e220113.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

Tedizolid phosphate - addition - EML

# **Tedizolid phosphate**

ATC code: J01XX11

# Proposal

Addition of tedizolid phosphate to the complementary list of the EML as a reserve group antibiotic for use in the treatment of confirmed or suspected acute skin and skin structure infections caused by susceptible Gram-positive bacteria, including multidrug-resistant strains.

# Applicant

Merck, Sharp & Dohme, Rahway, NJ, United States of America

# WHO technical department

The AMR Global Coordination department reviewed the application and advised that it supported the inclusion of tedizolid phosphate on the EML as a reserve group antibiotic for treatment of confirmed or suspected infections caused by multidrug-resistant Gram-positive organisms. The technical department stressed that the use tedizolid phosphate must be always informed by evidence-based guidance and strong stewardship activities, and that access and affordability of the medicine must be considered, particularly for patients in low- and middleincome countries.

## EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

6.2.3 Reserve group antibiotics

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Powder for injection: 200 mg in vial

Tablet: 200 mg

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

## Background

Tedizolid phosphate has not previously been considered for inclusion on the EML. It is classified as a Reserve group antibiotic under the AWaRe (Access–Watch–Reserve) classification.

## Public health relevance

Worldwide in 2019, an estimated 4.95 million people died with drug-resistant bacterial infections. Of these deaths, 1.27 million were directly attributable to resistant infections and most were concentrated in low- and middle-income countries. Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) remains one of the most important causes of antimicrobial resistance and hospital-acquired infections worldwide. In 2019, it was estimated that drug-resistant *S. aureus* infections were responsible for 178 000 deaths globally – almost a quarter of all deaths caused by drug-resistant organisms (1).

In 2017, WHO designated vancomycin-resistant *S. aureus* and MRSA as high priority pathogens in need of new therapeutic options (*2*).

## Summary of evidence: benefits

#### In-vitro studies

The application stated that tedizolid (the active metabolite of the prodrug tedizolid phosphate) has demonstrated at least four-fold greater potency in vitro against susceptible strains of staphylococci (including MRSA), enterococci and streptococci compared with linezolid, based on a minimum inhibitory concentration to inhibit growth of 90% of organisms (MIC<sub>90</sub>) (3,4). There is no cross-resistance with linezolid-resistant cfr-positive *S. aureus* in the absence of chromosomal mutations (5).

## Randomized clinical trials

ESTABLISH 1 was a randomized, double-blind, non-inferiority, phase III trial comparing oral tedizolid (200 mg once daily for 6 days) with oral linezolid (600 mg twice daily for 10 days) for the treatment of 667 adults with acute bacterial skin and skin structure infections (6). The primary endpoint was clinical response defined as  $\geq 20\%$  decrease from baseline in lesion area at 48–72 hours. Results of the sensitivity analysis in all randomized patients (i.e. intention-to-treat population) showed that 78.0% of patients in the tedizolid group and 76.1% in the comparator group met the primary endpoint (absolute treatment difference 1.9%, 95% confidence interval (CI) –4.5% to 8.3%) favouring tedizolid but with no statistically significant difference between the two groups. Tedizolid met the criteria for non-inferiority to linezolid with a prespecified 10% margin. Of note, the sensitivity analysis excluded temperature 37.6 °C at 48–72 hours as a variable for the definition of clinical response.

For the intention-to-treat population, sustained clinical response measured at the end of treatment (day 11 relative to the first dose) was 69.3% in the tedizolid group and 71.9% in the linezolid group (absolute treatment difference -2.6%, 95% CI -9.6% to 4.2%). Clinical response 7–14 days after the end of treatment was 85.5% in the tedizolid group and 86.0% in the linezolid group (difference -0.5%, 95% CI -5.8% to 4.9%).

ESTABLISH 2 was a randomized, double-blind, non-inferiority, phase III trial comparing the same regimens compared in the ESTABLISH 1 trial but with an intravenous to oral switch. A total of 666 patients were randomized to receive either tedizolid (n = 332) or linezolid (n = 334) (7). All baseline pathogens were susceptible to vancomycin and linezolid. For the primary efficacy endpoint ( $\geq 20\%$  decrease from baseline in lesion area at 48–72 hours), in the intentionto-treat population, 85% (283/332) in the tedizolid group and 82.6% in the comparator group responded to treatment (treatment difference 2.6%, 95% CI -3.0% to 8.2%). Tedizolid met the criteria for non-inferiority to linezolid with a prespecified 10% margin. Other endpoints evaluated in the intention-to-treat population included clinical success 7–14 days after the end of treatment (88.0% in the tedizolid group and 87.7% in the comparator group; treatment difference 0.3%, 95% CI -4.8% to 5.3%) and clinical success at the day 11 end of treatment (87.0% in the tedizolid group and 88.0% in the linezolid group; treatment difference -1.0%, 95% CI -6.1% to 4.1%).

The primary efficacy endpoint in patients with MRSA infections was evaluated by pooling ESTABLISH 1 and ESTABLISH 2 results in the microbiological intention-to-treat population. In this subgroup analysis, clinical success was reported in 83.7% (118/141) of patients in the tedizolid group and 81.5% (119/146) in the comparator group. In these trials, MRSA was the causative pathogen in 16–27% of all patients and 27–43% of patients with a positive culture.

## **Observational studies**

The application reported the results of a case series of four patients with cellulitis and wound infections treated with tedizolid phosphate (8). Two were obese patients with severe cellulitis complicated by sepsis and myositis: one patient received tedizolid after failure of first-line therapy with cefalotin, clindamycin and imipenem, and the other was started on tedizolid and clindamycin but clindamycin was stopped on day 3 due to an adverse event. Both patients improved within 72 hours of starting tedizolid with normalized laboratory results within a week. A third patient had a surgical site infection and was treated empirically with tedizolid for 7 days because of a history of previous MRSA bacteraemia; this patient and had a clinical response within 72 hours. The fourth patient also had a surgical site infection treated with tedizolid for 14 days and also improved within 72 hours.

## Summary of evidence: harms

Safety data from the ESTABLISH 1 and ESTABLISH 2 trials were reported in the application (6,7). Overall, the proportion of patients experiencing drug-related treatment-emergent adverse events was similar between groups (22.4% and 27.9% in the tedizolid phosphate and linezolid groups, respectively). Less than 0.5% were serious (0 events with tedizolid and 2 with linezolid). Fewer patients in the tedizolid group had gastrointestinal adverse events (16.0% versus 23.0%) and low platelet counts (< 150 000 cells/mm3) during the postbaseline period (6.5% with tedizolid versus 12.6% with linezolid). Tedizolid was not associated with nephrotoxicity or postbaseline serum creatinine, and blood urea nitrogen increase was low (< 0.5%) in both treatment groups.

Tedizolid is a weak and reversible inhibitor of monoamine oxidase. The interaction with monoamine oxidase inhibitors could not be evaluated in the phase III trials as the patients receiving these medicines were excluded because linezolid has a warning in its prescribing information against use in patients using serotonergic psychiatric medications because of the potential risk of serotonin syndrome. However, based on a murine serotonergic model, tedizolid has not shown a propensity for serotonergic effects when given at doses up to almost 30 times higher than the human equivalent (9). Based on this evidence, the United States Food and Drug Administration has not put any warning or restriction for the use of tedizolid with serotonergic medications.

## Additional evidence

A randomized, double-blind, phase III study compared tedizolid phosphate with linezolid for treatment of 726 ventilated patients with Gram-positive hospital-acquired or ventilator-associated bacterial pneumonia (*10*). The overall incidence of MRSA was 31.3%. The primary efficacy endpoints were day 28 all-cause mortality and investigator-assessed clinical response at test of cure in the intention-to-treat population. All-cause mortality at 28 days was 28.2% and 26.4% in the tedizolid and linezolid arms, respectively (treatment difference -1.8%, 95% CI -8.2% to 4.7%). Non-inferiority of tedizolid was demonstrated using a non-inferiority margin of 10%. For investigator-assessed clinical response at test of cure, rates were 56.3% and 63.9% for tedizolid and linezolid groups, respectively (treatment difference -7.6, 97.5% CI -15.7% to 0.5%). Non inferiority of tedizolid was not demonstrated for this outcome measure based on a non-inferiority margin of 12.5%.

## **WHO guidelines**

Tedizolid phosphate is not currently included in existing WHO guidelines.

Tedizolid phosphate is included as a treatment option for MRSA skin and soft tissue infections in guidelines issued by the World Society for Emergency Surgery (11), the Surgical Infection Society (12) and in a consensus statement by the Italian Infectious Diseases Society (13).

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

Information regarding the cost and comparative cost–effectiveness of tedizolid phosphate was not presented in the application.

## Availability

Tedizolid phosphate has regulatory approval in 43 countries globally, however market availability is limited to only 14 upper middle- and high-income countries.

## Other considerations

The EML Antimicrobial Working Group reviewed the application and advised that it supported the inclusion of tedizolid phosphate on the EML as a reserve antibiotic for the treatment of infections caused by multidrug-resistant organisms as a therapeutic alternative to linezolid. The indications for use of tedizolid should be aligned with those for linezolid as described in the WHO AWaRe antibiotic book (*14*).

The Working Group highlighted that MRSA remains a major global public health concern as a cause of severe bacterial infections, with significant mortality associated with invasive disease as noted in the recent Global Research on Antimicrobial Resistance Project (GRAM) study (1).

The Working Group also noted that tedizolid is given only once daily, and generally for shorter treatment courses than linezolid, which is given twice daily. Tedizolid has good bioavailability and has both an intravenous and oral preparation, encouraging oral treatment only or rapid switch from intravenous to oral treatment in stable patients. No dose adjustments need to be made in patients with hepatic or renal disease. The Working Group considered that the main advantage of tedizolid over linezolid was the significantly lower incidence of bone marrow suppression and gastrointestinal toxicity.

The Working Group noted that tedizolid is more expensive than generic linezolid, however shorter treatment courses may affect the relative costs. Based on current patent status, generic versions of tedizolid are unlikely to be widely available before the 2030s. Cost–effectiveness data are scarce in low- and middle-income settings.

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that MRSA remains a major cause of severe bacterial infections in many settings, and that the pathogen is designated by WHO as high priority for which new therapeutic options are needed.

The Committee acknowledged the activity of tedizolid phosphate against high-priority drug-resistant Gram-positive pathogens, mainly *S. aureus* including

MRSA and also vancomycin-resistant enterococci. The Committee noted that clinical trial data suggest tedizolid phosphate is non-inferior to linezolid for the treatment of acute bacterial skin and skin structure infections, including infections caused by MRSA. The Committee also noted the advice of the EML Antimicrobial Working Group that tedizolid phosphate is associated with less bone marrow suppression and gastrointestinal toxicity than linezolid and that it is administered once daily for generally shorter treatment courses than linezolid which is administered twice daily.

The Committee noted that the application failed to include any information on the cost and cost–effectiveness of tedizolid phosphate. The Expert Committee also noted the advice of the EML Antimicrobial Working Group that tedizolid phosphate is more expensive than linezolid and is still under patent protection (either primary or secondary) until at least 2030, whereas linezolid is already available in generic versions.

Taking these issues into consideration, the Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of tedizolid phosphate as a Reserve group antibiotic on the EML as a therapeutic alternative to linezolid under a square box listing. The representative medicine should be linezolid because of its wider availability and lower price. The Committee noted that the application requested inclusion specifically for treatment of acute bacterial skin and skin structure infections. However, the Committee recommended that tedizolid phosphate be included on the EML for the same indications as linezolid, which are currently pathogenrather than infection-based, namely infections caused by MRSA, vancomycinresistant *S. aureus* and vancomycin-resistant enterococci.

## References

- 1. Murray CJL, Ikuta KS, Sharara F, Swetschinski L, Robles Aguilar G, Gray A, et al. Global burden of bacterial antimicrobial resistance in 2019: a systematic analysis. Lancet. 2022;399(10325):629–55.
- Prioritization of pathogens to guide discovery, research and development of new antibiotics for drug-resistant bacterial infections, including tuberculosis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/311820, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Thomson KS, Goering RV. Activity of tedizolid (TR-700) against well-characterized methicillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus strains of diverse epidemiological origins. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2013;57(6):2892–5.
- Brown SD, Traczewski MM. Comparative in vitro antimicrobial activities of torezolid (TR-700), the active moiety of a new oxazolidinone, torezolid phosphate (TR-701), determination of tentative disk diffusion interpretive criteria, and quality control ranges. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2010;54(5):2063–9.
- Shaw KJ, Poppe S, Schaadt R, Brown-Driver V, Finn J, Pillar CM, et al. In vitro activity of TR-700, the antibacterial moiety of the prodrug TR-701, against linezolid-resistant strains. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2008;52(12):4442–7.

- 6. Prokocimer P, De Anda C, Fang E, Mehra P, Das A. Tedizolid phosphate vs linezolid for treatment of acute bacterial skin and skin structure infections: the ESTABLISH-1 randomized trial. JAMA. 2013;309(6):559–69.
- Moran GJ, Fang E, Corey GR, Das AF, De Anda C, Prokocimer P. Tedizolid for 6 days versus linezolid for 10 days for acute bacterial skin and skin-structure infections (ESTABLISH-2): a randomised, double-blind, phase 3, non-inferiority trial. Lancet Infect Dis. 2014;14(8):696–705.
- 8. Shlyapnikov S, Jauregui A, Khachatryan NN, Kurup A, de la Cabada-Bauche J, Leong HN, et al. Reallife evidence for tedizolid phosphate in the treatment of cellulitis and wound infections: a case series. Infect Dis Ther. 2018;7(3):387–99.
- 9. Flanagan S, Bartizal K, Minassian SL, Fang E, Prokocimer P. In vitro, in vivo, and clinical studies of tedizolid to assess the potential for peripheral or central monoamine oxidase interactions. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2013;57(7):3060–6.
- Wunderink RG, Roquilly A, Croce M, Rodriguez Gonzalez D, Fujimi S, Butterton JR, et al. A phase 3, randomized, double-blind study comparing tedizolid phosphate and linezolid for treatment of ventilated gram-positive hospital-acquired or ventilator-associated bacterial pneumonia. Clin Infect Dis. 2021;73(3):e710–e8.
- 11. Sartelli M, Guirao X, Hardcastle TC, Kluger Y, Boermeester MA, Raşa K, et al. 2018 WSES/SIS-E consensus conference: recommendations for the management of skin and soft-tissue infections. World J Emerg Surg. 2018;13:58.
- 12. Duane TM, Huston JM, Collom M, Beyer A, Parli S, Buckman S, et al. Surgical Infection Society 2020 updated guidelines on the management of complicated skin and soft tissue infections. Surg Infect (Larchmt). 2021;22(4):383–99.
- 13. Esposito S, Bassetti M, Concia E, De Simone G, De Rosa FG, Grossi P, et al. Diagnosis and management of skin and soft-tissue infections (SSTI). A literature review and consensus statement: an update. J Chemother. 2017;29(4):197–214.
- 14. The WHO AWaRe (Access, Watch, Reserve) antibiotic book. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/365237, accessed 6 October 2023).

# 6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

Ethionamide – new indication – EML and EMLc

# Ethionamide

ATC code: J04AD03

# Proposal

Inclusion of ethionamide on the core list of the EML and EMLc for the new indication of treatment of drug-susceptible tuberculosis meningitis in children and adolescents.

# Applicant

WHO Global Tuberculosis Programme

# WHO technical department

Global Tuberculosis Programme

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Tablet: 250 mg Tablet (dispersible): 125 mg

## Core/complementary

Core

Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

Ethionamide is currently included on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for use in the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis.

# Public health relevance

Tuberculous meningitis is the most lethal form of tuberculosis. Globally in 2019, there were an estimated 164 000 cases and 78 200 deaths due to tuberculous meningitis (1). Mortality and severe permanent disabilities remain high in both children and adults, particularly in people living with HIV (2,3).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The application referenced a systematic review and meta-analysis of seven cohort studies comparing the effectiveness of shorter regimens including at a minimum isoniazid, rifampicin and pyrazinamide, versus the WHO-recommended 12-month regimen of isoniazid, rifampicin, ethambutol and pyrazinamide in children and adolescents with drug-susceptible tuberculosis meningitis (4). This meta-analysis informed a 2022 WHO guideline recommendation in favour of the shorter regimen (conditional recommendation; very low-certainty evidence). Details of the findings of the systematic review were not provided in the application but are summarized below.

Three of the included studies (724 patients) evaluated a 6-month intensive regimen of isoniazid, rifampicin, pyrazinamide and ethionamide. This regimen was associated with a lower pooled proportion of death (5.5%, 95% confidence interval (CI) 2.1% to 13.4%) compared with the 12-month regimen (23.9%, 95% CI 17.5% to 31.7%). The pooled proportions of treatment success were 94.6% (95% CI 73.9% to 99.1%) for the 6-month intensive regimen and 75.4% (95% CI 68.7% to 81.1%) for the 12-month regimen. For survivors who completed treatment and who had neurological sequalae the pooled proportions were 66.0% (95% CI 55.3% to 75.3%) for the 6-month regimen and 36.3% (95% CI 30.1% to 43.0%) for the 12-month regimen, although there was substantial heterogeneity for both regimens. For survivors who completed treatment and who did not have neurological sequalae, the pooled proportions were 29.9% (95% CI 20.4% to 41.4%) and 47.9% (95% CI 42.1% to 53.7%) for the 6-month and 12-month regimens, respectively.

## Summary of evidence: harms

Harms associated with the use of ethionamide were not discussed in the application.

From one of the studies included in the systematic review that evaluated 6- and 9-month intensified regimens of isoniazid, rifampicin, pyrazinamide and ethionamide in children with tuberculosis meningitis, treatment-induced hepatotoxicity was reported in 5% of the children (5).

## **WHO guidelines**

Current WHO guidelines for the management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents include a conditional recommendation (very low-certainty evidence) that in children and adolescents with bacteriologically confirmed or clinically diagnosed tuberculosis meningitis (without suspicion or evidence of multidrugor rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis), a 6-month intensive regimen of isoniazid, rifampicin, pyrazinamide and ethionamide may be used as an alternative to the 12-month regimen of isoniazid, rifampicin, ethambutol and pyrazinamide (6).

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

No information was provided in the application.

The 2023 Global Drug Facility catalogue reports the price of ethionamide 250 mg tablets as US\$ 9.16 for 100 tablets, and of ethionamide 125 mg dispersible tablets as US\$ 13.30–14.48 for 100 tablets.

## Availability

Ethionamide tablets and dispersible tablets are available through the Stop TB Partnership's Global Drug Facility.

## Other considerations

In adults, WHO guidelines recommend that drug-susceptible tuberculosis meningitis be treated with the same regimen used for pulmonary tuberculosis, that is, a 6-month regimen composed of 2 months of isoniazid, rifampicin, pyrazinamide and ethambutol, followed by 4 months of isoniazid and rifampicin, noting that some expert groups suggest longer therapy (7).

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that tuberculosis meningitis is responsible for considerable morbidity and mortality, and that a shorter, intensified ethionamide-containing treatment regimen in children and adolescents has shown favourable outcomes in comparison with the alternative WHO-recommended 12-month regimen of isoniazid, rifampicin, pyrazinamide and ethambutol.

The Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of ethionamide on the core list of the EML and EMLc for the new indication of drug-susceptible tuberculosis meningitis in children and adolescents, consistent with the recommendations in current WHO guidelines for management of drugsusceptible tuberculosis meningitis in children and adolescents.

# References

- 1. Dodd PJ OM, Cresswell FV, Stadelman AM, Lan NH, Thuong NTT, et al. The global burden of tuberculous meningitis in adults: a modelling study. PLOS Glob Public Health. 2021;1(12):e0000069.
- Stadelman AM, Ellis J, Samuels THA, Mutengesa E, Dobbin J, Ssebambulidde K, et al. Treatment outcomes in adult tuberculous meningitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2020;7(8):ofaa257.
- Chiang SS, Khan FA, Milstein MB, Tolman AW, Benedetti A, Starke JR, et al. Treatment outcomes of childhood tuberculous meningitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2014;14(10):947–57.
- 4. Sulis G, Tavaziva G, Gore G, Benedetti A, Solomons R, van Toorn R, et al. Comparative effectiveness of regimens for drug-susceptible tuberculous meningitis in children and adolescents: a systematic review and aggregate-level data meta-analysis. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2022;9(6):ofac108.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- van Toorn R, Schaaf HS, Laubscher JA, van Elsland SL, Donald PR, Schoeman JF. Short intensified treatment in children with drug-susceptible tuberculous meningitis. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2014;33(3):248–52.
- 6. WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis: module 5: management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/352522, accessed 6 October 2023).
- WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis: module 4: treatment: drug-susceptible tuberculosis treatment. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/353829, accessed 6 October 2023).

150

Pretomanid – addition – EML

# Pretomanid

ATC code: J04AK08

## Proposal

Addition of pretomanid to the complementary list of the EML for use in combination with bedaquiline and linezolid, with or without moxifloxacin, for the treatment of patients aged 14 years and older with multidrug-resistant or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis.

## Applicant

Global Alliance for TB Drug Development

## WHO technical department

The WHO Global Tuberculosis Programme department reviewed and provided comments on the application. The proposed inclusion of pretomanid for treatment of drug-resistant tuberculosis on the EML is supported by the technical department, to be used as a component of a 6-month regimen composed of bedaquiline, pretomanid and linezolid, with or without moxifloxacin.

| EML/EMLc |  |  |  |
|----------|--|--|--|
|          |  |  |  |

EML

## Section

6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Tablet: 200 mg

## Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

## Background

Pretomanid has not previously been evaluated for inclusion on the EML.

Bedaquiline, linezolid and moxifloxacin are currently included for treatment of multidrug- and rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis. These medicines are used in combination in the bedaquiline, pretomanid, linezolid and moxifloxacin (BPaLM) and bedaquiline, pretomanid, linezolid (BPaL) regimens. Treatment duration is 26 weeks. The BPaL regimen may be extended to 9 months (39 weeks) if necessary.

# Public health relevance

In 2021, an estimated 10.6 million people fell ill with tuberculosis worldwide, and there were 1.6 million deaths. Also in 2021, an estimated 450 000 new cases of rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis occurred. In 2019, tuberculosis was the 13th leading cause of death. Multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB) remains a public health crisis and a health security threat. Only about one in three people with drug-resistant tuberculosis accessed treatment in 2020 (1).

Existing drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment regimens often include five to seven medicines and more than 14 000 pills taken over a duration of up to 18 months or sometimes longer. High rates of non-adherence are common, which often result in unfavourable outcomes, emergence of drug resistance, continued spread of the disease and increased mortality. The introduction of the BPaLM and BPaL regimens provides efficacious, safe, well tolerated treatment options that have shortened overall treatment duration and improved compliance and favourable outcomes.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The Nix-TB study was an open-label, single-arm study conducted at three South African sites, investigating treatment with (BPaL in patients with highly drugresistant pulmonary tuberculosis (2). The primary endpoint was the incidence of an unfavourable outcome, defined as treatment failure (bacteriological or clinical) or relapse, through 6-months follow-up after the end of treatment. Participants were classified as having a favourable outcome at 6 months after the end of treatment if they had resolution of clinical disease, a negative culture status, and had not already been classified as having had an unfavourable outcome. Other efficacy endpoints and safety were also evaluated. The study enrolled 109 participants, and 107 participants were included in the modified intent-to-treat population for evaluation of efficacy. Six months after the end of treatment, nine (8%) participants had an unfavourable outcome and 98 (92%) had a favourable outcome (95% confidence interval (CI) 84.6% to 96.0%). Of the nine participants with unfavourable outcomes, six died during treatment, one withdrew (not for treatment failure) during treatment and two relapsed during follow-up.

The ZeNix study was a randomized controlled, partially-blinded, multicentre, phase III trial to evaluate the efficacy, safety and tolerability of various doses and durations of linezolid plus bedaquiline and pretomanid in 181 patients with pulmonary extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis, pre-extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis, or treatment intolerant or non-responsive MDR-TB (3). Patients were randomized to receive various doses and durations of linezolid (1200 mg or 600 mg daily; 26 weeks or 9 weeks) plus bedaquiline and pretomanid for 26 weeks. The primary endpoint was the incidence of bacteriological failure or relapse or clinical failure 6 months after the end of treatment. Other efficacy endpoints and safety were also evaluated. The modified intent-to-treat population was used for the primary efficacy analysis and included 178 participants. Among participants who received BPaL with linezolid at a dose of 1200 mg for 26 weeks or 9 weeks or 600 mg for 26 weeks or 9 weeks, 93%, 89%, 91% and 84%, respectively, had a favourable outcome 6 months after the end of treatment. Six of the seven unfavourable microbiological outcomes up to 78 weeks after the end of treatment occurred in participants assigned to the 9-week linezolid groups. The 1200 mg linezolid 26-week group had the highest percentage of participants who required linezolid dose modifications. The overall risk–benefit ratio favoured the group that received BPaL with linezolid at a dose of 600 mg for 26 weeks, with a lower incidence of adverse events reported and fewer modifications to the linezolid dose.

The TB-PRACTECAL study was a randomized, open-label, phase II/III study evaluating the safety and efficacy of regimens containing bedaquiline and pretomanid in combination with existing and repurposed drugs for the treatment of pulmonary MDR-TB (4). The study was conducted in Belarus, South Africa and Uzbekistan, and enrolled participants 15 years and older. In the first stage, equivalent to a phase IIB study, participants were randomly assigned to one of four regimens. The three investigational regimens included oral bedaquiline, pretomanid and linezolid. Additionally, two of the regimens also included moxifloxacin (arm 1) and clofazimine (arm 2). Treatment was administered for 24 weeks in the investigational arms. The phase III stage evaluated the treatment regimen of BPaLM compared with the local standard of care at the participating sites. The primary efficacy outcome was a composite endpoint of the percentage of unfavourable outcomes at 72 weeks after randomization. The secondary outcomes included safety outcomes and the percentage of grade 3 or 4 and serious adverse events in the investigational regimens compared with the standard of care. Enrolment was terminated based on a Data Safety Monitoring Board interim analysis of available data through week 72, which demonstrated that the BPaLM arm was significantly outperforming the standard of care arm in the percentage of unfavourable outcomes. Safety outcomes also favoured the BPaLM arm in this analysis (5).

The United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) analysed data submitted by health departments and clinicians on patients with tuberculosis in the US who began treatment with BPaL between August 2019 and September 2020. At follow up 12 months after treatment with BPaL was started, 19/20 (95%) patients had completed treatment, and there had been no treatment failures, recurrences or deaths (6).

Positive country experiences from Kyrgyzstan, South Africa and Ukraine with implementing the BPaL regimen under operational research conditions were reported at the Union World Conference on Lung Health in 2022 (unpublished).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

As of May 2022, 2550 participants have been exposed to pretomanid across pretomanid clinical studies.

The application described adverse events associated with the BPaL and BPaLM regimens from the Nix-TB, ZeNix and TB-PRACTECAL studies.

In the Nix-TB study, participants received the BPaL regimen with linezolid dosed at 1200 mg daily for 26 weeks. At least one treatment-emergent adverse event was reported by all 109 participants. In total, 50 (46%) participants interrupted linezolid due to an adverse event and resumed at the same or lower dose, and 30 participants (28%) permanently discontinued linezolid due to an adverse event. The most common adverse events were peripheral neuropathy (81%), myelosuppression (48%), optic neuropathy (13%), cardiac rhythm disturbances (11%) and myalgia (10%). Most peripheral neuropathy events were mild to moderate and were managed through linezolid dose adjustments. Twelve (11%) participants had transaminase increases > 3 times the upper limit of normal - 12 had an alanine aminotransferase elevation and 11 participants had an aspartate aminotransferase elevation. Two of these participants had alanine and aspartate aminotransferase elevations of > 3 times the upper limit of normal as well as direct and total bilirubin elevations of > 2 times the upper limit of normal. In both cases, the study drug regimen was interrupted. In total, eight participants had their regimen interrupted for hepatic adverse events, but all resumed and completed the full 26 weeks of treatment. The maximum mean increase in the QT interval by the Fridericia method was 10 ms at week 16; no participant had a QT interval > 480 ms (2).

During the ZeNix study, participants received the BPaL regimen for 26 weeks with linezolid dosed at 1200 mg or 600 mg daily for 26 weeks or 9 weeks. Treatment emergent adverse events were reported in 156 of 181 participants (86.2%), with the overall percentages comparable across treatment groups. One participant (0.6%) died due to a treatment-emergent adverse event (in the 1200 mg linezolid 9-week group), but this event was deemed not to be related to the study drug. The linezolid dose was modified (interrupted, reduced or discontinued) in 51%, 30%, 13%, and 13% of participants who received linezolid 1200 mg for 26 weeks, 1200 mg for 9 weeks, 600 mg for 26 weeks and 600 mg for 9 weeks, respectively. Adverse effects associated with linezolid include peripheral neuropathy, optic neuropathy and myelosuppression. For participants who received linezolid at a dose of 1200 mg for 26 weeks or 9 weeks or 600 mg for 26 weeks or 9 weeks, peripheral neuropathy occurred in 38%, 24%, 24% and 13%

of participants, respectively, and myelosuppression occurred in 29%, 15%, 13% and 16% of participants, respectively. Optic neuropathy developed in four (9%) participants who received linezolid at a dose of 1200 mg for 26 weeks; all the cases resolved. Optic neuropathy was not reported by participants in any other treatment groups (3).

Data from TB-PRACTECAL were shared with WHO to inform the updated treatment guideline recommendations. Interim results showed that the BPaLM regimen had favourable efficacy and safety when compared with the regimens given in the control arm.

The CDC analysed data submitted by health departments and clinicians on 20 patients with tuberculosis in the US who began treatment with BPaL between August 2019 and September 2020. At follow-up 12 months after treatment with BPaL was started, 19 (95%) patients had completed treatment. With regard to side-effects, 12 (60%) patients reported at least one side-effect during treatment (with the combination regimen or another medication). Sideeffects included peripheral neuropathy (six patients), depression (five patients), vestibular dysfunction (three patients), vision changes (three patients), nausea (two patients) and hearing loss (two patients). The timing of side-effects could not be correlated to a specific antituberculosis drug. At the time treatment began, therapy with linezolid was initiated in 18 (90%) patients at a dose lower than the 1200 mg daily approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration (most received 600 mg daily), and in 18 patients (90%), measurement of linezolid levels was used to attain therapeutic levels while minimizing toxic effects (6).

Testicular toxicity was observed in male mice and rats in all repeat-dose studies but was not observed in male monkeys in any repeat-dose study. New data on the safety of pretomanid based on hormone evaluations in four clinical studies and a paternity survey were assessed by the WHO Guideline Development Group in early 2022. These data have largely alleviated previous concerns on reproductive toxicity observed in animal studies, suggesting that adverse effects on human male fertility are unlikely. Four studies with exposure to pretomanid ranging from 2 to 6 months provided an assessment of serum hormone levels relevant to male reproductive health, including follicle-stimulating hormone, luteinizing hormone, inhibin B and testosterone (7). These hormone assessments demonstrated an improvement in the underlying hypogonadism, as reflected by increases in the testosterone and inhibin B levels in all treatment arms, which is consistent with improvements in the underlying disease state. In addition, a search for adverse events associated with fertility disorders across the 19 studies in the pretomanid clinical development programme identified no events in any male participant and one event in a female participant (irregular menstruation). None of the changes observed suggested testicular damage.

#### WHO guidelines

Based on data from the TB-PRACTECAL and ZeNix studies, the 2022 WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis suggest the use of a 6-month BPaLM treatment regimen (bedaquiline, pretomanid, linezolid 600 mg and moxifloxacin) rather than the standard 9- or 18-month regimens for patients with MDR-TB/rifampicin-resistant TB (conditional recommendation, very low certainty of evidence) (8). The BPaL regimen may be used in cases of documented resistance to fluoroquinolones.

Pretomanid should be administered in combination with bedaquiline and linezolid, with or without moxifloxacin, as follows:

- Pretomanid 200 mg orally (1 tablet of 200 mg), once daily, for 26 weeks.
- Bedaquiline 400 mg orally once daily for 2 weeks followed by 200 mg three times a week, with at least 48 hours between doses for 24 weeks, for a total of 26 weeks of treatment. Alternatively, bedaquiline 200 mg orally once daily for 8 weeks followed by 100 mg once daily for 18 weeks, for a total of 26 weeks of treatment.
- Linezolid 600 mg orally once daily for 26 weeks with potential for dose reduction depending on tolerance.
- Moxifloxacin 400 mg orally once daily for 26 weeks in patients without baseline resistance to fluoroquinolones.

Treatment with the BPaL combination may be extended to 39 weeks if necessary.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

Based on current costs reported in the Global Drug Facility catalogue, for patients with body weight of 40–70 kg, drug costs for treatment with BPaLM and BPaL regimens for 26 weeks is US\$ 725 and US\$ 720, respectively. In comparison, MDR-TB regimens of 9–11 months would cost between US\$ 564 and US\$ 639. The costs of medicines for longer regimens vary by patient and country and would be between US\$ 875 and US\$ 942.

Drug costs are only one part of the total cost of treatment and nondrug costs of delivering care and managing patients are significant. The lowest published total cost of administering shorter, 9-month MDR-TB regimens in India, which accounts for about 30% of all MDR-TB patients treated, is at least US\$ 2600, while treatment with longer regimens lasting up to 18 months is US\$ 5500. Comparable costs in South Africa are US\$ 4700 and US\$ 8400, respectively. Due to volume driven cost economies, costs in India are lower; costs are likely to be higher in other middle- or high-income countries, especially those with a relatively lower burden of disease (9). While the BPaLM and BPaL regimens are similar in drug cost compared with 9- to 11 month regimens, the difference in cost–effectiveness becomes apparent when the total cost of treatment is considered. A study found that the BPaLM and BPaL regimens would save about 40% over the cost of 9- to 11-month MDR-TB regimens (US\$ 1000–2000 saving per patient) and about 75% compared with longer regimens (US\$ 4000–6000 saving per patient) (9,10). Similarly, the estimated savings associated with using BPaL for pre-extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis would range between 80% and 90% (up to US\$ 12 000 per patient) (10-12). These studies considered only the cost of drugs and cost of care and estimated that global savings could reach US\$ 740 million annually if all patients were to, hypothetically, transition to BPaLM or BPaL regimens immediately. If patient costs are added, the savings from implementation of BPaLM and BPaL will be larger.

Two additional studies investigated the comparative cost of introducing pretomanid as part of the BPaL regimen to treat drug-resistant tuberculosis versus the standard treatment across six countries. All analyses in all countries estimated that the introduction of BPaL would lead to cost savings (11,12).

## Availability

Pretomanid 200 mg tablets, manufactured by Viatris, have regulatory approval in the United States, European Economic Area countries and a further 20 countries globally. Pretomanid 200 mg tablets, manufactured by Mylan Laboratories, were prequalified by WHO in November 2020. Additional manufacturers are reported to have applied or plan to apply for marketing authorization in China and India.

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that tuberculosis, including drug-resistant tuberculosis, remains a significant public health threat and is responsible for considerable morbidity and mortality. The Committee also noted that treatment for drug-resistant tuberculosis often carries a high pill-burden over a long treatment duration, and that non-compliance with treatment is common, leading to unfavourable outcomes for both individuals and the community.

High rates of non-adherence to standard treatment regimens for MDR-TB are common, which often result in unfavourable outcomes, emergence of further drug resistance, continued spread of disease and increased mortality. The introduction of the BPaLM and BPaL regimens provides efficacious, safe, well tolerated treatment options that have shortened overall treatment duration and improved compliance and favourable outcomes.

The Committee considered that the available evidence from clinical trials supports the efficacy and safety of pretomanid, as part of the BPaLM and BPaL regimens, and noted experiences reported from countries where these regimens have been introduced in tuberculosis treatment programmes. The Committee also noted that the BPaL and BPaLM regimens have a shorter overall treatment duration compared with alternative regimens, which may contribute to improved treatment adherence and more favourable outcomes.

The Committee noted that use of the BPaLM and BPaL regimens is recommended in current WHO guidelines for treatment of MDR-TB.

Based on these considerations, the Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of pretomanid on the complementary list of the EML for use as part of a combination regimen with bedaquiline and linezolid with or without moxifloxacin for the treatment of multidrug-resistant or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis in patients aged 14 years and older.

## References

- 1. Global tuberculosis report 2022. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/363752, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Conradie F, Diacon AH, Ngubane N, Howell P, Everitt D, Crook AM, et al. Treatment of highly drugresistant pulmonary tuberculosis. N Engl J Med. 2020;382(10):893–902.
- 3. Conradie F, Bagdasaryan TR, Borisov S, Howell P, Mikiashvili L, Ngubane N, et al. Bedaquiline– pretomanid–linezolid regimens for drug-resistant tuberculosis. N Engl J Med. 2022;387(9):810–23.
- 4. Berry C, du Cros P, Fielding K, Gajewski S, Kazounis E, McHugh TD, et al. TB-PRACTECAL: study protocol for a randomised, controlled, open-label, phase II–III trial to evaluate the safety and efficacy of regimens containing bedaquiline and pretomanid for the treatment of adult patients with pulmonary multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. Trials. 2022;23(1):484.
- Rapid communication: key changes to the treatment of drug-resistant tuberculosis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/353743, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 6. Goswami ND, Ashkin D, Haley CA. Pretomanid in the treatment of patients with tuberculosis in the United States. N Engl J Med. 2022;387(9):850–2.
- 7. Boekelheide K, Olugbosi M, Nedelman J, Everitt D, Smith E, Betteridge M, et al. Male reproductive hormones in patients treated with pretomanid. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2022;26(6):558–65.
- WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis: module 4: treatment: drug-resistant tuberculosis treatment. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/365308, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Ionescu A-M, Mpobela Agnarson A, Kambili C, Metz L, Kfoury J, Wang S, et al. Bedaquiline- versus injectable-containing drug-resistant tuberculosis regimens: a cost-effectiveness analysis. Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res. 2018;18(6):677–89.
- 10. Gupta A, Juneja S, Sahu S, Yassin M, Brigden G, Wandwalo E, et al. Lifesaving, cost-saving: Innovative simplified regimens for drug-resistant tuberculosis. PLOS Glob Public Health. 2022;2(11):e0001287.
- 11. Mulder C, Rupert S, Setiawan E, Mambetova E, Edo P, Sugiharto J, et al. Budgetary impact of using BPaL for treating extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis. BMJ Glob Health. 2022;7(1).
- 12. Gomez GB, Siapka M, Conradie F, Ndjeka N, Garfin AMC, Lomtadze N, et al. Cost-effectiveness of bedaquiline, pretomanid and linezolid for treatment of extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis in South Africa, Georgia and the Philippines. BMJ Open. 2021;11(12):e051521.

158

Bedaguiline – age restriction – EML and EMLc

# Bedaquiline

ATC code: J04AK05

# Proposal

Removal of the age limit from the listing for bedaquiline in the EML and EMLc.

# Applicant

WHO Global Tuberculosis Programme

## WHO technical department

Global Tuberculosis Programme

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Tablet: 20 mg, 100 mg

## Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

## Background

Bedaquiline tablets for use in the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB) have been listed on the EML and EMLc since 2015 and 2019, respectively. When bedaquiline was added to the EMLc in 2019, an age limit of  $\geq$  6 years was included, in line with WHO guideline recommendations at the time. The age limit was amended to  $\geq$  5 years in 2021, in line with updated WHO guidelines.

## Public health relevance

The public health relevance of effective treatments for MDR-TB is well established. In 2021, the estimated incidence of tuberculosis disease in children younger than 15 years was 1.15 million (1). While the exact burden of MDR-TB in children is still unknown, more than 30 000 cases are estimated to occur globally each year (2,3). In 2021, 5506 children and young adolescents (0–14 years) were initiated on second-line treatment for MDR-TB or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis (RR-TB).

## Summary of evidence: benefits

A descriptive analysis of data from a paediatric MDR-TB/RR-TB individual patient dataset included 40 children younger than 6 years and 68 children aged 6–12 years who received bedaquiline off-label under programmatic conditions. In a matched analysis, bedaquiline was associated with significantly shorter treatment duration and a lower adjusted odds ratio (OR) of injectable tuberculosis drug use (4). The certainty of evidence was very low of no statistically significant difference in successful treatment outcomes between children younger than 6 years receiving an all-oral bedaquiline-based regimen compared with children not receiving bedaquiline (OR 0.94, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.09 to 10.30). In absolute terms, this represents two fewer treatment successes per 1000 children treated (95% CI 203 fewer to 24 more) (5).

Population pharmacokinetic models from two phase II trials of bedaquiline in children – TMC207-C211 (6) and IMPAACT P1108 (7) – suggest that drug exposures observed in adults can be reached in most children receiving bedaquiline, however some dose modification may be necessary for some children depending on age and weight (4).

## Summary of evidence: harms

The most common adverse effects of bedaquiline include headache, nausea, liver dysfunction, QT interval prolongation and arthralgia.

Available interim data from IMPAACT P1108 were based on a small sample size (n = 12) but did not suggest distinct cardiac safety signals with bedaquiline in children 0–6 years compared with cardiac safety reported in adults (4). No children had QT prolongation in any categories of  $\geq 60$  ms. Three children experienced QT prolongation of between 3 ms and 60 ms. However, the safety review was not complete as not all children enrolled had completed the full course of bedaquiline treatment (24 weeks).

At this time, long-term safety and adverse event data are lacking for children younger than 6 years receiving bedaquiline.

# WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for the management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents include a conditional recommendation (very low-certainty evidence) that an alloral treatment regimen containing bedaquiline may be used in children younger than 6 years with MDR-TB and RR-TB (4).
#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Information on the cost and cost–effectiveness of bedaquiline has been presented and considered previously. No new information is available.

#### Availability

Information on the market availability of bedaquiline has been presented and considered previously. No new information is available.

#### Other considerations

In October 2021, WHO convened an expert consultation on bedaquiline dosing in young children. By accounting for age, body weight and other known covariates, an adult population pharmacokinetic model was used to simulate dose–exposure scenarios for a virtual representative paediatric population. Using these population pharmacokinetic methods and trial-based paediatric bedaquiline pharmacokinetic data, a combined age- and weight-based approach to bedaquiline dosing was developed for children weighting 3 to < 16 kg, and is included in the WHO operational handbook on tuberculosis (8). Bedaquiline is metabolized by CYP3A4, and children younger than 6 months have immature enzyme function resulting in lower bedaquiline clearance. Doses are therefore adjusted based also on age to avoid excessively high bedaquiline concentrations and resultant risk of toxicity.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recommended the removal of the age restriction from the listing of bedaquiline on the EML and EMLc, consistent with the recommendations for use of bedaquiline in current WHO guidelines for management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents.

# References

- 1. Global tuberculosis report 2022. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/363752, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Jenkins HE, Tolman AW, Yuen CM, Parr JB, Keshavjee S, Pérez-Vélez CM, et al. Incidence of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis disease in children: systematic review and global estimates. Lancet. 2014;383(9928):1572–9.
- Dodd PJ, Sismanidis C, Seddon JA. Global burden of drug-resistant tuberculosis in children: a mathematical modelling study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2016;16(10):1193–201.
- WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis: module 5: management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/352522, accessed 6 October 2023).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis: module 5: management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents. Web Annex 2: GRADE summary of findings tables. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/352508, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Pharmacokinetic study to evaluate anti-mycobacterial activity of TMC207 in combination with background regimen (BR) of multidrug resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB) medications for treatment of children/adolescents pulmonary MDR-TB. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02354014. Washington, DC: US National Library of Medicine; 2015 (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT02354014, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Evaluating the pharmacokinetics, safety, and tolerability of bedaquiline in HIV-infected and HIVuninfected infants, children, and adolescents with multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT02906007. Washington, DC: US National Library of Medicine; 2016 (https:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02906007, accessed 6 October 2023).
- WHO operational handbook on tuberculosis: module 5: management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/352523, accessed 6 October 2023).

Delamanid – age restriction – EML and EMLc

# Delamanid

ATC code: J04AK06

# Proposal

Removal of the age limits from the listing for delamanid in the EML and EMLc.

# Applicant

WHO Global Tuberculosis Programme

#### WHO technical department

Global Tuberculosis Programme

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

#### Section

6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

#### Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Tablet (dispersible): 25 mg Tablet: 50 mg

#### Core/complementary

Complementary

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

#### Background

Delamanid tablets for use in the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB) have been listed on the EML and EMLc since 2015 and 2019, respectively. When bedaquiline was added to the EMLc in 2019, an age limit of  $\ge 6$  years was included, in line with WHO guideline recommendations at the time. The age limit was amended to  $\ge 5$  years in 2021, in line with updated WHO guidelines.

#### Public health relevance

The public health relevance of effective treatments for MDR-TB is well established. In 2021, the estimated incidence of tuberculosis disease in children younger than 15 years was 1.15 million (1). While the exact burden of MDR-TB in children is still unknown, more than 30 000 cases are estimated to occur globally each year (2,3). In 2021, 5506 children and young adolescents (0-14 years) were initiated on second-line treatment for MDR-TB or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis (RR-TB).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

A phase I, open-label, age de-escalation study, followed by a phase II 6-month extension study assessed the pharmacokinetics, safety and tolerability of delamanid administered twice daily for 10 days in children with MDR-TB/RR-TB aged birth to 17 years on treatment with an optimized background regimen (4). Twelve children were included in the 0–2-year cohort. Exposures in this age group were lower than predicted from pharmacokinetic modelling of older age groups, and lower than target exposures in adults, necessitating a modelling/ simulation approach to dosing.

A descriptive analysis of data from a paediatric MDR-TB/RR-TB individual patient dataset included seven children younger than 3 years treated with delamanid, 14 children aged 3–6 years and 69 children aged 6–12 years. All 21 children younger than 6 years were successfully treated (5).

These data were reviewed by the Guideline Development Group responsible for updating the WHO guidelines on the management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents, which made a conditional recommendation based on very low certainty of evidence that delamanid may be used as part of longer regimens in children younger than 3 years with - or rifampicin-resistant tuberculosis (5–7).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

From the evidence described above, no cardiac safety signals distinct from those reported in adults were observed in children 0–2 years of age. However, children had lower drug exposures compared with adults. Pharmacodynamic simulations suggested that clinically meaningful changes in QT (i.e. prolongation) would be unlikely in children younger than 3 years, even if higher doses were used to reach drug exposures comparable to those achieved in adults.

Central nervous system effects, including paraesthesia, tremors, anxiety, depression and insomnia, are potential safety concerns associated with delamanid in both adults and children. Hallucinations have been associated with delamanid and are reported to be more prevalent in children than in adults (7).

Overall, the Guideline Development Group considered the balance between desirable and undesirable effects of delamanid in children younger than 3 years probably favoured the intervention (7).

# WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for the management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents include a conditional recommendation (very low-certainty evidence) that delamanid may be used as part of longer regimens in children younger than 3 years with MDR-TB and RR-TB (5).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Information on the cost and cost–effectiveness of delamanid has been presented and considered previously. No new information is available.

#### Availability

Information on the market availability of delamanid has been presented and considered previously. No new information is available.

#### Other considerations

In October 2021, WHO convened an expert consultation on delamanid dosing in young children. During this consultation, it was noted that since safety concerns about a possible risk of metabolite accumulation largely applied to infants (younger than 3 months) with immature cytochrome P450 enzyme function, it was advised that dosing for infants weighing 5 kg to less than 10 kg should use a combined age- and weight-based approach, with doses for children younger than 3 months being lower than doses for children aged 3 months and older. Dosing guidance for delamanid in children is provided in the WHO operational handbook on tuberculosis (*8*). Use of the 25 mg dispersible tablet formulation is preferred in infants and young children, rather than manipulation of the 50 mg tablet.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recommended the removal of the age restrictions from the listing of delamanid on the EML and EMLc, consistent with the recommendations for use of delamanid in current WHO guidelines for management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents.

#### References

- 1. Global tuberculosis report 2022. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/363752, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Jenkins HE, Tolman AW, Yuen CM, Parr JB, Keshavjee S, Pérez-Vélez CM, et al. Incidence of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis disease in children: systematic review and global estimates. Lancet. 2014;383(9928):1572–9.
- 3. Dodd PJ, Sismanidis C, Seddon JA. Global burden of drug-resistant tuberculosis in children: a mathematical modelling study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2016;16(10):1193–201.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 4. Garcia-Prats AJ, Frias M, van der Laan L, De Leon A, Gler MT, Schaaf HS, et al. Delamanid added to an optimized background regimen in children with multidrug-resistant tuberculosis: results of a phase I/II clinical trial. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2022;66(5):e0214421.
- 5. WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis: module 5: management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/352522, accessed 6 October 2023).
- WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis: module 5: management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents. Web Annex 2: GRADE summary of findings tables. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/352508, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 7. WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis: module 5: management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents. Web Annex 3: GRADE evidence to decision tables. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/352509, accessed 6 October 2023).
- WHO operational handbook on tuberculosis: module 5: management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/352523, accessed 6 October 2023).

Antituberculosis medicines – formulations for deletion – EML and EMLc

#### Antituberculosis formulations – deletions ATC code: various

#### Proposal

Deletion of various antituberculosis medicine formulations from the EML and EMLc.

#### Applicant

WHO Global Tuberculosis Programme

#### WHO technical department

Global Tuberculosis Programme

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

#### Section

6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

#### Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Amikacin – Injection: 100 mg/2 mL (as sulfate) in 2 mL vial (EML and EMLc) Ethambutol – Oral liquid: 25 mg/mL (EMLc) Ethionamide – Tablet: 125 mg (EML and EMLc) Isoniazid – Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL (EMLc) Linezolid – Powder for oral liquid: 100 mg/5 mL (EML and EMLc) p-aminosalicylic acid – Granules: 4 g in sachet (EML and EMLc) Pyrazinamide – Oral liquid: 30 mg/mL (EMLc)

#### Core/complementary

Core and complementary

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

#### Background

At its meeting in 2021, the Expert Committee considered an application for deletion of various antituberculosis medicine formulations from the EML and EMLc, including ethambutol, ethionamide and pyrazinamide oral liquid, and ethionamide 125 mg tablets. The Committee recognized that dispersible tablet formulations are preferred child-friendly formulations and provide flexible dosing options. However, because of concerns about limited uptake and availability of dispersible tablets formulations of ethambutol, ethionamide, isoniazid and pyrazinamide in some countries, the Committee did not recommend the deletion of oral liquid formulations of ethambutol, isoniazid and pyrazinamide, nor the 125 mg tablet formulation of ethionamide at that time. To allow countries time to transition to the adoption of the preferred, listed dispersible-tablet formulations, the Committee advised that these formulations would be deleted from the Model Lists in 2023 without further consideration, unless an application was received to support their ongoing inclusion (1).

No application to support ongoing inclusion has been received.

#### Public health relevance

Not applicable

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The rationale presented in the applications for the requested deletions is summarized below.

#### Amikacin injection 100 mg/2 mL

Amikacin is recommended by WHO for the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in people aged 18 years and older where susceptibility has been demonstrated. There is no current recommendation for its use in children and adolescents younger than 18 years due to an unfavourable benefit–risk balance and poor tolerability. In rare situations, amikacin may be used as salvage therapy, for which the dosage for children older than 2 years is 15–20 mg/kg a day, which can be achieved using the alternative listed strength of amikacin injection (250 mg/mL). This alternative strength is also more appropriate for dosing adults with multidrug-resistant tuberculosis, where higher doses are used (750–1000 mg a day).

# Linezolid powder for oral liquid 100 mg/5 mL

This formulation is reported to be the subject of supply and availability issues, and to be more expensive than the alternative listed formulation of linezolid 150 mg dispersible tablets. The powder for oral liquid requires reconstitution before administration and contains a number of excipients associated with safety concerns. Linezolid 150 mg dispersible tablets have been included on the EMLc since 2019 and are included in the list of finished pharmaceutical products prequalified by WHO.

# p-aminosalicylic acid granules 4 g

The application reports that p-aminosalicylic acid granules 4 g have been discontinued by the sole manufacturer because of high production costs and decreasing demand. An alternative product containing the equivalent of 4 g p-aminosalicylic acid as 5.52 g p-aminosalicylate sodium is available and is proposed in the application to replace the 4 g p-aminosalicylic acid formulation being proposed for deletion.

Ethambutol oral liquid 25 mg/mL; ethionamide tablet 125 mg; isoniazid oral liquid 50 mg/5 mL; pyrazinamide oral liquid 30 mg/mL

Refer to the Background section, above.

# **WHO** guidelines

The proposed changes are aligned with recommendations in current WHO guidelines for the treatment of drug-susceptible and drug-resistant tuberculosis.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Not applicable

#### Availability

Not applicable

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee accepted the rationale and justifications presented by the Global Tuberculosis Programme and recommended the deletion of the following formulations of antituberculosis medicines from the EML and/or EMLc as requested in the application:

- amikacin injection 100 mg/2 mL (as sulfate) in 2 mL vial
- linezolid powder for oral liquid 100 mg/5 mL
- p-aminosalicylic acid granules 4 g in sachet.

The Committee recommended the inclusion of a new formulation of p-aminosalicylate sodium (powder for oral solution: 5.52 g in sachet (equivalent to 4 g p aminosalicylic acid)) on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc to replace the deleted formulation of p-aminosalicylic acid, which has been discontinued by the only manufacturer.

The Expert Committee recalled the recommendation of the 2021 Committee on the deletion of the following formulations of antituberculosis medicine formulations and recommended their removal from the EML and EMLc. The Committee noted that deletion of these formulations is supported by the Global Tuberculosis Programme, and that no application had been received to support their ongoing inclusion on the Model Lists:

- ethambutol: oral liquid 25 mg/mL (EMLc)
- ethionamide: tablet 125 mg (EML and EMLc)
- isoniazid: oral liquid 50 mg/5 mL (EMLc)
- pyrazinamide: oral liquid 30 mg/mL (EMLc).

# References

 The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351172, accessed 6 October 2023).

# 6.4 Antiviral medicines

6.4.4.2 Medicine for hepatitis C

Ravidasvir – addition – EML

# Ravidasvir

ATC code: not available

#### Proposal

Addition of ravidasvir to the core list of the EML for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C virus infection in adults.

# Applicant

Ministry of Health, Putrajaya, Malaysia

# WHO technical department

WHO Global Hepatitis Programme

#### EML/EMLc

EML

#### Section

6.4.4.2.1 Pangenotypic direct-acting antiviral combinations

#### Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Tablet: 200 mg

#### Core/complementary

Core

Individual/square box listing

Individual

#### Background

Ravidasvir has not previously been evaluated for inclusion on the EML.

Ravidasvir was developed through an innovative drug development pathway involving multiple stakeholders including the Drugs for Neglected Disease Initiative (DNDi), Pharco Pharmaceuticals (a pharmaceutical company in Egypt) and Pharmaniaga, a manufacturer from Malaysia. An access agreement was formed under this collaboration. Malaysia as the co-founder of DNDi took part in the decision-making process and funded the development of the drug through the running of clinical trials in Malaysia. As a result, ravidasvir was registered in Malaysia in 2021 and its use in combination with sofosbuvir was granted conditional approval by the National Pharmaceutical Regulatory Authority of Malaysia.

#### Public health relevance

An estimated 58 million people are chronically infected with hepatitis C virus (HCV) worldwide, with higher burden in low- and middle-income countries (1). However, in 2019 about 79% of people infected with HCV were unaware of their infection status and only about 13% of all infected people received treatment (1). An estimated 290 000 people died as a result of hepatitis C in 2019, mostly from liver cancer and cirrhosis caused by untreated HCV infections. In this context, the WHO goal is still to eliminate HCV as a public health threat by 2030, that is, a 90% reduction in chronic infections and 65% reduction in mortality compared with 2015.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The application reported the results of four phase II/III clinical trials of ravidasvir, conducted mainly in countries in Asia and the Middle East.

The Pyramid 1 trial was a randomized, phase IIb/IIIa clinical trial conducted in 298 patients in Egypt (2). This study assessed the efficacy and safety of ravidasvir plus sofosbuvir (with or without ribavirin) in patients with chronic HCV (genotype 4) infection. The study included both treatment naïve (149 patients, 59/149 with cirrhosis) and treatment experienced (149 patients, 70/149 with cirrhosis) patients. Patients without cirrhosis received ravidasvir (200 mg once a day) plus sofosbuvir (400 mg once a day) with or without ribavirin for 12 weeks. Patients with cirrhosis received ravidasvir (200 mg once a day) plus sofosbuvir (400 mg once a day) plus ribavirin for either 12 or 16 weeks. The primary efficacy endpoint was sustained virological response at 12 weeks after treatment. The response rate was 95.3% overall, higher in patients without cirrhosis (98.9% in the treatment-naïve group and 97.5% in the treatment-experienced group) and lower in those with cirrhosis (91.5% in the treatment-naïve group and 94.3% in the treatment-experienced group that was treated for 16 weeks). The response rate was lower (88.6%) in treatment-experienced patients with cirrhosis who were treated for 12 weeks.

The STORM-C-1 trial (3) was a multicentre, two-stage, open-label, single arm, phase II/III trial conducted in Malaysia and Thailand which included 301 patients (stage 1) and 302 patients (stage 2) with chronic HCV infection regardless of genotype. The study assessed the efficacy of ravidasvir (200 mg) plus sofosbuvir (400 mg) given for 12 weeks (patients without cirrhosis) or 24 weeks (patients with cirrhosis). The primary efficacy endpoint was sustained virological response at 12 weeks after treatment. The overall response rate in stage 1 was 97%

(95% confidence interval (CI) 94% to 99%), 96% in patients with cirrhosis and 97% in genotype 3 HCV infections. Of note, 30% of the patients were co-infected with HIV. Preliminary results of stage 2 were consistent with those of stage 1. The reported overall response rate was 96.8% (95% CI 95.1% to 98.1%).

The EVEREST trial was an open-label, single-arm, phase II trial in 38 treatment-naïve, HCV genotype 1 patients without cirrhosis (4). The study assessed the efficacy and safety of ravidasvir (200 mg once a day) plus ritonavirboosted danoprevir (100 mg/100 mg every 12 hours) and ribavirin for 12 weeks. The primary efficacy endpoint was sustained virological response at 12 weeks after treatment. The response rate was 100%. Six patients had NS5A resistanceassociated variants at baseline, all of whom achieved sustained virological response at week 12.

The ASC-ASC16-II/III-CTP-1-01 trial was a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicentre phase II/III trial conducted in China in 424 treatment-naïve, HCV genotype 1 patients without cirrhosis (5). Patients were randomized to receive ravidasvir (200 mg once a day) plus ritonavir-boosted danoprevir (100 mg/100 mg every 12 hours) and ribavirin for 12 weeks (n = 318) or placebo (n = 106). Patients in the placebo arm received active treatment after week 12. The primary efficacy endpoint was sustained virological response at 12 weeks after treatment. The overall response rate was 99% in the per-protocol analysis in both groups.

The application presented the efficacy results for overall sustained virological response for ravidasvir (combined with sofosbuvir) from the STORM-C-1 trial and compared them with efficacy data for other regimens taken from a meta-analysis on pangenotypic direct-acting antiviral medicines (6), stratifying results by genotype (Table 12). Results stratified by cirrhosis and HIV status were also presented in the application (data not shown).

#### Table 12

# Proportion of overall sustained virological response at week 12 for combinations of direct-acting antivirals (all comers, all treatment experience), by genotype

| Genotype | Per cent                    |                             |                               |                            |                            |
|----------|-----------------------------|-----------------------------|-------------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|
|          | Sofosbuvir +<br>velpatasvir | Sofosbuvir +<br>daclatasvir | Glecaprevir +<br>pibrentasvir | Sofosbuvir +<br>ledipasvir | Sofosbuvir +<br>ravidasvir |
| 1        | 96                          | 96                          | 98                            | 97                         | 99                         |
| 2        | 99                          | 94                          | 98                            | 86                         | 100                        |
| 3        | 89                          | 89                          | 95                            | 65                         | 97                         |
| 4        | 99                          | 97                          | 97                            | 96                         | 95                         |

173

#### Summary of evidence: harms

In the Pyramid trial (2), safety endpoints were assessed until 4 weeks after the last dose of treatment. Adverse events were reported in 69% (204/298) of patients and half of which were considered to be unrelated to the study treatment. Most adverse events were mild to moderate and were headache (31%), pruritus (29%), fatigue (18%) and abdominal pain (10%). Serious adverse events were reported in 4% (11/298) of patients, with only two considered to be related to the study treatment, one case of hearing impairment and one case of transient symptomatic bradycardia.

In the STORM-C-1 trial (*3*), safety endpoints were assessed until 24 weeks after the end of treatment. Treatment-emergent adverse events were reported in 64% (192/301) of patients. Treatment-related adverse events were pyrexia (12%), cough (87/301) of patients. The most common adverse events were pyrexia (12%), cough (9%), upper respiratory tract infection (8%) and headache (7%). Serious adverse events were reported in 6% (19/301) of patients with only one considered to be related to the study treatment. In patients with HCV–HIV co-infections, no clinically significant drug–drug interactions between ravidasvir and commonly used antiretrovirals were reported.

No treatment-related serious adverse events, discontinuations due to adverse events or deaths were reported during the EVEREST trial (4).

In the ASC-ASC16-II/III-CTP-1-01 trial (5), safety endpoints were assessed until 4 weeks after the last dose of treatment. In this trial, adverse events were reported in 94% (298/318) of patients in the intervention group and 79% (84/106) of patients in the placebo group. Most adverse events were mild. Serious adverse events were reported in 2% (7/318) and 5% (5/106) of patients in the intervention and placebo groups, respectively.

The application presented a comparison of safety data for ravidasvir combined with sofosbuvir with safety results for other regimens taken from a meta-analysis on pangenotypic direct acting antivirals, reporting the pooled proportions of patients experiencing events (Table 13) (6).

| Measure                                    | Per cent                    |                             |                               |                            |                            |
|--|-----------------------------|-----------------------------|-------------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|
|  | Sofosbuvir +<br>Velpatasvir | Sofosbuvir +<br>Daclatasvir | Glecaprevir +<br>Pibrentasvir | Sofosbuvir +<br>Ledipasvir | Sofosbuvir +<br>Ravidasvir |
| Serious adverse<br>event                   | 3                           | 3                           | 2                             | 2                          | 8ª                         |
| Discontinuation<br>due to adverse<br>event | 0                           | 1                           | 1                             | 0                          | < 1                        |

# Table 13 Pooled proportions of adverse effects of direct-acting antivirals (all treatment experience)

<sup>a</sup> Indirect comparison based on the STORM C-1 (3) and Pyramid 1 (2) trials.

#### WHO guidelines

Ravidasvir is not currently included in WHO guidelines for the treatment of chronic HCV infection.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The application reported that the current cost of one tablet of ravidasvir was US\$ 7.30 in China and US\$ 3.60 in Malaysia. No cost data were available for high- and low-income countries. In Malaysia, the cost of a course of ravidasvir + sofosbuvir was reported to be US\$ 300. Pharco and DNDi have publicly announced that the sofosbuvir and ravidasvir combination will be available for US\$ 294 or less per treatment course (7).

A cost-utility analysis comparing ravidasvir + sofosbuvir to daclatasvir + sofosbuvir and sofosbuvir + velpatasvir was conducted in the Brazil and Argentina. In Brazil, all three regimens were considered cost-effective when compared to no direct-acting antiviral regimen. Compared with ravidasvir + sofosbuvir, sofosbuvir + daclatasvir was not cost-effective for genotype 3 HCV infections and sofosbuvir + velpatasvir was not cost-effective for all HCV genotypes. In Argentina, ravidasvir + sofosbuvir was found to be cost-effective for all HCV genotypes (8).

The application also presented comparisons of price per tablet of directacting antivirals (Table 14) and treatment cost by regimen (Table 15) in Malaysia and by country income level.

#### Table 14

# Price comparison for direct-acting antivirals in Malaysia and high-, middle- and low-income countries and areas

| Antiviral                                  | US\$ per tablet |                             |                               |                            |
|--|-----------------|-----------------------------|-------------------------------|----------------------------|
|  | Malaysia        | High<br>income <sup>a</sup> | Middle<br>income <sup>b</sup> | Low<br>income <sup>c</sup> |
| Daclatasvir 30 mg                          | 4.84            | No data                     | No data                       | 1.34                       |
| Daclatasvir 60 mg                          | 0.39            | 48.44                       | 0.83                          | 6.39                       |
| Dasabuvir 250 mg                           | No data         | No data                     | 5.46                          | No data                    |
| Glecaprevir 100 mg +<br>pibrentasvir 40 mg | No data         | 111.94                      | 107.07                        | No data                    |
| Ravidasvir 200 mg                          | 3.59            | No data                     | 7.33                          | No data                    |
| Ribavirin 200 mg                           | 1.40            | 1.22                        | 0.45                          | 0.17                       |
| Sofosbuvir 400 mg                          | 0.75            | 444.66                      | 2.30 <sup>d</sup>             | 6.78                       |
| Sofosbuvir 400 mg +<br>ledipasvir 90 mg    | No data         | 272.04                      | 2.33                          | 14.79                      |
| Sofosbuvir 400 mg +<br>velpatasvir 100 mg  | 2.19            | 232.19                      | 5.63                          | 14.34                      |

<sup>a</sup> Australia, Taiwan, China, Germany, Japan, New Zealand, Saudi Arabia, Republic of Korea, Sweden and United Kingdom.

<sup>b</sup> Argentina, Azerbaijan, Brazil, China, Egypt, Romania, South Africa, Thailand and Türkiye.

<sup>c</sup> India, Indonesia and Viet Nam.

<sup>d</sup> Data only from China.

# Table 15 Comparison of treatment costs for direct-acting antiviral regimens, by country income level

| Antiviral regimen  | US\$        |               |            |  |
|--|-------------|---------------|------------|--|
|  | High income | Middle income | Low income |  |
| Glecaprevir + pibrentasvir<br>(minimum treatment duration) | 18 806.62   | 19 503.74     | No data    |  |
| Glecaprevir + pibrentasvir<br>(maximum treatment duration) | 37 613.25   | 35 976.84     | No data    |  |
| Sofosbuvir + daclatasvir<br>(minimum treatment duration)   | 41 421.07   | 262.78        | 1106.22    |  |

| Antiviral regimen  | US\$        |               |            |  |
|--|-------------|---------------|------------|--|
|  | High income | Middle income | Low income |  |
| Sofosbuvir + daclatasvir<br>(maximum treatment duration) | 82 842.14   | 1 278.17      | 2212.43    |  |
| Sofosbuvir + ravidasvir<br>(minimum treatment duration)  | No data     | 808.95        | No data    |  |
| Sofosbuvir + ravidasvir<br>(maximum treatment duration)  | No data     | 2370.34       | No data    |  |
| Sofosbuvir + velpatasvir<br>(minimum treatment duration) | 19 503.74   | 472.54        | 1204.48    |  |
| Sofosbuvir + velpatasvir<br>(maximum treatment duration) | 39 007.47   | 945.09        | 2408.95    |  |
|  |             |               |            |  |

#### Table 15 continued

#### Availability

Ravidasvir currently has regulatory approval and market availability in China, Egypt and Malaysia.

In 2017, the Medicines Patent Pool and Pharco Pharmaceuticals signed a licence and technology agreement for ravidasvir, with the aim of improving access to ravidasvir in 19 low- and middle-income countries with a high prevalence of HCV infection, namely Algeria, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Djibouti, Egypt, Ethiopia, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Iraq, Jordan, Kazakhstan, Lebanon, Libya, Morocco, occupied Palestinian territory, Russian Federation, Syrian Arab Republic, Tunisia, Ukraine and Yemen (9).

#### Other considerations

The Committee acknowledged that the Ministry of Health of Malaysia (the applicant) had taken an active role in the development and manufacturing of ravidasvir in a public-private partnership with pharmaceutical contractors and the DNDi. The Committee considered that this type of approach may offer a path forward for countries looking to address the challenge of high medicine prices. The Committee recognized the importance of identifying and supporting effective strategies to reduce prices far below current market prices for direct-acting antiviral medicines in countries with limited resources and a high HCV burden to increase affordable to hepatitis C treatments.

#### Committee recommendations

The Expert Committee recognized the public health importance of effective and safe treatments for HCV infection, especially in settings with high disease burden.

The Committee also noted that the availability of pangenotypic regimens has overcome the requirement for genotype testing, but that rapid diagnostic testing is still required to identify patients eligible for treatment. Rapid diagnostic tests to screen for HCV infection are included on the WHO Model List of Essential In-Vitro Diagnostics.

The Committee considered that the evidence presented in the application from four clinical trials supported the effectiveness and safety of ravidasvir, when used in combination with sofosbuvir, and showed results similar to those seen with other pangenotypic direct-acting antiviral regimens. However, the Committee noted that comparative studies versus other pangenotypic directacting antiviral regimens were lacking, and that ravidasvir + sofosbuvir is not included among the recommended pangenotypic regimens for adults in current WHO guidelines for hepatitis C.

The Committee noted that the global availability of ravidasvir is currently limited but considered that inclusion of ravidasvir on the EML would provide an additional treatment option for national selection and procurement in countries where it is available. The Committee also noted that ravidasvir had been licensed to the Medicines Patent Pool, which may facilitate affordable access in low- and middle-income countries.

The Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of ravidasvir on the core list of the EML, for use in combination with sofosbuvir, as a therapeutic alternative under the square box listing for pangenotypic direct-acting antivirals for the treatment of chronic HCV infection in adults.

# References

- Hepatitis C fact sheet [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www.who. int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/hepatitis-c, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Esmat G, Elbaz T, El Raziky M, Gomaa A, Abouelkhair M, Gamal El Deen H, et al. Effectiveness of ravidasvir plus sofosbuvir in interferon-naïve and treated patients with chronic hepatitis C genotype-4. J Hepatol. 2017;68(1):53–62.
- Andrieux-Meyer I, Tan SS, Thanprasertsuk S, Salvadori N, Menétrey C, Simon F, et al. Efficacy and safety of ravidasvir plus sofosbuvir in patients with chronic hepatitis C infection without cirrhosis or with compensated cirrhosis (STORM-C-1): interim analysis of a two-stage, open-label, multicentre, single arm, phase 2/3 trial. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2021;6(6):448–58.
- Kao J-H, Yu M-L, Chen C-Y, Peng C-Y, Chen M-Y, Tang H, et al. Twelve-week ravidasvir plus ritonavirboosted danoprevir and ribavirin for non-cirrhotic HCV genotype 1 patients: a phase 2 study. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;33(8):1507–10.
- 5. Xu X, Feng B, Guan Y, Zheng S, Sheng J, Yang X, et al. Efficacy and safety of all-oral, 12-week ravidasvir plus ritonavir-boosted danoprevir and ribavirin in treatment-naïve noncirrhotic HCV genotype 1 patients: results from a phase 2/3 clinical trial in China. J Clin Transl Hepatol. 2019;7(3):213–20.

- Zoratti MJ, Siddiqua A, Morassut RE, Zeraatkar D, Chou R, Van Holten J, et al. Pangenotypic direct acting antivirals for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C virus infection: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. EClinicalMedicine. 2020;18:100237.
- Drugs for Neglected Diseases initiative and Pharco Pharmaceuticals to test affordable hepatitis C regimen with support of Malaysian and Thai governments [press release]. Barcelona: DNDi; 13 April 2016 (https://dndi.org/press-releases/2016/dndi-pharco-hepc-malaysia-thailand/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 8. Ott E, Olsen E. A cost utility analysis of direct-acting antivirals for the treatment of hepatitis C Virus in Brazil and Argentina. Copenhagen: Copenhagen Business School; 2021.
- The Medicines Patent Pool and Pharco Pharmaceuticals sign licence for promising hepatitis C drug candidate ravidasvir [press release]. Amsterdam: Medicines Patent Pool; 21 April 2017 (https:// medicinespatentpool.org/news-publications-post/the-medicines-patent-pool-and-pharcopharmaceuticals-sign-licence-for-promising-hepatitis-c-drug-candidate-ravidasvir, accessed 6 October 2023).

Dasabuvir, ombitasvir + paritaprevir + ritonavir, pegylated interferon alfa (2a & 2b) – deletion – EML

| Dasabuvir                             | ATC code: J05AP09         |
|---------------------------------------|---------------------------|
| Ombitasvir + paritaprevir + ritonavir | ATC code: J05AP53         |
| Pegylated interferon alfa (2a & 2b)   | ATC code: L03AB11/L03AB10 |

#### Proposal

Deletion of dasabuvir; ombitasvir + paritaprevir + ritonavir; and pegylated interferon alfa 2a and 2b for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection from the EML.

#### Applicant

Philippa Easterbrook, WHO Global HIV, Hepatitis and STIs Programmes, Geneva, Switzerland

# WHO technical department

Global HIV, Hepatitis and Sexually Transmitted Infections Programmes

#### EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

6.4.4.2.2 Non-pangenotypic direct-acting antiviral combinations

6.4.4.2.3 Other antivirals for hepatitis C

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Dasabuvir - Tablet: 250 mg

Ombitasvir + paritaprevir + ritonavir – Tablet: 12.5 mg + 75 mg + 50 mg

Pegylated interferon alfa 2a - Vial or prefilled syringe: 180 micrograms

Pegylated interferon alfa 2b – Vial or prefilled syringe: 80 micrograms, 100 micrograms

# Core/complementary

Core (dasabuvir, ombitasvir + paritaprevir + ritonavir) Complementary (pegylated interferon alfa)

# Individual/square box listing Individual

180

#### Background

Pegylated interferon alfa has been included on the EML for use in combination with ribavirin for the treatment of chronic HCV infection since 2013. Dasabuvir and the fixed-dose combination of ombitasvir + paritaprevir + ritonavir were added in 2015.

Listings of antivirals on the EML for the treatment of chronic HCV infection were differentiated in 2019, to distinguish between pangenotypic and non-pangenotypic treatments. With pangenotypic regimens now recommended by WHO as the standard of care, the Expert Committee recommended that non-pangenotypic treatments could be considered for future deletion from the EML (1).

#### Public health relevance

It is estimated that 58 million people are chronically infected with HCV worldwide, with higher burdens in low and middle-income countries (2). However, in 2019 about 79% of people infected with HCV were unaware of their infection status and only about 13% of all infected people received treatment (2). An estimated 290 000 people died as a result of hepatitis C in 2019, mostly from liver cancer and cirrhosis caused by untreated HCV infections. In this context, the WHO goal is still to eliminate HCV as a public health threat by 2030, that is, a 90% reduction in chronic infections and 65% reduction in mortality compared to 2015.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

In 2018, WHO issued updated guidelines on care and treatment of chronic HCV infection (*3*). Key changes made were the following.

- The adoption of a "treat all" approach: the use of safe and highly effective direct-acting antiviral regimens for all persons with HCV infection improves the balance of benefits and harms of treating persons with little or no fibrosis, thus supporting a strategy of treating all persons with chronic HCV infection, rather than reserving treatment for persons with more advanced disease.
- The recommendation for the use of three pangenotypic direct-acting antiviral regimens for the treatment of persons with chronic HCV infection aged 18 years and above:
  - sofosbuvir/velpatasvir 12 weeks
  - sofosbuvir/daclatasvir 12 weeks and
  - glecaprevir/pibrentasvir 8 weeks.

In 2022, this was updated to include adolescents and children down to the age of 3 years (4,5).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

Since 2016, several new, pangenotypic direct-acting antiviral medicines had been approved by at least one stringent regulatory authority, reducing the need for genotyping to guide treatment decisions. A WHO-commissioned systematic review identified 142 clinical studies that evaluated the safety and efficacy of various direct-acting antiviral regimens approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration and the European Medicines Agency. In 2018, the Guidelines Development Group made a recommendation to use pangenotypic regimens for the treatment of HCV infection. The Guidelines Development Group acknowledged that the potential clinical benefits of pangenotypic regimens were similar to those of non-pangenotypic regimens. However, pangenotypic regimens present an opportunity to simplify the care pathway by removing the need for expensive genotyping and so simplifying procurement and supply chains. These regimens offer an important opportunity to facilitate treatment expansion worldwide. These factors shift the balance of benefits and harms in favour of the use of pangenotypic regimens. Interferon-based regimens also have low efficacy and are associated with considerable toxicity.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

Pegylated interferon alfa and ribavirin are associated with prominent side-effects during treatment and potentially irreversible long-term side-effects, such as thyroid disease, type 1 diabetes, ophthalmological complications and growth impairment in children (5).

#### **WHO guidelines**

Pegylated interferon alfa 2a and 2b and the non-pangenotypic regimen of dasabuvir with ombitasvir + paritaprevir + ritonavir are no longer recommended treatments in current WHO guidelines for treatment of chronic HCV infection (*3*,*4*).

# Costs/cost-effectiveness

Not applicable

# Availability

Not applicable

# Other considerations

Dasabuvir, ombitasvir, paritaprevir and ritonavir have been removed from expressions of interest issued for WHO prequalification of active pharmaceutical ingredients and finished pharmaceutical products.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that pangenotypic direct-acting antiviral regimens are now the standard for treatment of chronic HCV infection as recommended

in current WHO guidelines for treatment of HCV infection. They offer the advantages of simplifying the care pathway by removing the need for genotype testing and focusing procurement, thereby facilitating treatment expansion worldwide.

The Committee noted that dasabuvir, used in combination with ombitasvir + paritaprevir + ritonavir, is not a pangenotypic regimen. The Committee also noted that interferon-based regimens have low efficacy and are associated with significant toxicity. These treatments are no longer recommended in WHO guidelines.

The Committee therefore recommended the deletion from the EML of dasabuvir, ombitasvir + paritaprevir + ritonavir, and pegylated interferon alfa 2a and 2b from the core list of the EML.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Hepatitis C fact sheet [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www.who. int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/hepatitis-c, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Guidelines for the care and treatment of persons diagnosed with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018. (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/273174, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Updated recommendations on treatment of adolescents and children with chronic HCV infection, and HCV simplified service delivery and diagnostics. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/363590, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 5. Indolfi G, Easterbrook P, Dusheiko G, El-Sayed MH, Jonas MM, Thorne C, et al. Hepatitis C virus infection in children and adolescents. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;4(6):477–87.

# 6.7 Medicines for Ebola virus disease

Anti-Ebola virus disease monoclonal antibodies – addition – EML and EMLc

Ansuvimab-zyklATC code: J06BD04Atoltivimab + maftivimab + odesivimab-ebgnATC code: not available

# Proposal

Addition of the monoclonal antibody therapeutics ansuvimab-sykl (mAb114) and atoltivimab + maftivimab + odesivimab-ebgn (REGN-EB3) to the core list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of Ebola virus disease caused by *Zaire ebolavirus*.

# Applicant

Clinical Management Unit, WHO Department of Country Readiness Strengthening, Geneva, Switzerland

#### WHO technical department

Health Care Readiness

# EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

# Section

6.7 Medicines for Ebola virus disease

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Ansuvimab-zykl - Powder for injection: 400 mg

Atoltivimab + maftivimab + odesivimab-ebgn – Injection: 241.7 mg + 241.7 mg + 241.7 mg in 14.5 mL vial

#### Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

Anti-Ebola virus disease monoclonal antibodies have not previously been evaluated for inclusion on the Model Lists.

#### Public health relevance

Ebola virus disease (EVD) is a life-threatening disease caused by Ebola virus (*Zaire ebolavirus*). During early EVD, patients present with a non-specific febrile illness, followed by gastrointestinal signs and symptoms that frequently lead to hypovolaemia, metabolic acidosis, hypoglycaemia, and multiorgan failure (1). EVD case fatality is high, with a pooled case fatality rate of 60% (95% confidence interval (CI) 47% to 73%) in outbreaks from 2010 to 2020 (2). In recent years, several outbreaks of EVD have occurred in Africa, including the prolonged 2013–2016 outbreak in West Africa, outbreaks in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (2018–2020, 2020, 2021, 2022), and in Guinea (2021) (3).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The PALM study was a randomized, multicentre study of four investigational EVD therapeutics undertaken in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (4). All patients received standard care, which consisted of administration of intravenous fluids, daily clinical laboratory testing, correction of hypoglycaemia and electrolyte imbalances, and administration of broad-spectrum antibiotic agents and antimalarial agents as indicated. Patients were assigned in a 1:1:1:1 ratio to receive intravenous administration of the triple monoclonal antibody 2G4, 4G7, 13C6 (ZMapp; the control group), the antiviral remdesivir, the single mAb114, or the triple monoclonal antibody REGN-EB3. Patients of any age, including pregnant women, were eligible if they had a blood specimen positive for Ebola virus by real-time polymerase-chain-reaction (RT-PCR) assay. Neonates < 7 days of unconfirmed EVD status were also eligible if they were born to a mother with documented EVD. Patients were stratified according to baseline PCR cycle threshold values for the virus ( $\leq$  22 versus > 22), with lower cycle threshold values corresponding to higher viral load. The primary endpoint was 28-day mortality.

A total of 681 patients were enrolled from 20 November 2018 to 9 August 2019. An interim analysis of data from 499 patients on 9 August 2019 led to the data and safety monitoring board recommending terminating random assignment to ZMapp and remdesivir on the basis of results showing that the REGN-EB3 group crossed an interim boundary for efficacy with respect to a surrogate endpoint for death at 28 days, and an analysis of mortality that showed clear differences between the mAb114 and REGN-EB3 groups and the ZMapp and remdesivir groups. A total of 673 patients were included in the primary analyses. At 28 days, 290 deaths had occurred (in 18.8% and 76.1% of patients with low and high viral loads, respectively).

The difference in 28-day mortality of mAb114 compared with ZMapp was -14.6 percentage points (95% confidence interval (CI) -25.2 to -1.7). The difference in 28-day mortality with REGN-EB3 compared with ZMapp was -17.8 percentage points (95% CI -28.9 to -2.9).

From an indirect comparison of mAb114 versus standard care, via ZMapp, informed by data from the PALM (4) and PREVAIL (5) studies, there was moderate-certainty evidence that mAb114 reduced mortality (relative risk (RR) 0.42, 95% CI 0.19 to 0.93). In absolute terms, this represents 229 fewer deaths per 1000 patients (95% CI 320 to 28 fewer) using the lowest baseline risk estimate, and 383 fewer deaths per 1000 patients (95% CI 535 to 46 fewer) using the highest baseline risk estimate (6).

From an indirect comparison of REGN-EB3 versus standard care, via ZMapp, informed by data from the PALM (4) and PREVAIL (5) studies, there was moderate-certainty evidence that REGN-EB3 reduced mortality (RR 0.40, 95% CI 0.18 to 0.89). In absolute terms, this represents 237 fewer deaths per 1000 patients (95% CI 324 to 43 fewer) using the lowest baseline risk estimate, and 396 fewer deaths per 1000 patients (95% CI 541 to 73 fewer) using the highest baseline risk estimate (6).

A direct comparison of REGN-EB3 versus mAb114 informed by data from the PALM study (4) showed low-certainty evidence of there being little or no difference between the two treatments for mortality outcomes (RR 0.96, 95% CI 0.71 to 1.29). In absolute terms, this represents 7 fewer deaths per 1000 patients (95% CI 48 fewer to 48 more) using the lowest baseline risk estimate, and 11 fewer deaths per 1000 patients (95% CI 80 fewer to 80 more) using the highest baseline risk estimate (6).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

Adverse events that were reported in >10% of patients in the PALM trial from a predefined list of signs and symptoms that occurred during mAb114 and REGN-EB3 infusion are shown in Table 16. The adverse event profiles in adult and paediatric participants treated with mAb114 or REGN-EB3 were similar.

The evaluation of adverse events in participants may have been confounded by the signs and symptoms of the underlying Zaire ebolavirus infection.

#### Table 16

Adverse events occurring during infusion in > 10% of adult and paediatric participants in the PALM trial

| Adverse event | % of participants            |                        |                           |  |
|---------------|------------------------------|------------------------|---------------------------|--|
|               | mAb114 (7) ( <i>n</i> = 173) | REGN-EB3 (8) (n = 154) | Control ( <i>n</i> = 168) |  |
| Pyrexia       | 17                           | 54                     | 58                        |  |
| Tachycardia   | 9                            | 39                     | 32                        |  |
| Diarrhoea     | 9                            | 20                     | 18                        |  |

| Adverse event | % of participants            |                        |                           |  |
|---------------|------------------------------|------------------------|---------------------------|--|
|               | mAb114 (7) ( <i>n</i> = 173) | REGN-EB3 (8) (n = 154) | Control ( <i>n</i> = 168) |  |
| Vomiting      | 8                            | 19                     | 23                        |  |
| Hypotension   | 8                            | 19                     | 31                        |  |
| Tachypnoea    | 6                            | 15                     | 28                        |  |
| Chills        | 5                            | 11                     | 33                        |  |
| Нурохіа       | 3                            | 10                     | 11                        |  |

#### Table 16 continued

mAb114: monoclonal antibody ansuvimab-sykl; REGN-EB3: atoltivimab + maftivimab + odesivimab-ebgn.

#### **WHO** guidelines

The 2022 WHO guideline on therapeutics for Ebola virus disease includes a strong recommendation for treatment with either mAb114 or REGN-EB3 for patients with RT-PCR confirmed EVD and for neonates of unconfirmed EVD status, 7 days old or younger, born to mothers with confirmed EVD. The recommendation applies only to EVD caused by Ebola virus (*Zaire ebolavirus*) (6).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The price of the two therapeutics is currently unknown. No cost-effectiveness studies have been undertaken.

#### Availability

Both mAb114 (Ridgeback Pharmaceuticals) and REGN-EB3 (Regeneron) have regulatory approval from the United States Food and Drug Administration (7,8). As of 1 October 2022, no commercial product is available. The two therapeutics are currently used under an expanded access/compassionate use protocol.

In 2021, given the evidence of efficacy of the two therapeutics, WHO opened an expression of interest to manufacturers of the therapeutics for product evaluation and prequalification (9). As of March 2023, no therapeutics for EVD have been prequalified by WHO.

The International Coordinating Group agreed in October 2021 to build a stockpile of the two therapeutics with 5000 treatments. However, no commercial batches are available. WHO procurement issued a Request for Quotations and invited the two manufacturers to make offers. Ridgeback Pharmaceuticals responded that the company does not have the capacity to produce mAb114 commercially and is in the process of agreeing a commercial partner to produce it, and it is estimated to be on the market in 2024/2025. Regeneron has not yet submitted an offer.

The United States government's Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Authority has an agreement with Regeneron to procure REGN-EB3 for the US National Strategic Stockpile.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee accepted that effective treatments for EVD are of public health relevance, particularly in the context of outbreaks. EVD caused by *Zaire ebolavirus* is a life-threatening disease with a high case-fatality rate for which early diagnosis and initiation of treatment are essential to reduce mortality.

The Committee agreed that although limited, the clinical trial evidence for mAb114 and REGN-EB3 demonstrated important reductions in mortality at 28 days, and that evidence from indirect comparisons of the two therapeutics suggested little or no difference in mortality outcomes between them. The Committee also noted that based on the same evidence presented in the application, the 2022 WHO guidelines on therapeutics for EVD include a strong recommendation for treatment with either of these therapeutics, with the choice of which agent to use depending on availability.

The Committee noted with concern that access to these therapeutics is challenging, with no current commercial availability and supply only through expanded access or compassionate use protocols. Furthermore, the price of these agents is unknown and no cost-effectiveness studies have been undertaken. Since late 2021, mAb114 and REGN-EB3 have been included in an expression of interest to manufacturers for WHO prequalification, but to date, no products have been prequalified. Additionally, efforts made by WHO to build a stockpile of the two therapeutics, through requests for quotations from the two manufacturers, have not yet been successful. The Committee requested an update on availability for review in 2025.

The Committee considered that inclusion of these therapeutics on the Model Lists represents a strong equity and advocacy message, fully aligned with WHO guidelines, which could contribute to broader actions being undertaken to ensure reliable and affordable access to quality-assured therapeutics for EVD.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended the addition of the monoclonal antibodies mAb114 (ansuvimab-sykl) and REGN-EB3 (atoltivimab + maftivimab + odesivimab-ebgn) to the core list of the EML and EMLc, in a new subsection on medicines for EVD, for the treatment of EVD caused by *Zaire ebolavirus* in patients (adults and children) with confirmed EVD, and in neonates of unconfirmed infection status aged 7 days or younger, born to mothers with confirmed infection.

References

- 1. Jacob ST, Crozier I, Fischer WA, 2nd, Hewlett A, Kraft CS, Vega MA, et al. Ebola virus disease. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2020;6(1):13.
- 2. Kawuki J, Musa TH, Yu X. Impact of recurrent outbreaks of Ebola virus disease in Africa: a metaanalysis of case fatality rates. Public Health. 2021;195:89–97.
- 3. Ebola virus disease fact sheet [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://www. who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ebola-virus-disease, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 4. Mulangu S, Dodd LE, Davey RT, Jr, Tshiani Mbaya O, Proschan M, Mukadi D, et al. A randomized, controlled trial of Ebola virus disease therapeutics. N Engl J Med. 2019;381(24):2293–303.
- Davey RT, Jr, Dodd L, Proschan MA, Neaton J, Neuhaus Nordwall J, Koopmeiners JS, et al. A randomized, controlled trial of ZMapp for Ebola virus infection. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(15):1448–56.
- 6. Therapeutics for Ebola virus disease. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who. int/iris/handle/10665/361697, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Prescribing Information. EBANGA (ansuvimab-zykl) injection for intravenous use. Silver Spring, MD: United States Food and Drug Administration; revised 12/2020 (https://www.accessdata.fda. gov/drugsatfda\_docs/label/2020/761172s000lbl.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Prescribing Information. INMAZEB (atoltivimab, maftivimab, and odesivimab-ebgn) injection for intravenous use. Silver Spring, MD: United States Food and Drug Administration; revised 10/2020 (https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/label/2020/761169s000lbl.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 9. 1st Invitation to manufacturers of therapeutics against Ebola virus disease to submit an Expression of Interest (EOI) for product evaluation to the WHO Prequalification Unit. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://extranet.who.int/prequal/news/1st-invitation-manufacturers-therapeutics-against-ebola-virus-disease-submit-expression, accessed 6 October 2023).

# 6.8 Medicines for COVID-19

Data from 11 January 2023 report that globally, cumulative cases of COVID-19 were more than 660 million, with almost 6.7 million deaths (1). Vaccination is having a substantial impact on hospitalizations and deaths in a number of high-income countries, but limitations in global access to COVID-19 vaccines mean that many populations remain vulnerable. More effective treatments for COVID-19 are still needed.

The Expert Committee considered five applications for inclusion of medicines for COVID-19 on the Model Lists: baricitinib, molnupiravir, nirmatrelvir and ritonavir, remdesivir, and tocilizumab. Summaries of the evidence presented and considered by the Expert Committee for each medicine are in the following sections. The recommendations made by the Expert Committee are applicable to all proposed medicines and are presented below.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that the evidence presented in the applications for each medicine was the same as that considered by the WHO Guideline Development Group for COVID-19 therapeutics, which informed the following recommendations in WHO living guidelines for COVID-19 (2).

- Baricitinib: strong recommendation for the use of baricitinib for patients with severe or critical COVID-19
- Molnupiravir: conditional recommendation for use of molnupiravir for treatment of patients with non-severe COVID-19 at highest risk of hospitalization
- Nirmatrelvir and ritonavir: strong recommendation for the use of nirmatrelvir and ritonavir for treatment of patients with non-severe COVID-19 at highest risk of hospitalization
- Remdesivir: conditional recommendation for the use of remdesivir for treatment of patients with non-severe COVID-19 at highest risk of hospitalization or with severe COVID-19
- Tocilizumab: strong recommendation for the use of IL-6 inhibitors (namely tocilizumab and sarilumab) for adults and children with severe or critical COVID-19

Given the global recognition of the need for effective therapeutics to prevent and treat COVID-19, as well as the need to ensure adequate and affordable access globally to these treatments, the Expert Committee recommended that effective and safe therapeutics for COVID-19 be considered as essential medicines and therefore be prioritized by countries for national selection and procurement.

The Expert Committee acknowledged that new variants of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) have emerged, and continue to emerge, affecting the epidemiology, clinical characteristics and, most importantly, the response to treatment of the disease. The Committee considered that predicting how mutations carried by new virus variants modify the response to available treatments is difficult, if not impossible. Furthermore, the evolution of the pathogen combined with the evolving immunity in the population over time (through previous natural infection or vaccination) may influence the severity of the disease, thus potentially affecting the relative and absolute benefits associated with the use of COVID-19 therapeutics. Data on COVID-19 and hospitalization rates are fluctuating, with countries reporting surges, often in association of new variants or subvariants. However, the Committee noted that increases in COVID-19 cases do not always lead to increased severity of the disease or hospital admissions. COVID-19 data have shown lower hospitalization rates in more recent waves compared with previous ones (3). Nevertheless, new variants may further mutate and potentially cause more severe disease.

With this in mind, the Committee considered that the advantages of adding a medicine for the treatment of COVID-19 to the Model Lists must be evaluated against potential risks. The WHO Model Lists are updated every 2 years and national essential medicines lists are often updated less frequently. In the context of rapidly evolving public health emergencies, there is therefore a risk of including a medicine on the Model Lists that later has to be removed because it is no longer relevant for the reasons outlined above, a scenario that should be avoided. The Committee considered that WHO's timeline and process of selecting essential medicines is not ideally suited to rapidly evolving public health emergencies, where the prioritization of health care interventions needs to be adjusted according to the evolving evidence base. The Committee recognized the important role of WHO and national guidelines as tools for countries to orient prioritization of medicines during public health emergencies.

The Committee also commended the role of adaptive trial platforms as a basis to guide clinical decision-making during a public health emergency. During the COVID-19 pandemic, adaptive platform trials were rapidly created at national (e.g. RECOVERY) and international (e.g. Solidarity) levels, which contributed to the generation of evidence on critically relevant outcomes, such as preventing deaths or hospitalizations. These adaptive trial platforms were characterized by high external and internal validity, prioritization of relevant research questions and use of robust methods. These elements contributed to the rapid implementation of their results in routine clinical care. The Committee encouraged the strengthening of national infrastructure to successfully conduct adaptive platform trials, noting that their use need not be limited to public health emergencies, but should also be extended to other priority health care questions. The Expert Committee therefore recommended that a new section be added to the EML and EMLc for COVID-19 therapeutics, but that individual medicines should not be specifically listed. Rather, the Committee recommended that this section of the Model Lists should serve to direct national decisionmakers to the WHO living guidelines for COVID-19 therapeutics, which are being revised and updated regularly. Importantly, these living guidelines also include recommendations for the use of other medicines already included on the Model Lists (e.g. dexamethasone, oxygen), as well as recommendations against the use of medicines that are included on the Model Lists for other indications (e.g. hydroxychloroquine, lopinavir-ritonavir).

# References

- 1. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Therapeutics and COVID-19: living guideline, 13 January 2023. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/365584, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 3. Coronavirus (COVID-19) hospitalizations [internet]. Our World in Data; 2023 (https://ourworldindata.org/covid-hospitalizations, accessed 6 October 2023).

192

Baricitinib – addition – EML and EMLc

#### Baricitinib

ATC code: L04AA37

#### Proposal

Addition of baricitinib to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of patients with severe or critical COVID-19.

#### Applicant

Clinical Management Unit, WHO Department of Country Readiness Strengthening, Geneva, Switzerland

# WHO technical department

Country Readiness Strengthening

# EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

#### Section

6.8 Medicines for COVID-19

#### Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Tablet: 2 mg, 4 mg

#### Core/complementary

Complementary

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

#### Background

Baricitinib has not previously been evaluated for inclusion on the Model Lists.

# Summary of evidence: benefits

Evidence for the benefits of baricitinib for severe or critical COVID-19 was derived from a living network meta-analysis considered by the WHO Guideline Development Group for COVID-19 therapeutics (1). The meta-analysis included four randomized trials comparing baricitinib with usual care in 10 915 adult patients in the hospital setting (2–5). There was high-certainty evidence that baricitinib reduced mortality (odds ratio (OR) 0.83, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.74 to 0.93). In absolute terms, this represents 20 fewer deaths per 1000 people

(95% CI 8 fewer to 30 fewer). There was also moderate-certainty evidence that treatment with baricitinib reduced mechanical ventilation (OR 0.89, 95% CI 0.80 to 0.99), duration of hospitalization (mean difference (MD) 1.4 fewer days, 95% CI 2.4 to 0.4 fewer), and duration of mechanical ventilation (MD 3.2 fewer days, 95% CI 5.9 to 0.5 fewer).

Additionally, a subgroup analysis based on one study of 2659 patients already receiving treatment with interleukin (IL) inhibitors showed an independent mortality benefit of treatment with baricitinib (OR 0.79, 95% CI 0.63 to 0.97), representing 24 fewer deaths per 1000 people (2).

A 2022 Cochrane systematic review of six randomized trials (11 145 participants) compared systemic Janus kinase inhibitors plus usual care to usual care alone in hospitalized patients with moderate-to-severe COVID-19 (6). Baricitinib was the most often evaluated Janus kinase inhibitor (four studies, 10 815 participants). The authors concluded that there was moderate-certainty evidence that systemic Janus kinase inhibitors decreased all-cause mortality at up to day 28 (risk ratio (RR) 0.72, 95% CI 0.57 to 0.91).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

From the meta-analysis considered by the WHO Guideline Development Group, there was moderate-certainty evidence that treatment with baricitinib resulted in little or no increase in serious adverse events (1).

The Cochrane review found moderate-certainty evidence from three studies (1885 participants) of little or no difference in the rate of adverse events (any grade) with Janus kinase inhibitors compared with placebo (RR 0.97, 95% CI 0.88 to 1.08). For serious adverse events, there was moderate-certainty evidence from four studies (2901 participants) of a decreased risk for serious adverse events in patients treated with Janus kinase inhibitors compared with placebo (RR 0.79, 95% CI 0.68 to 0.92). There was low-certainty evidence from four studies (10 041 participants) of little or no difference in the rate of secondary infection between treatment with Janus kinase inhibitors and standard of care (6).

WHO living guidelines for COVID-19 note that risks of immunosuppression exist, particularly when multiple immunosuppressants are used concurrently (e.g. baricitinib with corticosteroids and IL-6 inhibitors). The guidelines also noted that the risk of serious bacterial and fungal infections may vary considerably across settings depending on the background prevalence of other infections (e.g. tuberculosis). The Guideline Development Group noted that this risk may not be so important given the short course of baricitinib treatment for COVID-19, but that evidence was currently limited because of the narrow geographic spread of the trials included and short follow-up periods (1).

The most common adverse events associated with baricitinib when used in chronic conditions and for durations not representative of use when indicated for treatment of COVID-19 are increased low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (26.0%), upper respiratory tract infections (16.9%), headache (5.2%), herpes simplex infection (3.2%) and urinary tract infections (2.9%) (7).

Another Janus kinase inhibitor, tofacitinib, has been associated with serious adverse events, including heart attack or stroke, cancer, blood clots and death (8). However, data from randomized trials evaluating the safety of short-term use of baricitinib in patients with COVID-19 have not shown any significant safety signals, including thrombosis.(2–4,9).

# **WHO guidelines**

The WHO therapeutics and COVID-19 living guideline, 13 January 2023 includes a strong recommendation for the use of baricitinib for patients with severe or critical COVID-19 (1). The applicability of this recommendation to children is still uncertain, as none of the randomized controlled trials considered by the WHO Guideline Development Group enrolled children.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

No formal cost–effectiveness analysis was conducted as part of the WHO guideline development process. The high cost of baricitinib compared with other candidate treatments for COVID-19 was noted by the Guideline Development Group, along with concerns about access and exacerbation of health inequity, particularly in resource-constrained areas (1).

Non-peer-reviewed work by researchers from Harvard University estimated the cost of generic baricitinib to be US\$ 2 per treatment course (4 mg daily x 14 days), compared with the list price from Eli Lilly of US\$ 1109.92 per treatment course (*10*).

# Availability

Currently, baricitinib is provided commercially by Eli Lilly, which has been granted patents in more than 50 countries. It is included on the 8th expression of interest for prequalification of COVID-19 therapeutics. As of April 2023, no baricitinib products are prequalified by WHO.

Baricitinib is not currently the subject of licensing agreements between the patent holder and the Medicines Patent Pool. It is not being procured through the ACT Accelerator programme at this time.

# Other considerations

Baricitinib has been authorized for emergency use by the United States Food and Drug Administration for treatment of COVID-19 in hospitalized paediatric patients (aged 2 to < 18 years) requiring supplemental oxygen, non-invasive or invasive mechanical ventilation, or extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (*11*).

#### **Committee recommendations**

See beginning of section 6.8 Medicines for COVID-19.

#### References

- 1. Therapeutics and COVID-19: living guideline, 13 January 2023. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/365584, accessed 6 October 2023).
- RECOVERY Collaborative Group. Baricitinib in patients admitted to hospital with COVID-19 (RECOVERY): a randomised, controlled, open-label, platform trial and updated meta-analysis. Lancet. 2022;400(10349):359–68.
- Marconi VC, Ramanan AV, de Bono S, Kartman CE, Krishnan V, Liao R, et al. Efficacy and safety of baricitinib for the treatment of hospitalised adults with COVID-19 (COV-BARRIER): a randomised, double-blind, parallel-group, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet Respir Med. 2021;9(12):1407–18.
- Kalil AC, Patterson TF, Mehta AK, Tomashek KM, Wolfe CR, Ghazaryan V, et al. Baricitinib plus remdesivir for hospitalized adults with Covid-19. N Engl J Med. 2020;384(9):795–807.
- Ely EW, Ramanan AV, Kartman CE, de Bono S, Liao R, Piruzeli MLB, et al. Baricitinib plus standard of care for hospitalised adults with COVID-19 on Invasive mechanical ventilation or extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: results of a randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Respir Med. 2022;10(4):327–36.
- 6. Kramer A, Prinz C, Fichtner F, Fischer AL, Thieme V, Grundeis F, et al. Janus kinase inhibitors for the treatment of COVID-19. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2022;6(6):CD015209.
- Summary of product characteristics Olumiant (INN baricitinib). Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency; 2021 (https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/olumiant-eparproduct-information\_en.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- FDA requires warnings about increased risk of serious heart-related events, cancer, blood clots, and death for JAK inhibitors that treat certain chronic inflammatory conditions. Silver Spring, MD: United States Food and Drug Administration; 2021 (https://www.fda.gov/drugs/drug-safety-andavailability/fda-requires-warnings-about-increased-risk-serious-heart-related-events-cancerblood-clots-and-death, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 9. Wolfe CR, Tomashek KM, Patterson TF, Gomez CA, Marconi VC, Jain MK, et al. Baricitinib versus dexamethasone for adults hospitalised with COVID-19 (ACTT-4): a randomised, double-blind, double placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Respir Med. 2022;10(9):888–99.
- Barber MJ, Gotham D. Estimated cost-based generic prices for baricitinib. 17 January 2022. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Scholar; (https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/melissabarber/files/ estimated\_cost-based\_generic\_prices\_for\_baricitinib.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 11. Emergency use authorization 092: baricitinib (olumiant). Silver Spring, MD: United States Food and Drug Administration; 2022. (https://www.fda.gov/media/143822/download, accessed 6 October 2023).
Molnupiravir – addition – EML

## Molnupiravir

ATC code: J05AB18

## Proposal

Addition of molnupiravir to the core list of the EML for the treatment of adult patients with non-severe COVID-19 at highest risk of hospitalization.

Individuals at highest risk of hospitalization are those older than 60 years, those with immunosuppression and/or chronic disease and those unvaccinated against COVID-19.

## Applicant

Clinical Management Unit; WHO Department of Country Readiness Strengthening, Geneva, Switzerland

## WHO technical department

Country Readiness Strengthening

#### EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

6.8 Medicines for COVID-19

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Capsule: 200 mg

## Core/complementary

Core

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

## Background

Molnupiravir has not previously been evaluated for inclusion on the Model Lists.

# Summary of evidence: benefits

Evidence for the benefits of molnupiravir for non-severe COVID-19 is derived from a living network meta-analysis considered by the WHO Guideline Development Group for COVID-19 therapeutics (1). The meta-analysis included six studies comparing molnupiravir plus usual care with usual care alone in 4796 adult patients with non-severe COVID-19 in the outpatient setting. There was moderate-certainty evidence that treatment with molnupiravir reduced hospital admissions (odds ratio (OR) 0.54, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.30 to 0.89). In absolute terms, among highest risk patients, this represents 43 fewer hospital admissions per 1000 people (95% CI 68 to 10 fewer). There was also moderate-certainty evidence that molnupiravir reduced time to symptom resolution (mean difference (days) 3.4 fewer, 95% CI 4.8 to 1.7 fewer), and low-certainty evidence that molnupiravir reduced mortality (OR 0.06, 95% CI 0 to 0.4). The effect of molnupiravir on mechanical ventilation was very uncertain.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

From the meta-analysis considered by the WHO Guideline Development Group, there was high-certainty evidence of no important difference between molnupiravir and placebo in adverse effects leading to drug discontinuation (1).

Another rapid review and meta-analysis (four randomized controlled trials, 1823 participants) investigated adverse events associated with molnupiravir (2). No significant difference was found between molnupiravir 800 mg and placebo for the outcomes of any adverse events (risk ratio (RR) 0.94, 95% CI 0.83 to 1.06), serious adverse events (RR 0.80, 95% CI 0.59 to 1.08) and adverse events leading to death (RR 0.47, 95% CI 0.17 to 1.28). In each case, rates of adverse events were numerically lower in patients treated with molnupiravir.

More common adverse events associated with molnupiravir include dizziness, headache, diarrhoea, nausea and vomiting.

Insufficient data are available to ascertain how high the barrier to resistance is with SARS-CoV-2 for molnupiravir. Based on experiences with other nucleoside antiviral drugs, molnupiravir will place a selective pressure for viral resistance mutations within an individual, with the potential to spread at a population level.

It has been proposed that random mutagenesis arising from the molnupiravir mechanism of action might increase diversity in the viral sequences that may result in more rapid emergence of new variants (*3*). Unlike in the considerations for resistance, no conceptual basis exists for molnupiravir placing a selective pressure on emergence of new variants. Sequence variation is lower as molnupiravir is only incorporated in place of two of the four nucleotide bases in the genome rather than in place of any nucleotide. No direct evidence is available to support or refute the variants hypothesis; as such the risk is currently unquantifiable.

The rate of resistance emergence and the risk of additional diversity in the viral genome leading to new variants were acknowledged by the Guideline Development Group to be higher with a higher number of patients receiving the intervention.

## Non-clinical safety

The Guideline Development Group reviewed publicly available data on non-clinical safety of molnupiravir from the United States Food and Drug Administration (4), highlighting the following safety concerns.

- Genetic toxicology data demonstrated that molnupiravir is mutagenic in vitro, but there was no evidence of mutagenicity in animal models. The Guideline Development Group acknowledged uncertainties in the existing data and concluded that based on the available information, molnupiravir may or may not be carcinogenic in humans.
- An increase in thickness of growth plate associated with decreased bone formation was observed in rapidly growing rats but not in mice, rats or dogs. The Guideline Development Group determined that molnupiravir should not therefore be administered to paediatric patients.
- Importantly, low concentrations of β-D-N4-hydroxycytidine (0.09% maternal exposures) were detectable in 10-day-old rat pups suggesting that NHC is present in breast milk. The Guideline Development Group determined molnupiravir should not be administered to breastfeeding women.
- In developmental and reproductive toxicology assessments, reduced fetal body weights were observed in rats and rabbits, with higher exposures also being associated with embryo-fetal lethality and teratogenicity in rats. Accordingly, molnupiravir should not be administered during pregnancy.
- No data on spermatogenesis were available, which may be particularly prone to the effect of a mutagen in adult males. No data are available to quantify the consequences of this effect on an embryo/fetus conceived by fathers who were receiving or had recently received molnupiravir.

# **WHO guidelines**

The WHO Therapeutics and COVID-19 Living Guideline includes a conditional recommendation for use of molnupiravir for treatment of patients with non-severe COVID-19 at highest risk of hospitalization, excluding pregnant and breastfeeding women, and children (1).

The Guideline Development Group noted that the absolute benefits of molnupiravir on hospital admission depend on the prognosis. The group defined a threshold of a 6% absolute reduction in hospital admission to represent what most patients would value as an important benefit. Molnupiravir would exert such a benefit in patients at highest risk of hospitalization (above 10% baseline risk), such as people without COVID-19 vaccination, older people or those with immunodeficiencies and/or chronic diseases. The conditional recommendation for the use of molnupiravir in people at highest risk reflects this threshold: 60 fewer hospitalizations per 1000 patients, and a greater anticipated absolute survival benefit, although this was not possible to quantify in the absence of data.

The guideline states that molnupiravir should not be given to pregnant or breastfeeding women or to children. In case of doubt about pregnancy, a pregnancy test should be performed before starting treatment. If a woman of childbearing age is considered for treatment, counselling on birth control during treatment and for 4 days after the last dose of molnupiravir should be facilitated. Men planning to conceive should be advised on the potential for temporary genotoxic effect on sperm cell production, and those who are sexually active with females should be counselled to use birth control during treatment and for at least 3 months after the last dose of molnupiravir. The unknown long-term risk of genotoxicity is likely to be higher in younger patients than older patients; thus use in younger adults who are not at high risk should be limited.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

No formal cost-effectiveness analysis was conducted as part of the WHO guideline development process, nor presented in the application.

The application cited non-peer-reviewed estimates from Harvard University, which estimate generic costs of molnupiravir to be US\$ 14.16 for a treatment course, compared with the price per course of US\$ 700 in the United States (5).

#### Availability

Molnupiravir is under patent by Merck Sharp & Dohme. Two generic brands of molnupiravir 200 mg capsules were prequalified by WHO in late 2022.

The Medicines Patent Pool and Merck Sharp & Dohme signed a voluntary licensing agreement in October 2021 to facilitate global access to generic molnupiravir. To date, the Medicines Patent Pool has signed agreements with 27 generic manufacturers to provide molnupiravir in 105 low- and middle-income countries (6).

#### **Committee recommendations**

See beginning of section 6.8 Medicines for COVID-19.

# References

- 1. Therapeutics and COVID-19: living guideline, 13 January 2023. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/365584, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Amani B, Zareei S, Amani B. Rapid review and meta-analysis of adverse events associated with molnupiravir in patients with COVID-19. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2022;88(10):4403–11.
- 3. Haseltine WA. Supercharging new viral variants: the dangers of molnupiravir (Part 1) [internet]. Forbes 1 November 2021. (https://www.forbes.com/sites/williamhaseltine/2021/11/01/ supercharging-new-viral-variants-the-dangers-of-molnupiravir-part-1/?sh=3e229fb56b15, accessed 6 October 2023).
- November 30, 2021: Antimicrobial Drugs Advisory Committee Meeting Announcement [internet]. Silver Spring, MD: US Food and Drug Adminstration; 2021 (https://www.fda.gov/advisorycommittees/advisory-committee-calendar/november-30-2021-antimicrobial-drugs-advisorycommittee-meeting-announcement-11302021#event-materials, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Barber MJ, Gotham D. Estimated cost-based generic prices for molnupiravir for the treatment of COVID-19 infection. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University; 2022. (https://scholar.harvard.edu/ files/melissabarber/files/estimated\_cost-based\_generic\_prices\_for\_molnupiravir\_for\_the\_ treatment\_of\_covid-19\_infection.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 27 generic manufacturers sign agreements with MPP to produce low-cost versions of COVID-19 antiviral medication molnupiravir for supply in 105 low- and-middle-income countries [press release]. Geneva: Medicines Patent Pool; 2022 (https://medicinespatentpool.org/ news-publications-post/27-generic-manufacturers-sign-agreements-with-mpp-to-producemolnupiravir, accessed 6 October 2023).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

Nirmatrelvir and ritonavir – addition – EML and EMLc

## Nirmatrelvir and ritonavir

ATC code: J05AE30

## Proposal

Addition of nirmatrelvir and ritonavir to the core list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of patients aged 12 years and older with non-severe COVID-19 at highest risk of hospitalization.

Individuals at highest risk of hospitalization are those older than 60 years, those with immunosuppression and/or chronic disease, and those unvaccinated against COVID-19.

## Applicant

Clinical Management Unit; WHO Department of Country Readiness Strengthening, Geneva, Switzerland

## WHO technical department

Country Readiness Strengthening

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

6.8 Medicines for COVID-19

#### Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Tablet: 150 mg + 100 mg

Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

Nirmatrelvir and ritonavir have not previously been evaluated for inclusion on the Model Lists.

# Summary of evidence: benefits

Evidene for the benefits of nirmatrelvir and ritonavir for non-severe COVID-19 is derived from a living network meta-analysis considered by the WHO Guideline

202

Development Group for COVID-19 therapeutics (1). The meta-analysis included data from two randomized trials (EPIC-SR and EPIC-HR (unpublished)) comparing nirmatrelvir and ritonavir with placebo in 3100 non-hospitalized patients with non-severe COVID-19.

For the outcome of hospital admission at 28 days, there was moderatecertainty evidence that nirmatrelvir and ritonavir reduced hospitalization compared with placebo (odds ratio (OR) 0.15, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.06 to 0.38), or 30 fewer hospital admissions per 1000 patients (95% CI 33 to 21 fewer) in absolute terms, using the baseline risk in the trials. Subgroup analyses of patients with higher baseline risk were performed which showed moderate-certainty evidence of greater absolute benefits for nirmatrelvir and ritonavir: 51 fewer hospital admissions per 1000 (95% CI 56 to 36 fewer) for patients with higher baseline risk and 84 fewer hospital admissions per 1000 (95% CI 93 to 59 fewer) for patients with the highest risk. There was low-certainty evidence that nirmatrelvir and ritonavir had little or no effect on mortality at day 28 (OR 0.04, CI 95% 0 to 0.67).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

From the living network meta-analysis, there was high-certainty evidence that nirmatrelvir and ritonavir had little or no risk of adverse effects leading to drug discontinuation compared with placebo (2.1% versus 4.2%; OR 0.48, 95% CI 0.29 to 0.80) (1). Subsequent real-world data have shown higher rates of adverse effects for nirmatrelvir and ritonavir of 17.5% in very small (n = 50) cohorts (2).

The combination of nirmatrelvir and ritonavir is associated with multiple possible dangerous drug interactions, especially through CYP3A inhibition. The use of nirmatrelvir and ritonavir may lead to the development of resistance to HIV protease inhibitors in individuals with uncontrolled or undiagnosed HIV-1 infection (*3*).

A 2022 Cochrane systematic review (one randomized controlled trial (4), 2246 participants) assessed the safety of nirmatrelvir and ritonavir (5). The review found moderate-certainty evidence of little or no effect of nirmatrelvir and ritonavir compared with standard of care plus placebo on treatment-emergent adverse events (any grade) (risk ratio (RR) 0.95, 95% CI 0.82 to 1.10), and moderate-certainty evidence that nirmatrelvir and ritonavir increased treatment-related adverse events (mainly dysgeusia and diarrhoea) compared with standard of care plus placebo (RR 2.06, 95% CI 1.44 to 2.95). Compared with placebo, there was moderate-certainty evidence that nirmatrelvir and ritonavir decreased discontinuation of the study drug due to adverse events (RR 0.49, 95% CI 0.30 to 0.80). No study results were identified for improvement of clinical status, quality of life or viral clearance.

The combination of nirmatrelvir and ritonavir is contraindicated in patients with a history of clinically significant hypersensitivity to the active ingredients and in patients with severe hepatic and renal impairment.

#### **WHO** guidelines

The WHO Therapeutics and COVID-19 Living Guideline includes a strong recommendation for the use of nirmatrelvir and ritonavir for treatment of patients with non-severe COVID-19 at highest risk of hospitalization (excluding pregnant and breastfeeding women, and children) (6).

The Guideline Development Group considered that the combination of nirmatrelvir and ritonavir was a superior choice to alternatives because it may have greater efficacy in preventing hospitalization. Additionally, it is associated with fewer harms than molnupiravir and does not require intravenous administration as do remdesivir and monoclonal antibodies.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

No formal cost-effectiveness analysis was conducted as part of the WHO guideline development process, nor presented in the application.

The application cited non-peer-reviewed estimates from Harvard University which estimate costs for generic nirmatrelvir and ritonavir to be US\$ 73.15 per treatment course, compared with the price per course of US\$ 530 in the United States (7).

#### Availability

Nirmatrelvir + ritonavir manufactured by Pfizer Limited (the patent holder) was prequalified by WHO in April 2022. A generic brand manufactured by Hereto Labs Ltd was prequalified by WHO in December 2022.

The Medicines Patent Pool and Pfizer signed a voluntary licensing agreement in November 2021 to facilitate affordable access of nirmatrelvir and ritonavir in 95 countries through 35 sublicensed generic manufacturers worldwide (8). Under this agreement, Pfizer will not receive royalties from sales of nirmatrelvir from the Medicines Patent Pool sublicensees while COVID-19 remains classified as a Public Health Emergency of International Concern by WHO. After the pandemic period, sales to low-income countries will remain royalty-free, while lower middle-income countries and upper middle-income countries will be subject to a 5% royalty for sales to the public sector and a 10% royalty for sales to the private sector.

#### **Committee recommendations**

See beginning of section 6.8 Medicines for COVID-19.

References

- 1. Therapeutics and COVID-19: living guideline, 22 April 2022. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/353403, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Pesko B, Deng A, Chan JD, Neme S, Dhanireddy S, Jain R. Safety and tolerability of paxlovid (nirmatrelvir/ritonavir) in high-risk patients. Clin Infect Dis. 2022;75(11):2049–50.
- 3. Fact sheet for healthcare providers: emergency use authorization for paxlovid. Silver Spring, MD: United States Food and Drug Administration; 2022.
- 4. Hammond J, Leister-Tebbe H, Gardner A, Abreu P, Bao W, Wisemandle W, et al. Oral nirmatrelvir for high-risk, nonhospitalized adults with Covid-19. N Engl J Med. 2022;386(15):1397–408.
- 5. Reis S, Metzendorf MI, Kuehn R, Popp M, Gagyor I, Kranke P, et al. Nirmatrelvir combined with ritonavir for preventing and treating COVID-19. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2022;9(9):CD015395.
- 6. Therapeutics and COVID-19: living guideline, 13 January 2023. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/365584, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Barber MJ, Gotham D. Estimated cost-based generic prices for nirmatrelvir/ritonavir (Paxlovid). Cambridge, MA: Harvard Univesity; 2022 (https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/melissabarber/files/ estimated\_cost-based\_generic\_prices\_for\_nirmatrelvir\_ritonavir\_paxlovid.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Pfizer and the Medicines Patent Pool (MPP) sign licensing agreement for COVID-19 oral antiviral treatment candidate to expand access in low- and middle-income countries [press release]. Geneva: Medicines Patent Pool; 2021 (https://medicinespatentpool.org/news-publicationspost/pfizer-and-the-medicines-patent-pool-mpp-sign-licensing-agreement-for-covid-19-oralantiviral-treatment-candidate-to-expand-access-in-low-and-middle-income-countries, accessed 6 October 2023).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

*Remdesivir – addition – EML and EMLc* 

## Remdesivir

ATC code: J05AB16

# Proposal

Addition of remdesivir to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of patients with non-severe COVID-19 at highest risk of hospitalization, or with severe COVID-19.

Individuals at highest risk of hospitalization are those older than 60 years, those with immunosuppression and/or chronic disease, and those unvaccinated against COVID-19.

# Applicant

Clinical Management Unit, WHO Department of Country Readiness Strengthening, Geneva, Switzerland

# WHO technical department

Country Readiness Strengthening

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

# Section

6.8 Medicines for COVID-19

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Powder for injection: 100 mg

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

Remdesivir has not previously been evaluated for inclusion on the Model Lists.

# Summary of evidence: benefits

Evidence for the benefits of remdesivir for non-severe and severe COVID-19 is derived from a living network meta-analysis considered by the WHO Guideline Development Group for COVID-19 therapeutics (*2*).

206

#### Non-severe COVID-19

The meta-analysis included data from five randomized trials (2709 participants) comparing remdesivir with usual care in non-hospitalized patients with non-severe COVID-19.

For the outcome of hospital admission at 28 days, there was moderatecertainty evidence that treatment with remdesivir reduced hospitalization compared with the usual care (odds ratio (OR) 0.25, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.06 to 0.88; one randomized control trial, 5632 participants) or 26 fewer hospital admissions per 1000 patients (95% CI 33 to 4 fewer), using the baseline risk in the trials. Subgroup analyses for patients with higher baseline risk were performed which showed moderate-certainty evidence of greater absolute benefits for remdesivir – 44 fewer hospital admissions per 1000 (95% CI 56 to 7 fewer) for patients with higher baseline risk and 73 fewer hospital admissions per 1000 (95% CI 93 to 11 fewer) for highest risk. There was low-certainty evidence of no important difference between remdesivir and usual care for the outcome of mortality at day 28 (OR 0.68, CI 95% 0.39 to 1.21; five randomized control trials, 2709 participants). The effect of remdesivir on mechanical ventilation and time to symptom resolution was very uncertain.

#### Severe COVID-19

The meta-analysis included data from five randomized trials (6631 participants) comparing remdesivir with usual care in patients with severe COVID-19.

For the outcome of mechanical ventilation, there was moderate-certainty evidence that remdesivir reduced mechanical ventilation compared with usual care (OR 0.87, 95% CI 0.77 to 0.99; five randomized control trials, 6620 participants), or 14 fewer mechanical ventilation events per 1000 patients (95% CI 24 to 1 fewer) in absolute terms. For the outcome of mortality, there was low-certainty evidence that remdesivir reduced mortality (OR 0.89, 95% CI 0.78 to 1.02) with 13 fewer deaths (95% CI 26 fewer to 2 more) in absolute terms. There was moderate-certainty evidence of there being no important difference between treatment groups for the outcome of time to symptom improvement.

A 2021 Cochrane systematic review (five randomized control trials, 7452 participants) evaluated remdesivir in hospitalized patients with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection (3). The review found moderate-certainty evidence of little or no effect of remdesivir on all-cause mortality up to day 28 – risk ratio (RR) 0.93, 95% CI 0.81 to 1.06; risk difference (RD) 8 fewer deaths per 1000 patients, 95% CI 21 fewer to 7 more; four studies, 7142 participants. There was limited evidence of a beneficial effect of remdesivir on mortality in a subset of 435 participants who received low flow oxygen at baseline in one study (RR 0.32, 95% CI 0.15 to 0.66), but no corroborative data in other studies. There was low-certainty evidence that

remdesivir reduced the need for invasive mechanical ventilation (RR 0.56, 95% CI 0.41 to 0.77; 67 fewer events per 1000 participants; two studies, 1159 participants).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

A 2022 systematic review and meta-analysis evaluating adverse effects of remdesivir, hydroxychloroquine and lopinavir/ritonavir for COVID-19 included two studies (1281 participants) (4). The review found low-certainty evidence that compared with placebo or standard care, remdesivir had no important effect on the risk of acute renal injury (OR 0.85, 95% CI 0.51 to 1.41) or cognitive dysfunction/delirium (OR 1.22, 95% CI 0.48 to 3.11).

The 2021 Cochrane systematic review found moderate-certainty evidence from three randomized control trials (1674 participants) that remdesivir decreased the rate of serious adverse events at up to 28 days (RR 0.75, 95% CI 0.63 to 0.90; RD 63 fewer events per 1000 patients, 95% CI 94 to 25 fewer). There was low-certainty evidence of any adverse events – RR 1.05, 95% CI 0.86 to 1.27; RD 29 more events per 1000 participants, 95% CI 82 fewer to 158 more) (3).

#### WHO guidelines

The WHO Therapeutics and COVID-19 Living Guideline (5) includes:

- a conditional recommendation for use of remdesivir for treatment of patients with non-severe COVID-19 at highest risk of hospitalization, and
- a conditional recommendation for use of remdesivir for treatment of patients with severe COVID-19.

With regard to the recommendation for patients with non-severe COVID-19, the Guideline Development Group considered that nirmatrelvir + ritonavir was a superior choice to alternatives because it may have greater efficacy in preventing hospitalization. Additionally, it is associated with fewer harms than molnupiravir and does not require intravenous administration as do remdesivir and monoclonal antibodies.

The guidelines also note that none of the included remdesivir randomized controlled trials enrolled children or pregnant women, therefore the applicability of the recommendations to these groups is uncertain.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

No formal cost-effectiveness analysis was conducted as part of the WHO guideline development process, nor presented in the application.

The application reported that the commercial costs of a 10-day course of remdesivir in 2020 was US\$ 4680.

#### Availability

Remdesivir manufactured by Gilead Sciences (the patent holder) was prequalified by WHO in April 2022. Other patent applications have been made by other entities in various regions including China (6).

Remdesivir is not currently the subject of licensing agreements between the patent holder and the Medicines Patent Pool.

#### **Committee recommendations**

See beginning of section 6.8 Medicines for COVID-19.

## References

- Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Therapeutics and COVID-19: living guideline, 22 April 2022. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/353403, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 3. Ansems K, Grundeis F, Dahms K, Mikolajewska A, Thieme V, Piechotta V, et al. Remdesivir for the treatment of COVID-19. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2021;8(8):CD014962.
- Izcovich A, Siemieniuk RA, Bartoszko JJ, Ge L, Zeraatkar D, Kum E, et al. Adverse effects of remdesivir, hydroxychloroquine and lopinavir/ritonavir when used for COVID-19: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised trials. BMJ open. 2022;12(3):e048502.
- 5. Therapeutics and COVID-19: living guideline, 13 January 2023. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/365584, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 6. Viveiros Rosa SG, Santos WC. Remdesivir: an overview of patenting trends, clinical evidence on COVID-19 treatment, pharmacology and chemistry. Pharm Pat Anal. 2022;11(2):57–73.
- 7. Coronavirus (COVID-19) hospitalizations [internet]. Our World in Data; 2023 (https://ourworldindata.org/covid-hospitalizations, accessed 6 October 2023).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

*Tocilizumab – addition – EML and EMLc* 

## Tocilizumab

ATC code: L04AC07

## Proposal

Addition of tocilizumab to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of patients with severe or critical COVID-19, with a square box to indicate sarilumab as a therapeutic alternative.

## Applicant

Clinical Management Unit, WHO Department of Country Readiness Strengthening, Geneva, Switzerland

## WHO technical department

Country Readiness Strengthening

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

#### Section

6.8 Medicines for COVID-19

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Injection: 80 mg/4 mL in 4 mL vial, 200 mg/10 mL in 10 mL vial, 400 mg/20 mL in 20 mL vial

## Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing

Square box listing for tocilizumab as the representative interleukin-6 (IL-6) receptor blocker, with sarilumab as a therapeutic alternative.

## Background

Tocilizumab and sarilumab have not previously been evaluated for inclusion on the Model Lists for treatment of COVID-19.

# Summary of evidence: benefits

A prospective meta-analysis of 27 randomized trials (10 930 participants) comparing IL-6 receptor blockers with standard care in hospitalized adult patients with COVID-19 showed high-certainty evidence that treatment with

IL-6 inhibitors reduced mortality (odds ratio (OR) 0.86, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.79 to 0.95). In absolute terms, this represents 16 fewer deaths per 1000 people (95% CI 24 to 6 fewer) (1).

A living network meta-analysis of 30 randomized controlled trials (10 618 participants) considered by the WHO Guideline Development Group for COVID-19 therapeutics that compared IL-6 receptor blockers with standard care provided estimates of benefit for other important outcomes for patients (2). This included high-certainty evidence of a reduction in the need for mechanical ventilation in patients receiving IL-6 receptor blockers (OR 0.72, 95% CI 0.57 to 0.90) and low-certainty evidence that IL-6 receptor blockers reduced duration of mechanical ventilation (mean difference (MD) 1.2 lower, 95% CI 2.3 to 0.1 lower), and duration of hospitalization (MD 4.5 lower, 95% CI 6.7 to 2.3 lower).

The Guideline Development Group found that subgroup analyses indicated no effect modification based on choice of IL-6 receptor blocker (sarilumab or tocilizumab), nor disease severity (critical or severe). Subgroup analyses evaluating baseline corticosteroid use indicated that benefits were greater in patients also receiving corticosteroids compared with patients not receiving corticosteroids (2).

A 2021 Cochrane systematic review of nine randomized controlled trials (6428 participants) evaluating tocilizumab and two randomized controlled trials (880 participants) evaluating sarilumab compared with standard care in people with COVID-19 of any severity (*3*). The authors concluded that there was high-certainty evidence that tocilizumab reduced all-cause mortality at day 28 compared with standard care or placebo (risk ratio (RR) 0.89, 95% CI 0.82 to 0.97). The effect of sarilumab for this outcome was uncertain (RR 0.77, 95% CI 0.43 to 1.36).

## Summary of evidence: harms

From the meta-analysis considered by the WHO Guideline Development Group, the occurrence of adverse events from IL-6 receptor blockers that led to treatment discontinuation was uncertain, while there was low-certainty evidence that IL-6 receptor blockers were not associated with an increase in secondary bacterial infections (2).

The Cochrane review found the effect of tocilizumab on (any) adverse events to be highly uncertain (RR 1.23, 95% CI 0.87 to 1.72; seven randomized controlled trials, 1534 participants). There was moderate-certainty evidence that tocilizumab resulted in slightly fewer serious adverse events than standard care or placebo (RR 0.89, 95% CI 0.75 to 1.06; eight randomized controlled trials, 2312 participants) (*3*). For sarilumab, the occurrence of serious adverse events was uncertain (RR 1.17, 95% CI 0.77 to 1.77; two randomized controlled trials, 2312 participants). The authors concluded that it is unlikely that sarilumab causes

an important increase in (any) adverse events (RR 1.05, 95% CI 0.88 to 1.25; one randomized controlled trials, 420 participants), however the possibility could not be excluded.

#### WHO guidelines

The WHO Therapeutics and COVID-19 Living Guideline includes a strong recommendation for the use of IL-6 receptor blockers tocilizumab and sarilumab for patients with severe and critical COVID-19 (2). The applicability of this recommendation to children is currently uncertain, as none of the randomized controlled trials considered by the WHO Guideline Development Group enrolled children. However, the Guideline Development Group had no reason to think that children with COVID-19 would respond any differently to treatment with IL-6 receptor blockers. It was noted that tocilizumab is safely used in children for other indications including polyarticular juvenile rheumatoid arthritis, systemic onset of juvenile chronic arthritis and chimeric antigen receptor T-cell induced cytokine release syndrome. If an IL-6 receptor blocker is used in children, tocilizumab is preferred.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

No formal cost-effectiveness analysis was conducted as part of the WHO guideline development process.

A United States analysis modelled the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio of adding tocilizumab to dexamethasone compared with dexamethasone alone as US\$ 16 520 per quality-adjusted life-year (QALY) (95% credible interval (CrI) US\$ 10 760 to 51 350) using trial-based probability of mortality. A sensitivity analysis using a lower absolute mortality rate without treatment produced an incremental cost-effectiveness ratio of US\$ 26 840 per QALY (95% CrI 14 800 to 101 030). The authors concluded tocilizumab to be cost-effective (4).

Cost–effectiveness data for IL-6 receptor blockers for COVID-19 in lowand middle-income countries are lacking. Willingness-to-pay thresholds in these settings are lower than in the United States and other high-income countries.

## Availability

Currently, tocilizumab is prequalified by WHO for use in COVID-19 and is provided commercially by the patent holder Roche. Roche has committed to provide up to 250 000 doses of tocilizumab at cost for distribution to low- and middle-income countries through the ACT-Accelerator programme (5).

Sarilumab is under patent by Sanofi Genzyme. It is included on the eighth expression of interest for prequalification of COVID-19 therapeutics. As of April 2023, no sarilumab products are prequalified by WHO.

Neither tocilizumab nor sarilumab are currently subjects of licensing agreements between the patent holders and the Medicines Patent Pool.

#### **Committee recommendations**

See beginning of section 6.8 Medicines for COVID-19.

## References

- Shankar-Hari M, Vale CL, Godolphin PJ, Fisher D, Higgins JPT, Spiga F, et al. Association between administration of IL-6 antagonists and mortality among patients hospitalized for COVID-19: A Meta-analysis. JAMA. 2021;326(6):499–518.
- 2. Therapeutics and COVID-19: living guideline, 13 January 2023. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/365584, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Ghosn L, Chaimani A, Evrenoglou T, Davidson M, Graña C, Schmucker C, et al. Interleukin-6 blocking agents for treating COVID-19: a living systematic review. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2021;3(3):CD013881.
- 4. Sinha P, Linas BP. Combination therapy with tocilizumab and dexamethasone cost-effectively reduces coronavirus disease 2019 mortality. Clin Infect Dis. 2021;73(11):2116–8.
- Roche and the World Health Organization partner to improve access to Actemra®/RoActemra® (tocilizumab) for COVID-19 in low- and middle-income countries [internet]. Basel: Roche; 2022 (https://assets.cwp.roche.com/f/126832/x/564180efa3/240322\_rochewho\_agreement\_ statement.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).

# Section 8: Immunomodulators and antineoplastics 8.1 Immunomodulators for non-malignant disease

Methotrexate – new formulation – EML and EMLc

## Methotrexate

# ATC code: L04AX03

## Proposal

Addition of subcutaneous injection formulations of methotrexate to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis, juvenile idiopathic arthritis, psoriatic arthritis, psoriasis and Crohn disease in patients not responding to maximum tolerable doses of oral methotrexate.

## Applicant

Laboratorios Gebro Pharma, S.A., Barcelona, Spain

## WHO technical department

Noncommunicable Diseases

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

8.1 Immunomodulators for non-malignant disease

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Injection: 50 mg/mL in prefilled syringe or prefilled pen (various sizes)

## Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

Methotrexate, in oral and parenteral formulations, is included in the EML and EMLc for use in the treatment of various cancers. Oral methotrexate is included as a disease-modifying anti-rheumatic medicine for use in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis and juvenile idiopathic arthritis.

Biological disease-modifying medicines (adalimumab, representative of the pharmacological class of tumour necrosis factor alfa (TNFa) inhibitors) are

214

included on the Model Lists for use in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis, juvenile idiopathic arthritis, ankylosing spondylitis and Crohn disease.

A separate application to the 2023 Expert Committee meeting requests inclusion of oral methotrexate on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of severe psoriasis.

## Public health relevance

Between 1986 and 2014, the mean global point prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis was reported to be 0.56%, with regional differences in prevalence: 1.46% in north America, 0.80% in Africa, 0.53% in Europe, 0.46% in South America and 0.34% in Asia (1).

In the case of psoriasis, global prevalence varies widely. Prevalence in the overall population has been reported as 0.11% in east Asia, 1.58% in Australasia and 1.52% in western Europe. The estimated prevalence of psoriasis in Asian countries was reported to be much lower. Psoriasis occurs more frequently in adults than in children (2). The Global Burden of Disease study reported more than 4.6 million incident cases of psoriasis worldwide in 2019 (3). About 30% of psoriatic patients develop psoriatic arthritis (4).

No information was provided in the application on the prevalence of juvenile idiopathic arthritis, psoriatic arthritis or Crohn disease.

The Global Burden of Disease study reported about 4.9 million cases of inflammatory bowel disease worldwide, without differentiation between Crohn disease and ulcerative colitis (5).

## Summary of evidence: benefits

## Rheumatoid arthritis

The application presented only brief summaries of the findings of publications identified through a literature search. The following information has been elaborated by the Secretariat.

A 2016 systematic review and meta-analysis (seven studies, 1335 participants) compared subcutaneous versus oral methotrexate in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis (6). Subcutaneous methotrexate was associated with greater improvements at 24 weeks in the American College of Rheumatology 20% (ACR20) and 70% (ACR70) responses: ACR20 odds ratio (OR) 1.68, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.09 to 2.61; ACR70 OR 1.52, 95% CI 1.02 to 2.26; two randomized controlled trials, 467 participants). No significant difference was found in ACR50 response between treatment groups (OR 1.68, 95% CI 0.64 to 4.44). Two studies (535 participants) evaluated pain using visual analogue scale scores. Results showed that participants treated with subcutaneous methotrexate had better pain control (mean difference (MD) -0.65, 95% CI -0.93 to -0.37). Three studies (1163 participants) reported clinical failure and found no significant

difference between the subcutaneous and oral methotrexate treatment groups (OR 1.20, 95% CI 0.85 to 1.71).

A randomized crossover study (47 participants) compared the relative bioavailability, safety and tolerability of oral versus subcutaneous methotrexate in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (7). Patients were assigned to receive methotrexate 10 mg, 15 mg, 20 mg and 25 mg a week in a random sequence of three treatments: orally, subcutaneous injection into the abdomen and subcutaneous injection into the thigh. Blood samples were collected for pharmacokinetic analysis and injection sites were assessed for 24 hours after administration. Systemic exposure of oral methotrexate plateaued at doses  $\geq$  15 mg/week, whereas systemic exposure of subcutaneous methotrexate increased linearly and was greater than oral methotrexate at each dose. Higher systemic methotrexate exposure with subcutaneous treatment was not associated with an increase in adverse events.

A randomized trial evaluated efficacy and tolerability of subcutaneous methotrexate for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis in Japanese patients (8). Patients were randomized to receive 7.5 mg subcutaneous methotrexate (n = 52) or 8 mg oral methotrexate (n = 50) weekly for 12 weeks (part 1). Long-term (52 weeks) efficacy and safety of subcutaneous methotrexate (up to a maximum dose of 15 mg/week) was assessed in a second part of the trial. The primary efficacy endpoint was the ACR20 response rate at week 12, which was not significantly different between subcutaneous and oral treatment groups (59.6% versus 51.0%, respectively; difference 8.6, 95% CI –11.3 to 27.8).

A single 6-month prospective, randomized, phase IV trial compared the efficacy and safety of subcutaneous versus oral methotrexate in 284 patients with rheumatoid arthritis (9). Patients were randomized to receive 15 mg/week orally (n = 187) or subcutaneously (n = 188) for 24 weeks. The primary outcome was ACR20 response at 24 weeks. Subcutaneous methotrexate was associated with a significantly greater proportion of patients achieving ACR20 response (78% versus 70%) and ACR70 response (41% versus 33%) than oral methotrexate. No significant difference was observed between treatment groups for ACR50 response. Treatment was well tolerated, with a similar rate of adverse events in both treatment groups.

A 2016 narrative literature review identified 23 publications on the use of oral and subcutaneous methotrexate in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis (10). Included publications were 10 systematic reviews/guidelines, six randomized trials, one prospective cohort study, four retrospective studies, one cost-minimization analysis and one expert opinion/editorial. The review authors reported that subcutaneous methotrexate had higher and less variable bioavailability than oral methotrexate, especially at medium-to-high dosages (> 15 mg/week). Clinical response, evaluated through Disease Activity Score-28 and American College of Rheumatology Criteria, was greater with subcutaneous

versus oral methotrexate, in both treatment-naïve patients and those switching from oral methotrexate because of treatment failure. Subcutaneous methotrexate was associated with fewer gastrointestinal side-effects, however other adverse effects were similar for the oral and subcutaneous routes. Evidence on the cost-effectiveness of subcutaneous versus oral methotrexate was not available, however, the review authors postulated that delaying the use of more aggressive and expensive therapies (e.g. biological disease-modifying anti-rheumatic medicines) might provide cost savings.

Another 2016 narrative literature review provided an overview of a change in patient preference from oral to subcutaneous methotrexate and benefits of subcutaneous over oral therapy in patients with arthritis (11). Several studies reported better clinical response in patients treated with subcutaneous versus oral methotrexate, which has been attributed to the more stable pharmacokinetics of subcutaneous treatment. Subcutaneous methotrexate was well tolerated and caused minimal gastrointestinal disturbances at higher doses. The authors of the review acknowledged that subcutaneous methotrexate may impose a greater financial burden on patients but concluded that switching patients unresponsive to oral methotrexate to subcutaneous methotrexate might avoid the need for biologicals or other treatments, and hence result in cost savings. Furthermore, the authors concluded that most patients would prefer subcutaneous methotrexate to oral methotrexate.

A 2015 narrative literature review evaluated outcomes related to methotrexate dose and route of administration in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Six studies (two systematic reviews, two randomized controlled trials, one longitudinal study and one retrospective cohort study) were included in a qualitative synthesis (12). The efficacy and toxicity of methotrexate appeared to be related to the absorbed dose rather than the route of administration. While bioavailability was greater for parenteral methotrexate, evidence was lacking that dividing oral doses was less advantageous, safer or more tolerable. The authors conceded that there may be modest benefits associated with starting patients with higher doses of methotrexate, and switching from oral to parenteral treatment when clinical response was inadequate.

Additional, older literature reviews identified in the application reported findings similar to those described above (13-16).

## Juvenile idiopathic arthritis

The application did not present any evidence for subcutaneous methotrexate for treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis.

## Psoriasis

The application stated that very few data were available on the use of subcutaneous methotrexate in psoriasis. The METOP study was a prospective, randomized,

double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicentre, phase III trial that examined subcutaneous methotrexate in 120 patients with moderate-to-severe plaque-type psoriasis (*17*). The primary efficacy endpoint (75% reduction in psoriasis area and severity index score (PASI 75) from baseline to week 16) was achieved in 37/91 (41%) patients in the methotrexate group versus 3/29 (10%) patients in the placebo group (relative risk (RR) 3.93, 95% CI 1.31 to 11.81). Subcutaneous methotrexate was reported to be generally well tolerated.

The application identified other prospective (18,19) and retrospective (20) studies of subcutaneous methotrexate in chronic plaque psoriasis but did not provide any information of the evidence.

#### **Psoriatic arthritis**

The application did not present any evidence on subcutaneous methotrexate for psoriatic arthritis, as very limited evidence exists on the use of subcutaneous methotrexate for this condition.

#### Crohn disease

The application identified four studies that included subcutaneous methotrexate in the treatment of Crohn disease but did not provide any information of the evidence (21-24).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The application stated that comparative safety data for subcutaneous versus oral or intramuscular methotrexate were lacking.

A 2016 systematic review and meta-analysis that compared subcutaneous versus oral methotrexate in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis reported no significant difference between treatment groups for headache (OR 0.69, 95% CI 0.39 to 1.24), vomiting (OR 0.55, 95% CI 0.26 to 1.18) or dyspepsia (OR 0.67, 95% CI 0.37 to 1.19). Nausea was reported significantly less frequently in the subcutaneous group (OR 0.53, 95% CI 0.28 to 0.97), as was diarrhoea (OR 0.43, 95% CI 0.20 to 0.95) (6).

A randomized trial that evaluated the tolerability of subcutaneous methotrexate for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis in Japanese patients reported that any adverse events occurred 57.7% and 72.0% of patients in the subcutaneous and oral treatment groups, respectively. A trend to fewer gastrointestinal disorders, in particular nausea, was observed in the subcutaneous group. With long-term treatment, the most commonly reported adverse reactions were nausea (13.8%), stomatitis (11.9%) and increased alanine aminotransferase levels (9.2%) (8).

In the METOP study in patients with psoriasis, the drop-out rate with subcutaneous methotrexate was 39% over 52 weeks, primarily due to poor efficacy and adverse events. During the placebo-controlled phase, methotrexate led to

more gastrointestinal adverse events and increased liver enzyme levels compared with placebo. Gastrointestinal adverse events were usually mild to moderate, and led to permanent drug discontinuation in 3% of patients. Elevated liver enzymes occurred in 23% of patients receiving methotrexate, leading to permanent drug discontinuation in 12% of patients (*17*).

## **WHO** guidelines

WHO guidelines for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis, juvenile idiopathic arthritis, psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis or Crohn disease are not currently available.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

The application did not present information on the comparative cost or costeffectiveness of subcutaneous methotrexate compared with oral, intramuscular or intravenous methotrexate.

In general, subcutaneous formulations of methotrexate appear to be more highly priced than oral or other parenteral forms.

## Availability

The application reported that subcutaneous methotrexate has regulatory approval and market availability in most middle- and high-income countries.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged that methotrexate is one of the mainstays of treatment for chronic inflammatory autoimmune conditions. Oral methotrexate is included on the Model Lists for rheumatoid arthritis and juvenile idiopathic arthritis, and a positive recommendation for oral methotrexate for treatment of severe psoriasis has been made at this meeting.

The Committee noted that data on the clinical efficacy and safety of subcutaneous methotrexate compared with oral or intramuscular formulations are limited and are based mostly on studies in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Bioavailability data suggest higher concentration following subcutaneous administration, but only a modest effect on response or side-effects.

The Committee noted that the application did not include data on discontinuation/drug survival or compliance, nor on whether subcutaneous methotrexate can delay the need for biological medicines.

The Committee considered that access and affordability of methotrexate is generally acceptable, with generics available. However, the Committee noted that subcutaneous methotrexate is generally more expensive than oral formulations and prefilled syringe/autoinjector delivery systems may substantially increase the cost of treatment. The Committee noted a lack of evidence on cost–effectiveness compared with oral formulations. The Committee acknowledged that subcutaneous methotrexate may have a role only in a small subgroup of patients in whom oral treatment is suboptimal or not tolerated, however evidence supporting its use in this population is limited.

Overall, the Committee considered the possible benefits of subcutaneous compared with oral methotrexate were unclear, with limited evidence suggesting only modest benefits in a small proportion of patients, at a considerably higher price. Therefore, the Expert Committee did not recommend inclusion of subcutaneous formulations of methotrexate on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis, juvenile idiopathic arthritis, psoriatic arthritis, psoriasis, and Crohn disease in patients not responding to maximum tolerable doses of oral methotrexate.

## References

- 1. Almutairi KB, Nossent JC, Preen DB, Keen HI, Inderjeeth CA. The prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic review of population-based studies. J Rheumatol. 2021;48(5):669–76.
- Parisi R, Iskandar IYK, Kontopantelis E, Augustin M, Griffiths CEM, Ashcroft DM. National, regional, and worldwide epidemiology of psoriasis: systematic analysis and modelling study. BMJ. 2020;369:m1590.
- Damiani G, Bragazzi NL, Karimkhani Aksut C, Wu D, Alicandro G, McGonagle D, et al. The global, regional, and national burden of psoriasis: results and insights from the Global Burden of Disease 2019 Study. Front Med (Lausanne). 2021;8:743180.
- 4. Husni ME, Merola JF, Davin S. The psychosocial burden of psoriatic arthritis. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2017;47(3):351–60.
- Wang R, Li Z, Liu S, Zhang D. Global, regional and national burden of inflammatory bowel disease in 204 countries and territories from 1990 to 2019: a systematic analysis based on the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. BMJ Open. 2023;13(3):e065186.
- Li D, Yang Z, Kang P, Xie X. Subcutaneous administration of methotrexate at high doses makes a better performance in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis compared with oral administration of methotrexate: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2016;45(6):656–62.
- Schiff MH, Jaffe JS, Freundlich B. Head-to-head, randomised, crossover study of oral versus subcutaneous methotrexate in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: drug-exposure limitations of oral methotrexate at doses ≥ 15 mg may be overcome with subcutaneous administration. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73(8):1549–51.
- 8. Tanaka Y, Okuda K, Takeuchi Y, Katayama K, Haji Y, Yamanishi Y, et al. Efficacy and tolerability of subcutaneously administered methotrexate including dose escalation in long-term treatment of rheumatoid arthritis in a Japanese population. Mod Rheumatol. 2023;33(4):680–9.
- 9. Braun J, Kästner P, Flaxenberg P, Währisch J, Hanke P, Demary W, et al. Comparison of the clinical efficacy and safety of subcutaneous versus oral administration of methotrexate in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis: results of a six-month, multicenter, randomized, double-blind, controlled, phase IV trial. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;58(1):73–81.
- 10. Bianchi G, Caporali R, Todoerti M, Mattana P. Methotrexate and rheumatoid arthritis: current evidence regarding subcutaneous versus oral routes of administration. Adv Ther. 2016;33(3):369–78.

220

- 11. Yadlapati S, Efthimiou P. Inadequate response or intolerability to oral methotrexate: Is it optimal to switch to subcutaneous methotrexate prior to considering therapy with biologics? Rheumatol Int. 2016:36(5), 627–33.
- 12. Goodman SM, Cronstein BN, Bykerk VP. Outcomes related to methotrexate dose and route of administration in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic literature review. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2015;33(2):272–8.
- 13. Cipriani P, Ruscitti P, Carubbi F, Liakouli V, Giacomelli R. Methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis: optimizing therapy among different formulations. Current and emerging paradigms. Clin Ther. 2014;36(3):427–35.
- 14. Mouterde G, Baillet A, Gaujoux-Viala C, Cantagrel A, Wendling D, Le Loët X, et al. Optimizing methotrexate therapy in rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic literature review. Joint Bone Spine. 2011;78(6):587–92.
- 15. Visser K, van der Heijde D. Optimal dosage and route of administration of methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic review of the literature. Ann Rheum Dis. 2009:68(7), 1094–9.
- 16. Vena GA, Cassano N, Iannone F. Update on subcutaneous methotrexate for inflammatory arthritis and psoriasis. Ther Clin Risk Manag. 2018;14:105–16.
- Warren RB, Mrowietz U, von Kiedrowski R, Niesmann J, Wilsmann-Theis D, Ghoreschi K, et al. An intensified dosing schedule of subcutaneous methotrexate in patients with moderate to severe plaque-type psoriasis (METOP): a 52 week, multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2017;389(10068):528–37.
- Vidal D, Salleras M, Romaní J, Ribera M, Gallardo F, Viñas M, et al. Adherence of self-administered subcutaneous methotrexate in patients with chronic plaque-type psoriasis. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2016;30(11):e131–e2.
- 19. Attwa EM, Elkot RA, Abdelshafey AS, Hafez AR. Subcutaneous methotrexate versus oral form for the treatment and prophylaxis of chronic plaque psoriasis. Dermatol Ther. 2019;32(5):e13051.
- Yesudian PD, Leman J, Balasubramaniam P, Macfarlane AW, Al-Niaimi F, Griffiths CE, et al. Effectiveness of subcutaneous methotrexate in chronic plaque psoriasis. J Drugs Dermatol. 2016;15(3):345–9.
- 21. Mañosa M, Naves JE, Leal C, Cabré E, Moreno V, Lorenzo-Zuñiga V, et al. Does methotrexate induce mucosal healing in Crohn's disease? Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2010;16(3):377–8.
- 22. Huang Z, Chao K, Li M, Zhi M, Tang J, Hu P, et al. Methotrexate for refractory Crohn's disease compared with thiopurines: a retrospective non-head-to-head controlled study. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2017;23(3):440–7.
- Hausmann J, Zabel K, Herrmann E, Schröder O. Methotrexate for maintenance of remission in chronic active Crohn's disease: long-term single-center experience and meta-analysis of observational studies. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2010;16(7):1195–202.
- 24. Seinen ML, Ponsioen CY, de Boer NK, Oldenburg B, Bouma G, Mulder CJ, et al. Sustained clinical benefit and tolerability of methotrexate monotherapy after thiopurine therapy in patients with Crohn's disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2013;11(6):667–72.

# 8.2 Antineoplastics and supportive medicines

CAR T-cell therapy – addition – EML

Axicabtagene ciloleucel Lisocabtagene maraleucel Tisagenlecleucel ATC code: L01XL03 ATC code: not available ATC code: L01XL04

## Proposal

Addition of CD-19-directed antigen receptor (CAR) T-cells (axicabtagene ciloleucel, lisocabtagene maraleucel and tisagenlecleucel) on the complementary list of the EML for treatment of adults with large B-cell lymphoma, including diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, high-grade B-cell lymphoma and primary mediastinal B-cell lymphoma.

## Applicant

Evidence-based Medicine Research Group, University Hospital of Cologne, Cologne, Germany

Cochrane Haematology

## WHO technical department

The technical team in cancer in the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases reviewed and provided comments on the application. The technical team commented that there were insufficient mature data on the efficacy (as measured by overall survival) and safety of CAR T-cell therapies to justify inclusion on the EML at this time, and that future consideration could be made as more studies are reported and a greater understanding of feasibility is gained. The technical team highlighted the need to monitor the evidence on these therapies and to consider a broader context for access.

# EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

8.2 Antineoplastic and supportive medicines

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Axicabtagene ciloleucel – intravenous infusion: suspension of 2 x  $10^6$  CAR-positive T-cells per kg body weight, with a maximum of 2 x  $10^8$  CAR-positive viable T-cells in about 68 mL

Tisagenlecleucel – intravenous infusion: suspension of 0.6 to 6.0 x  $10^8$  CAR-positive viable T-cells

Lisocabtagene maraleucel – intravenous infusion: suspension of  $\ge 1.5 \times 10^6$  to  $70 \times 10^6$  CAR-positive viable T cells per mL

#### Core/complementary

Complementary

#### Individual/square box listing

Square box, with axicabtagene ciloleucel and lisocabtagene maraleucel as the main pharmacological class representatives for the second-line treatment of early relapsing or refractory aggressive large B-cell lymphoma and tisagenlecleucel as an alternative in a later treatment line.

## Background

In CAR T-cell treatment, T cells are sampled from a patient's blood, modified and multiplied ex vivo before being readministered to the patient. By adding a gene for an engineered receptor (chimeric antigen receptor or CAR) in the laboratory, T cells are enabled to recognize specific cancer cell antigens (in the case of the current application CD-19, a transmembrane glycoprotein expressed by B-cells). The exact design and specificities of the CAR-T receptor varies in different products. As of the date of submission of the application, several different CAR-T treatments had been approved by United States Food and Drug Administration, all for haematological cancers.

In 2021, the Expert Committee reviewed the evidence for axicabtagene ciloleucel and tisagenlecleucel for relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. The purpose of the application was only to review the evidence and addition of CAR T-cell therapy to the Model List was not proposed.

The Committee noted that CAR T-cell therapy was highly specialized, requiring dedicated health system resources well beyond those currently available in most settings. Current treatment and management costs were also prohibitively high and exceeded affordability thresholds in almost all countries.

The Committee considered that CAR T-cell therapies were an area of great interest and therapeutic relevance in the treatment of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, and potentially other diseases. At the time, the Committee acknowledged that the available evidence was limited and of very low certainty. Nevertheless, it was noted that the immature data from multiple studies indicated that CAR T-cell therapy could induce durable complete responses, which may lead to clinical cure in some patients. The main uncertainties about the clinical benefits of CAR T-cell therapy related to the proportion of patients achieving long-term disease-free survival, and when CAR T-cell therapy is best used in the overall treatment algorithm. Safety concerns included cytokine release syndrome and neurological toxicity, both of which occur in a high proportion of patients, may be life-threatening and require highly specialized medical management. Data on long-term safety were limited.

The Committee acknowledged that the field of CAR T-cell therapy was rapidly evolving, with many ongoing studies that might address the existing clinical uncertainties. The application of this treatment could be advantageous in low- and middle-income settings: a potential curative treatment for haematological malignancies with a single infusion of CAR T-cells might be a competitive therapeutic option when compared with multiple chemotherapy regimens administered in hospital over longer periods of time.

The Committee considered that WHO should continue to monitor evidence on these therapies. The Committee advised that it would welcome an updated review of the evidence for CAR T-cell therapy for consideration at a future meeting. The Committee advised that WHO would need to have a strong leadership and advocacy role in facilitating affordable and equitable access to these treatments (1).

#### Public health relevance

Non-Hodgkin lymphomas are the seventh most common type of cancer and the most common haematological malignancy in the world, accounting for 4.3% of all cancers in the United States in 2015 (2). The most common type of malignant lymphomas worldwide are diffuse large B-cell lymphomas with 40% of all non-Hodgkin lymphomas (3) and 80% of all aggressive lymphomas (4). Based on morphological features and their genetic make-up, other subtypes and related entities, albeit less common, are defined and included with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma under the broader, more heterogeneous group of aggressive large B-cell lymphomas. These include high-grade B-cell lymphomas, primary mediastinal B-cell lymphoma, T-cell/histiocyte-rich large B-cell lymphoma, and others (5).

Global data on the incidence and mortality of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma are limited. However, the age-adjusted incidence rate of diffuse large B-cell lymphomas in the United States was 5.5 per 100 000 in 2015 (6). Between 1970 and 2010, a steady increase of these incidence rates has been reported. In all sexes, racial categories and age groups (except young adults), the increase was reported to be about 3-4% in the United States (4,7). Males are at a 1.5 times higher risk of being diagnosed with diffuse large B-cell lymphomas (4,7). Mortality was 1.8 per 100 000 in the United States in 2015 (6).

Untreated, diffuse large B-cell lymphomas are associated with a median survival of less than 1 year. With first-line chemoimmunotherapy with rituximab, cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, prednisone, most patients have good outcomes (7). However, 30–40% of patients relapse or are refractory to first-line treatment. The treatment of relapsed or refractory large B-cell

lymphoma is complex and depends on many factors, of which time to relapse is the most critical one. Even with the second-line treatments, which consist of salvage chemoimmunotherapy followed by autologous haematopoietic stemcell transplantation, about 60% of patients experience a further relapse (*8,9*). In patients with primary progressive disease or relapse within 1 year after first-line therapy, progression-free survival is about 25% at 2 years (*10*). Accordingly, the prognosis for relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphomas is still poor.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The application presented the results of a systematic review and meta-analysis of three randomized trials (865 participants) which evaluated the efficacy and safety of CAR T-cell therapy in people with relapsed or refractory aggressive large B-cell lymphoma as second-line treatment, comparing them with the established standard of care of platinum-containing chemotherapy regimens followed by high-dose chemotherapy and autologous stem-cell transplantation.

All three trials were multicentre, phase III open-label studies that recruited participants from Europe, Asia, North and South America, and the Pacific region. The BELINDA trial evaluated tisagenlecleucel (*11*), the ZUMA-7 trial evaluated axicabtagene ciloleucel (*12*) and the TRANSFORM trial evaluated lisocabtagene maraleucel (*13*). The intervention in each trial was a one-time infusion of CD19-directed CAR T-cells after the administration of lymphodepleting chemotherapy with fludarabine and cyclophosphamide over 2–3 days. Co-interventions were not permitted.

Trial designs varied slightly. While leukapheresis (the collection and separation of white blood cells from blood to obtain T-cells) was performed before randomization in BELINDA and TRANSFORM (i.e. independent of group allocation), it was performed after randomization in ZUMA-7. The time from randomization and leukapheresis to CAR T-cell infusion was different across trials, being shortest in ZUMA-7 with a median time of around 4 weeks, to a median of 5 weeks in TRANSFORM and 7 weeks in BELINDA. The timing of leukapheresis may affect T-cell count recovery and quality.

Bridging therapy (chemoimmunotherapy protocols) which were also used in the control arms were permitted in BELINDA and TRANSFORM. In ZUMA-7, only the administration of corticosteroids was permitted as a bridging to CAR T-cell therapy.

Treatment regimes in the control arms were similar across trials. They consisted of three to four prespecified platinum-based chemoimmunotherapy regimens based on investigator's choice. Changes in treatment regimens were permitted in BELINDA and TRANSFORM in case of efficacy concerns. In TRANSFORM, a change of the chemoimmunotherapy regimen was allowed within the first three cycles and in BELINDA after the positron emission

tomography at week six. The proportion of participants in the control arms receiving high-dose chemotherapy and autologous stem-cell transplantation was 33% in BELINDA, 35% in ZUMA-7 and 47% in TRANSFORM.

Crossover from standard of care to CAR T-cell therapy was allowed as a third-line treatment option in BELINDA and TRANSFORM. In ZUMA-7, crossover was not planned, but cellular immunotherapy was permitted outside the protocol. In BELINDA and TRANSFORM, 50–51% of participants allocated to the standard of care arm received third-line CAR T-cell therapy without receiving autologous stem-cell transplantation. In ZUMA-7, 56% of participants in the control arm subsequently received CAR T-cells outside the trial.

Using the Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluations (GRADE) approach, the overall certainty of the evidence was low to moderate. Risk of bias was deemed low for survival and response assessment, unclear for safety assessment and high for quality of life, which for quality of life was due to the risk of performance and detection bias and the subjective nature of the outcome, as well as attrition bias.

The median age of participants in the trials was 59 years and the proportion of female patients was between 34% and 43% reflecting the higher incidence of large B-cell lymphoma in males. The predominant large B-cell lymphoma subtype in all studies was diffuse large B-cell lymphoma diagnosed in 64% to 69% of patients, followed by high-grade B-cell lymphoma subtypes in 16% to 23%. Eligibility criteria across trials were similar. Trial participants were eligible if they were: diagnosed with aggressive large B-cell lymphoma, refractory or relapsing early (within 1 year) after an anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody and anthracycline-containing immunochemotherapy; had an Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status of  $\leq 1$ ; and were eligible for high-dose chemotherapy and autologous stem-cell transplantation. Lymphoma in the central nervous system was an exclusion criterion in BELINDA and ZUMA-7.

#### **Overall** survival

The results on overall survival were reported in the three trials. In each trial, data on overall survival were immature at the data cut-off and were presented as interim analyses.

In BELINDA, data on overall survival were immature at the data cut-off. Median overall survival was 16.9 months (95% confidence interval (CI) 11.14 to not estimable) in the CAR T-cell group and 15.3 months (95% CI 12.32 months to not estimable) in the control group (stratified unadjusted hazard ratio (HR) for death 1.24, 95% CI 0.83 to 1.85) (*11*).

In ZUMA-7, median overall survival was evaluated as an interim analysis. Overall survival was not reached in the CAR T-cell group (95% CI 28.3 months to not estimable) and 35.1 months (95% CI 18.5 months to not estimable) in the control group (HR for death 0.73, 95% CI 0.53 to 1.01) (*12*).

In TRANSFORM, overall survival data were immature at the time of the interim analysis. Median overall survival was not reached in the CAR T-cell group (95% CI 15.8 months to not reached) and 16.4 months (95% CI 11.0 months to not reached) in the control group (stratified HR for death 0.51, 95% CI 0.26 to 1.01) (13).

Overall survival data from the three trials were not pooled and metaanalysed. The applicants observed that overall survival in TRANSFORM and ZUMA-7 favoured CAR T-cell therapy, however no evidence of a difference between CAR T-cell therapy and standard of care was observed in BELINDA. The applicants concluded that the evidence suggested that CAR T-cell therapy may improve overall survival when compared with second line standard of care treatment. However, it was also noted that the evidence was uncertain, with follow-up still ongoing. Furthermore, considering that more than half of the participants in the control arms received CAR T-cells after treatment failure, the beneficial effect of CAR T-cells might be underestimated and inadequately represented by the overall survival estimates. The applicants proposed that surrogate survival endpoints such as progression-free and event-free survival might be more informative.

## **Progression-free survival**

The ZUMA-7 and TRANSFORM trials reported progression-free survival outcomes (543 participants). In BELINDA, progression-free survival assessment was not included in the trial protocol. The evidence from TRANSFORM and ZUMA-7 suggests that CAR T-cell therapy might improve progression-free survival when compared with standard of care treatment.

In ZUMA-7, median progression-free survival was 14.7 months (95% CI 5.4 months to not estimable) in the CAR T-cell group and 3.7 months (95% CI 0.37 to 0.65 months) in the control group (stratified HR for disease progression or death 0.49, 95% CI 0.37 to 0.65) (*12*).

In TRANSFORM, median progression-free survival was 14.8 months (95% CI 6.6 months to not reached) in the CAR T-cell group and 5.7 months (95% CI 3.9 to 9.4 months) in the control group (stratified HR for disease progression or death 0.41, 95% CI 0.25 to 0.66) (*13*).

Meta-analysis of pooled data from these trials performed by the applicants found moderate-certainty evidence that CAR T-cell therapy improved progression-free survival compared with standard of care (HR 0.47, 95% CI 0.37 to 0.60). In absolute terms, progression-free survival was 601 per 1000 patients with CAR T-cell therapy and 339 per 1000 patients with standard of care.

# Event-free survival

Event-free survival was the primary outcome in all three trials. However, event-free survival was defined differently and the timing of assessment differed across the trials.

In BELINDA, median event-free survival was similar between treatment groups: 3 months (95% CI 2.9 to 4.2 months) in the intervention group and 3 months (95% CI 3.0 to 3.5 months) in the control group (HR 1.07, 95% CI 0.82 to 1.40) (11).

In ZUMA-7, median event-free survival was 8.3 months (95% CI 4.5 to 15.8 months) in the CAR T-cell group and 2.0 months (95% CI 1.6 to 2.8 months) in the control group (HR 0.40, 95% CI 0.31 to 0.51) (*12*).

In TRANSFORM, median event-free survival was 10.1 months (95% CI 6.1 months to not reached) in the CAR T-cell group and 2.3 months (95% CI 2.2 to 4.3 months) in the control group (HR 0.35, 95% CI 0.23 to 0.53) (*13*).

Event-free survival data from the three trials were not pooled and metaanalysed. The applicants concluded that the evidence suggested that CAR T-cell therapy might lead to an increase in event-free survival compared with standard of care. Additionally, the applicants proposed that differences in the effect estimates might be due to varying interventions and trial designs, with outcome definitions reducing the certainty in the evidence.

#### **Overall response rates**

Overall response rates were reported for all three trials.

In BELINDA, the overall response rate was 46% (75/162) of patients in the CAR T-cell group and for 42% (68/160) of patients in the control group (risk ratio (RR) 1.09, 95% CI 0.85 to 1.39) (11).

In ZUMA-7, the overall response rate was 83% (150/180) of patients in the CAR T-cell group and 50% (90/179) of patients in the control group (RR 1.66, 95% CI 1.41 to 1.94) (*12*).

In TRANSFORM, the overall response rate was 86% (79/92) of patients in the CAR T-cell group and 48% (44/92) of patients in the control group (RR 1.80, 95% CI 1.43 to 2.26) (13).

Meta-analysis of pooled data from these trials performed by the applicants found low-certainty evidence that CAR T-cell therapy leads to a higher overall response rate when compared with second-line standard of care chemoimmunotherapy and autologous stem-cell transplantation (RR 1.49, 95% CI 1.13 to 1.97). In absolute terms, overall response was seen in 698 per 1000 patients with CAR T-cell therapy and 469 per 1000 patients with standard of care.

#### Quality of life

The ZUMA-7 and TRANSFORM trials reported quality of life outcomes (385 participants) using multiple validated tools for several time points. The application reported results for EuroQoL 5-Dimension 5-Level (EQ-5D-5L) index and the general health/QoL subscale of the EORTC QLQ-C30, for all time points that were reported.

## EQ-5D-5L index

In ZUMA-7, mean EQ-5D-5L index scores at baseline were 0.803 (95% CI 0.771 to 0.835) for the CAR T-cell group (n = 165), and 0.799 (95% CI 0.756 to 0.842) for the control group (n = 131). By day 50, there was evidence of a statistically significant decrease in mean EQ-5D-5L index scores in the CAR T-cell group (-0.049, 95% CI -0.081 to -0.017; n = 163), but no evidence of a statistically significant decrease in the control group (-0.003, 95% CI - 0.038 to 0.033; n = 123). Based on mixed-effect models with repeated measures analyses controlled for response to first-line therapy and age-adjusted International Prognostic Index at time of screening, there was evidence of a statistically significant difference in the mean changes from baseline to day 100 in favour of the CAR T-cell group (0.081, 95% CI 0.024 to 0.138). No further evidence of statistically significant between-group differences in the estimated mean changes from baseline were observed at day 150 (0.028, 95% CI -0.034 to 0.091), at 9 months (0.020, 95% CI -0.044 to 0.084), at 12 months (-0.029, 95% CI -0.109 to 0.052) and 15 months (-0.066, 95% CI -0.138 to 0.007). Descriptively, the proportion of patients who experienced clinically meaningful improvement (defined by the authors as 0.06 points) was higher in the CAR T-cell arm (15%; 25/166) compared with the control arm (12%; 16/133), but according to time to definitive improvement analyses, there was no evidence of a statistically significant difference (HR 1.15, 95% CI, 0.61 to 2.15) (14).

# EORTC QLQ-C30 – general health/QoL subscale

In ZUMA-7, the mean European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) QLQ-C30 - general health/QoL scores at baseline were 68.6 (95% CI 65.6 to 71.7) for the CAR T-call group (*n* = 165), and 70.1 (95% CI 66.1 to 74.1) for the control group (n = 130). By day 50, mean scores decreased in both groups: changes from baseline -7.4 (95% CI -10.5 to -4.3) in the CAR-T group and -8.5 (95% CI -12.6 to -4.5) in the control group. Based on mixed-effect models with repeated measures analyses controlled for response to first-line therapy and age-adjusted International Prognostic Index at time of screening, there was evidence of a statistically significant and clinically meaningful (defined by the authors as 10 points) difference in the mean changes from baseline to day 100 in favour of the CAR T-cell group (18.1, 95% CI 12.3 to 23.9). Estimated mean changes from baseline at day 150 also favoured the CAR T-cell group (9.8, 95% CI 2.6 to 17.0). No further evidence of statistically significant betweengroup differences in the estimated mean changes from baseline were observed at 9 months (4.4, 95% CI -3.3 to 12.0), 12 months (-1.5, 95% CI -9.6 to 6.6) and 15 months (-4.9, 95% CI -13.0 to 3.1). Descriptively, the proportion of patients who experienced clinically meaningful improvement were higher in the CAR T-cell arm (19%) compared to the control arm (14%), but according to

time to definitive improvement analyses, there was no evidence of a statistically significant difference (HR 1.25, 95% CI 0.7 to 2.22) (14).

In TRANSFORM, mean (standard deviation) EORTC QLQ-C30 - general health/QoL scores at baseline were 67.7 (21.5) for the CAR T-cell group (n = 47) and 68.2 (22.1) for the control group (n = 43). Based on mixed-effect models with repeated measures analyses which considered all data points through day 126 and controlled for relevant baseline covariates, there was no evidence of a statistically significant difference in the overall least square mean changes from baseline through day 126 between the CAR T-cell group (mean difference 3.0, 95% CI -3.6 to 9.7). Across timings of assessment (days 29, 64 and 126), there was no evidence of statistically significant between-group differences. At 6 months, the observed mean EORTC QLQ-C30 - general health/QoL change scores in the control arm showed clinically meaningful worsening (i.e. mean changes exceeded the authors' prespecified within-group minimally important difference of 10 points). In the CAR T-cell arm, observed mean change scores improved descriptively, but remained lower than the limit of the within-group minimally important difference. Descriptively, from day 126 to month 6, the proportion of patients with meaningful improvement in general health/QoL (using the authors' responder definition of a minimal change threshold (i.e. smallest incremental change) of 5 points) was higher, while deterioration was lower, in the CAR T-cell arm compared with the control arm. That means the proportions of patients with improvement/deterioration at day 126 were 62%/23% (*n* = 26) in the CAR T-cell arm and 30%/60% (n = 10) in the control arm. At month 6, the proportions of patients with improvement/deterioration were 53%/18% (n = 17) in the CAR T-cell arm and 14%/57% (n = 7) in the control arm (15).

Quality of life data from the two trials were not pooled and meta-analysed. The applicants concluded that the evidence suggested that quality of life might be increased for CAR T-cell therapy compared with standard of care at some points during the treatment sequence. The evidence was judged to be uncertain and may be limited to patients who respond to or tolerate treatments well.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

Patients treated with CAR T-cells can experience potentially life-threatening adverse events such as cytokine release syndrome or immune effector cell-associated neurotoxicity syndrome. However, in the evaluated trials there was little to no difference in the occurrence of serious adverse events compared with second-line standard of care.

The BELINDA trial included 162 participants in the intervention group and 160 patients in the control group in the reporting of any (serious) adverse events, but only 155 participants in the intervention group and 81 in the control group for further safety analysis (*11*). In ZUMA-7, 170 participants in

the intervention group and 168 in the control group were included in the safety analysis (*12*). The TRANSFORM trial included 92 participants in the intervention group and 91 participants in the control group in the reporting of any (serious) adverse events. However, further safety analyses were conducted with data from 47 participants in the control group, who crossed over and received CAR T-cell therapy as third-line treatment (*13*).

## Any adverse event

Overall, 99–100% of participants in both the intervention and control groups in the BELINDA and ZUMA-7 trials experienced any adverse event (11,12). Across all trials, between 84% and 92% of participants in the intervention group and 83% and 90% in the control group experienced any adverse event of grade 3 or higher (11–13). The BELINDA trial reported 99% of participants in both the intervention and control group experiencing any adverse event. In the intervention and control groups, respectively, 84% and 90% of participants experienced an adverse event of grade 3 or higher (11). In ZUMA-7, 100% of participants in the intervention and control groups, respectively, 91% and 83% of participants experienced an adverse event of grade 3 or higher (12). The TRANSFORM trial did not report the number of patients with any adverse event. However, 92% and 87% of participants in the intervention and control groups, respectively, respectively, experienced an adverse event of grade 3 or higher (12). The TRANSFORM trial did not report the number of patients with any adverse event. However, 92% and 87% of participants in the intervention and control groups, respectively, 91% and 83% respectively, experienced an adverse event of patients with any adverse event.

# Any serious adverse events

In the intervention groups of BELINDA and ZUMA-7, 47% to 50% of participants experienced any serious adverse event, versus 46% to 51% of participants in the control groups. Between 34% and 42% in the intervention groups and 40% and 43% in the control groups experienced serious adverse events of grade 3 or higher (*11,12*). In BELINDA, any serious adverse event was reported in 47% and 51% of participants in the intervention and control groups, respectively. Serious adverse events of grade 3 or higher were reported in 36% and 43% of participants in the intervention group and 46% of participants in the intervention group and 46% of participants in the control group experienced by 42% and 40% of participants in the intervention group, respectively (*12*). The TRANSFORM trial reported serious adverse events of grade 3 or higher in 34% of participants in the intervention group, respectively (*12*). The number of participants in the intervents of grade 3 or higher in 34% of participants in the intervents of grade 3 or higher in 34% of participants in the intervention group, respectively (*12*).

# Cytokine release syndrome

All trials reported the number of participants with cytokine release syndrome (11-13). The number of participants with cytokine release syndrome in the

intervention groups ranged between 49% and 92%, with between 1% and 6% of participants experiencing cytokine release syndrome of grade 3 or higher. In the control groups, between 49% and 75% of participants had cytokine release syndrome of any grade. The BELINDA trial reported cytokine release syndrome in 61% and 75% of participants in the intervention and control groups, respectively, with cytokine release syndrome of grade 3 or higher reported in 5.2% and 4.9% of participants in the intervention and control groups, respectively. Tocilizumab for management of cytokine release syndrome was reported for 51.6% of participants in the intervention group and 55.7% in the control group (11). In ZUMA-7, for the intervention group, cytokine release syndrome was reported in 92% of participants and cytokine release syndrome of grade 3 or higher was reported for 6% of participants. The number of participants with cytokine release syndrome in the control group was not reported. Tocilizumab for was administered to 65% of participants, however, it was not reported how many participants per group received tocilizumab, nor if it was administered for cytokine release syndrome or any neurological event (12). In TRANSFORM, cytokine release syndrome was reported for 49% of participants in both the intervention and control groups. Cytokine release syndrome of grade 3 or higher was only reported in one participant (1%) in the intervention group. For 10% of participants in the intervention group, and 19% of participants in the control group, tocilizumab was used for management of cytokine release syndrome (13).

#### Neurological events

All trials reported the number of participants with neurological events, however the numbers in the ZUMA-7 control group did not include the number of patients with immune effector cell-associated neurotoxicity syndrome (12). The number of participants with neurological events including immune effector cellassociated neurotoxicity syndrome of any grade ranged between 10% and 60% in the intervention group, and between 15% and 17% in the control group. The number of participants with neurological events of grade 3 or higher ranged between 2% and 21% in the intervention group and 3% and 4% in the control group (11, 12). In BELINDA, any neurological event was reported for 10.3% of participants in the intervention group and 14.8% in the control group, both including immune effector cell-associated neurotoxicity syndrome. Additionally, 1.9% in the intervention group and 2.5% in the control group experienced neurological events of grade 3 or higher, including immune effector cell-associated neurotoxicity syndrome. The number of participants receiving tocilizumab for neurological events was not reported (11). In ZUMA-7, 60% of participants in the intervention group experienced any neurological event, including immune effector cell-associated neurotoxicity syndrome, and 20% of participants in the control group experienced any neurological event, excluding immune effector
cell-associated neurotoxicity syndrome. Additionally, 21% in the intervention group experienced neurological events of grade 3 or higher, including immune effector cell-associated neurotoxicity syndrome, and 0.6% in the control group experienced neurological events of grade 3 or higher, excluding immune effector cell-associated neurotoxicity syndrome (*12*). The TRANSFORM trial reported any neurological event including immune effector cell-associated neurotoxicity syndrome and 17% of the control group. Neurological events of grade 3 or higher were reported in 4% of participants in both the intervention and control groups. One patient in the intervention group received tocilizumab for dizziness (*13*).

## Any infections

Infections were reported in all three trials. The number of participants with infections ranged between 3% and 41% in the intervention groups, and between 3% and 30% in the control groups (11-13). The BELINDA trial reported any infections and infestations in 3.1% of participants in each group (11). In the ZUMA-7 trial, infections of any grade were reported in 41% of participants in the intervention group and 30% in the control group. Infections of grade 3 or higher were reported in 14% of participants in the intervention group (12). In the TRANSFORM trial, infections of grade 3 or higher were reported in 15% of participants in the intervention group and 21% in the control group (13).

### WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for treatment of relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphoma are not currently available.

### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The applicants conducted a targeted search for references related to the costs of the medicines included in this application. In addition, health technology assessment reports by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (United Kingdom) and the Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care (Germany) were included in the application.

Treatment with CAR T-cells is technologically demanding and resource intensive. It requires well equipped facilities for its production as well as trained physicians and nurses to administer the treatment. Global availability of CAR T-cell therapy is limited. It has not been introduced in low- or middle-income countries (*16,17*). Therefore, data on its comparative cost and cost–effectiveness are limited to high-income countries. Moreover, these data often do not account for costs arising from the need for additional treatment and hospitalization. Since CAR T-cell therapy has been approved by various agencies for the indication of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, most available evidence is on the treatment of this condition.

Treatment with all three therapies consists of a single use per patient. Cost–effectiveness for all three CAR T-cell therapies depends on the payer's perspective, the applied time horizon and the inclusion of additional treatment costs. In some cases, the therapies can be considered cost-effective compared with other treatment options, especially if incremental cost–effectiveness ratios per life year gained are taken into consideration.

The manufacturers of axicabtagene ciloleucel and tisagenlecleucel have signed outcome-based agreements with several German health insurers. These agreements state that the manufacturer will partially reimburse the treatments cost to the German health care fund if the patient dies within a defined period (*18*).

#### Cost per case

#### Axicabtagene ciloleucel

The price for axicabtagene ciloleucel in the United States was reported by the manufacturer to be US\$ 373 000 (19), with total drug acquisition cost reported to be US\$ 399 000 (20, 21). In Germany, the wholesale price was  $\in$  282 000 (22), whereas total drug acquisition cost in Spain was reported at  $\in$  313 920 (23).

The estimated costs per case for axicabtagene ciloleucel varied between US\$ 586 313 and US\$ 637 129, depending on the indication and the use of additional treatments (20, 21, 24). Yearly therapy costs in Germany were estimated at  $\in$  283 227 (excluding costs for the use of additional treatment that are part of other reimbursement processes) (22).

#### Tisagenlecleucel

The acquisition cost for tisagenlecleucel was reported to be US\$ 373 000 in the United States (20, 24), Sw.fr. 403 470 in Switzerland (25) and €307 200 in Spain (23). The wholesale price for tisagenlecleucel in Germany was reported to be €275 000, with yearly therapy estimated at about €283 000 (26), depending on the additional treatments needed. However, because of reimbursement processes in Germany, not all additional treatment costs are covered by this figure so the overall treatment costs may be higher (18).

#### Lisocabtagene maraleucel

The acquisition cost for lisocabtagene maraleucel was reported to be US\$ 410 300 in the United States (*20, 21*). The total costs per patient were estimated to be between US\$ 597 174 and US\$ 620 962, depending on additional treatment costs. Health technology assessment reports from Germany or the United Kingdom are not yet available for lisocabtagene maraleucel.

For overall CAR T-cell therapy, independent of the substance, budget impact calculations estimated US\$ 10–21 billion over 5 years for the United States health care systems if these treatments were given to eligible patients. This figure varies because of variation in the indications considered in the estimations (17,27).

### Cost-effectiveness

The cost–effectiveness of CAR T-cell therapies varied between studies and reports, depending on the time-horizon and the perspective of the analyses, and on the inclusion of additional treatment costs.

### Axicabtagene ciloleucel

The January 2019 NICE technology appraisal guidance on axicabtagene ciloleucel reported an incremental cost–effectiveness ratio more than £50 000 per qualityadjusted life year (QALY) gained (28). Updated NICE guidance from February 2023 reported an incremental cost–effectiveness ratio of lower than £50 000 per QALY (29). An analysis from an Italian payer perspective reported an incremental cost–effectiveness ratio of €44 746 per QALY gained (30), whereas an analysis from a United States payer perspective over a lifetime horizon reported an incremental cost–effectiveness ratio of US\$ 66 318 per QALY gained (31). A Canadian analysis with a societal and public health care payer perspective reported an incremental cost–effectiveness ratio of Can\$ 132 747 per QALY gained (32). A cost–effectiveness analysis from the perspective of the Chinese health care system reported an incremental cost–effectiveness ratio of US\$ 67 250 per QALY gained, above the willingness-to-pay threshold applied of US\$ 31 320 per QALY gained, which is three times the gross domestic product per capita (33). All the analyses compared axicabtagene ciloleucel with standard of care (i.e. salvage chemotherapy).

# Tisagenlecleucel

The highest incremental cost–effectiveness ratio for tisagenlecleucel was US\$ 508 530 per QALY gained reported from a Singapore health care payer perspective over a time horizon of 15 years (*34*). From a Canadian societal perspective and over a time horizon of 20 years, the reported incremental cost–effectiveness ratio was Can\$ 103 122 per QALY gained (*19*). An analysis using a United States third-party payer perspective with a lifetime horizon reported an incremental cost–effectiveness ratio of US\$ 78 652 per QALY gained (*35*). An analysis using a Japanese perspective over a lifetime horizon reported an incremental cost–effectiveness ratio of 5 476 496 Japanese yen per QALY gained (*36*). The NICE technology appraisal guidance on tisagenlecleucel reported an incremental cost–effectiveness ratio between £42 991 and £55 403 per QALY gained (*37*). Incremental cost–effectiveness ratios per life year gained were reported to be US\$ 320 200 from the Singapore perspective (*34*) and 5 389 446 Japanese yen from the Japanese perspective (*36*). All analyses compared tisagenlecleucel with salvage chemotherapy.

An analysis from a German payer perspective compared CAR T-cell therapy (axicabtagene ciloleucel and tisagenlecleucel), allogenic stem-cell transplantation and best supportive care and applied the efficiency frontier concept. In this analysis, allogenic stem-cell transplantation and axicabtagene ciloleucel were the most efficient interventions (*38*).

#### Lisocabtagene maraleucel

Cost-effectiveness analyses of lisocabtagene maraleucel versus salvage chemotherapy were not identified.

A comparison of the three CAR T-cell therapies from a United States payer perspective over a lifetime horizon found that incremental cost–effectiveness ratios for axicabtagene ciloleucel versus its comparators were substantially lower than the threshold of US\$ 150 000 used to evaluate its relative cost–effectiveness – US\$ 8946 per QALY gained versus lisocabtagene maraleucel and US\$ 24 506 per QALY gained versus tisagenlecleucel (*20*).

#### Availability

Axicabtagene ciloleucel, lisocabtagene maraleucel and tisagenlecleucel have been approved by several regulatory agencies worldwide for various indications including treatment of adults with relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphoma after two or more lines of systemic therapy. At the time of the Expert Committee meeting (April 2023), there were no existing or planned licencing agreements with generic manufacturers and/or the Medicines Patent Pool.

#### Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group reviewed the application and advised that it did not support the inclusion of CD19-directed CAR T-cell immunotherapy as a therapeutic class or as individual medicines on the EML. The Working Group acknowledged that CAR T-cell therapy is superior to salvage chemoimmunotherapy in terms of progression free-survival, without evidence of heterogeneity across trials. However, for all medicines proposed, the Working Group noted that long-term trial follow-up is limited, and that the survival benefit observed is currently uncertain, with one study potentially associated with a detrimental effect of CAR T-cell therapy. In addition, the current costs of the administration of these medicines are very high, with cost-effectiveness analyses finding these treatments not to be cost-effective in most settings at the current prices. Further concerns were raised about the feasibility of administering these treatments and managing adverse effects in resource-constrained settings. It was noted that CAR T-cell therapy is a rapidly evolving field with a high likelihood that the currently available products will be replaced by more advanced products in the future.

The Working Group agreed that CAR T-cell therapies for large B-cell lymphoma, and probably other cancer indications (e.g. acute lymphoblastic leukaemia), are an area of considerable interest and therapeutic relevance. The Working Group considered that the evidence on these therapies should continue to be monitored on an ongoing basis. Costimulatory signalling domains should be also considered as they might have implications for clinical efficacy and in prioritizing one CAR T-cell immunotherapy over others. The Working Group noted that T-cell production methods, other than industry-scaled centralized manufacturing by companies, are now being explored. The Working Group considered that decentralized production in academic medical centres and hospitals has the potential to facilitate widespread patient access to CAR T-cell therapy.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recalled the review of available evidence for CD19directed CAR T-cell therapy submitted for consideration in 2021 and appreciated the updated evidence presented by the applicants for the current meeting, proposing inclusion of these therapies on the EML for the treatment of adults with relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphoma. The Committee noted that the field of CAR T-cell therapy continues to evolve rapidly, with several ongoing clinical trials.

Based on the evidence presented in the application, the Committee acknowledged that CAR T-cell therapy appears to outperform standard care with salvage chemoimmunotherapy in terms of progression-free survival, although with variability across trials for other survival outcomes. The Committee noted in particular the results of the BELINDA trial, in which the point estimate for eventfree survival favoured the control arm, and the point estimate for overall survival suggested no difference between treatment groups. However, the Committee also noted that long-term trial follow-up is currently limited for the three CAR T-cell therapies proposed for listing in the EML, and that overall survival data are still immature. Therefore, the Committee considered that the actual survival benefit remained uncertain. Furthermore, the Committee noted significant safety concerns including cytokine release syndrome and neurological toxicity, both of which occur in a high proportion of patients receiving CAR T-cell therapy. These may be life-threatening and require highly specialized medical management. Data on long-term safety are not currently available.

The Committee noted that the application proposed listing CAR T-cell therapies as a therapeutic group but considered that the three therapies proposed were very different in terms of starting material (i.e. type of T-lymphocytes), vector, costimulatory domain and manufacturing; therefore, they may have important differences in both toxicity and efficacy.

The Committee noted that acquisition costs for CAR T-cell therapies are very high, and that cost–effectiveness analyses are generally limited to highincome settings. These analyses report high incremental cost–effectiveness ratios, often greater than the willingness-to-pay thresholds of the settings in which they were conducted. The Committee recognized that treatment of patients using CAR T-cell therapy requires dedicated health system resources and infrastructure well beyond those available in most settings and would have a substantial effect on budgets due to prohibitively high production costs, as well as costs for specialized administration and management of toxicities. However, the Committee noted with interest that these therapies are becoming increasingly available in academic settings and that closed and semi-automated manufacturing processes are becoming available which may substantially reduce prices and likely increase availability.

Based on these considerations, the Expert Committee did not recommend the inclusion of axicabtagene ciloleucel, lisocabtagene maraleucel or tisagenlecleucel on the complementary list of the EML for treatment of adults with relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphoma.

Recognizing the promising role of CAR T-cell therapies for large B-cell lymphoma and potentially also other cancers, the Committee recommended that WHO continue to monitor the evidence on these therapies, as well as their growing availability and affordability.

## References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351172, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Chihara D, Nastoupil LJ, Williams JN, Lee P, Koff JL, Flowers CR. New insights into the epidemiology of non-Hodgkin lymphoma and implications for therapy. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2015;15(5):531–44.
- 3. Teras LR, DeSantis CE, Cerhan JR, Morton LM, Jemal A, Flowers CR. 2016 US lymphoid malignancy statistics by World Health Organization subtypes. CA Cancer J Clin. 2016;66(6):443–59.
- 4. Gaidukova S, Vydyborets S, Popovich Y. Epidemiology, pathogenesis, molecular characteristics, classification and prognosis of the diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Hematol Transfusiol East Eur. 2018;6(2):217–25.
- 5. Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Pileri SA, Harris NL, Stein H, Siebert R, et al. The 2016 revision of the World Health Organization classification of lymphoid neoplasms. Blood. 2016;127(20):2375–90.
- 6. Howlader N, Noone AM, Krapcho M, Miller D, Brest A, Yu M, et al. SEER cancer statistics review (1975–2017). Bethseda, MD: National Cancer Institute; 2020 (https://seer.cancer.gov/archive/csr/1975\_2017/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 7. Flowers CR, Sinha R, Vose JM. Improving outcomes for patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. CA Cancer J Clin. 2010;60(6):393–408.
- 8. Jain MD, Bachmeier CA, Phuoc VH, Chavez JC. Axicabtagene ciloleucel (KTE-C19), an anti-CD19 CAR T therapy for the treatment of relapsed/refractory aggressive B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Ther Clin Risk Manag. 2018;14:1007–17.
- 9. Harrysson S, Eloranta S, Ekberg S, Enblad G, El-Galaly TC, Sander B, et al. Outcomes of relapsed/ refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma and influence of chimaeric antigen receptor T trial eligibility criteria in second line—a population-based study of 736 patients. Br J Haematol. 2022;198(2):267–77.

238

- 10. Costa LJ, Maddocks K, Epperla N, Reddy NM, Karmali R, Umyarova E, et al. Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma with primary treatment failure: ultra-high risk features and benchmarking for experimental therapies. Am J Hematol. 2017;92(2):161–70.
- 11. Bishop MR, Dickinson M, Purtill D, Barba P, Santoro A, Hamad N, et al. Second-Line tisagenlecleucel or standard care in aggressive B-cell lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2022;386(7):629–39.
- 12. Locke FL, Miklos DB, Jacobson CA, Perales MA, Kersten MJ, Oluwole OO, et al. Axicabtagene ciloleucel as second-line therapy for large B-cell lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2022;386(7):640–54.
- 13. Kamdar M, Solomon SR, Arnason J, Johnston PB, Glass B, Bachanova V, et al. Lisocabtagene maraleucel versus standard of care with salvage chemotherapy followed by autologous stem cell transplantation as second-line treatment in patients with relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphoma (TRANSFORM): results from an interim analysis of an open-label, randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2022;399(10343):2294–308.
- 14. Elsawy M, Chavez JC, Avivi I, Larouche JF, Wannesson L, Cwynarski K, et al. Patient-reported outcomes in ZUMA-7, a phase 3 study of axicabtagene ciloleucel in second-line large B-cell lymphoma. Blood. 2022;140(21):2248–60.
- 15. Abramson JS, Johnston PB, Kamdar M, Ibrahimi S, Izutsu K, Arnason J, et al. Health-related quality of life with lisocabtagene maraleucel vs standard of care in relapsed or refractory LBCL. Blood Adv. 2022;6(23):5969–79.
- 16. Date V, Nair S. Emerging vistas in CAR T-cell therapy: challenges and opportunities in solid tumors. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2020;21(2):145–60.
- 17. Fiorenza S, Ritchie DS, Ramsey SD, Turtle CJ, Roth JA. Value and affordability of CAR T-cell therapy in the United States. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2020;55(9):1706–15.
- Jørgensen J, Hanna E, Kefalas P. Outcomes-based reimbursement for gene therapies in practice: the experience of recently launched CAR T-cell therapies in major European countries. J Mark Access Health Policy. 2020;8(1):1715536.
- Yang H, Hao Y, Chai X, Qi CZ, Wu EQ. Estimation of total costs in patients with relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma receiving tisagenlecleucel from a US hospital's perspective. J Med Econ. 2020;23(9):1016–24.
- 20. Cummings Joyner AK, Snider JT, Wade SW, Wang ST, Buessing MG, Johnson S, et al. Costeffectiveness of chimeric antigen receptor T cell therapy in patients with relapsed or refractory large B cell lymphoma: no impact of site of care. Adv Ther. 2022;39(8):3560–77.
- Oluwole OO, Liu R, Diakite I, Feng C, Patel A, Nourhussein I, et al. Cost-effectiveness of axicabtagene ciloleucel versus lisocabtagene maraleucel for adult patients with relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphoma after two or more lines of systemic therapy in the US. J Med Econ. 2022;25(1):541–51.
- [G22-19] Axicabtagene ciloleucel (diffuse large B-cell lymphoma and primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma) – assessment according to §35a (para. 1, sentence 11) Social Code Book V (expiry of the decision) [internet]. Cologne: Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care; 2022 (https://www.iqwig.de/en/projects/g22-19.html, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 23. Bastos-Oreiro M, de Las Heras A, Presa M, Casado MA, Pardo C, Martín-Escudero V, et al. Costeffectiveness analysis of axicabtagene ciloleucel vs. tisagenlecleucel for the management of relapsed/refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma in Spain. Cancers (Basel). 2022;14(3):538.
- 24. Liu R, Oluwole OO, Diakite I, Botteman MF, Snider JT, Locke FL. Cost effectiveness of axicabtagene ciloleucel versus tisagenlecleucel for adult patients with relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphoma after two or more lines of systemic therapy in the United States. J Med Econ. 2021;24(1):458–68.

25. Moradi-Lakeh M, Yaghoubi M, Seitz P, Javanbakht M, Brock E. Cost-effectiveness of tisagenlecleucel in paediatric acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (pALL) and adult diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL) in Switzerland. Adv Ther. 2021;38(6):3427–43.

- [G20-05] Tisagenlecleucel (diffuse large B-cell lymphoma) Assessment according to §35a (para. 1., sentence 11) Social Code Book V (expiry of the decision). Köln: Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care; 2020 (https://www.iqwig.de/en/projects/g20-05.html, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 27. Myers GD, Verneris MR, Goy A, Maziarz RT. Perspectives on outpatient administration of CAR T-cell therapy in aggressive B-cell lymphoma and acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Immunother Cancer. 2021;9(4):e002056.
- Axicabtagene ciloleucel for treating diffuse large B-cell lymphoma and primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma after 2 or more systemic therapies. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2019 (Technology appraisal guidance [TA559]; https://www.nice.org.uk/ guidance/ta559, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 29. Axicabtagene ciloleucel for treating diffuse large B-cell lymphoma and primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma after 2 or more systemic therapies. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2023 (Technology appraisal guidance [TA872]; https://www.nice.org.uk/ guidance/ta872, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 30. Marchetti M, Martelli E, Zinzani PL. Cost-effectiveness of axicabtagene ciloleucel for relapsed or refractory dffuse large B-cell lymphoma in Italy. Blood. 2018;132(Suppl 1):4779.
- Perales M-A, Kuruvilla J, Snider JT, Vadgama S, Blissett R, El-Moustaid F, et al. The cost-effectiveness
  of axicabtagene ciloleucel as second-line therapy in patients with large B-cell lymphoma in the
  United States: an economic evaluation of the ZUMA-7 Trial. Transplant Cell Ther. 2022;28(11):750.
  e1–e6.
- Hillis C, Vicente C, Ball G. The cost effectiveness of axicabtagene ciloleucel versus best supportive care in the treatment of adult patients with relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphoma (LBCL) after two or more lines of systemic therapy in Canada. Pharmacoeconomics. 2022;40(9):917–28.
- 33. Li N, Zheng B, Cai H, Yang T, Hong Y, Liu M, et al. Cost-effectiveness analysis of axicabtagene ciloleucel vs. salvage chemotherapy for relapsed or refractory adult diffuse large B-cell lymphoma in China. Support Care Cancer. 2022;30(7):6113–21.
- 34. Cher BP, Gan KY, Aziz MIA, Lin L, Hwang WYK, Poon LM, et al. Cost utility analysis of tisagenlecleucel vs salvage chemotherapy in the treatment of relapsed/refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma from Singapore's healthcare system perspective. J Med Econ. 2020;23(11):1321–9.
- 35. Qi CZ, Bollu V, Yang H, Dalal A, Zhang S, Zhang J. Cost-effectiveness analysis of tisagenlecleucel for the treatment of patients with relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma in the United States. Clin Ther. 2021;43(8):1300–19.e8.
- 36. Wakase S, Teshima T, Zhang J, Ma Q, Fujita T, Yang H, et al. Cost effectiveness analysis of tisagenlecleucel for the treatment of adult patients with relapsed or refractory diffuse large B cell lymphoma in Japan. Transplant Cell Ther. 2021;27(6):506.e1–e10.
- 37. Tisagenlecleucel for treating relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma after 2 or more systemic therapies. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2019 (Technology appraisal guidance [TA567], https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta567, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 38. Jakobs F, Jeck J, Ahmadi P, Kron A, Kron F. Health economic analysis of third-line interventions in diffuse large B-cell lymphomas in Germany: applying the efficiency frontier. Cost Eff Resour Alloc. 2022;20(1):67.

240

# 8.2.1 Cytotoxic medicines

Cancer medicines for children – new indication for anaplastic large cell lymphoma – EML and EMLc

Cancer medicines for children – anaplastic large cell lymphoma ATC code: various

## Proposal

Extension of the indications for cyclophosphamide, cytarabine, dexamethasone, doxorubicin, etoposide, ifosfamide, methotrexate, prednisolone and vinblastine, and addition of crizotinib on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc to include treatment of anaplastic large cell lymphoma (ALCL) in children and adolescents.

## Applicant

European Society for Paediatric Oncology

## WHO technical department

The technical team in cancer in the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases reviewed and provided comments on the application. The technical department advised that it supported extending the listings of the currently included medicines for the new indication of ALCL, given that it is a highly curable disease, and that EMLc listing can contribute to improving access and quality of care for children and adolescents diagnosed with ALCL, in alignment with the objectives of WHO's global initiative for childhood cancer. The technical department did not support the addition of crizotinib at this time, and preferred to prioritize access to first-line chemotherapy.

### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

### Section

8.2.1 Cytotoxic medicines8.2.2 Targeted therapies8.2.4 Hormones and antihormones

### Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Crizotinib – Capsule: 200 mg, 250 mg Other medicines – dose forms and strengths currently in the EMLc

#### Core/complementary

Complementary

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

#### Background

Chemotherapy for the treatment of ALCL has not previously been considered by the Expert Committee. With the exception of crizotinib, all the other medicines proposed in the application are already included in the EML and EMLc for other cancer indications.

#### Public health relevance

Non-Hodgkin lymphoma is the fourth most common cancer in children and adolescents, with an annual incidence of 0.7–1.5 per 100 000 in Europe. Around 10–15% of these cases are ALCL (1). ALCL can be classified into four main types: anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK)-positive primary systemic ALCL; ALK-negative primary systemic ALCL; cutaneous ALCL; and breast implant-associated ALCL (2). ALK-positive ALCL is the most common type in children and adolescents, with almost all cases showing a translocation involving the ALK gene, leading to activation of the ALK kinase and tumour development (3).

The incidence of ALCL varies, with about 1.2 cases per million in children younger than 15 years and around 2 cases per million in young adults aged 25–34 years (4). This results in about 80 newly diagnosed cases of ALCL in children each year in Europe. Many children with ALCL are diagnosed at an advanced stage. Although relapse occurs in about 30% of patients, the overall survival rate is high at 90% due to various second-line treatment approaches (3).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The standard treatment for paediatric ALCL in Europe is the ALCL99-protocol, which consists of a prephase of dexamethasone, cyclophosphamide and intrathecal treatment (with cytarabine, methotrexate and prednisone), followed by three to six cycles of alternating multiagent chemotherapy (course A: cytarabine, dexamethasone, etoposide, ifosfamide, methotrexate, and intrathecal treatment; course B: cyclophosphamide, dexamethasone, doxorubicin methotrexate, and intrathecal treatment), depending on the stage of the disease (5).

For some patients with completely resected stage I disease, three cycles of chemotherapy are given. The treatment duration is 10 weeks. For patients in the standard risk and high-risk group, six cycles of chemotherapy are administered over 4–5 months. With this treatment approach, the 2-year event-free survival

rate has been reported to range from 70% to 75% (*3*,*6*). Most children and adolescents with recurrence can be cured with second-line therapy, which may involve vinblastine monotherapy for late relapse, reinduction chemotherapy or targeted therapy (such as crizotinib) followed by allogeneic haematopoietic stemcell transplantation for early relapse.

The ALCL99 protocol is based on the non-Hodgkin lymphoma-Berlin-Frankfurt-Münster (NHL-BFM) treatment strategy (7). The NHL-BFM 83 and 86 trials used a prephase followed by two alternating courses of treatment. The medicines used in these trials included cyclophosphamide, cytarabine, doxorubicin, ifosfamide, methotrexate, prednisone, and teniposide. In the NHL-BFM 90 protocol, teniposide was replaced with etoposide, both of which are topoisomerase II inhibitors. The NHL-BFM 90 trial demonstrated a favourable event-free survival rate of 76%. The ALCL99 trial built upon the previous NHL-BFM protocols and showed that the 24-hour infusion of methotrexate with additional intrathecal methotrexate can be safely replaced by a schedule of 3 g/m<sup>2</sup> intravenous methotrexate administered over 3 hours; this was associated with 2-year overall survival of 94.9% (3). After 10 years of follow up, progression-free survival was 70% and overall survival was 90% in the ALCL99 trial (8).

Vinblastine has a role in the second-line treatment of paediatric ALCL. A retrospective analysis of 41 patients with relapsed ALCL included 12 patients who received weekly vinblastine for 6 to 18 months for relapsed disease. Ten patients achieved complete remission, defined as the complete disappearance of all lesions for at least 4 weeks (9). In a prospective ALCL relapse trial, vinblastine monotherapy was effective for patients experiencing a relapse after the first year of initial diagnosis, with an observed long-term remission rate of 81% reported in patients who received vinblastine monotherapy (10).

Crizotinib, an ALK-specific tyrosine kinase inhibitor, has been effective in treating relapsed ALK-positive ALCL in both adults and children (11-14). Retrospective and prospective studies have shown an unfavourable prognosis for patients who experience progression during first-line treatment, with a high risk of treatment failure during conventional re-induction chemotherapy (15). Treatment strategies for re-induction therapy often involve the use of ALK inhibitors, either alone or in combination with other treatments.

A phase I/II trial evaluated the efficacy of crizotinib in 26 paediatric patients with relapsed or refractory ALK-positive ALCL and 14 paediatric patients with metastatic or inoperable ALK-positive inflammatory myofibroblastic tumour. The children with ALCL received crizotinib at doses of either 165 mg/m<sup>2</sup> or 280 mg/m<sup>2</sup>. The overall response rates were 83% (5/6 patients achieving a complete response) for the lower-dose group and 90% (16/20 patients achieving a complete response and two with a partial response) for the higher-dose group (*14*).

Another phase II trial evaluated the efficacy of crizotinib in 17 paediatric and adult patients with ALCL (15 who could be evaluated, 13 with progression

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

and two front-line). Children and adults received crizotinib 165 mg/m<sup>2</sup> twice daily and 250 mg/m<sup>2</sup> twice daily, respectively. The overall response rate for the 15 patients was 67% (95% confidence interval (CI), 42% to 85%) – 10 patients achieved an objective response, of whom nine achieved a complete response and one achieved a partial response. Response rates were similar in children and adults (*13*).

### Summary of evidence: harms

In the ALCL99 protocol, the most frequently reported adverse reaction was haematological toxicity, including with grade 4 neutropenia occurring after 70% of treatment courses. Other frequent adverse reactions reported were infections (after 41% of courses), elevated liver transaminase and stomatitis (both after 39% of courses). Significant weight gain was reported in 20% of patients (*16*).

The most frequently reported adverse event for crizotinib, regardless of grade, in the ALCL groups was neutropenia, occurring in 33% of patients receiving the lower dose and 70% of patients receiving the higher dose (*14*).

Other reported adverse events associated with crizotinib include thromboembolic events, elevated liver transaminases, visual disorders, nausea and vomiting, and bradycardia (13).

### WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for the treatment of ALCL are not available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Comparative cost-effectiveness data were not presented in the application.

Based on vial prices from the Kingdom of the Netherlands, for a child with a body surface area of 1 m<sup>2</sup> receiving one course of induction and three (or six) courses of consolidation according to the ALCL99 protocol, the estimated cost of chemotherapy would be about €1126 (or €3292).

The costs per dose for vinblastine and crizotinib were reported in the application as about €76 and €86, respectively.

# Availability

Cyclophosphamide, cytarabine, dexamethasone, doxorubicin, etoposide, ifosfamide, methotrexate, and prednisolone and vinblastine are already included on the EML and EMLc for other indications and are available globally in branded and generic versions.

Crizotinib has regulatory approval for use in ALCL from the United States Food and Drug Administration and the European Medicines Agency. No information on the availability of crizotinib in low- and middle-income settings was presented in the application.

#### Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group reviewed the application and advised that it supported expansion of the listings of existing medicines for the new indication of ALCL but did not unanimously support inclusion of crizotinib.

The Working Group noted that crizotinib is associated with benefits as other first-line chemotherapies, and it is considered a therapeutic option for relapsed or refractory ALK-positive disease. However, crizotinib is associated with potentially severe toxicities. The Working Group commented that brentuximab-based chemotherapy was a new standard of care in adults with ALCL. Brentuximab-based chemotherapy is now studied also in children as it may be a favourable first-line option based on its benefit to harm ratio. The application did not cover brentuximab-based chemotherapy.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that ALCL is an important disease in paediatric oncology, accounting for 10–15% of cases of non-Hodgkin lymphoma in paediatric and adolescent patients.

Despite limited evidence presented in the application, the Committee acknowledged that the ALCL99 treatment protocol, involving the use of cyclophosphamide, cytarabine, dexamethasone, doxorubicin, etoposide ifosfamide, methotrexate and prednisolone, is internationally recognized as the standard of care in the first-line treatment of ALCL. The Committee also acknowledged the accepted role of vinblastine in second-line treatment in relapsed/refractory disease. Based on the evidence available, the Committee noted that treatment is associated with clinically meaningful responses in a high proportion of patients. The benefits and harms of all medicines mentioned above were well established from their use in other indications in children and in adults.

The Committee therefore recommended the extension of the current listings of these medicines of the complementary list of the EML and EMLc to include the indication of ALCL.

However, because of insufficient evidence and important toxicity concerns for the use of crizotinib in the treatment of refractory/relapsed ALCL, the Committee did not recommended inclusion of crizotinib on the EML and EMLc.

The Committee considered that the evidence on ALK-inhibitor therapies should continue to be monitored, since more potent and less toxic ALK-inhibitors than crizotinib are currently being tested in clinical trials. References

- 1. Turner SD, Lamant L, Kenner L, Brugières L. Anaplastic large cell lymphoma in paediatric and young adult patients. Br J Haematol. 2016;173(4):560–72.
- 2. Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Pileri SA, Harris NL, Stein H, Siebert R, et al. The 2016 revision of the World Health Organization classification of lymphoid neoplasms. Blood. 2016;127(20):2375–90.
- Brugières L, Le Deley MC, Rosolen A, Williams D, Horibe K, Wrobel G, et al. Impact of the methotrexate administration dose on the need for intrathecal treatment in children and adolescents with anaplastic large-cell lymphoma: results of a randomized trial of the EICNHL Group. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(6):897–903.
- 4. Prokoph N, Larose H, Lim MS, Burke GAA, Turner SD. Treatment options for paediatric anaplastic large cell lymphoma (ALCL): current standard and beyond. Cancers (Basel). 2018;10(4):99.
- Combination chemotherapy in treating children with anaplastic large cell lymphoma (ALCL 99). Bethseda, MD: U.S. National Library of Medicine (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00006455; https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT00006455, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 6. Le Deley MC, Rosolen A, Williams DM, Horibe K, Wrobel G, Attarbaschi A, et al. Vinblastine in children and adolescents with high-risk anaplastic large-cell lymphoma: results of the randomized ALCL99-vinblastine trial. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(25):3987–93.
- Reiter A, Schrappe M, Tiemann M, Parwaresch R, Zimmermann M, Yakisan E, et al. Successful treatment strategy for Ki-1 anaplastic large-cell lymphoma of childhood: a prospective analysis of 62 patients enrolled in three consecutive Berlin-Frankfurt-Munster group studies. J Clin Oncol. 1994;12(5):899–908.
- Mussolin L, Le Deley MC, Carraro E, Damm-Welk C, Attarbaschi A, Williams D, et al. Prognostic factors in childhood anaplastic large cell lymphoma: long term results of the International ALCL99 Trial. Cancers (Basel). 2020;12(10):2747.
- 9. Brugières L, Quartier P, Le Deley MC, Pacquement H, Perel Y, Bergeron C, et al. Relapses of childhood anaplastic large-cell lymphoma: treatment results in a series of 41 children -- a report from the French Society of Pediatric Oncology. Ann Oncol. 2000;11(1):53–8.
- 10. Knörr F, Brugières L, Pillon M, Zimmermann M, Ruf S, Attarbaschi A, et al. Stem cell transplantation and vinblastine monotherapy for relapsed pediatric anaplastic large cell lymphoma: results of the International, prospective ALCL-relapse trial. J Clin Oncol. 2020;38(34):3999–4009.
- 11. Mossé YP, Lim MS, Voss SD, Wilner K, Ruffner K, Laliberte J, et al. Safety and activity of crizotinib for paediatric patients with refractory solid tumours or anaplastic large-cell lymphoma: a Children's Oncology Group phase 1 consortium study. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14(6):472–80.
- 12. Gambacorti-Passerini C, Messa C, Pogliani EM. Crizotinib in anaplastic large-cell lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2011;364(8):775–6.
- 13. Brugières L, Houot R, Cozic N, De La Fouchardière C, Morschhauser F, Brice P, et al. Crizotinib in advanced ALK+ anaplastic large cell lymphoma in children and adults: results of the Acs© Phase II Trial. Blood (Abstract). 2017;130:2831.
- 14. Mossé YP, Voss SD, Lim MS, Rolland D, Minard CG, Fox E, et al. Targeting ALK With crizotinib in pediatric anaplastic large cell lymphoma and inflammatory myofibroblastic tumor: a children's oncology group study. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(28):3215–21.

246

- Rigaud C, Abbas R, Grand D, Minard-Colin V, Aladjidi N, Buchbinder N, et al. Should treatment of ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma be stratified according to minimal residual disease? Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2021;68(6):e28982.
- 16. Wrobel G, Mauguen A, Rosolen A, Reiter A, Williams D, Horibe K, et al. Safety assessment of intensive induction therapy in childhood anaplastic large cell lymphoma: report of the ALCL99 randomised trial. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2011;56(7):1071–7.

Cancer medicines for children – new indication for Langerhans cell histiocytosis – EML and EMLc

Cancer medicines for children – Langerhans cell histiocytosis

ATC code: various

#### Proposal

Extension of the indications for cytarabine, intravenous immunoglobulin, 6-mercaptopurine, methotrexate, prednisone, vincristine, and vinblastine, and inclusion of cladribine on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for treatment of Langerhans cell histiocytosis (LCH) in children and adolescents.

#### Applicant

European Society for Paediatric Oncology

#### WHO technical department

The technical team in cancer in the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases reviewed and provided comments on the application. The technical department advised that it supported extending the listings of the currently included medicines to include the new indication of LCH, given that systemic chemotherapy according to international protocols had demonstrated high response rates and overall survival > 80% in patients with LCH with high-risk characteristics. The technical department advised that it did not support the inclusion of cladribine on the EML and EMLc for LCH for feasibility and safety reasons, namely capacity for histopathological diagnosis, and identification and management of immune-related toxicity.

### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

### Section

8.2.1 Cytotoxic medicines

8.2.4 Hormones and antihormones

### Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Cladribine – Injection: 1 mg/mL in 10 mL vial, 2 mg/mL in 5 mL vial Other medicines – dose forms and strengths currently in the EMLc

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

Chemotherapy for the treatment of LCH has not previously been considered by the Expert Committee. With the exception of cladribine, all the other medicines proposed in the application are already included in the EML and EMLc for other oncological indications.

# Public health relevance

LCH is a rare clonal disease of the immune system with a myeloid origin. It can affect single or multiple organ systems and hence the range of clinical symptoms is wide. It has an annual incidence of 4.6 cases per 1 million children younger than 15 years. It can affect people of any age group but is most common in children aged 1–3 years. Single-system disease, where only one organ is involved, has a survival rate of nearly 100% with (or without) treatment. In multisystem disease, the outcome is more variable but overall survival is still relatively high. Historically, patients with multisystem disease involving so-called risk organs such as the liver, spleen and haematopoietic system and who did not respond to induction therapy had a poorer prognosis. However, the use of intensive therapy or inhibitors targeting the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway has improved outcomes (1, 2).

About 30–40% of patients with LCH experience permanent sequelae, depending on the organ(s) affected and treatment required. This includes patients who undergo haematopoietic stem cell transplantation. The long-term survival and late effects in LCH depend on the initial location and extent of the disease. For example, single-site and single-system disease involving the bone carries a low risk of late effects and impact on quality of life. However, involvement of the pituitary gland can lead to a lifelong need for hormone substitution.

# Summary of evidence: benefits

Chemotherapy is the mainstay of LCH treatment, and the intensity and duration of treatment depend on the site and extent of the disease.

In the 1980s, the l'Associazione Italiana di Ematologia e Oncologia Pediatrica (AIEOP) Group and the DAL-HX group conducted the largest prospective clinical trials for LCH (3,4). These trials used systemic chemotherapy immediately after diagnosis. In the AIEOP-CNR-HX 83 trial, various chemotherapeutic agents were used based on the patient's prognosis. Vinblastine was used as monotherapy for patients with a good prognosis, while doxorubicin + etoposide was used for non-responders, and doxorubicin + vincristine + cyclophosphamide + prednisone was used for patients with a poor prognosis. Most of these medicines are still used in LCH treatment today. The overall mortality in both trial series was low, at 8% (3) and 9% (4), respectively.

The current standard treatment protocol for LCH is the LCH-IV protocol (5), based on the findings of previous protocol versions (6). The LCH-IV protocol assigns patients to seven strata, with each stratum having specific treatment dependent on features at presentation and on response to treatment. Medicines included in this protocol include vinblastine, prednisone, 6-mercaptopurine, methotrexate, vincristine, cytarabine, cladribine and intravenous immunoglobulin. These medications have demonstrated effectiveness in LCH treatment, and their combinations have been refined over time. Even for relapsed disease, the second-line treatment is relatively mild and has a relatively good prognosis (7). Due to the extensive experience with these drug combinations, individual studies examining the efficacy of each medication specifically for LCH treatment have not been conducted.

Two studies investigated the use of cladribine as monotherapy for salvage therapy for refractory high-risk LCH patients. The first was a retrospective multicentre study in which data were collected from a survey among members of the Histiocyte Society and a literature review. The authors reported on 23 paediatric and adult patients who received treatment with cladribine. The results showed that 57% (13/23) of the patients achieved complete response, 13% (3/23) had a partial response, 26% (6/23) showed no response and one early death occurred (8). The subsequent LCH-S-98 prospective multicentre clinical trial registered 92 children with refractory LCH who were treated with cladribine monotherapy, 83 of whom were included in the analysis. The primary outcome measure was early response. The study found that 38% (17/45) of high-risk patients and 62% (23/37) of low-risk patients achieved an early response. The 2-year overall survival rates were 48% for high-risk patients and 97% for low-risk patients (9).

Another retrospective study focused on granulomatous type of central nervous system LCH, where 12 paediatric and adult patients were treated with cladribine monotherapy. In this study, 67% (8/12) of patients achieved complete response and 33% (4/12) had a partial response based on radiological evaluation (10).

Two studies investigated the use of cladribine in combination with cytarabine for the treatment of LCH. A multicentre prospective pilot study evaluated efficacy and safety of cladribine and cytarabine in 10 children with refractory multisystem LCH and haematological dysfunction (11). The primary outcome measure was early response. The study reported three deaths, with six of the remaining seven children showing a partial response. A subsequent international open-label, prospective, non-randomized phase II study

(LCH-S-2005), evaluated cladribine and cytarabine in 27 paediatric patients with high-risk refractory LCH (1). The primary endpoint was the response after two cycles of chemotherapy. The results showed that 7% (2/27) of patients achieved complete response, 85% (23/27) had a partial response, and 7% (2/27) had stable disease. Overall 5-year survival was 85.0% (95% confidence interval 65.2% to 94.2%).

## Summary of evidence: harms

No evidence on the harms and toxicity of the medicines proposed was presented in the application. The application states that as the medicines proposed are considered part of standard care protocols for LCH, their benefits are therefore deemed to outweigh potential harms and toxicity associated with their use. With the exception of cladribine, all of the proposed medicines are already included in the EML and EMLc. Their safety profiles are well known as a result of longstanding experience with their use.

Cladribine is associated with myelotoxicity. In the LCH-S-2005 study, all patients experienced prolonged pancytopenia along with infectious complications, including septicaemia and invasive aspergillosis (11).

## WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for the treatment of LCH are not available.

# Costs/cost-effectiveness

Comparative cost-effectiveness data were not presented in the application.

LCH has different clinical presentations and courses. Overall, the treatment approach is characterized by relatively low intensity but requires several months of treatment. The LCH-IV protocol assigns patients into seven strata. Different stages and strata may have varying treatment durations according to the protocol.

Based on vial prices from the Kingdom of the Netherlands, the estimated costs of chemotherapy for a child with body surface area of 1 m<sup>2</sup>, weighing 15 kg, and with LCH treated according to different strata in the LCH IV protocol ranged from €1410 to €80 932. The costs of cladribine depend on the strata and were estimated to range from €1554 to €9324.

# Availability

Cytarabine, IV immunoglobulin, 6-mercaptopurine, methotrexate, prednisone, vinblastine and vincristine are already included on the EML and EMLc for other indications and are available globally in branded and generic versions.

Cladribine has regulatory approval for use in the treatment of patients with hairy cell leukaemia and patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia.

No information on the availability of intravenous cladribine in low- and middleincome settings was presented in the application.

## Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group reviewed the application and advised that it supported expansion of the listing of existing medicines for the new indication of LCH but did not support the inclusion of cladribine.

The Working Group highlighted the severe toxicity associated with cladribine and the difficulty of managing these in resource-constrained settings because its use would be limited to tertiary care centres. Cladribine, as a salvage treatment, is associated with high rates of cure in high-risk patients. However, it is also associated with prolonged hospitalization and increased risk of treatment-related death.

The Working Group noted that an international, multicentre, prospective clinical study for paediatric LCH is ongoing (NCT02205762) (5). This study plans to recruit 1400 patients and might provide data to guide the clinical care of children and young adults.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that while LCH is a relatively rare condition, affecting 4.6 per 1 million children each year, treatment of single-system disease has an excellent prognosis, with survival rates close to 100%. Prognosis for multisystem disease is variable, but treatment is generally associated with high survival rates.

Despite limited evidence presented in the application, the Committee acknowledged that the treatment for LCH involving cytarabine, intravenous immunoglobulin, 6-mercaptopurine, methotrexate, prednisone, vinblastine and vincristine is recognized as the current standard of care and is associated with meaningful survival benefits. The benefits and harms were accepted as well established from use in other indications in children and in adults.

The Committee therefore recommended the extension of the current listings of these medicines on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc to include the indication of LCH.

However, the Committee expressed concern about the use of cladribine in the treatment of refractory high-risk LCH, noting important haematological toxicities that would limit its safe use to tertiary care centres with capacity to deliver supportive treatment to manage toxicities. The Committee therefore did not recommend the inclusion of cladribine on the EML and EMLc for treatment of LCH.

# References

- Donadieu J, Bernard F, van Noesel M, Barkaoui M, Bardet O, Mura R, et al. Cladribine and cytarabine in refractory multisystem Langerhans cell histiocytosis: results of an international phase 2 study. Blood. 2015;126(12):1415–23.
- Donadieu J, Larabi IA, Tardieu M, Visser J, Hutter C, Sieni E, et al. Vemurafenib for refractory multisystem Langerhans cell histiocytosis in children: an international observational study. J Clin Oncol. 2019;37(31):2857–65.
- Ceci A, de Terlizzi M, Colella R, Loiacono G, Balducci D, Surico G, et al. Langerhans cell histiocytosis in childhood: results from the Italian Cooperative AIEOP-CNR-H.X '83 study. Med Pediatr Oncol. 1993;21(4):259–64.
- 4. Gadner H, Heitger A, Ritter J, Göbel U, Janka GE, Kühl J, et al. [Langerhans cell histiocytosis in childhood--results of the DAL-HX 83 study]. Klin Padiatr. 1987;199(3):173–82 [German].
- LCH-IV, International collaborative treatment protocol for children and adolescents with Langerhans cell histiocytosis. Bethseda, MD: U.S. National Library of Medicine; 2016 (ClinicalTrials. gov Identifier: NCT02205762; https://clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT02205762, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 6. Gadner H, Minkov M, Grois N, Pötschger U, Thiem E, Aricò M, et al. Therapy prolongation improves outcome in multisystem Langerhans cell histiocytosis. Blood. 2013;121(25):5006–14.
- Morimoto A, Shioda Y, Imamura T, Kudo K, Kawaguchi H, Sakashita K, et al. Intensified and prolonged therapy comprising cytarabine, vincristine and prednisolone improves outcome in patients with multisystem Langerhans cell histiocytosis: results of the Japan Langerhans Cell Histiocytosis Study Group-02 Protocol Study. Int J Hematol. 2016;104(1):99–109.
- Weitzman S, Wayne AS, Arceci R, Lipton JM, Whitlock JA. Nucleoside analogues in the therapy of Langerhans cell histiocytosis: a survey of members of the Histiocyte Society and review of the literature. Med Pediatr Oncol. 1999;33(5):476–81.
- Weitzman S, Braier J, Donadieu J, Egeler RM, Grois N, Ladisch S, et al. 2'-chlorodeoxyadenosine (2-CdA) as salvage therapy for Langerhans cell histiocytosis (LCH). Results of the LCH-S-98 protocol of the Histiocyte Society. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2009;53(7):1271–6.
- Dhall G, Finlay JL, Dunkel IJ, Ettinger LJ, Kellie SJ, Allen JC, et al. Analysis of outcome for patients with mass lesions of the central nervous system due to Langerhans cell histiocytosis treated with 2-chlorodeoxyadenosine. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2008;50(1):72–9.
- 11. Bernard F, Thomas C, Bertrand Y, Munzer M, Landman Parker J, Ouache M, et al. Multicentre pilot study of 2-chlorodeoxyadenosine and cytosine arabinoside combined chemotherapy in refractory Langerhans cell histiocytosis with haematological dysfunction. Eur J Cancer. 2005;41(17):2682–9.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

Doxorubicin, pegylated liposomal – addition – EML and EMLc

# Doxorubicin hydrochloride

ATC code: L01DB01

## Proposal

Addition of pegylated liposomal formulation of doxorubicin hydrochloride (PLD) to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for treatment of Kaposi sarcoma.

## Applicant

Médecins Sans Frontières Access Campaign

### WHO technical department

The technical team in cancer in the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases reviewed and provided comments on the application. The technical department commented that while some data supported the clinical value of PLD with reduced toxicity (including cardiotoxicity) compared with non-pegylated doxorubicin, mature overall survival data were insufficient to fully evaluate its candidacy for inclusion on the Model Lists, particularly given that alternative, established regimens were already included.

### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

### Section

8.2.1 Cytotoxic medicines

### Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Injection: 2 mg/mL in 10 mL or 25 mL vial (as pegylated liposomal)

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

Currently included medicines for Kaposi sarcoma on the Model Lists include bleomycin, doxorubicin, paclitaxel (EML only), vinblastine and vincristine. Doxorubicin is included only in its non-pegylated liposomal form.

During the comprehensive review of cancer medicines conducted in 2015, pegylated liposomal doxorubicin for Kaposi sarcoma was not proposed for

254

consideration by the Expert Committee. At that time, the superiority of PLD over the doxorubicin + bleomycin + vincristine (or vinblastine) regimen had not been demonstrated, and its substantially higher cost did not justify its potential benefits in resource-constrained settings (1). Since then, additional clinical evidence has been published and lower-cost sources for pegylated liposomal doxorubicin have become available.

### Public health relevance

Kaposi sarcoma is a soft tissue cancer arising from lymphatic endothelial cells and caused by human herpesvirus 8. Different types exist: AIDS-related Kaposi sarcoma, iatrogenic Kaposi sarcoma and classical Kaposi sarcoma.

More than 80% of Kaposi sarcoma occurs in low- and middle-income countries, with more than 60% occurring in the WHO African region. A disproportionately large proportion of deaths from Kaposi sarcoma (85%) occurs in Africa (2). In some areas with high HIV prevalence, Kaposi sarcoma is the most frequent type of cancer documented in registries (3).

The incidence of paediatric Kaposi sarcoma is highly concentrated in Africa (95% of all cases globally), where it is the sixth most common cancer in young people aged 0-19 years, with more than 2000 new cases in 2020 (2).

### Summary of evidence: benefits

The application presented evidence of the clinical benefit of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin in Kaposi sarcoma from seven randomized and two observational studies, identified through a comprehensive literature search.

A randomized, open-label, multicentre study compared PLD together with highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) versus HAART alone in 28 patients with HIV and moderate-advanced Kaposi sarcoma (4). At 48 weeks, 10/13 (77%) patients in the PLD+HAART group and 3/15 (20%) in the HAART alone group achieved complete or partial remission (risk ratio (RR) 3.80, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.34 to 11.00; low-certainty evidence). A cohort study found no significant difference in overall survival at 12 months in patients with T1 (poor risk) Kaposi sarcoma treated with liposomal anthracyclines plus HAART versus HAART alone (5–7), however the study was not designed to compare treatment arms, nor was it powered to detect survival differences.

A randomized, phase II study evaluated the efficacy and safety of liposomal doxorubicin alone or in combination with bleomycin plus vincristine in the treatment of AIDS-related Kaposi sarcoma (8). No significant differences were observed between treatment arms for overall response (RR 0.97, 95% CI 0.81 to 1.17; moderate-certainty evidence), complete response (RR 1.03, 95% CI 0.31 to 3.99; low-certainty evidence) or partial response (RR 0.96, 95% CI 0.77 to 1.21; moderate-certainty evidence).

Two randomized studies compared PLD with bleomycin and vincristine in patients with AIDS-related Kaposi sarcoma (9,10). The first study found moderateor high-certainty evidence of no significant difference in tumour response measures between treatment groups (9). The second study found that at the end of treatment, the PLD group had significantly higher rates of overall response (38.8% versus 14.2%; RR 2.74, 95% CI 1.67 to 4.49; high-certainty evidence) and other response measures compared to bleomycin with vincristine (10).

A randomized, phase III clinical trial evaluated PLD versus doxorubicin + bleomycin + vincristine in 258 adults with AIDS-related Kaposi sarcoma (*11*). A partial response to treatment was achieved by 60/133 (45.1%) of patients in the PLD group versus 31/125 (24.8%) in the doxorubicin + bleomycin + vincristine group (RR 1.82, 95% CI 1.27 to 2.60; high-certainty evidence). No significant difference was found in overall survival between treatment groups (RR for death 1.41, 95% CI 0.79 to 2.53; high-certainty evidence), with median survival duration of about 160 days in each group.

An observational study evaluated survival in 29 patients with pulmonary Kaposi sarcoma. Patients received liposomal doxorubicin, bleomycin and vinblastine or vincristine, or no chemotherapy (12). Mean survival time for patients who received liposomal doxorubicin was significantly higher (11.8 months versus 4.4 months).

A randomized trial compared the efficacy and toxicity of PLD and paclitaxel in 73 patients with AIDS-related Kaposi sarcoma, with 73% of participants receiving HAART (13). No significant differences between treatment groups were observed for overall survival, progression-free survival or tumour response.

A prospective, single-arm, observational study in Mozambique in 116 patients with AIDS-associated Kaposi sarcoma, found that PLD had an overall response rate of 80% (14). The authors noted that response with PLD was achieved faster than had been observed with doxorubicin + bleomycin + vincristine in the same treatment centres in an earlier study (eight or fewer cycles with PLD versus 12 cycles with doxorubicin + bleomycin + vincristine).

### Summary of evidence: harms

The randomized trial comparing PLD with the doxorubicin + bleomycin + vincristine regimen (11) reported that PLD had significantly lower rates of: grade 3 and 4 peripheral neuropathy (6% (8/133) versus 14% (17/125), P = 0.002)); nausea or vomiting (15% (20/133) versus 34% (42/125), P < 0.001)); and alopecia (1% (1/133) versus 19% (24/125), P < 0.001)). The rate of mucositis/stomatitis was significantly higher in patients receiving PLD (5% (6/133) versus 2% (2/125), P = 0.026). No significant differences were found between treatment groups in overall grade 3 and 4 adverse events, grade 3 and 4 anaemia or grade 3 and 4

leukopenia. When interpreting these findings, it is important to note that these patients did not receive HAART, and all patients died by 6 months of follow-up. Median CD4 count was 13.0 cells/microlitre in the doxorubicin + bleomycin + vincristine group and 12.5 cells/microlitre in the PLD group.

The randomized trial comparing PLD with bleomycin + vincristine (10) reported that PLD had a significantly lower rate of paraesthesia (3.3% versus 14.2%, P < 0.005) and constipation (1.7% versus 10.8%, P < 0.01), a higher rate of leukopenia (71.9% versus 50.8%, P < 0.001) and opportunistic infections (49.6% versus 30.0%, P < 0.002). No significant differences were found between treatment groups in the overall rate of adverse events of any severity. When interpreting these findings, it is important to note that these patients did not receive HAART, although 48.8% of patients in the PLD arm and 56.7% in the bleomycin + vincristine arm were taking one or more antiretroviral drug.

The randomized trial comparing PLD with paclitaxel (*13*) reported a higher incidence of grade 3 or higher toxicity in the paclitaxel arm, although the difference was not significant (84% versus 66%, P = 0.077). Similarly, grade 3 and 4 neutropenia occurred more frequently in the paclitaxel group (58% versus 41%, P = 0.184). The incidence of grade 1 and 2 alopecia was significantly higher in the paclitaxel arm (58% versus 11%, P < 0.001) as was the incidence of sensory neuropathy (26% versus 9%, P = 0.045). This trial (with 82 patients included in the toxicity comparison) was not powered to detect a clinically significant difference in neutropenia rates.

A 2020 meta-analysis of PLD versus paclitaxel as first-line treatment for ovarian cancer (any stage) found that paclitaxel was associated with significantly higher rates of neurotoxicity (RR 5.59, 95% CI 1.43 to 21.84) and allergy (RR 1.8, 95% CI 1.06 to 3.24), and higher rates of leukopenia (RR 1.55, 95% CI 0.99 to 2.44) (15). No significant differences were found in rates of neutropenia (RR 1.03, 95% CI 0.78 to 1.35), cardiotoxicity (RR 0.51, 95% CI 0.06 to 3.99), fatigue (RR 0.84, 95% CI 0.53 to 1.34) or nausea/vomiting (RR 0.66, 95% CI 0.32 to 1.37). Adverse events that were significantly more common with PLD included anaemia and thrombocytopenia (15). A 2021 meta-analysis of PLD versus paclitaxel in recurrent ovarian cancer found that, compared with paclitaxel plus carboplatin, PLD plus carboplatin had significantly lower rates of neutropenia, allergic reactions and arthralgia/myalgia. Anaemia and thrombocytopenia were significantly more common in the PLD arm than the paclitaxel arm (16).

The most commonly reported adverse events with PLD in the product information documents of the United States Food and Drug Administration and the European Medicines Agency were haematological (thrombocytopenia, anaemia and neutropenia). The most common non-haematological adverse event reported was nausea (17,18). The medicine carries a box warning in the United States for infusion reactions, myelosuppression, cardiotoxicity, liver impairment and substitution with non-liposomal doxorubicin (17).

#### **WHO** guidelines

The 2014 WHO guidelines on the treatment of skin and oral HIV-associated conditions in children and adults recommend immediate initiation of antiretroviral therapy in adults, adolescents and children living with HIV who are diagnosed with mild-to-moderate Kaposi sarcoma and immediate initiation of antiretroviral therapy in combination with systemic chemotherapy in adults, adolescents and children living with HIV who are diagnosed with severe symptomatic Kaposi sarcoma. Recommended chemotherapy regimens in adults, adolescents and children may include: doxorubicin + bleomycin + vincristine; bleomycin + vincristine; and, when available or feasible, liposomal anthracyclines (doxorubicin or daunorubicin), paclitaxel or oral etoposide at sites with the infrastructure, staff and resources to administer chemotherapy drugs and provide appropriate monitoring and supportive care (*19*).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The application identified six studies that evaluated the cost-effectiveness of PLD versus various comparators including: liposomal daunorubicin; bleomycin + vincristine; doxorubicin + bleomycin + vincristine; paclitaxel; and oral etoposide (20-25). In general, these studies suggest that PLD is a cost-effective treatment compared with liposomal daunorubicin but less cost-effective when compared with bleomycin + vincristine or doxorubicin + bleomycin + vincristine or paclitaxel.

The application also presented a comparison of the price per treatment cycle of PLD and paclitaxel in selected countries which showed substantial variation across settings. For example, prices per treatment cycle for PLD ranged from about US\$ 150 in India to US\$ 709 in Brazil. Prices per treatment cycle for paclitaxel were lower, ranging from US\$ 42 in Indonesia and Ukraine to US\$ 350 in Brazil and El Salvador.

#### Availability

PLD has regulatory approval globally for several indications, including Kaposi sarcoma. It is available in innovator and generic brands.

PLD is also available for pooled procurement from the Global Fund, as a strategic medicine used in HIV programmes.

#### Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group reviewed the application and advised that it supported the inclusion of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin on the Model Lists for the treatment of advanced-stage Kaposi sarcoma in adults and children based on a positive benefit-risk profile. The Working Group noted that PLD was associated with relevant survival benefits for patients and reduced harms

when compared with other chemotherapies (bleomycin, vinblastine, vincristine, vinorelbine and etoposide).

The Working Group reiterated the relevance of paclitaxel for Kaposi sarcoma, as it is associated with benefits similar to PLD in adults and it is likely to be more available than PLD in resource-constrained settings. However, paclitaxel is associated with higher toxicity compared with PLD, particularly neutropenia and sensory neuropathy. While generics of PLD are becoming more available, the Model List must reiterate the relevance of paclitaxel as first-line chemotherapy for adult patients with advanced AIDS-associated Kaposi sarcoma in sub-Saharan Africa.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged the public health relevance of effective treatments for Kaposi sarcoma, also noting that this disease disproportionately affects people in low- and middle-income countries.

The Committee considered that the evidence presented from several clinical trials suggests that PLD is superior in efficacy to the alternative chemotherapy regimens involving bleomycin, vincristine or vinblastine, with or without non-liposomal doxorubicin or daunorubicin. It is also non-inferior to paclitaxel. In addition, PLD may be associated with reduced harms compared with alternative chemotherapies.

The Committee considered the comments of the Cancer Medicines Working Group that reiterated the relevance of paclitaxel as first-line chemotherapy for Kaposi sarcoma, which is associated with similar clinical benefits as PLD in adults and may be more widely available and affordable. However, the Committee noted that paclitaxel is associated with higher toxicities than PLD, especially neutropenia and sensory neuropathy. Therefore, the Committee considered that the addition of PLD may offer an additional option with a more favourable sideeffect profile and dosing schedule. The Committee also noted that PLD may be preferable to paclitaxel for children with Kaposi sarcoma, as experience with paclitaxel in this population is still limited.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of PLD on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of Kaposi sarcoma.

### References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Ferlay J, Ervik M, Lam F, Colombet M, Mery L, Piñeros M, et al. Global cancer observatory: cancer today. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2020 (https://gco.iarc.fr/today, accessed 6 October 2023).

3. Carrilho C, Ferro J, Lorenzoni C, Sultane T, Silva-Matos C, Lunet N. A contribution for a more accurate estimation of the incidence of Kaposi sarcoma in Mozambique. Int J Cancer. 2013;132(4):988–9.

- 4. Martin-Carbonero L, Barrios A, Saballs P, Sirera G, Santos J, Palacios R, et al. Pegylated liposomal doxorubicin plus highly active antiretroviral therapy versus highly active antiretroviral therapy alone in HIV patients with Kaposi's sarcoma. AIDS. 2004;18(12):1737–40.
- 5. Bower M, Weir J, Francis N, Newsom-Davis T, Powles S, Crook T, et al. The effect of HAART in 254 consecutive patients with AIDS-related Kaposi's sarcoma. AIDS. 2009;23(13):1701–6.
- 6. Letang E, Lewis JJ, Bower M, Mosam A, Borok M, Campbell TB, et al. Immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome associated with Kaposi sarcoma: higher incidence and mortality in Africa than in the UK. AIDS. 2013;27(10):1603–13.
- 7. Bower M, Dalla Pria A, Coyle C, Andrews E, Tittle V, Dhoot S, et al. Prospective stage-stratified approach to AIDS-related Kaposi's sarcoma. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(5):409–14.
- Mitsuyasu R, von Roenn J, Krown R. Comparison study of liposomal doxorubicin (DOX) alone or with bleomycin and vincristine (DBV) for treatment of advanced AIDS-associated Kaposi's sarcoma (AIDS-KS): AIDS clinical trial group (ACTG) protocol 286. Proc Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol. 1997;16:A191.
- 9. Rizzardini G, Pastecchia P, Vigevani GM. Stealth liposomal doxorubicin or bleomycin/vincristine for the treatment of AIDS related Kaposi's sarcoma. JAIDS. 1997;14(4):A20.
- Stewart S, Jablonowski H, Goebel FD, Arasteh K, Spittle M, Rios A, et al. Randomized comparative trial of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin versus bleomycin and vincristine in the treatment of AIDS-related Kaposi's sarcoma. International Pegylated Liposomal Doxorubicin Study Group. J Clin Oncol. 1998;16(2):683–91.
- Northfelt DW, Dezube BJ, Thommes JA, Miller BJ, Fischl MA, Friedman-Kien A, et al. Pegylatedliposomal doxorubicin versus doxorubicin, bleomycin, and vincristine in the treatment of AIDS-related Kaposi's sarcoma: results of a randomized phase III clinical trial. J Clin Oncol. 1998;16(7):2445–51.
- 12. Grünaug M, Bogner JR, Loch O, Goebel FD. Liposomal doxorubicin in pulmonary Kaposi's sarcoma: improved survival as compared to patients without liposomal doxorubicin. Eur J Med Res. 1998;3(1–2):13–9.
- 13. Cianfrocca M, Lee S, Von Roenn J, Tulpule A, Dezube BJ, Aboulafia DM, et al. Randomized trial of paclitaxel versus pegylated liposomal doxorubicin for advanced human immunodeficiency virus-associated Kaposi sarcoma: evidence of symptom palliation from chemotherapy. Cancer. 2010;116(16):3969–77.
- 14. Coldiron ME, Gutierrez Zamudio AG, Manuel R, Luciano G, Rusch B, Ciglenecki I, et al. Outcomes of AIDS-associated Kaposi sarcoma in Mozambique after treatment with pegylated liposomal doxorubicin. Infect Agent Cancer. 2021;16(1):2.
- 15. Shi SQ, Jiang FF, Hong T, Zhuang Y, Chen L, Huang XL. Comparison of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin and paclitaxel plus carboplatin-based chemotherapy as first line treatment for patients with ovarian cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2020;24(6):2911–27.
- 16. Li X-R, Zhu Y, Zhang G-N, Huang J-M, Pei L-X. The impact of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin in recurrent ovarian cancer: an updated meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. J Ovarian Res. 2021;14(1):42.

260

- 17. Prescribing information. DOXIL (doxorubicin hydrochloride liposome injection) for intravenous infusion. Bethesda, MD: U.S. Food and Drug Administration; 2007 (https://www.accessdata.fda. gov/drugsatfda\_docs/label/2007/050718s029lbl.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Summary of product characteristics Caelyx (pegylated liposomal doxorubicin hydrochloride). Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency; 2023 (https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/ product-information/caelyx-pegylated-liposomal-epar-product-information\_en.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Guidelines on the treatment of skin and oral HIV-associated conditions in children and adults. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/136863, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Bennett CL, Golub RM, Stinson TJ, Aboulafia DM, von Roenn J, Bogner J, et al. Cost-effectiveness analysis comparing liposomal anthracyclines in the treatment of AIDS-related Kaposi's sarcoma. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol. 1998;18(5):460–5.
- 21. Hjortsberg C, Persson U, Lidbrink E, Bennett C. Cost-effectiveness analysis of pegylated-liposomal doxorubicin and liposomal daunorubicin treatments in patients with Kaposi's sarcoma. Acta Oncol. 1999;38(8):1063–7.
- 22. Bennett CL, Calhoun EA. Pharmacoeconomics of liposomal anthracycline therapy. Semin Oncol. 2004;31:191–5.
- 23. Vanni T, Fonseca BAL, Polanczyk CA. Cost-effectiveness analysis comparing chemotherapy regimens in the treatment of AIDS-related Kaposi's sarcoma in Brazil. HIV Clin Trials. 2006;7(4):194–202.
- Raimundo K, Biskupiak J, Goodman M, Silverstein S, Asche C. Cost effectiveness of liposomal doxorubicin vs. paclitaxel for the treatment of advanced AIDS–Kaposi's sarcoma. J Med Econ. 2013;16(5):606–13.
- 25. Freeman EE, McCann NC, Semeere A, Reddy KP, Laker-Oketta M, Byakwaga H, et al. Evaluation of four chemotherapy regimens for treatment of advanced AIDS-associated Kaposi sarcoma in Kenya: a cost-effectiveness analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2022;10(8):e1179–e88.

# 8.2.2 Targeted therapies

Cyclin-dependent kinase 4/6 inhibitors - addition - EML

| Abemaciclib | ATC code: L01EF03 |
|-------------|-------------------|
| Palbociclib | ATC code: L01EF01 |
| Ribociclib  | ATC code: L01EF02 |

### Proposal

Addition of cyclin-dependant kinase (CDK) 4/6 inhibitors (abemaciclib, palbociclib and ribociclib) to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of hormone receptor positive (HR+)/human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 negative (HER2–) advanced breast cancer.

### Applicant

European Society for Medical Oncology

## WHO technical department

The technical team in cancer in the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases reviewed and provided comments on the application. The technical department highlighted that there was clinical evidence showing CDK 4/6 inhibitors to be associated with overall survival gains compared with older treatment regimens, but long-term or real-world data were limited. The technical department expressed its preference to focus on the established first-line therapy (e.g. hormone therapies) that was more feasible in settings with weaker health systems.

# EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

8.2.2 Targeted therapies

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Abemaciclib – Tablet: 50 mg, 100 mg, 150 mg Palbociclib – Tablet: 75 mg, 100 mg, 125 mg Ribociclib – Tablet: 200 mg

# Core/complementary

Complementary

#### Individual/square box listing

Square box, with palbociclib as the representative medicine and abemaciclib and ribociclib as therapeutic alternatives.

#### Background

CDK 4/6 inhibitors were considered for inclusion on the EML in 2021. At the time, the Expert Committee noted that the results of the clinical trials in first- and second-line treatment settings suggested a potentially meaningful survival benefit. However, the medicines were not recommended for inclusion given that the survival data were immature, and there was uncertainty whether promising progression-free survival gains would translate to an increase in overall survival.

Other areas of uncertainty identified by the Committee included questions on the optimal dose and duration of treatment, use in early-stage disease, and whether meaningful clinical differences existed between individual medicines within the pharmacological class.

The Committee also noted that CDK 4/6 inhibitors are unlikely to be cost-effective in most settings due to their high prices which would pose serious affordability challenges for most countries (1).

#### Public health relevance

Breast cancer is the leading cause of morbidity, disability and mortality in women worldwide. In 2020, 2.3 million new cases of breast cancer were diagnosed, which accounted for 25% of all malignancies in women. Breast cancer is the most diagnosed malignancy in women worldwide, and the main cause of death in women in 110 countries. Almost 20% of cancer deaths in 2018 were from breast cancer (2), and 60% of incident breast cancer cases and two thirds of the related mortality occurred in low- and middle-income countries. The HR+/HER2– breast cancer subtype is the most common type of breast cancer, reported in more than two thirds of all cases (3).

In high-income countries, the incidence of breast cancer is high and mortality rates are low, while in low- and middle-income countries, the incidence is lower, but mortality rates are high. The overall 5-year survival rates for highincome countries are estimated to be more than 85%. In comparison, in low- and middle-income countries, 5-year survival rates range between 38% and 60% (4). Impaired timely access to cancer services is a barrier for the curative management of the early disease, with most of the patients presenting with locally advanced and/or non-resectable diseases or metastatic cancer (2).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

#### Meta-analysis of randomized trials

A systematic review and meta-analysis of six studies (3421 participants, treated with: fulvestrant plus ribociclib, palbociclib or abemaciclib; letrozole plus palbociclib or ribociclib or a non-steroidal aromatase inhibitor; or tamoxifen plus ribociclib) evaluated the efficacy of CDK 4/6 inhibitors for the treatment of metastatic breast cancer (5). For overall survival, the pooled analysis showed a significant reduction in the risk of dying in patients receiving CDK 4/6 inhibitors (hazard ratio (HR) 0.76, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.68 to 0.85).

#### Randomized trials

The application presented evidence from seven randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind, phase III clinical trials: MONARCH 2 and 3; PALOMA 2 and 3; and MONALEESA 2, 3, and 7. The schedules for the treatment within the clinical trials were the same as those approved for the clinical use by regulatory authorities. All the studies were designed for patients with HR+/HER2– advanced breast cancer. All the studies had safety and objective response rates as secondary endpoints. Overall survival was a protocol-specified secondary endpoint in all the trials.

#### First-line therapy

#### Abemaciclib

The MONARCH 3 trial evaluated abemaciclib in combination with aromatase inhibitors as initial therapy in 493 postmenopausal women with advanced breast cancer (6). Participants were randomized 2:1 to receive abemaciclib in combination with anastrozole or letrozole, or placebo in combination with anastrozole or letrozole, or placebo in combination with anastrozole or letrozole. The absolute progression-free survival gain for the abemaciclib arm was 13.4 months (HR 0.54, 95% CI 0.42 to 0.70). Interim analysis after median follow-up of 70 months showed a median overall survival gain for abemaciclib of 12.6 months (HR 0.75, 95% CI 0.58 to 0.97) (7). Based on this trial, abemaciclib received a score of 3 on the European Society for Medical Oncology magnitude of clinical benefit scale (8).

#### Palbociclib

The PALOMA 2 trial evaluated palbociclib in combination with letrozole as first-line therapy in 666 postmenopausal women with advanced breast cancer (9). Participants were randomized 2:1 to palbociclib plus letrozole or placebo plus letrozole. The absolute progression-free survival gain for the palbociclib arm was 10.3 months (HR 0.58, 95% CI 0.46 to 0.72). Interim analysis showed no difference between the intervention and comparator arms in median overall survival. Based on this trial, palbociclib received a score of 3 on the European Society for Medical Oncology magnitude of clinical benefit scale (8).

#### Ribociclib

The MONALEESA 2 trial evaluated ribociclib in combination with letrozole as first-line therapy in 668 postmenopausal women with advanced breast cancer (*10*). Participants were randomized 1:1 to receive either ribociclib plus letrozole or placebo plus letrozole. After median follow-up of 26.4 months, the absolute progression-free survival gain for the ribociclib arm was 9.3 months (HR 0.57, 95% CI 0.46 to 0.70). After a median follow-up of 6.6 years, ribociclib showed an absolute survival gain compared to placebo of 12.5 months (HR for death 0.76, 95% CI 0.63 to 0.93). Based on updated results from MONALEESA 2, ribociclib received a score of 4 on the European Society for Medical Oncology magnitude of clinical benefit scale (*8*).

The MONALEESA 7 trial evaluated ribociclib plus endocrine therapy (anastrozole, letrozole or tamoxifen, each combined with goserelin) as firstline therapy for advanced breast cancer in 672 premenopausal women (*11*). Participants were randomized 1:1 to either endocrine therapy with ribociclib or endocrine therapy with placebo. Median progression-free survival was 23.8 months versus 13.0 months in the ribociclib and placebo arms, respectively, with an absolute progression-free survival gain of 10.8 months (HR 0.55, 95% CI 0.44 to 0.69). An absolute gain in overall survival of 10.7 months (HR 0.76, 95% CI 0.61 to 0.96) was demonstrated for ribociclib. Based on this trial, ribociclib received a score of 5 on the on the European Society for Medical Oncology magnitude of clinical benefit scale (*8*).

#### Second-line therapy

### Abemaciclib

The MONARCH 2 trial evaluated abemaciclib in combination with fulvestrant as second-line therapy for advanced breast cancer in 669 women of any menopausal status (*12*). Participants were randomized 2:1 to receive abemaciclib or placebo each combined with fulvestrant. After median follow-up of 19.5 months, median progression-free survival was 16.4 months in the abemaciclib arm versus 9.3 months in the placebo arm, an absolute progression-free survival gain of 7.1 months (HR 0.55, 95% CI 0.45 to 0.68). After median follow-up of 47.7 months, median overall survival was 46.7 months in the abemaciclib arm versus 37.3 months in the placebo arm, an absolute overall survival gain of 9.4 months (HR 0.76, 95% CI 0.61 to 0.95) (*13*). Based on this trial, abemaciclib received a score of 4 on the European Society for Medical Oncology magnitude of clinical benefit scale (*8*).

### Palbociclib

The PALOMA 3 trial evaluated palbociclib in combination with fulvestrant as second-line therapy for advanced breast cancer in 521 women of any menopausal status (*14*). Participants were randomized 2:1 to either palbociclib or placebo,

each combined with fulvestrant. After median follow-up of 8.9 months, median progression-free survival was 9.5 months in the palbociclib arm versus 4.6 months in the placebo arm, an absolute progression-free survival gain of 4.9 months (HR 0.46, 95% CI 0.36 to 0.59). After a median follow-up of 44.8 months, median overall survival was 34.9 months in the palbociclib arm versus 28.0 months in the placebo arm, an absolute gain in overall survival of 6.9 months (HR 0.81, 95% CI 0.64 to 1.03). Based on this trial, palbociclib received a score of 4 on the European Society for Medical Oncology magnitude of clinical benefit scale (*8*).

#### Ribociclib

The MONALEESA 3 trial evaluated ribociclib plus fulvestrant as first- and second-line therapy for advanced breast cancer in 726 postmenopausal women (*15*). Participants were randomized 2:1 to either ribociclib or placebo, each combined with fulvestrant. Median progression-free survival was 20.5 months in the ribociclib arm versus 12.8 months in the placebo arm, an absolute progression-free survival gain of 7.7 months (HR 0.59, 95% CI 0.48 to 0.73). The estimated overall survival at 42 months was 57.8% in the ribociclib arm versus 45.9% in the placebo arm (HR 0.72, 95% CI 0.57 to 0.92). An absolute gain in overall survival of 12.2 months (HR 0.59, 95% CI 0.59 to 0.90) for ribociclib was calculated. Based on this trial, ribociclib received a score of 4 on the European Society for Medical Oncology magnitude of clinical benefit scale (*8*).

#### **Real-world studies**

A real-world study from five European countries (1017 participants) evaluating treatment patterns and clinical outcomes associated with palbociclib combination therapy showed progression-free survival rates at 12 and 24 months of 88.2% and 62.2% in the first-line setting and 81.1% and 55.2% in the second-line setting, respectively (16). Overall survival rates at 12 and 24 months were 97.7% and 93.2% in the first-line setting and 96.8% and 85.2% in the second-line setting, respectively. Dose reductions were observed with palbociclib in 11% and 17% of the patients from Europe in the first- and second-line settings, respectively, mostly related to the neutropenia.

The phase IIIb study CompLEEment1 (3246 participants; 38 countries) assessed the benefit of ribociclib and letrozole as first-line treatment in the subgroup of patients less likely to be included in the pivotal trials (17). Patients with a poorer performance status, namely the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) 2, largely under-represented in clinical trials, showed a comparative benefit to patients with better performance status (e.g. ECOG 0 or 1). In particular, the median time to disease progression was 19.5 months (95% CI 13.5 months to not reached) in the ECOG 2 patients. Safety results were consistent with those in the overall CompLEEment1 population. Neutropenia was the most common side-effect in the ECOG 2 patient subgroup, reported in

63.4% of patients. Treatment discontinuation due to adverse events was reported in 11.6% of patients in the ECOG 2 subgroup, mostly because of neutropenia.

The RENATA study presented a prospective analysis of real-world use of palbociclib with endocrine therapy in 128 patients with ER+/HER2– advanced breast cancer between October 2015 and August 2019 in Buenos Aires, Argentina (*18*). Overall progression-free survival was 36.7 months in the first-line setting and 24.2 months in the second-line setting. Treatment was interrupted in 2% of participants due to drug-related toxicity. Neutropenia was the main moderate-to-severe adverse event, of which 7% was febrile neutropenia (higher than in the pivotal trials). Overall, the data on survival were consistent with the pivotal PALOMA trials (*18*).

A study in the Republic of Korea analysed the outcomes of 169 patients with breast cancer receiving letrozole or fulvestrant plus palbociclib (*19*). The median progression-free survival rates with letrozole plus palbociclib and fulvestrant plus palbociclib were 25.6 months (95% CI 19.1 months to not reached) and 6.37 months (95% CI 5.33 months to not reached) in the first- and second-line, respectively. Neutropenia was observed in 88.3% of the patients, most commonly grade 3 and 4.

In Japan, a phase II single-arm, open-label clinical trial investigated the efficacy and safety of palbociclib plus letrozole as first-line treatment in 42 postmenopausal patients with advanced breast cancer (*20*). After median duration of treatment of 33 months, the probability of progression-free survival at 1 year was 75.6% (90% CI 62.4% to 84.7%), with a median progression-free survival of 35.7 months (95% CI 21.7 to 46.7 months). The safety profile in the Japanese population was consistent with the profile reported in non-Asian patients; neutropenia was the most common adverse effect, with grade 3 and 4 neutropenia occurring in 93% of patients; however, only one patient experienced febrile neutropenia.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The main adverse effect of the pharmacological class of CDK 4/6 inhibitors is haematological toxicity. Their use is associated with a predictable, reversible and generally non-infection-prone neutropenia – related to cell cycle effects on the haematopoiesis of the cell cycle blockade (*21*).

A systematic review and meta-analysis of the efficacy and safety of CDK 4/6 inhibitors from the phase III clinical trials reported an onset of grade 3 and 4 neutropenia in 65%, 58% and 26% of patients using palbociclib, ribociclib and abemaciclib, respectively (22). However, febrile neutropenia occurred in < 1% of the trial population with all of these compounds. In general, the onset of moderate-to-severe neutropenia leads to a delay, temporary interruption or dose reduction in administration of the CDK 4/6 inhibitor but is less likely to require other

interventions. For example, the use of the granulocyte-stimulating factors and/or antibiotic prophylaxis is not usually required, as febrile neutropenia occurs quite rarely (*23*). The only precaution recommended with the use of CDK 4/6 inhibitors is a complete blood count at the beginning of each cycle and after 2 weeks for the first two cycles to check the bone marrow reserve. Moreover, CDK 4/6 inhibitors are associated with molecule-specific safety profiles that inform the clinician's decision to use one compound over another, along with patient preference. The different safety profiles are currently the most important factor considered in the treatment decision for patients with HR+/HER2– advanced breast cancer in first- or second-line therapy, in the absence of direct comparisons. The main differences in the safety profiles of abemaciclib, palbociclib and ribociclib from the phase III trials are summarized in Table 17.

| Adverse event   | Percentage of patients |                       |                     |
|---|------------------------|-----------------------|---------------------|
|   | Abemaciclib            | Palbociclib           | Ribociclib          |
| Any grade 3 and 4   | 58                     | 74                    | 79                  |
| Neutropenia (grade<br>3 or 4)   | 26                     | 65                    | 58                  |
| Neutropenic fever   | < 1                    | < 1                   | < 1                 |
| Anaemia   | 30 (7 grade 3)         | 24 (5.5 grade 3 or 4) | 19                  |
| Increased aspartate<br>aminotransferase<br>or alanine<br>aminotransferase | All grades < 10        | All grades < 10       | 25 (9 grade 3 or 4) |
| Diarrhoea   | 87 (13 grade 3)        | 25                    | 35                  |
| Nausea  | 45 (3 grade 3)         | 35                    | 52                  |

# Table 17 Adverse events in patients treated with CDK 4/6 inhibitors

# **WHO** guidelines

WHO guidelines for the treatment of breast cancer are not available.

### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Most cost-effectiveness analyses have found CDK 4/6 inhibitors unlikely to be cost-effective at current prices and usual willingness-to-pay thresholds.

The average cost for 1 month of treatment with CDK 4/6 inhibitors in Europe was estimated in the application as between US\$ 2000 and US\$ 7000 for
palbociclib, US\$ 8900 for ribociclib and between US\$ 3500 and US\$ 12 000 for abemaciclib (*24*). In comparison, while the total costs per year for letrozole and palbociclib have been estimated at around US\$ 52 400, letrozole alone is US\$ 252.

Findings from cost-effectiveness studies of CDK 4/6 inhibitors were previously reported in 2021 (1). Incremental cost-effectiveness ratios range from US\$ 147 000 per quality-adjusted life year gained in Singapore (25) to US\$ 634 000 per quality-adjusted life year gained in the United States (26).

# Availability

Abemaciclib, palbociclib and ribociclib all have regulatory approval in multiple countries globally.

Abemaciclib has primary patent protection until 2029.

Palbociclib has primary patent protection until 2023 in both the United States (at the US Securities and Exchange Commission) and Europe (at the European Patent Office); however, in both regions the patents may be extended up to 5 years (in 2028) under the statutes that provide for patent term extensions.

Ribociclib has primary patent protection until 2027–2029.

Generic products are not currently available for any of the three medicines.

# Other considerations

While the pivotal clinical trials did not exclude patients of African ancestry, the definition of restrictive enrolment criteria (e.g. an absolute neutrophil count of 1500/mm<sup>3</sup> or more) in these trials may have affected the likelihood of eligibility and screening success of women of African ancestry, who have, on average, lower neutrophil counts than Caucasian women (*27*). This represents a structural barrier as a result of a less inclusive conceptualization and design of the studies. No study has been conducted specifically in women of African ancestry and this gap is a priority area for research. The PALINA study is a phase II clinical trial investigating palbociclib in combination with letrozole or fulvestrant in African-American women with HR+/HER2– advanced breast cancer (*28*).

# **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that breast cancer continues to be the leading cause of cancer death in women, and that more than half of women diagnosed with breast cancer have HR+/HER2– disease, making effective treatments for this disease a high priority.

The Committee noted that in several high-income settings, CDK 4/6 inhibitors were emerging as first-line treatment for HR+/HER2– metastatic breast cancer. However, in low- and middle- income countries CDK 4/6 inhibitors are generally not available and aromatase inhibitors, tamoxifen and cytotoxic agents are still the main treatment options, with a relevant overall survival gain (4+ years).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

The Committee noted that, overall, the updated results of clinical trials on CDK 4/6 inhibitors for first-line and second-line treatment suggested a meaningful survival benefit when added to endocrine therapy (aromatase inhibitors, tamoxifen or fulvestrant) compared with endocrine therapy alone. In addition to overall survival gains, secondary benefits have been reported in trials, such as delayed time to use of chemotherapy (by about a year) and delayed deterioration in quality of life. However, the Committee noted that the pivotal trials did not include patients with low baseline neutrophil count who may be at greater risk of haematological adverse events, or patients from certain ethnic or age groups, which may influence the generalizability of the findings to the wider population.

The Committee also considered that uncertainties still existed about the optimal, most active and best tolerated dose, noting that many patients had to reduce the dose in the pivotal trials. The Committee also considered that there were uncertainties about the duration of treatment, positioning as first or second line in the metastatic setting, and whether clinically significant differences existed between agents within the pharmacological class.

As was the case when these medicines were considered by the Expert Committee in 2021, the Committee noted the continuing high prices of these medicines, which pose serious affordability challenges, especially in low- and middle-income countries.

The Expert Committee therefore did not recommend the inclusion of abemaciclib, palbociclib, and ribociclib on the EML for the treatment of patients with HR+/HER2– advanced breast cancer. The Committee requested that data for these medicines continue to be evaluated as they evolve, including data on price. The Committee also reiterated the recommendation of the 2021 Expert Committee that this class of medicines be flagged to the Medicines Patent Pool as potential candidates for voluntary licensing agreements.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351172, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2021;71(3):209–49.
- 3. Cancer stat facts: female breast cancer subtypes. National Cancer Institute Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results Program [internet]. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2021 (https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/breast-subtypes.html, accessed 6 October 2021).

 Francies FZ, Hull R, Khanyile R, Dlamini Z. Breast cancer in low-middle income countries: abnormality in splicing and lack of targeted treatment options. Am J Cancer Res. 2020;10(5):1568–91.

- Schettini F, Giudici F, Giuliano M, Cristofanilli M, Arpino G, Del Mastro L, et al. Overall survival of CDK 4/6 inhibitor-based treatments in clinically relevant subgroups of metastatic breast cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2020;112(11):1089–97.
- 6. Goetz MP, Toi M, Campone M, Trédan O, Bourayou N, Sohn J, et al. MONARCH 3: abemaciclib as initial therapy for advanced breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(32):3638–46.
- Goetz MP, Toi M, Huober J, Sohn J, Tredan O, Park IH, et al. LBA15 MONARCH 3: interim overall survival (OS) results of abemaciclib plus a nonsteroidal aromatase inhibitor (NSAI) in patients (pts) with HR+, HER2– advanced breast cancer (ABC). Ann Oncol. 2022;33:S1384.
- ESMO-magnitude of clinical benefit scale. ESMO-MCBS scorecards [internet]. Lugarno: European Society for Medical Oncology; 2023 (https://www.esmo.org/guidelines/esmo-mcbs/esmo-mcbsfor-solid-tumours/esmo-mcbs-scorecards, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Finn RS, Rugo HS, Dieras VC, Harbeck N, Im S-A, Gelmon KA, et al. Overall survival (OS) with firstline palbociclib plus letrozole (PAL+LET) versus placebo plus letrozole (PBO+LET) in women with estrogen receptor–positive/human epidermal growth factor receptor 2–negative advanced breast cancer (ER+/HER2– ABC): analyses from PALOMA-2. J Clin Oncol. 2022;40(17 Suppl):LBA1003.
- 10. Hortobagyi GN, Stemmer SM, Burris HA, Yap Y-S, Sonke GS, Hart L, et al. Overall survival with ribociclib plus letrozole in advanced breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2022;386(10):942–50.
- Lu YS, Im SA, Colleoni M, Franke F, Bardia A, Cardoso F, et al. Updated overall survival of ribociclib plus endocrine therapy versus endocrine therapy alone in pre- and perimenopausal patients with HR+/HER2– advanced breast cancer in MONALEESA-7: a phase iii randomized clinical trial. Clin Cancer Res. 2022;28(5):851–9.
- 12. Sledge GW, Toi M, Neven P, Sohn J, Inoue K, Pivot X, et al. MONARCH 2: abemaciclib in combination with fulvestrant in women with HR+/HER2– advanced breast cancer who had progressed while receiving endocrine therapy. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(25):2875–84.
- 13. Sledge GW, Jr, Toi M, Neven P, Sohn J, Inoue K, Pivot X, et al. The effect of abemaciclib plus fulvestrant on overall survival in hormone receptor-positive, ERBB2-negative breast cancer that progressed on endocrine therapy-MONARCH 2: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Oncol. 2020;6(1):116–24.
- 14. Cristofanilli M, Rugo HS, Im SA, Slamon DJ, Harbeck N, Bondarenko I, et al. Overall survival with palbociclib and fulvestrant in women with HR+/HER2– ABC: updated exploratory analyses of PALOMA-3, a double-blind, phase III randomized study. Clin Cancer Res. 2022;28(16):3433–42.
- Slamon DJ, Neven P, Chia S, Fasching PA, De Laurentiis M, Im SA, et al. Phase III randomized study of ribociclib and fulvestrant in hormone receptor-positive, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-negative advanced breast cancer: MONALEESA-3. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(24):2465–72.
- 16. Taylor-Stokes G, Zhan L, Mycock KL, Milligan G, Hart K, Mitra D. 269P Real world treatment patterns and clinical outcomes associated with palbociclib combination therapy in five European countries: results from the IRIS study. Ann Oncol. 2020;31:S346.
- Cottu PH, Ring A, Marchetti P, Cardoso F, Salvador J, Neven P, et al. 333P ribociclib (RIB) + letrozole (LET) in subgroups of special clinical interest with hormone receptor-positive (HR+), human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-negative (HER2–) advanced breast cancer (ABC): subgroup analysis from the CompLEEment-1 trial. Ann Oncol. 2020;31:S379–S80.
- Petracci F, Abuin GG, Pini A, Chacón M. RENATA study-Latin American prospective experience: clinical outcome of patients treated with palbociclib in hormone receptor-positive metastatic breast cancer – real-world use. Ecancermedicalscience. 2020;14:1058.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 19. Lee J, Park HS, Won HS, Yang JH, Lee HY, Woo IS, et al. Real-world clinical data of palbociclib in Asian metastatic breast cancer patients: experiences from eight institutions. Cancer Res Treat. 2021;53(2):409–23.
- 20. Takahashi M, Masuda N, Nishimura R, Inoue K, Ohno S, Iwata H, et al. Palbociclib-letrozole as firstline treatment for advanced breast cancer: Updated results from a Japanese phase 2 study. Cancer Med. 2020;9(14):4929–40.
- 21. Hu W, Sung T, Jessen BA, Thibault S, Finkelstein MB, Khan NK, et al. Mechanistic Investigation of bone marrow suppression associated with palbociclib and its differentiation from cytotoxic chemotherapies. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(8):2000–8.
- 22. Farooq F, Cohen JA. Efficacy and toxicity of CDK 4/6 inhibitors in breast cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis of the phase III clinical trials. J Clin Oncol. 2019;37(15 Suppl):e14591.
- Diéras V, Rugo HS, Schnell P, Gelmon K, Cristofanilli M, Loi S, et al. Long-term pooled safety analysis of palbociclib in combination with endocrine therapy for HR+/HER2– advanced breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2019;111(4):419–30.
- 24. MEDICARE drug coverage [internet]. Baltimore, MD: U.S. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services; 2022 (https://www.medicare.gov/drug-coverage-part-d/costs-for-medicare-drug-coverage, accessed 5 November 2022).
- 25. Loke L, Lee SC, Pearce F, Ng K, Aziz MIA. Cost-effectiveness of ribociclib as initial treatment for premenopausal women with advanced breast cancer in Singapore. Cancer Rep (Hoboken). 2020;4(1):e1308.
- 26. Zhang Y, Zeng X, Deng H, Ma F, Peng Y, Yi L, et al. Cost-effectiveness analysis of adding palbociclib as a second-line endocrine therapy for HR(+)/HER2(–) metastatic breast cancer from the US and Chinese perspectives. Clin Ther. 2019;41(6):1175–85.
- 27. Merz LE, Story CM, Osei MA, Jolley K, Ren S, Park HS, et al. Absolute neutrophil count by Duffy status among healthy Black and African American adults. Blood Adv. 2023;7(3):31–20.
- Palbociclib/letrozole or fulvestrant in African American women With HR+ HER2– breast cancer (PALINA). Bethesda, MD: US National Library of Medicine; 2016 (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier NCT02692755).

272

Osimertinib – addition – EML

# Osimertinib

ATC code: L01EB04

# Proposal

Addition of osimertinib to the complementary list of the EML for first-line treatment of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutation-positive locally advanced or metastatic non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC).

# Applicant

European Society for Medical Oncology

# WHO technical department

The technical team in cancer in the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases reviewed and provided comments on the application. The technical department advised that it did not support the inclusion of osimertinib on the EML at this time. The technical department acknowledged that osimertinib was associated with clinical benefits when compared with the first-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors, gefitinib and erlotinib, for overall survival gain, and it had a more favourable toxicity profile. However, first-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors are already included on the EML and are more cost-effective than osimertinib and have a lower impact on health budgets.

# EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

8.2.2 Targeted therapies

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Tablet: 40 mg, 80 mg (as mesylate)

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

Osimertinib is a third-generation EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor. It was previously considered for inclusion on the EML by the Expert Committee in

2021 but was not recommended because of concerns about the clinical benefit and comparative cost-effectiveness. The Expert Committee noted that the application to list osimertinib was based on the results of a single randomized control trial (FLAURA) in which overall survival data were immature. Therefore, the efficacy of osimertinib compared with erlotinib and gefitinib was uncertain.

Furthermore, the Committee was concerned about the high price of osimertinib and several analyses had concluded that osimertinib was not costeffective at common willingness-to-pay thresholds. At the time, the Committee considered listing osimertinib as a therapeutic alternative to the EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors included on the EML. However, given the difference in prices between the medicines, the Committee decided against this option because of the considerable additional expenditure it would impose at the country level (1).

#### Public health relevance

Lung cancer is the most diagnosed and leading cause of death from cancer worldwide, with more than 2 million new cases and almost 1.8 million deaths in 2020 (2). Lung cancer is a highly lethal malignancy, with an economic burden estimated at around US\$ 8 billion in productivity loss in the BRICS countries – Brazil, Russia, India, China and South Africa (3).

More than 80% of lung cancers are classified as non-small cell (4), and about 70% are diagnosed at advanced or metastatic stages, with large regional variation (3, 5, 6). Targeted therapies have changed the therapeutic landscape for patients with NSCLC that is molecularly druggable (e.g. EGFR mutations, anaplastic lymphoma kinase rearrangements, ROS proto-oncogene 1 (*ROS1*) rearrangements and *BRAF* mutations) in metastatic disease. However, these therapies are ineffective in most patients with NSCLC who have tumours that lack such genetic alterations (7).

The overall prevalence of EGFR mutations has been reported as about 30%, although this varies by world region, risk factors and population phenotype. For instance, the Asian-Pacific region has the highest prevalence of EGFR mutations (47%), followed by South America (36%), North America (22%), Africa (21%), Europe (15%) and Oceania (12%) (8–10).

### Summary of evidence: benefits

The FLAURA trial was a phase III, double-blind, clinical trial (556 participants) that compared osimertinib with gefitinib and erlotinib for first-line treatment of EGFR-mutated locally advanced or metastatic NSCLC (*11, 12*). Participants were randomized in a 1:1 ratio to receive osimertinib 80 mg once daily, or standard treatment (gefitinib 250 mg once daily or erlotinib 150 mg once daily) until disease progression, unacceptable toxicity or withdrawal of consent.

At the time of the primary analysis for the primary endpoint of progressionfree survival, osimertinib was associated with a statistically significant improvement compared with standard treatment (median progression-free survival 18.9 months versus 10.2 months; hazard ratio (HR) for disease progression or death 0.46, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.37 to 0.57). Osimertinib also demonstrated a significant progression-free survival benefit for participants with central nervous system metastasis, a common site of progression of NSCLC and frequently responsible for deterioration in quality of life (median progression-free survival 15.2 months versus 9.6 months; HR for disease progression or death 0.47, 95% CI 0.30 to 0.74) (11).

A final analysis was performed for the secondary endpoint of overall survival with a median duration of follow-up for overall survival of 35.8 months in the osimertinib group and 27.0 months in the comparator group. Median overall survival favoured the osimertinib group over the standard treatment group (median overall survival 38.6 months versus 31.8 months; HR 0.80, 95% CI 0.64 to 1.00), that is, a 6.8-month survival gain in absolute terms. At 36 months, 54% of participants in the osimertinib group were alive compared with 44% in the comparator group (*12*).

Based on the FLAURA trial, osimertinib received a score of 4 on the magnitude of clinical benefit scale of the European Society for Medical Oncology (13).

A 2022 systematic review and meta-analysis of seven randomized controlled trials (3335 participants) evaluated the efficacy and safety of osimertinib in patients with EGFR-mutated NSCLC (*14*). Pooled efficacy comparisons showed that osimertinib was associated with higher overall response rate (relative risk (RR) 2.42, 95% CI 0.92 to 6.39; three studies), significantly longer progression-free survival (HR 0.28, 95% CI 0.18 to 0.44; four studies) and significantly longer overall survival (HR 0.78, 95% CI 0.68 to 0.97; four studies) versus the comparators (chemotherapy, other EGFR-tyrosine kinase inhibitors, docetaxel plus bevacizumab, and placebo).

Given the public health relevance of elderly populations in the treatment of NSCLC, a network meta-analysis of 12 randomized controlled trials (3779 participants) assessed the efficacy of different first-line treatments for EGFRmutated NSCLC in elderly and non-elderly patients (*15*). In patients older than 65 years, 12 studies reported progression-free survival and seven studies reported overall survival. For the comparison of osimertinib versus standard of care (firstgeneration tyrosine kinase inhibitors) plus chemotherapy, no significant differences were seen between treatment arms for progression-free survival (HR 0.87, 95% credible interval (CrI) 0.13 to 7.52; favouring osimertinib) or overall survival (HR 0.95, 95% CrI 0.34 to 2.54; favouring standard of care plus chemotherapy).

As central nervous system progression is a special concern due to its frequency and associated morbidity and mortality in metastatic NSCLC patients, a prespecified analysis was conducted in 128 patients from FLAURA trial. The results showed a 2.5 times higher central nervous system overall response rate (66% versus 43%), and a lower central nervous system progression rate of 20% versus 39% in favour of osimertinib compared with first-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors (*16*).

### Summary of evidence: harms

From evidence presented previously from the FLAURA trial (12), adverse events of grade 3 or higher were reported in 42% and 47% of participants in the osimertinib group and standard treatment group, respectively. The most reported adverse events (any grade) possibly related to osimertinib treatment (investigator assessed) were diarrhoea, rash or acne, paronychia, dry skin, and stomatitis. Serious adverse events were reported in 27% of the participants in each treatment arm. Decreased ejection fraction was reported in a greater proportion of participants in the osimertinib group than the standard treatment group (5% versus 2%). Similarly, QT prolongation was also reported in a greater proportion of participants in the osimertinib group than the standard treatment group (10% versus 4%). Compared with the primary analysis, there were no new reports of interstitial lung disease or pneumonitis, which were both reported in 2% and 1% of participants in the osimertinib and standard treatment groups, respectively.

An analysis of patient-reported outcomes of FLAURA trial patients showed similar outcomes for both arms for the safety, toxicity and quality-of-life domains analysed (17). According to FLAURA data, grade 3 or higher adverse event rates were 34% in the osimertinib group and 45% in the comparator group, indicating a better toxicity profile for osimertinib.

### **WHO** guidelines

WHO guidelines for treatment of NSCLC are not available.

### Costs/cost-effectiveness

No new cost–effectiveness data were presented in the application beyond those considered in 2021 (*18*, *19*). Osimertinib is generally considered not to be cost-effective in most health care systems at current prices and common willingness-to-pay thresholds.

In a 2019 study that compared the cost–effectiveness of treatment strategies for NSCLC, costs per day for osimertinib in China and the United States were US\$ 259 (US\$ 129–259) and US\$ 568 (US\$ 284–568), respectively (*20*).

# Availability

Osimertinib (manufactured by Astra Zeneca) has primary patent and secondary patent protection until 2032 and 2035, respectively. A generic version is available in Bangladesh.

### Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group reviewed the application and advised that it did not support the inclusion of osimertinib on the EML for first-line treatment of EGFR-mutated locally advanced or metastatic NSCLC. The Working Group noted that the evidence indicated that osimertinib had meaningful overall survival benefit compared with the earlier generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors currently listed on the EML (erlotinib, gefitinib and afatinib) when used as monotherapy. However, the Working Group noted evidence from a randomized, phase III trial comparing gefitinib monotherapy versus gefitinib in combination with chemotherapy (21) in which the addition of chemotherapy to gefitinib significantly prolonged overall survival: not reached versus 17 months (95% CI 13.5 to 20.5 months); HR for death 0.45 (95% CI 0.31 to 0.65). Other trials have shown similar results. The Working Group therefore considered that the benefit of first-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors in combination with chemotherapies might provide similar benefits to those associated with the use of osimertinib, albeit at a higher risk of toxicity. At the current high price, osimertinib has not been found to be cost-effective and would pose serious affordability challenges, especially in resource-constrained settings.

The Working Group also noted the availability of aumolertinib, which received regulatory approval from the Chinese National Medical Products Administration for the treatment of NSCLC patients with EGFR T790M mutations who had progressed on or after other EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor therapy. The approval was based on findings from the open-label phase II APOLLO study (22). Additional support for the efficacy of aumolertinib comes from the phase III AENEAS trial, in which progression-free survival was significantly longer with aumolertinib than gefitinib (HR 0.46, 95% CI 0.36 to 0.60) (23).

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee once again recognized the public health importance of effective and safe treatments for lung cancer, a disease that has a high global burden. The Committee recalled that osimertinib was not recommended for inclusion on the EML in 2021, despite promising data from the FLAURA trial showing osimertinib to be associated with extended overall survival compared with earlier generation EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors already included on the EML. The 2021 Committee considered the data at the time were still immature and had serious concerns about the high price of osimertinib and lack of cost–effectiveness compared with older generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors listed on the EML for NSCLC, which are more affordable because of the availability of generic products.

The Committee noted that the current data, after a median of 35.8- and 27.0-month follow-up in the osimertinib and comparator arms, respectively,

showed a median overall survival gain of 6.8 months for osimertinib, which met the established threshold for EML consideration. However, the Committee noted again the high price of osimertinib compared with older generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors in most countries, but particularly in low- and middle-income countries. Consequently, the Committee was concerned that recommending the inclusion of osimertinib on the EML could worsen health inequity by diverting limited resources away from less expensive medicines already listed on the EML for this indication.

Furthermore, the Committee noted the input from the EML Cancer Medicines Working Group on a phase III trial comparing gefitinib in combination with chemotherapy to gefitinib monotherapy. The trial found that the addition of chemotherapy to the first-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitor significantly improved overall survival, to a magnitude similar to that associated with the use of osimertinib, albeit with a higher risk of toxicity. The Committee considered that this approach to treatment, using medicines already included on the EML, may be a more feasible, affordable and equitable option at this time, particularly in resource-constrained settings.

The Expert Committee therefore did not recommend addition of osimertinib to the complementary list of the EML for the first-line treatment of EGFR-mutated locally advanced or metastatic NSCLC. The Committee recommended that data for osimertinib continue to be evaluated as they evolve and encouraged efforts to facilitate affordable access to osimertinib in low- and middle-income settings, for example, by negotiating public health licensing agreements through the Medicines Patent Pool.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351172, accessed 6 October 2023).
- The Global Cancer Observatory. Lung cancer fact sheet. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2020 (https://gco.iarc.fr/today/data/factsheets/cancers/15-Lung-fact-sheet.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 3. Pearce A, Sharp L, Hanly P, Barchuk A, Bray F, de Camargo Cancela M, et al. Productivity losses due to premature mortality from cancer in Brazil, Russia, India, China, and South Africa (BRICS): a population-based comparison. Cancer Epidemiol. 2018;53:27–34.
- 4. Molina JR, Yang P, Cassivi SD, Schild SE, Adjei AA. Non-small cell lung cancer: epidemiology, risk factors, treatment, and survivorship. Mayo Clin Proc. 2008;83(5):584–94.
- 5. Walters S, Maringe C, Coleman MP, Peake MD, Butler J, Young N, et al. Lung cancer survival and stage at diagnosis in Australia, Canada, Denmark, Norway, Sweden and the UK: a population-based study, 2004–2007. Thorax. 2013;68(6):551–64.

- 6. Gaafar R. SC17.05 lung cancer in Africa: challenges and perspectives. J Thorac Oncol. 2017;12(1 Suppl):S115–S6.
- Haslam A, Prasad V. Estimation of the percentage of US patients with cancer who are eligible for and respond to checkpoint inhibitor immunotherapy drugs. JAMA Netw Open. 2019;2(5):e192535.
- Werutsky G, Debiasi M, Sampaio FH, Nunes Filho PR, Mathias C, Zukin M, et al. P1.08: updated analysis of global epidemiology of EGFR mutation in advanced non-small cell lung cancer: track: prevention, early detection, epidemiology and tobacco control. J Thorac Oncol. 2016;11(10 Suppl):S184–S5.
- Zhang YL, Yuan JQ, Wang KF, Fu XH, Han XR, Threapleton D, et al. The prevalence of EGFR mutation in patients with non-small cell lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Oncotarget. 2016;7(48):78985–93.
- Midha A, Dearden S, McCormack R. EGFR mutation incidence in non-small-cell lung cancer of adenocarcinoma histology: a systematic review and global map by ethnicity (mutmapii). Am J Cancer Res. 2015;5(9):2892–911.
- Soria JC, Ohe Y, Vansteenkiste J, Reungwetwattana T, Chewaskulyong B, Lee KH, et al. Osimertinib in untreated EGFR-mutated advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(2):113–25.
- 12. Ramalingam SS, Vansteenkiste J, Planchard D, Cho BC, Gray JE, Ohe Y, et al. Overall survival with osimertinib in untreated, EGFR-mutated advanced NSCLC. N Engl J Med. 2020;382(1):41–50.
- 13. ESMO-magnitude of clinical benefit scale. ESMO-MCBS scorecards [internet]. Lugarno: European Society for Medical Oncology; 2023 (https://www.esmo.org/guidelines/esmo-mcbs/esmo-mcbs-for-solid-tumours/esmo-mcbs-scorecards, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Li L, Huang Q, Sun J, Yan F, Wei W, Li Z, et al. Efficacy and safety of osimertinib for patients with EGFR-mutated NSCLC: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled studies. Acta Oncol. 2022;61(11):1347–53.
- 15. Xu Z, Liu C, Zhu Y, Zou Z, Xie T, Xing P, et al. Efficacy of first-line treatments in the elderly and nonelderly patients with advanced epidermal growth factor receptor mutated, non-small cell lung cancer: a network meta-analysis. BMC Cancer. 2022;22(1):514.
- Reungwetwattana T, Nakagawa K, Cho BC, Cobo M, Cho EK, Bertolini A, et al. CNS response to osimertinib versus standard epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors in patients with untreated EGFR-mutated advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2018:Jco2018783118.
- 17. Leighl NB, Karaseva N, Nakagawa K, Cho BC, Gray JE, Hovey T, et al. Patient-reported outcomes from FLAURA: osimertinib versus erlotinib or gefitinib in patients with EGFR-mutated advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2020;125:49–57.
- Aguiar PN, Jr, Haaland B, Park W, San Tan P, Del Giglio A, de Lima Lopes G, Jr. Cost-effectiveness of osimertinib in the first-line treatment of patients with EGFR-mutated advanced non-small cell lung cancer. JAMA Oncol. 2018;4(8):1080–4.
- Osimertinib for untreated EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2020 [Technology appraisal guidance [TA654]] (https:// www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta654, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Wu B, Gu X, Zhang Q, Xie F. Cost-effectiveness of osimertinib in treating newly diagnosed, advanced EGFR-mutation-positive non-small cell lung cancer. Oncologist. 2019;24(3):349–57.
- 21. Noronha V, Patil VM, Joshi A, Menon N, Chougule A, Mahajan A, et al. Gefitinib versus gefitinib plus pemetrexed and carboplatin chemotherapy in EGFR-mutated lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2020;38(2):124–36.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 22. Yang JC, Camidge DR, Yang CT, Zhou J, Guo R, Chiu CH, et al. Safety, efficacy, and pharmacokinetics of almonertinib (HS-10296) in pretreated patients with EGFR-mutated advanced NSCLC: a multicenter, open-label, phase 1 trial. J Thorac Oncol. 2020;15(12):1907–18.
- 23. Lu S, Dong X, Jian H, Chen J, Chen G, Sun Y, et al. AENEAS: a randomized phase III trial of aumolertinib versus gefitinib as first-line therapy for locally advanced or metastaticnon-small-cell lung cancer with EGFR exon 19 deletion or I858r mutations. J Clin Oncol. 2022;40(27):3162–71.

280

Rituximab – new indication – EML and EMLc

# Rituximab

ATC code: L01FA01

# Proposal

Extension of the indications for the listing of rituximab on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc to include treatment of Burkitt lymphoma.

# Applicant

European Society of Paediatric Oncology

# WHO technical department

The technical team in cancer in the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases reviewed and provided comments on the application. The technical department commented that there was strong merit to extend the listed indications for rituximab to include the treatment of Burkitt lymphoma based on its clinical effect in decreasing early death and improving survival for advanced disease. It also highlighted that feasibility must also be considered in terms of diagnostic capacity, management of side-effects and affordability. The Global Platform for Access to Childhood Cancer Medicines, established by WHO and St Jude Children's Research Hospital in Memphis, Tennessee, will play an important role in increasing access to rituximab in low- and middle-income settings. In this context, the technical unit advised that it generally favoured the inclusion of rituximab on the Model Lists for treatment of Burkitt lymphoma.

# EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

# Section

8.2.2 Targeted therapies

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Injection (intravenous): 100 mg/10 mL in 10 mL vial, 500 mg/50 mL in 50 mL vial

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

#### Background

Rituximab has not previously been evaluated for inclusion on the Model Lists for the treatment of Burkitt lymphoma. It is listed on the EML and/or EMLc for follicular lymphoma, chronic lymphocytic leukaemia and diffuse large B-cell lymphomas. There are a variety of chemotherapies listed on the EML and EMLc for use in the treatment of Burkitt lymphoma.

#### Public health relevance

Non-Hodgkin lymphomas are the fourth most common group of malignancies in children and adolescents. In 2019, the global incidence of non-Hodgkin lymphoma in people younger than 20 years was 0.98 (range 0.82 to 1.18) per 100 000 (*1*). Among non-Hodgkin lymphomas, the three main subtypes are mature aggressive B-cell lymphoma (58%), lymphoblastic lymphoma (21%), and anaplastic large cell lymphoma (13%) (2,3). Burkitt lymphoma (and leukaemia) is the most common subtype of mature aggressive B-cell lymphoma and accounts for 80% of cases (4).

It is estimated that 90% of children diagnosed with non-Hodgkin lymphoma live in low- and middle-income countries (5). Burkitt lymphoma is endemic in the area known as the Burkitt belt in sub-Saharan Africa, where it represents more than 50% of childhood cancers.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

A randomized, open-label, international, phase III trial evaluated rituximab in 328 patients younger than 18 years with high-risk, mature B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma, 85.7% of whom had Burkitt lymphoma (6). After median follow-up of 39.9 months, event-free survival at 3 years was 93.9% the rituximab-chemotherapy group and 82.3% in the chemotherapy group (hazard ratio (HR) for primary refractory disease or first occurrence of progression, relapse after response, death from any cause, or second cancer: 0.32, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.15 to 0.66). Overall survival at 3 years was 95.1% and 87.3% in the rituximab + chemotherapy and chemotherapy groups, respectively (HR for death 0.36, 95% CI 0.16 to 0.82).

A phase II window of opportunity study evaluated the activity of rituximab in 136 patients younger than 19 years with newly diagnosed paediatric mature B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma (7). The study design allowed evaluation of the activity of a single dose of rituximab (375 mg/m<sup>2</sup>) as monotherapy in a 5-day upfront window before starting chemotherapy. Response criterion was defined as the product of the two largest perpendicular diameters of one to three lesions and/or the percentage of blasts in bone marrow or peripheral blood within 24 hours before rituximab and on day 5. In view of a possible subsequent phase III trial testing whether rituximab can be a substitute for chemotherapy drugs, a high response rate for favourable activity was set at 65%. A total of 87 participants could be evaluated, giving a response rate of 41% (95% CI 31% to 52%), including 27 (of 67) participants with Burkitt lymphoma. The study found that single-agent rituximab was active in newly diagnosed paediatric mature B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma, despite the response rate being lower than set in the trial plan. The authors considered that the short window of 5 days may not have allowed the full effect of rituximab to be measured, and their findings might be an underestimate of the true response rate.

The Children's Oncology Group ANHL01P1 trial evaluated the efficacy and safety of rituximab in combination with standard chemotherapy in 45 children and young adults (younger than 30 years) with intermediate-risk mature B-cell lymphoma, of whom 56% had Burkitt lymphoma (8). The 3-year event-free survival for all 45 eligible patients was 93% (95% CI 79% to 98%). For 38 patients who received six doses of rituximab, the 3-year event-free survival was 95% (95% CI 80% to 99%) and 3-year overall survival was 95% (95% CI 83% to 99%).

# Summary of evidence: harms

In the randomized, open-label, phase III trial of rituximab plus standard chemotherapy versus standard chemotherapy alone, acute adverse events of grade 4 or higher were reported in 33% and 24% of participants in the rituximab + chemotherapy and chemotherapy groups, respectively. Grade 4 or higher febrile neutropenia was reported in 11.7% and 6.5% of participants in the rituximab + chemotherapy and chemotherapy groups, respectively. The incidence of grade 4 or higher infection was 18.5% and 11.1%, respectively. Low immunoglobulin G levels were significantly higher in the patients treated with rituximab both at the end of therapy (70.3% versus 46.8%, P = 0.002) and 1 year after inclusion (55.9% versus 25.4%, P < 0.001) (6).

# WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for Burkitt Lymphoma (and/or leukaemia) are not available.

# Costs/cost-effectiveness

No information on comparative cost-effectiveness of rituximab in Burkitt lymphoma was provided in the application.

The application reported the price of rituximab in the Netherlands as €213.74 for the 10 mL vial and €1068.74 for the 50 mL vial. Prices in other countries were not reported.

# Availability

Rituximab intravenous injection is already included on the Model Lists and has regulatory approval and market availability in more than 60 countries globally. Innovator and biosimilar brands of rituximab were prequalified by WHO in 2020.

### Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group reviewed the application and advised that it supported the inclusion of rituximab on the EML and EMLc for use in the treatment of Burkitt lymphoma. The Working Group acknowledged the limited availability of clinical evidence but agreed that efficacy and safety could be accepted based on the limited evidence, together with extrapolation of well known benefits and harms from the use of this medicine in adults, and for other indications in children, as part of standard cancer care. The Working Group acknowledged that expanding the indications for rituximab would support the goals of the WHO Global Paediatric Cancer Initiative and contribute to achieving the best possible cancer care for children.

### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that Burkitt lymphoma is the most frequent type of non-Hodgkin lymphoma in children, the majority of children diagnosed lived in low- and middle-income countries and there was a need for safe, effective and affordable treatments.

Despite limitations in the evidence presented in the application, the Committee noted that rituximab, added to standard chemotherapy, was associated with prolonged event-free and overall survival in children and adolescents with high-grade, high-risk mature B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma, including Burkitt lymphoma. The Committee considered that the safety profile of rituximab was well established. The most common adverse events were febrile neutropenia, infections, hypogammaglobulinaemia and anaphylactic reactions, and these required careful monitoring and management.

The Committee noted that rituximab was available globally as originator and biosimilar brands, both of which were prequalified by WHO to facilitate greater access and affordability of quality-assured products.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended that the listing for rituximab on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc be extended to include the new indication of Burkitt lymphoma.

# References

- 1. Global Burden of Disease database [internet]. Seattle WA: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation; 2019 (https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-results/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Worch J, Rohde M, Burkhardt B. Mature B-cell lymphoma and leukemia in children and adolescents-review of standard chemotherapy regimen and perspectives. Pediatr Hematol Oncol. 2013;30(6):465–83.
- 3. Reiter A. Non-Hodgkin lymphoma in children and adolescents. Klin Padiatr. 2013;225(Suppl 1):S87–93.

- 4. Falini B, Martino G, Lazzi S. A comparison of the International Consensus and 5th World Health Organization classifications of mature B-cell lymphomas. Leukemia. 2023;37(1):18–34.
- 5. Gross TG, Biondi A. Paediatric non-Hodgkin lymphoma in low and middle income countries. Br J Haematol. 2016;173(4):651–4.
- Minard-Colin V, Aupérin A, Pillon M, Burke GAA, Barkauskas DA, Wheatley K, et al. Rituximab for high-risk, mature B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in children. N Engl J Med. 2020;382(23):2207–19.
- Meinhardt A, Burkhardt B, Zimmermann M, Borkhardt A, Kontny U, Klingebiel T, et al. Phase II window study on rituximab in newly diagnosed pediatric mature B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and Burkitt leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(19):3115–21.
- Goldman S, Smith L, Anderson JR, Perkins S, Harrison L, Geyer MB, et al. Rituximab and FAB/LMB 96 chemotherapy in children with stage III/IV B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma: a Children's Oncology Group report. Leukemia. 2013;27(5):1174–7.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

Zanubrutinib – addition – EML

# Zanubrutinib

# ATC code: L01EL03

# Proposal

Addition of zanubrutinib to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of adults with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (CLL)/small lymphocytic lymphoma (SLL).

# Applicant

Constantine S. Tam, Lymphoma Service, Alfred Hospital, and Monash University, Melbourne, Australia

# WHO technical department

The technical team in cancer in the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases reviewed and provided comments on the application. The technical department commented that there was insufficient mature overall survival data currently available to justify inclusion of zanubrutinib on the Model List. In addition, the technical department noted the need for additional data about toxicity and feasibility of use in settings with weaker health systems without specialized clinical services.

# EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

8.2.2 Targeted therapies

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Capsule: 80 mg

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

An application for inclusion of the Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitor zanubrutinib on the EML for the treatment of relapsed or refractory CLL/SLL was considered by the Expert Committee in 2021 (1). The Expert Committee noted that

286

targeted therapy with Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitors was emerging as the cornerstone of treatment for CLL/SLL in high-income countries, replacing chemoimmunotherapy as the accepted standard of care because these inhibitors were more effective, had less acute toxicity and had minimal risk of the development of secondary leukaemias.

The 2021 Committee considered that the application for inclusion of zanubrutinib on the EML for the proposed indication was premature. The available data on efficacy and safety were limited to one phase II single-arm trial, with a small number of participants. Comparative evidence of efficacy and safety versus other treatments, for example ibrutinib, was also lacking. The available data were therefore considered insufficient to evaluate the clinical benefit and safety of zanubrutinib at that time.

The 2021 Committee also noted that zanubrutinib was expensive, had unknown cost-effectiveness and had very limited global regulatory approval and availability. Therefore, the Committee did not recommend its inclusion on the EML. However, recognizing the emerging importance of Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitors as a therapeutic class in the treatment of CLL for both firstand second-line treatment, the Committee advised that it would welcome an application including zanubrutinib and other Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitors for inclusion on the EML in the future when mature data are available.

At the same meeting, the Expert Committee recommended the addition of ibrutinib, another Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitor, to the complementary list of the EML for treatment of relapsed/refractory CLL. The Committee considered that the data in this case were compelling for an important sustained benefit and improved tolerability for all patients with CLL (i.e. with or without 17p deletion). The Committee acknowledged the potential of ibrutinib as a first-line treatment, particularly in the subgroup of patients with 17p deletion, but considered that the available evidence, while promising, was currently immature, unlike the evidence for relapsed/refractory disease. The Committee therefore did not recommend listing ibrutinib for first-line treatment (1).

The EML currently also includes bendamustine and rituximab as chemoimmunotherapy for CLL.

# Public health relevance

CLL/SLL is the main non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) subtype occurring mainly in middle-aged and elderly people. CLL and SLL are indolent B-cell malignancies that are often considered to be different clinical presentations of one disease, the major difference being whether a patient presents with adenopathy alone (SLL) or with an elevated lymphocyte count (CLL).

In many high-income countries, CLL is the most common leukaemia in adults and accounts for 5–11% of non-Hodgkin lymphoma with an annual

incidence of 4.2 per 100 000 people (2). The annual incidence increases to more than 30 per 100 000 people in those aged 80 years and older. The median age at diagnosis is 72 years (3). CLL is much less prevalent in Asian countries, where it accounts for 1–3% of non-Hodgkin lymphoma and has an age-adjusted incidence of 0.2–0.3 per 100 000 people (4). During 2010–2016, the 5-year relative survival of CLL/SLL patients in the United States was 85.7% with lower survival in older age groups. The 5-year relative survival of CLL/SLL patients aged 0–19 years, 20–64 years and 65 years and older was 93.0%, 92.4% and 81.1%, respectively (5).

Although mostly considered an indolent disease, clinical presentations vary widely, and CLL/SLL is still a life-limiting and incurable illness. All patients who require therapy will relapse at some point. The prognosis of patients with CLL/SLL is highly heterogeneous with median overall survival of about 10 years. Some patients can survive for many years while about 20% have a very aggressive presentation and a median overall survival of 1.5–3.0 years (6). The presence of a deletion of the short arm of chromosome 17p is associated with more rapid disease progression and poor response to treatment.

# Summary of evidence: benefits

The SEQUOIA trial was a randomized, phase III trial comparing zanubrutinib and bendamustine-rituximab in 590 patients with previously untreated CLL/ SLL (7). Patients without 17p deletion (del(17p13.1)) were randomly assigned to receive zanubrutinib (group A) or bendamustine-rituximab (group B). Patients with 17p deletion (del(17p13.1)) were enrolled in group C and received zanubrutinib. The primary endpoint was progression-free survival assessed by an independent review committee in the intention-to-treat population in groups A and B. At median follow-up of 26.2 months, median progression-free survival had not been reached in either group. The estimated rate of progression-free survival at 24 months was 85.5% (95% confidence interval (CI) 80.1% to 89.6%) in group A, compared with 69.5% (95% CI 62.4% to 75.5%) in group B (hazard ratio (HR) 0.42, 95% CI 0.28 to 0.63). The progression-free survival benefit was consistently observed across key patient subgroups. Estimated overall survival at 24 months was similar between the two arms: 94.3% (95% CI 90.4% to 96.7%) in group A and 94.6% (95% CI 90.6% to 96.9%) in group B. Median overall survival had not yet been reached in either group. In group C, with a median followup of 30.5 months, median progression-free survival was not reached, estimated 24-month progression-free survival was 88.9% (95% CI 81.3% to 93.6%) and estimated 24-month overall survival was 93.6% (95% CI 87.1% to 96.9%).

An interim analysis of health-related quality of life outcomes was assessed using patient reported outcomes using the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) QLQ-C30 and EQ-5D-5L VAS (8). Patients who were treated with zanubrutinib showed greater improvements in healthrelated quality of life at weeks 12 and 24 compared with patients treated with bendamustine–rituximab. At 24 weeks, these differences were significantly higher for zanubrutinib in global health status, physical functioning, role functioning, and reduction in diarrhoea, fatigue and nausea/vomiting.

The ALPINE study was a randomized, phase III trial comparing the efficacy and safety of zanubrutinib versus ibrutinib in patients with relapsed/ refractory CLL/SLL (9). Patients were randomized 1:1 to zanubrutinib 160 mg orally twice daily or ibrutinib 420 mg orally once daily. After a median follow up of 29.6 months, zanubrutinib was superior to ibrutinib for progression-free survival among 652 patients (HR for disease progression or death, 0.65, 95% CI 0.49 to 0.86), as assessed by the investigators; the results were similar to those as assessed by an independent review committee. At 24 months, the investigator-assessed rates of progression-free survival were 78.4% in the zanubrutinib group and 65.9% in the ibrutinib group. Median progression-free survival was not reached in the zanubrutinib group and was 34.2 months (95% CI 33.3 months to not estimable) in the ibrutinib group. Among patients with a 17p deletion, a TP53 mutation or both, those who received zanubrutinib had longer progression-free survival than those who received ibrutinib (HR for disease progression or death 0.53, 95% CI 0.31 to 0.88). Progression-free survival across other major subgroups consistently favoured zanubrutinib. In the intention-to-treat population, zanubrutinib had a higher overall response rate (assessed by an independent review committee) than ibrutinib (86.2% versus 75.7%), with a rate of partial response with lymphocytosis or better of 91.7% versus 83.1%.

An interim analysis of health-related quality of life outcomes was done for patient-reported outcomes using EORTC QLQ-C30 and EQ-5D-5L VAS. Compared with baseline, the positive improvements in health-related quality of life, as assessed by disease-related symptoms and treatment-related effects and functioning, were greater in cycle seven (6 months after the start of therapy), which suggests that treatment with zanubrutinib could potentially alleviate disease burden earlier than ibrutinib in this patient population. The health-related quality of life results align with results from the interim analysis of ALPINE showing that rates of adverse events such as atrial fibrillation, major bleeding and adverse events leading to discontinuation or death were lower in patients treated with zanubrutinib than ibrutinib (10).

Study BGB-3111-205 was a single-arm, open-label phase II study evaluating safety and efficacy of zanubrutinib in relapsed/refractory CLL/SLL (*11*). After a median follow up of almost 34 months, investigator-assessed overall response rate was 87.9%, with 6.6% of patients achieving a complete response, 69.2% achieving a partial response (PR), and 12.1% achieving a PR with lymphocytosis. Overall response rate was generally consistent across all subgroups analysed, including patients with high-risk cytogenetics (*12*).

Study BGB-3111-AU-003 was a phase I/II open-label, multiple dose, dose escalation and expansion study to investigate the safety and pharmacokinetics of zanubrutinib in 123 patients with treatment naïve or relapsed/refractory CLL/SLL (*13*). After a median follow-up of 47.2 months, the overall response rate was 95.9% % (treatment naïve, 100%; relapsed/refractory 95%), with 18.7% achieving complete response. Ongoing response at 3 years was reported in 85.7% of patients. The overall response rate in patients with the del(17p)/tumour protein p53 mutation was 87.5%. The 2- and 3-year estimated progression-free survival was 90% and 83%, respectively.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

In the phase III SEQUOIA study of zanubrutinib versus bendamustine–rituximab, grade 3 or higher adverse events were reported in 126 (52.5%) and 181 (79.7%) participants in the zanubrutinib and brentuximab–rituximab arms, respectively. Serious adverse events were reported in 88 (36.7%) and 113 (49.8%) participants, respectively. The most frequently reported adverse events  $\geq$  grade 3 in the zanubrutinib arm were infections (16.3%), neutropenia (11.7%), other cancers (7.1%), hypertension (6.3%) and bleeding and major bleeding (both 3.8%). The most frequently reported adverse events  $\geq$  grade 3 in the brentuximab–rituximab arm were neutropenia (51.1%), infections (18.9%), thrombocytopenia (7.9%) and hypertension (4.8%) (7).

In the phase III ALPINE study of zanubrutinib versus ibrutinib, treatment discontinuation was lower with zanubrutinib (26.3%) versus ibrutinib (41.2%), with most discontinuations due to adverse events (16.2% versus 22.8%) or progressive disease (7.3% versus 12.9%). Discontinuation due to cardiac disorders occurred in 0.3% versus 4.3% of participants. Rates of  $\geq$  grade 3 adverse events, serious adverse events, dose interruptions and dose reductions were also lower with zanubrutinib compared with ibrutinib. The proportion of participants with new-onset atrial fibrillation/flutter was lower with zanubrutinib than ibrutinib (5.2% versus 13.3%); rates of other adverse events due to cardiac disorders occurred with zanubrutinib, whereas these occurred in six (1.9%) participants treated with ibrutinib (9).

The ASPEN trial was a pivotal, randomized, open-label, phase III, study comparing zanubrutinib with ibrutinib in patients with Waldenström macroglobulinaemia (14). In the long-term follow up of ASPEN, zanubrutinib was associated with fewer adverse events leading to death, treatment discontinuation, and dose reduction compared with ibrutinib. The prevalence of atrial fibrillation, hypertension and bleeding were lower in the zanubrutinib arm at all time intervals (15).

Safety data from the phase II BGB-3111-205 study (11) were the same as those reported in the 2021 application (1).

In the phase I/II BGB-3111-AU-003 study, 76 (61.8%) participants experienced at least one grade 3 or higher adverse event. Five (4.1%) participants discontinued zanubrutinib therapy due to an adverse event; three were deemed unrelated and two related to zanubrutinib therapy. One person experienced an adverse event leading to death, which was deemed unrelated by investigators (*13*).

# **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for treatment of CLL/SLL are not currently available.

### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Comparative cost–effectiveness studies for zanubrutinib in the treatment of CLL/ SLL are lacking.

The application presented a comparison of the costs per day of zanubrutinib (all indications) and ibrutinib (two groups of indications: CLL/SLL/Waldenström macroglobulinaemia and mantle cell lymphoma/marginal zone lymphoma) in 19 upper middle- and high-income countries. The average price difference for zanubrutinib compared with ibrutinib was -0.3% for CLL/SLL/Waldenström macroglobulinaemia indications and -24.1% for mantle cell lymphoma/marginal zone lymphoma indications. The application asserted that substitution of ibrutinib with zanubrutinib would be associated with health budget savings, based on the assumption that zanubrutinib had clinical advantages and a cheaper price than ibrutinib.

# Availability

As of 30 November 2022, zanubrutinib was approved for selected indications (other than CLL/SLL) in 61 markets including Australia, Canada, China, European Union, Republic of Korea, Switzerland, the United Kingdom, and the United States. Additional regulatory submissions are under review around the world.

Zanubrutinib is currently approved for use in the treatment of CLL/ SLL only in China (relapsed/refractory disease only) and the European Union. Regulatory approval in other jurisdictions is ongoing.

# Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group reviewed the application and advised that did not support the inclusion of zanubrutinib on the EML for the treatment of CLL/SLL at this time. The working Group noted that while data supported progression-free survival gains with zanubrutinib compared to ibrutinib, it considered that the magnitude of these gains might be limited. The Working Group also noted that few long-term and real-world data were available. Furthermore, the Group acknowledged the following limitations for zanubrutinib: high rates of toxicity (particularly neutropenia); remaining uncertainty on a better safety profile compared with ibrutinib for bleeding, hypertension and atrial fibrillation; and limited information on prices with uncertain cost–effectiveness (given that lower doses can be used with ibrutinib compared with those proposed in the application).

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged the role of targeted therapy with Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitors in the treatment of CLL/SLL, especially in high-income countries, and recalled the recommendation of the 2021 Committee to include ibrutinib on the EML for patients with relapsed/refractory disease as there was compelling evidence of relevant benefit and improved tolerability compared with chemoimmunotherapy.

The Committee noted the results of clinical trials comparing zanubrutinib with bendamustine-rituximab in previously untreated patients, and with ibrutinib in patients with relapsed/refractory disease, which showed promising survival gains. However, the Committee considered that the magnitude of these gains may be limited and noted that few long-term data were currently available. The Committee also noted the toxicity concerns highlighted by the Cancer Medicines Working Group and considered longer-term data would be informative to confirm the safety profile of zanubrutinib.

The Committee also noted the high price of zanubrutinib and considered that at this price, it was unlikely to be cost-effective or affordable in most low- and middle-income settings. The Committee also considered that the substitution of ibrutinib with zanubrutinib would not necessarily be associated with savings in health budgets as proposed in the application, because lower ibrutinib doses than those described in the application could be used in clinical practice.

The Expert Committee therefore did not recommend the addition of zanubrutinib to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of CLL/SLL. However, recognizing the role of Burton tyrosine kinase inhibitors in the treatment of CLL/SLL, the Committee recommended that the data continue to be evaluated as the evidence evolves and matures.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351172, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Wu SJ, Huang SY, Lin CT, Lin YJ, Chang CJ, Tien HF. The incidence of chronic lymphocytic leukemia in Taiwan, 1986–2005: a distinct increasing trend with birth-cohort effect. Blood. 2010;116(22):4430–5.

- Eichhorst B, Robak T, Montserrat E, Ghia P, Hillmen P, Hallek M, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2015;26(Suppl 5):78–84.
- Yang SM, Li JY, Gale RP, Huang XJ. The mystery of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL): Why is it absent in Asians and what does this tell us about etiology, pathogenesis and biology? Blood Rev. 2015;29(3):205–13.
- Howlader N, Noone A, Krapcho M, Miller D, Brest A, Yu M. SEER cancer statistics review, 1975–2017. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute. 2020 (https://seer.cancer.gov/archive/csr/1975\_2017/, accessed 16 September 2023).
- 6. Smolewski P, Robak T. Current treatment of refractory/relapsed chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a focus on novel drugs. Acta Haematol. 2021;144(4):365–79.
- Tam CS, Brown JR, Kahl BS, Ghia P, Giannopoulos K, Jurczak W, et al. Zanubrutinib versus bendamustine and rituximab in untreated chronic lymphocytic leukaemia and small lymphocytic lymphoma (SEQUOIA): a randomised, controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2022;23(8):1031–43.
- Ghia P, Barnes G, Yang K, Tam C, Hillmen P, Robak T, et al. P662: patient-reported outcomes from a phase 3 randomized study of zanubrutinib versus bendamustine plus rituximab (br) in patients with treatment-naïve (TN) CLL/SLL. Hemasphere. 2022;6:560–1.
- Brown JR, Eichhorst B, Hillmen P, Jurczak W, Kaźmierczak M, Lamanna N, et al. Zanubrutinib or ibrutinib in relapsed or refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2023;388(4):319–32.
- Hillmen P, Brown J, Lamanna N, O'Brien S, Tam C, Qiu L, et al. P663: health-related quality of life outcomes associated with zanubrutinib vs ibrutinib monotherapy in patients with relapsed/ refractory (RR) CLL/SLL: results from the randomized phase 3 Alpine Trial. Hemasphere. 2022;6:561–2.
- Xu W, Yang S, Zhou K, Pan L, Li Z, Zhou J, et al. Treatment of relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma with the BTK inhibitor zanubrutinib: phase 2, single-arm, multicenter study. J Hematol Oncol. 2020;13(1):48.
- Xu W, Yang S, Zhou K, Pan L, Li Z, Zhou J, et al. EP639: zanubrutinib monotherapy in patients with relapsed or refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia: 34-month follow-up results. Hemasphere. 2021;5:286–7.
- Cull G, Burger JA, Opat S, Gottlieb D, Verner E, Trotman J, et al. Zanubrutinib for treatment-naive and relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: long-term follow-up of the phase I/II AU-003 study. Br J Haematol. 2022;196(5):1209–18.
- 14. Tam CS, Opat S, D'Sa S, Jurczak W, Lee HP, Cull G, et al. A randomized phase 3 trial of zanubrutinib vs ibrutinib in symptomatic Waldenström macroglobulinemia: the ASPEN study. Blood. 2020;136(18):2038–50.
- 15. Dimopoulos M, Opat S, D'Sa S, Jurczak W, Lee HP, Cull G, et al. P1161: Aspen: long-term follow-up results of a phase 3 randomized trial of zanubrutinib (Zanu) vs ibrutinib (Ibr) in patients (Pts) with WaldenstrÖm macroglobulinemia (WM). Hemasphere. 2022;6(Suppl):1048–9.

# 8.2.3 Immunomodulators

PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors – addition – EML

| Atezolizumab  | ATC code: L01FF05 |
|---------------|-------------------|
| Cemiplimab    | ATC code: L01FF06 |
| Durvalumab    | ATC code: L01FF03 |
| Pembrolizumab | ATC code: L01FF02 |

### Proposal

Addition of programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) and programmed cell death ligand-1 (PD L1) immune checkpoint inhibitors (atezolizumab, cemiplimab, durvalumab and pembrolizumab) to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of non-oncogene-addicted locally advanced and metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC).

# Applicant

European Society for Medical Oncology

# WHO technical department

The technical team in cancer in the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases reviewed and provided comments on the application. The technical team was uncertain about the inclusion of immune checkpoint inhibitors on the EML at this time because, despite established evidence of meaningful clinical benefit of these medicines in NSCLC, there were concerns about the feasibility of introducing these medicines because of limited accessibility, limited availability of diagnostic testing, limited capacity to manage toxicities and overall implications for the budget of health systems. The technical team proposed that data from low- and middle-income countries that could test and validate the effectiveness and feasibility of widespread use of immune checkpoint inhibitors would help stakeholders understand the implications of including this class of medicines in WHO Model List. These data can include evaluating ability to safely delivery these medicines, provide concomitant diagnostic services, manage toxicities and evaluate the effect on health expenditure.

# EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

8.2.3 Immunomodulators

#### Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Atezolizumab – Injection: 840 mg/14 mL, 1200 mg/20 mL in vial Cemiplimab – Injection: 350 mg/7 mL in vial Durvalumab – Injection 120 mg/2.4 mL, 500 mg/10 mL in vial Pembrolizumab – Injection: 100 mg/4 mL in vial

#### Core/complementary

Complementary

#### Individual/square box listing

Square box listing for pembrolizumab with atezolizumab and cemiplimab as therapeutic alternatives for treatment of metastatic NSCLC with PD-L1  $\geq$  50%.

Individual listing for durvalumab for treatment of locally advanced, non-metastatic NSCLC with PD-L1  $\geq$  1%.

#### Background

Applications for the inclusion of PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors on the EML for the treatment of NSCLC were reviewed by the Expert Committee in 2019 and 2021. On each occasion, inclusion was not recommended.

In 2019, inclusion of pembrolizumab, nivolumab and atezolizumab was not recommended as the Committee considered that the precise place of these medicines in the treatment of this condition was still evolving (i.e. immunotherapy alone or in combination with chemotherapy). The Committee noted the evidence of efficacy in the treatment of patients with metastatic NSCLC with these agents. The Committee observed that the duration of follow-up of the single studies for first-line and second-line immunotherapy in trials for lung cancer was generally shorter than 3 years, and considered that data from longer follow-up would better demonstrate the magnitude of benefit. The Committee expressed the hope that by the time of the 2021 Committee meeting, more mature data would be available for metastatic NSCLC and also for use of these agents in locally advanced nonresectable disease, and as adjuvant therapy. Furthermore, the Committee noted that the clinical development of cancer immunotherapy still had some areas of uncertainty about the optimal time for introduction of treatment (first- or secondline), appropriate patient selection (i.e. use of biomarkers) and whether or not the use of immune checkpoint inhibitors in combination with other medicines was superior to monotherapy. The Committee expressed concern about the potential impact of oncology medicines on health budgets, which could be an impediment to access, and the fact that countries may not be able to list these medicines on their national EMLs because of their high price (1).

In 2021, the Committee acknowledged that atezolizumab, durvalumab, nivolumab and pembrolizumab were associated with a relevant median overall

survival benefit as first-line treatment, well over the EML threshold of 4 to 6 months, based on evidence from several randomized trials. The Committee also noted that the addition of PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors to conventional chemotherapy was associated with modest increases in toxicity which may require specialized management in selected case. Overall, the Committee considered that these medicines had a favourable benefit-to-harm ratio and acknowledged that they had substantially improved outcomes for the treatment of NSCLC in practice. However, inclusion of was not recommended as the Committee considered that at current prices, these medicines were prohibitively expensive in many settings. The issue of treatment costs and appropriate use of these medicines is further complicated by the need for diagnostic testing to identify patients most likely to benefit from treatment, uncertainties about the optimal duration of treatment, the significant disease burden and the likely large eligible patient population. The Committee considered that the financial implications of listing PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors for this indication would result in unsustainable expenditures for many patients and health systems (2).

The PD-1 immune checkpoint inhibitor nivolumab (with a square box indicating pembrolizumab as a therapeutic alternative) was added to the EML in 2019 for first-line monotherapy in patients with unresectable and metastatic melanoma (1).

### Public health relevance

Lung cancer is a leading cause of morbidity, disability and death worldwide (3). In 2020, 2.2 million people were diagnosed with lung cancer, corresponding to 11.4% of all cancers diagnosed; 1.8 million people died from this disease, constituting 18% of all cancer-related deaths. The economic impact of lung cancer is estimated to be around US\$ 8 billion in productivity lost in developing countries (4). In the absence of a wide coverage of effective screening programmes globally, more than 60% of lung cancer cases are diagnosed when the disease is locally advanced or metastatic, with some regional variability (5).

More than 80% of the lung cancers are classified as NSCLC (6). Targeted therapies have redefined treatment for patients with genomic alterations in driver oncogenes including: epidermal growth factor (EGFR) mutations, anaplastic lymphoma kinase rearrangements, ROS1 rearrangements, BRAF mutations, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) mutations, or amplifications, and neurotrophic tyrosine kinase 1-3 fusions. However, the greatest proportion of NSCLC, both squamous and non-squamous histology type, do not have specific pathogenic genomic alterations that can be treated with targeted medicines, including EGFR, anaplastic lymphoma kinase gene or ROS1 (7).

Historically, patients with non-oncogene-addicted NSCLC have experienced poor survival outcomes because of a lack of therapeutic options in

advanced disease settings. For non-oncogene-addicted NSCLC, the treatments currently included in the EML are all chemotherapies and are associated with a median overall survival of about 12 months.

### Summary of evidence: benefits

Advanced and metastatic NSCLC expressing high levels of PD-L1 ( $\geq$  50%)

### Pembrolizumab

The phase III KEYNOTE-024 study evaluated pembrolizumab as first-line treatment in 305 participants with previously untreated, advanced NSCLC with tumour PD-L1 expression  $\geq 50\%$  and no sensitizing mutation of the EGFR gene or translocation of the anaplastic lymphoma kinase gene (8-10). Participants were randomized to receive 200 mg pembrolizumab every 3 weeks for up to 35 cycles (154 patients) or four to six cycles of standard platinum doublet chemotherapy (151 patients). Patients in the chemotherapy group with progressive disease were permitted to cross over to pembrolizumab. The effective crossover rate was 66% (99/151; 83 on-study and 16 outside the study). At a median follow-up of 5 years, median overall survival was 26.3 months (95% confidence interval (CI) 18.3 to 40.4 months) for pembrolizumab and 13.4 months (95% CI 9.4 to 18.3 months) for chemotherapy (hazard ratio (HR) 0.62, 95% CI 0.48 to 0.81). Progression-free survival was 7.7 versus 5.5 months (HR 0.50, 95% CI 0.39 to 0.65), with 3- and 5-year progression-free survival rates of 22.8% and 12.8% with pembrolizumab and 4.1% and 0.0% with standard chemotherapy (10).

The health-related quality of life analysis showed a clinically meaningful and significant improvement favouring patients treated with pembrolizumab (*11*). Fewer participants treated with pembrolizumab had deterioration in the QLQ-LC13 composite endpoint than participants given chemotherapy: 31% (46/151) versus 39% (58/148). Time to deterioration was longer with pembrolizumab than with chemotherapy: median not reached (95% CI 8.5 months to not reached) versus 5.0 months (95% CI 3.6 months to not reached); HR 0.66, 95% CI 0.44 to 0.97). Compliance with quality of life questionnaires was 90% at baseline and about 80% at 15 weeks.

### Atezolizumab

The phase III IMpower110 study evaluated atezolizumab as first-line treatment in 554 participants with previously untreated metastatic EGFR or anaplastic lymphoma kinase wild type NSCLC with tumour PD-L1 expression of  $\geq 1\%$  (12). Patients were randomized to receive atezolizumab 1200 mg every 3 weeks (277 patients) or four to six cycles of platinum-based chemotherapy (277 patients). Crossover from the chemotherapy group to the atezolizumab group was not permitted. At the interim analysis after median follow-up of 15.7 months, atezolizumab monotherapy was associated with longer overall survival and progression-free survival, compared with chemotherapy. The overall survival for atezolizumab and chemotherapy in the population with high-PD-L1 expression ( $\geq 50\%$ ) was 20.2 months and 13.1 months, respectively (HR 0.59, 95% CI 0.40 to 0.89). Progression-free survival in the population with high-PD-L1 expression was 8.1 and 5 months in the atezolizumab and chemotherapy arms, respectively (stratified HR 0.63, 95% CI 0.45 to 0.88). Investigator-assessed confirmed response was higher with atezolizumab than with chemotherapy (38.3% versus 28.6%) in the population with high-PD-L1 expression. Investigator-assessed confirmed response rates did not differ significantly between treatment arms in the populations with any ( $\geq 1\%$ ) or high or intermediate ( $\geq 5\%$ ) PD-L1 expression.

In an updated analysis with a median follow-up of 31.3 months, the median overall survival for atezolizumab versus chemotherapy in the high or intermediate PD-L1 expression group was 19.9 months versus 16.1 months (stratified HR 0.87, 95% CI 0.66 to 1.14). An exploratory overall survival analysis in the high PD-L1 expression group showed a median overall survival of 20.2 months with atezolizumab and 14.7 months with chemotherapy, consistent with the primary analysis (*13*).

Prespecified analysis of quality-of-life patient-reported outcomes for the high PD-L1 expression population included evaluation of the time to confirmed deterioration as a secondary endpoint and change from baseline in global health status, functioning and lung cancer symptoms. The mean baseline scores for global health status, physical functioning and role functioning were moderate, the symptom burden was low and all were similar in both arms. No differences in time to deterioration were seen between arms for cough (HR 0.98, 95% CI 0.48 to 2.03), chest pain (HR 1.02, 95% CI 0.47 to 2.22), dyspnoea (HR 0.96, 95% CI 0.57 to 1.60) and three-symptom composite score (HR 0.92, 95% CI 0.59 to 1.44). No clinically meaningful worsening in dyspnoea, cough or chest pain was seen with atezolizumab versus chemotherapy. Fatigue and nausea/vomiting scores numerically improved immediately with atezolizumab and were maintained to week 48 (*14*).

#### Cemiplimab

The open-label phase III EMPOWER-lung 1 study compared cemiplimab monotherapy with platinum doublet chemotherapy in the first-line treatment of 710 patients with advanced NSCLC with tumour PD-L1 expression of  $\geq$  50% (15). Patients were randomized to receive cemiplimab 350 mg every 3 weeks for up to 36 cycles (356 patients) or four to six cycles of platinum-based chemotherapy (354 patients). Crossover from chemotherapy to cemiplimab was allowed following disease progression. Thus, 74% (150/203) of patients who progressed on chemotherapy received cemiplimab as a crossover treatment; 32% (50/158) of patients who progressed on cemiplimab received extended treatment with the addition of chemotherapy. The primary endpoints were overall survival and progression-free survival; quality of life was a secondary endpoint. At a median follow-up of 10.8 months, median overall survival was not reached (95% CI 17.9 months to not evaluable) with cemiplimab versus 14.2 months (95% CI 11.2 to 17.5 months) with chemotherapy (HR 0.57, 95% CI 0.42 to 0.77). Median progression-free survival was 8.2 months with cemiplimab compared with 5.7 months with chemotherapy (HR 0.54, 95% CI 0.43 to 0.68).

Cemiplimab appeared to improve, or not have a detrimental effect on, quality of life. Clinically meaningful effects (mean difference of scores of more than 5 points) were observed on social functioning and global health status and quality of life: differences in least-square means +5.27 (95% CI 2.41 to 8.13, two-sided nominal P = 0.0003) and +5.03 (95% CI 2.11 to 7.96, two-sided nominal P = 0.0008), respectively. Fatigue (least-square mean -8.6), appetite loss (-7.52), alopecia (-18.57) and constipation (-5.7) also favoured cemiplimab. For all other symptoms assessed, cemiplimab had similar quality-of-life effects as chemotherapy, with no detrimental effects (*16*).

# Locally advanced, unresectable NSCLC with PD-L1 expression $\geq 1\%$

### Durvalumab

The phase III PACIFIC trial evaluated durvalumab versus placebo as consolidation therapy in 713 patients with stage III locally advanced, unresectable NSCLC, irrespective of tumour PD-L1 expression, who did not have disease progression after at least two cycles of platinum-based chemoradiotherapy (17-19). Patients were randomized 2:1 to receive durvalumab 10 mg/kg every 2 weeks for up to 12 months (476 patients) or matching placebo (237 patients). At an interim analysis after median follow-up of 14.5 months, median progression-free survival was 16.8 months versus 5.6 months in the durvalumab and placebo groups, respectively (HR 0.52, 95% CI 0.42 to 0.65) (17). Analysis after median follow-up of 25.2 months showed the 24-month overall survival rate was 66.3% versus 55.6% in the durvalumab and placebo groups, respectively (HR 0.68, 99.73% CI 0.47 to 0.997) (18). Analysis after median follow-up of 34.2 months reported median overall survival rates of 47.5 months with durvalumab versus 29.1 months with placebo (stratified HR 0.68, 95% CI 0.53 to 0.87), corresponding to 5-year overall survival rates of 42.9% with durvalumab versus 33.4% with placebo. Median progressionfree survival was 16.9 months with durvalumab versus 5.6 months with placebo (HR 0.52, 95% CI 0.42 to 0.65), corresponding to an estimated 5-year progressionfree survival rate of 33.1% with durvalumab versus 19.0% with placebo. An exploratory analysis based on the level of tumour PD-L1 expression showed that patients seemed to derive greater benefit when PD-L1 expression was  $\geq 1\%$  (HR for overall survival 0.61, 95% CI 0.44 to 0.85) than when PD-L1 expression was < 1% (HR for overall survival 1.15, 95% CI 0.75 to 1.75) (19).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

Health-related quality of life was also reported in the PACIFIC trial (20, 21). After median follow-up of 25.2 months, more than 79% of patients given durvalumab and more than 82% of patients given placebo completed questionnaires up to week 48. Between baseline and 12 months, the prespecified longitudinal patient-reported outcomes of interest (cough, dyspnoea, chest pain, fatigue, appetite loss, physical functioning and global health status or quality of life) remained stable with both treatments, with no clinically relevant changes from baseline. Generally, no clinically important between-group differences were found in time to deterioration of prespecified key patient-reported outcome endpoints.

#### Real-world studies evaluating durvalumab

The PACIFIC-R study was an international, retrospective study of patients who started durvalumab within an early access programme between September 2017 and December 2018 (22). Median progression-free survival was 21.7 months; it was longer in patients with PD-L1 expression  $\geq$ 1% compared with < 1% (22.4 months versus 15.6 months). Overall survival data were not reported.

A cohort study in Germany based on an expanded access programme of durvalumab reported data on 121 patients (23). With a median follow-up of 25.1 months, median progression-free survival was 20.1 months and median overall survival was not reached. At 12 and 18 months, rates of progression-free survival were 56% and 53%, while overall survival rates at 12 and 24 months were 79% and 66%. The data were consistent with the PACIFIC trial.

A multicentre real-world cohort study in Canada included 141 patients treated with chemoradiotherapy plus durvalumab consolidation and compared the outcome with a historical cohort of 121 patients treated with chemoradiotherapy and no consolidation. Median follow-up was 15.8 months in the durvalumab cohort and 51.5 months in the historical cohort. Overall survival improved with durvalumab, with a median overall survival not reached versus a median overall survival of 26.9 months in the historical control cohort (HR 0.56, 95% CI 0.37 to 0.85). Overall survival rates at 12-months were 92.5% for the durvalumab group and 78.5% for the historical cohort (HR 0.56, 95% CI 0.37 to 0.85) (24).

A cohort study in the Republic of Korea reported data on 61 patients, 21 of whom had received durvalumab consolidation and 40 had received no consolidation treatment after chemoradiotherapy. More than half of the patients did not meet the criteria of the PACIFIC study; however, they still received consolidation durvalumab in real-world practice. Median progression-free survival was not reached in the durvalumab group versus 9.6 months in the observation group. Durvalumab treatment was associated with favourable progression-free survival also in the subgroup of patients who did not meet the criteria of the PACIFIC study (not reached versus 6.4 months). Overall survival data were not reported (*25*).

An observational cohort study across the Veterans Health Administration in the United States included patients with stage III NSCLC who had received concurrent chemoradiotherapy, with or without durvalumab: 1006 patients who had received durvalumab and 989 who had not. The addition of durvalumab was associated with higher progression-free survival (HR 0.62, 95% CI 0.55 to 0.70) and overall survival (HR 0.57, 95% CI 0.50 to 0.66) (*26*).

Another cohort study analysed data from the United States National Cancer Database for patients diagnosed with clinical stage III NSCLC between 2015 and 2017 with follow-up to the end of 2018 who were treated with chemoradiation. The cohort included 23 811 patients, of whom 1297 (5.4%) had received durvalumab. The use of immunotherapy was associated with longer overall survival (HR 0.74, 95% CI 0.67 to 0.82), corresponding to a 3-year overall survival rate of 52% versus 44% (*27*).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The safety of pembrolizumab was evaluated in KEYNOTE-024 study (8-10). The rate of adverse events among patients in the pembrolizumab arm was 76.6% versus 90.0% among patients in the chemotherapy arm, corresponding to a proportion of moderate-severe adverse events of 31.2% versus 53.3%. Toxicity led to treatment discontinuation in 13.6% and 10.7% in the pembrolizumab and chemotherapy arms, respectively, and resulted in toxic death in 1.3% and 2%, respectively. The most common adverse events with pembrolizumab were diarrhoea, fatigue, pyrexia and pruritus, all reported in 10–15% of the patients, and generally of low-to-moderate grade. Immune-related adverse events were reported in 34.4% of patients, of which 13.6% were moderate to severe and one case of fatal pneumonitis. The most common immune-related events were thyroiditis (11%, but less than 1% were moderate to severe) and pneumonitis.

In the IMpower110 study, the adverse events of any grade with atezolizumab and chemotherapy were reported in 90.2% and 94.7% of participants, respectively. Grade 3 and 4 adverse events were reported in 30.1% and 52.5% of participants in the atezolizumab and chemotherapy arms, respectively, while grade 5 adverse events were reported in 3.8% and 4.2%. The most frequent grade 3 and 4 adverse events were anaemia, neutropenia and thrombocytopenia. Hepatic laboratory abnormalities, rash and hypothyroidism were the most reported immunemediated adverse events ( $\geq$  5% in each group). Grade 3 or 4 immune-mediated adverse events occurred in 6.6% and 1.5%, with no grade 5 event reported (*12*).

The EMPOWER-lung 1 study assessed the overall safety profile of cemiplimab (15). In total, adverse events were reported in 43% and 40% of patients in the cemiplimab and chemotherapy arms, respectively, of which 14% and 39% were moderate-to-severe events and 3% and 2% were fatal events. The most common toxicities observed with cemiplimab were poor appetite,

transaminitis and anaemia, all occurring in 5% of the patients, and generally grade 1–2. Treatment with chemotherapy was associated with anaemia (30%, with 14% grade 3, i.e. haemoglobin < 8 g/dL), nausea (25%), peripheral neuropathy (10%) and hyporexia (14%).

The safety of durvalumab was evaluated in the PACIFIC study (19). The most frequent adverse reactions were cough (40.2% versus 30.3% in the placebo arm), upper respiratory tract infections (26.1% versus 11.5% in the placebo arm) and rash (21.7% versus 12.0% in the placebo arm). The most frequent grade 3/4 adverse reaction was pneumonia (6.5% versus 5.6% in the placebo arm). The overall incidence of grade 3/4 adverse reactions was 12.8% in the durvalumab arm versus 9.8% in the placebo arm. Radiation pneumonitis occurred in 33.9% patients in the durvalumab arm and 24.8% patients in the placebo arm, including grade 3 (3.4% versus 3.0%) and grade 5 (1.1% versus 1.7%). Grade 5 (fatal) immune-mediated pneumonitis occurred in 0.8% patients on durvalumab versus 1.3% patients on placebo.

In the combined safety database with durvalumab monotherapy (3006 participants with multiple tumour types), immune-mediated pneumonitis occurred in 92 (3.1%) patients, including grade 3 in 25 (0.8%) patients, grade 4 in two (< 0.1%) patients and grade 5 in six (0.2%) patients. Of the 92 patients with immune-mediated pneumonitis, 69 received high-dose corticosteroid treatment and durvalumab was discontinued in 38 patients. Other immune-related adverse reactions reported in less than 1% of patients treated with durvalumab monotherapy in clinical trials were myasthenia gravis, myocarditis, myositis, polymyositis, meningitis, encephalitis and Guillain–Barre syndrome. No overall differences in safety were reported between older ( $\geq$  65 years) and younger patients (28).

The phase II PACIFIC-6 clinical trial was designed to evaluate the safety and benefit of durvalumab after sequential chemoradiotherapy, in a single-arm prospective cohort (29). The study enrolled 117 patients. The median progressionfree survival was 10.9 months with a 12-month progression-free survival rate of 49.6% and an overall survival rate of 84.1%. Grade 3/4 toxicity occurred in 18.8% of patients. Two patients (1.7%) experienced Grade 5 (fatal) adverse events. Safety and efficacy appeared consistent with findings from the PACIFIC trial.

### **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for treatment of NSCLC are not currently available.

# Costs/cost-effectiveness

### Pembrolizumab

The application identified six cost–effectiveness studies of first-line pembrolizumab versus chemotherapy for NSCLC with high levels of PD-L1 (30–35). All but one

of the studies (34) were from high-income country settings. Incremental costeffectiveness ratios per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) gained were €84 097 in France, Sw.fr. 57 402 in Switzerland, US\$ 103 128 in China, US\$ 110 922 in China, Hong Kong SAR and US\$ 97 621 in the United States. In the United Kingdom, the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio per end-of life adjusted QALY was US\$ 52 000.

A systematic review that evaluated the cost–effectiveness of pembrolizumab versus cemiplimab for NSCLC with high levels of PD-L1 in the United States reported an incremental cost–effectiveness ratio for pembrolizumab of US\$ 114 246 per QALY gained (*36*).

# Atezolizumab

The application identified two cost-effectiveness studies of first-line atezolizumab versus chemotherapy for NSCLC with high levels of PD-L1 (*37*, *38*). Incremental cost-effectiveness ratios varied from US\$ 52 415 per QALY gained (using a scenario involving a patient-assistance programme) to US\$ 125 779 per QALY gained in China, and from US\$ 123 424 to US\$ 224 590 per QALY gained in the United States.

# Cemiplimab

The application identified two cost–effectiveness studies of first-line cemiplimab versus chemotherapy for NSCLC with high levels of PD-L1, both from the United States perspective (*39*, *40*). Incremental cost–effectiveness ratios ranged from US\$ 40 390 to US\$ 91 891 per QALY gained.

Another study modelled the cost–effectiveness of cemiplimab, pembrolizumab and atezolizumab, from a United States health-sector perspective (*41*). The results suggested that first-line cemiplimab was a cost-effective option compared with first-line pembrolizumab (incremental cost–effectiveness ratios US\$ 52 998 per QALY gained), and a dominant alternative versus first-line atezolizumab at a willingness-to-pay threshold of US\$ 100 000 per QALY gained.

# Durvalumab

The application identified seven cost–effectiveness studies of durvalumab as consolidation therapy in locally advanced NSCLC, from the perspective of China, Switzerland, United Kingdom and United States (42–48). Incremental cost–effectiveness ratios were US\$ 55 285 to US\$ 138 920 per QALY gained in the United States (depending on the payer perspective), £22 665 per QALY gained in the United Kingdom, Sw.fr. 66 131 to Sw.fr. 88 703 per QALY gained (depending on PD-L1 tumour expression), and ¥46 093 to ¥193 898 per QALY gained in China (depending on use of a patient assistance programme or retail prices).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

#### Availability

Pembrolizumab, atezolizumab and cemiplimab have regulatory approval in multiple countries for the treatment of metastatic NSCLC. They have primary patent protection until 2028, 2029 and 2035, respectively.

Durvalumab has regulatory approval in multiple countries for the treatment of locally advanced, unresectable NSCLC as consolidation therapy after platinum-based chemotherapy. It has primary patent protection until 2030.

No biosimilar products are available.

### Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group reviewed the application but was not able reach a consensus to support or not the inclusion of PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors on the EML for first-line treatment of selected patients with metastatic NSCLC with PD-L1 expression  $\geq$  50%, whose tumours do not harbour a targetable oncogene. The Working Group acknowledged a relevant and meaningful survival benefit after long follow-up and a possible improvement of the quality of life associated with the use of pembrolizumab. The Group noted that atezolizumab and cemiplimab for the same indication, and durvalumab for locally advanced non-metastatic lung cancer with PD-L1 expression  $\geq$  1%, after prior chemotherapy and radiation therapy, provide similar benefits although the available trial data for these medicines have a shorter duration of follow-up duration.

Several members of the Working Group were still uncertain about the implications at the country level of listing immune checkpoint inhibitors on the WHO Model List, including: the financial risks based on the current costs of procurement; the opportunity costs associated with diverting resources from other diseases or treatments; highly limited feasibility of use because of barriers to the timely access to diagnostics; and lack of information about the most cost-effective duration of treatment and dose. Predictive biomarkers, such as PD-L1 expression, are key to selecting patients with tumours that are more likely to respond to immune checkpoint inhibitors. It was also highlighted that, despite the approval of several checkpoint inhibitors, prices for these agents have remained prohibitively high in most settings, discounting is consistently limited by the production companies and biosimilar products cannot be expected to be available in most countries in the near future.

Other Working Group members highlighted that a positive recommendation by WHO on immune checkpoint inhibitors for the treatment of NSCLC could guide countries in prioritizing these medicines for this specific indication, limiting their use for other cancers in which benefits were less relevant. The Model List can support national decision-making and inform national guidelines for clinical practice and guide the procurement and supply of medicines in the public sector. Working Group members also stressed that price
competition should be facilitated for immune checkpoint inhibitors by allowing early utilization of more molecules in national markets. The Working Group also noted that the application did not consider camrelizumab, nivolumab/ ipilimumab, sintilimab, sugemalimab or toripalimab. Most of these therapies have shown comparable improvement in disease control compared with other immune checkpoint inhibitors under consideration. However, overall survival data were mature only for nivolumab/ipilimumab, with all other molecules tested in clinical trials with incomplete survival data.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recognized that PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy has become part of the standard treatment for patients with NSCLC with tumours that do not express targetable oncogenes based on improvements in overall survival that meet the established thresholds for possible inclusion on the Model List.

The Committee acknowledged possible improvement in quality of life in addition to improved overall survival associated with the use of pembrolizumab, when compared with platinum-based chemotherapy in patients with advanced/ metastatic NSCLC expressing high levels of PD-L1. The Committee noted that longer follow-up data were now available, with overall survival benefits maintained over a 5-year period. The Committee also noted that atezolizumab and cemiplimab showed similar benefits, that is, prolonging median overall survival compared with platinum-based chemotherapy in patients with advanced/ metastatic NSCLC and high PD-L1 expression, although the available followup data were shorter than for pembrolizumab. For durvalumab as consolidation therapy in locally advanced disease, data also suggested a meaningful benefit. However, the Committee considered that the data were less mature and required further evaluation over time.

The Committee acknowledged that individual immune checkpoint inhibitors may differ in their efficacy and safety profiles but considered that an overall net benefit could be assumed for the entire class when compared with platinum-containing chemotherapies. The Committee considered that in principle, the availability of several interchangeable immune checkpoint inhibitors could boost competition and favour access. However, the Committee noted that uncertainty remained about the optimal medicine dose and duration of treatment, with ongoing clinical trials investigating the use of immune checkpoint inhibitors in various cancers at lower doses or for a shorter duration (49). The Committee commended these studies and recommended that such trials be promoted and publicly funded to confirm if lower doses and shorter duration of treatment were indeed associated with non-inferior survival outcomes, similar or lower toxicity and lower costs, and offered a pathway to more affordable and widespread access. The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

The Committee noted that prices of immune checkpoint inhibitors have remained prohibitively high in most settings. In the absence of true competition, the Committee remained concerned that this situation would continue to contribute to serious inequities between rich and poor countries and patients, which would result in negligible availability and unaffordable prices of these medicines for a large proportion of the global population. The Committee also noted the need to select patients that could benefit from immune checkpoint inhibitors based on PD-L1 expression. Affordable access to necessary diagnostics would add an extra burden on countries and listing these medicines without being able to target their use to those patients who would benefit most from them could lead to additional waste of resources, both public and private.

The Committee reiterated the importance for WHO to continue to tackle the high prices of cancer medicines and welcomed the news of progress being made in the establishment of the WHO Technical Advisory Group on Pricing Policies for Medicines to increase affordable access to essential and priority medicines.

The Committee recognized the risks at the country level of listing immune checkpoint inhibitors on the WHO Model List, including financial risks based on the current costs of procurement, opportunity costs associated with diverting resources from other diseases, treatments or preventive programmes (e.g. smoking cessation, clean air), and limited feasibility because of barriers to the timely access to diagnostics. The Committee considered that the potential financial impact associated with procurement and appropriate use of immune checkpoint inhibitors could be a significant risk to the financial sustainability of health budgets in many low- and middle-income countries. This was especially true if these countries aimed to provide universal treatment coverage, given the current high prices of immune checkpoint inhibitors and PD-L1 testing, as well as the high prevalence of NSCLC. The Committee recognized that the opportunity costs of providing immune checkpoint inhibitors at current prices for the treatment of patients with NSCLC would be substantial for many health systems. The Committee considered that an assessment of various scenarios based on different assumptions on procurement price, capacity to administer and proportion of patients eligible for treatment would help foster the development of solutions that facilitated access without bankrupting the health care budget.

The Committee recalled the recommendation made in 2019 to include nivolumab pembrolizumab on the EML for treatment of metastatic melanoma (1). The Committee noted that the magnitude of benefit of immune checkpoint inhibitors for melanoma far exceeded the benefit seen in lung cancer. The Committee proposed that countries with access to these medicines for melanoma and with sufficient resources to increase the number of patients that could be treated could consider the use of immune checkpoint inhibitors as first-line

treatment of metastatic, non-oncogene-addicted NSCLC, in patients with high PD-L1 expression, as a high-priority for expansion.

Based on these considerations, the Expert Committee did not recommend the inclusion of PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitors on the EML for the first-line treatment of metastatic NSCLC with PD-L1 expression  $\geq$  50% (pembrolizumab, atezolizumab, cemiplimab), nor for locally advanced, unresectable NSCLC with PD-L1 expression  $\geq$  1% after chemoradiotherapy (durvalumab).

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 6 October 2023).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351172, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2021;71(3):209–49.
- Pearce A, Sharp L, Hanly P, Barchuk A, Bray F, de Camargo Cancela M, et al. Productivity losses due to premature mortality from cancer in Brazil, Russia, India, China, and South Africa (BRICS): a population-based comparison. Cancer Epidemiol. 2018;53:27–34.
- 5. Flores R, Patel P, Alpert N, Pyenson B, Taioli E. Association of stage shift and population mortality among patients with non–small cell lung cancer. JAMA Netw Open. 2021;4(12):e2137508–e.
- Molina JR, Yang P, Cassivi SD, Schild SE, Adjei AA. Non-small cell lung cancer: epidemiology, risk factors, treatment, and survivorship. Mayo Clin Proc. 2008;83(5):584–94.
- 7. Nicholson AG, Tsao MS, Beasley MB, Borczuk AC, Brambilla E, Cooper WA, et al. The 2021 WHO classification of lung tumors: impact of advances since 2015. J Thorac Oncol. 2022;17(3):362–87.
- 8. Reck M, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, Hui R, Csőszi T, Fülöp A, et al. Pembrolizumab versus chemotherapy for PD-L1-positive non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(19):1823–33.
- Reck M, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, Hui R, Csoszi T, Fülöp A, et al. Updated analysis of KEYNOTE-024: pembrolizumab versus platinum-based chemotherapy for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer with PD-L1 tumor proportion score of 50% or greater. J Cinical Oncol. 2019;37(7):537–46.
- 10. Reck M, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, Hui R, Csöszi T, Fülöp A, et al. Five-year outcomes with pembrolizumab versus chemotherapy for metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer with PD-L1 tumor proportion score ≥ 50. J Cinical Oncol. 2021;39(21):2339–49.
- Brahmer JR, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, Hui R, Csőszi T, Fülöp A, et al. Health-related qualityof-life results for pembrolizumab versus chemotherapy in advanced, PD-L1-positive NSCLC (KEYNOTE-024): a multicentre, international, randomised, open-label phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(12):1600–9.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 12. Herbst RS, Giaccone G, de Marinis F, Reinmuth N, Vergnenegre A, Barrios CH, et al. Atezolizumab for first-line treatment of PD-L1-selected patients with NSCLC. N Engl J Med. 2020;383(14):1328–39.
- 13. Jassem J, de Marinis F, Giaccone G, Vergnenegre A, Barrios CH, Morise M, et al. Updated overall survival analysis from IMpower110: atezolizumab versus platinum-based chemotherapy in treatment-naive programmed death-ligand 1-selected NSCLC. J Thorac Oncol. 2021;16(11):1872–82.
- 14. Marinis Fd, Giaccone G, Herbst RS, Oprean C-M, Szczesna A, Boukovinas I, et al. Patient-reported outcomes (PROs) in the randomized, phase III IMpower110 study of atezolizumab (atezo) vs chemotherapy in 1L metastatic NSCLC. J Clin Oncol. 2020;38(15 Suppl):9594.
- 15. Sezer A, Kilickap S, Gümüş M, Bondarenko I, Özgüroğlu M, Gogishvili M, et al. Cemiplimab monotherapy for first-line treatment of advanced non-small-cell lung cancer with PD-L1 of at least 50%: a multicentre, open-label, global, phase 3, randomised, controlled trial. Lancet. 2021;397(10274):592–604.
- 16. Gümüş M, Chen CI, Ivanescu C, Kilickap S, Bondarenko I, Özgüroğlu M, et al. Patient-reported outcomes with cemiplimab monotherapy for first-line treatment of advanced non-small cell lung cancer with PD-L1 of ≥50%: The EMPOWER-Lung 1 study. Cancer. 2023;129(1):118–29.
- 17. Antonia SJ, Villegas A, Daniel D, Vicente D, Murakami S, Hui R, et al. Durvalumab after chemoradiotherapy in stage iii non–small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(20):1919–29.
- 18. Antonia SJ, Villegas A, Daniel D, Vicente D, Murakami S, Hui R, et al. Overall survival with durvalumab after chemoradiotherapy in stage III NSCLC. N Engl J Med. 2018;379(24):2342–50.
- 19. Spigel DR, Faivre-Finn C, Gray JE, Vicente D, Planchard D, Paz-Ares L, et al. Five-year survival outcomes from the PACIFIC Trial: durvalumab after chemoradiotherapy in stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2022;40(12):1301–11.
- Hui R, Özgüroğlu M, Villegas A, Daniel D, Vicente D, Murakami S, et al. Patient-reported outcomes with durvalumab after chemoradiotherapy in stage III, unresectable non-small-cell lung cancer (PACIFIC): a randomised, controlled, phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol. 2019;20(12):1670–80.
- 21. Garassino MC, Paz-Ares L, Hui R, Faivre-Finn C, Spira A, Planchard D, et al. Patient-reported outcomes with durvalumab by PD-L1 expression and prior chemoradiotherapy-related variables in unresectable stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. Future Oncol. 2021;17(10):1165–84.
- 22. Girard N, Bar J, Garrido P, Garassino MC, McDonald F, Mornex F, et al. Treatment characteristics and real-world progression-free survival in patients with unresectable stage III NSCLC who received durvalumab after chemoradiotherapy: findings from the PACIFIC-R study. J Thorac Oncol. 2023;18(2):181–93.
- 23. Faehling M, Schumann C, Christopoulos P, Hoffknecht P, Alt J, Horn M, et al. Durvalumab after definitive chemoradiotherapy in locally advanced unresectable non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): real-world data on survival and safety from the German expanded-access program (EAP). Lung Cancer. 2020;150:114–22.
- 24. Desilets A, Blanc-Durand F, Lau S, Hakozaki T, Kitadai R, Malo J, et al. Durvalumab therapy following chemoradiation compared with a historical cohort treated with chemoradiation alone in patients with stage III non-small cell lung cancer: a real-world multicentre study. Eur J Cancer. 2021;142:83–91.
- 25. Jung HA, Noh JM, Sun JM, Lee SH, Ahn JS, Ahn MJ, et al. Real world data of durvalumab consolidation after chemoradiotherapy in stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer. 2020;146:23–9.
- 26. Sankar K, Bryant AK, Strohbehn GW, Zhao L, Elliott D, Moghanaki D, et al. Real world outcomes versus clinical trial results of durvalumab maintenance in veterans with stage III non-small cell lung cancer. Cancers (Basel). 2022;14(3).

- 27. Pichert MD, Canavan ME, Maduka RC, Li AX, Ermer T, Zhan PL, et al. Immunotherapy after chemotherapy and radiation for clinical stage III lung cancer. JAMA Netw Open. 2022;5(8):e2224478–e.
- Summary of product characteristics durvalumab. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency; 2018 (https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/imfinzi-epar-productinformation\_en.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 29. Garassino MC, Mazieres J, Reck M, Chouaid C, Bischoff H, Reinmuth N, et al. Durvalumab after sequential chemoradiotherapy in stage III, unresectable NSCLC: the phase 2 PACIFIC-6 Trial. J Thorac Oncol. 2022;17(12):1415–27.
- Chouaid C, Bensimon L, Clay E, Millier A, Levy-Bachelot L, Huang M, et al. Cost-effectiveness analysis of pembrolizumab versus standard-of-care chemotherapy for first-line treatment of PD-L1 positive (>50%) metastatic squamous and non-squamous non-small cell lung cancer in France. Lung Cancer. 2019;127:44–52.
- Georgieva M, da Silveira Nogueira Lima JP, Aguiar P, de Lima Lopes G, Haaland B. Cost-effectiveness of pembrolizumab as first-line therapy for advanced non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer. 2018;124:248–54.
- 32. Bhadhuri A, Insinga R, Guggisberg P, Panje C, Schwenkglenks M. Cost effectiveness of pembrolizumab vs chemotherapy as first-line treatment for metastatic NSCLC that expresses high levels of PD-L1 in Switzerland. Swiss Med Wkly. 2019;149:w20170.
- Loong HH, Wong CKH, Leung LKS, Dhankhar P, Insinga RP, Chandwani S, et al. Cost effectiveness of PD-L1-based test-and-treat strategy with pembrolizumab as the first-line treatment for metastatic NSCLC in Hong Kong. Pharmacoecon Open. 2020;4(2):235–47.
- 34. Liao W, Huang J, Hutton D, Li Q. Cost-effectiveness analysis of first-line pembrolizumab treatment for PD-L1 positive, non-small cell lung cancer in China. J Med Econ. 2019;22(4):344–9.
- 35. Huang M, Lou Y, Pellissier J, Burke T, Liu FX, Xu R, et al. Cost effectiveness of pembrolizumab vs. standard-of-care chemotherapy as first-line treatment for metastatic NSCLC that expresses high levels of PD-L1 in the United States. Pharmacoeconomics. 2017;35(8):831–44.
- 36. Li Y, Liang X, Yang T, Guo S, Chen X. Pembrolizumab vs cemiplimab for the treatment of advanced non-small cell lung cancer with PD-L1 expression levels of at least 50%: a network meta-analysis and cost-effectiveness analysis. Front Oncol. 2022;12.
- 37. Cheng S, Pei R, Li J, Li B, Tang L, Yin T, et al. Atezolizumab compared to chemotherapy for first-line treatment in non-small cell lung cancer with high PD-L1 expression: a cost-effectiveness analysis from US and Chinese perspectives. Ann Transl Med. 2021;9(18):1481.
- Liu G, Kang S, Wang X, Shang F. Cost-effectiveness analysis of atezolizumab versus chemotherapy as first-line treatment for metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer with different PD-L1 expression status. Front Oncol. 2021;11:669195.
- Zhang M, Liu X, Wen F, Wu Q, Zhou K, Bai L, et al. First-line cemiplimab versus standard chemotherapy in advanced non-small cell lung cancer patients with at least 50% programmed cell death receptor ligand-1 positivity: analysis of cost-effectiveness. Clinical Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2022;34(3):e123–e9.
- Wang L, Peng Y, Zeng X, Peng L, Li S, Qin S, et al. Cost-effectiveness analysis of cemiplimab versus chemotherapy as first-line treatment in advanced NSCLC with PD-L1 expression levels of at least 50. Adv Ther. 2021;38(8):4354–65.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 41. Liu Q, Zhou Z, Luo X, Yi L, Peng L, Wan X, et al. First-line ICI monotherapies for advanced nonsmall-cell lung cancer patients with PD-L1 of at least 50%: a cost-effectiveness analysis. Front Pharmacol. 2021;12:788569.
- 42. Mehra R, Yong C, Seal B, Van Keep M, Raad A, Zhang Y. Cost-effectiveness of durvalumab after chemoradiotherapy in unresectable stage III NSCLC: a US healthcare perspective. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2021;19(2):153–62.
- 43. Han J, Tian K, Yang J, Gong Y. Durvalumab vs placebo consolidation therapy after chemoradiotherapy in stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: an updated PACIFIC trial-based cost-effectiveness analysis. Lung Cancer. 2020;146:42–9.
- 44. Criss SD, Mooradian MJ, Sheehan DF, Zubiri L, Lumish MA, Gainor JF, et al. Cost-effectiveness and budgetary consequence analysis of durvalumab consolidation therapy vs no consolidation therapy after chemoradiotherapy in stage III non-small cell lung cancer in the context of the US health care system. JAMA Oncol. 2019;5(3):358–65.
- 45. Panje CM, Lupatsch JE, Barbier M, Pardo E, Lorez M, Dedes KJ, et al. A cost-effectiveness analysis of consolidation immunotherapy with durvalumab in stage III NSCLC responding to definitive radiochemotherapy in Switzerland. Ann Oncol. 2020;31(4):501–6.
- Dunlop W, van Keep M, Elroy P, Perez ID, Ouwens MJNM, Sarbajna T, et al. Cost effectiveness of durvalumab in unresectable stage III NSCLC: 4-Year survival update and model validation from a UK healthcare perspective. Pharmacoecon Open. 2022;6(2):241–52.
- 47. Jiang X, Chen J, Zheng M, Jia H. Cost-effectiveness analysis of durvalumab as a maintenance treatment for patients with locally advanced, unresectable, stage III NSCLC in China. PLoS One. 2022;17(6):e0270118.
- 48. Chen X, Yang Z, Xiang G, Gu L, Qi Z, Wan B, et al. Durvalumab consolidation therapy in patients with stage III non-small cell lung cancer after concurrent chemoradiation: a China-based cost-effectiveness analysis. Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res. 2022;22(4):647–54.
- 49. Hirsch I, Goldstein DA, Tannock IF, Butler MO, Gilbert DC. Optimizing the dose and schedule of immune checkpoint inhibitors in cancer to allow global access. Nat Med. 2022;28(11):2236–7.

Pegfilgrastim – addition – EML and EMLc

# Pegfilgrastim

ATC code: L03AA13

# Proposal

Addition of pegfilgrastim on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for primary prophylaxis in patients at high risk of developing febrile neutropenia associated with myelotoxic chemotherapy, and for secondary prophylaxis in patients who have experienced neutropenia following prior myelotoxic chemotherapy.

# Applicant

Amgen Inc., Zug, Switzerland

# WHO technical department

The technical team in cancer in the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases reviewed and provided comments on the application. The technical team advised that it supported the inclusion of pegfilgrastim on the Model Lists, given its similar efficacy and safety compared with filgrastim, and potential indirect cost benefits and quality-of-life benefits.

# EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

# Section

8.2.3 Immunomodulators

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Injection: 6 mg/0.6 mL in prefilled syringe

Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

Granulocyte colony-stimulating factors (filgrastim and pegfilgrastim) were previously considered for inclusion on the Model Lists for use as supportive treatment with myelotoxic chemotherapy regimens as part of a comprehensive review of cancer medicines in 2015. The Expert Committee noted that several studies had shown comparability in effectiveness and patient outcomes of daily The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

filgrastim and once per cycle pegfilgrastim. The Committee considered that the choice between filgrastim and pegfilgrastim was largely determined by individual preference, ease of administration and cost. At that time, pegfilgrastim was considerably more expensive than filgrastim, for which biosimilar products were available. Therefore, the Committee recommended only the inclusion of pegfilgrastim on the EML and EMLc. The Expert Committee acknowledged that avoidance of febrile neutropenia was a meaningful goal of holistic care of patients with cancer undergoing myelotoxic chemotherapy (1).

#### Public health relevance

Chemotherapy-induced myelotoxicity is a common and potentially lifethreatening adverse event for cancer patients. The incidence of febrile neutropenia associated with myelotoxic chemotherapy varies depending on the type of cancer, the specific type and number of myelosuppressive chemotherapy agents in use, and other factors such as age and comorbidities (2,3). Febrile neutropenia is the most common life-threatening complication of cancer therapy and is an oncologic emergency. Myelosuppression continues to be a major dose-limiting toxicity for many chemotherapy regimens (4).

In resource-constrained areas particularly, but also in high-income countries for many cancers, newer targeted and immunological cancer treatments might not be widely available, affordable, or feasible and myelosuppressive treatments are still the standard of care. In such settings, prevention and treatment of febrile neutropenia associated with cancer treatment is a high priority.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

Two pivotal randomized, double-blind, multicentre, phase III studies compared the efficacy of pegfilgrastim versus filgrastim in patients with solid tumours receiving chemotherapy.

The first study included 157 patients who were randomized to receive a single fixed 6 mg dose of pegfilgrastim (n = 80) or filgrastim 5 micrograms/kg a day (n = 77) with each cycle of chemotherapy (doxorubicin and docetaxel) for four cycles. The results showed that a single 6 mg injection of pegfilgrastim was as effective as daily injections of filgrastim for all efficacy measures for all cycles. The mean duration of grade 4 neutropenia in cycle one was 1.8 and 1.6 days for the pegfilgrastim and filgrastim groups, respectively. Results for all efficacy endpoints in cycles two to four were consistent with the results from cycle one. A trend towards a lower incidence of febrile neutropenia was noted across all cycles with pegfilgrastim compared with filgrastim, 13% versus 20% (5).

The second study included 310 patients who were randomized to receive single dose pegfilgrastim 100 micrograms/kg or filgrastim 5 micrograms/kg a day with each cycle of chemotherapy (doxorubicin and docetaxel) for four cycles. The results showed that one dose of pegfilgrastim per chemotherapy cycle was comparable to daily subcutaneous injections of filgrastim for all efficacy endpoints, including the duration of severe neutropenia and depth of the absolute neutrophil count nadir in all cycles. Febrile neutropenia in all cycles occurred less often in patients who received pegfilgrastim. The difference in the mean duration of severe neutropenia between the treatment groups was less than 1 day. Pegfilgrastim and filgrastim were similarly safe and well tolerated (6).

A 2011 systematic review and meta-analysis assessed the effectiveness of granulocyte colony-stimulating factors as primary prophylaxis against febrile neutropenia in adults undergoing chemotherapy for solid tumours or lymphoma. Twenty studies compared primary prophylaxis with filgrastim (10 studies), lenograstim (five studies) or pegfilgrastim (five studies) versus no prophylaxis. A further five studies compared filgrastim and pegfilgrastim. The results showed that any primary prophylaxis with granulocyte colony-stimulating factors significantly reduced the incidence of febrile neutropenia (relative risk (RR) 0.51, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.41 to 0.62). The RRs for each medicine were 0.30 (95% CI 0.14 to 0.65) for pegfilgrastim, 0.57 (95% CI 0.48 to 0.69) for filgrastim and pegfilgrastim, the incidence of febrile neutropenia was significantly lower for pegfilgrastim (RR 0.66, 95% CI 0.44 to 0.98) (7).

A 2007 meta-analysis of five randomized- trials (617 participants) compared the effect pegfilgrastim and filgrastim on the incidence of febrile neutropenia, grade IV neutropenia, time to absolute neutrophil count recovery and bone pain in patients with solid tumours and malignant lymphomas receiving myelosuppressive chemotherapy. Pooled estimates indicated that pegfilgrastim, administered as a single dose per cycle, was associated with a significant reduction in febrile neutropenia compared with daily filgrastim injections (risk ratio 0.64, 95% CI 0.43 to 0.97). Rates of grade IV neutropenia, time to absolute neutrophil count recovery and incidence of bone pain were similar between the treatments (*8*).

A 2021 systematic review of 13 studies (10 non-randomized studies, three randomized trials, 4315 participants) evaluated the effectiveness and safety of pegfilgrastim in preventing febrile neutropenia in patients with non-myeloid malignancies receiving myelosuppressive chemotherapy regimens. Meta-analyses were not performed because of the heterogeneity of the studies. Six of the studies provided statistical comparisons for pegfilgrastim versus filgrastim or placebo. Three studies found a significant decrease in the incidence of febrile neutropenia with pegfilgrastim compared with filgrastim or placebo. In the remaining three, a non-significantly lower incidence of febrile neutropenia was observed with pegfilgrastim compared with filgrastim. Five of the studies reported dose delays or dose reductions, with two finding significantly lower incidence of dose reductions was significantly lower in patients receiving pegfilgrastim with two-weekly chemotherapy regimens compared with three-weekly chemotherapy regimens (9).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The overall safety profile of single-dose pegfilgrastim was comparable to that of standard daily filgrastim in both pivotal comparative trials (5,6).

Safety data in the United States Food and Drug Administration's product information for originator pegfilgrastim were reported from a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind study of pegfilgrastim plus docetaxel in 928 patients with breast cancer. Adverse events occurred in similar percentages of patients across treatment arms and were typical of those associated with docetaxel (alopecia, diarrhoea, fever, and nausea and vomiting). Most adverse events were of mild or moderate intensity. Adverse events occurring more frequently in the pegfilgrastim arm than the placebo arm were bone pain (31% versus 26%) and pain in extremities (9% versus 4%) (10).

#### WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for prophylaxis of febrile neutropenia are not currently available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Since the previous consideration of pegfilgrastim by the Expert Committee in 2015, the patent for pegfilgrastim has expired and biosimilar products have become available. As a result, the price of pegfilgrastim has decreased markedly.

The application presented data extracted from the Eversana database (a proprietary aggregator database of public prices) comparing the price of filgrastim and pegfilgrastim, per mg and per cycle, in 21 high-income countries. Pegfilgrastim prices (per mg and per 2-week cycle) were between 5% and 68% lower than filgrastim prices in 20 of the 21 countries investigated.

No information on cost-effectiveness was presented in the application. The application stated that in high-income countries, in general, pegfilgrastim was reimbursed on a cost-minimization basis to filgrastim on the basis that the efficacy and safety of pegfilgrastim and filgrastim were equivalent.

#### Availability

Pegfilgrastim has regulatory approval and market availability in more than 70 countries worldwide. It is available as the originator product and biosimilar products.

#### Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group reviewed the application and advised that it supported the inclusion of pegfilgrastim on the EML and EMLc for the prevention of febrile neutropenia in patients receiving myelotoxic chemotherapy.

The Working Group highlighted that pegfilgrastim has been shown to be a safe and effective alternative to daily filgrastim injections, which is of particular importance in settings with limited resources. Short-acting filgrastim can lead to lower adherence due to its daily administration and cold supply chain limitations in low-income countries. Shorter treatment durations are common because of these constraints, potentially leading to worse outcomes. Despite the cost of pegfilgrastim, lower costs of biosimilar products make it a viable option, which offers a single-dose administration. Pegfilgrastim is preferred for patients on shorter chemotherapy cycles, while caution is advised against routine use of granulocyte colony-stimulating factors unless the risk of neutropenia is substantial.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged that the prevention of febrile neutropenia is an important aspect of cancer care in people undergoing myelosuppressive chemotherapy regimens.

The Committee noted that a single dose of pegfilgrastim (once every 2 weeks) is an effective and safe alternative to daily injections of filgrastim with most of the available evidence showing no significant difference between treatments in reducing the risk of febrile neutropenia.

The Committee considered that pegfilgrastim may offer advantages over filgrastim in settings where refrigerated storage outside of secondary treatment centres is limited. In these settings, patients being treated with daily injections of filgrastim face longer hospital stays or daily clinic visits and this has been associated with lower adherence to treatment and increased risk of lifethreatening infections. The Committee noted that filgrastim is still a relevant treatment option for patients in whom a treatment duration of less than 2 weeks is indicated.

The Committee recalled the 2015 recommendation not to include pegfilgrastim on the Model Lists because of a substantial difference in price compared to filgrastim at the time. The Committee noted that since then the patent for pegfilgrastim had expired and biosimilars had entered the market, resulting in reductions in price, often lower than the price of filgrastim.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of pegfilgrastim (including quality-assured biosimilar products) on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for primary prophylaxis in patients at high risk of developing febrile neutropenia associated with myelotoxic chemotherapy, and for secondary prophylaxis in patients who have experienced neutropenia following prior myelotoxic chemotherapy. References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Hashiguchi Y, Kasai M, Fukuda T, Ichimura T, Yasui T, Sumi T. Chemotherapy-induced neutropenia and febrile neutropenia in patients with gynecologic malignancy. Anticancer Drugs. 2015;26(10):1054–60.
- 3. Moreau M, Klastersky J, Schwarzbold A, Muanza F, Georgala A, Aoun M, et al. A general chemotherapy myelotoxicity score to predict febrile neutropenia in hematological malignancies. Ann Oncol. 2009;20(3):513–9.
- 4. Daniel D, Crawford J. Myelotoxicity from chemotherapy. Semin Oncol. 2006;33(1):74–85.
- Green MD, Koelbl H, Baselga J, Galid A, Guillem V, Gascon P, et al. A randomized double-blind multicenter phase III study of fixed-dose single-administration pegfilgrastim versus daily filgrastim in patients receiving myelosuppressive chemotherapy. Ann Oncol. 2003;14(1):29–35.
- 6. Holmes FA, O'Shaughnessy JA, Vukelja S, Jones SE, Shogan J, Savin M, et al. Blinded, randomized, multicenter study to evaluate single administration pegfilgrastim once per cycle versus daily filgrastim as an adjunct to chemotherapy in patients with high-risk stage II or stage III/IV breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20(3):727–31.
- Cooper KL, Madan J, Whyte S, Stevenson MD, Akehurst RL. Granulocyte colony-stimulating factors for febrile neutropenia prophylaxis following chemotherapy: systematic review and metaanalysis. BMC Cancer. 2011;11(1):404.
- Pinto L, Liu Z, Doan Q, Bernal M, Dubois R, Lyman G. Comparison of pegfilgrastim with filgrastim on febrile neutropenia, grade IV neutropenia and bone pain: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Curr Med Res Opin. 2007;23(9):2283–95.
- 9. Mahtani R, Crawford J, Flannery SM, Lawrence T, Schenfeld J, Gawade PL. Prophylactic pegfilgrastim to prevent febrile neutropenia among patients receiving biweekly (Q2W) chemotherapy regimens: a systematic review of efficacy, effectiveness and safety. BMC Cancer. 2021;21(1):621.
- Vogel CL, Wojtukiewicz MZ, Carroll RR, Tjulandin SA, Barajas-Figueroa LJ, Wiens BL, et al. First and subsequent cycle use of pegfilgrastim prevents febrile neutropenia in patients with breast cancer: a multicenter, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III study. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(6):1178–84.

Tislelizumab – addition – EML

# Tislelizumab

ATC code: L01FF09

# Proposal

Addition of the programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) immune checkpoint inhibitor tislelizumab to the complementary list of the EML for treatment of locally advanced and metastatic non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC).

# Applicant

Hao Hu, Institute of Chinese Medical Science, University of Macau, Macau, China

# WHO technical department

The technical team in cancer in the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases did not provide comments on the application for tislelizumab.

## EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

8.2.3 Immunomodulators

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Injection: 100 mg/10 mL

## Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

Tislelizumab has not previously been considered for inclusion on the Model List for NSCLC.

In 2021, tislelizumab was considered for treatment of adults with relapsed or refractory Hodgkin lymphoma after at least one second-line chemotherapy. However, it was not recommended due to immature data and unknown cost– effectiveness (1).

Currently, the Model List includes cytotoxic medicines (carboplatin, cisplatin, etoposide, gemcitabine, paclitaxel and vinorelbine) and targeted therapies (erlotinib, afatinib and gefitinib) for treatment of NSCLC.

The PD-1 immune checkpoint inhibitor nivolumab (with a square box indicating pembrolizumab as a therapeutic alternative) was added to the EML in 2019 for first-line monotherapy in patients with unresectable and metastatic melanoma (2).

#### Public health relevance

Lung cancer is a leading cause of morbidity, disability and death worldwide (3). In 2020, 2.2 million patients received a diagnosis of lung cancer, corresponding to 11.4% of all cancers diagnosed; 1.8 million people died from this disease, constituting 18% of all cancer-related deaths. The economic impact of lung cancer is estimated to be about US\$ 8 billion in productivity lost in developing countries (4). Moreover, in the absence of wide coverage of effective screening programmes globally, lung cancer diagnoses occur at locally advanced and metastatic stages in more than 60% of cases (5). People living in low- and middle-income countries are more likely to be diagnosed with late-stage disease due to poor access to care, lack of awareness, inadequate health care infrastructures and poor referrals to diagnosis and palliative care (6,7). Most patients diagnosed with lung cancer in an advanced or metastatic stage have a poor 5-year survival rate of 10% to 20% (3,6). The overall 5-year survival rate in the United States is 24% (8). In comparison, the 5-year survival rate in North Africa and the Middle East is only 8% (9).

More than 80% of lung cancers are classified as NSCLC (10). Targeted therapies have redefined treatment for patients with genomic alterations in driver oncogenes (epidermal growth factor (EGFR) mutations, anaplastic lymphoma kinase rearrangements, *ROS1* rearrangements, *BRAF* mutations, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 mutations, or amplifications and neurotrophic tyrosine kinase 1-3 fusions) to guide the selection of treatments. However, the greatest proportion of NSCLC, both squamous and non-squamous histology type, do not carry specific pathogenetic genomic alterations that can be treated with targeted medicines, including EGFR, anaplastic lymphoma kinase or *ROS1* (11).

Historically, patients with non-oncogene-addicted NSCLC have experienced poor survival outcomes due to a lack of therapeutic options for advanced disease. For non-oncogene-addicted NSCLC, the treatments currently included in the EML are all chemotherapies, associated with a median overall survival of about 12 months.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The application presented evidence from six phase I–III clinical trials in which tislelizumab was used (12-17). All studies included patients with histologically confirmed, locally advanced (stage IIIB) or metastatic (stage IV) NSCLC. Patients were treated with tislelizumab 200 mg every 3 weeks. Only the three phase III trials are described below.

## First-line chemoimmunotherapy

RATIONALE 304 was a randomized, open-label, multicentre phase III study evaluating tislelizumab plus platinum-based chemotherapy versus platinum-based chemotherapy alone in 332 patients in China (*13*). The primary endpoint was progression-free survival. After 9.8 months of follow-up, progression-free survival was 9.7 months in the tislelizumab arm compared with 7.6 months in the chemotherapy arm (hazard ratio (HR) 0.65, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.46 to 0.90). Objective response rates in the tislelizumab and chemotherapy arms were 57.4% (95% CI 50.6% to 64.0%) and 36.9% (95% CI 28.0% to 46.6%), respectively. Median overall survival was not reached in either treatment arm. The 6-month overall survival rate was higher in the tislelizumab arm (92.7%, 95% CI 88.3% to 95.5%) compared with the chemotherapy arm (84.6%, 95% CI 76.0% to 90.2%).

RATIONALE 307 was a randomized, open-label, multicentre phase III study evaluating tislelizumab plus chemotherapy (carboplatin plus (nab) paclitaxel) versus chemotherapy alone in 360 patients in China (14). The primary endpoint was progression-free survival. After 8.6 months of follow-up, progression-free survival was 7.6 months in the tislelizumab arm compared with 5.5 months in the chemotherapy arm. Overall survival data were immature.

The effect of tislelizumab on health-related quality of life was evaluated in patients enrolled in the RATIONALE 304 and RATIONALE 307 trials (*18,19*). Adding tislelizumab to platinum-based chemotherapy was associated with improvements in global health status/ quality-of-life scores, and reduced scores on symptom-specific subscales for coughing, chest pain, dyspnoea, haemoptysis and peripheral neuropathy.

#### Second- and third-line monotherapy

RATIONALE 303 was a randomized open-label, phase III study evaluating tislelizumab versus docetaxel in 805 patients with locally advanced or metastatic squamous or non-squamous NSCLC who had disease progression on a prior platinum-containing regimen (*17*). Coprimary endpoints were overall survival in the intention-to-treat population and the population of patients with PD-L1 tumour cell expression  $\geq 25\%$ . At the final analysis, in the intention-to-treat population, median overall survival was longer with tislelizumab than docetaxel (16.9 months versus 11.9 months; HR 0.66, 95% CI 0.56 to 0.79). Median overall survival was also longer with tislelizumab than docetaxel in the population with PD-L1  $\geq 25\%$  (19.3 months versus 11.5 months; HR 0.63, 95% CI 0.40 to 0.70). Median progression-free survival was also longer with tislelizumab compared with docetaxel (4.2 months versus 2.6 months; HR 0.63, 95% CI 0.53 to 0.75). Patients receiving tislelizumab also had a greater objective response rate (22.6% versus 7.0%) and a longer duration of response (13.5 months versus 6.0 months) compared with patients in the docetaxel group.

The effect of tislelizumab on health-related quality of life was evaluated in patients enrolled in the RATIONALE 303 trial (20). The global health status/ quality-of-life score in the tislelizumab arm improved relative to baseline from cycles five through to 10 while it declined in cycles six through to 10 in the docetaxel arm. The tislelizumab arm showed a reduction from baseline at cycle 12 in the symptom scores of coughing, chest pain and dyspnoea while patients in the docetaxel arm experienced an increase in symptoms.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

In RATIONALE 304, 222/222 patients (100%) in the tislelizumab arm and 109/110 patients (99.1%) in the chemotherapy arm experienced at least one treatmentemergent adverse event. The most common treatment-emergent adverse events in both treatment arms were haematological (e.g. anaemia, leukopenia and thrombocytopenia), and most were grade 1 or 2 in severity. Serious treatment-emergent adverse events were reported in 97 patients (33.3% in the tislelizumab arm and 20.9% in the chemotherapy arm). Discontinuation of any treatment component because of treatment-emergent adverse events was reported in 25.7% and 9.1% of patients in the tislelizumab and chemotherapy arms, respectively. Treatment-emergent adverse events leading to permanent discontinuation of tislelizumab and dose modifications of tislelizumab occurred in 11.3% (25/222) of patients and 59.9% (133/222) of patients, respectively (*13*).

In RATIONALE 307, 99.6% (237/238) of patients in the tislelizumab arm and 100.0% (117/117) of patients in the chemotherapy arm experienced at least one treatment-emergent adverse event. The most common treatment-emergent adverse event of grade 3 or higher was decreased neutrophil levels. Serious treatmentemergent adverse events were reported in 118 patients: 37.4% (89/238) of patients receiving tislelizumab and 24.8% (29/117) or patients receiving chemotherapy. Discontinuation of any treatment component because of treatment-emergent adverse events was reported in 21.0% (50/238) of patients receiving tislelizumab and in 15.4% (18/117) of patients receiving chemotherapy. Treatment-emergent adverse events leading to permanent discontinuation of tislelizumab occurred in 10.1% (24/238) of patients. Treatment-emergent adverse events leading to death were similar in treatment arms: 3.8% (9/238) for tislelizumab and 4.3% (5/117) for chemotherapy. Treatment-related adverse events occurred in 99.4% (353/355) of patients. The most common treatment-related adverse events were anaemia, alopecia and decreased neutrophil levels. Grade 3 or higher treatment-related adverse events occurred in 296 patients: 85.8% (202/238) of patients receiving tislelizumab and 80.3% (94/117) of patients receiving chemotherapy. Grade 3 or higher treatment-related adverse events were mostly haematological and consistent with known adverse events of chemotherapy. Six patients experienced treatmentrelated adverse events leading to death (three patients receiving tislelizumab and

three patients receiving chemotherapy), none of which were solely attributed to tislelizumab. Hyperglycaemia, hypothyroidism and pneumonia were the most common immune-mediated adverse events in patients who received tislelizumab therapy. Most potential immune-mediated adverse events were grade 1 and 2 and did not lead to treatment discontinuation (*14*).

In RATIONALE 303, 96.8% (517/534) of patients in the tislelizumab arm and 98.4% (254/258) of patients in the docetaxel arm experienced at least one treatment-emergent adverse event. There were fewer reported treatmentemergent adverse events of grade 3 or higher in the tislelizumab arm than in the docetaxel arm (42.1% versus 74.8%). The most common treatment-emergent adverse events of any grade in the tislelizumab arm were anaemia, cough and increases in liver enzymes. The incidence of immune-mediated treatmentemergent adverse events of all grades in the tislelizumab arm was 18.9%, with hypothyroidism (7.9%) and pneumonitis and immune-mediated lung disease (4.5%) being the most frequently occurring events. Treatment-related adverse events occurred in 74.9% (400/534) of patients in the tislelizumab arm and 93.8% (242/258) of patients in the docetaxel arm. The most common treatment-related adverse events of any grade in the tislelizumab arm were liver enzyme increases, anaemia and hypothyroidism. Grade 3 or higher treatment-related adverse events occurred in 15.7% (84/354) of patients in the tislelizumab arm and 66.3% (171/258) of patients in the docetaxel arm (17).

## WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for treatment of NSCLC are not currently available.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

A study using data from the RATIONALE 304 trial assessed the cost–effectiveness of adding tislelizumab to first-line pemetrexed-platinum chemotherapy in locally advanced or metastatic non-squamous NSCLC without known sensitizing EGFR mutations or anaplastic lymphoma kinase rearrangements from the perspective of the Chinese health care system (*21*). For the entire patient population, first-line tislelizumab plus chemotherapy was associated with an incremental cost–effectiveness ratio of US\$ 29 132 per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) gained compared with chemotherapy alone. In subgroup analyses based on factors including age, sex, performance status and PD-L1 tumour expression, the incremental cost–effectiveness ratios ranged from US\$ 27 018 to US\$ 33 074 per QALY gained. These values were below the willingness-to-pay threshold used in the analysis.

Another study assessed the cost–effectiveness of tislelizumab versus docetaxel for patients who were previously treated for advanced NSCLC in China (22). Efficacy and safety data were based on the RATIONALE 303 trial. Costs

were calculated from the perspective of Chinese health care system. Tislelizumab was associated with an incremental cost-effectiveness ratio of US\$ 18 122 per QALY gained compared with docetaxel. This was lower than the cost-effective threshold of three times the gross domestic product per capita in China used in the analysis. Utility of progression-free survival, followed by the price of tislelizumab had the greatest impact on the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio.

The application reported the current annual cost of tislelizumab as \$49300. In comparison, annual costs for pembrolizumab, nivolumab, atezolizumab and durvalumab were reported to range between \$479010 and \$759696.

#### Availability

Tislelizumab has regulatory approval from the National Medical Product Administration in China for nine indications, including those requested in the application.

Applications for tislelizumab have been submitted to regulatory agencies in Australia, Europe, the Republic of Korea, New Zealand, Switzerland, United Kingdom and United States and are currently under review.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Committee acknowledged the global burden of lung cancer and noted that most patients are diagnosed with advanced disease with metastasis which results in poor 5-year survival rates. This is especially relevant to patients in low- and middle-income countries where diagnosis at advanced stages occurs frequently.

The Expert Committee recognized that PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy has become part of the standard treatment for patients with NSCLC wild-type or non-oncogene-addicted tumours because of improvements in clinical outcomes that meet the established thresholds for overall survival benefit for possible inclusion on the Model List.

The Committee noted the evidence presented from randomized studies and additional single-arm trials comparing tislelizumab with chemotherapy for treatment of locally advanced and metastatic NSCLC which suggested promising clinical benefits. However, the Committee noted that survival data were still immature, with observation not yet reaching 2 years of follow-up, and therefore considered that the overall survival benefit associated with tislelizumab was uncertain.

The Committee also noted that the trials did not include patients based on levels of PD-L1 tumour expression. The Committee considered that preselection of patients based on PD-L1 tumour expression, as seen in other studies on immune checkpoint inhibitors, might have enhanced the patient population that would benefit from tislelizumab.

The Committee acknowledged that the reported price of tislelizumab in China (the only country where tislelizumab is current approved and available for

this indication) was markedly lower than the price of other immune checkpoint inhibitors in this setting.

The Expert Committee did not recommend the inclusion of tislelizumab on the WHO EML at this time because of uncertain survival benefit due to immature data.

## References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351172, accessed 6 October 2023).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2021;71(3):209–49.
- Pearce A, Sharp L, Hanly P, Barchuk A, Bray F, de Camargo Cancela M, et al. Productivity losses due to premature mortality from cancer in Brazil, Russia, India, China, and South Africa (BRICS): a population-based comparison. Cancer Epidemiol. 2018;53:27–34.
- 5. Flores R, Patel P, Alpert N, Pyenson B, Taioli E. Association of stage shift and population mortality among patients with non–small cell lung cancer. JAMA Netw Open. 2021;4(12):e2137508–e.
- Allemani C, Matsuda T, Di Carlo V, Harewood R, Matz M, Niksic M, et al. Global surveillance of trends in cancer survival 2000–14 (CONCORD-3): analysis of individual records for 37 513 025 patients diagnosed with one of 18 cancers from 322 population-based registries in 71 countries. Lancet. 2018;391(10125):1023–75.
- 7. Lubuzo B, Ginindza T, Hlongwana K. The barriers to initiating lung cancer care in low-and middleincome countries. Pan Afr Med J. 2020;35:38.
- 8. US Cancer Statistics Working Group. US Cancer statistics data visualizations tool, based on 2021 submission data (1999–2019). Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and National Cancer Institute. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and National Cancer Institute; 2022.
- 9. Jazieh AR, Algwaiz G, Errihani H, Elghissassi I, Mula-Hussain L, Bawazir AA, et al. Lung cancer in the Middle East and North Africa region. J Thorac Oncol. 2019;14(11):1884–91.
- 10. Molina JR, Yang P, Cassivi SD, Schild SE, Adjei AA. Non-small cell lung cancer: epidemiology, risk factors, treatment, and survivorship. Mayo Clin Proc. 2008;83(5):584–94.
- 11. Nicholson AG, Tsao MS, Beasley MB, Borczuk AC, Brambilla E, Cooper WA, et al. The 2021 WHO classification of lung tumors: impact of advances since 2015. J Thorac Oncol. 2022;17(3):362–87.
- 12. Wang Z, Zhao J, Ma Z, Cui J, Shu Y, Liu Z, et al. A phase 2 study of tislelizumab in combination with platinum-based chemotherapy as first-line treatment for advanced lung cancer in Chinese patients. Lung Cancer. 2020;147:259–68.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 13. Lu S, Wang J, Yu Y, Yu X, Hu Y, Ai X, et al. Tislelizumab plus chemotherapy as first-line treatment for locally advanced or metastatic nonsquamous NSCLC (RATIONALE 304): a randomized phase 3 trial. J Thorac Oncol. 2021;16(9):1512–22.
- 14. Wang J, Lu S, Yu X, Hu Y, Sun Y, Wang Z, et al. Tislelizumab plus chemotherapy vs chemotherapy alone as first-line treatment for advanced squamous non–small-cell lung cancer: a phase 3 randomized clinical trial. JAMA Oncol. 2021;7(5):709–17.
- 15. Desai J, Deva S, Lee JS, Lin C-C, Yen C-J, Chao Y, et al. Phase IA/IB study of single-agent tislelizumab, an investigational anti-PD-1 antibody, in solid tumors. J Immunother Cancer. 2020;8(1):e000453.
- 16. Barlow P, Jameson M, Lin C, Li J, Pirkzall A, Liang L, et al. Single-agent tislelizumab, an anti-pd-1 antibody: results from a phase 1 expansion cohort in non-small cell lung cancer patients. Abstract presented at the World Conference on Lung Cancer, 7–10 September 2019, Barcelona, Spain.
- 17. Zhou C, Huang D, Fan Y, Yu X, Liu Y, Shu Y, et al. Tislelizumab versus docetaxel in patients with previously treated advanced NSCLC (RATIONALE-303): a phase 3, open-label, randomized controlled trial. J Thorac Oncol. 2023;18(1):93–105.
- 18. Lu S, Yu Y, Barnes G, Qiu X, Bao Y, Tang B. Examining the impact of tislelizumab added to chemotherapy on health-related quality-of-life outcomes in previously untreated patients with nonsquamous non–small cell lung cancer. Cancer J. 2022;28(2):96–104.
- 19. Wang J, Yu X, Barnes G, Leaw S, Bao Y, Tang B. The effects of tislelizumab plus chemotherapy as first-line treatment on health-related quality of life of patients with advanced squamous non-small cell lung cancer: results from a phase 3 randomized clinical trial. Cancer Treat Res Commun. 2021;30:100501.
- 20. Zhou C, Huang D, Yu X, Liu Y, Fan Y, Shu Y, et al. Efficacy, safety, and health-related quality of life from a global phase 3 study of tislelizumab as second-or third-line therapy for patients with locally advanced or metastatic non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): RATIONALE 303. Lung Cancer. 2022;165:S32–S3.
- Luo X, Zhou Z, Zeng X, Liu Q. The cost-effectiveness of tislelizumab plus chemotherapy for locally advanced or metastatic nonsquamous non-small cell lung cancer. Front Pharmacol. 2022;13:935581.
- 22. Gong J, Su D, Shang J, Xu S, Tang L, Sun Z, et al. Cost-effectiveness of tislelizumab versus docetaxel for previously treated advanced non-small-cell lung cancer in China. Front Pharmacol. 2022;13:830380.

324

Toripalimab – addition – EML

# Toripalimab

# ATC code: to be assigned

## Proposal

Addition of the programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) immune checkpoint inhibitor toripalimab to the complementary list of the EML for treatment of nasopharyngeal carcinoma and oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma in combination with cytotoxic chemotherapy.

# Applicant

Shanghai Junshi Biosciences Co. Ltd, Shanghai, China

# WHO technical department

The technical team in cancer in the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases reviewed and provided comments on the application. It was the view of the technical department that there were currently insufficient mature data on the efficacy and safety of toripalimab. However, the technical team noted with interest the relevant early findings in nasopharyngeal and oesophageal cancers, and advised that further consideration could be made as additional studies are reported and a greater understanding of feasibility of use was gained.

## EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

8.2.3 Immunomodulators

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Concentrate solution for infusion: 240 mg/6 mL

#### Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

## Background

Toripalimab has not previously been considered for inclusion on the EML for the proposed indications, or any other indications.

Medicines currently included on the EML for the treatment of nasopharyngeal carcinoma are carboplatin, cisplatin, fluorouracil and paclitaxel.

Medicines for the treatment of oesophageal carcinoma have not previously been evaluated.

The PD-1 immune checkpoint inhibitor nivolumab (with a square box indicating pembrolizumab as a therapeutic alternative) was added to the EML in 2019 for first-line monotherapy in patients with unresectable and metastatic melanoma (1).

#### Public health relevance

#### Nasopharyngeal carcinoma

Nasopharyngeal carcinoma is a rare and malignant cancer. Substantial geographical variation in incidence exists with the highest incidence in southeastern Asia, eastern Asia, eastern Africa, and middle Africa (2). Overall, Asia accounts for more than 85% of the global incidence, mortality and 5-year prevalence. The geographic pattern is associated with differences in genetic susceptibility and the prevalence of Epstein–Barr virus infection in different regions. In 2020, more than 130 000 new cases and 80 000 deaths were recorded worldwide. The incidence age-standardized rate was 1.5 per 100 000 and the mortality age-standardized rate was 0.88 per 100 000 (3).

#### Oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma

Globally, oesophageal cancer ranks eighth in incidence and sixth in mortality among all cancers. In 2020, more than 600 000 new cases and 544 000 deaths occurred worldwide, corresponding to age-standardized rates for incidence and mortality of 6.3 and 5.3 per 100 000, respectively (4). The burden of oesophageal cancer varies greatly across countries and populations. Eastern Asia has the highest regional incidence rates, in part because of the large burden in China, followed by southern Africa, eastern Africa, northern Europe and south-central Asia. Of all cases, 59.2% occurred in eastern Asia, with 53.7% in China alone. As regards deaths related to oesophageal cancer, 58.7% occurred in eastern Asia with 55.3% in China alone (5).

Oesophageal cancer can be categorized into two main histological subtypes, adenocarcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma. Globally, squamous cell carcinoma is the most common subtype in both male and female patients, contributing to 85% of all oesophageal cancer cases (5). The burden of disease of oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma is greater in low-income countries than in high-income countries. About 90% of all oesophageal cancers in developing countries are squamous cell carcinoma s, compared with 66% in high-income countries, with developing countries representing 82% of all new squamous cell carcinoma cases worldwide (6).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

## Nasopharyngeal carcinoma

JUPITER-02 is a randomized, double-blind, multicentre, phase III trial (289 participants) that compared toripalimab with placebo, in combination with gemcitabine plus cisplatin as first-line treatment of recurrent or metastatic nasopharyngeal carcinoma (7). All enrolled patients in the JUPITER-02 study were Asian and 99% had non-keratinizing nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Patients were randomized (1:1) to receive either toripalimab or placebo in combination with chemotherapy every 3 weeks for up to six cycles, followed by monotherapy with toripalimab or placebo. The primary endpoint was progression-free survival as assessed by a blinded independent review committee. At the prespecified interim progression-free survival analysis, median progression-free survival was 11.7 months in the toripalimab arm compared with 8.0 months in the placebo arm (hazard ratio (HR) 0.52, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.36 to 0.74). As of 18 February 2021, median survival had not been reached (stratified HR 0.60, 95% CI 0.36 to 1.00). The estimated proportion of patients who were alive at 2 years was 77.8% (95% CI 68.0% to 85.0%) for the toripalimab arm and 63.3% (95% CI 49.8% to 74.1%) for the placebo arm. Patients with PD-L1-positive and -negative tumours had a similar median progression-free survival (11.4 versus 11.0 months) when treated with the toripalimab in combination with gemcitabine plus cisplatin. Improvement in progression-free survival was also observed in other relevant subgroups, stratified by sex, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance score, Epstein-Barr virus baseline copy number and disease stage (recurrent or primary metastatic).

At the final progression-free survival analysis (8 June 2021), median follow-up was 22.1 months for the toripalimab arm and 21.4 months for the placebo arm. Median progression-free survival, assessed by a blinded independent review committee, was 21.4 months in the toripalimab arm versus 8.2 months in the placebo arm (HR 0.52, 95% CI 0.37 to 0.73). The 1-year progression-free survival rates were 59.0% versus 32.9%. The overall response rate was 78.8% in the toripalimab arm versus 67.1% in the placebo arm and the median duration of response was 18.0 versus 6.0 months (HR 0.49, 95% CI 0.33 to 0.72). Investigator-assessed progression-free survival was 17.3 months in the toripalimab arm versus 8.1 months in the placebo arm (HR 0.43, 95% CI 0.31 to 0.58). Median overall survival was not reached in either arm, with interim results favouring toripalimab (HR 0.59, 95% CI 0.37 to 0.94) (8).

Based on the JUPITER-02 trial, toripalimab has a score of 3 on the European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) magnitude of clinical benefit scale V1.1.

#### Oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma

JUPITER-06 is a randomized, double-blind, multicentre, phase III trial (514 participants) that compared toripalimab versus placebo, in combination with

paclitaxel plus cisplatin, as first-line treatment of advanced oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma (9). Patients were randomized (1:1) to receive toripalimab or placebo in combination with chemotherapy every 3 weeks for up to six cycles, followed by toripalimab or placebo maintenance. Coprimary endpoints were progression-free survival assessed by a blinded independent central review committee and overall survival in the intention-to-treat population. At the prespecified final analysis, median progression-free survival was 5.7 months in the toripalimab arm versus 5.5 months in the placebo arm (stratified HR for progression or death 0.58, 95% CI 0.46 to 0.74). The 1-year progression-free survival rates were 27.8% in the toripalimab arm and 6.1% in the placebo arm. At the prespecified interim analysis median overall survival was 17 months in the toripalimab arm versus 11 months in the placebo arm (stratified HR for death 0.58, 95% CI 0.43 to 0.78). The 1-year overall survival rates were 66.0% versus 43.7% in the toripalimab and placebo arms, respectively.

A post-hoc analysis of the JUPITER-06 study evaluated efficacy stratified by PD-L1 tumour proportion score < 1% and  $\geq$  1% (10). The results showed significantly greater clinical benefit with PD-1 antibody plus chemotherapy versus chemotherapy alone in both the high and low PD-L1-expressing subgroups.

All enrolled patients in the JUPITER-06 study were Chinese with 100% squamous histology. An ESMO magnitude of clinical benefit scale score for toripalimab in oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma is not available.

A systematic review and network meta-analysis (five randomized controlled trials, 2163 participants) evaluated the efficacy and safety of different PD-1 inhibitors (camrelizumab, nivolumab, pembrolizumab, sintilimab and toripalimab) in combination with chemotherapy as first-line treatment for advanced oesophageal cancer (*11*). Significant improvements in overall survival (HR 0.69, 95% CI 0.62 to 0.76), progression-free survival (HR 0.62, 95% CI 0.55 to 0.70) and objective response rate (risk ratio (RR) 1.41, 95% CI 1.23 to 1.62) were observed when a PD-1 inhibitor was added to chemotherapy. Toripalimab plus chemotherapy achieved greater overall survival benefit relative to chemotherapy alone than the other PD-1 inhibitors plus chemotherapy. Subgroup analyses suggested a significant overall survival advantage in groups with PD-L1 tumour-positive scores  $\geq$  10% and longer progression-free survival in groups with PD-L1 combined positive scores  $\geq$  10.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

Treatment-related adverse events occurring in  $\geq 5\%$  of patients from the toripalimab monotherapy safety database or the JUPITER-02 and JUPITER-06 trials were reported in the application. Such treatment-related adverse events that were more common in the toripalimab monotherapy population included increased hyperbilirubinaemia, abnormal thyroid function test, abnormal creatine phosphokinase, abnormal lipids, increased amylase and proteinuria.

## Nasopharyngeal carcinoma

In the JUPITER-02 study, the incidence of grade  $\geq 3$  adverse events was similar between the toripalimab and placebo arms (89.7% versus 90.2%), as was the incidence of fatal adverse events (2.7% versus 2.8%). Immune-related adverse events were more frequent with toripalimab (53.4% versus 21.7%), including those of grade  $\geq 3$  (8.9% versus 1.4%) (7).

# Oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma

In the JUPITER-06 study, treatment-emergent adverse events of grade  $\geq 3$  occurred in 73.2% of patients in the toripalimab arm and 70.0% of patients in the placebo arm. Fatal treatment-emergent adverse events occurred in 8.2% of patients in each treatment arm, of which 0.4% in the toripalimab arm and 1.2% in the placebo arm were related to the study treatment. The incidence of serious adverse events (36.2% versus 28.8%) and infusion-related reactions (3.5% versus 3.1%) were similar between treatment arms. Treatment emergent adverse events that led to treatment discontinuation occurred in 11.7% and 16.2% of patients in the toripalimab and placebo arms, respectively (9).

# WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for treatment of nasopharyngeal and oesophageal carcinomas are not currently available.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

## Nasopharyngeal carcinoma

Two cost–effectiveness analyses evaluated toripalimab or camrelizumab combined with chemotherapy and chemotherapy alone for patients with recurrent or metastatic nasopharyngeal carcinoma from the Chinese payers' perspective (*12,13*). Compared with chemotherapy alone, toripalimab plus chemotherapy was associated with incremental cost–effectiveness ratios of US\$ 6696 (*12*) and US\$ 19 726 (*13*) per quality-adjusted life year. The medicine cost for one cycle of treatment with toripalimab (240 mg) reported in the analyses were US\$ 426.02 (*12*) and US\$ 659.40 (*13*).

## Oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma

Published cost-effectiveness evaluations for toripalimab in treatment-naive advanced oesophageal squamous cell cancer are not available.

# Availability

Toripalimab has regulatory approval from the National Medical Product Administration in China for six indications, including those requested in the application. Regulatory applications have been submitted to the United States Food and Drug Administration, the European Medicines Agency and the United Kingdom Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency and are currently under review.

#### Other considerations

The EML Cancer Medicines Working Group did not support the inclusion of toripalimab on the EML for the treatment of nasopharyngeal or oesophageal squamous cell cancer at this time because the absolute benefits are still unclear and data from trials have a short follow-up (22 months). The Working Group considered that toripalimab could have potentially high therapeutic value for the treatment of patients with nasopharyngeal cancer, a cancer which is endemic in some low- and middle-income countries with limited therapeutic options. The Working Group noted that multiple immune checkpoint inhibitors suggesting similar benefits are under development or have been granted approval for the management of advanced oesophageal carcinoma. A comprehensive evaluation of the treatment landscape is appropriate to identify those immune checkpoint inhibitors that provide the best value for health care systems. The Working Group noted that the lower price of toripalimab compared with other immunecheckpoint inhibitors and improvement of the overall survival may result in better cost-effectiveness, although the cost for treatment may still have a large impact on health budgets.

#### Committee recommendations

The Expert Committee acknowledged the global health burden of nasopharyngeal and oesophageal cancer and noted the endemic nature of nasopharyngeal cancer in low- and middle-income countries. The Committee agreed that better therapeutic options were needed for treatment of these cancers.

The Committee noted that the evidence presented in the application focused on patients with metastatic or recurrent, locally advanced disease and that the patients included in the trials were not selected based on the level of tumour expression of PD-L1, although this aspect was explored in post-hoc analyses based on aggregated data from multiple randomized controlled trials on oesophageal cancer. The Committee considered that more evidence analysing the effect of treatment based on PD-L1 expression or other biomarkers would be informative to understand whether a particular subgroup of patients might benefit more from treatment.

The Committee considered that the benefits observed when toripalimab was added to chemotherapy in first-line treatment for advanced nasopharyngeal cancer were modest, and that toripalimab was assigned a score of 3 on the ESMO magnitude of clinical benefit scale, which is lower than the accepted threshold for EML consideration. For advanced oesophageal squamous cell cancer, the Committee acknowledged that the addition of toripalimab to chemotherapy might be associated with relevant improvements in survival compared with chemotherapy alone, although the evidence is still immature, with short follow-up. A score on the ESMO magnitude of clinical benefit scale is not available for toripalimab for this indication.

The Committee acknowledged that the reported price of toripalimab was considerably lower than other immune checkpoint inhibitors. However, the price estimates were only available from China, the only country where toripalimab is currently marketed.

The Expert Committee therefore did not recommend inclusion of toripalimab on the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of nasopharyngeal and oesophageal squamous cell carcinomas. The Committee acknowledged the promising role of chemoimmunotherapy in the treatment of these cancers and recommended that the evidence for these treatments continue to be monitored for potential future EML consideration.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, Ferlay J, Lortet-Tieulent J, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin. 2015;65(2):87–108.
- The Global Cancer Observatory. Nasopharynx fact sheet. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2020 (https://gco.iarc.fr/today/data/factsheets/cancers/4-Nasopharynx-fact-sheet. pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- The Global Cancer Observatory. Oesophagus fact sheet. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2020 (https://gco.iarc.fr/today/data/factsheets/cancers/6-Oesophagus-fact-sheet.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Morgan E, Soerjomataram I, Rumgay H, Coleman HG, Thrift AP, Vignat J, et al. The global landscape of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and esophageal adenocarcinoma incidence and mortality in 2020 and projections to 2040: new estimates from GLOBOCAN 2020. Gastroenterology. 2022;163(3):649–58 e2.
- 6. Arnold M, Soerjomataram I, Ferlay J, Forman D. Global incidence of oesophageal cancer by histological subtype in 2012. Gut. 2015;64:381–7.
- Mai HQ, Chen QY, Chen D, Hu C, Yang K, Wen J, et al. Toripalimab or placebo plus chemotherapy as first-line treatment in advanced nasopharyngeal carcinoma: a multicenter randomized phase 3 trial. Nat Med. 2021;27(9):1536–43.
- Mai H-Q, Chen Q-Y, Chen D, Hu C, Yang K, Wen J, et al. Abstract CT226. Final progression-free survival analysis of JUPITER-02, a randomized, double-blind, phase 3 study of toripalimab or placebo plus gemcitabine and cisplatin as first-line treatment for recurrent or metastatic nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Cancer Res. 2022;82(12 Suppl):CT226-CT.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 9. Wang ZX, Cui C, Yao J, Zhang Y, Li M, Feng J, et al. Toripalimab plus chemotherapy in treatmentnaive, advanced esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (JUPITER-06): a multi-center phase 3 trial. Cancer Cell. 2022;40(3):277–88 e3.
- 10. Wu HX, Pan YQ, He Y, Wang ZX, Guan WL, Chen YX, et al. Clinical benefit of first-line programmed death-1 antibody plus chemotherapy in low programmed cell death ligand 1-expressing esophageal squamous cell carcinoma: a post hoc analysis of JUPITER-06 and meta-analysis. J Clin Oncol. 2023;41(9):1735–46.
- 11. Li ZC, Sun YT, Lai MY, Zhou YX, Qiu MZ. Efficacy and safety of PD-1 inhibitors combined with chemotherapy as first-line therapy for advanced esophageal cancer: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Int Immunopharmacol. 2022;109:108790.
- 12. Tian K, Han J, Wang Z, Chen J. Immune checkpoint inhibition in first-line treatment for recurrent or metastatic nasopharyngeal carcinoma: a CAPTAIN-1st and JUPITER-02 trial-based cost-effectiveness analysis. Oral Oncol. 2022;128:105842.
- 13. Zhu Y, Liu K, Ding D, Wang K, Liu X, Tan X. Chemo-immunotherapy regimes for recurrent or metastatic nasopharyngeal carcinoma: a network meta-analysis and cost-effectiveness analysis. Front Pharmacol. 2022;13:858207.

Section 9: Therapeutic foods

Ready-to-use therapeutic food - addition -EMLc

# Ready-to-use therapeutic food

ATC code: not available

## Proposal

Addition of ready-to-use therapeutic food (RUTF) to the core list of the EMLc for the dietary management of uncomplicated severe acute malnutrition in children aged 6 months to 5 years.

# Applicant

Minh Tram Le, United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), New York, NY, United States of America

Alison Fleet, UNICEF Supply Division, Copenhagen, Denmark

Jaden Bendabenda, WHO Department of Nutrition and Food Safety, Geneva, Switzerland

## WHO technical department

The application was made in collaboration with the WHO Department of Nutrition and Food Safety

## EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

9 Therapeutic foods (renamed)

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Biscuit or paste of nutritional composition as determined by the UN joint statement on the community-based management of severe acute malnutrition and Codex Alimentarius guidelines

## Core/complementary

Core

Individual/square box listing Individual

#### Background

Applications requesting inclusion of RUTF on the EMLc for prevention of severe acute malnutrition have been considered on two previous occasions by the Expert Committee. On each occasion, listing was not recommended.

In 2017, the Expert Committee acknowledged the effectiveness of RUTF in the outpatient treatment of uncomplicated severe acute malnutrition in children aged 6–59 months. The Committee agreed that improving access to RUTF in health facilities at the country level for the outpatient treatment of severe acute malnutrition is essential. However, at that time, the Committee considered that listing RUTF on the EMLc may have had implications for the availability of alternative products or formulations, including decreasing availability at the country level because of increased regulation and requirements on the production and supply chain. The Committee recommended further analysis of the implications and impacts of including RUTF in the EMLc addressing the following aspects:

- country regulatory requirements if RUTF is included in the national EML (medicine/pharmaceutical versus food) and ability of local and international producers to comply with those requirements;
- cost and access implications if RUTF is listed as a medicine/ pharmaceutical rather than a food;
- guidelines on appropriate use of RUTF, that is, only for uncomplicated cases of severe acute malnutrition and not for other children;
- progress by the Codex Committee on Nutrition and Foods for Special Dietary Uses) on the development of RUTF guidelines; and
- outcome of ongoing systematic reviews of the effectiveness and safety of RUTF (1).

Following a resubmission in 2019, the Expert Committee acknowledged once again the efficacy of RUTF for the dietary management of uncomplicated severe acute malnutrition in children younger than 5 years, many in nonhospitalized settings. However, a new report prepared in response to the request of the previous Expert Committee accompanying the application highlighted the divided opinions and ongoing uncertainty of the country-level implications of including RUTF as a medicine on the Model List. Some concerns initially raised in 2017 were still valid: the report highlighted that adding RUTF to the Model List could have unknown or unintended consequences such as more restricted access and increased costs and could potentially hinder local production. The Committee noted that, at that time, the work to establish standards and guidelines for RUTF under the Codex Alimentarius, regarding production, nutritional aspects and labelling to facilitate harmonization of the requirements of RUTF at an international level, was not yet finalized. In the absence of such standards, and without a clear indication of the potential consequences and implications at the country level of including RUTF on the Model List, and without the reassurance of a risk-mitigation plan to address any consequences, the Expert Committee did not recommend the addition of RUTF to the core list of the EMLc. In 2019, the Committee recommended that a comprehensive risk-mitigation plan for potential consequences of the addition of RUTF on the Model List would be highly relevant for any future consideration of the inclusion of this product (2).

#### Public health relevance

Severe acute malnutrition in children aged 6–59 months is defined anthropometrically using any one or combination of the following criteria: a mid-upper arm circumference < 115 mm or a weight-for-height < -3 Z-scores of the WHO growth standards, or bilateral nutritional oedema (3). This target population is identified through passive and active screening at health facilities and at the community level and this screening is integrated into national health systems using the community management of acute malnutrition model. Children detected as having severe acute malnutrition and presenting specific and severe medical complications or with complete anorexia are referred for inpatient care treatment. Children detected with severe acute malnutrition but not needing inpatient treatment and with a preserved appetite are admitted into outpatient care and given RUTF alongside the appropriate medical treatment and follow-up.

Rates of severe acute malnutrition in children have remained persistently high and progress towards the Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) target of reducing the prevalence of child wasting to less than 5% by 2025 has been limited (4). Severe acute malnutrition affects about 13.6 million children younger than 5 years on an annual basis in low- and lower middle-income countries (5). Some of the highest prevalence of the condition is reported in countries in east and west Africa, however, more than half of all children suffering from severe acute malnutrition live in southern Asia. While severe acute malnutrition has typically been linked to humanitarian crises, three out of four children suffering from severe acute malnutrition do not live in areas affected by such crises, demonstrating that this condition is a widespread public health concern (4). In the context of climate change, persistent drought, elevated food prices and COVID-19, the rates of severe acute malnutrition are rising in many countries. In 2022, 260 000 additional children suffered from severe acute malnutrition in 15 of the highest burden countries (6). In some countries, Afghanistan for example, rates of severe acute malnutrition have doubled in the last 5 years (7).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The evidence of benefits presented in the current application remained largely unchanged from the application submitted in 2019. Two systematic reviews on the use of RUTF were published in 2013.

A 2013 Cochrane systematic review included three guasi-randomized trials comparing RUTF with a standard flour porridge diet for the treatment of severe acute malnutrition. The meta-analysis found that RUTF improved recovery (risk ratio (RR) 1.32, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.16 to 1.50) but the evidence was too limited to draw definitive conclusions on relapse, mortality or weight gain (8). This review was updated in 2019 with an additional 11 studies included, bringing the total number of studies to 15. RUTF was associated with improvements in recovery (RR 1.33, 95% CI 1.16 to 1.54; six studies, 1852 participants; moderate-quality evidence) and in weight gain (mean difference (MD) 1.12 g/kg a day, 95% CI 0.27 to 1.96 g/kg a day; four studies, 1450 participants; low-quality evidence). Results were less certain for relapses (RR 0.55, 95% CI 0.30 to 1.01; four studies, 1505 participants; very low-quality evidence) and mortality (RR 1.05, 95% CI 0.51 to 2.16; four studies, 1505 participants; very low-quality evidence). A meta-analysis of two quasi-randomized cluster trials showed that standard RUTF meeting total daily nutritional requirements may improve recovery (RR 1.41, 95% CI 1.19 to 1.68; low-quality evidence) and reduce relapse (RR 0.11, 95% CI 0.01 to 0.85; low-quality evidence) compared with RUTF given as a supplement to the usual diet. The effects were imprecise for mortality (RR 1.36, 95% CI 0.46 to 4.04; very low-quality evidence) and rate of weight gain (MD 1.21 g/kg a day, 95% CI -0.74 to 3.16 g/kg a day; very low-quality evidence). The updated review concluded that RUTF likely contributed to improved recovery and weight gain, however the effects on relapse and mortality were still unknown. Different formulations of RUTF were compared with the current evidence not favouring a particular formulation over another for most outcomes (9).

A 2013 systematic review, meta-analysis and Delphi process on the treatment of severe and moderate acute malnutrition compared children who received RUTF with those who received standard care (in-patient treatment with therapeutic milks followed by provision of corn soy blend food for feeding at home). The review included largely the same studies used in the Cochrane review and the evidence was also considered to be of low quality. The meta-analysis found that children given RUTF were 51% more likely to achieve nutritional recovery (weight-for-height Z score  $\geq -2$ ) than the standard care group (RR 1.51, 95% CI 1.04 to 2.20). Weight gain in the RUTF group was also higher: this difference was statistically significant but small (MD 1.27 g/kg a day, 95% CI 0.16 to 2.38 g/kg a day). No significant differences were found in mortality between the two groups. Because of the limited number of high-quality comparative trials evaluating community-based treatment using RUTF, the authors complemented

the systematic review and meta-analysis with a Delphi process to gather and synthesize expert opinion on the plausible impact estimates of the intervention. For community-based treatment of uncomplicated severe acute malnutrition using RUTF, the Delphi process estimated a case fatality rate of 4% (range: 2–7%) and a recovery rate of 80% (range: 50–93%). Overall, the review argued that the management of uncomplicated severe acute malnutrition in children aged 6–59 months using RUTF is backed by a wealth of observational and programmatic data, despite the limited number of impact studies (*10*).

The application also summarized the results of additional studies documenting the acceptability of RUTF formulation and programme evaluation. One randomized control trial in India of 26 children with severe acute malnutrition found that children who received RUTF in addition to standard supplementary nutrition (roughly 500 kcal of energy and 12–15 g of protein) had 10 times higher odds of recovery compared the control group (odds ratio (OR) 10.28, 95% CI 1.02 to 103.95) (*11*). Another study was conducted to assess the effects of different types of RUTF (soybean, maize and sorghum RUTF with and without added milk (high iron and vitamin C arms) and peanut and milk standard RUTF (low iron arm)) on anaemia, iron deficiency and recovery. The study was characterized by high attrition, with missing data for about 30% of children in both arms. Soybean, maize and sorghum RUTF with and without added milk was associated with the lowest prevalence of anaemia and iron deficiency, and the highest recovery rate (*12*).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The 2019 Cochrane systematic review evaluated the safety of RUTF compared with standard flour porridge diet for mortality, frequency of diarrhoea and adverse outcomes. No difference was seen in mortality between the children who received RUTF and those who received standard diets (RR 0.97, 95% CI 0.46 to 2.05; three studies, 599 participants). Similarly, there was no difference in the frequency of diarrhoea (number of days of diarrhoea in the first 2 weeks of treatment) between the children who received RUTF and those who received RUTF and those who received the standard diets (MD -0.6, 95% CI -1.30 to 0.10; one study, 352 participants) (9).

The other systematic review reported did not include adverse events among considered outcomes (10).

Peanuts, chickpeas and soybeans – the main raw foods used in lipid-based RUTF formulations – contain a wide range of naturally occurring microorganisms, some capable of causing human diseases. Therefore, even low-moisture foods with sufficiently low water content to prevent the growth of bacteria can be vehicles for pathogens. Children with acute malnutrition may be more susceptible to foodborne illnesses because changes caused by malnutrition may affect their immune system and their ability to defend against pathogens (*13,14*).

For peanut-based RUTFs, the largest safety concern is contamination by Salmonella spp. Salmonellosis is a health risk even in very low doses in some foods (e.g. foods with high lipid content) and its link to foodborne disease outbreaks is well established (14). Aflatoxin, a family of toxins produced by certain mushrooms, may be present in peanuts and milk. Chronic consumption of high levels of aflatoxin in early life can affect children's growth and development, and their immune and hepatic systems (13).

Vitamin toxicity is a theoretical concern for fat-soluble vitamins A, D and E as these are present in RUTF in doses higher than the recommended daily intakes because these high doses are necessary to resolve vitamin deficiencies in children with severe acute malnutrition. If RUTF is consumed by a child without malnutrition, they may be at risk of toxicity of fat-soluble vitamins.

The Codex Alimentarius guidelines for RUTF include appropriate food safety guidance on microbiological, chemical and physical hazards associated with RUTF and its production (15).

#### WHO guidelines

The use of RUTF for the outpatient treatment of severe acute malnutrition in children aged 6–59 months has been a recommended treatment approach for more than 15 years. The 2007 Joint Statement issued by the WHO, the World Food Programme, the United Nations System Standing Committee on Nutrition and UNICEF highlighted the importance of community-based treatment of severe acute malnutrition with RUTF and recommended this approach for uncomplicated cases of this condition (3). The Joint Statement further advocates the importance of national protocols and provision of RUTF for the management of severe acute malnutrition.

The 2013 WHO guidelines for the management of severe acute malnutrition recommend outpatient treatment for children who have passed an appetite test and are clinically well. Despite the low quality of evidence identified, these guidelines include a strong recommendation for the use of RUTF for outpatient treatment (*16*). More recently, RUTF has been included in the WHO guidelines on the dairy protein content in RUTF for treatment of uncomplicated severe acute malnutrition. This guidance document on the appropriate use of RUTF clarifies which cases of severe acute malnutrition are eligible for RUTF (*17*). It addresses the concerns raised by previous Expert Committees on the lack of recommendations on when and how to use RUTF.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

A 2020 review by Action Against Hunger and Save the Children United Kingdom brought together all the existing literature on cost and cost–effectiveness of treatment of severe acute malnutrition. The review identified 21 studies, of which

20 reported the cost per treated child, and 11 cost-effectiveness data reports. The studies spanned countries in Africa and south Asia and were conducted between 2009 and 2019. Total costs per treated child ranged from US\$ 76 in Niger to US\$ 805 in Ghana, with a median cost of US\$ 196. These costs included RUTF procurement and transportation, as well as costs of delivery (e.g. infrastructure, health worker time, additional drugs delivered with the treatment package and community outreach) (18). The wide range in cost per child reflects the varying treatment methods, contexts, scale and models of implementation. For example, in the Ghana study, only 40 children were treated which is likely to have driven up the cost per child treated. Another factor influencing the large variation in costs is linked to the method used and the sources of cost information included, which differed across studies. While total cost of treatment varied significantly, the absolute cost of RUTF was more consistent across programmes. In programmes with higher total costs, RUTF accounts for a smaller portion of the total cost (RUTF was 13% of the total cost of treatment in Ghana) and vice versa (RUTF was 46% of the total cost of treatment in Niger). The total treatment cost is largely driven by the context, scale and characteristics of the programme and, to a lesser extent, by the cost of RUTF.

While the evidence on the cost-effectiveness of treatment of severe acute malnutrition is limited, treatment with RUTF using the community-based model is considered a highly cost-effective intervention. Six studies included in the review assessed the cost per disability-adjusted life year (DALY) averted. The cost per DALY averted ranged from US\$ 26 in Bangladesh to US\$ 53 in Zambia. Given that these estimates are lower than the gross domestic product per capita in the countries where implemented, the intervention is considered to be cost effective (*18*).

UNICEF, the main procurer of RUTF, reported that the weighted average price per carton of RUTF decreased from US\$ 52 in 2006 to US\$ 41 in 2021 (19). One carton of RUTF includes 150 sachets, sufficient to treat a child for 68 weeks (20). The application noted that RUTF price reductions achieved over the past 16 years risk being reversed due to the current global situation (disruption of supply chains due to COVID-19 and armed conflicts) where prices are rising for ingredients, packaging, energy and international freight.

## Availability

Over the past decade, UNICEF has been focusing efforts on integrating RUTF in national supply chains and securing domestic funding for this product. Modest gains have been made by governments in high-burden countries, although UNICEF continues to procure 75–80% of RUTF for the treatment of severe acute malnutrition. The availability of recognized international guidelines will support the integration process by providing national governments with

a regulatory framework which can be applied at the country level to ensure quality and standards. These guidelines will be able to orient governments in the procurement process and will also be an essential tool to assist in building regulatory capacity within national governments to establish their own regulatory framework for RUTF.

#### Other considerations

A recent mapping exercise by UNICEF identified 71 countries with national clinical guidelines on the management of severe acute malnutrition which includes treatment with RUTF. A further 10 countries have draft or interim guidance on the management of severe acute malnutrition using RUTF (21). The application reported that, as of November 2021, 25 countries with programmes to treat severe acute malnutrition with RUTF had included RUTF in their country's national EML. The number of countries with RUTF in the national EML was considerably higher in the African region than elsewhere. Only 18% of countries in the region of the Americas and 10% of countries in the western Pacific region included RUTF in the national EML. No countries in the Eastern Mediterranean, European or South-East Asia regions included RUTF in their national EMLs. Of the 25 countries with RUTF in the national EML, 11 classified RUTF as a medicine, seven as a food for special medical purposes and seven as other. In most countries RUTF is regulated by medicines regulatory authorities. The mapping exercise did not find any impediments or issues from regulatory agencies or in procuring RUTF when it was included in the national EML as a medicine instead of a food.

In 2022, the Codex Alimentarius guideline for RUTF was finalized, thus providing the first international reference document detailing the composition and manufacturing standards for RUTF (15). This guideline is expected to support procurement processes and provide governments with a regulatory framework which can be applied at the country level to ensure quality and standards of RUTF products. The guideline also clarifies the regulatory status of RUTF as a food for special medical purposes. One of the key concerns in listing RUTF on the EML raised in stakeholder consultations in 2018 was that this listing might lead to the application of pharmaceutical standards to the manufacturing process (22). The Codex Alimentarius guideline has determined that RUTF sits within the regulatory framework of food production, with a focus on the fact that this product is for specific medical purposes. Classifying RUTF as a food for special medical purpose will help countries by clarify that these products are specially processed or formulated, highlighting that they are only for use in the treatment of severe acute malnutrition, not for general consumption. The guidelines provide a set of quality standards for suppliers and limiting definitions and nutrient compositions of RUTF. These standards can also be used as importation requirements.
Unlike therapeutic milk products, RUTF formulas are not water-based, thus limiting bacterial growth. They can be transported and stored without refrigeration and in areas where hygiene conditions are suboptimal (3), making RUTF an ideal candidate to treat severe acute malnutrition at the community level in areas afflicted by poverty, lack of access to food, disease, and humanitarian emergencies.

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that severe acute malnutrition in children continues to be a considerable global health burden, affecting about 13.6 million children every year. Severe acute malnutrition is associated with metabolic dysregulation, impaired gluconeogenesis, disrupted amino acid or lipid metabolism, and increased risk of illness and mortality. Low- and middle-income countries are most affected and treatment services are estimated to reach less than 15% of undernourished children. The Committee noted that use of RUTF is currently recommended for use in several WHO guidelines and it is already included in national EMLs of a number of countries.

The Committee also noted that the use of RUTF for the treatment of severe acute malnutrition in children aged 6 months to 5 years is supported by evidence from clinical trials showing benefits in improved recovery from malnutrition and weight gain compared with standard care. The Committee also noted that the effects of RUTF on relapse and mortality were still uncertain, and RUTF treatment was not associated with severe adverse events.

The Committee noted that although data were limited, available costeffectiveness studies indicate RUTF to be a cost-effective intervention as part of community-based management programmes for severe acute malnutrition, and more cost-effective than inpatient treatment.

The Committee was satisfied with the information provided by the applicants addressing the specific concerns of the 2019 Expert Committee about the potential consequences of including RUTF on the Model List and associated risk-mitigation measures. The Committee was also reassured by the publication of the Codex Alimentarius guidelines which define the nutritional composition, production and labelling standards for RUTF as a food for special medical purposes. Potential risks of contamination are minimized by following good manufacturing processes which are also outlined the Codex Alimentarius guidelines.

Based on these considerations, the Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of RUTF on the core list of the EMLc, in a new section on therapeutic foods, for treatment of severe acute malnutrition in children aged 6 months to 5 years.

References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2017 (including the 20th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1006; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259481, accessed 6 October 2023).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2019 (including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1021; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330668, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Community-based management of severe acute malnutrition: a joint statement by the World Health Organization, the World Food Programme, the United Nations System Standing Committee on Nutrition and the United Nations Children's Fund. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44295, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 4. No time to waste: improving diets, services and practices for the prevention, early detection and treatment of wasting in early childhood. New York: UNICEF; 2021 (https://www.unicef.org/ documents/no-time-waste, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Levels and trends in child malnutrition: UNICEF/WHO/The World Bank Group joint child malnutrition estimates: key findings of the 2021 edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/341135, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 6. Global hunger crisis pushing one child into severe malnutrition every minute in 15 crisis-hit countries [press release]. New York: UNICEF; 2022 (https://www.unicef.org/press-releases/global-hunger-crisis-pushing-one-child-severe-malnutrition-every-minute-15-crisis, accessed 6 October 2023).
- World a "virtual tinderbox" for catastrophic levels of severe malnutrition in children [press release]. New York: UNICEF; 2022 (https://www.unicef.org/press-releases/world-virtual-tinderboxcatastrophic-levels-severe-malnutrition-children, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Schoonees A, Lombard M, Musekiwa A, Nel E, Volmink J. Ready-to-use therapeutic food for homebased treatment of severe acute malnutrition in children from six months to five years of age. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013(6):CD009000.
- 9. Schoonees A, Lombard MJ, Musekiwa A, Nel E, Volmink J. Ready-to-use therapeutic food (RUTF) for home-based nutritional rehabilitation of severe acute malnutrition in children from six months to five years of age. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019;5(5):CD009000.
- 10. Lenters LM, Wazny K, Webb P, Ahmed T, Bhutta ZA. Treatment of severe and moderate acute malnutrition in low- and middle-income settings: a systematic review, meta-analysis and Delphi process. BMC Public Health. 2013;13(Suppl 3):S23.
- 11. Shewade HD, Patro BK, Bharti B, Soundappan K, Kaur A, Taneja N. Effectiveness of indigenous ready-to-use therapeutic food in community-based management of uncomplicated severe acute malnutrition: a randomized controlled trial from India. J Trop Pediatr. 2013;59(5):393–8.
- 12. Akomo P, Bahwere P, Murakami H, Banda C, Maganga E, Kathumba S, et al. Soya, maize and sorghum ready-to-use therapeutic foods are more effective in correcting anaemia and iron deficiency than the standard ready-to-use therapeutic food: Randomized controlled trial. BMC Public Health. 2019;19(1):1–15.
- 13. Ismail A, Naeem I, Gong YY, Routledge MN, Akhtar S, Riaz M, et al. Early life exposure to dietary aflatoxins, health impact and control perspectives: a review. Trends Food Sci Technol. 2021;112:212–24.

342

14. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, World Health Organization. Microbial safety of lipid-based ready-to-use foods for management of moderate acute malnutrition and severe acute malnutrition: first report. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; 2016 (Microbiological Risk Assessment Series No. 28; https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/249581, accessed 6 October 2023).

- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, World Health Organization. Guidelines for ready-to-use therapeutic foods. Codex Alimentarius Guideline No. CXG 95-2022. Codex Alimentarius Commission. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; 2023 (https://www.fao.org/3/cc4593en/cc4593en.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Guideline: updates on the management of severe acute malnutrition in infants and children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/95584, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 17. WHO guideline on the dairy protein content in ready-to-use therapeutic foods for treatment of uncomplicated severe acute malnutrition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/340686, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Chui J, Chichon B, Donnelly A, Keane E, Mayberry A. Review of the cost-efficiency and costeffectiveness of the management of severe wasting in children. Paris: Action Against Hunger, Save the Children UK; 2020 (https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/pdf/cea-report\_final. pdf/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Ready-to-use therapeutic food supply alert June 2022. Copenhagen: UNICEF Supply Division; 2022 (https://www.unicef.org/supply/media/12591/file/Ready-to-Use-Therapeutic-Food-Supply-Alert-June-2022.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Ready-to-Use therapeutic food: market outlook. Copenhagen: UNICEF Supply Division; 2021 (https://www.unicef.org/supply/media/7256/file/Ready-to-Use-Therapeutic-Food-Market-and-Supply-Update-March-2021.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- GNC Technical Alliance Wasting thematic working group, Carr S. Updating national CMAM guidelines – lessons from previous experiences [internet]. GNC Technical Alliance; 2022 (https:// www.ennonline.net/updatingnationalcmamguidelines2022, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Meeting report: WHO technical consultation: nutrition-related health products and the World Health Organization model list of essential medicines – practical considerations and feasibility: Geneva, Switzerland, 20–21 September 2018. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https:// apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/311677, accessed 6 October 2023).

Section 10: Medicines affecting the blood 10.1 Antianaemia medicines

Ferrous salt + folic acid – new formulation – EML

#### Ferrous salt + folic acid

ATC code: B03AD

## Proposal

Addition of a new strength formulation of ferrous salt + folic acid (60 mg elemental iron + 2.8 mg folic acid) to the core list of the EML for weekly iron and folic acid supplementation for the prevention of anaemia in menstruating women and adolescent girls, and for reducing the risk of pregnancies affected by neural tube defects.

## Applicant

Nutrition International

## WHO technical department

The application was made in consultation with and support from the WHO Department of Nutrition and Food Safety.

## EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

10.1 Antianaemia medicines

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Tablet: equivalent to 60 mg elemental iron + 2.8 mg folic acid

## Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

## Background

Applications requesting inclusion of this formulation of ferrous salt + folic acid for prevention of anaemia have been considered on two previous occasions by the Expert Committee.

In 2013, the Expert Committee recognized the programmatic needs for appropriate supplementation in pregnancy, but did not recommend listing of the

formulation at that time because the available data did not show the intermittent (weekly) regimen to be at least equivalent to the daily regimen of 60 mg elemental iron + 0.4 mg folic acid (the formulation currently included on the EML) (1).

Following a resubmission in 2015, the Expert Committee once again did not recommend listing, considering that the evidence presented for efficacy of intermittent supplementation was insufficient. The overall quality of the evidence for outcomes of iron supplementation, intermittent or daily, with or without folic acid, ranged from low to moderate. The Committee also noted that evidence for better adherence with the intermittent regimen had not been adequately reported, and that commercial availability of the proposed fixed-dose combination product was limited to one country (2).

#### Public health relevance

Anaemia is a public health problem widely prevalent in several low- and middleincome countries. Despite a World Health Assembly target (2012–2025) of a 50% reduction in anaemia in adolescent girls and women 15–49 years of age, the most recent data from WHO's Global Health Observatory indicate little progress has been made in reducing the prevalence of anaemia in the past decade (*3*). For 2019, data show that, globally, 29% of non-pregnant women of reproductive age (15–49 years) suffer from anaemia. The burden is highest in South-east Asia (46%) and Africa (40%). Although data specific to adolescents aged 10–19 years are lacking globally, about 30% are estimated to be anaemic (*4*). Anaemia impairs resistance to infection and reduces physical capacity and work performance in all age groups; for adolescents, it can also have consequences for academic performance and energy to participate as an active member of the community. In addition, adolescent girls and women with anaemia who become pregnant are at higher risk of negative maternal and neonatal outcomes (*5*).

Low haemoglobin concentrations can be caused by: inherited red blood cell disorders, such as sickle-cell disease and thalassaemia; dietary inadequacy; malaria; schistosomiasis; hookworm infection; HIV infection; and some noncommunicable diseases. The proportion of all anaemia associated with iron deficiency is estimated at about 50% in non-pregnant and pregnant women and 42% in children (6). Iron-deficiency anaemia occurs as a result of inadequate intakes and poor bioavailability of dietary iron. This, in turn, causes decreased concentrations iron in the blood, leading to iron deficiency and lower haemoglobin concentrations (7).

Inadequate folate status can lead to adverse health consequences of public health significance, such as megaloblastic anaemia (folate-deficiency anaemia) and in adolescent girls and women an increased risk of pregnancies affected by neural tube defects (folate insufficiency) (8). Neural tube defects are associated with substantial mortality, morbidity, disability, and psychological and economic costs. Many are preventable with folic acid supplementation. Recent estimates, however, suggest that neural tube defects are still prevalent worldwide with 260 100 births with neural tube defects worldwide (prevalence 18.6/10 000 live births) occurring in 2015 alone (9).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

A 2019 Cochrane systematic review of 25 randomized or quasi-randomized trials (10 966 participants) evaluated the efficacy, effectiveness and safety of intermittent iron supplementation to reduce anaemia in adolescent and adult menstruating women (10). Overall, intermittent oral supplementation with iron in menstruating women increased haemoglobin concentration (mean difference (MD) 5.19 g/L, 95% confidence interval (CI) 3.07 to 7.32 g/L; 15 studies, 2886 participants; moderate-quality evidence) and ferritin concentration (MD 7.46 micrograms/L, 95% CI 5.02 to 9.90 micrograms/L; seven studies, 1067 participants; low-quality evidence) and reduced the risk of anaemia (risk ratio (RR) 0.65, 95% CI 0.49 to 0.87; 11 studies, 3135 participants; low-quality evidence) compared with no supplementation or placebo. For the comparison of weekly versus daily supplementation, women receiving iron supplements intermittently were as likely to have reduced anaemia at the end of the intervention as those receiving iron supplements daily (RR 1.09, 95% CI 0.93 to 1.29; eight studies, 1749 participants; moderate-quality evidence). Compared with daily supplementation, intermittent supplementation produced similar haemoglobin concentrations (MD 0.43 g/L, 95% CI -1.44 to 2.31 g/L; 10 studies, 2127 participants; lowquality evidence), lower ferritin concentrations (MD -6.07 micrograms/L, 95% CI –10.66 to –1.48 micrograms/L; four studies, 988 participants; low-quality evidence), and may reduce the risk of iron deficiency (RR 4.30, 95% CI 0.56 to 33.20; one study, 198 participants; very low-quality evidence).

A secondary analysis from a randomized trial in Malaysia evaluated the effects of folic acid in weekly iron and folic acid supplements compared with iron alone on haemoglobin concentration, anaemia reduction or iron status in 311 non-pregnant women treated with 60 mg iron with no, 0.4 mg or 2.8 mg folic acid for 16 weeks (*11*). After 16 weeks, no significant differences were found between treatment groups for mean haemoglobin concentration or iron status. In all women, the risks of anaemia (RR 0.65, 95% CI 0.45 to 0.96) and iron deficiency based on ferritin (RR 0.30, 95% CI 0.20 to 0.44) were lower at 16 weeks than at baseline. The inclusion of folic acid in weekly iron supplementation did not reduce anaemia or improve iron status over iron supplementation alone.

Data from a pre-post, longitudinal programme was used to evaluate the effectiveness of school-based weekly iron and folic acid supplementation over a 30–36 week school year in reducing anaemia and increasing haemoglobin concentrations in 1387 adolescent girls (10–19 years) in Ghana (*12*). A significant

346

reduction was seen in the prevalence of anaemia over one school year of the intervention from 25.1% to 19.6%, with a corresponding increase in mean haemoglobin concentration of 0.2 g/dL. Participants consumed a mean of 16.4 tablets during the study period (range 0–36). Each additional tablet consumed over the school year was associated with a 5% reduction in the adjusted odds of anaemia at follow-up, however the relationship was non-linear.

A community-based randomized trial evaluated the effect of weekly iron and folic acid supplementation for 3 months on serum ferritin, serum folate and haemoglobin concentration among 226 adolescent girls (10–19 years) in Ethiopia (13). Significant differences in haemoglobin, serum ferritin and serum folate concentrations were observed between the intervention and the control group after 3 months of supplementation. After adjusting for confounding factors, 3-month weekly iron and folic acid supplementation was associated with significant improvements of 4.10 ng/mL in serum folate, 39.1 micrograms/L in serum ferritin and 1.2 g/dL in haemoglobin concentrations relative to the control group.

Two studies compared a weekly folic acid dose (2.8 mg (14) and 4 mg (15)) with a daily dose of 0.4 mg. In both studies, the larger weekly dose was not as effective as the daily dose in raising blood folate levels above a level associated with a lower risk of neural tube defects. Another study comparing weekly folic acid doses of 2.8 mg and 0.4 mg (plus iron) found that women who received the higher folic acid dose were 7.3 times more likely to have red blood cell folate concentrations higher than the level associated with lower risk of neural tube defects (16).

#### Adherence and compliance

The 2019 Cochrane systematic review included four studies (507 participants) that examined adherence (defined as percentage of participants who consumed  $\geq$  70% of the prescribed dosage) to intermittent versus daily supplementation (*10*). Pooled meta-analysis of these studies found no difference in adherence between treatment groups (RR 1.04, 95% CI 0.99 to 1.09).

Compliance outcomes for 4417 menstruating women were reported from a double-blind randomized trial in Viet Nam in which 78% of women consumed more than 80% of the preconception supplements. Women of minority ethnicity (odds ratio (OR) 0.78, 95% CI 0.67 to 0.91) and farmers (OR 0.71, 95% CI 0.58 to 0.88) were less likely to consume more than 80% of the preconception supplements. Socioeconomic status was positively associated with more than 80% adherence (OR 2.71 highest versus lowest quintile, 95% CI 2.10 to 3.52) (*17*).

A prospective cohort study in Ghana evaluated the effectiveness of school-based weekly iron and folic acid supplementation in reducing anaemia and increasing haemoglobin concentrations in 1387 girls aged 10-19 years (12). In this study, 90% of the girls had ever consumed the tablet, and 56% had

consumed at least 15 weekly tablets. The average intake adherence was about half of the available tablets. Among ever consumers, 88% of the girls liked the tablet and 27% reported undesirable changes (primarily heavy menstrual flow).

A prospective cohort study in Viet Nam in 2017 followed up a cohort of 389 women of childbearing age from baseline until 6 years after the introduction of a weekly iron and folic acid (200 mg + 0.4 mg) and deworming (400 mg albendazole twice yearly) programme (18). Reduced but reasonable adherence with weekly iron and folic acid was reported after 54 and 72 months, respectively (76% and 72%), suggesting that the programme remained popular with the target population over time and adherence to once weekly supplements was maintained. Impediments to participating in the programme included interruption of supply and inadequate training of new health staff over the 6 years of implementation. Limitations of this study included a reduced participation rate in the later surveys. The study reported that this reduced participation was most likely due to the long follow-up period and the movement of some families out of the area. The relatively high loss to follow-up was acknowledged as a possible bias to estimates of adherence and effectiveness, as non-adherent women may have chosen not to take part, while healthier adherent women may have remained engaged.

Adherence rates of 89% and higher have been reported in programmes supported by Nutritional International in Ethiopia, Indonesia, Kenya, Pakistan, Senegal and United Republic of Tanzania.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

There are no recorded safety concerns linked to weekly iron and folic acid supplementation. Gastrointestinal side-effects from iron are well known and include black stools, nausea, constipation, abdominal cramping and vomiting.

The 2019 Cochrane review reported that women receiving iron supplements intermittently were less likely to have any adverse effects than those receiving iron supplements daily (RR 0.41, 95% CI 0.21 to 0.82; six studies, 1166 participants; moderate-quality evidence) (10).

Some concerns are emerging about potential interactions with antimalarial drugs and folic acid supplementation. A protocol for a Cochrane review to examine the effects of folic acid supplementation, at various doses, on the risk of malaria infection and severity in people living in areas with various degrees of malaria endemicity has been published (19). Currently available evidence focuses on sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine, which is frequently used to prevent and treat malaria in endemic malarial areas and works by inhibiting folate synthesis in the parasite (20). Evidence has shown that *Plasmodium* parasites can use exogenous folic acid salvaged from the host (21). At higher intakes, folic acid passes into the circulation unmetabolized and may reduce the efficacy of antifolate drugs, such as sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine.

The effect of folic acid on the therapeutic efficacy of sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine against *Plasmodium* infection has been examined in many studies in sub-Saharan Africa. In two studies of children aged 6 months to 9 years (22,23), folic acid supplementation at doses ranging from 1 mg to 10 mg daily increased the risk of parasitological failure with sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine. In a study of all age groups, folic acid reduced the time to treatment failure as assessed by parasitological examination (24). In a study of pregnant women in Kenya with Plasmodium infection, daily supplementation with 5 mg folic acid doubled the risk of treatment failure with sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine at 14 days, while a dose of 0.4 mg a day did not increase the risk of treatment failure (25). Another study of pregnant women in the Gambia found that folic acid supplementation in doses of 0.5 mg to 1.5 mg a day did not affect the efficacy of intermittent sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine in preventing malaria (26).

## **WHO guidelines**

The 2011 WHO guidelines for intermittent iron and folic acid supplementation include a strong recommendation for use of this supplementation as a public health intervention in menstruating women living in areas where anaemia is highly prevalent, to improve their haemoglobin concentrations and iron status and reduce the risk of anaemia (*27*). The suggested dose is 60 mg elemental iron plus 2.8 mg folic acid, once a week for 3 months, followed by 3 months of no supplementation.

The 2016 WHO guidelines on antenatal care for a positive pregnancy experience include a context-specific recommendation for use of intermittent oral iron and folic acid supplementation (120 mg of elemental iron plus 2.8 mg folic acid) once a week for pregnant women to improve maternal and neonatal outcomes, if daily iron is not acceptable due to side-effects and in populations with an anaemia prevalence in pregnant women of less than 20% (*28*).

In 2018, WHO published guidance that summarized the global evidenceinformed recommendations that address malnutrition in all its forms in adolescents with the aim of ensuring healthy lives and well-being in this group. In this guidance, intermittent iron and folic acid supplementation is included as one of eight evidence-based nutrition interventions and policies that could affect adolescent nutrition. This guidance draws on the recommendation made by the 2011 guidance described above for menstruating adolescent girls and women (29).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Cost-effectiveness data for weekly iron and folic acid supplementation using the proposed formulation are not currently available.

The United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) supply catalogue currently lists the 60 mg + 2.8 mg formulation at an indicative price of US\$ 1.56 for a bottle of 100 tablets. In comparison the UNICEF supply catalogue indicative price for the 60 mg + 0.4 mg formulation is US\$ 0.84 for a bottle of 100 tablets (*30*).

#### Availability

Market availability of the 60 mg + 2.8 mg formulation of iron and folic acid has been limited but has recently improved. There are currently two approved suppliers of the formulation supplied by UNICEF, who have provided nearly 1.2 million bottles of the supplement since 2019.

#### Committee recommendations

The Expert Committee noted the public health relevance of iron and folic acid supplementation in the prevention of anaemia in women of reproductive age and for reducing the risk of pregnancies affected by neural tube defects. The Committee also noted the global target of a 50% reduction of anaemia in adolescent girls and women by 2025, and that intermittent iron and folic acid supplementation is a recommended intervention in various WHO guidelines.

The Committee noted that the evidence presented in the application supported weekly intermittent supplementation being associated with similar efficacy outcomes to daily iron and folic acid supplementation, with potentially fewer adverse effects. The Committee also considered that it was likely that weekly iron and folic acid supplementation would be associated with better adherence.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of a new strength formulation of ferrous salt + folic acid (60 mg elemental iron + 2.8 mg folic acid) on the core list of the EML as a weekly administered supplement for preventing anaemia in menstruating women and adolescent girls, and reducing the risk of pregnancies affected by neural tube defects.

## References

- 1 The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2013 (including the 18th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 4th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013. (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 985; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/112729, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 3. Global Health Observatory. Prevalence of anaemia in non-pregnant women (aged 15-49) (%) [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; -2021 (https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/ indicators/indicator-details/GHO/anaemia-in-non-pregnant-women-prevalence-(-), accessed 6 October 2023).
- 4. Yang F, Liu X, Zha P. Trends in socioeconomic inequalities and prevalence of anemia among children and nonpregnant women in low- and middle-income countries. JAMA Netw Open. 2018;1(5):e182899.

 James PT, Wrottesley SV, Lelijveld N, Brennan E, Fenn B, Menezes R, et al. Women's nutrition: a summary of evidence, policy and practice including adolescent and maternal life stages. Oxford: Emergency Nutrition Network; 2022 (https://www.ennonline.net/ womensnutritionasummarytechnicalbriefingpaper, accessed 6 October 2023).

- Stevens GA, Finucane MM, De-Regil LM, Paciorek CJ, Flaxman SR, Branca F, et al. Global, regional, and national trends in haemoglobin concentration and prevalence of total and severe anaemia in children and pregnant and non-pregnant women for 1995-2011: a systematic analysis of population-representative data. Lancet Glob Health. 2013;1(1):e16–25.
- 7. Stoltzfus RJ. Iron interventions for women and children in low-income countries. J Nutr. 2011;141(4):756s–62s.
- Rogers LM, Cordero AM, Pfeiffer CM, Hausman DB, Tsang BL, De-Regil LM, et al. Global folate status in women of reproductive age: a systematic review with emphasis on methodological issues. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2018;1431(1):35–57.
- Blencowe H, Kancherla V, Moorthie S, Darlison MW, Modell B. Estimates of global and regional prevalence of neural tube defects for 2015: a systematic analysis. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2018;1414(1):31–46.
- 10. Fernández-Gaxiola AC, De-Regil LM. Intermittent iron supplementation for reducing anaemia and its associated impairments in adolescent and adult menstruating women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019;1(1):CD009218.
- 11. Samson KLI, Loh SP, Lee SS, Sulistyoningrum DC, Khor GL, Mohd Shariff ZB, et al. The inclusion of folic acid in weekly iron–folic acid supplements confers no additional benefit on anemia reduction in nonpregnant women: a randomized controlled trial in Malaysia. J Nutr. 2021;151(8):2264–70.
- 12. Gosdin L, Sharma AJ, Tripp K, Amoaful EF, Mahama AB, Selenje L, et al. A school-based weekly iron and folic acid supplementation program effectively reduces anemia in a prospective cohort of Ghanaian adolescent girls. J Nutr. 2021;151(6):1646–55.
- 13. Handiso YH, Belachew T, Abuye C, Workicho A, Baye K. A community-based randomized controlled trial providing weekly iron-folic acid supplementation increased serum-ferritin,-folate and hemoglobin concentration of adolescent girls in southern Ethiopia. Sci Rep. 2021;11(1):1–7.
- 14. Norsworthy B, Skeaff CM, Adank C, Green TJ. Effects of once-a-week or daily folic acid supplementation on red blood cell folate concentrations in women. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2004;58(3):548–54.
- Hao L, Yang Q-H, Li Z, Bailey LB, Zhu J-H, Hu DJ, et al. Folate status and homocysteine response to folic acid doses and withdrawal among young Chinese women in a large-scale randomized double-blind trial. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008;88(2):448–57.
- Samson KLI, Loh SP, Lee SS, Sulistyoningrum DC, Khor GL, Shariff ZBM, et al. Weekly iron–folic acid supplements containing 2.8 mg folic acid are associated with a lower risk of neural tube defects than the current practice of 0.4 mg: a randomised controlled trial in Malaysia. BMJ Glob Health. 2020;5(12):e003897.
- 17. Gonzalez-Casanova I, Nguyen PH, Young MF, Harding KB, Reinhart G, Nguyen H, et al. Predictors of adherence to micronutrient supplementation before and during pregnancy in Vietnam. BMC Public Health. 2017;17(1):1–9.
- Casey GJ, Tinh TT, Tien NT, Hanieh S, Cavalli-Sforza LT, Montresor A, et al. Sustained effectiveness of weekly iron-folic acid supplementation and regular deworming over 6 years in women in rural Vietnam. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017;11(4):e0005446.

19. Crider K, Williams J, Qi YP, Gutman J, Yeung L, Mai C, et al. Folic acid supplementation and malaria susceptibility and severity among people taking antifolate antimalarial drugs in endemic areas. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2022(2):CD01421.

- 20. Verhoef H, Veenemans J, Mwangi MN, Prentice AM. Safety and benefits of interventions to increase folate status in malaria-endemic areas. Br J Haematol. 2017;177(6):905–18.
- 21. Nzila A, Ward SA, Marsh K, Sims PFG, Hyde JE. Comparative folate metabolism in humans and malaria parasites (part I): pointers for malaria treatment from cancer chemotherapy. Trends Parasitol. 2005;21(6):292–8.
- Mulenga M, Malunga P, Bennett S, Thuma P, Shulman C, Fielding K, et al. Folic acid treatment of Zambian children with moderate to severe malaria anemia. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2006;74(6):986–90.
- 23. Van Hensbroek MB, Morris-Jones S, Meisner S, Jaffar S, Bayo L, Dackour R, et al. Iron, but not folic acid, combined with effective antimalarial therapy promotes haematological recovery in African children after acute falciparum malaria. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 1995;89(6):672–6.
- 24. Carter JY, Loolpapit MP, Lema OE, Tome JL, Nagelkerke NJD, Watkins WM. Reduction of the efficacy of antifolate antimalarial therapy by folic acid supplementation. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2005;73(1):166–70.
- 25. Ouma P, Parise ME, Hamel MJ, Kuile FOt, Otieno K, Ayisi JG, et al. A randomized controlled trial of folate supplementation when treating malaria in pregnancy with sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine. PLoS Clin Trials. 2006;1(6):e28.
- Mbaye A, Richardson K, Balajo B, Dunyo S, Shulman C, Milligan P, et al. Lack of inhibition of the anti-malarial action of sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine by folic acid supplementation when used for intermittent preventive treatment in Gambian primigravidae. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2006;74(6):960–4.
- Guideline: intermittent iron and folic acid supplementation in menstruating women. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44649, accessed 6 October 2023).
- WHO recommendations on antenatal care for a positive pregnancy experience. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/250796, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 29. Guideline: Implementing effective actions for improving adolescent nutrition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260297, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 30. UNICEF Supply Catalogue [internet]. Copenhagen: UNICEF Supply Division; 2023 (https://supply. unicef.org/all-materials.html, accessed 6 October 2023).

352

10.3 Other medicines for haemoglobinopathies

Deferasirox and deferoxamine - change square box listing - EML and EMLc

| Deferoxamine | ATC code: V03AC01 |
|--------------|-------------------|
| Deferasirox  | ATC code: V03AC03 |

## Proposal

Change to the representative medicine in the square box listing from deferoxamine to deferasirox on the EML and EMLc.

## Applicant

Novartis Pharma AG, Basel, Switzerland

## WHO technical department

Not applicable

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

10.3 Other medicines for haemoglobinopathies

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Deferasirox - Tablet: 90 mg, 180 mg, 360 mg

Deferasirox – Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg, 125 mg, 250 mg, 400 mg, 500 mg Deferoxamine – Powder for injection: 500 mg (as mesylate) in vial

## Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Square box

## Background

Deferoxamine has been included on the EML since 1979 as a treatment for acute iron poisoning and chronic iron overload. A review of iron chelating agents for acute and chronic iron poisoning, and treatment of sickle-cell disease was considered by the Expert Committee in 2011 (1). The Committee's findings and recommendations are summarized below.

The Committee noted that a systematic review of observational and prospective studies suggested beneficial effects of deferoxamine on morbidity

(notably cardiac disease and liver iron overload) and mortality, including subcutaneous use. In sickle-cell disease, evidence is more limited but supports the use of deferoxamine. Deferoxamine has adverse effects on growth and maturation, and auditory and ophthalmic function. The Committee considered that the main limitation of deferoxamine was however the need for prolonged parenteral administration, and a trial showed less compliance with parenteral deferoxamine than oral deferiprone.

The Committee noted that the evidence supporting the use of deferiprone consisted of small trials – mostly observational including both adults and children and summarized in a Cochrane Review in 2007 (10 trials including 398 participants). The dose used in the trials was generally 75 mg/kg a day, and reported adverse effects included neutropenia and agranulocytosis, which require weekly monitoring of blood cell counts. Gastrointestinal symptoms are common and knee arthralgia is reversible. Neurological signs at doses of more than 100 mg/kg have been reported in children. The use of the combination of deferiprone and deferoxamine was found to be more effective than single agents with promising results of normalization of ferritinaemia. The review concluded that there was no consistent effect on reduction of iron overload among various treatments. Deferoxamine was more effective on iron excretion in three of four trials. The trials did not report on mortality or end-organ damage. The Committee concluded that the evidence supporting the effectiveness of deferiprone was insufficient.

The evidence of effectiveness of deferasirox was more recent and of better quality than was the case for deferiprone. The Committee noted a large nonrandomized uncontrolled prospective company-sponsored trial in 192 patients (64 aged younger than 16 years), which showed a statistically significant decrease in cardiac iron (assessed by magnetic resonance imaging) after 1 year of treatment. A Cochrane review of deferasirox in sickle-cell disease identified only one study and concluded that deferasirox appeared to be as effective as deferoxamine, but important outcomes were missing. No data were available to support the current use of deferasirox in myelodysplastic syndromes. The Committee noted that deferasirox has renal adverse effects, which require regular monitoring of renal function. Dose-dependent increases in serum creatinine, which may occur in up to 36% of patients, may not always be reversible. Tubulopathy has also been reported in children with thalassaemia.

The Committee considered the costs of deferoxamine, including laboratory monitoring costs, adverse effects and/or worsening of underlying disease as a result of non-compliance, hospitalization, parenteral injections, need for carers and missed school days. The cost of deferasirox treatment may be 2–3 times higher than that of deferoxamine, and the cost of deferiprone could be twice that of deferoxamine. The Committee noted that several reports suggest that

deferasirox therapy is more cost-effective than traditional deferoxamine therapy, but considered that a truly unbiased cost comparison between deferiprone and deferasirox had not been published. The Committee noted that reports of cost analysis highlighted variations in acquisition costs and resources used. The acquisition cost of deferasirox is an important barrier to access, but adherence to infused deferoxamine is also problematic and administration costs also need to be considered. Although noting the advantages of the oral route, the Committee did not recommend the inclusion of deferasirox in the EML and EMLc at that stage, but recommended adding an asterisk to deferoxamine, noting the alternative oral form (deferasirox 500 mg dispersible oral solid dosage form) was available.

## Public health relevance

Iron overload is generally the result of disorders such as thalassaemia or sicklecell disease, which are associated with repeated blood transfusions. It is also associated with hereditary haemochromatosis and other conditions such as porphyria that affect iron absorption or regulation.

Thalassaemia is an inherited blood disorder characterized by reduced haemoglobin and depleted red blood cells. Thalassaemia results in the inability to form functional haemoglobin, leading to life-threatening anaemia. Patients require life-long blood transfusions, resulting in iron overload (2). The global prevalence of thalassaemia in 2019 was 13.7/100 000 (all ages), with the highest prevalence in South-east Asia, East Asia and Oceania, and the lowest prevalence in Latin America and the Caribbean (3).

Sickle-cell disease is a hereditary condition that affects haemoglobin, generating an altered form of the protein known as haemoglobin S (HbS). Polymerization of HbS may occur, leading to sickle-like deformation of red blood cells, vascular obstruction, pain and organ damage. Blood transfusions are an important supportive therapy for treatment and prevention of sickle cell disease complications. Repeated transfusions can lead to iron overload (4). The global prevalence of sickle-cell disorders in 2019 was 73.57/100 000 (all ages), with the highest prevalence in sub-Saharan Africa (3), where an estimated 240 000 babies with HbS are born each year (5).

Hereditary haemochromatosis is an inherited disorder of iron metabolism which can lead to increased systemic iron concentrations as a consequence of excessive intestinal absorption of dietary iron. Prevalence estimates using genetic screening range from 0.00006% (6) to 2.3% (7).

Porphyrias are metabolic disorders characterized by a genetically determined enzymatic defect in the haem biosynthesis pathway. They are associated with serum ferritin accumulation and iron overload. The global prevalence of porphyria has been reported to be 53 per million people (8).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The application presented the findings of multiple meta-analyses of randomized studies comparing the efficacy and safety of deferoxamine and deferasirox.

A Cochrane systematic review of nine randomized controlled trials (1251 participants) comparing deferasirox and deferoxamine for management of iron overload in people with thalassaemia reported that similar efficacy can be achieved depending on the ratio of doses of deferasirox and deferoxamine being compared (9). Deferasirox was not superior to deferoxamine at the usually recommended dose ratio of 1 mg to 2 mg. Pooled effects across different dosing ratios reported heterogeneous findings that could potentially be explained by the use of different dosing ratios. Patient satisfaction with treatment favoured deferasirox. The authors concluded that deferasirox could be offered as the first-line option to individuals who show strong preference for deferasirox, and that it may be a reasonable treatment option for patients intolerant of or poorly adherent to deferoxamine, following detailed discussion of potential benefits and risks.

A Cochrane systematic review of two randomized controlled trials (415 participants) compared the efficacy and safety of deferasirox and deferoxamine for management of transfusional iron overload in patients with sickle-cell disease (10). Serum ferritin reduction was similar in both groups (mean difference (MD) 375.00 micrograms/L in favour of deferoxamine, 95% confidence interval (CI) –106.08 to 856.08). No difference was observed between treatments for liver ion concentration for the overall group of patients (MD –0.20 mg Fe/g dry weight, 95% CI –3.15 to 2.75 Fe/g dry weight). Patient satisfaction and convenience of treatment were significantly better with deferasirox.

A Cochrane systematic review of 16 randomized controlled trials (1525 participants) assessed interventions for improving adherence to iron chelation therapy in people with sickle-cell disease or thalassaemia (11). One included trial compared deferasirox and deferoxamine monotherapy, in which adherence rates were high for both treatment groups, but from which it was not possible to determine a difference in adherence between treatment groups (MD –1.40, 95% CI –3.66 to 0.86).

A multiple treatment comparison network meta-analysis of 32 clinical trials compared the efficacy and safety of different iron chelators (monotherapy and combination) in patients with thalassaemia or sickle-cell disease (12). Relative estimates suggested that combination therapy with deferasirox and deferoxamine was associated with better serum ferritin and lower liver iron concentrations compared with deferoxamine monotherapy; however, the strength of evidence was very low for most comparisons.

A meta-analysis of six studies comparing deferasirox with deferoxamine and placebo evaluated the effectiveness and safety of deferasirox in patients with thalassaemia (13). For the outcome of reduction of liver iron concentration, deferasirox was more effective than deferoxamine when given at a dose of 30 mg/kg a day (MD –2.5, 95% CI –4.55 to –0.45). At all other doses (5, 10, 20 and 40 mg/kg a day), deferoxamine was more effective than deferasirox. Pooled analysis across all doses showed no significant difference between treatments. Similar findings were observed for the outcome of serum ferritin reduction.

The application also presented summaries of individual randomized controlled trials included in the above-mentioned systematic reviews and metaanalyses and other clinical studies (4,14-25). The applicants conclude that the body of evidence suggests that deferasirox is as effective as deferoxamine in clinical practice for treatment of chronic iron overload conditions and offers relevant advantages of oral compared with parenteral administration.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

Deferoxamine and deferasirox have been available on the market for many years, with annual patient exposures of about 7000–8000 patient treatment-years and 50 000–55 000 patient treatment-years, respectively. Their safety profiles are well known. A summary of adverse events reported in clinical studies and in postmarketing, as reported in approved United Kingdom prescribing information (*26,27*) was presented in the application. For deferoxamine, common and very common adverse reactions include headache, nausea, urticaria, arthralgia, myalgia, growth retardation, bone disorders, injection site pain, swelling, infiltration, erythema, pruritus, eschar and pyrexia. For deferasirox, common and very common adverse reactions include headache, gastrointestinal effects, increased transaminases, rash, pruritus, increased blood creatinine and proteinuria.

Deferasirox may cause acute kidney injury (including acute renal failure requiring dialysis and renal tubular toxicity including Fanconi syndrome), hepatic toxicity and gastrointestinal haemorrhage. Therapy with deferasirox therefore requires close patient monitoring, including laboratory tests of renal and hepatic function (27,28).

A Cochrane systematic review of nine randomized controlled trials (1251 participants) comparing deferasirox and deferoxamine for management of iron overload in people with thalassaemia reported no statistically significant difference in mortality, serious adverse events, or any adverse events between treatment groups (9). Increases in creatinine occurred significantly more often with deferasirox than deferoxamine. Satisfaction with, convenience of and willingness to continue treatment was significantly higher in patients receiving deferasirox who had previously received deferoxamine, and time lost from normal activities due to treatment was significantly less with deferasirox. Adherence, defined as the percentage of the planned dose taken by participants, was evaluated in one study with no significant difference observed between treatment groups (23). Data from randomized trials on rare toxicities and long-term safety are still limited.

A Cochrane systematic review of two randomized controlled trials (415 participants) comparing the efficacy and safety of deferasirox and deferoxamine for management of transfusional iron overload in patients with sickle-cell disease (10) reported that the occurrence of serious adverse events did not differ between treatment groups. Nausea, diarrhoea and rash occurred significantly more often in patients treated with deferasirox, any adverse events were reported more often in patients treated with deferoxamine.

A review of the safety of iron chelation therapies in young patients (< 25 years) with haemoglobinopathies (34 studies, 2040 participants) (*29*) found that iron chelation therapy was generally safe in young patients and in line with the safety data reported in the summaries of product characteristics. Discontinuation rates due to severe or serious adverse events were generally low for all regimens.

A meta-analysis of six studies evaluating the effectiveness and safety of deferasirox in patients with thalassaemia (13) found a significantly higher risk of increased serum creatinine (risk ratio (RR) 2.69, 95% CI 1.98 to 3.67) and alanine transaminase (RR 5.67, 95% CI 1.01 to 31.79) with deferasirox compared with deferoxamine. Gastrointestinal events, rash and serious adverse events were more common with deferasirox than deferoxamine, but differences were not statistically significant. No statistically significant difference was found between treatments for mortality.

## **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for treatment of transfusional iron overload in patient with sickle-cell disorders,  $\beta$ -thalassaemia or other anaemias are not currently available.

The use of iron chelating agents for the treatment of transfusional iron overload is recommended in many national and international guidelines (30-41).

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

National prices for deferoxamine and deferasirox dispersible tablets in least developed, lower middle-income and upper middle-income countries were reported in the application as summarized in Table 18.

# Table 18 Price of iron chelating agents in lower middle- and upper middle-income countries

| Country    | Price, US\$/g |                                 |  |
|------------|---------------|---------------------------------|--|
|            | Deferoxamine  | Deferasirox dispersible tablets |  |
| Albania    | 4.80          | 10.00                           |  |
| Azerbaijan | 9.80          | 16.30                           |  |

| Country                   | Price, US\$/g |                                 |  |
|---------------------------|---------------|---------------------------------|--|
|                           | Deferoxamine  | Deferasirox dispersible tablets |  |
| Bangladesh                | 5.10          | 4.50                            |  |
| China                     | 13.70         | 21.80                           |  |
| India                     | 1.90          | 0.97                            |  |
| Iran, Islamic Republic of | 5.90          | 7.10                            |  |
| Jordan                    | 8.70          | 22.80                           |  |
| Maldives                  | 15.40         | 3.60                            |  |
| Morocco                   | 11.50         | 15.30                           |  |
| Pakistan                  | 2.80          | 3.40                            |  |
| Philippines               | 1.30          | 1.80                            |  |
| Thailand                  | 13.20         | 15.60                           |  |

## Table 18 continued

National prices for deferoxamine, deferasirox dispersible tablets and deferasirox film-coated tablets in high-income countries were reported in the application as summarized in Table 19.

## Table 19

# Price of iron chelating agents in high-income countries

| Country  | Price, US\$/g |                                    |                                     |
|----------|---------------|------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
|          | Deferoxamine  | Deferasirox<br>dispersible tablets | Deferasirox film-<br>coated tablets |
| Bulgaria | 6.70          | _                                  | 31.50                               |
| Denmark  | 20.80         | _                                  | 9.50                                |
| France   | 10.20         | _                                  | 28.70                               |
| Germany  | 27.30         | _                                  | 4.80                                |
| Greece   | 6.70          | _                                  | 42.90                               |
| Israel   | 8.20          | 69.30                              | _                                   |
| Italy    | 8.70          | _                                  | 37.50                               |
| Portugal | 8.20          | _                                  | 32.90                               |

| Country      | Price, US\$/g |                                    |                                     |
|--------------|---------------|------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
|              | Deferoxamine  | Deferasirox<br>dispersible tablets | Deferasirox film-<br>coated tablets |
| Qatar        | 13.80         | 33.10                              | 90.20                               |
| Saudi Arabia | 5.90          | 30.90                              | 51.20                               |
| Sweden       | 8.60          | _                                  | 1.80                                |
| Switzerland  | 16.60         | _                                  | 54.40                               |

#### Table 19 continued

- means the price information was is not available or reported.

A 2017 cost–utility analysis of iron chelators as monotherapy for chronic iron overload in patients with  $\beta$ -thalassaemia major from an Italian health care system perspective found deferiprone to be dominant and the most cost-effective treatment, and deferasirox to produce a higher quality-adjusted life year gained than deferoxamine but with a greater total cost (42).

A 2020 cost-utility analysis of film-coated deferasirox versus deferoxamine in patients with  $\beta$ -thalassaemia from a payer perspective in the Islamic Republic of Iran explored two scenarios based on age at starting treatment (2 years or 18 years), estimating lifetime costs and utilities (43). Deferasirox film-coated tablets produced an incremental cost–effectiveness ratio of US\$ 1470.60 and US\$ 2544.70, respectively for starting treatment at 2 years and 18 years, compared with branded deferoxamine. The incremental cost–effectiveness ratios for deferasirox compared with generic deferoxamine were US\$ 2837.09 and US\$ 6924.13, respectively, for starting treatment at 2 years and 18 years.

A cost-utility analysis from the Chinese health care perspective also evaluated the cost-effectiveness of four chelation regimens for  $\beta$ -thalassaemia major (44). Deferiprone was also found to be the most cost-effective chelation regimen, followed by deferoxamine, deferasirox and combination therapy. Deferoxamine administration costs were estimated to range between US\$ 2000/year and US\$ 3500/year. Monitoring costs were estimated to be US\$ 20–200/year for deferoxamine and US\$ 100–400/year for deferasirox (42–44).

## Availability

The application reported that branded deferoxamine is marketed in 65 countries in the world. Generic brands are also available. Deferoxamine has been deregistered in 16 countries in the past 15 years.

Branded deferasirox (as dispersible or film-coated tablets) is marketed in 95 countries in the world. Generic brands are also available. Since the introduction

to the market of deferasirox film-coated tablets, deferasirox dispersible tablets have been discontinued in some countries.

## Other considerations

A separate application to the 2023 Expert Committee meeting requested listing of oral deferiprone as a therapeutic alternative to deferoxamine for the treatment of transfusional iron overload in adult and paediatric patients with thalassaemia syndromes, sickle-cell disease or other anaemias.

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that iron overload is a major concern for patients receiving regular blood transfusions; it is associated with multiorgan damage, particularly to the heart and liver, and leads to premature death if untreated.

The Expert Committee considered this application together with a separate application requesting the addition of another iron chelating agent, deferiprone, for the treatment of transfusional iron overload in adults and children with thalassaemia syndromes, sickle-cell disease and other chronic anaemias.

The Committee considered that the comparative efficacy and safety of deferiprone, deferoxamine and deferasirox are generally similar. The Committee considered that orally administered treatments may be preferred over intravenously administered deferoxamine.

The Committee noted that deferasirox is available in innovator and generic brands as both film-coated tablets and dispersible tablets. Dispersible tablet formulations are considered important for administration to young children and other patients unable to swallow a solid dosage form. However, the two dosage forms are not bioequivalent on a milligram to milligram basis and so care must be taken to ensure appropriate dosing using the respective dosage forms.

The Committee noted that the prices of iron chelating agents, and their availability, vary globally. Therefore, the Committee considered that having multiple iron chelating agents included on the Model Lists was important to enable countries to make appropriate national selection decisions taking into consideration relevant contextual factors.

The Committee therefore recommended that the square box be removed from the current listing for deferoxamine, and that deferoxamine remain listed independently on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc. Because of the advantages offered by orally administered iron chelating agents, the Committee recommended deferasirox dispersible and film-coated tablets be transferred to the core list of the EML and EMLc, with a square box indicating oral deferiprone as a therapeutic alternative. References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2011 (including the 17th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 3rd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 965; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44771, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Kuo KHM, Mrkobrada M. A systematic review and meta-analysis of deferiprone monotherapy and in combination with deferoxamine for reduction of iron overload in chronically transfused patients with β-thalassemia. Hemoglobin. 2014;38(6):409–21.
- 3. Global Burden of Disease database [internet]. Seattle, WA: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation; 2019 (https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-results/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Vichinsky E, Torres M, Minniti CP, Barrette S, Habr D, Zhang Y, et al. Efficacy and safety of deferasirox compared with deferoxamine in sickle cell disease: two-year results including pharmacokinetics and concomitant hydroxyurea. Am J Hematol. 2013;88(12):1068–73.
- Piel FB, Patil AP, Howes RE, Nyangiri OA, Gething PW, Dewi M, et al. Global epidemiology of sickle haemoglobin in neonates: a contemporary geostatistical model-based map and population estimates. Lancet. 2013;381(9861):142–51.
- 6. Wallace DF, Subramaniam VN. The global prevalence of HFE and non-HFE hemochromatosis estimated from analysis of next-generation sequencing data. Genet Med. 2016;18(6):618–26.
- WHO guideline on use of ferritin concentrations to assess iron status in individuals and populations. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331505, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 8. Prevalence and incidence of rare diseases: bibliographic data. Paris: Orphanet; 2022 (https://www. orpha.net/orphacom/cahiers/docs/GB/Prevalence\_of\_rare\_diseases\_by\_alphabetical\_list.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 9. Bollig C, Schell LK, Rücker G, Allert R, Motschall E, Niemeyer CM, et al. Deferasirox for managing iron overload in people with thalassaemia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;8(8):CD007476.
- 10. Meerpohl JJ, Antes G, Rücker G, Fleeman N, Niemeyer C, Bassler D. Deferasirox for managing transfusional iron overload in people with sickle cell disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2010(8):CD007477.
- 11. Fortin PM, Fisher SA, Madgwick KV, Trivella M, Hopewell S, Doree C, et al. Interventions for improving adherence to iron chelation therapy in people with sickle cell disease or thalassaemia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018;5(5):Cd012349.
- 12. Sridharan K, Sivaramakrishnan G. Efficacy and safety of iron chelators in thalassemia and sickle cell disease: a multiple treatment comparison network meta-analysis and trial sequential analysis. Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol. 2018;11(6):641–50.
- 13. Dou H, Qin Y, Chen G, Zhao Y. Effectiveness and safety of deferasirox in thalassemia with iron overload: a meta-analysis. Acta Haematol. 2019;141(1):32–42.
- 14. Cappellini MD, Cohen A, Piga A, Bejaoui M, Perrotta S, Agaoglu L, et al. A phase 3 study of deferasirox (ICL670), a once-daily oral iron chelator, in patients with beta-thalassemia. Blood. 2006;107 (9):3455–62.
- Al-Kuraishy H, Al-Gareeb A. Comparison of deferasirox and deferoxamine effects on iron overload and immunological changes in patients with blood transfusion-dependent β-thalassemia. Asian J Transfus Sci. 2017;11(1):13–7.

362

16. Ansari S, Azarkeivan A, Miri-Aliabad G, Yousefian S, Rostami T. Comparison of iron chelation effects of deferoxamine, deferasirox, and combination of deferoxamine and deferiprone on liver and cardiac T2\* MRI in thalassemia maior. Caspian J Intern Med. 2017;8(3):159–64.

- 17. Chirico V, Lacquaniti A, Salpietro V, Luca N, Ferraù V, Piraino B, et al. Thyroid dysfunction in thalassaemic patients: ferritin as a prognostic marker and combined iron chelators as an ideal therapy. Eur J Endocrinol. 2013;169(6):785–93.
- Goulas V, Kouraklis-Symeonidis A, Manousou K, Lazaris V, Pairas G, Katsaouni P, et al. A multicenter cross-sectional study of the quality of life and iron chelation treatment satisfaction of patients with transfusion-dependent β-thalassemia, in routine care settings in Western Greece. Qual Life Res. 2021;30(2):467–77.
- 19. Habibian N. Comparison of therapeutic effect of osveral & desferal in patients with thalassemia (Bahonar hospital in Karaj 2012–2013). Iran J Pediatr. 2014;24(2):27.
- Hassan MAM, Tolba OA. Iron chelation monotherapy in transfusion-dependent beta-thalassemia major patients: a comparative study of deferasirox and deferoxamine. Electron Physician. 2016;8(5):2425–31.
- Molavi MA, Doozandeh H, Nazemi AM, Evazi R, Mansoori F. Comparison of therapeutic response and complications of oral osveral and injection desfereal chelating agent in patient with thalassemia major. Asian J Med Pharm Res. 2013;3(3):93–7.
- Peng P, Long L, Huang Z, Zhang L, Li X, Feng X, et al. Comparison of deferasirox and deferoxamine treatment in iron-overloaded patients: Liver iron concentration determined by quantitative MRI-R2\*. Chinese J Radiol. 2013;47(1):55–9.
- Pennell DJ, Porter JB, Piga A, Lai Y, El-Beshlawy A, Belhoul KM, et al. A 1-year randomized controlled trial of deferasirox vs deferoxamine for myocardial iron removal in β-thalassemia major (CORDELIA). Blood. 2014;123(10):1447–54.
- 24. Piga A, Galanello R, Forni GL, Cappellini MD, Origa R, Zappu A, et al. Randomized phase II trial of deferasirox (Exjade, ICL670), a once-daily, orally-administered iron chelator, in comparison to deferoxamine in thalassemia patients with transfusional iron overload. Haematologica. 2006;91(7):873–80.
- Vichinsky E, Onyekwere O, Porter J, Swerdlow P, Eckman J, Lane P, et al. A randomised comparison of deferasirox versus deferoxamine for the treatment of transfusional iron overload in sickle cell disease. Br J Haematol. 2007;136(3):501–8.
- Desferal. Summary of product characteristics. London: Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency; 2020 (https://mhraproducts4853.blob.core.windows.net/docs/983b1c4ef59 4b39eb133e44fb0fa1dac0bbc016a, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Exjade Summary of product characteristics. London: Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency; 2022 (https://mhraproducts4853.blob.core.windows.net/docs/94d15dab1d 1fc43b79f4962143e0049b7b94cf0e, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Prescribing Information. EXJADE (deferasirox) tablets for oral suspension. U.S. Food and Drug Administration; revised July 2020 (https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/ label/2020/021882s033lbl.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 29. Botzenhardt S, Li N, Chan EW, Sing CW, Wong IC, Neubert A. Safety profiles of iron chelators in young patients with haemoglobinopathies. Eur J Haematol. 2017;98(3):198–217.
- Cappenelli MD, Farmakis D, Porter J, Taher A, editors. Guidelines for the management of transfusion dependent thalassemia (TDT). Fourth edition (version 2.0). Strovolos: Thalassaemia International Federation; 2021.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 31. Ho PJ, Tay L, Lindeman R, Catley L, Bowden DK. Australian guidelines for the assessment of iron overload and iron chelation in transfusion-dependent thalassaemia major, sickle cell disease and other congenital anaemias. Intern Med J. 2011;41(7):516–24.
- 32. Veríssimo MP, Loggetto SR, Fabron Junior A, Baldanzi GR, Hamerschlak N, Fernandes JL, et al. Brazilian Thalassemia Association protocol for iron chelation therapy in patients under regular transfusion. Rev Bras Hematol Hemoter. 2013;35(6):428–34.
- 33. Sickle cell disease consensus statement [internet]. Canadian Haemoglobinopathy Association; 2018 (https://www.canhaem.org/scd-consensus-statement/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 34. Protocole National de Diagnostic et de Soins (PNDS). Syndromes thalassémiques majeurs et intermédiaires. Texte du PNDS. Filière de santé maladies rares [National Diagnostic and Care Protocol (PNDS). Major and intermediate thalassemia syndromes. Text of the PNDS. Rare diseases health sector]. MCGRE; 2021 (https://www.has-sante.fr/upload/docs/application/pdf/2021-07/ pnds\_syndromes\_thalassemiques\_majeurs\_et\_intermediaires.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 35. Angelucci E, Barosi G, Camaschella C, Cappellini MD, Cazzola M, Galanello R, et al. Italian Society of Hematology practice guidelines for the management of iron overload in thalassemia major and related disorders. Haematologica. 2008;93(5):741–52.
- Casale M, Casciana ML, Ciliberti A, Colombatti R, Vecchio CD, Fasoli S, et al. Linee-Guida Per La Gestione Della Malattia Drepanocitica in Eta ' Pediatrica in Italia [Guidelines for the management of pediatric sickle cell disease in Italy] [internet]. Associazione Italiana Ematologia Oncologia Pediatrica; 2018 (https://www.aieop.org/web/operatori-sanitari/linee-guida-consensum/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Evidence-based management of sickle cell disease. Expert panel report, 2014. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. Washington, DC: United States Department of Health and Human Services (https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/sites/default/files/media/docs/sickle-cell-disease-report%20 020816\_0.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 38. Chou ST, Alsawas M, Fasano RM, Field JJ, Hendrickson JE, Howard J, et al. American Society of Hematology 2020 guidelines for sickle cell disease: transfusion support. Blood Adv. 2020;4(2):327–55.
- 39. Clinical Commissioning Policy: treatment of iron overload for transfused and non-transfused patients with chronic inherited anaemias (all ages). London: NHS England; 2022 (https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/clinical-commissioning-policy-treatment-of-iron-overload-for-transfused-and-non-transfused-patients/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 40. Shah FT, Porter JB, Sadasivam N, Kaya B, Moon JC, Velangi M, et al. Guidelines for the monitoring and management of iron overload in patients with haemoglobinopathies and rare anaemias. Br J Haematol. 2022;196(2):336–50.
- 41. Davis BA, Allard S, Qureshi A, Porter JB, Pancham S, Win N, et al. Guidelines on red cell transfusion in sickle cell disease Part II: indications for transfusion. Br J Haematol. 2017;176(2):192–209.
- 42. Pepe A, Rossi G, Bentley A, Putti MC, Frizziero L, D'Ascola DG, et al. Cost-utility analysis of three iron chelators used in monotherapy for the treatment of chronic iron overload in β-thalassaemia major patients: an Italian perspective. Clin Drug Investig. 2017;37(5):453–64.
- 43. Saiyarsarai P, Khorasani E, Photogeraphy H, Ghaffari Darab M, Seyedifar M. Cost-utility of new filmcoated tablet formulation of deferasirox vs deferoxamine among major beta-thalassemia patients in Iran. Medicine. 2020;99(28):e20949–e.
- Li J, Wang P, Li X, Wang Q, Zhang J, Lin Y. Cost-utility analysis of four chelation regimens for β-thalassemia major: a Chinese perspective. Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis. 2020;12(1):e2020029.

364

Deferiprone – addition – EML and EMLc

## Deferiprone

ATC code: V03AC02

# Proposal

Addition of deferiprone to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc as a therapeutic alternative to deferoxamine for treatment of transfusional iron overload in adult and paediatric patients with thalassaemia syndromes, sickle-cell disease or other anaemias.

## Applicant

Chiesi Farmaceutici S.p.A, Parma, Italy

## WHO technical department

Not applicable

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

10.3 Other medicines for haemoglobinopathies

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Oral liquid: 100 mg/mL Tablet (immediate-release): 500 mg, 1000 mg Tablet (modified-release): 1000 mg

## Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing

Square box

# Background

Deferiprone was previously considered by the Expert Committee in 2011 as part of a review of iron chelation therapy for acute iron poisoning in children (1). The outcome of this review was the listing of deferoxamine injection on the EML and EMLc as an antidote for acute iron poisoning and for treatment of sicklecell disease. Oral deferasirox was noted as a therapeutic alternative for sickle-cell disease. Deferiprone was not recommended for listing. The Committee's findings and recommendations are summarized below. The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

The Committee noted that a systematic review of observational and prospective studies suggested beneficial effects of deferoxamine on morbidity (notably cardiac disease and liver iron overload) and mortality, including subcutaneous use. In sickle-cell disease, evidence is more limited but supports the use of deferoxamine. Deferoxamine has adverse effects on growth and maturation, and auditory and ophthalmic function. The Committee considered that the main limitation of deferoxamine was however the need for prolonged parenteral administration, and a trial showed less compliance with parenteral deferoxamine than oral deferiprone.

The Committee noted that the evidence supporting the use of deferiprone consisted of small trials – mostly observational including both adults and children summarized in a Cochrane Review from 2007 (10 trials including 398 participants). The dose used in trials was generally 75 mg/kg a day, and reported adverse effects included neutropenia and agranulocytosis, which require weekly monitoring of blood cell counts. Gastrointestinal symptoms are common and knee arthralgia is reversible. Neurological signs at doses of more than 100 mg/kg have been reported in children. The use of the combination of deferiprone and deferoxamine was found to be more effective than single agents with promising results of normalization of ferritinaemia. The review concluded that there was no consistent effect on reduction of iron overload among various treatments. Deferoxamine was more effective on iron excretion in three of four trials. Trials did not report on mortality or end-organ damage. The Committee concluded that the evidence supporting the effectiveness of deferiprone was insufficient.

The evidence of effectiveness of deferasirox was more recent and of better quality than was the case for deferiprone. The Committee noted a large nonrandomized uncontrolled prospective company-sponsored trial in 192 patients (64 aged younger than 16 years), which showed a statistically significant decrease in cardiac iron (assessed by magnetic resonance imaging) after 1 year of treatment. A Cochrane review of deferasirox in sickle-cell disease identified only one study and concluded that deferasirox appeared to be as effective as deferoxamine, but important outcomes were missing. No data were available to support the current use of deferasirox in myelodysplastic syndromes. The Committee noted that deferasirox has adverse renal effects, which require regular monitoring of renal function. Dose-dependent increases in serum creatinine, which may occur in up to 36% of patients, may not always be reversible. Tubulopathy has also been reported in children with thalassaemia.

The Committee considered the costs of deferoxamine, including laboratory monitoring cost, adverse effects and/or worsening of underlying disease as a result of non-compliance, hospitalization, parenteral injections, need for carers and missed school days. The cost of deferasirox treatment may be two to three times higher than that of deferoxamine, and the cost of deferiprone could

366

be twice that of deferoxamine. The Committee noted that several reports suggest that deferasirox therapy is more cost-effective than traditional deferoxamine therapy but considered that a truly unbiased cost comparison between deferiprone and deferasirox had not been published. The Committee noted that reports of cost analysis highlighted variations in acquisition costs and resources used. The acquisition cost of deferasirox is an important barrier to access, but adherence to infused deferoxamine is also problematic and administration costs also need to be considered. Although noting the advantages of the oral route, the Committee did not recommend the inclusion of deferoxin in the EML and EMLc at that stage, but recommended adding an asterisk to deferoxamine, noting the alternative oral form (deferasirox 500 mg dispersible oral solid dosage form) was available.

#### Public health relevance

Sickle-cell disease is a multisystem disorder that affects almost every organ in the body. It is characterized by the presence of sickle haemoglobin which causes sickle-shaped erythrocytes. It is a life-threatening disease that leads to haemolytic anaemia and blockages in small blood vessels, which may potentially lead to ischaemia, infarction and organ damage (2). Sickle-cell disease is one of the most common haemoglobinopathies worldwide and is recognized by WHO as a global public health problem (3). Worldwide in 2019, 605 00 people were born with sickle-cell disorders, an estimated 5.7 million people were living with sickle-cell disorders and 42 000 people died as a result of sickle-cell disorders (all ages) (4). The prevalence of sickle-cell disorders varies by region and is highest in Africa, Mediterranean countries and the Middle East (5,6). More than half of all individuals living with sickle cell disorders live in sub-Saharan Africa or India (5).

The condition  $\beta$ -thalassaemia is an inherited haemoglobinopathy in which the reduced or absent production of functional haemoglobin results in severe and life-threatening anaemia. The annual incidence of symptomatic individuals with  $\beta$ -thalassaemia is estimated to be 1 in 100 000. The incidence of  $\beta$ -thalassaemia varies by region. About 60 000 people are born each year with symptomatic  $\beta$ -thalassaemia. The prevalence is highest in the Mediterranean region, the Middle East, central Asia, India, southern China, and east and southeast Asia (7).

Blood transfusions are one of the cornerstones in the management of sickle-cell disease and  $\beta$ -thalassaemia. A main cause of morbidity in patients with these conditions is iron overload due to chronic blood transfusions (8–10). Untreated or inadequately treated iron overload can lead to complications such as liver fibrosis and cirrhosis, hepatocellular carcinoma, cardiomyopathy and endocrine disorders (11–13).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

#### Sickle-cell disease

The application presented the findings of a systematic literature review and network meta-analysis which indirectly compared deferiprone, deferasirox and deferoxamine in patients with sickle-cell disease. Efficacy endpoints were change from baseline to 12 months in liver iron concentration and serum ferritin. Two randomized, open-label trials (423 participants) were included (*14,15*).

#### Liver iron concentration

In the intention-to-treat population, the mean difference (MD) from baseline to 12 months relative to deferiprone was -0.40 (95% credible Interval (CrI) -1.70 to 0.89) for deferoxamine and -0.68 (95% CrI -3.63 to 2.25) for deferasirox. The MD relative to deferiprone using the sickle-cell disease subpopulation was -0.58 (95% CrI -1.83 to 0.66) for deferoxamine and -0.84 (95% CrI -3.74 to 2.19) for deferasirox. The MD relative to deferiprone using the subpopulation with serum creatinine lower than the upper limit of normal was -0.43 (95% CrI -1.70 to 0.85) for deferoxamine and -0.72 (95% CrI -3.86 to 2.25) for deferasirox. No statistically significant differences between deferiprone and deferoxamine or deferasirox were found, nor between deferoxamine and deferosirox.

#### Serum ferritin

In the intention-to-treat population, the MD from baseline to 12 months relative to deferiprone was -364.39 (95% CrI -961.37 to 237.22) for deferoxamine and 11.15 (95% CrI -688.24 to 712.52) for deferasirox. Deferoxamine was numerically preferable to deferasirox (MD -376.15, 95% CrI -739.09 to -5.29). For the sickle-cell disease subpopulation, the MD relative to deferiprone was -556.18 (95% CrI -1217.68 to 117.79) for deferoxamine and -182.56 (95% CrI -942.53 to 588.51) for deferasirox. Deferoxamine was numerically preferable to deferasirox (MD -374.70, 95% CrI -738.39 to -7.08). For the subpopulation with serum creatinine lower than the upper limit of normal, the MD relative to deferiprone was -387.68 (95% CrI -994.05 to 211.54) for deferoxamine and -12.77 (95% CrI -724.22 to 692.78) for deferasirox. Deferoxamine was numerically preferable to deferasirox (MD -373.59, 95% CrI -740.39 to -6.34).

#### β-thalassaemia

The application presented the findings of a systematic literature review and network meta-analysis that indirectly compared deferiprone, deferasirox and deferoxamine in patients with  $\beta$ -thalassaemia. Efficacy endpoints were change from baseline to 12 months in liver iron concentration, serum ferritin, cardiac MRI T2<sup>\*</sup> and left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF). Six randomized trials (1129 participants) were included (*16–21*).

#### Liver iron concentration

Four randomized controlled trials reported on liver iron concentration (16,17,20,21). Pooled analysis of two randomized controlled trials comparing deferiprone and deferoxamine monotherapy (16,17) showed no significant difference between treatments on liver iron concentration (weighted MD –0.16 mg/g dry weight (95% confidence interval (CI) –1.39 to 1.06 mg/g). An indirect comparison of deferiprone and deferasirox via deferoxamine showed no statistically significant difference between treatment arms. One randomized controlled trial comparing deferiprone–deferoxamine sequential therapy with deferoxamine monotherapy reported no statistically significant difference between treatment arms, although the effect was numerically larger in the deferoxamine monotherapy arm. An indirect comparison of deferiprone–deferoxamine sequential therapy with deferiprone-deferoxamine sequential therapy arm. An indirect comparison of deferiprone–deferoxamine sequential therapy showed no statistically significant difference.

#### Serum ferritin

Five randomized controlled trials reported on serum ferritin (16,17,19-21). Pooled analysis of two randomized controlled trials comparing deferiprone and deferoxamine monotherapy (16,17) showed no significant difference between treatments on serum ferritin levels (weighted MD 92.56, 95% CI – 154.49 to 339.61). An indirect comparison of deferiprone and deferasirox via deferoxamine showed deferiprone to be significantly more effective, while an indirect comparison via deferiprone-deferoxamine sequential therapy did not show a significant difference. Meta-analyses of the randomized controlled trial comparing deferasirox and deferoxamine (21) showed high heterogeneity between subgroups with different baseline liver iron concentration levels, in which smaller differences in effect size were observed for patients with higher baseline liver iron concentration. To test the effect of this heterogeneity on the indirect comparison of deferiprone and deferasirox, a sensitivity analysis including only patients with baseline liver iron concentration  $\geq$  7 mg/g dry weight was conducted, which suggested deferiprone and deferasirox were equally efficacious in their effect on serum ferritin. One randomized controlled trial comparing sequential deferiprone-deferoxamine and deferoxamine monotherapy showed no significant difference in effect on serum ferritin. Another randomized controlled trial comparing sequential deferipronedeferoxamine and deferiprone monotherapy showed a greater improvement in serum ferritin with sequential therapy compared with deferiprone monotherapy (weighted MD -285.00, 95% CI -495.46 to -74.54).

#### Cardiac T2\*

Two randomized controlled trials reported log-transformed cardiac MRI T2\* (16,18). One trial comparing deferiprone and deferoxamine showed a significant improvement in cardiac iron in patients treated with deferiprone compared with

deferoxamine (ratio of geometric means 1.12, 95% CI 1.07 to 1.17) (*16*). One trial comparing deferiprone–deferoxamine combination therapy versus deferoxamine monotherapy showed a significant improvement in cardiac iron for the combination therapy arm (ratio of geometric means 1.1, 95% CI 1.2 to 1.19) (*18*). Indirect comparison of deferiprone versus deferiprone–deferoxamine combination therapy (via deferoxamine monotherapy) showed no significant difference in effect between treatments (ratio of geometric means 0.98, 95% CI 0.89 to 1.08).

#### Left ventricular ejection fraction

Two randomized controlled trials reported improvements in left ventricular ejection fraction in patients treated with deferiprone compared with deferoxamine (*16,17*). A random-effects meta-analysis showed deferiprone was associated with a 2.1% greater absolute improvement in left ventricular ejection fraction compared with deferoxamine (weighted MD 0.02, 95% CI 0.00 to 0.04). One randomized controlled trials comparing deferiprone–deferoxamine combination therapy with deferoxamine alone (*18*), and indirectly comparing combination therapy with deferiprone monotherapy (via deferoxamine monotherapy), did not show statistically significant differences between treatments.

#### **Combination therapy**

Evidence supports the use of combination therapy with iron chelating agents to increase the effectiveness of treatment in patients who do not adequately respond to monotherapy, or when prevention or treatment of life-threatening consequences of iron overload justifies rapid intensive correction (18-20,22-24). Combination therapy is also recommended for certain patients in the guidelines of the Thalassaemia International Federation (13) and the British Society for Haematology (25).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

#### Sickle-cell disease

The most common adverse reactions reported during clinical trials occurring in  $\geq 5\%$  of patients treated with deferiprone include pyrexia (28%), abdominal pain (26%), bone pain (25%), headache (20%), vomiting (19%) and extremity pain (18%). Clinically relevant adverse reactions occurring in < 5% of patients treated with deferiprone include neutropenia and agranulocytosis (26).

In patients treated with deferiprone in the FIRST trial, those with sicklecell disease and other anaemias who received deferiprone were more likely to experience a treatment-related increase in alanine aminotransferase compared with patients who received deferoxamine (9.2% versus 0%) (14). In an Italian randomized controlled trial comparing deferiprone with deferoxamine in sicklecell disease, 10% of patients receiving deferiprone experienced liver damage or increased alanine aminotransferase more than twice the normal value, compared with no patients treated with deferoxamine (27). Greater increases in serum creatinine have been reported with deferasirox compared with deferoxamine (6.3 micromol/L versus 3.06 micromol/L, respectively) (15). Neutropenia and agranulocytosis were more commonly reported in studies evaluating deferiprone, with the percentage of patients affected ranging from 5.9% to 9.0% for neutropenia and 0% to 1.5% for agranulocytosis.

# β-thalassaemia

The most common adverse reactions reported during clinical trials occurring in  $\geq 5\%$  of patients treated with deferiprone include nausea (12.6%), abdominal pain (10.0%), vomiting (9.8%), arthralgia (9.8%), increased alanine aminotransferase (7.5%) and neutropenia (6.2%) (26,28). A lack of consistent data-reporting prevented robust statistical analysis of safety data in randomized controlled trials on  $\beta$ -thalassaemia.

# Combination therapy

Clinical experience with combination use of deferiprone and deferoxamine suggests no significant toxicity issues with the combination (29). Adverse events associated with combination therapy with deferiprone and deferasirox were reported to be consistent with those reported for component monotherapy. The most common adverse events included gastrointestinal symptoms, elevation in alanine aminotransferase and/or aspartate aminotransferase, arthralgia/joint symptoms, increased serum creatinine, proteinuria and red-coloured urine. The number of patients experiencing neutropenia or thrombocytopenia was low (30).

# Paediatric use

A study with 100 children aged 1–10 years with transfusion-dependent anaemia treated with deferiprone oral solution did not identify any new safety concerns compared with other studies of deferiprone tablets in older children and adults (*31*). In a randomized controlled trial comparing deferiprone and deferasirox in paediatric patients aged 1 month to 18 years with transfusion-dependent haemoglobinopathies, deferiprone had an acceptable safety profile. No significant differences were seen between treatment arms in serious and drug-related adverse events. Adverse events were similar to those seen in the adult population. No safety concerns in very young children were identified (*22*).

# WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for the treatment of transfusional iron overload in patient with sickle-cell disorders,  $\beta$ -thalassaemia or other anaemias are not currently available.

The use of iron chelating agents for the treatment of transfusional iron overload is recommended in multiple national and international guidelines (13,25,32-41).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

A systematic review of 19 cost–utility studies evaluated the cost–effectiveness of four chelation regimens for  $\beta$ -thalassaemia major therapy – deferoxamine, deferiprone or deferasirox monotherapy, and deferoxamine + deferiprone combination therapy (42). Deferiprone was found to be cost-effective compared with deferasirox in three studies, compared with deferoxamine in three studies, and compared with combination therapy in one study. The authors concluded that for iron chelator monotherapy, deferiprone was the most cost-effective option, followed by deferoxamine and deferasirox. However, the authors noted substantial differences in costs between countries and regions and that the local economic context played a substantial role in the results of the pharmacoeconomic evaluation. National prices for iron chelators are summarized in Table 20.

| Country                  | Price, US\$/g |             |             |
|--------------------------|---------------|-------------|-------------|
|                          | Deferoxamine  | Deferiprone | Deferasirox |
| Australia                | 8.52–9.34     | 3.04        | 33.60       |
| China                    | 20.00         | _           | 60.70       |
| Italy                    | 31.68         | 4.19        | _           |
| Poland                   | 12.69         | 3.38        | 1.89        |
| Thailand                 | 10.77         | 0.20-2.09   | 58.56       |
| United Kingdom           | 11.12         | 4.19        | 43.97       |
| United States of America | 35.77         | _           | 84.49       |

# Table 20 Prices for iron chelating agents by country

- means not reported.

A cost-utility analysis from the Chinese health care perspective also evaluated the cost-effectiveness of four chelation regimens for  $\beta$ -thalassaemia major (43). This study also found deferiprone to be the most cost-effective chelation regimen, followed by deferoxamine, deferasirox and combination therapy.

#### Availability

Immediate-release deferiprone has marketing authorization in more than 30 countries. Generic brands are available in some settings. Currently, the modified-release deferiprone formulation is only approved and marketed in the United States, but is reported to be undergoing regulatory consideration in other countries.

#### Other considerations

A separate application to the 2023 Expert Committee meeting requested a change to current listing for intravenous deferoxamine for treatment of haemoglobinopathies, to make oral deferasirox the representative iron chelating agent under the square box listing.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that iron overload is a major concern for patients receiving regular blood transfusions. It is associated with multiorgan damage, particularly to the heart and liver, and leads to premature death if untreated. Iron chelating agents deferoxamine (intravenous) and therapeutic alternative deferasirox (oral) have been included on the Model Lists for transfusional iron overload for more than 10 years.

The Expert Committee considered this application together with the application requesting a change to the representative listed iron chelating agent from intravenous deferoxamine to oral deferasirox for the treatment of transfusional iron overload in adults and children with thalassaemia syndromes, sickle-cell disease and other chronic anaemias.

The Committee considered that the available evidence supported the clinical efficacy of deferiprone in reducing serum ferritin and organ iron deposits. Evidence also indicated that it is generally well tolerated, with an acceptable safety profile. Furthermore, the Committee considered that the comparative efficacy and safety of deferiprone, deferoxamine and deferasirox were generally similar.

The Committee noted that the prices of iron chelating agents, and their availability, vary globally. The Committee recognized the value in having multiple iron chelating agents included on the Model Lists to enable countries to make appropriate decisions on national selection, taking into consideration relevant contextual factors.

The Expert Committee recommended that oral deferasirox be transferred to the core list of the EML and EMLc for use in the treatment of transfusional iron overload in patients with thalassaemia syndromes, sickle-cell disease and other chronic anaemias, with a square box listing specifying oral deferiprone as a therapeutic alternative. The Committee also recommended that intravenous deferoxamine remain listed on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for these indications, and the square box associated with the current listing for deferoxamine be removed. References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2011 (including the 17th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 3rd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 965; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44771, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Kato GJ, Piel FB, Reid CD, Gaston MH, Ohene-Frempong K, Krishnamurti L, et al. Sickle cell disease. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2018;4:18010.
- 3. Pinto VM, Balocco M, Quintino S, Forni GL. Sickle cell disease: a review for the internist. Intern Emerg Med. 2019;14(7):1051–64.
- GBD cause and risk summaries. Sickle cell disorders. Lancet; 2019 (https://www.thelancet.com/ gbd/summaries, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 5. Kavanagh PL, Fasipe TA, Wun T. Sickle cell disease: a review. JAMA. 2022;328(1):57–68.
- 6. Piel FB, Steinberg MH, Rees DC. Sickle Cell Disease. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(16):1561–73.
- 7. Galanello R, Origa R. Beta-thalassemia. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2010;5:11.
- 8. Goodnough LT, Panigrahi AK. Blood transfusion therapy. Med Clin North Am. 2017;101(2):431–47.
- 9. Badawy SM, Liem RI, Rigsby CK, Labotka RJ, DeFreitas RA, Thompson AA. Assessing cardiac and liver iron overload in chronically transfused patients with sickle cell disease. Br J Haematol. 2016;175(4):705–13.
- 10. Coates TD, Wood JC. How we manage iron overload in sickle cell patients. Br J Haematol. 2017;177(5):703–16.
- 11. Origa R. β-thalassemia. Genet Med. 2017;19(6):609–19.
- 12. Porter J, Garbowski M. Consequences and management of iron overload in sickle cell disease. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2013;2013:447–56.
- 13. Cappenelli MD, Farmakis D, Porter J, Taher A, editors. Guidelines for the management of transfusion dependent thalassemia (TDT). Fourth edition (version 2.0). Strovolos: Thalassaemia International Federation; 2021.
- 14. Kwiatkowski JL, Hamdy M, El-Beshlawy A, Ebeid FSE, Badr M, Alshehri A, et al. Deferiprone vs deferoxamine for transfusional iron overload in SCD and other anemias: a randomized, open-label noninferiority study. Blood Adv. 2022;6(4):1243–54.
- 15. Vichinsky E, Onyekwere O, Porter J, Swerdlow P, Eckman J, Lane P, et al. A randomised comparison of deferasirox versus deferoxamine for the treatment of transfusional iron overload in sickle cell disease. Br J Haematol. 2007;136(3):501–8.
- 16. Pennell DJ, Berdoukas V, Karagiorga M, Ladis V, Piga A, Aessopos A, et al. Randomized controlled trial of deferiprone or deferoxamine in beta-thalassemia major patients with asymptomatic myocardial siderosis. Blood. 2006;107(9):3738–44.
- 17. Maggio A, D'Amico G, Morabito A, Capra M, Ciaccio C, Cianciulli P, et al. Deferiprone versus deferoxamine in patients with thalassemia major: a randomized clinical trial. Blood Cells Mol Dis. 2002;28(2):196–208.
- 18. Tanner MA, Galanello R, Dessi C, Smith GC, Westwood MA, Agus A, et al. A randomized, placebocontrolled, double-blind trial of the effect of combined therapy with deferoxamine and deferiprone on myocardial iron in thalassemia major using cardiovascular magnetic resonance. Circulation. 2007;115(14):1876–84.

374

.....

- 19. Maggio A, Vitrano A, Capra M, Cuccia L, Gagliardotto F, Filosa A, et al. Long-term sequential deferiprone-deferoxamine versus deferiprone alone for thalassaemia major patients: a randomized clinical trial. Br J Haematol. 2009;145(2):245–54.
- 20. Galanello R, Kattamis A, Piga A, Fischer R, Leoni G, Ladis V, et al. A prospective randomized controlled trial on the safety and efficacy of alternating deferoxamine and deferiprone in the treatment of iron overload in patients with thalassemia. Haematologica. 2006;91(9):1241–3.
- 21. Cappellini MD, Cohen A, Piga A, Bejaoui M, Perrotta S, Agaoglu L, et al. A phase 3 study of deferasirox (ICL670), a once-daily oral iron chelator, in patients with beta-thalassemia. Blood. 2006;107 (9):3455–62.
- 22. Maggio A, Kattamis A, Felisi M, Reggiardo G, El-Beshlawy A, Bejaoui M, et al. Evaluation of the efficacy and safety of deferiprone compared with deferasirox in paediatric patients with transfusion-dependent haemoglobinopathies (DEEP-2): a multicentre, randomised, open-label, non-inferiority, phase 3 trial. Lancet Haematol. 2020;7(6):e469–e78.
- 23. Tanner MA, Galanello R, Dessi C, Smith GC, Westwood MA, Agus A, et al. Combined chelation therapy in thalassemia major for the treatment of severe myocardial siderosis with left ventricular dysfunction. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2008;10:12.
- Elalfy MS, Adly AM, Wali Y, Tony S, Samir A, Elhenawy YI. Efficacy and safety of a novel combination of two oral chelators deferasirox/deferiprone over deferoxamine/deferiprone in severely iron overloaded young beta thalassemia major patients. Eur J Haematol. 2015;95(5):411–20.
- Shah FT, Porter JB, Sadasivam N, Kaya B, Moon JC, Velangi M, et al. Guidelines for the monitoring and management of iron overload in patients with haemoglobinopathies and rare anaemias. Br J Haematol. 2022;196(2):336–50.
- Prescribing information. FERRIPROX oral solution [internet]. Silver Spring, MD: United States Food and Drug Administration; 2021 (https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/ label/2021/208030s007lbl.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Calvaruso G, Vitrano A, Di Maggio R, Ballas S, Steinberg MH, Rigano P, et al. Deferiprone versus deferoxamine in sickle cell disease: results from a 5-year long-term Italian multi-center randomized clinical trial. Blood Cells Mol Dis. 2014;53(4):265–71.
- Product information. FERRIPROX [internet]. Ottawa: Health Canada; October 2021 (https://healthproducts.canada.ca/dpd-bdpp/info?lang=eng&code=92087, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Pennell DJ, Udelson JE, Arai AE, Bozkurt B, Cohen AR, Galanello R, et al. Cardiovascular function and treatment in β-thalassemia major: a consensus statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2013;128(3):281–308.
- 30. Piga A, Sheth S, Kattamis A, Tricta F, Igboekwe E, Fradette C, et al. P1511: Efficacy and safety of combination iron chelation therapy with deferiprone and deferasirox in patients with β-thalassemia major: a systematic literature review. HemaSphere. 2022;6:1392–3.
- El Alfy M, Sari TT, Lee CL, Tricta F, El-Beshlawy A. The safety, tolerability, and efficacy of a liquid formulation of deferiprone in young children with transfusional iron overload. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol. 2010;32(8):601–5.
- Ho PJ, Tay L, Lindeman R, Catley L, Bowden DK. Australian guidelines for the assessment of iron overload and iron chelation in transfusion-dependent thalassaemia major, sickle cell disease and other congenital anaemias. Intern Med J. 2011;41(7):516–24.
- Veríssimo MP, Loggetto SR, Fabron Junior A, Baldanzi GR, Hamerschlak N, Fernandes JL, et al. Brazilian Thalassemia Association protocol for iron chelation therapy in patients under regular transfusion. Rev Bras Hematol Hemoter. 2013;35(6):428–34.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 34. Sickle cell disease consensus statement [internet]. Canadian Haemoglobinopathy Association; 2018 (https://www.canhaem.org/scd-consensus-statement/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 35. Protocole National de Diagnostic et de Soins (PNDS). Syndromes thalassémiques majeurs et intermédiaires. Texte du PNDS. Filière de santé maladies rares [National Diagnostic and Care Protocol (PNDS). Major and intermediate thalassemia syndromes. Text of the PNDS. Rare diseases health sector]. MCGRE; 2021 (https://www.has-sante.fr/upload/docs/application/pdf/2021-07/ pnds\_syndromes\_thalassemiques\_majeurs\_et\_intermediaires.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 36. Angelucci E, Barosi G, Camaschella C, Cappellini MD, Cazzola M, Galanello R, et al. Italian Society of Hematology practice guidelines for the management of iron overload in thalassemia major and related disorders. Haematologica. 2008;93(5):741–52.
- Casale M, Casciana ML, Ciliberti A, Colombatti R, Vecchio CD, Fasoli S, et al. Linee-Guida Per La Gestione Della Malattia Drepanocitica in Eta ' Pediatrica in Italia [Guidelines for the Management of Pediatric Sickle Cell Disease in Italy] [internet]. Associazione Italiana Ematologia Oncologia Pediatrica; 2018 (https://www.aieop.org/web/operatori-sanitari/linee-guida-consensum/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Evidence-based management of sickle cell disease. Expert panel report, 2014. Washington, DC: National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. United States Department of Health and Human Services; 2014 (https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/evidence-based-management-sicklecell-disease, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 39. Chou ST, Alsawas M, Fasano RM, Field JJ, Hendrickson JE, Howard J, et al. American Society of Hematology 2020 guidelines for sickle cell disease: transfusion support. Blood Adv. 2020;4(2):327–55.
- 40. Clinical Commissioning Policy: treatment of iron overload for transfused and non-transfused patients with chronic inherited anaemias (all ages). London: NHS England; 2022 (https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/clinical-commissioning-policy-treatment-of-iron-overload-for-transfused-and-non-transfused-patients/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 41. Davis BA, Allard S, Qureshi A, Porter JB, Pancham S, Win N, et al. Guidelines on red cell transfusion in sickle cell disease Part II: indications for transfusion. Br J Haematol. 2017;176(2):192–209.
- 42. Li J, Lin Y, Li X, Zhang J. Economic evaluation of chelation regimens for β-thalassemia major: a systematic review. Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis. 2019;11(1):e2019036.
- Li J, Wang P, Li X, Wang Q, Zhang J, Lin Y. Cost-utility analysis of four chelation regimens for β-thalassemia major: a Chinese perspective. Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis. 2020;12(1):e2020029.
# Section 11: Blood products of human origin and plasma substitutes 11.1 Blood and blood components

Cryoprecipitate, pathogen-reduced – addition – EML and EMLc

Cryoprecipitate, pathogen reduced

ATC code: B05AA02

## Proposal

Addition of pathogen-reduced cryoprecipitate (cryoprecipitate-PR) to the core list of the EML and EMLc to replace coagulation factors in cases of massive haemorrhage, von Willebrand disease and deficiency of coagulation factor XIII, and as a therapeutic alternative to coagulation factor VIII for treatment of haemophilia A in settings where coagulation factor VIII is not available or affordable.

## Applicant

International Society of Blood Transfusion

## WHO technical department

Blood and Other Products of Human Origin Team, Department of Health Products Policy and Standards

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

11.1 Blood and blood components

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Frozen liquid in bag or lyophilized powder in vial containing: > 50 IU factor VIII + > 100 IU von Willebrand factor + > 140 mg clottable fibrinogen per unit

## Core/complementary

Core

## Individual/square box listing

Square box listing for cryoprecipitate, pathogen reduced, with cryoprecipitate (non-pathogen-reduced) as a therapeutic alternative.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

#### Background

Cryoprecipitate-PR has not previously been considered for inclusion on the Model Lists.

At its meeting in 1989, the Expert Committee recommended addition of a square box symbol to the listing for coagulation factor VIII, to accommodate cryoprecipitate as a therapeutic alternative (1).

#### Public health relevance

Fresh frozen plasma is listed on the WHO Model Lists and has been used historically to replace clotting factors in severely bleeding patients. However, it does not contain the deficient clotting factors in concentrated form and when used in severe bleeding, volume overload (transfusion-related acute circulatory overload) due to large volume infusions limits the correction of plasmatic coagulation in the bleeding patient. In particular, in massive bleeding, fibrinogen is low in comparison with other clotting factors necessitating targeted replacement. In contrast, cryoprecipitate-PR and cryoprecipitate contain the following procoagulant plasma proteins in concentrated form: factor VIII (antihaemophilic factor (AHF)); von Willebrand factor; fibrinogen; and factor XIII. Thus, they can be used for treatment of patients with defined inherited bleeding disorders or acquired bleeding disorders.

## Incidence and prevalence of inherited and acquired bleeding disorders

Haemophilia A has a reported incidence of 1 in 4000 male births (2). The worldwide prevalence is around 200 000 diagnosed patients (3). The actual prevalence may be higher as many people with haemophilia A in low- and middle-income countries are undiagnosed. Almost all patients are males and the incidence of haemophilia is the same regardless of race or ethnicity (4,5).

Symptomatic von Willebrand disease has a reported incidence of 1 in 10 000 (2). The prevalence of symptomatic patients with von Willebrand disease is around 90 000 (3). The overall prevalence (including all types and severity forms) is relatively high, with up to 1% of the population being affected (6,7). The incidence is the same in females and males, although women suffer more often from clinical bleeding due to menstruation and child delivery.

Afibrinogenaemia, dysfibrinogenaemia and factor XIII deficiency each have reported incidence of 1 in 1 million and the prevalence is very low (8).

The incidence of acquired hypofibrinogenaemia and acquired factor XIII deficiency due to peripartum haemorrhage correlates with the level of care and surveillance during pregnancy and with gynaeco-obstetric services at child delivery. The magnitude of the disease can be derived from data on maternal mortality, which is largely due to intra- and postpartum massive haemorrhage. According to WHO, about 287 000 women died during and following pregnancy

and childbirth in 2020. The maternal mortality ratio in low-income countries in 2020 was 430 per 100 000 live births. WHO data indicate that the vast majority of deaths occurred in low- and middle- income countries, ranging from 30 to 1223 per 100 000 live births in nine countries considered as so-called fragile states (9). Postpartum haemorrhage is the main cause of maternal mortality and morbidity across the world, responsible for more than 25% of such deaths annually. WHO statistics suggest that 60% of maternal deaths in developing countries were due to postpartum haemorrhage, accounting for more than 100 000 maternal deaths a year worldwide.

The frequency of massive bleeding and resulting clotting disorders due to (poly)trauma (often related to traffic crashes or work accidents) is also correlated with, for example, the human development index, gross domestic product and performance of national/local health care systems. Developing economies record higher rates of road traffic injuries, with 93% of fatalities from low- and middle-income countries (*10*).

Use of specific coagulation factor concentrates is preferred to the use of cryoprecipitate-PR and cryoprecipitate in these conditions. However, supplies of coagulation factor concentrates (plasma-derived or recombinant) are insufficient in low-income countries and are limited relative to demand in lower middle-income countries mainly because of their high costs. Where coagulation factor concentrates are available in low-income settings, they are generally products donated by industry and distributed mainly by charitable organizations or through the World Federation of Hemophilia Humanitarian Aid Program.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

Similar to other blood components that have been in widespread use before the era of rigorous controlled trials, effectiveness of cryoprecipitate was never formally demonstrated. Nevertheless, clinical experience over more than 50 years has established the superiority of cryoprecipitate to plasma for replacement of certain clotting factors (factors I, VIII and XIII, and von Willebrand factor) based on its ability to deliver these plasma proteins with a low-volume of product.

Comparative effectiveness data of cryoprecipitate-PR versus cryoprecipitate are limited. The application described different types of cryoprecipitate-PR available and used in different countries.

Cryoprecipitate-PR made with VIPS solvent detergent virus inactivation kits (VIPS S/D), is prepared from pools of about 30–35 units of conventional low-volume (i.e. highly depleted of cryoprecipitate-poor plasma called "dry") cryoprecipitate that are treated by solvent detergent and bacterial filtrations to inactivate and remove pathogens. Consistency of the content of active factor VIII, von Willebrand factor, clottable fibrinogen and factor XIII has been demonstrated (*11*). Human trials in Egypt included pharmacokinetics of

factor VIII, a safety and efficacy study in therapeutic plasma exchange, and a small observational study in children with severe haemophilia A who received prophylactic therapy with VIPS S/D cryoprecipitate for 2–5 years. Additional safety and efficacy data were reported based on clinical use in more than 2000 patients. The study results and additional clinical reports demonstrated and confirmed that the pharmacokinetics, safety and efficacy of cryoprecipitate factor VIII derived from solvent detergent virus inactivation kits is similar to plasma-derived and recombinant factor VIII concentrates prepared by large-scale plasma fractionation, and possibly also has a reduced risk of factor VIII inhibitor development (*12*).

Heat-treated freeze-dried cryoprecipitate made from small pools of plasma has been used for factor VIII replacement in Thailand since 1997 (13). Factor VIII concentrate is now manufactured by plasma fractionation locally in Thailand; however, heat-treated freeze-dried cryoprecipitate is still produced to further cover the needs of patients with von Willebrand disease, and fibrinogen or factor XIII deficiency (14).

Cryoprecipitate (methylene-blue treated and removed and leukocyte depleted) is described as a source of concentrated factor VIII:C, von Willebrand factor, fibrinogen, factor XIII and fibronectin for use in neonates in the guidelines of the Joint United Kingdom Blood Transfusion and Tissue Transplantation Services Professional Advisory Committee for the blood transfusion service (15).

In 2021, the United States Food and Drug Administration approved pathogen-reduced cryoprecipitated fibrinogen complex made with the INTERCEPT Blood System for Cryoprecipitation<sup>®</sup> for: treatment and control of bleeding including massive haemorrhage associated with fibrinogen deficiency; control of bleeding when recombinant and/or specific virally inactivated preparations of factor XIII or von Willebrand factor are not available; second-line therapy for von Willebrand disease; and control of uraemic bleeding after other treatment methods have failed. It is not recommended for use for replacement of factor VIII (*16*). This cryoprecipitate is produced from plasma processed in the INTERCEPT system to inactivate pathogens using exposure to a specific psoralen compound (amotosalen) and irradiation with ultraviolet A light followed by adsorption of residual amotosalen.

Cryoprecipitate was used for decades before the development of industrially manufactured concentrates of coagulation factor VIII. Use of cryoprecipitate, preferably pathogen-reduced, is recommended in recognized national and international guidelines when factor VIII clotting factor concentrates are not available. Comparable effectiveness of cryoprecipitate and cryoprecipitate-PR compared with coagulation factor VIII to replace factor VIII in acute treatment of bleeding in haemophilia A results from the fact that infusions of cryoprecipitate and cryoprecipitate-PR can provide equivalent levels of factor VIII compared with clotting factor concentrates, albeit at larger administered volumes. Prophylactic therapy to prevent bleeding is considered the standard of treatment in haemophilia A and home infusion is encouraged to decrease the logistic burden on patients and their families. While useful in acute treatment of bleeding, cryoprecipitate and cryoprecipitate-PR cannot readily be used for prophylactic therapy nor used easily at home.

## Summary of evidence: harms

Cryoprecipitate has been in clinical use for more than 60 years with very few reports of adverse events. Inherent risks are those of plasma, which include transmission of viruses and bacteria, and allergic transfusion reactions. Compared with plasma, the risks of haemolytic transfusion reactions and volume overload with cryoprecipitate are lower because of the smaller volumes administered. Thrombosis is known to be associated with large volume transfusion therapies with plasma and cryoprecipitate. However, a causal relationship, presumably due to elevated levels of fibrinogen, is not clear (*17*).

The risks of cryoprecipitate-PR include those of cryoprecipitate with added potential risks related to the method of pathogen reduction used in preparation of the specific product. Publicly available data are limited on specific cryoprecipitate-PR products, however safety reporting on two products in current use has indicated no significant added concerns.

Pathogen-reduced cryoprecipitated fibrinogen complex made with the INTERCEPT Blood System for Cryoprecipitation<sup>®</sup> is prepared from INTERCEPT processed plasma. The package insert notes a 15-year history of safe use of INTERCEPT-processed plasma in the European Union for treatment of congenital coagulopathy including fibrinogen deficiency, acquired coagulopathy including liver transplant, and for therapeutic plasma exchange, where there were no safety signals indicative of excess treatment-related morbidity (*16*).

Safety experience is also reported for VIPS S/D cryoprecipitate. Locally prepared VIPS S/D cryoprecipitate in Egypt has been used since 2013 for treatment of more than 2000 patients with haemophilia A who received 32 million units of coagulation factor VIII. Extensive preclinical studies predicted a low risk of hazards. Clinical studies by the manufacturer and observational clinical studies at one large centre in Egypt revealed no acute or chronic toxicities. Longitudinal studies included 12 children with haemophilia A who received prophylaxis with a mean annual dose of factor VIII of 1029 IU/kg (range 545–1684 IU/kg) for 2–5 years (internal unpublished data from Shabrawishi Hospital Blood Transfusion Centre in Egypt). Additionally, 32 patients received large volume plasma exchanges with VIPS S/D plasma. Four of the 32 patients showed mild adverse events similar to those seen when transfusing normal plasma (*18*). No signs of acute toxicity due to the solvent and detergent used to reduce pathogens were

seen in this product (18). Postmarketing clinical data after 5 years of placement on the market of the first VIPS S/D device did not show any demonstrable adverse events whether immediate or delayed. Together, the studies showed that VIPS S/D plasma and cryoprecipitate have similar degrees of safety and efficacy compared with factor VIII clotting factor concentrates.

#### Additional evidence

The following evidence for the effectiveness of cryoprecipitate was identified during the expert review process of the application.

A randomized study in Brazil evaluated the haemostatic effects of fibrinogen concentrate compared with cryoprecipitate in 63 children following cardiac surgery with cardiopulmonary bypass (19). No significant difference was seen between treatment groups in the primary outcome of 48-hour postoperative blood loss (median 320 mL, interquartile range (IQR) 157 to 750 mL in the fibrinogen concentrate group (n = 30) versus 410 mL, IQR 215 to 510 mL in the cryoprecipitate group (n = 33); P = 0.672). The post-treatment incidence of allogenic blood transfusion was also similar between treatment groups.

#### WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines on the use of cryoprecipitate-PR are not currently available. However, in 2021, WHO announced an initiative to develop guidelines on implementation of patient blood management (20).

The WHO Expert Committee on Biological Standardization has developed requirements for the collection, processing and quality control of blood, blood components and plasma derivatives (21), guidelines for viral inactivation and removal procedures intended to assure the viral safety of human blood products (22), and guidelines on the management of blood and blood components as essential medicines (23).

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

Cryoprecipitate and cryoprecipitate-PR may be less costly to provide than clotting factor concentrates. While this may enable their cost-effective use in resource-constrained settings, cryoprecipitate and cryoprecipitate-PR should not be preferred to clotting factor concentrates. Therefore, facilitation of their preparation and use should not divert national efforts to assure availability of clotting factor concentrates.

The relative cost of non-pathogen-reduced cryoprecipitate versus clotting factor concentrates has been examined in comparative efficacy studies. For example, in studies comparing cryoprecipitate with commercial concentrates of fibrinogen, fibrinogen concentrates cost two-to-four times that of cryoprecipitate per gram of fibrinogen (24,25).

Data on the comparative cost of cryoprecipitate-PR versus plasmaderived and recombinant clotting factor concentrates are limited, but appear to demonstrate savings in some settings (26). With locally prepared VIPS S/D cryoprecipitate in Egypt, the cost per unit of factor VIII from cryoprecipitate-PR was US\$ 0.07 compared with US\$ 0.14 for commercial factor VIII concentrates. The average cost per unit of FVIII:C for all types of commercial clotting factor concentrates was higher at US\$ 0.21 (26).

The application reported that the current cost per IU of FVIII:C and of von Willebrand factor:RCo for locally prepared VIPS S/D cryoprecipitate in Egypt was between US\$ 0.09 and US\$ 0.16 based on the yield per processed pool of 30–35 cryoprecipitates. The cost per gram of fibrinogen for locally prepared VIPS S/D cryoprecipitate in Egypt is US\$ 24–29. In Thailand, the current cost per IU of FVIII:C for heat-treated freeze-dried cryoprecipitate was reported to be US\$ 0.11. The cost per gram of fibrinogen for heat-treated freeze-dried cryoprecipitate in Thailand is less than US\$ 51.

In comparison, the cost per IU of FVIII:C of an imported commercial clotting factor concentrate made in France is typically more than twice the unit price of locally prepared cryoprecipitate-PR products made in Egypt and Thailand. Similarly, the cost per gram of fibrinogen is US\$ 470, significantly more than the cost for locally prepared cryoprecipitate-PR products made in Egypt and Thailand.

In high-income countries, the cost per IU of FVIII:C may be greater for cryoprecipitate-PR than for commercial clotting factor concentrates. For example, in the United Kingdom in 2015, the cost of cryoprecipitate – pooled, methylene blue treated and removed, leukocyte depleted – was reported in the application to be £4.30 per unit of FVIII:C. In comparison, in 2017, the average cost per unit of FVIII:C for commercial clotting factor concentrates was £0.74. This disparity arises primarily from the difference in preparation methods, namely production of cryoprecipitate-PR from single units of plasma in highincome countries versus production from pools of cryoprecipitate in low- and middle-income countries. Differences in the unit costs of labour and materials may also contribute to this disparity.

## Availability

The application reported that at present, cryoprecipitate has regulatory authorization in Egypt, Thailand and the United States. In Egypt and Thailand, cryoprecipitate-PR is available for replacement of factor VIII and von Willebrand factor (and, based on content labelling, presumptively for fibrinogen). Widespread use of cryoprecipitate-PR as an alternative to industrially fractionated clotting factor concentrates has only been reported in Egypt. Production at one large blood establishment in Cairo has met one third of the annual need for factor The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

VIII replacement in the country through an organized system of distribution. In the United States, cryoprecipitate-PR is authorized only for replacement of fibrinogen complex. The extent to which its use may replace non-pathogenreduced cryoprecipitate has not been established. In the United Kingdom, cryoprecipitate-PR is recognized for replacement of factor VIII, von Willebrand factor, fibrinogen and fibronectin, but its use is limited to persons born after 1 January 1996, as part of a programme to prevent transmission of variant Creutzfeldt–Jakob disease from blood products.

#### Other considerations

In 2009, the WHO Blood Regulators Network issued the following position statement on the use of cryoprecipitate-PR in settings where commercial clotting factor concentrates are unavailable or unaffordable (*27*).

Plasma-derived and recombinant CFC [coagulation factor concentrates] are recognized by relevant professional organizations as the treatment of choice for hemophilia A and von Willebrand disease based on their established quality, safety, efficacy and ease of use. However, resource limitations in many low- and mediumincome countries currently make these products unavailable for the vast majority of patients, resulting in significant morbidity and mortality from otherwise preventable bleeding. In these settings, consideration should be given to local production of pathogenreduced cryoprecipitate made under Good Preparation Practices in blood establishments from pooled whole blood-derived plasma or pooled cryoprecipitates using technologies that have been approved by advanced regulatory authorities. Plasma units obtained as a *byproduct of whole blood collection can provide a stable and ongoing* local source for preparation of pathogen-reduced cryoprecipitate in an organized and regulated national blood system. Pathogenreduced cryoprecipitate can also provide a safe source of fibrinogen when used for treatment of fibrinogen disorders in various medical conditions including acquired deficiencies due to massive hemorrhage in trauma or obstetrics.

Where feasible, non-pathogen-reduced cryoprecipitate should be replaced by pathogen-reduced cryoprecipitate in the treatment of patients with hemophilia A, von Willebrand Disease and fibrinogen disorders. Pathogen-reduction may be performed on plasma used for the preparation of cryoprecipitate, or on the product itself using a validated method. The residual risk of virus transmission is strongly dependent on the regional virus epidemiology and the screening technology applied. Hence, implementation of a pathogen inactivation technology for cryoprecipitate should not be a substitute for Good Preparation Practices in donor selection, blood collection, laboratory testing for HIV, HBV and HCV and other relevant agents including emerging viruses, product processing, traceability and hemovigilance reporting, as described in WHO recommendations and Guidelines.

In line with the recommendation of the World Federation of Hemophilia locally generated pathogen-reduced cryoprecipitate should be regarded as a step-wise improvement in the treatment of patients with bleeding disorders that should not supplant and may coexist with programs to expand patient access to CFC through local or regional plasma fractionation, toll fractionation of domestic plasma or importation of the products. Treatment with cryoprecipitate that is not pathogen-reduced should be discouraged, particularly in the setting of repeated use due to the risk of contamination with blood-borne viruses that is amplified by plasma pooling. Based on these considerations, the WHO Blood Regulators Network advocates use of pathogen-reduced *cryoprecipitate in resource limited settings until CFC are available* and affordable, subject to a careful assessment of risk and benefits and an organized nationally regulated blood system operating under Good Preparation Practices.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recognized that insufficient access to clotting factor replacement products contributes to early death in patients with bleeding disorders. Accessibility to these products is especially problematic in low- and middle-income countries where many patients have no access to any form of treatment.

The Committee considered that evidence and extensive clinical experience suggest that cryoprecipitate is superior to plasma for replacement of certain clotting factors in a variety of indications in adults and children. However, the Expert Committee noted that concentrated clotting factors remain the preferred treatment for many bleeding disorders and should be prioritized for selection and use wherever possible. The Committee noted and agreed with the WHO Blood Regulatory Network position statement and emphasized that cryoprecipitate-PR ought only to be used in settings where commercial clotting factors are unaffordable or unavailable. The Committee was not in the position to recommend specific methods of pathogen reduction but considered that cryoprecipitate-PR developed using validated, approved pathogen-reduction methods should be ensured.

The Committee also noted that comparative evidence for cryoprecipitate-PR versus non-pathogen-reduced cryoprecipitate was limited but acknowledged that pathogen reduction can eliminate major risks of transmission of bloodborne infectious agents and increase the safety of administration. While there is a risk of alloimmunization and allergic transfusion reaction, these adverse events are lower than rates reported for other blood components, including fresh frozen plasma.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of cryoprecipitate-PR on the core list of the EML and EMLc for use in the replacement of coagulation factors in cases of massive haemorrhage, von Willebrand disease and shortage of coagulation factor XIII. It may also be used as an alternative to coagulation factor VIII concentrate for patients with haemophilia A in settings where this product is unavailable or unaffordable. The Committee also recommended that non-pathogen-reduced cryoprecipitate be included in the Model Lists as a therapeutic alternative given that transition to cryoprecipitate-PR at the country level may take time. The Committee acknowledged that solvent and detergent virus inactivation technologies and medical devices used in the plasma fractionation industry are gaining momentum, and are being adopted by an increasing number of blood establishments and national blood service centres. The Committee considered that every effort should be made to facilitate the transition to cryoprecipitate-PR, and processing systems should be adopted based on virus inactivation technologies. For this reason, the Committee considered that removal of non-pathogen-reduced cryoprecipitate from the Model Lists as a therapeutic alternative to cryoprecipitate-PR should be considered at the earliest opportunity (i.e. 2025) unless an application is received to support its retention.

The Committee emphasized the requirement that all blood, blood components and plasma derivatives used as essential medicines should comply with WHO requirements developed by the WHO Expert Committee on Biological Standardization. The Committee also emphasized that blood donor and donation screening for infections before use of blood products should always be implemented.

## References

- The use of essential drugs. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 1989 (including the 6th Model List of Essential Drugs). Geneva: World Health Organization; 1990 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 796; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/39338, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Data & statistics on hemophilia [internet]. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2022. (https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/hemophilia/data.html, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 3. Report on the annual global survey 2020. Montreal: World Federation of Hemophilia; 2020 (https://www1.wfh.org/publications/files/pdf-2045.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).

- 4. lorio A, Stonebraker JS, Chambost H, Makris M, Coffin D, Herr C, et al. Establishing the prevalence and prevalence at birth of hemophilia in males: a meta-analytic approach using national registries. Ann Int Med. 2019;171(8):540–6.
- Soucie JM, Miller CH, Dupervil B, Le B, Buckner TW. Occurrence rates of haemophilia among males in the United States based on surveillance conducted in specialized haemophilia treatment centres. Haemophilia. 2020;26(3):487–93.
- 6. Rodeghiero F, Castaman G, Dini E. Epidemiological investigation of the prevalence of von Willebrand's disease. Blood. 1987;69(2):454–9.
- 7. Werner EJ, Broxson EH, Tucker EL, Giroux DS, Shults J, Abshire TC. Prevalence of von Willebrand disease in children: a multiethnic study. J Pediatr. 1993;123(6):893–8.
- 8. Baron JM. Williams hematology. JAMA. 1995;274(8):661.
- 9. Maternal mortality fact sheet [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://www. who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/maternal-mortality, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 10. Road traffic injuries fact sheet [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www. who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/road-traffic-injuries, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 11. El-Ekiaby M, Sayed MA, Caron C, Burnouf S, El-Sharkawy N, Goubran H, et al. Solvent-detergent filtered (S/D-F) fresh frozen plasma and cryoprecipitate minipools prepared in a newly designed integral disposable processing bag system. Transfus Med. 2010;20(1):48–61.
- El-Ekiaby M, Goubran HA, Radosevich M, Abd-Allah A, El-Ekiaby A, Burnouf T. Pharmacokinetic study of minipooled solvent/detergent-filtered cryoprecipitate factor VIII. Haemophilia. 2011;17(5):e884–8.
- 13. Nuchprayoon I, Sahasittiwat S, Kittikalayawong A, Chantanakajornfung A. Lyophilized cryoprecipitate for children with hemophilia A. J Med Assoc Thai. 2002;85 Suppl 1:S293–7.
- 14. Taychakhoonavudh S, Phoolcharoen W, Pesirikan N. The landscape of biologics drug system in Thailand. J Health Sci. 2020;29:S96–S111.
- Guidelines for the blood transfusion services in the UK. Ninth edition. London: Joint United Kingdom (UK) Blood Transfusion and Tissue Transplantation Services Professional Advisory Committee; 2023 (https://www.transfusionguidelines.org/red-book, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Package insert. INTERCEPT<sup>®</sup> blood system for cryoprecipitation. For the manufacturing of pathogen reduced cryoprecipitated fibrinogen complex. Silver Spring, MD: United States Food and Drug Administration; 2021 (https://www.fda.gov/media/143996/download, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 17. Wong H, Curry N. Cryoprecipitate transfusion: current perspectives. Int J Clin Transfus Med. 2016;4:89–97.
- El Ekiaby M, Burnouf T, Radosevic M, Goubran H. Safety and efficacy of mini-pool S/D cryoprecipitate-poor-plasma (S/D-CPP) in partial volume therapeutic plasma exchange. Vox Sang. 2013;105(Suppl 1):65–299.
- 19. Galas FR, de Almeida JP, Fukushima JT, Vincent JL, Osawa EA, Zeferino S, et al. Hemostatic effects of fibrinogen concentrate compared with cryoprecipitate in children after cardiac surgery: a randomized pilot trial. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2014;148(4):1647–55.
- 20. The urgent need to implement patient blood management: policy brief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/346655, accessed 6 October 2023).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 21. WHO Expert Committee on Biological Standardization. Forty-third report. Annex 2: requirements for the collection, processing and quality control of blood, blood components and plasma derivatives (revised 1992). Geneva: World Health Organization; 1994 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 840; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/39048, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 22. WHO Expert Committee on Biological Standardization. Fifty-second report. Annex 4: guidelines on viral inactivation and removal procedures intended to assure the viral safety of human blood plasma products. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 942; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/42921, accessed 6 October 2023).
- WHO Expert Committee on Biological Standardization. Sixty-seventh report. Annex 3: guidelines on management of blood and blood components as essential medicines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1004; https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/255657, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 24. Okerberg CK, Williams LA, 3rd, Kilgore ML, Kim CH, Marques MB, Schwartz J, et al. Cryoprecipitate AHF vs. fibrinogen concentrates for fibrinogen replacement in acquired bleeding patients an economic evaluation. Vox Sang. 2016;111(3):292–8.
- Novak A, Stanworth SJ, Curry N. Do we still need cryoprecipitate? Cryoprecipitate and fibrinogen concentrate as treatments for major hemorrhage – how do they compare? Expert Rev Hematol. 2018;11(5):351–60.
- 26. El Ekiaby M, Burnouf T, Goubran H, Radosevich M, El Ekiaby A. Role of the mini-pool cryoprecipitate technology for cost-saving and guarantee of local factor VIII, von Willebrand factor and fibrinogen product supply: Egypt experience. Ann Blood. 2018;3:22.
- 26. Position statement on use of pathogen-reduced cryoprecipitate in settings where commercial clotting factor concentrates are unavailable or unaffordable. Geneva: WHO Blood Regulators Network (BRN); 2009 (https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/BRN-Position-Statement-on-Pathogen-reduced-Cryoprecipate, accessed 6 October 2023).

## **11.2 Plasma-derived medicines** 11.2.2 Blood coagulation factors

Coagulation factors for haemophilia – review of square box alternatives – EML and EMLc

Coagulation factor VIII

Coagulation factor IX

ATC code: B02BD02 ATC code: B02BD04

## Proposal

Inclusion of therapeutic alternatives to plasma-derived coagulation factors VIII and IX used in the treatment of haemophilia on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc.

## Applicant

World Federation of Hemophilia

## WHO technical department

Not applicable

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

11.2.2 Blood coagulation factors

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Coagulation factor VIII: powder for injection in vial Coagulation factor IX: powder for injection in vial

## Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing

Square box

## Background

Plasma-derived coagulation factors VIII and IX are each listed on the EML and EMLc with a square box, which is intended to indicate similar clinical performance of different medicines within the pharmacological class and that suitable therapeutic alternative may be considered for selection at the country level for national essential medicines lists. The square box was originally added to the listings in 1989 to accommodate cryoprecipitate as a therapeutic alternative to factor VIII, and plasma and cryoprecipitate-poor plasma as therapeutic alternatives to factor IX (1). In 2007, when plasma-derived coagulation factors VIII and IX were included on the first EMLc, the Expert Committee recognized that recombinant products should be used in preference to dried and plasma-derived products and that recombinant products would be captured by the square box listings (2).

At its meeting in 2021, the Expert Committee considered a review of square box listings on the EML and EMLc and recommended that all square box listings be qualified to explicitly indicate the recommended therapeutic alternatives. The Committee requested that the therapeutic alternatives for plasma-derived coagulation factors VIII and IX be reviewed and updated in 2023 (3). Thus, the Secretariat invited the World Federation of Hemophilia to submit an application reviewing the therapeutic alternatives for these medicines.

#### Public health relevance

The public health relevance of coagulation factors for use in the treatment of haemophilia is well established.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The application proposed a series of changes to listings as summarized below.

#### **Coagulation factor VIII**

The World Federation of Hemophilia recommended not specifying the 500 IU strength with the listing for coagulation factor VIII as this could be unnecessarily limiting. This is because factor VIII concentrates are manufactured in a variety of vial sizes, labelled with strengths ranging from 250 to 3000 IU per vial. The administered dose is determined by the respective treatment protocol and patient weight.

The Federation recommended the inclusion of recombinant factor VIII as a therapeutic alternative based on: human-derived and recombinant factor VII products being classified with the same Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) code (B02BD02); the recognition by the Expert Committee in 2007 that recombinant products should be used in preference to plasma-derived products and would be captured under the existing square box listing (2); and recommendations in Federation's guidelines for the management of haemophilia (4). A comprehensive review of the available evidence was not provided in the application.

The World Federation of Hemophilia recommended the inclusion of bypassing agents (recombinant activated factor VIIa or activated prothrombin complex concentrate) as therapeutic alternatives for treatment and prevention of bleeding complications in patients with haemophilia A and B who develop Factor VIII or factor IX alloantibodies that typically neutralize the function of infused clotting factor concentrates. The Federation's guidelines recommend that a bypassing agent be used for people with haemophilia A with an inhibitor requiring treatment for acute bleeding complications or surgery, and for people with haemophilia B with an inhibitor and with a history of an anaphylactic reaction to factor IV-containing clotting factor concentrates (recombinant activated factor VIIa only) (4). A comprehensive review of the available evidence was not provided in the application.

The World Federation of Hemophilia recommended the inclusion of emicizumab, a bispecific monoclonal antibody factor VIII mimetic as a therapeutic alternative to plasma-derived factor VIII. Emicizumab is a nonfactor replacement therapy that is administered subcutaneously, in some cases as infrequently as once or twice a month. The application stated that non-factor replacement agents such as emicizumab were not associated with the peak and trough curves of protection that are now seen with factor prophylaxis regimens. The Federation's guidelines include recommendations for use of emicizumab in patients with haemophilia A with an inhibitor for regular prophylaxis to prevent bleeding events. Emicizumab may also be used for regular prophylaxis in patients with haemophilia without an inhibitor (4). Emicizumab cannot be used to treat acute bleeding episodes. A comprehensive review of the available evidence was not provided in the application.

The World Federation of Hemophilia recommended the inclusion of desmopressin acetate as a therapeutic alternative to factor VIII for patients with mild or moderate haemophilia and carriers of haemophilia A, in accordance with recommendations in the Federation's guidelines (4).

## **Coagulation factor IX**

The World Federation of Hemophilia recommended not specifying the 500 IU and 1000 IU strengths with the listing for coagulation factor IX as this could be unnecessarily limiting. This is because factor IX concentrates are manufactured in a variety of vial sizes, labelled with strengths ranging from 250 IU to 4000 IU per vial. The administered dose is determined by the respective treatment protocol and patient weight.

The World Federation of Hemophilia recommended the inclusion of recombinant factor IX as a therapeutic alternative based on: human-derived and recombinant factor IX products being classified with the same ATC code (B02BD04); the recognition by the Expert Committee in 2007 that recombinant products should be used in preference to plasma-derived products and would be captured under the existing square box listing (2); and recommendations in the Federation's guidelines for the management of haemophilia (4). A comprehensive review of the available evidence was not provided in the application.

The World Federation of Hemophilia recommended the inclusion of coagulation factor IX complex (prothrombin complex concentrate) as a therapeutic alternative. However, for patients with haemophilia B, the the Federation's guidelines recommend use of products containing only factor IX in preference to prothrombin complex concentrates which also contain other clotting factors (e.g. factors II, VII and X), which may become activated during manufacture and predispose the patient to thromboembolism. Pure factor IX products have a reduced risk of thrombosis or disseminated intravascular coagulation compared with large doses of older-generation prothrombin complex concentrates. Newer prothrombin complex concentrates are considered safer than earlier products due to the inclusion of coagulation inhibitors (4).

The World Federation of Hemophilia also recommended the inclusion of bypassing agents as therapeutic alternatives (see previous paragraph *Coagulation factor VIII*).

#### Dextran 70

The World Federation of Hemophilia recommended the removal of the plasma substitute dextran 70 from the Model Lists since this product is not used for the treatment of haemophilia.

## Summary of evidence: harms

A comprehensive review of the available evidence for safety was not provided in the application.

#### **WHO** guidelines

WHO guidelines for the treatment of haemophilia are not currently available.

The WHO Expert Committee on Biological Standardization has developed requirements for the collection, processing and quality control of blood, blood components and plasma derivatives (5), guidelines on viral inactivation and removal procedures intended to assure the viral safety of human blood products (6), and guidelines on management of blood and blood components as essential medicines (7).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

No information was provided in the application.

## Availability

No information was provided in the application.

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recalled the recommendation of the 2021 Committee that the square box listings for blood-derived coagulation factors VIII and IX be

reviewed in 2023, such that the listings should explicitly indicate the recommended therapeutic alternatives. The application from the World Federation of Hemophilia proposed therapeutic alternatives to coagulation factor VIII (recombinant factor VIII, bypassing agents, bispecific monoclonal antibody factor VIII mimetic and desmopressin) and coagulation factor IX (recombinant factor IX, coagulation factor IX complex and bypassing agents), but did not provide a comprehensive review of the evidence supporting these suggestions.

In consideration of the application, the Committee made the following comments and recommendations.

## Recombinant coagulation factors.

The Committee noted that when plasma-derived coagulation factors were considered for inclusion on the first EMLc in 2007, the Committee at that time considered that recombinant products would be covered by the existing square box listings. However, a comprehensive review of the evidence for the comparative efficacy, safety and cost/cost–effectiveness of recombinant products had not been conducted nor evaluated at that time. The 2023 Committee therefore recommended that a full application, compliant with EML application requirements, be requested so that the available evidence could be evaluated. Until such time, recombinant coagulation factors should not be included as therapeutic alternatives to plasma-derived coagulation factors on the Model Lists.

## Bypassing agents

The Committee considered that bypassing agents were not, as such, therapeutic alternatives to coagulation factors, but rather were currently used in a subset of patients who develop factor VIII or factor IX alloantibodies (inhibitors). With regard to the bispecific monoclonal antibody, emicizumab, the Committee also considered that this was not as such, a therapeutic alternative to factor VIII, but rather could be used as a separate treatment strategy for patients with haemophilia A. Therefore, the Committee recommended that these therapies not be included as alternatives under the current square box listings. The Committee acknowledged the potential future role of these therapies in changing the treatment paradigm of patients with haemophilia but also noted that currently they may not be considered as cost-effective, nor are they widely available. The Committee considered that high-quality applications, compliant with EML application requirements for these therapies could be considered for independent inclusion in the Model Lists in the future.

## Desmopressin

The Committee acknowledged that desmopressin was a therapeutic alternative to plasma-derived factor VIII. Desmopressin is already included on the EML and EMLc for use in the treatment of patients with haemophilia A and von Willebrand

disease, in Section 10 (Medicines affecting the blood), instead of as a square box alternative to factor VIII in Section 11 (Blood products of human origin and plasma substitutes) since it is not a blood product of human origin.

## *Coagulation factor IX complex*

The Committee noted that this complex had been previously listed on the Model Lists until 2013, when it was replaced by coagulation factor IX when Section 11 of the lists for blood products of human origin and plasma substitutes was revised and restructured. The Committee considered that coagulation factor IX complex could be considered a suitable therapeutic alternative to coagulation factor IX in situations where purified factor IX was not available. Therefore, the Committee recommended that the square box listing for coagulation factor IX specify coagulation factor IX complex as a therapeutic alternative under such circumstances.

#### Dextran

In response to the suggestion in the application to remove the plasma substitute dextran from the Model Lists because it is not used in the treatment of haemophilia, the Committee advised that dextran was still an essential plasma substitute for other patients in need of blood volume replacement and therefore should remain listed.

#### Strengths of factor VIII and factor IX

The application proposed the removal of the specification of strengths of factor VIII and factor IX from the listings, because factor VIII and IX concentrates are manufactured and supplied in strengths ranging from 250 IU to 4000 IU per vial. The Committee agreed that specifying a single strength vial could be unnecessarily limiting. The Committee recommended that for factor VIII, additional strengths of 250 IU and 1000 IU be included as these are the most commonly used and available. The Committee considered that the existing listed strengths of factor IX were appropriate and therefore did not recommend inclusion of the other strengths proposed.

## References

- The use of essential drugs. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 1989 (including the 6th Model List of Essential Drugs). Geneva: World Health Organization; 1990 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 796; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/39338, accessed 6 October 2023).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, October 2007 (including the Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 950, https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43887, accessed 6 October 2023).

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351172, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 4. Srivastava A, Santagostino E, Dougall A, Kitchen S, Sutherland M, Pipe SW, et al. WFH guidelines for the management of hemophilia. Third edition. Haemophilia. 2020;26 Suppl 6:1–158.
- WHO Expert Committee on Biological Standardization. Forty-third report. Annex 2: Requirements for the collection, processing and quality control of blood, blood components and plasma derivatives (revised 1992) Geneva: World Health Organization; 1994 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 840; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/39048, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 6. WHO Expert Committee on Biological Standardization. Fifty-second report. Annex 4, Guidelines on viral inactivation and removal procedures intended to assure the viral safety of human blood plasma products. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 942; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/42921, accessed 6 October 2023).
- WHO Expert Committee on Biological Standardization. Sixty-seventh report. Annex 3: Guidelines on management of blood and blood components as essential medicines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1004; https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/255657, accessed 6 October 2023).

Section 12: Cardiovascular medicines 12.5 Antithrombotic medicines

## 12.5.1 Anti-platelet medicines

Ticagrelor – addition – EML

**Ticagrelor** 

ATC code: B01AC24

## Proposal

Addition of ticagrelor to the core list of the EML for the prevention of atherothrombotic events in adults with acute coronary syndrome or a history of myocardial infarction and at high risk of developing an atherothrombotic event.

## Applicant

AstraZeneca PLC, Cambridge, United Kingdom

## WHO technical department

The technical team for Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment in the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases reviewed and provided comments on the application. The technical department did not support the inclusion of ticagrelor on the EML for the following reasons: an unfavourable cost-to-benefit ratio; very limited uptake of less costly aspirin for secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease; and preference to support uptake efforts for statins and aspirin, in line with WHO guidance in the package of essential noncommunicable diseases interventions, and HEARTS technical packages.

| EML/EMLc                       |
|--------------------------------|
| EML                            |
| Section                        |
| 12.5.1 Anti-platelet medicines |
| Dose form(s) & strengths(s)    |
| Tablet: 60 mg, 90 mg           |
| Core/complementary             |
| Core                           |
| Individual/square box listing  |
| Individual                     |

396

## Background

Ticagrelor has not previously been evaluated for inclusion on the Model List.

In 2015, the Expert Committee recommended the addition of clopidogrel to the EML as an antithrombotic agent for treatment of patients with acute coronary syndrome or following percutaneous coronary interventions. The Committee accepted that based on the evidence presented, dual anti-platelet therapy with clopidogrel in combination with aspirin was effective in reducing the risk of major cardiovascular events and was superior to aspirin monotherapy for patients with acute coronary syndrome or undergoing percutaneous coronary interventions. In these patient populations, the Committee considered that the benefits of dual therapy outweighed the potential harms (1).

#### Public health relevance

Worldwide, in 2019, ischaemic heart disease and stroke were the first and second highest causes of death, respectively, in people older than 50 years (2).

The global burden of cardiovascular disease and stroke-related mortality and disability-adjusted life years (DALY) are driven by the burden in low- and middle-income countries. A report from the European Society of Cardiology, which analysed data from 56 member countries, showed that the disease burden DALY per 100 000 people due to cardiovascular disease was more than three times as high in middle-income versus high-income countries. Cardiovascular disease mortality was also higher in middle-income countries where it accounted for a greater proportion of potential years of life lost compared with high-income countries (*3*).

All-cause mortality in low- and middle-income countries has fallen over the past three decades, but there has been no reduction in mortality from cardiovascular disease and stroke (2,4,5).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The application presented summaries of recent systematic reviews, network meta-analyses, and primary research articles on the clinical effects of ticagrelor in comparison with other agents.

## Ticagrelor versus active comparators

The PLATO study was a randomized, multicentre, double-blind study that compared ticagrelor (180 mg loading dose, 90 mg twice daily thereafter) versus clopidogrel (300–600 mg loading dose, 75 mg daily thereafter) on the prevention of cardiovascular events in patients admitted to hospital with an acute coronary syndrome (18 624 participants) (6). After 12 months of treatment, ticagrelor was associated with significantly lower rates of death from vascular causes, myocardial infarction or stroke compared with clopidogrel (9.8% versus 11.7%,

P < 0.001). Patients treated with ticagrelor had significantly lower rates of myocardial infarction (5.8% versus 6.9%, P = 0.005) and death from vascular causes (4.0% versus 5.1%, P = 0.001), but not stroke alone compared with patients treated with clopidogrel. The rate of death from any cause was also lower with ticagrelor than clopidogrel (4.5% versus 5.9%, P < 0.001). No significant increase was seen in the risk of major or fatal bleeding, although there was an increase in non-coronary-artery bypass graft-related major bleeding with ticagrelor versus clopidogrel (4.5% versus 3.8%, P = 0.03). A substudy of PLATO (10 285 participants) analysed the effects of CYP2C19 and ABCB1 genotypes, which are known to influence the effects of clopidogrel, on outcomes with ticagrelor versus clopidogrel. Cardiovascular death occurred less often with ticagrelor than clopidogrel, irrespective of CYP2C19 or ABCB1 genotype (7). The reduced risk of cardiovascular death with ticagrelor, regardless of genotype, suggests that the use of ticagrelor may be started for patients without the need for recommended genetic testing and may be a potential option for patients who are resistant or unresponsive to clopidogrel.

The PLATELET substudy of the PLATO trial compared antiplatelet effects of ticagrelor versus clopidogrel in patients with acute coronary syndrome (69 participants, 28 days maintenance treatment with ticagrelor (90 mg twice daily) or clopidogrel (75 mg daily) (8). Ticagrelor produced significantly lower platelet reaction units with both the loading dose at 4 hours and the maintenance doses (both trough and peak), demonstrating a greater platelet inhibitor effect with ticagrelor than clopidogrel in patients with acute coronary syndrome both in the first hours of treatment and during maintenance.

A meta-analysis of 10 randomized studies (56 385 participants) evaluated the safety and efficacy of ticagrelor versus clopidogrel in patients with acute coronary syndrome (9). Analysis of pooled data from eight studies indicated no significant differences in the risk of bleeding (odds ratio (OR) OR 1.07, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.91 to 1.26), or rate of myocardial infarction (OR 0.87, 95% CI 0.72 to 1.05) between treatments. Analysis of pooled data from seven studies also indicated no significant differences in the risk of stroke between treatments (OR 0.93, 95% CI 0.64 to 1.34).

A network meta-analysis of 12 randomized trials (52 816 participants) compared the efficacy and safety of prasugrel, ticagrelor and clopidogrel in acute coronary syndrome (10). Ticagrelor was associated with significantly lower cardiovascular mortality (hazard ratio (HR) 0.82, 95% CI 0.72 to 0.92) and all-cause mortality (HR 0.83, 95% CI 0.75 to 0.92) compared than clopidogrel. No significant differences were observed between ticagrelor and clopidogrel for non-cardiovascular mortality or reduction in myocardial infarction events. Seven studies provided data for the outcome of definite or probable stent thrombosis events. Both ticagrelor (HR 0.72, 95% CI 0.58 to 0.90) and prasugrel

(HR 0.50, 95% CI 0.38 to 0.64) were associated with a significantly lower risk of stent thrombosis compared with clopidogrel. Prasugrel was associated with a significantly lower risk of stent thrombosis than ticagrelor (HR 0.68, 95% CI 0.50 to 0.93).

A retrospective observational study using data from a Chinese nationwide database assessed clinical characteristics of patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction with in-hospital cardiac arrest, as well as predictors and treatments associated with the risk of in-hospital cardiac arrest (*11*). Patients presenting with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction within 24 hours after symptom onset were stratified according to in-hospital cardiac arrest or no in-hospital cardiac arrest during index hospitalization. Of the 40 670 patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction, 2.2% experienced in-hospital cardiac arrest, which in turn was responsible for more than half of inpatient deaths. However, primary percutaneous coronary intervention (adjusted HR 0.82, 95% CI 0.71 to 0.95),  $\beta$ -blockers (adjusted HR 0.63, 95% CI 0.47 to 0.86) and ticagrelor (adjusted HR 0.57, 95% CI 0.42 to 0.76) treatments were associated with a reduced risk of in-hospital cardiac arrest (*11*).

A systematic review of seven trials (511 participants) compared the efficacy of ticagrelor versus clopidogrel in improving endothelial function in patients with coronary artery disease (12). Compared with clopidogrel, ticagrelor resulted in a significantly higher elevation of progenitor cells CD34+KDR+ and CD34+133+, with a significantly lower rate of endothelial cell apoptosis. In addition, ticagrelor was superior to clopidogrel with regard to nitric oxide, radical oxygen species and soluble P-selectin levels. Overall, ticagrelor appeared to lead to greater improved endothelial cell function compared with clopidogrel.

A network meta-analysis of nine randomized trials (91 115 participants) evaluated comparative efficacy and safety of antiplatelet and anticoagulant therapy in patients with chronic coronary syndromes after percutaneous coronary intervention (*13*). Compared with aspirin alone, the addition of prasugrel or ticagrelor to aspirin was associated with a lower risk of myocardial infarction (prasugrel: OR 0.48, 95% CI 0.38 to 0.62; ticagrelor: OR 0.81–0.84, 95% CI 0.69 to 0.98), but was associated with an increased risk of major bleeding (prasugrel: OR 1.79, 95% CI 1.34 to 2.39; ticagrelor: OR 2.08–2.38, 95% CI 1.56 to 3.28). Significant differences between antithrombotic treatments for the primary outcome of major adverse cardiovascular event were not observed.

A systematic review and meta-analysis of 24 randomized trials (48 759 participants) assessed antithrombotic therapy for symptomatic peripheral arterial disease (*14*). For the primary endpoint of reducing major adverse cardiovascular events, clopidogrel (relative risk (RR) 0.78, 95% CI 0.66 to 0.93), ticagrelor (RR 0.79, 95% CI 0.65 to 0.97), aspirin plus ticagrelor (RR 0.79, 95% CI 0.64 to

0.97) and aspirin plus low-dose rivaroxaban (RR 0.84, 95% CI 0.76 to 0.93) were more effective than aspirin alone, and equally effective as each another.

A systematic review and meta-analysis of 22 studies (35 004 participants) evaluated the efficacy and safety of ticagrelor compared with clopidogrel in patients with general acute coronary syndrome and a group of patients with diabetes mellitus (15). The primary endpoint was a composite endpoint of any myocardial infarction, cardiovascular death or stroke. Five studies (33 258 participants) provided data for the composite endpoint and found that compared with clopidogrel, ticagrelor was associated with a lower incidence of the composite endpoint among patients with general acute coronary syndrome (OR 0.83, 95% CI 0.77 to 0.90). Eight studies (33 282 participants) provided data for the secondary endpoint of incidence of myocardial infarction. The incidence of myocardial infarction was significantly lower in the ticagrelor group than in the clopidogrel and prasugrel groups (OR 0.81, 95% CI 0.74 to 0.89). No significant differences were seen between the ticagrelor group and the clopidogrel and prasugrel groups for incidence of cardiovascular death or stroke.

A single-centre retrospective cohort study evaluated the effectiveness and safety of ticagrelor versus clopidogrel as dual antiplatelet therapy with aspirin in 908 Chinese patients aged  $\geq$  75 years with coronary artery disease after percutaneous coronary intervention for up to 12 months (*16*). Ticagrelor was associated with a lower incidence of major adverse cardiovascular events compared with clopidogrel (OR 0.49, 95% CI 0.36 to 0.68). There was no difference in the risk of bleeding between the two groups.

## Ticagrelor versus placebo

The PEGASUS-TIMI-54 study was a randomized, double-blind, multicentre study to assess the prevention of atherothrombotic events with ticagrelor given at two doses (either 90 mg twice daily or 60 mg twice daily) versus placebo in patients with a history of myocardial infarction within 1–3 years and additional risk factors for atherothrombosis (21 162 participants) (*17*). All participants also received low dose aspirin (75–150 mg). The primary efficacy endpoint was the composite of cardiovascular death, myocardial infarction or stroke. Both ticagrelor doses were associated with significant reductions in the composite endpoint compared with placebo (90 mg: HR 0.85, 95% CI 0.75 to 0.96; 60 mg: HR 0.84, 95% CI 0.74 to 0.95). No evidence of benefit was seen (no reduction in the primary composite endpoint, but an increase in major bleeding) when ticagrelor 60 mg twice daily was introduced in clinically stable patients more than 2 years after the myocardial infarction, or more than 1 year after stopping previous treatment with adenosine diphosphate receptor inhibitor.

## Summary of evidence: harms

The application presented the special warnings and precautions for use for ticagrelor as described in the summary of product characteristics issued by the European Medicines Agency (18). Selected safety findings from clinical trials are described below.

## **Risk of bleeding**

In the PLATO trial of ticagrelor versus clopidogrel, no significant differences were seen in the rates of major bleeding between treatment arms as defined in the trial (HR 1.04, 95% CI 0.95 to 1.13), major bleeding defined according to the Thrombolysis in Myocardial Infarction criteria (HR 1.03, 95% CI 0.93 to 1.15), fatal or life-threatening bleeding (HR 1.03, 95% CI 0.90 to 1.16), or major bleeding related to coronary artery bypass graft surgery (HR 0.95, 95% CI 0.91 to 1.11). Ticagrelor was associated with significantly higher rates of major bleeding not related to coronary artery bypass graft surgery according to the study criteria (HR 1.19, 95% CI 1.02 to 1.38) and the Thrombolysis in Myocardial Infarction criteria (HR 1.25, 95% CI 1.03 to 1.53). Ticagrelor was also associated with significantly more episodes of intracranial bleeding (HR 1.87, 95% CI 0.98 to 3.58), including fatal intracranial bleeding. There were fewer episodes of non-intracranial fatal bleeding in the ticagrelor group (6).

In the PEGASUS-TIMI-54 placebo-controlled study of ticagrelor in patients with a history of myocardial infarction, ticagrelor 60 mg (the only dose approved for use in this patient population) was associated with significantly higher rates of bleeding, including major (HR 2.32, 95% CI 1.68 to 3.21) and minor (HR 3.31, 95% CI 1.94 to 5.63) bleeding as defined by Thrombolysis in Myocardial Infarction criteria, bleeding requiring transfusion (HR 3.08, 95% CI 2.12 to 4.48) and bleeding leading to treatment discontinuation (HR 4.40, 95% CI 3.48 to 5.57) compared with placebo. A non-significant increase in fatal bleeding or non-fatal intracranial haemorrhage was observed with ticagrelor 60 mg treatment (HR 1.20, 95% CI 0.73 to 1.97) compared with placebo (*17*).

#### Dyspnoea

In the PLATO study, any dyspnoea was reported significantly more frequently in the ticagrelor arm than the clopidogrel arm (HR 1.84, 95% CI 1.68 to 2.02). Dyspnoea leading to treatment discontinuation was also more frequent in patients treated with ticagrelor (HR 6.12, 95% CI 3.41 to 11.01) (6).

In the PEGASUS trial, dyspnoea was reported significantly more frequently in patients taking ticagrelor 60 mg compared with aspirin alone (HR 2.81, 95% CI 2.50 to 3.17) and more frequently led to treatment discontinuation (HR 6.06, 95% CI 4.50 to 8.15) (*17*).

## Uric acid elevations

In the PLATO trial, serum uric acid increased to more than the upper limit of normal in 22% of patients receiving ticagrelor compared with 13% of patients receiving clopidogrel. The corresponding numbers in PEGASUS were 9.1%, 8.8% and 5.5% for ticagrelor 90 mg, ticagrelor 60 mg and placebo, respectively. Mean serum uric acid increased about 15% with ticagrelor compared with about 7.5% with clopidogrel. After treatment was stopped, uric acid decreased to about 7% in patients on ticagrelor but no decrease was observed for clopidogrel. In PEGASUS, a reversible increase in mean serum uric acid levels of 6.3% and 5.6% was found for ticagrelor 90 mg and 60 mg, respectively, compared with a 1.5% decrease in the placebo group. In PLATO, the frequency of gouty arthritis was 0.2% for ticagrelor versus 0.1% for clopidogrel. The corresponding numbers for gout/gouty arthritis in PEGASUS were 1.6%, 1.5% and 1.1% for ticagrelor 90 mg, ticagrelor 60 mg and placebo, respectively (*18*).

#### **WHO guidelines**

The WHO HEARTS technical package for cardiovascular disease management in primary health care includes recommendations on interventions for the management of hypertension, diabetes and elevated lipid levels in primary care (19). Recommendations specifically for the secondary prevention of atherothrombotic events in adults with acute coronary syndromes or a history of myocardial infarction and at high risk of developing an atherothrombotic event are not currently included.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

The application identified and briefly summarized findings from cost-effectiveness analyses comparing ticagrelor and clopidogrel in Brazil (20), Colombia (21), Egypt (22,23), Germany (20), Singapore (24), Sweden (20), Thailand (25), United Kingdom (20) and Viet Nam (26) which determined ticagrelor to be cost-effective versus clopidogrel based on national perspectives and willingness-to-pay thresholds.

The application also presented a comparison of the price per day of treatment in United States dollars for ticagrelor and clopidogrel from selected low- and middle-income countries where prices were available for both medicines (Table 21). Prices are published list prices and do not take into account confidential discounts or rebates that may be in place.

| Country    | Price per day, US\$ |                   |
|------------|---------------------|-------------------|
|            | Ticagrelor 90 mg    | Clopidogrel 75 mg |
| Bangladesh | 0.05                | 0.10              |
| Egypt      | 0.56                | 0.16              |
| India      | 0.72                | 0.10              |
| Indonesia  | 2.79                | 0.97              |
| Morocco    | 2.05                | 0.45              |
| Nicaragua  | 3.18                | 1.26              |
| Tunisia    | 1.83                | 0.44              |
| Ukraine    | 2.00                | 0.06              |
| Viet Nam   | 1.33                | 0.32              |

## Table 21 Average published price per day of treatment with ticagrelor and clopidogrel, by country

Source: Navlin; 2023 (https://data.navlin.com/alspc/#!/).

#### Availability

Ticagrelor has regulatory approval worldwide and remains under patent protection until 2024. Generics are available in some settings.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee considered that reducing mortality from cardiovascular diseases was a global health priority and acknowledged that prevention and treatment of cardiovascular disease remained an area of unmet need, especially in low- and middle-income countries.

The Committee noted that evidence from randomized trials, systematic reviews and network meta-analyses comparing ticagrelor with placebo and with active comparators presented in the application showed somewhat heterogeneous results, giving rise to uncertainty in the efficacy outcomes.

In the PEGASUS study in patients with a history of myocardial infarction, the Committee noted that ticagrelor in combination with aspirin was superior to aspirin alone in preventing atherothrombotic events; however, no benefit was observed when ticagrelor was introduced in clinically stable patients. In the PLATO study in hospitalized patients with acute coronary syndromes, the Committee noted that the use of ticagrelor did not improve outcomes more than clopidogrel in all patient subpopulations – those with body weight lower than the sex-specific median values and participants from North America. In addition, the Committee noted that participants from Hungary and Poland made up about 20% of the trial population and provided nearly half of the data in favour of ticagrelor. When data from these participants were excluded, ticagrelor was no longer superior to clopidogrel. Finally, when myocardial infarctions were assessed only by site investigators, and not by the clinical adjudication committee, ticagrelor was no longer superior to clopidogrel. The Committee noted that in both the PEGASUS and PLATO trials, ticagrelor was associated with an increased risk of some important bleeding outcomes, such as fatal intracranial bleeding.

The Committee also noted data (not presented in the application) from studies comparing ticagrelor and clopidogrel in Asian patients with acute coronary syndromes, which indicated that ticagrelor was not superior to clopidogrel and carried a greater risk of major bleeding (*27,28*).

The Committee noted that ticagrelor has generally been found to be costeffective versus clopidogrel in high-income settings. However, while generics of ticagrelor are available in some countries, it remains more expensive than clopidogrel in most markets.

Therefore, the Expert Committee did not recommend the inclusion of ticagrelor on the EML for the prevention of atherothrombotic events in adults with acute coronary syndromes or a history of myocardial infarction and at high risk of developing an atherothrombotic event.

## References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet. 2020;396(10258):1204–22.
- Timmis A, Vardas P, Townsend N, Torbica A, Katus H, De Smedt D, et al. European Society of Cardiology: cardiovascular disease statistics 2021: Executive Summary. Eur Heart J Qual Care Clin Outcomes. 2022;8(4):377–82.
- 4. Global Burden of Disease database [internet]. Seattle, WA: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation; 2019 (https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-results/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Qureshi NQ, Mufarrih SH, Bloomfield GS, Tariq W, Almas A, Mokdad AH, et al. Disparities in cardiovascular research output and disease outcomes among high-, middle- and low-income countries – an analysis of global cardiovascular publications over the last decade (2008–2017). Glob Heart. 2021;16(1):4.
- 6. Wallentin L, Becker RC, Budaj A, Cannon CP, Emanuelsson H, Held C, et al. Ticagrelor versus clopidogrel in patients with acute coronary syndromes. N Engl J Med. 2009;361(11):1045–57.

- Wallentin L, James S, Storey RF, Armstrong M, Barratt BJ, Horrow J, et al. Effect of CYP2C19 and ABCB1 single nucleotide polymorphisms on outcomes of treatment with ticagrelor versus clopidogrel for acute coronary syndromes: a genetic substudy of the PLATO trial. Lancet. 2010;376(9749):1320–8.
- Storey RF, Angiolillo DJ, Patil SB, Desai B, Ecob R, Husted S, et al. Inhibitory effects of ticagrelor compared with clopidogrel on platelet function in patients with acute coronary syndromes: the PLATO (PLATelet inhibition and patient Outcomes) PLATELET substudy. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010;56(18):1456–62.
- 9. Wang D, Yang XH, Zhang JD, Li RB, Jia M, Cui XR. Compared efficacy of clopidogrel and ticagrelor in treating acute coronary syndrome: a meta-analysis. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2018;18(1):217.
- 10. Navarese EP, Khan SU, Kolodziejczak M, Kubica J, Buccheri S, Cannon CP, et al. Comparative efficacy and safety of oral P2Y(12) inhibitors in acute coronary syndrome: network meta-analysis of 52 816 patients from 12 randomized trials. Circulation. 2020;142(2):150–60.
- 11. Gong W, Yan Y, Wang X, Zheng W, Smith SC, Jr., Fonarow GC, et al. Risk factors for in-hospital cardiac arrest in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2022;80(19):1788–98.
- Albadrani MS, Elhusein AM, Alotaibi YA, Hussein MK, Mohamedsalih WE, Mamanao DM, et al. Efficacy of ticagrelor compared to clopidogrel in improving endothelial function in patients with coronary artery disease: a systematic review. J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown). 2022;23(9):589–96.
- 13. Lin Y, Cai Z, Dong S, Liu H, Pang X, Chen Q, et al. Comparative efficacy and safety of antiplatelet or anticoagulant therapy in patients with chronic coronary syndromes after percutaneous coronary intervention: a network meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Front Pharmacol. 2022;13:992376.
- 14. Willems LH, Maas D, Kramers K, Reijnen M, Riksen NP, Ten Cate H, et al. Antithrombotic therapy for symptomatic peripheral arterial disease: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Drugs. 2022;82(12):1287–302.
- 15. Tan Q, Jiang X, Huang S, Zhang T, Chen L, Xie S, et al. The clinical efficacy and safety evaluation of ticagrelor for acute coronary syndrome in general ACS patients and diabetic patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2017;12(5):e0177872.
- Xu S, Liang Y, Chen Y, Gao H, Tan Z, Wang Q, et al. Comparative effectiveness and safety of ticagrelor versus clopidogrel for elderly Chinese patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention: a single-center retrospective cohort study. Drugs Aging. 2022;39(9):695–703.
- 17. Bonaca MP, Bhatt DL, Cohen M, Steg PG, Storey RF, Jensen EC, et al. Long-term use of ticagrelor in patients with prior myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(19):1791–800.
- Summary of product characteristics Brilique (INN ticagrelor). Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency; 2022 (https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/brilique-eparproduct-information\_en.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Technical package for cardiovascular disease management in primary health care: evidencebased treatment protocols. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/260421, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Janzon M, James S, Cannon CP, Storey RF, Mellstrom C, Nicolau JC, et al. Health economic analysis of ticagrelor in patients with acute coronary syndromes intended for non-invasive therapy. Heart. 2015;101(2):119–25.
- 21. Mejia A, Senior JM, Ceballos M, Atehortua S, Toro JM, Saldarriaga C, et al. Cost-effectiveness analysis of ticagrelor compared to clopidogrel for the treatment of patients with acute coronary syndrome in Colombia. Biomedica. 2015;35(4):531–40.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 22. Amin M, Abotaleb A. Using ticagrelor to enhance outcomes for acute coronary syndromes (ACS) patients at low middle income countries. Value Health. 2017;20(9):A626.
- 23. Abourawash A. Pcv69 Cost effectiveness analysis of ticagrelor versus clopidogrel in stemi patients from National Heart Institute perspective in Egypt. Value Health. 2019;22:S554.
- 24. Chin CT, Mellstrom C, Chua TS, Matchar DB. Lifetime cost-effectiveness analysis of ticagrelor in patients with acute coronary syndromes based on the PLATO trial: a Singapore healthcare perspective. Singapore Med J. 2013;54(3):169–75.
- 25. Yamwong S, Permsuwan U, Tinmanee S, Sritara P. Long-term cost effectiveness of ticagrelor in patients with acute coronary syndromes in Thailand. Health Econ Rev. 2014;4(1):17.
- 26. Nguyen TTT, Van Do D, Mellstrom C, Quang Nguyen T, Manh Pham H, Van Hoang S, et al. Costeffectiveness of ticagrelor compared with clopidogrel in patients with acute coronary syndrome from Vietnamese healthcare payers' perspective. Adv Ther. 2021;38(7):4026–39.
- 27. Goto S, Huang CH, Park SJ, Emanuelsson H, Kimura T. Ticagrelor vs. clopidogrel in Japanese, Korean and Taiwanese patients with acute coronary syndrome randomized, double-blind, phase III PHILO study. Circ J. 2015;79(11):2452–60.
- 28. Yang N, Liu J, Liu J, Hao Y, Smith JSC, Huo Y, et al. In-hospital outcomes of ticagrelor versus clopidogrel in patients 75 years or older with acute coronary syndrome: findings from the Improving Care for Cardiovascular Disease in China (CCC)-Acute Coronary Syndrome Project. Age Ageing. 2022;51(11).

# 12.7 Fixed-dose combinations for prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease

Fixed-dose combinations of cardiovascular medicines – addition – EML

| Acetylsalicylic acid + atorvastatin + ramipril  | ATC code: C10BX06       |
|---|-------------------------|
| Acetylsalicylic acid + simvastatin + ramipril + | ATC code: not available |
| Atorvastatin + perindopril + amlodipine         | ATC code: C10BX11       |

## Proposal

Addition of fixed-dose combination formulations including acetylsalicylic acid, antihypertensive medicines and 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors (statins) on the core list of the EML for primary and secondary prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases in adults.

Two combinations (acetylsalicylic acid + simvastatin + ramipril + atenolol + hydrochlorothiazide, and atorvastatin + perindopril + amlodipine) are proposed for primary prevention of incident atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease in individuals with a predicted risk of over 10% within a span of 10 years.

The combination of acetylsalicylic acid + atorvastatin + ramipril is proposed for secondary prevention in patients who already have existing atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease.

## Applicant

Mark Huffman, Washington University School of Medicine in St Louis, St Louis, MO, United States of America

Pablo Perel, World Heart Federation and London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom

## WHO technical department

The WHO Noncommunicable Diseases Department is in favour of including fixed-dose combinations for both primary and secondary prevention of cardiovascular diseases. Their support is based on: clear evidence of benefit; improved management of secondary prevention, especially in terms of adherence and persistence with the treatment; wide market availability globally; and generally being considered cost-effective and affordable.

## EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

Section 12.7 Fixed-dose combinations for prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (new subsection)

#### Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Acetylsalicylic acid + atorvastatin + ramipril – Tablet: 100 mg + 20 mg + 2.5 mg, 100 mg + 20 mg + 5 mg, 100 mg + 20 mg + 10 mg, 100 mg + 40 mg + 2.5 mg, 100 mg + 40 mg + 5 mg, 100 mg + 40 mg + 10 mg

Acetylsalicylic acid + simvastatin + ramipril + atenolol + hydrochlorothiazide – Tablet: 100 mg + 20 mg + 5 mg + 50 mg + 12.5 mg

Atorvastatin + perindopril + amlodipine – Tablet: 20 mg + 5 mg + 5 mg, 20 mg + 10 mg + 10 mg, 40 mg + 5 mg + 5 mg, 40 mg + 10 mg + 10 mg

#### Core/complementary

Core

## Individual/square box listing

Square box, with therapeutic alternatives for individual component medicines consistent with those currently included in the EML.

#### Background

Applications for the inclusion of various fixed-dose combination formulations of medicines for secondary prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease in adults had previously been considered by the Expert Committee in 2013, 2015 and 2017. On each occasion, listing was not recommended. Refer to the corresponding technical reports from each meeting for more information (1-3). The current application builds on the evidence presented in the previous applications.

The medicines included in the fixed-dose combinations formulations proposed in the current application are all already included individually on the EML.

#### Public health relevance

Cardiovascular diseases, primarily ischaemic heart disease and stroke, are the leading cause of death worldwide. Data from the Global Burden of Disease study showed that in 2019, cardiovascular diseases were responsible for an estimated 18.6 million deaths globally (an increase from 12.1 million in 1990) and constituted almost one third of all global deaths. In addition, prevalent cases of total cardiovascular diseases increased from 271 million in 1990 to 523 million in 2019. Global trends also increased for disability-adjusted life years (DALYs)

and years of life lost (YLL), and years lived with disability (YLD) doubled over the same time period (4).

Clinical guidelines recommend pharmacotherapy using cholesterol and blood pressure-lowering medicines for secondary prevention in individuals with prevalent disease, and for primary prevention in individuals at high risk of cardiovascular disease. Antiplatelet therapy with aspirin is also recommended for secondary prevention. Pharmacotherapy was also recommended in WHO's global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013–2020 (5) for patients with and at high risk of cardiovascular disease. These medicines, individually and as pharmacological classes have long been included in the Model List of Essential Medicines because of their efficacy, safety and costeffectiveness for both prevalent cardiovascular disease patients and those at high risk of incident disease. The WHO HEARTS technical package emphasizes a risk-based approach for country-level implementation (6).

Despite the availability of effective medicines, the uptake of individual medicines for cardiovascular disease prevention remains low (7). Data from 40 demographic health surveys in low- and middle-income countries (2013–2019) show that less than 10% of eligible adults use recommended pharmacotherapy (statins, blood pressure-lowering medicines and aspirin) for primary or secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease (8,9). Low rates of use are also reported in high-income countries. For example, in the United States, data indicate that one out of every four adults with prevalent cardiovascular disease takes the combination of antiplatelet, statin and blood pressure-lowering therapy for secondary prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (10,11). The longitudinal rates of medication use as secondary prevention for cardiovascular disease were studied in the Prospective Urban Rural Epidemiology (PURE) study in 17 countries. The study spanned 12 years period and found little improvement in the use of medicines for secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease over time. This lack of change was observed in countries of all income levels (7).

## Summary of evidence: benefits

A systematic review by the applicants builds on a 2017 Cochrane systematic review of fixed-dose combination therapy for the prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases (13 randomized controlled trials, 9059 participants) (12). The applicant's review included data from an additional 13 clinical trials (18 277 participants). Among these new trials, three (PolyIran (13), TIPS-3 (14) and SECURE (15)) published in the past 3 years have contributed to strengthening the evidence for fixed-dose combination therapy. In total, the evidence presented for fixed-dose combination therapy includes 26 trials (27 336 participants). Details of the included studies are presented in the application. Control groups in the trials included placebo, usual care and individual medicine monotherapy.

#### **Primary prevention**

Based on study level meta-analyses, fixed-dose combination therapy was associated with a 29% reduction in the risk of fatal and non-fatal major adverse cardiovascular events (risk ratio (RR) 0.71, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.63 to 0.79; five randomized controlled trials, high-quality evidence) and an 11% reduction in the risk of all-cause mortality (5.6% versus 6.3%; RR 0.89, 95% CI 0.78 to 1.00; four randomized controlled trials; high-quality evidence) compared with control.

Based on study-level meta-analyses, fixed-dose combination therapy was associated with significant reductions in risk factors, including a decrease in systolic blood pressure (weighted mean difference (MD) -8.08 mmHg, 95% CI -10.83 to -5.34 mmHg; 17 randomized controlled trials; high-quality evidence) and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (weighted MD -1.06 mmol/L, 95% CI -1.36 to -0.76 mmol/L; 16 randomized controlled trials; high-quality evidence).

These findings are supported by data from an individual participant data meta-analysis of three outcome-driven primary prevention trials comparing a fixed-dose combination treatment strategy versus placebo or usual care (PolyIran (13), TIPS-3 (14) and HOPE-3 (16)) conducted by the Polypill Trialists' Collaboration. The results showed a 38% overall reduction in the risk of cardiovascular death, myocardial infarction, stroke, or arterial revascularization with fixed-dose combination therapy (3.0% versus 4.9%, hazard ratio (HR) 0.62, 95% CI 0.53 to 0.73). The results were consistent for fixed-dose combinations that included aspirin (2.6% versus 4.8%; HR 0.53, 95% CI 0.41 to 0.67) and did not include aspirin (3.3% versus 4.9%; HR 0.68, 95% CI 0.57 to 0.81). The meta-analysis also found fixed-dose combination therapy to be associated with reductions in systolic blood pressure (mean difference -4.7 mmHg, 95% CI -4.2 to -5.2 mmHg) and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (mean difference -0.59 mmol/L, 95% CI -0.55 to -0.62 mmol/L). Additionally, there was no evidence of heterogeneity across tertiles of baseline predicted risk levels or other characteristics (17).

## Secondary prevention

The SECURE trial was a randomized phase III trial (2499 participants) that assessed fixed-dose combination therapy with aspirin + ramipril + atorvastatin versus usual care in patients with myocardial infarction within the previous 6 months (*15*). Fixed-dose combination therapy was associated with a 24% relative risk reduction for the primary composite outcome of cardiovascular death, non-fatal type 1 myocardial infarction, non-fatal ischaemic stroke or urgent revascularization (9.5% versus 12.7%; HR 0.76, 95% CI 0.60 to 0.96) compared with usual care. For the secondary outcome of a composite of cardiovascular death, non-fatal type 1 myocardial infarction, or non-fatal ischaemic stroke,

there was a 30% relative risk reduction associated with fixed-dose combination therapy (8.2% versus 11.7%; HR 0.70, 95% CI 0.54 to 0.90). The reductions in cardiovascular disease events were likely due to improvements in adherence, as the fixed-dose combination therapy group showed higher adherence rates (74.1% versus 63.2% at 24 months; RR 1.17, 95% CI 1.10 to 1.25).

The PolyIran trial included 737 participants with cardiovascular disease at baseline. Fixed-dose combination therapy was associated with a reduced rate of major adverse cardiovascular events in this subgroup, similar in direction and magnitude to the overall trial results, with no evidence of an interaction based on baseline disease status (adjusted HR 0.80, 95% CI 0.57 to 1.12,  $P_{\text{interaction}} = 0.19$ ) (13).

The application stated that other trials with at least 15% of participants with prevalent cardiovascular disease showed substantial heterogeneity with results likely being driven by the small number of events from trials that were not designed to evaluate the effect of fixed-dose combination therapy on clinical outcomes. These results were not determined to be reliable and therefore estimates for secondary prevention were derived exclusively from secondary prevention populations reported in the SECURE and PolyIran trials.

## Mixed primary and secondary prevention

A meta-analysis of trials in mixed primary and secondary prevention showed that fixed-dose combination therapy resulted in a reduction in risk factors compared with usual care, including systolic blood pressure (weighted MD -1.23 mmHg, 95% CI -2.10 to -0.36 mmHg, seven randomized controlled trials, high-quality evidence) and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (weighted MD 0.02 mmol/L, 95% CI -0.06 to 0.03 mmol/L, seven randomized controlled trials, moderate-quality evidence). The applicants concluded that overall, the expected benefits of fixed-dose combination therapy in a general population would be greater due to the reported low baseline treatment rates.

## Health-related quality of life

Health-related quality of life showed no significant differences between treatment groups in EQ-5D scores (MD 0.22, 95% CI –1.02 to 1.46, three randomized controlled trials, 2109 participants).

## Adherence

Patients randomized to fixed-dose combination therapy had higher adherence rates than controls (RR 1.16, 95% CI 1.03 to 1.29, 11 randomized controlled trials). However, there was considerable heterogeneity in this outcome, making it difficult to assess the true effect on adherence, especially in an unselected population where adherence rates might differ from clinical trial participants who usually have higher adherence rates than the general population.

## Evidence in different populations and settings

Data from the SECURE trial showed no evidence of heterogeneity of effect based on country (although SECURE included data only from high-income European countries) (15).

The HOPE-4 cluster randomized trial (30 clusters, 1371 participants) also showed the feasibility, effectiveness and safety of delivering the combination of angiotensin receptor blocker + statin in patients without prior cardiovascular disease through non-physician health workers in Colombia and Malaysia (18). These health workers were supported by computer-based simplified management algorithms. The intervention resulted in a 43% relative risk reduction in predicted risk (-6.4%, 95% CI -8.0% to -4.8%) in the control group and -11.2%, 95% CI -12.9% to -9.5%) in the intervention group, which were driven by greater reductions in systolic blood pressure (-11.5 mmHg, 95% CI -14.9 to -8.0 mmHg) and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (-0.41 mmol/L, 95% CI -0.6 to -0.2 mmol/L).

Implementation of the combination of aspirin + ramipril + atorvastatin has also been shown to be feasible and acceptable in patients with prevalent cardiovascular disease in a humanitarian setting in Lebanon (19).

A 2022 meta-analysis of 16 randomized trials (26 567 participants) evaluated the efficacy of fixed-dose combination therapy versus placebo or usual care as primary or secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease (20). This review included, a subgroup analysis based on country income level which showed that in low- and middle-income countries, fixed-dose combination therapy was associated with lower rates of major adverse cardiovascular events (RR 0.67, 95% CI 0.56 to 0.79) compared with high-income countries (RR 1.04, 95% CI 0.69 to 1.58). This difference is likely influenced by the background treatment rate of the comparator group.

## Summary of evidence: harms

In primary prevention trials, fixed-dose combination therapy was shown to increase the risk of any adverse event by 21% compared with controls (11.6% versus 9.6%; RR 1.21, 95% CI 1.12 to 1.31; 15 randomized controlled trials; high-quality evidence). The applicants proposed that this may be a result of increased exposure to these medicines as a result of improved adherence. Most adverse events associated with fixed-dose combination therapy were mild and reversible, and were consistent with the known adverse events of the individual medicines (e.g. dizziness and muscle pain).

The findings from the individual participant data meta-analysis, which focused on patients with a primary prevention indication, support these results (17).

In secondary prevention trials, fixed-dose combination therapy increased the risk of adverse events by 7% (27.5% versus 25.9%; RR 1.07, 95% CI 0.99 to
1.15; eight randomized controlled trials; moderate-quality evidence). The quality of evidence was downgraded because of heterogeneity and the true effect may be influenced by the treatment rate in the comparator group.

Data from the SECURE trial of secondary prevention showed no significant difference in adverse events between the fixed-dose combination therapy group and the usual care group (15).

Discontinuation rates were similar between groups in the nine trials that reported this outcome (RR 1.05%, 95% CI 0.99 to 1.11).

The proposed fixed-dose combinations are contraindicated in pregnant or breastfeeding women, following the contraindications of the individual components.

## WHO guidelines

The 2007 WHO pocket guidelines for assessment and management of cardiovascular risk recommends that all individuals with established coronary heart disease, cerebrovascular disease or peripheral vascular disease should receive treatment with blood pressure-lowering therapy, a statin and aspirin. Lifestyle advice should also be offered (e.g. smoking cessation, dietary changes, physical activity, weight control and alcohol intake) (*21*).

The 2016 HEARTS technical package for cardiovascular disease management in primary care provides information on evidence-based treatment protocols and risk-based management of cardiovascular disease. These include recommendations for the use of antihypertensive therapy, statins and antiplatelet therapy (6).

The 2021 WHO guidelines for the pharmacological treatment of hypertension in adults includes a strong recommendation for the use of thiazide and thiazide-like diuretics, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors or angiotensin-receptor blockers, or long-acting dihydropyridine calcium channel blockers as initial treatment for adults with hypertension requiring pharmacological treatment (strong recommendation; high-certainty evidence). The guidelines also include a conditional recommendation for combination therapy, preferably with a single-pill combination (to improve adherence and persistence) as initial treatment in adults with hypertension requiring pharmacological treatment and recommends that the medicines used in combination be chosen from the above-mentioned medicine classes (22).

## Other current clinical practice guidelines

Statins and antihypertensive medicines are recommended for all individuals with a history of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease in guidelines from various regions, including Australia (23), Brazil (24) Europe (25), Japan (26), the United States (27), and others, with additional support from the World Heart Federation (28). These medicines are also advised for individuals at high predicted risk of

incident atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease, particularly those with type 2 diabetes mellitus 40 years and older (29).

Antiplatelet therapy is also recommended for individuals with prevalent atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease, but there is no consensus yet on its use in primary prevention.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The application included the results of a survey to collect primary data on market authorization, retail prices and affordability of fixed-dose combinations in 12 countries (Argentina, Bangladesh, Cameroon, Colombia, India, Iraq, Mauritius, Mexico, Nepal, Nigeria, Spain and Sweden). Fixed-dose combinations were stocked by private pharmacies in Argentina, India, Mauritius and Spain. None of the public pharmacies visited stocked any combination. Affordability was determined based on the WHO/Health Action International standards, which consider a medicine to be affordable if the cost of 1 month's supply is lower than the lowest daily wage of a government worker in that area. The findings are presented in Table 22.

#### Table 22

| Country               | Fixed-dose<br>combination       | Price/<br>tablet,<br>US\$ | Cost for<br>1 month<br>supply, US\$ | Minimum<br>daily wage,<br>US\$ | Number<br>of days'<br>wages |  |  |
|-----------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------------|-------------------------------------|--------------------------------|-----------------------------|--|--|
| Proposed formulations |                                 |                           |                                     |                                |                             |  |  |
| India                 | ASP + ATO + RAM                 | 0.04                      | 1.26                                | 5.41                           | 0.23                        |  |  |
| India                 | ASP + SIM + RAM + ATE<br>+ HCTZ | 0.34                      | 10.14                               | 5.41                           | 1.87                        |  |  |
| Spain                 | ASP + ATO + RAM                 | 0.74                      | 22.20                               | 32.66                          | 0.68                        |  |  |
| Other formulations    |                                 |                           |                                     |                                |                             |  |  |
| Argentina             | ROS + CAN + HCTZ                | 0.31                      | 9.30                                | 7.64                           | 1.21                        |  |  |
| India                 | MET + ATO + RAM                 | 0.13                      | 4.04                                | 5.41                           | 0.75                        |  |  |
| India                 | ASP + ATO + RAM + MET           | 0.12                      | 3.60                                | 5.41                           | 0.67                        |  |  |
| India                 | LOS + AT0 + ASP + ATE           | 0.17                      | 5.22                                | 5.41                           | 0.96                        |  |  |
| Mauritius             | ATP + PER + AML                 | 0.88                      | 26.46                               | 9.52                           | 2.78                        |  |  |

## Price and affordability of fixed-dose combinations by country

AML: amlodipine; ASP: aspirin; ATE: atenolol; ATO: atorvastatin; CAN: candesartan; HCTZ: hydrochlorothiazide; LOS: losartan; MET: metoprolol; PER: perindopril; RAM: ramipril; ROS: rosuvastatin; SIM: simvastatin.

A 2020 systematic review analysed 24 studies that evaluated the costeffectiveness of fixed-dose combinations for primary and secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease (30). Most of the included studies were conducted in European countries, with three conducted in Asia. Four multicountry studies were conducted. Three quarters of the studies analysed cost-effectiveness from a health care perspective, and the remainder from payer or societal perspectives. Across all studies, incremental cost-effectiveness ratios ranged from US\$ 24 to US\$ 31 000. Fourteen studies investigated fixed-dose combination therapy as primary prevention. The systematic review found that fixed-dose combination therapy was considered cost-effective in five studies, including two in which it was determined to be dominant (i.e. more effective and cost-saving). In two studies, fixed-dose combination therapy was dominated (i.e. less effective and higher cost) or not cost-effective. Twelve studies investigated fixed-dose combination therapy as secondary prevention. The review found that fixed-dose combination therapy was cost-effective in six studies, and dominant in a further four studies compared with usual care with multiple monotherapies. One study concluded that fixed-dose combination therapy was not cost-effective. A study in which fixed-dose combination therapy was compared with no treatment found the intervention to be cost-effective. The key determinants of cost-effectiveness for fixed-dose combination therapy were the price of the combination, followed by the effect of age and the risk for cardiovascular disease.

A 2021 economic analysis based on the International Polycap Study 3 (TIPS-3) examined the cost implications of fixed-dose combinations as a primary prevention strategy (*31*). Over the 4.6 years of the trial, the use of fixed-dose combinations led to a higher mean total cost per patient in lower middle- and upper middle-income countries, but it was cost-neutral (dominant) in high-income countries. The difference in costs per patient between fixed-dose combinations and placebo over the trial period was US\$ 291 in lower middle-income countries, US\$ 1068 in upper middle-income countries and US\$ 48 in high-income countries. These variations were influenced by higher acquisition costs in low- and middle-income countries. Cost-savings from fewer procedures and hospitalizations associated with fixed-dose combination therapy were insufficient to offset acquisition costs in lower income settings. Overall, the authors considered that fixed-dose combination therapy was affordable in all income groups when estimated using monthly household capacity to pay or a threshold of 4% of the gross national income per capita.

A cost–effectiveness analysis for the proposed fixed-dose combination of aspirin + atorvastatin, + ramipril versus usual care with individual monotherapies from a Portuguese payer perspective reported an incremental cost–effectiveness ratio of €5130 per life year gained for the overall population. The incremental cost–utility ratio was €5332 per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) gained for the overall

population. At a willingness-to-pay threshold of  $\notin$  30000 per QALY gained, the study the chance of fixed-dose combination therapy being cost-effective was 76.1% and the chance of it being cost-saving compared with usual care was 27.8% (32).

## Availability

The application reported that the proposed fixed-dose combinations have variable authorization for marketing and are available in more than 70 countries worldwide.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged the substantial public health burden of cardiovascular disease, primarily ischaemic heart disease and stroke, which continues to rise in many settings and is the leading cause of death globally. The Committee noted that the current use of medicines to prevent and control atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease, including antiplatelet therapy and cholesterol- and blood pressure-lowering medicines, has remained low over the past 2 decades, despite high-quality evidence of their benefits as separate medicine classes. The Committee considered that small, incremental effects on cardiovascular outcomes and mortality are relevant from a public health perspective as when applied to the global population these benefits can be substantial.

The Committee recalled the previous applications for inclusion of fixeddose combinations and commended the efforts of scientists and policy-makers around the world in accumulating evidence to better understand the merits of these formulations in primary and secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease. The Committee considered that the totality of the evidence presented both previously and built upon in the current application was substantial, including multiple large randomized trials, and demonstrated that fixed-dose combination therapy reduced the risk of fatal and non-fatal major cardiovascular adverse events. The Committee also noted that the available data indicate that fixed-dose combination therapy was associated with improvements in adherence and quality of life.

The Committee noted the concerns expressed by previous Expert Committees about cost and cost-effectiveness and considered that these concerns had been satisfactorily addressed, noting that fixed-dose combination therapy has been found to be cost-effective in multiple studies, and also noting the increasing availability of generic formulations in several countries and improved affordability. The Committee considered that the cost of fixed-dose combinations should be equal to or ideally lower than the sum of the corresponding component monotherapies. The Committee considered that the fixed-dose combinations could be proposed for WHO prequalification to ensure that products met acceptable standards of quality, safety and efficacy. This process could facilitate access in low- and middle-income countries where national regulatory capacity may be lacking.

The Committee considered potential risks associated with using fixeddose combination therapy as initial treatment instead of multiple component monotherapy and noted the need to be able to adjust doses and in some cases to tailor treatment to individual patients depending on comorbidities, contraindications and other individual patient factors. The Committee therefore emphasized that the ongoing availability of single agent cardiovascular medicines was critical to allow treatment modification where necessary, and that combination products should not displace single components at the country level. The Committee commended the efforts of WHO in developing the HEARTS technical package for cardiovascular disease management and the guidelines for pharmacological treatment of hypertension. The Committee recommended that WHO evaluate the potential benefits of developing guidance specific for the clinical use and national implementation of fixed-dose combinations for cardiovascular disease prevention to supplement existing guidance and support health professionals prescribing these formulations.

Based on these considerations, the Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of the three fixed-dose combinations of cardiovascular medicines (acetylsalicylic acid + simvastatin + ramipril + atenolol + hydrochlorothiazide; acetylsalicylic acid + atorvastatin + ramipril; and atorvastatin + perindopril + amlodipine) on the core list of the EML for use in the primary and secondary prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases. Components of the combinations should be listed with a square box, indicating other medicines within the respective pharmacological classes represent therapeutic alternatives, consistent with the current square box listings for hydrochlorothiazide, antihypertensive medicines and statins.

## References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2013 (including the 18th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 4th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013. (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 985; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/112729, accessed 6 October 2023).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 6 October 2023).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2017 (including the 20th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1006; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259481, accessed 6 October 2023).

- Roth GA, Mensah GA, Johnson CO, Addolorato G, Ammirati E, Baddour LM, et al. Global burden of cardiovascular diseases and risk factors, 1990–2019 update from the GBD 2019 study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2020;76(25):2982–3021.
- 5. Global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013-2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/94384, accessed 6 October 2023).
- HEARTS technical package for cardiovascular disease management in primary health care. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/252661, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Yusuf S, Islam S, Chow CK, Rangarajan S, Dagenais G, Diaz R, et al. Use of secondary prevention drugs for cardiovascular disease in the community in high-income, middle-income, and low-income countries (the PURE Study): a prospective epidemiological survey. Lancet. 2011;378(9798):1231–43.
- Marcus ME, Manne-Goehler J, Theilmann M, Farzadfar F, Moghaddam SS, Keykhaei M, et al. Use of statins for the prevention of cardiovascular disease in 41 low-income and middle-income countries: a cross-sectional study of nationally representative, individual-level data. Lancet Glob Health. 2022;10(3):e369–e79.
- Geldsetzer P, Manne-Goehler J, Marcus M-E, Ebert C, Zhumadilov Z, Wesseh CS, et al. The state of hypertension care in 44 low-income and middle-income countries: a cross-sectional study of nationally representative individual-level data from 1.1 million adults. Lancet. 2019;394(10199):652–62.
- 10. Shah NS, Huffman MD, Ning H, Lloyd-Jones DM. Trends in myocardial infarction secondary prevention: the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys (NHANES), 1999–2012. J Am Heart Assoc. 2015;4(4):e001709.
- Shah NS, Huffman MD, Ning H, Lloyd-Jones DM. Trends in vascular risk factor treatment and control in US stroke survivors: the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys (1999–2010). Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2013;6(3):270–7.
- 12. Bahiru E, de Cates AN, Farr MR, Jarvis MC, Palla M, Rees K, et al. Fixed-dose combination therapy for the prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;3(3):CD009868.
- 13. Roshandel G, Khoshnia M, Poustchi H, Hemming K, Kamangar F, Gharavi A, et al. Effectiveness of polypill for primary and secondary prevention of cardiovascular diseases (Polylran): a pragmatic, cluster-randomised trial. Lancet. 2019;394(10199):672–83.
- 14. Yusuf S, Joseph P, Dans A, Gao P, Teo K, Xavier D, et al. Polypill with or without aspirin in persons without cardiovascular disease. N Engl J Med. 2021;384(3):216–28.
- 15. Castellano JM, Pocock SJ, Bhatt DL, Quesada AJ, Owen R, Fernandez-Ortiz A, et al. Polypill strategy in secondary cardiovascular prevention. N Engl J Med. 2022;387(11):967–77.
- 16. Yusuf S, Lonn E, Pais P, Bosch J, López-Jaramillo P, Zhu J, et al. Blood-pressure and cholesterol lowering in persons without cardiovascular disease. N Engl J Med. 2016;374(21):2032–43.
- 17. Joseph P, Roshandel G, Gao P, Pais P, Lonn E, Xavier D, et al. Fixed-dose combination therapies with and without aspirin for primary prevention of cardiovascular disease: an individual participant data meta-analysis. Lancet. 2021;398(10306):1133–46.
- 18. Schwalm J-D, McCready T, Lopez-Jaramillo P, Yusoff K, Attaran A, Lamelas P, et al. A communitybased comprehensive intervention to reduce cardiovascular risk in hypertension (HOPE 4): a cluster-randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2019;394(10205):1231–42.

19. Murphy A, Willis R, Ansbro É, Masri S, Kabbara N, Dabbousy T, et al. Implementation of fixed-dose combination therapy for secondary prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease among Syrian refugees in Lebanon: a qualitative evaluation. BMC Health Serv Res. 2022;22(1):744.

- 20. Abushouk AI, Sayed A, Munir M, Ghanem E, Abdelfattah O, Michos ED, et al. Fixed-dose combination (polypill) for cardiovascular disease prevention: a meta-analysis. Am J Prev Med. 2022;63(3):440–9.
- 21. Prevention of cardiovascular disease: pocket guidelines for assessment and management of cardiovascular risk. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/43787, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 22. Guideline for the pharmacological treatment of hypertension in adults. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/344424, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 23. National evidence-based guideline on secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease in type 2 diabetes. Melbourne; Baker Heart and Diabetes Institute; 2015.
- Simão AF, Précoma DB, Andrade JPd, Filho HC, Saraiva JFK, Oliveira GMM, Brazilian Society of Cardiology. I cardiovascular prevention guideline of the Brazilian Society of Cardiology – executive summary. Arq Bras Cardiol. 2014;102(5):420–31.
- Authors/Task Force Members; ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines (CPG); ESC National Cardiac Societies. 2019 ESC/EAS guidelines for the management of dyslipidaemias: Lipid modification to reduce cardiovascular risk. Atherosclerosis. 2019;290:140–205.
- Kinoshita M, Yokote K, Arai H, Iida M, Ishigaki Y, Ishibashi S, et al. Japan Atherosclerosis Society (JAS) guidelines for prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases 2017. J Atheroscler Thromb. 2018;25(9):GL2017.
- Grundy SM, Stone NJ, Bailey AL, Beam C, Birtcher KK, Blumenthal RS, et al. 2018 AHA/ACC/ AACVPR/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/ADA/AGS/APhA/ASPC/NLA/PCNA Guideline on the management of blood cholesterol. Circulation. 2018;139(25):e1082–e143.
- Perel P, Avezum A, Huffman M, Pais P, Rodgers A, Vedanthan R, et al. Reducing premature cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in people with atherosclerotic vascular disease: The World Heart Federation Roadmap for Secondary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease. Glob Heart. 2015;10(2):99–110.
- Force USPST, Bibbins-Domingo K, Grossman DC, Curry SJ, Davidson KW, Epling JW, et al. Statin use for the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease in adults: US Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. JAMA. 2016;316(19):1997–2007.
- 30. Glasziou PP, Irwig L, Heritier S, Simes RJ, Tonkin A, LIPID Study Investigators. Monitoring cholesterol levels: measurement error or true change? Ann Intern Med. 2008;148(9):656–61.
- 31. Lamy A, Tong W, Joseph P, Gao P, Pais P, Lopez-Jaramillo P, et al. The cost implications of a polypill for primary prevention in the TIPS-3 trial. Eur Heart J Qual Care Clin Outcomes. 2021;8(8):899–908.
- 32. Aguiar C, Araujo F, Rubio G, Carcedo D, Abreu-Oliveira TP, Paz S, et al. Cost-effectiveness of the CNIC-polypill strategy for the secondary prevention of CV disease in male and female patients with established coronary heart disease based on improved risk factor control. Eur Heart J. 2021;42(Suppl 1).

## Section 13: Dermatological medicines

Sunscreen – addition – EML and EMLc

## Sunscreen

## ATC code: D02BA

## Proposal

Addition of broad-spectrum sunscreen to the core list of the EML and EMLc for the prevention of skin cancer in people with albinism.

## Applicant

United Nations Independent Expert on the Enjoyment of Rights by Persons with Albinism

The Global Albinism Alliance

## WHO technical department

The technical team in cancer in the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases reviewed and provided comments on the application. The technical team advised that based on the available evidence, it supported the inclusion of topical sunscreen in multiple dosage forms on the EML and EMLc to reduce the risk of skin cancer in the target population.

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

13 Dermatological medicines

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Topical dosage forms (cream, lotion, stick, gel, oil, butter, paste, ointment and spray)

Sun protection factor (SPF) 50+

## Core/complementary

Core

Individual/square box listing Individual

#### Background

Currently, there are no sun protection agents on the EML or EMLc.

P-aminobenzoic acid (PABA) and benzophenones with SPF 15 were first added to the EML in 1989. In 1991, zinc oxide was added as an agent to prevent skin cancer induced by ultraviolet (UV) light in people whose occupations expose them to sun. However, in 1995 p-aminobenzoic acid was removed. In 1997, the benzophenones and zinc oxide were replaced by a broad-spectrum topical sun protection.

In 2005, all sun protection agents were removed from the EML. At the time, the Committee noted the high public health relevance but justified removal on the basis that sunscreens were not normally provided by public facilities (1).

#### Public health relevance

Albinism is a rare, non-contagious, genetic congenital condition characterized by decreased or absent pigmentation (i.e. lack of melanin pigment) in the hair, skin and/or eyes. Albinism occurs worldwide regardless of ethnicity or sex. The incidence of albinism in western societies has been documented to range from 1:14 000 to 1:17 000. In African countries, it is said to range between 1:1500 and 1:15 000 (2). A high incidence of albinism ranging from 1:28 to 1:6500 has also been reported in indigenous communities in the Americas (3).

Due to the reduced or absent melanin in the skin, patients with albinism are highly susceptible to the harmful effects of UV radiation and are at increased risk of acute and chronic actinic damage to their skin, in particular solar elastosis, actinic keratosis and skin cancers (4-6). Exposure of people with albinism to the sun without sun protection is a cause of premature death from skin cancer, in addition to causing high morbidity and reduced quality of life due to premature skin photo-ageing, multiple skin lesions and scarring following surgical excision of malignant skin lesions. For example, people with albinism in Africa (where there is higher UV radiation) are reportedly 1000 times more likely to develop squamous cell carcinoma than the general population (7). Other studies show that persons with albinism predominantly develop skin cancers by the time they are 20 and do not commonly live beyond the age of 30 years (8,9). The use of sunscreen is important for all persons with albinism regardless of geographic location, including regions with relatively low incidence of UV radiation (10).

The application also provided information on the public health relevance in the context of human rights, government/legislation and nongovernmental organizations.

#### Human rights

Access to sunscreen by persons with albinism is a right in terms of Article 12 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (11), which

enshrines the right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, as well as Article 25 of the Convention of the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (*12*), particularly Article 25(b) which requires states to, "provide those health services needed by persons with disabilities specifically because of their disabilities". The UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities and the UN Independent Expert on albinism have recognized the visual impairment and lack of melanin in persons with albinism as disabilities (*13*,*14*). Providing access to sunscreen for persons with albinism also aligns with the UN Sustainable Development Goal to ensure healthy lives and promote wellbeing for all at all ages (SDG 3).

#### Government and legislation

Government programmes and existing laws support the public health imperative relative to sunscreen as an essential medicine for persons with albinism. Several countries (e.g. Brazil and Uganda) have provided subsidies for people with albinism to obtain sunscreen The Executive Council of the African Union adopted a Plan of Action on Ending Attacks and Discrimination against People with Albinism in July 2019. Section 4.3(a) of the implementation matrix for the plan of action calls on state members of the African Union to, "ensure access to health support, services and health goods such as visual aids and sunscreen for all persons with albinism particularly in rural areas and with emphasis on skin cancer prevention and treatment as well as specialist services for low vision and dermatological care" (15).

#### Nongovernmental organizations

Some nongovernmental organizations have recognized the public health imperative for persons with albinism by creating programmes to meet their need for sun protection. Three nongovernmental organizations serving people with albinism in various countries in Africa, and whose programmes include local production of sunscreen, are Beyond Suncare, Standing Voice, and the Pierre Fabre Foundation.

## Summary of evidence: benefits

The topical application of broad-spectrum sunscreens is recommended as a safe adjunct measure in protecting human skin from UV radiation when other protection measures (e.g. clothing or sun avoidance) cannot be used or are insufficient. In the context of persons with albinism, sunscreen use is considered part of healthy sun protection practices (*16*).

Research has shown the benefits of using sunscreen in reducing the incidence of skin cancer (17).

A randomized trial of 1621 adults in Australia evaluated daily sunscreen application (SPF 15+) versus no daily sunscreen for the prevention of squamous

cell and basal cell carcinomas (18). After 4.5 years of follow-up, no significant differences were reported in the incidence of first new skin cancers between the daily sunscreen and no daily sunscreen groups: basal cell carcinoma 2588 versus 2509 per 100 000; rate ratio (RR) 1.03, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.73 to –1.46 and squamous cell carcinoma 876 versus 996 per 100 000; RR 0.88, 95% CI 0.50 to 1.56). In terms of the number of tumours, no effect was observed on the incidence of basal cell carcinoma by sunscreen use. However, the incidence of squamous cell carcinoma was significantly lower in the daily sunscreen group than the no daily sunscreen group (1115 versus 1832 per 100 000; RR 0.61, 95% CI 0.46 to 0.81). After a further 8 years of follow-up, a non-significant decrease in basal-cell carcinoma tumour rates was found in the daily sunscreen group compared with the no sunscreen group. For squamous-cell carcinoma tumour rates, a significant decrease was observed in the daily sunscreen group compared with the no sunscreen group (RR 0.62, 95% CI 0.38 to 0.99) (19).

A 2022 study using data from the United States National Health and Nutritional Examination Survey (2015–2016) evaluated the association of sunscreen use, sun avoidance and wearing of protective clothing with skin cancer prevalence (*20*). Sunscreen use was the only one of the three interventions that showed a statistically significant reduction in skin cancer prevalence (odds ratio (OR) 3.75, 95% CI 1.78 to 8.89).

A retrospective study compared the effects of sun exposure on the occurrence of skin cancers in 22 participants with albinism and 30 without albinism (*21*). The average ages of participants with and without albinism with skin cancers were 34.6 years and 65.1 years, respectively. Of the participants with skin cancers, about 43% those with albinism and 80% of those without albinism reported prolonged sun exposure. Of note, among participants with albinism who had used sunscreen since childhood, 2/19 (10.5%) developed skin cancer, while of participants with albinism who did not use sunscreen, 20/27 (74.1%) developed skin cancer.

A 2021 expert panel review investigated the effect of solar wavelength according to skin phototype and dermatoses, and proposed the need for tailoring recommendations for sunscreen type accordingly, as well as taking into consideration geographical latitude and altitude (*22*). For example, protection against UVB radiation is especially important for light skin as there is a high risk of sunburn, DNA damage and skin cancers. Darker skin may be naturally better protected against UVB but is more prone to hyperpigmentation induced by visible light and UVA radiation. For the prevention of skin cancers, the expert panel recommended daily use of sunscreen with high SPF (50+) and good UVA protection factor, and a SPF to UVA protection factor ratio between 1 and 3.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

Concerns about the toxicity of UV filters and reduced vitamin D synthesis related to the use of sunscreen have been raised. The management of sunscreens must therefore balance their essential protective effect against the potential toxicity of the UV filters for humans and the environment.

Photoallergic reactions are the most common adverse effect of topical sunscreens. This effect is particularly associated with the benzophenone class of organic UV filters. Contact dermatitis and photoallergy have also been reported with ethylhexyl methoxycinnamate and octocrylene (23). Allergenic effects are rare with mineral UV filters (e.g. titanium dioxide), but concerns have been raised about systemic absorption of micronized particles (23). A review of titanium dioxide in nanoparticle form found no evidence of carcinogenicity, mutagenicity or toxicity following dermal exposure. However, there are restrictions in Europe on the use of nanoparticle titanium dioxide formulations that can lead to lung exposure through inhalation (e.g. spray and powder products) (24).

A quasi-experimental study conducted during winter in Brazil evaluated vitamin D synthesis with suberythemal sun exposure in 95 adults (25). Participants were randomized to one of three groups: use of SPF 30 sunscreen on the face, neck and chest (n = 64), no sunscreen (n = 10) or no sun exposure (n = 21). No difference was found between the sunscreen and no sunscreen groups for change in vitamin D level from baseline to 24 hours after sun exposure (5.4 ng/mg, 95% CI 4.4 to 6.5 ng/mg versus 4.1 ng/mg, 95% CI 2.5 to 6.0 ng/mg, P < 0.01).

A literature review of sunscreen photoprotection and vitamin D status identified nine controlled studies on the effect of daily/recreational sunscreen use on vitamin D synthesis (26). Of the nine studies identified, seven showed no change in serum vitamin D with sunscreen use. Two studies found a reduction in vitamin D levels with sunscreen use. However, these studies did not consider important factors that may have influenced the outcome, such as personal UV exposure, sunscreen application thickness and exposed body surface area. The authors of the review concluded that broad-spectrum sunscreen use was unlikely to compromise vitamin D status in healthy populations.

Sunscreens may cause environmental harm (17). In this regard, some regulatory agencies have updated the indications, doses, labelling and testing of over-the-counter sunscreen agents (27).

## **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for the use of sunscreen are not currently available. WHO recommends the use of broad-spectrum sunscreen on skin areas that cannot be covered by clothes, as one of a series of recommended measures to protect against excessive UV exposure (28).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Skin cancer is a significant cost and population burden for many countries and expenditure will grow as incidence increases. Public investment in skin cancer prevention and early detection programmes suggest health and economic benefits (29).

While many persons with albinism are aware of the need to protect themselves from the harmful effects of UV radiation, studies have shown that they are prevented from doing so due to the cost of sunscreen, as well as cost of travel and travel distance to enable them to obtain sunscreen (*30*).

Studies have concluded that systematic sunscreen use at a population level will prevent substantial numbers of new skin lesions and reduce the costs of treatment and loss of life (31-33). This is especially relevant for persons with albinism because of their higher risk of developing skin lesions.

An Australian study evaluated daily versus discretionary sunscreen use, considering use of health-care resources, costs and health outcomes of basalcell carcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma prevention (*33*). From a societal perspective, over 5 years, the net costs for daily versus discretionary sunscreen use were US\$ 329 149 and US\$ 222 700, respectively. The cost for the daily sunscreen group was offset in part by reduced costs for medical treatment as a result of skin cancers and actinic keratoses avoided. From the Australian government perspective (as funder of medical care for treatment of skin cancers), daily sunscreen use was cost-saving compared with discretionary sunscreen use.

## Availability

Sunscreens are available as personal care products or over-the-counter medicines in most middle- and high-income countries. Definitions and labelling standards are set by regulatory agencies.

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged that people with albinism and xeroderma pigmentosum were a subgroup of the general population that has a significantly higher risk of skin cancer due to the harmful effects of UV radiation on their unprotected skin and for whom use of broad-spectrum sunscreen is an important preventive intervention. The Committee similarly acknowledged the public health relevance and effectiveness of sunscreen in preventing skin cancer in both the general population and persons with albinism. The Committee agreed that globally promoting the use of sunscreens, as well as other sun-protection and sun-avoidance strategies and behaviours, was a crucial preventive measure to reduce the incidence and prevalence of skin cancers, including melanoma. The Committee noted that the burden of disease of such cancers is increasing and

that their treatment is associated with significant costs for both individuals and health systems, especially in low- and middle-income settings. The Committee recognized the importance of effective preventive interventions in addressing this growing public health burden.

The Committee recalled that broad-spectrum sun protection products had previously been included on the EML for the general population but were recommended for removal in 2005. In making this recommendation, the 2005 Expert Committee acknowledged the high public health relevance of topical sun protection agents for the prevention of skin cancer but noted that "sunscreens are normally not provided by public facilities and that provision through such sources was not needed."

However, the Committee noted that many different sunscreen products exist on the global market, containing a wide variety of organic agents (which absorb UV radiation) and/or inorganic agents (which reflect or scatter UV radiation). Sunscreen products also vary widely in their sun protection factor rating. Furthermore, the Committee noted that national standards and regulations of sunscreen products also vary considerably between countries – in some settings, they are regulated as therapeutics, while in others they are regulated as non-therapeutic so-called cosmetic products.

The Committee considered that before being able to recommend sunscreen products for inclusion on the Model Lists, it would be necessary to define relevant standards and specifications for therapeutic (as distinct from cosmetic) sunscreen products protecting against both UVA and UVB rays (broad spectrum). This would include details of specific active ingredients and their concentration and the range of sun protection factor rating. This information needs to be supported by evidence and implications for labelling standards to provide clear and reliable guidance for countries for selection and procurement of the most appropriate sunscreen products.

The Expert Committee therefore did not recommend the inclusion of sunscreen on the EML and EMLc for the prevention of skin cancer in people with albinism or xeroderma pigmentosum at this time. The Committee recommended that WHO undertake the necessary work to inform a resubmission for the consideration of sunscreen products by the 2025 Expert Committee.

One member of the Expert Committee held a different opinion in relation to this recommendation and was in favour of the inclusion of sunscreen on the Model Lists for the prevention of skin cancer in people with albinism and xeroderma pigmentosum. It was this person's opinion that the use of sunscreen in this extremely vulnerable subgroup of people represents an essential preventive public health intervention for skin cancer in low- and middle-income countries, and that EML listing would help to ensure availability of quality-assured sunscreen products.

## References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2005 (including the 14th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2006 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 933; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43292, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Bakker R, Wagstaff PE, Kruijt CC, Emri E, van Karnebeek CD, Hoffmann MB, et al. The retinal pigmentation pathway in human albinism: not so black and white. Prog Retin Eye Res. 2022:101091.
- Ero I, Muscati S, Boulanger A, Annamanthadoo I. People with albinism worldwide: a human rights perspective. Extended version of the report: Albinism worldwide (Report number: A/74/190), submitted to the United Nations General Assembly in 2019 (https://www.ohchr.org/sites/ default/files/Documents/Issues/Albinism/Albinism\_Worldwide\_Report2021\_EN.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Marçon CR, Moraes JC, de Olivas Ferreira MAM, Oliari CB. Dermatological and epidemiological profiles of patients with albinism in São Paulo, Brazil, between 2010 and 2017: a cross-sectional study. Dermatology. 2020;236(3):219–27.
- 5. Marçon CR, Maia M. Albinism: epidemiology, genetics, cutaneous characterization, psychosocial factors. An Bras Dermatol. 2019;94(5):503–20.
- 6. Mcbride GR. Oculocutaneous albinism: an African perspective. Br lr Orthopt J. 2014;11:3–8.
- Lekalakala P, Khammissa R, Kramer B, Ayo-Yusuf O, Lemmer J, Feller L. Oculocutaneous albinism and squamous cell carcinoma of the skin of the head and neck in sub-Saharan Africa. J Skin Cancer. 2015;2015:167847..
- Luande J, Henschke CI, Mohammed N. The Tanzanian human albino skin. Natural history. Cancer. 1985;55(8):1823–8.
- 9. Okoro A. Albinism in Nigeria: a clinical and social study. Br J Dermatol. 1975;92(5):485–92.
- Moreno-Artero E, Morice-Picard F, Bremond-Gignac D, Drumare-Bouvet I, Duncombe-Poulet C, Leclerc-Mercier S, et al. Management of albinism: French guidelines for diagnosis and care. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2021;35(7):1449–59.
- International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights. New York, NY: Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights; 1966 (https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/ instruments/international-covenant-economic-social-and-cultural-rights, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. New York, NY: Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2006 (https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/ instruments/convention-rights-persons-disabilities, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Report of the Independent Expert on the enjoyment of human rights by persons with albinism [A/ HRC/37/57]. United National General Assembly, Human Rights Council; 2018 (https://www.ohchr. org/en/documents/thematic-reports/ahrc3757-report-independent-expert-enjoyment-humanrights-persons, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 14. Applicable international human rights standards and related obligations addressing the issues faced by persons with albinism. Report of the Independent Expert on the enjoyment of human rights by persons with albinism [A/72/131]. United National General Assembly; 2018 (https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N17/214/51/PDF/N1721451.pdf?OpenElement, accessed 6 October 2023).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- Implementation matrix of the plan of action to end attacks and other human rights violations targeting persons with albinism in Africa (2021–2031). Addis Ababa: African Union 2019 (https:// africaalbinismnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/1640085668084rgprabbsh8-1.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 16. Protocole National de Diagnostic et de Soins (PNDS). Albinisme. Paris: Filière Santé Maladies Rares Dermatologiques; 2019 (https://www.has-sante.fr/upload/docs/application/pdf/2019-10/pnds\_albinisme14juillet\_2019-10-11\_16-18-32\_87.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 17. Sander M, Sander M, Burbidge T, Beecker J. The efficacy and safety of sunscreen use for the prevention of skin cancer. CMAJ. 2020;192(50):E1802–E8.
- 18. Green A, Williams G, Nèale R, Hart V, Leslie D, Parsons P, et al. Daily sunscreen application and betacarotene supplementation in prevention of basal-cell and squamous-cell carcinomas of the skin: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 1999;354(9180):723–9.
- Van Der Pols JC, Williams GM, Pandeya N, Logan V, Green AC. Prolonged prevention of squamous cell carcinoma of the skin by regular sunscreen use. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2006;15(12):2546–8.
- 20. Hung M, Beazer IR, Su S, Bounsanga J, Hon ES, Lipsky MS. An exploration of the use and impact of preventive measures on skin cancer. Healthcare (Basel). 2022;10(4):743.
- Moreira SC, Rocha LM, Santo LDE, Moreira LMA. Associação entre a suscetibilidade à exposição solar e a ocorrência de câncer de pele em albinos [Association between susceptibility to sun exposure and the occurrence of skin cancer in albinos]. Revista de Ciências Médicas e Biológicas. 2013;12(1):70–4.
- 22. Passeron T, Lim HW, Goh CL, Kang H, Ly F, Morita A, et al. Photoprotection according to skin phototype and dermatoses: practical recommendations from an expert panel. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2021;35(7):1460–9.
- 23. Addor FAS, Barcaui CB, Gomes EE, Lupi O, Marçon CR, Miot HA. Sunscreen lotions in the dermatological prescription: review of concepts and controversies. An Bras Dermatol. 2022;97(2):204–22.
- 24. Dréno B, Alexis A, Chuberre B, Marinovich M. Safety of titanium dioxide nanoparticles in cosmetics. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2019;33(Suppl 7):34–46.
- 25. Pereira LA, Luz FB, Carneiro C, Xavier ALR, Kanaan S, Miot HA. Evaluation of vitamin D plasma levels after mild exposure to the sun with photoprotection. An Bras Dermatol. 2019;94(1):56–61.
- 26. Passeron T, Bouillon R, Callender V, Cestari T, Diepgen TL, Green AC, et al. Sunscreen photoprotection and vitamin D status. Br J Dermatol. 2019;181(5):916–31.
- 27. Amending over-the-counter (OTC) monograph M020: sunscreen drug products for OTC human use; 24 September 2021. Silver Spring, MD: United States Food and Drug Administration; 2021 (https:// dps-admin.fda.gov/omuf/omuf/sites/omuf/files/primary-documents/2022-09/Proposed%20 Administrative%20Order%20OTC000008\_Amending%20M020\_Sunscreen\_Signed24Sept2021. pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 28. Ultraviolet radiation fact sheet [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https:// www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ultraviolet-radiation, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 29. Gordon LG, Rowell D. Health system costs of skin cancer and cost-effectiveness of skin cancer prevention and screening. Eur J Cancer Prev. 2015;24(2):141–9.
- 30. Fabian E. Factors that affect access to sunscreens: a study of persons with albinism in Moshi Municipal, Tanzania. Open J Soc Sci. 2022;10(10):23051.

- 31. Hirst NG, Gordon LG, Scuffham PA, Green AC. Lifetime cost-effectiveness of skin cancer prevention through promotion of daily sunscreen use. Value Health. 2012;15(2):261–8.
- 32. Gordon L, Olsen C, Whiteman DC, Elliott TM, Janda M, Green A. Prevention versus early detection for long-term control of melanoma and keratinocyte carcinomas: a cost-effectiveness modelling study. BMJ Open. 2020;10(2):e034388.
- 33. Gordon LG, Scuffham PA, Van Der Pols JC, McBride P, Williams GM, Green AC. Regular sunscreen use is a cost-effective approach to skin cancer prevention in subtropical settings. J Invest Dermatol. 2009;129(12):2766–71.

## 13.4 Medicines affecting skin differentiation and proliferation

Methotrexate – new indication – EML and EMLc

## Methotrexate

ATC code: L04AX03

## Proposal

Inclusion of methotrexate tablets on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the new indication of treatment of severe psoriasis.

## Applicant

International League of Dermatological Societies

## WHO technical department

Not applicable

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

13.4 Medicines affecting skin differentiation and proliferation.

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Tablet: 2.5 mg, 10 mg (as sodium)

## Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

## Background

Methotrexate has not previously been evaluated for inclusion on the Model Lists for the treatment of psoriasis.

Methotrexate, in oral and parenteral formulations, is included in the EML and EMLc for use in the treatment of various cancers. Oral methotrexate is included for use in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis and juvenile idiopathic arthritis.

A separate application to the 2023 Expert Committee meeting requested inclusion of subcutaneous methotrexate on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of chronic inflammatory autoimmune conditions, including psoriasis, in patients not responding to maximum tolerable doses of oral methotrexate. The Model Lists currently include only topical treatments for psoriasis: corticosteroids, calcipotriol, coal tar and salicylic acid solutions.

#### Public health relevance

According to the 2019 Global Burden of Disease study, psoriasis was reported to affect almost 41 million people globally and was responsible for 0.14% of global disability-adjusted life years (1). People with psoriasis have a reduced quality of life similar to or worse than those with other chronic diseases (2,3). A family history of psoriasis is common and genetic influences are thought to play a major role in the expression of disease. Psoriasis can present at any age but the mean age at onset for the first presentation of psoriasis ranges from 15 to 20 years, with a second peak occurring at 55 to 60 years (2,4).

## Summary of evidence: benefits

A 2003 randomized trial compared methotrexate and ciclosporin in 88 adults with moderate-to-severe chronic plaque psoriasis (5). Participants were randomized to receive methotrexate 15 mg/week (initial dose, n = 44) or ciclosporin 3 mg/kg a day (n = 44). The primary outcome was the difference between treatment groups in psoriasis area and severity index (PASI) scores from baseline to 16 weeks. No significant difference was found between treatment groups. The mean PASI score decreased from 13.4 to 5.0 in the methotrexate group and from 14.0 to 3.8 in the ciclosporin group (absolute mean difference 1.3, 95% confidence interval (CI) –0.2 to 2.8). The physician's global assessment of the extent of psoriasis, the time to and the rates of remission, and the quality of life were similar in the two groups.

A 2008 randomized controlled trial also compared methotrexate and ciclosporin for the treatment of moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis (6). Of 84 patients randomized, 68 received treatment and were included in the analysis. Participants were randomized to receive methotrexate 7.5 mg/week (initial dose, n = 37) or ciclosporin 3 mg/kg a day (n = 31). The primary outcome was the mean change in PASI score from baseline to 12 weeks. The secondary outcome was quality of life, measured by the Dermatology Life Quality Index and the 36-item Short Form Health Survey (SF-36). The mean PASI score decreased from 14.1 to 5.6 in the methotrexate group and from 15.5 to 3.6 in the ciclosporin group. The difference between treatment groups was statistically significant (P = 0.03). The methotrexate group showed significantly greater improvement in physical functioning on the SF-36, while no significant difference between treatment groups was observed for the Dermatology Life Quality Index.

A meta-analysis of 11 studies, involving 728 participants receiving methotrexate, evaluated treatment efficacy of methotrexate compared with placebo for psoriasis (7). The outcome assessed was the percentage of patients achieving a 75% in PASI score (PASI 75) from baseline to 12 or 16 weeks. The

pooled estimate for PASI 75 in patients treated with methotrexate was 45.2% (95% CI 34.1% to 60.0%) compared with a calculated PASI 75 of 4.4% (95% CI 3.5% to 5.6%) for placebo (relative risk 10.2, 95% CI 7.1 to 14.7). However, there was high heterogeneity between studies and a number of study limitations were noted (e.g. small patient numbers, different study designs and non-uniform outcome reporting).

A retrospective longitudinal study in India analysed data for 197 patients with psoriasis treated with methotrexate from 1981 to 2000 (8). The study protocol involved treatment with weekly oral methotrexate at full therapeutic dose during episodes of peak disease activity and tapering dose in response to improvement. Use of topical treatment and natural ultraviolet light exposure were encouraged. In total 243 cycles of methotrexate were given. PASI 75 was achieved in 88% of patients in 8.5 weeks (standard deviation (SD) 5.1 weeks) and PASI 90 was achieved in 84.3% of patients in 11.8 (SD 7.4) weeks. The mean cumulative dose was 709.3 mg (SD 369.2 mg) and the mean duration of follow-up was 16.5 months (SD 9.1 months).

More recently, randomized trials of biological medicines for severe psoriasis have included cohorts of patients treated with methotrexate and provide data on the effectiveness of methotrexate.

The CHAMPION study compared adalimumab with methotrexate in patients with moderate-to-severe chronic plaque psoriasis (9). Patients were randomized to receive subcutaneous adalimumab (80 mg at week 0, then 40 mg every 2 weeks, n = 108), oral methotrexate (7.5 mg weekly, increased as needed and tolerated to 25 mg weekly, n = 110) or placebo (n = 53). The primary efficacy endpoint was the proportion of patients achieving at least PASI 75 after 16 weeks. A PASI 75 response was achieved in 35.5% of patients in the methotrexate group, compared with 79.6% and 18.9% of patients in the adalimumab and placebo groups, respectively.

A randomized, double-blind, multicentre, phase III trial compared briakinumab with methotrexate in patients with moderate-to-severe psoriasis (10). Patients were randomized to receive subcutaneous briakinumab 200 mg at weeks 0 and 4 then 100 mg every 4 weeks thereafter (n = 154) or oral methotrexate 5 to 25 mg weekly (n = 163) for 52 weeks. Primary endpoints were the percentages of patients achieving PASI 75 at weeks 24 and 52, and a score of 0 (no apparent disease) or 1 (minimal disease) on the physician's global assessment at weeks 24 and 52. At week 24, 39.9% and 81.8% of patients in the methotrexate and briakinumab groups, respectively, group achieved PASI 75, and 34.4% and 80.5% of patients in the methotrexate and briakinumab groups, respectively, had a physician's global assessment of 0 or 1. At week 52, the corresponding percentages were 23.9% and 66.2% for PASI 75 and 20.2% and 63.0% for physician's global assessment. The RESTORE1 study was an open-label randomized trial comparing infliximab with methotrexate in patients with moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis (*11*). Patients were randomized to receive intravenous infliximab 5 mg/kg at weeks 0, 2, 6, 14 and 22 (n = 653) or oral methotrexate 15 mg weekly for 6 weeks, then increased to 20 mg weekly in patients with poor response (n = 215). The primary efficacy endpoint was PASI 75 response at week 16. At week 16, 42% and 78% of patients in the methotrexate and infliximab groups, respectively, had achieved PASI 75.

Randomized trials of methotrexate for psoriasis in children are lacking. No randomized controlled trials have evaluated the use of methotrexate in children with psoriasis.

A single-centre, longitudinal, long-term, observational subset analysis of data from a Dutch registry recorded the results of oral therapy with methotrexate in 25 children aged 6 to 17 years with plaque-type psoriasis (*12*). Primary endpoints were percentages of patients with PASI 75 at weeks 12 and 24. The primary endpoint was achieved in 4.3% and 33.3% of patients at weeks 12 and 24, respectively. At weeks 36 and 48, the percentages of patients achieving PASI 75 were 40% and 28.6%, respectively. Observed median PASI decreased significantly from 10.0 to 4.3 (mean difference (MD) 7.7, 95% CI 5.2 to 10.3) from baseline to 24 weeks. Body surface area involvement also decreased significantly from 11.0 to 2.6 (MD 9.8, 95% CI 5.8 to 13.9) from baseline to 24 weeks. A significant decrease was also seen in children's dermatology life quality index scores from 9.0 to 3.8 (MD 5.4, 95% CI 3.4 to 7.4).

A retrospective study in India analysed records of patients aged 2 to 14 years treated with methotrexate at a psoriasis clinic from 1993 to 2006 (13). Among 24 patients analysed, 22 achieved PASI 75. The mean time to control of disease (i.e. 50% reduction in PASI) was 5.1 weeks. The maximum dose of methotrexate ranged from 7.5 mg to 20 mg a week and the mean duration of treatment was 5 months (range 2 to 16 months).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The safety profile of methotrexate is well established from its use in many other indications. Known adverse events include gastrointestinal disorders, hepatotoxicity, pneumonitis, haematological disorders, infections and nephrotoxicity (14).

Severe harms are rare but when encountered are most often secondary to myelosuppression.

Methotrexate is excreted by the kidneys and reduced renal function is associated with an increased risk of toxicity (15). Renal function should be monitored and dose reduction considered in patients with renal impairment.

#### Additional evidence

A 2022 Cochrane systematic review and network meta-analysis (167 randomized controlled trials, 58 912 participants) of systemic treatment for chronic plaque psoriasis was identified during the application review process (*16*).

The network meta-analysis found that methotrexate was superior to placebo for the outcome of PASI 90 (risk ratio (RR) 6.97, 95% CI 1.42 to 34.34; 388 patients, five studies, moderate certainty of evidence). Results were similar for other efficacy outcomes, such as PASI75, but they should be interpreted with caution given the limited number of studies (participants) in the network.

Direct evidence reported that the risk of serious adverse events was significantly lower for methotrexate compared with placebo (RR 0.16, 95% CI 0.03 to 0.88) and significantly higher for infliximab compared with methotrexate (RR 2.41, 95% CI 1.04 to 5.59). When both direct and indirect evidence was assessed, the risk of serious adverse events was significantly lower for participants on methotrexate compared with all interventions, except bimekizumab, certolizumab, netakimab, deucravacitinib and apremilast.

Evidence on the safety of methotrexate for use in children was reported in an international, multicentre, retrospective study evaluating safety of systemic treatments for psoriasis in children, identified during the application review process (17). Methotrexate was the most commonly used systemic treatment for moderate-to-severe psoriasis in children in both North America and Europe (about 70% of participants). The most frequently reported adverse effects of methotrexate were gastrointestinal (nausea and dyspepsia) and increased transaminase, while injection site reactions and infections were more frequent with biological medicines.

#### WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for the treatment of psoriasis are not currently available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

A 2015 study sought to estimate the cost–efficacy of systemic psoriasis treatments approved in the United States (*18*). Numbers needed to treat were obtained following a literature review of studies of systemic psoriasis treatments reporting PASI 75 as the primary outcome. Calculation of financial costs included medicine acquisition cost, medical visit costs and laboratory costs. Cost per month of treatment per number needed to treat to achieve PASI 75 was reported for each medicine. Methotrexate had the lowest adjusted monthly costs per number needed to treat to achieve PASI 75 at US\$ 794 to US\$ 1503.

#### Availability

Methotrexate has wide regulatory approval for treatment of severe psoriasis. Methotrexate tablets are available globally, including in generic brands. They are already included on national essential medicines lists in many countries.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged the global burden of psoriasis and the public health need for effective treatments for this condition. To date, only topical therapies for psoriasis have been included on the Model Lists. The Committee acknowledged that topical therapy alone may be inadequate to effectively treat moderate-to-severe forms of the disease.

The Committee noted that methotrexate has been used in the treatment of psoriasis and other chronic inflammatory conditions for many years and the available evidence supported its effectiveness in achievement of PASI 75. The Committee also considered that methotrexate has a generally favourable and well known safety profile, although it has some risks that required monitoring and potential dose adjustment.

The Committee noted that methotrexate is recommended in several national and international guidelines for psoriasis as the first choice for systemic treatment. The Committee also noted that methotrexate is already included on national essential medicines lists and appeared to be available and affordable in most settings.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended the addition of methotrexate tablets to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for secondline treatment of patients with psoriasis, given the favourable balance of desirable to undesirable effects.

## References

- 1. Global Burden of Disease database [internet]. Seattle, WA: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation; 2019 (https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-results/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Langley RG, Krueger GG, Griffiths CE. Psoriasis: epidemiology, clinical features, and quality of life. Ann Rheum Dis. 2005;64 Suppl 2(Suppl 2):ii18–23; discussion ii4–5.
- 3. Bhosle MJ, Kulkarni A, Feldman SR, Balkrishnan R. Quality of life in patients with psoriasis. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2006;4:35.
- Global report on psoriasis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/204417, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Heydendael VM, Spuls PI, Opmeer BC, de Borgie CA, Reitsma JB, Goldschmidt WF, et al. Methotrexate versus cyclosporine in moderate-to-severe chronic plaque psoriasis. N Engl J Med. 2003;349(7):658–65.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- Flytström I, Stenberg B, Svensson A, Bergbrant IM. Methotrexate vs. ciclosporin in psoriasis: effectiveness, quality of life and safety. A randomized controlled trial. Br J Dermatol. 2008;158(1):116–21.
- 7. West J, Ogston S, Foerster J. Safety and efficacy of methotrexate in psoriasis: a meta-analysis of published trials. PLoS One. 2016;11(5):e0153740.
- 8. Kumar B, Saraswat A, Kaur I. Short-term methotrexate therapy in psoriasis: a study of 197 patients. Int J Dermatol. 2002;41(7):444–8.
- 9. Saurat JH, Stingl G, Dubertret L, Papp K, Langley RG, Ortonne JP, et al. Efficacy and safety results from the randomized controlled comparative study of adalimumab vs. methotrexate vs. placebo in patients with psoriasis (CHAMPION). Br J Dermatol. 2008;158(3):558–66.
- 10. Reich K, Langley RG, Papp KA, Ortonne JP, Unnebrink K, Kaul M, et al. A 52-week trial comparing briakinumab with methotrexate in patients with psoriasis. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(17):1586–96.
- Barker J, Hoffmann M, Wozel G, Ortonne JP, Zheng H, van Hoogstraten H, et al. Efficacy and safety of infliximab vs. methotrexate in patients with moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis: results of an open-label, active-controlled, randomized trial (RESTORE1). Br J Dermatol. 2011;165(5):1109–17.
- 12. van Geel MJ, Oostveen AM, Hoppenreijs EP, Hendriks JC, van de Kerkhof PC, de Jong EM, et al. Methotrexate in pediatric plaque-type psoriasis: long-term daily clinical practice results from the Child-CAPTURE registry. J Dermatolog Treat. 2015;26(5):406–12.
- 13. Kaur I, Dogra S, De D, Kanwar AJ. Systemic methotrexate treatment in childhood psoriasis: further experience in 24 children from India. Pediatr Dermatol. 2008;25(2):184–8.
- 14. Wang W, Zhou H, Liu L. Side effects of methotrexate therapy for rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic review. Eur J Med Chem. 2018;158:502–16.
- 15. The effect of age and renal function on the efficacy and toxicity of methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatoid Arthritis Clinical Trial Archive Group. J Rheumatol. 1995;22(2):218–23.
- 16. Sbidian E, Chaimani A, Garcia-Doval I, Doney L, Dressler C, Hua C, et al. Systemic pharmacological treatments for chronic plaque psoriasis: a network meta-analysis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2022;5(5):CD011535.
- 17. Bronckers I, Seyger MMB, West DP, Lara-Corrales I, Tollefson M, Tom WL, et al. Safety of systemic agents for the treatment of pediatric psoriasis. JAMA Dermatol. 2017;153(11):1147–57.
- D'Souza LS, Payette MJ. Estimated cost efficacy of systemic treatments that are approved by the US Food and Drug Administration for the treatment of moderate to severe psoriasis. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2015;72(4):589–98.

Ustekinumab – addition – EML

## Ustekinumab

## ATC code: L04AC05

## Proposal

Addition of ustekinumab on the core list of the EML for the treatment of severe psoriasis.

## Applicant

International League of Dermatological Societies

## WHO technical department

Not applicable

## EML/EMLc

EML

#### Section

13.4 Medicines affecting skin differentiation and proliferation

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Injection (subcutaneous): 45 mg/0.5 mL, 90 mg/mL in vial or prefilled syringe

## Core/complementary

Core

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

## Background

Ustekinumab has not previously been evaluated for inclusion on the Model Lists for this indication.

## Public health relevance

According to the 2019 Global Burden of Disease study, psoriasis was reported to affect almost 41 million people globally and was responsible for 0.14% of global disability-adjusted life years (1). People with psoriasis have a reduced quality of life similar to or worse than those with other chronic diseases (2,3). A family history of psoriasis is common and genetic influences are thought to play a major role in the expression of disease. Psoriasis can present at any age but the mean age at onset for the first presentation of psoriasis ranges from 15 to 20 years, with a second peak occurring at 55 to 60 years (2,4).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

A 2017 Cochrane systematic review and network meta-analysis of 109 randomized trials (39 882 participants) compared the efficacy and safety of nonbiological systemic agents, small molecules, and biological agents in adults with moderate-to-severe psoriasis (5). Nineteen treatments were compared and ranked according to their effectiveness, measured by Psoriasis Area and Severity Index (PASI) 90 score, and acceptability. Ranking analysis showed ustekinumab to be ranked sixth for PASI 90 and eighth for serious adverse events, when compared with placebo. The authors noted that the most effective treatments also had more serious adverse events than other treatments. On balance, it was considered that ustekinumab, infliximab and certolizumab had the better compromise between efficacy and acceptability of the treatments evaluated. The evidence considered was limited to induction therapy, with outcomes measured between 12 and 16 weeks after randomization; longer-term outcomes were not evaluated.

An updated version of this review included 167 randomized trials (58 912 participants) (6). The updated review included seven randomized controlled trials comparing ustekinumab with placebo, and 11 randomized controlled trials comparing ustekinumab with active comparators (etanercept, secukinumab, ixekizumab, risankizumab and brodalumab). At the medicine class level, all classes of medicines performed better than placebo for the outcome of the proportion of patients achieving a PASI 90 response. Active treatment comparisons showed that biological agents, including ustekinumab, performed better than non-biological agents for the proportion of patients achieving a PASI 90 response were infliximab, bimekizumab, ixekizumab and risankizumab. Of 20 medicines evaluated, ustekinumab was ranked ninth for PASI 90 response and thirteenth for serious adverse events.

PHOENIX 1 was a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III trial evaluating the efficacy and safety of ustekinumab in 766 adult participants with moderate to severe psoriasis (7). Participants were randomly assigned to receive ustekinumab 45 mg or 90 mg at weeks 0 and 4 then every 12 weeks thereafter, or placebo at weeks 0 and 4, followed by crossover to ustekinumab from week 12. The primary endpoint was the proportion of participants achieving PASI 75 at week 12. The proportions of participants achieving PASI 75 at week 12. The proportions of participants achieving PASI 75 were 67.1%, 66.4% and 3.1% in the 45 mg, 90 mg and placebo groups, respectively. Long-term response (PASI 75 at weeks 28 and 40) was achieved by 150 and 172 participants in the 45 mg 90 mg groups, respectively. Of these, 162 participants were randomly assigned to maintenance ustekinumab and 160 to withdrawal. Participants receiving maintenance ustekinumab maintained a PASI 75 response to at least 1 year better than those who were withdrawn from treatment.

PHOENIX 2 was a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind, multicentre, phase III trial evaluating the efficacy and safety of ustekinumab in 1230 adult patients with moderate to severe psoriasis (8). Patients were randomly assigned to receive ustekinumab 45 mg or 90 mg at weeks 0 and 4 then every 12 weeks thereafter, or placebo. Participants achieving a partial response of between 50% and 75% improvement from baseline were re-randomized at week 28 to ustekinumab every 12 weeks or to continue dosing every 8 weeks. The primary endpoint was the proportion of patients achieving at least PASI 75 at week 12. The proportions of patients achieving the primary endpoint were 66.7%, 75.7% and 3.7% in patients receiving ustekinumab 45 mg, 90 mg and placebo, respectively. More partial responders at week 28 who received ustekinumab 90 mg every 8 weeks achieved PASI 75 at week 52 than did those who continued to receive the same dose every 12 weeks. No difference was seen in response to changes in dosing interval observed in partial responders who received ustekinumab 45 mg.

Similar results to those described above have been reported in other studies of ustekinumab in China (9), Japan (10) and Republic of Korea (11).

The application also presented summaries of the findings of other network meta-analyses (12), comparative randomized trials (13–15) and observational studies (16–18) that included ustekinumab.

Analyses of registry data have shown ustekinumab to have a higher drug survival (a marker for treatment sustainability in chronic diseases) as a first-line therapy for psoriasis compared with the tumour necrosis factor-alfa inhibitors infliximab, etanercept and adalimumab (19–21). Ustekinumab is also associated with less non-adherence to treatment (22).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

Adverse events reported with the use of ustekinumab by at least 1% of treated patients include nasopharyngitis, upper respiratory tract infection, headache, fatigue, diarrhoea, back pain, pruritus, injection-site erythema and depression (23).

Adverse reactions that occurred at rates less than 1% in the controlled period of the PHOENIX 1 and PHOENIX 2 studies through to week 12 included cellulitis, herpes zoster infection, diverticulitis and injection-site reactions (7,8). Serious infections occurred in 0.3% of participants treated with ustekinumab and in 0.4% of participants given placebo (23).

Analyses of registry data assessed the risk of serious infection associated with ustekinumab and other biological agents compared with non-biological systemic therapies (24–26). In general, the findings suggested no increased risk of serious infection associated with ustekinumab.

Malignancies have been reported with the use of ustekinumab in clinical trials with 1.7% of participants reported to have malignancies excluding non-melanoma skin cancers and 1.5% reported to have non-melanoma skin cancers.

Malignancies other than non-melanoma skin cancer in patients treated with ustekinumab during the controlled and uncontrolled parts of the studies were similar in type and number to what would be expected in the general United States population according to the SEER database (23).

#### WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for the treatment of psoriasis are not currently available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

A 2013 cost–effectiveness analysis of ustekinumab versus etanercept from a United States societal perspective found that using a 3-year time horizon, ustekinumab 45 mg dominated etanercept 50 mg. However, the incremental cost–effectiveness ratio comparing ustekinumab 90 mg with etanercept 50 mg was US\$ 384 401 per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) gained, which was considered not to be cost-effective using typical willingness-to-pay thresholds (*27*). A 2011 cost–utility analysis from the Canadian perspective and using a 10-year time horizon also found ustekinumab 45 mg to be more cost-effective than etanercept for patients with moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis (*28*). Other analyses of cost–effectiveness studies have reported similar results (*29,30*).

The effect on drug acquisition costs after the introduction of biosimilar molecules of both ustekinumab and biological comparators will affect the cost–effectiveness.

#### Availability

Ustekinumab is reported to be widely available in the countries where it is marketed. The patent for the innovator brand of ustekinumab will expire in September 2023 and a number of biosimilar products are in trial and development.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged the global burden of psoriasis and the public health need for effective treatments for this condition. To date, only topical therapies for psoriasis have been included on the Model Lists.

The Committee noted that multiple randomized trials have shown ustekinumab to be more effective than placebo in the proportion of patients achieving a PASI 75 and PASI 90 response.

The Committee noted that biological disease-modifying therapies such as ustekinumab have an important role in the management of moderate-to-severe forms of psoriasis.

The Committee noted that the network meta-analyses presented in the application demonstrated varying degrees of efficacy and toxicity among pharmacological classes and individual biological medicines in the treatment of moderate-to-severe psoriasis. The Committee considered that the optimal choice of one agent over another was not straightforward, especially when taking into account their high costs and limited availability, which are major barriers to access in low- and middle-income countries.

The Expert Committee therefore did not recommend the inclusion of ustekinumab on the EML for the treatment of severe psoriasis in adults. The Committee recommended a comprehensive review of all biological diseasemodifying medicines in the treatment of moderate-to-severe forms of psoriasis be undertaken to better inform the selection of the most effective and costeffective agents for future consideration for inclusion on the Model Lists. This review should also consider safety and feasibility of use across global settings.

## References

- 1. Global Burden of Disease database [internet]. Seattle, WA: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation; 2019 (https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-results/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Langley RG, Krueger GG, Griffiths CE. Psoriasis: epidemiology, clinical features, and quality of life. Ann Rheum Dis. 2005;64(Suppl 2):ii18–23; discussion ii4–5.
- 3. Bhosle MJ, Kulkarni A, Feldman SR, Balkrishnan R. Quality of life in patients with psoriasis. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2006;4:35.
- 4. Global report on psoriasis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/204417, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Sbidian E, Chaimani A, Garcia-Doval I, Do G, Hua C, Mazaud C, et al. Systemic pharmacological treatments for chronic plaque psoriasis: a network meta-analysis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;12(12):CD011535.
- 6. Sbidian E, Chaimani A, Garcia-Doval I, Doney L, Dressler C, Hua C, et al. Systemic pharmacological treatments for chronic plaque psoriasis: a network meta-analysis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2022;5(5):CD011535.
- Leonardi CL, Kimball AB, Papp KA, Yeilding N, Guzzo C, Wang Y, et al. Efficacy and safety of ustekinumab, a human interleukin-12/23 monoclonal antibody, in patients with psoriasis: 76week results from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial (PHOENIX 1). Lancet. 2008;371(9625):1665–74.
- Papp KA, Langley RG, Lebwohl M, Krueger GG, Szapary P, Yeilding N, et al. Efficacy and safety of ustekinumab, a human interleukin-12/23 monoclonal antibody, in patients with psoriasis: 52week results from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial (PHOENIX 2). Lancet. 2008;371(9625):1675–84.
- 9. Zhu X, Zheng M, Song M, Shen YK, Chan D, Szapary PO, et al. Efficacy and safety of ustekinumab in Chinese patients with moderate to severe plaque-type psoriasis: results from a phase 3 clinical trial (LOTUS). J Drugs Dermatol. 2013;12(2):166–74.
- Igarashi A, Kato T, Kato M, Song M, Nakagawa H. Efficacy and safety of ustekinumab in Japanese patients with moderate-to-severe plaque-type psoriasis: long-term results from a phase 2/3 clinical trial. J Dermatol. 2012;39(3):242–52.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 11. Tsai TF, Ho JC, Song M, Szapary P, Guzzo C, Shen YK, et al. Efficacy and safety of ustekinumab for the treatment of moderate-to-severe psoriasis: a phase III, randomized, placebo-controlled trial in Taiwanese and Korean patients (PEARL). J Dermatol Sci. 2011;63(3):154–63.
- 12. Jabbar-Lopez ZK, Yiu ZZN, Ward V, Exton LS, Mohd Mustapa MF, Samarasekera E, et al. Quantitative evaluation of biologic therapy options for psoriasis: a systematic review and network metaanalysis. J Invest Dermatol. 2017;137(8):1646–54.
- 13. Reich K, Pinter A, Lacour JP, Ferrandiz C, Micali G, French LE, et al. Comparison of ixekizumab with ustekinumab in moderate-to-severe psoriasis: 24-week results from IXORA-S, a phase III study. Br J Dermatol. 2017;177(4):1014–23.
- 14. Papp KA, Blauvelt A, Bukhalo M, Gooderham M, Krueger JG, Lacour JP, et al. Risankizumab versus ustekinumab for moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(16):1551–60.
- 15. Langley RG, Tsai TF, Flavin S, Song M, Randazzo B, Wasfi Y, et al. Efficacy and safety of guselkumab in patients with psoriasis who have an inadequate response to ustekinumab: results of the randomized, double-blind, phase III NAVIGATE trial. Br J Dermatol. 2018;178(1):114–23.
- 16. Strober BE, Bissonnette R, Fiorentino D, Kimball AB, Naldi L, Shear NH, et al. Comparative effectiveness of biologic agents for the treatment of psoriasis in a real-world setting: results from a large, prospective, observational study (Psoriasis Longitudinal Assessment and Registry [PSOLAR]). J Am Acad Dermatol. 2016;74(5):851–61.e4.
- 17. Iskandar IYK, Ashcroft DM, Warren RB, Lunt M, McElhone K, Smith CH, et al. Comparative effectiveness of biological therapies on improvements in quality of life in patients with psoriasis. Br J Dermatol. 2017;177(5):1410–21.
- Zweegers J, Groenewoud JMM, van den Reek J, Otero ME, van de Kerkhof PCM, Driessen RJB, et al. Comparison of the 1- and 5-year effectiveness of adalimumab, etanercept and ustekinumab in patients with psoriasis in daily clinical practice: results from the prospective BioCAPTURE registry. Br J Dermatol. 2017;176(4):1001–9.
- 19. Warren RB, Smith CH, Yiu ZZN, Ashcroft DM, Barker J, Burden AD, et al. Differential drug survival of biologic therapies for the treatment of psoriasis: a prospective observational cohort study from the British Association of Dermatologists Biologic Interventions Register (BADBIR). J Invest Dermatol. 2015;135(11):2632–40.
- 20. Zweegers J, van den Reek JM, van de Kerkhof PC, Otero ME, Kuijpers AL, Koetsier MI, et al. Body mass index predicts discontinuation due to ineffectiveness and female sex predicts discontinuation due to side-effects in patients with psoriasis treated with adalimumab, etanercept or ustekinumab in daily practice: a prospective, comparative, long-term drug-survival study from the BioCAPTURE registry. Br J Dermatol. 2016;175(2):340–7.
- 21. Menter A, Papp KA, Gooderham M, Pariser DM, Augustin M, Kerdel FA, et al. Drug survival of biologic therapy in a large, disease-based registry of patients with psoriasis: results from the Psoriasis Longitudinal Assessment and Registry (PSOLAR). J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2016;30(7):1148–58.
- 22. Thorneloe RJ, Griffiths CEM, Emsley R, Ashcroft DM, Cordingley L. Intentional and unintentional medication non-adherence in psoriasis: the role of patients' medication beliefs and habit strength. J Invest Dermatol. 2018;138(4):785–94.
- 23. Presribing information. STELARA (ustekinumab) injection, for subcutaneous or intravenous use. Silver Spring, MD: United States Food and Drug Administration; 2016 (https://www.accessdata. fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/label/2016/761044lbl.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).

- 24. Kalb RE, Fiorentino DF, Lebwohl MG, Toole J, Poulin Y, Cohen AD, et al. Risk of serious infection with biologic and systemic treatment of psoriasis: results from the Psoriasis Longitudinal Assessment and Registry (PSOLAR). JAMA Dermatol. 2015;151(9):961–9.
- 25. Dávila-Seijo P, Dauden E, Descalzo MA, Carretero G, Carrascosa JM, Vanaclocha F, et al. Infections in moderate to severe psoriasis patients treated with biological drugs compared to classic systemic drugs: findings from the BIOBADADERM Registry. J Invest Dermatol. 2017;137(2):313–21.
- 26. Yiu ZZN, Smith CH, Ashcroft DM, Lunt M, Walton S, Murphy R, et al. Risk of serious infection in patients with psoriasis receiving biologic therapies: a prospective cohort study from the British Association of Dermatologists Biologic Interventions Register (BADBIR). J Invest Dermatol. 2018;138(3):534–41.
- 27. Villacorta R, Hay JW, Messali A. Cost effectiveness of moderate to severe psoriasis therapy with etanercept and ustekinumab in the United States. Pharmacoeconomics. 2013;31(9):823–39.
- 28. Pan F, Brazier NC, Shear NH, Jivraj F, Schenkel B, Brown R. Cost utility analysis based on a head-tohead Phase 3 trial comparing ustekinumab and etanercept in patients with moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis: a Canadian perspective. Value Health. 2011;14(5):652–6.
- 29. Chi CC, Wang SH. Efficacy and cost-efficacy of biologic therapies for moderate to severe psoriasis: a meta-analysis and cost-efficacy analysis using the intention-to-treat principle. BioMed Res Int. 2014;2014:862851.
- 30. Rouse NC, Farhangian ME, Wehausen B, Feldman SR. The cost-effectiveness of ustekinumab for moderate-to-severe psoriasis. Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res. 2015;15(6):877–84.

## Section 18: Medicines for endocrine disorders

Alfacalcidol and calcitriol – addition – EML and EMLc

| Alfacalcidol | ATC code: A11CC03 |
|--------------|-------------------|
| Calcitriol   | ATC code: A11CC04 |

## Proposal

Addition of alfacalcidol and calcitriol to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the management of relevant disorders of bone and calcium metabolism in adults and children.

## Applicant

Esko Wiltshire, University of Otago Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand Te Whatu Ora, Capital, Coast and Hutt Valley, Wellington, New Zealand Jean-Pierre Chanoine, British Colombia Children's Hospital, Vancouver, Canada Salllianne Kavanagh, University of Huddersfield, Huddersfield, United Kingdom Mark E. Molitch, Northwestern University Feiinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States of America

## WHO technical department

Not applicable

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

18 Medicines for endocrine disorders

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Alfacalcidol – capsule: 0.25 micrograms, 1 microgram; oral liquid: 2 micrograms/ mL

Calcitriol - capsule: 0.25 micrograms, 0.5 micrograms

## Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

#### Background

Alfacalcidol and calcitriol have not previously been considered for inclusion in the Model Lists for management of disorders of bone and calcium metabolism, or any other indication.

The Model Lists currently include vitamin D as cholecalciferol and ergocalciferol for the management of vitamin D deficiency.

#### Public health relevance

Vitamin D analogues are used in situations where endogenous vitamin D cannot be produced, or exogenous 25 hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D) cannot be absorbed or converted to active vitamin D in the kidney and liver. These situations include chronic kidney disease, hypophosphataemic rickets (including X-linked) and hypoparathyroidism (1).

Data from the Global Burden of Disease study indicate that the global prevalence of chronic kidney disease was estimated to be almost 700 million in 2019 (2). The prevalence varies between countries, with a large burden in low-and middle-income countries.

X-linked hypophosphataemia has a reported incidence of 3.9 per 100 000 live births and a prevalence of 4.8 per 100 000 population (all ages) (3).

Hypoparathyroidism has a number of potential causes and overall population prevalence data are difficult to obtain. A study in Denmark suggested a population prevalence (all ages) for surgical and non-surgical hypoparathyroidism of 22 per 100 000 and 2.3 per 100 000, respectively (4–6). Incidence rates for some of the conditions that cause hypoparathyroidism in childhood are available. The annual birth incidence of 22q11 deletion syndrome has been reported as 14 per 100 000 in a study in Sweden (7), and 22 per 100 000 in a study in Australia (8).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The application stated that treatment for the proposed indications with vitamin D analogues is long-standing and well established. Their use is recommended in guidelines for management of chronic kidney disease (9), hypophosphataemic rickets (10,11) and hypoparathyroidism (12). Most recent clinical trials compare other medications with vitamin D analogues as the gold standard. As such, no recent placebo-controlled clinical trials of these medicines are available.

A randomized, open-label trial compared alfacalcidol and calcitriol for the management of patients with hypoparathyroidism. Patients with hypoparathyroidism with optimal calcaemic control on alfacalcidol were randomized to continue alfacalcidol (n = 20) or switch to calcitriol (n = 25) at half the ongoing alfacalcidol dose for 6 months. No significant differences were observed between the alfacalcidol and calcitriol arms from baseline to 6 months for the main outcomes of: mean serum phosphate level (5.0 mg/L versus 4.9 mg/dL, P = 0.75); proportion of patients with hyperphosphataemia (75% versus 80%, P = 0.73); 24-hour urine calcium-to-creatinine ratio (0.23 versus 0.28, P = 0.26); proportion of patients with hypercalciuria (65% versus 68%, P = 0.99); mean 24-hour urinary calcium excretion (198 mg versus 260 mg, P = 0.08); or mean 24-hour urinary sodium excretion (85 mmol versus 95 mmol, P = 0.41) (13).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The application reported that, to date, alfacalcidol and calcitriol have large total patient exposure. The risks associated with treatment relate directly to the appropriateness of the dosage. No side-effects linked to intolerance to the medicines themselves are known. The most common risks associated with treatment include renal nephrocalcinosis and hypercalcaemia (in case of excessive dosage) or hypocalcaemia (in case of insufficient dosage), the risk of which varies by indication. Monitoring of serum and urine chemistry is recommended.

## WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for the management of disorders of bone and calcium metabolism are not currently available.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

No cost–effectiveness data were presented in the application. Table 23 shows the prices reported in the application for alfacalcidol and calcitriol.

## Table 23

## Prices of alfacalcidol and calcitriol by country

| Country        | Price per capsule or per mcg oral liquid, US\$ |       |             |            |         |  |  |
|----------------|--|-------|-------------|------------|---------|--|--|
|                | Alfacalcidol                                   |       |             | Calcitriol |         |  |  |
|                | 0.25 mcg                                       | 1 mcg | Oral liquid | 0.25 mcg   | 0.5 mcg |  |  |
| Argentina      | _  | _     | _           | 0.30       | _       |  |  |
| India          | 0.08–0.13                                      | _     | -           | 0.35       | _       |  |  |
| Mexico         | _  | 1.24  | -           | 0.28       | _       |  |  |
| New Zealand    | 0.16   | 0.55  | 0.95        | 0.49       | 0.86    |  |  |
| United Kingdom | 0.19   | 0.19  | 1.28        | 0.31       | 0.90    |  |  |
| South Africa   | 0.49   | 1.46  | _           | 0.71ª      |         |  |  |

- means no information reported.

<sup>a</sup> Strength unknown.

#### Availability

Alfacalcidol and calcitriol are reported to be available globally, with generic versions available in many countries.

## Other considerations

A 2021 systematic review and meta-analysis of 22 randomized trials that investigated different forms of vitamin D supplementation in patients with chronic kidney disease was identified during the application review process (14). Calcitriol and vitamin D analogues (alfacalcidol and paricalcitol) were associated with a reduction in parathyroid hormone concentration compared with vitamin D<sub>2</sub> or D<sub>3</sub> (mean difference –14.69 pg/mL, 95% confidence interval –36.29 to 6.90 pg/mL; four randomized controlled trials, 274 participants) and increase in fibroblast growth factor 23 (three randomized controlled trials, meta-analysis not performed), both indirect measures of important clinical outcomes, for example, fractures, cardiovascular disease risk and mortality. Inconsistent results for serum calcium and serum phosphate concentrations were noted. However, the evidence was considered uncertain because of the risk of bias, indirectness, inconsistencies and imprecision.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that the application referred to three guidelines that conditionally recommended vitamin D analogues for the treatment of people with chronic kidney disease, hypophosphataemic rickets and hypoparathyroidism, but did not elaborate on any of the evidence underpinning the guideline recommendations.

The Committee noted a recent systematic review identified during the application review process that suggested that calcitriol and alfacalcidol might result in benefits for people with chronic kidney disease in terms of some surrogate outcomes for clinical benefit such as fewer fractures.

Overall, the Committee noted that the evidence base was uncertain due to the risk of bias, indirectness when assessing patient-important outcomes, inconsistencies and imprecision. The Committee considered that the limited likelihood of influencing important clinical outcomes was potentially outweighed by the risks associated with the use of alfacalcidol and calcitriol, such as hypercalciuria, decreased renal function and cardiovascular risk.

The Expert Committee therefore did not recommend the inclusion of alfacalcidol and calcitriol on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the proposed indications of hypoparathyroidism, hypophosphataemic rickets, hypocalcaemic vitamin D dependent/resistant rickets, neonatal hypocalcaemia, chronic kidney disease or other disorders of vitamin D metabolism or transport. References

- 1. Bikle DD. Vitamin D metabolism, mechanism of action, and clinical applications. Chem Biol. 2014;21(3):319–29.
- 2. Global Burden of Disease database [internet]. Seattle, WA: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation; 2019 (https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-results/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Haffner D, Emma F, Eastwood DM, Duplan MB, Bacchetta J, Schnabel D, et al. Clinical practice recommendations for the diagnosis and management of X-linked hypophosphataemia. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2019;15(7):435–55.
- Underbjerg L, Sikjaer T, Mosekilde L, Rejnmark L. Cardiovascular and renal complications to postsurgical hypoparathyroidism: a Danish nationwide controlled historic follow-up study. J Bone Miner Res. 2013;28(11):2277–85.
- 5. Underbjerg L, Sikjaer T, Mosekilde L, Rejnmark L. Postsurgical hypoparathyroidism risk of fractures, psychiatric diseases, cancer, cataract, and infections. J Bone Miner Res. 2014;29(11):2504–10.
- Underbjerg L, Sikjaer T, Mosekilde L, Rejnmark L. The epidemiology of nonsurgical hypoparathyroidism in denmark: a nationwide case finding study. J Bone Miner Res. 2015;30(9):1738–44.
- 7. Oskarsdottir S, Vujic M, Fasth A. Incidence and prevalence of the 22q11 deletion syndrome: a population-based study in Western Sweden. Arch Dis Child. 2004;89(2):148–51.
- 8. Hui L, Poulton A, Kluckow E, Lindquist A, Hutchinson B, Pertile MD, et al. A minimum estimate of the prevalence of 22q11 deletion syndrome and other chromosome abnormalities in a combined prenatal and postnatal cohort. Hum Reprod. 2020;35(3):694–704.
- 9. Yuen NK, Ananthakrishnan S, Campbell MJ. Hyperparathyroidism of renal disease. Perm J. 2016;20(3):15–127.
- Linglart A, Biosse-Duplan M, Briot K, Chaussain C, Esterle L, Guillaume-Czitrom S, et al. Therapeutic management of hypophosphatemic rickets from infancy to adulthood. Endocr Connect. 2014;3(1):R13–30.
- 11. Trombetti A, Al-Daghri N, Brandi ML, Cannata-Andia JB, Cavalier E, Chandran M, et al. Interdisciplinary management of FGF23-related phosphate wasting syndromes: a consensus statement on the evaluation, diagnosis and care of patients with X-linked hypophosphataemia. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2022;18(6):366–84.
- 12. Brandi ML, Bilezikian JP, Shoback D, Bouillon R, Clarke BL, Thakker RV, et al. Management of hypoparathyroidism: summary statement and guidelines. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2016;101(6):2273–83.
- 13. Saha S, Sreenivas V, Goswami R. Alfacalcidol vs calcitriol in the management of patient with hypoparathyroidism: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2021;106(7):2092–102.
- 14. Christodoulou M, Aspray TJ, Schoenmakers I. Vitamin D supplementation for patients with chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and meta-analyses of trials investigating the response to supplementation and an overview of guidelines. Calcif Tissue Int. 2021;109(2):157–78.
Phosphorus – addition – EMLc

# Phosphorus

ATC code: V03AG05

# Proposal

Addition of phosphorus (phosphate salts) to the complementary list of the EMLc for management of hypophosphataemic rickets in children.

# Applicant

Sirisha Kusuma Boddu, Indian Society for Pediatric and Adolescent Endocrinology & Rainbow Children's Hospital, Hyderabad, India

Jean-Pierre Chanoine, British Colombia Children's Hospital, Vancouver, Canada Salllianne Kavanagh, University of Huddersfield, Huddersfield, United Kingdom

# WHO technical department

Not applicable

#### EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

18 Medicines for endocrine disorders

#### Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Granules: 500 mg (elemental phosphorus) in sachet Tablet: 250 mg, 500 mg (elemental phosphorus) Tablet (effervescent): 500 mg (elemental phosphorus)

# Core/complementary

Complementary

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

Phosphorus has not previously been considered for inclusion in the Model Lists for management of hypophosphataemic rickets in children or any other indication.

#### Public health relevance

X-linked hypophosphataemia is the most common cause of inherited phosphate wasting, with an incidence of 3.9 per 100 000 live births and a prevalence ranging from 1.7 per 100 000 children to 4.8 per 100 000 population (all ages) (1). It is a progressive lifelong disease of phosphorus metabolism where renal phosphorus wasting causes abnormal bone mineralization and rickets that do not respond to vitamin D and calcium supplements. As the disease progresses, long-term complications including poor growth (long bone deformity), osteoarthritis, increased risk of fractures, dental abscesses, bone and muscle pain, and stiffness and fatigue can significantly decrease overall quality of life.

Renal phosphorus wasting starts in early infancy. Skeletal manifestations become obvious later as the child begins to weight bear, when long bone deformities develop such as genu valgum or varum. Growth deceleration and rickets begin to occur during the first 2 years of life, when growth velocity is physiologically maximum.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

Treatment of hypophosphataemic rickets with phosphate salts and vitamin D has been reported to improve bone mineralization, radiographical resolution of rickets and linear growth in a number of small observational studies (*2–5*).

A study of 11 children (10 girls, one boy, 2–12 years old) with vitamin D-resistant rickets treated with phosphate alone, or in combination with ergocalciferol or calcitriol, found that long-term use of phosphate induced mineralization of the growth plate but not of the endosteal bone surface. Long-term use of phosphate in combination with calcitriol greatly improved the mineralization of the trabecular bone (2).

A study of nine children (three girls, six boys, 6 months to 16 years old) with familial X-linked hypophosphataemic rickets treated with phosphate and alfacalcidol found that combination oral therapy was effective at improving growth rate, bone histology and the radiological picture of rickets. All children had positive outcomes for healing or rickets, change in growth rate, decreased alkaline phosphatase activity and symptomatic improvements, assessed over 4–6 years (*3*).

In a study of 24 children (15 girls, nine boys, 1–16 years old) with X-linked hypophosphataemic rickets treated with oral phosphate and calcitriol or ergocalciferol, 19 patients treated for at least 2 years before the onset of puberty had greater mean height SD score than untreated historical controls: mean difference 0.97 (95% confidence interval (CI) 0.22 to 1.75). For 13 patients who had received phosphate and calcitriol for at least 2 years, the mean change in height standard deviation (SD) score was 0.33 (95% CI 0.0 to 0.33) (4).

A study of 22 adult Japanese patients (17 women, five men) with X-linked hypophosphataemic rickets evaluated the effect of combination therapy for more

than 5 years with phosphate and vitamin D (as vitamin  $D_2$  or alfacalcidol) on final height (as standard deviation score). Final height of all participants was -1.69 (SD 1.11) which was significantly higher than the height at the start of treatment (-2.38 (SD 0.88)). There was no significant difference in final height in patients receiving different forms of vitamin D. The results of this study were reported to be similar to previous studies in Caucasian patients (5).

Early diagnosis and initiation of treatment has been associated with improved outcomes in multiple studies (6-9).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

Therapy with phosphate is associated with adverse effects that require careful monitoring and adjustment of the dosing regimen by specialist paediatricians.

The most common adverse effects of oral phosphate therapy are gastrointestinal effects including abdominal discomfort and diarrhoea that can result in poor compliance with treatment (10). Secondary and tertiary hyperparathyroidism may also occur (11). Treatment-induced secondary hyperparathyroidism can be reversed by increasing calcitriol doses and reducing phosphate doses. Long-term, high-dose phosphate therapy may be an independent risk factor for tertiary hyperparathyroidism.

Nephrocalcinosis (deposition of calcium in the renal parenchyma and tubules) can occur as a complication of phosphate and active vitamin D treatment, and is associated with higher doses of phosphate and/or overdose of calcitriol/alfacalcidol. Prevention is through careful dosage adjustment. Recommended safe doses have been reported as 20–40 mg/kg a day of phosphate and 20–30 ng/kg a day of calcitriol (*12*). Thiazide diuretics can be used in the management of nephrocalcinosis when it occurs (*13,14*).

#### WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for the management of hypophosphataemic rickets are not currently available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The application reported prices per 500 mg elemental phosphorus for various formulations as US\$ 0.30 in India, US\$ 0.68 in Mexico and US\$ 0.23 in the United Kingdom.

No cost-effectiveness data were presented in the application.

#### Availability

Phosphate salt formulations most suitable for use in children include effervescent tablets and granules. An oral solution known as Joulie solution can be prepared by compounding pharmacists. Different formulations may be available in different markets.

#### Committee recommendations

The Expert Committee noted that hypophosphataemic rickets is a rare genetic condition and the most common cause of inherited phosphate wasting that without treatment can lead to severe long-term complications.

The Committee noted evidence from small cohort studies which suggested that early introduction of treatment with phosphorus and vitamin D in children with hypophosphataemic rickets had beneficial effects on growth, bone mineralization and reducing bone deformities.

However, the Committee considered that hypophosphataemic rickets is a rare condition which constitutes only a small subgroup of all hypophosphataemic conditions that may benefit from phosphorus supplementation. The Committee noted that several other genetic conditions are associated with phosphorus loss and require replacement therapy as part of their management (e.g. autosomal dominant hypophosphataemic rickets, hereditary hypophosphataemic rickets with hypercalciuria and Fanconi syndrome). Other conditions that can require phosphate supplementation include primary or secondary hypoparathyroidism, renal failure, nephrotic syndrome after kidney transplant, tumour-induced osteomalacia and hyperphosphaturia after partial hepatectomy.

The Expert Committee did not recommend the inclusion of phosphorus on the complementary list of the EMLc for the treatment of hypophosphataemic rickets in children at this time. The Committee considered that a comprehensive review of the evidence for phosphorus treatment across all conditions for which it is indicated should be requested for future consideration.

#### References

- Haffner D, Emma F, Eastwood DM, Duplan MB, Bacchetta J, Schnabel D, et al. Clinical practice recommendations for the diagnosis and management of X-linked hypophosphataemia. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2019;15(7):435–55.
- 2. Glorieux FH, Marie PJ, Pettifor JM, Delvin EE. Bone response to phosphate salts, ergocalciferol, and calcitriol in hypophosphatemic vitamin D-resistant rickets. N Engl J Med. 1980;303(18):1023–31.
- Rasmussen H, Pechet M, Anast C, Mazur A, Gertner J, Broadus AE. Long-term treatment of familial hypophosphatemic rickets with oral phosphate and 1 alpha-hydroxyvitamin D3. J Pediatr. 1981;99(1):16–25.
- 4. Verge CF, Lam A, Simpson JM, Cowell CT, Howard NJ, Silink M. Effects of therapy in X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets. N Engl J Med. 1991;325(26):1843–8.
- 5. Miyamoto J, Koto S, Hasegawa Y. Final height of Japanese patients with X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets: effect of vitamin D and phosphate therapy. Endocr J. 2000;47(2):163–7.
- Cagnoli M, Richter R, Böhm P, Knye K, Empting S, Mohnike K. Spontaneous growth and effect of early therapy with calcitriol and phosphate in X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets. Pediatr Endocrinol Rev. 2017;15(Suppl 1):119–22.

- Mäkitie O, Doria A, Kooh SW, Cole WG, Daneman A, Sochett E. Early treatment improves growth and biochemical and radiographic outcome in X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88(8):3591–7.
- 8. Ariceta G, Langman CB. Growth in X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets. Eur J Pediatr. 2007;166(4):303–9.
- 9. Quinlan C, Guegan K, Offiah A, Neill RO, Hiorns MP, Ellard S, et al. Growth in PHEX-associated X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets: the importance of early treatment. Pediatr Nephrol. 2012;27(4):581–8.
- 10. Arango Sancho P. Complications of phosphate and vitamin D treatment in X-linked hypophosphataemia. Adv Ther. 2020;37(Suppl 2):105–12.
- 11. Carpenter TO, Mitnick MA, Ellison A, Smith C, Insogna KL. Nocturnal hyperparathyroidism: a frequent feature of X-linked hypophosphatemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1994;78(6):1378–83.
- 12. Keskin M, Savaş-Erdeve Ş, Sağsak E, Çetinkaya S, Aycan Z. Risk factors affecting the development of nephrocalcinosis, the most common complication of hypophosphatemic rickets. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. 2015;28(11–12):1333–7.
- Alon U, Donaldson DL, Hellerstein S, Warady BA, Harris DJ. Metabolic and histologic investigation of the nature of nephrocalcinosis in children with hypophosphatemic rickets and in the Hyp mouse. J Pediatr. 1992;120(6):899–905.
- 14. Alon US, Monzavi R, Lilien M, Rasoulpour M, Geffner ME, Yadin O. Hypertension in hypophosphatemic rickets role of secondary hyperparathyroidism. Pediatr Nephrol. 2003;18(2):155–8.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

Zoledronic acid – new indication – EML and EMLc

# **Zoledronic** acid

# ATC code: M05BA08

# Proposal

Addition of zoledronic acid on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for a new indication for the management of moderate-to-severe osteogenesis imperfecta in neonates, infants, children and adolescents.

# Applicant

Jean-Pierre Chanoine, British Colombia Children's Hospital, Vancouver, Canada Salllianne Kavanagh, University of Huddersfield, Huddersfield, United Kingdom Mark E. Molitch, Northwestern University Feiinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States of America

# WHO technical department

Not applicable

# EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

# Section

18 Medicines for endocrine disorders

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Concentrate solution for infusion: 4 mg/5 mL in 5 mL vial Solution for infusion: 4 mg/100 mL in 100 mL bottle

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

Zoledronic acid has not previously been considered for inclusion in the Model Lists for the management of osteogenesis imperfecta.

Zoledronic acid has been included on the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of malignancy-related bone disease since 2017.

#### Public health relevance

Osteogenesis imperfecta is reported to occur in 1 in 10 000 to 20 000 births (1). Most cases result from a mutation in the genes that encode for alpha 1 (COL1A1 gene) or alpha 2 (COL1A2 gene) chains of type 1 collagen. This leads to a defect in the synthesis, structure or processing of type 1 collagen. Overall, there are more than 18 types of osteogenesis imperfecta (2). Osteogenesis imperfecta phenotypes I to IV have autosomal dominant transmission and account for about 95% of all cases – type I 45%, type II 10%, type III 25% and type IV 20% (3).

The worldwide population frequency of type I osteogenesis imperfecta has been reported to range from 2.35 to 4.7 per 100 000. The incidence of type II osteogenesis imperfecta has been reported to range from 1 in 40 000 to 1.4 in 100 000 live births. In resource-constrained countries, less severe forms are less likely to be seen. The genetic background is also likely to play a role (*3*).

A Swedish study found an overall prevalence of osteogenesis imperfecta type I of 7.4 in 100 000 (4). A Dutch study (674 patients with osteogenesis imperfecta across the country) showed that the life expectancy of these patients was adversely affected by the disease. The median annual incidence risk of osteogenesis imperfecta between 1992 and 2019 was 6.5 per 100 000 live births. Patients with osteogenesis imperfecta had a 2.9 times higher rate of hospitalization compared with the general Dutch population, especially in the patient group aged between 0 and 19 years, where the risk was 8.4 times higher (5).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

Bisphosphonates are indicated for the management of osteogenesis imperfecta with moderate-to-severe pain and with bone fractures that are present in infancy, childhood and adolescence. In mild cases, no benefits of bisphosphonates have been demonstrated (6). The bisphosphonate first investigated for use in severe osteogenesis imperfecta was pamidronate (7). Since then, zoledronic acid has become available and is preferred in clinical practice based on convenience and lower hospital expense: zoledronic acid only needs to be administered once or twice a year while pamidronate needs to be administered 3–4 times a year. Administration of zoledronic acid is by a 30-minute infusion, while each administration of pamidronate consists of three consecutive daily infusions of several hours. As regards outcomes and side-effects, clinicians consider both products to be equivalent. A 1-year study comparing the efficacy and safety of zoledronic acid and pamidronate showed that zoledronic acid was as safe and effective as pamidronate in promoting clinical and densiometric improvements (8).

The benefits of zoledronic acid treatment for moderate and severe forms of osteogenesis imperfect include reduced bone pain, increased bone mineral density and a decrease in the number of fractures.

#### Bone pain

A cross-sectional study with 28 participants with osteogenesis imperfecta I, III and IV found that pain was present in almost all children with moderate-to-severe disease (9). This interfered with the children's everyday lives, affected participation in various activities and was associated with reduced self-perceived health status. The authors hypothesized that pain and the ensuing decrease in physical activity might further decrease bone density and increase the risk of fractures.

An observational study of the use of the bisphosphonate pamidronate in 30 children with severe osteogenesis imperfecta reported an improvement in bone pain which was associated with an improvement in mobility (7).

A prospective observational study evaluated pain and quality of life in 33 children and adolescents with osteogenesis imperfecta over a single intravenous bisphosphate treatment cycle (10). Participants reported pain of mild intensity localized in several body areas (ankles, shoulders). Self-reported pain intensity after zoledronic acid infusion did not differ from before treatment at 1 week and 6 months after treatment. Participants' parents perceived an improvement in functioning and quality of life immediately after treatment compared with before, but no significant change was reported by the participants themselves.

Another prospective observational study evaluated pain and functioning in 22 children and adolescents with osteogenesis imperfecta over two bisphosphate infusion cycles (11). Participants received pamidronate (n = 16) or zoledronic acid (n = 6). Pain was assessed using a visual analogue scale and physical functioning was assessed using the Peds QL Generic Core inventory. The results showed that cyclic intravenous bisphosphonate therapy transiently reduced pain until 4 weeks postinfusion. Physical functioning scores improved 4 weeks after infusion. Both pain and physical functioning had returned to pretreatment levels by the time of the second infusion.

A 2016 Cochrane systematic review (14 trials, 819 participants) evaluated the effectiveness and safety of oral and intravenous bisphosphonate therapy in increasing bone mineral density, reducing fractures and improving clinical function in people with osteogenesis imperfecta. One trial compared intravenous bisphosphonate (pamidronate) with placebo for the outcome of bone pain in children and did not find a difference in bone pain reduction scores between the two groups. The mean difference (MD) favoured bisphosphonate treatment but was not statistically significant (MD -0.11, 95% confidence interval (CI) -0.83 to 0.61) (12).

#### Bone mineral density

The observational study using pamidronate at a standard dose of maximum 9 mg/kg a year reported a marked increase in bone mineral density over several years (7).

The Cochrane systematic review included three trials comparing of intravenous bisphosphonates (neridronate or pamidronate) with placebo for

changes in bone mineral density (12). Mean percentage changes from baseline in spine bone mineral density favoured bisphosphonate treatment but were not statistically significant at 6 months (MD 9.96, 95% CI –2.51 to 22.43) and 12 months (MD 14.68, 95% CI –6.08 to 35.45). Mean percentage changes (z score) in spine bone mineral density significantly favoured bisphosphonate treatment at 6 months (MD 21.59, 95% CI 5.79 to 37.39) and 12 months (MD 25.6, 95% CI 11.48 to 39.72). Mean percentage changes in total hip bone mineral density favoured bisphosphonate treatment but they were not statistically significant at 6 months (MD 6.16, 95% CI –3.57 to 15.9) and 12 months (MD 11.27, 95% CI –3.69 to 26.22).

#### Fractures

The application remarked that it was difficult to assess the data of the effects of bisphosphonates on fracture rates in patients with osteogenesis imperfecta, given that when there is a decrease in pain and an increase in mobility, a higher risk of fractures is not unexpected.

The Cochrane systematic review concluded that although multiple studies reported decreases in fracture rates independently and no studies reported an increased fracture rate with bisphosphonate treatment, the effect of bisphosphonate treatment in consistently decreasing fractures was unclear (12). In the comparison of intravenous bisphosphonates versus placebo, the difference in fracture rates favoured bisphosphate treatment but was not statistically significant (risk ratio 0.53, 95% CI 0.30 to 1.06).

A retrospective study assessed the effects of long-term intravenous bisphosphonate treatment during growth in 37 children with osteogenesis imperfecta who had started treatment before 5 years of age, had subsequent follow-up of at least 10 years and had received treatment for at least 6 years (13). All the children had had long-bone or vertebral compression fractures before intravenous bisphosphonate treatment was started but the number of fractures could not be determined with certainty due to lack of radiographic documentation. All the children initially received pamidronate and 30 eventually received zoledronic acid. During the observation period, the children had a median of six and five radiologically documented femur and tibia fractures, respectively. The mean rate of fracture in lower extremity long bones decreased during the first 2 years of treatment and thereafter remained stable. Visible compression fractures decreased markedly between the pretreatment and last follow-up or final (before spinal fusion) radiographs. The number of vertebral compression fractures was significantly lower (P < 0.01) at the time of the last bisphosphonate infusion compared with a control group of patients who were matched for age, sex and osteogenesis imperfecta type who had not received bisphosphonate treatment.

An observational cohort study evaluated the effects of bisphosphonate treatment on bone mineral density and other health outcomes in type 1

osteogenesis imperfecta (14). Logistic regression modelling predicted that with bisphosphonate exposure, a 1-year increase in age would be associated with a significant decrease of 8.2% in fracture probability for preadolescent (age < 14 years) children, compared with no decrease in untreated children. An increase in lumbar spine areal bone mineral density of  $0.1 \text{ g/cm}^2$  was associated with a 10.6% decrease in scoliosis probability, compared with a 46.8% increase in the untreated group. For the same changes in age and lumbar spine areal bone mineral density in preadolescent children, bisphosphonate exposure was also associated with significantly higher mobility scores.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

Several risks are associated with treatment with bisphosphonates and require monitoring (15). Risks are generally similar in children and adults. However, osteonecrosis of the jaw, a significant clinical problem associated with long-term bisphosphonate use in adults, has not been reported in the paediatric age group (16). A systematic review evaluated the literature on the risk of bisphosphonate-related osteonecrosis of the jaw in children and adolescents (17). In the seven studies included, no cases of osteonecrosis of the jaw were identified. However, the authors noted weaknesses in the studies (e.g. small sample size and absence of risk factors for development of osteonecrosis of the jaw) and concluded that further studies should be conducted.

Oral and oesophageal ulcerations (and potentially cancer of the oesophagus) have only been reported with oral bisphosphonates (18).

Bisphosphonates are reported to be generally well tolerated in paediatric patients and adverse effects are limited and predictable. A recent review (19) describes the following adverse events.

- Acute phase reaction (so called flu-like syndrome) is observed with fever, malaise, abdominal pain, vomiting, and muscle or bone pain within 1–3 days of starting either intravenous or oral agents, and lasting a few days.
- Asymptomatic hypophosphatemia, and hypomagnesaemia and hypocalcaemia causing tetany are rare and can be prevented with supplementation with calcium and vitamin D.
- More serious side-effects seen in adults including uveitis and thrombocytopenia are rare in children. One case of uveitis was reported among 19 children with Langerhans cell histiocytosis treated with bisphosphonates in Japan (20) although histiocytosis itself has also been associated with uveitis (21).
- Avascular necrosis of the jaw seen in adults is not seen in paediatric patients.

- A severe case of respiratory distress syndrome was reported with the start of pamidronate in an infant with a history of airway disorders (*22*).
- Osteomalacia (and marked decrease in bone pain) was seen in an adolescent with fibrous dysplasia after intravenous cyclic pamidronate therapy (23).

Bisphosphonates are contraindicated during pregnancy. Bisphosphonates stay in bone for a long time. They can be released during bone remodelling. Whether this would cause problems, for instance, during pregnancy is unclear. In two infants delivered to mothers treated with bisphosphonates, asymptomatic hypocalcaemia without any skeletal anomaly was reported in the newborns (24).

# **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for the management of osteogenesis imperfecta are not currently available.

# Costs/cost-effectiveness

No cost-effectiveness studies on bisphosphonates in osteogenesis imperfecta were identified in the application.

Prices for intravenous zoledronic acid formulations per vial from different countries were reported in the application as: US\$ 270 in Argentina, US\$ 254 in Canada, US\$ 35 in India and US\$ 30 in Mexico.

For the management of four 20 kg patients at a dose 0.05 mg/kg every 6 months, the annual cost per patient (assuming vial sharing) would be US\$ 135 in Argentina, US\$ 127 in Canada, US\$ 18 in India and US\$ 15 in Mexico.

# Availability

Zoledronic acid injection is available globally in both innovator and generic brands.

# **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that osteogenesis imperfecta is a rare genetic disease and that bisphosphonates are commonly used in the treatment of moderate-tosevere forms in children and adolescents.

The Committee noted that available evidence suggests that bisphosphonates may increase bone mineral density in children and adolescents with moderateto-severe osteogenesis imperfecta. However, the Committee considered that the benefits associated with bisphosphonates were unclear for other important outcomes including fracture risk, bone pain, physical functioning and healthrelated quality of life. In particular, the Committee noted that the effects of bisphosphonates in reducing fracture risk were not consistent across trials and that it was not clear to what extent fracture risk might be reduced.

The Committee noted that serious harms associated with bisphosphonate treatment in osteogenesis imperfecta were rare and clinically manageable.

Based on these considerations, the Expert Committee did not recommend inclusion of zoledronic acid on the EML and EMLc for the new indication of osteogenesis imperfecta.

#### References

- 1. Forlino A, Marini JC. Osteogenesis imperfecta. Lancet. 2016;387(10028):1657–71.
- 2. Ralston SH, Gaston MS. Management of osteogenesis imperfecta. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2019;10:924.
- Martin E, Shapiro JR. Osteogenesis imperfecta:epidemiology and pathophysiology. Curr Osteoporos Rep. 2007;5(3):91–7.
- 4. Lindahl K, Astrom E, Rubin CJ, Grigelioniene G, Malmgren B, Ljunggren O, et al. Genetic epidemiology, prevalence, and genotype-phenotype correlations in the Swedish population with osteogenesis imperfecta. Eur J Hum Genet. 2015;23(8):1112.
- Storoni S, Treurniet S, Maugeri A, Pals G, van den Aardweg JG, van der Pas SL, et al. Prevalence and hospital admissions in patients with osteogenesis imperfecta in The Netherlands: a nationwide registry study. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2022;13:869604.
- 6. Glorieux FH. Experience with bisphosphonates in osteogenesis imperfecta. Pediatrics. 2007;119 Suppl 2:S163–5.
- 7. Glorieux FH, Bishop NJ, Plotkin H, Chabot G, Lanoue G, Travers R. Cyclic administration of pamidronate in children with severe osteogenesis imperfecta. N Engl J Med. 1998;339(14):947–52.
- Barros ER, Saraiva GL, de Oliveira TP, Lazaretti-Castro M. Safety and efficacy of a 1-year treatment with zoledronic acid compared with pamidronate in children with osteogenesis imperfecta. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. 2012;25(5–6):485–91.
- 9. Provenzano AH, Astrom E, Lowing K. Exploring pain interference and self-perceived health status in children with osteogenesis imperfecta a cross-sectional study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2022;23(1):876.
- Tsimicalis A, Boitor M, Ferland CE, Rauch F, Le May S, Carrier JI, et al. Pain and quality of life of children and adolescents with osteogenesis imperfecta over a bisphosphonate treatment cycle. Eur J Pediatr. 2018;177(6):891–902.
- 11. Garganta MD, Jaser SS, Lazow MA, Schoenecker JG, Cobry E, Hays SR, et al. Cyclic bisphosphonate therapy reduces pain and improves physical functioning in children with osteogenesis imperfecta. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2018;19(1):344.
- 12. Dwan K, Phillipi CA, Steiner RD, Basel D. Bisphosphonate therapy for osteogenesis imperfecta. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;10(10):CD005088.
- 13. Palomo T, Fassier F, Ouellet J, Sato A, Montpetit K, Glorieux FH, et al. Intravenous bisphosphonate therapy of young children with osteogenesis imperfecta: skeletal findings during follow up throughout the growing years. J Bone Miner Res. 2015;30(12):2150–7.

460

- 14. Bains JS, Carter EM, Citron KP, Boskey AL, Shapiro JR, Steiner RD, et al. A multicenter observational cohort study to evaluate the effects of bisphosphonate exposure on bone mineral density and other health outcomes in osteogenesis imperfecta. JBMR Plus. 2019;3(5):e10118.
- 15. Coleman RE. Risks and benefits of bisphosphonates. Br J Cancer. 2008;98(11):1736–40.
- 16. Tauer JT, Robinson ME, Rauch F. Osteogenesis imperfecta: new perspectives from clinical and translational research. JBMR Plus. 2019;3(8):e10174.
- 17. Duarte NT, Rech BO, Martins IG, Franco JB, Ortega KL. Can children be affected by bisphosphonaterelated osteonecrosis of the jaw? A systematic review. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2020;49(2):183–91.
- 18. Kennel KA, Drake MT. Adverse effects of bisphosphonates: implications for osteoporosis management. Mayo Clin Proc. 2009;84(7):632–7; quiz 8.
- 19. Eghbali-Fatourechi G. Bisphosphonate therapy in pediatric patients. J Diabetes Metab Disord. 2014;13(1):109.
- 20. Morimoto A, Shioda Y, Imamura T, Kanegane H, Sato T, Kudo K, et al. Nationwide survey of bisphosphonate therapy for children with reactivated Langerhans cell histiocytosis in Japan. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2011;56(1):110–5.
- 21. Sitaula RK, Khatri A. Langerhans cell histiocytosis with hemorrhagic uveitis and exudative retinal detachment. Int Med Case Rep J. 2018;11:65–8.
- 22. Munns CF, Rauch F, Mier RJ, Glorieux FH. Respiratory distress with pamidronate treatment in infants with severe osteogenesis imperfecta. Bone. 2004;35(1):231–4.
- 23. Liens D, Delmas PD, Meunier PJ. Long-term effects of intravenous pamidronate in fibrous dysplasia of bone. Lancet. 1994;343(8903):953–4.
- 24. Munns CF, Rauch F, Ward L, Glorieux FH. Maternal and fetal outcome after long-term pamidronate treatment before conception: a report of two cases. J Bone Miner Res. 2004;19(10):1742–5.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

Ketoconazole – addition – EML

#### Ketoconazole

ATC code: H02CA03

# Proposal

Addition of ketoconazole tablets to the complementary list of the EML for use in the management of patients with endogenous Cushing syndrome.

# Applicant

Mark E. Molitch, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States of America

Jean-Pierre Chanoine, British Colombia Children's Hospital, Vancouver, Canada Salllianne Kavanagh, University of Huddersfield, Huddersfield, United Kingdom

# WHO technical department

The technical team for Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment in the Department of Noncommunicable diseases reviewed and provided comments on the application. The technical team advised that it did not support the application, highlighting its views that the data included appeared to be selective, omitting systematic reviews on the topic that could have been included and critically appraised (1-3), and there was risk of bias in the included case series, and retrospective observational and cohort studies. The technical unit also noted that the application did not address difficulties in low- and middle-income countries in monitoring liver enzymes and the availability of endocrinologists to monitor treatment effects, nor did it provide any estimation of costs associated with measuring urinary free cortisol levels, monitoring liver enzymes and other possible adverse events.

# EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

18 Medicines for endocrine disorders

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Tablet: 200 mg

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

462

#### Background

Ketoconazole was added to the EML in 1987 for the treatment of systemic fungal infections. A square box was added to the listing in 1989 to indicate that other azole antifungals could serve as suitable therapeutic alternatives. In 1999, ketoconazole was replaced by fluconazole as the representative medicine on the basis of better cost–effectiveness and fewer adverse events. Ketoconazole remained a therapeutic alternative to fluconazole under the new square box listing until 2019, when the square box was removed from the listing for fluconazole, following the addition of the new azole antifungals itraconazole and voriconazole.

Ketoconazole tablets have not previously been evaluated for inclusion on the Model Lists for use in Cushing syndrome.

#### Public health relevance

Cushing syndrome is caused by the excessive secretion of cortisol from the adrenal glands. About 80% of cases of Cushing syndrome are due to adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH)-secreting pituitary tumours and 20% are due to cortisol-producing adrenal adenomas and carcinomas. ACTH-secreting tumours represent about 5% of clinically identified pituitary adenomas. The annual incidence of ACTH-secreting tumours is about 2–3 per million. About 90% of ACTH-secreting pituitary adenomas are less than 10 mm in maximum diameter (microadenomas) and 10% are more than 10 mm (macroadenomas); malignant ACTH-secreting tumours are rare (4,5).

Excess cortisol may cause considerable morbidity, including hypertension, diabetes, heart disease, muscle weakness, fatigue, depression, osteoporosis, weight gain, easy bruising, facial plethora and skin striae due to excessive cortisol levels and hirsutism due to excessive adrenal androgen levels (6-10). In children, weight gain with decreased growth velocity is often the presenting feature (7,9). Mortality in patients with Cushing syndrome is also two to five times higher than that of the general population (11-14). Macroadenomas can continue to grow and cause mass effects, such as visual field defects, hypopituitarism, cranial nerve palsies and headaches. Adrenal lesions also usually present with symptoms and signs related to excessive cortisol and androgen secretion (6-10).

Almost all patients with Cushing syndrome due to benign adrenal adenomas or bilateral nodular hyperplasia can be cured surgically by adrenalectomy (9). Those not controlled by surgery are treated medically with the goal of achieving hormonal control. Medical treatment may be the only option in some settings where availability of neurosurgeons is limited.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

Early studies using ketoconazole to treat Cushing syndrome suggested a normalization rate of urinary-free cortisol levels of over 90% (*15*,*16*).

A retrospective, multicentre study reviewed data on 200 patients with Cushing disease (78% females, 106 microadenomas, 36 macroadenomas, 58 with no visible tumour) treated with ketoconazole in doses ranging from 200 mg to 1200 mg a day, with most patients receiving 600 mg and 800 mg a day (17). Of 39 patients treated for 4 months before surgery, 19 (48.7%) achieved a normal urinary-free cortisol. In 158 patients treated postoperatively or primarily (when surgery was contraindicated), 78 (49.4%) achieved normal urinary-free cortisol, 37 (23.4%) had a > 50% decrease in urinary-free cortisol and 43 (27.2%) had unchanged urinary-free cortisol. Ketoconazole treatment was stopped in 26.8% of patients due to lack of efficacy and in 25.6% of patients due to adverse effects.

Individual prospective, randomized studies of other medicines for management of Cushing syndrome showed normalization of cortisol levels in 28% of patients treated with cabergoline (18), 43% of patients treated with metyrapone (19), 20% of patients treated with pasireotide (20), 66% of patients treated with osilodrostat (21), and 31% of patients treated with levoketoconazole (22). In the SEISMIC study, 88% of patients treated with mifepristone were judged to have progressive clinical improvement (23,24). Because mifepristone blocks the cortisol receptor and does not interfere with cortisol synthesis, measurement of cortisol levels cannot be used as a measure of efficacy.

A 2018 systematic review and meta-analysis of 35 randomized trials and cohort studies (1520 participants) evaluated the effectiveness of medical treatment for Cushing syndrome (25). The review reported the percentage of patients with pituitary Cushing disease who achieved normalization of cortisol levels as 81.8% (95% confidence interval (CI) 75.4% to 87.6%, four studies) for mitotane, 60.0% (95% CI 31.3% to 83.2%, one study) for metyrapone, 49.0% (95% CI 42.0% to 56.0%, three studies) for ketoconazole, 41.1% (95% CI 32.7% to 49.8%, two studies) for pasireotide and 35.7% (95% CI 24.6% to 47.6%, three studies) for cabergoline. The corresponding percentages for patients with all etiologies of Cushing syndrome, including adrenal carcinoma were 78.9% (95% CI 73.3% to 85.7%, four studies) for mitotane, 75.9% (95% CI 57.5% to 90.9%, two studies) for metyrapone, 71.1% (95% CI 51.6% to 87.5%, seven studies) for ketoconazole, 41.1% (95% CI 32.7% to 49.8%, two studies) for pasireotide and 35.7% (95% CI 24.6% to 47.6%, three studies) for cabergoline. The authors concluded that medication induces cortisol normalization in a large percentage of patients with Cushing disease and would be a reasonable option for patients who chose not to have surgery or in whom surgery was contraindicated, and for patients with recurrence following surgery.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The main adverse effect of ketoconazole is liver toxicity. In a retrospective study of 200 patients treated with ketoconazole for Cushing syndrome, liver enzyme

elevations of up to five-fold of normal were reported in 15.8% of patients, four patients experienced five- to 10-fold elevations and one patient experienced a 40-fold increase (*17*). These increases occurred within 4 weeks of starting treatment or with dose increments. All increases returned to normal after treatment withdrawal or dose reduction. Other reported adverse effects of ketoconazole were gastrointestinal symptoms (13.1%), adrenal insufficiency (5.4%) and pruritus (3.7%).

Ketoconazole is a strong CYP3A4 inhibitor and therefore may affect dosing of other medicines that are substrates for this enzyme (e.g. amiodarone, carbamazepine, amitriptyline, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, benzodiazepines, calcium channel blockers, statins and colchicine).

In 2013, the United States Food and Drug Administration issued a drug safety communication on ketoconazole use because of potentially fatal liver injury, risk of drug interactions and adrenal gland problems (*26*).

In 2013, the European Medicines Agency's Committee on Medicinal Products for Human Use recommended marketing authorizations of oral ketoconazole be suspended throughout the European Union due to the risk of liver toxicity outweighing the benefits in the treatment of fungal infections. This recommendation was subsequently endorsed by the European Commission. However, it was noted by the European Medicines Agency that ketoconazole was used off-label for the treatment of patients with Cushing syndrome and indicated that national regulatory authorities may make ketoconazole available for these patients under controlled conditions (*27*).

#### **WHO** guidelines

WHO guidelines for the management of Cushing syndrome are not currently available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

A retrospective cohort study compared costs for treatment of 877 patients with Cushing syndrome compared with 2631 matched controls without this disease using a United States insurance administrative claims database to assess the economic burden of Cushing syndrome (*28*). The study found that the mean number of health care visits (ambulatory, emergency department and inpatient) was two-to-four times higher for patients with Cushing syndrome than for control patients. The total mean all-cause health care costs were also higher for patients with Cushing syndrome than for control patients, driven primarily by medical costs, which accounted for 87% and 79% of total costs for patients with Cushing syndrome and controls, respectively. On average, medical costs were nearly seven times higher for patients with Cushing syndrome than for control patients.

The costs of treatment for Cushing syndrome (including drug cost, treatment, complications, adverse events, comorbidity and monitoring) were

reported in a 2014 study that assessed the budget impact of pasireotide in the United States (*29*). The annual cost per patient for treatment with ketoconazole was US\$ 25 475 (of which monthly drug costs were US\$ 127). Corresponding figures for other medicines were US\$ 144 280 (US\$ 14 583) for pasireotide, US\$ 207 562 (US\$ 15 140) for mifepristone, US\$ 32 179 (US\$ 719) for cabergoline and US\$ 40 893 (US\$ 1364) for mitotane.

Costs of treatment for Cushing syndrome using ketoconazole and other medicines reported in the application are shown in Table 24.

#### Table 24

| Medicine         | Unit costª, US\$/<br>dose | Average effective<br>dose | Cost for 30 days,<br>US\$ |
|------------------|---------------------------|---------------------------|---------------------------|
| Ketoconazole     | 1.43/200 mg               | 800 mg/day                | 172                       |
| Cabergoline      | 46/0.5 mg                 | 3.6 mg/week               | 1325                      |
| Metyrapone       | 32/250 mg                 | 1375 mg/day               | 5280                      |
| Pasireotide      | 15 255/30 mg              | 30 mg/30 day              | 15 255                    |
| Osilodrostat     | 553/10 mg                 | 10 mg/day                 | 16 590                    |
| Mifepristone     | 603/300 mg                | 734 mg/day                | 44 260                    |
| Levoketoconazole | 313/150 mg                | 563 mg/day                | 35 244                    |

# Costs of medicines used to treat Cushing syndrome

<sup>a</sup> Retail cost as of January 2022.

Costs for a 30-day course of ketoconazole were reported in the application as US\$ 36 in Argentina, US\$ 6 in Bolivia (Plurinational State of), US\$ 36 in Brazil, US\$ 6–22 in India and US\$ 25 in Mexico.

#### Availability

Ketoconazole (200 mg tablets) has regulatory approval from the European Medicines Agency for use in the treatment of adults and children aged 12 years and older with Cushing syndrome.

Ketoconazole (200 mg tablets), produced by three manufacturers, has regulatory approval from the United States Food and Drug Administration for use in the treatment of fungal infections.

The regulatory status of ketoconazole 200 mg tablets in Australia, Canada and Japan, as presented in the application, was unable to be verified.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that ACTH-secreting pituitary tumours are responsible for 80% of cases of Cushing syndrome and are relatively rare, with a reported annual incidence of 2–3 cases per million people. The Committee noted that neurosurgery can cure most cases and is the recommended treatment intervention for this condition. Pharmacological treatment may be required in some patients who are not candidates for surgery, or in settings where experienced neurosurgeons and surgical facilities are not available.

The Committee noted that the evidence presented in the application suggested that a significant proportion of patients had a good response to treatment with ketoconazole as measured by normalization of urinary-free cortisol levels, however, the certainty of evidence was low and drawn from retrospective observational studies and a single meta-analysis. Data from individual randomized studies of other medicines suggested alternative treatments were associated with better outcomes, however direct comparisons were not available.

The Committee expressed grave concerns about the safety profile associated with systemic use of ketoconazole, including serious liver toxicity requiring monitoring with regular liver function tests, QT prolongation and the potential for numerous drug–drug interactions as a result of CYP3A4 inhibition by ketoconazole.

Based on these considerations, the Committee did not recommend the inclusion of ketoconazole on the EML for use in the management of patients with Cushing syndrome.

#### References

- 1. Gadelha MR, Vieira Neto L. Efficacy of medical treatment in Cushing's disease: a systematic review. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2014;80(1):1–12.
- Simões Corrêa Galendi J, Correa Neto ANS, Demetres M, Boguszewski CL, Nogueira V. Effectiveness of medical treatment of Cushing's Disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2021;12:732240.
- Pivonello R, Ferrigno R, De Martino MC, Simeoli C, Di Paola N, Pivonello C, et al. Medical treatment of Cushing's disease: an overview of the current and recent clinical trials. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2020;11:648.
- 4. Molitch ME. Diagnosis and treatment of pituitary adenomas: a review. JAMA. 2017;317(5):516–24.
- 5. Melmed S. Pituitary-tumor endocrinopathies. N Engl J Med. 2020;382(10):937–50.
- Nieman LK, Biller BM, Findling JW, Newell-Price J, Savage MO, Stewart PM, et al. The diagnosis of Cushing's syndrome: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008;93(5):1526–40.

7. Biller BM, Grossman AB, Stewart PM, Melmed S, Bertagna X, Bertherat J, et al. Treatment of adrenocorticotropin-dependent Cushing's syndrome: a consensus statement. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008;93(7):2454–62.

- 8. Hamrahian AH, Yuen KC, Hoffman AR. AACE/ACE disease state clinical review: medical management of Cushing disease. Endocr Pract. 2014;20(7):746–57.
- 9. Lacroix A, Feelders RA, Stratakis CA, Nieman LK. Cushing's syndrome. Lancet. 2015;386(9996):913–27.
- Fleseriu M, Auchus R, Bancos I, Ben-Shlomo A, Bertherat J, Biermasz NR, et al. Consensus on diagnosis and management of Cushing's disease: a guideline update. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2021;9(12):847–75.
- 11. Clayton RN, Raskauskiene D, Reulen RC, Jones PW. Mortality and morbidity in Cushing's disease over 50 years in Stoke-on-Trent, UK: audit and meta-analysis of literature. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(3):632–42.
- 12. Dekkers OM, Horvath-Puho E, Jorgensen JO, Cannegieter SC, Ehrenstein V, Vandenbroucke JP, et al. Multisystem morbidity and mortality in Cushing's syndrome: a cohort study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98(6):2277–84.
- Lambert JK, Goldberg L, Fayngold S, Kostadinov J, Post KD, Geer EB. Predictors of mortality and long-term outcomes in treated Cushing's disease: a study of 346 patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98(3):1022–30.
- 14. Limumpornpetch P, Morgan AW, Tiganescu A, Baxter PD, Nyawira Nyaga V, Pujades-Rodriguez M, et al. The effect of endogenous Cushing syndrome on all-cause and cause-specific mortality. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2022;107(8):2377–88.
- 15. Sonino N, Boscaro M, Paoletta A, Mantero F, Ziliotto D. Ketoconazole treatment in Cushing's syndrome: experience in 34 patients. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 1991;35(4):347–52.
- 16. Tabarin A, Navarranne A, Guérin J, Corcuff JB, Parneix M, Roger P. Use of ketoconazole in the treatment of Cushing's disease and ectopic ACTH syndrome. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 1991;34(1):63–9.
- 17. Castinetti F, Guignat L, Giraud P, Muller M, Kamenicky P, Drui D, et al. Ketoconazole in Cushing's disease: is it worth a try? J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;99(5):1623–30.
- 18. Lila AR, Gopal RA, Acharya SV, George J, Sarathi V, Bandgar T, et al. Efficacy of cabergoline in uncured (persistent or recurrent) Cushing disease after pituitary surgical treatment with or without radiotherapy. Endocr Pract. 2010;16(6):968–76.
- 19. Daniel E, Aylwin S, Mustafa O, Ball S, Munir A, Boelaert K, et al. Effectiveness of metyrapone in treating Cushing's syndrome: a retrospective multicenter study in 195 patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100(11):4146–54.
- 20. Lacroix A, Gu F, Gallardo W, Pivonello R, Yu Y, Witek P, et al. Efficacy and safety of oncemonthly pasireotide in Cushing's disease: a 12 month clinical trial. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2018;6(1):17–26.
- 21. Pivonello R, Fleseriu M, Newell-Price J, Bertagna X, Findling J, Shimatsu A, et al. Efficacy and safety of osilodrostat in patients with Cushing's disease (LINC 3): a multicentre phase III study with a double-blind, randomised withdrawal phase. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2020;8(9):748–61.
- 22. Fleseriu M, Pivonello R, Elenkova A, Salvatori R, Auchus RJ, Feelders RA, et al. Efficacy and safety of levoketoconazole in the treatment of endogenous Cushing's syndrome (SONICS): a phase 3, multicentre, open-label, single-arm trial. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2019;7(11):855–65.
- 23. Fleseriu M, Molitch ME, Gross C, Schteingart DE, Vaughan TB, 3rd, Biller BM. A new therapeutic approach in the medical treatment of Cushing's syndrome: glucocorticoid receptor blockade with mifepristone. Endocr Pract. 2013;19(2):313–26.

468

- 24. Katznelson L, Loriaux DL, Feldman D, Braunstein GD, Schteingart DE, Gross C. Global clinical response in Cushing's syndrome patients treated with mifepristone. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2014;80(4):562–9.
- 25. Broersen LHA, Jha M, Biermasz NR, Pereira AM, Dekkers OM. Effectiveness of medical treatment for Cushing's syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Pituitary. 2018;21(6):631–41.
- 26. FDA Drug Safety Communication: FDA limits usage of Nizoral (ketoconazole) oral tablets due to potentially fatal liver injury and risk of drug interactions and adrenal gland problems [internet]. Silver Spring, MD: United States Food and Drug Administration; 2013 (https://www.fda.gov/drugs/drug-safety-and-availability/fda-drug-safety-communication-fda-limits-usage-nizoral-ketoconazole-oral-tablets-due-potentially, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 27. Ketoconazole-containing medicines. European Commission final decision [internet]. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency; 2013 (https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/referrals/ ketoconazole-containing-medicines, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 28. Burton T, Le Nestour E, Neary M, Ludlam WH. Algorithm development and the clinical and economic burden of Cushing's disease in a large US health plan database. Pituitary. 2016;19(2):167–74.
- Truong HL, Nellesen D, Ludlam WH, Neary MP. Budget impact of pasireotide for the treatment of Cushing's disease, a rare endocrine disorder associated with considerable comorbidities. J Med Econ. 2014;17(4):288–95.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists – addition – EML

# Liraglutide

# ATC code: A10BJ02

# Proposal

Addition of glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) receptor agonists to the core list of the EML for treatment of obesity.

# Applicant

Sanjana Garimella, Yale New Haven Health, New Haven, CT, United States of America

Micah Johnson, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, United States of America

Alyssa Grimshaw, Yale School of Medicine, New Haven, CT, United States of America

Sandeep P. Kishore University of California, San Francisco, CA, United States of America

#### WHO technical department

Department of Nutrition and Food Safety

#### EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

18 Medicines for endocrine disorders

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Injection: 6 mg/mL in 3 mL prefilled pen

# Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Square box listing for liraglutide as representative of the class of GLP-1 receptor agonists. Specific alternative medicines were not indicated in the application.

# Background

Medicines for the treatment of obesity are currently not included on the WHO Model Lists and have not been assessed by previous Expert Committees. In 2017, the Expert Committee considered a review of medicines for second-line therapy for type 2 diabetes, including (but not limited to) GLP-1 receptor agonists and sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 (SGLT2) inhibitors, based on an update of the 2013 review by the Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health. The Committee did not recommend the inclusion of second-line medicines for type 2 diabetes on the EML and confirmed the role of sulfonylureas as one of the most cost-effective treatments for intensification therapy of type 2 diabetes. However, the Committee noted that SGLT2 inhibitors had shown a relevant clinical benefit as second-line therapy in patients at high risk of cardiovascular events, with a reduction in overall mortality. The Committee considered that this finding needed to be confirmed with data from other trials before this class of medicines could be supported for inclusion on the EML (1).

In 2021, the Expert Committee reviewed an application presenting new evidence which confirmed the positive effect of SGLT2 inhibitors compared with placebo on all-cause mortality, cardiovascular outcomes (cardiovascular mortality, non-fatal myocardial infarction and hospital admission for unstable angina), renal outcomes (kidney failure, end-stage renal disease and renal death), body weight and haemoglobin A1c (HbA1c). The Committee noted that the situation was less clear when comparing SGLT2 inhibitors with GLP-1 receptor agonists, although the SGLT2 inhibitors seemed to be the preferred option as they were consistently associated with favourable results for most cardiovascular outcomes and were administered orally in contrast to GLP-1 receptor agonists that needed to be injected. For SGLT2 inhibitors, the Committee considered that there was high-quality evidence showing clinically beneficial effects in patients with type 2 diabetes who had not achieved appropriate glycaemic control with metformin or a sulfonylurea, particularly in those at high risk of cardiovascular events and/or diabetic nephropathy, and there was a reasonable safety profile. The Expert Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of SGLT2 inhibitors on the core list of the EML as a second-line therapy. GLP-1 receptor agonists were not recommended for inclusion for second-line therapy for type 2 diabetes at that time (2).

#### Public health relevance

Obesity is associated with numerous complications such as ischaemic heart disease, stroke, diabetes mellitus, chronic kidney disease, hypertensive heart disease and lower back pain. Obesity is also associated with increased health care-related costs both for society as well as for people with obesity and their families. The overall medical cost due to obesity in adults in the United States was estimated to be US\$ 260.6 billion in 2016 (*3*).

Obesity was once considered to be a problem of high-income countries but has now become an increasingly important problem in low- and middle-income

countries The global age-standardized prevalence of obesity increased from 0.7% (95% credibility interval (CrI) 0.4% to 1.2%) in 1975 to 5.6% (95% CrI 4.8% to 6.5%) in 2016 in girls aged 5–19 years, and from 0.9% (95% CrI 0.5% to 1.3%) in 1975 to 7.8% (95% CrI 6.7% to 9.1%) in 2016 in boys aged 5–19 years (4). A high prevalence of obesity (> 20%) was not only observed in high-income countries but also in several countries in Polynesia and Micronesia, the Middle East and north Africa, and the Caribbean. Overall, it was estimated that in 2016 more than 1.9 billion adults were overweight, of whom 650 million were obese (i.e. with a body mass index (BMI) of at least 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) (5).

The increase in the global prevalence of overweight and obesity has been accompanied by a substantial increase in global deaths attributable to a high BMI ( $\geq 25$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>) between 1990 and 2017. According to an analysis of the Global Burden of Disease study, the global deaths attributable to high BMI have increased from 1.2 million (95% uncertainty interval (UI) 0.7 to 1.8 million) in 1990 to 2.4 million (95% UI 1.6 to 3.4 million) in 2017 for females, and from 1.0 million (95% UI 0.5 to 1.6 million) in 1990 to 2.3 million (95% UI 1.4 to 3.4 million) in 2017 for males. Over the same time, the global number of high BMI-related disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) has more than doubled for both sexes (6).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

GLP-1 is one of two main incretin hormones (the other one being gastric inhibitory polypeptide). GLP-1 is secreted by the gastrointestinal tract on ingestion of glucose or other nutrients. GLP-1 stimulates insulin secretion from pancreatic beta cells and inhibits gastric emptying and release of the hormone glucagon. Liraglutide is a long-acting analogue of GLP 1 and mimics the effects of the naturally occurring hormone, stimulating the secretion of insulin, decreasing glucagon secretion, slowing gastric motility and decreasing appetite via an anorectic effect in the arcuate nucleus of the brain (7).

Liraglutide was first approved as a medicine for the treatment of type 2 diabetes in 2009 in Europe and in 2010 in the United States (8). In 2014, the United States Food and Drug Administration approved liraglutide for the treatment of obese adults (BMI  $\ge$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and overweight adults (BMI  $\ge$  27 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) with at least one weight related condition. The European Medicines Agency approved a similar indication in 2015. Both regulatory authorities emphasize that liraglutide should be used in addition to a reduced-calorie diet and physical activity.

Several phase III studies of liraglutide in the treatment of type 2 diabetes showed that liraglutide treatment was associated with weight loss in diabetic patients (9-12). In these studies, the mean reduction in body weight was 1–3 kg with the 1.2 mg daily dose and 2–3.4 kg with a 1.8 mg daily dose (7).

The first study to assess the efficacy of liraglutide for the treatment of obesity in patients without type 2 diabetes was an industry-sponsored randomized,

placebo-controlled, double-blind study in 19 sites in eight European countries in 2007 (*13*). Patients were randomized 1:1:1:1:11 to one of four doses of liraglutide (1.2 mg, 1.8 mg, 2.4 mg or 3.0 mg subcutaneously once a day), placebo or openlabel orlistat (an orally administered lipase inhibitor). Participants in all groups were also assigned to a 500 kcal energy-deficient diet and an increase in physical activity. The primary outcome was weight change during the 20-week study period. Overall, the group on liraglutide lost significantly more weight than patients in the placebo or orlistat groups, specifically losing on average 2.1 kg (95% confidence interval (CI) 0.6 to 3.6 kg) to 4.4 kg (CI 6.9 to 6.0 kg) more weight than the placebo group. The weight loss experienced with liraglutide was dose dependent with the highest weight loss occurring in the highest dose group (3 mg once a day).

A 2022 systematic review and meta-analysis of 12 randomized trials (8249 participants) assessed the efficacy of liraglutide versus placebo on BMI and weight loss in obese adults without diabetes (14). Overall, liraglutide showed a statistically larger effect on BMI (mean difference (MD) -1.45 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, 95% CI -1.98 to -0.90 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and body weight (MD -3.35 kg, 95% CI -4.65 to -2.05 kg) than placebo. Liraglutide also reduced systolic and diastolic blood pressure compared with placebo (MD -3.07 mmHg, 95% CI -3.66 to -2.48 mmHg and MD -1.01 mmHg, 95% CI -1.55 to -0.47 mmHg, respectively). Seven randomized controlled trials were judged to be of high risk of bias and the quality of evidence was assessed as low or very low for most outcomes.

Another 2022 systematic review and meta-analysis of 12 randomized trials assessed the effect of GLP-1 receptor agonists (semaglutide 2.4 mg weekly (two trials, 2262 participants); semaglutide 0.05 0.4 mg daily (one trial, 957 participants); liraglutide 3.0 mg daily (five trials, 7306 participants); liraglutide 1.8 mg daily (one trial, 68 participants); exenatide 10 micrograms twice daily (two trials, 193 participants); and efpeglenatide 6 mg weekly (one trial, 295 participants)) on weight loss in obese adults without diabetes (15). The overall MD in weight loss between GLP-1 receptor agonist and control groups was -7.1 kg (95% CI -9.2 to -5.0 kg). Secondary outcomes assessed showed improved glycaemic control without hypoglycaemic events and improved blood pressure and lipid levels (low-density lipoprotein, high-density lipoprotein and triglycerides) with GLP-1 receptor agonists compared with control. Subgroup analyses compared once-weekly semaglutide 2.4 mg with once-daily liraglutide 3 mg. The treatment effect comparison showed greater weight loss with semaglutide (overall MD -12.4 kg, 95% CI -13.2 to -11.5 kg) than with liraglutide (overall MD -5.3 kg, 95% CI -5.9 to -4.7 kg).

A 2012 systematic review and meta-analysis of 25 randomized trials assessed the effect on weight loss of GLP-1 receptor agonists compared with placebo, third-generation sulphonylureas, insulin, dipeptidyl peptidase 4 inhibitors, thiazolidinediones, or metformin in overweight and obese adults with and without diabetes (*16*). The included trials evaluated exenatide 5 to 10 micrograms twice daily (13 trials, 3566 participants), liraglutide 1.2 or 1.8 mg daily (eight trials, 5512 participants) and exenatide 2 mg once weekly (four trials, 1052 participants). Two trials directly compared exenatide twice daily with exenatide once weekly, and one trial directly compared twice daily exenatide with liraglutide. A statistically significant greater weight loss was seen with GLP-1 receptor agonists than in the control groups (weighted MD –2.9 kg, 95% CI –3.6 to –2.2 kg). The mean reduction of body weight for those on a GLP-1 receptor agonist ranged from –7.2 to –0.2 kg. Subgroup analysis showed that weight loss was greater with higher doses of GLP-1 receptor agonists. Weight loss was seen both in patients with diabetes (–2.8 kg, 95% CI –3.4 to –2.3 kg) and without diabetes (–3.2 kg, 95% CI –4.3 to –2.1 kg).

Another 2022 systematic review and meta-analysis of 14 randomized trials assessed the efficacy of liraglutide 3 mg compared with placebo in overweight  $(BMI \ge 27 \text{ kg/m2})$  and obese  $(BMI \ge 30 \text{ kg/m2})$  adult patients (with and without diabetes) (17). Liraglutide therapy resulted in a significant change in body weight from baseline compared with placebo (MD -4.91 kg, 95% CI -5.43 to -4.39 kg) both in patients without diabetes (MD -5.04 kg, 95% CI -5.60 to -4.49 kg) and in those with diabetes (MD -4.14 kg, 95% CI -4.95 to -3.32). Liraglutide therapy also resulted in a significant reduction in waist circumference from baseline in both groups (MD -3.64 cm (95% CI -4.43 to -2.85 cm) in patients without diabetes and -3.11 cm (95% CI -3.88 to -2.34 cm) in patients with diabetes). BMI was also significantly reduced from baseline in the liraglutide group both in patients without diabetes (MD -1.95 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, 95% CI -2.22 to -1.68 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and in those with diabetes (MD -1.40 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, (95% CI -1.73 to -1.07 kg/m<sup>2</sup>). Liraglutide therapy resulted in a higher proportion of patients with a weight loss of at least 5% (risk ratio (RR) 2.23, 95% CI 1.98 to 2.52) or 10% (RR 3.28, 95% CI 2.23 to 4.83) from baseline compared to placebo in patients with or without diabetes.

A 2016 systematic review and meta-analysis evaluated the effect on weight loss of five pharmacological treatments approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration (including liraglutide) for obese (BMI > 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and overweight (BMI > 27 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) adult patients (*18*). The review included 28 randomized controlled trials (all considered at high risk of bias) of which three trials (about 4500 participants) assessed the effects of liraglutide: two versus placebo and one versus orlistat, a lipase inhibitor. In the network meta-analysis, compared with placebo, liraglutide was associated with an odds ratio (OR) of 5.54 (95% CrI 4.16 to 7.78) of achieving at least 5% weight loss and OR 4.99 (95% CrI 3.67 to 7.48) of achieving at least 10% weight loss. Among patients treated with liraglutide, a weight loss of at least 5% was achieved in 63% of participants (23% with placebo) and at least 10% in 34% of participants (9% with placebo).

474

Liraglutide was also associated with an excess weight loss compared with placebo of 5.3 kg (95% CrI –6.06 to –4.52 kg). In the direct meta-analysis, liraglutide was associated with higher odds of 5% weight loss compared with placebo (OR 5.09, 95% CI 4.07 to 6.37) and orlistat (OR 3.66, 95% CI 1.79 to 7.46) and higher odds of 10% weight loss compared with placebo (OR 4.36, 95% CI 3.61 to 5.26) and orlistat (OR 3.87, 95% CI 1.65 to 9.04).

A 2021 systematic review and meta-analysis of 64 randomized trials (27 018 participants) assessed the effectiveness on weight loss of seven GLP-1 receptor agonists (including liraglutide) compared with placebo in obese or overweight adults with a BMI > 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (or > 23 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in Asian patients) (*19*). Liraglutide was assessed in 29 of the included trials. Adults with or without diabetes or with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease were included. For liraglutide, the meta-analysis showed a statistically significant greater weight reduction over placebo with liraglutide  $\leq 1.8$  mg (20 trials) (weighted MD –2.72 kg, 95% CI –3.35 to –2.09 kg) and with liraglutide > 1.8 mg (nine trials) (weighted MD –4.49 kg, 95% CI –5.26 to –3.72 kg). Across all included GLP-1 receptor agonists, treatment with liraglutide > 1.8 mg (and semaglutide 2.4 mg and < 2.4 mg) were associated with the highest weight losses over placebo.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The safety of liraglutide 3 mg versus placebo was assessed in a 2022 systematic review and meta-analysis in overweight and obese adults with (12 trials) and without (2 trials) type 2 diabetes (*17*). The safety outcome measures looked at the proportion of adults who experienced adverse events, serious adverse events and treatment discontinuation due to adverse events (TDAEs). Of the 14 studies, 11 included the proportion of participants with adverse events or serious adverse events and five included TDAEs. In adults without diabetes, the pooled estimate of nine studies showed a significantly higher proportion in the liraglutide group experienced adverse events, liraglutide 3.0 mg had a similar risk of compared with placebo (RR 1.12, 95% CI 0.89 to 1.40). Of the five studies including TDAEs, the risk of TDAEs was similar in both treatment groups (RR 1.14, 95% CI 0.50 to 2.60).

A 2019 systematic review and meta-analysis of five randomized trials (4754 participants) investigated the safety of liraglutide in obese individuals without diabetes (20). Four trials (4703 participants) reported the proportion of participants who had withdrawn due to adverse events: 202/2972 in the liraglutide group and 36/1731 in the placebo group (OR 2.85, 95% CI 0.84 to 9.62). In addition, nausea was significantly more common in the liraglutide group than the placebo group (1189/2982 and 236/1731 patients, respectively, OR 5.04, 95% CI 3.34 to 7.60).

A 2016 systematic review and meta-analysis assessed adverse events of multiple pharmacological treatments for obesity (orlistat, lorcaserin, naltrexone bupropion, phentermine-topiramate or liraglutide) in overweight and obese adults who were being treated for at least 1 year (*18*). Compared with placebo, liraglutide (OR 2.95, 95% CI 2.11 to 4.23; surface under the cumulative rankings score 0.20) and naltrexone-bupropion (OR 2.64, 95% CI 2.10 to 3.35; surface under the cumulative ranking (SUCRA) score 0.23) had the highest probability of TDAEs. SUCRA scores (from 0 to 1) determined the probability of each agent having the fewest TDAEs, with higher scores indicating a lower probability.

A 2021 systematic review and network meta-analysis of 64 randomized trials (27 018 participants) also assessed adverse events of GLP-1 receptor agonists in obese participants (19). Compared with placebo, taspoglutide (relative risk (RR) 3.87 (95% CI 1.44 to 10.35; SUCRA score 15.1) and liraglutide > 1.8 mg (RR 2.32, 95% CI 1.49 to 3.63; SUCRA score 28.3) had the highest probability of TDAEs. SUCRA scores (from 0 to 100) determined the probability of each agent having the fewest TDAEs, with higher scores indicating a lower probability. GLP-1 agonists or analogues were associated with significantly increased risks of nausea (RR 2.75, 95% CI 2.44 to 3.09) and vomiting (RR 3.22, 95% CI 2.74 to 3.78).

#### **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for the management of overweight and obesity are not currently available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Several studies on the cost-effectiveness of liraglutide and semaglutide for the treatment of obesity are available. This literature is, however, smaller than the literature examining the cost-effectiveness of GLP-1 receptor agonists for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. Furthermore, the available cost-effectiveness analyses are limited to high-income countries.

In the United Kingdom, the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) published a technology appraisal of liraglutide for managing obesity, focusing on the subgroup of patients with BMI  $\geq$  35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, prediabetes (non-diabetic hyperglycaemia) and a high risk of cardiovascular disease (*21*). At the chosen threshold of £20 000 per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) gained, the report concluded that liraglutide was cost-effective for the management of obesity. Specifically, the base-case incremental cost–effectiveness ratio for liraglutide plus diet and exercise compared with diet and exercise alone was £13 569 per QALY gained. NICE also published a technology appraisal on semaglutide for managing obesity (*22*). For the population of people with a BMI  $\geq$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> with at least one weight-related comorbidity, the base-case incremental cost–effectiveness ratio for semaglutide plus diet and exercise was £16 337 per QALY gained compared to

diet and exercise alone. In comparison with liraglutide, the base-case incremental cost-effectiveness ratio was £600 per QALY gained.

A report by the Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH) found that compared with standard care, the incremental costeffectiveness ratio for liraglutide compared with diet and exercise was Can\$ 196 876 per QALY gained, and that the price of liraglutide would need to decrease by at least 62% to achieve cost-effectiveness at a Can\$ 50 000 per QALY threshold (*23*).

In the United States context, the Institute for Clinical and Economic Review published a report on the effectiveness and value of medications for obesity management (24). The report concluded that prices would need to decrease for semaglutide and liraglutide to meet cost–effectiveness benchmarks. Specifically, to achieve incremental cost–effectiveness ratios between US\$ 100 000 and US\$ 150 000 per QALY or equal value life year gained, the health-benefit price benchmark range for semaglutide would require a discount of 28-45% from the current wholesale acquisition cost.

A cost-effectiveness analysis of GLP-1 receptor agonists for treatment of obesity in a United States setting, using a willingness-to-pay threshold of US\$ 195 000 found that exenatide, dulaglutide and semaglutide were not costeffective (25). Compared with exenatide as the reference strategy, semaglutide was the most cost-effective strategy with an incremental cost-effectiveness ratios of US\$ 135 467 per QALY gained.

A manufacturer-sponsored cost-effectiveness analysis reported that semaglutide 2.4 mg was cost-effective at a willingness-to-pay threshold of US\$ 150 000 compared with no treatment, diet and exercise alone, and other antiobesity medicines (liraglutide 3 mg, phentermine-topiramate and naltrexonebupropion) over a 30-year time horizon, with the incremental cost per QALY gained ranging from US\$ 23 556 to US\$ 144 296 (*26*).

Cost-effectiveness studies to date have been based on prices of the branded product without generic competition. Patents for liraglutide have begun to expire (see next section on availability) and biosimilar versions of liraglutide are expected to lead to price reductions and improve cost-effectiveness.

#### Availability

Liraglutide has been approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration as an adjunct to diet and exercise to improve glycaemic control in adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus and to reduce the risk of major adverse cardiovascular events (cardiovascular death, non-fatal myocardial infarction or non-fatal stroke) in adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus and established cardiovascular disease. As of the date of the application at the end of 2022, liraglutide was also available in Canada, Denmark, France, Germany, Indonesia, Italy, Japan, Malaysia, the Netherlands (Kingdom of the), Singapore, Sweden, and the United States. According to a report released by the manufacturer, the drug compound patent for liraglutide has expired in China and Japan as of February 2022 and is set to expire in 2023 in the United States and Germany. The manufacturer reports that generic versions of liraglutide could be available in the United States from June 2024 (*27*).

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that the prevalence of overweight and obesity continues to increase in adults and children and has grown to epidemic proportions, with more than 4 million people having died in 2017 because of being overweight or obese according to the Global Burden of Disease Study. Overweight and obesity, as well as their associated noncommunicable diseases such as arterial hypertension, type 2 diabetes, hyperlipidaemia and breathing problems, are largely preventable. The Committee recognized however that when lifestyle modifications such as reduced calorie diet and regular physical activity are not sufficient, people with obesity may require pharmacological or surgical treatments.

The Committee noted that GLP-1 receptor agonists have been shown to reduce weight and BMI in the short term compared with placebo. However, evidence about the efficacy in different populations (e.g. with regard to ethnicity and age) is lacking. The optimal duration of treatment has also not been defined since maintenance of weight reduction once the therapy is stopped seems to be rare. Furthermore, to date, it is unclear whether treatment of overweight and obesity with GLP-1 receptor agonists affects long-term clinically important outcomes such as hypertension, hyperglycaemia, osteoarthritis and mortality.

The Committee also noted that the use of GLP-1 receptor agonists was associated with an increased frequency of adverse events such as nausea, vomiting, constipation and diarrhoea compared with placebo, although these were usually manageable and self-limiting. The Committee stressed the importance of longterm safety data, which are currently lacking, given the potential need for longterm administration of these medicines to maintain weight loss.

The Committee noted that prices of these medicines were currently high and treatments were unlikely to be cost-effective in several regions of the world.

The Committee also noted that the current application focused on weight loss in people with obesity, while GLP-1 receptor agonists are licensed and widely used for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. In that context, the Committee noted that the applicant already proposed to submit a new application in 2025 to evaluate GLP-1 receptor agonists for the treatment of type 2 diabetes.

The Expert Committee therefore did not recommend inclusion of GLP-1 receptor agonists to the core list of the EML for weight loss in people with obesity because of uncertain long-term clinical benefit and safety in this population.

The Committee noted the advice from the applicants of a planned submission to the 2025 Expert Committee meeting for consideration of GLP-1 receptor agonists for use in the treatment of type 2 diabetes.

#### References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2017 (including the 20th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1006; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259481, accessed 6 October 2023).
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351172, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Cawley J, Biener A, Meyerhoefer C, Ding Y, Zvenyach T, Smolarz BG, et al. Direct medical costs of obesity in the United States and the most populous states. J Manag Care Spec Pharm. 2021;27(3):354–66.
- 4. Worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2416 population-based measurement studies in 128.9 million children, adolescents, and adults. Lancet. 2017;390(10113):2627–42.
- Obesity and overweight fact sheet [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https:// www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Dai H, Alsalhe TA, Chalghaf N, Riccò M, Bragazzi NL, Wu J. The global burden of disease attributable to high body mass index in 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: an analysis of the Global Burden of Disease Study. PLoS Med. 2020;17(7):e1003198.
- 7. Lin CH, Shao L, Zhang YM, Tu YJ, Zhang Y, Tomlinson B, et al. An evaluation of liraglutide including its efficacy and safety for the treatment of obesity. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2020;21(3):275–85.
- 8. lepsen EW, Torekov SS, Holst JJ. Liraglutide for type 2 diabetes and obesity: a 2015 update. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther. 2015;13(7):753–67.
- Marre M, Shaw J, Brändle M, Bebakar WM, Kamaruddin NA, Strand J, et al. Liraglutide, a once-daily human GLP-1 analogue, added to a sulphonylurea over 26 weeks produces greater improvements in glycaemic and weight control compared with adding rosiglitazone or placebo in subjects with type 2 diabetes (LEAD-1 SU). Diabet Med. 2009;26(3):268–78.
- Nauck M, Frid A, Hermansen K, Shah NS, Tankova T, Mitha IH, et al. Efficacy and safety comparison of liraglutide, glimepiride, and placebo, all in combination with metformin, in type 2 diabetes: the LEAD (liraglutide effect and action in diabetes)-2 study. Diabetes Care. 2009;32(1):84–90.
- 11. Garber A, Henry R, Ratner R, Garcia-Hernandez PA, Rodriguez-Pattzi H, Olvera-Alvarez I, et al. Liraglutide versus glimepiride monotherapy for type 2 diabetes (LEAD-3 Mono): a randomised, 52-week, phase III, double-blind, parallel-treatment trial. Lancet. 2009;373(9662):473–81.
- 12. Zinman B, Gerich J, Buse JB, Lewin A, Schwartz S, Raskin P, et al. Efficacy and safety of the human glucagon-like peptide-1 analog liraglutide in combination with metformin and thiazolidinedione in patients with type 2 diabetes (LEAD-4 Met+TZD). Diabetes Care. 2009;32(7):1224–30.
- Astrup A, Rössner S, Van Gaal L, Rissanen A, Niskanen L, Al Hakim M, et al. Effects of liraglutide in the treatment of obesity: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Lancet. 2009;374(9701):1606–16.

 Barboza JJ, Huamán MR, Melgar B, Diaz-Arocutipa C, Valenzuela-Rodriguez G, Hernandez AV. Efficacy of liraglutide in non-diabetic obese adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Clin Med. 2022;11(11):2998.

- 15. Iqbal J, Wu HX, Hu N, Zhou YH, Li L, Xiao F, et al. Effect of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists on body weight in adults with obesity without diabetes mellitus-a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized control trials. Obes Rev. 2022;23(6):e13435.
- 16. Vilsbøll T, Christensen M, Junker AE, Knop FK, Gluud LL. Effects of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists on weight loss: systematic review and meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials. BMJ. 2012;344:d7771.
- 17. Konwar M, Bose D, Jaiswal SK, Maurya MK, Ravi R. Efficacy and safety of liraglutide 3.0 mg in patients with overweight and obese with or without diabetes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Int J Clin Pract. 2022;2022:1201977.
- Khera R, Murad MH, Chandar AK, Dulai PS, Wang Z, Prokop LJ, et al. Association of pharmacological treatments for obesity with weight loss and adverse events: a systematic review and metaanalysis. JAMA. 2016;315(22):2424–34.
- 19. Vosoughi K, Atieh J, Khanna L, Khoshbin K, Prokop LJ, Davitkov P, et al. Association of glucagonlike peptide 1 analogs and agonists administered for obesity with weight loss and adverse events: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. EClinicalMedicine. 2021;42:101213.
- 20. Zhang P, Liu Y, Ren Y, Bai J, Zhang G, Cui Y. The efficacy and safety of liraglutide in the obese, nondiabetic individuals: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Afr Health Sci. 2019;19(3):2591–9.
- 21. Liraglutide for managing overweight and obesity. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2020 (Technology appraisal guidance [TA664]; https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ ta664, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 22. Semaglutide for managing overweight and obesity. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2023 (Technology appraisal guidance [TA875]; https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ ta875, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 23. CADTH reimbursement recommendation. Liraglutide (Saxenda). Can J Health Technol. 2021;1(9).
- 24. Atlas SJ, Kim K, Nhan E, Touchette DR, Moradi A, Agboola F, et al. Medications for obesity management: effectiveness and value. J Manag Care Spec Pharm. 2023;29(5):569–75.
- 25. Hu Y, Zheng SL, Ye XL, Shi JN, Zheng XW, Pan HS, et al. Cost-effectiveness analysis of 4 GLP-1RAs in the treatment of obesity in a US setting. Ann Transl Med. 2022;10(3):152.
- Kim N, Wang J, Burudpakdee C, Song Y, Ramasamy A, Xie Y, et al. Cost-effectiveness analysis of semaglutide 2.4 mg for the treatment of adult patients with overweight and obesity in the United States. J Manag Care Spec Pharm. 2022;28(7):740–52.
- 27. Novo Nordisk form 2-F. Bagsværd: Novo Nordisk; 2022 . (https://www.novonordisk.com/content/ dam/nncorp/global/en/investors/irmaterial/annual\_report/2022/novo-nordisk-form-20-f-2021. pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).

480

# 18.3 Estrogens

Estradiol – addition – EML

# 17-β-estradiol

#### ATC code: G03CA03

#### Proposal

Addition of  $17-\beta$ -estradiol tablets to the complementary list of the EML for the management of pubertal development in adolescents with primary or secondary ovarian failure.

#### Applicant

Latin American Society for Pediatric Endocrinology Global Pediatric Endocrinology and Diabetes

#### WHO technical department

The sexual health and reproductive cancers unit within the WHO Department of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research reviewed the application. The technical unit supported the inclusion of 17- $\beta$ -estradiol on the EML as an option to enable induction of puberty in: adolescents with certain relevant differences in sex development, including Turner syndrome; adolescent females who have undergone certain oncology treatments resulting in primary failure; and other adolescent females with primary ovarian failure.

The technical unit highlighted that use of the medicine could support the prevention of bone loss, and noted the potential harm related to estrogen therapy delivered to adolescents at too high a dose and expressed concern about the current availability of adolescent-appropriate dosage forms in tablets or as transdermal patches.

The technical unit noted the importance of holistic care for individuals with differences of sex development throughout the life course, including during adolescence. This care includes interdisciplinary support for mental and emotional well-being and development in addition to physical health and development.

The technical unit highlighted that WHO did not currently have clinical guidelines on induction of puberty in adolescents and advised that the comments provided in relation to this application should be taken as a WHO recommendation.

The technical unit also advised that it would welcome external appraisal of the current evidence about estrogen-only and combined estrogen-progestogen hormone replacement therapy for menopause to determine whether it warranted inclusion in the EML for relief of menopausal symptoms.

#### EML/EMLc

EML

#### Section

18.3 Estrogens

#### Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Tablet: 0.5 mg, 1 mg, 2 mg

#### Core/complementary

Complementary

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

#### Background

17- $\beta$ -estradiol has not previously been considered for inclusion on the EML for management of pubertal development.

Ethinylestradiol as hormone replacement therapy was included on the EML from 1977 until 2011, when it, and progestogens medroxyprogesterone acetate and norethisterone, were recommended for deletion. At that time, after consideration of a review of the available evidence, the Committee noted that long-term hormone replacement treatment of menopause was no longer considered appropriate, notwithstanding possible individual need for the treatment of symptoms. The Committee recommended deletion of these medicines and signalled the need for a review of the short-term symptomatic management of menopause and the development of guidelines in this regard (1).

#### Public health relevance

The global prevalence of primary ovarian failure or primary ovarian insufficiency varies in different ethnic populations (2,3). It is characterized by elevated levels of gonadotropins and low levels of estradiol, and lack of spontaneous pubertal development and pubertal growth spurt, accompanied by symptoms including reduction in ovarian function and primary amenorrhoea/oligomenorrhoea. The prevalence of primary ovarian failure according to etiology is 5/10 000 females for Turner syndrome (4), 5/10 000 for oncological treatments (5), 6/100 000 for 46,XY dysgenetic disorders of sex development (6) and 1/10 000 for other etiologies of primary ovarian failure include increased lifetime risk of cardiovascular disease, osteoporosis, earlier mortality, and neurocognitive disorders (8).

482

Secondary ovarian insufficiency (hypogonadotropic hypogonadism) is caused by multiple pituitary hormone deficiency in 1/10 000 newborns (9) or isolated gonadotropin hormone-releasing hormone deficiency in 1/125 000 females (10). It can also occur as a result of structural abnormalities, such as pituitary tumours or craniopharyngiomas and their treatments.

The application defined absent pubertal development in girls as the absence of breast development by 13 years or the absence of menarche by 15 years. Accumulating data show that initiation of puberty at an age comparable with peers is essential for normal physiological development, including secondary sex characteristics, bone and muscle, and social, sexual and psychologic development. Delayed pubertal induction, which is often the case in individuals without pubertal development, may have longstanding consequences (*11*).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The application presented a narrative summary of the benefits of estrogen therapy for induction of puberty in girls with hypogonadism. Estrogens are recommended as first-line treatment for inducing puberty in girls with hypogonadism (12,13), with the aim of mimicking normal puberty and allowing girls to achieve normal final adult height and healthy bone mass accrual, and avoiding adverse physical and metabolic consequences of hypogonadism (e.g. lack of breast development, infertility, cardiovascular disease, bone loss/osteoporosis) (14,15).

The 2022 guidelines of the European Reference Network on rare endocrine conditions (11) recommend the use of bioidentical human estrogens (estradiol/17-β-estradiol E2) for pubertal induction or to sustain puberty in girls (low-quality evidence). The optimal type, route and administration, however, are not well established, and no advantage was observed for one type over another. From studies evaluated in the guideline development process, it was noted that transdermal forms were associated with estradiol, estrone and bioestrogen concentrations closer to normal in the high-dose transdermal group compared with oral forms, and normalization of gonadotropins was comparable between treatments when high-dose transdermal treatment was used (16). Oral 17-β-estradiol at a dose of 4 mg daily for 5 years immediately after pubertal induction was associated with more girls with Turner syndrome achieving a normal uterine size than those receiving a dose of 2 mg daily (17). For metabolic endpoints, including effects on bone mineralization, body composition, body mass index, lipids, glucose, insulin tolerance, protein turnover and lipolysis, there was very low-quality evidence that transdermal and oral routes of estrogen delivery had similar effects (18-20).

The application acknowledged that the use of transdermal formulations was promising. However it did not propose inclusion of transdermal formulations for a number of reasons including: the need to change patches regularly which may not be acceptable to adolescents; the need to cut/manipulate adult patches; the limited availability in resource-constrained settings; stability concerns at different temperatures; and lack of comparative studies.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

There is no evidence of liver toxicity (21) or increased risk of cancer before the age of natural menopause in women with primary ovarian failure (22) given estrogen replacement therapy. The evidence of potential harm related to estrogen therapy in girls with hypogonadism is dose related: high-dose estrogen treatment early in puberty or rapid dose escalation may result in reduced final height and poor breast development, such as prominent nipple development with poor supporting breast tissue. This effect can be minimized by a gradual start with low-dose estrogen regimens. There are also concerns that supraphysiological supplementation may adversely affect uterine development and bone mass accrual (23).

Non-specific adverse events that have been reported include nausea, vomiting, fluid retention, hypertension, ankle oedema, headache, depression, nervousness, insomnia, leg cramps, decreased high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, acne, itching, dry skin, dysmenorrhoea and irregular vaginal bleeding.

#### WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for management of pubertal development in adolescents with primary or secondary ovarian failure are not currently available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The application reported the monthly cost of treatment with 17- $\beta$ -estradiol to be US\$ 2.70 and US\$ 4.50 for doses of 1 mg and 2 mg a day, respectively. Individual tablet costs were reported as US\$ 0.15 for 2 mg tablets in Argentina, US\$ 0.11 for 1 mg tablets in India and US\$ 0.09 for both 1 mg and 2 mg tablets in New Zealand.

No cost-effectiveness data were presented in the application.

#### Availability

Estradiol tablets are available globally in branded and generic formulations. Child-appropriate formulations are lacking for younger children, with the available formulations requiring manipulation to obtain appropriate doses.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that management of delayed pubertal development with estradiol aims to mimic normal puberty to allow achievement of final adult height and healthy bone mass accrual, and to avoid adverse physical and metabolic
consequences in adolescents with primary or secondary ovarian failure. The Committee noted that the global prevalence of primary or secondary ovarian failure and primary ovarian insufficiency varies in different ethnic populations but was generally low.

The Committee considered that the application reported insufficient information on the evidence supporting the efficacy and safety of estradiol for the proposed indications. The Committee also considered that information on the optimal dosage and formulations for use in the proposed population was inadequate.

The Committee advised that any future consideration of estradiol therapy for inclusion on the Model Lists should also address its use in the management of other indications for which it is commonly used, such as hormone replacement therapy in menopause or after hysterectomy.

The Expert Committee therefore did not recommend the inclusion of  $17-\beta$ -estradiol on the complementary list of the EML for the management of pubertal development in adolescents with primary or secondary ovarian failure.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2011 (including the 17th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 3rd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 965; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44771, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Nelson LM. Clinical practice. Primary ovarian insufficiency. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(6):606–14.
- Wesevich V, Kellen AN, Pal L. Recent advances in understanding primary ovarian insufficiency. F1000Res. 2020;9:F1000.
- 4. Gravholt CH, Andersen NH, Conway GS, Dekkers OM, Geffner ME, Klein KO, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the care of girls and women with Turner syndrome: proceedings from the 2016 Cincinnati International Turner Syndrome Meeting. Eur J Endocrinol. 2017;177(3):G1–G70.
- Cattoni A, Parissone F, Porcari I, Molinari S, Masera N, Franchi M, et al. Hormonal replacement therapy in adolescents and young women with chemo- or radio-induced premature ovarian insufficiency: Practical recommendations. Blood Rev. 2021;45:100730.
- Berglund A, Johannsen TH, Stochholm K, Viuff MH, Fedder J, Main KM, et al. Incidence, Prevalence, diagnostic delay, and clinical presentation of female 46,XY disorders of sex development. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2016;101(12):4532–40.
- Guía de Práctica Clínica: diagnóstico y tratamiento de la insuficiencia ovárica primaria [Clinical Practice Guideline: diagnosis and treatment of primary ovarian insufficiency]. México: Instituto Mexicano del Seguro Social; 2013.
- 8. Stevenson JC, Collins P, Hamoda H, Lambrinoudaki I, Maas A, Maclaran K, et al. Cardiometabolic health in premature ovarian insufficiency. Climacteric. 2021;24(5):474–80.
- 9. Bosch IAL, Katugampola H, Dattani MT. Congenital hypopituitarism during the neonatal period: epidemiology, pathogenesis, therapeutic options, and outcome. Front Pediatr. 2020;8:600962.

 Laitinen EM, Vaaralahti K, Tommiska J, Eklund E, Tervaniemi M, Valanne L, et al. Incidence, phenotypic features and molecular genetics of Kallmann syndrome in Finland. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2011;6:41.

- 11. Nordenstrom A, Ahmed SF, van den Akker E, Blair JC, Bonomi M, Brachet C, et al. Pubertal induction and transition to adult sex hormone replacement in patients with congenital pituitary or gonadal reproductive hormone deficiency. an Endo-ERN clinical practice guideline. Eur J Endocrinol. 2022;186(6):G9–G49.
- 12. Drobac S, Rubin K, Rogol AD, Rosenfield RL. A workshop on pubertal hormone replacement options in the United States. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. 2006;19(1):55–64.
- 13. Kiess W, Conway G, Ritzen M, Rosenfield R, Bernasconi S, Juul A, et al. Induction of puberty in the hypogonadal girl--practices and attitudes of pediatric endocrinologists in Europe. Horm Res. 2002;57(1–2):66–71.
- 14. Palmert MR, Dunkel L. Clinical practice. Delayed puberty. New Engl J Med. 2012;366(5):443–53.
- 15. Dural O, Ulusoy HE, Tikiz MA, Gurbanova T, Yasa C, Ugurlucan FG, et al. Effects of hormone replacement therapy on low bone mineral density in adolescents and young women with hypogonadism: comparison of oral and transdermal 17 beta-estradiol administration. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. 2022;35(6):634–7.
- Taboada M, Santen R, Lima J, Hossain J, Singh R, Klein KO, et al. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of oral and transdermal 17β estradiol in girls with Turner syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(11):3502–10.
- Cleemann L, Holm K, Fallentin E, Møller N, Kristensen B, Skouby SO, et al. Effect of dosage of 17β-estradiol on uterine growth in Turner syndrome: a randomized controlled clinical pilot trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2020;105(3).
- Alves ST, Gallichio CT, Guimarães MM. Insulin resistance and body composition in Turner syndrome: effect of sequential change in the route of estrogen administration. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2006;22(10):590–4.
- 19. Mauras N, Shulman D, Hsiang HY, Balagopal P, Welch S. Metabolic effects of oral versus transdermal estrogen in growth hormone-treated girls with turner syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92(11):4154–60.
- Reinehr T, Lindberg A, Toschke C, Cara J, Chrysis D, Camacho-Hübner C. Weight gain in Turner Syndrome: association to puberty induction? Longitudinal analysis of KIGS data. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2016;85(1):85–91.
- 21. Roulot D, Degott C, Chazouilleres O, Oberti F, Cales P, Carbonell N, et al. Vascular involvement of the liver in Turner's syndrome. Hepatology. 2004;39(1):239–47.
- 22. European Society for Human R, Embryology Guideline Group on POI, Webber L, Davies M, Anderson R, Bartlett J, et al. ESHRE Guideline: management of women with premature ovarian insufficiency. Hum Reprod. 2016;31(5):926–37.
- 23. Bakalov VK, Shawker T, Ceniceros I, Bondy CA. Uterine development in Turner syndrome. J Pediatr. 2007;151(5):528–31.

486

18.5 Medicines for diabetes

# 18.5.1 Insulins

Human insulin – new formulation – EML and EMLc

Human insulin, fast-acting Human insuli<u>n, intermediate-acting</u> ATC code: A10AB01 ATC code: A10AC01

# Proposal

Inclusion of prefilled pen and cartridge formulations of human insulin (fast- and intermediate-acting) on the EML and EMLc.

# Applicant

Kim Donaghue, The Children's Hospital at Westmead, Westmead, Australia Jean-Pierre Chanoine, British Colombia Children's Hospital, Vancouver, Canada Salllianne Kavanagh, University of Huddersfield, Huddersfield, United Kingdom Mark E. Molitch, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States of America

Carine de Beaufort, Centre Hospitalier de Luxembourg, Luxembourg Sanjay Kalra, Bharti Hospital, Karnal, India

# WHO technical department

The technical team in the WHO Department of Noncommunicable Diseases reviewed and provided comments on the application. The technical team did not support the application highlighting the following reasons.

- The body of evidence provided was insufficient and selective, with some systematic reviews on the topic omitted.
- A substantial percentage of the included studies in the application were observational studies, with a risk of confounding bias.
- No distinction was made between data on human and analogue insulin.
- No adequate cost-effectiveness/utility/benefit analyses on the topic were provided.
- Environmental impact concerns exist with plastic prefilled pens.
- The evidence table provided was biased, with few data on people with type 1 diabetes, and the results on the advantages of human insulin were not reported.

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

#### Section

18.5.1 Insulins

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Injection: 100 IU/mL in 3 mL cartridge or prefilled pen

#### Core/complementary

Core

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

#### Background

Human insulin in vials has been available on the EML since 1977 and on the EMLc since 2007. In 2021, long-acting insulin analogues, in cartridge and prefilled pen delivery systems, were added to the Model Lists (*1*).

## Public health relevance

Diabetes mellitus (type 1 and type 2) affected almost 460 million people worldwide in 2019, most of whom (about 95%) had type 2 diabetes (2). Proper management and treatment are crucial to prevent vascular complications and avoid adverse outcomes of hypoglycaemia.

Insulin treatment is crucial for people with type 1 diabetes and for many with type 2 diabetes. It is typically administered through injections, with the preferred method being the basal bolus approach (3,4). This involves using intermediate or long-acting insulin once or twice a day and short-acting insulin three to five times a day before meals, adjusted based on factors such as blood glucose levels, growth, activity, illness and stress. Regular dose adjustments are necessary for effective diabetes management.

The proper administration of insulin is essential for diabetes management. If the dose is too high, it can lead to hypoglycaemia, which may cause unconsciousness, seizures or death. If the dose is too low, glucose levels are poorly controlled, increasing the risk of diabetic ketoacidosis and long-term vascular complications, which can also result in morbidity and death if not treated appropriately.

Reuse of needles for insulin administration is common in low-income countries and has been associated with infection (5).

# Summary of evidence: benefits

The application identified two systematic reviews that compared insulin cartridge or pen devices with vials and syringes.

A 2016 systematic review and meta-analysis evaluated the efficacy of insulin pen devices compared with vial and syringe administration in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes (6). The review included 17 studies (10 retrospective cohort studies, six crossover randomized controlled trials and a parallel non-randomized clinical trial). Six of the 17 studies included people with type 1 diabetes. Data were reported for glycosylated haemoglobin (HbA1c) outcomes, hypoglycaemia, adherence (assessed using the medication possession ratio, which estimates the proportion of days the patient has medication available during the observation period), persistence (defined as the number of days until discontinuation of the medication), patient preference and quality of life. Meta-analyses were performed where possible. The following results were reported in the application.

- For mean change in HbA1c at 12 months, there was very low-certainty evidence that cartridge/pen delivery systems improve HbA1c compared to vial and syringe administration (mean difference (MD) -0.28%, 95% CI -0.49% to -0.07%; four randomized controlled trials, 5079 participants).
- For mean change in HbA1c at 12 months in insulin-naïve patients, there was low-certainty evidence that cartridge/pen delivery systems improve HbA1c compared to vial and syringe administration (MD -0.35%, 95% CI -0.50% to -0.19%; three randomized controlled trials, 2973 participants).
- For percentage of patients with at least one episode of hypoglycaemia after 12 months, there was low-certainty evidence of fewer patients with hypoglycaemia with cartridge/pen delivery systems compared to vial and syringe administration (risk ratio (RR) 0.78, 95% CI 0.66 to 0.91; four randomized controlled trials, 7822 participants).
- For mean change in medication possession ratio after 12 months, there was low-certainty evidence of improved adherence with cartridge/pen delivery systems compared with vial and syringe administration (MD 0.10, 95% CI 0.04 to 0.16; four randomized controlled trials, 6860 participants).
- For percentage of persistent patients after 12 months, there was low-certainty evidence of more patients persistent at 12 months with cartridge/pen compared to vial and syringe administration (RR 1.31, 95% CI 1.15 to 1.48; six studies, 10 753 participants).

The systematic review also reported a non-statistically significant trend favouring cartridge/pen delivery systems for the percentage of patients who achieved HbA1c < 7% (RR 1.12, 95% CI 0.99 to 1.27). Patient preference was measured in different studies using several non-validated questionnaires and different time horizons (7–11). These studies showed a tendency favouring cartridge/pen delivery systems. A single, small study used a short-form health survey (SF-36) to assess quality of life in 32 and 33 patients assigned to use cartridge/pen or vial and syringe administration, respectively (12). Cartridge/pen delivery systems were associated with statistically significant differences over vial and syringe administration in change from baseline scores for three sub-scales of the SF-36: physical component scores (+3.9 standard deviation (SD) 1.9 versus -1.0 SD 1.3, P = 0.037); physical role scores (+16.4 SD 9.4 versus -18.2 SD 8.4, P = 0.008); and general health status score (+9.8 SD 4.0 versus -2.5 SD 3.3, P = 0.021). Significant differences were not observed for the other sub-scales.

A 2013 systematic review of 17 studies aimed to identify real-world factors affecting adherence to insulin therapy in patients with type 1 and 2 diabetes (13). Six studies used self-reported measures and 11 studies used calculated measures of adherence. Six of the studies reported adherence by delivery system: three in patients starting insulin therapy and three in patients switching from vial and syringe administration to a pen device. Five of these studies showed significantly higher adherence with a pen device than vial and syringe administration, measured using either medication possession ratio or proportion of days covered. The application pooled data from these studies and found low-certainty evidence of higher adherence with pen devices compared with vial and syringe administration (RR 1.16, 95% CI 1.12 to 1.21; six studies, 10 630 participants).

Two recent studies conducted in North India (14) and Lebanon (15) showed that patients preferred insulin pens/cartridges to vials and syringes for several reasons. Patients reported that the injections using pens/cartridges were less painful, more convenient and simpler, leading to fewer instances of missed insulin injections. Moreover, using pens/cartridges allowed patients to easily administer insulin for meals outside their homes or during vacations. Additionally, patients experienced less social stigma with the use of pens/cartridges compared with vials and syringes.

# Summary of evidence: harms

No data were presented in the application on harms associated with insulin administered using cartridge/pen delivery systems. The application stated that the alternate delivery method has been in use for more than 20 years in some countries and no harmful effects have been documented.

# **WHO guidelines**

The 2018 WHO guidelines on second- and third-line medicines and type of insulin for the control of blood glucose levels in non-pregnant adults with diabetes include a strong recommendation for the use of human insulin to control blood glucose levels in adults with type 1 diabetes and in adults with type 2 diabetes for whom insulin is indicated, without reference to a particular delivery system (*16*).

# Costs/cost-effectiveness

The cost of insulin pens/cartridges for diabetes management is higher than vials and syringes in most cases, particularly in low- and middle-income countries (17). However, when considering the total cost of diabetes care, claims data in the United States show cost savings with the use of pens/cartridges, primarily due to reduced hypoglycaemia compared to VaS (18,19). A retrospective observational study of individuals with type 2 diabetes enrolled in Medicaid in the United States, followed for 2 years, found significantly lower annualized health care costs in those people using pen therapy compared with those using syringes (US\$ 14 857 versus US\$ 31 765). This difference was mainly due to reduced hospital, diabetes-related and outpatient costs. However, prescription costs of syringes were significantly lower and prescription costs of pens significantly higher in patients who were switched from syringes to pens versus those who remained on syringes (18).

A longitudinal, retrospective analysis of two claims' databases in the United States of individuals with type 1 or 2 diabetes who started insulin aspart therapy using pens (n = 10577) or vials/syringes (n = 9305) found that vial/syringe use was associated with a 35% and 44% higher risk of hypoglycaemia compared with using pens/cartridges (19). Vial/syringe use was associated with 89% and 63% greater health care costs related to hypoglycaemic events compared with pen/cartridge use.

A study on the price and availability of insulin in 13 low- and middleincome countries found that the median prices for short-acting, intermediateacting and rapid-acting insulin and mixed human insulin were lower for vials than for pens/cartridges. For example, the median price for 10 mL of 100 IU/mL mixed human insulin was US\$ 6.76 for vials, US\$ 14.42 for cartridges and US\$ 18.16 for pens (20).

A cross-sectional survey evaluated price, availability and affordability of insulin products in eight cities in Pakistan (*21*). This study included a comparison of median prices and affordability of all types of insulin products combined (including originator and biosimilar products) in vial, pen and cartridge forms in the private sector. The median prices for 10 mL of 100 IU/mL insulin in vials, pens and cartridges were 735, 3070 and 1313 Pakistani rupees, respectively. The number of days' wages of the least-paid, unskilled public sector worker required to obtain a 30-day supply of human insulin in Pakistan was reported as 1.2 days

for vials, 5.2 for pens and 2.2 for cartridges. In comparison, the number of days' wages for a 30-day supply of insulin was 3.3 days for vials and 6.9 for cartridges in Nepal, and 1.4 for vials, 5.1 for pens and 3.5 for cartridges in Bengaluru, India.

In a survey in 2019 in leading diabetes centres in 37 low- and middleincome countries supported by the Life for a Child Program, 16.7% of people with diabetes younger than 25 years were using insulin pens. Additionally, 74% of respondents preferred insulin pens as their method of insulin delivery (5).

#### Availability

Human insulin in prefilled pens and cartridges have wide global regulatory approval.

Current insulin prices and availability are a barrier to treatment in most low- and middle-income countries, and some subpopulations in higherincome countries cannot reliably access insulin because it is unavailable and/or unaffordable. To address this problem, in 2019 WHO issued a first invitation for expressions of interest for prequalification of human insulin. In 2022, a second invitation was issued (*22*). Products included in the second invitation included:

- human insulin injection (soluble) 40 IU/mL in 10 mL vial; 100 IU/mL in 10 mL vial and cartridge;
- human intermediate-acting insulin 40 IU/mL in 10 mL vial;
  100 IU/mL in 10 mL vial and cartridge (as compound insulin zinc suspension or isophane insulin);
- long-acting insulin analogue solution for injection 100 U/mL vial and 100 U/mL in 3 mL cartridge.

Human insulin solution 100 IU/mL and human insulin suspension 100 IU/mL in 10 mL vials and 3 mL cartridges manufactured by Novo Nordisk were prequalified by WHO in September 2022 (23).

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recognized insulin as a life-saving essential medicine for which a strong public health need existed and acknowledged that affordable and equitable access to insulin products continued to be a global health priority. The Committee was encouraged by the progress made by WHO through its prequalification programme to address this challenge with the prequalification of both human insulin and long-acting insulin analogue products in the recent past.

The Committee recalled the recommendation in 2021 to include longacting insulin analogues on the Model Lists in prefilled pen and cartridge delivery systems and considered that inclusion of human insulin in the same delivery systems would be consistent with that recommendation. The Committee considered that cartridges and prefilled pens may offer advantages for patients over vials and syringes in terms of ease of use, greater accuracy of dosing and improved adherence.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended that the current listings for human insulin on the EML and EMLc be extended to include cartridge and prefilled pen delivery systems.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351172, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Global Burden of Disease database [internet]. Washington, DC: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation; 2019 (https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-results/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Type 1 diabetes in adults: diagnosis and management. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2022 (NICE guideline NG17; https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng17, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Danne T, Phillip M, Buckingham BA, Jarosz-Chobot P, Saboo B, Urakami T, et al. ISPAD Clinical Practice Consensus Guidelines 2018: insulin treatment in children and adolescents with diabetes. Pediatr Diabetes. 2018;19(Suppl 27):115–35.
- 5. Klatman EL, Ogle GD. Access to insulin delivery devices and glycated haemoglobin in lowerincome countries. World J Diabetes. 2020;11(8):358–69.
- Lasalvia P, Barahona-Correa JE, Romero-Alvernia DM, Gil-Tamayo S, Castaneda-Cardona C, Bayona JG, et al. Pen devices for insulin self-administration compared with needle and vial: systematic review of the literature and meta-analysis. J Diabetes Sci Technol. 2016;10(4):959–66.
- Ahmann A, Szeinbach SL, Gill J, Traylor L, Garg SK. Comparing patient preferences and healthcare provider recommendations with the pen versus vial-and-syringe insulin delivery in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Technol Ther. 2014;16(2):76–83.
- 8. Coscelli C, Lostia S, Lunetta M, Nosari I, Coronel GA. Safety, efficacy, acceptability of a pre-filled insulin pen in diabetic patients over 60 years old. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 1995;28(3):173–7.
- 9. Kadiri A, Chraibi A, Marouan F, Ababou MR, el Guermai N, Wadjinny A, et al. Comparison of NovoPen 3 and syringes/vials in the acceptance of insulin therapy in NIDDM patients with secondary failure to oral hypoglycaemic agents. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 1998;41(1):15–23.
- 10. Seggelke SA, Hawkins RM, Gibbs J, Rasouli N, Wang CC, Draznin B. Effect of glargine insulin delivery method (pen device versus vial/syringe) on glycemic control and patient preferences in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Endocr Pract. 2014;20(6):536–9.
- 11. Shelmet J, Schwartz S, Cappleman J, Peterson G, Skovlund S, Lytzen L, et al. Preference and resource utilization in elderly patients: InnoLet versus vial/syringe. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2004;63(1):27–35.
- Lee IT, Liu HC, Liau YJ, Lee WJ, Huang CN, Sheu WH. Improvement in health-related quality of life, independent of fasting glucose concentration, via insulin pen device in diabetic patients. J Eval Clin Pract. 2009;15(4):699–703.

13. Davies MJ, Gagliardino JJ, Gray LJ, Khunti K, Mohan V, Hughes R. Real-world factors affecting adherence to insulin therapy in patients with type 1 or type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review. Diabet Med. 2013;30(5):512–24.

- 14. Singh R, Samuel C, Jacob JJ. A comparison of insulin pen devices and disposable plastic syringes simplicity, safety, convenience and cost differences. Eur Endocrinol. 2018;14(1):47–51.
- 15. Ramadan WH, Khreis NA, Kabbara WK. Simplicity, safety, and acceptability of insulin pen use versus the conventional vial/syringe device in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus in Lebanon. Patient Prefer Adherence. 2015;9:517–28.
- Guidelines on second- and third-line medicines and type of insulin for the control of blood glucose levels in non-pregnant adults with diabetes mellitus. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/272433, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 17. Ball D, Ewen M, Laing R, Beran D. Insulin price components: case studies in six low/middle-income countries. BMJ Glob Health. 2019;4(5):e001705.
- Pawaskar MD, Camacho FT, Anderson RT, Cobden D, Joshi AV, Balkrishnan R. Health care costs and medication adherence associated with initiation of insulin pen therapy in Medicaid-enrolled patients with type 2 diabetes: a retrospective database analysis. Clin Ther. 2007;29(6 Pt 1):1294–305.
- 19. Asche CV, Luo W, Aagren M. Differences in rates of hypoglycemia and health care costs in patients treated with insulin aspart in pens versus vials. Curr Med Res Opin. 2013;29(10):1287–96.
- 20. Ewen M, Joosse HJ, Beran D, Laing R. Insulin prices, availability and affordability in 13 low-income and middle-income countries. BMJ Glob Health. 2019;4(3):e001410.
- 21. Saeed A, Lambojon K, Saeed H, Saleem Z, Anwer N, Aziz MM, et al. Access to insulin products in Pakistan: a national scale cross-sectional survey on prices, availability, and affordability. Front Pharmacol. 2022;13:820621.
- 2nd invitation to manufacturers of human insulin and insulin analogues to submit an Expression of Interest (EOI) for product evaluation to the WHO Prequalification Team --- Biotherapeutic Products (BTPs). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://extranet.who.int/prequal/ sites/default/files/document\_files/EOI\_Insulin\_V2\_May2022.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Medicines (finished pharmaceutical products/biotherapeutic products) Prequalification [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; (https://extranet.who.int/prequal/medicines/ prequalified/finished-pharmaceutical-products, accessed 6 October 2023).

494

# 18.6 Medicines for hypoglycaemia

Somatropin – addition – EMLc

# Somatropin

# ATC code: H01AC01

# Proposal

Inclusion of somatropin (recombinant human growth hormone, rhGH) on the complementary list of the EMLc for the management of hypoglycaemia secondary to growth hormone deficiency in neonates, infants and young children.

# Applicant

Jean-Pierre Chanoine, British Columbia Children's Hospital, Vancouver, Canada Niyoosha Yoosefi, British Columbia Children's Hospital, Vancouver, Canada Salllianne Kavanagh, University of Huddersfield, Huddersfield, United Kingdom Mark E. Molitch, Northwestern University Feiinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States of America

Jamie Harvey, International Coalition of Organizations Supporting Endocrine Patients, Warrenville, IL, United States of America

# WHO technical department

Not applicable

# EML/EMLc

EMLc

# Section

18.6 Medicines for hypoglycaemia

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Injection: 5 mg in cartridge or prefilled pen

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

Somatropin has not been previously considered for inclusion on the Model Lists for the proposed nor any other indication.

Diazoxide and glucagon were recommended for inclusion on the EMLc in 2021 and 2011, respectively, for use in the treatment of hypoglycaemia in children. Diazoxide was recommended specifically for management of hypoglycaemia secondary to prolonged hyperinsulinism (1).

## Public health relevance

The prevalence of idiopathic growth hormone deficiency in the United Kingdom and United States of America is estimated to be between 1 in 3400 and 4000 (*2*). Other estimates report a worldwide prevalence of growth hormone deficiency of between 1 in 4000 to 1 in 10 000 (*3*).

Growth hormone deficiency occurs when the pituitary gland fails to produce enough growth hormone. This deficiency is typically associated with medical conditions that affect the pituitary gland, such as congenital brain abnormalities (e.g. septo-optic dysplasia), and in rare cases, gene deletions in the hormonal pathway responsible for growth hormone production. These conditions are usually present at birth and often diagnosed in infancy. Additionally, growth hormone deficiency can be caused by brain tumours and their treatment, including radiation therapy, which typically affects older children. Growth hormone deficiency is frequently linked to short stature throughout childhood, adolescence and adulthood.

The presentation, diagnosis, and management of growth hormone deficiency differ substantially between neonates and older children or adolescents (4–7). Neonatal growth hormone deficiency is associated with severe hypoglycaemia in 30–85% of cases and can be managed with recombinant human growth hormone treatment (8,9). Neonatal growth hormone deficiency is rarely observed beyond 2 years of age, although there have been occasional reports in children up to the age of 7 years (8,10–12). Long-term consequences of moderate and severe neonatal hypoglycaemia include irreversible neurological damage and delayed psychomotor development (13–16).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

No evidence for the benefits of rhGH in the treatment of hypoglycaemia secondary to growth hormone deficiency was presented in the application. The application stated that randomized, placebo-controlled trials evaluating the effectiveness of rhGH therapy on hypoglycaemia in neonates were lacking because it is ethically unreasonable not to treat patients diagnosed with growth hormone deficiency with growth hormone replacement therapy.

Several case reports, case series and cohort studies have reported the effectiveness of rhGH therapy in addressing hypoglycaemia in neonates and infants with human growth hormone deficiency (10).

No evidence was presented in the application on potential alternative treatments for hypoglycaemia in neonates and infants, such as dextrose, diazoxide and glucagon.

## Summary of evidence: harms

In the absence of long-term randomized trials, evaluation of the potential harms and toxicity of rhGH has been conducted through various registries mandated by health authorities worldwide.

When used as replacement therapy in children and adolescents sideeffects of rhGH include rash and pain at injection site, transient fever, prepubertal gynaecomastia, arthralgia, oedema, benign intracranial hypertension, insulin resistance, progression of scoliosis and slipped capital femoral epiphysis (17). A review of data from two observational studies of the long-term safety of growth hormone treatment in children found no indication of an increased risk of mortality or adverse events related to the dose of growth hormone in any risk group (18). The application stated that short- and long-term adverse effects associated with rhGH reported in older children and adolescents have not been reported in neonates or infants (19).

Because rhGH stimulates cell proliferation, concerns exist that treatment might be associated with an increased risk of malignancies.

A 2017 cohort study of 23 984 patients treated with rhGH in eight European countries since 1984 found a significantly increased incidence in bone and bladder cancer in rhGH-treated patients without previous cancer. For patients treated with rhGH after previous cancer, cancer mortality risk was significantly increased with increasing rhGH dose. The incidence of Hodgkin lymphoma increased significantly with longer follow-up in all patients and in patients without previous cancer (20).

The United States National Cooperative Growth Study evaluated the safety and efficacy of rhGH in 54 996 children between 1985 and 2006. No increased risk in the development of leukaemia was observed in children treated with rhGH compared with an age-matched general population. Intracranial and extracranial malignancies were not significantly more frequent in patients without risk factors. An increased risk of secondary malignancies in patients previously treated with radiation was observed (*21*).

The Childhood Cancer Survival Study followed up 13 539 survivors of childhood cancer. A nested cohort of 361 cancer survivors treated with rhGH showed no significantly increased risk of disease recurrence (relative risk (RR) 0.83, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.37 to 1.86). An increased risk of development of secondary neoplasms (all solid tumours and no secondary leukaemias) was observed (RR 3.21, 95% CI 1.88 to 5.46) (*22*).

## Additional evidence

The evidence provided by the applicants was incomplete and was supplemented by the reviewers and Secretariat.

## **WHO** guidelines

WHO guidelines for the management of hypoglycaemia secondary to growth hormone deficiency are not currently available.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

Data specifically addressing the cost–effectiveness of rhGH treatment in neonates and infants with hypoglycaemia secondary to growth hormone deficiency are lacking.

The application reported the cost of growth hormone (per mg) as US\$ 46.50 to 62.10 in Argentina, US\$ 20.67 to 34.20 in Canada, US\$ 6.55 in India and US\$ 26.30 in Mexico. The monthly treatment costs (assuming a price of US\$ 25/mg and approximate weight of the 50% centile of 3.5 kg for neonates, 7.5 kg for 6-month-old infants and 15 kg for 24-month-old infants) were estimated in the submission to be US\$ 56, US\$ 120 and US\$ 240, respectively.

#### Availability

Somatropin is manufactured and distributed by several pharmaceutical companies around the world. Manufacturers differ by the appearance and quality of the injection devices and by the different strengths and concentrations of the cartridges to suit all ages.

The availability of and financial support for rhGH treatment in low- and middle-income countries are generally limited compared with high-income countries, potentially leading to disparities in access to this therapy for individuals with growth hormone deficiency in those regions.

#### Other considerations

Treatment with rhGH requires specialized diagnostic and monitoring facilities as well as medical care by a paediatric endocrinologist or, if not available, by a paediatrician knowledgeable in paediatric endocrine diseases.

The misuse of rhGH for performance enhancement is a serious concern. This is primarily due to the hormone's anabolic properties, which can potentially lead to unauthorized off-label use.

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that growth hormone deficiency, both congenital and acquired, has been reported to affect between 1 in 4000 to 10 000 people globally. However, the incidence and prevalence of hypoglycaemia due to growth hormone deficiency, the indication for which listing of somatropin is requested, was not reported in the application. The Committee acknowledged that management of hypoglycaemia, of any etiology, in neonates and infants was critical to prevent permanent neurological sequelae. The Committee noted that the application did not identify specific evidence from clinical trials of the efficacy and harms of somatropin in the management of hypoglycaemia due to growth hormone deficiency, but acknowledged limited evidence from case reports and cohort studies that have reported the effectiveness of rhGH therapy for this indication.

The Committee noted that the Model Lists currently include diazoxide, glucagon and glucose for use in the management of hypoglycaemia. The Committee considered that comparative evidence for somatropin versus these medicines, including information on the comparative costs and cost–effectiveness would be necessary to inform any future consideration of somatropin for this indication

The Expert Committee therefore did not recommend the inclusion of somatropin on the complementary list of the EMLc for the management of hypoglycaemia secondary to growth hormone deficiency in neonates, infants and young children.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351172, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Grumbach MM, Bin-Abbas BS, Kaplan SL. The growth hormone cascade: progress and long-term results of growth hormone treatment in growth hormone deficiency. Horm Res. 1998;49(Suppl 2):41–57.
- 3. Stanley T. Diagnosis of growth hormone deficiency in childhood. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes. 2012;19(1):47–52.
- 4. Binder G, Weber K, Rieflin N, Steinruck L, Blumenstock G, Janzen N, et al. Diagnosis of severe growth hormone deficiency in the newborn. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2020;93(3):305–11.
- Binder G, Weidenkeller M, Blumenstock G, Langkamp M, Weber K, Franz AR. Rational approach to the diagnosis of severe growth hormone deficiency in the newborn. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;95(5):2219–26.
- Ranke MB. Diagnosis of growth hormone deficiency and growth hormone stimulation tests. In: Ranke MB, editor. Diagnostics of endocrine function in children and adolescents. Basel: Karger; 2003:107–28.
- 7. Ranke MB. Short and long-term effects of growth hormone in children and adolescents with GH deficiency. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2021;12:720419.
- 8. Wilber JF, Odell WD. Hypoglycemia and dwarfism associated with the isolated deficiency of growth hormone. Metabolism. 1965;14(5):590–7.
- 9. Thornton PS, Stanley CA, De Leon DD, Harris D, Haymond MW, Hussain K, et al. Recommendations from the Pediatric Endocrine Society for evaluation and management of persistent hypoglycemia in neonates, infants, and children. J Pediatr. 2015;167(2):238–45.

10. Smyczyńska J, Pawelak N, Hilczer M, Lewiński A. Delayed diagnosis of congenital combined pituitary hormone deficiency including severe growth hormone deficiency in children with persistent neonatal hypoglycemia – case reports and review. Int J Mol Sci. 2022;23(19):11069.

- 11. Thakkar A, Aikaterini N. Isolated growth hormone deficiency as a cause of hypoglycemia past infancy. J Endocr Soc. 2021;5(Suppl 1):A701-A.
- 12. Boro H, Goyal A, Khadgawat R. Isolated growth hormone deficiency presenting with recurrent hypoglycaemia in a toddler. BMJ Case Rep. 2019;12(7):e231056-e.
- 13. Pildes RS, Cornblath M, Warren I, Page-El E, di Menza S, Merritt DM, et al. A prospective controlled study of neonatal hypoglycemia. Pediatrics. 1974;54(1):5–14.
- 14. Wickström R, Skiöld B, Petersson G, Stephansson O, Altman M. Moderate neonatal hypoglycemia and adverse neurological development at 2–6 years of age. Eur J Epidemiol. 2018;33(10):1011–20.
- McKinlay CJD, Alsweiler JM, Anstice NS, Burakevych N, Chakraborty A, Chase JG, et al. Association of neonatal glycemia with neurodevelopmental outcomes at 4.5 years. JAMA Pediatr. 2017;171(10):972–83.
- 16. Kaiser JR, Bai S, Gibson N, Holland G, Lin TM, Swearingen CJ, et al. Association between transient newborn hypoglycemia and fourth-grade achievement test proficiency. JAMA Pediatr. 2015;169(10):913–21.
- 17. Souza FM, Collett-Solberg PF. Adverse effects of growth hormone replacement therapy in children. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol. 2011;55(8):559–65.
- Sävendahl L, Polak M, Backeljauw P, Blair JC, Miller BS, Rohrer TR, et al. Long-term safety of growth hormone treatment in childhood: two large observational studies: NordiNet IOS and ANSWER. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2021;106(6):1728–41.
- 19. Allen DB, Backeljauw P, Bidlingmaier M, Biller BMK, Boguszewski M, Burman P, et al. GH safety workshop position paper: a critical appraisal of recombinant human GH therapy in children and adults. Eur J Endocrinol. 2016;174(2):1–9.
- 20. Swerdlow AJ, Cooke R, Beckers D, Borgström B, Butler G, Carel JC, et al. Cancer risks in patients treated with growth hormone in childhood: the SAGhE European Cohort Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2017;102(5):1661–72.
- 21. Bell J, Parker KL, Swinford RD, Hoffman AR, Maneatis T, Lippe B. Long-term safety of recombinant human growth hormone in children. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;95(1):167–77.
- 22. Sklar CA, Mertens AC, Mitby P, Occhiogrosso G, Qin J, Heller G, et al. Risk of disease recurrence and second neoplasms in survivors of childhood cancer treated with growth hormone: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87(7):3136–41.

500

# 18.8 Medicines for disorders of the pituitary hormone system

Bromocriptine and cabergoline – addition – EML

| Bromocriptine | ATC code: G02CB01 |
|---------------|-------------------|
| Cabergoline   | ATC code: G02CB03 |

# Proposal

Addition of bromocriptine and cabergoline to the core list of the EML and EMLc for treatment of hyperprolactinaemia due to prolactinomas.

# Applicant

Mark E. Molitch, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States of America

Jean-Pierre Chanoine, British Columbia Children's Hospital. Vancouver, Canada Sallianne Kavanagh, University of Huddersfield, Huddersfield, United Kingdom

# WHO technical department

The Contraception and Fertility Care unit within the Department of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research reviewed the application. The technical unit supported the inclusion of bromocriptine and cabergoline on the EML, highlighting that these medicines are important for the management of hyperprolactinaemia, a condition with consequences that affect a wide variety of people globally.

Evidence suggests that compared to no treatment, oral bromocriptine is effective in normalizing prolactin levels in people with hyperprolactinaemia (1-3), may have some effect on return of ovulatory cycles (2,3) and may have a limited effect on live births in women with idiopathic hyperprolactinaemia (4).

Evidence suggests that cabergoline is effective in normalizing prolactin levels (1,2). In addition, based on a de novo systematic search of data from randomized controlled trials published between 1990 and June 2019 by the sexual and reproductive Health department, there was low-quality evidence showing that cabergoline may increase pregnancy assessed at 6–7 weeks of gestation compared with bromocriptine. Data on live births are not available from these randomized controlled trials (unpublished data).

# EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

# Section

18.8 Medicines for disorders of the pituitary hormone system (new subsection)

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Bromocriptine Tablet: 2.5 mg, 5 mg Capsule: 5 mg Cabergoline Tablet: 0.5, 1 mg

#### Core/complementary

Core

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

#### Background

Bromocriptine, cabergoline and other oral dopamine agonists were evaluated in 2015 for inclusion on the EML for use in the treatment of Parkinson disease. At that time, the Expert Committee did not recommend inclusion due to insufficient evidence for clinically relevant efficacy or safety advantages of oral dopamine agonists over the existing medicines already included in the EML for treatment of Parkinson disease (5).

Oral dopamine agonists have not previously been evaluated for addition to the EML for treatment of hyperprolactinaemia/prolactinoma. Currently, the Model Lists do not include any medicines for use in this indication.

#### Public health relevance

Prolactinomas (also called lactotroph adenomas) are pituitary adenomas that secrete prolactin and are the most common cause of pathological hyperprolactinaemia. Hyperprolactinaemia can cause amenorrhoea in women, erectile dysfunction in men and loss of libido, galactorrhoea and infertility in both sexes. Hyperprolactinaemia occurs in 5% to 17% of women with secondary amenorrhoea, which is an important cause of infertility (6–8).

The prevalence of prolactinomas ranges from 25 to 63 per 100 000. The prevalence of symptomatic microprolactinomas and macroprolactinomas is about 40 per 100 000 and 10 per 100 000, respectively. The annual incidence of prolactinomas ranges from 2 to 5 new cases per 100 000, and the value is three times higher in women than in men (9).

About 10% of unselected pituitaries examined at autopsy contain pituitary adenomas and magnetic resonance imaging scans of normal volunteers show a similar proportion of the tumours. Immunohistochemical staining shows that about 50% are prolactinomas (*10*). Patients may be symptomatic either from

the effects of the hyperprolactinaemia or from the mass effect of the tumour (headache, hypopituitarism, visual field defects) and these symptomatic patients require treatment.

An alternative to pharmacological treatment with dopamine agonists is trans-sphenoidal surgery performed by pituitary neurosurgeons. A survey in low- and middle-income countries published in 2018 showed that individuals living in 11 countries (of 68 countries with complete responses) did not have access to any neurosurgical care (11). Radiation therapy is usually reserved for patients not responding to pharmacological and/or surgical treatment or with invasive tumours and is also unavailable in many settings.

# Summary of evidence: benefits

Medical therapy with bromocriptine and trans-sphenoidal surgical removal of prolactinomas have been in clinical use since the 1970s, and with cabergoline since the 1980s.

# Dopamine agonists versus no treatment

A 2012 systematic review and meta-analysis compared the efficacy and adverse effects of different treatment modalities (medications, surgery and radiotherapy) for hyperprolactinaemia (not specifically prolactinomas) (3). Three observational studies and one randomized controlled trial that compared dopamine agonists to no treatment were identified. Aggregated results showed that dopamine agonists significantly reduced prolactin levels (weighted mean difference (WMD), -45 ng/mL, 95% confidence interval (CI) -77 to -11 ng/mL) and the risk of persistent hyperprolactinaemia (risk ratio (RR) 0.90, 95% CI 0.81 to 0.99). No significant effect on clinical outcomes was demonstrated in this meta-analysis, however, the number of assessable patients was small for each outcome.

# Cabergoline versus bromocriptine

A 2011 systematic review and meta-analysis of four randomized controlled trials (743 participants) compared cabergoline with bromocriptine for the treatment of patients with idiopathic hyperprolactinaemia and prolactinomas (*2*). Cabergoline was superior to bromocriptine for normalization of serum prolactin levels (RR 0.67, 95% CI 0.57 to 0.80), and normalization of menstruation with return of ovulatory cycles (RR 0.74, 95% CI 0.67 to 0.83).

# Dopamine agonists versus trans-sphenoidal surgery

A 2021 systematic review and meta-analysis compared the outcomes of patients treated with dopamine agonists and patients treated with surgery as initial therapy for microprolactinomas (12). Overall, 16 case series and 2 retrospective cohort studies published between 1999 and 2018 (661 participants) were identified. At  $\geq$  12 months of follow-up, the medical treatment group achieved higher remission

rates of hyperprolactinaemia (96% versus 86%, P = 0.02; absolute numbers not provided) but surgery showed a higher remission rate after treatment withdrawal of dopamine agonists (78% versus 44%, P = 0.003). No data comparing bromocriptine with cabergoline were provided. Given the non-randomized nature of these studies, the results need to be interpreted with caution.

In a 2006 review of 50 surgical series (years not reported) including 2137 patients with microadenomas and 2226 with macroadenomas, normalization of prolactin levels was achieved in 74.7% (1596/2137) of those with microadenomas and 33.9% (755/2226) of those with macroadenomas by 1–12 weeks after surgery (*13*).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

Commonly reported adverse effects of dopamine agonists include nausea, vomiting, headache, nasal stuffiness, orthostatic dizziness and Reynaud phenomenon. In studies comparing cabergoline and bromocriptine, adverse effects were reported less frequently and were less severe with cabergoline than bromocriptine (2,3).

A 2011 systematic review and meta-analysis of four randomized controlled trials comparing cabergoline and bromocriptine in patients with idiopathic hyperprolactinaemia and prolactinomas found that the bromocriptine group experienced a significantly higher number of adverse effects compared with the cabergoline group (RR 1.43, 95% CI 1.03 to 1.98). Patients receiving cabergoline had significantly fewer occurrences of nausea (RR 1.66, 95% CI 1.33 to 2.06) and vomiting (RR 2.02, 95% CI 1.13 to 3.59). However, no notable differences were seen between the treatment groups for constipation, headache, dizziness, vertigo, abdominal pain, dyspepsia, gastritis, fatigue, mastalgia, depression, hot flashes, somnolence or postural hypotension (*2*).

Impulse control disorders have been found to be common in patients treated with dopamine agonists when used in high doses for the treatment of Parkinson disease. The mechanism of action behind impulse control disorders seems to be an interaction between the dopamine agonists and the D3 receptors in the mesolimbic system, known to be responsible for the processes governing behaviour, pleasure and addiction (14). Clinical experience and studies show that impulse control disorders also occur in patients with prolactinomas and are, in part, dose related. A cross-sectional multicentre study of 308 patients with prolactinomas (289 treated with cabergoline, 19 treated with bromocriptine) followed in 11 referral centres in Türkiye found that 16.6% (51 patients) developed an impulse control disorder (hypersexuality alone in 6.5% (20 patients), pathological gambling alone in 0.6% (2 patients), compulsive eating alone in 2.9% (9 patients), compulsive shopping alone in 1.0% (3 patients), and more than one impulse control disorder in 5.5% (17 patients); hypersexuality was more common in men and compulsive eating more common in women (15).

Cardiac valve abnormalities, usually valvular insufficiency, have been reported with dopamine agonists used for treatment of Parkinson disease, and led to market removal of pergolide for the treatment of Parkinson disease in the United States in 2007 (*16*). Doses of dopamine agonists for the treatment of hyperprolactinaemia are lower than those used for the treatment of Parkinson disease (3–5 mg per day). Only 15–20% of patients treated with cabergoline for hyperprolactinaemia require doses higher than 2 mg/week and very few patients require doses approaching 1–2 mg/day.

A 2018 meta-analysis of 13 case--control studies (836 cases and 1388 controls) published between 2008 and 2013 assessed the association between the use of cabergoline for the treatment of hyperprolactinaemia and clinically significant cardiac valvulopathy (*17*). Significantly more cases of mild tricuspid regurgitation without clinical relevance were found in patients treated with cabergoline for more than 1 year (20% versus 11%; odds ratio (OR) 1.91, 95% CI 1.28 to 2.87). Clinically significant tricuspid regurgitation (reported as moderate or severe) was also more common in patients using cabergoline (5% versus 1%; OR 3.74, 95% CI 1.79 to 7.80) but the overall frequency was low (33 moderate and no severe instances among 693 cases with available data) and strongly influenced by a single study that contributed 27 instances of moderate tricuspid regurgitation alone (54% versus 18%) (*18*).

A subsequent prospective study by the group reporting the 27 instances of moderate tricuspid regurgitation did not show an increased risk of significant cardiac valve regurgitation in 40 patients with newly diagnosed hyperprolactinaemia treated with cabergoline and followed up for 60 months (19).

The mechanism for the valve abnormalities described with high-dose cabergoline is thought to be the action of the cabergoline at serotonin  $5-HT_{2B}$  receptors, which are present in human cardiac valves and are necessary for normal cardiac development. Excess stimulation of these receptors is thought to result in activation of mitogenic pathways with the development of a plaque-like process that extends along leaflet surfaces and encases the chordae tendinae (*20*). Bromocriptine does not seem to be associated with an increased risk of valvulopathy as evidenced in a nationwide Danish registry study including 3035 female bromocriptine users and 15 175 controls matched on age, sex and year of inclusion (*21*).

Because the valve abnormalities are seen relatively commonly in people with Parkinson disease treated with 3–5 mg/day of cabergoline and not in cabergoline-treated patients in whom the dose is usually less than 2 mg/week, it is uncertain at what dose level these valve effects may occur if doses of cabergoline greater than 2 mg/week are needed to control prolactin levels and tumour growth. Therefore, it has been recommended that all patients receiving cabergoline doses greater than 2 mg/week have an annual echocardiogram. In 30–50% of patients who develop abnormities, reversal of abnormalities can occur if cabergoline is discontinued (*22*).

#### Additional evidence

The evidence provided by the applicants was incomplete and was supplemented by the reviewers and Secretariat.

#### **WHO** guidelines

WHO is currently developing guidelines on the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of infertility. The guidelines will compare the effectiveness of cabergoline and bromocriptine for the management of infertility due to ovulatory dysfunction secondary to hyperprolactinaemia. The guidelines are expected to be published in late 2023 or early 2024.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Representative costs for 1 month of treatment with bromocriptine 5 mg/day and cabergoline 1 mg/week from different countries, as reported in the application, are shown in Table 25.

| Country                          | US\$                   |                       |
|----------------------------------|------------------------|-----------------------|
|                                  | Bromocriptine 5 mg/day | Cabergoline 1 mg/week |
| Argentina                        | Not available          | 24                    |
| Bolivia (Plurinational State of) | Not available          | 17                    |
| Brazil                           | 46                     | 18                    |
| India                            | 12                     | 6                     |
| Mexico                           | 20                     | 40                    |
| United States                    | 360                    | 392                   |

#### Table 25 Monthly treatment costs for dopamine agonists (US\$)

A 2016 cost-effectiveness study compared medical therapy with either bromocriptine or cabergoline to trans-sphenoidal surgery (either microsurgical or endoscopic) (23). The analysis was conducted from the perspective of the United States third-party health care payer. In the base-case scenario, using a 5-year time horizon (medical therapy continued for 5 years or surgery followed for 5 years), the incremental cost-effectiveness ratios of microscopic transsphenoidal surgery and endoscopic trans-sphenoidal surgery were US\$ 2797 per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) gained and US\$ 3151 per QALY, respectively, compared with US\$ 4380 per QALY for cabergoline and US\$ 3901 per QALY for bromocriptine. Using a 10-year time horizon, the respective incremental costeffectiveness ratios were US\$ 1530 per QALY for microscopic surgery, US\$ 1683 per QALY for endoscopic surgery, US\$ 2876 per QALY for bromocriptine and US\$ 3514 per QALY for cabergoline. The authors concluded that surgery was more cost-effective than therapy with bromocriptine or cabergoline at 10 years, assuming a "cure" rate of 90% and a complication rate of < 1% with surgery. Under these assumptions surgery was dominant compared with treatment with dopamine agonists. However, the application highlighted that the study did not account for the fact that a 90% cure rate is achievable only for microprolactinomas in highly specialized surgical settings and that hyperprolactinaemia recurs after surgery in 10–20% of cases which then require treatment with dopamine agonists.

A 2017 cost-effectiveness analysis compared surgery to treatment with dopamine agonists in the United States (24). The study used a third-party payer perspective and was based on data from 108 patients with prolactinomas seen by neurosurgeons at a single centre in the United States between 2010 and 2015. The base case assumed an 80% response to dopamine agonists and a 60% response to surgical treatment. For patients diagnosed with prolactinoma at 40 years of age, the analysis suggested that surgery had the lowest lifetime cost (US\$ 40 473), followed by bromocriptine (US\$ 41 601) and cabergoline (US\$ 70 696). The analysis also suggested that surgery generated more QALYs. The authors concluded that surgery was a more cost-effective treatment than dopamine agonists for prolactinomas across a range of ages, medical/surgical costs and medical/surgical response rates if surgical cure rates are > 30%.

A 2017 study used retrospective data from 126 patients with prolactinoma treated in a single centre in China between 2008 and 2009 to compare the cost-effectiveness of medical therapy with bromocriptine and trans-sphenoidal surgery. For microadenoma, the estimated costs of bromocriptine and surgical treatment were  $\frac{20}{20}$  555 and  $\frac{22}{20}$  527, respectively. For macroadenoma, the costs of bromocriptine therapy were  $\frac{21}{40}$  and  $\frac{22}{178}$  in males and females, respectively, while the costs of surgery were  $\frac{42357}{40}$  and  $\frac{444}{40}$  of males and females, respectively (25).

# Availability

Bromocriptine and cabergoline are available in most countries in branded and generic forms.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that prolactinomas were relatively rare, but were associated with important clinical sequelae from both hyperprolactinaemia (e.g. infertility) and physical mass effects of the tumour itself (e.g. headache, hypopituitarism and visual field defects). The Committee also noted that

prolactinomas may be treated medically or surgically but recognized that the availability of specialized neurosurgeons was limited or even non-existent in some low- and middle-income settings.

The Committee noted that dopamine agonist therapy was a preferred first-line intervention for medical management of hyperprolactinaemia and prolactinomas and may be the only option in settings where specialist neurosurgery is not available, or in patients for whom surgery is not feasible.

The limitations of the application notwithstanding, the Committee considered that overall, the available evidence suggested that medical therapy with dopamine agonists could achieve prolactin normalization in most patients, while treatment was continued. Analyses suggest that cabergoline may be moderately more effective and have fewer adverse effects than bromocriptine but overall both have a favourable risk-benefit balance.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of cabergoline on the core list of the EML for the medical management of hyperprolactinaemia associated with prolactinomas as the representative dopamine agonist for this indication based on a more favourable risk-benefit balance, albeit at a potentially higher cost. Listing was recommended with bromocriptine as therapeutic alternative under a square box listing.

# References

- 1. Sabuncu T, Arikan E, Tasan E, Hatemi H. Comparison of the effects of cabergoline and bromocriptine on prolactin levels in hyperprolactinemic patients. Intern Med. 2001;40(9):857–61.
- Dos Santos Nunes V, El Dib R, Boguszewski CL, Nogueira CR. Cabergoline versus bromocriptine in the treatment of hyperprolactinemia: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials and meta-analysis. Pituitary. 2011;14(3):259–65.
- 3. Wang AT, Mullan RJ, Lane MA, Hazem A, Prasad C, Gathaiya NW, et al. Treatment of hyperprolactinemia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Syst Rev. 2012;1:33.
- 4. Chen H, Fu J, Huang W. Dopamine agonists for preventing future miscarriage in women with idiopathic hyperprolactinemia and recurrent miscarriage history. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;7(7):CD008883.
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2015 (including the 19th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 5th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 994; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/189763, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 6. Greer ME, Moraczewski T, Rakoff JS. Prevalence of hyperprolactinemia in anovulatory women. Obstet Gynecol. 1980;56(1):65–9.
- 7. Biller BM, Luciano A, Crosignani PG, Molitch M, Olive D, Rebar R, et al. Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of hyperprolactinemia. J Reprod Med. 1999;44(12 Suppl):1075–84.
- 8. Lee DY, Oh YK, Yoon BK, Choi D. Prevalence of hyperprolactinemia in adolescents and young women with menstruation-related problems. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2012;206(3):213.e1–5.

508

- 9. Chanson P, Maiter D. The epidemiology, diagnosis and treatment of prolactinomas: the old and the new. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2019;33(2):101290.
- 10. Molitch ME. Diagnosis and treatment of pituitary adenomas: a review. JAMA. 2017;317(5):516–24.
- 11. Punchak M, Mukhopadhyay S, Sachdev S, Hung YC, Peeters S, Rattani A, et al. Neurosurgical care: availability and access in low-income and middle-income countries. World Neurosurg. 2018;112:e240–e54.
- 12. Lu J, Cai L, Wu Z, Lin W, Xu J, Zhu Z, et al. Surgery and medical treatment in microprolactinoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Endocrinol. 2021;2021:9930059.
- 13. Gillam MP, Molitch ME, Lombardi G, Colao A. Advances in the treatment of prolactinomas. Endocr Rev. 2006;27(5):485–534.
- 14. Noronha S, Stokes V, Karavitaki N, Grossman A. Treating prolactinomas with dopamine agonists: always worth the gamble? Endocrine. 2016;51(2):205–10.
- Dogansen SC, Cikrikcili U, Oruk G, Kutbay NO, Tanrikulu S, Hekimsoy Z, et al. Dopamine agonistinduced impulse control disorders in patients with prolactinoma: a cross-sectional multicenter study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2019;104(7):2527–34.
- 16. Zanettini R, Antonini A, Gatto G, Gentile R, Tesei S, Pezzoli G. Valvular heart disease and the use of dopamine agonists for Parkinson's disease. N Engl J Med. 2007;356(1):39–46.
- Stiles CE, Tetteh-Wayoe ET, Bestwick J, Steeds RP, Drake WM. A meta-analysis of the prevalence of cardiac valvulopathy in hyperprolactinemic patients treated with Cabergoline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2018;104(2):523–38.
- Colao A, Galderisi M, Di Sarno A, Pardo M, Gaccione M, D'Andrea M, et al. Increased prevalence of tricuspid regurgitation in patients with prolactinomas chronically treated with cabergoline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008;93(10):3777–84.
- 19. Auriemma RS, Pivonello R, Perone Y, Grasso LF, Ferreri L, Simeoli C, et al. Safety of long-term treatment with cabergoline on cardiac valve disease in patients with prolactinomas. Eur J Endocrinol. 2013;169(3):359–66.
- 20. Roth BL. Drugs and valvular heart disease. N Engl J Med. 2007;356(1):6–9.
- Clausen MF, Rørth R, Torp-Pedersen C, Westergaard LM, Weeke PE, Gislason G, et al. Incidence of heart valve disease in women treated with the ergot-derived dopamine agonist bromocriptine. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2021;21(1):622.
- 22. Zanettini R, Antonini A, Gatto G, Gentile R, Tesei S, Pezzoli G. Regression of cardiac valvulopathy related to ergot-derived dopamine agonists. Cardiovasc Ther. 2011;29(6):404–10.
- Jethwa PR, Patel TD, Hajart AF, Eloy JA, Couldwell WT, Liu JK. Cost-effectiveness analysis of microscopic and endoscopic transsphenoidal surgery versus medical therapy in the management of microprolactinoma in the United States. World Neurosurg. 2016;87:65–76.
- 24. Zygourakis CC, Imber BS, Chen R, Han SJ, Blevins L, Molinaro A, et al. Cost-effectiveness analysis of surgical versus medical treatment of prolactinomas. J Neurol Surg B Skull Base. 2017;78(2):125-31.
- 25. Duan L, Yan H, Huang M, Zhang Y, Gu F. An economic analysis of bromocriptine versus transsphenoidal surgery for the treatment of prolactinoma. J Craniofac Surg. 2017;28(4):1046–51.

Lanreotide and octreotide – addition – EML

# LanreotideATC code: H01CB03OctreotideATC code: H01CB02

# Proposal

Inclusion of lanreotide and octreotide on the complementary list of the EML for management of gigantism and acromegaly in adults with growth hormone-producing tumours.

# Applicant

Mark E. Molitch, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, United States of America

Jean-Pierre Chanoine, British Columbia Children's Hospital. Vancouver, Canada Sallianne Kavanagh, University of Huddersfield, Huddersfield, United Kingdom

# WHO technical department

Not applicable

# EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

18.8 Medicines for disorders of the pituitary hormone system (new subsection)

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Lanreotide

Injection (modified-release): 60 mg/0.2 mL, 90 mg/0.3 mL, 120 mg/0.5 mL in prefilled syringe

Octreotide

Injection (immediate-release): 0.05 mg/mL, 0.1 mg/mL, 0.5 mg/mL (as acetate) in 1 mL vial

Injection (modified-release): 20 mg (as acetate) in vial plus diluent

# Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

# Individual

## Background

Lanreotide and octreotide have not previously been considered for the inclusion on the Model Lists for the management of gigantism and acromegaly in adults with growth hormone-producing tumours. The EML does not currently include any medicines for this indication.

## Public health relevance

Pituitary adenomas are relatively common tumours found in the pituitary gland. They are detected in about 10% of unselected pituitary samples during autopsies and in magnetic resonance imaging scans of healthy individuals at a similar rate. The prevalence is about 50 cases per million population with an annual incidence of new diagnoses of about 3-4 per million. However, not all these tumours cause noticeable symptoms. Clinical studies have shown that the overall prevalence of pituitary adenomas is about 1 in 1420 individuals, with 10% of these tumours secreting growth hormone (1). Most patients with pituitary adenomas experience symptoms due to excessive growth hormone secretion, resulting in acromegaly or gigantism. In addition, symptoms may arise from the size of the tumour itself, such as visual field defects, hypopituitarism, cranial nerve palsy and headache. Symptomatic patients are the primary target for treatment with medications, such as octreotide or langeotide, if surgery fails to control the symptoms (2-5). Clinical complications of acromegaly include musculoskeletal abnormalities, hypopituitarism, sleep apnoea, cardiovascular abnormalities, reproductive system abnormalities and colon neoplasms. Risk factors for cardiovascular disease and diabetes have also been reported. Mortality is also two- to three-fold higher than the general population (6).

Trans-sphenoidal surgery is the primary treatment for pituitary tumours and offer a chance for cure. Even if a complete cure is not achieved, surgery can significantly reduce growth hormone levels and improve clinical symptoms. The success of the surgery depends on factors such as tumour size and baseline growth hormone levels, with better outcomes seen in smaller tumours and lower growth hormone levels. Maintaining growth hormone levels lower than 2 ng/mL after surgery can reduce mortality and reverse much of the associated morbidity. Relapses occur in about 5% of patients who initially achieve growth hormone levels lower than 2 ng/mL, but in fewer than 2% when the threshold is 1 ng/mL The risks of surgery for small tumours are minimal when performed by experienced pituitary neurosurgeons. However, larger tumours have a higher risk of complications such as cerebrospinal fluid leak, meningitis and permanent diabetes insipidus (2–5).

About one third of patients have microadenomas, of whom 20–40% do not respond to surgery. Among patients with macroadenomas, surgical control rates are even lower, with 50–75% of patients not achieving successful outcomes.

For patients who are not effectively treated through surgery, medical therapy is the next option. Somatostatin receptor ligands such as lanreotide and octreotide are the primary medications used in such cases and can achieve hormonal control in about 30-40% of patients (2–5,7)

In many low-income countries, access to specialized pituitary neurosurgeons is limited. A survey conducted in 2018 showed that 16% of these countries did not have any practicing neurosurgeons at all (8). In such situations, medical treatment with somatostatin receptor ligands may be the primary and most effective form of treatment, rather than a secondary option after surgery.

## Summary of evidence: benefits

Hormonal control, by surgical and/or pharmacological means, has been associated with lower rates of morbidity and mortality in patients with acromegaly.

An analysis of three multicentre clinical trials investigated the biochemical efficacy of long-acting lanreotide in patients with acromegaly previously untreated with somatostatin analogues (9). Efficacy endpoints were normalized insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) levels, and growth hormone < 2.5 ng/mL + normalized IGF-1 at study end/last value available. Pooled analyses found that in patients treated with lanreotide, 42% achieved normalized IGF-1 levels (46% post-surgery and 40% de novo) and 35% achieved growth hormone plus IGF-1 control (39% post-surgery and 33% de novo).

A 2018 systematic review and meta-analysis of 26 observational studies (10 770 participants) compared acromegaly mortality rates with those of the general population (*10*). Of note, somatostatin analogues were introduced for treatment of acromegaly in the 1980s. From 17 studies published before 2008, the standardized mortality ratio (SMR) for patients with acromegaly was significantly higher than in the general population (1.76, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.52 to 2.04). From nine studies published after 2008, no significant difference was found between patients with acromegaly and the general population (SMR 1.35, 95% CI 0.99 to 1.85). From six studies in which somatostatin analogues were used as adjuvant treatment to surgery and/or radiotherapy, mortality was not increased in acromegaly patients (SMR 0.98, 95% CI 0.83 to 1.15), while studies that investigated only patients treated with surgery and/or radiotherapy, mortality in acromegaly patients was significantly higher (SMR 2.11, 95% CI 1.54 to 2.91).

An analysis of clinically available somatostatin analogue formulations for the treatment of acromegaly investigated the relative efficacy of lanreotide and octreotide preparations and concluded that lanreotide depot and octreotide longacting formulations were equivalent in the control of symptoms and biochemical markets in patients with acromegaly (11).

The application stated that due to the rarity of gigantism cases, evidence was derived from uncontrolled reports or case series, but it did not reference or elaborate these data.

## Summary of evidence: harms

Gastrointestinal symptoms such as diarrhoea, bloating, nausea and abdominal discomfort occur in 50-75% of patients receiving somatostatin analogues. Hepatobiliary disorders (e.g. cholelithiasis, gallstones and biliary sludge) and injection-site reactions have also been reported frequently (12-15).

A study of patient reported outcome data from 105 patients with acromegaly treated with somatostatin analogues in routine clinical practice found that more than 80% reported experiencing joint pain, forgetfulness and memory loss, soft tissue swelling, and fatigue/weakness (16).

#### WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for the treatment of pituitary adenomas, acromegaly and gigantism are not currently available.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The prices for somatostatin analogues vary considerably across countries and settings. Representative retail costs for lanreotide depot injection and octreotide long-acting injection from different countries, as reported in the application, are shown in Table 26.

| Country                  | US\$ per month (dosage) |                        |
|--------------------------|-------------------------|------------------------|
|                          | Lanreotide depot        | Octreotide long-acting |
| Argentina                | 2260 (120 mg)           | 1100 (20 mg)           |
| Brazil                   | 800 (90 mg)             | 1200 (20 mg)           |
| India                    | 267 (90 mg)             | 213 (20 mg)            |
| Mexico                   | 1293 (120 mg)           | Not reported           |
| United States of America | 8029 (90 mg)            | 4360 (20 mg)           |

## Table 26 Retail costs for somatostatin analogues

The application stated that cost-effectiveness studies comparing the two medicines have not been conducted. The application described the costs associated with managing the complications of untreated acromegaly (e.g. cardiovascular disease, diabetes, musculoskeletal effects) as being considerable, although cost differentials were not assessed.

#### Availability

The application highlighted that the availability of expert pituitary neurosurgeons in many low-income countries is limited, with a 2018 survey showing that 16% of such countries have no practising neurosurgeon at all (8). In such circumstances, medical treatment with somatostatin analogues may be the only effective treatment and would be considered the primary treatment rather than a secondary treatment.

Lanreotide and octreotide have wide regulatory approval and are available globally. Generic brands of octreotide are reported to be available in some markets.

Octreotide, and to a lesser extent lanreotide, is included on multiple national essential medicines lists, including in low- and middle-income countries.

## **Committee recommendations**

The Committee noted that pituitary adenomas were relatively common but usually non-malignant. About 10% of clinically identified adenomas are associated with excessive growth hormone secretion and are responsible for acromegaly and gigantism. The Committee noted that trans-sphenoidal surgery to remove the adenoma was the treatment of first choice for this condition but accepted that pharmacological treatment with somatostatin analogues was an effective alternative in situations where surgery is not effective, possible or available.

The Committee wished to highlight that the application did not adequately elaborate on the evidence identified to describe the benefits and harms of somatostatin analogues in the treatment of acromegaly and gigantism.

The Committee noted that several studies support the benefits of optimal hormonal control (by means of surgery and/or pharmacological intervention) in reducing mortality rates in patients with acromegaly. The Committee also noted evidence of the effectiveness of somatostatin analogues in normalizing growth hormone and IGF-1 levels. The Committee considered that the frequency of adverse effects associated with somatostatin analogues was relatively high, and that the burden of treatment was considerable. However, given the reported mortality benefit, the Committee considered the overall benefit-to-harm profile to be favourable for the intervention.

The Committee noted that there appeared to be no differences in efficacy between lanreotide and octreotide, however no head-to-head studies had been conducted. The Committee also noted that no comparative cost–effectiveness data were available, but lanreotide was reported to be more expensive than octreotide in most settings reported in the application.

Based on these considerations, the Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of octreotide immediate-release and modified-release injections on the complementary list of the EML for use in the management of acromegaly and

gigantism in adults with growth hormone-producing pituitary adenomas. The Committee did not recommend the inclusion of lanreotide depot injection either as an individual medicine or as a therapeutic alternative to octreotide, because it was not shown to be superior to octreotide, is more expensive and, unlike octreotide, generic forms are not widely available.

# References

- 1. Molitch ME. Diagnosis and treatment of pituitary adenomas: a review. JAMA. 2017;317(5):516–24.
- Katznelson L, Atkinson JL, Cook DM, Ezzat SZ, Hamrahian AH, Miller KK, et al. American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists medical guidelines for clinical practice for the diagnosis and treatment of acromegaly--2011 update. Endocr Pract. 2011;17(Suppl 4):1–44.
- 3. Katznelson L, Laws ER, Jr., Melmed S, Molitch ME, Murad MH, Utz A, et al. Acromegaly: an endocrine society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;99(11):3933–51.
- 4. Giustina A, Barkhoudarian G, Beckers A, Ben-Shlomo A, Biermasz N, Biller B, et al. Multidisciplinary management of acromegaly: a consensus. Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 2020;21(4):667–78.
- 5. Fleseriu M, Biller BMK, Freda PU, Gadelha MR, Giustina A, Katznelson L, et al. A Pituitary Society update to acromegaly management guidelines. Pituitary. 2021;24(1):1–13.
- 6. Broder MS, Neary MP, Chang E, Cherepanov D, Katznelson L. Treatments, complications, and healthcare utilization associated with acromegaly: a study in two large United States databases. Pituitary. 2014;17(4):333–41.
- 7. Gadelha MR, Kasuki L, Lim DST, Fleseriu M. Systemic complications of acromegaly and the impact of the current treatment landscape: an update. Endocr Rev. 2019;40(1):268–332.
- Punchak M, Mukhopadhyay S, Sachdev S, Hung YC, Peeters S, Rattani A, et al. Neurosurgical care: availability and access in low-income and middle-income countries. World Neurosurg. 2018;112:e240–e54.
- 9. Alquraini H, Del Pilar Schneider M, Mirakhur B, Barkan A. Biochemical efficacy of long-acting lanreotide depot/autogel in patients with acromegaly naïve to somatostatin-receptor ligands: analysis of three multicenter clinical trials. Pituitary. 2018;21(3):283–9.
- 10. Bolfi F, Neves AF, Boguszewski CL, Nunes-Nogueira VS. Mortality in acromegaly decreased in the last decade: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Endocrinol. 2018;179(1):59–71.
- 11. Murray RD, Melmed S. A critical analysis of clinically available somatostatin analog formulations for therapy of acromegaly. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008;93(8):2957–68.
- 12. Chanson P, Boerlin V, Ajzenberg C, Bachelot Y, Benito P, Bringer J, et al. Comparison of octreotide acetate LAR and lanreotide SR in patients with acromegaly. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2000;53(5):577–86.
- 13. Mercado M, Borges F, Bouterfa H, Chang TC, Chervin A, Farrall AJ, et al. A prospective, multicentre study to investigate the efficacy, safety and tolerability of octreotide LAR (long-acting repeatable octreotide) in the primary therapy of patients with acromegaly. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2007;66(6):859–68.
- 14. Fleseriu M, Molitch M, Dreval A, Biermasz NR, Gordon MB, Crosby RD, et al. Disease and treatmentrelated burden in patients with acromegaly who are biochemically controlled on injectable somatostatin receptor ligands. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2021;12:627711.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 15. Attanasio R, Mainolfi A, Grimaldi F, Cozzi R, Montini M, Carzaniga C, et al. Somatostatin analogs and gallstones: a retrospective survey on a large series of acromegalic patients. J Endocrinol Invest. 2008;31(8):704–10.
- 16. Geer EB, Sisco J, Adelman DT, Ludlam WH, Haviv A, Liu S, et al. Patient reported outcome data from acromegaly patients treated with injectable somatostatin receptor ligands (SRLs) in routine clinical practice. BMC Endocr Disord. 2020;20(1):117.

516

Section 21: Ophthalmological preparations

Hypromellose – addition – EML and EMLc

# Hypromellose

ATC code: S01KA02

# Proposal

Addition of hypromellose eye drops to the core list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of dry eye disease (keratoconjunctivitis sicca).

# Applicant

International Council of Ophthalmology

# WHO technical department

Not applicable

# EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

# Section

21. Ophthalmological preparations

21.7 Artificial tears (new subsection)

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Solution (eye drops): 0.3%

# Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Square box listing for hypromellose as the representative artificial tears agent, with carmellose (eye drops 0.5%) and sodium hyaluronate (eye drops 0.18%) as therapeutic alternatives.

# Background

Artificial tears preparations for the treatment of dry eye disease have not previously been considered for inclusion on the Model Lists.

# Public health relevance

Dry eye disease is a multifactorial disease of the ocular surface that is characterized by a loss of homeostasis of the tear film. It is accompanied by ocular symptoms, such as visual disturbance and discomfort (1,2). The negative impact on vision can limit education and work productivity by interfering with patients' daily activities, such as sustained visual attention when reading, writing, driving and using digital display monitors (3,4). Patients with dry eye disease also report psychological concerns and higher levels of anxiety and depression compared with those without dry eyes (5).

Risk factors for dry eye disease include age 50 years or older (6,7), female sex (8,9), wearing contract lenses or a history of refractive surgery (10), exposure to environments with low relative humidity and extremes of temperature (10), certain chronic and autoimmune conditions (10,11), medication use (9,12) and prolonged engagement in visual tasks (13,14).

Dry eye disease has a global prevalence ranging from about 5% to 50%, corresponding to 385 million to 3.85 billion people worldwide (*15*). The highest prevalence of dry eye disease has been reported in the WHO's African region, followed by the Eastern Mediterranean Region, South-East Asia Region, Western Pacific Region, European Region, and Region of the Americas (*16*).

## Summary of evidence: benefits

A Cochrane systematic review published in 2016 of 43 randomized controlled trials (3497 participants) evaluated the effectiveness of over-the-counter artificial tear applications in treating dry eye disease compared with no treatment, placebo or another class of over-the-counter artificial tears (*17*). The authors considered participant symptoms (subjective) to be the primary outcome for the review. Secondary outcomes included objective measures of effectiveness (e.g. tests of vision or tear stability). Overall, the review found uncertainty with regard to whether different over-the-counter artificial tears provided similar relief of dry eye disease compared with each other or placebo, with most of the included studies producing contradictory between-group results, or no between-group differences. The quality of the evidence was judged as low due to high risks of bias and poor reporting of outcome measures. The authors concluded that over-the-counter artificial tears may be a safe and effective treatment for dry eye disease, with the literature indicating that most products have similar efficacy.

A systematic review published in 2009 of 33 studies (1293 participants) assessed the efficacy of dry eye treatments with artificial tears or ocular lubricants using scoring of rose bengal stains as the outcome measure (18). Mean baseline and 30-day post-treatment scores were calculated, along with the net change and the percentage change in the rose bengal scores. A statistically significant reduction in mean rose bengal scores was observed from baseline to 30-days post-treatment with any type of artificial tears or ocular lubricant from 4.2 (standard deviation (SD) 1.6) to 2.8 (SD 1.2). The net reductions in mean rose bengal scores were -1.1 (SD 0.8) for traditional artificial tears (e.g. hypromellose), -1.2 (SD 0.7) for

carbomer gels and –2.1 (SD 0.9) for hyaluronic acid-based products. No significant difference was found between traditional artificial tears and carbomer gels, but there was a significant difference between traditional artificial tears and hyaluronic acid-based products. A multiple analysis of variance (ANOVA) test, comparing outcomes using the different treatments, found no significant difference between the three groups. Across all studies, the overall net reduction in rose bengal staining after 4 weeks of treatment was 33%. The authors noted heavily skewed data for some treatments, so determined a 25% improvement in rose bengal staining scores with 1 month of treatment was more reasonable. No information was provided in the application on what constituted a clinically meaningful improvement.

The application also presented brief summaries of findings of individual clinical trials comparing hypromellose artificial tears with other artificial tears, placebo or no treatment (19-27). The outcome assessed to evaluate the effectiveness of hypromellose tears was the relief of dry eye symptoms. Both hypromellose and comparator artificial tears products were generally found to be effective in relieving symptoms of dry eye disease. Most of these studies were included in the above-mentioned Cochrane systematic review (17).

## Summary of evidence: harms

The application stated that overall the clinical evidence surveyed suggested that hypromellose was generally safe, with occasional transient burning and stinging of the eyes. Similar levels of adverse effects were observed when hypromellose was compared with other types of artificial tears and dry-eye treatments.

The Cochrane systematic review found that the use of artificial tears was relatively safe, although not without adverse events. The most common adverse events were blurred vision, ocular discomfort and foreign body sensation (17).

# WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for treatment of dry eye disease are not currently available. The 2019 WHO *World report on vision* recognizes that eye conditions that do not typically cause vision impairment, such as dry eye disease and conjunctivitis, are frequently among the leading reasons for patients to present to eye care services globally, and should not be overlooked (*28*).

# Costs/cost-effectiveness

The application stated that hypromellose has been found to be cost-effective in several national studies (not referenced in the application) as it is a relatively cheap and effective treatment with considerable potential to reduce the burden on society from dry eye disease.

In the United Kingdom, the price for a 10 mL bottle of preserved hypromellose 0.3% artificial tears (about 200 drops of 0.05 mL) was reported as

US\$ 1.79, equivalent to an annual treatment cost of US\$ 18.37 assuming average usage of 5.7 drops per day. Similar costs were reported in Singapore and the United States, with a price per bottle of US\$ 1.52.

Non-preserved and single unit-dose preparations of artificial tears are more costly to manufacture and to purchase. They may be less convenient to use than preserved and bottled preparations (29). In Singapore, the mean unit cost of preservative-containing lubricants was around US\$ 5.50, meanwhile that for preservative-free lubricants was US\$ 12.96 (30).

#### Availability

Artificial tears preparations, including hypromellose, are available on the market globally. They are produced by multiple manufacturers and are often available over the counter.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Committee noted that dry eye disease was a chronic and progressive condition and a common reason for ophthalmic outpatient visits. Severe dry eye disease, if untreated, can lead to ocular infection and inflammation, corneal abrasions, corneal ulcers and vision loss.

Based on the evidence presented, the Committee accepted that hypromellose was a generally safe and effective ocular surface lubricant for reducing the signs and symptoms of dry eye disease for patients with mild to moderate disease. Its effectiveness and safety are comparable to other artificial tears preparations. However, the Committee noted that the available data were limited by the variable definition of dry eye disease applied in published studies and the disease severity examined, and that compliance with treatment was rarely quantified. As a result, the optimal composition, dose, formulation or formulations for artificial tears preparations for the treatment of dry eye disease have not been demonstrated.

The Committee also considered that the sight-threatening complications of dry eye disease were primarily associated with severe forms of the condition. Limited evidence was available of the effectiveness of hypromellose for in improving relevant clinical outcomes compared with other artificial tear preparations, including combinations, specifically in patients with severe dry eye disease.

The Expert Committee therefore did not recommend inclusion of hypromellose on the EML and EMLc for the treatment of dry eye disease in adults and children.
## References

- 1. Craig JP, Nichols KK, Akpek EK, Caffery B, Dua HS, Joo CK, et al. TFOS DEWS II definition and classification report. Ocul Surf. 2017;15(3):276–83.
- 2. The definition and classification of dry eye disease: report of the Definition and Classification Subcommittee of the International Dry Eye WorkShop (2007). Ocul Surf. 2007;5(2):75–92.
- 3. Miljanović B, Dana R, Sullivan DA, Schaumberg DA. Impact of dry eye syndrome on vision-related quality of life. Am J Ophthalmol. 2007;143(3):409–15.
- 4. Mertzanis P, Abetz L, Rajagopalan K, Espindle D, Chalmers R, Snyder C, et al. The relative burden of dry eye in patients' lives: comparisons to a U.S. normative sample. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2005;46(1):46–50.
- 5. Li M, Gong L, Sun X, Chapin WJ. Anxiety and depression in patients with dry eye syndrome. Curr Eye Res. 2011;36(1):1–7.
- 6. Moss SE, Klein R, Klein BE. Prevalence of and risk factors for dry eye syndrome. Arch Ophthalmol. 2000;118(9):1264–8.
- 7. Rusciano D, Pezzino S, Olivieri M, Cristaldi M, Gagliano C, Lupo G, et al. Age-related dry eye lactoferrin and lactobionic acid. Ophthalmic Res. 2018;60(2):94–9.
- Schaumberg DA, Sullivan DA, Buring JE, Dana MR. Prevalence of dry eye syndrome among US women. Am J Ophthalmol. 2003;136(2):318–26.
- 9. Sullivan DA, Rocha EM, Aragona P, Clayton JA, Ding J, Golebiowski B, et al. TFOS DEWS II sex, gender, and hormones report. Ocul Surf. 2017;15(3):284–333.
- 10. Milner MS, Beckman KA, Luchs JI, Allen QB, Awdeh RM, Berdahl J, et al. Dysfunctional tear syndrome: dry eye disease and associated tear film disorders new strategies for diagnosis and treatment. Curr Opin Ophthalmol. 2017;27(Suppl 1):3–47.
- 11. Rouen PA, White ML. Dry eye disease: prevalence, assessment, and management. Home Healthc Now. 2018;36(2):74–83.
- 12. Moss SE, Klein R, Klein BE. Long-term incidence of dry eye in an older population. Optom Vis Sci. 2008;85(8):668–74.
- 13. Vehof J, Kozareva D, Hysi PG, Hammond CJ. Prevalence and risk factors of dry eye disease in a British female cohort. Br J Ophthalmol. 2014;98(12):1712–7.
- 14. Talens-Estarelles C, Sanchis-Jurado V, Esteve-Taboada JJ, Pons Á M, García-Lázaro S. How do different digital displays affect the ocular surface? Optom Vis Sci. 2020;97(12):1070–9.
- 15. Stapleton F, Alves M, Bunya VY, Jalbert I, Lekhanont K, Malet F, et al. TFOS DEWS II epidemiology report. Ocul Surf. 2017;15(3):334–65.
- 16. Wan Y, Zhang M, Li X. The global prevalence of dry eye disease and its association with economy: a systematic review [preprint]. Durham, NC: Research Square; 2019.
- 17. Pucker AD, Ng SM, Nichols JJ. Over the counter (OTC) artificial tear drops for dry eye syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;2(2):CD009729.
- 18. Doughty MJ, Glavin S. Efficacy of different dry eye treatments with artificial tears or ocular lubricants: a systematic review. Ophthalmic Physiol Opt. 2009;29(6):573–83.
- 19. Boisjoly H, Charest M. Comparison of GenTeal Gel and Refresh Liquigel for persistent dry eye. Clin Surg Ophthalmol. 2003;21(10):430–2.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- Donshik PC, Nelson JD, Abelson M, McCulley JP, Beasley C, Laibovitz RA. Effectiveness of BION tears, Cellufresh, Aquasite, and Refresh Plus for moderate to severe dry eye. Adv Exp Med Biol. 1998;438:753–60.
- 21. Garcia-Lázaro S, Belda-Salmerón L, Ferrer-Blasco T, Cerviño A, Montés-Micó R. Comparison of two artificial tear formulations for dry eye through high-resolution optical coherence tomography. Clin Exp Optom. 2011;94(6):549–56.
- 22. Grene RB, Lankston P, Mordaunt J, Harrold M, Gwon A, Jones R. Unpreserved carboxymethylcellulose artificial tears evaluated in patients with keratoconjunctivitis sicca. Cornea. 1992;11(4):294–301.
- lester M, Orsoni GJ, Gamba G, Taffara M, Mangiafico P, Giuffrida S, et al. Improvement of the ocular surface using hypotonic 0.4% hyaluronic acid drops in keratoconjunctivitis sicca. Eye (Lond). 2000;14(Pt 6):892–8.
- 24. Khanal S, Tomlinson A, Pearce El, Simmons PA. Effect of an oil-in-water emulsion on the tear physiology of patients with mild to moderate dry eye. Cornea. 2007;26(2):175–81.
- 25. Wang IJ, Lin IC, Hou YC, Hu FR. A comparison of the effect of carbomer-, cellulose- and mineral oil-based artificial tear formulations. Eur J Ophthalmol. 2007;17(2):151–9.
- 26. McCann LC, Tomlinson A, Pearce EI, Papa V. Effectiveness of artificial tears in the management of evaporative dry eye. Cornea. 2012;31(1):1–5.
- 27. Rajendraprasad RM, Kwatra G, Batra N. Carboxymethyl cellulose versus hydroxypropyl methylcellulose tear substitutes for dry eye due to computer vision syndrome: comparison of efficacy and safety. Int J Appl Basic Med Res. 2021;11(1):4–8.
- World report on vision. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/328717, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 29. Safarzadeh M, Azizzadeh P, Akbarshahi P. Comparison of the clinical efficacy of preserved and preservative-free hydroxypropyl methylcellulose-dextran-containing eyedrops. J Optom. 2017;10(4):258–64.
- 30. Waduthantri S, Yong SS, Tan CH, Shen L, Lee MX, Nagarajan S, et al. Cost of dry eye treatment in an Asian clinic setting. PLoS One. 2012;7(6):e37711.

# Section 22: Medicines for reproductive health and perinatal care 22.2 Ovulation inducers

Letrozole – addition – EML

## Letrozole

ATC code: L02BG04

## Proposal

Addition of letrozole to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of anovulatory infertility associated with polycystic ovary syndrome or unexplained infertility in adults.

## Applicant

WHO Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research Department

## WHO technical department

Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research

## EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

22.2 Ovulation inducers

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Solid oral dosage form: 2.5 mg

## Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing

Square box listing with letrozole as the representative aromatase inhibitor, with anastrozole specified as a therapeutic alternative.

## Background

Aromatase inhibitors for the treatment of anovulatory infertility have not previously been considered for inclusion in the EML.

Anastrozole (with a square box specifying other aromatase inhibitors classified at the fourth level ATC chemical subgroup L02BG as therapeutic alternatives) is included on the EML for use in the treatment of early-stage and metastatic breast cancer.

#### Public health relevance

Infertility affects millions of people worldwide, often with serious consequences. In 2010, up to 48.5 million couples were estimated to be affected by infertility globally (1). Although a large proportion of adults express a desire for children (2,3), nearly one in six experience infertility, which is defined as a disease of the reproductive system characterized by the failure to achieve a clinical pregnancy after 12 months of regular unprotected sexual intercourse (4).

Fertility care is an important component of sexual and reproductive health and rights, but in most countries, infertility policies and services are inadequate. The Universal Declaration of Human Rights (Article 16) states that "men and women of full age, without any limitation due to race, nationality or religion, have the right to marry and found a family" (5). Treating infertility is part of realizing the human right to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, as well as the right to decide the number, timing and spacing of children (6). Addressing infertility is also central to achieving Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 3 (ensure healthy lives and promote wellbeing for all at all ages) and SDG 5 (achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls). However, fertility care services are unavailable or unaffordable in many countries, particularly in low- and middle-income countries (7).

Although uncertainty exists, ovulatory disorders may account for up to 25% of infertility (8,9), with 70% of ovulatory dysfunction due to polycystic ovary syndrome. Similarly, although uncertainty exists, up to a further 15% of couples are thought to have so-called unexplained infertility (8). These are the two causes of infertility for which aromatase inhibitors can be used as part of treatment. Therefore, up to 40% of infertility cases, or 19 million couples globally, could benefit from fertility treatment with ovulation induction medicines, including aromatase inhibitors.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

#### Note on concerns about data integrity

The application highlighted that some clinical evidence in this area has been affected by concerns of potential research fraud. Several manuscripts by Badawy and Abu Hashim have been retracted or are the subject of editorial expressions of concern (10-15). Some systematic reviews that provided data to support this application had included data from the above research group. To mitigate this issue, the applicants conducted a re-analysis excluding potentially fraudulent data, where these data had been included. Conclusions are based on analyses that excluded these studies.

#### Infertility due to polycystic ovary syndrome

A 2022 Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis evaluated the effectiveness and safety of aromatase inhibitors compared with clomifene citrate (a selective oestrogen receptor modulator) for ovulation induction in infertile women with polycystic ovary syndrome (*16*). This review did not include studies by Badawy and Abu Hashim. The review found moderate-certainty evidence for a moderate increase in live births (risk ratio (RR) 1.52, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.29 to 1.80; absolute difference 104 more live births per 1000 (95% CI 58 to 160 more); eight randomized controlled trials, 1646 participants) and clinical pregnancies (RR 1.41, 95% CI 1.25 to 1.58; absolute difference 94 more clinical pregnancies per 1000 (95% CI 58 to 133 more); 17 randomized controlled trials, 2516 participants) with letrozole compared with clomifene in patients with infertility due to polycystic ovary syndrome.

## Unexplained fertility

As part of developing a new guideline for the treatment of infertility, WHO commissioned an analysis by a team at McMaster University, Canada, to adapt the 2019 systematic review by Eskew and colleagues (*17*) of letrozole use in unexplained infertility by excluding potentially fraudulent data from the analysis. The result of the as-of-yet unpublished analysis by McMaster University is presented in the application as the best available meta-analysis.

Results of this analysis found no significant difference between letrozole and clomifene citrate when used for ovarian stimulation followed by intrauterine insemination for couples with unexplained infertility for: live births (RR 1.00, 95% CI 0.81 to 1.22; absolute difference 0 more live births per 1000 (95% CI 125 fewer to 145 more; one randomized controlled trial, 191 participants, low-certainty evidence); or pregnancy (RR 1.32, 95% CI 0.83 to 2.09; absolute difference 80 more pregnancies per 1000 (95% CI 43 fewer to 272 more; five randomized controlled trials, 1266 participants).

## Anastrozole

The Cochrane systematic review (*16*) included one trial (40 participants) comparing letrozole and anastrozole (*18*). No data were available for live births and there was insufficient evidence of a difference between treatments for the outcome of clinical pregnancy rate (odds ratio (OR) 1.88, 95% CI 0.40 to 8.88).

## Summary of evidence: harms

In the context of using aromatase inhibitors for ovulation induction, the main serious adverse events are ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome, a rare but serious syndrome associated with treatments that stimulate ovulation, and multiple pregnancy. Less serious adverse effects that can occur with letrozole treatment include hot flashes, headache, fatigue, dizziness and irritability.

## Infertility due to polycystic ovary syndrome

The above-mentioned Cochrane systematic review included data on miscarriage, ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome and multiple pregnancies in the meta-

analysis (*16*). It found that compared with clomifene citrate, the risk of miscarriage was slightly increased with letrozole (RR 1.36, 95% CI 0.98 to 1.89; absolute difference 22 more miscarriages per 1000 (95% CI 1 fewer to 53 more); 10 randomized controlled trials, 1752 participants, moderate-certainty evidence), with no difference in the risk of multiple pregnancies (RR 0.69, 95% CI 0.34 to 1.41; absolute difference 6 fewer per 1000 (95% CI 13 fewer to 8 more); 12 randomized controlled trials, 1971 participants, low-certainty evidence) and ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome (risk difference (RD) 0.00, 95% CI –0.01 to 0.00; absolute difference 0 fewer cases of ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome per 1000 (95% CI 10 fewer to 0); eight randomized controlled trials, 1572 participants, low-certainty evidence).

#### **Unexplained fertility**

For letrozole versus clomifene citrate followed by intrauterine insemination in unexplained infertility, the McMaster University re-analysis found a small reduction in miscarriage (RR 0.52, 95% CI 0.20 to 1.38; absolute difference 134 fewer miscarriages per 1000 (95% CI 224 fewer to 106 more); four randomized controlled trials, 324 participants, low-certainty evidence) and no differences in multiple pregnancies (RR 0.76, 95% CI 0.22 to 2.64; absolute difference 17 fewer multiple pregnancies per 1000 (95% CI 55 fewer to 116 more); four randomized controlled trials, 323 participants, low-certainty evidence) or ectopic pregnancies with letrozole compared with clomifene citrate.

Another systematic review and meta-analysis of 45 studies (17 randomized controlled trials with 776 participants, 21 comparative cohorts with 2453 participants and seven non-comparative cohorts) analysed the risk of fetal harm after letrozole use for ovulation induction/ovarian stimulation in couples with infertility of different causes (19). Studies of concern were excluded from that analysis. The review found no difference in the risk of congenital malformations with letrozole versus clomifene citrate (RD from randomized controlled trials: 0.00, 95% CI -0.02 to 0.02; RD from cohort studies: -0.02, 95% CI -0.04 to -0.01).

In the above-mentioned study comparing letrozole and anastrozole, no data were available for ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome. No multiple pregnancies were reported with either treatment (30,31).

#### **WHO** guidelines

WHO guidelines on the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of infertility are currently being developed and are expected to be published by the end of 2023. Based on the evidence reviewed so far, the Guideline Development Group intends to suggest the use of letrozole as the preferred agent for ovulation induction in women with infertility caused by polycystic ovary syndrome, and the use of either letrozole or clomifene citrate in women with unexplained infertility undergoing intrauterine insemination.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

The application presented comparative prices of aromatase inhibitors and clomifene citrate as shown in Table 27. In most comparisons, letrozole and anastrozole were more expensive than clomifene citrate. However, the absolute cost was not high, and the medicines were likely to only be used for 5 days per cycle, so their total cost, relative to the overall cost of treatment including stimulated intrauterine insemination, would also not be high.

| Country                  | US\$ per tablet/capsule |                  |                 |  |
|--------------------------|-------------------------|------------------|-----------------|--|
|                          | Anastrozole 1 mg        | Letrozole 2.5 mg | Clomifene 50 mg |  |
| Bangladesh               | 0.39                    | 0.39             | 0.10            |  |
| Brazil                   | 2.70                    | 2.48             | 0.36            |  |
| El Salvador              | 7.72                    | 6.78             | 1.49            |  |
| India                    | 0.13                    | 0.03             | 0.07            |  |
| Indonesia                | 0.21                    | 0.12             | No data         |  |
| Morocco                  | 1.19                    | 1.44             | No data         |  |
| South Africa             | 0.36                    | 0.97             | 0.33            |  |
| Ukraine                  | 0.51                    | 0.45             | No data         |  |
| United Kingdom           | 0.04                    | 0.08             | 0.38            |  |
| United States of America | 17.77                   | 17.45            | 0.67            |  |

## Table 27

Prices of anastrozole, letrozole and clomifene in selected countries

No relevant studies were identified in the application that assessed the cost-effectiveness of aromatase inhibitors for the proposed indications.

## Availability

Letrozole and anastrozole are available globally as originator and generic brands.

## Other considerations

Neither letrozole nor anastrozole are approved for the treatment of infertility by the United States Food and Drug Administration or by the European Medicines Agency; their use for this indication is off label.

#### Committee recommendations

The Expert Committee acknowledged that the availability of and access to effective treatments for infertility was important as part of sexual and reproductive health and for achieving targets of the SDGs.

The Committee noted evidence that letrozole was associated with a moderate increase in live births and clinical pregnancies compared with clomifene (a medicine currently included in the EML) in patients with infertility due to polycystic ovary syndrome, and had similar efficacy to clomifene for live births or biochemically tested pregnancy in couples with unexplained infertility. The Committee considered the safety profile of letrozole to be acceptable and, on balance, the medicine to have a favourable benefit-to-harm profile.

The Committee noted that WHO guidelines for the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of infertility were in development and were expected to include recommendations for use of letrozole for ovulation induction in women with infertility caused by polycystic ovary syndrome, and women with unexplained infertility undergoing intrauterine insemination.

Based on these considerations, the Expert Committee therefore recommended inclusion of letrozole on the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of anovulatory infertility associated with polycystic ovary syndrome or unexplained infertility. Listing was recommended with anastrozole as a therapeutic alternative under a square box listing.

#### References

- Mascarenhas MN, Flaxman SR, Boerma T, Vanderpoel S, Stevens GA. National, regional, and global trends in infertility prevalence since 1990: a systematic analysis of 277 health surveys. PLoS Med. 2012;9(12):e1001356.
- Lampic C, Svanberg AS, Karlström P, Tydén T. Fertility awareness, intentions concerning childbearing, and attitudes towards parenthood among female and male academics. Hum Reprod. 2006;21(2):558–64.
- Boivin J, Bunting L, Collins JA, Nygren KG. International estimates of infertility prevalence and treatment-seeking: potential need and demand for infertility medical care. Hum Reprod. 2007;22(6):1506–12.
- Zegers-Hochschild F, Adamson GD, de Mouzon J, Ishihara O, Mansour R, Nygren K, et al. The International Committee for Monitoring Assisted Reproductive Technology (ICMART) and the World Health Organization (WHO) Revised Glossary on ART Terminology, 2009. Hum Reprod. 2009;24(11):2683–7.
- 5. Universal Declaration of Human Rights. Paris: United Nations General Assembly; 1948 (https:// www.un.org/en/about-us/universal-declaration-of-human-rights, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Zegers-Hochschild F, Dickens BM, Dughman-Manzur S. Human rights to in vitro fertilization. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2013;123(1):86–9.

- 7. Infertility fact sheet [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://www.who.int/ news-room/fact-sheets/detail/infertility, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 8. Carson SA, Kallen AN. Diagnosis and management of infertility: a review. JAMA. 2021;326(1):65–76.
- Recent advances in medically assisted conception. Report of a WHO Scientific Group. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1992 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 820; https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/38679, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 10. Bordewijk EM, Wang R, Askie LM, Gurrin LC, Thornton JG, van Wely M, et al. Data integrity of 35 randomised controlled trials in women' health. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2020;249:72–83.
- 11. Abu Hashim H, Shokeir T, Badawy A. RETRACTED: Letrozole versus combined metformin and clomiphene citrate for ovulation induction in clomiphene-resistant women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a randomized controlled trial. Fertil Steril. 2010;94(4):1405–9.
- 12. Badawy A, Aal IA, Abulatta M. RETRACTED: Clomiphene citrate or letrozole for ovulation induction in women with polycystic ovarian syndrome: a prospective randomized trial. Fertil Steril. 2020;114(3):669.
- 13. Badawy A, Gibreal A. RETRACTED: Clomiphene citrate versus tamoxifen for ovulation induction in women with PCOS: a prospective randomized trial. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2011;159(1):151–4.
- 14. Badawy A, Abdel Aal I, Abulatta M. RETRACTED: Clomiphene citrate or letrozole for ovulation induction in women with polycystic ovarian syndrome: a prospective randomized trial. Fertil Steril. 2009;92(3):849–52.
- Badawy A, Elnashar A, Totongy M. RETRACTED: Clomiphene citrate or aromatase inhibitors for superovulation in women with unexplained infertility undergoing intrauterine insemination: a prospective randomized trial. Fertil Steril. 2009;92(4):1355–9.
- 16. Franik S, Le Q-K, Kremer JA, Kiesel L, Farquhar C. Aromatase inhibitors (letrozole) for ovulation induction in infertile women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2022;9:CD010287.
- 17. Eskew AM, Bedrick BS, Hardi A, Stoll CRT, Colditz GA, Tuuli MG, et al. Letrozole compared with clomiphene citrate for unexplained infertility: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Obstet Gynecol. 2019;133(3):437–44.
- 18. Al-Omari WR, Sulaiman WR, Al-Hadithi N. Comparison of two aromatase inhibitors in women with clomiphene-resistant polycystic ovary syndrome. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2004;85(3):289–91.
- 19. Pundir J, Achilli C, Bhide P, Sabatini L, Legro RS, Rombauts L, et al. Risk of foetal harm with letrozole use in fertility treatment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum Reprod Update. 2021;27(3):474–85.

## 22.3 Uterotonics

Mifepristone – misoprostol – new indication – EML

## Mifepristone – misoprostol

## ATC code: G03XB51

## Proposal

Extension of the indication for combination regimen of mifepristone and misoprostol on the core list of EML to include medical management of intrauterine fetal demise (IUFD).

## Applicant

WHO Department of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research

## WHO technical department

Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research

#### EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

22.3 Uterotonics

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Tablet: 200 mg - Tablet: 200 micrograms

Copackage containing mifepristone 200 mg tablet [1 tablet] and misoprostol 200 micrograms tablet [4 tablets]

## Core/complementary

Core

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

## Background

Mifepristone and misoprostol have not been previously considered for inclusion on the EML for medical management of IUFD. No other medicines are currently included on the EML for use in medical management of this indication.

The combination of mifepristone and misoprostol has been included on the EML since 2005 for medical abortion. Misoprostol 200 microgram tablets are also listed individually for the management of incomplete abortion and

530

miscarriage, and prevention and treatment of postpartum haemorrhage where oxytocin is not available or cannot be safely used.

#### Public health relevance

About 1% of all pregnancies are complicated by IUFD (1). IUFD refers to the clinical condition where the fetus is no longer alive, but the uterus has not yet started to expel its contents and the cervix remains closed. Some of the clinical findings suggestive of IUFD include vaginal bleeding, absent fetal heartbeat on electronic auscultation, a failure to feel fetal movements or a uterus that is significantly smaller than the expected size (2). Although the exact incidence of IUFD is not known, about 50% occur between 20 and 27 weeks of gestation (mainly from 20 to 23 weeks) (3). Management options include expectant, surgical abortion with dilation and evacuation, or medical management.

Several studies have demonstrated that IUFD can be associated with haemorrhage and sepsis leading to increased morbidity and mortality. After an IUFD, the need for a blood transfusion and blood products ranges from 18% to 28% (4,5). IUFD can also lead to a rare but unique complication of disseminated intravascular coagulation (6,7). The presence of disseminated intravascular coagulation was a substantial risk for haemorrhage (8,9). Evidence of disseminated intravascular coagulation was observed in 10% of IUFD cases within 4 weeks of fetal demise. Timely management of IUFD has been shown to decrease the risk of severe coagulation abnormalities (7,10).

## Summary of evidence: benefits

Studies that assessed medical management of IUFD consistently showed that the combination regimen of mifepristone and misoprostol had a high success rate of fetal expulsion with a short induction to abortion interval (11-13).

A randomized controlled trial that compared combination regimen of mifepristone and misoprostol with misoprostol alone for IUFD showed that the combination regimen was significantly more successful in achieving fetal expulsion within 24 hours (92.5% versus 71.2%; relative risk (RR) 1.3, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.1 to 1.6) (*11*). In addition, the study demonstrated a significantly shorter mean fetal expulsion time with the combination regimen (9.8 versus 16.3 hours; mean difference (MD) 6.5 hours, 95% CI 4.5 to 8.5 hours). This finding has clinical and health system implications in terms of shorter facility stay, bed occupancy and patient turnover rate.

Another study compared two dose regimens of misoprostol (200 micrograms and 400 micrograms) for second-trimester termination of viable and non-viable pregnancies (*12*). This study showed that in the combination regimen of mifepristone and misoprostol, 400 microgram misoprostol dosing achieved a shorter expulsion time compared with a 200 microgram dosing (9.3 versus 11.6 hours).

A cohort study assessed the effect of pretreatment with mifepristone 24–48 hours before misoprostol compared with misoprostol alone. Women with IUFD who received mifepristone had a shorter fetal expulsion time than those treated with misoprostol alone (10.6 hours versus 16.2 hours; P = 0.04). In addition, mifepristone pretreatment significantly reduced the risk of infection (P = 0.049) and lowered the need for pain relief (P = 0.022) (13).

A recent systematic review assessed the effectiveness, safety and acceptability of medical management of IUFD at  $\geq 14$  to  $\leq 28$  weeks of gestation (14). The review included 16 randomized controlled trials that compared: regimens of mifepristone used in combination with misoprostol versus misoprostol alone; different doses of misoprostol after administration of mifepristone; different doses of misoprostol with or without a loading dose; different routes of administration of misoprostol; and different preparations of misoprostol. The trials included were conducted in 17 countries providing information on the varying country contexts in which such services may be provided. Of these 17 countries, six were lower middle-income economies, seven were upper middle-income economies and four were high-income economies. Treatment with combination regimen of mifepristone and misoprostol had higher rates of complete abortion within 24 hours (RR 1.18, 95% CI, 0.91 to 1.53; very low-certainty evidence) and a shorter expulsion time (6.3 hours shorter (95% CI -9.3 to -3.4 hours; very low-certainty evidence) than misoprostol alone. Serious adverse events such as hospitalization, blood transfusion, need for further surgery beyond interventions to complete removal of products, or death were not reported. Treatment with 400 micrograms misoprostol in the combination regimen showed higher rates of complete abortion within 24 hours (RR 0.90, 95% CI 0.74 to 1.10; low-certainty evidence) and lower rates of serious adverse events (RR 1.40, 95% CI 0.32 to 6.05; very low-certainty evidence) than 200 microgram misoprostol dosing. Overall, women were satisfied with their treatment and found the pain associated with the induction less than or the same as they expected.

Over the past 2 decades, a number of clinical studies have been conducted to assess the clinical effectiveness and safety of medical abortion in different settings (15-19). Systematic reviews of these studies have led to refined regimens of medical abortion using a combination of mifepristone and misoprostol (20-22). The WHO guidelines have included recommendations for the use of this combination regimen for medical abortion since 2012 (23). The clinical effectiveness of this regimen was as high as 95%. Serious adverse events such as transfusion or hospitalization were reported rarely (21,22,24). Such findings were consistently reported in several individual clinical trials and systematic reviews. Although these studies focused on induced abortion, given the same mechanism of action, a similar outcome can be reasonably inferred on the use of the combination regimen in similar clinical contexts. As such, these findings can

serve as indirect evidence to demonstrate the applicability of the combination regimen for medical management of IUFD.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

Although it is difficult to estimate the total number of medical abortions using mifepristone and misoprostol that have taken place globally, research published in 2017 reported that more than 3 million people in the United States have had a medical abortion using a regimen containing mifepristone since approval by the Food and Drug Administration in 2000 (25). More recently, a study by the Guttmacher Institute estimated that 12.7 million medical abortions occur annually in India (26).

Abdominal pain and cramping are expected side-effects of medical abortion, but their incidence is not systematically reported in clinical studies. Treatment with mifepristone and misoprostol is intended to induce uterine bleeding and cramping and as such, bleeding and cramping are expected consequences of the abortion process (27). These side-effects are minor and can be managed with widely available analgesic medications such as non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (24). WHO's 2022 abortion care guideline states that women requesting abortion should always be offered medication for pain management. Pain medications can be offered by various cadres of health care providers (28). All women seeking abortion should be counselled about common side-effects after mifepristone and misoprostol medical abortion and told how they can be managed. In deciding on a course of treatment, some pregnant women may choose regimens with routes of misoprostol that may be associated with more side-effects but may be more consistent with their wishes and expectations of acceptability and overall satisfaction.

The most commonly reported adverse reactions (> 15%) for mifepristone and misoprostol include nausea, weakness, fever/chills, vomiting, headache, diarrhoea and dizziness. The frequency of adverse reactions varies between studies and depends on many factors, including the patient population and gestational age (11,12).

Uterine rupture is a rare complication and is usually associated with a prior uterine scar and/or very high doses of misoprostol. A systematic review of second-trimester abortion with misoprostol showed the risk of uterine rupture was 0.28% in women with prior caesarean birth, whereas the risk was 0.04% in those without prior caesarean delivery (29). WHO guidelines highlight the need for sound clinical judgement and health system preparedness for emergency management of uterine rupture in these very rare events (28).

Analysis of clinical studies involving 30 966 participants who used a combination regimen for medical abortion up to 70 days gestation showed serious adverse events to be very low (reported in < 0.5% of women). No differences were

seen in the rate or type of serious adverse reaction by geographical location. A summary of the reported serious adverse reaction is shown in Table 28 (*30*).

#### Table 28

Serious adverse reactions reported following administration of mifepristone (oral) and misoprostol (buccal) in clinical studies

| Country                                     | United States studies |                              |                 | Other studies     |                              |                 |
|---|-----------------------|------------------------------|-----------------|-------------------|------------------------------|-----------------|
|   | No. of<br>studies     | No. of<br>evaluable<br>women | Frequency,<br>% | No. of<br>studies | No. of<br>evaluable<br>women | Frequency,<br>% |
| Transfusion                                 | 4                     | 17 774                       | 0.03–0.5        | 3                 | 12 134                       | 0-0.1           |
| Sepsis                                      | 1                     | 629                          | 0.2             | 1                 | 11 155                       | <0.01           |
| Emergency room<br>visit                     | 2                     | 1 043                        | 2.9-4.6%        | 1                 | 95                           | 0               |
| Hospitalization related to medical abortion | 3                     | 14 339                       | 0.04-0.6        | 3                 | 1 286                        | 0–0.7           |
| Infection without sepsis                    | 1                     | 216                          | 0               | 1                 | 11 155                       | 0.2             |
| Haemorrhage                                 | NR                    | NR                           | NR              | 1                 | 11 155                       | 0.1             |

NR: Not reported.

Source: United States Food and Drug Administration, 2016 (30).

Safety data published in the United States 16 years after mifepristone's approval found an estimated mifepristone-associated mortality rate of 0.00063% (25,30). Studies involving mifepristone and misoprostol among more than 423 000 women globally reported very low rates (0.01% to 0.7%) of non-fatal serious adverse events such as hospital admission, blood transfusion or serious infection after the use of mifepristone. These events were almost always treatable without permanent sequelae (25).

#### **WHO** guidelines

Medical management of IUFD with mifepristone and misoprostol has been a recommendation in the WHO guidelines since 2018 (31) and was recently updated in 2022 (28). This updated guideline recommends medical management of IUFD at gestational ages  $\geq 14$  to  $\leq 28$  weeks using a combination of 200 mg of mifepristone administered orally followed 1–2 days later by repeat doses of 400 micrograms misoprostol administered sublingually or vaginally every

4–6 hours. Misoprostol can be repeated at the noted interval as needed to achieve success of the abortion process. This regimen was shown to have a higher rate of complete abortion within 24 hours and a shorter induction time (14). The certainty of the evidence was low to very low, downgraded due to imprecision arising from a small sample size. Difficulties in reaching large sample sizes have been a limitation of abortion-related studies and these studies may fall short of statistically significant findings. In such circumstances, it is important to consider outcomes in their totality taking into account other important parameters such as the value and preference of end-users and implications to the health system (28).

The WHO guideline on abortion care recognizes medical management of IUFD with combination regimen can be performed by a wide range of health care providers including midlevel (non-physician) health care providers (28).

Studies have been done on medical abortion for pregnancies at gestational ages  $\geq$  12 weeks as a facility-based procedure. Based on extrapolation from these studies, the WHO recommends women undergoing medical management of IUFD with the combination regimen should remain under observation until the process is complete (28).

## Recommendations in other current clinical guidelines

The clinical recommendation from the United States Society of Family Planning for interruption of nonviable pregnancy between 24 and 28 weeks includes the administration of a mifepristone and misoprostol regimen. This regimen is noted to have a shortened expulsion time (32). The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists also recommends the use of mifepristone plus misoprostol for IUFD. Either 200 mg or 600 mg of oral mifepristone 24-48 hours before misoprostol reduces the time to delivery compared with misoprostol alone (33). These are grade B recommendations as per the United States Preventive Services Task Force (there is high certainty that the net benefit is moderate or there is moderate certainty that the net benefit is moderate to substantial). Similarly, the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists recommends a combination of a single dose of 200 mg of mifepristone with misoprostol for the management of IUFD. This is a grade B recommendation, which was developed from highquality systematic reviews of case-control or cohort studies or high-quality casecontrol or cohort studies with a very low risk of confounding, bias or chance, and a high probability that the relationship is causal (34).

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

The price of mifepristone and misoprostol, individually and copackaged, varies widely by geographical location. The legal status of abortion, willing marketers and distributors, and a perceived sustainable market all affect the cost to the buyer. Market flexibility is being regulated by the increasing number of new products entering markets.

The United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA) product catalogue contains different commodities related to sexual and reproductive health. All products included in this catalogue are WHO prequalified or authorized for use by a stringent regulatory authority. The UNFPA product catalogue currently lists mifepristone 200 mg at a price of US\$ 16 per tablet and misoprostol 200 micrograms at US\$ 13.92 for a pack of 40 tablets (*35*).

A large study on the price of medical abortion commodities in different settings showed unit prices of mifepristone, misoprostol and combi-packs varied greatly (*36*). The median price of mifepristone per tablet was US\$ 11.78 (range US\$ 1.77 to 37.83). The price was highest in Latin America and the Caribbean (US\$ 24.47) and lowest in South and South-east Asia (US\$ 5.20). In Africa, mifepristone prices ranged from US\$ 6.00 to 21.86. The most commonly identified mifepristone brand had a median price to the consumer of US\$ 10.35 per tablet (range US\$ 3.02 to 17.91). The median price per misoprostol tablet was US\$ 0.63 (range US\$ 0.09 to 27.63). The price of misoprostol also showed great variation within and between countries and regions, with a similar pattern for mifepristone (highest in Latin America and the Caribbean and lowest in South and South-east Asia). The median price of copackaged mifepristone and misoprostol was US\$ 11.14 (range US\$ 3.50 to 35.86) per pack (36). The price range for the most frequently identified brand was also wide (US\$ 4.02 to 20.05); this product had a median price per pack of US\$ 15.44.

#### Availability

Mifepristone and misoprostol, both individually and copackaged, are widely and increasingly available globally (36,37). Branded and generic products are available. Misoprostol and copackaged mifepristone + misoprostol are included on the WHO List of Prequalified Finished Pharmaceutical Products.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted the evidence from a randomized controlled trial and systematic review that assessed medical management of IUFD that showed the combination regimen of mifepristone and misoprostol was associated with a higher proportion of complete fetal expulsion at 24 hours as well as with lower time to complete expulsion compared with misoprostol alone, without increased severe adverse events or requirement for surgery. While the Committee noted that the available evidence was graded low certainty, indirect evidence on the use of mifepristone and misoprostol in the management of medical abortion showed high effectiveness. The Committee also noted side-effects associated with the regimen were minor and that uterine rupture was very rare.

Additionally, the Committee noted that medical management of IUFD with mifepristone and misoprostol has been recommended in the WHO guidelines

on abortion care since 2018. The Committee also noted that mifepristone and misoprostol were widely available and were prequalified by WHO.

The Committee emphasized the importance of providing patients and health care providers with multiple choices for the management of IUFD.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended that the listing for mifepristone – misoprostol on the core list of the EML be extended to include the new indication of medical management of IUFD.

#### References

- 1. Gómez Ponce de León R, Wing D, Fiala C. Misoprostol for intrauterine fetal death. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 2):S190–3.
- 2. Lemmers M, Verschoor MA, Kim BV, Hickey M, Vazquez JC, Mol BWJ, et al. Medical treatment for early fetal death (less than 24 weeks). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019;6(6):CD002253.
- MacDorman MF, Gregory EC. Fetal and perinatal mortality: United States, 2013. Natl Vital Stat Rep. 2015;64(8):1–24.
- 4. Malik A, Begum T, Noor S. Study on etiology and maternal complications of intrauterine fetal death. Chattagram Maa-O-Shishu Hospital Med Coll J. 2019;18(1):23–6.
- 5. Patel S, Thaker R, Shah P, Majumder S. Study of causes and complications of intra uterine fetal death (IUFD). Int J Reprod Contracept Obstet Gynecol. 2014;3(4):931–6.
- Lurie S, Feinstein M, Mamet Y. Disseminated intravascular coagulopathy in pregnancy: thorough comprehension of etiology and management reduces obstetricians' stress. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2000;263(3):126–30.
- Parasnis H, Raje B, Hinduja IN. Relevance of plasma fibrinogen estimation in obstetric complications. J Postgrad Med. 1992;38(4):183–5.
- 8. Ferriss ANF, Weisenthal L, Sheeder J, Teal SB, Tocce K. Risk of hemorrhage during surgical evacuation for second-trimester intrauterine fetal demise. Contraception. 2016;94(5):496–8.
- Kerns JL, Ti A, Aksel S, Lederle L, Sokoloff A, Steinauer J. Disseminated intravascular coagulation and hemorrhage after dilation and evacuation abortion for fetal death. Obstet Gynecol. 2019;134(4):708–13.
- 10. Maslow AD, Breen TW, Sarna MC, Soni AK, Watkins J, Oriol NE. Prevalence of coagulation abnormalities associated with intrauterine fetal death. Can J Anaesth. 1996;43(12):1237–43.
- 11. Chaudhuri P, Datta S. Mifepristone and misoprostol compared with misoprostol alone for induction of labor in intrauterine fetal death: a randomized trial. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2015;41(12):1884–90.
- 12. Brouns JFGM, van Wely M, Burger MPM, van Wijngaarden WJ. Comparison of two dose regimens of misoprostol for second-trimester pregnancy termination. Contraception. 2010;82(3):266–75.
- Stibbe KJ, de Weerd S. Induction of delivery by mifepristone and misoprostol in termination of pregnancy and intrauterine fetal death: 2nd and 3rd trimester induction of labour. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2012;286(3):795–6.
- 14. Cleeve A, Fønhus MS, Lavelanet A. A systematic review of the effectiveness, safety, and acceptability of medical management of intrauterine fetal death at 14–28 weeks of gestation. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2019;147(3):301–12.

- Mukhopadhyay P, Bag TS, Kyal A, Bhuniya A, Saha TK. Second trimester abortion with vaginal misoprostol: is there any advantage with prior mifepristone priming? A comparative study. J South Asian Fed Obstet Gynaecol. 2012;4(1):25–7.
- 16. Dalenda C, Ines N, Fathia B, Malika A, Bechir Z, Ezzeddine S, et al. Two medical abortion regimens for late first-trimester termination of pregnancy: a prospective randomized trial. Contraception. 2010;81(4):323–7.
- 17. Olavarrieta CD, Ganatra B, Sorhaindo A, Karver TS, Seuc A, Villalobos A, et al. Nurse versus physicianprovision of early medical abortion in Mexico: a randomized controlled non-inferiority trial. Bull World Health Organ. 2015;93(4):249–58.
- Fetters T, Samandari G, Djemo P, Vwallika B, Mupeta S. Moving from legality to reality: how medical abortion methods were introduced with implementation science in Zambia. Reprod Health. 2017;14(1):1–11.
- 19. Platais I, Tsereteli T, Grebennikova G, Lotarevich T, Winikoff B. Prospective study of home use of mifepristone and misoprostol for medical abortion up to 10 weeks of pregnancy in Kazakhstan. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2016;134(3):268–71.
- 20. Abubeker FA, Lavelanet A, Rodriguez MI, Kim C. Medical termination for pregnancy in early first trimester (≤ 63 days) using combination of mifepristone and misoprostol or misoprostol alone: a systematic review. BMC Womens Health. 2020;20(1):1–17.
- 21. Kapp N, Eckersberger E, Lavelanet A, Rodriguez MI. Medical abortion in the late first trimester: a systematic review. Contraception. 2019;99(2):77–86.
- 22. Whitehouse K, Brant A, Fonhus MS, Lavelanet A, Ganatra B. Medical regimens for abortion at 12 weeks and above: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Contraception: X. 2020;2:100037.
- 23. Safe abortion: technical and policy guidance for health systems. Second edition Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/70914, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 24. Gemzell-Danielsson K, Lalitkumar S. Second trimester medical abortion with mifepristonemisoprostol and misoprostol alone: a review of methods and management. Reprod Health Matters. 2008;16(31):162–72.
- 25. Raymond EG, Blanchard K, Blumenthal PD, Cleland K, Foster AM, Gold M, et al. Sixteen years of overregulation: time to unburden Mifeprex. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(8):790–4.
- 26. Singh S, Shekhar C, Acharya R, Moore AM, Stillman M, Pradhan MR, et al. The incidence of abortion and unintended pregnancy in India, 2015. Lancet Glob Health. 2018;6(1):e111–e20.
- 27. Kapp N, Lohr PA. Modern methods to induce abortion: safety, efficacy and choice. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2020;63:37–44.
- 28. Abortion care guideline. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/349316, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 29. Goyal V. Uterine rupture in second-trimester misoprostol-induced abortion after cesarean delivery: a systematic review. Obstet Gynecol. 2009;113(5):1117–23.
- Prescribing Information. MIFEPREX (mifepristone) tablets for oral use. Silver Spring, MD: US Food and Drug Administration; 2016 (https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/ label/2016/020687s020lbl.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 31. Medical management of abortion. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who. int/iris/handle/10665/278968, accessed 6 October 2023).

- 32. Perritt JB, Burke A, Edelman AB. Interruption of nonviable pregnancies of 24–28 weeks' gestation using medical methods. Contraception. 2013;88(3):341–9.
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists; Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine in collaboration with; Metz TD, Berry RS, Fretts RC, Reddy UM, Turrentine MA. Obstetric care consensus# 10: management of stillbirth:(replaces practice bulletin number 102, March 2009). Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2020;222(3):B2–B20.
- Late intrauterine fetal death and stillbirth (green-top guideline No. 55). London: Royal College of Obstetricians & Gynaeocologists; 2010 (https://www.rcog.org.uk/media/0fefdrk4/gtg\_55.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 35. UNFPA product catalogue [internet]. New York, NY: United Nations Population Fund; 2023 (https:// www.unfpaprocurement.org/en/products, restricted access).
- Durocher J, Kilfedder C, Frye LJ, Winikoff B, Srinivasan K. A descriptive analysis of medical abortion commodity availability and pricing at retail outlets in 44 countries across four regions globally. Sex Reprod Health Matters. 2021;29(1):196–213.
- 37. Winikoff B, Sheldon W. Use of medicines changing the face of abortion. Int Perspect Sex Reprod Health. 2012;38(3):164–6.

# Section 24: Medicines for mental and behavioural disorders 24.1 Medicines used in psychotic disorders

Chlorpromazine and haloperidol – deletion – EMLc

| Chlorpromazine |  |
|----------------|--|
| Haloperidol    |  |

ATC code: N05AA01 ATC code: N05AD01

## Proposal

Deletion of chlorpromazine and haloperidol from the EMLc for treatment of psychotic disorders in children.

#### Applicant

WHO Collaborating Centre for Research and Training in Mental Health and Service Evaluation, University of Verona, Verona, Italy

## WHO technical department

Mental Health and Substance Use

#### EML/EMLc

EMLc

#### Section

24.1 Medicines used in psychotic disorders

#### Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Chlorpromazine Injection: 25 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule Oral liquid: 25 mg/5 mL (hydrochloride) Tablet: 10 mg, 25 mg, 50 mg, 100 mg Haloperidol Injection: 5 mg in 1 mL ampoule Oral liquid: 2 mg/mL Solid oral dosage form: 0.5 mg, 2 mg, 5 mg

## Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing Individual

WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1049, 2024

#### Background

Chlorpromazine and haloperidol have been included in the EMLc for treatment of psychotic disorders in children since the first list was published in 2007.

In 2013, a request for deletion of these medicines was made by the WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use. The Expert Committee recognized that the indications for use for chlorpromazine and haloperidol were very rare in children and that adverse events from these medicines may be more frequent in children than in adults. However, the Committee recognized the importance of ensuring that treatment was available for severe psychiatric disorders in children and noted that the application did not fully review all treatment options. The Committee therefore requested a review of the evidence for the benefits and risks of each medicine in the paediatric population and decided to make no changes to the list until such reviews had been considered (1).

#### Public health relevance

Psychotic disorders are very rare in childhood. The prevalence of the onset of psychotic symptoms before 13 years of age has been estimated to be 100 times lower than the adult form of the disorder (2). Due to the scarcity of definitive epidemiological studies, the true prevalence is likely to be even less (3,4). Two studies investigating rates of childhood neuropsychiatric disorders in Sweden and North Dakota (United States) found the prevalence of childhood-onset schizophrenia to be 1.6 per 100 000 children and 1.9 per 100 000 children, respectively (5–7). The largest study on childhood-onset schizophrenia to date, involving 1400 national referrals to the United States National Institute of Mental Health over 10 years, identified 260 children with psychosis of whom only 71 met the criteria for childhood-onset schizophrenia at study entry (8).

Beyond schizophrenia, psychotic symptoms often represent an ancillary manifestation of other psychiatric conditions (e.g. major depression, bipolar disorder or psychosis not otherwise specified). A study comprising all types of psychiatric and child-guidance services in three large clinics in Germany subdivided childhood psychoses into four diagnostic groups: schizophreniform disorder, affective psychosis, typical non-schizophrenic child and adolescent psychosis and atypical psychosis. The analysis of the distribution of age at onset defined by age at first contact for the four diagnostic categories until the age of 15–18 years showed that first contacts for schizophrenia, affective psychoses or unspecified psychoses become visible in the age group of 12–15 years, followed by a steep increase in the next age group (9).

Major depression may occur in 1% of children (10,11), whereas bipolar disorder occurs in 1% to 2% of adolescents (12,13). Mood disorders with psychosis are considerably rarer in children. The prevalence of psychosis not otherwise specified and bipolar disorder in children is hard to ascertain because of controversy

about validity. More generally, transitory psychotic experiences may be triggered by various psychiatric conditions. Finally, psychotic symptoms have been associated with, or are secondary to, a wide variety of medical disorders. Studies on adults show that about 3% of new-onset presentations of psychosis can be attributed to a medical condition (*14*). Therefore, before making a diagnosis of a primary psychotic disorder, secondary causes should be ruled out or, if necessary, adequately treated.

Subclinical psychotic experiences may be more common and are usually benign, as in 75–90% of cases they spontaneously remit over time (*13*).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The application presented the results of a comprehensive literature search for systematic reviews on the efficacy, acceptability and tolerability of antipsychotic medicines in children with schizophrenia and related psychoses. No systematic reviews were found on the efficacy of antipsychotics specifically focused on children aged 12 years or younger. Existing reviews included a mixed population of children and adolescents, largely composed of individuals between 14 and 18 years of age. Eleven systematic reviews were included (15-25), from which data from five randomized controlled trials (four for haloperidol and one for chlorpromazine) were extracted and reanalysed using standard Cochrane methodology. Data from a further three randomized controlled trials involving second-generation antipsychotics were also extracted and reanalysed (26-28). Of note, the data reviewed accounted only for oral administration of haloperidol, chlorpromazine or other antipsychotics; no evidence from randomized controlled trials was available on the efficacy of these compounds administered by intramuscular injection. The findings from trials of chlorpromazine and haloperidol are described below. For second-generation antipsychotics, as no trials have been conducted versus placebo, no information is available on the potentially beneficial role of these medications in children.

## Chlorpromazine

A single randomized controlled trial (60 participants) evaluated the efficacy of chlorpromazine in comparison with risperidone in children and adolescents aged 7 to 16 years with a diagnosis of childhood-onset schizophrenia (29). Psychotic symptomatology at 8 weeks was evaluated using the Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale. Results showed a trend favouring risperidone over chlorpromazine (mean difference (MD) 1.80, 95% confidence interval (CI) –1.14 to 4.74). The Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluations (GRADE) certainty of evidence was judged to be very low.

## Haloperidol

A single placebo-controlled randomized controlled trial of haloperidol in children with schizophrenia (12 participants) was not included in the meta-

analysis because it had a crossover design and the results before crossing over were not available (*30*).

Two double-blind randomized controlled trials (90 participants) compared haloperidol with fluphenazine in children with schizophrenia (31,32). Pooling the two studies for the outcome "showing moderate or marked improvement" at study endpoint showed a non-significant trend favouring fluphenazine (risk ratio (RR) 0.91, 95% CI 0.72 to 1.14).

One double-blind randomized controlled trial (42 participants) compared haloperidol with risperidone in children with childhood-onset schizophrenia (*33*). For the outcome of psychotic symptomatology at 6 weeks as measured by the Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale, no significant difference was seen between treatments (MD 1.39, 95% CI –0.93 to 3.71).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

#### Chlorpromazine

From the randomized controlled trial of chlorpromazine versus risperidone, there was very low-certainty evidence of no difference between treatment arms in extrapyramidal symptoms (RR 2.0, 95% CI 0.2 to 20.9), drowsiness (RR 11.0, 95% CI 0.64 to 190.53) or anticholinergic effects (RR 2.0, 95% CI 0.40 to 10.11). No data were available for the outcomes of drop-outs for any reason or drop-outs due to adverse events (*29*).

#### Haloperidol

From the randomized controlled trials involving haloperidol (31-33), there was very low-certainty evidence of no differences between haloperidol and other antipsychotics overall for any side-effects (RR 1.39, 95% CI 0.61 to 3.15; two randomized controlled trials, 72 participants). In one study (42 participants), there was very low-certainty evidence that haloperidol caused fewer side-effects than risperidone (RR 2.05, 95% CI 1.32 to 3.19). There was very low-certainty evidence of a trend favouring haloperidol over other antipsychotics overall for extrapyramidal symptoms (RR 1.82, 95% CI 0.33 to 10.06; three randomized controlled trials, 132 participants). There was very low-certainty evidence that haloperidol caused significantly more extrapyramidal side-effects than risperidone (RR 8.60, 95% CI 2.67 to 27.68; one randomized controlled trial, 42 participants). For weight gain, there was very low-certainty evidence of no difference between haloperidol and fluphenazine (RR 1.17, 95% CI 0.88 to 1.55; one randomized controlled trial, 30 participants). There was very low-certainty evidence that haloperidol caused significantly more drowsiness than risperidone (RR 6.50, 95% CI 1.67 to 25.33; one randomized controlled trial, 42 participants), and of no difference between treatment arms for anticholinergic side-effects (RR 7.00, 95% CI 0.38 to 127.69; one randomized controlled trial, 42 participants) (33).

First-generation antipsychotics are associated with extrapyramidal side-effects (dystonia, tardive dyskinesia and parkinsonian symptoms), hyperprolactinaemia and neuroleptic malignant syndrome. Evidence indicates that side-effects may be more severe in children than in adults (34–36).

No safety data are available in children exposed to long-term use of antipsychotics.

#### **WHO** guidelines

The 2023 WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders do not include any treatment recommendations for psychotic disorders in children (*37*). Similarly, other national and international guidelines do not include specific treatment recommendations for children, with most referring only to the adolescent population.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

No cost-effectiveness analyses are available for antipsychotics in children with psychosis. Chlorpromazine and haloperidol are available as generics, mostly at low purchase prices.

## Availability

Chlorpromazine and haloperidol are available globally, however specific data on availability are not considered relevant for the proposal to delete them from the EMLc.

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recommended the deletion of chlorpromazine and haloperidol (all dosage forms) from the complementary list of the EMLc. The Committee noted that schizophrenia and other chronic psychotic disorders were rare in children younger than 12 years. The Committee agreed that the available evidence for these medicines in the treatment of psychoses in children was inconclusive and insufficient to support their ongoing inclusion on the EMLc.

## References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2013 (including the 18th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 4th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 985; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/112729, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Beitchman JH. Childhood schizophrenia. A review and comparison with adult-onset schizophrenia. Psychiatr Clin North Am. 1985;8(4):793–814.
- 3. Gillberg C. Epidemiology of early onset schizophrenia. In: Remschmidt H, editor. Schizophrenia in children and adolescents. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2001a;43–54.

544

- 4. Clark AF, Lewis SW. Treatment of schizophrenia in childhood and adolescence. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 1998;39(8):1071–81.
- 5. Burd L, Fisher W, Kerbeshian J. A prevalence study of pervasive developmental disorders in North Dakota. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 1987;26(5):700–3.
- 6. Gillberg C. Infantile autism and other childhood psychoses in a Swedish urban region. Epidemiological aspects. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 1984;25(1):35–43.
- Gillberg C, Steffenburg S. Outcome and prognostic factors in infantile autism and similar conditions: a population-based study of 46 cases followed through puberty. J Autism Dev Disord. 1987;17(2):273–87.
- McKenna K, Gordon CT, Lenane M, Kaysen D, Fahey K, Rapoport JL. Looking for childhood-onset schizophrenia: the first 71 cases screened. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 1994;33(5):636–44.
- 9. Remschmidt HE, Schulz E, Martin M, Warnke A, Trott GE. Childhood-onset schizophrenia: history of the concept and recent studies. Schizophr Bull. 1994;20(4):727–45.
- 10. Carlson GA. Identifying prepubertal mania. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 1995;34(6):750–3.
- 11. Ulloa RE, Birmaher B, Axelson D, Williamson DE, Brent DA, Ryan ND, et al. Psychosis in a pediatric mood and anxiety disorders clinic: phenomenology and correlates. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2000;39(3):337–45.
- 12. Geller B, Luby J. Child and adolescent bipolar disorder: a review of the past 10 years. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 1997;36(9):1168–76.
- 13. Goodwin FK, Jamison KR. Manic-depressive illness. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; 1990.
- 14. Freudenreich O, Schulz SC, Goff DC. Initial medical work-up of first-episode psychosis: a conceptual review. Early Interv Psychiatry. 2009;3(1):10–8.
- Kumra S, Oberstar JV, Sikich L, Findling RL, McClellan JM, Vinogradov S, et al. Efficacy and tolerability of second-generation antipsychotics in children and adolescents with schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull. 2007;34(1):60–71.
- 16. Kennedy E, Kumar A, Datta SS. Antipsychotic medication for childhood-onset schizophrenia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2007;2007(3):CD004027.
- Fraguas D, Correll CU, Merchán-Naranjo J, Rapado-Castro M, Parellada M, Moreno C, et al. Efficacy and safety of second-generation antipsychotics in children and adolescents with psychotic and bipolar spectrum disorders: comprehensive review of prospective head-to-head and placebocontrolled comparisons. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2011;21(8):621–45.
- 18. Sarkar S, Grover S. Antipsychotics in children and adolescents with schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Indian J Pharmacol. 2013;45(5):439–46.
- 19. Harvey RC, James AC, Shields GE. A systematic review and network meta-analysis to assess the relative efficacy of antipsychotics for the treatment of positive and negative symptoms in early-onset schizophrenia. CNS Drugs. 2016;30(1):27–39.
- 20. Pagsberg AK, Tarp S, Glintborg D, Stenstrøm AD, Fink-Jensen A, Correll CU, et al. Acute antipsychotic treatment of children and adolescents with schizophrenia-spectrum disorders: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2017;56(3):191–202.
- 21. Krause M, Zhu Y, Huhn M, Schneider-Thoma J, Bighelli I, Chaimani A, et al. Efficacy, acceptability, and tolerability of antipsychotics in children and adolescents with schizophrenia: a network metaanalysis. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2018;28(6):659–74.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 22. Yee CS, Bahji A, Lolich M, Vázquez GH, Baldessarini RJ. Comparative efficacy and tolerability of antipsychotics for juvenile psychotic disorders: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2022;42(2):198–208.
- 23. Bai Y, Liu T, Xu A, Yang H, Gao K. Comparison of common side effects from mood stabilizers and antipsychotics between pediatric and adult patients with bipolar disorder: a systematic review of randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials. Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2019;18(8):703–17.
- 24. DelBello MP, Kadakia A, Heller V, Singh R, Hagi K, Nosaka T, et al. Systematic review and network meta-analysis: efficacy and safety of second-generation antipsychotics in youths with bipolar depression. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2022;61(2):243–54.
- 25. Pillay J, Boylan K, Carrey N, Newton A, Vandermeer B, Nuspl M, et al. First- and second-generation antipsychotics in children and young adults: systematic review update. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2017.
- 26. Wolpert A HM, Merlis S. A comparative study of thiothixene and trifluoperazine in childhood schizophrenia. Curr Ther Res Clin Exp. 1967;9(9):482–5.
- 27. Shaw P, Sporn A, Gogtay N, Overman GP, Greenstein D, Gochman P, et al. Childhood-onset schizophrenia: a double-blind, randomized clozapine-olanzapine comparison. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2006;63(7):721–30.
- Mozes T, Ebert T, Michal SE, Spivak B, Weizman A. An open-label randomized comparison of olanzapine versus risperidone in the treatment of childhood-onset schizophrenia. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol. 2006;16(4):393–403.
- 29. Xiong Y. Comparison study of childhood schizophrenia treated with risperidone and chlorpromazine. Guizhou Med J. 2004;28(8):697–98.
- 30. Spencer EK, Kafantaris V, Padron-Gayol MV, Rosenberg CR, Campbell M. Haloperidol in schizophrenic children: early findings from a study in progress. Psychopharmacol Bull. 1992;28(2):183–6.
- 31. Faretra G, Dooher L, Dowling J. Comparison of haloperidol and fluphenazine in disturbed children. Am J Psychiatry. 1970;126(11):1670–3.
- 32. Engelhardt DM, Polizos P, Waizer J, Hoffman SP. A double-blind comparison of fluphenazine and haloperidol in outpatient schizophrenic children. J Autism Child Schizophr. 1973;3(2):128–37.
- 33. Yao H. A study of risperidone in the treatment of child schizophrenia. J Clin Psychol Med. 2003;7468(2):80-1.
- 34. Correll CU. Addressing adverse effects of antipsychotic treatment in young patients with schizophrenia. J Clin Psychiatry. 2011;72(1):e01.
- 35. Briles JJ, Rosenberg DR, Brooks BA, Roberts MW, Diwadkar VA. Review of the safety of secondgeneration antipsychotics: are they really "atypically" safe for youth and adults? Prim Care Companion CNS Disord. 2012;14(3):PCC.11r01298.
- 36. Correll CU. Assessing and maximizing the safety and tolerability of antipsychotics used in the treatment of children and adolescents. J Clin Psychiatry. 2008;69(Suppl 4):26–36.
- 37. Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders. Third edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/374250, accessed 21 November 2023).

546

Chlorpromazine injection - deletion/olanzapine injection - addition - EML

| Chlorpromazine injection (deletion) | ATC code: N05AA01 |
|-------------------------------------|-------------------|
| Olanzapine injection (addition)     | ATC code: N05AH03 |

## Proposal

Deletion of chlorpromazine intramuscular injection for treatment of adults with schizophrenia and related psychotic disorders from the core list of the EML.

Addition of olanzapine intramuscular injection to the core list of the EML for the acute treatment of adults with schizophrenia spectrum disorders.

## Applicant

WHO Collaborating Centre for Research and Training in Mental Health and Service Evaluation, University of Verona, Verona, Italy

## WHO technical department

Mental Health and Substance Use

## EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

24.1 Medicines used in psychotic disorders

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Chlorpromazine – Injection: 25 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule Olanzapine – Powder for injection (immediate-release): 10 mg in vial

## Core/complementary

Core

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

## Background

Chlorpromazine, with a square box, has been included on the EML since the first list was published in 1977. Listed formulations include the injection being proposed for removal, as well as oral liquid and tablets. Haloperidol is the only other immediate-release injectable antipsychotic currently included on the EML.

In 2021, as part of a comprehensive review of square box listings on the EML and EMLc, the Expert Committee requested that the therapeutic alternatives for chlorpromazine under the square box listing be reviewed.

In addition to the current application, a separate application considered at the 2023 Expert Committee meeting provided a review of therapeutic alternatives among first-generation antipsychotics.

#### Public health relevance

About 24 million people in the world are estimated have schizophrenia (1). The prevalence of schizophrenia ranges from 0.2% to 0.4% across countries, while its incidence is reported to be 18.7 per 100 000 person-years (2). Globally, 129 million disability-adjusted life-years are attributable to mental health disorders, 11.7% of which are attributable specifically to schizophrenia spectrum disorders. Schizophrenia is also associated with direct and indirect health care costs, and it is considered the costliest mental health condition per person globally (1,3).

Acute psychomotor agitation is a multifactorial clinical manifestation that can occur in a broad spectrum of psychiatric and neurological syndromes. Although data on the epidemiology of acute agitation are lacking, up to 20% of psychiatric emergency visits in the United States might involve agitated individuals with schizophrenia (4). Other studies report an overall prevalence of between 4% and 10% in emergency settings (5). In psychiatric inpatient settings, a literature review estimated an overall incidence of episodes of violence of about 32% (6).

Acute agitation might include heterogeneous manifestations, including highly disorganized behaviours, verbal or physical hostility and overt aggressiveness towards oneself, objects or other individuals. Paranoid delusional thoughts, hallucinations and substance abuse or withdrawal, along with social and environmental triggers, are among the most common underlying cause of acute agitation in people with chronic psychoses (5). Although non-pharmacological management can be effective in many cases, more invasive or coercive measures are sometimes required, particularly when: the insight of disease is poor; there is immediate risk to personal safety; and effective environmental measures cannot be promptly applied.

## Summary of evidence: benefits

#### Chlorpromazine

A 2017 Cochrane systematic review and pairwise meta-analysis included four randomized controlled trials that compared injectable chlorpromazine and injectable haloperidol for rapid tranquilization in adults with psychosis-induced aggression or agitation (7). These trials provided heterogeneous measures of efficacy and could not be all pooled for any efficacy outcomes. Although a number of outcomes were reported in the meta-analysis, the applicants selected

only those pooling at least two randomized controlled trials. For the outcome "not marked improvement", no significant differences were found between injectable haloperidol and chlorpromazine, although the point estimate favoured haloperidol (risk ratio (RR) 0.79, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.61 to 1.02; two randomized controlled trials, 89 participants, very low-certainty evidence). Results for the outcome "not any improvement" significantly favoured haloperidol (RR 0.15, 95% CI 0.05 to 0.49; two randomized controlled trials, 89 participants, very low-certainty evidence).

## Olanzapine

A systematic review and network meta-analysis of 10 randomized controlled trials (1964 participants) compared short-acting intramuscular second-generation antipsychotics (aripiprazole, olanzapine and ziprasidone), haloperidol and placebo in acutely agitated individuals with schizophrenia spectrum disorders (8). For the primary outcome of response 2 hours after the injection, all included second-generation antipsychotics were found to significantly outperform placebo, while no significant differences emerged in comparison with intramuscular haloperidol. Olanzapine was significantly more effective than aripiprazole for reducing agitation at 2 hours (RR 1.24, 95% CI 1.05 to 1.45; low-certainty evidence), but not haloperidol (RR 1.13, 95% CI 0.99 to 1.28; low-certainty evidence) or ziprasidone (RR 1.26, 95% CI 0.76 to 2.09; very low-certainty evidence). For the outcome of treatment response at 24 hours, no significant differences were found between olanzapine and haloperidol or olanzapine and aripiprazole.

## Summary of evidence: harms

## Chlorpromazine

A meta-analysis of four randomized controlled trials (153 participants) compared injectable haloperidol and injectable chlorpromazine for acceptability outcome "leaving the study early". The analysis found very low-quality evidence of significant benefit in favour of haloperidol (RR 0.21, 95% CI 0.07 to 0.71). Analysis of adverse events generally found no difference between treatments (7).

A revision of psychotropic medicines included in the interagency emergency health kit was conducted in 2011 (9). Injectable chlorpromazine was removed from the kit and was replaced by injectable haloperidol based on concerns of the risk of cardiovascular side-effects with chlorpromazine and its local irritation when administered intramuscularly (10).

## Olanzapine

A systematic review and pairwise meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials compared side-effects of intramuscular olanzapine with those of any other antipsychotic or placebo for treatment of acute agitation in people with schizophrenia spectrum disorders (*11*). Compared with placebo, there was very low-certainty evidence of no significant difference for intramuscular olanzapine in terms of serious adverse events (RR 0.48, 95% CI 0.05 to 5.18) or other specified adverse events with the exception of QT prolongation, which significantly favoured placebo (RR 0.34, 95% CI 0.16 to 0.70). Compared with haloperidol, no significant differences were found with olanzapine for study discontinuation for any reason (RR 1.02, 95% CI 0.47 to 2.23) or other specified undesirable outcomes with the exception of the use of anticholinergic medicines, extrapyramidal effects and dystonia, for which results favoured olanzapine.

#### WHO guidelines

The proposed deletion of chlorpromazine intramuscular injection and inclusion of olanzapine intramuscular injection are aligned with recommendations in the 2023 WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guidelines (*12*).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

A 2022 cost–effectiveness analysis using data from a randomized clinical trial in Hong Kong between December 2014 and September 2019 compared the costs associated with intramuscular midazolam, haloperidol and olanzapine for the management of acute agitation in an emergency department (*13*). The main cost driver was labour costs for agitation management; the cost of the medicine was a minor contributor to total expenditure. Midazolam was the most cost–effective intervention, while no difference was found between haloperidol and olanzapine.

A 2009 retrospective study compared the medical records of 27 patients who received intramuscular haloperidol for the treatment of acute agitation episodes with those of 26 patients who received intramuscular olanzapine (14). No differences were found between the two treatments for mean number of repeated medication doses per episode of agitation and the proportion of patients requiring the use of seclusion and restraints. The authors concluded that, with equal effectiveness, haloperidol was the less expensive option.

In a 2011 retrospective cohort study based on a review of electronic medical records, 136 patients with a diagnosis of schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder treated with different short-acting intramuscular antipsychotics (haloperidol, aripiprazole, olanzapine and ziprasidone) were compared for duration of hospital stay, number of injections received and associated costs (15). No difference in the length of hospitalization was found between the group of patients treated with haloperidol and those treated with second-generation antipsychotics. Treatment with haloperidol was associated with a significant reduction in the number of required injections and with lower costs compared to second-generation antipsychotics, ziprasidone was associated with a shorter duration of hospital stay compared with olanzapine.

The costs of chlorpromazine, haloperidol, olanzapine and aripiprazole intramuscular injections in different countries presented in the application are shown in Table 29.

| Country        | US\$ per unit                    |                            |                                 |                                    |
|----------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------|---------------------------------|------------------------------------|
|                | Chlorpromazine<br>IM, 50 mg/2 mL | Haloperidol IM,<br>5 mg/mL | Olanzapine IM,<br>10 mg in vial | Aripiprazole IM,<br>9.75 mg/1.3 mL |
| Australia      | 1.74                             | 1.82                       | NA                              | NA                                 |
| India          | 0.34                             | 0.08                       | 0.43                            | NA                                 |
| Italy          | 0.95                             | 0.69                       | 29.74                           | 4.65                               |
| South Africa   | 1.08                             | 2.51                       | 8.39                            | 5.82                               |
| United Kingdom | 0.84                             | 6.56                       | NA                              | 3.85                               |
| United States  | 8.88                             | 1.07                       | 34.15                           | NA                                 |

#### Table 29 Costs of intramuscular antipsychotics

IM: intramuscular; NA: not available.

#### Availability

Olanzapine intramuscular injection is available globally in branded and generic forms.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that injectable, intramuscular immediate-release formulations of antipsychotic medicines were relevant for the management of people with schizophrenia and related psychotic disorders, especially for short-term treatment of acute psychomotor agitation when treatment cannot be administered orally.

The Committee noted that the most updated and high-quality scientific literature showed that evidence supporting chlorpromazine injection was quantitatively and qualitatively poor (no evidence against placebo, and low/very low-certainty evidence against haloperidol injection). The Committee also noted that chlorpromazine injection may be associated with an increased risk of adverse effects and was not included in current WHO guidelines.

The Committee noted that the evidence presented in the application showed injectable haloperidol, olanzapine and aripiprazole had similar efficacy profiles, but that olanzapine and aripiprazole generally had a more tolerable safety profile in terms of motor symptoms (including acute dystonia and other extrapyramidal symptoms) than injectable haloperidol. The Committee noted that olanzapine was available in generic forms in many countries, while generic forms of aripiprazole were currently not available.

Based on these considerations, the Expert Committee recommended the removal of chlorpromazine immediate-release injection from the core list of the EML. The Committee also recommended the addition of olanzapine immediate-release injection on the core list of the EML for treatment of adults with schizophrenia and related psychotic disorders.

## References

- 1. World mental health report: transforming mental health for all. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/356119, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Jongsma HE, Turner C, Kirkbride JB, Jones PB. International incidence of psychotic disorders, 2002–17: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Public Health. 2019;4(5):e229–e44.
- 3. Christensen MK, Lim CCW, Saha S, Plana-Ripoll O, Cannon D, Presley F, et al. The cost of mental disorders: a systematic review. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci. 2020;29:e161.
- 4. Sachs GS. A review of agitation in mental illness: burden of illness and underlying pathology. J Clin Psychiatry. 2006;67(Suppl 10):5–12.
- Pompili M, Ducci G, Galluzzo A, Rosso G, Palumbo C, De Berardis D. The management of psychomotor agitation associated with schizophrenia or bipolar disorder: a brief review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021;18(8):4368.
- 6. Bowers L, Stewart D, Papadopoulos C, Dack C, Ross J, Khanom D. Inpatient violence and aggression: a literature review. London: King's College London, Institute of Psychiatry; 2011.
- 7. Ostinelli EG, Brooke-Powney MJ, Li X, Adams CE. Haloperidol for psychosis-induced aggression or agitation (rapid tranquillisation). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;7(7):CD009377.
- 8. Paris G, Bighelli I, Deste G, Siafis S, Schneider-Thoma J, Zhu Y, et al. Short-acting intramuscular second-generation antipsychotic drugs for acutely agitated patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. A systematic review and network meta-analysis. Schizophr Res. 2021;229:3–11.
- 9. van Ommeren M, Barbui C, de Jong K, Dua T, Jones L, Perez-Sales P, et al. If you could only choose five psychotropic medicines: updating the interagency emergency health kit. PLoS Med. 2011;8(5):e1001030.
- 10. National Collaborating Centre for Nursing and Supportive Care. Violence: the short-term management of disturbed/violent behaviour in psychiatric in-patient settings and emergency departments. London: Royal College of Nursing; 2005.
- 11. Kishi T, Matsunaga S, Iwata N. Intramuscular olanzapine for agitated patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Psychiatr Res. 2015;68:198–209.
- Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders. Third edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://iris.who.int/ handle/10665/374250, accessed 21 November 2023).
- 13. Yan VKC, Haendler M, Lau H, Li X, Lao KSJ, Tsui SH, et al. Cost-effectiveness of midazolam versus haloperidol versus olanzapine for the management of acute agitation in the accident and emergency department. Value Health. 2022;25(7):1099–106.

552

- 14. Freeman DJ, DiPaula BA, Love RC. Intramuscular haloperidol versus intramuscular olanzapine for treatment of acute agitation: a cost-minimization study. Pharmacotherapy. 2009;29(8):930–6.
- 15. Leung JG, Benedetti AM, Frazee LA, Myers N. Comparison of short-acting intramuscular antipsychotic medication: impact on length of stay and cost. Am J Ther. 2011;18(4):300–4.

Chlorpromazine, fluphenazine decanoate/enantate and haloperidol – review of square box alternatives – EML

| Chlorpromazine | ATC code: N05AA01 |
|----------------|-------------------|
| Fluphenazine   | ATC code: N05AB02 |
| Haloperidol    | ATC code: N05AD01 |

#### Proposal

Review of therapeutic alternatives under the square box listings for chlorpromazine, fluphenazine and haloperidol on the EML for use in the treatment of schizophrenia and related psychotic disorders.

The application proposed:

- oral chlorpromazine formulations be listed as a therapeutic alternative to oral haloperidol; and
- haloperidol decanoate and zuclopenthixol deaconate be listed as therapeutic alternatives to fluphenazine.

#### Applicant

WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use

## WHO technical department

Mental Health and Substance Use

#### EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

24.1 Medicines used in psychotic disorders

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Dose forms and strengths included on the 2021 EML

Chlorpromazine

Injection: 25 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule

Oral liquid: 25 mg/5 mL (hydrochloride)

Tablet: 100 mg (hydrochloride)

Fluphenazine

Injection: 25 mg (decanoate or enantate) in 1 mL ampoule

Haloperidol

Injection: 5 mg in 1 mL ampoule

Tablet: 2 mg, 5 mg.

554

Core/complementary

Core

#### Individual/square box listing

Square box listing

## Background

Chlorpromazine, fluphenazine and haloperidol have all been included on the EML for use in the treatment of schizophrenia and related psychotic disorders since the first EML was published in 1977.

At its meeting in 2021, the Expert Committee considered a review of square box listings on the EML and EMLc and recommended that all square box listings be qualified to explicitly indicate the recommended therapeutic alternatives. The Committee requested that the therapeutic alternatives for chlorpromazine, fluphenazine and haloperidol be reviewed and updated in 2023 (1). Thus, the EML Secretariat invited the WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use to submit an application reviewing the therapeutic alternatives for these medicines.

In a separate application to the 2023 Expert Committee meeting, the WHO Collaborating Centre for Research and Training in Mental Health and Service Evaluation at the University of Verona, Italy, proposed the deletion of chlorpromazine intramuscular injection from the EML.

## Public health relevance

About 24 million people in the world are estimated to have schizophrenia (2). The prevalence of schizophrenia ranges from 0.2% to 0.4% across countries, while its incidence is reported to be 18.7 per 100 000 person-years (3). Globally, 129 million disability-adjusted life-years are attributable to mental health disorders, 11.7% of which are attributable specifically to schizophrenia spectrum disorders. Schizophrenia is also associated with relevant direct and indirect healthcare costs, and it is considered the costliest mental health condition per person globally (2,4). People with schizophrenia have a life expectancy about 14 years lower than the general population (5).

## Summary of evidence: benefits

The application stated that according to the most recent and high-quality metaanalysis evidence on both acute and maintenance treatment of schizophrenia spectrum disorders, differences exist between first-generation antipsychotics in terms of efficacy, tolerability and certainty of evidence.

The applicants examined two recent meta-analyses: a 2019 systematic review and network meta-analysis (402 randomized controlled trials, 53 463

participants) which evaluated the comparative efficacy and tolerability of 32 oral antipsychotics for acute treatment of adults with schizophrenia (6); and a 2022 systematic review and meta-analysis (537 randomized controlled trials, 76 382 participants) which investigated the response of subgroups of patients with schizophrenia to different antipsychotic medicines (7). The evidence for first-generation antipsychotics was reviewed according to the following criteria.

- Demonstration of better efficacy in comparison with placebo for acute and/or maintenance treatment, considering the effect size as clinically meaningful when the confidence interval included a standardized mean difference of ≥ 0.3 for continuous outcomes, or a risk ratio of ≤ 0.6 for dichotomous outcomes.
- A moderate to high certainty of evidence according to grading of recommendations, assessment, development, and evaluations (GRADE)/confidence in network meta-analysis (CINeMA) approach for acute or maintenance treatment, or both.

The first-generation antipsychotics identified as meeting the above criteria were oral chlorpromazine, immediate-acting haloperidol, long-acting haloperidol decanoate, fluphenazine enantate/decanoate and zuclopenthixol decanoate. When compared head-to-head with the first-generation antipsychotics already listed in the EML, no statistically significant differences were found.

## Summary of evidence: harms

Different side-effect profiles of the different first-generation antipsychotics were observed, although tolerability outcomes were rarely reported and were likely imprecise. In general, chlorpromazine had a higher risk of weight gain and anticholinergic effects compared with haloperidol, however haloperidol was associated with higher risks of extrapyramidal symptoms, akathisia and hyperprolactinaemia than chlorpromazine.

## **WHO** guidelines

The medicines proposed in the application are recommended in the 2023 WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guidelines (8).

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

Not applicable

## Availability

The proposed medicines are available in branded and generic forms.
#### Other considerations

In consideration of a separate application at the meeting, the Expert Committee recommended the deletion of chlorpromazine immediate-release injection from the core list of the EML.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recalled the request made by the 2021 Committee for therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed for the square box listings for chlorpromazine, fluphenazine and haloperidol for treatment of schizophrenia and related psychotic disorders. The Expert Committee accepted the rationale applied by the WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use in identifying suitable therapeutic alternatives and made the following recommendations.

For immediate-acting first-generation antipsychotics, chlorpromazine (oral formulations only) should be included as a therapeutic alternative to oral haloperidol. This recommendation, coupled with the recommendation to remove chlorpromazine injection, effectively removes the independent listing for chlorpromazine from the EML.

For long-acting first-generation antipsychotics, haloperidol decanoate and zuclopenthixol decanoate should be included as therapeutic alternatives to fluphenazine.

#### References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351172, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. World mental health report: Transforming mental health for all. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/356119, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 3. Jongsma HE, Turner C, Kirkbride JB, Jones PB. International incidence of psychotic disorders, 2002-17: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Public Health. 2019;4(5):e229–e44.
- 4. Christensen MK, Lim CCW, Saha S, Plana-Ripoll O, Cannon D, Presley F, et al. The cost of mental disorders: a systematic review. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci. 2020;29:e161.
- 5. Hjorthøj C, Stürup AE, McGrath JJ, Nordentoft M. Years of potential life lost and life expectancy in schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Psychiatry. 2017;4(4):295–301.
- Huhn M, Nikolakopoulou A, Schneider-Thoma J, Krause M, Samara M, Peter N, et al. Comparative efficacy and tolerability of 32 oral antipsychotics for the acute treatment of adults with multi-episode schizophrenia: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Lancet. 2019;394(10202):939–51.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 7. Leucht S, Chaimani A, Krause M, Schneider-Thoma J, Wang D, Dong S, et al. The response of subgroups of patients with schizophrenia to different antipsychotic drugs: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Psychiatry. 2022;9(11):884–93.
- 8. Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders. Third edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/374250, accessed 21 November 2023).

558

Paliperidone palmitate - new formulation - EML

## Paliperidone palmitate

ATC code: N05AX13

#### Proposal

Addition of paliperidone palmitate 3-month (PP3M) long-acting injection formulation to the core list of the EML for the maintenance treatment of adults with schizophrenia.

## Applicant

Janssen Research & Development, LLC, Raritan, NJ, United States of America

### WHO technical department

The WHO department of Mental Health and Substance Use reviewed the application. The technical department made the following comments.

- Preliminary findings on the safety profile of PP3M are yet to be substantiated by evidence coming from long-term and pharmacovigilance studies.
- The long half-life of PP3M has implications for the possibility of seeking prompt assistance in the event of treatment-emergent adverse effects in rural settings
- The requirement to use PP3M after at least 4 months treatment with paliperidone palmitate 1-month (PP1M) may hinder its use due to limited or no availability in many low- and middle-income settings.
- Price information is lacking from low- and middle-income countries, and no generics are currently available.
- PP3M is not currently recommended for use in WHO guidelines.

## EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

24.1 Medicines used in psychotic disorders

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Injection (prolonged-release): 175 mg, 263 mg, 350 mg, 525 mg (as palmitate) in prefilled syringe

#### Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

#### Background

In 2021, the Expert Committee recommended the addition of PP1M long-acting injection to the core list of the EML for maintenance treatment of schizophrenia in adults stabilized on oral therapy. A square box listing was recommended specifying risperidone long-acting injection as a therapeutic alternative (1).

The 2021 Committee considered that long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicines are a valuable treatment option to increase adherence to treatment and reduce relapse in adults with schizophrenia and related psychotic disorders. The Committee also noted with concern the uncertainty of current and future availability of fluphenazine injection, which was the only long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicine included on the EML at that time and considered that the availability of alternative medicines would be important to meet the public health need for such treatments. The Committee noted that long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicines are an established treatment option for schizophrenia and are recommended in existing WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guidelines. In particular, the Committee acknowledged that long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicines are useful in low-resource settings, where many factors might impede regular monitoring and follow-up of patients.

The 2021 Committee noted that the available data suggested benefits of long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicines versus oral antipsychotic medicines in preventing hospitalization or relapse, especially in populations with low treatment adherence. The effectiveness and overall safety of first-generation and second-generation antipsychotic medicines were similar. The availability of agents with different side-effect profiles may support the selection of one treatment over another given a patient's clinical status and vulnerabilities.

In consideration of the application for inclusion of PP1M, the 2021 Committee noted that although PP3M was shown to be effective and acceptable, the applicants decided not to include this formulation in the proposal for the following reasons.

- PP3M had become available only relatively recently, was not yet commonly used in clinical practice and its worldwide availability might be limited.
- Some concerns had been raised about a randomized study comparing PP3M and placebo (2) in which study participants underwent a stabilization phase with PP1M before randomization which might have inflated the effect size in favour of paliperidone.

- More research was needed to rule out possible unintended consequences of PP3M, including the effects of reduced doctors' visits due to the longer dosing interval.
- The cumulative monthly dosing of PP3M was slighter higher than that of PP1M and this may affect toxicity and tolerability (*3*).

## Public health relevance

Schizophrenia is a debilitating mental disorder that typically starts in late adolescence or early adulthood (4-6). In 2019, nearly 24 million people worldwide were estimated to have schizophrenia (7). The global burden of mental disorders, including schizophrenia, has been increasing over time (4,7). Between 1990 and 2019, the number of disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) due to mental disorders rose from 80.8 million to 125.3 million, accounting for almost 5% of all DALYs (7). The incident cases and DALYs of schizophrenia also increased during this period, reaching 1.13 million persons and 12.66 million DALYs, a 37% increase in incident cases and a 62% increase in DALYs compared with 1990 (4). In low-and middle-income countries, a significant treatment gap exists, with about two thirds of individuals with schizophrenia not receiving adequate treatment (8). People with schizophrenia also have a reduced life expectancy of about 15 years compared with the general population, which is partly due to physical diseases such as cardiovascular disease (9,10).

Schizophrenia is a significant economic burden and is projected to cost the global economy trillions of dollars by 2030 (11-13). The costs include direct expenses of treatment, rehabilitation and social welfare, as well as indirect costs such as reduced productivity, unemployment and the financial impact on families. The burden is exacerbated by the limited global coverage of mental health care (14-17).

Long-term treatment is crucial in managing schizophrenia, and longacting injectable medicines are commonly prescribed for patients who are noncompliant or experience persistent symptoms (18–21).

## Summary of evidence: benefits

The R092670-PSY-3011 study was a company-sponsored non-inferiority phase III study that compared PP3M with PP1M in adults with schizophrenia (22). Participants received PP1M during a 17-week open-label phase before being randomized to receive the same dose of PP1M or the corresponding equivalent dose of PP3M for 48 weeks. The primary efficacy endpoint was the percentage of participants who had not relapsed at the end of the double blind phase based on the Kaplan–Meier 48-week cumulative estimate of survival. The per-protocol analysis showed similar rates of relapse in both treatment groups after 48 weeks (37/458 (8.1%) for PP3M versus 45/490 (9.2%) for PP1M; estimated difference

(PP3M – PP1M) 1.2%, 95% confidence interval (CI) –2.7% to 5.1%). It was concluded that PP3M was non-inferior to PP1M as the lower bound of the CI was larger than the prespecified non-inferiority margin of –15%. The hazard ratio (HR) for risk of relapse when switching from PP1M to PP3M versus remaining on PP1M was 0.87 (95% CI 0.56 to 1.34). Subgroup analyses also supported the non-inferiority of PP3M in different age groups, sexes, races, baseline body mass index groups and geographic regions (23–25).

The R092670-PSY-3012 study was a company-sponsored long-term, placebo-controlled phase III randomized withdrawal study with PP3M in adults with schizophrenia (2). The study consisted of four phases and evaluated the efficacy of PP3M in delaying relapse of symptoms in adult participants with schizophrenia who had achieved symptom control with PP1M. The study used a randomized withdrawal design to assess whether the discontinuation of PP3M treatment after stabilization with PP1M would affect the course of the disease. The fixed-dose regimen of PP3M was based on the conversion from the effective dose of PP1M. The primary endpoint was the time to relapse during the doubleblind phase. At the preplanned interim analysis, conducted after 42 relapse events, 23.0% (31/135) of participants who switched from open-label PP3M to double-blind placebo experienced a relapse event, compared with 7.4% (11/148) of participants who remained on PP3M. Participants who continued treatment with PP3M in the double-blind phase experienced a significantly longer time to relapse compared with those who switched to placebo (P < 0.001 based on a log-rank test). The median time to the first relapse was 274 days in the placebo group, while it was not estimable in the PP3M group. At the final analysis, after 56 relapse events, 29.0% (42/145) of participants in the double-blind placebo group experienced a relapse event versus 8.8% (14/160) of participants in the doubleblind PP3M group. A significant difference was seen in the time to relapse which favoured PP3M (P < 0.001 based on a log-rank test). The median time to the first relapse event was 395 days for the placebo group, while it was not estimable for the PP3M group.

A 2021 systematic review and network meta-analysis of 78 randomized controlled trials (11 505 participants) compared relapse prevention and acceptability of long-acting injectable antipsychotics in the maintenance treatment of non-affective psychoses in adults (26). PP1M and PP3M were among the long-acting antipsychotics included in the analysis. The primary outcomes were the proportion of patients who experienced at least one relapse, and the proportion of patients who dropped out of the trial for any reason (acceptability). The ranking probability was assessed by surface under the cumulative ranking curve (SUCRA) and the certainty of evidence was assessed by Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluations (GRADE). The primary analysis found that most long-acting injectable antipsychotics evaluated

were significantly more effective than placebo in preventing relapse, including PP3M (relative risk (RR) 0.27, 95% CI 0.17 to 0.42; SUCRA 80.2%, high-certainty evidence) and PP1M (RR 0.39, 95% CI 0.30 to 0.50; SUCRA 46.8%, high-certainty evidence). There was also moderate-certainty evidence of no significant difference for the comparison between PP3M and PP1M (RR 1.44, 95% CI 0.95 to 2.19). Additionally, most long-acting injectable antipsychotics evaluated were significantly more acceptable than placebo, including PP3M (0.60, 95% CI 0.43 to 0.84; SUCRA 62.5%, high-certainty evidence) and PP1M (0.70, 95% CI 0.85 to 0.85; SUCRA 39.5%, moderate-certainty evidence). Exploratory secondary analyses showed significantly lower hospitalization rates for several long-acting injectable antipsychotics including PP3M (RR 0.26, 95% CI 0.10 to 0.65) and PP1M (RR 0.37, 95% CI 0.16 to 0.87). The authors concluded that long-acting injectable formulations of paliperidone (PP3M and PP1M) were among those that demonstrated the highest effectiveness and acceptability in preventing relapse in non-affective psychoses.

A 2022 systematic review and network meta-analysis of 92 randomized controlled trials (22 645 participants) evaluated the differences in the effectiveness and tolerability of oral antipsychotics and long-acting injectable antipsychotics for maintenance treatment of schizophrenia-spectrum disorders (*27*). The two coprimary outcomes were the proportion of participants who experienced at least one relapse, and the proportion of participants who dropped out of the trial due to an adverse event. There was moderate-certainty evidence that PP3M was superior to placebo for the prevention of relapse (RR 0.24, 95% CI 0.13 to 0.42; SUCRA 80.3%).

A more recent 2022 systematic review and network meta-analysis of 100 randomized controlled trials (16 812 participants) compared the efficacy and tolerability of 32 antipsychotics as maintenance treatment for non-treatment-resistant patients with schizophrenia. No clear evidence for the superiority of specific antipsychotics for relapse prevention was observed and the authors concluded that the choice of medicine should be guided mainly by tolerability (28).

A retrospective observational study used claims data from the Hungarian National Health Insurance Fund database to compare the effectiveness of long-acting injectable antipsychotics versus oral antipsychotics (29). The study included 5400 patients who started treatment with a second-generation antipsychotic as monotherapy (1423 given injectable medicines, and 3977 given oral medicines) including PP1M and PP3M. The primary outcome was the all-cause discontinuation of the antipsychotic medication over a 1-year and 1.5-year period. The results showed that long-acting injectable antipsychotics had higher continuation rates compared with oral antipsychotics. Patients given PP3M (n = 627) had the highest continuation rates of all antipsychotics, with 79% and 76% of patients continuing treatment for 1 year and 1.5 years, respectively.

Adjusted analyses showed that the risk of discontinuation was significantly higher for oral antipsychotics compared with PP3M and aripiprazole long-acting injection (P < 0.01 for all). Compared with PP1M, the risk of discontinuation was significantly higher for all oral antipsychotics except olanzapine and paliperidone. Risperidone long-acting injection had a lower risk of discontinuation compared with oral risperidone (P < 0.001). All other long-acting injectable antipsychotics had a significantly higher risk of discontinuation than PP3M (P < 0.05). The study limitations included the lack of randomization and control group, potential misclassification of diagnoses, and selection bias of different treatments (29).

A company-sponsored prospective, multinational, single-arm, openlabel phase IIIb study (305 participants) evaluated the efficacy and safety of converting patients with schizophrenia stabilized with PP1M to PP3M in a naturalistic clinical setting over 52 weeks (30). The primary efficacy endpoint was symptomatic remission at last observation carried forward. Symptomatic remission was achieved by 56.8% (172/303) of patients at the last observation carried forward endpoint, while symptomatic remission was achieved by 60.7% (184/303) of patients during the 12-month treatment period. Among these, 4.0% (12/303) patients had met the criteria for symptomatic remission during the treatment period, then subsequently did not. Over the PP3M treatment period, the proportion of patients hospitalized for psychiatric reasons fell from 13.5% at baseline to 4.6%, and the mean number of days of hospitalization fell from 33.2 days to 15.2 days. Additionally, the number of patients visiting the emergency department for psychiatric reasons decreased from 11 to 3 during the PP3M treatment period compared with the 12 months before baseline.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

PP3M and PP1M have the same active moiety, route of administration and nanoparticle aqueous suspension technology, although they differ in particle size and concentration (*31*). When used within the recommended dose range, PP3M results in similar exposure to paliperidone as PP1M, without accumulation over time (*32*).

Safety findings from the long-term PP3M studies R092670 PSY 3011 (22) and R092670 PSY 3012 (2) were comparable to previous studies with PP1M, with no clinically meaningful differences in the safety profile between the two products.

The warnings and precautions for PP3M are in line with those for other second-generation antipsychotics. In the United States, PP3M carries a black box warning on the increased risk of death associated with cerebrovascular adverse reactions, including stroke, in elderly patients with dementia-related psychosis (*33*).

The types and incidences of adverse events are consistent between PP3M and PP1M. Weight gain was the most frequently reported treatment-emergent adverse event in both groups. The incidence of adverse events related to tardive

dyskinesia/extrapyramidal symptoms, QT prolongation, hyperglycaemia and diabetes mellitus, weight gain, hyperprolactinaemia and prolactin-related adverse events, as well as injection site reactions and discontinuations due to these events, were generally similar between PP3M and PP1M. Neuroleptic malignant syndrome was not reported. While injection-site adverse events were infrequently reported in completed studies with PP3M, they occurred more frequently than with PP1M. Subgroup analyses based on geographical regions (east Asian, European/non-European and Latin American) did not show any unique safety signals associated with PP3M compared with PP1M (*23–25*).

The 2021 network meta-analysis showed that PP1M had a higher risk of adverse events (RR 1.87, 95% CI 1.02 to 3.40) and weight gain (RR 2.51, 95% CI 1.55 to 4.05) compared with placebo. Point estimates for these outcomes also showed a higher risk for PP3M, however they were not statistically significant. PP3M had a lower risk of QTc prolongation than PP1M (based on results from a single study). Both PP1M and PP3M showed significantly higher risk of hyperprolactinaemia (RR 3.25, 95% CI 1.24 to 8.51 and RR 2.99, 95% CI 1.11 to 8.05, respectively) (*27*).

An observational review of the French pharmacovigilance database found that adverse drug reactions associated with paliperidone palmitate were similar to those reported for other atypical antipsychotics (34). Another observational cohort study of 90 patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders found that increased appetite and weight were more common with PP3M (40.9%) and PP1M (76.5%) compared with haloperidol decanoate (17.6%), but there were no significant differences in sedation, extrapyramidal symptoms, decreased libido or body mass index (35). A large retrospective cohort study involving 92 075 patients with schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder reported no increased risk of allcause death, completed suicide or suicidal behaviour/attempts in users of various long-acting injectable antipsychotics, including PP3M and PP1M (36). Likewise, an observational, cross-sectional study in 431 non-institutionalized patients with schizophrenia, psychosis, and schizoaffective, delusional, bipolar or personality disorders found similar results (37). A 12-month cohort study in outpatients with non-affective first episode psychosis found no statistically significant differences in treatment side-effects between PP3M and PP1M (38). Studies examining the switch from PP1M or clozapine to PP3M did not report any new safety concerns (30, 39-43).

#### WHO guidelines

The 2023 WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders includes a conditional recommendation that long-acting injection antipsychotic medicines (fluphenazine, haloperidol, paliperidone, risperidone and zuclopenthixol) should be considered as an alternative to oral antipsychotic medicines for adults with psychotic disorders (including schizophrenia) requiring long-term treatment, carefully balancing effectiveness, side-effects and individual preference (moderate certainty of evidence) (44).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

PP3M is available in different dose levels. The cost per patient for PP3M can vary depending on the dose and country. In the Netherlands (Kingdom of the), Portugal and Sweden, the publicly available list prices for PP3M range from €565 to €1868 per prefilled syringe or €2259 to €7471 a year (45). These prices can vary based on factors such as country-specific assessments of value, population coverage, local pricing and reimbursement negotiations, and local regulations.

Despite potentially higher drug acquisition costs, PP3M and PP1M have been found to be cost-saving for maintenance treatment in resourcelimited settings based on evidence from Rwanda and South Africa. Additionally, compared with standard oral antipsychotics, PP3M and PP1M have the potential for cost offsets. In the context of Rwanda, where health care resources are limited and patients must often travel long distances for treatment, a 1-year cost consequence model study showed that PP3M and PP1M led to longer treatment duration, fewer relapses, and fewer hospital days compared with haloperidol, the standard of care. This resulted in reduced indirect costs by almost 50%, including travel expenses and improved productivity (46,47).

Real-world evidence and simulation studies also suggest that early use of long-acting injectable antipsychotics can improve long-term patient outcomes and potentially lead to cost offsets (48,49). These include a reduction in hospital admissions, reduced use of disability benefits, and increases in independent living and competitive employment.

An analysis of the R092670-PSY-3012 study found that in terms of direct costs, PP3M decreased the likelihood of hospitalization and emergency room visits, resulting in lower costs (49). The odds ratio for hospitalization for psychiatric and social reasons during the double-blind phase for placebo versus PP3M was 7.74 (95% CI 2.39 to 25.05). Total health-related health care resource utilization costs, mental health-related costs and hospitalization/ emergency room visit costs were significantly lower for the PP3M group versus the placebo group.

#### Availability

PP3M is approved and registered in 90 countries worldwide. It is not currently available on the market in all 90 countries in which it is registered. Generic brands are not currently available, with patent protection for the innovator brand not due to expire until 2036.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee recognized that long-acting injectable antipsychotic medicines were an important treatment option for some patients with schizophrenia, and recalled the recommendation made by the 2021 Expert Committee to include PP1M long-acting injection on the EML for this indication, with risperidone long-acting injection as a therapeutic alternative among second-generation antipsychotics. The Committee also noted the separate application to the 2023 meeting proposing therapeutic alternatives to long-acting injections of first-generation antipsychotics.

The Committee noted that compared with the 1-month formulation (PP1M), the 3-month formulation (PP3M) had evidence of similar clinical efficacy and safety and may offer advantages to patients in terms of fewer injections. However, the Committee noted that PP3M was recommended for use only in patients who have been adequately treated with PP1M and demonstrate benefit from and tolerance to it for at least 4 months. The Committee was therefore concerned that both strength formulations would need to be available for appropriate treatment and considered that the more limited availability of PP3M in low- and middle-income countries would be problematic. In addition, the Committee noted that PP3M was more highly priced and was not yet available in generic forms.

The Committee also noted that PP3M long-acting injection was not currently included in WHO mhGAP guidelines.

Based on these considerations, the Expert Committee did not recommend inclusion of PP3M long-acting injection on the EML for maintenance treatment of schizophrenia.

### References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351172, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Berwaerts J, Liu Y, Gopal S, Nuamah I, Xu H, Savitz A, et al. Efficacy and safety of the 3-month formulation of paliperidone palmitate vs placebo for relapse prevention of schizophrenia: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Psychiatry. 2015;72(8):830–9.
- Ostuzzi G, Papola D, Gastaldon C, Barbui C. New EMA report on paliperidone 3-month injections: taking clinical and policy decisions without an adequate evidence base. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci. 2017;26(3):231–3.
- He H, Hu C, Ren Z, Bai L, Gao F, Lyu J. Trends in the incidence and DALYs of bipolar disorder at global, regional, and national levels: results from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. J Psychiatr Res. 2020;125:96–105.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 5. Harrow M, Jobe TH, Faull RN. Do all schizophrenia patients need antipsychotic treatment continuously throughout their lifetime? A 20-year longitudinal study. Psychol Med. 2012;42(10):2145–55.
- 6. Tiihonen J, Tanskanen A, Taipale H. 20-year nationwide follow-up study on discontinuation of antipsychotic treatment in first-episode schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry. 2018;175(8):765–73.
- Global, regional, and national burden of 12 mental disorders in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet Psychiatry. 2022;9(2):137–50.
- Lora A, Kohn R, Levav I, McBain R, Morris J, Saxena S. Service availability and utilization and treatment gap for schizophrenic disorders: a survey in 50 low- and middle-income countries. Bull World Health Organ. 2012;90(1):47–54.
- 9. Hjorthøj C, Stürup AE, McGrath JJ, Nordentoft M. Years of potential life lost and life expectancy in schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Psychiatry. 2017;4(4):295–301.
- 10. Laursen TM, Nordentoft M, Mortensen PB. Excess early mortality in schizophrenia. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. 2014;10:425–48.
- 11. Bloom DE, Cafiero ET, Jané-Llopis E, Abrahams-Gessel S, Bloom LR, Fathima S, et al. The global economic burden of noncommunicable diseases. Geneva: World Economic Forum; 2011.
- 12. Trautmann S, Rehm J, Wittchen HU. The economic costs of mental disorders: do our societies react appropriately to the burden of mental disorders? EMBO Rep. 2016;17(9):1245–9.
- Brief: financing mental health for all [internet]. London: United for Global Mental Health; 2022 (https://unitedgmh.org/knowledge-hub/briefing-financing-mental-health-for-all/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 14. Chong HY, Teoh SL, Wu DB, Kotirum S, Chiou CF, Chaiyakunapruk N. Global economic burden of schizophrenia: a systematic review. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2016;12:357–73.
- 15. Jin H, Mosweu I. The societal cost of schizophrenia: a systematic review. Pharmacoeconomics. 2017;35(1):25–42.
- 16. Knapp M, King D, Romeo R, Adams J, Baldwin A, Ballard C, et al. Cost-effectiveness of donepezil and memantine in moderate to severe Alzheimer's disease (the DOMINO-AD trial). Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2016;32(12):1205–16.
- 17. McEvoy JP. The costs of schizophrenia. J Clin Psychiatry. 2007;68(Suppl 14):4–7.
- Hasan A, Falkai P, Wobrock T, Lieberman J, Glenthoj B, Gattaz WF, et al. World Federation of Societies of Biological Psychiatry (WFSBP) guidelines for biological treatment of schizophrenia, part 2: update 2012 on the long-term treatment of schizophrenia and management of antipsychoticinduced side effects. World J Biol Psychiatry. 2013;14(1):2–44.
- 19. Kane JM, McEvoy JP, Correll CU, Llorca PM. Controversies surrounding the use of long-acting injectable antipsychotic medications for the treatment of patients with schizophrenia. CNS Drugs. 2021;35(11):1189–205.
- 20. Hertz D, Dua D, Howe T. Assessment of long-acting injectable antipsychotics: results from a survey of psychiatrists and schizophrenic patients. J Manag Care Spec Pharm. 2018;4-A(Suppl 24).
- 21. Lai JK, Margolese HC. A qualitative study of patient experience when switching from paliperidone palmitate once monthly (PP1M) to paliperidone palmitate three monthly (PP3M) long-acting injectable antipsychotic. Schizophr Res. 2019;204:443–4.
- 22. Savitz AJ, Xu H, Gopal S, Nuamah I, Ravenstijn P, Janik A, et al. Efficacy and safety of paliperidone palmitate 3-month formulation for patients with schizophrenia: a randomized, multicenter, double-blind, noninferiority study. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol. 2016;19(7):pyw018.

568

- 23. Savitz AJ, Xu H, Gopal S, Nuamah I, Mathews M, Soares B. Efficacy and safety of paliperidone palmitate 3-month formulation in Latin American patients with schizophrenia: a subgroup analysis of data from two large phase 3 randomized, double-blind studies. Braz J Psychiatry. 2019;41(6):499–510.
- 24. Savitz AJ, Xu H, Gopal S, Nuamah I, Ravenstijn P, Hough D, et al. Efficacy and safety of paliperidone palmitate 3-month versus 1-month formulation in patients with schizophrenia: comparison between European and non-European population. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2019;15:587–602.
- 25. Savitz AJ, Xu H, Gopal S, Nuamah I, Ravenstijn P, Hough D, et al. Efficacy and safety of paliperidone palmitate three-monthly formulation in East Asian patients with schizophrenia: subgroup analysis of a global, randomized, double-blind, phase III, noninferiority study. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2017;13:2193–207.
- Ostuzzi G, Bertolini F, Del Giovane C, Tedeschi F, Bovo C, Gastaldon C, et al. Maintenance treatment with long-acting injectable antipsychotics for people with nonaffective psychoses: a network meta-analysis. Am J Psychiatry. 2021;178(5):424–36.
- 27. Ostuzzi G, Bertolini F, Tedeschi F, Vita G, Brambilla P, Del Fabro L, et al. Oral and long-acting antipsychotics for relapse prevention in schizophrenia-spectrum disorders: a network meta-analysis of 92 randomized trials including 22,645 participants. World Psychiatry. 2022;21(2):295–307.
- Schneider-Thoma J, Chalkou K, Dörries C, Bighelli I, Ceraso A, Huhn M, et al. Comparative efficacy and tolerability of 32 oral and long-acting injectable antipsychotics for the maintenance treatment of adults with schizophrenia: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Lancet. 2022;399(10327):824–36.
- 29. Takács P, Kunovszki P, Timtschenko V, Fehér L, Balázs T, Hegyi R, et al. Comparative effectiveness of second generation long-acting injectable antipsychotics based on nationwide database research in Hungary: an update. Schizophrenia Bulletin Open. 2022;3(1):sgac013.
- Garcia-Portilla MP, Llorca PM, Maina G, Bozikas VP, Devrimci-Ozguven H, Kim SW, et al. Symptomatic and functional outcomes after treatment with paliperidone palmitate 3-month formulation for 52 weeks in patients with clinically stable schizophrenia. Ther Adv Psychopharmacol. 2020;10:2045125320926347.
- Correll CU, Kim E, Sliwa JK, Hamm W, Gopal S, Mathews M, et al. Pharmacokinetic characteristics of long-acting injectable antipsychotics for schizophrenia: an overview. CNS Drugs. 2021;35(1):39–59.
- Magnusson MO, Samtani MN, Plan EL, Jonsson EN, Rossenu S, Vermeulen A, et al. Dosing and switching strategies for paliperidone palmitate 3-month formulation in patients with schizophrenia based on population pharmacokinetic modeling and simulation, and clinical trial data. CNS Drugs. 2017;31(4):273–88.
- 33. Yan J. FDA extends black-box warning to all antipsychotics. Psychiatric News. 2008 Jul 18.
- Boels D, Mahe J, Olry A, Citterio-Quentin A, Moragny J, Jolliet P. Fatal and life-threatening ADRs associated with paliperidone palmitate: an observational study in the French pharmacovigilance database. Clin Toxicol (Phila). 2021;59(9):786–93.
- 35. Di Lorenzo R, Iorio A, Pinelli M, Magarini F, Marchi M, Sacchetti A, et al. Effectiveness and quality of life with paliperidone palmitate 3-monthly in comparison with other long-acting drugs. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2022;18:829–46.
- 36. Tang CH, Shen SP, Huang MW, Qiu H, Watanabe S, Goh CH, et al. Risks of all-cause death and completed suicide in patients with schizophrenia/schizoaffective disorder treated with long-acting injectable or oral antipsychotics: a population-based retrospective cohort study in Taiwan. Eur Psychiatry. 2021;65(1):e5.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 37. Garcia-Carmona JA, Simal-Aguado J, Campos-Navarro MP, Valdivia-Munoz F, Galindo-Tovar A. Long-acting injectable antipsychotics: analysis of prescription patterns and patient characteristics in mental health from a Spanish real-world study. Clin Drug Investig. 2020;40(5):459–68.
- 38. Segarra R, Recio-Barbero M, Saenz-Herrero M, Mentxaka O, Cabezas-Garduno J, Eguiluz JI, et al. Oral and palmitate paliperidone long-acting injectable formulations' use in schizophrenia spectrum disorders: a retrospective cohort study from the First Episode Psychosis Intervention Program (CRUPEP). Int J Neuropsychopharmacol. 2021;24(9):694–702.
- 39. Fernandez-Miranda JJ, Diaz-Fernandez S, De Berardis D, Lopez-Munoz F. Paliperidone palmitate every three months (pp3m) 2-year treatment compliance, effectiveness and satisfaction compared with paliperidone palmitate-monthly (pp1m) in people with severe schizophrenia. J Clin Med. 2021;10(7):1408.
- 40. Karslioglu EH, Kolcu Z, Karslioglu NI, Caykoylu A. Prospective analysis of serum prolactin levels, clinical symptomatology and sexual functions in patients with schizophrenia switched to paliperidone palmitate 3-monthly from paliperidone palmitate 1-monthly: preliminary findings of the first 3 months. Hum Psychopharmacol. 2022;37(3):e2827.
- Mauri MC, Franco G, Minutillo A, Paletta S, Di Pace C, Reggiori A, et al. The switch from paliperidone long-acting injectable 1- to 3-monthly: clinical pharmacokinetic evaluation in patients with schizophrenia (preliminary data). J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2022;42(1):23–30.
- 42. Wallman P, Clark I, Taylor D. Discontinuation and relapse with paliperidone palmitate threemonthly for maintenance of schizophrenia: two year follow-up of use in clinical practice. J Psychopharmacol. 2021;35(9):1091–8.
- 43. Martinez-Andres JA, Garcia-Carmona JA. Switching from clozapine to paliperidone palmitate-3-monthly improved obesity, hyperglycemia and dyslipidemia lowering antipsychotic dose equivalents in a treatment-resistant schizophrenia cohort. Int Clin Psychopharmacol. 2020;35(3):163–9.
- 44. Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders. Third edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/374250, accessed 21 November 2023).
- 45. Einarson TR, Bereza BG, Tedouri F, Van Impe K, Denee TR, Dries PJT. Cost-effectiveness of 3-month paliperidone therapy for chronic schizophrenia in the Netherlands. J Med Econ. 2017;20(11):1187–99.
- 46. Keenan A, Thomas T, Ngirababyeyi A, Mwaniki K, Damascene Iyamuremye J, Smith-Swintosky V, et al. Estimating the benefit of long-acting injectables for schizophrenia treatment in Rwanda using a one-year cost-consequence model. Poster PMH13 presented at the ISPOR Annual International Meeting, New Orleans, LA, 18–22 May 2019.
- 47. Thomas T, Keenan A, Ngirababyeyi A, Mwaniki K, Iyamuremye JD, Smith-Swintosky V, et al. Estimating the benefit of long-acting injectables for schizophrenia treatment in Rwanda using a one-year cost-consequence model. Value Health. 2019;22:S227.
- 48. Benson C, Chirila C, Graham J, Radder C, Zheng Q, Woodruff K. Health resource use and cost analysis of schizophrenia patients participating in a randomized, rulticenter, double-blind, relapse prevention study of paliperidone palmitate 3-month formulation. Value Health. 2015;18(3):A119.
- 49. Woodruff K, Chirila C, Zheng Q, Sawyer G, Nuamah I. Healthcare resource use of paliperidone palmitate 3-month injection vs. placebo: an analysis of the PSY-3012 phase III clinical trial hospital data. Paper presented ar the 168th Annual Meeting of the American Psychiatric Association, Toronto, Canada, 16–20 May 2015.

570

Risperidone - addition of square box - EML

## Risperidone

ATC code: N05AX08

## Proposal

Addition of a square box to the listing of risperidone on the EML for treatment of schizophrenia and related chronic psychotic disorders, specifying aripiprazole, olanzapine, paliperidone and quetiapine as therapeutic alternatives.

## Applicant

WHO Collaborating Centre for Research and Training in Mental Health and Service Evaluation, University of Verona, Verona, Italy

### WHO technical department

Mental Health and Substance Use

#### EML/EMLc

EML

#### Section

24.1 Medicines used in psychotic disorders

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Risperidone Tablet: 1 mg, 2 mg, 3 mg, 4 mg, 6 mg Aripiprazole Tablet: 5 mg, 10 mg, 15 mg, 30 mg Olanzapine Tablet: 5 mg, 10 mg, 20 mg Orodispersible tablet: 5 mg, 10 mg, 20 mg Paliperidone Tablet (modified-release): 3 mg, 6 mg, 9 mg Quetiapine Tablet (immediate-release): 25 mg, 100 mg, 150 mg, 200 mg, 300 mg Tablet (modified-release): 50 mg, 150 mg, 200 mg, 300 mg

#### Core/complementary

Core

#### Individual/square box listing

Square box

#### Background

Oral risperidone was added to the EML in 2013 as a treatment for schizophrenia. In making this recommendation, the Expert Committee considered that except for clozapine, the efficacy and safety of the second-generation antipsychotics were comparable but noted that the availability of generics varied considerably. The Expert Committee recommended that risperidone be added to the EML without the square box symbol. However, the Committee indicated that it would welcome further applications for additional second-generation antipsychotics, based on careful consideration of suitable alternatives or additions to risperidone (1).

#### Public health relevance

In 2019, about 24 million people in the world were estimated to have schizophrenia (2). The prevalence of schizophrenia ranged from 0.2% to 0.4% across countries, while its incidence was 16.7 per 100 000 person-years (3). Globally, 129 million disability-adjusted life-years are attributable to mental health disorders, 11.7% of which are attributable to schizophrenia spectrum disorders. Schizophrenia is also associated with direct and indirect health care costs, and it is considered the costliest mental health condition per person globally (2,4).

The relationship between schizophrenia and stress-related noncommunicable diseases is well known (5). People with schizophrenia have a 15–20 year shorter life expectancy than the general population (6,7). While suicide explains some of this reduced life expectancy, physical diseases probably account for most of the premature mortality (7,8).

According to current evidence, regular pharmacological treatment from the early phases of the disease may preserve neurocognitive abilities, prevent structural brain changes and delay progression to chronic functional deterioration, thus resulting in better life conditions and increased survival (9). However, treatment adherence is an important problem, with up to half of all individuals with schizophrenia not taking medications as prescribed and only one third fully adhering to antipsychotic treatment. Such non-adherence increases the risk of relapse (10-13).

Not all antipsychotics are equally effective and tolerable, and not all are supported by high-quality evidence (14-19). Both clinical response and individual vulnerability to adverse events vary widely between individuals, therefore health practitioners treating patients with schizophrenia should tailor the choice of antipsychotic medicine based on individual characteristics, weighing expected benefits and harms (12).

The median value for treatment coverage in low- and middle-income countries has been estimated at about 30% (20), suggesting that 70% of people with schizophrenia spectrum disorders in these countries do not receive adequate treatment. The treatment gap for schizophrenia disorders was larger in low-income countries (89%) than in lower middle-income (69%) and upper middle-income countries (63%). The size of the treatment gap is negatively associated with the prevalence of schizophrenia disorders in the general population, gross national income, availability of psychiatric hospital beds, number of psychiatrists per 100 000 population and number of nurses in mental health facilities per 100 000 population (20). Furthermore, few countries are aligned with the general principle of providing full access to essential psychotropic medicines, with limited availability and high prices being major barriers (21).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The application presented the results of a comprehensive literature search for systematic reviews on the efficacy, acceptability, tolerability and safety of antipsychotic medicines in adults with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. Two key systematic reviews and network meta-analyses were identified (*15,16*).

A 2019 network meta-analysis including both placebo-controlled and head-to-head randomized controlled trials compared 32 oral antipsychotics for the acute treatment of adults with multiepisode schizophrenia (15). The primary outcome analysis of change in overall symptoms at the end of the study was based on 218 studies (40 815 participants). Most antipsychotics (81%) outperformed placebo, with standardized mean differences (SMD) ranging between -0.89 (clozapine) and -0.26 (brexpiprazole). Effect sizes and 95% credible intervals (95% CrI) were largely overlapping. Certainty of evidence according to the confidence in network meta-analysis (CINeMA) approach was high only for risperidone and paliperidone, and moderate for amisulpride, zotepine, olanzapine, perphenazine, haloperidol and quetiapine. In the head-to-head comparisons, clozapine, amisulpride, zotepine, olanzapine and risperidone were among the bestperforming medications. Amisulpride outperformed risperidone (SMD -0.18, 95% CrI -0.33 to -0.02), which in turn outperformed quetiapine (SMD -0.13, 95% CrI -0.23 to -0.04), aripiprazole (SMD -0.14, 95% CrI -0.25 to -0.03), ziprasidone (SMD -0.14, 95% CrI -0.25 to -0.03), sertindole (SMD -0.15, 95% CrI -0.30 to -0.01), asenapine (SMD -0.16, 95% CrI -0.30 to -0.02), lurasidone (SMD -0.19, 95% CrI -0.32 to -0.05), cariprazine (SMD -0.21, 95% CrI -0.36 to -0.05), iloperidone (SMD -0.22, 95% CrI -0.34 to -0.10) and brexpiprazole (SMD -0.29, 95% CrI -0.45 to -0.14). Most of these comparisons barely reached statistical significance and the differences were clinically negligible (Cohen d < 0.2) (22), with the exception of cariprazine, iloperidone and brexpiprazole, for which the differences were small (0.2 < Cohen d < 0.5).

A 2022 network meta-analysis including both placebo-controlled and head-to-head randomized controlled trials compared 32 oral and long-acting antipsychotics for the prevention of relapse in adults with schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder with stable symptoms who were already treated with antipsychotics (16). The primary outcome analysis of risk of relapse was based on 100 studies (16 812 participants). All antipsychotics had risk ratios (RR) less than 1 compared with placebo, and all except for oral cariprazine, oral lurasidone and long-acting injectable clopenthixol had 95% CrI excluding no effect. Certainty of evidence according to the CINeMA approach was moderate for most of the bestperforming medications, with the exception of oral fluphenazine, oral tiotixene and oral iloperidone oral which were rated as low-certainty of evidence. From the head-to-head comparisons, clozapine, amisulpride, zotepine, olanzapine and risperidone were among the best-performing medications, while in most cases the differences were small or non-significant. No statistically significant differences emerged in head-to-head comparison of risperidone and other oral second-generation antipsychotics.

Two additional network meta-analyses were described which confirmed and expanded the efficacy findings described above (*17,19*).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The network meta-analysis on the acute treatment of adults with multiepisode schizophrenia provided data on the acceptability of treatments (all-cause discontinuation) (15). The analysis included 226 randomized controlled trials (42 672 participants) and showed that most of the included medications were significantly more acceptable than placebo and none was less acceptable than placebo. Certainty of evidence according to the CINeMA approach was high for olanzapine, paliperidone, risperidone, iloperidone, aripiprazole, quetiapine and asenapine, and moderate for amisulpride, clotiapine, zuclopenthixol, zotepine and levomepromazine. In head-to-head comparisons between risperidone and other second-generation antipsychotics, risperidone was outperformed by olanzapine (RR 0.93, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.87 to 0.98). However, risperidone outperformed lurasidone (RR 0.90, 95% CI 0.84 to 0.98), ziprasidone (RR 0.88, 95% CI 0.80 to 0.96), brexpiprazole (RR 0.89, 95% CI 0.83 to 0.97), cariprazine (RR 0.87, 95% CI 0.81 to 0.94) and sertindole (RR 0.81, 95% CI 0.70 to 0.90). In all cases, the differences between risperidone and other second-generation antipsychotics were clinically and statistically very small.

The network meta-analysis on the prevention of relapse in adults with schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder showed that the risk of discontinuation for any reason was significantly lower for most of the included antipsychotics compared with placebo. None of the included antipsychotic medicines was associated with a significantly higher risk of discontinuation for any reason compared with placebo (16). Certainty of evidence according to the CINeMA approach was moderate for most of the medications, with the exception of oral sertindole oral, for which the certainty of evidence was rated as high, and zotepine and cariprazine for which it was rated as low. In head-to-head comparisons between risperidone and other second-generation antipsychotics, risperidone outperformed lurasidone (RR 2.28, 95% CI 1.29 to 3.84) and cariprazine (RR 3.26, 95% CI 1.13 to 7.43), with no significant differences with the remaining second-generation antipsychotics. Results reported in another network meta-analysis (87 randomized controlled trials, 21 772 participants) were generally consistent with these findings for clinically stable adults with schizophrenia spectrum disorder (19).

A 2017 network meta-analysis of 19 randomized controlled trials (2669 participants) on acute treatment of first-episode schizophrenia showed a significantly lower risk of all cause discontinuation for oral aripiprazole, quetiapine, risperidone and olanzapine compared with haloperidol (*17*). The certainty of evidence according to CINeMA was low due to the relatively small number of participants included.

A 2018 meta-analysis of 352 randomized controlled trials (84 988 participants) compared the risk of short-term mortality between second-generation antipsychotics and placebo for multiple diagnoses (23). No significant differences were found between antipsychotics and placebo for mortality by any cause in the subgroup of people with schizophrenia (odds ratio (OR) 0.69, 95% CI 0.35 to 1.35).

A 2019 meta-analysis of 314 randomized controlled trials (67 642 participants) compared the risk of somatic serious adverse events between second-generation antipsychotics and placebo for multiple diagnoses (24). Subgroup analyses of the individual antipsychotics showed a significantly higher risk of serious adverse events for haloperidol (OR 1.61, 95% CI 1.07 to 2.43), olanzapine (OR 1.35, 95% CI 1.04 to 1.74) and risperidone (OR 1.33, 95% CI 1.04 to 1.70) compared with placebo, while for the other medications no significant differences emerged.

#### **WHO guidelines**

The 2023 WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders includes a strong recommendation that adults with a psychotic disorder (including schizophrenia) should be offered oral antipsychotic medicines (namely aripiprazole, chlorpromazine, haloperidol, olanzapine, paliperidone, quetiapine, risperidone), carefully balancing effectiveness, side-effects and individual preference (moderate certainty of evidence) (25).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Second-generation antipsychotics are generally more expensive than firstgeneration antipsychotics. In resource-constrained countries, the use of firstgeneration agents is prevalent and second-generation agents are usually reserved in case of serious adverse effects or inefficacy (26,27). There is debate about whether routine use of second-generation antipsychotics in these countries could be favourable in terms of medical-economic resources as compared with first-generation antipsychotics, despite their higher procurement cost. Current evidence on the matter is scant and controversial. Among second-generation antipsychotics, olanzapine and risperidone often appear to have the most favourable cost–effectiveness profile.

In a multicentre randomized controlled trial in the United Kingdom, the relative costs and efficacy of first-generation versus second-generation antipsychotics were compared in more than 200 patients diagnosed with of chronic psychosis (schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder and delusional disorder) for whom a medication change was needed. The results suggested that switching to first-generation agents was generally associated with lower costs and higher quality-adjusted life years (QALYs) compared with second-generation agents (28).

A pharmacoeconomic analysis modelling clinical and economic outcomes of various antipsychotics in both oral (amisulpride, aripiprazole, haloperidol, olanzapine, quetiapine, risperidone and ziprasidone) and long-acting formulation (haloperidol and risperidone) over a 1-year horizon found that the most costeffective treatments were haloperidol, haloperidol decanoate and olanzapine. Of the second-generation agents, olanzapine and risperidone were the most favourable treatments for outpatients with chronic schizophrenia (29).

In a study in Singapore modelling the cost–effectiveness of 11 oral antipsychotics (amisulpride, aripiprazole, chlorpromazine, haloperidol, olanzapine, paliperidone, quetiapine, risperidone, sulpiride, trifluoperazine and ziprasidone) for prevention of psychotic relapse over a life time, olanzapine was the most favourable treatment with the highest QALYs gained and the lowest lifetime costs, while ziprasidone, aripiprazole and paliperidone were the least favourable (*30*).

A cohort study in Germany using data from a statutory sickness fund, including more than 3000 patients diagnosed with schizophrenia, found no differences between atypical versus typical antipsychotics for rehospitalization rates (*31*).

A large-scale study including more than 3000 patients recruited from 1999 to 2004 and treated for first-episode psychosis indicated that haloperidol was more expensive than olanzapine, zotepine or quetiapine based on total hospitalization expenses and overall treatment costs (*32*).

In another cost–effectiveness analysis based on the Ugandan health care system, risperidone was potentially cost-saving compared with haloperidol and quetiapine (*33*).

In a 2005 systematic review of the cost and effectiveness of risperidone and olanzapine for schizophrenia found that the evidence was insufficient to distinguish the relative total cost of care associated with risperidone versus olanzapine, although available evidence suggested that the difference was small (*34*).

A 2019 cost-utility analysis in the United Kingdom from the National Health Service perspective between 2016 and 2017 evaluated paliperidone and amisulpride for treatment of schizophrenia. The results indicated that paliperidone was associated with an incremental cost-effectiveness ratio of £10 941 per additional QALY gained, which was lower than the suggested National Health Service threshold of £20 000-30 000. The study concluded that paliperidone should be preferred to amisulpride (*35*).

Newer antipsychotics on the market, such as asenapine, ziprasidone and lurasidone have also been the subject of pharmacoeconomic studies using Markov models. They have shown promising results for cost–effectiveness, mostly attributable to the lower incidence of cardiometabolic side-effects (36-38).

Different medicine formulations might also have an effect on costeffectiveness. Studies have shown that olanzapine orodispersible treatment (ODT) is generally preferred by patients to the standard oral treatment (SOT) and therefore ODT tends to be associated with better treatment adherence and lower relapse risk (39). In a 12-week multinational, randomized, crossover, open-label study, 175 patients with schizophrenia were randomly assigned to olanzapine ODT or SOT for 6 weeks and then switched to the other formulation. The results showed that 61% of the sample preferred the ODT formulation, whereas only 27% favoured SOT and 12% expressed no preference (40). In addition, olanzapine ODT has proven particularly useful when treatment needs to be administered under difficult circumstances, such as in the case of acutely ill non-compliant or agitated patients, thus reducing the burden on nursing staff (41,42). According to some cost-effectiveness analyses, olanzapine ODT also has a favourable pharmacoeconomic profile compared with the corresponding SOT and with other antipsychotics. A cost-effectiveness comparison of olanzapine, aripiprazole and risperidone ODT and SOT using a 1-year Monte Carlo microsimulation economic model found that, although olanzapine ODT was more expensive than olanzapine SOT and risperidone SOT, it was costeffective (with incremental cost-effectiveness ratios of US\$ 19 643 and US\$ 39 966, respectively) due to lower relapse and hospitalization rates. Moreover, if compared with risperidone and aripiprazole ODT, olanzapine ODT was not only less expensive but also more effective (43). A similar cost-effectiveness analysis in China gave similar results with olanzapine ODT being more cost-effective

than olanzapine SOT (US\$ 16 798 per QALY gained), and more cost saving than aripiprazole SOT over a 1-year horizon (*44*).

The application included a summary of costs for second-generation antipsychotics from Australia, India, Italy, South Africa, the United Kingdom and the United States, showing wide variability across markets.

#### Availability

Risperidone, and all the proposed alternative second-generation antipsychotics are available in innovator and generic brands worldwide.

### Other considerations

The applicants identified the second-generation antipsychotics proposed as therapeutic alternatives to risperidone according to the following criteria.

- Performs better than placebo in terms of efficacy for both acute and maintenance treatment.
- Performs better or no worse than placebo in terms of acceptability (overall drop-out rate) for both acute and maintenance treatment.
- Has a moderate or high certainty of evidence according to CINeMA appraisal for most ( $\geq$  3/4) of these outcomes.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that evidence from several high-quality metaanalyses on acute and maintenance treatment of schizophrenia and other chronic psychoses found most oral second-generation antipsychotics were similarly effective and tolerable.

The Expert Committee accepted the criteria applied by the applicants in identifying the proposed therapeutic alternatives and recommended the addition of a square box to the listing of risperidone on the EML for treatment of schizophrenia and related chronic psychotic disorders, specifying oral aripiprazole, olanzapine, paliperidone and quetiapine as therapeutic alternatives.

# References

- 1. The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2013 (including the 18th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 4th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 985; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/112729, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. World mental health report: Transforming mental health for all. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/356119, accessed 6 October 2023).

- 3. Global Burden of Disease database [internet].Washington: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation; 2019 (https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-results/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 4. Christensen MK, Lim CCW, Saha S, Plana-Ripoll O, Cannon D, Presley F, et al. The cost of mental disorders: a systematic review. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci. 2020;29:e161.
- Correll CU, Solmi M, Veronese N, Bortolato B, Rosson S, Santonastaso P, et al. Prevalence, incidence and mortality from cardiovascular disease in patients with pooled and specific severe mental illness: a large-scale meta-analysis of 3,211,768 patients and 113,383,368 controls. World Psychiatry. 2017;16(2):163–80.
- 6. Hjorthøj C, Stürup AE, McGrath JJ, Nordentoft M. Years of potential life lost and life expectancy in schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Psychiatry. 2017;4(4):295–301.
- Correll CU, Solmi M, Croatto G, Schneider LK, Rohani-Montez SC, Fairley L, et al. Mortality in people with schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis of relative risk and aggravating or attenuating factors. World Psychiatry. 2022;21(2):248–71.
- Popovic D, Benabarre A, Crespo JM, Goikolea JM, González-Pinto A, Gutiérrez-Rojas L, et al. Risk factors for suicide in schizophrenia: systematic review and clinical recommendations. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2014;130(6):418–26.
- 9. McEvoy JP. The importance of early treatment of schizophrenia. Behavioral Healthc. 2007;27(4):40–3.
- 10. Nosé M, Barbui C, Tansella M. How often do patients with psychosis fail to adhere to treatment programmes? A systematic review. Psychol Med. 2003;33(7):1149–60.
- 11. Olivares JM, Sermon J, Hemels M, Schreiner A. Definitions and drivers of relapse in patients with schizophrenia: a systematic literature review. Ann Gen Psychiatry. 2013;12(1):32.
- Psychosis and schizophrenia in adults: prevention and management. Clinical guideline [CG178]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2014 (https://www.nice.org.uk/ guidance/cg178, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 13. Lieslehto J, Tiihonen J, Lähteenvuo M, Tanskanen A, Taipale H. Primary nonadherence to antipsychotic treatment among persons with schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull. 2022;48(3):655–63.
- 14. Correll CU, Rummel-Kluge C, Corves C, Kane JM, Leucht S. Antipsychotic combinations vs monotherapy in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Schizophr Bull. 2009;35(2):443–57.
- 15. Huhn M, Nikolakopoulou A, Schneider-Thoma J, Krause M, Samara M, Peter N, et al. Comparative efficacy and tolerability of 32 oral antipsychotics for the acute treatment of adults with multi-episode schizophrenia: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Lancet. 2019;394(10202):939–51.
- Schneider-Thoma J, Chalkou K, Dörries C, Bighelli I, Ceraso A, Huhn M, et al. Comparative efficacy and tolerability of 32 oral and long-acting injectable antipsychotics for the maintenance treatment of adults with schizophrenia: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Lancet. 2022;399(10327):824–36.
- 17. Zhu Y, Krause M, Huhn M, Rothe P, Schneider-Thoma J, Chaimani A, et al. Antipsychotic drugs for the acute treatment of patients with a first episode of schizophrenia: a systematic review with pairwise and network meta-analyses. Lancet Psychiatry. 2017;4(9):694–705.
- 18. Ostuzzi G, Barbui C. Preventing relapse in schizophrenia needs better evidence. Lancet. 2022;399(10327):773-5.
- 19. Ostuzzi G, Bertolini F, Tedeschi F, Vita G, Brambilla P, Del Fabro L, et al. Oral and long-acting antipsychotics for relapse prevention in schizophrenia-spectrum disorders: a network meta-analysis of 92 randomized trials including 22,645 participants. World Psychiatry. 2022;21(2):295–307.

20. Lora A, Kohn R, Levav I, McBain R, Morris J, Saxena S. Service availability and utilization and treatment gap for schizophrenic disorders: a survey in 50 low- and middle-income countries. Bull World Health Organ. 2012;90(1):47–54.

- 21. Todesco B, Ostuzzi G, Barbui C. Mapping the selection, availability, price and affordability of essential medicines for mental health conditions at a global level. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci. 2022;31:e22.
- 22. Faraone SV. Interpreting estimates of treatment effects: implications for managed care. P T. 2008;33(12):700–11.
- 23. Schneider-Thoma J, Efthimiou O, Huhn M, Krause M, Reichelt L, Röder H, et al. Second-generation antipsychotic drugs and short-term mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis of placebo-controlled randomised controlled trials. Lancet Psychiatry. 2018;5(8):653–63.
- 24. Schneider-Thoma J, Efthimiou O, Bighelli I, Dörries C, Huhn M, Krause M, et al. Second-generation antipsychotic drugs and short-term somatic serious adverse events: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Psychiatry. 2019;6(9):753–65.
- Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders. Third edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://iris.who.int/ handle/10665/374250, accessed 21 November 2023).
- 26. Emsley RA, Oosthuizen PP, Joubert AF, Hawkridge SM, Stein DJ. Treatment of schizophrenia in lowincome countries. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol. 1999;2(4):321–5.
- 27. Leucht S, Huhn M, Davis JM. Should "typical", first-generation antipsychotics no longer be generally used in the treatment of schizophrenia? Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2021;271(8):1411–3.
- 28. Davies LM, Lewis S, Jones PB, Barnes TR, Gaughran F, Hayhurst K, et al. Cost-effectiveness of first- v. second-generation antipsychotic drugs: results from a randomised controlled trial in schizophrenia responding poorly to previous therapy. Br J Psychiatry. 2007;191:14–22.
- 29. Obradovic M, Mrhar A, Kos M. Cost-effectiveness of antipsychotics for outpatients with chronic schizophrenia. Int J Clin Pract. 2007;61(12):1979-88.
- 30. Lin L, Zhao YJ, Zhou HJ, Khoo AL, Teng M, Soh LB, et al. Comparative cost-effectiveness of 11 oral antipsychotics for relapse prevention in schizophrenia within Singapore using effectiveness estimates from a network meta-analysis. Int Clin Psychopharmacol. 2016;31(2):84–92.
- Stargardt T, Weinbrenner S, Busse R, Juckel G, Gericke CA. Effectiveness and cost of atypical versus typical antipsychotic treatment for schizophrenia in routine care. J Ment Health Policy Econ. 2008;11(2):89–97.
- 32. Gau SS, Chung CH, Gau CS. A pharmacoeconomic analysis of atypical antipsychotics and haloperidol in first-episode schizophrenic patients in Taiwan. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2008;28(3):271–8.
- 33. Lubinga SJ, Mutamba BB, Nganizi A, Babigumira JB. A cost-effectiveness analysis of antipsychotics for treatment of schizophrenia in Uganda. Appl Health Econ Health Policy. 2015;13(5):493–506.
- 34. Hargreaves WA, Gibson PJ. Effectiveness and cost of risperidone and olanzapine for schizophrenia: a systematic review. CNS Drugs. 2005;19(5):393–410.
- 35. Abdall-Razak A, Macaulay A, Tiefenbach J, Borges K, Mathema S, Zuberi S. A cost-utility analysis of amisulpride and paliperidone in the treatment of schizophrenia. Heliyon. 2019;5(9):e02343.
- 36. McIntyre RS, Cragin L, Sorensen S, Naci H, Baker T, Roussy J. Comparison of the metabolic and economic consequences of long-term treatment of schizophrenia using ziprasidone, olanzapine, quetiapine and risperidone in Canada: a cost-effectiveness analysis. J Eval Clin Pract. 2010;16(4):744–55.

580

 Rajagopalan K, O'Day K, Meyer K, Pikalov A, Loebel A. Annual cost of relapses and relapse-related hospitalizations in adults with schizophrenia: results from a 12-month, double-blind, comparative study of lurasidone vs quetiapine extended-release. J Med Econ. 2013;16(8):987–96.

- 38. Lachaine J, Beauchemin C, Mathurin K, Gilbert D, Beillat M. Cost-effectiveness of asenapine in the treatment of schizophrenia in Canada. J Med Econ. 2014;17(4):296–304.
- 39. Montgomery W, Treuer T, Karagianis J, Ascher-Svanum H, Harrison G. Orally disintegrating olanzapine review: effectiveness, patient preference, adherence, and other properties. Patient Prefer Adherence. 2012;6:109–25.
- Bitter I, Treuer T, Dilbaz N, Oyffe I, Ciorabai EM, Gonzalez SL, et al. Patients' preference for olanzapine orodispersible tablet compared with conventional oral tablet in a multinational, randomized, crossover study. World J Biol Psychiatry. 2010;11(7):894–903.
- 41. Czekalla J, Wagner T, Schacht A, Kluge M, Kinon B. Effectiveness and medication acceptance of olanzapine disintegrating tablets compared to standard olanzapine tablets in acutely treated psychiatric patients. Patient Prefer Adherence. 2007;1:19–27.
- Kinon BJ, Hill AL, Liu H, Kollack-Walker S. Olanzapine orally disintegrating tablets in the treatment of acutely ill non-compliant patients with schizophrenia. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol. 2003;6(2):97–102.
- 43. Ascher-Svanum H, Furiak NM, Lawson AH, Klein TM, Smolen LJ, Conley RR, et al. Cost-effectiveness of several atypical antipsychotics in orally disintegrating tablets compared with standard oral tablets in the treatment of schizophrenia in the United States. J Med Econ. 2012;15(3):531–47.
- 44. Zhao J, Jiang K, Li Q, Zhang Y, Cheng Y, Lin Z, et al. Cost-effectiveness of olanzapine in the first-line treatment of schizophrenia in China. J Med Econ. 2019;22(5):439–46.

# 24.2 Medicines used in mood disorders

# 24.2.1 Medicines used in depressive disorders

Amitriptyline - removal of square box - EML

# Amitriptyline

## ATC code: N06AA09

#### Proposal

Removal of the square box with the listing of amitriptyline for depressive disorders on the EML.

### Applicant

WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use

## WHO technical department

Mental Health and Substance Use

#### EML/EMLc

EML

#### Section

24.2.1 Medicines used in depressive disorders

#### Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Tablet: 25 mg, 75 mg (hydrochloride)

#### Core/complementary

Core

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

## Background

A square box listing for amitriptyline has been included on the EML for use in depressive disorders since the first list was published in 1977, as the representative medicine for the class of tricyclic antidepressants.

In 2021, following the review of square box listings on the EML and EMLc, the Expert Committee requested the therapeutic alternatives for amitriptyline on the EML be reviewed.

582

#### Public health relevance

Not applicable

### Summary of evidence: benefits

Meta-analyses using standard pairwise comparisons of tricyclic antidepressants against placebo have not been able to identify the best medicines within the class (1).

A 2018 systematic review and network meta-analysis evaluated the comparative efficacy of 21 different antidepressant medicines for the treatment of adults with major depressive disorder (2). This review examined data on two tricyclic antidepressants – amitriptyline and clomipramine – and found that both medicines were more effective than placebo for the outcome of reduction in overall depressive symptoms: amitriptyline standardized mean difference (SMD) –0.48, 95% confidence interval (CI) –0.55 to –0.41, and clomipramine SMD –0.33, 95% CI: –0.45 to –0.21. However, the estimate for clomipramine was indirect, with no included studies directly comparing clomipramine with placebo. The only study comparing clomipramine with placebo, randomized only 38 participants and did not include efficacy data suitable for reanalysis.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

As measured by drop-out rate, clomipramine was the only medicine among the 21 included in the above-mentioned review, found to be less acceptable than placebo (odds ratio (OR) 1.30, 95% CI 1.01 to 1.68) (2). In comparison, for amitriptyline, the OR for acceptability was 0.95 (95% CI 0.83 to 1.08).

#### Additional evidence

Not applicable

## **WHO** guidelines

The 2023 WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders includes a conditional recommendation for antidepressants (specifically, amitriptyline, citalopram, escitalopram, fluoxetine, fluvoxamine, paroxetine or sertraline) to be considered for adults with moderate-to-severe depression (very-low certainty evidence) (3).

#### Costs/cost–effectiveness

Not applicable

## Availability

Not applicable

#### Other considerations

Not applicable

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee considered that the data were insufficient to support the inclusion of other tricyclic antidepressants as therapeutic alternatives for amitriptyline on the EML for the treatment of depressive disorders. The Committee considered that amitriptyline was the tricyclic antidepressant with the greatest amount of evidence within the class and other tricyclic antidepressants had insufficient evidence or were likely to be inferior to amitriptyline in some relevant areas.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended the square box be removed from the current listing for amitriptyline for treatment of depression on the EML.

#### References

- 1. Furukawa T, McGuire H, Barbui C. Low dosage tricyclic antidepressants for depression. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2003;2003(3):CD003197.
- 2. Cipriani A, Furukawa TA, Salanti G, Chaimani A, Atkinson LZ, Ogawa Y, et al. Comparative efficacy and acceptability of 21 antidepressant drugs for the acute treatment of adults with major depressive disorder: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Lancet. 2018;391(10128):1357–66.
- Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders. Third edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://iris.who.int/ handle/10665/374250, accessed 21 November 2023).

Fluoxetine – deletion – EMLc

## Fluoxetine

ATC code: N06AB03

## Proposal

Deletion of fluoxetine from the complementary list of the EMLc for treatment of depressive disorders in children.

### Applicant

WHO Collaborating Centre for Research and Training in Mental Health and Service Evaluation, University of Verona, Verona, Italy

### WHO technical department

Mental Health and Substance Use

#### EML/EMLc

EML

#### Section

24.2.1 Medicines used in depressive disorders

#### Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Solid oral dosage form: 20 mg (as hydrochloride)

#### Core/complementary

Complementary

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

## Background

Fluoxetine has been included on the EMLc since the first list was published in 2007 for the treatment of children aged > 8 years with depression (1). In 2013, the Expert Committee considered a request to revise the age restriction from > 8 years to > 12 years (i.e. effective deletion from the EMLc) made by the WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse. The Committee recognized that depression was rare in children, and that WHO's Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline made a strong recommendation to set the age limit at 12 years for the pharmacological treatment with antidepressants of children with a depressive episode/disorder in non-specialist settings. However, the Committee decided to retain the minimum age for fluoxetine at 8 years as

the evidence on alternative antidepressants in children was not reviewed. At the same time, the Committee highlighted the need for a thorough review of the section of medicines used in depressive disorders on the EMLc (2).

#### Public health relevance

For the purpose of the application, children are defined as individuals up to and including 12 years of age, in line with the population for which the EMLc is intended.

Depression in children has been increasingly treated with antidepressant medicines over the past several years (3). This trend occurred despite the onset of depressive disorder being rare in children of prepubertal age (4). Longitudinal studies of community samples of children and adolescents suggest an average age at onset between 11 and 14 years for major depressive disorder and depressive disorder (5). Evidence from prospective epidemiological studies reveals a large increase in the prevalence of major depressive episodes after age 11 years (6). Prospective data from the Oregon Adolescent Depression Project showed that the rates of new onset of depression increase from 1% to 2% at age 13 years and from 3% to 7% at age 15 years (7). The incidence of depression continues to increase throughout early adulthood (8).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The application presented the results of a comprehensive literature search for systematic reviews on the topic of antidepressant efficacy, acceptability and tolerability in children with depression. No systematic reviews were found on the efficacy of fluoxetine specifically focused on children aged 12 years or younger. Existing reviews included a mixed population of children and adolescents, largely composed of individuals between 13 and 18 years of age. Twenty-one systematic reviews were included, from which data from 22 randomized controlled trials were extracted and reanalysed using standard Cochrane methodology.

#### Fluoxetine

Six randomized controlled trials (795 participants) were identified on the use of fluoxetine for the treatment of children (mean age < 12 years) with depression (9–14). Only short-term efficacy (up to 10 weeks) was evaluated. No data were available on medium-term (13–26 weeks) or long-term (more than 26 weeks) follow-up. All trials were industry-sponsored.

Five studies (587 participants) compared fluoxetine with placebo and evaluated depressive symptomology at study endpoint using the Children's Depression Rating Scale-Revised (CDRS-R) (9-13). Pooled results did not show any significant difference between fluoxetine and placebo (mean difference (MD) –2.43, 95% confidence interval (CI) –5.37 to 0.50). Based on Grading of

Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluations (GRADE), the quality of evidence was judged to be very low. The only two positive studies were published in 1997 and 2002 (9,10). These two studies were the subject of a statistical review by the Center for Drug Evaluation and Research of the United States Food and Drug Administration (15). The review showed that the prespecified primary outcome measure in the first study (9) (proportion of completing patients who achieved recovery, defined as a score of  $\leq 28$  on the CDRS-R and a clinical global impression-improvement (CGI-I) score of 1 or 2) was changed in the published manuscript, probably because this measure did not reach statistical significance. For the second study (10) the authors identified a reduction from baseline of  $\geq$  30% on the CDRS-R as the single primary endpoint. However, as they found no difference between fluoxetine and placebo, the focus was on secondary endpoints (symptom reduction) that favoured fluoxetine. The Food and Drug Administration independent statistical review concluded that "The sponsor did not win on these two paediatric depression studies based on the protocol specified endpoint. The evidence for efficacy based on the pre-specified endpoint is not convincing" (15).

One study (23 participants) compared fluoxetine with placebo and evaluated response using depression rating scales (Birleson Depression Self-Rating Scale, CGI scale and Children's Global Assessment Scale) (14). No significant differences between treatment groups were found in any of the rating scales.

#### Other antidepressants

Eighteen trials were identified that compared other antidepressants with placebo, of which nine were suitable for quantitative synthesis. Only short-term efficacy (up to 12 weeks) was evaluated. No data were available on medium-term (13–26 weeks) or long-term (more than 26 weeks) follow-up.

- One randomized controlled trial (96 participants) suggested that paroxetine was less effective than placebo in ameliorating depressive symptomology (MD 2.49, 95% CI 1.45 to 3.03) (16).
- One randomized controlled trial (171 participants) suggested no difference in efficacy between sertraline and placebo (MD –0.17, 95% CI –0.47 to 0.13) (17).
- Two randomized controlled trials (255 participants) suggested no difference in efficacy between duloxetine and placebo (MD –0.16, 95% CI –0.43 to 0.11) (*11,12*).
- One randomized controlled trial (170 participants) suggested no difference in efficacy between venlafaxine and placebo (MD 0.10, 95% CI –0.23 to 0.44 (18). Another trial (40 participants), not be included in the analysis due to lack of detailed data, reported lack of efficacy of venlafaxine versus placebo (19).

- Two randomized controlled trials (194 participants) suggested no difference in efficacy between desvenlafaxine and placebo (MD -0.17, 95% CI -0.46 to 0.12) (13,20).
- One randomized controlled trial (38 participants) suggested no difference in efficacy between imipramine and placebo (MD 0.00, 95% CI –0.64 to 0.64) (21).
- One randomized controlled trial (50 participants) suggested no difference in efficacy between nortriptyline and placebo (MD 0.08, 95% CI –0.47 to 0.64) (22).

One randomized controlled trial (174 participants) suggested a greater reduction in depressive symptoms in participants taking citalopram compared with placebo at 8 weeks follow-up (23). One randomized controlled trial (104 participants) found no statistically significant improvement in any efficacy measure in the subgroup of patients aged 6–11 years for escitalopram compared with placebo (24). Two randomized controlled trials failed to show superiority of mirtazapine over placebo (25). One randomized controlled trial (nine participants) comparing amitriptyline with placebo showed no statistical differences in reduction of depressive symptoms between treatment groups at 4 weeks follow-up (26).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The adverse effect profile of fluoxetine in the adult population is well established. However, it is not possible to ascertain whether the frequency of adverse events is the same in adults and children. In general, knowledge of unwanted effects associated with antidepressant treatments for depression in children is inadequate. Systematic reviews have only evaluated unwanted effects of treatments for depression in mixed populations of children and adolescents. Aside from effects on suicidality, the negative effects of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) are under-reported or not reported (*27*). The safety of fluoxetine for paediatric patients has not been systematically assessed for chronic treatment longer than several months. No studies have directly evaluated the longer-term effects of fluoxetine on growth, development and maturation of children and adolescents.

The safety of prescribing antidepressants to children has been the subject of increasing concern, particularly regarding the risk of suicidality, which has led to precautions and recommendations against their use in children and adolescents (28).

Meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials have produced inconsistent findings. For example, one meta-analysis found that the overall risk ratio for suicidal ideation and behaviour in paediatric patients with depression taking SSRIs was 1.66 (95% CI 1.02–2.68) (29), and another that severe adverse events

were significantly more common with SSRIs and serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors than placebo (30). However, another recent meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials concluded that only venlafaxine was associated with an increased risk of suicidal behaviour or ideation in the young population (31,32).

A systematic review evaluated observational studies reporting completed or attempted suicide in depressed individuals who were exposed to SSRIs compared with those who were not exposed to antidepressant medicines, and measured the overall risk of completed or attempted suicide (33). The use of SSRIs was associated with a reduced risk of suicide in adults with depression, while in children and adolescents, the use of SSRIs was associated with an increased suicidality behaviours. The aforementioned association was the only so-called convincing evidence included in a recent umbrella review of meta-analyses of observational studies that evaluated the adverse outcomes of antidepressants (34). A recent and updated systematic review of observational studies confirmed that SSRI exposure might have an increased suicidal risk in children and young adults (35). Across 15 studies that examined the association between SSRIs and completed or attempted suicide, SSRI exposure significantly increased the risk of completed and attempted suicide compared with no or any other antidepressant use, with a pooled risk ratio for incidence of suicide or suicide attempt of 1.28 (95% CI 1.09–1.51).

## **WHO guidelines**

The 2023 WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders includes a strong recommendation that antidepressant medicines are not recommended for the treatment of children 12 years of age and below with depressive episode/disorder (low certainty evidence) (*36*).

# Costs/cost–effectiveness

No cost-effectiveness data on the use of antidepressant medications in children are available. Available data in adults are not considered generalizable to children.

## Availability

Fluoxetine is available globally, however specific data on availability was not considered relevant for its proposed deletion from the EMLc.

# **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that fluoxetine had been included on the EMLc for the treatment of children with depression aged 8 years and older since 2007, before the publication of the first WHO mhGAP guidelines in 2010. The mhGAP

guidelines were updated in 2023 and include a recommendation not to use antidepressants for the treatment of depression in children younger than 12 years.

The Committee acknowledged that depression has been reported to affect only a small proportion of children younger than 12 years – the population covered by the EMLc. Most studies report a prevalence lower than 1% in this age group and that prevalence substantially rises throughout adolescence and into adulthood.

The Committee acknowledged the comprehensive approach taken by the applicants to evaluate the available evidence on the efficacy, acceptability and tolerability of fluoxetine and other antidepressants for the treatment of children with depression. Notably, most systematic reviews identified did not focus specifically on children aged 12 years and younger, but instead included a mixed population of children and adolescents. From six randomized clinical trials that investigated the efficacy of fluoxetine versus placebo to treat depression in children younger than 12 years, there was very low-certainty evidence suggesting no statistically significant differences between fluoxetine and placebo. The point estimate favoured fluoxetine, however the difference was not considered to be clinically meaningful.

The Committee agreed that the evidence presented in the application for use of fluoxetine in children younger than 12 years was inconclusive and insufficient to support the ongoing inclusion of this medicine in the EMLc for the treatment of depression in children. However, some Committee members reported that fluoxetine was considered a relevant treatment option and is currently used in clinical practice in children aged between 8 and 12 years in some settings where access to mental health services and non-pharmacological management is limited.

Based on the evidence presented in the application, and in alignment with recommendations in the WHO mhGAP guidelines, the Expert Committee recommended the deletion of fluoxetine from the EMLc. This recommendation also applies to the listing of fluoxetine on the EMLc in Section 2.3 Medicines for other common symptoms in palliative care. Fluoxetine is still included on the EML for use in the treatment of depression in adolescents and adults.

#### References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, October 2007 (including the Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 950, https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43887, accessed 6 October 20230.
- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2013 (including the 18th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 4th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013. (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 985; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/112729, accessed 6 October 2023).

.....

- 3. Sarginson J, Webb RT, Stocks SJ, Esmail A, Garg S, Ashcroft DM. Temporal trends in antidepressant prescribing to children in UK primary care, 2000-2015. J Affect Disord. 2017;210:312–8.
- 4. Thapar A, Collishaw S, Pine DS, Thapar AK. Depression in adolescence. Lancet. 2012;379(9820):1056–67.
- 5. Lewinsohn PM, Rohde P, Seeley JR, Fischer SA. Age-cohort changes in the lifetime occurrence of depression and other mental disorders. J Abnorm Psychol. 1993;102(1):110–20.
- 6. McGee R, Feehan M, Williams S, Anderson J. DSM-III disorders from age 11 to age 15 years. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 1992;31(1):50–9.
- 7. Merikangas KR, Nakamura EF, Kessler RC. Epidemiology of mental disorders in children and adolescents. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2009;11(1):7–20.
- 8. Lewinsohn PM, Duncan EM, Stanton AK, Hautzinger M. Age at first onset for nonbipolar depression. J Abnorm Psychol. 1986;95(4):378–83.
- Emslie GJ, Rush AJ, Weinberg WA, Kowatch RA, Hughes CW, Carmody T, et al. A double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial of fluoxetine in children and adolescents with depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1997;54(11):1031–7.
- Emslie GJ, Heiligenstein JH, Wagner KD, Hoog SL, Ernest DE, Brown E, et al. Fluoxetine for acute treatment of depression in children and adolescents: a placebo-controlled, randomized clinical trial. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2002;41(10):1205–15.
- 11. Emslie GJ, Prakash A, Zhang Q, Pangallo BA, Bangs ME, March JS. A double-blind efficacy and safety study of duloxetine fixed doses in children and adolescents with major depressive disorder. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol. 2014;24(4):170–9.
- Atkinson SD, Prakash A, Zhang Q, Pangallo BA, Bangs ME, Emslie GJ, et al. A double-blind efficacy and safety study of duloxetine flexible dosing in children and adolescents with major depressive disorder. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol. 2014;24(4):180–9.
- 13. Weihs KL, Murphy W, Abbas R, Chiles D, England RD, Ramaker S, et al. Desvenlafaxine versus placebo in a fluoxetine-referenced study of children and adolescents with major depressive disorder. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol. 2018;28(1):36–46.
- 14. Almeida Montes LG FA. Treatment of major depressive disorder with fluoxe tine in children and adolescents. A double blind, placebo controlled study. Psiquiatria Biologica. 2005;12:198–205.
- Statistical review of Prozac for pediatric OCD and depression. Silver Spring, MD: United Sstates Food and Drug Administration Center for Drug Evaluation and Research; 2003 (https://www. accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/nda/2003/18936S064\_Prozac%20Pulvules\_statr.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 16. Emslie GJ, Wagner KD, Kutcher S, Krulewicz S, Fong R, Carpenter DJ, et al. Paroxetine treatment in children and adolescents with major depressive disorder: a randomized, multicenter, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2006;45(6):709–19.
- 17. Wagner KD, Ambrosini P, Rynn M, Wohlberg C, Yang R, Greenbaum MS, et al. Efficacy of sertraline in the treatment of children and adolescents with major depressive disorder: two randomized controlled trials. JAMA. 2003;290(8):1033–41.
- Emslie GJ, Findling RL, Yeung PP, Kunz NR, Li Y. Venlafaxine ER for the treatment of pediatric subjects with depression: results of two placebo-controlled trials. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2007;46(4):479–88.
- 19. Mandoki MW, Tapia MR, Tapia MA, Sumner GS, Parker JL. Venlafaxine in the treatment of children and adolescents with major depression. Psychopharmacol Bull. 1997;33(1):149–54.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- Atkinson S, Lubaczewski S, Ramaker S, England RD, Wajsbrot DB, Abbas R, et al. Desvenlafaxine versus placebo in the treatment of children and adolescents with major depressive disorder. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol. 2018;28(1):55–65.
- 21. Puig-Antich J, Perel JM, Lupatkin W, Chambers WJ, Tabrizi MA, King J, et al. Imipramine in prepubertal major depressive disorders. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1987;44(1):81–9.
- 22. Geller B, Cooper TB, Graham DL, Fetner HH, Marsteller FA, Wells JM. Pharmacokinetically designed double-blind placebo-controlled study of nortriptyline in 6- to 12-year-olds with major depressive disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 1992;31(1):34–44.
- 23. Wagner KD, Robb AS, Findling RL, Jin J, Gutierrez MM, Heydorn WE. A randomized, placebocontrolled trial of citalopram for the treatment of major depression in children and adolescents. Am J Psychiatry. 2004;161(6):1079–83.
- 24. Wagner KD, Jonas J, Findling RL, Ventura D, Saikali K. A double-blind, randomized, placebocontrolled trial of escitalopram in the treatment of pediatric depression. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2006;45(3):280–8.
- 25. A multicenter, randomized, double blind, placebo controlled, efficacy and safety study of Remeron in outpatient children and adolescents with major depressive disorder. Jersey City, NJ: Organon Pharmaceuricals USA Inc.; 2002.
- 26. Kashani JH, Shekim WO, Reid JC. Amitriptyline in children with major depressive disorder: a double-blind crossover pilot study. J Am Acad Child Psychiatry. 1984;23(3):348–51.
- 27. Eidet LM, Dahlgren A, Elvsåshagen M. Unwanted effects of treatments for depression in children and adolescents: a mapping of systematic reviews. BMJ Open. 2020;10(3):e034532.
- Suicidality in children and adolescents being treated with antidepressant medications. Silver Spring, MD: United States Food and Drug Administration; 2004 (https://www.fda.gov/ drugs/postmarket-drug-safety-information-patients-and-providers/suicidality-children-andadolescents-being-treated-antidepressant-medications, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 29. Hammad TA, Laughren T, Racoosin J. Suicidality in pediatric patients treated with antidepressant drugs. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2006;63(3):332–9.
- Locher C, Koechlin H, Zion SR, Werner C, Pine DS, Kirsch I, et al. Efficacy and safety of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors, and placebo for common psychiatric disorders among children and adolescents: a systematic review and metaanalysis. JAMA Psychiatry. 2017;74(10):1011–20.
- 31. Cipriani A, Zhou X, Del Giovane C, Hetrick SE, Qin B, Whittington C, et al. Comparative efficacy and tolerability of antidepressants for major depressive disorder in children and adolescents: a network meta-analysis. Lancet. 2016;388(10047):881–90.
- 32. Zhou X, Teng T, Zhang Y, Del Giovane C, Furukawa TA, Weisz JR, et al. Comparative efficacy and acceptability of antidepressants, psychotherapies, and their combination for acute treatment of children and adolescents with depressive disorder: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Lancet Psychiatry. 2020;7(7):581–601.
- 33. Barbui C, Esposito E, Cipriani A. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and risk of suicide: a systematic review of observational studies. CMAJ. 2009;180(3):291–7.
- 34. Dragioti E, Solmi M, Favaro A, Fusar-Poli P, Dazzan P, Thompson T, et al. Association of antidepressant use with adverse health outcomes: a systematic umbrella review. JAMA Psychiatry. 2019;76(12):1241–55.

592
- Li K, Zhou G, Xiao Y, Gu J, Chen Q, Xie S, et al. Risk of suicidal behaviors and antidepressant exposure among children and adolescents: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Front Psychiatry. 2022;13:880496.
- 36. Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders. Third edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/374250, accessed 21 November 2023).

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

Phenelzine – addition – EML

### Phenelzine

ATC code: N06AF03

# Proposal

Addition of phenelzine to the complementary list of the EML for the treatment of adults with treatment-resistant depression.

# Applicant

PsychoTropical Research Institute, Mackay, Queensland, Australia International MAOI Expert Group

### WHO technical department

The WHO department of Mental Health and Substance Use reviewed and provided comments on the application. The technical department highlighted the following points.

- Phenelzine requires careful monitoring and has a less favourable safety profile compared with other antidepressants, such as selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and tricyclics (currently included on the EML) and newer agents.
- The evidence base for phenelzine is limited as randomized controlled trials on this antidepressant are lacking because it was introduced to the market many years ago when such trials were not commonly performed.
- In the context of treatment-resistant depression, phenelzine lacks evidence of efficacy.
- The risk of serious treatment emergent adverse events, drug-drug interactions and overdose, as well as the need for specialized facilities and health care professionals, raise concerns about its usability in low- and middle-income countries and other settings.

# EML/EMLc

# EML

# Section

24.2.1 Medicines used in depressive disorders

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Solid oral dosage form: 15 mg (as sulfate)

Core/complementary

Complementary

### Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

Phenelzine is a non-selective and irreversible inhibitor of the enzyme monoamine oxidase. Monoamine oxidase plays a role in the inactivation of several neurotransmitters such as norepinephrine and serotonin. By inhibition of the enzyme, inactivation of these neurotransmitters is prevented, thereby increasing their availability.

Phenelzine has not previously been evaluated for addition to the EML.

Antidepressant medicines currently included on the EML include the tricyclic antidepressant amitriptyline, and fluoxetine as the representative selective-serotonin reuptake inhibitor, with citalopram, escitalopram, fluvoxamine, paroxetine and sertraline as therapeutic alternatives.

### Public health relevance

According to the 2019 Global Burden of Disease study, depressive disorders affected approximately 280 million people worldwide, equivalent to almost 3.8% of the global population and resulted in almost 47 million disability-adjusted life years (DALYs), equivalent to 1.8% of global DALYs (1).

In low- and middle-income countries, two out of three individuals suffering from depression do not receive adequate treatment (2,3). Alongside psychosocial interventions, medicines, particularly antidepressants, play an important role in treatment according to international guidelines, including the WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guidelines (4). Firstline treatments for depression include both psychological and pharmacological interventions, with antidepressant medicines recommended as the primary treatment option for moderate to severe cases of depression.

Estimates suggest that about 30-50% of patients with major depressive disorder do not respond to initial treatment with antidepressants and around 60-70% of patients achieve an incomplete response (5). Estimates for the prevalence of treatment-resistant depression, defined as depressive episodes that fail to respond to or achieve remission with at least two pharmacological treatments (6), vary considerably, from up to 15% (7) to around 30% of treated patients (8,9).

Treatment-resistant depression imposes an important personal, societal and economic burden. The effect of depression on well-being has been described

as comparable to or worse than that of chronic medical illnesses, such as diabetes and congestive heart failure (10). Patients with treatment-resistant depression experience substantial and lasting impairments in various aspects of functioning and well-being (10). Their quality of life is greatly diminished, leading to reduced work productivity and activity levels (11). Treatment-resistant depression is also associated with a higher risk of psychiatric and somatic comorbidities, including anxiety disorders, hypertensive diseases and central nervous system disorders (12). The condition also increases the risk of suicide and results in greater use of health care resources than treatment-responsive depression (13).

Treatment options for treatment-resistant depression include: augmentation or adjunctive therapy with non-antidepressant medications such as lithium, thyroid hormone or second-generation antipsychotics; switching to other antidepressant medicine classes; psychotherapy; electroconvulsive therapy or other forms of brain stimulation; novel therapeutics such as ketamine and esketamine; and compounds targeting the delta opioid receptor. Each approach has advantages and disadvantages, but currently no consensus has been reached on the best treatment pathway for treatment-resistant depression.

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

A 2021 systematic review and network meta-analysis evaluated the effectiveness and acceptability of monoamine oxidase inhibitors in the treatment of depressive disorders (14). This study was not specific for treatment-resistant depression. The analysis included 52 double-blind, randomized controlled trials (6462 participants) conducted between 1976 and 2012 comparing 14 different antidepressants or placebo. It included nine randomized controlled trials of phenelzine versus placebo or another active comparator. The primary outcomes were efficacy (defined as response rate measured by the proportion of participants demonstrating  $\geq$  50% reduction on a standardized depression rating scale) and acceptability (all-cause discontinuation rate). The results indicated that, except for fluvoxamine, all antidepressants were more effective than placebo. No significant differences were found in drop-out rates between the antidepressants and placebo. Of all antidepressants evaluated, phenelzine was associated with the highest odds ratio (OR) point estimate for efficacy relative to placebo (OR 4.66, 95% credible interval (CrI) 2.64 to 8.40). Phenelzine also had the highest surface under the cumulative ranking curve (SUCRA) score (84.3%). In head to head treatment comparisons, phenelzine demonstrated superior evidence for efficacy compared with all other antidepressants investigated. Clomipramine demonstrated superior evidence for acceptability relative to placebo of all treatments investigated (OR 0.66, 95% CrI 0.34 to 1.29; SUCRA 74.4%). For acceptability relative to placebo for phenelzine the OR was 1.00 (95% CrI 0.53 to 1.88; SUCRA 35.4%). The study acknowledged a number of factors limiting the precision of the estimates

including the small number of studies that evaluated monoamine oxidase inhibitors, particularly in recent years, and changing standards in diagnosis and reporting over time resulting in heterogeneity in the included studies. Because of the older age of studies investigating monoamine oxidase inhibitors, the authors allowed inclusion of trials with a variety of diagnoses (major depressive disorder, treatment-resistant depression, dysthymic disorder, atypical depression, bipolar depression and depressive disorder not otherwise specified).

A 2006 meta-analysis investigated the treatment of major depression with atypical features, comparing monoamine oxidase inhibitors with other antidepressants or placebo (15). The analysis included eight double-blind, randomized controlled trials (670 participants). For each study, effect sizes were determined by calculating the phi coefficient, representing the response-rate difference. Four randomized controlled trials provided data for the comparison of phenelzine and placebo and three randomized controlled trials provided data for the comparison of phenelzine and imipramine. Six of these seven trials showed phenelzine to be superior in terms of the proportion of responders and effect sizes (average effect size versus placebo 0.45, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.35 to 0.60 and average effect size versus imipramine 0.27, 95% CI 0.16 to 0.42). Three randomized controlled trials provided data for comparison of phenelzine or sertraline. Phenelzine or moclobemide were not superior to the comparators for response rate or effect size (average effect size 0.02, 95% CI -0.10 to 0.14).

A 1995 meta-analysis evaluated controlled trials comparing monoamine oxidase inhibitors approved by the United States Food And Drug Administration for treatment of depression (phenelzine, isocarboxazid and tranylcypromine) with placebo and tricyclic antidepressants in inpatient and outpatient settings (16). For outpatients, isocarboxazid and tranylcypromine had generally comparable overall efficacy. The drug-placebo differences in the percentage of responders were 29.5% (standard deviation (SD) 11.1%; nine studies) for phenelzine, 41.3% (SD 18.0%; three studies) for isocarboxazid and 22.1% (SD 25.4%; three studies) for tranylcypromine. Phenelzine and tranylcypromine were found to be more effective than comparator tricyclics in outpatients with differences in percentage of responders of 8.8% (SD 8.3%; 11 studies) and 16.8% (SD 27.5%; four studies), respectively. For inpatients, the drug-placebo differences in the percentage of responders were 22.3% (SD 30.7%; five studies) for phenelzine and 15.3% (SD 12.6%; four studies) for isocarboxazid. No data were available for tranylcypromine. Both phenelzine and isocarboxazid were less effective than comparator tricyclics in inpatients with differences in percentage of responders of -21.0% (SD 7.7%) and -14.1% (SD 27.5%; two studies), respectively.

A 2019 non-randomized retrospective study evaluated the relative effectiveness of tricyclic antidepressant versus monoamine oxidase inhibitor as monotherapy for treatment resistant depression (17). Data from about 2500

treatment charts of patients with treatment-resistant depression attending a university mood disorder clinic between 1983 and 2015 were retrospectively analysed. The study included 147 treatment outcome observations from 94 unipolar, depressed patients who received either tricyclic antidepressant (n = 47) or monoamine oxidase inhibitor (n = 100) monotherapy. Monoamine oxidase therapy was generally more effective than tricyclic antidepressant therapy for patients with treatment-resistant depression. For patients who had failed to respond in at least one prior adequate antidepressant trial, those who received tricyclic therapy showed higher (i.e. worse) end-of-treatment clinical global impressions/severity scores relative to those who received monoamine oxidase therapy.

A 2012 prospective study evaluated the longer-term outcome of treatment-resistant depression, including clinical and psychosocial factors that may be associated with outcome, in 150 patients with treatment-resistant depression at a tertiary inpatient service in the United Kingdom (18). The use of monoamine oxidase inhibitors (moclobemide, phenelzine, tranylcypromine and isocarboxazid) among inpatients was associated with remission at time of discharge (OR 6.49, 95% CI 1.63 to 25.91) and remission at the time of final follow-up (OR 4.78, 95% CI 1.15 to 19.85). Among the limitations highlighted by the study authors were that the sample size was small, follow-up duration variable, outcomes for 13% of participants were unaccounted for, and the cohort was taken from a specialist inpatient service and likely to represent patients with more severe illness, and therefore the results may not be generalizable to treatment-resistant depression in other settings.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The potential adverse effects of monoamine oxidase inhibitors are more diverse and potentially more serious than most other antidepressants. As monoamine oxidase is found throughout the body, its inhibition can lead to various pharmacological effects. While many adverse effects of monoamine oxidase inhibitors are mild to moderate and tend to subside with continued therapy, some reactions can be severe and may necessitate discontinuation of treatment, particularly events involving the cardiovascular, central nervous and hepatic systems. Serious adverse effects, such as hypertensive crisis and serotonin syndrome, have been reported with monoamine oxidase inhibitors, especially when they are taken concomitantly with tyramine-containing foods or certain medicines. These interactions can lead to potentially life-threatening reactions; hence, careful monitoring is required, with close attention paid to potential drug–drug and drug–food interactions.

Potential adverse effects of phenelzine include blurred vision, constipation, dry mouth, headache, hypoglycaemia, insomnia, liver enzyme elevation and (rarely) hepatotoxicity, myoclonus, nausea, orthostatic hypotension, paresthesia,

pyridoxine-deficiency, oedema, sedation, sexual dysfunction, urinary retention and weight gain (19,20).

Phenelzine can cause dose-dependent orthostatic hypotension, especially at the start of treatment and after dose increases. Significant orthostatic hypotension (a drop of  $\geq$  10–15 mmHg in systolic blood pressure) is a common effect of treatment with monoamine oxidase inhibitors and typically peaks 10–14 days after a dose increase (19). General measures to reduce the chance of orthostatic hypotension include increasing doses slowly and dividing daily doses (21).

An important safety concern with the use of phenelzine are drug-drug interactions that can result in serotonin syndrome and hypertensive crisis (20). Concomitant use of phenelzine with other medicines or supplements that have serotonergic activity is contraindicated (19).

Phenelzine is also associated with multiple drug-food interactions of concern, in particular, interactions with tyramine, a vasoactive amine found in various foods and beverages including aged cheese, cured meats, soy products, yeast products, fermented foods and tyramine-containing nutritional supplements (20,22). Reduced breakdown of tyramine as a result of monoamine oxidase inhibition may result in hypertensive crisis. Patients receiving phenelzine must follow a tyramine-restricted diet (23).

### WHO guidelines

Phenelzine is not currently recommended in WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guidelines for treatment of treatment-resistant depression (4).

# Costs/cost-effectiveness

Comparative cost–effectiveness analyses for monoamine oxidase inhibitors and newer antidepressants for treatment-resistant depression are lacking.

The application described the results of a modelled economic analysis of psychological and pharmacological interventions for social anxiety disorder. In this analysis, phenelzine was determined to be the third most cost-effective intervention, after individually delivered cognitive behavioural therapy (using the Clark and Wells model) and general individually delivered cognitive behavioural therapy (24). Notably, the analysis did not take into account the side-effects of pharmacological treatments.

The absolute cost of antidepressant medicines in the United Kingdom was compared in 2018 using basic prices within the National Health System The reported cost for 1 year of treatment with phenelzine 60 mg/day was £327.60. In comparison, the reported costs for 1 year of treatment with the antidepressants on the EML were £28.86 for amitriptyline 75 mg/day and £7.04 for fluoxetine 20 mg/day (25).

The application reported current and recent internal prices for phenelzine as €45 (60 capsules) in Belgium, Can\$ 144.95 (180 tablets) in Canada, £120 (100 tablets) in the United Kingdom and US\$ 108.88 (60 tablets) in the United States. No price information was presented from low- and middle-income countries.

#### Availability

The application reported that phenelzine is available in Australia, Belgium, Canada, the United Kingdom and the United States.

Shortages of phenelzine have been reported in many of these jurisdictions.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that depressive disorders were highly prevalent and were responsible for a large and increasing global public health burden. The Committee acknowledged that a subgroup of patients with depression did not respond adequately or at all to initial lines of treatment.

The Committee noted that the systematic reviews and meta-analyses presented in the application which evaluated the comparative efficacy of phenelzine versus placebo or other antidepressants provided some evidence for the efficacy of phenelzine but did not specifically address the indication of treatment-resistant depression. The Committee considered that there was therefore uncertainty in the applicability of the results to the specific population of patients with treatment-resistant depression. The Committee noted that comparative evidence was lacking for phenelzine versus other treatment approaches for treatment-resistant depression.

The Committee noted that phenelzine was associated with potentially serious adverse effects and had a high potential for drug–drug and drug–food interactions. Treatment with phenelzine therefore would require careful and specialized monitoring and management, which may not be available in many low- and middle-income settings. The Committee expressed concern about the feasibility of safe use of phenelzine in settings where specialist monitoring of patients was not available.

The Committee noted that phenelzine had limited global availability and was currently more highly priced than other antidepressants in common clinical use.

Additionally, the Committee noted that phenelzine was not included in current WHO mhGAP guidelines for treatment of depression.

The Expert Committee did not therefore recommend the inclusion of phenelzine on the complementary list of the EML for use in treatment-resistant depression because of uncertain evidence of benefit in the proposed patient population and increased risk of harms. References

- 1. Global Burden of Disease database [internet]. Washington, DC: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation; 2019 (https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-results/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Patel V, Saxena S, Lund C, Thornicroft G, Baingana F, Bolton P, et al. The Lancet Commission on global mental health and sustainable development. Lancet. 2018;392(10157):1553–98.
- 3. Evans-Lacko S, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, Al-Hamzawi A, Alonso J, Benjet C, Bruffaerts R, et al. Socioeconomic variations in the mental health treatment gap for people with anxiety, mood, and substance use disorders: results from the WHO World Mental Health (WMH) surveys. Psychol Med. 2018;48(9):1560–71.
- Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders. Third edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://iris.who.int/ handle/10665/374250, accessed 21 November 2023).
- 5. Trevino K, McClintock SM, McDonald Fischer N, Vora A, Husain MM. Defining treatment-resistant depression: a comprehensive review of the literature. Ann Clin Psychiatry. 2014;26(3):222–32.
- 6. Cosgrove L, Naudet F, Högberg G, Shaughnessy AF, Cristea IA. Reconceptualising treatmentresistant depression as difficult-to-treat depression. Lancet Psychiatry. 2021;8(1):11–3.
- 7. Berlim MT, Turecki G. Definition, assessment, and staging of treatment-resistant refractory major depression: a review of current concepts and methods. Can J Psychiatry. 2007;52(1):46–54.
- 8. Al-Harbi KS. Treatment-resistant depression: therapeutic trends, challenges, and future directions. Patient Prefer Adherence. 2012;6:369–88.
- Zhdanava M, Pilon D, Ghelerter I, Chow W, Joshi K, Lefebvre P, et al. The prevalence and national burden of treatment-resistant depression and major depressive disorder in the United States. J Clin Psychiatry. 2021;82(2):20m13699.
- Hays RD, Wells KB, Sherbourne CD, Rogers W, Spritzer K. Functioning and well-being outcomes of patients with depression compared with chronic general medical illnesses. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1995;52(1):11–9.
- 11. Jaffe DH, Rive B, Denee TR. The humanistic and economic burden of treatment-resistant depression in Europe: a cross-sectional study. BMC Psychiatry. 2019;19(1):247.
- 12. Steffen A, Nübel J, Jacobi F, Bätzing J, Holstiege J. Mental and somatic comorbidity of depression: a comprehensive cross-sectional analysis of 202 diagnosis groups using German nationwide ambulatory claims data. BMC Psychiatry. 2020;20(1):142.
- Soares B, Kanevsky G, Teng CT, Pérez-Esparza R, Bonetto GG, Lacerda ALT, et al. Prevalence and Impact of treatment-resistant depression in Latin America: a prospective, observational study. Psychiatr Q. 2021;92(4):1797–815.
- 14. Suchting R, Tirumalaraju V, Gareeb R, Bockmann T, de Dios C, Aickareth J, et al. Revisiting monoamine oxidase inhibitors for the treatment of depressive disorders: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. 2021;282:1153–60.
- 15. Henkel V, Mergl R, Allgaier AK, Kohnen R, Möller HJ, Hegerl U. Treatment of depression with atypical features: a meta-analytic approach. Psychiatry Res. 2006;141(1):89–101.
- 16. Thase ME, Trivedi MH, Rush AJ. MAOIs in the contemporary treatment of depression. Neuropsychopharmacology. 1995;12(3):185–219.
- 17. Kim T, Xu C, Amsterdam JD. Relative effectiveness of tricyclic antidepressant versus monoamine oxidase inhibitor monotherapy for treatment-resistant depression. J Affect Disord. 2019;250:199–203.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- Fekadu A, Rane LJ, Wooderson SC, Markopoulou K, Poon L, Cleare AJ. Prediction of longer-term outcome of treatment-resistant depression in tertiary care. Br J Psychiatry. 2012;201(5):369–75.
- 19. Van den Eynde V, Abdelmoemin WR, Abraham MM, Amsterdam JD, Anderson IM, Andrade C, et al. The prescriber's guide to classic MAO-inhibitors (phenelzine, tranylcypromine, isocarboxazid) for treatment-resistant depression. CNS Spectrums. 2023:28(4):427–40.
- Hirsch M, Birnbaum RJ. Monoamine oxidase inhibitors (MAOIs): pharmacology, administration, safety, and side effects [internet]. Alphen aan den Rijn: Wolters Kluwer; 2023 (https://www. uptodate.com/contents/monoamine-oxidase-inhibitors-maois-pharmacology-administrationsafety-and-side-effects, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 21. Wimbiscus M, Kostenko O, Malone D. MAO inhibitors: risks, benefits, and lore. Cleve Clin J Med. 2010;77(12):859–82.
- 22. Flockhart DA. Dietary restrictions and drug interactions with monoamine oxidase inhibitors: an update. J Clin Psychiatry. 2012;73(Suppl 1):17–24.
- 23. Van den Eynde V, Gillman PK, Blackwell BB. The prescriber's guide to the MAOI diet thinking through tyramine troubles. Psychopharmacol Bull. 2022;52(2):73–116.
- 24. Mavranezouli I, Mayo-Wilson E, Dias S, Kew K, Clark DM, Ades AE, et al. The cost effectiveness of psychological and pharmacological interventions for social anxiety disorder: a model-based economic analysis. PLoS One. 2015;10(10):e0140704.
- Cost comparison charts (internet). Newcastle-upon-Tyne: Regional Drug and Therapeutics Centre; 2018 (https://rdtc.nhs.uk/prescribing-support-document/cost-comparison-charts/, accessed 6 October 2023).

602

# 24.2.2 Medicines used in bipolar disorders

Quetiapine – addition – EML

# Quetiapine

### ATC code: N05AH04

### Proposal

Addition of quetiapine to the core list of the EML for the treatment of adults with bipolar disorders. Listing is requested with a square box specifying aripiprazole, olanzapine and paliperidone as therapeutic alternatives.

### Applicant

WHO Collaborating Centre for Research and Training in Mental Health and Service Evaluation, University of Verona, Verona, Italy

### WHO technical department

Mental Health and Substance Use

### EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

24.2.2 Medicines used in bipolar disorders

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Tablet (immediate-release): 25 mg, 100 mg, 150 mg, 200 mg, 300 mg Tablet (modified-release): 50 mg, 150 mg, 200 mg, 300 mg, 400 mg

### Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Square box, with aripiprazole, olanzapine and paliperidone as the specified therapeutic alternatives.

# Background

Neither quetiapine nor the proposed therapeutic alternatives has previously been evaluated for inclusion on the EML for the treatment of bipolar disorders.

Medicines for the treatment of bipolar disorders currently included on the EML are lithium carbonate (since 1977), carbamazepine (since 1997) and valproic acid (since 1997).

#### Public health relevance

Bipolar disorders affect about 40 million people globally, accounting for about 4% of all mental disorders in 2019. These disorders affect about 1 in 150 adults worldwide and their prevalence is relatively consistent across different regions and in males and females (*1*,*2*). Bipolar disorder type I has a lifetime prevalence of around 1.0%, while bipolar disorder type II has a lifetime prevalence of about 1.6% (*3*). The disease burden of bipolar disorders has been increasing over the years, with about 9.29 million disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) reported globally in 2017, a 54.4% increase from 1990 (*4*).

People with bipolar disorders have a lower life expectancy than the general population. A recent meta-analysis of 11 observational studies, including 96 601 individuals, found that the pooled life expectancy of those with bipolar disorders was 67 years (95% confidence interval (CI) 64 to 69 years). Women with bipolar disorders tended to have a slightly higher life expectancy than men. The weighted average of years of potential life lost (YPLLs) was 12.9 years (95% CI 12.7 to 13.1 years), with the highest YPLLs reported in Africa (5). Suicide is the most common cause of unnatural deaths in people with bipolar disorders; they have a 20- to 30-fold greater risk compared with the general population (6). However, excess mortality from natural causes can also be attributed to various factors, such as unhealthy lifestyle choices (including sedentary habits, smoking and substance use), metabolic side-effects of antipsychotic medications and inequitable medical care. Moreover, bipolar disorders are associated with a high prevalence of comorbid mental health conditions that develop over their course. These comorbidities add to the overall burden and challenges faced by individuals with bipolar disorders (7).

Bipolar disorders are associated with significant costs for individuals, health care systems and society due to factors such as reduced work productivity and unemployment. A meta-analysis of 56 United States studies estimated an annual national economic burden of more than US\$ 195 billion, with 25% attributed to direct medical costs (8).

Prompt pharmacological treatment is crucial for managing acute manic/ hypomanic and depressive episodes in bipolar disorders, along with continuous maintenance treatment from the early stages of the disease. This approach helps prevent chronic functional deterioration, reduce subthreshold symptoms and lower the risk of suicide (9,10). However, treatment non-adherence is an important challenge, affecting up to 40% of individuals with bipolar disorders (11).

In recent years, scientific evidence has increased substantially on the comparative efficacy and tolerability of pharmacological treatments for bipolar disorders, which include lithium, antiseizure medicines and antipsychotics. Not all treatments are equally effective or well tolerated, and the choice of treatment should be personalized through a shared-decision making process based on individual needs. It is important to note that treatment effectiveness may vary across different phases of the disease, such as acute manic/hypomanic/depressive episodes or long-term prevention of recurrences. Additionally, the certainty of evidence supporting various treatments may differ (12-16).

As well as pharmacological interventions, psychosocial approaches such as psychoeducation, cognitive behavioural therapy and family therapy have been effective in treating bipolar disorders. A comprehensive approach that combines pharmacological and psychosocial interventions is essential for effectively managing the condition (*17*).

In low- and middle-income countries, treatment coverage for mental disorders, including bipolar disorders, is inadequate. Up to 50% of individuals with bipolar disorders do not receive sufficient treatment (*18*). Additionally, only a few countries can be considered fully aligned with the principle of providing complete access to essential psychotropic medications such as antipsychotics and mood stabilizers. Low availability and high costs of these medicines are significant barriers to access in these regions (*19*).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

A 2022 systematic review and network meta-analysis of 56 randomized controlled trials (14 503 participants) evaluated pharmacological treatments (oral antipsychotics and mood stabilizers) as monotherapy for acute treatment of bipolar mania (16). Overall, all the included antipsychotics (risperidone, haloperidol, olanzapine, cariprazine, quetiapine, aripiprazole, paliperidone, ziprasidone and asenapine) showed better response to treatment compared to placebo: risk ratio (RR) 1.69 (95% CI 1.41 to 2.02) for risperidone, RR 1.55 (95% CI 1.32 to 1.83) for quetiapine and RR 1.28 (95% CI 1.05 to 1.56) for asenapine. In head-to-head comparisons, few differences were seen between treatments. Olanzapine outperformed haloperidol (RR 1.37, 95% CI 1.11 to 1.69), cariprazine (RR 1.56, 95% CI 1.13 to 2.13), brexpiprazole (RR 1.73, 95% CI 1.14 to 2.63), asenapine (RR 1.54, 95% CI 1.18 to 2.01) and aripiprazole (RR 1.30, 95% CI 1.05 to 1.61). When comparing oral second-generation antipsychotics with mood stabilizers included in the EML, there were relatively few and small differences. Carbamazepine showed no statistically significant differences when compared to any second-generation antipsychotic. However, olanzapine (RR 1.59, 95% CI 1.28 to 1.98) and quetiapine (RR 1.36, 95% CI 1.02 to 1.81) outperformed lithium, and olanzapine outperformed valproic acid (RR 0.76, 95% CI 0.63 to 0.93). The certainty of evidence was generally low or very low for most comparisons, except for quetiapine, for which the certainty of evidence against placebo was moderate.

A 2021 network meta-analysis of 18 randomized controlled trials (7969 participants) evaluated the efficacy and tolerability of atypical antipsychotics in the treatment of acute bipolar depression (*14*). As measured by the mean change in Montgomery Åsberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS) score from baseline

to the end of the study, cariprazine, olanzapine, quetiapine, and lurasidone were more effective than placebo, with mean differences (MD) ranging from -4.80 (95% CI -5.93 to -3.72) for quetiapine to -2.29 (95% CI -3.47 to -1.09) for cariprazine. Aripiprazole and ziprasidone did not show significant differences compared with placebo. In head-to-head comparisons, olanzapine outperformed aripiprazole (MD -3.49, 95% CI -6.07 to -0.92), cariprazine (MD -2.29, 95% CI -4.09 to -0.46) and ziprasidone (MD -3.23, 95% CI -5.66 to -0.83). Quetiapine outperformed aripiprazole (MD -4.80, 95% CI -5.93 to -3.72), cariprazine (MD -2.52, 95% CI -4.11 to -0.92) and ziprasidone (MD -3.46, 95% CI -5.76 to -1.24). Lurasidone outperformed aripiprazole (MD -3.63, 95% CI -6.78 to -0.50) and ziprasidone (MD -3.36, 95% CI -6.38 to -0.39). The certainty of evidence based on the Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluations (GRADE) approach for network meta-analyses was high for cariprazine, lurasidone, olanzapine and quetiapine compared with placebo. It was moderate for: aripiprazole and ziprasidone compared with lurasidone; and cariprazine and aripiprazole compared with quetiapine and olanzapine. It was low for: aripiprazole and ziprasidone compared with placebo; cariprazine, olanzapine, and quetiapine compared with lurasidone; ziprasidone, and olanzapine compared with quetiapine; and cariprazine compared with aripiprazole. It was very low for all other comparisons.

A 2021 systematic review and network meta-analysis of 41 randomized controlled trials (9821 participants) evaluated antipsychotics and mood stabilizers, alone or in combination, for long-term prevention of any mood episode in clinically stable adults with bipolar disorders (15). Most oral antipsychotics (aripiprazole, asenapine, olanzapine, quetiapine and paliperidone) and the combination aripiprazole + lamotrigine were more effective than placebo in decreasing recurrence/relapse rate of manic/hypomanic/mixed episodes: with RRs ranging from 0.21 (95% CI 0.08 to 0.53) for asenapine to 0.55 (95% CI 0.43 to 0.71) for quetiapine. In head-to-head comparisons of oral antipsychotic monotherapies, asenapine outperformed paliperidone (RR 0.35, 95% CI 0.13 to 0.96) and quetiapine (RR 0.37, 95% CI 0.14 to 0.98), and olanzapine outperformed paliperidone (RR 0.59, 95% CI 0.37 to 0.94) and quetiapine (RR 0.62, 95% CI 0.44 to 0.89). Compared with mood stabilizers currently included in the EML: lithium was outperformed by olanzapine (RR 1.56, 95% CI 1.17 to 2.06) and asenapine (RR 0.39, 95% CI 0.15 to 0.99); carbamazepine was outperformed by asenapine (RR 0.10, 95% CI 0.01 to 0.99); and valproic acid was outperformed by olanzapine (RR 0.54, 95% CI 0.38 to 0.78) and asenapine (RR 0.33, 95% CI 0.12 to 0.86). Considering only monotherapies, the certainty of evidence was: moderate for aripiprazole, asenapine, olanzapine and paliperidone versus placebo; low for olanzapine versus placebo, and aripiprazole versus asenapine, carbamazepine, olanzapine, paliperidone, quetiapine and valproic acid; and very low for the remaining comparisons.

For the recurrence/relapse rate of depressive episodes in individuals with bipolar disorders, meta-analysis of 25 randomized controlled trials (6438 participants) was performed (15). The results showed that aripiprazole + valproic acid, quetiapine and olanzapine were more effective than placebo, with RRs ranging from 0.27 (95% CI 0.08 to 0.99) for aripiprazole + valproic acid to 0.74 (95% CI 0.56 to 0.98) for olanzapine. Estimates for asenapine, aripiprazole, paliperidone and cariprazine were not significant. In head-to-head comparisons of oral antipsychotic monotherapies, asenapine outperformed paliperidone (RR 0.29, 95% CI 0.09 to 0.91) and quetiapine outperformed olanzapine (RR 1.55, 95% CI 1.05 to 2.28) and paliperidone (RR 2.73, 95% CI 1.55 to 4.8). Compared with mood stabilizers already included in the EML, carbamazepine was outperformed by asenapine (RR 0.14, 95% CI 0.02 to 0.84) and quetiapine (RR 5.69, 95% CI 1.29 to 25.01), valproic acid was outperformed by quetiapine (RR 0.57, 95% CI 0.37 to 0.87), and lithium was outperformed by quetiapine (RR 1.65, 95% CI 1.21 to 2.25). The remaining head-to-head comparisons were not significant. The certainty of evidence for antipsychotic monotherapies compared with placebo and mood stabilizers was generally low, except for the comparison of paliperidone with quetiapine, which had moderate certainty according to the confidence in network meta-analysis (CINeMA) approach (15).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

In the 2022 network meta-analysis on the acute treatment of adults with bipolar mania (16), all-cause discontinuation (acceptability) was used as a pragmatic measure of the balance between desirable and undesirable effects of medications. The acceptability analysis included 70 randomized controlled trials with 16 324 participants. Olanzapine, quetiapine, risperidone and aripiprazole were significantly more acceptable than placebo. Paliperidone, ziprasidone, haloperidol, asenapine, cariprazine, brexpiprazole and chlorpromazine did not show significant differences from placebo in terms of acceptability. Head-to-head comparisons between second-generation antipsychotics showed that olanzapine was more acceptable than aripiprazole (RR 1.30, 95% CI 1.05 to 1.61), asenapine (RR 1.54, 95% CI 1.18 to 2.01), brexpiprazole (RR 1.73, 95% CI 1.14 to 2.63), cariprazine (RR 1.56, 95% CI 1.13 to 2.13), haloperidol (RR 1.37, 95% CI 1.11 to 1.69) and ziprasidone (RR 0.75, 95% 0.56 to 0.99). When comparing secondgeneration antipsychotics to mood stabilizers already included on the EML, both olanzapine (RR 1.59, 95% CI 1.28 to 1.98) and quetiapine (RR 1.36, 95% CI 1.02 to 1.81) outperformed lithium, and olanzapine outperformed valproic acid (RR 0.76, 95% CI 0.63 to 0.93). No significant differences were seen between second-generation antipsychotics and carbamazepine. The certainty of evidence based on the CINeMA approach was generally low or very low for most of the comparisons, indicating limited confidence in the results (16).

In the 2021 network meta-analysis on the acute treatment of adults with bipolar depression (*14*), the analysis for all-cause discontinuation included 18 randomized controlled trials with 7969 participants. Aripiprazole had a significantly higher risk of all-cause discontinuation compared with placebo (odds ratio (OR) 1.68, 95% CI 1.09 to 2.48). For cariprazine, lurasidone, olanzapine, ziprasidone and quetiapine, no significant differences in all-cause discontinuation rates were observed. In head-to-head comparisons, aripiprazole was more effective than olanzapine (OR 0.44, 95% CI 0.24 to 0.73) and quetiapine (OR 0.62, 95% CI 0.37 to 0.96), while ziprasidone outperformed olanzapine (OR 2.03, 95% CI 1.15 to 3.30). The certainty of evidence based on the CINeMA approach was rated as very low for ziprasidone, moderate for aripiprazole, cariprazine, olanzapine and quetiapine, and high for lurasidone (*14*).

In the 2021 network meta-analysis on long-term prevention of any mood episode in clinical stable adults with bipolar disorder (15), the analysis for all-cause discontinuation included 29 randomized controlled trials with 6899 participants. Most antipsychotics did not show significant differences in all-cause discontinuation rates compared with placebo. However, quetiapine, (RR 0.66, 95% CI 0.52 to 0.83), asenapine (RR 0.45, 95% CI 0.27 to 0.75) and olanzapine (RR 0.68, 95% CI 0.56 to 0.84) had lower discontinuation rates than placebo. In head-to-head comparisons, asenapine outperformed aripiprazole (RR 2.15, 95% CI 1.17 to 3.95) and paliperidone (RR 0.50, 95% CI 0.27 to 0.93). No other statistically significant differences were observed between antipsychotics. When mood stabilizers already included in the EML were considered, carbamazepine was outperformed by asenapine (RR 0.46, 95% CI 0.25 to 0.84) and quetiapine (RR 1.49, 95% CI 1.02 to 2.19). Asenapine outperformed valproic acid (RR 0.56, 95% CI 0.32 to 0.99) and lithium (RR 0.54, 95% CI 0.32 to 0.91). When considering monotherapies only, the certainty of evidence, based on the CINeMA approach, was very low for quetiapine versus placebo, carbamazepine and lithium, moderate for asenapine versus placebo, aripiprazole and carbamazepine, and low for all the remaining comparisons (15).

A 2018 systematic review and meta-analysis of 352 randomized controlled trials (84 988 participants) compared mortality risk between second-generation antipsychotics and placebo for various diagnoses. No significant differences were seen between antipsychotic medicines and placebo for death from any cause (OR 1.19, 95% CI 0.93 to 1.53), death from natural causes (OR 1.29, 95% CI 0.85 to 1.94), suicide (OR 1.15, 95% CI 0.47 to 2.81) or other non-natural causes (OR 1.55, 95% CI 0.66 to 3.63). Furthermore, significant differences in mortality risk between antipsychotics and placebo were not observed in the subgroup analysis that specifically focused on people with bipolar disorders (OR 1.09, 95% CI 0.53 to 2.25) (20).

A 2019 systematic review and meta-analysis of 314 randomized controlled trials (67 642 participants) compared the risk of somatic serious adverse events

between second-generation antipsychotics and placebo for various diagnoses. In the subgroup analyses for each antipsychotic, haloperidol (OR 1.61, 95% CI 1.07 to 2.43), olanzapine (OR 1.35, 95% CI 1.04 to 1.74) and risperidone (OR 1.33, 95% CI 1.04 to 1.70) showed a significantly higher risk of serious adverse events compared with placebo. No significant differences in the risk of serious adverse events compared with placebo were observed for the other antipsychotic medications studied (*21*).

The most common side-effects of quetiapine include drowsiness, dizziness, weight gain and dry mouth. As with other second-generation antipsychotics, quetiapine can also cause metabolic changes, such as increased cholesterol and blood sugar levels in some people. More serious adverse effects such as tardive dyskinesia and neuroleptic malignant syndrome are rare. Quetiapine should be used with caution during pregnancy and breastfeeding, as the medication may pose risks to the developing fetus or infant.

# **WHO guidelines**

The proposed inclusion of quetiapine and the specified therapeutic alternatives on the EML for treatment of bipolar disorder is aligned with recommendations in the 2023 WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use (*22*).

### Costs/cost-effectiveness

A pharmacoeconomic study in the Kingdom of the Netherlands compared the cost-effectiveness of mood stabilizers alone (lithium or valproic acid) with combination therapy of lithium plus a second-generation antipsychotic (quetiapine, olanzapine or risperidone) for the treatment of acute mania (23). The study assessed direct treatment costs, including hospitalizations, outpatient visits and medications for adverse effects, over a 100-day period. Monotherapies with lithium or valproic acid were more expensive than combination therapies. Among the combination therapies, lithium plus quetiapine was significantly more expensive ( $\in$ 2555) compared with lithium plus risperidone ( $\notin$ 2365) or olanzapine ( $\notin$ 2429) due to higher acquisition costs. However, the lithium plus quetiapine combination was associated with fewer side-effects. Additionally, other pharmacoeconomic analyses provided evidence supporting the costeffectiveness of the quetiapine plus lithium combination therapy over lithium alone for the maintenance treatment of bipolar disorders (24–26).

Two retrospective studies analysed the direct costs and health care outcomes associated with different atypical antipsychotics for the treatment of bipolar disorders. The first study, using data from a Medicaid programme, compared the direct health care costs of quetiapine, olanzapine and risperidone monotherapies in the year after the start of treatment. No significant difference in total health care costs was seen between the three antipsychotics (quetiapine US\$ 14 417, olanzapine US\$ 13 804 and risperidone US\$ 16 214) or in costs related to bipolar disorder (quetiapine US\$ 4372, olanzapine US\$ 4596 and risperidone US\$ 4435) (27). The second study used datasets of insurance claims to compare time to hospitalization and health care costs (pharmacy costs, mental health costs and overall health care costs) of different atypical antipsychotics over a year. Aripiprazole had a significantly lower time to hospitalization compared with ziprasidone, olanzapine and quetiapine (hazard ratio (HR) 1.96, 1.55 and 1.56, respectively; P < 0.05), but no significant difference was found between aripiprazole and risperidone (HR 1.37, P = 0.10). Monthly mental health care costs were significantly lower for aripiprazole compared with ziprasidone (US\$ 487 versus US\$ 631) and quetiapine (US\$ 430 versus US\$ 519), but not significantly different when compared with olanzapine (US\$ 447 versus US\$ 484) or risperidone (US\$ 449 versus US\$ 442). Total monthly health care costs were significantly lower for aripiprazole compared with quetiapine (US\$ 875 versus US\$ \$1060), with no significant differences with the other comparators (28).

A Canadian cost-utility analysis compared the economic impact of asenapine versus olanzapine in treating bipolar disorder over a 5-year horizon. The study focused on weight gain and long-term metabolic complications, including diabetes, hypertension, coronary heart diseases and stroke. The use of asenapine was cost-effective, resulting in a gain of 84.8 quality-adjusted life years (QALYs) per 1000 patients and lower costs from both the Ministry of Health and societal perspectives by about Can\$ 3.8 million less in each case (29). In a Swedish study, the cost-effectiveness of aripiprazole versus olanzapine was investigated over a lifetime horizon using a Markov health-state transition model. Assuming equivalent efficacy, the study used the annual incidence rate of metabolic syndrome to estimate the long-term cardiovascular consequences. The lower incidence of type II diabetes and coronary artery disease in patients treated with aripiprazole led to a gain of 0.09 QALYs and cost savings of US\$ 3720 compared with olanzapine (30).

#### Availability

A recent analysis of 112 national essential medicine lists found that secondgeneration antipsychotics are not commonly included in these lists. Firstgeneration antipsychotics such as haloperidol and chlorpromazine are more frequently listed. Inclusion of second-generation antipsychotics appears to be associated with the socioeconomic status of the country; these antipsychotics are more often included in the essential medicine lists of high-income countries but are only found in a minority of lower middle-income countries (19).

Quetiapine and the proposed therapeutic alternatives are variably available worldwide, in innovator and generic brands.

#### Other considerations

The applicants identified the second-generation antipsychotics proposed for EML listing by applying the following criteria:

- being superior to placebo in terms of efficacy for both acute treatment and long-term prevention of mania/hypomania and/or depression;
- having moderate-to-high certainty of evidence according to GRADE/CINeMA assessment for efficacy for at least one of the subpopulations considered, that is, acute mania, acute depression and clinically stable bipolar disorders;
- being superior/non-inferior to placebo in terms acceptability (allcause discontinuation) for most of the subpopulations considered, that is, at least two among acute mania, acute depression and clinically stable bipolar disorders.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted the increasing prevalence of bipolar disorders worldwide, the significant disability associated with it, and recognized the importance of its treatment to reduce the associated morbidity and mortality. The Committee noted that the EML currently includes only carbamazepine, lithium carbonate and valproic acid for use in bipolar disorders. The Committee agreed that second-generation antipsychotics have an important role in treatment of bipolar disorders in patients who do not adequately respond to or experience adverse events from mood stabilizers. Moreover, the Committee noted that the two classes of medicines may be used in combination in selected patients in clinical practice.

The Committee noted that the detailed analysis of oral antipsychotics included in the application was aligned with the work carried out for the update of the WHO mhGAP guidelines for psychosis. The Committee also noted that the proposed inclusion of quetiapine and the specified therapeutic alternatives on the EML for treatment of bipolar disorders was aligned with recommendations in the forthcoming update of the guidelines.

According to the most recent and high-quality meta-analytical evidence on the acute and maintenance treatment of bipolar disorders, second-generation antipsychotics have been found to be either superior or non-inferior to placebo, and at least as effective as the classic mood stabilizers currently included on the EML for both treatment of acute affective episodes (mania, hypomania and depression) and maintenance treatment in clinically stable patients. Among the medicines proposed for inclusion, head-to-head comparisons generally showed no significant differences in efficacy or acceptability between them, with moderate-to-high certainty of evidence.

The Committee noted that second-generation antipsychotics can help to manage the symptoms of bipolar disorder and improve the overall quality of life of patients by reducing the frequency and severity of manic and depressive episodes and preventing hospitalizations. They therefore reduce the burden of the disease for both individuals and healthcare systems.

The Committee noted that quetiapine, and the proposed therapeutic alternative antipsychotics, were available as generics in most countries, at varying prices and affordability.

The Expert Committee accepted the criteria applied by the applicants in identifying the second-generation antipsychotics proposed and recommended the inclusion of quetiapine, with a square box indicating aripiprazole, olanzapine and paliperidone as specified therapeutic alternatives, on the core list of the EML for treatment of bipolar disorders.

### References

- 1. World mental health report: transforming mental health for all. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/356119, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Global, regional, and national burden of 12 mental disorders in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet Psychiatry. 2022;9(2):137–50.
- Rowland TA, Marwaha S. Epidemiology and risk factors for bipolar disorder. Ther Adv Psychopharmacol. 2018;8(9):251–69.
- He H, Hu C, Ren Z, Bai L, Gao F, Lyu J. Trends in the incidence and DALYs of bipolar disorder at global, regional, and national levels: results from the global burden of Disease Study 2017. J Psychiatr Res. 2020;125:96–105.
- 5. Chan JKN, Tong CHY, Wong CSM, Chen EYH, Chang WC. Life expectancy and years of potential life lost in bipolar disorder: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry. 2022:1–10.
- 6. Plans L, Barrot C, Nieto E, Rios J, Schulze TG, Papiol S, et al. Association between completed suicide and bipolar disorder: a systematic review of the literature. J Affect Disord. 2019;242:111–22.
- 7. Saunders KEA, Goodwin GM. The course of bipolar disorder. Adv Psychiatr Treat. 2010;16(5):318–28.
- 8. Bessonova L, Ogden K, Doane MJ, O'Sullivan AK, Tohen M. The economic burden of bipolar disorder in the United States: a systematic literature review. Clinicoecon Outcomes Res. 2020;12:481–97.
- 9. Practice guideline for the treatment of patients with bipolar disorder. Second edition. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association; 2010.
- 10. Kishi T, Matsuda Y, Sakuma K, Okuya M, Mishima K, Iwata N. Recurrence rates in stable bipolar disorder patients after drug discontinuation v. drug maintenance: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Psychol Med. 2021;51(15):2721–9.
- 11. García S, Martínez-Cengotitabengoa M, López-Zurbano S, Zorrilla I, López P, Vieta E, et al. Adherence to antipsychotic medication in bipolar disorder and schizophrenic patients: a systematic review. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2016;36(4):355–71.

612

- 12. Miura T, Noma H, Furukawa TA, Mitsuyasu H, Tanaka S, Stockton S, et al. Comparative efficacy and tolerability of pharmacological treatments in the maintenance treatment of bipolar disorder: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Lancet Psychiatry. 2014;1(5):351–9.
- 13. Bahji A, Ermacora D, Stephenson C, Hawken ER, Vazquez G. Comparative efficacy and tolerability of adjunctive pharmacotherapies for acute bipolar depression: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Can J Psychiatry. 2021;66(3):274–88.
- 14. Kadakia A, Dembek C, Heller V, Singh R, Uyei J, Hagi K, et al. Efficacy and tolerability of atypical antipsychotics for acute bipolar depression: a network meta-analysis. BMC Psychiatry. 2021;21(1):249.
- Kishi T, Ikuta T, Matsuda Y, Sakuma K, Okuya M, Mishima K, et al. Mood stabilizers and/or antipsychotics for bipolar disorder in the maintenance phase: a systematic review and network meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Mol Psychiatry. 2021;26(8):4146–57.
- 16. Kishi T, Ikuta T, Matsuda Y, Sakuma K, Okuya M, Nomura I, et al. Pharmacological treatment for bipolar mania: a systematic review and network meta-analysis of double-blind randomized controlled trials. Mol Psychiatry. 2022;27(2):1136–44.
- 17. Miziou S, Tsitsipa E, Moysidou S, Karavelas V, Dimelis D, Polyzoidou V, et al. Psychosocial treatment and interventions for bipolar disorder: a systematic review. Ann Gen Psychiatry. 2015;14:19.
- 18. Kohn R, Saxena S, Levav I, Saraceno B. The treatment gap in mental health care. Bull World Health Organ. 2004;82(11):858–66.
- 19. Todesco B, Ostuzzi G, Barbui C. Mapping the selection, availability, price and affordability of essential medicines for mental health conditions at a global level. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci. 2022;31:e22.
- Schneider-Thoma J, Efthimiou O, Huhn M, Krause M, Reichelt L, Röder H, et al. Second-generation antipsychotic drugs and short-term mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis of placebocontrolled randomised controlled trials. Lancet Psychiatry. 2018;5(8):653–63.
- Schneider-Thoma J, Efthimiou O, Bighelli I, Dörries C, Huhn M, Krause M, et al. Second-generation antipsychotic drugs and short-term somatic serious adverse events: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Psychiatry. 2019;6(9):753–65.
- Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders. Third edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://iris.who.int/ handle/10665/374250, accessed 21 November 2023).
- Klok RM, Al Hadithy AF, van Schayk NP, Antonisse AJ, Caro JJ, Brouwers JR, et al. Pharmacoeconomics of quetiapine for the management of acute mania in bipolar I disorder. Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res. 2007;7(5):459–67.
- Fajutrao L, Paulsson B, Liu S, Locklear J. Cost-effectiveness of quetiapine plus mood stabilizers compared with mood stabilizers alone in the maintenance therapy of bipolar I disorder: results of a Markov model analysis. Clin Ther. 2009;31(Pt 1):1456–68.
- 25. Woodward TC, Tafesse E, Quon P, Kim J, Lazarus A. Cost-effectiveness of quetiapine with lithium or divalproex for maintenance treatment of bipolar I disorder. J Med Econ. 2009;12(4):259–68.
- Woodward TC, Tafesse E, Quon P, Lazarus A. Cost effectiveness of adjunctive quetiapine fumarate extended-release tablets with mood stabilizers in the maintenance treatment of bipolar I disorder. Pharmacoeconomics. 2010;28(9):751–64.
- 27. Qiu Y, Christensen DB, Fu AZ, Liu GG. Cost analysis in a Medicaid program for patients with bipolar disorder who initiated atypical antipsychotic monotherapy. Curr Med Res Opin. 2009;25(2):351–61.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 28. Kim E, You M, Pikalov A, Van-Tran Q, Jing Y. One-year risk of psychiatric hospitalization and associated treatment costs in bipolar disorder treated with atypical antipsychotics: a retrospective claims database analysis. BMC Psychiatry. 2011;11:6.
- 29. Lachaine J, Beauchemin C, Mathurin K, Gilbert D, Beillat M. Cost-effectiveness of asenapine in the treatment of bipolar disorder in Canada. BMC Psychiatry. 2014;14:16.
- 30. Kasteng F, Eriksson J, Sennfält K, Lindgren P. Metabolic effects and cost-effectiveness of aripiprazole versus olanzapine in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2011;124(3):214–25.

# 24.3 Medicines for anxiety disorders

Diazepam – change to listing – EML

### Diazepam

# ATC code: N05BA01

### Proposal

Revision of the indications and therapeutic alternatives for diazepam in the core list of the EML for treatment of adults with anxiety disorders. The application proposed:

- the addition of a note to the listing of diazepam to indicate that use is for the short-term emergency management of acute and severe anxiety symptoms only, and
- therapeutic alternatives under the square box listing for diazepam be limited to lorazepam.

### Applicant

WHO Collaborating Centre for Research and Training in Mental Health and Service Evaluation, University of Verona, Verona, Italy

### WHO technical department

Mental Health and Substance Use

### EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

24.3 Medicines for anxiety disorders

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Tablet (scored): 2 mg, 5 mg

### Core/complementary

Core

### Individual/square box listing

Square box

# Background

Diazepam, with an unrestricted square box, has been included on the EML since the first list was published in 1977.

615

At its meeting in 2021, the Expert Committee considered a review of square box listings on the EML and EMLc and recommended that all square box listings be qualified to explicitly indicate the recommended therapeutic alternatives. The Committee requested that the therapeutic alternatives for diazepam for use in the treatment of anxiety disorders be reviewed and updated in 2023 (1).

#### Public health relevance

Anxiety disorders are prevalent and disabling conditions that cause excessive fear, worry and avoidance of threats in the environment. They have a high incidence, early age at onset and a tendency to relapse for a long time (2-4). Guidelines recommend selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) as the first-choice pharmacological treatment, but benzodiazepines are still commonly used due to their rapid onset of action, perceived effectiveness and favourable side-effects profile in the short term (5-8).

Benzodiazepines are classified, under the United Nations Convention of Psychotropic Substances, as schedule IV substances and have a high potential for abuse with addictive potential (9). In 2020 in the United States, 4.8 million individuals misused or abused prescription benzodiazepines (10). In Finland, a population-based cohort study of almost 130 000 new benzodiazepine users found that 39.4% (51 099) of the continuous benzodiazepine users became longterm users (11). Long-term use of benzodiazepines can lead to adverse effects, especially in older individuals, such as cognitive and psychomotor impairments, and increased risk of falls, fractures and even death in many age ranges (12–18). Factors associated with long-term benzodiazepine use include sex, comorbid conditions, older age, lower income, psychiatric comorbidities, substance abuse and poorer health status (11,19–21).

Concerns about tolerance and the development of physical dependence have been associated with benzodiazepines for more than 50 years (22,23). Physical dependence can occur with regular use for several days or weeks, leading to withdrawal symptoms when the medication is tapered or reduced (5). Discontinuation of long-term benzodiazepine use is challenging, with only a small percentage of users (13%) able to successfully discontinue within a year (24–26). Benzodiazepine use is associated with a high risk of re-initiation after discontinuation, and abrupt withdrawal or rapid dose reduction can result in lifethreatening withdrawal reactions including seizures (23,27).

Concomitant use of benzodiazepines and opioids is a major risk factor for drug-related deaths (28), and benzodiazepines, along with cannabis, are among the most prevalent psychoactive substances used by vehicle drivers and their use can impair driving ability including judgement and reaction time, thus increasing the risk of road traffic crashes especially when combined with alcohol (28–30).

In September 2020, the United States Food and Drug Administration updated the safety warnings and labelling for all benzodiazepines, highlighting the risks of abuse, misuse, addiction, physical dependence and withdrawal reactions (*31*).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

There is consensus among studies that benzodiazepines are generally more effective than placebo in treatment of panic disorders, with no significant differences in efficacy observed between different benzodiazepines (*32*). Two meta-analyses-compared the effectiveness of psychological and pharmacological treatments (*33*), and the effect of antidepressants and benzodiazepines versus placebo (*34*) in the treatment of panic disorders. Both studies showed superiority of benzodiazepines over a placebo in adults. These findings are supported by the results of a 2019 Cochrane systematic review, which found that benzodiazepines had a higher response rate (risk ratio (RR) 1.65, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.39 to 1.96) and lower drop-out rate (RR 0.50, 95% CI 0.39 to 0.64) compared with placebo (*35*). Similar results were also found for generalized anxiety disorder (*36*), social anxiety disorder (*37,38*) and specific phobias (*39,40*). Notably, these studies primarily focused on short-term efficacy and did not assess long-term efficacy or the risks of dependency and withdrawal symptoms.

A 2022 network meta-analysis of 154 randomized controlled trials (40 089 participants) estimated the comparative effectiveness of pharmacological treatments for acute and long-term treatment of adults with insomnia disorder (41). The study included an analysis of the comparative efficacy of benzodiazepines, grouping them according to half-life (short-, intermediate- and long-acting). No significant differences were found in efficacy for acute treatment of insomnia among the three groups of benzodiazepines. This finding indirectly supports the notion that, when administered at equivalent dosages, all benzodiazepines have a similar beneficial effect on symptoms, noting that the outcome assessed in this study was the resolution of insomnia rather than anxiety symptoms.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The harms associated with benzodiazepines are well known and well established. Benzodiazepines have similar toxicity profiles and, with some exceptions, abuse, misuse and dependency potential. Common short-time adverse effects include drowsiness, confusion, dizziness, somnolence, fatigue, weakness, memory impairment, impaired coordination and psychomotor retardation. A paradoxical increase in anxiety or disinhibition and delirium may particularly affect elderly patients. Long-term adverse effects include cognitive impairment, increased risk of falls, increased risk of vehicle crashes, depression and emotional blunting. Symptoms of overdose include extreme sedation or drowsiness, reduced respiration rate, confusion and difficulty thinking, slurred speech, loss of muscle control, and coma. Overdose may be fatal if used in combination with alcohol or opioids. Benzodiazepine dependence tends to be more prevalent in populations that already have a history of substance abuse. Studies have shown that about 11% to 15% of adults have used benzodiazepines at least once in the past year. However, only around 1% to 2% have taken benzodiazepines daily for a period of 12 months or more (42). In specific settings, such as psychiatric treatment facilities and among populations struggling with substance abuse, the rates of benzodiazepine use, abuse and dependence are significantly higher than the general population (43,44).

The development of physical dependence on benzodiazepines can be predicted to some extent and is related to the total exposure, determined by the dose and duration of treatment. As a result of physical dependence, withdrawal symptoms emerge with rapid dose reduction or abrupt discontinuation of the drug. Withdrawal symptoms are possible after only 1 month of daily use (45).

The incidence of benzodiazepine overdose is influenced by the availability of the medicines (46,47), with the most commonly available benzodiazepines most prone to abuse. In terms of addictive potential, diazepam and lorazepam are not more dangerous than other benzodiazepines. Benzodiazepines with greater addictive potential include flunitrazepam, temazepam and alprazolam. Flunitrazepam is illegal in the United States (48), temazepam is banned in Sweden (5) and alprazolam and flunitrazepam are scheduled as controlled drugs in Australia (49).

#### WHO guidelines

The 2023 WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders include a strong recommendation that benzodiazepines not be used for the treatment of adults with generalized anxiety and/or panic disorder. However, for the emergency management of acute and severe anxiety symptoms, benzodiazepines may be considered only as a short-term measure (3–7 days maximum) measure (low certainty of evidence) (50).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The availability and cost of benzodiazepines vary substantially among countries and across public and private sectors.

There are no comparative cost-effectiveness studies of single benzodiazepines.

Evidence suggests that the use of benzodiazepines may be associated with unnecessary medicine, dispensing and consultation costs resulting from misuse and unnecessary prescribing. A study in the United Kingdom estimated that 67–72% of the total costs associated with benzodiazepines were unnecessary. Over a 3-year period (April 2015–March 2018), the estimated unnecessary

costs ranged from about £115.6 million to £129.9 million, with an annual mean unnecessary cost of about £38.5 million to £43.3 million (51).

In adults with generalized anxiety disorder, long-term use of benzodiazepines has been shown to significantly increase health care costs. A retrospective cohort study in the United States involving 866 adults found that mean total health care costs increased by US\$ 2334 after the start of a long-term (> 90 days) course of benzodiazepine. The costs associated with benzodiazepine use primarily stemmed from accident-related encounters (e.g. treatment of fractures) and care received for other reasons possibly related to benzodiazepine use, such as sedation and dizziness (*52*).

A cost-utility analysis assessed the economic impact of potentially inappropriate prescribing and related adverse events in adults aged 65 years and older. Inappropriate prescribing of benzodiazepines had the largest reduction in quality-adjusted life years (QALYs) and incurred greater incremental costs compared with other medications subject to potentially inappropriate prescribing, such as non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and proton-pump inhibitors. The reduction in QALYs was estimated to be -0.07 QALY, while reduction in the incremental cost was  $\in$  3470 (53).

These findings demonstrate the financial consequences associated with unnecessary use and inappropriate prescribing of benzodiazepines, underscoring the importance of judicious and evidence-based practices in their use.

### Availability

Both diazepam and lorazepam are available globally in originator and generic brands.

### Other considerations

The application proposed including lorazepam as an alternative to diazepam because it complements diazepam pharmacokinetically as well as for their therapeutic indications. Diazepam has a long half-life (20–80 hours), while lorazepam has a short half-life (10–20 hours). Diazepam is a medium-potency agent, indicated for milder forms of anxiety, while lorazepam is a high-potency agent, indicated for anxiety surges during panic attacks (54).

Although concerns exist about the potential for abuse, misuse and dependence with all benzodiazepines, specific benzodiazepines such as alprazolam, flunitrazepam and temazepam have the higher risks. Thus, these agents were not proposed as therapeutic alternatives to diazepam.

### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that the long-term use of benzodiazepines in the treatment of anxiety disorders was known to be associated with considerable

harms in terms of dependence and addiction potential. With short-term use, these risks were greatly reduced.

The Committee noted that the updated WHO mhGAP guidelines will include a recommendation limiting the use of benzodiazepines to short-term use (3–7 days) for the emergency management of acute and severe anxiety symptoms only.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended the addition of a note to the listing of diazepam for use in anxiety disorders stating that it is only for short-term emergency management of acute and severe anxiety symptoms, as the balance of benefits and risks of diazepam use under these circumstances is favourable.

The Expert Committee also accepted the rationale applied by the applicants in selecting lorazepam as the only therapeutic alternative to diazepam for short-term treatment of acute and severe anxiety and recommended that lorazepam be specified as the only therapeutic alternative under the square box listing for diazepam for this indication.

### References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351172, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Craske MG, Rauch SL, Ursano R, Prenoveau J, Pine DS, Zinbarg RE. What is an anxiety disorder? Depress Anxiety. 2009;26(12):1066–85.
- Bandelow B, Michaelis S. Epidemiology of anxiety disorders in the 21st century. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2015;17(3):327–35.
- 4. Vos T, Lim SS, Abbafati C, Abbas KM, Abbasi M, Abbasifard M, et al. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet. 2020;396(10258):1204–22.
- 5. Lader M. Benzodiazepines revisited--will we ever learn? Addiction. 2011;106(12):2086–109.
- 6. Andrews G, Bell C, Boyce P, Gale C, Lampe L, Marwat O, et al. Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists clinical practice guidelines for the treatment of panic disorder, social anxiety disorder and generalised anxiety disorder. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2018;52(12):1109–72.
- Generalised anxiety disorder and panic disorder in adults: management. Clinical guideline [CG113]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2020 (https://www.nice.org. uk/guidance/cg113, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 8. Cloos JM, Ferreira V. Current use of benzodiazepines in anxiety disorders. Curr Opin Psychiatry. 2009;22(1):90–5.
- 9. Convention on psychotropic substances, 1971. Vienna: United Nations; 1971 (https://www.unodc. org/pdf/convention\_1971\_en.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).

620

 Key substance use and mental health indicators in the United States: results from the 2020 National Survey on Drug Use and Health. Rockville, MD: Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; 2021 (https://www.samhsa. gov/data/sites/default/files/reports/rpt35325/NSDUHFFRPDFWHTMLFiles2020/2020NSDUHFFR 1PDFW102121.pdf, accesssed 6 October 2023).

- 11. Taipale H, Särkilä H, Tanskanen A, Kurko T, Taiminen T, Tiihonen J, et al. Incidence of and characteristics associated with long-term benzodiazepine use in Finland. JAMA Netw Open. 2020;3(10):e2019029.
- 12. Dell'osso B, Lader M. Do benzodiazepines still deserve a major role in the treatment of psychiatric disorders? A critical reappraisal. Eur Psychiatry. 2013;28(1):7–20.
- 13. Lader M. Benzodiazepine harm: how can it be reduced? Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2014;77(2):295–301.
- 14. Seppala LJ, van de Glind EMM, Daams JG, Ploegmakers KJ, de Vries M, Wermelink A, et al. Fallrisk-increasing drugs: a systematic review and meta-analysis: III. Others. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2018;19(4):372.e1–e8.
- 15. Xing D, Ma XL, Ma JX, Wang J, Yang Y, Chen Y. Association between use of benzodiazepines and risk of fractures: a meta-analysis. Osteoporos Int. 2014;25(1):105–20.
- 16. Donnelly K, Bracchi R, Hewitt J, Routledge PA, Carter B. Benzodiazepines, Z-drugs and the risk of hip fracture: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2017;12(4):e0174730.
- 17. Saarelainen L, Tolppanen AM, Koponen M, Tanskanen A, Tiihonen J, Hartikainen S, et al. Risk of death associated with new benzodiazepine use among persons with Alzheimer disease: a matched cohort study. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2018;33(4):583–90.
- Parsaik AK, Mascarenhas SS, Khosh-Chashm D, Hashmi A, John V, Okusaga O, et al. Mortality associated with anxiolytic and hypnotic drugs: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2016;50(6):520–33.
- Kurko TA, Saastamoinen LK, Tähkäpää S, Tuulio-Henriksson A, Taiminen T, Tiihonen J, et al. Longterm use of benzodiazepines: definitions, prevalence and usage patterns – a systematic review of register-based studies. Eur Psychiatry. 2015;30(8):1037–47.
- 20. Cunningham CM, Hanley GE, Morgan S. Patterns in the use of benzodiazepines in British Columbia: examining the impact of increasing research and guideline cautions against long-term use. Health Policy. 2010;97(2–3):122–9.
- 21. Sidorchuk A, Isomura K, Molero Y, Hellner C, Lichtenstein P, Chang Z, et al. Benzodiazepine prescribing for children, adolescents, and young adults from 2006 through 2013: a total population register-linkage study. PLoS Med. 2018;15(8):e1002635.
- Systematic review of the benzodiazepines. Guidelines for data sheets on diazepam, chlordiazepoxide, medazepam, clorazepate, lorazepam, oxazepam, temazepam, triazolam, nitrazepam, and flurazepam. Committee on the Review of Medicines. Br Med J. 1980;280(6218):910–2.
- 23. Hollister LE, Motzenbecker FP, Degan RO. Withdrawal reactions from chlordiazepoxide ("Librium"). Psychopharmacologia. 1961;2:63–8.
- 24. Dell'Osso B, Albert U, Atti AR, Carmassi C, Carrà G, Cosci F, et al. Bridging the gap between education and appropriate use of benzodiazepines in psychiatric clinical practice. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2015;11:1885–909.
- 25. Brandt J, Leong C. Benzodiazepines and Z-drugs: an updated review of major adverse outcomes reported on in epidemiologic research. Drugs R D. 2017;17(4):493–507.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 26. Gerlach LB, Strominger J, Kim HM, Maust DT. Discontinuation of chronic benzodiazepine use among adults in the United States. J Gen Intern Med. 2019;34(9):1833–40.
- 27. Voshaar RC, Gorgels WJ, Mol AJ, van Balkom AJ, Mulder J, van de Lisdonk EH, et al. Predictors of long-term benzodiazepine abstinence in participants of a randomized controlled benzodiazepine withdrawal program. Can J Psychiatry. 2006;51(7):445–52.
- 28. Bachhuber MA, Hennessy S, Cunningham CO, Starrels JL. Increasing benzodiazepine prescriptions and overdose mortality in the United States, 1996–2013. Am J Public Health. 2016;106(4):686–8.
- 29. Joint Formulary Committee. British national formulary 83. London: BMJ Publishing and the Royal Pharmaceutical Society; 2022.
- 30. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. Selected issue drugs and driving. 2007. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union; 2007.
- Integrated drug utilization, epidemiology and pharmacovigilance review: benzodiazepine use, misuse, abuse, dependence, withdrawal, morbidity, and mortality. Silver Spring, MD: Food and Drug Administration; 2020.
- 32. Moylan S, Staples J, Ward SA, Rogerson J, Stein DJ, Berk M. The efficacy and safety of alprazolam versus other benzodiazepines in the treatment of panic disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2011;31(5):647–52.
- 33. Clum GA, Clum GA, Surls R. A meta-analysis of treatments for panic disorder. J Consult Clin Psychol. 1993;61(2):317–26.
- 34. Wilkinson G, Balestrieri M, Ruggeri M, Bellantuono C. Meta-analysis of double-blind placebocontrolled trials of antidepressants and benzodiazepines for patients with panic disorders. Psychol Med. 1991;21(4):991–8.
- 35. Breilmann J, Girlanda F, Guaiana G, Barbui C, Cipriani A, Castellazzi M, et al. Benzodiazepines versus placebo for panic disorder in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019;3(3):CD010677.
- 36. Martin JL, Sainz-Pardo M, Furukawa TA, Martín-Sánchez E, Seoane T, Galán C. Benzodiazepines in generalized anxiety disorder: heterogeneity of outcomes based on a systematic review and metaanalysis of clinical trials. J Psychopharmacol. 2007;21(7):774–82.
- 37. Davidson JR, Potts N, Richichi E, Krishnan R, Ford SM, Smith R, et al. Treatment of social phobia with clonazepam and placebo. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 1993;13(6):423–8.
- 38. Munjack DJ, Baltazar PL, Bohn PB, Cabe DD, Appleton AA. Clonazepam in the treatment of social phobia: a pilot study. J Clin Psychiatry. 1990;51(Suppl):35–40; discussion 50–3.
- 39. Wilhelm FH, Roth WT. Acute and delayed effects of alprazolam on flight phobics during exposure. Behav Res Ther. 1997;35(9):831–41.
- 40. Roy-Byrne PP, Cowley DS. Pharmacological treatments for panic disorder, generalized anxiety disorder, specific phobia, and social anxiety disorder. In: Nathan PE, Gorman JM, editors. A guide to treatments that work. Third edition. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; 2007:395.
- 41. De Crescenzo F, D'Alò GL, Ostinelli EG, Ciabattini M, Di Franco V, Watanabe N, et al. Comparative effects of pharmacological interventions for the acute and long-term management of insomnia disorder in adults: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Lancet. 2022;400(10347):170–84.
- 42. Salzman C. The APA Task Force report on benzodiazepine dependence, toxicity, and abuse. Am J Psychiatry. 1991;148(2):151–2.
- 43. Ciraulo DA, Sands BF, Shader RI. Critical review of liability for benzodiazepine abuse among alcoholics. Am J Psychiatry. 1988;145(12):1501–6.

622

44. Busto UE, Romach MK, Sellers EM. Multiple drug use and psychiatric comorbidity in patients admitted to the hospital with severe benzodiazepine dependence. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 1996;16(1):51–7.

- 45. Johnson B, Streltzer J. Risks associated with long-term benzodiazepine use. Am Fam Physician. 2013;88(4):224–6.
- Kaufmann CN, Spira AP, Alexander GC, Rutkow L, Mojtabai R. Emergency department visits involving benzodiazepines and non-benzodiazepine receptor agonists. Am J Emerg Med. 2017;35(10):1414–9.
- 47. Soyka M. Treatment of benzodiazepine dependence. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(12):1147–57.
- Rohypnol fast facts, questions and answers [internet]. Washington, DC: US Department of Justice, National Drug Intelligence Center; 2003 (https://www.justice.gov/archive/ndic/pubs6/6074/ index.htm, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Therapeutic goods (poisons standard—October 2023) Instrument 2023 [internet]. Canberra: Australian Government, Federal Register of Legislation; 2023 (https://www.legislation.gov.au/ Details/F2023L01294, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders. Third edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://iris.who.int/ handle/10665/374250, accessed 21 November 2023).
- Davies J, Cooper RE, Moncrieff J, Montagu L, Rae T, Parhi M. The costs incurred by the NHS in England due to the unnecessary prescribing of dependency-forming medications. Addict Behav. 2022;125:107143.
- 52. Berger A, Edelsberg J, Treglia M, Alvir JM, Oster G. Change in healthcare utilization and costs following initiation of benzodiazepine therapy for long-term treatment of generalized anxiety disorder: a retrospective cohort study. BMC Psychiatry. 2012;12:177.
- 53. Moriarty F, Cahir C, Bennett K, Fahey T. Economic impact of potentially inappropriate prescribing and related adverse events in older people: a cost-utility analysis using Markov models. BMJ Open. 2019;9(1):e021832.
- 54. Chouinard G. Issues in the clinical use of benzodiazepines: potency, withdrawal, and rebound. J Clin Psychiatry. 2004;65(Suppl 5):7–12.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

Fluoxetine – new indication – EML

### Fluoxetine

ATC code: N06AB03

### Proposal

Inclusion of fluoxetine on the core list of the EML for the new indications of treatment of generalized anxiety disorder, panic disorder and social anxiety disorder in adults. Listing is requested with a square box specifying citalopram, escitalopram, fluvoxamine, paroxetine and sertraline as therapeutic alternatives.

### Applicant

WHO Collaborating Centre for Research and Training in Mental Health and Service Evaluation, University of Verona, Verona, Italy

### WHO technical department

Mental Health and Substance Use

#### EML/EMLc

EML

### Section

24.3 Medicines for anxiety disorders

### Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Solid oral dosage form: 20 mg (as hydrochloride)

### Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Square box listing for fluoxetine as the representative selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI), with citalopram, escitalopram, fluvoxamine, paroxetine and sertraline as the therapeutic alternatives.

# Background

Fluoxetine has not been previously considered for inclusion on the EML for use in the treatment of anxiety disorders. The EML currently includes only diazepam for this indication.

Fluoxetine has been included on the EML for treatment of depressive disorders since 2007. A square box was added in 2019 to indicate citalopram, escitalopram, fluvoxamine, paroxetine and sertraline as therapeutic alternatives.

624

#### Public health relevance

Anxiety disorders are prevalent and disabling, creating a large global burden of disease. People affected by these disorders suffer from excessive fear and nervousness, avoidance of perceived threats and autonomic dysfunction (e.g. palpitations, dizziness and insomnia) (1-3). Early onset and persistent relapses further add to the severity (4). Anxiety disorders are responsible for more than 28.6 million years lived with disability (YLD), accounting for 3.34% of the total global YLD, and 26.7 million disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) per year, or 1.13% of total DALYs due to any disease (5). Overall, anxiety disorders have been among the top 10 causes of YLDs for the past 20 years (6). The COVID-19 pandemic has had a serious effect on global mental health, including a 26% rise in anxiety disorders cases (7). Women and younger people are more affected, with the highest increases in countries with high COVID-19 infection rates and severe restrictions on movement (lockdowns and school closures).

Anxiety affects overall health as it is associated with a heightened risk of coronary artery disease, unstable angina and heart attacks, and increased mortality rates. Furthermore, anxiety can lead to insulin resistance and may contribute to noncommunicable illnesses such as diabetes, heart disease and cancer (8-10). Anxiety disorders also have large financial costs. Globally, an estimated 12 billion work days are lost every year to depression and anxiety at an annual cost of US\$ 1 trillion in lost productivity (11).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

A 2022 systematic review and network meta-analysis of 87 randomized controlled trials (12 800 participants) evaluated medicines for treatment of adults with panic disorder (with or without agoraphobia) (*12*). A total of 21 comparisons were considered for analysis. Most studies compared benzodiazepines or SSRIs with placebo. Other comparisons included tricyclic antidepressants versus placebo and comparisons between different drug classes. The most common duration of treatment was 8 weeks (35%), followed by 12 weeks (19%). Compared with placebo, the risk ratios (RR) for symptom remission significantly favoured serotonin-noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors (RR 1.27, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.12 to 1.42), SSRIs (RR 1.38, 95% CI 1.26 to 1.5), monoamine oxidase inhibitors (RR 1.30, 95% CI 1.00 to 1.69), benzodiazepines (RR 1.47, 95% CI 1.36 to 1.6) and tricyclic antidepressants (RR 1.39, 95% CI 1.26 to 1.54). SSRIs were found to be the most effective (66.4%) with the fewest adverse events (58.5%) for treating panic disorder, according to the surface under cumulative ranking curves (SUCRA) clustered ranking plot. Certainty of evidence against placebo was rated as moderate.

A 2019 systematic review and meta-analysis of 89 randomized controlled trials (25 441 participants) evaluated pharmacotherapy for the treatment of adults with generalized anxiety disorder (*13*). Most studies used the Diagnostic and

Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) criteria for diagnosis. Duration of follow-up ranged from 4 to 26 weeks, and measured change in the Hamilton Anxiety Scale (HAM-A) score as the efficacy outcome. Most medicines (16/22, 73%) performed better than placebo. SSRIs were superior to placebo in reducing symptoms of anxiety. Standardized mean differences of treatment efficacy were: -2.22 (95% CI -4.28 to -0.19) for citalopram; -2.45 (95% CI -3.27 to -1.63) for escitalopram; -2.43 (95% CI -3.74 to -1.16) for fluoxetine; -2.29 (95% CI -3.11 to -1.47) for paroxetine; and -2.88 (95% CI -4.17 to -1.59) for sertraline. The certainty of evidence was rated as moderate for sertraline, low for citalopram, escitalopram and fluoxetine, and very low for paroxetine.

A 2020 systematic review and network meta-analysis of 67 randomized controlled trials (12122 participants) evaluated pharmacotherapy for the treatment of adults with social anxiety disorder (14). The primary efficacy outcome was change in symptom severity measured using the Leibowitz Social Anxiety Scale. Paroxetine was significantly more effective than placebo in reducing symptom severity (mean difference (MD) –15.89, 95% CI –29.94 to –1.84), based on low to very low-certainty evidence. Other SSRIs investigated were also superior to placebo, however the differences were not statistically significant: MD –17.45, 95% CI –43.76 to 8.86 for sertraline; MD –8.05, 95% CI –41.81 to 25.71 for escitalopram; and MD –2.132, 95% CI –21.88 to 17.64 for fluvoxamine.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The 2022 systematic review and network meta-analysis of medicines for treatment of adults with panic disorder (with or without agoraphobia) provided data on the acceptability of treatments (i.e. all-cause treatment discontinuation) and tolerability (i.e. adverse events) (*12*). SSRIs were more acceptable than tricyclic antidepressants (RR 0.78, 95% CI 0.61 to 0.99) and benzodiazepines (RR 0.51, 95% CI 0.38 to 0.67), and equally acceptable as placebo (RR 0.92, 95% CI 0.77 to 1.1). In terms of tolerability, SSRIs had a higher risk of adverse events than placebo (RR 1.19, 95% CI –1.01 to 1.41). However, benzodiazepines (RR 1.47, 95% CI 1.18 to 1.84) and tricyclic antidepressants (RR 1.50, 95% CI 1.20 to 1.88) had a higher risk of adverse events than SSRIs.

The 2019 systematic review and meta-analysis of pharmacotherapy for the treatment of adults with generalized anxiety disorder provided data on acceptability (i.e. all cause discontinuation) (13). The risk of discontinuation for SSRIs did not differ significantly from placebo, except for paroxetine (odds ratio (OR) 1.24, 95% CI 1.03 to 1.50), which had a higher discontinuation rate.

The 2020 systematic review and network meta-analysis of pharmacotherapy for the treatment of adults with social anxiety disorder also provided data on acceptability (i.e. all cause discontinuation) (14). Discontinuation rates for SSRIs were not significantly different from placebo, with the exception of fluvoxamine (OR 1.51, 95% CI 1.06 to 2.14).

# Risk of suicidality

A meta-analysis of individual-level data from almost 100 000 patients from published and unpublished clinical trials was undertaken using data collected by the United States Food and Drug Administration in 2005–2006 (*15*). Industry sponsors of 12 antidepressant medicines, including SSRIs, were requested to submit datasets from double-blind randomized placebo-controlled trials on the use of antidepressants in adults for any indication to evaluate the risk of suicidality in clinical trials of antidepressants. The risk of suicidality associated with antidepressant use was found to be age dependent. Compared with placebo, an increased risk of suicidality and suicidal behaviour was seen in depressed children and adolescents. The net effect was: neutral for suicidal behaviour; possibly protective for suicidal ideation in adults aged 25–64 years; reduced for both suicidality and suicidal behaviour in patients aged 65 years and older. No information was specifically reported for anxiety disorders.

# Risk of QT-prolongation

SSRIs can cause delayed repolarization of cardiac myocytes, leading to a prolonged QT interval and risk of life-threatening arrhythmias. A 2014 meta-analysis found that different SSRIs have varying effects on QTc prolongation. Fluoxetine (MD 4.50, 95% CI –4.32 to 13.32) and paroxetine (MD –1.04, 95% CI –5.76 to 3.68) had no significant association with QTc prolongation. Fluvoxamine was associated with shortened QTc (MD –5.00, 95% CI –6.05 to –3.95). Citalopram (MD 10.58, 95% CI 3.93 to 17.23), escitalopram (MD 7.27, 95% CI 3.78 to 10.83) and sertraline (MD 3.00, 95% CI 2.95 to 3.05) were significantly associated with QTc prolongation (16).

# Risk of sexual side-effects

SSRIs are known to cause sexual dysfunction. A 2014 network meta-analysis compared the risk of sexual side-effects of 13 second-generation antidepressants including SSRIs. Most comparisons did not show significant differences in the risk of sexual side-effects between the SSRIs. Escitalopram (OR 0.37, 95% CI 0.13 to 0.85) and paroxetine (OR 3.86, 95% CI 1.44 to 8.40) had a statistically significant higher risk of sexual dysfunction than fluoxetine (*17*).

# **WHO guidelines**

The 2023 WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders include a conditional recommendation that SSRIs be considered for adults with panic disorder and adults with generalized anxiety disorder (low certainty of evidence) (18).

Many other current clinical guidelines include recommendations for the use of SSRIs as first-choice pharmacological treatment for generalized anxiety disorder,

panic disorder and social anxiety disorder (19–24). Clinical guidelines do not provide indications on which individual medicine to choose, generally agreeing on the importance of tailoring the choice to individual characteristics of the patient and actively involving individuals and caregivers in a shared decision-making process.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

The availability and affordability of SSRIs vary across countries and settings. At the same time, the cost of anxiety disorders is high for individuals, health care systems and society due to productivity loss.

Comparative cost-effectiveness studies suggest that cognitive behavioural therapy with or without SSRIs is the most cost-effective intervention for anxiety disorders (25,26). However, implementing widespread access to cognitive behavioural therapy poses equity and feasibility challenges due to the need for policy changes and resources.

Evidence on the cost-effectiveness of SSRIs specifically for anxiety disorders is lacking, but indirect evidence of the cost-effectiveness of these medicines for depression is available.

A 2015 network meta-analysis in Singapore estimated the costeffectiveness of different antidepressants and found that agomelatine was the most cost-effective antidepressant, followed by venlafaxine and mirtazapine (27). Escitalopram was the most cost-effective SSRI for depression, followed by fluvoxamine. The effectiveness-based model used in the study had limitations, effectiveness was based on efficacy (rather than recorded costs) and the estimated costs were specific to Singapore's health system, limiting generalizability.

Another meta-analysis compared the efficacy of 10 antidepressants for treating moderate to severe depression in primary care (28). Escitalopram was the most effective in achieving remission at the 8- to 12-week follow-up. Despite its higher acquisition cost, escitalopram was both more effective and had lower total costs than other antidepressants from a societal perspective. From a health care perspective, the cost per quality-adjusted life year of escitalopram was  $\notin$ 3732 compared with venlafaxine.

#### Availability

The proposed SSRIs are available globally, off-patent and with multiple branded and generic versions.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged the public health relevance of effective treatments for anxiety disorders, from patient, societal and health system perspectives. In particular, the Committee noted the substantial disability and lost-productivity costs associated with anxiety disorders.
The Committee noted from the evidence presented in the application that SSRIs were more effective in reducing anxiety symptoms than placebo and had a well known and acceptable safety profile. While some differences in efficacy and safety may exist between SSRIs, in general the evidence does not indicate that any medicine significantly outperforms the others; therefore, the choice of medicine within the class should be based on patients' clinical characteristics and preferences.

The Committee noted that SSRI therapy was recommended for use in the treatment of anxiety disorders in many clinical guidelines and would also be included in the updated the WHO mhGAP guidelines.

The Committee noted that the medicines proposed for inclusion were already in the EML for use in the treatment of depression, and were widely available and generally affordable, with generic brands available.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended extending the listing of fluoxetine on the EML to include the new indications of generalized anxiety disorder, panic disorder and social anxiety disorder. Listing is recommended with a square box specifying citalopram, escitalopram, fluvoxamine, paroxetine and sertraline as therapeutic alternatives.

# References

- 1. Craske MG, Rauch SL, Ursano R, Prenoveau J, Pine DS, Zinbarg RE. What is an anxiety disorder? Depress Anxiety. 2009;26(12):1066–85.
- 2. Craske MG, Stein MB, Eley TC, Milad MR, Holmes A, Rapee RM, et al. Anxiety disorders. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2017;3:17024.
- 3. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet. 2020;396(10258):1204–22.
- Bandelow B, Michaelis S. Epidemiology of anxiety disorders in the 21st century. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2015;17(3):327–35.
- 5. Global Burden of Disease database [internet]. Seattle, WA: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation; 2019 (https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-results/, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 6. World mental health report: transforming mental health for all. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/356119, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 7. Global prevalence and burden of depressive and anxiety disorders in 204 countries and territories in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Lancet. 2021;398(10312):1700–12.
- 8. Wen Y, Yang Y, Shen J, Luo S. Anxiety and prognosis of patients with myocardial infarction: a metaanalysis. Clin Cardiol. 2021;44(6):761–70.
- Roest AM, Martens EJ, Denollet J, de Jonge P. Prognostic association of anxiety post myocardial infarction with mortality and new cardiac events: a meta-analysis. Psychosom Med. 2010;72(6):563–9.
- 10. Smith KJ, Béland M, Clyde M, Gariépy G, Pagé V, Badawi G, et al. Association of diabetes with anxiety: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Psychosom Res. 2013;74(2):89–99.

11. Mental health at work [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www.who.int/ news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-at-work, accessed 6 October 2023).

- 12. Chawla N, Anothaisintawee T, Charoenrungrueangchai K, Thaipisuttikul P, McKay GJ, Attia J, et al. Drug treatment for panic disorder with or without agoraphobia: systematic review and network meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ. 2022;376:e066084.
- 13. Slee A, Nazareth I, Bondaronek P, Liu Y, Cheng Z, Freemantle N. Pharmacological treatments for generalised anxiety disorder: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Lancet. 2019;393(10173):768–77.
- 14. Williams T, McCaul M, Schwarzer G, Cipriani A, Stein DJ, Ipser J. Pharmacological treatments for social anxiety disorder in adults: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Acta Neuropsychiatr. 2020;32(4):169–76.
- 15. Stone M, Laughren T, Jones ML, Levenson M, Holland PC, Hughes A, et al. Risk of suicidality in clinical trials of antidepressants in adults: analysis of proprietary data submitted to US Food and Drug Administration. BMJ. 2009;339:b2880.
- Beach SR, Kostis WJ, Celano CM, Januzzi JL, Ruskin JN, Noseworthy PA, et al. Meta-analysis of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor-associated QTc prolongation. J Clin Psychiatry. 2014;75(5):e441–9.
- 17. Reichenpfader U, Gartlehner G, Morgan LC, Greenblatt A, Nussbaumer B, Hansen RA, et al. Sexual dysfunction associated with second-generation antidepressants in patients with major depressive disorder: results from a systematic review with network meta-analysis. Drug Saf. 2014;37(1):19–31.
- Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders. Third edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://iris.who.int/ handle/10665/374250, accessed 21 November 2023).
- Generalised anxiety disorder and panic disorder in adults: management. Clinical guideline [CG113]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2020 (https://www.nice.org. uk/guidance/cg113, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Social anxiety disorder: recognition, assessment and treatment. Clinical guideline [CG159]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2013 (https://www.nice.org.uk/ guidance/cg159, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Baldwin DS, Anderson IM, Nutt DJ, Allgulander C, Bandelow B, den Boer JA, et al. Evidencebased pharmacological treatment of anxiety disorders, post-traumatic stress disorder and obsessive-compulsive disorder: a revision of the 2005 guidelines from the British Association for Psychopharmacology. J Psychopharmacol. 2014;28(5):403–39.
- 22. Andrews G, Bell C, Boyce P, Gale C, Lampe L, Marwat O, et al. Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists clinical practice guidelines for the treatment of panic disorder, social anxiety disorder and generalised anxiety disorder. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2018;52(12):1109–72.
- 23. Katzman MA, Bleau P, Blier P, Chokka P, Kjernisted K, Van Ameringen M, et al. Canadian clinical practice guidelines for the management of anxiety, posttraumatic stress and obsessive-compulsive disorders. BMC Psychiatry. 2014;14(1):S1.
- 24. Practice guideline for treatment of patients with panic disorder. Second edition. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association; 2009 (https://psychiatryonline.org/pb/assets/raw/sitewide/ practice\_guidelines/guidelines/panicdisorder.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 25. Heuzenroeder L, Donnelly M, Haby MM, Mihalopoulos C, Rossell R, Carter R, et al. Cost-effectiveness of psychological and pharmacological interventions for generalized anxiety disorder and panic disorder. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2004;38(8):602–12.

- 26. van Apeldoorn FJ, Stant AD, van Hout WJ, Mersch PP, den Boer JA. Cost-effectiveness of CBT, SSRI, and CBT+SSRI in the treatment for panic disorder. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2014;129(4):286–95.
- 27. Khoo AL, Zhou HJ, Teng M, Lin L, Zhao YJ, Soh LB, et al. Network meta-analysis and costeffectiveness analysis of new generation antidepressants. CNS Drugs. 2015;29(8):695–712.
- 28. Ramsberg J, Asseburg C, Henriksson M. Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of antidepressants in primary care: a multiple treatment comparison meta-analysis and cost-effectiveness model. PLoS One. 2012;7(8):e42003.

# 24.4 Medicines used for obsessive-compulsive disorders

Fluoxetine – new indication – EML

## Fluoxetine

## ATC code: N06AB03

## Proposal

Inclusion of fluoxetine on the core list of the EML for the new indication of treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorders in adults. Listing is requested with a square box specifying citalopram, escitalopram, fluvoxamine, paroxetine and sertraline as therapeutic alternatives.

## Applicant

WHO Collaborating Centre for Research and Training in Mental Health and Service Evaluation, University of Verona, Verona, Italy

## WHO technical department

Mental Health and Substance Use

## EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

24.4 Medicines for obsessive-compulsive disorders

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Solid oral dosage form: 20 mg (as hydrochloride)

## Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Square box listing for fluoxetine as the representative selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI), with citalopram, escitalopram, fluvoxamine, paroxetine and sertraline as therapeutic alternatives.

# Background

Fluoxetine has not been previously considered for inclusion on the EML for use in the treatment of obsessive–compulsive disorders. The EML currently includes only clomipramine for this indication.

Fluoxetine has been included on the EML for treatment of depressive disorders since 2007. A square box was added in 2019 to indicate citalopram, escitalopram, fluvoxamine, paroxetine and sertraline as therapeutic alternatives.

#### Public health relevance

Obsessive-compulsive disorder is a common mental disorder and is responsible for substantial disability worldwide (1,2). Estimates of the prevalence of obsessive-compulsive disorder in the literature vary, but generally suggest that between 1% and 4% of the population are affected in their lifetime (3–5). In two thirds of cases, the age at onset is younger than 25 years, while in 15% of cases, onset occurs after the age of 35 years. In about one third of cases, age at onset is in childhood or early adolescence. Males tend to have an earlier onset and worse prognosis (6). The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on obsessive-compulsive disorder, leading to an increase in its prevalence (7,8). A systematic review found that individuals, both with and without a prior diagnosis of obsessive-compulsive disorder, experienced a worsening of symptoms during the pandemic (9).

People with obsessive-compulsive disorder experience recurrent and intrusive thoughts (obsessions) that cause anxiety or distress. They often engage in repetitive behaviours or mental acts (compulsions) to cope with these obsessions (10). Obsessive-compulsive disorder greatly affects the quality of life for patients, caregivers and relatives, and is associated with increased mortality (11,12). The condition tends to be chronic, with intermittent episodes (13). Individuals with obsessive-compulsive disorder often have other psychiatric disorders as well, leading to impaired health and functioning (14–16). Obsessive-compulsive disorder report significant impairment in overall functioning and quality of life. Compared with healthy controls or community cohorts, individuals with obsessive-compulsive disorder report significantly worse quality of life in many areas, including overall sense of well-being, social and family relationships, ability to enjoy leisure activities, and general ability to function in daily and working life (17,18).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The applicants conducted a systematic review and network meta-analysis of 48 randomized controlled trials (5840 participants) comparing the efficacy (reduction of obsessive-compulsive symptoms) and acceptability (all-cause discontinuation) of different antidepressants.

For the outcome of efficacy, clomipramine (standardized mean difference (SMD) -0.67, 95% confidence interval (CI) -0.89 to -0.45; very low-certainty evidence), sertraline (SMD -0.64, 95% CI -0.92 to -0.36; low-certainty evidence), fluvoxamine (SMD -0.57, 95% CI -0.82 to -0.32; very low-certainty evidence), paroxetine (SMD -0.44, 95% CI -0.70 to -0.17; low-certainty evidence), citalopram (SMD -0.47; 95% CI -1.02 to 0.07; low-certainty evidence), escitalopram (SMD -0.45, 95% CI -0.92 to 0.02; low-certainty evidence) and fluoxetine (SMD -0.39, 95% CI -0.78 to 0.00; low-certainty evidence) were

significantly more effective than placebo. In head-to-head comparisons with clomipramine, the only medicine currently included on the EML for obsessive– compulsive disorder, each SSRI demonstrated similar efficacy. Head-to-head comparisons also showed no significant differences between individual SSRIs.

For the outcome of acceptability, escitalopram (odds ratio (OR) 0.68, 95% CI 0.46 to 1.02; moderate-certainty evidence), sertraline (OR 0.79, 95% CI 0.58 to 1.08; low-certainty evidence), fluvoxamine (OR 0.83, 95% CI 0.59 to 1.15; moderate-certainty evidence), paroxetine (OR 0.87, 95% CI 0.65 to 1.16; moderate-certainty evidence), citalopram (OR 0.89, 95% CI 0.49 to 1.64; moderate-certainty evidence) and fluoxetine (OR 0.92, 95% CI 0.57 to 1.48; very low-certainty evidence) were comparable to placebo. In contrast, clomipramine was significantly less acceptable than placebo (OR 1.41, 95% CI 10.7 to 1.85; moderate-certainty evidence). Head-to-head comparisons showed escitalopram, sertraline, fluvoxamine and paroxetine were more acceptable than clomipramine.

The results from the network meta-analysis conducted by the applicants complement the findings of a 2016 network meta-analysis of 54 trials (6652 participants), which compared the efficacy of pharmacological and psychotherapeutic interventions for the management of obsessive-compulsive disorder in adults (19). The primary outcome was symptom severity as measured by the Yale-Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale. The SSRIs included were citalopram, escitalopram fluoxetine, fluvoxamine, paroxetine and sertraline. In this analysis SSRIs as a class were more effective than placebo (mean difference (MD) –3.49, 95% credible interval (CrI) –5.12 to –1.81) and equally efficacious in head-to-head comparisons with each other. No significant difference was found between clomipramine and SSRIs as a class (MD –1.23, 95% CrI –3.41 to 0.94).

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The systematic review and network meta-analysis conducted by the applicants evaluated tolerability (drop-outs due to adverse events) using data from 43 randomized controlled trials. Among SSRIs, escitalopram (OR 1.26, 95% CI 0.69 to 2.32), fluoxetine (OR 1.28, 95% CI 0.56 to 2.96), sertraline (OR 1.77, 95% CI 1.05 to 2.98), paroxetine (OR 1.82, 95% CI 1.19 to 2.78) and citalopram (OR 2.42, 95% CI 0.54 to 10.85) did not show a statistically significant difference in tolerability compared with placebo. Fluvoxamine (OR 2.98, 95% CI 0.180 to 4.92) and clomipramine (OR 4.82, 95% CI 3.0 to 7.73) were less tolerable than placebo. In head-to-head comparisons, escitalopram (OR 0.21, 95% CI 0.13 to 0.33), fluoxetine (OR 0.27, 95% CI 0.11 to 0.63), sertraline (OR 0.37, 95% CI 0.21 to 0.63) and paroxetine (OR 0.38, 95% CI 0.22 to 0.64) were better tolerated than clomipramine. Citalopram (OR 0.5, 95% CI 0.10 to 2.42) and fluvoxamine (OR 0.62, 95% CI 0.37 to 1.02) did not show a significant difference in tolerability issues were limited, primarily due to reporting bias in the original studies.

# Risk of suicidality

A meta-analysis was done of individual level data of almost 100 000 patients from published and unpublished clinical trials submitted to the United States Food and Drug Administration in 2005–2006 (*20*). Industry sponsors of 12 antidepressant medicines, including SSRIs, were requested to submit datasets from double-blind randomized placebo-controlled trials of antidepressants in adults for any indication, to evaluate the risk of suicidality in clinical trials of antidepressant use was age dependent. Compared with placebo, an increased risk of suicidality and suicidal behaviour was observed in depressed children and adolescents. The net effect was neutral on suicidal behaviour, possibly protective for suicidal ideation in adults aged 25–64 years and reduced the risk of both suicidality and suicidal behaviour in patients aged 65 years and older. No information was specifically reported for anxiety disorders.

# Risk of QT-prolongation

SSRIs can cause delayed repolarization of cardiac myocytes, leading to a prolonged QT interval and risk of life-threatening arrhythmias. A 2014 meta-analysis found that different SSRIs had varying effects on QTc prolongation. Fluoxetine (MD 4.50, 95% CI –4.32 to 13.32) and paroxetine (MD –1.04, 95% CI –5.76 to 3.68) had no significant association with QTc prolongation. Fluvoxamine was associated with shortened QTc (MD –5.00, 95% CI –6.05 to –3.95). Citalopram (MD 10.58, 95% CI 3.93 to 17.23), escitalopram (MD 7.27, 95% CI 3.78 to 10.83) and sertraline (MD 3.00, 95% CI 2.95 to 3.05) were significantly associated with QTc prolongation (21).

# Risk of sexual side-effects

SSRIs are known to cause sexual dysfunction. A 2014 network meta-analysis compared the risk of sexual side-effects of 13 second-generation antidepressants including SSRIs. Most comparisons did not demonstrate significant differences between the SSRIs. Escitalopram (OR 0.37, 95% CI 0.13 to 0.85) and paroxetine (OR 3.86, 95% CI 1.44 to 8.40) had a statistically significant higher risk of sexual dysfunction than fluoxetine (*22*).

# WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorders are not currently available.

Many other current clinical guidelines include recommendations for the use of SSRIs as the first-choice pharmacological treatment for obsessivecompulsive disorder (23–26). Clinical guidelines do not provide indications on which individual medicine to choose, generally agreeing on the importance of tailoring the choice to individual characteristics of the patient and actively involving individuals and caregivers in a shared decision-making process.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

The availability and affordability of SSRIs vary across countries and settings. At the same time, the cost of anxiety disorders is high for individuals, health care systems and society due to productivity loss.

Evidence on the cost–effectiveness of SSRIs compared with clomipramine and other pharmacological classes for obsessive–compulsive disorder is lacking.

Studies focusing on cost-effectiveness compare SSRIs with cognitive behavioural therapy and indicate that monotherapy with SSRIs or a combination of cognitive behavioural therapy and an SSRIs is the most cost-effective approach.

A 2016 systematic review of 86 randomized controlled trials evaluated the clinical and cost-effectiveness of pharmacological and psychological interventions for the management of obsessive-compulsive disorder in children, adolescents and adults in the United Kingdom (27). The review reported the net monetary benefit to estimate cost-effectiveness if the National Health Service was willing to pay £20 000 for each quality-adjusted life year gained. Fluvoxamine in combination with cognitive behavioural therapy had the lowest net monetary benefit of £57 174 (i.e. least cost-effective), while strategies involving cognitive or behavioural therapies had the highest net monetary benefit of £59 668 and £59 695, respectively (i.e. most cost-effective). Pharmacological monotherapies had net monetary benefit of £58 373 for SSRIs, £58 549 for clomipramine and £58 664 for venlafaxine.

A 2018 randomized feasibility study evaluated the cost-effectiveness of combining cognitive behavioural therapy with sertraline versus either treatment given as monotherapy over 52 weeks in 49 adults with obsessive-compulsive disorder in the United Kingdom (*28*). Resource use and quality of life data were available (at baseline, 16 and 52 weeks) for 23/49 (46.9%) participants. Compared with sertraline monotherapy, mean costs were higher for both cognitive behavioural therapy as monotherapy and combination treatment (£1329 and £2176, respectively. Mean quality-adjusted life year scores for sertraline monotherapy, and 0.11 greater than that of cognitive behavioural therapy was considered dominant and cost-effective, as it was estimated to be both less costly and more effective than both other options.

#### Availability

The proposed SSRIs are available globally, off-patent and with multiple branded and generic versions.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged the public health relevance of effective treatments for obsessive-compulsive disorder, from patient, societal and health system perspectives. In particular, the Committee noted the substantial disability associated with the condition, especially in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Committee noted from the evidence presented in the application that SSRIs were superior to placebo and had similar efficacy and a more favourable safety profile than clomipramine in the treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder. While some differences in efficacy and safety may exist between SSRIs, in general the evidence does not indicate that any medicine significantly outperforms the others; therefore, the choice of medicine within the class should be based on patients' clinical characteristics and preferences.

The Committee noted that SSRI therapy was recommended for use in the treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder in many clinical guidelines, although WHO guidelines for treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder are not currently available.

The Committee noted that the medicines proposed for inclusion were already included on the EML for use in the treatment of depression, and were widely available and generally affordable, with generic brands available.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended extending the listing of fluoxetine on the EML to include the new indication of obsessive-compulsive disorder. Listing is recommended with a square box specifying citalopram, escitalopram, fluvoxamine, paroxetine, and sertraline as therapeutic alternatives.

#### References

- 1. Fontenelle LF, Mendlowicz MV, Versiani M. The descriptive epidemiology of obsessive-compulsive disorder. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2006;30(3):327–7.
- Skapinakis P, Caldwell DM, Hollingworth W, Bryden P, Fineberg NA, Salkovskis P, et al. Pharmacological and psychotherapeutic interventions for management of obsessivecompulsive disorder in adults: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Lancet Psychiatry. 2016;3(8):730–9.
- 3. Veale D, Roberts A. Obsessive-compulsive disorder. BMJ. 2014;348:g2183.
- Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Merikangas KR, Walters EE. Lifetime prevalence and age-ofonset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2005;62(6):593–602.
- Subramaniam M, Abdin E, Vaingankar JA, Chong SA. Obsessive-compulsive disorder: prevalence, correlates, help-seeking and quality of life in a multiracial Asian population. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2012;47(12):2035–43.
- 6. Sasson Y, Zohar J, Chopra M, Lustig M, Iancu I, Hendler T. Epidemiology of obsessive-compulsive disorder: a world view. J Clin Psychiatry. 1997;58(Suppl 12):7–10.

 Ji G, Wei W, Yue KC, Li H, Shi LJ, Ma JD, et al. Effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on obsessivecompulsive symptoms among university students: prospective cohort survey study. J Med Internet Res. 2020;22(9):e21915.

- Abba-Aji A, Li D, Hrabok M, Shalaby R, Gusnowski A, Vuong W, et al. COVID-19 pandemic and mental health: prevalence and correlates of new-onset obsessive-compulsive symptoms in a Canadian province. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17(19):6986.
- 9. Linde ES, Varga TV, Clotworthy A. Obsessive-compulsive disorder during the COVID-19 pandemic-a systematic review. Front Psychiatry. 2022;13:806872.
- 10. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM-5). Fifth edition. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association; 2013.
- 11. Macy AS, Theo JN, Kaufmann SC, Ghazzaoui RB, Pawlowski PA, Fakhry HI, et al. Quality of life in obsessive compulsive disorder. CNS Spectr. 2013;18(1):21–33.
- 12. Meier SM, Mattheisen M, Mors O, Schendel DE, Mortensen PB, Plessen KJ. Mortality among persons with obsessive-compulsive disorder in Denmark. JAMA Psychiatry. 2016;73(3):268–74.
- 13. Skoog G, Skoog I. A 40-year follow-up of patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder [see commetns]. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1999;56(2):121–7.
- 14. Pallanti S, Grassi G, Sarrecchia ED, Cantisani A, Pellegrini M. Obsessive-compulsive disorder comorbidity: clinical assessment and therapeutic implications. Front Psychiatry. 2011;2:70.
- 15. de Bruijn C, Beun S, de Graaf R, ten Have M, Denys D. Subthreshold symptoms and obsessivecompulsive disorder: evaluating the diagnostic threshold. Psychol Med. 2010;40(6):989–97.
- 16. Adam Y, Meinlschmidt G, Gloster AT, Lieb R. Obsessive-compulsive disorder in the community: 12-month prevalence, comorbidity and impairment. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2012;47(3):339–49.
- 17. Rapaport MH, Clary C, Fayyad R, Endicott J. Quality-of-life impairment in depressive and anxiety disorders. Am J Psychiatry. 2005;162(6):1171–8.
- 18. Hou SY, Yen CF, Huang MF, Wang PW, Yeh YC. Quality of life and its correlates in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. Kaohsiung J Med Sci. 2010;26(8):397–407.
- 19. Skapinakis P, Caldwell DM, Hollingworth W, Bryden P, Fineberg NA, Salkovskis P, et al. Pharmacological and psychotherapeutic interventions for management of obsessive-compulsive disorder in adults: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Lancet Psychiatry. 2016;3(8):730–9.
- 20. Stone M, Laughren T, Jones ML, Levenson M, Holland PC, Hughes A, et al. Risk of suicidality in clinical trials of antidepressants in adults: analysis of proprietary data submitted to US Food and Drug Administration. BMJ. 2009;339:b2880.
- 21. Beach SR, Kostis WJ, Celano CM, Januzzi JL, Ruskin JN, Noseworthy PA, et al. Meta-analysis of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor-associated QTc prolongation. J Clin Psychiatry. 2014;75(5):e441–9.
- 22. Reichenpfader U, Gartlehner G, Morgan LC, Greenblatt A, Nussbaumer B, Hansen RA, et al. Sexual dysfunction associated with second-generation antidepressants in patients with major depressive disorder: results from a systematic review with network meta-analysis. Drug Saf. 2014;37(1):19–31.
- 23. Obsessive-compulsive disorder and body dysmorphic disorder: treatment. Clinical guideline [CG31]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2005 (https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg31, accessed 6 October 2023).

638

24. Baldwin DS, Anderson IM, Nutt DJ, Allgulander C, Bandelow B, den Boer JA, et al. Evidencebased pharmacological treatment of anxiety disorders, post-traumatic stress disorder and obsessive-compulsive disorder: a revision of the 2005 guidelines from the British Association for Psychopharmacology. J Psychopharmacol. 2014;28(5):403–39.

- 25. Katzman MA, Bleau P, Blier P, Chokka P, Kjernisted K, Van Ameringen M, et al. Canadian clinical practice guidelines for the management of anxiety, posttraumatic stress and obsessive-compulsive disorders. BMC Psychiatry. 2014;14(1):S1.
- 26. Practice guideline for treatment of patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association; 2007 (https://psychiatryonline.org/pb/assets/raw/sitewide/ practice\_guidelines/guidelines/ocd.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 27. Skapinakis P, Caldwell D, Hollingworth W, Bryden P, Fineberg N, Salkovskis P, et al. A systematic review of the clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of pharmacological and psychological interventions for the management of obsessive-compulsive disorder in children/adolescents and adults. Health Technol Assess. 2016;20(43):1–392.
- 28. Fineberg NA, Baldwin DS, Drummond LM, Wyatt S, Hanson J, Gopi S, et al. Optimal treatment for obsessive compulsive disorder: a randomized controlled feasibility study of the clinical-effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of cognitive-behavioural therapy, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and their combination in the management of obsessive compulsive disorder. Int Clin Psychopharmacol. 2018;33(6):334–48.

# 24.5 Medicines for disorders due to psychoactive substance use 24.5.1 Medicines for alcohol use disorders

Acamprosate – addition – EML

#### Acamprosate calcium

#### ATC code: N07BB03

## Proposal

Addition of acamprosate calcium to the core list of the EML for maintenance treatment of alcohol use disorder in adults.

## Applicant

Adrià Jiménez Bacardí, University of California, San Diego, CA, United States of America

Bassem Ghali, University of California, San Francisco, CA, United States of America

Sandeep P. Kishore, University of California, San Francisco, CA, United States of America

#### WHO technical department

The WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use reviewed and provided comments on the application. The technical unit stated that the application to include acamprosate on the EML was timely and in line with guidance provided by WHO global policy frameworks and action plans.

#### EML/EMLc

EML

## Section

24.5.1 Medicines for alcohol use disorders

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Tablet: 333 mg

## Core/complementary

Core

Individual/square box listing Individual

#### Background

Medicines for treatment of alcohol use disorders have not previously been evaluated for inclusion in the EML.

#### Public health relevance

Globally in 2016, alcohol use was the seventh leading risk factor for premature death and disability and was the leading risk factor in people aged 15 to 49 years. Worldwide, 2.8 million deaths were attributable to alcohol use. Alcohol consumption was shown to have a strong association with a higher risk of cancer, injuries and communicable disease (1).

The 2018 WHO *Global status report on alcohol and health* recognized that the harmful use of alcohol directly affects numerous targets of the Sustainable Development Goals including those for maternal and child health, infectious diseases, noncommunicable diseases, mental health, injuries and poisonings (2). Globally in 2016, estimates suggest that the harmful use of alcohol was responsible for 3 million deaths and caused 132.6 million disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) or 5.1% of total DALYs that year. The age-standardized burden of disease and injury associated with alcohol use varied geographically across WHO regions and was highest in the African region, where it was responsible for 70.6 deaths and 3044 DALYs per 100 000 people (2).

During the COVID-19 pandemic, a cross-sectional survey in the United States found that respondents reported consuming more drinks per day, more binge drinking and more alcohol consumption beyond recommended drinking limits than before the introduction of stay-at-home orders (*3*).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

A 2004 systematic review and meta-analysis evaluated the efficacy and safety of acamprosate and naltrexone in the treatment of alcohol dependence. The study included 13 randomized-controlled trials (4000 participants) of acamprosate in people who met the *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders*, third edition (DSM-III) criteria for alcohol dependence and who had undergone a detoxification process (4). A meta-analysis of 12 of the 13 studies showed that acamprosate was associated with an increased rate of continuous abstinence compared with placebo (Peto odds ratio (OR 1.88, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.57 to 2.25; number needed to treat (NNT) = 10). Acamprosate was also associated with a doubling of the days of cumulative abstinence based on seven studies that measured this outcome.

Another 2004 systematic review and meta-analysis of 17 randomized controlled trials (4087 participants) evaluated the efficacy of acamprosate for maintenance of abstinence in alcohol-dependent individuals (5). Participants

treated with acamprosate compared with placebo had significantly higher continuous abstinence rates at 6 months (36.1% versus 23.4%, relative benefit (RB) 1.47, 95% CI 1.29 to 1.69). The pooled difference in success rates for continuous abstinence at 12 months between acamprosate and placebo was 13.3% (95% CI 7.8% to 18.7%; NNT = 8).

A 2008 meta-analysis compared the efficacy profiles of acamprosate and naltrexone. The analysis included 21 randomized controlled trials (5280 participants) that evaluated the efficacy and safety of acamprosate compared with placebo (6). Treatment with acamprosate reduced the risk of having a first drink by 84% compared with placebo (risk ratio (RR) 0.84, 95% CI 0.78 to 0.91; NNT to prevent one additional incidence of drinking = 8). Acamprosate was also associated with a reduced the risk of returning to heavy drinking compared with placebo (RR 0.82, 95% CI 0.73 to 0.92; NNT = 9). However, acamprosate did not significantly reduce the risk of heavy drinking among the subgroup of nonabstinent participants (RR 0.98, 95% CI 0.94 to 1.02).

A 2010 Cochrane systematic review of 24 randomized controlled trials (6915 participants) evaluated the effectiveness and tolerability of acamprosate in comparison with placebo and other pharmacological agents (7). Acamprosate significantly reduced the risk for the primary outcome of return to any drinking (RR 0.86, 95% CI 0.81 to 0.91; NNT for an additional beneficial outcome = 10) compared with placebo. Sensitivity analyses to assess the effect of the funding source/sponsorship of the trials found that partially industry-supported trials had the highest magnitude of effect (RR 0.84, 95% CI 0.78 to 0.89), while fully industry-supported trials had the lowest magnitude of benefit (RR 0.88, 95% CI 0.80 to 0.97). For the outcome of cumulative abstinence duration, a statistically significant difference was found between acamprosate and placebo groups favouring acamprosate (mean difference (MD) 10.9, 95% CI 5.08 to 16.8).

A 2013 meta-analysis of 64 randomized, placebo-controlled trials conducted between 1970 and 2009 that evaluated the efficacy of naltrexone and acamprosate included 16 randomized controlled trials (4349 participants) comparing acamprosate with placebo and three randomized controlled trials (1210 participants) comparing naltrexone, acamprosate and placebo (*8*). Outcome measures included aggregate measures of abstinence and heavy drinking. For abstinence outcomes, acamprosate showed a significantly larger effect size than naltrexone (Hedges g 0.36, 95% CI 0.25 to 0.47 for acamprosate versus Hedges g 0.12, 95% CI 0.05 to 0.18 for naltrexone). The NNT for one additional case of abstinence was 8. For heavy drinking outcomes, naltrexone (Hedges g 0.19, 95% CI 0.12 to 0.25) showed a larger effect than acamprosate (Hedges g 0.07, 95% CI -0.08 to 0.22), however the difference was not statistically significant. The NNT to prevent one additional case of return to heavy drinking was 9.

A 2014 meta-analysis of 123 studies (22 803 participants) evaluated the benefits and harms of pharmacotherapy for alcohol use disorders and included 27 randomized controlled trials (7519 participants) comparing acamprosate and placebo (9). As in previous studies, acamprosate was associated with improvements in consumption outcomes compared with placebo. The risk difference (RD) for acamprosate for return to any drinking was -0.09 (95% CI -0.14 to -0.04; NNT = 12). Acamprosate did not reduce the risk of return to heavy drinking (RD -0.01, 95% CI -0.04 to 0.03).

A 2015 meta-analysis of 22 randomized controlled trials (5236 participants) evaluated the efficacy of acamprosate in the treatment of alcohol dependence and examined the variance in outcomes in Europe versus other countries (*10*). A significantly reduced risk of individuals returning to any drinking at 6 months follow-up was observed in the acamprosate group compared with placebo (RR 0.83, 95% CI 0.78 to 0.89). No difference in risk reduction was observed between European studies and studies outside of Europe.

A 2020 network meta-analysis of 64 randomized controlled trials compared interventions used in primary care for patients with alcohol dependency who recently underwent detoxification (*11*). Acamprosate was associated with increased probability of abstinence up to 12 months following detoxification compared with placebo (OR 1.86, 95% CI 1.49 to 2.33, corresponding to an absolute probability of 38%).

A 2022 systematic review and network meta-analysis of pharmacotherapies for alcohol use disorders included 35 randomized controlled trials comparing acamprosate with placebo (*12*). Acamprosate significantly improved both total abstinence (rate ratio 1.33, 95% CI 1.15 to 1.54) and reduce heavy drinking (rate ratio 0.78, 95% CI 0.70 to 0.86).

The combined pharmacotherapies and behavioural interventions study (COMBINE) was a multicentre, randomized controlled trial that compared the effectiveness of acamprosate with placebo and naltrexone (1383 participants). Patients received 16 weeks of treatment and were followed for 1 year after treatment completion (*13*). Participants were randomly assigned after 4 to 21 days of abstinence to receive either acamprosate, naltrexone, acamprosate in combination with naltrexone, or placebo, with or without a combined behavioural intervention. All treatment groups experienced an increase in percentage of days abstinent, from 25% pre-study to 73% during treatment. All groups receiving medicines or placebo showed improvements in abstinent days compared with the group who only received combined behavioural intervention. The strong placebo effect in this trial may have made it difficult to detect any additional effect of acamprosate. Additionally, this study began treatment after 4 days of abstinence whereas most positive studies of acamprosate had a longer pretreatment abstinence period.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The application did not present a summary of evidence on the harms of acamprosate.

The most common adverse effect of acamprosate is diarrhoea, which is usually mild and self-limiting, but in some patients can be severe and persistent. Other less common adverse effects are suicidal ideation (infrequent but requires discontinuation), other gastrointestinal symptoms (intestinal cramps, flatulence and nausea), headache, dizziness, increased or decreased libido, insomnia, anxiety, muscle weakness and itchiness (14).

From the 2010 Cochrane systematic review, diarrhoea was the only adverse effect that occurred more frequently with acamprosate than placebo (risk difference 0.11, 95% CI 0.10 to 0.13; NNT for an additional case of diarrhoea = 10). The risk of drop-outs due to adverse events was significantly greater for acamprosate than placebo (RR 1.35, 95% CI 1.01 to 180), but the risk of drop-outs due to any cause was significantly lower with acamprosate (RR 0.91, 95% CI 0.83 to 0.99) (7).

Acamprosate is not metabolized in the liver and is excreted unchanged in the urine. The pharmacokinetics of acamprosate are not altered in patients with mild-to-moderate hepatic insufficiency, indicating that no dosage adjustments are necessary. However, there is risk of accumulation of acamprosate with prolonged administration of therapeutic doses in patients with renal impairment and the use of acamprosate is contraindicated in patients with severe renal impairment. Dosage adjustment is recommended for patients with moderate renal impairment (15).

Acamprosate is more effective if started after detoxification is completed, but its pharmacokinetics are not altered by co-administration with alcohol or benzodiazepines and can therefore be safely used before alcohol cessation and during relapse (14-16).

Acamprosate should be avoided in pregnant women unless benefits are considered to outweigh potential risks (14).

#### **WHO guidelines**

The 2023 WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders includes a strong recommendation that combined psychosocial and pharmacological interventions should be offered for adults with alcohol dependence (moderate certainty of evidence). Pharmacological treatments considered included acamprosate, disulfiram and naltrexone (*17*).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

A health technology assessment performed by the National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) in the United Kingdom found that the the incremental cost–effectiveness ratio of acamprosate and naltrexone compared with standard care were both within the cost–effectiveness threshold of £20 000 to £30 000 per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) (18). The finding was robust for various scenarios evaluated in the one-way sensitivity analysis.

Several modelling studies have evaluated the cost-effectiveness of acamprosate. A model from the perspective of the German health care system using data from a randomized controlled trial of acamprosate versus placebo which retrospectively applied costing demonstrated net savings with acamprosate (19). Another German study examined the lifetime cost-effectiveness of acamprosate and found that adjunctive acamprosate with standard counselling compared with counselling alone resulted in more life years gained (15.9 versus 14.6) and lower costs (20). Another model-based study from the Belgian health payers' perspective also showed cost savings with acamprosate (21). A modelling study using a hypothetical cohort and Scottish health service estimates found that acamprosate resulted in net savings compared with standard care (22).

A prospective study of costs from the perspective of German health insurance found that adjunctive acamprosate (with psychosocial rehabilitation support) resulted in higher abstinence and lower costs than psychosocial rehabilitation support alone (23).

A 2007 prospective cost and cost–effectiveness study of the COMBINE study interventions found three of the nine interventions to be cost-effective from the treatment provider perspective: medical management plus placebo; medical management plus naltrexone; and medical management plus naltrexone and acamprosate. Estimated treatment costs per patient were US\$ 409, US\$ 671 and US\$ 1003, respectively, using 2007 costs (*24*).

An additional cost study using data from COMBINE examined the effect of treatment arms on social costs of alcohol dependence and outcomes at 3 years (in terms of health care use, arrests and motor vehicle incidents in the United States) (25). Median social cost savings comparing medical management and placebo were: US\$ 2547 for medical management plus acamprosate; US\$ 2991 for medical management plus naltrexone; US\$ 3871 for medical management plus acamprosate and naltrexone; and US\$ 3277 for medical management plus acamprosate plus cognitive behavioural interventions. A substantial effect on cost differences was related to the outcomes of arrests and motor vehicle incidents (25).

## Availability

Acamprosate has regulatory approval globally for use in alcohol use disorder and is available in most countries in innovator and generic brands.

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted the public health importance of treatment of alcohol dependence and harmful use of alcohol from a medical, social and economic perspective. Currently, only one in six people globally with alcohol use disorder receives treatment and rates are even lower in low- and lower middle-income countries.

The Committee recognized the need to identify and address the various factors that increase alcohol consumption and influence its effects, as well as the need to develop and implement appropriate policies to decrease the harmful use of alcohol. The Committee considered that the availability of pharmacotherapies for the treatment of alcohol use disorder should be seen as part of this complex strategy of interventions.

The Committee noted that evidence from several randomized clinical trials (6 to 12 months follow-up) was available, indicating acamprosate efficacy on abstinence rates compared with placebo. The magnitude of treatment effects appeared to be moderate, but the Committee considered the impact at the population level would be significant. Post-treatment follow-up studies have shown that the effects of acamprosate are maintained for up to 1 year after the last dose. Psychosocial interventions, such motivation enhancement and cognitive behavioural treatment improve the likelihood that people treated with acamprosate meet their goals for recovery. The Committee noted that acamprosate was generally well tolerated and its use did not require specialized supervision meaning acamprosate can be effectively and safely used in primary care and other community settings.

The Committee noted that in head-to-head trials that compared acamprosate with naltrexone, no statistically significant difference was found between the two medications for some outcomes (e.g. return to any drinking).

The Committee noted that acamprosate was one of the medicines recommended in the WHO mhGAP guidelines for treatment of alcohol use disorder and was also recommended in other international guidelines. The Committee considered that the availability of different medicines for alcohol use disorder would provide valuable options and choice for patients and clinicians. It could also facilitate increased market competition, reduce costs and improve affordable access for national health systems.

The Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of acamprosate on the core list of the EML for the treatment of alcohol use disorder in adults.

# References

- 1. Griswold MG, Fullman N, Hawley C, Arian N, Zimsen SRM, Tymeson HD, et al. Alcohol use and burden for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet. 2018;392(10152):1015–35.
- 2. Global status report on alcohol and health 2018. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/274603, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 3. Barbosa C, Cowell AJ, Dowd WN. Alcohol consumption in response to the COVID-19 pandemic in the United States. J Addict Med. 2021;15(4):341–4.
- 4. Bouza C, Angeles M, Muñoz A, Amate JM. Efficacy and safety of naltrexone and acamprosate in the treatment of alcohol dependence: a systematic review. Addiction. 2004;99(7):811–28.
- 5. Mann K, Lehert P, Morgan MY. The efficacy of acamprosate in the maintenance of abstinence in alcohol-dependent individuals: results of a meta-analysis. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2004;28(1):51–63.
- Rösner S, Leucht S, Lehert P, Soyka M. Acamprosate supports abstinence, naltrexone prevents excessive drinking: evidence from a meta-analysis with unreported outcomes. J Psychopharmacol. 2008;22(1):11–23.
- 7. Rösner S, Hackl-Herrwerth A, Leucht S, Lehert P, Vecchi S, Soyka M. Acamprosate for alcohol dependence. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2010(9):CD004332.
- Maisel NC, Blodgett JC, Wilbourne PL, Humphreys K, Finney JW. Meta-analysis of naltrexone and acamprosate for treating alcohol use disorders: when are these medications most helpful? Addiction. 2013;108(2):275–93.
- Jonas DE, Amick HR, Feltner C, Bobashev G, Thomas K, Wines R, et al. Pharmacotherapy for adults with alcohol-use disorders in outpatient settings. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2014.
- Donoghue K, Elzerbi C, Saunders R, Whittington C, Pilling S, Drummond C. The efficacy of acamprosate and naltrexone in the treatment of alcohol dependence, Europe versus the rest of the world: a meta-analysis. Addiction. 2015;110(6):920–30.
- 11. Cheng H-Y, McGuinness LA, Elbers RG, MacArthur GJ, Taylor A, McAleenan A, et al. Treatment interventions to maintain abstinence from alcohol in primary care: systematic review and network meta-analysis. BMJ. 2020;371:m3934.
- 12. Bahji A, Bach P, Danilewitz M, Crockford D, Devoe DJ, El-Guebaly N, et al. Pharmacotherapies for adults with alcohol use disorders: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. J Addict Med. 2022;16(6):630–8.
- 13. Anton RF, O'Malley SS, Ciraulo DA, Cisler RA, Couper D, Donovan DM, et al. Combined pharmacotherapies and behavioral interventions for alcohol dependence: the COMBINE study: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2006;295(17):2003–17.
- 14. Incorporating alcohol pharmacotherapies into medical practice. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Service Administration; 2009 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK64041/pdf/Bookshelf\_NBK64041.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 15. Mason BJ, Heyser CJ. The neurobiology, clinical efficacy and safety of acamprosate in the treatment of alcohol dependence. Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2010;9(1):177–88.
- Kampman KM, Pettinati HM, Lynch KG, Xie H, Dackis C, Oslin DW, et al. Initiating acamprosate within-detoxification versus post-detoxification in the treatment of alcohol dependence. Addict Behav. 2009;34(6-7):581–6.

17. Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders. Third edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/374250, accessed 21 November 2023).

- Alcohol-use disorders: diagnosis, assessment and management of harmful drinking (high-risk drinking) and alcohol dependence. Clinical guideline [CG115]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2011 (https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg115, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 19. Schädlich PK, Brecht JG. The cost effectiveness of acamprosate in the treatment of alcoholism in Germany. Pharmacoeconomics. 1998;13(6):719–30.
- 20. Palmer AJ, Neeser K, Weiss C, Brandt A, Comte S, Fox M. The long-term cost-effectiveness of improving alcohol abstinence with adjuvant acamprosate. Alcohol Alcohol. 2000;35(5):47892.
- 21. Annemans L, Vanoverbeke N, Tecco J, D'Hooghe D. Economic evaluation of Campral (acamprosate) compared to placebo in maintaining abstinence in alcohol-dependent patients. Eur Addict Res. 2000;6(2):71–8.
- 22. Slattery J, Chick J, Cochrane M, J C, Godfrey C, Macpherson K, et al. Health technology assessment of prevention of relapse in alcohol dependence. Glasgow: Health Technology Board for Scotland; 2022 (https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/34719319.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 23. Rychlik R, Siedentop H, Pfeil T, Daniel D. Cost-effectiveness of adjuvant treatment with acamprosate in maintaining abstinence in alcohol dependent patients. Eur Addict Res. 2003;9(2):59–64.
- 24. Zarkin GA, Bray JW, Aldridge A, Mitra D, Mills MJ, Couper DJ, et al. Cost and cost-effectiveness of the COMBINE study in alcohol-dependent patients. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2008;65(10):1214–21.
- 25. Zarkin GA, Bray JW, Aldridge A, Mills M, Cisler RA, Couper D, et al. The effect of alcohol treatment on social costs of alcohol dependence: results from the COMBINE study. Med Care. 2010;48(5):396–401.

Naltrexone – addition – EML

## Naltrexone

ATC code: N07BB04

# Proposal

Addition of naltrexone oral formulation and extended-release injection to the core list of the EML for maintenance treatment of alcohol use disorder in adults.

## Applicant

Adrià Jiménez Bacardí, University of California, San Diego, CA, United States of America

Bassem Ghali, University of California, San Francisco, CA, United States of America

Sandeep P. Kishore, University of California, San Francisco, CA, United States of America

# WHO technical department

The WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use reviewed and provided comments on the application. The technical unit stated that the application to include naltrexone on the EML was timely and in line with guidance provided by WHO global policy frameworks and action plans.

## EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

24.5.1 Medicines for alcohol use disorders

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Injection suspension (extended-release): 380 mg in vial Tablet: 50 mg

## Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

Medicines for treatment of alcohol use disorders have not previously been evaluated for inclusion in the EML.

#### Public health relevance

Globally in 2016, alcohol use was the seventh leading risk factor for premature death and disability and was the leading risk factor in people aged 15 to 49 years. Worldwide, 2.8 million deaths were attributable to alcohol use. Alcohol consumption was shown to have a strong association with a higher risk of cancer, injuries and communicable disease (1).

The 2018 WHO *Global status report on alcohol and health* recognized that the harmful use of alcohol directly affects numerous targets of the Sustainable Development Goals including those for maternal and child health, infectious diseases, noncommunicable diseases, mental health, injuries and poisonings (2). Globally in 2016, estimates suggest that the harmful use of alcohol was responsible for 3 million deaths and caused 132.6 million disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) or 5.1% of total DALYs that year. The age-standardized burden of disease and injury associated with alcohol use varied geographically across WHO regions and was highest in the African region, where it was responsible for 70.6 deaths and 3044 DALYs per 100 000 people (2).

During the COVID-19 pandemic, a cross-sectional survey in the United States found that respondents reported consuming more drinks per day, more binge drinking and more alcohol consumption beyond recommended drinking limits than before the introduction of stay-at-home orders (*3*).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

#### Systematic reviews and meta-analyses

A 2014 meta-analysis of 123 studies (22 803 participants) evaluated the benefits and harms of pharmacotherapy for alcohol use disorders and included 53 randomized-controlled trials (9140 participants) comparing naltrexone and placebo (4). Naltrexone was associated with improvement in alcohol consumption outcomes compared with placebo. Oral naltrexone 50 mg daily was associated with a reduced risk of return to any drinking (risk difference (RD) -0.05 (95% confidence interval (CI) -0.10 to -0.00; number needed to treat (NNT) to prevent return to any drinking = 20) and return to heavy drinking (RD -0.09, 95% CI -0.13 to -0.04; NNT to prevent return to heavy drinking = 12). A significant association was also found between oral naltrexone 50 mg daily and reduction in percentage of drinking days (weighted mean difference (WMD) -5.4, 95% CI -7.5 to -3.2) and percentage of heavy drinking days (WMD -4.1, 95% CI -7.6 to -0.6). Naltrexone extended-release injection was associated with a significant reduction in percentage of heavy drinking days (WMD -4.6, 95% CI -8.5 to -0.6), but no significant association was observed for return to any or heavy drinking.

#### Individual randomized trials

A double-blind, placebo-controlled randomized trial evaluated oral naltrexone 50 mg per day for 12 weeks as adjunct to standard rehabilitation treatment in 70 men who had undergone initial alcohol detoxification (5). Compared with placebo, naltrexone was associated with a significantly lower mean alcohol craving score (1.41 versus 3.42), non-significantly lower mean liver enzyme levels (aspartate aminotransferase: 23.6 U/L versus 50.4 U/L; gamma-glutamyl transferase 51.4 U/L versus 127.3 U/L) and significantly fewer drinking days (1.6% versus 8.3% of study days). Naltrexone treatment did not prevent study participants from sampling alcohol, however, it was associated with decreased subsequent drinking once drinking occurred (3.6% versus 14.0% of study days). Significantly fewer patients treated with naltrexone relapsed (23% versus 54%). Within the subgroup of patients who reported any drinking during the study period, significantly fewer patients treated with naltrexone relapsed (50% versus 95%).

A double-blind, placebo-controlled randomized trial of 12 weeks duration compared the additive effects of pharmacotherapy (oral naltrexone 50 mg daily versus placebo) and psychotherapy (coping skills training versus standard supportive therapy) in 97 patients with alcohol dependency (6). Rates of continuous abstinence over the study period were 61% for patients receiving naltrexone and supportive therapy, 28% for patients receiving naltrexone and coping skills training, 21% for patients receiving placebo and coping skills training and 19% for patients receiving placebo and supportive therapy. The rate of relapse, defined as drinking five or more (for men) or four or more (for women) drinks on an occasion, was 34% and 43% in the naltrexone and supportive therapy group and naltrexone and coping skills training group, respectively. Compared with patients treated with placebo, those receiving naltrexone drank on fewer study days (4.3% versus 9.9%) and consumed fewer standard drinks on average during the trial (13.7 versus 38.0).

The combined pharmacotherapies and behavioural interventions study (COMBINE) was a multicentre, randomized controlled trial that compared effectiveness of oral naltrexone with placebo and acamprosate (1383 participants). Patients received 16 weeks of treatment and were followed for 1 year after treatment completion (7). Participants were randomly assigned after 4 to 21 days of abstinence to receive either naltrexone, acamprosate, acamprosate and naltrexone in combination, or placebo, with or without a combined behavioural intervention. All treatment groups experienced an increase in percentage of days abstinent, from 25% pre-study to 73% during treatment. All groups receiving medicines or placebo showed improvements in abstinent days compared with the group who only received combined behavioural intervention. Naltrexone also reduced the risk of return to heavy drinking compared with placebo (hazard ratio (HR) 0.72, 97.5% CI, 0.53 to -0.98).

The PREDICT study was a double-blind, placebo-controlled randomized study in Germany that attempted to replicate the findings of the COMBINE study (8). As in COMBINE, participants (n = 426) received oral treatment with acamprosate, naltrexone or placebo. The primary outcome measure was time until the first occurrence of heavy drinking. No significant difference in time to first heavy drinking day was found between treatment groups. A subgroup analysis examined whether so-called reward drinking (drinking driven by positive reinforcement) versus so-called relief drinking (drinking driven by negative reinforcement) moderated treatment response (9). Participants who were predominantly reward drinkers who received naltrexone had an 83% lower likelihood of any heaving drinking during treatment compared with placebo. Greater effects of naltrexone in reward drinkers have subsequently been reported in other randomized trials (10-12).

A multicentre, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial evaluated the efficacy and tolerability of naltrexone extended release intramuscular injection in 627 adults with alcohol dependency (*13*). Participants were randomized to receive 190 mg or 380 mg long-acting naltrexone or a matching volume of placebo for 24 weeks and all received standardized supportive therapy. Rates of heavy drinking decreased in both active treatment groups. Those treated with naltrexone 380 mg had about a 25% greater reduction in the rate of heavy drinking relative to participants treated with placebo (HR 0.75, 95% CI 0.60 to 0.94). Subgroup analyses showed that treatment effects were greater in men and participants with lead-in abstinence receiving naltrexone.

A randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled trial evaluated the efficacy of combining extended-release naltrexone and behavioural harm reduction treatment for alcohol use disorder in 308 homeless adults with alcohol use disorders (*14*). Participants were randomized to receive: harm reduction treatment plus extended-release naltrexone 380 mg injection; harm reduction treatment plus placebo injection; harm reduction treatment alone; or usual supportive services (control group). Primary outcome measures were self-reported alcohol use (quantity and frequency), alcohol-related harm to oneself, and physical and mental health-related quality of life. Compared with the control group, participants receiving combined harm reduction treatment and naltrexone had significant improvements from baseline to 12 weeks post-treatment in peak alcohol quantity (Cohen's d –0.68), alcohol frequency (Cohen's d –0.16), alcohol-related harm (Cohen's d –0.56) and physical health-related quality of life (Cohen's d 0.43).

A systematic review and meta-analysis (seven randomized controlled trials, 1500 participants) evaluated the effect of extended-release naltrexone injection versus placebo on alcohol consumption in patients with alcohol use disorder, and determined the effects of lead-in abstinence and treatment duration on efficacy (15). For drinking days per month, the pooled WMD was -2.0

(95% CI – 3.4 to –0.6) in favour of naltrexone. For heavy drinking days per month, the pooled WMD was –1.2 (95% CI –0.2 to –2.1) in favour of naltrexone. Trials in which lead-in abstinence was not an inclusion criteria and trials of duration of at least 3 months reported larger reductions in heavy drinking days per month with naltrexone: WMD –2.0 (95% CI –3.52 to –0.48) and –1.9 (95% CI –3.2 to –0.5), respectively.

# **Observational cohort studies**

Cohort studies have been used to evaluate the effectiveness of treatment of alcohol use disorder on relevant health care outcomes (*16,17*). In a Swedish nationwide cohort study covering 10 years and 125 556 individuals with alcohol use disorder, 10 872 participants received treatment with naltrexone (*16*). Naltrexone in combination with acamprosate (HR 0.74, 95% CI 0.61 to 0.89) or disulfiram (HR 0.76, 95% CI 0.60 to 0.96) and as monotherapy (HR 0.89, 95% CI 0.81 to 0.97) was associated with a significantly lower risk of hospitalization due to alcohol use disorder compared with those time periods when the same individual did not use any treatment. Longer duration of naltrexone use was associated with lower risk of hospitalization due to alcohol use disorder. Naltrexone was also associated with a significantly decreased risk of hospitalization due to any cause when used in combination with acamprosate or disulfiram (HR 0.80, 95% CI 0.69 to 0.94 and HR 0.77, 95% CI 0.64 to 0.94, respectively) or used alone (HR 0.89, 95% CI 0.83 to 0.96).

Similarly, a cohort study of 127 480 patients in Boston, United States identified 9635 individuals with alcohol use disorder of whom 1135 had alcohol-related liver disease (*17*). Patients treated with naltrexone had significantly decreased odds of developing liver disease during follow-up compared with those who had no pharmacological treatment for alcohol use disorder (adjusted odds ratio (OR) 0.67, 95% CI 0.46 to 0.95) (*17*). For patients with a diagnosis of liver cirrhosis, those treated with naltrexone had significantly decreased odds of having hepatic decompensation compared with those who were untreated (adjusted OR 0.27, 95% CI 0.10 to 0.64).

## Summary of evidence: harms

The application did not present a summary of evidence for the harms of naltrexone.

The most common adverse effects of naltrexone include nausea, vomiting, headache, dizziness, fatigue, nervousness, anxiety and somnolence. Injection site reactions have been reported with the extended-release injection formulation. Naltrexone should not be used if a patient is currently using opioids to avoid precipitating withdrawal. Naltrexone should be discontinued if there are anticipated opioid requirements within 7 days (*18*).

The United States Food and Drug Administration's approval label for naltrexone includes a black box warning about hepatotoxicity, which usually occurs at higher doses than those used in clinical practice. Due to hepatotoxicity and potential increases in levels of liver enzymes, liver function tests are recommended to be performed before starting treatment and at intervals of 1, 3 and 6 months, and then annually thereafter (or more frequently if baseline liver function tests are high). Naltrexone is contraindicated in patients with acute hepatitis or liver failure (*18*).

#### **WHO** guidelines

The 2023 WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders includes a strong recommendation that combined psychosocial and pharmacological interventions should be offered for adults with alcohol dependence (moderate certainty of evidence). Pharmacological treatments considered included acamprosate, disulfiram and naltrexone (19).

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

A 2007 prospective cost and cost–effectiveness study of the COMBINE study interventions found three of the nine interventions to be cost-effective from a treatment provider perspective: medical management plus placebo; medical management plus naltrexone; and medical management plus naltrexone and acamprosate. Estimated treatment costs per patient were US\$ 409, US\$ 671 and US\$ 1003, respectively, using 2007 costs (*20*).

An additional cost study using data from COMBINE examined the effect of treatment arms on social costs of alcohol dependence and outcomes at 3 years (in terms of health care use, arrests, and motor vehicle incidents in the United States) (21). Median social cost savings comparing medical management and placebo were: US\$ 2547 for medical management plus acamprosate, US\$ 2991 for medical management plus naltrexone, US\$ 3871 for medical management plus acamprosate and naltrexone, and US\$ 3277 for medical management plus acamprosate plus cognitive behavioural interventions. A substantial effect on cost differences was related to the outcomes of arrests and motor vehicle incidents (21).

A health technology assessment by the National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) in the United Kingdom found that the the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio of acamprosate and naltrexone compared with standard care were both within the cost–effectiveness threshold of £20 000 to £30 000 per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) (22). The finding was robust under various scenarios evaluated in the one-way sensitivity analysis.

The use of extended-release naltrexone injection was reported to cost significantly more than oral naltrexone. Studies report that individuals treated

with extended-release naltrexone had fewer alcohol-related inpatient days and more outpatient visits for treatment of alcohol use disorder than other medication regimens (23). Extended-release naltrexone was more likely to be refilled, was associated with fewer hospitalizations and - despite the higher cost for extendedrelease naltrexone itself – total health care cost was not different from that of oral naltrexone (24). Patients treated with extended-release naltrexone were also more likely to persist with pharmacotherapy compared with those treated with oral naltrexone, acamprosate or disulfiram thus resulting in lower non-pharmacy health care costs and use of inpatient and emergency services (25). In contrast to these findings, one retrospective study by a Veterans Affairs facility found that patients on extended-release naltrexone had higher health care utilization than those on oral naltrexone (26). A meta-analysis of health care utilization studies showed that extended-release naltrexone (1565 patients) had longer medication refill persistence and lower or as low health care utilization and costs compared with other pharmacotherapies for alcohol use disorder, including oral naltrexone (27). Randomized controlled data comparing extended-release naltrexone with oral naltrexone are lacking, although the results of one trial are pending which will analyse cost-effectiveness (28).

## Availability

Oral naltrexone has regulatory approval globally for use in alcohol use disorder and is available in most countries in innovator and generic brands.

Naltrexone extended-release injection has regulatory approval for alcohol dependence in patients who can abstain from alcohol in an outpatient setting prior to initiation of treatment. It remains under patent protection in several jurisdictions.

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted the public health importance of treatment of alcohol dependence and harmful use of alcohol from a medical, social and economic perspective. Currently, only one in six people globally with alcohol use disorder receives treatment and rates are even lower in low- and lower middle-income countries.

The Committee recognized the need to identify and address the various factors that increase alcohol consumption and influence its effects, as well as the need to develop and implement appropriate policies to decrease the harmful use of alcohol. The Committee considered that the availability of pharmacotherapies for the treatment of alcohol use disorder should be seen as part of this complex strategy of interventions.

The Committee noted that a large body of evidence confirmed that naltrexone improved alcohol consumption outcomes in patients with alcohol use

disorders compared with placebo. The magnitude of treatment effects appeared moderate, but the Committee considered the impact at the population level would be significant. The Committee noted that the benefits of naltrexone may be greater in people whose drinking is driven by positive reinforcement.

The Committee noted that naltrexone was generally well tolerated but has been associated hepatotoxic effects when used at higher doses for extended periods of time. The Committee noted that liver function tests should be performed before starting treatment and at regular intervals during treatment.

The Committee noted that injectable extended-release formulations of naltrexone were more costly than the oral formulation. However, the Committee considered that the possibility of monthly administration may increase treatment persistence in some patient subgroups.

The Committee noted that in head-to-head trials that compared naltrexone with acamprosate, no statistically significant difference was found between the two medications for some outcomes (e.g. return to any drinking).

The Committee noted that naltrexone was one of the medicines recommended in the WHO mhGAP guidelines for treatment of alcohol use disorder and was also recommended in other international guidelines. The Committee considered that the availability of different medicines for alcohol use disorder would provide valuable options and choice for patients and clinicians. It could also facilitate increased market competition, reduce costs and improve affordable access for national health systems.

The Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of naltrexone oral tablets and extended-release injection on the core list of the EML for use in the treatment of alcohol use disorder in adults.

## References

- Griswold MG, Fullman N, Hawley C, Arian N, Zimsen SRM, Tymeson HD, et al. Alcohol use and burden for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet. 2018;392(10152):1015–35.
- 2. Global status report on alcohol and health 2018. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/274603, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 3. Barbosa C, Cowell AJ, Dowd WN. Alcohol consumption in response to the COVID-19 pandemic in the United States. J Addict Med. 2021;15(4):341–4.
- 4. Jonas DE, Amick HR, Feltner C, Bobashev G, Thomas K, Wines R, et al. Pharmacotherapy for adults with alcohol-use disorders in outpatient settings. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2014.
- 5. Volpicelli JR, Alterman AI, Hayashida M, O'Brien CP. Naltrexone in the treatment of alcohol dependence. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1992;49(11):876–80.
- 6. O'Malley SS, Jaffe AJ, Chang G, Schottenfeld RS, Meyer RE, Rounsaville B. Naltrexone and coping skills therapy for alcohol dependence. A controlled study. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1992;49(11):881–7.

 Anton RF, O'Malley SS, Ciraulo DA, Cisler RA, Couper D, Donovan DM, et al. Combined pharmacotherapies and behavioral interventions for alcohol dependence: the COMBINE study: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2006;295(17):2003–17.

- Mann K, Lemenager T, Hoffmann S, Reinhard I, Hermann D, Batra A, et al. Results of a double-blind, placebo-controlled pharmacotherapy trial in alcoholism conducted in Germany and comparison with the US COMBINE study. Addict Biol. 2013;18(6):937–46.
- Mann K, Roos CR, Hoffmann S, Nakovics H, Leménager T, Heinz A, et al. Precision medicine in alcohol dependence: a controlled trial testing pharmacotherapy response among reward and relief drinking phenotypes. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2018;43(4):891–9.
- Witkiewitz K, Roos CR, Mann K, Kranzler HR. Advancing precision medicine for alcohol use disorder: replication and extension of reward drinking as a predictor of naltrexone response. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2019;43(11):2395–405.
- 11. Roos CR, Bold KW, Witkiewitz K, Leeman RF, DeMartini KS, Fucito LM, et al. Reward drinking and naltrexone treatment response among young adult heavy drinkers. Addiction. 2021;116(9):2360–71.
- 12. O'Malley SS, Corbin WR, Leeman RF, DeMartini KS, Fucito LM, Ikomi J, et al. Reduction of alcohol drinking in young adults by naltrexone: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized clinical trial of efficacy and safety. J Clin Psychiatry. 2015;76(2):e207–13.
- 13. Garbutt JC, Kranzler HR, O'Malley SS, Gastfriend DR, Pettinati HM, Silverman BL, et al. Efficacy and tolerability of long-acting injectable naltrexone for alcohol dependence: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2005;293(13):1617–25.
- 14. Collins SE, Duncan MH, Saxon AJ, Taylor EM, Mayberry N, Merrill JO, et al. Combining behavioral harm-reduction treatment and extended-release naltrexone for people experiencing homelessness and alcohol use disorder in the USA: a randomised clinical trial. Lancet Psychiatry. 2021;8(4):287–300.
- 15. Murphy CEt, Wang RC, Montoy JC, Whittaker E, Raven M. Effect of extended-release naltrexone on alcohol consumption: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Addiction. 2022;117(2):271–81.
- 16. Heikkinen M, Taipale H, Tanskanen A, Mittendorfer-Rutz E, Lähteenvuo M, Tiihonen J. Real-world effectiveness of pharmacological treatments of alcohol use disorders in a Swedish nation-wide cohort of 125 556 patients. Addiction. 2021;116(8):1990–8.
- 17. Vannier AGL, Shay JES, Fomin V, Patel SJ, Schaefer E, Goodman RP, et al. Incidence and progression of alcohol-associated liver disease after medical therapy for alcohol use disorder. JAMA Netw Open. 2022;5(5):e2213014.
- Incorporating alcohol pharmacotherapies into medical practice. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Service Administration; 2009 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK64041/pdf/Bookshelf\_NBK64041.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders. Third edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://iris.who.int/ handle/10665/374250, accessed 21 November 2023).
- 20. Zarkin GA, Bray JW, Aldridge A, Mitra D, Mills MJ, Couper DJ, et al. Cost and cost-effectiveness of the COMBINE study in alcohol-dependent patients. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2008;65(10):1214–21.
- 21. Zarkin GA, Bray JW, Aldridge A, Mills M, Cisler RA, Couper D, et al. The effect of alcohol treatment on social costs of alcohol dependence: results from the COMBINE study. Med Care. 2010;48(5):396–401.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 22. Alcohol-use disorders: diagnosis, assessment and management of harmful drinking (high-risk drinking) and alcohol dependence. Clinical guideline [CG115]. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2011 (https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg115, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 23. Mark TL, Montejano LB, Kranzler HR, Chalk M, Gastfriend DR. Comparison of healthcare utilization among patients treated with alcoholism medications. Am J Manag Care. 2010;16(12):879–88.
- 24. Baser O, Chalk M, Rawson R, Gastfriend DR. Alcohol dependence treatments: comprehensive healthcare costs, utilization outcomes, and pharmacotherapy persistence. Am J Manag Care. 2011;17(Suppl 8):S222–34.
- Bryson WC, McConnell J, Korthuis PT, McCarty D. Extended-release naltrexone for alcohol dependence: persistence and healthcare costs and utilization. Am J Manag Care. 2011;17(Suppl 8):S222–34.
- 26. Beatty A, Stock C. Efficacy of long-acting, injectable versus oral naltrexone for preventing admissions for alcohol use disorder. Ment Health Clin. 2017;7(3):106–10.
- Hartung DM, McCarty D, Fu R, Wiest K, Chalk M, Gastfriend DR. Extended-release naltrexone for alcohol and opioid dependence: a meta-analysis of healthcare utilization studies. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2014;47(2):113–21.
- 28. Malone M, McDonald R, Vittitow A, Chen J, Obi R, Schatz D, et al. Extended-release vs. oral naltrexone for alcohol dependence treatment in primary care (XON). Contemp Clin Trials. 2019;81:102–9.

# 24.5.2 Medicines for nicotine use disorders

Nicotine replacement therapy – new formulation – EML

# Nicotine replacement therapy

ATC code: N07BA01

## Proposal

Addition of new formulations of nicotine replacement therapy (NRT) as lozenges and mouth spray on the core list of the EML for tobacco cessation in adults.

## Applicant

Johnson & Johnson Consumer Inc., Skillman, NJ, United States of America

# WHO technical department

The WHO Department of Health Promotion reviewed and provided comments on the application. The technical department supported the inclusion of nicotine lozenges and mouth spray on the EML and considered that their inclusion could help tobacco users to quit by providing a wider choice of NRT options. The technical department highlighted that the proposal was supported by great need among populations and the evidence of efficacy and comparative costeffectiveness.

## EML/EMLc

EML

# Section

24.5.2 Medicines for nicotine use disorders (new subsection)

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Lozenge: 2 mg, 4 mg Oromucosal spray: 1 mg per actuation

# \_\_\_\_\_

# Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

NRT as chewing gum and transdermal patch has been included on the EML since 2009. The Expert Committee recommended listing on the basis of public

health need, high-quality evidence of effectiveness, and acceptable safety and cost–effectiveness. Other formulations were not recommended for inclusion at the time because less evidence was available on comparative safety, effectiveness and cost in different populations (1).

#### Public health relevance

The public health relevance of smoking cessation interventions is well established and accepted. The tobacco epidemic is a major public health threat, killing more than 8 million people a year. In 2020, 22.3% of the world population used tobacco. More than 80% of global tobacco users live in low- and middle-income countries (2).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

#### NRT – all forms

A 2018 Cochrane systematic review of 133 randomized controlled trials (64 640 participants) evaluated the effectiveness and safety of different NRT preparations compared with placebo or no NRT interventions for achieving long-term smoking cessation (3). The review included eight randomized controlled trials (4439 participants) on nicotine oral tablets/lozenges and one randomized controlled trial (542 participants) on nicotine mouth spray. The outcome measure evaluated was abstinence from smoking after at least 6 months of follow-up. The risk ratio (RR) of abstinence for any form of NRT compared with control was 1.55 (95% confidence interval (CI) 1.49 to 1.61). From a pooled analysis of the trials for oral tablets/lozenges, the RR for abstinence was 1.52 (95% CI 1.32 to 1.74). The RR for abstinence for mouth spray was 2.48 (95% CI 1.24 to 4.94). In comparison, the RRs for abstinence for the NRT forms currently included on the EML were 1.49 (95% CI 1.40 to 1.60) for nicotine gum (56 randomized controlled trials, 22 581 participants) and 1.64 (95% CI 1.53 to 1.75) for nicotine transdermal patch (51 randomized controlled trials, 25 754 participants). The authors concluded that there was high-quality evidence that NRT increased quit rates at 6 months or longer in adult smokers who were motivated to quit. Furthermore, the delivery form of NRT was unrelated to effectiveness, therefore preference, availability and cost might determine the form chosen. The quality of evidence was rated as high, based on Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluations (GRADE).

#### NRT mouth spray

A randomized controlled trial in the United States compared nicotine mouth spray with placebo in 1198 smokers motivated to quit (4). For the primary study endpoint of self-reported, objectively verified continuous abstinence from smoking from week 2 until week 6, 5.0% of participants in the intervention group

had quit smoking compared with 2.5% in the placebo group (RR 2.0, 95% CI 1.1 to 3.7). For the secondary study endpoint of self-reported, objectively verified continuous abstinence from smoking from week 2 until and including week 26, 3.4% of participants in the intervention group had quit smoking compared with 1.2% in the placebo group (RR 2.87, 95% CI 1.23 to 6.71).

A multicentre, randomized, double-blind efficacy and safety study compared nicotine mouth spray with placebo and evaluated self-reported, carbon monoxide-verified continuous abstinence from smoking in 479 smokers at clinics in Denmark and Germany (5). Study participants also received low-intensity counselling. Treatment with nicotine mouth spray was associated with significantly higher continuous abstinence rates than placebo at all time points: week 6 (26.1% versus 16.1%; RR 1.62, 95% CI 1.09 to 2.41), week 24 (15.7% versus 6.8%; RR 2.30, 95% CI 1.23 to 4.30) and week 52 (13.8% versus 5.6%; RR 2.48, 95% CI 1.24 to 4.94).

A 2010 randomized, within-subject, crossover trial compared the effects on craving, user satisfaction and consumption patterns of nicotine mouth spray 1 mg/dose, lozenge 2.5 mg, gum 4 mg, and placebo used for 8 hours after overnight tobacco abstinence (6). The study included 47 dependent adult smokers, and rated craving, irritability, concentration and restlessness before and during the first 60 minutes of product use on a 100-point visual analogue scale. Mean reductions in craving scores from baseline to 60 minutes were 28.6, 25.8, 24.7 and 8.9 points for mouth spray, gum, lozenge and placebo, respectively. Compared with placebo, nicotine mouth spray was associated with a significant reduction in craving scores within 5 minutes. Compared with nicotine gum, nicotine mouth spray was associated with a significant reduction in craving scores at time points up to 15 minutes. No significant differences were seen between active products. The authors concluded that the mouth spray may be particularly useful for acute craving relief.

A 2007 randomized study evaluated patient preference, safety and efficacy of nicotine mouth spray 1 mg/dose, nicotine gum 2 mg and nicotine inhaler 10 mg for 12 weeks in 100 adult smokers motivated to quit (7). The results of the efficacy analysis for continuous abstinence at 12 weeks were 16% for the mouth spray, 20% for the gum and 8% for the inhaler. At 12 months, continuous abstinence rates were 12%, 8% and 4% for the mouth spray, gum and inhaler, respectively. Point-prevalence abstinence rates at 12 months were 16%, 8% and 4% for the mouth spray, gum and inhaler, respectively. Results for patient preference showed that 54% of participants preferred the mouth spray, 28% preferred the inhaler and 18% preferred gum. Direct comparisons significantly favoured mouth spray over gum and mouth spray over inhaler.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

A number of adverse effects are commonly associated with NRT use, however serious adverse effects are rare. The adverse effects associated with NRT are due to the pharmacological action of nicotine as well as the mode and site of the NRT application.

A 2010 systematic review and meta-analysis of 92 randomized clinical trials of NRT versus inert controls (32 185 participants) and 28 observational studies (145 205 participants) evaluated the magnitude of reported adverse effects with NRT (8). Pooled evidence from the randomized controlled trials of various formulations of NRT found that NRT was associated with a significantly increased risk of heart palpitations and chest pain (odds ratio (OR) 2.06, 95% CI 1.51 to 2.82), nausea and vomiting (OR 1.67, 95% CI 1.37 to 2.04), gastrointestinal complaints (OR 1.54, 95% CI 1.25 to 1.89) and insomnia (OR 1.42, 95% CI 1.21 to 1.66). Orally administered NRT formulations were associated with significantly increased risk of hiccups (OR 7.68, 95% CI 4.59 to 12.85), cough (OR 2.89, 95% CI 1.92 to 4.33), mouth and throat soreness (OR 1.87, 95% CI 1.36 to 2.57), and mouth ulcers (OR 1.49, 95% CI 1.05 to 2.20). NRT transdermal patches were associated with a significant increase in skin irritations (OR 2.80, 95% CI 2.28 to 3.24). No significantly increased risk in anxiety or depressive symptoms was observed for NRT use.

The 2018 Cochrane review supported these earlier safety findings, stating that adverse events from using NRT were related to the type of product and included skin irritation from patches and irritation to the inside of the mouth from gum and tablets (*3*). Attempts to quantitatively synthesize the incidence of various adverse effects were hindered because of the wide variation in reporting the nature, timing and duration of symptoms. The OR of chest pains or palpitations for any form of NRT relative to control was 1.88 (95% CI 1.37 to 2.57; 15 trials, 11 074 participants). However, chest pains and palpitations were rare in both groups and serious adverse events were extremely rare.

The 2018 Cochrane review described the most common adverse events associated with nicotine gum to be hiccups, gastrointestinal disturbances, jaw pain and orodental problems. For nicotine patches, skin sensitivity and local irritation was common, affecting up to 54% of users, but it was usually mild and rarely led to treatment discontinuation. The main adverse events associated with nicotine inhaler and oral or nasal sprays were local irritation at the site of administration (e.g. throat irritation, coughing, burning in the mouth and hiccups).

These findings are supported by data synthesized by the applicants from randomized clinical trials of oromucosal nicotine formulations (gum and lozenges) for smoking cessation.

#### **WHO guidelines**

WHO guidelines for tobacco cessation in adults to guide proper use of tobacco cessation medications including NRT are currently in development and are expected to be published in late 2023.

#### Costs/cost-effectiveness

Evidence for the comparative cost–effectiveness of nicotine lozenges and mouth spray was not presented in the application.

From pricing data purchased and reported by the applicants, available globally representative pricing data show that NRT lozenge is sold at an average cost of US\$ 0.42 per piece (22% less than gum) and a weighted average daily cost of US\$ 3.41 a day (9% less than gum), while NRT mouth spray is sold at an average cost of US\$ 0.37 per spray and an estimated daily cost of US\$ 6.06 (based on 30 sprays a day, which is consistent with dosage for a moderate cigarette smoker).

#### Availability

The Johnson & Johnson brand of nicotine lozenge has regulatory approval in 26 (predominantly high-income) countries. Generic brands of nicotine lozenge are available in some countries.

The Johnson & Johnson brand of nicotine mouth spray has regulatory approval in 54 (predominantly high- and upper middle-income) countries. Generic brands of nicotine mouth spray are available in some countries.

#### Other considerations

In August 2023, WHO issued the first invitation to manufacturers of medicinal products for treatment of disorders caused by the use of tobacco to submit an expression of interest for WHO prequalification. Medicinal products in the invitation included NRT such as chewing gum 2 mg and 4 mg, and transdermal patches 5 mg to 25 mg/16 hours and 7 mg to 21 mg/24 hours (9).

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged the substantial public health burden posed by smoking and the need for effective smoking cessation treatments. Smoking is the most important modifiable risk factor of morbidity and mortality and is associated with negative outcomes in a range of diseases. The Committee considered that adding additional smoking cessation options to the EML could be an important step in increasing access to smoking cessation treatment.

The Committee considered that the evidence presented in the application supported the effectiveness of all forms of NRT in increasing abstinence and cessation rates. The Committee also noted that there did not appear to be significant differences in efficacy between different NRT formulations. With regard to safety, the Committee noted that the adverse effects associated with NRT were well known and generally acceptable. The Committee considered that the benefits of treatment in helping users to achieve abstinence and cessation were sufficient to outweigh the risks, and that the balance of benefits and harms was favourable. The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

The Committee recognized that smoking cessation interventions were among the most cost-effective public health interventions. The Committee recalled that NRT was considered to be cost-effective by the 2009 Expert Committee when NRT as gum and transdermal patches were recommended for addition to the EML. The Committee considered that the availability of different forms of NRT would provide options and choice for patients and clinicians, and could facilitate increased market competition, reduce costs and improve affordable access for health systems.

The Committee also welcomed the information from the WHO Department of Health Promotion that WHO guidelines for tobacco cessation were in development.

Based on these considerations, the Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of nicotine lozenges and mouth spray on the core list of the EML as additional forms of NRT for tobacco and smoking cessation.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2009 (including the 16th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 2nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 958; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44287, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Tobacco fact sheet [internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www.who.int/ news-room/fact-sheets/detail/tobacco, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 3. Hartmann-Boyce J, Chepkin SC, Ye W, Bullen C, Lancaster T. Nicotine replacement therapy versus control for smoking cessation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018;5(5):CD000146.
- Nides M, Danielsson T, Saunders F, Perfekt R, Kapikian R, Solla J, et al. Efficacy and safety of a nicotine mouth spray for smoking cessation: a randomized, multicenter, controlled study in a naturalistic setting. Nicotine Tob Res. 2020;22(3):339–45.
- 5. Tonnesen P, Lauri H, Perfekt R, Mann K, Batra A. Efficacy of a nicotine mouth spray in smoking cessation: a randomised, double-blind trial. Eur Respir J. 2012;40(3):548–54.
- 6. McRobbie H, Thornley S, Bullen C, Lin RB, Senior H, Laugesen M, et al. A randomized trial of the effects of two novel nicotine replacement therapies on tobacco withdrawal symptoms and user satisfaction. Addiction. 2010;105(7):1290–8.
- 7. Bolliger CT, van Biljon X, Axelsson A. A nicotine mouth spray for smoking cessation: a pilot study of preference, safety and efficacy. Respiration. 2007;74(2):196–201.
- 8. Mills EJ, Wu P, Lockhart I, Wilson K, Ebbert JO. Adverse events associated with nicotine replacement therapy (NRT) for smoking cessation. A systematic review and meta-analysis of one hundred and twenty studies involving 177,390 individuals. Tob Induc Dis. 2010;8(1):8.
- 9. 1st Invitation to manufacturers of medicinal products for treatment of disorders caused by use of tobacco, to submit an Expression of Interest (EOI) for product evaluation to the WHO Prequalification Unit. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://extranet.who.int/prequal/sites/default/files/ document\_files/EOI\_Tobacco\_v2\_14August2023.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).

664
Section 29: Medicines for diseases of joints 29.3 Juvenile joint diseases

Anakinra – addition – EML and EMLc

# Anakinra

ATC code: L04AC03

# Proposal

Addition of anakinra to the complementary list of the EML and the EMLc for the treatment of systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) with macrophage activation syndrome.

# Applicant

Paediatric Global Task Force for Musculoskeletal Health

# WHO technical department

Not applicable

## EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

29.3 Juvenile joint diseases

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Injection: 100 mg/0.67 mL in a prefilled syringe

## Core/complementary

Complementary

## Individual/square box listing

Individual

## Background

An application for the inclusion of anakinra, an interleukin-1 receptor antagonist, for the treatment of children with systemic onset JIA with macrophage activation syndrome was evaluated by the Expert Committee in 2021. Listing was not recommended at the time because of uncertainties about the estimates of clinical benefit and concerns about affordability and access to specialist medical services in lower-resource settings.

The Committee noted that macrophage activation syndrome is a rare but serious condition involving excessive immune activation that can occur in children

with systemic-onset JIA, and that it is associated with high short-term mortality, especially if untreated. The Committee noted that the application reported data only from uncontrolled cohort studies or case series, most of which enrolled only a small number of patients. The Committee considered that extrapolating clinical benefits and potential harms of anakinra and comparing anakinra with other potentially relevant therapeutic alternatives based on this type of evidence was difficult. The Committee also noted that anakinra was often highly priced, with potentially important limitations in accessibility and affordability at the country level. The Committee further acknowledged the limited availability of specialist paediatric rheumatologists in many settings (1).

#### Public health relevance

JIA is the most common chronic rheumatic disease in children, with a prevalence of about 1 in 1000 children (2). In 2017, more than 2 million children younger than 16 years worldwide were estimated to have JIA, with the highest prevalence in south Asia and Africa (3). The disease is characterized by joint inflammation lasting more than 6 weeks, onset before the age of 16 years and no other identifiable cause (4-6).

Untreated disease can have severe consequences, including pain, fatigue, joint damage, functional disability and impaired quality of life. JIA can also lead to anaemia, poor growth, delayed puberty and complications such as uveitis, which can cause blindness if not detected and treated (5-7). The impact of untreated JIA extends to difficulties in walking, performing daily activities and educational participation, which can result in psychosocial challenges, mental health problems and higher unemployment rates compared with healthy peers (8-10).

Access to proper care for children with JIA is a major challenge, particularly in resource-constrained settings (11). The shortage of paediatricians, especially in Asia and Africa, contributes to limited access to specialist care and treatment for many children with JIA, resulting in worse clinical outcomes in these regions (7,12).

Systemic-onset JIA is the rarest subtype of the disease. It is characterized by arthritis, fever, rash and systemic inflammation, and is considered an autoinflammatory syndrome (13,14). The age at onset is typically 1–5 years (15) and it imposes a significant disease burden as patients usually require treatment for months to years after the onset of symptoms, as well as close monitoring for complications or flare-ups of the disease. Systemic-onset JIA is reported to account for 4–9% of cases of JIA in European countries – a population-based study in five Nordic countries reported an incidence of 0.6 per 100 000 children per year (16). Systemic-onset JIA is more common in other geographical settings, representing up to 25% and 50% of JIA cases in India and Japan, respectively (14). Uncontrolled inflammation in systemic-onset JIA carries a significant risk of high morbidity and potential mortality from macrophage activation syndrome, an uncontrolled cytokine storm (*14*,*17*,*18*). A study in the United Kingdom found higher mortality rates in people with systemic-onset JIA compared with people with other forms of JIA (*19*). Macrophage activation syndrome has been reported to affect about 33% of patients with systemic-onset JIA (*20*) and has a fatality rate of up to 23% (*21*).

## Summary of evidence: benefits

The application presented a review of the available evidence on the use of anakinra for systemic-onset JIA and macrophage activation syndrome in systemic-onset JIA. It asserted that the most important way to treat macrophage activation syndrome in systemic-onset JIA was to control the underlying inflammation caused by the disease.

## Anakinra in systemic-onset JIA

#### **Randomized trials**

A multicentre, randomized, double-blind trial compared the efficacy of 1-month treatment with anakinra (2 mg/kg daily, up to a maximum of 100 mg) versus placebo in 24 patients with systemic-onset JIA (22). Response was defined as a 30% improvement in the paediatric American College of Rheumatology criteria for JIA (ACRpedi 30), absence of disease-related fever and a decrease of at least 50% of both C-reactive protein and erythrocyte sedimentation rate compared with baseline. After 1 month, a response was observed in 67% (8/12) of patients in the anakinra arm and 8% (1/12) of patients in the placebo arm (P = 0.003). An open-label treatment period followed the first part of the trial, in which all patients received anakinra for up to 12 months. Two patients from the placebo group stopped treatment during the first month of treatment due to injection pain and withdrew from the trial. Nine of the remaining 10 patients who switched to anakinra had responded at month 2. Seventeen patients continued in the trial until month 6, of whom six responded. Sixteen patients continued in the trial for 12 months, of whom seven responded. The authors concluded that anakinra treatment was effective in the treatment of systemic-onset JIA, at least in the short term.

#### Non-randomized trials

A 5-year follow-up, single-centre, prospective study in the Netherlands (Kingdom of the) evaluated anakinra as first-line monotherapy in 42 patients (age range 3.9–11.8 years) with active systemic-onset JIA (23). The median time to achieve clinically inactive disease was 33 days. For children who had inactive disease at 3 months, anakinra was tapered and ultimately stopped. At 1 year, 76% of all the children had inactive disease, and 52% of the children who had stopped receiving medication earlier continued to have inactive disease. Factors positively associated with inactive disease at 1 year included high neutrophil count at baseline and complete response after 1 month of anakinra treatment. After 5 years of follow-up,

96% of all the patients had inactive disease, and 75% continued to have inactive disease while not receiving medication. Articular or extra-articular damage was reported in < 5% of patients and only 33% received glucocorticoids. Treatment with anakinra was equally effective in systemic-onset JIA patients without arthritis at disease onset. The authors concluded that "treatment to target" (where disease activity is accurately monitored and clinical remission is actively pursued by regular adjustment of therapy, starting with first-line, short-course monotherapy with anakinra) is a highly effective strategy to induce and sustain inactive disease and to prevent damage from the disease and glucocorticoids.

A single-centre retrospective study in Italy evaluated 25 patients with systemic-onset JIA treated with anakinra for at least 6 months (24). The median age at disease onset was 5.8 years and the median age at start of treatment was 7.3 years. Of note, 14 patients were receiving concomitant glucocorticoids, nine patients were receiving concomitant disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (methotrexate or ciclosporin) and six patients had previously received biological agents (etanercept, abatacept and infliximab). After 6 months of anakinra treatment, 14 (56%) patients had clinically inactive disease (defined as the absence or rash, fever and active arthritis), which was reached at a median of 2.1 months after the start of treatment. Clinically inactive disease was maintained in all 14 patients at median follow-up of 2.8 years. Nine patients were able to withdraw from anakinra and five continued with anakinra monotherapy. No cases of macrophage activation syndrome were observed during anakinra treatment. Demographic characteristics and clinical and laboratory features at baseline were also compared in responders and non-responders: no differences were observed in the number of active joints before starting anakinra or concomitant glucocorticoid treatment. The only variable significantly associated with response was the time from disease onset to receiving anakinra, with earlier treatment being associated with a better outcome.

An international multicentre series assessed the use of anakinra as firstline disease-modifying therapy in 46 children with systemic-onset JIA (25). Among the 46 children studied, 10 received anakinra monotherapy, 21 received anakinra plus corticosteroids, five received anakinra plus disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs and 10 received anakinra plus corticosteroids and diseasemodifying antirheumatic drugs. Outcomes were evaluated after a median followup of 14.5 months. Fever and rash resolved within 1 month in more than 95% of patients, while C-reactive protein and ferritin normalized within this time in more than 80% of patients. Active arthritis persisted in 39% of patients at 1 month, in 27% of patients at 3 months and in 11% of patients at more than 6 months of follow-up. Almost 60% of patients, including eight of 10 receiving anakinra monotherapy, attained a complete response without escalation of therapy. Disease characteristics and treatment were similar in partial and complete responders, except that partial responders were markedly younger at onset of the disease (median age 5.2 years versus 10.2 years, P = 0.004). Eleven episodes of macrophage activation syndrome (in nine patients) were observed, six episodes at presentation and five episodes after starting anakinra during the study. Anakinra effectively managed five out of the six cases of macrophage activation syndrome at presentation; increasing doses of anakinra and additional agents such as steroids and ciclosporin A were used to control these episodes.

A retrospective case series in the United States evaluated the effect of anakinra on disease activity and corticosteroid dose in 33 patients with systemiconset JIA (26). The median duration of systemic-onset JIA before treatment was 29 months and most patients had used more than one other medication before starting anakinra: prednisone (94%), methotrexate (76%), tumour necrosis factor inhibitors (61%), ciclosporin (36%) and cyclophosphamide (6%). Anakinra treatment was associated with a reduction in corticosteroid dosage and erythrocyte sedimentation rate and increases in haemoglobin and albumin, all indicators of response to therapy. Large joint arthritis counts decreased after 3–4 months but not small joint counts. More significant decreases in erythrocyte sedimentation rates from pre- to post-treatment (1–2 months) were seen in patients on high doses of anakinra than those on low doses, implying a dose– response effect. Fever and rash, present in seven cases before treatment, resolved in all cases. Eight patients had periods of arthritis, one developed macrophage activation syndrome and another Epstein–Barr virus infection.

A single-centre series in Germany reported on four patients who received anakinra as first-line therapy for systemic-onset JIA (*27*). The median age of the patients was 4.6 years (range 2.75–9.25 years). The mean follow-up time was 13.5 months (range 2–50 months). Anakinra was started at doses from 1.5 to 4 mg/kg for a median duration of 3 (range 3–18) months. Two patients responded to anakinra monotherapy and two cases required corticosteroids. Normalized body temperature and the absence of evanescent rashes were achieved after a median of 4 (range 2–10) days.

#### Macrophage activation syndrome in systemic-onset JIA

A single-centre study in Türkiye evaluated the use of anakinra to treat macrophage activation syndrome in 15 hospitalized paediatric patients, 13 with systemiconset JIA and two with other autoinflammatory diseases (28). Nineteen episodes of macrophage activation syndrome were observed in the 15 patients. Anakinra (2 mg/kg a day) was started within a median of 1 day of admission. Clinical symptoms resolved within a median (range) of 2 (1–4) days of the introduction of anakinra and laboratory findings normalized within a median of 6 (4–9) days. Corticosteroid treatment was stopped within a median of 10 (4–13) weeks of starting anakinra. Patients were followed for a median of 13 (6–24) months. Two patients developed recurrent macrophage activation syndrome episodes when the anakinra dose was reduced, while the other patients achieved remission. A retrospective case series in Canada reported on the use of anakinra in 12 children with macrophage activation syndrome related to paediatric rheumatic disease (eight due to systemic onset JIA) in whom treatment with corticosteroids and other immunosuppressants had provided only limited benefit (29). Five patients required intensive care. Anakinra 2 mg/kg/day was added to pre-existing therapy. All patients achieved remission of macrophage activation syndrome within a median of 13 (range 2–19) days. Corticosteroids were discontinued within 6 weeks for seven patients. Over a median follow-up of 22 (range 2–40) months, all patients remained in remission from macrophage activation syndrome at the final follow-up and had effective control of their underlying rheumatic disease.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

Adverse effects associated with anakinra include gastrointestinal disturbances (nausea, vomiting and diarrhoea), headache, abdominal pain, upper respiratory and urinary tract infections, and neutropenia (*30*).

In the multicentre, randomized trial of anakinra, 14 adverse events were reported in patients receiving anakinra in the double-blind phase, with injection pain being the most common adverse event, followed by post-injection erythema and infections. No serious adverse events were reported. During the open-label phase, 89 adverse events were reported, of which five were considered serious. The most common adverse events were infections, followed by injection pain and post-injection erythema. Six patients discontinued treatment: two due to adverse events; two due to lack of efficacy; and two due to a disease flare (22).

In the international multicentre series of anakinra as first-line treatment of systemic-onset JIA in 46 children, adverse events included injection site reactions (20 cases), serious infections (three cases), elevated liver enzymes (two cases), hepatitis (one case) and mild asymptomatic neutropenia (one case) (25).

In the single-centre case series in Germany that assessed the efficacy and safety of first-line anakinra treatment no reported treatment-related adverse reactions were observed other than local injection-site inflammation (27). Similarly, the Canadian case series on the effect of anakinra in 12 children with macrophage activation syndrome, no adverse effects were reported from anakinra administration (29).

A prospective, open-label, single-centre, clinical cohort study from the United States investigated the long-term safety of anakinra treatment for up to 5 years in 43 patients with cryopyrin-associated periodic syndromes (*31*). Safety was evaluated using adverse event reports, laboratory assessments, vital signs and diary reports. In total, 1233 adverse events were reported during the study, with a yearly rate of 7.7 adverse events per patient. The event rate decreased over time and dose escalation during the study did not affect the frequency of adverse events. Anakinra had similar safety profiles in adults and children. The most frequently reported adverse events were typical symptoms of cryopyrin-associated periodic

syndrome such as headache and arthralgia. Injection site reactions occurred mainly during the first month of treatment. A total of 24 serious adverse events were reported in 14 patients, which all resolved during the study period. The most commonly reported serious adverse events were infections (pneumonia and gastroenteritis). Other serious adverse events included post-lumbar puncture headaches and one episode of macrophage activation syndrome triggered by infection (which was alleviated with temporary corticosteroid therapy). No permanent treatment discontinuation occurred due to adverse events.

# WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for the treatment of systemic-onset JIA and macrophage activation syndrome in systemic-onset JIA are not currently available.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

No comparative cost-effectiveness studies of anakinra for the treatment of macrophage activation syndrome in systemic-onset JIA were identified in the application.

The application described the unit cost of anakinra 100 mg subcutaneous injection as Aus\$53.00 in Australia, Can\$41.10 in Canada, £26.23 in the United Kingdom and US\$142.50 in the United States. Corresponding annual drug treatment costs for a 50 kg child would be Aus\$19 345–38 690, Can\$15 001–60 006, £9574–38 296 and US\$52 013–208 050.

# Availability

Anakinra has regulatory approval as a treatment for systemic-onset JIA in Australia, Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Canada, Cyprus, Czechia, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Netherlands (Kingdom of the), Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovenia, Slovakia, Spain, Sweden, United Kingdom and the United States of America.

Anakinra does not yet have regulatory approval as a treatment for macrophage activation syndrome.

Anakinra is not widely available globally and there are reports of recent supply issues stemming from its use in clinical trials for the treatment of complications related to COVID-19 that are similar to macrophage activation syndrome (cytokine storm).

# Other considerations

# Diagnosis, monitoring and use

The diagnosis of macrophage activation syndrome in systemic-onset JIA is based on defined criteria (*18*) validated in clinical practice (*32*,*33*). Macrophage activation

syndrome is a life-threatening cytokine storm (34), often triggered by infection, which is of particular concern in resource-constrained settings, where access to specialist paediatric rheumatologists, multidisciplinary teams and treatments are challenges. Such inequity further contributes to the burden of disease and long-term disability (35). The diagnosis of macrophage activation syndrome, evaluation of its severity and monitoring of response to treatment are assessed using blood markers of inflammation (C-reactive protein and full blood counts) as well as specific markers of macrophage activation syndrome (ferritin, triglycerides, liver function tests and clotting profiles) (32,33). Monitoring of anakinra treatment follows the routine monitoring of systemic-onset JIA in acute disease flare-up, concomitant infection or where macrophage activation syndrome is suspected (32,33).

Use of anakinra in acute macrophage activation syndrome in systemiconset JIA is limited to highly specialized care in tertiary facilities. Its use in systemic-onset JIA outside of the hospital setting requires specialized training of caregivers and adequate storage conditions. The medication must be stored in cold temperatures (2–8 °C), and parents and caregivers need training in administration and to have suitable cold storage facilities available.

#### Tuberculosis risk

Awareness of the risk of tuberculosis in patients with JIA receiving treatment with anakinra or other biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs is of particular importance in resource-constrained settings with high rates of tuberculosis (35). Patients starting immunosuppressive treatments should undergo tuberculosis testing, although this might not be feasible during acute presentations of macrophage activation syndrome. The American College of Rheumatology suggests that low-risk children with negative initial tuberculosis screening should be retested if their tuberculosis risk changes (36). It is also recommended that patients with JIA with a positive tuberculosis test receive appropriate prophylaxis for tuberculosis (as per current national and/or international guidelines): at the start of biological therapy; during biological therapy; when a previously negative purified protein derivative test converts to positive at the mandatory annual tuberculosis screening; and if the patient has a new exposure to tuberculosis (35).

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged that macrophage activation syndrome was a rare and potentially life-threatening uncontrolled cytokine storm that occurred in up to one third of patients with systemic-onset JIA, and that it was associated with a fatality rate of over 20%. The Committee noted that early detection and treatment of systemic-onset JIA was essential to improve clinical outcomes and reduce the risk of macrophage activation syndrome. The Committee noted that, as was the case in 2021, the clinical evidence for the benefit of anakinra in both systemic-onset JIA and macrophage activation syndrome in systemic-onset JIA was limited and derived primarily from small uncontrolled studies and case series, with only one small short-term randomized trial identified in the narrative review provided with the application. The Committee also noted that anakinra did not have regulatory approval for the requested indication from national regulatory authorities and had only a weak recommendation suggesting its use in the 2013 JIA guidelines of the American College of Rheumatology.

The Committee also noted that safety data for anakinra were still limited and concerns remained about the safe use of the medicine, particularly in settings with high rates of infection, especially for tuberculosis. The Committee acknowledged that anakinra for the treatment of macrophage activation syndrome should be only used in specialized tertiary care facilities by appropriately trained clinical personnel, and noted the limited availability of specialist paediatric rheumatologists in resource-limited settings. The high price and limited availability of anakinra in low- and middle-income countries was also a concern.

Therefore, the Expert Committee did not recommend the inclusion of anakinra for treatment of systemic-onset JIA with macrophage activation syndrome. As was the case when anakinra was considered for this indication in 2021, the Expert Committee considered that the clinical benefits and safety of this medicine (including risk of infection) remained uncertain based on the limited available evidence. The Committee also considered that the feasibility of use of anakinra, particularly in resource-constrained settings, was unlikely unfeasible given the current high price, limited availability, and requirements for specialized care, monitoring and management of adverse events.

# References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351172, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Harris JG, Kessler EA, Verbsky JW. Update on the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep. 2013;13(4):337–46.
- Dave M, Rankin J, Pearce M, Foster HE. Global prevalence estimates of three chronic musculoskeletal conditions: club foot, juvenile idiopathic arthritis and juvenile systemic lupus erythematosus. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2020;18(1):49.
- 4. Petty R, Southwood T, Baum J, Bhettay E, Glass D, Manners P. Revision of the proposed classification criteria for juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 1997;1998;25(10):1991–4.
- 5. Giancane G, Consolaro A, Lanni S, Davì S, Schiappapietra B, Ravelli A. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis: diagnosis and treatment. Rheumatol Ther. 2016;3(2):187–207.

6. Ravelli A, Martini A. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Lancet. 2007;369(9563):767–78.

- Consolaro A, Giancane G, Alongi A, van Dijkhuizen EHP, Aggarwal A, Al-Mayouf SM, et al. Phenotypic variability and disparities in treatment and outcomes of childhood arthritis throughout the world: an observational cohort study. Lancet Child Adolesc Health. 2019;3(4):255–63.
- 8. Gutiérrez-Suárez R, Pistorio A, Cespedes Cruz A, Norambuena X, Flato B, Rumba I. Health-related quality of life of patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis coming from 3 different geographic areas. The PRINTO multinational quality of life cohort study. Rheumatology. 2006;46(2):314–20.
- 9. Oen K, Guzman J, Dufault B, Tucker LB, Shiff NJ, Duffy KW. Health-related quality of life in an inception cohort of children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a longitudinal analysis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2018;70(1):134–44.
- 10. Foster HE, Marshall N, Myers A, Dunkley P, Griffiths ID. Outcome in adults with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a quality of life study. Arthritis Rheum. 2003;48(3):767–75.
- 11. Chausset A, Pereira B, Echaubard S, Merlin E, Freychet C. Access to paediatric rheumatology care in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: what do we know? A systematic review. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2020;59(12):3633–44.
- 12. Harper BD, Waceke Nganga RA, Forsyth KD, Ham HP, Keenan WJ, Russ CM. Where are the paediatricians? An international survey to understand the global paediatric workforce. BMJ Paediatr Open. 2019;3(1).
- 13. Katsicas MM, Russo RAG. Systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2020.
- 14. De Benedetti F, Schneider R. Systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. In: Petty RE, Laxer RM, Lindsley CB, Wedderburn LR, editors. Textbook of pediatric rheumatology. Seventh edition. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2016:205–16.
- Behrens EM, Beukelman T, Gallo L, Spangler J, Rosenkranz M, Arkachaisri T, et al. Evaluation of the presentation of systemic onset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: data from the Pennsylvania Systemic Onset Juvenile Arthritis Registry (PASOJAR). J Rheumatol. 2008;35(2):343–8.
- 16. Berntson L, Andersson Gäre B, Fasth A, Herlin T, Kristinsson J, Lahdenne P, et al. Incidence of juvenile idiopathic arthritis in the Nordic countries. A population based study with special reference to the validity of the ILAR and EULAR criteria. J Rheumatol. 2003;30(10):2275–82.
- 17. Dewoolkar M, Cimaz R, Chickermane PR, Khubchandani RP. Course, outcome and complications in children with systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Indian J Pediatr. 2017;84(4):294–8.
- 18. Ravelli A, Grom AA, Behrens EM, Cron RQ. Macrophage activation syndrome as part of systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: diagnosis, genetics, pathophysiology and treatment. Genes Immun. 2012;13(4):289–98.
- 19. Davies R, Southwood T, Kearsley-Fleet L, Lunt M, Baildam E, Beresford MW, et al. Mortality rates are increased in patients with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arch Dis Child. 2017;102(2):206–7.
- 20. Cakan M, Karadag SG, Tanatar A, Ayaz NA. The frequency of macrophage activation syndrome and disease course in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Mod Rheumatol. 2020;30(5):900–4.
- 21. Lerkvaleekul B, Vilaiyuk S. Macrophage activation syndrome: early diagnosis is key. Open Access Rheumatol. 2018;10:117–28.
- 22. Quartier P, Allantaz F, Cimaz R, Pillet P, Messiaen C, Bardin C, et al. A multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial with the interleukin-1 receptor antagonist anakinra in patients with systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis (ANAJIS trial). Ann Rheum Dis. 2011;70(5):747–54.

674

- Ter Haar NM, van Dijkhuizen EHP, Swart JF, van Royen-Kerkhof A, El Idrissi A, Leek AP, et al. Treatment to target using recombinant interleukin-1 receptor antagonist as first-line monotherapy in newonset systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: results from a five-year follow-up study. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2019;71(7):1163–73.
- 24. Pardeo M, Pires Marafon D, Insalaco A, Bracaglia C, Nicolai R, Messia V, et al. Anakinra in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a single-center experience. J Rheumatol. 2015;42(8):1523–7.
- 25. Nigrovic PA, Mannion M, Prince FH, Zeft A, Rabinovich CE, van Rossum MA, et al. Anakinra as firstline disease-modifying therapy in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: report of forty-six patients from an international multicenter series. Arthritis Rheum. 2011;63(2):545–55.
- 26. Zeft A, Hollister R, LaFleur B, Sampath P, Soep J, McNally B, et al. Anakinra for systemic juvenile arthritis: the Rocky Mountain experience. J Clin Rheumatol. 2009;15(4):161–4.
- 27. Hedrich CM, Bruck N, Fiebig B, Gahr M. Anakinra: a safe and effective first-line treatment in systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis (SoJIA). Rheumatol Int. 2012;32(11):3525–30.
- Sönmez HE, Demir S, Bilginer Y, Özen S. Anakinra treatment in macrophage activation syndrome: a single center experience and systemic review of literature. Clin Rheumatol. 2018;37(12):3329–35.
- 29. Miettunen PM, Narendran A, Jayanthan A, Behrens EM, Cron RQ. Successful treatment of severe paediatric rheumatic disease-associated macrophage activation syndrome with interleukin-1 inhibition following conventional immunosuppressive therapy: case series with 12 patients. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2011;50(2):417–9.
- Zaripova LN, Midgley A, Christmas SE, Beresford MW, Baildam EM, Oldershaw RA. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis: from aetiopathogenesis to therapeutic approaches. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2021;19(1):135.
- Kullenberg T, Löfqvist M, Leinonen M, Goldbach-Mansky R, Olivecrona H. Long-term safety profile of anakinra in patients with severe cryopyrin-associated periodic syndromes. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2016;55(8):1499–506.
- Minoia F, Bovis F, Davi S, Horne A, Fischbach M, Frosch M. Development and initial validation of the MS score for diagnosis of macrophage activation syndrome in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2019;78(10):1357–62.
- Shimizu M, Mizuta M, Yasumi T, Iwata N, Okura Y, Kinjo N, et al. Validation of classification criteria of macrophage activation syndrome in Japanese patients with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2018;70(9):1412–5.
- Boom V, Anton J, Lahdenne P, Quartier P, Ravelli A, Wulffraat NM. Evidence-based diagnosis and treatment of macrophage activation syndrome in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2015;13:55.
- Scott C, Chan M, Slamang W, Okong'o L, Petty R, Laxer RM, et al. Juvenile arthritis management in less resourced countries (JAMLess): consensus recommendations from the Cradle of Humankind. Clin Rheumatol. 2019;38(2):563–75.
- 36. Ringold S, Weiss PF, Beukelman T, DeWitt EM, Ilowite NT, Kimura Y, et al. 2013 update of the 2011 American College of Rheumatology recommendations for the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: recommendations for the medical therapy of children with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis and tuberculosis screening among children receiving biologic medications. Arthritis Rheum. 2013;65(10):2499–512.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

Tocilizumab – addition – EML and EMLc

## Tocilizumab

ATC code: L04AC07

## Proposal

Addition of tocilizumab to the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA).

## Applicant

Paediatric Global Musculoskeletal Task Force

## WHO technical department

Not applicable

# EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

29.3 Juvenile joint diseases

# Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Injection (subcutaneous): 162 mg/0.9 mL in prefilled syringe

Injection (intravenous): 80 mg/4 mL in 4 mL vial, 200 mg/10 mL in 10 mL vial, 400 mg/20 mL in 20 mL vial

## Core/complementary

Complementary

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

An application requesting the inclusion of tocilizumab, a monoclonal antibody against the interleukin-6 receptor, for the treatment of children with systemiconset JIA was evaluated by the Expert Committee in 2021. Listing was not recommended at that time because of uncertainties about the estimated clinical benefits, as well as concerns about accessibility and affordability in different settings, given the high costs of the medicine.

The Committee acknowledged that management of systemic-onset JIA with disease-modifying therapy had the potential to minimize the severe sideeffects of corticosteroids and noted that antitumour necrosis factor medicines were included on the Model Lists for JIA in 2019. The Committee noted that while antitumour necrosis factor medicines have proven efficacy in many subtypes of JIA, they may be less effective for patients with systemic-onset disease, and that antiinterleukin-6 receptor monoclonal antibodies such as tocilizumab are preferred as the first-line option in some guidance documents. However, the Committee considered that the comparative benefit of tocilizumab virus antitumour necrosis factor agents was uncertain because of the low quality of the evidence presented in the application. The Committee also noted that the evidence from the randomized trials presented in the application supported tocilizumab as an effective treatment for systemic-onset JIA, but that all this evidence came from trials and studies conducted in well resourced settings, and that the generalizability of the findings to resource-constrained settings was uncertain.

The Committee acknowledged the multiple disease-modifying therapies being used in clinical practice for systemic-onset JIA and requested that a comprehensive evaluation of all medicines used to treat this disease be undertaken for future consideration (1).

## Public health relevance

JIA is the most common chronic rheumatic disease in children, with a prevalence of about 1 in 1000 children (2). In 2017, more than 2 million children younger than 16 years worldwide were estimated to have JIA, with the highest prevalence in south Asia and Africa (3). The disease is characterized by joint inflammation lasting more than 6 weeks, onset before the age of 16 years and no other identifiable cause (4-6).

Untreated disease can have severe consequences, including pain, fatigue, joint damage, functional disability and impaired quality of life. JIA can also lead to anaemia, poor growth, delayed puberty and complications such as uveitis, which can cause blindness if not detected and treated (5-7). The impact of untreated JIA extends to difficulties in walking, performing daily activities and educational participation, which can result in psychosocial challenges, mental health problems and higher unemployment rates compared with healthy peers (8-10).

Access to proper care for children with JIA is a major challenge, particularly in resource-constrained settings (11). The shortage of paediatricians, especially in Asia and Africa, contributes to limited access to specialist care and treatment for many children with JIA, resulting in worse clinical outcomes in these regions (7,12)

Systemic-onset JIAs is the rarest subtype of the disease. It is characterized by arthritis, fever, rash and systemic inflammation, and is considered an autoinflammatory syndrome (13,14). The age at onset is typically 1–5 years (15)and it imposes a significant disease burden as patients usually require treatment for months to years after the onset of symptoms, as well as close monitoring for complications or flare-ups of disease. Systemic-onset JIA is reported to account The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

for 4–9% of JIA cases in European countries – a population-based study in five Nordic countries reported an incidence of 0.6 per 100 000 children per year (16). Systemic-onset JIA is more common in other geographical settings, representing up to 25% and 50% of JIA cases in India and Japan, respectively (14). Uncontrolled inflammation in systemic-onset JIA carries a significant risk of high morbidity and potential mortality from macrophage activation syndrome, an uncontrolled cytokine storm (14,17,18). A study in the United Kingdom found higher mortality rates in people with systemic-onset JIA compared with people with other forms of JIA (19).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

The following data were also reported in the 2021 application for tocilizumab for systemic-onset JIA.

#### Systematic reviews and meta-analyses

A 2016 systematic review and meta-analysis of five placebo-controlled randomized trials (one each for anakinra, canakinumab and tocilizumab, two for rilonacept; 458 participants) aimed to define the optimal biological agent for systemic-onset JIA based on safety and efficacy data (*20*). The primary efficacy outcome was a 30% improvement from baseline according to the modified American College of Rheumatology Paediatric 30 response criteria (ACR Pedi 30). Outcomes were analysed by pairwise and network meta-analyses. While all treatments were more effective than placebo, there was low-quality evidence from the network meta-analysis that patients treated with rilonacept were less likely to respond than those treated with canakinumab (odds ratio (OR) 0.10, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.02 to 0.38) or tocilizumab (OR 0.12, 95% CI 0.03 to 0.44).

A 2020 meta-analysis of 19 randomized controlled trials (11 parallel trials (754 participants) and eight withdrawal trials (704 participants)) assessed the net benefit of biological agents used in JIA (abatacept, adalimumab, anakinra, canakinumab, etanercept, infliximab, rilonacept and tocilizumab) (*21*). The efficacy outcome was ACR Pedi 30 and the safety outcome was serious adverse events. Net benefit was determined by subtracting the risk difference of safety from the risk difference of efficacy. In systemic-onset JIA, the net benefit was 22.8% for rilonacept, 54.5% for tocilizumab and 70.3% for canakinumab in parallel trials, and 32.3% for canakinumab and 58.2% for tocilizumab in withdrawal trials.

A 2017 systematic review of 25 randomized and non-randomized studies (more than 4000 participants) evaluated the efficacy of different biological therapies in JIA subtypes, including in people with systemic-onset JIA (n = 1185) (22). Over 12 weeks, systemic-onset JIA was less responsive to etanercept (ACR30 58% to 78%) compared with tocilizumab (ACR30 85%). Longer-term responses over 12 months were similar for the two treatments (ACR30 83% to 100% for etanercept versus 87% to 98% for tocilizumab).

#### Individual randomized trials comparing tocilizumab to placebo

A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, withdrawal phase III trial evaluated the efficacy and safety of tocilizumab in 56 children aged 2-19 years with systemic-onset JIA not responding to disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs and biological agents (23). After an initial open-label lead-in phase where all participants were given tocilizumab (three intravenously administered doses of 8 mg/kg every 2 weeks), ACR Pedi 30, 50 and 70 responses were achieved by 51 (91%), 48 (86%) and 38 (68%) of patients, respectively. Thereafter, 43 participants who had achieved both an ACR Pedi 30 response and C-reactive protein concentrations of less than 5 mg/L were randomized to receive tocilizumab or placebo in a double-blind phase for 12 weeks (administration of placebo or tocilizumab 8 mg/kg every 2 weeks). Patients who remained on tocilizumab in the double-blind phase had sustained improvement in clinical measures of effectiveness and well-being. In contrast, most of the patients in the placebo group (18/23 patients) required rescue treatment. After the lead-in and doubleblind phases, corticosteroid doses were reduced by at least 50% in most patients. Patients responding to tocilizumab and needing further treatment were then enrolled in an open-label extension phase for at least 48 weeks. By week 48 of the open-label extension phase, ACR Pedi 30, 50 and 70 responses were achieved by 47 (98%), 45 (94%) and 43 (90%) of 48 patients, respectively (24).

A multicentre, randomized phase III trial evaluated the efficacy of tocilizumab compared with placebo in 112 children aged 2–17 years with persistent systemic-onset JIA of at least 6 months and inadequate response to non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and glucocorticoids (25). Patients were randomized in a 2:1 ratio to either tocilizumab (12 mg/kg if weighing < 30 kg or 8 mg/kg if weighing  $\geq$  30 kg) or placebo intravenously every 2 weeks for 12 weeks. After 12 weeks, the primary endpoint of ACR Pedi 30 response and absence of fever was met by 85% (64/75) in the tocilizumab group and 24% (9/37) in the placebo group (P < 0.001). In this study, 84% of the patients in the treatment group had previously received a biological agent, including 55% who had received interleukin-1 inhibitors and 73% who had received antitumour necrosis factor agents. At week 52, ACR Pedi 70 response was achieved by 80% of the patients who received tocilizumab, including 59% who achieved ACR Pedi 90. After 52 weeks, 48% of patients treated with tocilizumab had no joints with active arthritis and 52% had discontinued oral glucocorticoids.

#### Registry and retrospective studies

A German study evaluated the efficacy and safety of treatment with etanercept, tocilizumab, and the interleukin-1 inhibitors anakinra and canakinumab in systemic-onset JIA patients using data from the German biologics register (26). Over a 5-year period, 245 patients with systemic-onset JIA exposed to biological

agents were identified: 143, 71 and 60 patients received treatment with etanercept, tocilizumab and interleukin-1 inhibitors, respectively. At baseline, patients in the etanercept group had fewer systemic disease manifestations but more active joints. JIA-ACR 30, 50, 70 and 90 responses over 24 months were reached more often in the groups receiving tocilizumab and interleukin-1 inhibitor than the etanercept group. A Juvenile Disease Activity Score  $\leq 1$  (JADAS-remission) was achieved in 20% (etanercept), 37% (tocilizumab) and 52% (interleukin-1 inhibitors) of patients. Minimal disease activity (JADAS  $\leq 3.8$ ) was reported in 35% (etanercept), 61% (tocilizumab) and 68% (interleukin-1 inhibitors) of patients, and inactive disease in 24% (etanercept), 33% (tocilizumab) and 56% (interleukin-1 inhibitors).

Another German study evaluated the clinical response rate, disease course and adverse effects of tocilizumab for systemic-onset JIA in a real-life clinical setting using data from the German-AID-registry (*27*). Over a 5-year period, 46 of 200 patients with systemic-onset JIA were treated with tocilizumab. A clinical response rate (defined as no symptoms and typical inflammatory markers) of 35% was reported in the first 12 weeks of treatment, and inactive disease/remission on medication (as defined in the Wallace criteria (*28*)) was reported in 75% of patients after 1 year.

A French retrospective study using data from the Centre des Maladies Rares register: analysed the effectiveness of biological agents in achieving inactive disease or clinical remission in patients with systemic-onset JIA; described the effects of switching or discontinuing a biological agent; and assessed the proportion of patients able to maintain response without corticosteroids after withdrawing biological therapy (29). Seventy-seven patients were included with a cumulative follow-up of 245.5 patient-years. As first-line biological therapy, inactive disease was achieved in 37 patients (48%), including 33/61 (54%) patients receiving interleukin-1 inhibitors, 2/2 (100%) patients receiving tocilizumab, 1/1 (100%) patient receiving abatacept and 1/13 (8%) patients receiving antitumour necrosis factors. Switching to a second (n = 34), third (n = 18) or fourth (n = 4) line of biological treatment resulted in a further 13 patients achieving inactive disease, six with canakinumab and seven with tocilizumab. At the final follow-up, 40/77 (52%) patients were in clinical remission either on (29 patients) or off (11 patients) biological treatment.

## Summary of evidence: harms

In the 2016 meta-analysis of biological medicines versus placebo in systemiconset JIA (20), adverse events were infrequent and likely due to the short duration of follow-up in the analysed studies. While no significant difference in serious adverse effects was found between the medications, the overall quality of evidence was considered very low. Adverse events were more common with tocilizumab than placebo or canakinumab. However, a posthoc analysis of adverse events (measured as the total number of events per total patient-days) indicated that tocilizumab did not differ significantly from placebo. Both tocilizumab and canakinumab were associated with a statistically significant increased risk of infections compared with placebo, although this significance was not maintained when evaluating events per total patient days.

In the 2020 meta-analysis which assessed the net benefit of biological agents used in JIA (*21*), significantly more serious adverse events occurred with biological medicines compared with control groups in the parallel trials (pooled OR 2.00, 95% CI 0.94 to 4.26), including for tocilizumab (OR 4.62, 95% CI 0.56 to 38.36). In the withdrawal trials, both pooled results (OR 1.01, 95% CI 0.45 to 2.24) and results for tocilizumab (OR 1.03, 95% CI 0.25 to 4.19) did not show a significant difference.

A postmarketing surveillance study in Japan evaluated the safety of tocilizumab in 417 patients with systemic-onset JIA treated in a real-world setting for 52 weeks (24). The rates of total adverse events and serious adverse events were 224.3/100 patient-years and 54.5/100 patient-years, respectively, which were higher than previously reported in clinical trials. Adverse events leading to the discontinuation of tocilizumab occurred in 4% (17/417) of patients. The most frequent adverse events were infections and infestations (69.8/100 patient-years and 18.2/100 patient-years, respectively). Notably, 74 serious infections occurred in 55 patients (18.2/100 patient-years) and 26 cases of macrophage activation syndrome occurred in 24 patients (6.4/100 patient-years). Two deaths were recorded during the 52-week period: one due to vasculitis with cardiac failure, and the other to Pseudomonas infection, interstitial lung disease and sepsis. Of the seven episodes of macrophage activation syndrome, infections were contributing factors, and in two cases, a reduced dose of corticosteroids was deemed contributory to the events.

In the double-blind phase of the phase III trial in children with persistent systemic-onset JIA following inadequate response to non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs and glucocorticoids (25), the most common adverse events were infections, occurring in 80% (60/75; two classified as severe) of patients in the tocilizumab group compared with 41% (15/37; none severe) of patients in the placebo group. In the double-blind and extension periods combined, including patients initially assigned to placebo who made the transition to open-label tocilizumab, 39 serious adverse events occurred (equivalent to 25 per 100 patient-years), including 18 serious infections (11 per 100 patient-years). Adverse events led to discontinuation of tocilizumab in six patients (for two because of elevated aminotransferase levels). Three episodes of macrophage activation syndrome occurred, all of which resolved. Three deaths occurred during treatment, including one from probable streptococcal sepsis. Neutropenia was reported in 17% (19/112) of patients, of whom 17 had grade 3 and two had grade 4 neutropenia.

From the German study that evaluated the efficacy and safety of treatment with etanercept, tocilizumab, anakinra and canakinumab in systemic-onset JIA patients using data from the German biologics register (26), rates of adverse events were significantly higher in the tocilizumab group than the etanercept group (risk ratio (RR) 5.3, P < 0.0001). Rates of serious adverse events were observed more frequently with tocilizumab (RR 2.5, P < 0.5) and interleukin-1 inhibitors (RR 2.9, P < 0.01) compared with etanercept.

Long-term safety of biological medicines for systemic-onset JIA was reported in another study using data from the German biologics register (30). The average follow-up duration was about 4.3 years, with a total exposure time to biological medicines of 856 exposure years and 244 exposure years for tocilizumab specifically. Safety assessments were based on adverse event reports after the first dose up to 90 days after the last dose. Rates of adverse events, serious adverse events and 25 predefined adverse events of special interest were analysed. Incidence rates were compared for each biological medicine against all other biological medicine combined using a mixed-effect Poisson model. Serious adverse events were reported with higher frequency in patients receiving canakinumab (20/100 patient-years) and tocilizumab (21/100 patient-years). Cytopenia and hepatic events occurred with higher frequency with tocilizumab and canakinumab. Medically important infections were seen more often in patients using interleukin-6 or interleukin-1 inhibitors. Macrophage activation syndrome occurred in all cohorts with a higher frequency in patients using canakinumab (3.2/100 patient-years) and tocilizumab (2.5/100 patient-years) compared with anakinra (0.83/100 patient-years) and etanercept (0.5/100 patient-years). Among the patients, 96 had received more than one biological agent. After adjustment for a number of factors (e.g. concomitant use of methotrexate and steroids, presence of systemic signs and disease duration), only an elevated risk for infections in patients treated with anakinra remained significant. Three definite malignancies were reported in patients exposed to biological agents. Two deaths occurred in patients treated with etanercept. The authors observed changes in preferred biological agents, with a shift toward tocilizumab, anakinra and canakinumab after 2013. Patients treated with tocilizumab and systemic corticosteroids had significantly higher rates of adverse events and serious adverse events compared with those treated with tocilizumab alone (127.5/100 exposure years versus 79.4/100 exposure years for adverse events, P = 0.002; and 28.4/100 exposure years versus 15.6/100 exposure years for serious adverse events, P = 0.019). Adverse events included 93 infectious events in 37 patients treated with tocilizumab (38/100 exposure years; RR 1.4, 95% CI 0.97 to 2.00). Cytopenia was reported in 22 cases, with higher rates in patients given tocilizumab (6.2/100 exposure years;

RR 5.37, 95% CI 2.19 to 13.17). However, the difference in cytopenia rates did not remain significant after adjusting for a number of factors (e.g. concomitant use of methotrexate and steroids, presence of systemic signs and disease duration).

In the German study that evaluated tocilizumab for systemic-onset JIA in a real-life clinical setting using data from the German-AID-registry (27), adverse events were reported in 24% (11/46) of patients, with severe adverse events in 4% (2/46) of patients (a case of Hodgkin lymphoma and one of gut perforation). No cases of macrophage activation syndrome or death were reported. Discontinuation of treatment due to adverse events was reported in 11% (5/46) of patients (three with neutropenia and two with serious adverse event).

A pilot observational study compared consensus treatment plans provided by the Childhood Arthritis and Rheumatology Research Alliance in 30 newly diagnosed patients with systemic-onset JIA (*31*). Ten participants received tocilizumab. One grade 4 infusion reaction and one case of macrophage activation syndrome occurred with tocilizumab treatment. Grade 2 adverse events reported in tocilizumab treated patients included fever, rash, arthritis flare-up, headache, neutropenia, viral illness and infusion reaction.

The application stated that children treated with tocilizumab (or any biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drug) must have access to a paediatric rheumatologist for ongoing monitoring during treatment and for urgent review should they develop complications such as infection. This is of particular importance in resource-constrained countries where up to 50% of deaths in children 5–15 years is due to infection. The trials and studies listed above all were conducted in well resourced countries. Local factors (e.g. availability of specialist services such as doctors, nurses, urgent review and access to intravenous antibiotics), as well as patient factors (e.g. health literacy rates, distance and transport to hospital, comorbid conditions, poverty and malnutrition) may significantly affect the mitigation of adverse events in resource-constrained settings.

# WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines for the treatment of systemic-onset JIA are not currently available.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

The application reported that in the United Kingdom, intravenous tocilizumab costs £102.40, £256.00 and £512.00 per vial for 80 mg, 200 mg and 400 mg vials, respectively, and subcutaneous tocilizumab costs £228.28 per 162 mg/0.9 mL prefilled pen/syringe. The manufacturer offers a confidential patient access scheme within the National Health Service that provides a discount. In Australia, the dispensed price under the Pharmaceutical Benefit Scheme for intravenous tocilizumab was reported as 82 Australian dollars (Aus\$), Aus\$ 203 and Aus\$ 405 per vial for 80 mg, 200 mg and 400 mg, respectively.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

A Canadian cost-utility analysis evaluated the cost-effectiveness of tocilizumab with or without methotrexate compared with placebo plus methotrexate in the treatment of systemic-onset JIA (*32*). The base-case analysis focused on direct medical costs (in 2011 Canadian dollars (Can\$)) from the perspective of the Canadian Ministry of Health. The incremental cost-utility ratio for tocilizumab with or without methotrexate was Can\$ 69 787 per additional quality-adjusted life year (QALY) gained compared with placebo plus methotrexate. Tocilizumab treatment was the dominant treatment strategy from a societal perspective.

A Finnish study compared cost-effectiveness of tocilizumab with methotrexate and anakinra (33). The incremental cost per additional QALY gained for treatment with tocilizumab was  $\in$ 15 181 compared with methotrexate and  $\in$ 14 496 compared with anakinra. Based on a willingness-to-pay threshold of  $\in$ 20 000 per QALY gained, tocilizumab had a 93% probability of being cost-effective compared with methotrexate and 88% compared with anakinra. This probability increased to 100% with a willingness-to-pay threshold of  $\in$ 27 000 per QALY.

A cost-utility analysis in Thailand assessed the effect of the addition of tocilizumab to standard treatment in patients with refractory systemic-onset JIA (*34*). The incremental cost-effectiveness ratio of standard treatment plus tocilizumab was US\$ 35 799 per QALY gained compared with standard treatment alone. The study was based on cases of refractory disease in 43 patients treated in seven tertiary hospitals in Thailand. The patients in the study had a long duration of disease and a greater overall severity.

A pharmacoeconomic study evaluated the cost-efficiency of treatment with tocilizumab versus standard treatment with methotrexate and prednisolone in Russian patients with systemic-onset JIA (*35*). The cost–effectiveness in terms of ACR 90 and 70 was 4.4 million and 3.0 million Russian roubles (Rub), respectively, in the standard treatment group, and Rub 1.2 million and Rub 615 000, respectively, in the tocilizumab group. Pharmacotherapy was responsible for more than half of the costs in the tocilizumab group, but hospitalization costs were 12 times lower than in the standard treatment group. Annual state budget losses due to the social burden of systemic-onset JIA were almost double in the standard treatment group compared with the tocilizumab group (Rub 426 000 versus Rub 227 000).

## Availability

Tocilizumab has regulatory approval for the treatment of systemic-onset JIA from various global regulatory agencies. The intravenous form is indicated for children aged 2 years and older, while the subcutaneous form is approved for children aged 1 year and older, weighing at least 10 kg.

Recent reports indicate supply issues and shortages in some countries, mainly due to the use of tocilizumab as a novel treatment for COVID-19 and its use in clinical trials for the disease.

## Other considerations

Tocilizumab in the treatment of systemic-onset JIA should only be used by appropriately trained and experienced clinical personnel. In addition, families need to be educated on the potential side-effects of and safety concerns about tocilizumab and know when to seek health care. These principles are based on recommendations and standards of care for JIA (*36,37*).

Intravenous tocilizumab requires specialized facilities and trained staff, including a hospital bed or clinic, cannulation equipment and expert personnel. Some patients require premedication to prevent infusion reactions, which is influenced by factors such as age, height, weight and disease activity (*38*). Travel distance to the hospital and transport availability can affect attendance for treatment for the child. Regular follow-up is required for children on tocilizumab to assess treatment response and potential adverse events.

Before starting tocilizumab treatment, all patients should be tested for tuberculosis due to a risk of tuberculosis reactivation. The American College of Rheumatology advises that children initially deemed at low tuberculosis risk, with a negative test, have repeated screenings if their tuberculosis risk becomes moderate or high according to regional infectious disease guidelines (39). Understanding tuberculosis risk in patients on tocilizumab and other biological disease-modifying antirheumatic medications is particularly important in resource-constrained settings with high tuberculosis rates (40).

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged that systemic-onset JIA was associated with serious morbidity in children and associated with greater morbidity than other subtypes of the disease. The Committee also noted the severe and potentially fatal complication of macrophage activation syndrome had a high mortality rate in this population.

The Committee recognized that early introduction of disease modifying antirheumatic agents such as tocilizumab was proposed as safe and effective to avoid joint destruction, control systemic-onset JIA, improve quality of life and minimize long-term corticosteroid use, aiming at better physical and psychosocial function.

However, as was the case in 2021, the Committee noted that only a small number of clinical studies provided comparative evidence of efficacy and safety for tocilizumab versus the antitumour necrosis factor medicines currently included on the Model List for JIA. Furthermore, the quality of evidence in these studies was rated as low or very low, and none was conducted in resource-constrained settings. The Committee acknowledged that tocilizumab should only be used in specialized care facilities and by appropriately trained clinical personnel. Its safe and effective use also required careful monitoring for adverse effects, such as infections, and tuberculosis risks and this may not be available in resourceconstrained settings. The limited availability of tocilizumab in low- and middleincome countries was also a matter of concern.

Therefore, the Expert Committee did not recommend the inclusion of tocilizumab for treatment of systemic-onset JIA on the Model Lists. As was the case when these medicines were considered in 2021, the Expert Committee considered that the clinical benefits and safety of these medicines (including risk of infection) remained uncertain based on the limited available evidence. The Committee also considered that the feasibility of tocilizumab, particularly in resource-constrained settings, was unlikely given the current high price and requirements for specialized care, monitoring and management of adverse events.

#### References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351172, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 2. Harris JG, Kessler EA, Verbsky JW. Update on the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep. 2013;13(4):337–46.
- Dave M, Rankin J, Pearce M, Foster HE. Global prevalence estimates of three chronic musculoskeletal conditions: club foot, juvenile idiopathic arthritis and juvenile systemic lupus erythematosus. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2020;18(1):49.
- 4. Petty R, Southwood T, Baum J, Bhettay E, Glass D, Manners P. Revision of the proposed classification criteria for juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 1997;1998;25(10):1991–4.
- 5. Giancane G, Consolaro A, Lanni S, Davì S, Schiappapietra B, Ravelli A. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis: diagnosis and treatment. Rheumatol Ther. 2016;3(2):187–207.
- 6. Ravelli A, Martini A. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Lancet. 2007;369(9563):767–78.
- 7. Consolaro A, Giancane G, Alongi A, van Dijkhuizen EHP, Aggarwal A, Al-Mayouf SM, et al. Phenotypic variability and disparities in treatment and outcomes of childhood arthritis throughout the world: an observational cohort study. Lancet Child Adolesc Health. 2019;3(4):255–63.
- 8. Gutiérrez-Suárez R, Pistorio A, Cespedes Cruz A, Norambuena X, Flato B, Rumba I. Health-related quality of life of patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis coming from 3 different geographic areas. The PRINTO multinational quality of life cohort study. Rheumatology. 2006;46(2):314–20.
- 9. Oen K, Guzman J, Dufault B, Tucker LB, Shiff NJ, Duffy KW. Health-related quality of life in an inception cohort of children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a longitudinal analysis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2018;70(1):134–44.
- 10. Foster HE, Marshall N, Myers A, Dunkley P, Griffiths ID. Outcome in adults with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a quality of life study. Arthritis Rheum. 2003;48(3):767–75.

686

11. Chausset A, Pereira B, Echaubard S, Merlin E, Freychet C. Access to paediatric rheumatology care in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: what do we know? A systematic review. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2020;59(12):3633–44.

- 12. Harper BD, Waceke Nganga RA, Forsyth KD, Ham HP, Keenan WJ, Russ CM. Where are the paediatricians? An international survey to understand the global paediatric workforce. BMJ Paediatr Open. 2019;3(1).
- 13. Katsicas MM, Russo RAG. Systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2020.
- 14. De Benedetti F, Schneider R. Systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. In: Petty RE, Laxer RM, Lindsley CB, Wedderburn LR, editors. Textbook of pediatric rheumatology. Seventh edition. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2016:205–16.
- Behrens EM, Beukelman T, Gallo L, Spangler J, Rosenkranz M, Arkachaisri T, et al. Evaluation of the presentation of systemic onset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: data from the Pennsylvania Systemic Onset Juvenile Arthritis Registry (PASOJAR). J Rheumatol. 2008;35(2):343–8.
- Berntson L, Andersson G\u00e4re B, Fasth A, Herlin T, Kristinsson J, Lahdenne P, et al. Incidence of juvenile idiopathic arthritis in the Nordic countries. A population based study with special reference to the validity of the ILAR and EULAR criteria. J Rheumatol. 2003;30(10):2275–82.
- 17. Dewoolkar M, Cimaz R, Chickermane PR, Khubchandani RP. Course, outcome and complications in children with systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Indian J Pediatr. 2017;84(4):294–8.
- Ravelli A, Grom AA, Behrens EM, Cron RQ. Macrophage activation syndrome as part of systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: diagnosis, genetics, pathophysiology and treatment. Genes Immun. 2012;13(4):289–98.
- 19. Davies R, Southwood T, Kearsley-Fleet L, Lunt M, Baildam E, Beresford MW, et al. Mortality rates are increased in patients with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arch Dis Child. 2017;102(2):206–7.
- Tarp S, Amarilyo G, Foeldvari I, Christensen R, Woo JM, Cohen N, et al. Efficacy and safety of biological agents for systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2016;55(4):669–79.
- 21. Cabrera N, Avila-Pedretti G, Belot A, Larbre JP, Mainbourg S, Duquesne A, et al. The benefit-risk balance for biological agents in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2020;59(9):2226–36.
- 22. Davies R, Gaynor D, Hyrich KL, Pain CE. Efficacy of biologic therapy across individual juvenile idiopathic arthritis subtypes: a systematic review. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2017;46(5):584–93.
- 23. Yokota S, Imagawa T, Mori M, Miyamae T, Aihara Y, Takei S. Efficacy and safety of tocilizumab in patients with systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled, withdrawal phase III trial. Lancet. 2008;371(9617):998–1006.
- 24. Yokota S, Itoh Y, Morio T, Origasa H, Sumitomo N, Tomobe M. Tocilizumab in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis in a real-world clinical setting: results from 1 year of postmarketing surveillance follow-up of 417 patients in Japan. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75(9):1654–60.
- 25. De Benedetti F, Brunner HI, Ruperto N, Kenwright A, Wright S, Calvo I, et al. Randomized trial of tocilizumab in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(25):2385–95.
- 26. Horneff G, Schulz AC, Klotsche J, Hospach A, Minden K, Foeldvari I. Experience with etanercept, tocilizumab and interleukin-1 inhibitors in systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis patients from the BIKER registry. Arthritis Res Ther. 2017;19(1):256.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 27. Bielak M, Husmann E, Weyandt N, Haas JP, Hügle B, Horneff G. IL-6 blockade in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis achievement of inactive disease and remission (data from the German AID-registry. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2018;16(1):22.
- 28. Wallace CA, Ruperto N, Giannini E. Preliminary criteria for clinical remission for select categories of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2004;31(11):2290–4.
- 29. Woerner A, Uettwiller F, Melki I, Mouy R, Wouters C, Bader-Meunier B. Biological treatment in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: achievement of inactive disease or clinical remission on a first, second or third biological agent. RMD Open. 2015;1(1):e000036.
- Klein A, Klotsche J, Hügle B, Minden K, Hospach A, Weller-Heinemann F, et al. Long-term surveillance of biologic therapies in systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis: data from the German BIKER registry. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2020;59(9):2287–98.
- 31. Kimura Y, Grevich S, Beukelman T, Morgan E, Nigrovic PA, Mieszkalski K, et al. Pilot study comparing the Childhood Arthritis & Rheumatology Research Alliance (CARRA) systemic Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis Consensus Treatment Plans. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2017;15(1):23.
- 32. Vicente C, Sabapathy S, Formica L, Maturi B, Piwko C. Cost-utility analysis of tocilizumab in the treatment of active systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Value Health. 2013;16(3):A225.
- 33. Hallinen T, Soini EJ, Diamantopoulos A, Dejonckheere F, Vihervaara V, Hautala A, et al. THU0305 Cost-utility of tocilizumab in the treatment of systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis in Finland. Ann Rheum Dis. 2013;71:258–9.
- 34. Kittiratchakool N, Kulpokin D, Chanjam C, Vilaiyuk S, Charuvanij S, Phongsamart G, et al. Costutility and budget impact analysis of tocilizumab for the treatment of refractory systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis in Thailand. BMJ Open. 2020;10(9):e037588.
- 35. Ryazhenov VV, Gorokhova SG, Emchenko IV. Pharmacoeconomic evaluation of treatment with tocilizumab in Russian Children with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Value Health. 2014;17(7):A380.
- 36. Ravelli A, Consolaro A, Horneff G, Laxer RM, Lovell DJ, Wulffraat NM. Treating juvenile idiopathic arthritis to target: recommendations of an international task force. Ann Rheum Dis. 2018;77(6):819–28.
- 37. DeWitt EM, Kimura Y, Beukelman T, Nigrovic PA, Onel K, Prahalad S, et al. Consensus treatment plans for new-onset systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2012;64(7):1001–10.
- 38. Yasuoka R, Iwata N, Abe N, Kohagura T, Nakaseko H, Shimizu M. Risk factors for hypersensitivity reactions to tocilizumab introduction in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Mod Rheumatol. 2019;29(2):324–7.
- 39. Ringold S, Weiss PF, Beukelman T, DeWitt EM, Ilowite NT, Kimura Y, et al. 2013 update of the 2011 American College of Rheumatology recommendations for the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: recommendations for the medical therapy of children with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis and tuberculosis screening among children receiving biologic medications. Arthritis Rheum. 2013;65(10):2499–512.
- 40. Scott C, Chan M, Slamang W, Okong'o L, Petty R, Laxer RM, et al. Juvenile arthritis management in less resourced countries (JAMLess): consensus recommendations from the Cradle of Humankind. Clin Rheumatol. 2019;38(2):563–75.

688

Triamcinolone – addition – EML and EMLc

# Triamcinolone hexacetonide

ATC code: H02AB08

## Proposal

Addition of triamcinolone hexacetonide on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA).

#### Applicant

Paediatric Global Musculoskeletal Task Force

#### WHO technical department

Not applicable

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

#### Section

29.3 Juvenile joint diseases

#### Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Injection: 20 mg/mL in vial

#### Core/complementary

Complementary

#### Individual/square box listing

Square box listing with triamcinolone acetonide as a specified therapeutic alternative.

#### Background

Triamcinolone hexacetonide was previously considered for inclusion on the Model Lists for treatment of JIA in 2021.

The Expert Committee noted that the evidence presented supporting the use of intra-articular corticosteroids in JIA was limited and of suboptimal quality. Almost all studies were in high-income countries and specialized settings and the generalizability of findings to lower-income settings was uncertain. No data were included on the role and the comparative benefits and risks of triamcinolone hexacetonide compared with oral corticosteroids or diseasemodifying treatments such as methotrexate. Although intra-articular steroids are considered an important tool in the treatment of JIA, the Committee noted that consensus is lacking about their efficacy and safety in different settings. The Committee noted that administration of intra-articular corticosteroids is an invasive procedure requiring specialized training and experience. It is also associated with risks of infection. Dose adjustment based on the targeted joint is an important aspect of practice, as overdose of corticosteroids might lead to joint atrophy. Laboratory tests are needed to determine disease activity and risk of progression, and to evaluate a patient's suitability for treatment. The Committee also expressed concerns about the limited availability of specialist paediatric rheumatology care in low- and middle-income settings.

The Expert Committee therefore did not recommend the inclusion of triamcinolone hexacetonide on the EML or the EMLc at that time, because of the uncertain clinical benefit of triamcinolone hexacetonide given the low quality of evidence and its limited generalizability, and safety concerns associated with administration procedures (1).

#### Public health relevance

JIA is the most common chronic rheumatic disease in children, with a prevalence of about 1 in 1000 children (2). In 2017, more than 2 million children younger than 16 years worldwide were estimated to have JIA, with the highest prevalence in south Asia and Africa (3). The disease is characterized by joint inflammation lasting more than 6 weeks, onset before the age of 16 years and no other identifiable cause (4-6).

Untreated disease can have severe consequences, including pain, fatigue, joint damage, functional disability, and impaired quality of life. JIA can also lead to anaemia, poor growth, delayed puberty and complications such as uveitis, which can cause blindness if not detected and treated (5-7). The impact of untreated JIA extends to difficulties in walking, performing daily activities and educational participation, which can result in psychosocial challenges, mental health problems and higher unemployment rates compared with healthy peers (8-10).

Access to proper care for children with JIA is a major challenge, particularly in resource-constrained settings (11). The shortage of paediatricians, especially in Asia and Africa, contributes to limited access to specialist care and treatment for many children with JIA, resulting in worse clinical outcomes in these regions (7,12).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

Note: the terms pauciarticular juvenile rheumatoid arthritis or juvenile chronic arthritis are used below because they are found in some older studies cited. They are equivalent to oligoarticular juvenile idiopathic arthritis.

The effectiveness of steroid injections in pauciarticular juvenile rheumatoid arthritis and other forms of inflammatory arthritis was evaluated in a prospective study of 40 children who had failed therapy with non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (*13*). Twenty-nine children had juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Active knee

joints were injected with 20–40 mg of triamcinolone hexacetonide and the effects were evaluated at 6, 12 and 24 months. A good response was defined as complete resolution of active joint inflammation and a relapse was defined as a sustained reaccumulation of joint effusion. All injected joints had a good initial response to treatment. At 6, 12 and 24 months follow-up, a good response was maintained in 67.6% (25/37), 50.0% (15/30) and 17.4% (4/23), respectively, of the joints of children with juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. No significant differences based on disease group, sex or dose were observed. Relapse was seen in eight joints. These joints were re-injected, of which five maintained a good response for 12 months. The mean dose administered was significantly higher in the relapse group than the group with a good response in the children with juvenile rheumatoid arthritis (P < 0.01), but the difference was not statistically significant in other types of juvenile arthritis.

A retrospective study evaluated the efficacy and duration of benefit of triamcinolone hexacetonide injections in 194 children with various subgroups of juvenile chronic arthritis (14). A total of 1439 injections (including 368 reinjections) were administered and outcomes were measured after mean durations of 3, 15, 30 and 64 weeks. Significant differences in response were seen among subgroups. Efficacy lasted for 121 weeks in early-onset pauciarticular juvenile chronic arthritis type I, 47 weeks in late-onset pauciarticular juvenile chronic arthritis, 63 weeks in rheumatoid factor negative polyarticular juvenile chronic arthritis, 63 weeks in systemic juvenile chronic arthritis. The study concluded that intra-articular triamcinolone injections were effective in treating inflammatory joint disease in all subgroups of juvenile chronic arthritis.

An open-label, non-randomized, prospective study compared response rates in 85 patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis who received triamcinolone hexacetonide and triamcinolone acetonide injections; of 130 joints, 70 received triamcinolone hexacetonide and 60 received triamcinolone acetonide (15). The response rate was evaluated using core outcome measures, including joint swelling, limitation of joint range of motion, pain on passive movement and warmth to the touch. A good response was defined as the absence of inflammation or a reduction in joint inflammation of more than 60% from baseline. Relapse was defined as the reappearance of arthritis after a period of good response. The response rate was significantly higher with triamcinolone hexacetonide than triamcinolone acetonide: 81.4% versus 53.3% (P = 0.006) at 6 months, 67.1% versus 43.3% (P = 0.006) at 12 months and 60.0% versus 33.3% (P = 0.002) at 24 months. The rate of relapse was 2.7 times higher in the triamcinolone acetate group than the triamcinolone hexacetonide group (95% confidence interval (CI) 1.6 to 4.8).

A retrospective study compared the time to relapse following treatment with triamcinolone hexacetonide and triamcinolone acetonide in 85 patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis; of 277 joints, 114 received triamcinolone hexacetonide and 112 received triamcinolone acetonide (*16*). The mean, standard deviation (SD), time to relapse was significantly longer in the triamcinolone hexacetonide group than the triamcinolone acetonide group (10.14, SD 0.49 months versus 7.75, SD 0.49 months, P < 0.0001). A Cox regression model analysis showed that after adjusting for sex, duration of illness or type of disease, a significant difference existed in relapse time favouring triamcinolone hexacetonide (hazard ratio (HR) 1.99, 95% CI 1.43 to 2.78).

A double-blind trial compared the efficacy of triamcinolone acetonide at twice the dose of triamcinolone hexacetonide in 37 children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (17). Children with symmetrical joints requiring injection received triamcinolone acetonide in one joint and triamcinolone hexacetonide in the other. Clinical assessments were performed at baseline, and at 3, 6, 9, 12, 18 and 24 months after injection. The response rate was assessed based on core outcome measures, including joint swelling, limitation of joint range of motion, pain on passive movement and warmth to the touch. All joints showed improvement post-injection. However, after 2–21 months of follow-up, relapse occurred more frequently in joints treated with triamcinolone acetonide (53.8%) than those treated with triamcinolone hexacetonide treated joints (15.4%). The rate of persisting or sustained response was significantly higher with triamcinolone hexacetonide than with triamcinolone acetonide at 6 months (89.7% versus 61.5%, P = 0.008), 12 months (84.6% versus 48.7%, P = 0.001) and 24 months (76.9% versus 38.5%, P = 0.001).

The efficacy of intra-articular injections with triamcinolone hexacetonide and triamcinolone acetonide was compared in a retrospective single-centre chart review study of 102 patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (*18*). Of 292 included joints, 154 received triamcinolone hexacetonide and 138 received triamcinolone acetonide. The primary outcome measure for efficacy was defined as full recovery from arthritis 1 month after treatment. Rate of relapse at 3 months was also assessed. Similar efficacy was seen between treatments 1 month after injection. However, a significant difference was seen in the length of effect, with a significantly higher relapse rate at 3 months in the triamcinolone acetonide group (20.1% relapsed) compared with the triamcinolone hexacetonide group (8.8% relapsed). The significant difference persisted over time, up to 40 months. The odds ratio for relapse with triamcinolone acetonide was 2.24 (95% CI 1.39 to 3.58) compared with triamcinolone hexacetonide.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The adverse event profiles of triamcinolone hexacetonide and triamcinolone acetonide are similar and most adverse events are rare (5,17,19-21). Potential adverse events include infection (septic arthritis at the injection site), subcutaneous atrophy caused by extravasation of the drug from the joint space,

steroid lipodystrophy, initial post-injection pain, calcium deposition in the joint, systemic absorption and avascular necrosis in the hip joint. Proper clinical technique and accurate needle placement can greatly reduce these effects, highlighting the importance that joint injections are performed by appropriately trained clinicians (*21,22*).

The risk of systemic absorption of glucocorticosteroids through injections can lead to adrenal suppression and/or iatrogenic Cushing syndrome, although these adverse effects are rare (23). Diabetic children may require a temporary increase in insulin doses following intra-articular glucocorticosteroid injections (20).

A prospective study evaluated the efficacy and safety of intra-articular triamcinolone hexacetonide for the treatment of coxitis in 50 patients with juvenile rheumatoid arthritis (24). Five cases of femoral head necrosis were reported among 20 children receiving triamcinolone hexacetonide and long-term systemic corticosteroids. No cases of femoral head necrosis were observed in 30 children who received triamcinolone hexacetonide without systemic corticosteroids.

Triamcinolone intra-articular injections are contraindicated in active, systemic mycoses and parasitoses, herpes simplex keratitis, and acute psychoses because of the potential effect of systemic absorption of steroids. Caution should be exercised in a number of circumstances, including the presence of active infection near the affected joint, cardiac insufficiency, acute coronary artery disease, hypertension, thrombophlebitis, thromboembolism, myasthenia gravis, Cushing syndrome, diabetes mellitus, hypothyroidism, osteoporosis, gastric ulcer, diverticulitis, ulcerative colitis, recent intestinal anastomosis, exanthematous diseases, renal insufficiency, acute glomerulonephritis, chronic nephritis, cirrhosis, infections that cannot be treated with antibiotics and metastatic carcinoma.

Triamcinolone hexacetonide should not be used in neonates due to the presence of benzyl alcohol as a preservative. However, a diagnosis of juvenile idiopathic arthritis in neonates is extremely rare and consultation with a paediatric rheumatologist would be necessary in such cases.

## **WHO** guidelines

WHO guidelines for the management of JIA are not currently available.

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

Studies on the cost-effectiveness of intra-articular corticosteroid injections for JIA are not available.

The application reported that the cost per vial of triamcinolone (hexacetonide or acetonide) varies by country. The cost of treatment per child depends on the number and size of joints to be injected.

The cost of untreated JIA is likely to be high for patients, their families and society (25).

#### Availability

Global shortages of triamcinolone hexacetonide have been reported.

Aristospan<sup>®</sup> brand of triamcinolone hexacetonide has been listed as being in short supply in the United States and has been discontinued on the United States market by the Food and Drug Administration, although it can be imported on an individual patient basis. Triamcinolone hexacetonide is not approved by the Australian Therapeutic Goods Administration but can be accessed through a special access scheme from international manufacturers. Canada has approved triamcinolone hexacetonide for inclusion in public drug formularies. Triamcinolone hexacetonide has marketing approval for intra-articular use in the United Kingdom and is included in the British National Formulary. Several European countries, including Austria, Czechia, Netherlands (Kingdom of the), Portugal, Slovenia and Spain granted marketing authorization for triamcinolone hexacetonide in 2013, before the supply problems arose.

Triamcinolone acetonide has regulatory approval for intra-articular administration in Australia, New Zealand and the United States. It has marketing authorization in Canada, Sweden and Switzerland. It does not appear to have supply shortages in the same way as triamcinolone hexacetonide.

#### Other considerations

Joint injections are uncomfortable and analgesia with local, inhaled or general anaesthesia or sedation is recommended, especially if several joints are injected. Imaging (such as ultrasound or radiographic image intensifier) can be used to optimize the accuracy of needle placement, especially for small joints or deep joints such as the hip or subtalar joints (21,26).

It is recommended that triamcinolone be administered only by appropriately trained clinical personnel experienced in using intra-articular steroids to treat active joint disease in JIA (*5*,*21*,*22*,*27*–*29*).

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee noted that JIA was the most common chronic rheumatic disease of childhood and was associated with significant morbidity, functional disability and reduced quality of life if not appropriately treated.

As was the case in 2021, the Committee considered that the available evidence was still limited, and of suboptimal quality, but accepted that use of intra-articular glucocorticoid injections with triamcinolone (hexacetonide, and to a lesser extent acetonide) may be associated with improvements in joint inflammation in oligoarticular forms of JIA and had advantages over longterm systemic corticosteroid use in terms of harms. No additional evidence was identified during the application review process and the Committee considered that it was unlikely that new evidence would be generated soon.

The Committee noted that the evidence indicated that triamcinolone hexacetonide was superior to triamcinolone acetate in terms of efficacy and duration of response but that there were shortages in supply worldwide. The Committee considered that inclusion of triamcinolone hexacetonide with triamcinolone acetonide as a therapeutic alternative was appropriate and may contribute to improving access and resolving shortage problems.

The Committee noted that the costs for triamcinolone hexacetonide varied across settings and other costs associated with administration must also be taken into consideration, such as analgesia and imaging. The Committee also reiterated the need for administration to be performed only by appropriately trained specialized clinical personnel.

Based on these considerations, the Expert Committee recommended the inclusion of triamcinolone hexacetonide on the complementary list of the EML and EMLc for use in the treatment of JIA. Listing was recommended with a square box to indicate triamcinolone acetonide as a therapeutic alternative for national selection in situations where triamcinolone hexacetonide was not available.

## References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351172, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Harris JG, Kessler EA, Verbsky JW. Update on the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep. 2013;13(4):337–46.
- Dave M, Rankin J, Pearce M, Foster HE. Global prevalence estimates of three chronic musculoskeletal conditions: club foot, juvenile idiopathic arthritis and juvenile systemic lupus erythematosus. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2020;18(1):49.
- 4. Petty R, Southwood T, Baum J, Bhettay E, Glass D, Manners P. Revision of the proposed classification criteria for juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 1997;1998;25(10):1991–4.
- 5. Giancane G, Consolaro A, Lanni S, Davì S, Schiappapietra B, Ravelli A. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis: diagnosis and treatment. Rheumatol Ther. 2016;3(2):187–207.
- 6. Ravelli A, Martini A. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Lancet. 2007;369(9563):767–78.
- Consolaro A, Giancane G, Alongi A, van Dijkhuizen EHP, Aggarwal A, Al-Mayouf SM, et al. Phenotypic variability and disparities in treatment and outcomes of childhood arthritis throughout the world: an observational cohort study. Lancet Child Adolesc Health. 2019;3(4):255–63.
- 8. Gutiérrez-Suárez R, Pistorio A, Cespedes Cruz A, Norambuena X, Flato B, Rumba I. Health-related quality of life of patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis coming from 3 different geographic areas. The PRINTO multinational quality of life cohort study. Rheumatology. 2006;46(2):314–20.

9. Oen K, Guzman J, Dufault B, Tucker LB, Shiff NJ, Duffy KW. Health-related quality of life in an inception cohort of children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a longitudinal analysis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2018;70(1):134–44.

- 10. Foster HE, Marshall N, Myers A, Dunkley P, Griffiths ID. Outcome in adults with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a quality of life study. Arthritis Rheum. 2003;48(3):767–75.
- 11. Chausset A, Pereira B, Echaubard S, Merlin E, Freychet C. Access to paediatric rheumatology care in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: what do we know? A systematic review. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2020;59(12):3633–44.
- 12. Harper BD, Waceke Nganga RA, Forsyth KD, Ham HP, Keenan WJ, Russ CM. Where are the paediatricians? An international survey to understand the global paediatric workforce. BMJ Paediatr Open. 2019;3(1).
- 13. Allen R, Gross K, Laxer R, Malleson P, Beauchamp R, Petty R. Intraarticular triamcinolone hexacetonide in the management of chronic arthritis in children. Arthritis Rheum. 1986;29(8):997–1001.
- 14. Breit W, Frosch M, Meyer U, Heinecke A, Ganser G. A subgroup-specific evaluation of the efficacy of intraarticular triamcinolone hexacetonide in juvenile chronic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2000;27(11):2696–702.
- 15. Zulian F, Martini G, Gobber D, Agosto C, Gigante C, Zacchello F. Comparison of intra-articular triamcinolone hexacetonide and triamcinolone acetonide in oligoarticular juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2003;42(10):1254–9.
- 16. Eberhard BA, Sison MC, Gottlieb BS, Ilowite NT. Comparison of the intraarticular effectiveness of triamcinolone hexacetonide and triamcinolone acetonide in treatment of juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2004;31(12):2507–12.
- 17. Zulian F, Martini G, Gobber D, Plebani M, Zacchello F, Manners P. Triamcinolone acetonide and hexacetonide intra-articular treatment of symmetrical joints in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a double-blind trial. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2004;43(10):1288–91.
- 18. Rubin S, Ohana O, Goldberg O, Peled O, Gendler Y, Habot-Wilner Z, et al. The efficacy and safety of intra-articular injection of triamcinolone acetonide versus triamcinolone hexacetonide for treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2022;20(1):5.
- 19. Hashkes PJ, Laxer RM. Medical treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. JAMA. 2005;294(13):1671–84.
- 20. Schiappapietra B, Varnier G, Rosina S, Consolaro A, Martini A, Ravelli A. Glucocorticoids in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Neuroimmunomodulation. 2015;22(1-2):112–8.
- 21. Ringold S, Angeles-Han ST, Beukelman T, Lovell D, Cuello CA, Becker ML, et al. 2019 American College of Rheumatology/Arthritis Foundation guideline for the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: therapeutic approaches for non-systemic polyarthritis, sacroiliitis, and enthesitis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2019;71(6):717–34.
- 22. Davies K, Cleary G, Foster H, Hutchinson E, Baildam E. BSPAR standards of care for children and young people with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2010;49(7):1406–8.
- 23. Giancane G, Consolaro A, Lanni S, Davì S, Schiappapietra B, Ravelli A. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis: diagnosis and treatment. Rheumatol Ther. 2016;3(2):187–207.
- 24. Neidel J, Boehnke M, Küster RM. The efficacy and safety of intraarticular corticosteroid therapy for coxitis in juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2002;46(6):1620–8.
- 25. Moorthy LN, Peterson MG, Hassett AL, Lehman TJ. Burden of childhood-onset arthritis. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2010;8:20.

696

- 26. Foster HE, Brogan PA. Paediatric rheumatology. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2018.
- 27. Ravelli A, Consolaro A, Horneff G, Laxer RM, Lovell DJ, Wulffraat NM. Treating juvenile idiopathic arthritis to target: recommendations of an international task force. Ann Rheum Dis. 2018;77(6):819–28.
- Beukelman T, Patkar NM, Saag KG, Tolleson-Rinehart S, Cron RQ, DeWitt EM, et al. 2011 American College of Rheumatology recommendations for the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: initiation and safety monitoring of therapeutic agents for the treatment of arthritis and systemic features. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2011;63(4):465–82.
- 29. Lanni S, Bertamino M, Consolaro A, Pistorio A, Magni-Manzoni S, Galasso R. Outcome and predicting factors of single and multiple intra-articular corticosteroid injections in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Rheumatology. 2011;50(9):1627–34.

# Section 30: Dental medicines and preparations

Fluoride – new formulations – EML and EMLc

# Fluoride

ATC code: A01AA

## Proposal

Addition of fluoride gel, mouthrinse and varnish formulations on the core list of the EML and EMLc for prevention of dental caries in adults and children.

# Applicant

Benoit Varenne, Dental Officer, Oral Health Programme, Noncommunicable Diseases Department, Division of UHC/Communicable and Noncommunicable Diseases, WHO Headquarters, Geneva, Switzerland

#### WHO technical department

Noncommunicable Diseases

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

## Section

30 Dental medicines and preparations

## Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Gel: containing 2500 to 12 500 ppm fluoride (any type) Mouthrinse: containing 230 to 900 ppm fluoride (any type) Varnish: containing 22 500 ppm fluoride (any type)

## Core/complementary

Core

# Individual/square box listing

Individual

# Background

Sodium fluoride tablets were initially added to EML in 1979 as a preventive measure against dental caries in areas without fluoridated water supplies. In 1993, the listing was modified to include other formulations. In 2005, there was a proposal to remove sodium fluoride tablets due to the established efficacy of topical fluoride in preventing dental caries. The 2005 Expert Committee

698

considered local circumstances, including the fluoride content of drinking water, and acknowledged the risk of fluorosis with excessive tablet use. Consequently, sodium fluoride was retained on the EML but with a revised description to specify "in any appropriate topical formulation". In 2007, sodium fluoride was also included in the first edition of the EMLc.

In 2021, in consideration of an application proposing the addition of fluoride toothpaste to the EML and EMLc, the Expert Committee noted that the current listing for sodium fluoride did not specify the form and concentration range of topical fluoride products used to prevent dental caries. The Committee considered that to provide the best guidance for selection of products for national EMLs, the Model Lists should include specific recommendations of the different formulation types and ideal concentrations of fluoride-containing preparations. The Committee recommended that the listing for sodium fluoride be transferred to a new section of the Model Lists for dental preparations, and the listing be amended to "fluoride", noting that topical fluoride-containing preparations use fluoride in a variety of forms. Fluoride toothpaste, containing between 1000 and 1500 ppm fluoride of any type was recommended for addition, and the Committee requested WHO to identify and define the alternative fluoride-containing formulations recommended for use in the prevention of dental caries so that these could be clearly indicated in the Model Lists in 2023 to provide clear guidance for countries (1).

#### Public health relevance

The WHO global oral health status report, using the latest available data of the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019, estimates that oral diseases affect close to 3.5 billion people worldwide. Dental caries is the most widespread oral disease with more than 2.5 billion untreated cases. This includes more than 2 billion estimated cases of caries in permanent teeth (global average prevalence of 29%) and 514 million estimated cases of caries in primary (deciduous) teeth (global average prevalence of 43%). Among the 194 WHO Member States, 134 have prevalence figures greater than 40% for caries in primary teeth. More than three quarters of cases of untreated caries in teeth are found in middle-income countries. Over the past 30 years, cases of untreated caries have increased and surpassed the demographic population growth during the same period (2).

Untreated dental caries may cause pain and infection, and may lead to systemic infections requiring hospitalization and complex treatment. The high prevalence and severity of untreated dental caries in children can contribute to low body mass index and stunting (3–5). Additionally, dental caries result in significant absenteeism in schools and workplaces (6,7). Good oral health is essential for healthy ageing (8).

The burden of dental caries varies significantly across populations within and between countries, with a clear socioeconomic gradient showing higher disease burden in deprived and disadvantaged communities, who also have limited access to prevention and oral health services (2,9). Caries affects people throughout their lives, with varying patterns of burden across age groups – starting in early childhood, increasing notably in adolescence and continuing to rise in adulthood (*10*).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

#### Fluoride gel

A 2015 Cochrane systematic review of 28 randomized controlled trials (9140 participants) assessed the effectiveness of fluoride gels for preventing dental caries in children and adolescents (11). The primary outcome measure was caries increment measured by the change from baseline at the nearest increment to 3 years in decayed, missing/extracted and filled tooth surfaces in permanent and primary teeth. From the meta-analysis of fluoride gel compared with placebo or no treatment, fluoride gel significantly reduced decayed, missing and filled tooth surfaces in permanent teeth (prevented fraction (PF) 28%, 95% confidence interval (CI) 19% to 36%; 25 randomized controlled trials, 8479 participants, moderate quality evidence) and in primary teeth (PF 20%, 95% CI 1% to 38%; three randomized controlled trials, 1254 participants, low quality evidence). The effects showed no dependency on baseline caries level, or exposure to other fluoride sources, or to application features such as the method or frequency of gel application or fluoride concentration. The relative effect was not dependent on length of follow-up, whether prophylaxis was undertaken before application of the gel, or according to drop-out rate.

#### Fluoride mouthrinse

A 2016 Cochrane systematic review of 37 randomized trials (15 813 participants) assessed the effectiveness of fluoride mouthrinse for preventing dental caries in children and adolescents (*12*). Most participants received a mouthrinse formulated with sodium fluoride on either a daily or weekly/fortnightly basis and at two main strengths, 230 or 900 ppm fluoride. Meta-analysis found that fluoride mouthrinse significantly reduced decayed, missing and filled tooth surfaces in permanent teeth (PF 27%, 95% CI 23% to 30%; 35 randomized controlled trials, 15 305 participants, moderate quality evidence). No significant association was found between estimates of effect and baseline caries severity, exposure to other fluorides, rinsing frequency or fluoride concentration.

A 2020 systematic review and network meta-analysis of nine controlled clinical trials (4030 participants) assessed the effect of topical fluoride preparations in preventing root caries (13). Daily use of 0.2% sodium fluoride mouthrinse, and daily use of fluoride toothpaste followed by 0.05% sodium fluoride mouthrinse were more effective than interventions in the control groups (different concentrations or content of fluoride, placebo and no special intervention) in preventing root caries.
## Fluoride varnish

A 2013 Cochrane systematic review of 22 randomized controlled trials (12 455 participants) assessed the effectiveness of fluoride varnishes in preventing dental caries in children and adolescents (*14*). The primary outcome measures were caries increment measured by the change in decayed, missing and filled tooth surfaces in both permanent and primary teeth. Compared with placebo or no treatment, fluoride varnishes (applied two to four times a year) significantly reduced decayed, missing and filled tooth surfaces in permanent teeth (PF 43%, 95% CI 30% to 57%; 13 randomized controlled trials, moderate quality evidence) and in primary teeth (PF 37%, 95% CI 24% to 51%; 10 randomized controlled trials, moderate quality evidence). No significant associations were found between estimates of effect and baseline caries severity, background exposure to fluorides, application features (such as prior prophylaxis), concentration of fluoride, or frequency of application.

A 2020 Cochrane systematic review of 11 randomized controlled trials (3374 participants) evaluated the relative effectiveness of dental sealants compared with fluoride varnishes, or dental sealants plus fluoride varnishes compared with fluoride varnishes alone for prevention of dental caries in occlusal surfaces of permanent teeth in children and adolescents (*15*). No significant difference was seen between resin-based sealants and fluoride varnish for preventing caries in first permanent molars at 2–3 years of follow-up (odds ratio (OR) 0.67, 95% CI 0.37 to 1.19; four randomized controlled trials, 1683 participants). There was also low certainty evidence that resin-based sealant plus fluoride varnish was superior to fluoride varnish alone (OR 0.30, 95% CI 0.17 to 0.55; one randomized controlled trial, 92 participants).

## **Combination treatment**

A 2004 Cochrane systematic review of 12 randomized controlled trials (5946 participants) compared the effectiveness of combined topical fluoride therapy versus topical fluoride monotherapy (mainly toothpaste) for the prevention of dental caries in children (*16*). From the meta-analysis of the effect of fluoride mouthrinses, gels or varnishes used in combination with fluoride toothpaste versus fluoride toothpaste alone, combined treatment significantly reduced decayed, missing and filled tooth surfaces in permanent teeth (PF 10%, 95% CI 2% to 17%; nine randomized controlled trials, 4026 participants). Separate meta-analyses of fluoride gel or mouthrinse combined with toothpaste versus toothpaste alone favoured the combined regimens, but differences were not statistically significant.

## Summary of evidence: harms

Potential harms of topical fluorides are associated with over-ingestion, leading to symptoms of nausea and vomiting, and dental fluorosis (while tooth enamel is developing, up to 6 years) (17). Use of topical fluoride gel, mouthrinse and

varnish preparations is contraindicated in cases of ulcerative gingivitis because of the increased risk of systemic fluoride absorption.

## Fluoride gel

The 2015 Cochrane systematic review of fluoride gels for preventing dental caries in children and adolescents found no reports of adverse effects (11). Ingestion can be prevented by seating the patient upright, not overfilling application trays, use of well-fitted or custom trays, use of a suction device and by separate insertion of upper and lower trays. Gagging may occur in young children during application (18). Studies suggest that professionally applied fluoride gel has a low risk of causing dental fluorosis, even in children younger than 6 years, as it is applied relatively infrequently (19).

## Fluoride mouthrinse

The 2016 Cochrane systematic review of fluoride mouthrinses for preventing dental caries in children and adolescents reported limited information on the possible adverse effects or acceptability of the treatment regimen in the included trials (*12*). Incompletely reported data on tooth staining were available from three trials, and on mucosal irritation/allergic reaction from one trial. No trials reported on acute adverse events during treatment.

The 1994 WHO report on fluorides and oral health raised concern about alcohol-based fluoride mouthrinse formulations. The report noted that such preparations were costly and that there was no justification, other than flavour and formulation, to use an alcohol base. Daily use and inadvertent or intentional ingestion of alcohol-based fluoride mouthrinses should be strongly discouraged. The concern related to a potentially increased risk of oral and oropharyngeal cancers, where harmful use of alcohol is a key risk factor (*20*). A 2020 systematic review found no evidence of an increased risk of oral cancer associated with use of alcohol-based mouthrinses alone; however, in the presence of other risk factors, there may be a potentially increased risk that would justify discouraging use. Moreover, no added therapeutic benefit of alcohol-based formulations was identified (*21*).

### Fluoride varnish

The 2013 Cochrane systematic review of fluoride varnishes for prevention of dental caries in children and adolescents found little information on possible adverse effects or acceptability of treatment (14). When fluoride varnishes are applied professionally and used as recommended, fluoride is not ingested in significant amounts or over an extended period of time, making systemic adverse effects unlikely (17).

A study of the pharmacokinetics of fluoride after application of 5% sodium fluoride dental varnish in six children aged between 12 and 15 months

found that fluoride exposure levels were lower than the known toxicity level and did not exceed limits for dental fluorosis (22). A prospective study in the United States of more than 10 000 fluoride varnish applications in children aged 0-5 years observed no treatment-related adverse events (23).

## **WHO guidelines**

The 1994 WHO report on fluorides and oral health provides a comprehensive review of the role of fluorides in preventing dental caries, and considers various aspects such as history, pharmacology, preventive effects, risks and side-effects (20). The key recommendations from the report remain consistent with current recommendations, highlighting the enduring significance of fluorides as a valuable tool for preventing dental caries.

The 2022 WHO briefing note on prevention and treatment of dental caries emphasizes the use of mercury-free products and minimal intervention, aligning with the Minamata Convention on Mercury Elimination. The note highlights fluoride varnish as a recommended approach, suitable for various populations, including those in urban, rural, remote, and vulnerable areas. Fluoride varnish is recognized for its simplicity, effectiveness, wide acceptance, without need for specialist dental training for its application for (24).

The 2019 WHO implementation manual on ending childhood dental caries highlights brushing teeth with fluoride-containing toothpaste and application of fluoride varnish as key interventions for preventing and treating early childhood caries (25).

The 2011 World Health Assembly resolution on oral health (26) and the 2022 draft global strategy on oral health (27) stress the urgent need to intensify preventive efforts, particularly for dental caries. These documents highlight the limited access to oral health promotion and prevention programmes, including the use of fluorides for caries prevention. Essential prevention methods, such as water fluoridation, community-based initiatives, topical fluoride applications and access to good-quality fluoride toothpaste, are often unavailable or unaffordable for many people. To address this issue, the draft global oral health action plan was prepared and proposes a series of global targets focused on achieving optimal fluoride levels for population oral health. Additionally, the action plan aims to improve the availability and affordability of fluoride medicines for oral health and includes a target that 50% of countries should include dental preparations listed in the WHO Model Lists in their national essential medicines lists by 2030 (28).

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

Evidence on the cost and cost-effectiveness of fluoride formulations for prevention of dental caries is limited, primarily consisting of studies conducted in school-based programmes.

A 2020 scoping literature review aimed to identify evidence on the costeffectiveness of school-based interventions for caries prevention globally (29). The review included 15 studies, nine published after 2011 and 11 from high-income countries. Almost 80% of the studies assessed the cost-effectiveness of topical fluoride therapies and fissure sealants. The review found evidence to suggest that school-based caries preventive methods were cost-effective and in some cases cost-saving. Evidence from low- and middle-income countries was lacking.

A study in Chile compared the cost-effectiveness of seven caries prevention programmes among schoolchildren from a societal perspective, namely water fluoridation, salt fluoridation, dental sealants, milk fluoridation, fluoride mouthrinse, fluoride gel and supervised toothbrushing with fluoride toothpaste (*30*). Four programmes showed net savings per diseased tooth averted: salt fluoridation (US\$ 16.21); water fluoridation (US\$ 14.89); milk fluoridation (US\$ 14.78); and fluoride mouthrinse (US\$ 8.63). The remaining programmes were associated with costs per diseased tooth averted: fluoride gel (US\$ 21.30); dental sealants (US\$ 11.56); and supervised toothbrushing with fluoride toothpaste (US\$ 8.55).

A modelling study assessed the lifelong costs of caries with and without fluoride use based on German epidemiological data (*31*). Effectiveness and costs for seven fluoride regimes were evaluated, including fluoridated salt, weekly home application of fluoride gel, fluoride toothpaste, professional biannual fluoride applications, and various combinations of these. All fluoride regimes resulted in lower lifetime dental restoration costs (fillings, endodontics, crowns and bridges) than the scenario of no fluoride use.

A cluster-randomized trial assessed the efficacy and costs of fluoride varnish application for caries prevention in a high-risk population of 513 South African children (*32*). In addition to supervised toothbrushing with fluoride toothpaste, participants were randomly allocated to receive fluoride varnish application every 3 months or no additional intervention (control) and followed for 24 months. Dental restorations were received or required in 10.2% of teeth in each treatment group. No significant difference was seen between treatment groups for tooth extractions (3.9% versus 4.1% in the fluoride varnish and control groups, respectively). Fluoride varnish was associated with high initial costs, but follow-up costs were comparable in both groups, resulting in fluoride varnish being significantly more expensive than no additional intervention (control).

A retrospective study evaluated caries increment and performed a cost analysis of a school-based programme of biannual fluoride applications for adolescents 12 to 15 years in Sweden (33). The programme was introduced in selected public dental clinics in 2003 and extended to all clinics within the region in 2008. Caries data for three groups of participants were compared: two intervention groups (with participants born in 1993 or 1998) who received fluoride varnish and a control group (with participants born in 1993) who did not receive fluoride varnish. The implementation of the school-based fluoride varnish programme was associated with significantly lower caries prevalence and caries increment in 15-year-olds. Over 4 years, the estimated cost per participant was about  $\notin$ 44.

Cost–effectiveness and estimated net monetary benefits of a programme of one to five visits for fluoride varnish application were evaluated in a study of children aged 9 to 30 months in Thailand (*34*). From the provider's perspective, one to three visits for fluoride varnish application decreased decayed, missing and filled primary teeth and saved costs compared with no visit, one visit and two visits. From the patient's perspective, the estimated net monetary benefits were positive for up to three visits, although no differences were seen in the incremental cost-effectiveness ratios.

A cost-effectiveness analysis estimated the average cost-effectiveness ratio of dental sealants versus fluoride varnish in a school-based setting (*35*). Over a 4-year period, treatment costs for sealants and varnish were US\$ 104.25 and US\$ 44.96 per child, respectively. The higher cost of sealants was due primarily to differences in labour (30 minutes of a dentist and dental assistant per sealant application compared with 5 minutes from a school health aide per varnish application). The corresponding average cost-effectiveness ratios were US\$ 137 and US\$ 102 per carious lesion prevented, respectively. Varnish was more cost-effective than sealants, although the difference was not statistically significant.

## Availability

The applications reported that fluoride gel, mouthrinse (higher strength) and varnish are available as prescription products or via medical/dental distributors for professional use, but it highlighted that availability was often limited in public oral health centres. Lower strength fluoride mouthrinse is available as an over-the-counter product.

Procurement of supplies for school-based oral health programmes is generally undertaken by the programme organizers (ministries of health and/or education, or other agencies or organizations).

## **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged the large global burden of dental caries and noted the work undertaken by WHO in developing a global oral health action plan, in which a target has been set that 50% of countries will include essential dental preparations on the EML/EMLc in their national essential medicines lists by 2030.

The Committee recalled the request of the 2021 Expert Committee for WHO to identify and define alternative fluoride-containing formulations for use in the prevention of dental caries.

The Committee considered that the evidence presented in the applications for fluoride gel, mouthrinse and varnish supported the effectiveness and safety of these products in the prevention of dental caries. The Committee also noted that that school-based fluoride programmes had been shown to be a cost-effective public health intervention in some settings.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of gel, mouthrinse and varnish as specific formulations of fluoride on the core list of the EML and EMLc for prevention of dental caries.

## References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351172, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Global oral health status report: towards universal health coverage for oral health by 2030. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/364538. accessed 6 October 2023).
- Benzian H, Monse B, Heinrich-Weltzien R, Hobdell M, Mulder J, van Palenstein Helderman W. Untreated severe dental decay: a neglected determinant of low Body Mass Index in 12-year-old Filipino children. BMC Public Health. 2011;11:558.
- 4. Renggli EP, Turton B, Sokal-Gutierrez K, Hondru G, Chher T, Hak S, et al. Stunting malnutrition associated with severe tooth decay in Cambodian toddlers. Nutrients. 2021;13(2):290.
- Gudipaneni RK, Albilasi RM, HadiAlrewili O, Alam MK, Patil SR, Saeed F. Association of body mass index and waist circumference with dental caries and consequences of untreated dental caries among 12- to 14-year-old boys: a cross-sectional study. Int Dent J. 2021;71(6):522–9.
- Guarnizo-Herreño CC, Lyu W, Wehby GL. Children's oral health and academic performance: evidence of a persisting relationship over the last decade in the United States. J Pediatr. 2019;209:183–9.e2.
- Ruff RR, Senthi S, Susser SR, Tsutsui A. Oral health, academic performance, and school absenteeism in children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Dent Assoc. 2019;150(2):111–21.e4.
- Tanaka T, Takahashi K, Hirano H, Kikutani T, Watanabe Y, Ohara Y, et al. Oral frailty as a risk factor for physical frailty and mortality in community-dwelling elderly. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2018;73(12):1661–7.
- 9. Peres MA, Macpherson LMD, Weyant RJ, Daly B, Venturelli R, Mathur MR, et al. Oral diseases: a global public health challenge. Lancet. 2019;394(10194):249–60.
- Heilmann A, Tsakos G, Watt RG. Oral health over the life course. In: Burton-Jeangros C, Cullati S, Sacker A, Blane D, editors. A life course perspective on health trajectories and transitions. Cham: Springer; 2015:39–59.
- 11. Marinho VC, Worthington HV, Walsh T, Chong LY. Fluoride gels for preventing dental caries in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;2015(6):CD002280.
- 12. Marinho VC, Chong LY, Worthington HV, Walsh T. Fluoride mouthrinses for preventing dental caries in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;7(7):CD002284.

13. Zhang J, Sardana D, Li KY, Leung KCM, Lo ECM. Topical fluoride to prevent root caries: systematic review with network meta-analysis. J Dent Res. 2020;99(5):506–13.

- 14. Marinho VC, Worthington HV, Walsh T, Clarkson JE. Fluoride varnishes for preventing dental caries in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013(7):CD002279.
- 15. Kashbour W, Gupta P, Worthington HV, Boyers D. Pit and fissure sealants versus fluoride varnishes for preventing dental decay in the permanent teeth of children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2020;11:CD003067.
- 16. Marinho VC, Higgins JP, Sheiham A, Logan S. Combinations of topical fluoride (toothpastes, mouthrinses, gels, varnishes) versus single topical fluoride for preventing dental caries in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2004;2004(1):CD002781.
- 17. Weyant RJ, Tracy SL, Anselmo TT, Beltrán-Aguilar ED, Donly KJ, Frese WA, et al. Topical fluoride for caries prevention: executive summary of the updated clinical recommendations and supporting systematic review. J Am Dent Assoc. 2013;144(11):1279–91.
- 18. Hawkins R, Locker D, Noble J, Kay EJ. Prevention. Part 7: professionally applied topical fluorides for caries prevention. Br Dent J. 2003;195(6):313–7.
- 19. Recommendations for using fluoride to prevent and control dental caries in the United States. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2001;50(Rr-14):1–42.
- Fluorides and oral health: report of a WHO Expert Committee on Oral Health Status and Fluoride Use. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1994 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 846, https://iris. who.int/handle/10665/39746, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 21. Ustrell-Borràs M, Traboulsi-Garet B, Gay-Escoda C. Alcohol-based mouthwash as a risk factor of oral cancer: a systematic review. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2020;25(1):e1–e12.
- 22. Milgrom P, Taves DM, Kim AS, Watson GE, Horst JA. Pharmacokinetics of fluoride in toddlers after application of 5% sodium fluoride dental varnish. Pediatrics. 2014;134(3):e870–4.
- 23. Garcia RI, Gregorich SE, Ramos-Gomez F, Braun PA, Wilson A, Albino J, et al. Absence of fluoride varnish-related adverse events in caries prevention trials in young children, United States. Prev Chronic Dis. 2017;14:E17.
- 24. Prevention and treatment of dental caries with mercury-free products and minimal intervention: WHO oral health briefing note series. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://iris.who. int/handle/10665/352480, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 25. Ending childhood dental caries: WHO implementation manual. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330643, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 26. World Health Assembly Resolution WHA74.5. Oral health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA74/A74\_R5-en.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 27. World Health Assembly Provisional agenda item 14.1 A75/10 Add.1. Follow-up to the political declaration of the third high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable disease. Annex 3, draft global strategy on oral health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA75/A75\_10Add1-en. pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Draft global oral health action plan (2023–2030). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/draft-global-oral-health-action-plan-(2023-2030), accessed 6 October 2023).
- Amilani U, Carter HE, Senanayake S, Hettiarachchi RM, McPhail SM, Kularatna S. A scoping review of cost-effectiveness analyses of school-based interventions for caries. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 2020;48(5):357–63.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

- 30. Mariño R, Fajardo J, Morgan M. Cost-effectiveness models for dental caries prevention programmes among Chilean schoolchildren. Community Dent Health. 2012;29(4):302–8.
- 31. Splieth CH, Flessa S. Modelling lifelong costs of caries with and without fluoride use. Eur J Oral Sci. 2008;116(2):164–9.
- 32. Effenberger S, Greenwall L, Cebula M, Myburgh N, Simpson K, Smit D, et al. Cost-effectiveness and efficacy of fluoride varnish for caries prevention in South African children: a cluster-randomized controlled community trial. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 2022;50(5):453–60.
- Bergström EK, Lingström P, Hakeberg M, Gahnberg L, Sköld UM. Caries and costs: an evaluation of a school-based fluoride varnish programme for adolescents in a Swedish region. Community Dent Health. 2016;33(2):138–44.
- 34. Nantanee R, Sriratanaban J. Cost-effectiveness and estimated net monetary benefits of a fluoride varnish application program during well-child visits by 9- to 30-month-old children in three areas of Thailand. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 2023;51(3):512–8.
- 35. Neidell M, Shearer B, Lamster IB. Cost-effectiveness analysis of dental sealants versus fluoride varnish in a school-based setting. Caries Res. 2016;50(Suppl 1):78–82.

Resin-based composites – addition – EML and EMLc

## **Resin-based composites**

ATC code: not applicable

## Proposal

Addition of resin-based composites on the core list of the EML and EMLc for the prevention and treatment of dental caries in adults and children.

## Applicant

Benoit Varenne, Dental Officer, Oral Health Programme, Noncommunicable Diseases Department, Division of UHC/Communicable and Noncommunicable Diseases, WHO Headquarters, Geneva, Switzerland

## WHO technical department

Noncommunicable Diseases

#### EML/EMLc

EML and EMLc

#### Section

30 Dental medicines and preparations

#### Dose form(s) & strengths(s)

Low-viscosity: single-use applicator or multi-use bottle (of any type for use as dental sealant)

High-viscosity: single-use capsule or multi-use syringe (of any type for use as dental filling material)

#### Core/complementary

Core

#### Individual/square box listing

Individual

#### Background

Resin-based composites have not previously been considered for inclusion on the Model Lists.

Glass ionomer cement was added to the Model Lists in 2021 as a dental sealant and filling material for the prevention and treatment of dental caries. The Expert Committee took into consideration that dental sealants, including glass ionomer cement, have been shown to be highly effective in the prevention and treatment dental caries. The main advantage of glass ionomer cement over other sealants was the simplicity of application, making it suitable for use in atraumatic restorative treatment by dentists and other health professionals in primary care, and community and field settings outside of specialized dental clinics. The Committee noted that while other types of sealants or fillings, such as resin-based products, are at least as effective as glass ionomer cement sealants and may have better mechanical properties (e.g. adherence to the tooth), they require more specialized expertise and application techniques and conditions. Glass ionomer cement was considered particularly suitable for people who are unable to tolerate conventional invasive dental treatment, such as young children, elderly people and patients with mental health conditions who may have difficulty cooperating (1).

### Public health relevance

The WHO global oral health status report, using the latest available data of the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019, estimates that oral diseases affect close to 3.5 billion people worldwide. Dental caries is the most widespread oral disease with more than 2.5 billion untreated cases. This includes more than 2 billion estimated cases of caries in permanent teeth (global average prevalence of 29%) and 514 million estimated cases of caries in primary (deciduous) teeth (global average prevalence of 43%). Among the 194 WHO Member States, 134 have prevalence figures greater than 40% for caries in primary teeth. More than three quarters of cases of untreated caries teeth are found in middle-income countries. Over the past 30 years cases of untreated caries have increased and surpassed the demographic population growth during the same period (2).

Untreated dental caries may cause pain and infection, and may lead to systemic infections requiring hospitalization and complex treatment. The high prevalence and severity of untreated dental caries in children can contribute to low body mass index and stunting (3-5). Additionally, dental caries results in significant absenteeism in schools and workplaces (6,7). Good oral health is essential for healthy aging (8).

The burden of dental caries varies significantly across populations within and between countries, with a clear socioeconomic gradient showing higher disease burden in deprived and disadvantaged communities, who also have limited access to prevention and oral health services (2,9). Caries affects people throughout their lives, with varying patterns of burden across age groups – starting in early childhood, increasing notably in adolescence and continuing to rise in adulthood (10).

#### Summary of evidence: benefits

## Resin-based composites as sealants

A 2017 Cochrane systematic review of 38 randomized controlled trials (7924 participants) evaluated the effectiveness of dental sealants for preventing dental caries in children and adolescents (*11*). For the comparison of resin-based composite sealants versus no sealant, there was moderate quality evidence that resin-based sealants were superior to no sealant for preventing caries in first permanent molars in children aged 5–10 years at 2 years of follow-up (odds ratio (OR) 0.12, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.08 to 0.97; seven randomized controlled trials, 1322 participants). The superior effect was maintained over 48 and 54 months of follow-up, however the quality and quantity of the evidence declined. For comparisons of glass ionomer sealants versus resin sealants, the trials identified in the review reported inconclusive results for relative effectiveness, although they generally indicated that resin-based sealants had better retention rates at 24 months follow-up and beyond.

A 2022 Cochrane systematic review of nine randomized controlled trials (1120 participants) evaluated the effectiveness of different dental sealants for preventing dental caries in primary teeth of children aged 18 months to 8 years (*12*). Data were not pooled due to differences in study design (e.g. age of participants and duration of follow-up). The incidence of development of new caries lesions was typically low across the different sealant types evaluated; however, the authors concluded that the certainty of the evidence for the comparisons and outcome of caries incidence was low or very low. A study with 200 participants reported an advantage of resin-based sealants over glass ionomer sealants for complete or partial retention at 24 months (OR 0.20, 95% CI 0.11 to 0.36) (*13*).

A 2020 Cochrane systematic review of 11 randomized controlled trials (3374 participants) compared pit and fissure sealants versus fluoride varnish for preventing dental caries in permanent teeth of children and adolescents (14). For the comparison of resin-based sealants versus fluoride varnish, it was uncertain whether one was better than the other in preventing caries in first permanent molars at 2–3 years of follow up (OR 0.67, 95% CI 0.37 to 1.19; four randomized controlled trials, 1683 participants). There was low-certainty evidence from one study (542 participants) of a small advantage for resin-based sealant over fluoride varnish for the outcomes of decayed, missing and filled permanent surfaces increment at 2 years (mean difference (MD) –0.09, 95% CI –0.15 to –0.03) and decayed, missing and filled permanent teeth increment at 2 years (MD –0.08, 95% CI –0.14 to –0.02) (15). There was very low-certainty evidence from one study (75 participants) of a benefit for sealant at 4 years in preventing caries (risk ratio (RR) 0.42, 95% CI 0.21 to 0.84) and at 9 years (RR 0.48, 95% CI 0.29 to 0.79; 75 children) (16).

#### Resin-based composites as filling material

A 2021 Cochrane systematic review of eight randomized controlled trials compared the efficacy as measured by restoration failure or survival at 3 years follow-up of direct composite resin fillings versus amalgam fillings for permanent posterior teeth (*17*). Data were combined from two parallel-group trials (921 participants) for the primary meta-analyses. There was low-certainty evidence that composite resin restorations had a greater risk of failure compared with amalgam restorations (RR 1.89, 95% CI 1.52 to 2.35), and were at higher risk of secondary caries (RR 2.14, 95% CI 1.67 to 2.74). There was also low certainty evidence that composite resin restorations were not more likely to result in restoration fracture (RR 0.87, 95% CI 0.46 to 1.64). The authors noted that composite resin materials have improved substantially in the years since the trials informing the primary analyses were conducted, and that the global phase-down of dental amalgam with the Minamata Convention on Mercury was an important consideration for decision-making when choosing materials for dental restorations.

A 2015 systematic review of 17 clinical studies evaluated the long-term clinical performance of composite resin restorations placed in anterior teeth (*18*). Among a total of 1821 restorations evaluated, the total failure rate was 24.1%. Annual failure rates varied from 0 to 4.1%, and survival rates varied from 53.3% to 100.0% across the studies.

#### Summary of evidence: harms

The 2021 Cochrane systematic review comparing composite resin fillings with amalgam fillings for permanent posterior teeth found very low-certainty evidence suggesting that there may be no clinically important differences in the safety profile of amalgam compared with composite resin dental restorations (*17*).

A 2015 systematic literature review examined allergic reactions to dental materials, considering both patients and providers. In the case of resin-based composites, the main potential allergen is the metacrylate compound. However, reports of allergic reactions specifically to resin-based composite fillings or dental sealants were rare. Reactions are typically localized, such as erythema (redness) of the surrounding gum, and subside after the removal of the resin-based composite material (*19*).

A study based on data from the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study found no increased risk for adverse birth outcomes associated with placement of resin-based composite fillings during pregnancy (20).

#### WHO guidelines

WHO plays an important role in global coordination of the work on phasing down the use of dental amalgam and the introduction of good-quality alternative materials for restorative dental care (21).

A 2022 WHO briefing note on the prevention and treatment of dental caries with mercury-free products and minimal intervention provided updated guidance on resin-based composites (22). The publication lists the following benefits of using resin-based composites:

- effective against caries, with good durability in small-to-moderate restorations, and more durable than glass ionomer cement for large, multisurface, load-bearing restorations;
- minimally invasive and protective of more of the natural tooth structure than conventional methods;
- improved health and quality of life through reductions in infection, pain, tooth damage and the need to fill future cavities, thereby reducing financial burdens for individuals and health systems, and reducing school and work absenteeism;
- aesthetic benefits, as composite resin can match the colour and translucency of natural teeth;
- environmental and public health benefits as a mercury-free alternative to dental amalgam;
- safe, cost-effective and potentially widely available; and
- suitable for use in primary care facilities by trained dentists.

The 2011 World Health Assembly resolution on oral health (23) and the 2022 draft global strategy on oral health (24) highlight the urgent need to intensify preventive efforts, particularly for dental caries. To address this issue, the draft global oral health action plan was prepared, which includes a target that 50% of countries will include dental preparations that are listed in the WHO Model Lists on their national essential medicines lists by 2030 (25).

## Costs/cost-effectiveness

Evidence on the cost and cost-effectiveness of resin-based composites as dental sealant and filling material is limited.

A study in Chile modelled the cost-effectiveness of different caries preventive programmes versus no intervention from a societal perspective (26). Health outcomes were measured as dental caries averted over a 6-year period. Costs were estimated as direct treatment costs, programmes costs and costs of parental productivity losses as a result of each dental caries prevention programme. Four programmes (salt fluoridation, water fluoridation, milk fluoridation and fluoridated mouthrinses) showed net social savings for dental caries averted. Programmes using fluoride gel application, dental sealants and supervised toothbrushing were associated with costs per diseased tooth averted of US\$ 21.30, US\$ 11.56 and US\$ 8.55, respectively. A multicountry randomized controlled trial evaluated the costeffectiveness of glass ionomer cement versus resin composites in the treatment of dental caries from a payers perspective (27). Overall costs were lower for glass hybrid than resin composites in Croatia, Serbia and Türkiye, but differences in costs between interventions were minimal in Italy. The overall survival time for restorations over 3 years was not significantly different between interventions.

A cost-comparison study of dental filling procedures using amalgam and resin composite fillings was done in nine European countries (28). Mean unit costs for dental amalgam and resin composite fillings were  $\in$ 2.03 and  $\in$ 4.75, respectively.

#### Availability

Resin-based composites are available through medical and dental retailers for professional use and are reported to be available globally.

For public dental services, procurement of supplies such as resin-based composite is generally undertaken by the service administrators (e.g. health ministry or other agencies).

#### **Committee recommendations**

The Expert Committee acknowledged the large global burden of dental caries and noted the work undertaken by WHO in developing a global oral health action plan, in which targets have been set that by 2030, 50% of countries will include essential dental preparations that are on the EML/EMLc in their national essential medicines lists, and 90% of countries will have implemented measures to phase down or will have phased out the use of dental amalgam as stipulated in the Minamata Convention on Mercury.

The Committee noted that the available evidence indicated that resinbased composites were effective and safe for use as dental sealants (lowviscosity forms) and as filling materials (high-viscosity forms) in the prevention and treatment of dental caries. The Committee also noted that resin-based composites may have functional and aesthetic advantages compared with glass ionomer cement, however they required more specialized expertise and facilities for application. The Committee noted that the evidence suggested that resinbased composites were not as effective as dental amalgam when used as a filling material but considered that the availability of alternatives to dental amalgam was important to enable parties to the Minamata Convention on Mercury to achieve the mandated phase down of dental amalgam use to reduce environmental mercury pollution.

The Committee noted that limited information was available on the cost and cost–effectiveness of resin-based composites. They may be more expensive than other prevention and treatment options. The Committee considered that

having more treatment options available could increase access and affordability at the country level.

The Expert Committee therefore recommended the inclusion of resinbased composites on the core list of the EML and EMLc for use as sealant and filling material in the prevention and treatment of dental caries.

## References

- The selection and use of essential medicines. Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 6th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1035; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/351172, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Global oral health status report: towards universal health coverage for oral health by 2030. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/364538, accessed 6 October 2023).
- Benzian H, Monse B, Heinrich-Weltzien R, Hobdell M, Mulder J, van Palenstein Helderman W. Untreated severe dental decay: a neglected determinant of low body mass index in 12-year-old Filipino children. BMC Public Health. 2011;11:558.
- 4. Renggli EP, Turton B, Sokal-Gutierrez K, Hondru G, Chher T, Hak S, et al. Stunting malnutrition associated with severe tooth decay in Cambodian toddlers. Nutrients. 2021;13(2).
- Gudipaneni RK, Albilasi RM, HadiAlrewili O, Alam MK, Patil SR, Saeed F. Association of body mass index and waist circumference with dental caries and consequences of untreated dental caries among 12- to 14-year-old boys: a cross-sectional study. Int Dent J. 2021;71(6):522–9.
- 6. Guarnizo-Herreño CC, Lyu W, Wehby GL. Children's oral health and academic performance: evidence of a persisting relationship over the last decade in the United States. J Pediatr. 2019;209:183–9.e2.
- Ruff RR, Senthi S, Susser SR, Tsutsui A. Oral health, academic performance, and school absenteeism in children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Dent Assoc. 2019;150(2):111–21.e4.
- Tanaka T, Takahashi K, Hirano H, Kikutani T, Watanabe Y, Ohara Y, et al. Oral frailty as a risk factor for physical frailty and mortality in community-dwelling elderly. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2018;73(12):1661–7.
- 9. Peres MA, Macpherson LMD, Weyant RJ, Daly B, Venturelli R, Mathur MR, et al. Oral diseases: a global public health challenge. Lancet. 2019;394(10194):249–60.
- Heilmann A, Tsakos G, Watt RG. Oral health over the life course. In: Burton-Jeangros C, Cullati S, Sacker A, Blane D, editors. A life course perspective on health trajectories and transitions. Cham: Springer; 2015:39–59.
- 11. Ahovuo-Saloranta A, Forss H, Walsh T, Nordblad A, Mäkelä M, Worthington HV. Pit and fissure sealants for preventing dental decay in permanent teeth. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;7(7):CD001830.
- 12. Ramamurthy P, Rath A, Sidhu P, Fernandes B, Nettem S, Fee PA, et al. Sealants for preventing dental caries in primary teeth. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2022;2(2):CD012981.
- 13. Ganesh M, Tandon S. Clinical evaluation of FUJI VII sealant material. J Clin Pediatr Dent. 2006;31(1):52–7.

- 14. Kashbour W, Gupta P, Worthington HV, Boyers D. Pit and fissure sealants versus fluoride varnishes for preventing dental decay in the permanent teeth of children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2020;11(11):CD003067.
- 15. Tang LH, Shi L, Yuan S, Lv J, Lu HX. [Effectiveness of 3 different methods in prevention of dental caries in permanent teeth among children]. Shanghai Kou Qiang Yi Xue. 2014;23(6):736–9 [in Chinese].
- 16. Bravo M, Montero J, Bravo JJ, Baca P, Llodra JC. Sealant and fluoride varnish in caries: a randomized trial. J Dent Res. 2005;84(12):1138–43.
- 17. Worthington HV, Khangura S, Seal K, Mierzwinski-Urban M, Veitz-Keenan A, Sahrmann P, et al. Direct composite resin fillings versus amalgam fillings for permanent posterior teeth. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2021;8(8):CD005620.
- Demarco FF, Collares K, Coelho-de-Souza FH, Correa MB, Cenci MS, Moraes RR, et al. Anterior composite restorations: a systematic review on long-term survival and reasons for failure. Dent Mater. 2015;31(10):1214–24.
- 19. Syed M, Chopra R, Sachdev V. Allergic reactions to dental materials-a systematic review. J Clin Diagn Res. 2015;9(10):Ze04–9.
- 20. Berge TLL, Lygre GB, Lie SA, Björkman L. Polymer-based dental filling materials placed during pregnancy and risk to the foetus. BMC Oral Health. 2018;18(1):144.
- 21. Future use of materials for dental restoration: report of the meeting convened at WHO HQ, Geneva, Switzerland 16th to 17th November 2009. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009 (https://iris. who.int/handle/10665/202500, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 22. Prevention and treatment of dental caries with mercury-free products and minimal intervention. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (WHO oral health briefing note series; https://iris.who. int/handle/10665/352480, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 23. World Health Assembly Resolution WHA74.5. Oral health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA74/A74\_R5-en.pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 24. World Health Assembly Provisional agenda item 14.1 A75/10 Add.1. Follow-up to the political declaration of the third high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable disease. Annex 3, draft global strategy on oral health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA75/A75\_10Add1-en. pdf, accessed 6 October 2023).
- 25. Draft global oral health action plan (2023–2030). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/draft-global-oral-health-action-plan-(2023-2030), accessed 6 October 2023).
- 26. Mariño R, Fajardo J, Morgan M. Cost-effectiveness models for dental caries prevention programmes among Chilean schoolchildren. Community Dent Health. 2012;29(4):302–8.
- 27. Schwendicke F, Rossi JG, Krois J, Basso M, Peric T, Turkun LS, et al. Cost-effectiveness of glass hybrid versus composite in a multi-country randomized trial. J Dent. 2021;107:103614.
- 28. Tan SS, Ken Redekop W, Rutten FF. Costs and prices of single dental fillings in Europe: a microcosting study. Health Econ. 2008;17(1 Suppl):S83–93.

## Acknowledgements

WHO gratefully acknowledges the significant contributions of the Expert Committee members and temporary advisers who participated in the meeting of the 24th WHO Expert Committee on Selection and Use of Essential Medicines.

# Annex 1

## WHO Model List of Essential Medicines – 23rd List (2023)

## **Explanatory notes**

The **core list** presents a list of minimum medicine needs for a basic health-care system, listing the most efficacious, safe and cost–effective medicines for priority conditions. Priority conditions are selected on the basis of current and estimated future public health relevance, and potential for safe and cost-effective treatment.

Where the **[c]** symbol is placed next to an individual medicine or strength of medicine on the core list it signifies that there is a specific indication for restricting its use to children.

The **complementary list** presents essential medicines for priority diseases, for which specialized diagnostic or monitoring facilities, and/or specialist medical care, and/or specialist training are needed. In case of doubt medicines may also be listed as complementary on the basis of consistent higher costs or less attractive cost-effectiveness in a variety of settings.

Where the **[c]** symbol is placed next to an individual medicine or strength of medicine on the complementary list it signifies that the medicine(s) require(s) specialist diagnostic or monitoring facilities, and/or specialist medical care, and/or specialist training for their use in children.

The square box symbol  $(\Box)$  is intended to indicate therapeutic alternatives to the listed medicine that may be considered for selection in national essential medicines lists. Alternatives may be individual medicines, or multiple medicines within a pharmacological class or chemical subgroup, defined at the 4th level of the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification, which have similar clinical effectiveness and safety. The listed medicine should be the example of the class or subgroup for which there is the best evidence for effectiveness and safety. In some cases, this may be the first medicine that is licensed for marketing; in other instances, subsequently licensed compounds may be safer or more effective. Where there is no difference in terms of efficacy and safety data, the listed medicine should be the one that is generally available at the lowest price, based on international drug price information sources. Not all square box listings are applicable to medicine selection for children. A square box is not used to indicate alternative generic brands of the same small molecule medicines, nor alternative biosimilars of biological medicines. However, the selection and use of quality-assured generics and biosimilars of essential medicines at country level is recommended.

National lists should not use a similar symbol and should be specific in their final selection, which would depend on local availability and price.

The **a** symbol indicates that there is an age or weight restriction on use of the medicine; details for each medicine can be found in Table 1.1.

The presence of an entry on the Essential Medicines List carries no assurance as to pharmaceutical quality. It is the responsibility of the relevant national or regional drug regulatory authority to ensure that each product is of appropriate pharmaceutical quality (including stability) and that, when relevant, different products are interchangeable.

For recommendations and advice concerning all aspects of the quality assurance of medicines see the WHO website https://www.who.int/teams/ health-product-and-policy-standards/standards-and-specifications/norms-andstandards-for-pharmaceuticals/guidelines/quality-assurance.

Medicines and dosage forms are listed in alphabetical order within each section and the order of listing does not imply preference for one form over another. Standard treatment guidelines should be consulted for information on appropriate dosage forms.

The main terms used for dosage forms in the Essential Medicines List can be found in Table 1.2.

Definitions of many of these terms and pharmaceutical quality requirements applicable to the different categories are published in the current edition of The International Pharmacopoeia. https://www.who.int/teams/ health-product-policy-and-standards/standards-and-specifications/norms-andstandards-for-pharmaceuticals/international-pharmacopoeia.

## 1. ANAESTHETICS, PREOPERATIVE MEDICINES AND MEDICAL GASES

## 1.1 General anaesthetics and oxygen

## 1.1.1 Inhalational medicines

| halothane                  | Inhalation.   |
|----------------------------|---|
| isoflurane                 | Inhalation.   |
| nitrous oxide              | Inhalation.   |
| oxygen                     | Inhalation (medical gas).                             |
| sevoflurane                | Inhalation.   |
| 1.1.2 Injectable medicines |   |
| ketamine                   | Injection: 50 mg/mL (as hydrochloride) in 10 mL vial. |
| D propofol                 | Injection: 10 mg/mL; 20 mg/mL.                        |
| Therapeutic alternatives:  |   |
| – thiopental               |   |

#### 1.2 Local anaesthetics

| bupivacaine<br>Therapeutic alternatives to be<br>reviewed | <b>Injection:</b> 0.25%; 0.5% (hydrochloride) in vial.<br><b>Injection for spinal anaesthesia:</b> 0.5% (hydrochloride) in 4 mL ampoule to be mixed with 7.5% glucose solution.  |
|---|--|
| □ lidocaine<br>Therapeutic alternatives to be<br>reviewed | <b>Injection:</b> 1%; 2% (hydrochloride) in vial.<br><b>Injection for spinal anaesthesia:</b> 5% (hydrochloride) in<br>2 mL ampoule to be mixed with 7.5% glucose solution.<br><b>Topical forms:</b> 2% to 4% (hydrochloride). |
| lidocaine + epinephrine<br>(adrenaline)                   | Dental cartridge: 2% (hydrochloride) + epinephrine<br>1:80 000.<br>Injection: 1%; 2% (hydrochloride or sulfate) +<br>epinephrine 1:200 000 in vial.  |
| Complementary List  |  |
| ephedrine   | <b>Injection:</b> 30 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 1 mL ampoule.<br>(For use in spinal anaesthesia during delivery, to prevent hypotension).  |

#### 1. ANAESTHETICS, PREOPERATIVE MEDICINES AND MEDICAL GASES (continued)

#### 1.3 Preoperative medication and sedation for short-term procedures

| atropine                                | Injection: 1 mg (sulfate) in 1 mL ampoule.                   |
|---|--|
| 🗆 midazolam                             | Injection: 1 mg/mL.  |
| Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed | Oral liquid: 2 mg/mL [c] .<br>Tablet: 7.5 mg; 15 mg.         |
| morphine                                | Injection: 10 mg (sulfate or hydrochloride) in 1 mL ampoule. |

#### 1.4 Medical gases

oxygen\*

#### Inhalation

For use in the management of hypoxaemia.

\* No more than 30% oxygen should be used to initiate resuscitation of neonates less than or equal to 32 weeks of gestation.

#### 2. MEDICINES FOR PAIN AND PALLIATIVE CARE

#### 2.1 Non-opioids and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medicines (NSAIMs)

| acetylsalicylic acid            | Suppository: 50 mg to 150 mg.<br>Tablet: 100 mg to 500 mg.  |
|---------------------------------|---|
| ibuprofen a                     | Oral liquid: 100 mg/5 mL [c] , 200 mg/5 mL.<br>Tablet: 200 mg; 400 mg; 600 mg.<br>a Not in children less than 3 months.   |
| paracetamol*<br>(acetaminophen) | Oral liquid: 120 mg/5 mL or 125 mg/5 mL**, 250 mg/5 mL [c].<br>**The presence of both 120 mg/5 mL and 125 mg/5 mL strengths<br>on the same market would cause confusion in prescribing and<br>dispensing and should be avoided.                     |
|                                 | <ul> <li>Suppository: 100 mg, 250 mg [c].</li> <li>Tablet: 250 mg, 325 mg, 500 mg.</li> <li>Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg, 250 mg [c].</li> <li>* Not recommended for anti-inflammatory use due to lack of proven benefit to that effect.</li> </ul> |

2. MEDICINES FOR PAIN AND PALLIATIVE CARE (continued)

| 2.2 Opioid analgesics              |   |
|------------------------------------|---|
| codeine                            | Tablet: 30 mg (phosphate).  |
| fentanyl*                          | Transdermal patch: 12 micrograms/hr;<br>25 micrograms/hr; 50 micrograms/hr; 75 micrograms/hr;<br>100 micrograms/hr<br>* For the management of cancer pain |
| morphine Therapeutic alternatives: | <b>Granules (slow release; to mix with water):</b> 20 mg to 200 mg (morphine sulfate).  |
| – hydrormorphone<br>– oxycodone    | <b>Injection:</b> 10 mg (morphine hydrochloride or morphine sulfate) in 1 mL ampoule.   |
|                                    | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 10 mg/5 mL (morphine hydrochloride or morphine sulfate).  |
|                                    | <b>Tablet (slow release):</b> 10 mg to 200mg (morphine hydrochloride or morphine sulfate).  |
|                                    | Tablet (immediate release): 10 mg (morphine sulfate).   |
| Complementary list                 |   |
| methadone*                         | Tablet: 5 mg; 10 mg (hydrochloride)   |
|                                    | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 5 mg/5 mL; 10 mg/5 mL (hydrochloride)   |
|                                    | <b>Concentrate for oral liquid:</b> 5 mg/mL; 10 mg/mL<br>(hydrochloride)  |
|                                    | * For the management of cancer pain.  |
| 2.3 Medicines for other com        | mon symptoms in palliative care   |
| amitriptyline                      | Tablet: 10 mg; 25 mg; 75 mg.  |
| cyclizine [c]                      | Injection: 50 mg/mL.  |
|                                    | Tablet: 50 mg.  |
| dexamethasone                      | Injection: 4 mg/mL (as disodium phosphate salt) in<br>1 mL ampoule.   |
|                                    | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 2 mg/5 mL.  |
|                                    | Tablet: 2 mg [c] ; 4 mg.  |

### 2. MEDICINES FOR PAIN AND PALLIATIVE CARE (continued)

| diazepam   | Injection: 5 mg/mL.<br>Oral liquid: 2 mg/5 mL.<br>Rectal gel: 5 mg/mL in 0.5 mL, 2 mL, 4 mL rectal<br>delivery system.<br>Rectal solution: 2 mg/mL in 1.25 mL, 2.5 mL rectal<br>tube; 4 mg/mL in 2.5 mL rectal tube.<br>Tablet: 5 mg; 10 mg. |
|--|--|
| docusate sodium  | <b>Capsule:</b> 100 mg.<br><b>Oral liquid:</b> 50 mg/5 mL.   |
| fluoxetine   | Solid oral dosage form: 20 mg (as hydrochloride).  |
| haloperidol  | Injection: 5 mg in 1 mL ampoule.<br>Oral liquid: 2 mg/mL.<br>Solid oral dosage form: 0.5 mg; 2mg; 5 mg.  |
| hyoscine butylbromide  | Injection: 20 mg/mL.   |
| hyoscine hydrobromide [c]  | Injection: 400 micrograms/mL; 600 micrograms/mL.<br>Transdermal patches: 1 mg/72 hours.  |
| lactulose [c]  | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 3.1 to 3.7 g/5 mL.   |
| loperamide   | Solid oral dosage form: 2 mg.  |
| metoclopramide   | Injection: 5 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule.<br>Oral liquid: 5 mg/5 mL.<br>Solid oral dosage form: 10 mg (hydrochloride).   |
| midazolam  | Injection: 1 mg/mL; 5 mg/mL.<br>Oral liquid: 2mg/mL [c]<br>Solid oral dosage form: 7.5 mg; 15 mg.  |
| <ul> <li>ondansetron a</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>dolasetron</li> <li>granisetron</li> <li>palonosetron</li> <li>tropisetron</li> </ul> | Injection: 2 mg base/mL in 2 mL ampoule<br>(as hydrochloride).<br>Oral liquid: 4 mg base/5 mL.<br>Solid oral dosage form: Eq 4 mg base; Eq 8 mg base.<br>a > 1 month.  |
| senna  | Oral liquid: 7.5 mg/5 mL.  |

## 3. ANTIALLERGICS AND MEDICINES USED IN ANAPHYLAXIS

| dexamethasone                             | Injection: 4 mg/mL (as disodium phosphate salt) in<br>1 mL ampoule.               |
|---|---|
| epinephrine (adrenaline)                  | Injection: 1 mg/mL (as hydrochloride or hydrogen tartrate) in 1 mL ampoule.       |
| hydrocortisone                            | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 100 mg (as sodium succinate) in vial.                |
| □ loratadine*                             | Oral liquid: 1 mg/mL.   |
| Therapeutic alternatives:                 | Tablet: 10 mg.  |
| – cetirizine<br>– fexofenadine            | * There may be a role for sedating antihistamines for limited indications (EMLc). |
| □ prednisolone                            | Oral liquid: 5 mg/mL [c] .  |
| Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– prednisone | <br>Tablet: 5 mg; 25 mg.  |

#### 4. ANTIDOTES AND OTHER SUBSTANCES USED IN POISONINGS

| 41          | Non- | snecific |
|-------------|------|----------|
| <b>T</b> .I | NOT  | specific |

| charcoal, activated  | Powder.  |
|--|--|
| 4.2 Specific   |  |
| acetylcysteine   | Injection: 200 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule.<br>Oral liquid: 10% [c] ; 20% [c] . |
| atropine   | Injection: 1 mg (sulfate) in 1 mL ampoule.                                 |
| calcium gluconate  | Injection: 100 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule.                                     |
| methylthioninium chloride<br>(methylene blue)                      | <b>Injection:</b> 10 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule.                               |
| naloxone   | Injection: 400 micrograms (hydrochloride) in 1 mL ampoule.                 |
| penicillamine  | Solid oral dosage form: 250 mg.  |
| potassium ferric<br>hexacyano-ferrate(II) -2H₂O<br>(Prussian blue) | Powder for oral administration.  |
| sodium nitrite   | Injection: 30 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule.                                      |
| sodium thiosulfate   | Injection: 250 mg/mL in 50 mL ampoule.                                     |

#### 4. ANTIDOTES AND OTHER SUBSTANCES USED IN POISONINGS (continued)

#### Complementary List

| deferoxamine           | Powder for injection: 500 mg (mesilate) in vial.   |
|------------------------|--|
| dimercaprol            | Injection in oil: 50 mg/mL in 2 mL ampoule.  |
| fomepizole             | <i>Injection:</i> 5 mg/mL (sulfate) in 20 mL ampoule or 1 g/mL (base) in 1.5 mL ampoule. |
| sodium calcium edetate | Injection: 200 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule.  |
| succimer               | Solid oral dosage form: 100 mg.  |

#### 5. MEDICINES FOR DISEASES OF THE NERVOUS SYSTEM

#### 5.1 Antiseizure medicines carbamazepine Oral liquid: 100 mg/5 mL. Tablet (chewable): 100 mg; 200 mg. Tablet (scored): 100 mg; 200 mg; 400 mg. diazepam Rectal gel: 5 mg/mL in 0.5 mL, 2 mL, 4 mL rectal delivery system. Rectal solution: 2 mg/mL in 1.25 mL, 2.5 mL rectal tube; 4 mg/mL in 2.5 mL rectal tube. lamotrigine\* Tablet: 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg; 200 mg. Tablet (chewable, dispersible): 2 mg; 5 mg; 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg; 200 mg. \* For use as adjunctive therapy for treatment-resistant partial or generalized seizures. levetiracetam Oral solution: 100 mg/mL. Tablet: 250 mg; 500 mg; 750 mg; 1000 mg. Injection: 2 mg/mL in 1 mL ampoule; 4 mg/mL in 1 mL □ lorazepam ampoule. Therapeutic alternatives: - diazepam (injection) - midazolam (injection) magnesium sulfate\* Injection: 0.5 g/mL in 2 mL ampoule (equivalent to 1 g in 2 mL; 50% weight/volume); 0.5 g/mL in 10 mL ampoule (equivalent to 5 g in 10 mL; 50% weight/ volume). \* For use in eclampsia and severe pre-eclampsia and not for other convulsant disorders.

| 5. MEDICINES FOR DISEASES OF THE NERVOUS SYSTEM (continued)   |  |  |
|---|--|--|
| midazolam   | Solution for oromucosal administration: 5 mg/mL in 0.5 mL, 1 mL, 1.5 mL, 2 mL pre-filled syringe; 10 mg/mL in 0.25 mL, 0.5 mL, 0.75 mL, 1 mL pre-filled syringe. |  |
|   | Injection*: 1 mg/mL in 5 mL vial; 5 mg/mL in 1 mL or 3 mL vial.  |  |
|   | <ul> <li>* For buccal administration when solution for oromucosal<br/>administration is not available.</li> </ul>  |  |
| phenobarbital   | Injection: 30 mg/mL or 60 mg/mL [c] ; 200 mg/mL (sodium).  |  |
|   | Oral liquid: 15 mg/5 mL.   |  |
|   | Tablet: 15 mg to 100 mg.   |  |
| phenytoin   | Injection: 50 mg/mL (phenytoin sodium).<br>Oral liquid: 30 mg/5 mL (phenytoin).  |  |
|   | <b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg<br>(phenytoin sodium).   |  |
|   | Tablet (chewable): 50 mg (phenytoin).  |  |
| <ul> <li>valproic acid</li> <li>(sodium valproate)*</li> <li>* Avoid use in pregnancy and<br/>in women and girls of child-<br/>bearing potential, unless<br/>alternative treatments are<br/>ineffective or not tolerated<br/>because of the high risk of birth<br/>defects and developmental<br/>disorders in children exposed to<br/>valproate in the womb.</li> </ul> | Oral liquid: 200 mg/5 mL.<br>Tablet (crushable): 100 mg.<br>Tablet (enteric-coated): 200 mg; 500 mg.   |  |
| Complementary List  | <b>6 1 37</b>  |  |
| ethosuximide  | Capsule: 250 mg.<br>Oral liquid: 250 mg/5 mL.  |  |
| levetiracetam   | <b>Concentrate solution for infusion:</b> 500 mg/5 mL in 5 mL vial.  |  |
|   | <b>Solution for infusion:</b> 5 mg/mL; 10 mg/mL; 15 mg/mL in 100 mL bag.   |  |

#### 5. MEDICINES FOR DISEASES OF THE NERVOUS SYSTEM (continued)

#### valproic acid (sodium valproate)\*

*Injection:* 100 mg/mL in 3 mL, 4 mL, 10 mL ampoule.

\* Avoid use in pregnancy and in women and girls of childbearing potential, unless alternative treatments are ineffective or not tolerated because of the high risk of birth defects and developmental disorders in children exposed to valproate in the womb.

#### 5.2 Medicines for multiple sclerosis

### **Complementary List**

| cladribine  | <b>Tablet:</b> 10 mg.   |
|---|---|
| glatiramer acetate  | Injection (subcutaneous): 20 mg/mL; 40 mg/mL in pre-<br>filled syringe. |
| rituximab*  | Injection (intravenous): 500 mg/50 mL in 50 mL vial.                    |
| <ul> <li>including quality-assured<br/>biosimilars</li> </ul> |   |

#### 5.3 Medicines for parkinsonism

| <ul> <li>biperiden</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>trihexyphenidyl</li> </ul> | <b>Injection:</b> 5 mg (lactate) in 1 mL ampoule.<br><b>Tablet:</b> 2 mg (hydrochloride). |
|---|---|
| levodopa +  carbidopa Therapeutic alternatives: - benserazide (for carbidopa)             | <b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg + 10 mg; 100 mg + 25 mg;<br>250 mg + 25 mg.                         |

#### 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES

## 6.1 Anthelminthics

## 6.1.1 Intestinal anthelminthics

| albendazole | Tablet (chewable, scored): 400 mg.        |
|-------------|---|
| ivermectin  | Tablet: 3 mg.                             |
| levamisole  | Tablet: 50 mg; 150 mg (as hydrochloride). |
| mebendazole | Tablet (chewable): 100 mg; 500 mg.        |

| 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued) |   |  |  |
|---|---|--|--|
| niclosamide                             | Tablet (chewable): 500 mg.  |  |  |
| praziquantel                            | Tablet: 150 mg; 500 mg.<br>Tablet (scored): 600 mg.   |  |  |
| pyrantel                                | Tablet (chewable): 250 mg (as embonate or pamoate).   |  |  |
| 6.1.2 Antifilarials                     |   |  |  |
| albendazole                             | Tablet (chewable, scored): 400 mg.  |  |  |
| diethylcarbamazine                      | Tablet: 50 mg; 100 mg (dihydrogen citrate).   |  |  |
| ivermectin                              | Tablet: 3 mg.   |  |  |
| 6.1.3 Antischistosomals and             | other antitrematode medicines   |  |  |
| praziquantel                            | Tablet: 150 mg, 500 mg.<br>Tablet (scored): 600 mg.   |  |  |
| triclabendazole                         | Tablet (scored): 250 mg.  |  |  |
| Complementary List                      |   |  |  |
| oxamniquine*                            | <b>Capsule:</b> 250 mg.<br><b>Oral liquid:</b> 250 mg/5 mL.<br>* For use when praziquantel treatment fails. |  |  |
| 6.1.4 Cysticidal medicines              |   |  |  |
| Complementary List                      |   |  |  |
| albendazole                             | Tablet (chewable): 200 mg [c] .<br>Tablet (chewable, scored): 400 mg.                                       |  |  |
| mebendazole                             | Tablet (chewable): 100 mg [c] , 500 mg.   |  |  |
| praziquantel                            | <b>Tablet:</b> 150 mg, 500 mg.<br><b>Tablet (scored)</b> : 600 mg.  |  |  |

#### 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued)

#### 6.2 Antibacterials

To assist in the development of tools for antibiotic stewardship at local, national and global levels and to reduce antimicrobial resistance, the Access, Watch, Reserve (AWaRe) classification of antibiotics was developed – where antibiotics are classified into different groups to emphasize the importance of their appropriate use.

#### ACCESS GROUP ANTIBIOTICS

This group includes antibiotics that have activity against a wide range of commonly encountered susceptible pathogens while also showing lower resistance potential than antibiotics in the other groups. Selected Access group antibiotics are recommended as essential first or second choice empiric treatment options for infectious syndromes reviewed by the EML Expert Committee and are listed as individual medicines on the Model Lists to improve access and promote appropriate use. They are essential antibiotics that should be widely available, affordable and quality assured.

#### WATCH GROUP ANTIBIOTICS

This group includes antibiotic classes that have higher resistance potential and includes most of the highest priority agents among the Critically Important Antimicrobials for Human Medicine and/or antibiotics that are at relatively high risk of selection of bacterial resistance. These medicines should be prioritized as key targets of stewardship programs and monitoring. Selected Watch group antibiotics are recommended as essential first or second choice empiric treatment options for a limited number of specific infectious syndromes and are listed as individual medicines on the Model Lists.

#### **RESERVE GROUP ANTIBIOTICS**

This group includes antibiotics and antibiotic classes that should be reserved for treatment of confirmed or suspected infections due to multi-drug-resistant organisms. Reserve group antibiotics should be treated as "last resort" options. Selected Reserve group antibiotics are listed as individual medicines on the Model Lists when they have a favourable risk-benefit profile and proven activity against "Critical Priority" or "High Priority" pathogens identified by the WHO Priority Pathogens List, notably carbapenem resistant Enterobacteriaceae. These antibiotics should be accessible, but their use should be tailored to highly specific patients and settings, when all alternatives have failed or are not suitable. These medicines could be protected and prioritized as key targets of national and international stewardship programs involving monitoring and utilization reporting, to preserve their effectiveness.

| 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued) |  |   |
|---|--|---|
| 6.2.1 Access group antibiotic           | S  |   |
| amikacin                                | <b>Injection:</b> 50 mg/mL (as sulfate) [C] ; 250 mg/mL (as sulfate) in 2 mL vial. |   |
|   | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE   |
|   | <ul> <li>High-risk febrile<br/>neutropenia</li> </ul>                              | <ul> <li>Sepsis in neonates and<br/>children [c]</li> </ul> |
|   | <ul> <li>Pyelonephritis or<br/>prostatitis (severe)</li> </ul>                     |   |
| amoxicillin                             | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 250 m in vial.  | ng; 500 mg; 1 g (as sodium)                                 |
|   | <b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 125 mg/5 mL; 250 mg/5 mL (as trihydrate) [c].       |   |
|   | <b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 250 mg; 500 mg; 1g<br>(as trihydrate).              |   |
|   | Tablet (dispersible, scored): 250 mg; 500 mg (as         trihydrate)       [c]     |   |
|   | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE   |
|   | <ul> <li>Community acquired<br/>pneumonia (mild to<br/>moderate)</li> </ul>        | - Acute bacterial meningitis                                |
|   | <ul> <li>Community acquired<br/>pneumonia (severe) [c]</li> </ul>                  |   |
|   | <ul> <li>Complicated severe acute<br/>malnutrition [c]</li> </ul>                  |   |
|   | - Exacerbations of COPD  |   |
|   | - Otitis media   |   |
|   | - Pharyngitis  |   |
|   | <ul> <li>Progressive apical dental<br/>abscess</li> </ul>                          |   |
|   | <ul> <li>Sepsis in neonates and<br/>children [c]</li> </ul>                        |   |
|   | - Sinusitis  |   |
|   | <ul> <li>Uncomplicated severe<br/>acute malnutrition [c]</li> </ul>                |   |

#### 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued)

amoxicillin + clavulanic acid **Powder for injection:** 500 mg (as sodium) + 100 mg (as potassium salt); 1000 mg (as sodium) + 200 mg (as potassium salt) in vial.

**Powder for oral liquid:** 125 mg (as trihydrate) + 31.25 mg (as potassium salt)/5 mL; 250 mg (as trihydrate) + 62.5 mg (as potassium salt)/5mL [c].

**Tablet:** 500 mg (as trihydrate) + 125 mg (as potassium salt); 875 mg (as trihydrate) + 125 mg (as potassium salt).

Tablet (dispersible): 200 mg (as trihydrate) + 28.5 mg (as potassium salt) [c]; 250 mg (as trihydrate) + 62.5 mg (as potassium salt) [c].

#### **FIRST CHOICE**

- Community acquired pneumonia (severe) [c]
- Complicated intraabdominal infections (mild to moderate)
- Exacerbations of COPD
- Hospital acquired pneumonia
- Low-risk febrile neutropenia
- Lower urinary tract infections
- Sinusitis
- Skin and soft tissue infections

## SECOND CHOICE

- Bone and joint infections
- Community-acquired pneumonia (mild to moderate)
- Community acquired pneumonia (severe)
- Otitis media
- Surgical prophylaxis

ampicillin

#### Powder for injection: 500 mg; 1 g (as sodium) in vial.

| FIRST CHOICE  | SECOND CHOICE                |
|---|------------------------------|
| <ul> <li>Community acquired<br/>pneumonia (severe) [c]</li> </ul> | - Acute bacterial meningitis |
| - Complicated<br>intraabdominal<br>infections [c]                 |                              |
| <ul> <li>Complicated severe acute<br/>malnutrition [c]</li> </ul> |                              |
| <ul> <li>Sepsis in neonates and<br/>children [c]</li> </ul>       |                              |

WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1049, 2024

| 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued) |   |                                 |  |
|---|---|---------------------------------|--|
| benzathine benzylpenicillin             | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 1.2 million IU ( $\approx$ 900 mg) in vial [c]; 2.4 million IU ( $\approx$ 1.8 g) in vial.           |                                 |  |
|   | FIRST CHOICE  | SECOND CHOICE                   |  |
|   | - Syphilis  |                                 |  |
| benzylpenicillin                        | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 600 mg (= 1 million IU);<br>3 g (= 5 million IU) (sodium or potassium salt) in vial.                 |                                 |  |
|   | FIRST CHOICE  | SECOND CHOICE                   |  |
|   | - Community acquired pneumonia (severe) [c]   | - Acute bacterial<br>meningitis |  |
|   | - Complicated severe acute<br>malnutrition [c]  |                                 |  |
|   | <ul> <li>Sepsis in neonates and<br/>children [c]</li> </ul>   |                                 |  |
|   | - Syphilis  |                                 |  |
| cefalexin                               | <b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 125 mg/5 mL; 250 mg/5 mL (anhydrous).  |                                 |  |
|   | <b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 250 mg; 500 mg<br>(as monohydrate).  |                                 |  |
|   | Tablet (dispersible): 125 mg  | g [c] ; 250 mg [c] .            |  |
|   | FIRST CHOICE  | SECOND CHOICE                   |  |
|   | - Skin and soft tissue  | - Exacerbations of COPD         |  |
|   | infections  | - Pharyngitis                   |  |
| cefazolin <b>a</b>                      | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 1 g (as sodium salt) in vial.<br><b>a</b> > 1 month.   |                                 |  |
|   | FIRST CHOICE  | SECOND CHOICE                   |  |
|   | - Surgical prophylaxis  | - Bone and joint infections     |  |
| chloramphenicol                         | <b>Oily suspension for injection*:</b> 0.5 g/mL (as sodium succinate) in 2 mL ampoule.  |                                 |  |
|   | <ul> <li>* Only for the presumptive treatment of epidemic meningitis in<br/>children older than 2 years and in adults.</li> </ul> |                                 |  |
|   | Powder for injection: 1 g (sodium succinate) in vial.   |                                 |  |
|   | FIRST CHOICE  | SECOND CHOICE                   |  |
|   |   | - Acute bacterial meningitis    |  |

| 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued)   |  |  |  |
|---|--|--|--|
| clindamycin   | Capsule: 150 mg (as hydrochloride).<br>Injection: 150 mg/mL (as phosphate); 600 mg/4 mL<br>(as phosphate); 900 mg/6 mL (as phosphate).<br>Oral liquid: 75 mg/5 mL (as palmitate<br>hydrochloride) [c].   |  |  |
|   | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE  |  |
|   | - Necrotizing fasciitis  | - Bone and joint infections  |  |
| <ul> <li>cloxacillin*</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br/>subgroup (J01CF Beta-<br/>lactamase resistant<br/>coniciliant)</li> </ul> | Capsule: 250 mg [c], 500 mg; 1 g (as sodium).<br>Powder for injection: 250 mg [c], 500 mg (as sodium)<br>in vial.<br>Powder for oral liquid: 125 mg/5 mL, 250 mg/5 mL (as<br>sodium) [c].  |  |  |
|   | <ul> <li>cloxacillin, dicloxacillin and flucloxacillin are preferred for oral<br/>administration due to better bioavailability.</li> </ul>   |  |  |
|   | <b>FIRST CHOICE</b> <ul> <li>Bone and joint infections</li> <li>Skin and soft tissue infections</li> </ul>   | SECOND CHOICE - Sepsis in neonates and children [c]  |  |
| doxycycline a   | <ul> <li>Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL (calcium) [c].</li> <li>Powder for oral liquid: 25 mg/5 mL (monohydrate)</li> <li>Powder for injection: 100 mg in vial.</li> <li>Solid oral dosage form: 50 mg [c]; 100 mg (as hycl</li> <li>Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg (as monohydrate) [c].</li> <li>a Use in children &lt;8 years only for life-threatening infection when no alternative exists.</li> </ul> |  |  |
|   | <ul> <li>FIRST CHOICE</li> <li>Cholera</li> <li>Sexually transmitted infection due to Chlamydia trachomatis</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>SECOND CHOICE</li> <li>Cholera [c]</li> <li>Community acquired pneumonia (mild to moderate)</li> <li>Exacerbations of COPD</li> </ul> |  |

| 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued) |  |   |  |
|---|--|---|--|
| gentamicin                              | <b>Injection:</b> 10 mg/mL (as sulfate); 40 mg/mL (as sulfate) in 2 mL vial.         |   |  |
|   | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE                                   |  |
|   | <ul> <li>Acute bacterial meningitis<br/>in neonates [c]</li> </ul>                   | - Gonorrhoea<br>- Surgical prophylaxis          |  |
|   | - Community acquired pneumonia (severe) [c]  |   |  |
|   | - Complicated<br>intraabdominal<br>infections [c]                                    |   |  |
|   | <ul> <li>Complicated severe acute<br/>malnutrition [c]</li> </ul>                    |   |  |
|   | <ul> <li>Sepsis in neonates and<br/>children [c]</li> </ul>                          |   |  |
| metronidazole                           | Injection: 500 mg in 100 mL vial.  |   |  |
|   | Oral liquid: 200 mg/5 mL (as benzoate).  |   |  |
|   | Suppository: 500 mg; 1 g.  |   |  |
|   | <b>Tablet:</b> 200 mg; 250 mg; 400 mg; 500 mg.                                       |   |  |
|   | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE                                   |  |
|   | - C. difficile infection   | - Complicated                                   |  |
|   | <ul> <li>Complicated<br/>intraabdominal infections<br/>(mild to moderate)</li> </ul> | intraabdominal infections<br>(mild to moderate) |  |
|   | <ul> <li>Complicated<br/>intrabdominal infections<br/>(severe)</li> </ul>            |   |  |
|   | - Necrotizing fasciitis  |   |  |
|   | - Surgical prophylaxis   |   |  |
|   | - Trichomoniasis   |   |  |
| nitrofurantoin                          | Oral liquid: 25 mg/5 mL [c].   |   |  |
|   | Solid oral dosage form: 50 mg [c] ; 100 mg.  |   |  |
|   | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE                                   |  |
|   | - Lower urinary tract infections   |   |  |

| 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued) |   |   |  |
|---|---|---|--|
| phenoxymethylpenicillin                 | Powder for oral liquid: 250 mg/5 mL (as potassium).   |   |  |
|   | Solid oral dosage form: 250 mg; 500 mg (as potassium).  |   |  |
|   | FIRST CHOICE  | SECOND CHOICE                                       |  |
|   | – Community acquired<br>pneumonia (mild to<br>moderate)   |   |  |
|   | – Pharyngitis   |   |  |
|   | <ul> <li>Progressive apical dental<br/>abscess</li> </ul>   |   |  |
| procaine benzylpenicillin*              | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 1 g (=<br>IU) in vial.   | 1 million IU); 3 g (=3 million                      |  |
|   | * Procaine benzylpenicillin is not recommended as first-line<br>treatment for neonatal sepsis except in settings with high<br>neonatal mortality, when given by trained health workers in<br>cases where hospital care is not achievable. |   |  |
|   | FIRST CHOICE  | SECOND CHOICE                                       |  |
|   | – Syphilis (congenital) [c]   | – Syphilis  |  |
| spectinomycin                           | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 2 g (as hydrochloride) in vial.  |   |  |
|   | FIRST CHOICE  | SECOND CHOICE                                       |  |
|   |   | – Gonorrhoea  |  |
| sulfamethoxazole +<br>trimethoprim      | Injection: 80 mg + 16 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule; 80 mg<br>16 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule.  |   |  |
|   | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 200 mg + 40 mg/5 mL.  |   |  |
|   | <b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg + 20 mg; 400 mg + 80 mg; 800 mg +<br>160 mg.  |   |  |
|   | Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg + 20 mg [c] .  |   |  |
|   | FIRST CHOICE  | SECOND CHOICE                                       |  |
|   | <ul> <li>Lower urinary tract<br/>infections</li> </ul>  | – Acute invasive diarrhoea /<br>bacterial dysentery |  |
| trimethoprim                            | rimethoprim <b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg; 200 mg.  |   |  |
| -                                       | Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL [c].  |   |  |
|   | FIRST CHOICE  | SECOND CHOICE                                       |  |
|   | <ul> <li>Lower urinary tract<br/>infections</li> </ul>  |   |  |
# 6.2.2 Watch group antibiotics

| azithromycin | Solid oral dosage form: 250 mg; 500 mg (anhydrous).  |  |
|--------------|--|--|
|              |  |  |
|              |  | SECOND CHOICE  |
|              | – Cholera  | – Acute invasive bacterial   |
|              | – Enteric fever  | Gonorrhoog   |
|              | – Gonorrhoea   | - Gonomioeu  |
|              | – Sexually transmitted<br>infection due to<br>Chlamydia trachomatis  |  |
|              | – Trachoma   |  |
|              | – Yaws   |  |
| cefixime     | Powder for oral liquid: 100  | mg/5 mL [c] .  |
|              | Solid oral dosage form: 200  | ) mg; 400 mg (as trihydrate).  |
|              | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE  |
|              |  | – Acute invasive bacterial<br>diarrhoea / dysentery  |
|              |  | – Gonorrhoea   |
| cefotaxime*  | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 250 mg; 500 mg; 1 g; 2 g (as sodium) in vial.   |  |
|              | <ul> <li>* 3rd generation cephalosporin of choice for use in hospitalized<br/>neonates.</li> </ul>   |  |
|              | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE  |
|              |  |  |
|              | – Acute bacterial meningitis   | – Bone and joint infections  |
|              | <ul> <li>Acute bacterial meningitis</li> <li>Community acquired<br/>pneumonia (severe)</li> </ul>  | – Bone and joint infections<br>– Pyelonephritis or<br>prostatitis (mild to   |
|              | <ul> <li>Acute bacterial meningitis</li> <li>Community acquired<br/>pneumonia (severe)</li> <li>Complicated</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>Bone and joint infections</li> <li>Pyelonephritis or<br/>prostatitis (mild to<br/>moderate)</li> </ul>  |
|              | <ul> <li>Acute bacterial meningitis</li> <li>Community acquired<br/>pneumonia (severe)</li> <li>Complicated<br/>intraabdominal infections<br/>(mild to moderate)</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Bone and joint infections</li> <li>Pyelonephritis or prostatitis (mild to moderate)</li> <li>Sepsis in neonates and children [c]</li> </ul>             |
|              | <ul> <li>Acute bacterial meningitis</li> <li>Community acquired<br/>pneumonia (severe)</li> <li>Complicated<br/>intraabdominal infections<br/>(mild to moderate)</li> <li>Complicated<br/>intraabdominal infections<br/>(severe)</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Bone and joint infections</li> <li>Pyelonephritis or<br/>prostatitis (mild to<br/>moderate)</li> <li>Sepsis in neonates and<br/>children [c]</li> </ul> |
|              | <ul> <li>Acute bacterial meningitis</li> <li>Community acquired<br/>pneumonia (severe)</li> <li>Complicated<br/>intraabdominal infections<br/>(mild to moderate)</li> <li>Complicated<br/>intraabdominal infections<br/>(severe)</li> <li>Hospital acquired<br/>pneumonia</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Bone and joint infections</li> <li>Pyelonephritis or<br/>prostatitis (mild to<br/>moderate)</li> <li>Sepsis in neonates and<br/>children [c]</li> </ul> |

| 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued) |  |  |
|---|--|--|
| ceftriaxone* a                          | <ul> <li>Powder for injection: 250 m sodium) in vial.</li> <li>* Do not administer with calcium hyperbilirubinaemia.</li> <li>a &gt; 41 weeks corrected gestation</li> </ul>   | ng; 500 mg; 1 g; 2 g (as<br>n and avoid in infants with<br>onal age.   |
|   | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE  |
|   | <ul> <li>Acute bacterial meningitis</li> <li>Community acquired<br/>pneumonia (severe)</li> <li>Complicated<br/>intraabdominal infections<br/>(mild to moderate)</li> <li>Complicated<br/>intrabdominal infections<br/>(severe)</li> <li>Endophthalmitis</li> <li>Enteric fever</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Acute invasive bacterial diarrhoea / dysentery</li> <li>Bone and joint infections</li> <li>Pyelonephritis or prostatitis (mild to moderate)</li> <li>Sepsis in neonates and children [c]</li> </ul> |
|   | <ul> <li>Gonorrhoea</li> <li>Hospital acquired<br/>pneumonia</li> <li>Necrotizing fasciitis</li> <li>Pyelonephritis or<br/>prostatitis (severe)</li> </ul>   |  |
| cefuroxime                              | Powder for injection: 250 mg; 750 mg; 1.5 g (as sodium) in vial.   |  |
|   | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE – Surgical prophylaxis   |

| 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued)  |   |  |
|--|---|--|
| ciprofloxacin  | Oral liquid: 250 mg/5 mL (anhydrous) [c].<br>Solution for IV infusion: 2 mg/mL (as hyclate) [c].<br>Solid oral dosage form: 100 mg [c]; 250 mg; 500 mg<br>(as hydrochloride).   |  |
|  | <ul> <li>FIRST CHOICE</li> <li>Acute invasive bacterial diarrhoea / dysentery</li> <li>Enteric fever</li> <li>Low-risk febrile neutropenia</li> <li>Pyelonephritis or prostatitis (mild to moderate)</li> </ul>   | <b>SECOND CHOICE</b> <ul> <li>Cholera</li> <li>Complicated <ul> <li>intraabdominal infections</li> <li>(mild to moderate)</li> </ul> </li> </ul> |
| <ul> <li>clarithromycin †</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:         <ul> <li>erythromycin*</li> </ul> </li> <li>* as second choice treatment for pharyngitis in children (EMLc only)</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Powder for oral liquid: 125 mg/5 mL; 250 mg/5 mL.</li> <li>Powder for injection: 500 mg in vial.</li> <li>Solid oral dosage form: 250 mg [c]; 500 mg.</li> <li>† clarithromycin is also listed for use in combination regimens for eradication of <i>H. pylori</i> in adults.</li> </ul> |  |
|  | FIRST CHOICE<br>– Community acquired<br>pneumonia (severe)  | <b>SECOND CHOICE</b> <ul> <li>Pharyngitis</li> </ul>   |
| piperacillin + tazobactam  | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 2 g (as sodium) + 250 mg<br>(as sodium); 4 g (as sodium) + 500 mg (as sodium) in vial.   |  |
|  | FIRST CHOICE - Complicated intraabdominal infections (severe) - High-risk febrile neutropenia - Hospital acquired pneumonia - Necrotizing fasciitis   | SECOND CHOICE  |
| vancomycin   | Capsule: 125 mg; 250 mg (as hydrochloride).<br>* vancomycin powder for injection may also be used for oral<br>administration  |  |
|  | FIRST CHOICE  | <b>SECOND CHOICE</b><br>– C. difficile infection   |

| 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICIN   | NES (continued)   |   |  |
|---|---|---|--|
| Complementary List  |   |   |  |
| ceftazidime   | Powder for injection: 250 m   | Powder for injection: 250 mg; 1 g (as pentahydrate) in vial.  |  |
|   | <b>FIRST CHOICE</b><br>– Endophthalmitis  | SECOND CHOICE   |  |
| ☐ meropenem* <b>a</b><br>Therapeutic alternatives*:<br>– imipenem + cilastatin  | Powder for injection: 500 m<br>(as trihydrate) in vial.<br>a > 3 months.        | ng (as trihydrate); 1 g   |  |
| <ul> <li>complicated intraabdominal<br/>infections and high-risk<br/>febrile neutropenia only.<br/>Meropenem is the preferred<br/>choice for acute bacterial<br/>meningitis in neonates.</li> </ul> | FIRST CHOICE  | SECOND CHOICE <ul> <li>Acute bacterial meningitis<br/>in neonates [c]</li> <li>Complicated<br/>intraabdominal infections<br/>(severe)</li> <li>High-risk febrile<br/>neutropenia</li> </ul> |  |
| vancomycin  | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 250 mg; 500 mg; 1 g<br>(as hydrochloride) in vial. |   |  |
|   | <b>FIRST CHOICE</b><br>– Endophthalmitis<br>– Necrotizing fasciitis             | SECOND CHOICE<br>– High-risk febrile<br>neutropenia   |  |
| 6.2.3 Reserve group antibio   | tics  |   |  |
| Complementary List  |   |   |  |
| cefiderocol   | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 1 g (as  | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 1 g (as sulfate tosylate) in vial.   |  |
| ceftazidime + avibactam   | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 2 g + 0.5 g in vial.                               |   |  |
| ceftolozane + tazobactam  | <b>Powder for injection:</b> $1 q + 0.5 q$ in vial.                             |   |  |

colistin

fosfomycin □ linezolid

Powder for injection: 1 million IU (as colistemethate sodium) (equivalent to 34 mg colistin base activity) in vial.

Powder for injection: 2 g; 4 g (as sodium) in vial.

Injection for intravenous administration: 2 mg/mL in 300 mL bag. Therapeutic alternatives: - tedizolid phosphate Powder for oral liquid: 100 mg/5 mL. Tablet: 600 mg.

Tablet (dispersible): 150 mg [c].

# 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued) meropenem + Powder for injection: 1 g (as trihydrate) + 1 g in vial. vaborbactam plazomicin Injection: 500 mg/10 mL.

polymyxin B **Powder for injection:** 500 000 IU (equivalent to 50 mg polymyxin B base) in vial.

# 6.2.4 Antileprosy medicines

Medicines used in the treatment of leprosy should never be used except in combination. Combination therapy is essential to prevent the emergence of drug resistance. Colourcoded blister packs (MDT blister packs) containing standard two-medicine (paucibacillary leprosy) or three-medicine (multibacillary leprosy) combinations for adult and childhood leprosy should be used. MDT blister packs can be supplied free of charge through WHO.

| clofazimine | Solid oral dosage form: 50 mg; 100 mg.  |
|-------------|---|
| dapsone     | Tablet: 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg.           |
| rifampicin  | Oral liquid: 20 mg/mL [c].              |
|             | Solid oral dosage form: 150 mg; 300 mg. |

# 6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

WHO recommends and endorses the use of fixed-dose combinations and the development of appropriate new fixed-dose combinations, including modified dosage forms, nonrefrigerated products and paediatric dosage forms of assured pharmaceutical quality.

| ethambutol  | Tablet: 100 mg; 400 mg (hydrochloride).Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg [c].              |
|---|---|
| ethambutol + isoniazid +<br>pyrazinamide + rifampicin | <b>Tablet:</b> 275 mg + 75 mg + 400 mg + 150 mg.                                      |
| ethambutol + isoniazid +<br>rifampicin                | <b>Tablet:</b> 275 mg + 75 mg + 150 mg.   |
| ethionamide   | Tablet: 250 mg.<br>Tablet (dispersible): 125 mg [c].                                  |
| isoniazid   | Tablet: 100 mg; 300 mg.<br>Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg [c] .                         |
| isoniazid + pyrazinamide +<br>rifampicin              | <b>Tablet (dispersible):</b> 50 mg + 150 mg + 75 mg [c].                              |
| isoniazid + rifampicin                                | Tablet: 75 mg + 150 mg; 150 mg + 300 mg.<br>Tablet (dispersible): 50 mg + 75 mg [c] . |

| isoniazid + rifapentine | <b>Tablet (scored):</b> 300 mg + 300 mg.   |
|-------------------------|--|
| moxifloxacin            | Tablet: 400 mg.  |
| pyrazinamide            | Tablet: 400 mg; 500 mg<br>Tablet (dispersible): 150 mg.  |
| rifabutin               | Solid oral dosage form: 150 mg.*<br>* For use only in patients with HIV receiving protease inhibitors. |
| rifampicin              | Oral liquid: 20 mg/mL [c].<br>Solid oral dosage form: 150 mg; 300 mg.                                  |
| rifapentine             | Tablet: 150 mg; 300 mg.  |

# **Complementary List**

Medicines for the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB) should be used in specialized centres adhering to WHO standards for TB control.

| amikacin   | Injection: 250 mg/mL (as sulfate) in 2 mL vial.   |
|--|---|
| amoxicillin +<br>clavulanic acid*                            | <b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 250 mg (as trihydrate) + 62.5 mg (as potassium salt)/5mL [c].<br><b>Tablet:</b> 500 mg (as trihydrate) + 125 mg (as potassium salt).<br>* For use only in combination with meropenem or imipenem+cilastatin. |
| bedaquiline  | Tablet: 20 mg [c] ; 100 mg.   |
| clofazimine  | Solid oral dosage form: 50 mg; 100 mg.  |
| □ cycloserine Therapeutic alternatives: - terizidone         | Solid oral dosage form: 125 mg [c]; 250 mg.   |
| delamanid  | Tablet (dispersible): 25 mg [c] .<br>Tablet: 50 mg.   |
| □ ethionamide<br>Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– protionamide | Tablet: 250 mg.<br>Tablet (dispersible): 125 mg [c] .   |
| levofloxacin   | <b>Tablet:</b> 250mg; 500 mg; 750 mg.<br><b>Tablet (dispersible):</b> 100 mg <b>[c]</b> .   |
| linezolid  | Tablet: 600 mg.<br>Tablet (dispersible): 150 mg [c] .   |

#### 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued) □ meropenem Powder for injection: 500 mg (as trihydrate); 1 q (as trihydrate) in vial. Therapeutic alternatives: - imipenem + cilastatin moxifloxacin Tablet: 400 mg. Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg [c]. *p*-aminosalicylate sodium **Powder for oral solution:** 5.52 g in sachet (equivalent to 4 g *p*-aminosalicylic acid). pretomanid Tablet: 200 mg. streptomycin [c] Powder for injection: 1 q (as sulfate) in vial. 6.3 Antifungal medicines amphotericin B\* Powder for injection: 50 mg (liposomal complex) in vial. Powder for injection: 50 mg (as sodium deoxycholate) in vial. \* Liposomal amphotericin B has a better safety profile than the sodium deoxycholate formulation and should be prioritized for selection and use depending on local availability and cost. clotrimazole Vaginal cream: 1%; 10%. Vaginal tablet: 100 mg; 500 mg. fluconazole Capsule: 50 mg. Injection: 2 mg/mL in vial. Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL. Powder for oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL [c]. flucytosine Capsule: 250 mg. Infusion: 2.5 g in 250 mL. Oral liquid: 125 mg/5 mL [c]. griseofulvin Solid oral dosage form: 125 mg; 250 mg. itraconazole\* Capsule: 100 mg. Oral liquid: 10 mg/mL. \* For treatment of chronic pulmonary aspergillosis, histoplasmosis, sporotrichosis, paracoccidiodomycosis, mycoses caused by T. marneffei and chromoblastomycosis; and prophylaxis of histoplasmosis and infections caused by T. marneffei in AIDS patients.

| 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICIN   | ES (continued)   |
|---|--|
| nystatin  | Lozenge: 100 000 IU.<br>Oral liquid: 100 000 IU/mL [c].<br>Pessary: 100 000 IU.<br>Solid oral dosage form: 500 000 IU.   |
| voriconazole*   | Tablet: 50 mg; 200 mgPowder for injection: 200 mg in vialPowder for oral liquid: 40 mg/mL* For treatment of chronic pulmonary aspergillosis and acute<br>invasive aspergillosis. |
| <b>Complementary List</b> <ul> <li>micafungin</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>anidulafungin</li> <li>caspofungin</li> </ul> | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 50 mg (as sodium); 100 mg<br>(as sodium) in vial.   |
| <i>potassium iodide</i><br><b>6.4 Antiviral medicines</b>   | Saturated solution.  |
| 6.4.1 Antiherpes medicines  |  |

| 🗆 aciclovir               | Oral liquid: 200 mg/5 mL [c].                          |
|---------------------------|--|
| Therapeutic alternatives: | Powder for injection: 250 mg (as sodium salt) in vial. |
| – valaciclovir (oral)     | <b>Tablet:</b> 200 mg.                                 |

#### 6.4.2 Antiretrovirals

Based on current evidence and experience of use, medicines in the following classes of antiretrovirals are included as essential medicines for treatment and prevention of HIV (prevention of mother-to-child transmission, pre-exposure prophylaxsis (where indicated) and post-exposure prophylaxis). WHO emphasizes the importance of using these products in accordance with global and national guidelines. WHO recommends and endorses the use of fixed-dose combinations and the development of appropriate new fixed-dose combinations, including modified dosage forms, non-refrigerated products and paediatric dosage forms of assured pharmaceutical quality.

Scored tablets can be used in children and therefore can be considered for inclusion in the listing of tablets, provided that adequate quality products are available.

744

#### 6.4.2.1 Nucleoside/Nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitors

| abacavir                          | Tablet: 300 mg (as sulfate).   |
|-----------------------------------|--|
| lamivudine                        | Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL [c].<br>Tablet: 150 mg.  |
| tenofovir disoproxil<br>fumarate† | <b>Tablet:</b> 300 mg (tenofovir disoproxil fumarate – equivalent to 245 mg tenofovir disoproxil).<br>† also indicated for pre-exposure prophylaxis. |
| zidovudine                        | <b>Capsule:</b> 250 mg.<br><b>Oral liquid:</b> 50 mg/5 mL.<br><b>Solution for IV infusion:</b> 10 mg/mL in 20 mL vial.<br><b>Tablet:</b> 300 mg.     |

#### 6.4.2.2 Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors

| efavirenz           | <b>Tablet:</b> 600 mg.               |
|---------------------|--------------------------------------|
| nevirapine <b>a</b> | Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL.             |
|                     | Tablet: 50 mg (dispersible); 200 mg. |
|                     | <b>a</b> > 6 weeks                   |

#### 6.4.2.3 Protease inhibitors

Selection of protease inhibitor(s) from the Model List will need to be determined by each country after consideration of international and national treatment guidelines and experience. Ritonavir is recommended for use in combination as a pharmacological booster, and not as an antiretroviral in its own right. All other protease inhibitors should be used in boosted forms (e.g. with ritonavir).

| atazanavir + ritonavir       | Tablet (heat stable): 300 mg (as sulfate) + 100 mg.   |
|------------------------------|---|
| darunavir <b>a</b>           | <b>Tablet:</b> 75 mg; 400 mg; 600 mg; 800 mg<br><b>a</b> > 3 years                                  |
| lopinavir + ritonavir        | Solid oral dosage form: 40 mg + 10 mg [c].<br>Tablet (heat stable): 100 mg + 25 mg; 200 mg + 50 mg. |
| ritonavir                    | Tablet (heat stable): 25 mg; 100 mg.  |
| 6.4.2.4 Integrase inhibitors |   |
| dolutegravir <b>a</b>        | Tablet (dispersible, scored): 10 mg [c].<br>a ≥ 4 weeks and ≥ 3 kg<br>Tablet: 50 mg                 |

**a** ≥ 25 kg

| raltegravir* | Granules for oral suspension: 100 mg in sachet.  |
|--------------|--|
|              | Tablet (chewable): 25 mg.  |
|              | <b>Tablet:</b> 400 mg.   |
|              | * For use in pregnant women and in second-line regimens in accordance with WHO treatemnt guidelines. |

# 6.4.2.5 Fixed-dose combinations of antiretroviral medicines

| abacavir + lamivudine   | Tablet (dispersible, scored):       120 mg (as sulfate) + 60 mg.  |
|---|---|
| dolutegravir + lamivudine +<br>tenofovir  | <b>Tablet:</b> 50 mg + 300 mg + 300 mg (tenofovir disoproxil fumarate – equivalent to 245 mg tenofovir disoproxil)  |
| efavirenz + □ emtricitabine<br>+ tenofovir<br>Therapeutic alternatives:<br>- lamivudine (for emtricitabine)                       | <b>Tablet:</b> 600 mg + 200 mg + 300 mg (tenofovir disoproxil fumarate – equivalent to 245 mg tenofovir disoproxil).  |
| efavirenz + lamivudine +<br>tenofovir   | <b>Tablet:</b> 400 mg + 300 mg + 300 mg (tenofovir disoproxil fumarate – equivalent to 245 mg tenofovir disoproxil)   |
| <ul> <li>emtricitabine +</li> <li>tenofovir†</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>amivudine (for emtricitabine)</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Tablet: 200 mg + 300 mg (tenofovir disoproxil fumarate – equivalent to 245 mg tenofovir disoproxil).</li> <li>† combination also indicated for pre-exposure prophylaxis</li> </ul> |
| lamivudine + zidovudine   | <b>Tablet:</b> 30 mg + 60 mg [c] ; 150 mg + 300 mg.   |

# 6.4.2.6 Medicines for prevention of HIV-related opportunistic infections

| isoniazid + pyridoxine +<br>sulfamethoxazole +<br>trimethoprim | <b>Tablet (scored):</b> 300 mg + 25 mg + 800 mg + 160 mg.  |
|--|--|
| 6.4.3 Other antivirals   |  |
| ribavirin*   | <b>Injection for intravenous administration:</b> 800 mg; 1 g in 10 mL phosphate buffer solution. |
|  | Solid oral dosage form: 200 mg; 400 mg; 600 mg.  |
|  | * For the treatment of viral haemorrhagic fevers.  |
| valganciclovir*  | <b>Tablet:</b> 450 mg.* For the treatment of cytomegalovirus retinitis (CMVr).                   |

#### Complementary list

| oseltamivir*        | <ul> <li>Capsule: 30 mg; 45 mg; 75 mg (as phosphate).</li> <li>* Severe illness due to confirmed or suspected influenza virus infection in critically ill hospitalized patients.</li> </ul> |
|---------------------|---|
| valganciclovir* [c] | Powder for oral solution: 50 mg/mL  |
|                     | Tablet: 450 mg.   |
|                     | * For the treatment of cytomegalovirus retinitis (CMVr).  |
|                     |   |

#### 6.4.4 Antihepatitis medicines

# 6.4.4.1 Medicines for hepatitis B

#### 6.4.4.1.1 Nucleoside/Nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitors

| entecavir                        | Oral liquid: 0.05 mg/mL  |
|----------------------------------|--|
|                                  | <b>Tablet:</b> 0.5 mg; 1 mg  |
| tenofovir disoproxil<br>fumarate | <b>Tablet:</b> 300 mg (tenofovir disoproxil fumarate – equivalent to 245 mg tenofovir disoproxil). |

# 6.4.4.2 Medicines for hepatitis C

Pangenotypic direct-acting antivirals should be considered as therapeutic alternatives for the purposes of selection and procurement at national level.

# 6.4.4.2.1 Dangenotypic direct-acting antiviral combinations

| daclatasvir*               | <b>Tablet:</b> 30 mg; 60 mg (as hydrochloride).* Pangenotypic when used in combination with sofosbuvir.       |
|----------------------------|---|
| daclatasvir + sofosbuvir   | <b>Tablet:</b> 60 mg + 400 mg.  |
| glecaprevir + pibrentasvir | Tablet: 100 mg + 40 mg.           Granules: 50 mg + 20 mg in sachet [c].                                      |
| ravidasvir*                | <b>Tablet:</b> 200 mg.           * Pangenotypic when used in combination with sofosbuvir                      |
| sofosbuvir*                | <b>Tablet:</b> 200 mg; 400 mg.         * Pangenotypic when used in combination with daclatasvir or ravidasvir |
| sofosbuvir + velpatasvir   | Tablet: 200 mg + 50 mg [c] ; 400 mg + 100 mg.   |

# 6.4.4.2.2 Non-pangenotypic direct-acting antiviral combinations

| ledipasvir + sofosbuvir | <b>Tablet:</b> 90 mg + 400 mg. |
|-------------------------|--------------------------------|
|-------------------------|--------------------------------|

#### 6.4.4.2.3 Other antivirals for hepatitis C

| ribavirin* | <b>Injection for intravenous administration:</b> 800 mg; 1 g in 10 mL phosphate buffer solution. |
|------------|--|
|            | Solid oral dosage form: 200 mg; 400 mg; 600 mg.  |
|            | * For the treatment of hepatitis C, in combination with direct acting anti-viral medicines.      |

#### 6.5 Antiprotozoal medicines

#### 6.5.1 Antiamoebic and antigiardiasis medicines

| diloxanide <b>a</b>       | Tablet: 500 mg (furoate).               |
|---------------------------|---|
|                           | <b>a</b> > 25 kg.                       |
| metronidazole             | Injection: 500 mg in 100 mL vial.       |
| Therapeutic alternatives: | Oral liquid: 200 mg/5 mL (as benzoate). |
| – tinidazole              | Tablet: 200 mg; 250 mg; 400 mg; 500 mg. |

#### 6.5.2 Antileishmaniasis medicines

| amphotericin B*       | Powder for injection: 50 mg (liposomal complex) in vial.  |
|-----------------------|---|
|                       | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 50 mg (as sodium deoxycholate) in vial.  |
|                       | * Liposomal amphotericin B has a better safety profile than the sodium deoxycholate formulation and should be prioritized for selection and use depending on local availability and cost. |
| meglumine antimoniate | Injection: 1.5 g/5 mL in 5 mL ampoule.  |
| miltefosine           | Solid oral dosage form: 10 mg; 50 mg.   |
| paromomycin           | <b>Solution for intramuscular injection:</b> 750 mg of paromomycin base (as sulfate).   |
| sodium stibogluconate | Injection: 100 mg/mL in 30 mL vial.   |

#### 6.5.3 Antimalarial medicines

#### 6.5.3.1 For curative treatment

Medicines for the treatment of *P. falciparum* malaria cases should be used in combination. The list currently recommends combinations according to treatment guidelines. WHO recognizes that not all of the fixed dose combinations (FDCs) in the WHO treatment guidelines exist, and encourages their development and rigorous testing. WHO also encourages development and testing of rectal dosage formulations.

amodiaquine\*

**Tablet:** 153 mg or 200 mg (as hydrochloride).

\* To be used in combination with artesunate 50 mg.

6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued) artemether\* Oily injection: 80 mg/mL in 1 mL ampoule. \* For use in the management of severe malaria. artemether + lumefantrine\* Tablet: 20 mg + 120 mg. Tablet (dispersible): 20 mg + 120 mg [c]. \* Not recommended in the first trimester of pregnancy or in children below 5 kg. artesunate\* Injection: ampoules, containing 60 mg anhydrous artesunic acid with a separate ampoule of 5% sodium bicarbonate solution. For use in the management of severe malaria. Rectal dosage form: 50 mg [c]; 100 mg [c]; 200 mg capsules (for pre-referral treatment of severe malaria only; patients should be taken to an appropriate health facility for follow-up care) [c]. Tablet: 50 mg. \* To be used in combination with either amodiaguine, mefloquine or sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine. artesunate + amodiaquine\* Tablet: 25 mg + 67.5 mg; 50 mg + 135 mg; 100 mg + 270 mg. \* Other combinations that deliver the target doses required such as 153 mg or 200 mg (as hydrochloride) with 50 mg artesunate can be alternatives. artesunate + mefloquine Tablet: 25 mg + 55 mg; 100 mg + 220 mg. Granules: 20 mg + 60 mg [c]. artesunate + pyronaridine tetraphosphate **a** Tablet: 60 mg + 180 mg. a > 5 kgchloroquine\* Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL (as phosphate or sulfate). Tablet: 100 mg; 150 mg (as phosphate or sulfate). \* For use only for the treatment of *Plasmodium vivax* infection. dihydroartemisinin + Tablet: 20 mg + 160 mg; 40 mg + 320 mg. piperaquine phosphate **a a** > 5 kg doxycycline\* Capsule: 100 mg (as hydrochloride or hyclate). Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg (as monohydrate). \* For use only in combination with quinine. mefloquine\* Tablet: 250 mg (as hydrochloride). \* To be used in combination with artesunate 50 mg.

| 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued) |  |
|---|--|
| primaquine*                             | <b>Tablet:</b> 7.5 mg; 15 mg (as diphosphate).* Only for use to achieve radical cure of <i>Plasmodium vivax</i> and<br><i>Plasmodium ovale</i> infections, given for 14 days.  |
| quinine*                                | <ul> <li>Injection: 300 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule.</li> <li>Tablet: 300 mg (sulfate) or 300 mg (bisulfate).</li> <li>* For use only in the management of severe malaria and should be used in combination with doxycycline.</li> </ul> |
| sulfadoxine +<br>pyrimethamine*         | <b>Tablet:</b> 500 mg + 25 mg.* Only in combination with artesunate 50 mg.   |

# 6.5.3.2 For chemoprevention

| amodiaquine –                      | Co-packaged dispersible tablets:   |
|------------------------------------|--|
| sulfadoxine +<br>pyrimethamine [c] | amodiaquine 76.5 mg (as hydrochloride) [3] and sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine 250 mg + 12.5 mg [1]; |
|                                    | amodiaquine 153 mg (as hydrochloride) [3] and sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine 500 mg + 25 mg [1].    |
| chloroquine*                       | Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL (as phosphate or sulfate).   |
|                                    | Tablet: 150 mg (as phosphate or sulfate).  |
|                                    | * For use only in central American regions, for <i>Plasmodium vivax</i> infections.              |
| doxycycline <b>a</b>               | <b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 100 mg (as hydrochloride or hyclate).                             |
|                                    | <b>a</b> > 8 years.  |
| mefloquine <b>a</b>                | Tablet: 250 mg (as hydrochloride).   |
|                                    | <b>a</b> $> 5 \text{ kg or } > 3 \text{ months.}$  |
| proguanil*                         | Tablet: 100 mg (as hydrochloride).   |
|                                    | * For use only in combination with chloroquine.  |
| sulfadoxine +<br>pyrimethamine     | Tablet: 250 mg + 12.5 mg [c] ; 500 mg + 25 mg.   |
|                                    |  |

# 6.5.4 Antipneumocystosis and antitoxoplasmosis medicines

| pyrimethamine | Tablet: 25 mg.         |
|---------------|------------------------|
| sulfadiazine  | <b>Tablet:</b> 500 mg. |

.....

# 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued)

| sulfamethoxazole +<br>trimethoprim | <b>Injection:</b> 80 mg + 16 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule; 80 mg + 16 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule.   |
|------------------------------------|--|
|                                    | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 200 mg + 40 mg/5 mL [c] .  |
|                                    | <b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg + 20 mg; 400 mg + 80 mg [c]; 800 mg + 160 mg   |
|                                    | Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg + 20 mg [c].  |
| Complementary List                 |  |
| pentamidine                        | Tablet: 200 mg; 300 mg (as isethionate).   |
| 6.5.5 Antitrypanosomal medi        | cines  |
| 6.5.5.1 African trypanosomia       | sis  |
| fexinidazole*                      | Tablet: 600 mg   |
|                                    | * For the treatment of 1 <sup>st</sup> and 2 <sup>nd</sup> stage of human African trypanosomiasis due to <i>Trypanosoma brucei gambiense</i> infection.                              |
| Medicines for the treatment of     | of 1 <sup>st</sup> stage African trypanosomiasis   |
| pentamidine*                       | <ul> <li>Powder for injection: 300 mg (as isetionate) in vial.</li> <li>* To be used for the treatment of <i>Trypanosoma brucei gambiense</i> infection.</li> </ul>                  |
| suramin sodium*                    | Powder for injection: 1 g in vial.   |
|                                    | * To be used for the treatment of the initial phase of <i>Trypanosoma</i> brucei rhodesiense infection.  |
| Medicines for the treatment of     | of 2 <sup>nd</sup> stage African trypanosomiasis   |
| eflornithine*                      | <ul> <li>Injection: 200 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 50 mL bottle.</li> <li>* To be used for the treatment of <i>Trypanosoma brucei gambiense</i> infection.</li> </ul>                  |
| melarsoprol                        | Injection: 180 mg/5 mL in 5 mL ampoule (3.6% solution).  |
| nifurtimox*                        | <ul> <li>Tablet (scored): 30 mg; 120 mg.</li> <li>* Only to be used in combination with effornithine, for the treatment of <i>Trypanosoma brucei gambiense</i> infection.</li> </ul> |
| Complementary List                 |  |
| melarsoprol [c]                    | Injection: 180 mg/5 mL in 5 mL ampoule (3.6% solution).  |

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued) 6.5.5.2 American trypanosomiasis benznidazole Tablet: 12.5 mg [C] Tablet (scored): 50 mg; 100 mg. nifurtimox Tablet: 30 mg; 120 mg. 6.6 Medicines for ectoparasitic infections ivermectin Tablet: 3 mg 6.7 Medicines for Ebola virus disease ansuvimab Powder for injection: 400 mg atoltivimab + maftivimab + Injection: 241.7 mg + 241.7 mg + 241.7 mg in 14.5 mL vial odesivimah

# 6.8 Medicines for COVID-19

WHO recommends that effective and safe therapeutics for prevention and treatment of COVID-19 should be considered as essential medicines in the context of the public health emergency. WHO recommendations are revised and updated regularly in WHO living guidelines for therapeutics for the treatment and prevention of COVID-19.

Selection of essential therapeutics for COVID-19 at the national level should be informed by recommendations in these guidelines, and consideration of the latest evidence, epidemiology and national priorities.

The latest WHO Therapeutics and COVID-19: living guideline is available online at: https://app.magicapp.org/#/guideline/nBkO1E

The latest WHO Drugs to prevent COVID-19: living guideline is available online at: https://app.magicapp.org/#/guideline/L6RxYL

# 7. ANTIMIGRAINE MEDICINES

#### 7.1 For treatment of acute attack

acetylsalicylic acid **Tablet:** 300 mg to 500 mg.

ibuprofen [c]

**Oral liquid:** 100 mg/5 mL [c] . **Tablet:** 200 mg; 400 mg.  

 7. ANTIMIGRAINE MEDICINES (continued)

 paracetamol
 Oral liquid: 120 mg/5 mL or 125 mg/5 mL\*,

 (acetaminophen)
 250 mg/5 mL [C].

 \* The presence of both 120 mg/5 mL and 125 mg/5 mL strengths on the same market would cause confusion in prescribing and dispensing and should be avoided.

 Suppository: 250 mg [C].

 Tablet: 250 mg, 325 mg, 500 mg.

 Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg, 250 mg [C].

# sumatriptan Tablet: 50 mg

# 7.2 For prophylaxis

#### □ propranolol

Tablet: 20 mg; 40 mg (hydrochloride).

Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed

#### 8. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS

#### 8.1 Immunomodulators for non-malignant disease

#### **Complementary List**

| <ul> <li>□ adalimumab*</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives*:</li> <li>– certolizumab pegol</li> <li>– etanercept</li> <li>– golimumab</li> <li>– infliximab</li> <li>* including quality-assured biosimilars</li> </ul> | <b>Injection:</b> 10 mg/0.2 mL <b>[c]</b> ; 20 mg/0.4 mL <b>[c]</b> ;<br>40 mg/0.8 mL; 40 mg/0.4 mL.   |
|---|--|
| azathioprine  | Oral liquid: 10 mg/mL [c].<br>Powder for injection: 50 mg [c]; 100 mg (as sodium salt)<br>in vial.<br>Tablet: 25 mg [c].<br>Tablet (scored): 50 mg.                        |
| ciclosporin   | <b>Capsule:</b> 25 mg.<br><b>Concentrate for injection:</b> 50 mg/mL in 1 mL ampoule.<br><b>Oral liquid:</b> 100 mg/mL [c] .   |
| tacrolimus  | <b>Capsule (immediate-release):</b> 0.5 mg; 0.75 mg; 1 mg;<br>2 mg; 5 mg.<br><b>Granules for oral supsension:</b> 0.2 mg; 1 mg.<br><b>Injection:</b> 5 mg/mL in 1 mL vial. |

## 8. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued)

# 8.2 Antineoplastics and supportive medicines

Medicines listed below should be used according to protocols for treatment of the diseases.

#### 8.2.1 Cytotoxic medicines

#### **Complementary List**

| arsenic trioxide  | <b>Concentrate for solution for infusion:</b> 1 mg/mL; 2 mg/mL.<br>– Acute promyelocytic leukaemia   |
|---|--|
| asparaginase*   | Powder for injection: 10 000 IU in vial.   |
| <ul> <li>including quality-assured<br/>biosimilars</li> </ul> | – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia  |
| bendamustine  | Injection: 45 mg/0.5 mL; 180 mg/2 mL.  |
|   | – Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia<br>– Follicular lymphoma   |
| bleomycin   | Powder for injection: 15 000 IU (as sulfate) in vial.  |
|   | – Hodgkin lymphoma<br>– Kaposi sarcoma<br>– Ovarian germ cell tumour<br>– Testicular germ cell tumour  |
| calcium folinate<br>(leucovorin calcium)                      | <i>Injection:</i> 3 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule; 7.5 mg/mL in 2 mL ampoule; 10 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule.   |
|   | Tablet: 5 mg; 15 mg; 25 mg.  |
|   | – Burkitt lymphoma<br>– Early stage colon cancer<br>– Early stage rectal cancer<br>– Gestational trophoblastic neoplasia<br>– Metastatic colorectal cancer<br>– Osteosarcoma |
| capecitabine  | <b>Tablet:</b> 150 mg; 500 mg.   |
|   | – Early stage colon cancer<br>– Early stage rectal cancer<br>– Metastatic breast cancer<br>– Metastatic colorectal cancer  |

754

8. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued) carboplatin Injection: 50 mg/5 mL; 150 mg/15 mL; 450 mg/45 mL; 600 mg/60 mL. - Cervical cancer - Early stage breast cancer – Epithelial ovarian cancer – Head and neck cancer (as a radio-sensitizer) Low-arade alioma - Nasopharyngeal cancer – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) - Non-small cell lung cancer Osteosarcoma - Ovarian germ cell tumour Retinoblastoma - Testicular germ cell tumour chlorambucil Tablet: 2 mg. - Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia cisplatin Injection: 10 mg/10 mL; 20 mg/20 mL; 50 mg/50 mL; 100 mg/100 mL. – Cervical cancer – Head and neck cancer (as a radio-sensitizer) – Low-grade glioma - Nasopharyngeal cancer (as a radio-sensitizer) - Non-small cell lung cancer – Osteosarcoma – Ovarian germ cell tumour Testicular germ cell tumour cyclophosphamide Powder for injection: 500 mg; 1 g; 2 g in vial. Solid oral dosage form: 25 mg, 50 mg. - Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia - Anaplastic large cell lymphoma - Burkitt lymphoma – Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia - Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma - Early stage breast cancer - Ewing sarcoma – Follicular lymphoma - Gestational trophoblastic neoplasia – Hodakin lymphoma Low-grade glioma - Metastatic breast cancer - Multiple myeloma - Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) - Rhabdomyosarcoma

| 8. IMMUNOMODULAT | ORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued)  |
|------------------|--|
| cytarabine       | Injection: 100 mg in vial.   |
|                  | <i>Powder for injection:</i> 100 mg in vial.<br>– Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia<br>– Acute myeloid leukaemia<br>– Acute promyelocytic leukaemia<br>– Anaplastic large cell lymphoma<br>– Burkitt lymphoma<br>– Langerhans cell histiocytosis   |
| dacarbazine      | Powder for injection: 100 mg; 200 mg in vial.  |
|                  | – Hodgkin lymphoma   |
| dactinomycin     | Powder for injection: 500 micrograms in vial.  |
|                  | – Ewing sarcoma<br>– Gestational trophoblastic neoplasia<br>– Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour)<br>– Rhabdomyosarcoma  |
| daunorubicin     | Injection: 2 mg/mL; 5 mg/mL (as hydrochloride) in vial.  |
|                  | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 20 mg; 50 mg (as hydrochloride) in vial.<br>– Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia<br>– Acute myeloid leukaemia<br>– Acute promyelocytic leukaemia   |
| docetaxel        | Injection: 20 mg/mL; 40 mg/mL.   |
|                  | – Early stage breast cancer<br>– Metastatic breast cancer<br>– Metastatic prostate cancer  |
| doxorubicin      | Injection: 2 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in vial.  |
|                  | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 10 mg; 50 mg (hydrochloride) in vial.   |
|                  | <ul> <li>Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia</li> <li>Anaplastic large cell lymphoma</li> <li>Burkitt lymphoma</li> <li>Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma</li> <li>Early stage breast cancer</li> <li>Ewing sarcoma</li> <li>Follicular lymphoma</li> <li>Hodgkin lymphoma</li> <li>Kaposi sarcoma</li> <li>Metastatic breast cancer</li> <li>Multiple myeloma</li> <li>Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour)</li> <li>Osteosarcoma</li> </ul> |

.

# 8. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued)

| doxorubicin (as pegylated<br>liposomal) | Injection: 2 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 10 mL, 25 mL vial.<br>– Kaposi sarcoma               |
|---|--|
| etoposide                               | Capsule: 50 mg, 100 mg.  |
|   | Injection: 20 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule.   |
|   | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 100 mg (as phosphate) in vial.                                |
|   | – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia  |
|   | – Acute myeloid leukaemia  |
|   | – Anaplastic large cell lymphoma<br>– Burkitt lymphoma                                     |
|   | – Ewing sarcoma  |
|   | – Gestational trophoblastic neoplasia  |
|   | – Hodgkin lymphoma   |
|   | – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour)<br>– Non-small cell luna cancer                            |
|   | – Osteosarcoma   |
|   | – Ovarian germ cell tumour   |
|   | – Retinoblastoma   |
|   | – Testicular germ cell tumour  |
| fludarabine                             | Powder for injection: 50 mg (phosphate) in vial.   |
|   | <b>Tablet:</b> 10 mg   |
|   | – Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia.   |
| fluorouracil                            | Injection: 50 mg/mL in vial.   |
|   | – Early stage breast cancer  |
|   | – Early stage colon cancer   |
|   | – Early stage rectal cancer  |
|   | – Nasopharvnaeal cancer  |
|   |  |
| gementabine                             | Powder for injection: 200 mg; 1 g m viai.  |
|   | – Epithenia ovarian cancer<br>– Non-small cell lung cancer                                 |
| hydroxycarbamide<br>(hydroxyurea)       | <b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 100 mg <b>[c]</b> ; 200 mg; 300 mg;<br>400 mg; 500 mg; 1 g. |
| · ·                                     | – Chronic myeloid leukaemia  |

| 8. | . IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued) |  |
|----|--|--|
|    | ifosfamide   | Powder for injection: 500 mg; 1 g; 2 g in vial.<br>– Anaplastic large cell lymphoma<br>– Burkitt lymphoma<br>– Ewing sarcoma<br>– Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour)<br>– Ovarian germ cell tumour<br>– Osteosarcoma<br>– Rhabdomyosarcoma<br>– Testicular germ cell tumour   |
|    | irinotecan   | Injection: 40 mg/2 mL in 2 mL vial; 100 mg/5 mL in 5 mL vial;<br>500 mg/25 mL in 25 mL vial.<br>– Metastatic colorectal cancer<br>– Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour)<br>– Rhabdomyosarcoma  |
|    | melphalan  | <b>Tablet:</b> 2 mg.<br><b>Powder for injection:</b> 50 mg in vial.<br>– Multiple myeloma  |
|    | mercaptopurine                                     | <b>Tablet:</b> 50 mg.<br><b>Oral liquid:</b> 20 mg/mL [c].<br>– Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia<br>– Acute promyelocytic leukaemia<br>– Langerhans cell histiocytosis  |
|    | methotrexate                                       | Concentrated injection: 1000 mg/10 mL.<br>Injection: 50 mg/2 mL.<br>Powder for injection: 50 mg (as sodium) in vial.<br>Tablet: 2.5 mg (as sodium).<br>- Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia<br>- Acute promyelocytic leukaemia<br>- Anaplastic large cell lymphoma<br>- Burkitt lymphoma<br>- Early stage breast cancer<br>- Gestational trophoblastic neoplasia<br>- Langerhans cell histiocytosis<br>- Osteosarcoma |
|    | oxaliplatin  | Injection: 50 mg/10 mL in 10 mL vial; 100 mg/20 mL in<br>20 mL vial; 200 mg/40 mL in 40 mL vial.<br>Powder for injection: 50 mg; 100 mg in vial.<br>– Early stage colon cancer<br>– Metastatic colorectal cancer   |

WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1049, 2024

| 8. | . IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued) |   |
|----|--|---|
|    | paclitaxel   | Injection: 6 mg/mL in vial.<br>– Cervical cancer<br>– Epithelial ovarian cancer<br>– Early stage breast cancer<br>– Metastatic breast cancer<br>– Kaposi sarcoma<br>– Nasopharyngeal cancer<br>– Non-small cell lung cancer<br>– Ovarian germ cell tumour   |
|    | pegaspargase*                                      | Injection: 3750 units/5 mL in vial.   |
|    | * including quality-assured<br>biosimilars         | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 3750 units in vial.<br>– Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia   |
|    | procarbazine [c]                                   | <b>Capsule:</b> 50 mg (as hydrochloride).<br>– Hodgkin lymphoma   |
|    | realgar-Indigo naturalis<br>formulation            | <b>Tablet:</b> 270 mg (containing tetra-arsenic tetra-sulfide 30 mg).<br>– Acute promyelocytic leukaemia  |
|    | tioguanine [c]                                     | <b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 40 mg.<br>– Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia  |
|    | vinblastine  | Injection: 10 mg/10 mL (sulfate) in vial.<br>Powder for injection: 10 mg (sulfate) in vial.<br>– Anaplastic large cell lymphoma<br>– Hodgkin lymphoma<br>– Kaposi sarcoma<br>– Langerhans cell histiocytosis<br>– Low-grade glioma<br>– Ovarian germ cell tumour<br>– Testicular germ cell tumour |

| 8. IMMUNOMODULATOR  | S AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued)  |
|---|--|
| vincristine   | Injection: 1 mg/mL (sulfate); 2 mg/2 mL (sulfate) in vial.<br>Powder for injection: 1 mg; 5 mg (sulfate) in vial.<br>– Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia<br>– Burkitt lymphoma<br>– Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma<br>– Ewing sarcoma<br>– Follicular lymphoma<br>– Gestational trophoblastic neoplasia<br>– Hodgkin lymphoma<br>– Kaposi sarcoma<br>– Langerhans cell histiocytosis<br>– Low-grade glioma<br>– Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour)<br>– Retinoblastoma<br>– Rhabdomyosarcoma |
| vinorelbine<br>8.2.2 Targeted therapies                               | <b>Capsule:</b> 20 mg; 30 mg; 80 mg.<br>Injection: 10 mg/mL in 1 mL, 5 mL vial.<br>– Non-small cell lung cancer<br>– Metastatic breast cancer<br>– Rhabdomyosarcoma  |
| Complementary List  |  |
| all-trans retinoid acid<br>(ATRA)                                     | <b>Capsule:</b> 10 mg.<br>– Acute promyelocytic leukaemia.   |
| bortezomib  | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 3.5 mg in vial.<br>– Multiple myeloma   |
| dasatinib   | <b>Tablet:</b> 20 mg; 50 mg; 70 mg; 80 mg; 100 mg; 140 mg.<br>– Imatinib-resistant chronic myeloid leukaemia   |
| □ erlotinib<br>Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– afatinib<br>– gefitinib | <b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg, 150 mg.<br>– EGFR mutation-positive advanced non-small cell<br>lung cancer  |
| everolimus  | <b>Tablet:</b> 2.5 mg; 5 mg; 7.5 mg; 10 mg.<br><b>Tablet (dispersible):</b> 2 mg; 3 mg; 5 mg.<br>– Subependymal giant cell astrocytoma   |

| 8. | . IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued)              |  |
|----|---|--|
|    | ibrutinib   | <b>Capsule:</b> 140 mg.<br>– Relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia   |
|    | imatinib  | <b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 100 mg; 400 mg.<br>– Chronic myeloid leukaemia<br>– Gastrointestinal stromal tumour<br>– Philadelphia chromosome positive acute<br>lymphoblastic leukaemia  |
|    | nilotinib   | <b>Capsule:</b> 150 mg; 200 mg.<br>– Imatinib-resistant chronic myeloid leukaemia  |
|    | rituximab*<br>* including quality-assured<br>biosimilars        | <b>Injection (intravenous):</b> 100 mg/10 mL in 10 mL vial;<br>500 mg/50 mL in 50 mL vial.<br>– Burkitt lymphoma<br>– Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma<br>– Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia<br>– Follicular lymphoma  |
|    | <pre>trastuzumab* * including quality-assured biosimilars</pre> | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 60 mg; 150 mg; 440 mg in vial.<br>– Early stage HER2 positive breast cancer<br>– Metastatic HER2 positive breast cancer   |
| 8. | 2.3 Immunomodulators  |  |
|    | Complementary List  |  |
|    | filgrastim*<br>* including quality-assured<br>biosimilars       | <ul> <li>Injection: 120 micrograms/0.2 mL; 300 micrograms/0.5 mL;</li> <li>480 micrograms/0.8 mL in pre-filled syringe.</li> <li>Injection: 300 micrograms/mL in 1 mL vial;</li> <li>480 micrograms/1.6 mL in 1.6 mL vial.</li> <li>Primary prophylaxis in patients at high risk for developing febrile neutropenia associated with myelotoxic chemotherapy.</li> <li>Secondary prophylaxis for patients who have experienced neutropenia following prior myelotoxic chemotherapy</li> <li>To facilitate administration of dose dense chemotherapy regimens</li> </ul> |
|    | lenalidomide  | <b>Capsule:</b> 25 mg.<br>– Multiple myeloma   |

# 8. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued)

| <ul> <li>nivolumab*</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives*:</li> <li>pembrolizumab</li> <li>including quality-assured biosimilars</li> </ul> | <b>Concentrate solution for infusion:</b> 10 mg/mL.<br>– Metastatic melanoma   |
|--|--|
| pegfilgrastim*   | Injection: 6 mg/0.6 mL in pre-filled syringe.  |
| * including quality-assured<br>biosimilars   | <ul> <li>Primary prophylaxis in patients at high risk for<br/>developing febrile neutropenia associated with<br/>myelotoxic chemotherapy</li> <li>Secondary prophylaxis for patients who have<br/>experienced neutropenia following prior myelotoxic<br/>chemotherapy</li> <li>To facilitate administration of dose dense<br/>chemotherapy regimens</li> </ul> |
| thalidomide  | Capsule: 50 mg.  |
|  | – Multiple myeloma   |
| 8.2.4 Hormones and antihor   | mones  |
| Complementary List   |  |
|  | T-blat: 250  |

| □ abiraterone   | <b>Tablet:</b> 250 mg; 500 mg.   |
|---|--|
| Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– enzalutamide   | – Metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer  |
| <ul> <li>□ anastrozole</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>- 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br/>subgroup (L02BG<br/>Aromatase inhibitors)</li> </ul> | <b>Tablet:</b> 1 mg.<br>– Early stage breast cancer<br>– Metastatic breast cancer  |
| ☐ bicalutamide<br>Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– flutamide<br>– nilutamide  | <b>Tablet:</b> 50 mg.<br>– Metastatic prostate cancer  |
| dexamethasone   | Injection: 4 mg/mL (as disodium phosphate salt) in 1 mL<br>ampoule.<br>Oral liquid: 2 mg/5 mL [c].<br>Tablet: 2 mg [c]; 4 mg.<br>– Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia<br>– Anaplastic large cell lymphoma<br>– Burkitt lymphoma<br>– Multiple myeloma |

| 8. | IMMUNOMODULATORS A   | ND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued)   |
|----|--|--|
|    | hydrocortisone   | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 100 mg (as sodium succinate) in vial.<br>– Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia<br>– Burkitt lymphoma  |
|    | <ul> <li>leuprorelin</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>goserelin</li> <li>triptorelin</li> </ul> | <b>Injection:</b> 7.5 mg; 22.5 mg in pre-filled syringe.<br>– Early stage breast cancer<br>– Metastatic prostate cancer.   |
|    | methylprednisolone [c]   | Injection: 40 mg/mL (as sodium succinate) in 1 mL single-<br>dose vial and 5 mL multi-dose vials; 80 mg/mL (as sodium<br>succinate) in 1 mL single-dose vial.<br>– Acute lymphoblastic leukamia<br>– Burkitt lymphoma  |
|    | □ prednisolone   | Oral liquid: 5 mg/mL [c]   |
|    | Therapeutic alternatives:  | <b>Tablet:</b> 5 mg; 25 mg.  |
|    | – prednisone   | <ul> <li>Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia</li> <li>Anaplastic large cell lymphoma</li> <li>Burkitt lymphoma</li> <li>Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia</li> <li>Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma</li> <li>Follicular lymphoma</li> <li>Hodgkin lymphoma</li> <li>Langerhans cell histiocytosis</li> <li>Metastatic castration-resitsant prostate cancer</li> <li>Multiple myeloma</li> </ul> |
|    | tamoxifen  | <b>Tablet:</b> 10 mg; 20 mg (as citrate).  |
|    |  | – Early stage breast cancer<br>– Metastatic breast cancer.   |
| 8. | 2.5 Supportive medicines   |  |
|    | Complementary List   |  |
|    | allopurinol [c]  | Tablet: 100 mg; 300 mg.  |

– Tumour lysis syndrome

763

| 8. IMMUNOMODULATORS A                | B. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued)  |  |  |
|--------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| mesna                                | Injection: 100 mg/mL in 4 mL and 10 mL ampoules.<br>Tablet: 400 mg; 600 mg.<br>– Burkitt lymphoma<br>– Ewing sarcoma<br>– Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour)<br>– Ovarian germ cell tumour<br>– Osteosarcoma<br>– Rhabdomyosarcoma<br>– Testicular germ cell tumour |  |  |
| rasburicase                          | <b>Powder and solvent for solution for infusion:</b> 1.5 mg;<br>7.5 mg in vial.<br>– Tumour lysis syndrome   |  |  |
| zoledronic acid                      | <b>Concentrate solution for infusion:</b> 4 mg/5 mL in 5 mL vial.<br><b>Solution for infusion:</b> 4 mg/100 mL in 100 mL bottle.<br>– Malignancy-related bone disease  |  |  |
| 9. THERAPEUTIC FOODS                 |  |  |  |
| ready-to-use therapeutic<br>food [c] | Biscuit or paste*<br>* of nutritional composition as determined by the UN joint<br>statement on the community-based management of severe<br>acute malnutrition and Codex alimentarius guidelines.  |  |  |
| 10. MEDICINES AFFECTING THE BLOOD    |  |  |  |
| 10.1 Antianaemia medicines           |  |  |  |
| ferrous salt                         | <b>Oral liquid:</b> equivalent to 25 mg iron (as sulfate)/mL.<br><b>Tablet:</b> equivalent to 60 mg iron.  |  |  |
| ferrous salt + folic acid            | Tablet: equivalent to 60 mg elemental iron + 400<br>micrograms folic acid.*<br>* nutritional supplement for use during pregnancy<br>Tablet: equivalent to 60 mg elemental iron + 2.8 mg<br>folic acid.**<br>**for weekly iron and folic acid supplementation   |  |  |
| folic acid                           | Tablet: 400 micrograms*; 1 mg; 5 mg.   |  |  |

\* periconceptual use for prevention of first occurrence of neural tube defects

sulfate) in 1 mL ampoule.

Injection: 1 mg/mL (as acetate, as hydrochloride or as

hydroxocobalamin

#### 10. MEDICINES AFFECTING THE BLOOD (continued)

#### **Complementary List**

| erythropoiesis-  | Injection: pre-filled syringe  |
|--|--|
| stimulating agents*  | 1000 IU/0.5 mL; 2000 IU/0.5 mL; 3000 IU/0.3 mL;                      |
| Therapeutic alternatives:  | 4000 IU/0.4 mL; 5000 IU/0.5 mL; 6000 IU/0.6 mL;                      |
| <ul> <li>epoetin alfa, beta and theta</li> <li>darbepoetin alfa</li> <li>methoxy polyethylene<br/>glycol-epoetin beta</li> </ul> | 8000 IU/0.8 mL; 10 000 IU/1 mL; 20 000 IU/0.5 mL;<br>40 000 IU/1 mL. |
| <ul> <li>including quality-assured<br/>biosimilars</li> </ul>  |  |

#### 10.2 Medicines affecting coagulation

#### □ dabigatran

Capsule: 110 mg; 150 mg.

Therapeutic alternatives:

- apixaban
- edoxaban
- rivaroxaban

#### □ enoxaparin\* Injection: ampoule or pre-filled syringe Therapeutic alternatives\*: 20 mg/0.2 mL; 40 mg/0.4 mL; 60 mg/0.6 mL; 80 mg/0.8 mL; 100 mg/1 mL; 120 mg/0.8 mL; dalteparin nadroparin 150 mg/1 mL. \* including quality-assured biosimilars heparin sodium Injection: 1000 IU/mL; 5000 IU/mL; 20 000 IU/mL in 1 mL ampoule. phytomenadione **Injection:** 1 mg/mL [c]; 10 mg/mL in ampoule. Tablet: 10 mg. Injection: 10 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule. protamine sulfate tranexamic acid Injection: 100 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule. □ warfarin Tablet: 1 mg; 2 mg; 5 mg (sodium). Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed **Complementary List**

| desmopressin [c]   | Injection: 4 micrograms/mL (as acetate) in 1 mL ampoule |
|--------------------|---|
|                    | Nasal spray: 10 micrograms (as acetate) per dose.       |
| heparin sodium [c] | Injection: 1000 IU/mL; 5000 IU/mL in 1 mL ampoule.      |

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

#### 10. MEDICINES AFFECTING THE BLOOD (continued)

protamine sulfate [c] Injection: 10 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule.

□ warfarin [c] **Tablet:** 0.5 mg; 1 mg; 2 mg; 5 mg (sodium).

Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed

#### 10.3 Other medicines for haemoglobinopathies

| deferasirox Therapeutic alternatives: | <b>Tablet (dispersible):</b> 100 mg; 125 mg; 250 mg; 400 mg;<br>500 mg. |
|---------------------------------------|---|
| – deferiprone                         | Tablet (film-coated): 90 mg; 180 mg; 360 mg.                            |
| Complementary List                    |   |
| deferoxamine                          | Powder for injection: 500 mg (mesilate) in vial.                        |
| hydroxycarbamide<br>(hydroxyurea)     | <b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 100 mg <b>[c]</b> ; 200 mg; 500 mg; 1 g. |

# 11. BLOOD PRODUCTS OF HUMAN ORIGIN AND PLASMA SUBSTITUTES

# 11.1 Blood and blood components

In accordance with the World Health Assembly resolution WHA63.12, WHO recognizes that achieving self-sufficiency, unless special circumstances preclude it, in the supply of safe blood components based on voluntary, non-remunerated blood donation, and the security of that supply are important national goals to prevent blood shortages and meet the transfusion requirements of the patient population. All preparations should comply with the WHO requirements.

| Cryoprecipitate, pathogen-reduced  | <b>Injection:</b> frozen liquid in bag or lyophilized powder in vial containing:                                       |
|--|--|
| Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– cryoprecipitate (not<br>pathogen-reduced) | <ul> <li>&gt; 50 IU Factor VIII</li> <li>&gt; 100 IU vWF</li> <li>&gt; 140 mg clottable fibrinogen per unit</li> </ul> |
| fresh-frozen plasma  |  |
| platelets  |  |
| red blood cells  |  |
| whole blood  |  |

# 11.2 Plasma-derived medicines

All human plasma-derived medicines should comply with the WHO requirements.

#### 11. BLOOD PRODUCTS OF HUMAN ORIGIN AND PLASMA SUBSTITUTES (continued)

## 11.2.1 Human immunoglobulins

| anti-D immunoglobulin          | Injection: 250 micrograms in single-dose vial.  |
|--------------------------------|---|
| anti-rabies<br>immunoglobulin  | <b>Injection:</b> 150 IU/mL in vial.  |
| anti-tetanus<br>immunoglobulin | Injection: 500 IU in vial.  |
| Complementary List             |   |
| normal immunoglobulin          | <ul> <li>Intramuscular administration: 16% protein solution.</li> <li>Subcutaneous administration: 15%; 16% protein solution.</li> <li>– Primary immune deficiency</li> <li>Intravenous administration: 5%; 10% protein solution.</li> <li>– Primary immune deficiency</li> <li>– Kawasaki disease</li> </ul> |

- Langerhans cell histiocytosis

#### 11.2.2 Blood coagulation factors

# **Complementary List**

| coagulation factor VIII Po      | owder for injection: 250 IU; 500 IU; 1000 IU in vial. |
|---------------------------------|---|
| $\Box$ coagulation factor IX Pe | owder for injection: 500 IU/vial; 1000 IU/vial.       |
| Therapeutic alternatives:       |   |

# 11.3 Plasma substitutes

#### dextran 70

Injectable solution: 6%.

Therapeutic alternatives:

 Polygeline injectable solution 3.5%

# **12. CARDIOVASCULAR MEDICINES**

## 12.1 Antianginal medicines

□ bisoprolol

Tablet: 1.25 mg; 5 mg.

Therapeutic alternatives:

- carvedilol
- metoprolol

## 12. CARDIOVASCULAR MEDICINES (continued)

12.2 Antiarrhythmic medicines

| glyceryl trinitrate  | Tablet (sublingual): 500 micrograms.  |
|----------------------|---------------------------------------|
| isosorbide dinitrate | Tablet (sublingual): 5 mg.            |
| verapamil            | Tablet: 40 mg; 80 mg (hydrochloride). |

| •   |   |
|---|---|
| <ul> <li>bisoprolol</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>– carvedilol</li> <li>– metoprolol</li> </ul> | <b>Tablet:</b> 1.25 mg; 5 mg.   |
| digoxin   | Injection: 250 micrograms/mL in 2 mL ampoule.<br>Oral liquid: 50 micrograms/mL.<br>Tablet: 62.5 micrograms; 250 micrograms. |
| epinephrine (adrenaline)  | <b>Injection:</b> 100 micrograms/mL (as acid tartrate or hydrochloride) in 10 mL ampoule.                                   |
| lidocaine   | Injection: 20 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 5 mL ampoule.  |
| verapamil   | Injection: 2.5 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule.<br>Tablet: 40 mg; 80 mg (hydrochloride).                              |
| Complementary List  |   |
| amiodarone  | Injection: 50 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 3 mL ampoule.<br>Tablet: 100 mg; 200 mg; 400 mg (hydrochloride).                     |

## 12.3 Antihypertensive medicines

| <ul> <li>amlodipine</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br/>subgroup (C08CA<br/>Dihydropyridine derivatives)</li> </ul> | <b>Tablet:</b> 5 mg (as maleate, mesylate or besylate).              |
|---|--|
| □ bisoprolol  | Tablet: 1.25 mg; 5 mg.   |
| Therapeutic alternatives:   | * atenolol should not be used as a first-line agent in uncomplicated |
| – atenolol*   | hypertension in patients > 60 years                                  |
| – carvedilol  |  |
| – metoprolol  |  |

12. CARDIOVASCULAR MEDICINES (continued) enalapril Oral liquid: 1 mg/mL (as hydrogen maleate) [c]. Therapeutic alternatives: Tablet: 2.5 mg; 5 mg; 10 mg (as hydrogen maleate). - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (C09AA ACE inhibitors, plain) hydralazine\* Powder for injection: 20 mg (hydrochloride) in ampoule. Tablet: 25 mg; 50 mg (hydrochloride). \* Hydralazine is listed for use only in the acute management of severe pregnancy-induced hypertension. Its use in the treatment of essential hypertension is not recommended in view of the evidence of greater efficacy and safety of other medicines. □ hydrochlorothiazide Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL. Therapeutic alternatives: Solid oral dosage form: 12.5 mg; 25 mg. chlorothiazide chlorthalidone indapamide **Tablet:** 10 mg + 5 mg; 20 mg + 5 mg; 20 mg + 10 mg.  $\Box$  lisinopril +  $\Box$  amlodipine Therapeutic alternatives: - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (C09AA ACE inhibitors, plain) (for lisinopril) - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (C08CA Dihydropyridine derivatives) (for amlodipine) □ lisinopril + Tablet: 10 mg + 12.5 mg; 20 mg + 12.5 mg; 20 mg + □ hydrochlorothiazide 25 mg. Therapeutic alternatives: - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (C09AA ACE inhibitors, plain) (for lisinopril) - chlorthalidone, chlorothiazide, indapamide (for hydrochlorothiazide) □ losartan Tablet: 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg. Therapeutic alternatives: - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (C09CA Angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs), plain)

| 12. CARDIOVASCULAR MEDICINES (continued)   |  |  |
|--|--|--|
| methyldopa*  | <b>Tablet:</b> 250 mg.         * Methyldopa is listed for use only in the management of pregnancy-induced hypertension. Its use in the treatment of essential hypertension is not recommended in view of the evidence of greater efficacy and safety of other medicines. |  |
| <ul> <li>telmisartan +</li> <li>amlodipine</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br/>subgroup (C09CA Angiotensin<br/>II receptor blockers (ARBs),<br/>plain) (for telmisartan)</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup<br/>(C08CA Dihydropyridine<br/>derivatives) (for amlodipine)</li> </ul> | <b>Tablet:</b> 40 mg + 5 mg; 80 mg + 5 mg; 80 mg + 10 mg.  |  |
| <ul> <li>telmisartan +</li> <li>hydrochlorothiazide</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br/>subgroup (C09CA Angiotensin<br/>Il receptor blockers (ARBs),<br/>plain) (for telmisartan)</li> <li>chlorthalidone, chlorothiazide,<br/>indapamide (for<br/>hydrochlorothiazide)</li> </ul>                   | <b>Tablet:</b> 40 mg + 12.5 mg; 80 mg + 12.5 mg; 80 mg + 25 mg.  |  |
| sodium nitroprusside   | Powder for infusion: 50 mg in ampoule.   |  |
| 12.4 Medicines used in heart failure   |  |  |
| <ul> <li>bisoprolol</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>- carvedilol</li> <li>- metoprolol</li> </ul>  | <b>Tablet:</b> 1.25 mg; 5 mg.  |  |
| digoxin  | Injection: 250 micrograms/mL in 2 mL ampoule.<br>Oral liquid: 50 micrograms/mL.<br>Tablet: 62.5 micrograms; 250 micrograms.  |  |
| 🗆 enalapril  | Tablet: 2.5 mg: 5 mg: 10 mg (as hydrogen maleate)  |  |

12. CARDIOVASCULAR MEDICINES (continued) □ furosemide Injection: 10 mg/mL in 2 mL, 5 mL ampoule. Therapeutic alternatives: Oral liquid: 20 mg/5 mL; 50 mg/5 mL [c]. bumetanide Tablet: 20 mg; 40 mg. torasemide □ hydrochlorothiazide Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL. Therapeutic alternatives: Solid oral dosage form: 25 mg. chlorothiazide chlorthalidone - indapamide □ losartan Tablet: 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg. Therapeutic alternatives: - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical subgroup (C09CA Angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs), plain) spironolactone Tablet: 25 mg. Complementary List digoxin [c] Injection: 100 micrograms/mL in 1 mL ampoule; 250 micrograms/mL in 2 mL ampoule. Oral liquid: 50 micrograms/mL. Tablet: 62.5 micrograms; 125 micrograms; 250 micrograms. dopamine Injection: 40 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 5 mL vial. 12.5 Antithrombotic medicines 12.5.1 Anti-platelet medicines acetylsalicylic acid Tablet: 100 mg. clopidogrel Tablet: 75 mg; 300 mg. 12.5.2 Thrombolytic medicines **Complementary List** alteplase Powder for injection: 10 mg; 20 mg; 50 mg in vial Powder for injection: 1.5 million IU in vial. streptokinase

#### 12. CARDIOVASCULAR MEDICINES (continued)

# 12.6 Lipid-lowering agents

#### □ simvastatin\*

Tablet: 5 mg; 10 mg; 20 mg; 40 mg.

Therapeutic alternatives:

- atorvastatin
- fluvastatin
- lovastatin
- pravastatin

#### 12.7 Fixed-dose combinations for prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease

\* For use in high-risk patients.

| acetylsalicylic acid +<br>□ atorvastatin + □ ramipril<br>Therapeutic alternatives:<br>- fluvastatin, lovastatin,<br>pravastatin, simvastatin (for<br>atorvastatin)<br>- 4 <sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br>subgroup (C09AA ACE<br>inhibitors, plain) (for ramipril)  | <b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg + 20 mg + 2.5 mg; 100 mg + 20 mg +<br>5 mg; 100 mg + 20 mg + 10 mg; 100 mg + 40 mg +<br>2.5 mg; 100 mg + 40 mg + 5 mg; 100 mg + 40 mg +<br>10 mg. |
|---|---|
| acetylsalicylic acid +<br>□ simvastatin +<br>□ ramipril + □ atenolol +<br>□ hydrochlorothiazide   | <b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg + 20 mg + 5 mg + 50 mg + 12.5 mg.   |
| <ul> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>atorvastatin, fluvastatin,<br/>lovastatin, pravastatin (for<br/>simvastatin)</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br/>subgroup (C09AA ACE<br/>inhibitors, plain) (for ramipril)</li> <li>bisoprolol, carvedilol,<br/>metoprolol (for atenolol)</li> <li>chlorthalidone,<br/>chlorothiazide, indapamide<br/>(for hydrochlorothiazide)</li> </ul> |   |
# 12. CARDIOVASCULAR MEDICINES (continued)

| <ul> <li>atorvastatin +</li> <li>perindopril +</li> <li>amlodipine</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>fluvastatin, lovastatin,<br/>pravastatin, simvastatin (for<br/>atorvastatin)</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br/>subgroup (C09AA ACE<br/>inhibitors, plain) (for<br/>perindopril)</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br/>subgroup (C08CA<br/>Dihydropyridine derivatives)<br/>(for amlodipine)</li> </ul> | <b>Tablet:</b> 20 mg + 5 mg + 5 mg; 20 mg + 10 mg + 10 mg;<br>40 mg + 5 mg + 5 mg; 40 mg + 10 mg + 10 mg. |  |
|---|---|--|
| 13. DERMATOLOGICAL MEDICINES  |   |  |
| 13.1 Antifungal medicines   |   |  |
| <ul> <li>miconazole</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br/>subgroup (D01AC Imidazole<br/>and triazole derivatives)<br/>excluding combinations</li> </ul>   | Cream or ointment: 2% (nitrate).  |  |
| selenium sulfide  | Detergent-based suspension: 2%.   |  |
| sodium thiosulfate  | Solution: 15%.  |  |
| terbinafine   | Cream or ointment: 1% (hydrochloride).  |  |
| 13.2 Anti-infective medicine  | s   |  |
| mupirocin   | Cream: 2% (as calcium).<br>Ointment: 2%.  |  |

| potassium permanganate       | Aqueous solution: 1:10 000. |
|------------------------------|-----------------------------|
| silver sulfadiazine <b>a</b> | <b>Cream:</b> 1%.           |

a > 2 months.

### 13. DERMATOLOGICAL MEDICINES (continued)

#### 13.3 Anti-inflammatory and antipruritic medicines

| betamethasone a   | Cream or ointment: 0.1% (as valerate).         |
|---|--|
| Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– 4 <sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br>subgroup (D07AC<br>Corticosteroids, potent<br>(group III)) | <b>a</b> Hydrocortisone preferred in neonates. |
| calamine  | Lotion.  |
| □ hydrocortisone  | Cream or ointment: 1% (acetate).               |
| Therapeutic alternatives:   |  |
| - 4 <sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical  |  |
| subgroup (D07AA   |  |
| Corticosteroids, weak   |  |
| (group l))  |  |

#### 13.4 Medicines affecting skin differentiation and proliferation

| benzoyl peroxide  | Cream or lotion: 5%.  |
|---|---|
| □ calcipotriol<br>Therapeutic alternatives:<br>- calcitriol<br>- tacalcitol                       | <b>Cream or ointment:</b> 50 micrograms/mL (0.005%).<br><b>Lotion:</b> 50 micrograms/mL (0.005%). |
| coal tar  | Solution: 5%.   |
| fluorouracil  | Ointment: 5%.   |
| <ul> <li>podophyllum resin</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>podophyllotoxin</li> </ul> | <b>Solution:</b> 10% to 25%.  |
| salicylic acid  | Solution: 5%.   |
| urea  | Cream or ointment: 5%; 10%.   |
| Complementary List  |   |
| methotrexate  | <b>Tablet:</b> 2.5 mg; 10 mg (as sodium).   |
| 13.5 Scabicides and pediculicides   |   |
| 🗆 benzyl benzoate 🖪   | Lotion: 25%.  |

Therapeutic alternatives: **a** > 2 years. – precipitated sulfur topical

ointment

Annex 1: WHO Model List of Essential Medicines – 23rd List (2023)

| 13. | DERMATOLOGICAL MEDICINES | (continued) |
|-----|--------------------------|-------------|
|-----|--------------------------|-------------|

permethrin

**Cream:** 5%. **Lotion:** 1%.

# 14. DIAGNOSTIC AGENTS

## 14.1 Ophthalmic medicines

fluorescein

Eye drops: 1% (sodium salt).

Eye drops: 0.5%.

□ tropicamide Therapeutic alternatives:

- atropine
- cyclopentolate

#### 14.2 Radiocontrast media

| □ amidotrizoate<br>Therapeutic alternatives to be<br>reviewed | <b>Injection:</b> 140 mg to 420 mg iodine/mL (as sodium or meglumine salt) in 20 mL ampoule. |
|---|--|
| barium sulfate  | Aqueous suspension.  |
| □ iohexol<br>Therapeutic alternatives to be<br>reviewed       | <b>Injection:</b> 140 mg to 350 mg iodine/mL in 5 mL; 10 mL; 20 mL ampoule.                  |
| Complementary List  |  |
| barium sulfate [c]  | Aqueous suspension.  |

| meglumine iotroxate      | Solution: 5 g to 8 g iodine in 100 mL to 250 mL. |
|--------------------------|--|
| Therapeutic alternatives |  |
| to be reviewed           |  |

#### **15. ANTISEPTICS AND DISINFECTANTS**

#### **15.1 Antiseptics**

| □ chlorhexidine                         | Solution: 5% (digluconate).        |
|---|------------------------------------|
| Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed |                                    |
|   | <b>Colution</b> , 700/ (dometured) |
| Li ethanol                              | Solution: 70% (denatured).         |
| Therapeutic alternatives:               | Solution: 70% (denatured).         |

| 15. ANTISEPTICS AND DISINFECTANTS (continued)   |   |  |
|---|---|--|
| <ul> <li>povidone iodine</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>iodine</li> </ul>  | <b>Solution:</b> 10% (equivalent to 1% available iodine).   |  |
| 15.2 Disinfectants  |   |  |
| alcohol based hand rub  | Solution: containing ethanol 80% volume/volume.<br>Solution: containing isopropyl alcohol 75% volume/<br>volume.  |  |
| chlorine base compound  | <b>Liquid:</b> (0.1% available chlorine) for solution.<br><b>Powder:</b> (0.1% available chlorine) for solution.<br><b>Solid:</b> (0.1% available chlorine) for solution. |  |
| <ul> <li>chloroxylenol</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br/>subgroup (D08AE Phenol<br/>and derivatives)</li> </ul> | Solution: 4.8%.   |  |
| glutaral  | Solution: 2%.   |  |
| 16. DIURETICS   |   |  |
| amiloride   | Tablet: 5 mg (hydrochloride).   |  |
| ☐ furosemide<br>Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– bumetanide<br>– torasemide   | Injection: 10 mg/mL in 2 mL, 5 mL ampoule.<br>Oral liquid: 20 mg/5 mL; 50 mg/5 mL [c].<br>Tablet: 20 mg; 40 mg.   |  |
| <ul> <li>hydrochlorothiazide</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>chlorothiazide</li> <li>chlortalidone</li> <li>indapamide</li> </ul>                   | Solid oral dosage form: 25 mg.  |  |
| mannitol  | Injectable solution: 10%; 20%.  |  |
| spironolactone  | Tablet: 25 mg.  |  |
| Complementary List  |   |  |
| hydrochlorothiazide [c]     Therapeutic alternatives:     − chlorothiazide     − chlorothiazide   | Tablet (scored): 25 mg.   |  |

776

| 16. DIURETICS (continued)  |  |
|--|--|
| mannitol [c]   | Injectable solution: 10%; 20%.   |
| spironolactone [c]   | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 5 mg/5 mL; 10 mg/5 mL; 25 mg/5 mL.<br><b>Tablet:</b> 25 mg.  |
| 17. GASTROINTESTINAL ME  | DICINES  |
| Complementary List   |  |
| pancreatic enzymes [c]   | Age-appropriate formulations and doses including lipase, protease and amylase.   |
| 17.1 Antiulcer medicines   |  |
| omeprazole   | Powder for injection: 40 mg in vial  |
| Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– 4 <sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br>subgroup (A02BC Proton<br>pump inhibitors) excluding<br>combinations    | <b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 20 mg; 40 mg sachets.<br><b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 10 mg; 20 mg; 40 mg.  |
| □ ranitidine   | Injection: 25 mg/mL (as hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule.  |
| Therapeutic alternatives:  | Oral liquid: 75 mg/5 mL (as hydrochloride).  |
| <ul> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br/>subgroup (A02BA<br/>H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists)<br/>excluding combinations</li> </ul> | <b>Tablet:</b> 150 mg (as hydrochloride).  |
| 17.2 Antiemetic medicines  |  |
| dexamethasone  | <ul> <li>Injection: 4 mg/mL (as disodium phosphate salt) in 1 mL ampoule.</li> <li>Oral liquid: 0.5 mg/5 mL; 2 mg/5 mL.</li> <li>Solid oral dosage form: 0.5 mg; 0.75 mg; 1.5 mg; 4 mg.</li> </ul> |
| metoclopramide <b>a</b>  | Injection: 5 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule.<br>Oral liquid: 5 mg/5 mL [c].<br>Tablet: 10 mg (hydrochloride).   |

**a** Not in neonates.

# □ ondansetron a Injection: 2 mg base/mL in 2 mL ampoule Therapeutic alternatives: (as hydrochloride).

- dolasetron
   granisetron
   palonosetron
   Coral liquid: 4 mg base/5 mL.
   Solid oral dosage form: Eq 4 mg base; Eq 8 mg base;
   Eq 24 mg base.
  - LY 24 II

- tropisetron

**a** > 1 month.

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

# 17. GASTROINTESTINAL MEDICINES (continued)

# Complementary list

aprepitant

**Capsule:** 80 mg; 125 mg; 165 mg. **Powder for oral suspension:** 125 mg in sachet.

#### 17.3 Anti-inflammatory medicines

| sulfasalazine                            | Retention enema.  |  |  |
|--|---|--|--|
| Therapeutic alternatives:                | Suppository: 500 mg.  |  |  |
| – mesalazine                             | Tablet: 500 mg.   |  |  |
| Complementary List                       |   |  |  |
| hydrocortisone                           | Retention enema: 100 mg/60 mL.                              |  |  |
|  | Suppository: 25 mg (acetate).                               |  |  |
| prednisolone                             | <b>Retention enema:</b> 20 mg/100 mL (as sodium phosphate). |  |  |
| 17.4 Laxatives                           |   |  |  |
| 🗆 senna                                  | Tablet: 7.5 mg (sennosides) (or traditional dosage forms).  |  |  |
| Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– bisacodyl |   |  |  |
| 17.5 Medicines used in dia               | arrhoea   |  |  |

| oral rehydration salts – zinc | Co-package containing:                                     |
|-------------------------------|--|
| sulfate [c]                   | <b>ORS powder for dilution</b> (see Section 17.5.1) – zinc |
|                               | sulfate solid oral dosage form 20 mg (see Section 17.5.2)  |

# **17. GASTROINTESTINAL MEDICINES** (continued)

# 17.5.1 Oral rehydration

| oral rehydration salts   | Powder for dilution in 200 mL;   | 500 mL; 1 L.  |
|--|--|---|
|  | glucose:<br>sodium:<br>chloride:<br>potassium:<br>citrate:<br>osmolarity:<br>glucose:<br>sodium chloride:<br>potassium chloride:<br>trisodium citrate dihydrate*:<br>* trisodium citrate dihydrate may be<br>carbonate (sodium bicarbonate) 2.5<br>of this latter formulation is very poor<br>is recommended only when manuf | 75 mEq<br>75 mEq or mmol/L<br>65 mEq or mmol/L<br>20 mEq or mmol/L<br>10 mmol/L<br>245 mOsm/L<br>13.5 g/L<br>2.6 g/L<br>1.5 g/L<br>2.9 g/L<br>replaced by sodium hydrogen<br>5 g/L. However, as the stability<br>or under tropical conditions, it<br>actured for immediate use. |
| 17.5.2 Medicines for diarrhoe  | ea   |   |
| zinc sulfate*  | Solid oral dosage form: 20 mg.   |   |
|  | * In acute diarrhoea zinc sulfate shou<br>oral rehydration salts.  | ld be used as an adjunct to   |
| 18. MEDICINES FOR ENDOCI   | RINE DISORDERS   |   |
| 18.1 Adrenal hormones and  | synthetic substitutes  |   |
| fludrocortisone  | Tablet: 100 micrograms (acetat   | e).   |
| hydrocortisone   | Tablet: 5 mg; 10 mg; 20 mg.  |   |
|  |  |   |
| 18.2 Androgens   |  |   |
| 18.2 Androgens<br>Complementary List   |  |   |
| 18.2 Androgens<br>Complementary List<br>testosterone   | <b>Injection:</b> 200 mg (enanthate) in  | 1 mL ampoule.   |
| 18.2 Androgens<br>Complementary List<br>testosterone<br>18.3 Estrogens   | <b>Injection:</b> 200 mg (enanthate) in  | 1 mL ampoule.   |
| <ul> <li>18.2 Androgens <ul> <li>Complementary List</li> <li>testosterone</li> </ul> </li> <li>18.3 Estrogens</li> <li>18.4 Progestogens</li> </ul>  | <b>Injection:</b> 200 mg (enanthate) in  | 1 mL ampoule.   |
| <ul> <li>18.2 Androgens <ul> <li>Complementary List</li> <li>testosterone</li> </ul> </li> <li>18.3 Estrogens <ul> <li>18.4 Progestogens</li> <li>medroxyprogesterone acetate</li> </ul> </li> </ul> | Injection: 200 mg (enanthate) in<br>Tablet: 5 mg.  | 1 mL ampoule.   |

18. MEDICINES FOR ENDOCRINE DISORDERS (continued)

### 18.5 Medicines for diabetes

### 18.5.1 Insulins

| insulin injection (soluble)* <ul> <li>including quality-assured</li> <li>biosimilars</li> </ul>   | <b>Injection:</b> 40 IU/mL in 10 mL vial; 100 IU/mL in 10 mL vial; 100 IU/mL in 3 mL cartridge or pre-filled pen.   |
|---|---|
| intermediate-acting insulin* * including quality-assured biosimilars  | <b>Injection:</b> 40 IU/mL in 10 mL vial; 100 IU/mL in 10 mL vial; 100 IU/mL in 3 mL cartridge or pre-filled pen (as compound insulin zinc suspension or isophane insulin). |
| <ul> <li>long-acting insulin<br/>analogues*</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:         <ul> <li>insulin degludec</li> <li>insulin detemir</li> <li>insulin glargine</li> </ul> </li> <li>* including quality-assured biosimilars</li> </ul> | Injection: 100 IU/mL in 3 mL cartridge or pre-filled pen.   |
| 18.5.2 Oral hypoglycaemic ag  | gents   |
| <ul> <li>empagliflozin</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>canagliflozin</li> <li>dapagliflozin</li> </ul>  | <b>Tablet:</b> 10 mg; 25 mg.  |
| <ul> <li>□ gliclazide*</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br/>subgroup (A10BB<br/>Sulfonylureas)</li> </ul>  | Solid oral dosage form: (controlled-release tablets)<br>30 mg; 60 mg; 80 mg.<br>* glibenclamide not suitable above 60 years.  |
| metformin   | Tablet: 500 mg (hydrochloride).   |
| Complementary List  |   |
| metformin [c]   | Tablet: 500 mg (hydrochloride).   |
| 18.6 Medicines for hypoglyca  | aemia   |
| glucagon  | Injection: 1 mg/mL.   |
| Complementary List  |   |

Oral liquid: 50 mg/mL. Tablet: 50 mg.

WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1049, 2024

| 18. MEDICINES FOR ENDOCR  | RINE DISORDERS (continued)   |  |
|---|--|--|
| 18.7 Thyroid hormones and antithyroid medicines   |  |  |
| levothyroxine   | Tablet:       25 micrograms       [C]       ; 50 micrograms;         100 micrograms       (sodium salt).   |  |
| potassium iodide  | Tablet: 60 mg.   |  |
| <ul> <li>methimazole</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>carbimazole (depending on<br/>local availability)</li> </ul>       | <b>Tablet:</b> 5mg, 10mg, 20mg.  |  |
| propylthiouracil*   | <ul> <li><b>Tablet:</b> 50 mg.</li> <li>* For use when alternative first-line treatment is not appropriate or available; and in patients during the first trimester of pregnancy.</li> </ul> |  |
| Complementary List  |  |  |
| Lugol's solution [c]  | Oral liquid: about 130 mg total iodine/mL.   |  |
| <ul> <li>methimazole [c]</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>- carbimazole (depending<br/>on local availability)</li> </ul> | <b>Tablet:</b> 5mg, 10mg, 20mg.  |  |
| potassium iodide [c]  | <b>Tablet:</b> 60 mg.  |  |
| propylthiouracil* [c]   | <b>Tablet:</b> 50 mg.         * For use when alternative first-line treatment is not appropriate or available.   |  |
| 18.8 Medicines for disorders of the pituitary hormone system  |  |  |
| □ cabergoline<br>Therapeutic alternatives:  | <b>Tablet:</b> 0.5 mg; 1 mg.   |  |

- bromocriptine

# **Complementary List**

| octreotide | <b>Injection (immediate-release):</b> 0.05 mg/mL; 0.1 mg/mL; 0.5 mg/mL (as acetate) in 1 mL vial. |
|------------|---|
|            | <b>Injection (modified-release):</b> 20 mg (as acetate) in vial plus diluent.                     |

#### **19. IMMUNOLOGICALS**

#### 19.1 Diagnostic agents

All tuberculins should comply with the WHO requirements for tuberculins.

tuberculin, purified protein Injection. derivative (PPD)

#### 19.2 Sera, immunoglobulins and monoclonal antibodies

All plasma fractions should comply with the WHO requirements.

| <b>Injection:</b> 40 IU/mL in 1.25 mL, 2.5 mL vial; 100 IU/mL in 2.5 mL vial (human). |
|---|
| Injection: 300 IU/mL in 10 mL vial; 600 IU/mL in 1 mL, 2.5 mL and 5 mL vial (murine). |
| Injection. * Exact type to be defined locally.  |
| Injection: 10 000 IU; 20 000 IU in vial.  |
| Injection: 150 IU/mL; 200 IU/mL; 300 IU/mL; 400 IU/mL in vial.                        |
|   |

782

#### 19. IMMUNOLOGICALS (continued)

#### 19.3 Vaccines

WHO immunization policy recommendations are published in vaccine position papers based on recommendations made by the Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on Immunization (SAGE).

WHO vaccine position papers are updated three to four times per year. The list below details the vaccines for which there is a recommendation from SAGE and a corresponding WHO position paper as at March 2023. The most recent versions of the WHO position papers, reflecting the current evidence related to a specific vaccine and the related recommendations, can be accessed at any time on the WHO website at: https://www. who.int/teams/immunization-vaccines-and-biologicals/policies/position-papers

Vaccine recommendations may be universal or conditional (e.g., in certain regions, in some high-risk populations or as part of immunization programmes with certain characteristics). Details are available in the relevant position papers, and in the Summary Tables of WHO Routine Immunization Recommendations available on the WHO website at: https://www.who.int/teams/immunization-vaccines-and-biologicals/policies/who-recommendations-for-routine-immunization---summary-tables

Selection of vaccines from the Model List will need to be determined by each country after consideration of international recommendations, epidemiology and national priorities.

All vaccines should comply with the WHO requirements for biological substances.

WHO noted the need for vaccines used in children to be polyvalent.

#### Recommendations for all

BCG vaccine diphtheria vaccine Haemophilus influenzae type b vaccine hepatitis B vaccine human papilloma virus (HPV) vaccine measles vaccine pertussis vaccine pneumococcal vaccine poliomyelitis vaccine rotavirus vaccine rubella vaccine tetanus vaccine

#### Recommendations for certain regions

Japanese encephalitis vaccine

tick-borne encephalitis vaccine

yellow fever vaccine

#### 19. IMMUNOLOGICALS (continued)

#### Recommendations for some high-risk populations

- cholera vaccine
- dengue vaccine
- hepatitis A vaccine
- meningococcal meningitis vaccine
- rabies vaccine
- typhoid vaccine

#### Recommendations for immunization programmes with certain characteristics

influenza vaccine (seasonal) mumps vaccine varicella vaccine

#### 20. MUSCLE RELAXANTS (PERIPHERALLY-ACTING) AND CHOLINESTERASE INHIBITORS

| □ atracurium<br>Therapeutic alternatives to be<br>reviewed       | Injection: 10 mg/mL (besylate).  |
|--|--|
| neostigmine  | Injection: 500 micrograms/mL (methylsulfate) in 1 mL ampoule; 2.5 mg/mL (methylsulfate) in 1 mL ampoule.<br>Tablet: 15 mg (bromide). |
| suxamethonium  | Injection: 50 mg/mL (chloride) in 2 mL ampoule.<br>Powder for injection: (chloride), in vial.  |
| <pre>vecuronium [c] Therapeutic alternatives: – atracurium</pre> | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 10 mg (bromide) in vial.  |
| Complementary List   |  |
| pyridostigmine   | Injection: 1 mg in 1 mL ampoule.<br>Tablet: 60 mg (bromide).   |
| vecuronium Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed               | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 10 mg (bromide) in vial.  |

21. OPHTHALMOLOGICAL PREPARATIONS 21.1 Anti-infective agents Ointment: 3% w/w. aciclovir Solution (eye drops): 1.5%. azithromycin – Trachoma **Ointment:** 0.5% [c]. erythromycin - Infections due to Chlamydia trachomatis or Neisseria aonorrhoea Solution (eye drops): 0.3% (sulfate). □ gentamicin Therapeutic alternatives: - Bacterial blepharitis amikacin - Bacterial conjunctivitis kanamvcin netilmicin tobramvcin Suspension (eye drops): 5% natamycin - Fungal keratitis □ ofloxacin Solution (eye drops): 0.3%. Therapeutic alternatives: - Bacterial conjunctivitis - 4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical – Bacterial keratitis subgroup (S01AE Fluoroquinolones) □ tetracycline Eye ointment: 1% (hydrochloride). Therapeutic alternatives: - Bacterial blepharitis chlortetracycline - Bacterial conjunctivitis oxytetracycline Bacterial keratitis – Trachoma

#### 21.2 Anti-inflammatory agents

| prednisolone<br>Therapeutic alternatives to be<br>reviewed  | Solution (eye drops): 0.5% (sodium phosphate).                          |
|---|---|
| 21.3 Local anaesthetics   |   |
| <ul> <li>tetracaine a</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br/>subgroup (S01HA Local<br/>anaesthetics) excluding<br/>cocaine and combinations</li> </ul> | Solution (eye drops): 0.5% (hydrochloride).  a Not in preterm neonates. |

#### 21. OPHTHALMOLOGICAL PREPARATIONS (continued)

#### 21.4 Miotics and antiglaucoma medicines

| acetazolamide  | Tablet: 250 mg.   |
|--|---|
| latanoprost  | Solution (eye drops): 50 micrograms/mL.                         |
| <ul> <li>pilocarpine</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>- carbachol</li> </ul>  | <b>Solution (eye drops):</b> 2%; 4% (hydrochloride or nitrate). |
| <ul> <li>timolol</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br/>subgroup (S01ED Beta<br/>blocking agents) excluding<br/>combinations</li> </ul> | <b>Solution (eye drops):</b> 0.25%; 0.5% (as hydrogen maleate). |

#### 21.5 Mydriatics

| 🗖 atropine 🖪                                       | <b>Solution (eye drops):</b> 0.1%; 0.5%; 1% (sulfate). |
|--|--|
| Therapeutic alternatives*:                         | <b>a</b> > 3 months.                                   |
| <ul> <li>– cyclopentolate hydrochloride</li> </ul> |  |

- homatropine hydrobromide
- \* EMLc only

#### **Complementary List**

epinephrine (adrenaline) Solution (eye drops): 2% (as hydrochloride).

#### 21.6 Anti-vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) preparations

#### **Complementary List**

bevacizumab\*

Injection: 25 mg/mL.

\* including quality-assured biosimilars

#### 22. MEDICINES FOR REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH AND PERINATAL CARE

#### 22.1 Contraceptives

#### 22.1.1 Oral hormonal contraceptives

| 🗆 ethinylestradiol +                    | Tablet: 30 micrograms + 150 micrograms. |
|---|---|
| 🗆 levonorgestrel                        |   |
| Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed |   |
| eviewed                                 |   |

| <ul> <li>ethinylestradiol +</li> <li>norethisterone</li> </ul> | Tablet: 35 micrograms + 1 mg.   |
|--|---|
| reviewed   |   |
| levonorgestrel   | <b>Tablet:</b> 30 micrograms; 750 micrograms (pack of two); 1.5 mg.   |
| ulipristal   | Tablet: 30 mg (as acetate)  |
| 22.1.2 Injectable hormonal co                                  | ontraceptives   |
| estradiol cypionate +<br>medroxyprogesterone<br>acetate        | Injection: 5 mg + 25 mg.  |
| medroxyprogesterone  | Injection (intramuscular): 150 mg mL in 1 mL vial.  |
| acetate  | <b>Injection (subcutaneous):</b> 104 mg/0.65 mL in pre-filled syringe or single-dose injection delivery system. |
| norethisterone enantate  | Oily solution: 200 mg/mL in 1 mL ampoule.   |
| 22.1.3 Intrauterine devices                                    |   |
| copper-containing device                                       |   |
| levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system                   | Intrauterine system: with reservoir containing 52 mg of levonorestrel   |
| 22.1.4 Barrier methods   |   |
| condoms  |   |
| diaphragms   |   |
| 22.1.5 Implantable contracep                                   | otives  |
| etonogestrel-releasing<br>implant                              | Single-rod etonogestrel-releasing implant: containing 68 mg of etonogestrel.                                    |
| levonorgestrel-releasing<br>implant                            | <b>Two-rod levonorgestrel-releasing implant:</b> each rod containing 75 mg of levonorgestrel (150 mg total).    |

#### 22.1.6 Intravaginal contraceptives

| ethinylestradiol +<br>etonogestrel | <b>Vaginal ring:</b> containing 2.7 mg + 11.7 mg   |
|------------------------------------|--|
| progesterone vaginal ring*         | <b>Progesterone-releasing vaginal ring:</b> containing 2.074 g of micronized progesterone. |
|                                    | * For use in women actively breastfeeding at least 4 times per day.                        |

#### 22.2 Ovulation inducers

| Complementary List                         |                                 |
|--|---------------------------------|
| clomifene                                  | Tablet: 50 mg (citrate).        |
| □ letrozole                                | Solid oral dosage form: 2.5 mg. |
| Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– anastrozole |                                 |

#### 22.3 Uterotonics

| carbetocin  | Injection (heat stable): 100 micrograms/mL  |
|---|---|
| <ul> <li>ergometrine</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>methylergometrine</li> </ul> | <b>Injection:</b> 200 micrograms (hydrogen maleate) in 1 mL ampoule.  |
| mifepristone – misoprostol  | Tablet 200 mg – tablet 200 micrograms.  |
| Where permitted under<br>national law and where<br>culturally acceptable.                     | Co-package containing:<br>mifepristone 200 mg tablet [1] and<br>misoprostol 200 micrograms tablet [4]<br>– Management of intrauterine fetal demise;<br>– Management of induced abortion                 |
| misoprostol   | Tablet: 200 micrograms.   |
|   | <ul> <li>Management of incomplete abortion and<br/>miscarriage;</li> <li>Prevention and treatment of postpartum<br/>haemorrhage where oxytocin is not available or<br/>cannot be safely used</li> </ul> |
|   | Vaginal tablet: 25 micrograms.*   |
|   | * Only for use for induction of labour where appropriate facilities are available.  |
| oxytocin  | Injection: 10 IU in 1 mL.   |

#### 22.4 Antioxytocics (tocolytics)

nifedipine

Immediate-release capsule: 10 mg.

### 22.5 Other medicines administered to the mother

| dexamethasone          | nethasone Injection: 4 mg/mL (as disodium phosphate<br>1 mL ampoule. |   |  |
|------------------------|--|---|--|
| multiple micronutrient | Tablet containing:   |   |  |
| supplement*            | Vitamin A (retinol acetate)  | 800 micrograms retinol activity equivalent                      |  |
|                        | Vitamin C (ascorbic acid)  | 70 mg   |  |
|                        | Vitamin D (cholecalciferol)  | 5 micrograms (200 IU)   |  |
|                        | Vitamin E (alpha tocopherol<br>succinate)                            | 10 mg alpha tocopherol<br>equivalent                            |  |
|                        | Vitamin B1 (thiamine<br>mononitrate)                                 | 1.4 mg  |  |
|                        | Vitamin B2 (riboflavin)  | 1.4 mg  |  |
|                        | Vitamin B3 (niacinamide)   | 18 mg niacin equivalent   |  |
|                        | Vitamin B6 (pyridoxine<br>hydrochloride)                             | 1.9 mg  |  |
|                        | Folic acid (folic acid)  | 680 micrograms dietary<br>folate equivalent<br>(400 micrograms) |  |
|                        | Vitamin B12<br>(cyanocobalamin)                                      | 2.6 micrograms  |  |
|                        | Iron (ferrous fumarate)  | 30 mg   |  |
|                        | lodine (potassium iodide)  | 150 micrograms  |  |
|                        | Zinc (zinc oxide)  | 15 mg   |  |
|                        | Selenium (sodium selenite)   | 65 micrograms   |  |
|                        | Copper (cupric oxide)  | 2 mg  |  |
|                        | * For use in specific contexts. Reference recommendations.           | er to current WHO   |  |
| tranexamic acid        | Injection: 100 mg/mL in 10   | mL ampoule  |  |

# 22.6 Medicines administered to the neonate [C]

| caffeine citrate [c]  | Injection: 20 mg/mL (equivalent to 10 mg caffeine base/mL).                                       |
|---|---|
|   | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 20 mg/mL (equivalent to 10 mg caffeine base/mL).                              |
| chlorhexidine [c]   | <b>Solution or gel:</b> 7.1% (digluconate) delivering 4% chlorhexidine (for umbilical cord care). |
| Complementary List  |   |
| ☐ ibuprofen [c]<br>Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– indometacin             | Solution for injection: 5 mg/mL.  |
| □ prostaglandin E1 [c]<br>Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– prostaglandin E2 | Solution for injection: 0.5 mg/mL in alcohol.   |
| surfactant [c]  | Suspension for intratracheal instillation: 25 mg/mL or 80 mg/mL.                                  |

#### 23. PERITONEAL DIALYSIS SOLUTION

#### **Complementary List**

intraperitoneal dialysis solution

intraperitoneal dialysis **Parenteral solution:** of appropriate composition

# 24. MEDICINES FOR MENTAL AND BEHAVIOURAL DISORDERS

#### 24.1 Medicines for psychotic disorders

| □ fluphenazine   | Injection: 25 mg (decanoate or enantate) in 1 mL |
|--|--|
| Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– haloperidol decanonate<br>– zuclopenthixol decanonate | ampoule.   |
| □ haloperidol  | <b>Tablet:</b> 2 mg; 5 mg.                       |
| Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– chlorpromazine  |  |
| haloperidol  | Injection: 5 mg/mL in 1 mL ampoule.              |
| olanzapine   | Powder for injection: 10 mg in vial.             |

#### 24. MEDICINES FOR MENTAL AND BEHAVIOURAL DISORDERS (continued)

| <ul> <li>paliperidone</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>risperidone injection</li> </ul>   | <b>Injection (prolonged-release):</b> 25 mg; 50 mg; 75 mg; 100 mg; 150 mg (as palmitate) in pre-filled syringe |
|--|--|
| <ul> <li>risperidone</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:         <ul> <li>aripiprazole</li> <li>olanzapine</li> <li>paliperidone</li> <li>quetiapine</li> </ul> </li> </ul> | Solid oral dosage form: 0.25 mg to 6.0 mg.   |
| Complementary List   |  |

clozapine

Solid oral dosage form: 25 to 200 mg.

#### 24.2 Medicines for mood disorders

#### 24.2.1 Medicines for depressive disorders

| amitriptyline             | Tablet: 25 mg; 75mg (hydrochloride).              |
|---------------------------|---|
| □ fluoxetine              | Solid oral dosage form: 20 mg (as hydrochloride). |
| Therapeutic alternatives: |   |
|                           |   |

- citalopram
- escitalopram
- fluvoxamine
- paroxetine
- sertraline

#### 24.2.2 Medicines for bipolar disorders

| carbamazepine   | Tablet (scored): 100 mg; 200 mg; 400 mg.  |
|---|---|
| lithium carbonate   | Solid oral dosage form: 300 mg.   |
| <ul> <li>quetiapine</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>aripiprazole</li> <li>olanzapine</li> </ul> | <b>Tablet (immediate-release):</b> 25 mg; 100 mg; 150 mg; 200 mg; 300 mg.<br><b>Tablet (modified-release):</b> 50 mg; 150 mg; 200 mg; 300 mg; 400 mg. |
| – paliperidone  |   |

#### 24. MEDICINES FOR MENTAL AND BEHAVIOURAL DISORDERS (continued)

#### valproic acid (sodium valproate)\*

#### Tablet (enteric-coated): 200 mg; 500 mg.

\* avoid use in pregnancy and in women and girls of child-bearing potential, unless alternative treatments are ineffective or not tolerated because of the hiah risk of birth defects and developmental disorders in children exposed to valproate in the womb.

#### 24.3 Medicines for anxiety disorders

#### □ diazepam\* Tablet (scored): 2 mg; 5 mg. Therapeutic alternatives: \* For short-term emergency management of acute and severe anxiety symptoms only. lorazepam □ fluoxetine Solid oral dosage form: 20 mg (as hydrochloride). Therapeutic alternatives: citalopram

- escitalopram
- fluvoxamine
- paroxetine
- sertraline

#### 24.4 Medicines for obsessive compulsive disorders

| clomipramine                       | Capsule: 10 mg; 25 mg (hydrochloride).            |
|------------------------------------|---|
| □ fluoxetine                       | Solid oral dosage form: 20 mg (as hydrochloride). |
| Therapeutic alternatives:          |   |
| – citalopram                       |   |
| <ul> <li>– escitalopram</li> </ul> |   |
| – fluvoxamine                      |   |

- paroxetine
- sertraline

#### 24.5 Medicines for disorders due to psychoactive substance use

#### 24.5.1 Medicines for alcohol use disorders

| acamprosate calcium | <b>Tablet:</b> 333 mg.                                   |
|---------------------|--|
| naltrexone          | Injection suspension (extended-release): 380 mg in vial. |
|                     | Tablet: 50 mg.   |

# 24. MEDICINES FOR MENTAL AND BEHAVIOURAL DISORDERS (continued)

#### 24.5.2 Medicines for nicotine use disorders

| bupropion                             | Tablet (sustained-release): 150 mg (hydrochloride)                    |
|---------------------------------------|---|
| nicotine replacement<br>therapy (NRT) | Chewing gum: 2 mg; 4 mg (as polacrilex).                              |
|                                       | Lozenge: 2 mg; 4 mg.  |
|                                       | Oral spray: 1 mg per actuation.                                       |
|                                       | <b>Transdermal patch:</b> 5 mg to 30 mg/16 hrs; 7 mg to 21 mg/24 hrs. |
| varenicline                           | <b>Tablet:</b> 0.5 mg; 1 mg.  |

#### 24.5.3 Medicines for opioid use disorders

### **Complementary List**

| □ methadone*                      | Concentrate for oral liquid: 5 mg/mL; 10 mg/mL                    |
|-----------------------------------|---|
| Therapeutic alternatives:         | (hydrochloride).  |
| <ul> <li>buprenorphine</li> </ul> | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 5 mg/5 mL; 10 mg/5 mL (hydrochloride).        |
|                                   | * The medicines should only be used within an established support |
|                                   | programme.  |

#### 25. MEDICINES ACTING ON THE RESPIRATORY TRACT

# 25.1 Antiasthmatic medicines and medicines for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

| 🗆 budesonide  | Inhalation (aerosol): 100 micrograms per dose;                                     |
|---|--|
| Therapeutic alternatives:   | 200 micrograms per dose.   |
| – beclometasone   |  |
| <ul> <li>– ciclesonide</li> <li>– flunisolide</li> </ul>                          |  |
| – fluticasone   |  |
| – mometasone  |  |
| □ budesonide +  | Dry powder inhaler: 100 micrograms + 6 micrograms                                  |
| □ formoterol  | per dose; 200 micrograms + 6 micrograms per dose                                   |
| Therapeutic alternatives:   |  |
| - beclometasone + formoterol  |  |
| <ul> <li>– budesonide + saimeteroi</li> <li>– fluticasone + formoterol</li> </ul> |  |
| <ul> <li>– fluticasone furoate + vilanterol</li> </ul>                            |  |
| <ul> <li>mometasone + formoterol</li> </ul>                                       |  |
| epinephrine (adrenaline)  | <b>Injection:</b> 1 mg/mL (as hydrochloride or hydrogen tartrate) in 1 mL ampoule. |
| ipratropium bromide   | Inhalation (aerosol): 20 micrograms/metered dose.                                  |
|   |  |

# 25. MEDICINES ACTING ON THE RESPIRATORY TRACT (continued)

|   | Inhalation (aerosol): 100 micrograms (as sulfate)                               |
|---|---|
| <ul> <li>herapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>terbutaline</li> </ul> | <b>Injection:</b> 50 micrograms/mL (as sulfate) in 5 mL ampoule.                |
|   | <b>Metered dose inhaler (aerosol):</b> 100 micrograms<br>(as sulfate) per dose. |
|   | <b>Respirator solution for use in nebulizers:</b> 5 mg/mL<br>(as sulfate).      |
| 🗆 tiotropium  | Powder for inhalaton, capsule: 18 micrograms                                    |
| Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– aclidinium<br>– glycopyrronium     | <b>Inhalation solution:</b> 1.25 micrograms; 2.5 micrograms per actuation       |

giycopyrronium – umeclidinium

#### 26. SOLUTIONS CORRECTING WATER, ELECTROLYTE AND ACID-BASE DISTURBANCES

| 26.1 Oral                       |   |
|---------------------------------|---|
| oral rehydration salts          | See section 17.5.1.   |
| potassium chloride              | Powder for solution.  |
| 26.2 Parenteral                 |   |
| glucose                         | <b>Injectable solution:</b> 5% (isotonic); 10% (hypertonic); 50% (hypertonic).  |
| glucose with sodium<br>chloride | Injectable solution: 4% glucose, 0.18% sodium chloride<br>(equivalent to Na+ 30 mmol/L, Cl- 30 mmol/L).<br>Injectable solution: 5% glucose, 0.9% sodium chloride<br>(equivalent to Na+ 150 mmol/L and Cl- 150 mmol/L);<br>5% glucose, 0.45% sodium chloride (equivalent to<br>Na+ 75 mmol/L and Cl- 75 mmol/L) [C]. |
| potassium chloride              | Solution: 11.2% in 20 mL ampoule<br>(equivalent to K+ 1.5 mmol/mL, Cl- 1.5 mmol/mL).<br>Solution for dilution: 7.5% (equivalent to K 1 mmol/mL<br>and Cl 1 mmol/mL) [c]; 15% (equivalent to<br>K 2 mmol/mL and Cl 2 mmol/mL) [c].   |
| sodium chloride                 | <b>Injectable solution:</b> 0.9% isotonic (equivalent to Na+ 154 mmol/L, Cl- 154 mmol/L).   |

| (continued)                       |  |
|-----------------------------------|--|
| sodium hydrogen<br>carbonate      | <b>Injectable solution:</b> 1.4% isotonic (equivalent to Na+ 167 mmol/L, HCO <sub>3</sub> - 167 mmol/L). |
|                                   | <b>Solution:</b> 8.4% in 10 mL ampoule (equivalent to Na+ 1000 mmol/L, HCO <sub>3</sub> -1000 mmol/L).   |
| sodium lactate, compound solution | Injectable solution.   |
| 26.3 Miscellaneous                |  |
| water for injection               | 2 mL; 5 mL; 10 mL ampoules.  |
| 27. VITAMINS AND MINERALS         |  |

26. SOLUTIONS CORRECTING WATER, ELECTROLYTE AND ACID-BASE DISTURBANCES

| ascorbic acid   | Tablet: 50 mg.  |
|---|---|
| calcium   | Tablet: 500 mg (elemental).   |
| Colecalciferol [c]<br>Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– ergocalciferol                           | Oral liquid: 400 IU/mL.<br>Solid oral dosage form: 400 IU; 1000 IU.   |
| <ul> <li>ergocalciferol</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>colecalciferol</li> </ul> | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 250 micrograms/mL (10 000 lU/mL).<br><b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 1.25 mg (50 000 lU).  |
| iodine  | <b>Capsule:</b> 190 mg.<br><b>Iodized oil:</b> 1 mL (480 mg iodine); 0.5 mL (240 mg<br>iodine) in ampoule (oral or injectable); 0.57 mL (308 mg<br>iodine) in dispenser bottle.   |
| multiple micronutrient<br>powder [c]  | <ul> <li>Sachets containing:</li> <li>iron (elemental) 12.5 mg (as coated ferrous fumarate)</li> <li>zinc (elemental) 5 mg</li> <li>vitamin A 300 micrograms</li> <li>with or without other micronutrients at recommended daily values</li> </ul> |
| nicotinamide  | Tablet: 50 mg.  |
| pyridoxine  | Tablet: 25 mg (hydrochloride).  |

| 27. VITAMINS AND MINERALS (continued)                           |  |  |
|---|--|--|
| retinol   | Capsule: 50 000 IU; 100 000 IU; 200 000 IU (as palmitate).<br>Oral oily solution: 100 000 IU/mL (as palmitate) in<br>multidose dispenser.<br>Tablet (sugar-coated): 10 000 IU (as palmitate).<br>Water-miscible injection: 100 000 IU (as palmitate) in<br>2 ml ampoule. |  |
| riboflavin  | Tablet: 5 mg.  |  |
| thiamine  | Tablet: 50 mg (hydrochloride).   |  |
| Complementary List  |  |  |
| calcium gluconate   | Injection: 100 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule.   |  |
| 28. EAR, NOSE AND THROAT MEDICINES                              |  |  |
| acetic acid [c]   | Topical: 2%, in alcohol.   |  |
| Dudesonide [C]<br>Therapeutic alternatives to be<br>reviewed    | Nasal spray: 100 micrograms per dose.  |  |
| □ ciprofloxacin [c]<br>Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– ofloxacin | Solution (ear drops): 0.3% (as hydrochloride).   |  |
| xylometazoline a [c]  | Nasal spray: 0.05%.  |  |
| Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed                         | <b>a</b> Not in children less than 3 months.   |  |
| 29. MEDICINES FOR DISEASES OF JOINTS                            |  |  |
| 29.1 Medicines used to treat                                    | gout   |  |
| allopurinol   | <b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg.   |  |
| 29.2 Disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs)            |  |  |
| chloroquine   | Tablet: 100 mg; 150 mg (as phosphate or sulfate).  |  |
| Complementary List  |  |  |
| azathioprine  | <b>Tablet:</b> 50 mg.  |  |
| hydroxychloroquine  | Solid oral dosage form: 200 mg (as sulfate).   |  |
| methotrexate  | Tablet: 2.5 mg (as sodium).  |  |

29. MEDICINES FOR DISEASES OF JOINTS (continued)

| penicillamine | Solid oral dosage form: 250 mg. |
|---------------|---------------------------------|
| sulfasalazine | <b>Tablet:</b> 500 mg.          |

# 29.3 Medicines for juvenile joint diseases

# **Complementary List**

| acetylsalicylic acid*<br>(acute or chronic use)   | <ul> <li>Suppository: 50 mg to 150 mg.</li> <li>Tablet: 100 mg to 500 mg.</li> <li>* For use for rheumatic fever, juvenile arthritis, Kawasaki disease.</li> </ul> |
|---|--|
| □ adalimumab*<br>Therapeutic alternatives:<br>- certolizumab pegol<br>- etanercept<br>- golimumab<br>- infliximab<br>* including quality-assured<br>biosimilars | Injection: 10 mg/0.2 mL [c] ; 20 mg/0.4 mL [c] ;<br>40 mg/0.8 mL; 40 mg/0.4 mL.  |
| methotrexate  | Tablet: 2.5 mg (as sodium).  |
| ☐ triamcinolone<br>hexacetonide<br>Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– triamcinolone acetonide   | Injection: 20 mg/mL in vial.   |

#### **30. DENTAL MEDICINES AND PREPARATIONS**

| fluoride                                  | <b>Gel:</b> containing 2500 to 12 500 ppm fluoride (any type).<br><b>Mouthrinse:</b> containing 230 to 900 ppm fluoride (any type).   |
|---|---|
|   | <b>Toothpaste, cream or gel:</b> containing 1000 to 1500 ppm fluoride (any type).   |
|   | Varnish: containing 22 500 ppm fluoride (any type).   |
| glass ionomer cement                      | Single-use capsules: 0.4 g powder + 0.09 mL liquid.   |
|   | Multi-use bottle: powder + liquid.  |
|   | Powder (fluoro-alumino-silicate glass) contains: 25-50% silicate,<br>20-40% aluminium oxide, 1-20% fluoride, 15-40% metal oxide,<br>0-15% phosphate, remainder are polyacrylic acid powder and<br>metals in minimal quantities. Liquid (aqueous) contains: 7-25%<br>polybasic carboxylic acid, 45-60% polyacrylic acid. |
| resin-based composite<br>(low-viscosity)* | Single-use applicator or multi-use bottle * of any type for use as dental sealant.  |

### 30. DENTAL MEDICINES AND PREPARATIONS (continued)

| resin-based composite | Single-use capsule or multi-use syringe          |
|-----------------------|--|
| (high-viscosity)*     | * of any type for use as dental filling material |

silver diamine fluoride

Solution: 38% w/v.

# Table 1.1: Medicines with age or weight restrictions

| artesunate + pyronaridine<br>tetraphosphate   | > 5 kg  |
|---|---|
| atropine                                      | > 3 months  |
| benzyl benzoate                               | > 2 years   |
| betamethasone topical preparations            | hydrocortisone preferred in neonates  |
| cefazolin                                     | > 1 month   |
| ceftriaxone                                   | > 41 weeks corrected gestational age  |
| darunavir                                     | > 3 years   |
| dihydroartemisinin +<br>piperaquine phosphate | > 5 kg  |
| diloxanide                                    | > 25 kg   |
| dolutegravir                                  | $\ge$ 4 weeks and $\ge$ 3 kg (10 mg dispersible tablet)<br>$\ge$ 25 kg (50 mg tablet) |
| doxycycline                                   | > 8 years (except for serious infections e.g. cholera)                                |
| ibuprofen                                     | > 3 months (except IV form for patent ductus arteriosus)                              |
| mefloquine                                    | > 5 kg or > 3 months  |
| metoclopramide                                | Not in neonates   |
| nevirapine                                    | > 6 weeks   |
| ondansetron                                   | > 1 month   |
| silver sulfadiazine                           | > 2 months  |
| tetracaine                                    | Not in preterm neonates   |
| xylometazoline                                | > 3 months  |

# Table 1.2: Explanation of dosage forms

# A. Principal dosage forms used in EML – oral administration

| Term                      | Definition  |
|---------------------------|---|
| Solid oral<br>dosage form | Refers to tablets or capsules or other solid dosage forms<br>such as 'melts' that are immediate-release preparations.<br>It implies that there is no difference in clinical efficacy or<br>safety between the available dosage forms, and countries<br>should therefore choose the form(s) to be listed depending<br>on quality and availability.<br>The term 'solid oral dosage form' is never intended to allow<br>any type of modified-release tablet. |
| Tablets                   | Refers to:  |
|                           | <ul> <li>uncoated or coated (film-coated or sugar-coated) tablets<br/>that are intended to be swallowed whole;</li> <li>unscored and scored**;</li> </ul>   |
|                           | <ul> <li>tablets that are intended to be chewed before being<br/>swallowed;</li> </ul>  |
|                           | <ul> <li>tablets that are intended to be dispersed or dissolved in<br/>water or another suitable liquid before being swallowed;</li> </ul>  |
|                           | <ul> <li>tablets that are intended to be crushed before being swallowed.</li> </ul>   |
|                           | The term 'tablet' without qualification is never intended to allow any type of modified-release tablet.   |
| Tablets (qualified)       | Refers to a specific type of tablet:  |
|                           | <b>chewable</b> - tablets that are intended to be chewed before being swallowed;  |
|                           | dispersible - tablets that are intended to be dispersed in water or another suitable liquid before being swallowed;   |
|                           | <b>soluble</b> - tablets that are intended to be dissolved in water or another suitable liquid before being swallowed;  |
|                           | <b>crushable</b> - tablets that are intended to be crushed before being swallowed;  |
|                           | <b>scored</b> - tablets bearing a break mark or marks where sub-<br>division is intended in order to provide doses of less than<br>one tablet;  |
|                           | <b>sublingual</b> - tablets that are intended to be placed beneath the tongue.  |

<sup>\*</sup> Scored tablets may be divided for ease of swallowing, provided that dose is a whole number of tablets.

Table 1.2 continued

| Term                 | Definition  |
|----------------------|---|
|                      | The term 'tablet' is <i>always</i> qualified with an additional term<br>(in parentheses) in entries where one of the following<br>types of tablet is intended: <b>gastro-resistant</b> (such tablets<br>may sometimes be described as enteric-coated or as<br>delayed-release), <b>prolonged-release</b> or another modified-<br>release form.  |
| Capsules             | Refers to hard or soft capsules.<br>The term 'capsule' without qualification is <i>never</i> intended to<br>allow any type of modified-release capsule.   |
| Capsules (qualified) | The term 'capsule' with qualification refers to <b>gastro-<br/>resistant</b> (such capsules may sometimes be described as<br>enteric-coated or as delayed-release), <b>prolonged-release</b><br>or another modified-release form.   |
| Granules             | Preparations that are issued to patient as granules to be<br>swallowed without further preparation, to be chewed, or to<br>be taken in or with water or another suitable liquid.<br>The term 'granules' without further qualification is never<br>intended to allow any type of modified-release granules.  |
| Oral powder          | Preparations that are issued to patient as powder (usually<br>as single-dose) to be taken in or with water or another<br>suitable liquid.   |
| Oral liquid          | Liquid preparations intended to be <i>swallowed</i> i.e. oral<br>solutions, suspensions, emulsions and oral drops, including<br>those constituted from powders or granules, but not those<br>preparations intended for <i>oromucosal administration</i> e.g.<br>gargles and mouthwashes.  |
|                      | Oral liquids presented as powders or granules may offer<br>benefits in the form of better stability and lower transport<br>costs. If more than one type of oral liquid is available on<br>the same market (e.g. solution, suspension, granules for<br>reconstitution), they may be interchanged and in such cases<br>should be bioequivalent. It is preferable that oral liquids<br>do not contain sugar and that solutions for children do not<br>contain alcohol. |

# B. Principal dosage forms used in EML - parenteral administration

| Term                  | Definition   |
|-----------------------|--|
| Injection             | Refers to solutions, suspensions and emulsions including those constituted from powders or concentrated solutions. |
| Injection (qualified) | Route of administration is indicated in parentheses where relevant.  |
| Injection (oily)      | The term 'injection' is qualified by '(oily)' in relevant entries.   |
| Intravenous infusion  | Refers to solutions and emulsions including those constituted from powders or concentrated solutions.              |

# C. Other dosage forms

| Mode of administration | Term to be used  |
|------------------------|--|
| To the eye             | Eye drops, eye ointments.  |
| Topical                | For liquids: lotions, paints.<br>For semi-solids: cream, ointment. |
| Rectal                 | Suppositories, gel or solution.                                    |
| Vaginal                | Pessaries or vaginal tablets.                                      |
| Inhalation             | Powder for inhalation, pressurized inhalation, nebulizer.          |

# Annex 2

# WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children – 9th List (2023)

# **Explanatory notes**

# This Model List is intended for use for children up to and including 12 years of age

The **core list** presents a list of minimum medicine needs for a basic health-care system, listing the most efficacious, safe and cost-effective medicines for priority conditions. Priority conditions are selected on the basis of current and estimated future public health relevance, and potential for safe and cost-effective treatment.

The **complementary list** presents essential medicines for priority diseases, for which specialized diagnostic or monitoring facilities, and/or specialist medical care, and/or specialist training are needed. In case of doubt medicines may also be listed as complementary on the basis of consistent higher costs or less attractive cost–effectiveness in a variety of settings.

The square box symbol  $(\Box)$  is intended to indicate therapeutic alternatives to the listed medicine that may be considered for selection in national essential medicines lists. Alternatives may be individual medicines, or multiple medicines within a pharmacological class or chemical subgroup, defined at the 4th level of the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification, which have similar clinical effectiveness and safety. The listed medicine should be the example of the class or subgroup for which there is the best evidence for effectiveness and safety. In some cases, this may be the first medicine that is licensed for marketing; in other instances, subsequently licensed compounds may be safer or more effective. Where there is no difference in terms of efficacy and safety data, the listed medicine should be the one that is generally available at the lowest price, based on international drug price information sources. A square box is not used to indicate alternative generic brands of the same small molecule medicines, nor alternative biosimilars of biological medicines. However, the selection and use of quality-assured generics and biosimilars of essential medicines at country level is recommended.

National lists should not use a similar symbol and should be specific in their final selection, which would depend on local availability and price.

The format and numbering of the 23rd WHO Model List of Essential Medicines is used for the 9th WHO Model Essential List for Children. Some sections have been deleted because they contain medicines that are not relevant for children.

The **a** symbol indicates that there is an age or weight restriction on use of the medicine; details for each medicine are in Table 1.1 of Annex 1.

The presence of an entry on the Essential Medicines List for Children carries no assurance as to pharmaceutical quality. It is the responsibility of the relevant national or regional drug regulatory authority to ensure that each product is of appropriate pharmaceutical quality (including stability) and that when relevant, different products are interchangeable.

For recommendations and advice concerning all aspects of the quality assurance of medicines see the WHO Medicines website https://www.who.int/ teams/health-product-and-policy-standards/standards-and-specifications/ norms-and-standards-for-pharmaceuticals/guidelines/quality-assurance.

Medicines and dosage forms are listed in alphabetical order within each section and the order of listing does not imply preference for one form over another. Standard treatment guidelines should be consulted for information on appropriate dosage forms.

The main terms used for dosage forms in the Essential Medicines List can be found in Table 1.2 of Annex 1.

Definitions of many of these terms and pharmaceutical quality requirements applicable to the different categories are published in the current edition of *The International Pharmacopoeia* https://www.who.int/teams/health-product-policy-and-standards/standards-and-specifications/norms-and-standards-for-pharmaceuticals/international-pharmacopoeia.

804

### 1. ANAESTHETICS, PREOPERATIVE MEDICINES AND MEDICAL GASES

## 1.1 General anaesthetics and oxygen

# 1.1.1 Inhalational medicines

| halothane                                 | Inhalation.   |
|---|---|
| isoflurane                                | Inhalation.   |
| nitrous oxide                             | Inhalation.   |
| oxygen                                    | Inhalation (medical gas).                             |
| sevoflurane                               | Inhalation.   |
| 1.1.2 Injectable medicines                |   |
| ketamine                                  | Injection: 50 mg/mL (as hydrochloride) in 10 mL vial. |
| □ propofol*                               | Injection: 10 mg/mL; 20 mg/mL.                        |
| Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– thiopental |   |

#### 1.2 Local anaesthetics

| □ bupivacaine<br>Therapeutic alternatives to be<br>reviewed | <b>Injection:</b> 0.25%; 0.5% (hydrochloride) in vial.<br><b>Injection for spinal anaesthesia:</b> 0.5% (hydrochloride) in<br>4 mL ampoule to be mixed with 7.5% glucose solution.                        |
|---|---|
| ☐ lidocaine<br>Therapeutic alternatives to be<br>reviewed   | Injection: 1%; 2% (hydrochloride) in vial.<br>Injection for spinal anaesthesia: 5% (hydrochloride) in<br>2 mL ampoule to be mixed with 7.5% glucose solution.<br>Topical forms: 2% to 4% (hydrochloride). |
| lidocaine + epinephrine<br>(adrenaline)                     | <b>Dental cartridge:</b> 2% (hydrochloride) + epinephrine<br>1:80 000.<br><b>Injection:</b> 1%; 2% (hydrochloride or sulfate) +<br>epinephrine 1:200 000 in vial.   |

# 1.3 Preoperative medication and sedation for short-term procedures

| atropine                                | Injection: 1 mg (sulfate) in 1mL ampoule.                           |
|---|---|
| 🗆 midazolam                             | Injection: 1 mg/mL.   |
| Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed | Oral liquid: 2 mg/mL.<br>Tablet: 7.5 mg; 15 mg.                     |
| morphine                                | <b>Injection</b> : 10 mg (sulfate or hydrochloride) in 1mL ampoule. |

#### 1. ANAESTHETICS, PREOPERATIVE MEDICINES AND MEDICAL GASES (continued)

#### 1.4 Medical gases

oxygen\*

#### Inhalation

For use in the management of hypoxaemia.

\* No more than 30% oxygen should be used to initiate resuscitation of neonates less than or equal to 32 weeks of gestation.

#### 2. MEDICINES FOR PAIN AND PALLIATIVE CARE

| 2.1 Non-opioids and | d non-steroida | l anti-inflammatory | / medicines | (NSAIMs) |
|---------------------|----------------|---------------------|-------------|----------|
|---------------------|----------------|---------------------|-------------|----------|

| ibuprofen <b>a</b>                      | Oral liquid: 100 mg/5 mL; 200 mg/5 mL.<br>Tablet: 200 mg; 400 mg; 600 mg.<br>a Not in children less than 3 months.   |
|---|--|
| paracetamol*<br>(acetaminophen)         | <ul> <li>Oral liquid: 120 mg/5 mL or 125 mg/5 mL**;</li> <li>250 mg/5 mL.</li> <li>**The presence of both 120 mg/5 mL and 125 mg/5 mL strengths on the same market would cause confusion in prescribing and dispensing and should be avoided.</li> </ul> |
|   | Suppository: 100 mg; 250 mg.   |
|   | Tablet: 250 mg; 325 mg; 500 mg.  |
|   | Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg; 250 mg.  |
|   | * Not recommended for anti-inflammatory use due to lack of<br>proven benefit to that effect.   |
| 2.2 Opioid analgesics                   |  |
| □ morphine<br>Therapeutic alternatives: | <b>Granules (slow release; to mix with water):</b> 20 mg to 200 mg (morphine sulfate).   |
| <ul> <li>hydrormorphone</li> </ul>      | <b>injection:</b> IU mg (morphine hydrochloride or morphine  |

– oxycodone

sulfate) in 1 mL ampoule. **Oral liquid:** 10 mg/5 mL (morphine hydrochloride or morphine sulfate).

**Tablet (slow release):** 10 mg to 200mg (morphinehydrochloride or morphine sulfate).

Tablet (immediate release): 10 mg (morphine sulfate).

**Oral liquid:** 5 mg/5 mL; 10 mg/5 mL (hydrochloride). **Concentrate for oral liquid:** 5 mg/mL; 10 mg/mL

Tablet: 5 mg; 10 mg (hydrochloride).

\* For the management of cancer pain.

(hydrochloride)

#### Complementary list

methadone\*

2. MEDICINES FOR PAIN AND PALLIATIVE CARE (continued)

# 2.3 Medicines for other symptoms common in palliative care

| amitriptyline   | <b>Tablet:</b> 10 mg; 25 mg.  |
|---|---|
| cyclizine   | Injection: 50 mg/mL.<br>Tablet: 50 mg.  |
| dexamethasone   | Injection: 4 mg/mL (as disodium phosphate salt) in<br>1 mL ampoule.<br>Oral liquid: 2 mg/5 mL.<br>Tablet: 2 mg.   |
| diazepam  | Injection: 5 mg/mL.<br>Oral liquid: 2 mg/5 mL.<br>Rectal gel: 5 mg/mL in 0.5 mL, 2 mL, 4 mL rectal<br>delivery system.<br>Rectal solution: 2 mg/mL in 1.25 mL, 2.5 mL rectal tubes;<br>4 mg/mL in 2.5 mL rectal tube.<br>Tablet: 5 mg; 10 mg. |
| docusate sodium   | <b>Capsule:</b> 100 mg.<br><b>Oral liquid:</b> 50 mg/5 mL.  |
| hyoscine hydrobromide   | Injection: 400 micrograms/mL; 600 micrograms/mL.<br>Transdermal patches: 1 mg/72 hours.   |
| lactulose   | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 3.1 to 3.7 g/5 mL.  |
| midazolam   | Injection: 1 mg/mL; 5 mg/mL.<br>Oral liquid: 2mg/mL.<br>Solid oral dosage form: 7.5 mg; 15 mg.  |
| <ul> <li>ondansetron a</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives</li> <li>dolasetron</li> <li>granisetron</li> <li>palonosetron</li> <li>tropisetron</li> </ul> | Injection: 2 mg base/mL in 2 mL ampoule<br>(as hydrochloride).<br>Oral liquid: 4 mg base/5 mL.<br>Solid oral dosage form: Eq 4 mg base; Eq 8 mg base.<br>a > 1 month.   |
| senna   | Oral liquid: 7.5 mg/5 mL.   |

#### 3. ANTIALLERGICS AND MEDICINES USED IN ANAPHYLAXIS

| dexamethasone  | <b>Injection:</b> 4 mg/mL (as disodium phosphate salt) in<br>1 mL ampoule.   |
|--|--|
| epinephrine (adrenaline)   | <b>Injection:</b> 1 mg/mL (as hydrochloride or hydrogen tartrate) in 1 mL ampoule.                                       |
| hydrocortisone   | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 100 mg (as sodium succinate) in vial.   |
| <ul> <li>loratadine*</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>cetirizine</li> <li>fexofenadine</li> </ul> | Oral liquid: 1 mg/mL.<br>Tablet: 10 mg.<br>* There may be a role for sedating antihistamines for limited<br>indications. |
| <ul> <li>prednisolone</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>prednisone</li> </ul>                      | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 5 mg/mL.<br><b>Tablet:</b> 5 mg; 25 mg.  |

#### 4. ANTIDOTES AND OTHER SUBSTANCES USED IN POISONINGS

| 4.1 | Non-specific |
|-----|--------------|
|-----|--------------|

| charcoal, activated    | Powder.   |
|------------------------|---|
| 4.2 Specific           |   |
| acetylcysteine         | Injection: 200 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule.<br>Oral liquid: 10%; 20%.                            |
| atropine               | Injection: 1 mg (sulfate) in 1 mL ampoule.  |
| calcium gluconate      | Injection: 100 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule.  |
| naloxone               | <b>Injection:</b> 400 micrograms (hydrochloride) in 1 mL ampoule.                           |
| Complementary List     |   |
| deferoxamine           | Powder for injection: 500 mg (mesilate) in vial.  |
| dimercaprol            | Injection in oil: 50 mg/mL in 2 mL ampoule.   |
| fomepizole             | <b>Injection:</b> 5 mg/mL (sulfate) in 20 mL ampoule or 1 g/mL<br>(base) in 1.5 mL ampoule. |
| sodium calcium edetate | Injection: 200 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule.   |
| succimer               | Solid oral dosage form: 100 mg.   |

WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1049, 2024
### 5. MEDICINES FOR DISEASES OF THE NERVOUS SYSTEM

| 5.1 Antiseizure medicines   |  |
|---|--|
| carbamazepine   | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 100 mg/5 mL.<br><b>Tablet (chewable):</b> 100 mg; 200 mg.<br><b>Tablet (scored):</b> 100 mg; 200 mg; 400 mg.   |
| diazepam  | Rectal gel: 5 mg/mL in 0.5 mL, 2 mL, 4 mL rectal<br>delivery system.<br>Rectal solution: 2 mg/mL in 1.25 mL, 2.5 mL rectal<br>tubes; 4 mg/mL in 2.5 mL rectal tube.  |
| lamotrigine*  | <ul> <li>Tablet: 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg; 200 mg.</li> <li>Tablet (chewable, dispersible): 2 mg; 5 mg; 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg; 200 mg.</li> <li>* For use as adjunctive therapy for treatment-resistant partial or generalized seizures.</li> </ul>   |
| levetiracetam   | <b>Oral solution:</b> 100 mg/mL.<br><b>Tablet:</b> 250 mg; 500 mg; 750 mg; 1000 mg.  |
| <ul> <li>lorazepam</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>diazepam (injection)</li> <li>midazolam (injection)</li> </ul> | <b>Injection:</b> 2 mg/mL in 1 mL ampoule; 4 mg/mL in 1 mL ampoule.  |
| midazolam   | <ul> <li>Solution for oromucosal administration: 5 mg/mL in 0.5 mL, 1 mL, 1.5 mL, 2 mL pre-filled syringe; 10 mg/mL in 0.25 mL, 0.5 mL, 0.75 mL, 1 mL pre-filled syringe.</li> <li>Injection*: 1 mg/mL in 5 mL vial; 5 mg/mL in 1 mL or 3 mL vial.</li> <li>* For buccal administration when solution for oromucosal administration is not available.</li> </ul> |
| phenobarbital   | Injection: 30 mg/mL or 60 mg/mL; 200 mg/mL (sodium).<br>Oral liquid: 15 mg/5 mL.<br>Tablet: 15 mg to 100 mg.   |
| phenytoin   | Injection: 50 mg/mL (phenytoin sodium).<br>Oral liquid: 30 mg/5 mL (phenytoin).<br>Solid oral dosage form: 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg<br>(phenytoin sodium).<br>Tablet (chewable): 50 mg (phenytoin).  |

## 5. MEDICINES FOR DISEASES OF THE NERVOUS SYSTEM (continued)

| valproic acid<br>(sodium valproate)*<br>* avoid use in pregnancy and<br>in women and girls of child-<br>bearing potential, unless<br>alternative treatments are<br>ineffective or not tolerated<br>because of the high risk of birth<br>defects and developmental<br>disorders in children exposed to<br>valproate in the womb. | Oral liquid: 200 mg/5 mL.<br>Tablet (crushable): 100 mg.<br>Tablet (enteric-coated): 200 mg; 500 mg.   |
|---|--|
| Complementary List  |  |
| ethosuximide  | Capsule: 250 mg.   |
|   |  |
| levetiracetam   | <b>Concentrate solution for infusion:</b> 500 mg/5mL in 5 mL vial.<br><b>Solution for infusion:</b> 5 mg/mL; 10 mg/mL; 15 mg/mL in 100 mL bag. |
| valproic acid<br>(sodium valproate)*  | Injection: 100 mg/mL in 3 mL, 4 mL, 10 mL ampoule.   |
| * avoid use in pregnancy and<br>in women and girls of child-<br>bearing potential, unless<br>alternative treatments are<br>ineffective or not tolerated<br>because of the high<br>risk of birth defects and<br>developmental disorders<br>in children exposed to<br>valproate in the womb.                                      |  |

## 5.2 Medicines for multiple sclerosis

## 5.3 Medicines for parkinsonism

## 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES

## 6.1 Anthelminthics

## 6.1.1 Intestinal anthelminthics

| albendazole                   | Tablet (chewable, scored): 400 mg.                          |
|-------------------------------|---|
| ivermectin                    | Tablet: 3 mg.   |
| levamisole                    | Tablet: 50 mg (as hydrochloride).                           |
| mebendazole                   | Tablet (chewable): 100 mg; 500 mg.                          |
| niclosamide                   | Tablet (chewable): 500 mg.                                  |
| praziquantel                  | Tablet: 150 mg; 500 mg.                                     |
|                               | Tablet (scored): 600 mg.                                    |
| pyrantel                      | Tablet (chewable):         250 mg (as embonate or pamoate). |
| 6.1.2 Antifilarials           |   |
| albendazole                   | Tablet (chewable, scored): 400 mg.                          |
| diethylcarbamazine            | Tablet: 50 mg; 100 mg (dihydrogen citrate).                 |
| ivermectin                    | Tablet: 3 mg.   |
| 6.1.3 Antischistosomals and c | other antitrematode medicines                               |
| praziquantel                  | Tablet: 150 mg; 500 mg.                                     |
|                               | Tablet (scored): 600 mg.                                    |
| triclabendazole               | Tablet (scored): 250 mg.                                    |
| Complementary List            |   |
| oxamniquine*                  | <b>Capsule:</b> 250 mg.                                     |
|                               | Oral liquid: 250 mg/5 mL.                                   |
|                               | * For use when praziquantel treatment fails.                |
| 6.1.4 Cysticidal medicines    |   |
| Complementary List            |   |
| albendazole                   | Tablet (chewable): 200 mg.                                  |
|                               | Tablet (chewable, scored): 400 mg.                          |
| mebendazole                   | Tablet (chewable): 100 mg; 500 mg.                          |
| praziquantel                  | Tablet: 150 mg; 500 mg.                                     |
|                               | <b>Tablet (scored):</b> 600 mg.                             |

#### 6.2 Antibacterials

To assist in the development of tools for antibiotic stewardship at local, national and global levels and to reduce antimicrobial resistance, the Access, Watch, Reserve (AWaRe) classification of antibiotics has been developed by WHO – where antibiotics are classified into different groups to emphasize the importance of their appropriate use.

#### ACCESS GROUP ANTIBIOTICS

This group includes antibiotics that have activity against a wide range of commonly encountered susceptible pathogens while also showing lower resistance potential than antibiotics in the other groups. Selected Access group antibiotics are recommended as essential first or second choice empiric treatment options for infectious syndromes reviewed by the EML Expert Committee and are listed as individual medicines on the Model Lists to improve access and promote appropriate use. They are essential antibiotics that should be widely available, affordable and quality assured.

## WATCH GROUP ANTIBIOTICS

This group includes antibiotic classes that have higher resistance potential and includes most of the highest priority agents among the Critically Important Antimicrobials for Human Medicine and/or antibiotics that are at relatively high risk of selection of bacterial resistance. These medicines should be prioritized as key targets of stewardship programs and monitoring. Selected Watch group antibiotics are recommended as essential first or second choice empiric treatment options for a limited number of specific infectious syndromes and are listed as individual medicines on the Model Lists.

#### **RESERVE GROUP ANTIBIOTICS**

This group includes antibiotics and antibiotic classes that should be reserved for treatment of confirmed or suspected infections due to multi-drug-resistant organisms. Reserve group antibiotics should be treated as "last resort" options. Selected Reserve group antibiotics are listed as individual medicines on the Model Lists when they have a favourable risk-benefit profile and proven activity against "Critical Priority" or "High Priority" pathogens identified by the WHO Priority Pathogens List, notably carbapenem resistant *Enterobacteriaceae*. These antibiotics should be accessible, but their use should be tailored to highly specific patients and settings, when all alternatives have failed or are not suitable. These medicines could be protected and prioritized as key targets of national and international stewardship programs involving monitoring and utilization reporting, to preserve their effectiveness.

812

## 6.2.1 Access group antibiotics

| Injection: 50 mg/mL (as sulfate); 250 mg/mL (as sulfate) in 2 mL vial. |   |  |
|--|---|--|
| FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE   |  |
| – High-risk febrile<br>neutropenia                                     | – Sepsis in neonates and children   |  |
| – Pyelonephritis (severe)  |   |  |
| <b>Powder for injection:</b> 250 m in vial.                            | ng; 500 mg; 1 g (as sodium)   |  |
| <b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 125 (as trihydrate).                    | mg/5 mL; 250 mg/5 mL  |  |
| Solid oral dosage form: 250  | ) mg; 500 mg (as trihydrate).   |  |
| Tablet (dispersible, scored)<br>trihydrate).                           | : 250 mg; 500 mg (as  |  |
| FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE   |  |
| – Community acquired<br>pneumonia (mild to<br>moderate)                | – Acute bacterial meningitis  |  |
| <ul> <li>Community acquired<br/>pneumonia (severe)</li> </ul>          |   |  |
| <ul> <li>Complicated severe acute<br/>malnutrition</li> </ul>          |   |  |
| – Otitis media   |   |  |
| – Pharyngitis  |   |  |
| <ul> <li>Progressive apical dental<br/>abscess</li> </ul>              |   |  |
| <ul> <li>Sepsis in neonates and<br/>children</li> </ul>                |   |  |
| – Sinusitis  |   |  |
| <ul> <li>Uncomplicated severe<br/>acute malnutrition</li> </ul>        |   |  |
|  | Injection: 50 mg/mL (as sulf<br>sulfate) in 2 mL vial.<br>FIRST CHOICE<br>- High-risk febrile<br>neutropenia<br>- Pyelonephritis (severe)<br>Powder for injection: 250 m<br>in vial.<br>Powder for oral liquid: 125<br>(as trihydrate).<br>Solid oral dosage form: 250<br>Tablet (dispersible, scored)<br>trihydrate).<br>FIRST CHOICE<br>- Community acquired<br>pneumonia (mild to<br>moderate)<br>- Community acquired<br>pneumonia (severe)<br>- Complicated severe acute<br>malnutrition<br>- Otitis media<br>- Pharyngitis<br>- Progressive apical dental<br>abscess<br>- Sepsis in neonates and<br>children<br>- Sinusitis<br>- Uncomplicated severe<br>acute malnutrition |  |

amoxicillin + clavulanic acid **Powder for injection:** 500 mg (as sodium) + 100 mg (as potassium salt); 1000 mg (as sodium) + 200 mg (as potassium salt) in vial.

**Powder for oral liquid:** 125 mg (as trihydrate) + 31.25 mg (as potassium salt)/5 mL; 250 mg (as trihydrate) + 62.5 mg (as potassium salt)/5mL.

**Tablet:** 500 mg (as trihydrate) + 125 mg (as potassium salt).

**Tablet (dispersible):** 200 mg (as trihydrate) + 28.5 mg (as potassium salt); 250 mg (as trihydrate) + 62.5 mg (as potassium salt).

| FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE   |
|--|---|
| <ul> <li>Community acquired<br/>pneumonia (severe)</li> <li>Complicated<br/>intraabdominal infections<br/>(mild to moderate)</li> <li>Hospital acquired<br/>pneumonia</li> <li>Low-risk febrile<br/>neutropenia</li> <li>Lower urinary tract<br/>infections</li> <li>Sinusitis</li> <li>Skin and soft tissue<br/>infections</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Bone and joint infections</li> <li>Community acquired pneumonia (mild to moderate)</li> <li>Community acquired pneumonia (severe)</li> <li>Otitis media</li> <li>Surgical prophylaxis</li> </ul> |
| Powder for injection: 500 m  | ng; 1 g (as sodium) in vial.  |
| FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE   |
| <ul> <li>Community acquired<br/>pneumonia (severe)</li> <li>Complicated<br/>intraabdominal<br/>infections</li> </ul>   | – Acute bacterial meningitis  |
| <ul> <li>Complicated severe acute<br/>malnutrition</li> </ul>  |   |
| – Sepsis in neonates and children  |   |

WHO Technical Report Series, No. 1049, 2024

| 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued) |   |                              |
|---|---|------------------------------|
| benzathine benzylpenicillin             | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 1.2 million IU ( $\approx$ 900 mg) in vial; 2.4 million IU ( $\approx$ 1.8 g) in vial. |                              |
|   | FIRST CHOICE  | SECOND CHOICE                |
|   | – Syphilis (congenital)   |                              |
| benzylpenicillin                        | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 600 mg (= 1 million IU);<br>3 g (= 5 million IU) (sodium or potassium salt) in vial.   |                              |
|   | FIRST CHOICE  | SECOND CHOICE                |
|   | <ul> <li>Community acquired<br/>pneumonia (severe)</li> </ul>   | – Acute bacterial meningitis |
|   | <ul> <li>Complicated severe acute<br/>malnutrition</li> </ul>   |                              |
|   | <ul> <li>Sepsis in neonates and<br/>children</li> </ul>   |                              |
|   | – Syphilis (congenital)   |                              |
| cefalexin                               | <b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 125 mg/5 mL; 250 mg/5 mL (anhydrous).  |                              |
|   | Solid oral dosage form: 250 mg (as monohydrate).  |                              |
|   | Tablet (dispersible): 125 mg; 250 mg.   |                              |
|   | FIRST CHOICE  | SECOND CHOICE                |
|   | <ul> <li>Skin and soft tissue<br/>infections</li> </ul>   | – Pharyngitis                |
| cefazolin <b>a</b>                      | Powder for injection: 1 g (as sodium salt) in vial.<br><b>a</b> > 1 month.  |                              |
|   | FIRST CHOICE  | SECOND CHOICE                |
|   | – Surgical prophylaxis  | – Bone and joint infections  |
| chloramphenicol                         | <b>Oily suspension for injection*:</b> 0.5 g/mL (as sodium succinate) in 2 mL ampoule.                              |                              |
|   | * Only for the presumptive treatment of epidemic meningitis in children older than 2 years.                         |                              |
|   | Powder for injection: 1 g (sodium succinate) in vial.   |                              |
|   | FIRST CHOICE  | SECOND CHOICE                |
|   |   | Acuto bactorial moninaitic   |

| 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICIN   | IES (continued)   |                                    |
|---|---|------------------------------------|
| clindamycin   | Capsule: 150 mg (as hydrochloride).   |                                    |
|   | Injection: 150 mg/mL (as pl   | hosphate).                         |
|   | Powder for oral liquid: 75 n  | ng/5 mL (as palmitate              |
|   | hydrochloride).   |                                    |
|   | FIRST CHOICE  | SECOND CHOICE                      |
|   | – Necrotizing fasciitis   | – Bone and joint infections        |
| □ cloxacillin*  | <b>Capsule:</b> 250 mg; 500 mg; 1   | g (as sodium).                     |
| Therapeutic alternatives:   | Powder for injection: 250 m   | ıg; 500 mg (as sodium) in vial.    |
| <ul> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br/>subgroup (J01CF Beta-</li> </ul> | <b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 125 (as sodium).   | mg/5 mL; 250 mg/5 mL               |
| lactamase resistant   | * cloxacillin, dicloxacillin and flue   | cloxacillin are preferred for oral |
| perneliinis)  | administration due to better bioavailability.   |                                    |
|   | FIRST CHOICE  | SECOND CHOICE                      |
|   | – Bone and joint infections   | – Sepsis in neonates and           |
|   | – Skin and soft tissue  | children                           |
|   | infections  |                                    |
| doxycycline <b>a</b>  | Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL (calcium).  |                                    |
|   | Powder for oral liquid: 25 mg/5 mL (monohydrate).   |                                    |
|   | Powder for injection: 100 mg in vial.   |                                    |
|   | Solid oral dosage form: 50 mg; 100 mg (as hyclate).   |                                    |
|   | Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg (as monohydrate).  |                                    |
|   | a Use in children <8 years only for life-threatening infections when no alternative exists. |                                    |
|   | FIRST CHOICE  | SECOND CHOICE                      |
|   |   | – Cholera                          |
|   |   | – Community acquired               |
|   |   | pneumonia (mild to                 |
|   |   | moderate)                          |

| 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued) |  |  |
|---|--|--|
| gentamicin                              | <b>Injection:</b> 10 mg/mL (as sulfate); 40 mg/mL (as sulfate) in 2 mL vial.           |  |
|   | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE                              |
|   | <ul> <li>Acute bacterial meningitis<br/>in neonates</li> </ul>                         | – Surgical prophylaxis                     |
|   | <ul> <li>Community acquired<br/>pneumonia (severe)</li> </ul>                          |  |
|   | <ul> <li>Complicated intra-<br/>abdominal infections</li> </ul>                        |  |
|   | <ul> <li>Complicated severe acute<br/>malnutrition</li> </ul>                          |  |
|   | <ul> <li>Sepsis in neonates and<br/>children</li> </ul>                                |  |
| metronidazole                           | Injection: 500 mg in 100 mL vial.  |  |
|   | Oral liquid: 200 mg/5 mL (as benzoate).  |  |
|   | Tablet: 200 mg; 250 mg; 400 mg; 500 mg.  |  |
|   | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE                              |
|   | – C. difficile infection   | – Complicated intra-                       |
|   | <ul> <li>Complicated intra-<br/>abdominal infections<br/>(mild to moderate)</li> </ul> | abdominal infections<br>(mild to moderate) |
|   | – Complicated intra-<br>abdominal infections<br>(severe)                               |  |
|   | – Necrotizing fasciitis  |  |
|   | – Surgical prophylaxis   |  |
| nitrofurantoin                          | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 25 mg/5 mL.  |  |
|   | Solid oral dosage form: 50 mg; 100 mg.   |  |
|   | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE                              |
|   | <ul> <li>Lower urinary tract<br/>infections</li> </ul>                                 |  |

817

| 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued) |  |   |
|---|--|---|
| phenoxymethylpenicillin                 | <b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 250 mg/5 mL (as potassium).<br><b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 250 mg (as potassium).  |   |
|   | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE                                       |
|   | – Community acquired<br>pneumonia (mild to<br>moderate)  |   |
|   | – Pharyngitis  |   |
|   | <ul> <li>Progressive apical dental<br/>abscess</li> </ul>  |   |
| procaine benzylpenicillin*              | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 1 g (= IU) in vial.   | 1 million IU); 3 g (=3 million                      |
|   | * Procaine benzylpenicillin is not recommended as first-line<br>treatment for neonatal sepsis / sepsis except in settings with<br>high neonatal mortality, when given by trained health workers<br>in cases where hospital care is not achievable. |   |
|   | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE                                       |
|   | – Syphilis (congenital)  |   |
| sulfamethoxazole +<br>trimethoprim      | <b>Injection:</b> 80 mg + 16 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule; 80 mg<br>+ 16 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule.  |   |
|   | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 200 mg + 40 mg/5 mL.   |   |
|   | <b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg + 20 mg; 400 mg + 80 mg.   |   |
|   | Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg + 20 mg.  |   |
|   | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE                                       |
|   | <ul> <li>Lower urinary tract<br/>infections</li> </ul>   | – Acute invasive bacterial<br>diarrhoea / dysentery |
| trimethoprim                            | <b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg; 200 mg.   |   |
|   | Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL.   |   |
|   | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE                                       |
|   | <ul> <li>Lower urinary tract<br/>infections</li> </ul>   |   |

| 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued) |  |   |
|---|--|---|
| 6.2.2 Watch group antibiotic            | s  |   |
| azithromycin                            | <b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 250 mg; 500 mg (anhydrous).<br><b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 200 mg/5 mL (anhydrous).  |   |
|   | FIRST CHOICE<br>– Cholera<br>– Enteric fever<br>– Trachoma<br>– Yaws   | SECOND CHOICE<br>– Acute invasive bacterial<br>diarrhoea / dysentery  |
| cefixime                                | <b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 100 mg/5 mL.<br><b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 200 mg; 400 mg (as trihydrate).  |   |
|   | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE   |
|   |  | – Acute invasive bacterial<br>diarrhoea / dysentery   |
| cefotaxime*                             | Powder for injection: 250 mg; 500 mg; 1 g; 2 g<br>(as sodium) in vial.<br>* 3rd generation cephalosporin of choice for use in hospitalized                                       |   |
|   | neonates.  |   |
|   | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE   |
|   | <ul> <li>Acute bacterial meningitis</li> <li>Community acquired<br/>pneumonia (severe)</li> <li>Complicated<br/>intraabdominal infections</li> </ul>                             | <ul> <li>Bone and joint infections</li> <li>Pyelonephritis (mild to<br/>moderate)</li> <li>Sepsis in neonates and<br/>children</li> </ul> |
|   | <ul> <li>(mild to moderate)</li> <li>Complicated<br/>intraabdominal infections<br/>(severe)</li> <li>Hospital acquired<br/>pneumonia</li> <li>Pyelonephritis (severe)</li> </ul> |   |
|   |  |   |

| 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE ME | DICINES (continued)  |   |  |
|----------------------|--|---|--|
| ceftriaxone* a       | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 250 n<br>in vial.                     | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 250 mg; 500 mg; 1 g (as sodium) in vial.                                   |  |
|                      | * Do not administer with calciun<br>hyperbilirubinaemia.           | <ul> <li>* Do not administer with calcium and avoid in infants with<br/>hyperbilirubinaemia.</li> </ul> |  |
|                      | a > 41 weeks corrected gestati                                     | <b>a</b> > 41 weeks corrected gestational age.  |  |
|                      | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE   |  |
|                      | – Acute bacterial meningitis                                       | – Acute invasive bacterial  |  |
|                      | – Community acquired   | diarrhoea / dysentery   |  |
|                      | pneumonia (severe)   | – Bone and joint infections   |  |
|                      | <ul> <li>Complicated</li> <li>intrachdominal infections</li> </ul> | - Pyelohepnritis or prostatitis   |  |
|                      | (mild to moderate)   | – Sensis in neonates and  |  |
|                      | – Complicated<br>intraabdominal infections<br>(severe)             | children  |  |
|                      | – Endophthalmitis  |   |  |
|                      | – Enteric fever  |   |  |
|                      | – Hospital acquired pneumonia                                      |   |  |
|                      | – Necrotizing fasciitis  |   |  |
|                      | – Pyelonephritis (severe)  |   |  |
| cefuroxime           | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 250 n in vial.                        | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 250 mg; 750 mg; 1.5 g (as sodium) in vial.                                 |  |
|                      | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE   |  |
|                      |  | – Surgical prophylaxis  |  |
| ciprofloxacin        | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 250 mg/5 mL (a                                 | nhydrous).  |  |
|                      | Solution for IV infusion: 2 r                                      | Solution for IV infusion: 2 mg/mL (as hyclate).   |  |
|                      | <b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 100<br>(as hydrochloride).          | <b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 100 mg; 250 mg (as hydrochloride).                                       |  |
|                      | FIRST CHOICE   | SECOND CHOICE   |  |
|                      | – Acute invasive bacterial<br>diarrhoea / dysentery                | – Cholera<br>– Complicated intra-   |  |
|                      | – Enteric fever  | abdominal infections  |  |
|                      | – Low-risk febrile<br>neutropenia                                  | (mild to moderate)  |  |
|                      | – Pyelonephritis (mild to<br>moderate)                             |   |  |

6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued) □ clarithromycin Powder for oral liquid: 125 mg/5 mL; 250 mg/5 mL. Therapeutic alternatives: Powder for injection: 500 mg in vial. - erythromycin Solid oral dosage form: 250 mg. FIRST CHOICE SECOND CHOICE - Pharyngitis piperacillin + tazobactam Powder for injection: 2 g (as sodium) + 250 mg (as sodium); 4 g (as sodium) + 500 mg (as sodium) in vial. **FIRST CHOICE** SECOND CHOICE - Complicated intraabdominal infections (severe) - High-risk febrile neutropenia - Hospital acquired pneumonia - Necrotizing fasciitis vancomycin Capsule: 125 mg; 250 mg (as hydrochloride). \* vancomycin powder for injection may also be used for oral administration. **FIRST CHOICE** SECOND CHOICE – C. difficile infection **Complementary List** ceftazidime Powder for injection: 250 mg; 1 g (as pentahydrate) in vial. **FIRST CHOICE** SECOND CHOICE - Endophthalmitis

The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines Report of the 24th WHO Expert Committee

#### 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICINES (continued)

#### 🗆 meropenem\* 🖪

Therapeutic alternatives\*:

- imipenem + cilastatin
- \* complicated intra-abdominal infections and high-risk febrile neutropenia only. Meropenem is the preferred choice for acute bacterial meningitis in neonates.

## a > 3 months. FIRST CHOICE

(as trihydrate) in vial

#### SECOND CHOICE

- Acute bacterial meningitis in neonates
- Complicated intraabdominal infections (severe)
- High-risk febrile neutropenia

vancomycin

# *Powder for injection:* 250 mg; 500 mg; 1 g (as hydrochloride) in vial.

Powder for injection: 500 mg (as trihydrate); 1 g

## SECOND CHOICE

– Endophthalmitis

**FIRST CHOICE** 

- Necrotizing fasciitis

## High-risk febrile neutropenia

## 6.2.3 Reserve group antibiotics

## **Complementary List**

| ceftazidime + avibactam  | <b>Powder for injection:</b> $2 g + 0.5 g$ in vial.  |
|--------------------------|--|
| ceftolozane + tazobactam | <b>Powder for injection:</b> $1 g + 0.5 g$ in vial.  |
| colistin                 | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 1 million IU (as colistemethate sodium) (equivalent to 34 mg colistin base activity) in vial. |
| fosfomycin               | Powder for injection: 2 g; 4 g (as sodium) in vial.  |
| linezolid                | Injection for intravenous administration: 2 mg/mL in 300 mL bag.   |
|                          | Powder for oral liquid: 100 mg/5 mL.   |
|                          | Tablet (dispersible): 150 mg.  |
| polymyxin B              | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 500 000 IU (equivalent to 50 mg polymyxin B base) in vial.                                    |

#### 6.2.4 Antileprosy medicines

Medicines used in the treatment of leprosy should never be used except in combination. Combination therapy is essential to prevent the emergence of drug resistance. Colourcoded blister packs (MDT blister packs) containing standard two-medicine (paucibacillary leprosy) or three-medicine (multibacillary leprosy) combinations for adult and childhood leprosy should be used. MDT blister packs can be supplied free of charge through WHO.

| clofazimine | Solid oral dosage form: 50 mg; 100 mg.  |
|-------------|---|
| dapsone     | Tablet: 25 mg; 50 mg; 100 mg.           |
| rifampicin  | Oral liquid: 20 mg/mL.                  |
|             | Solid oral dosage form: 150 mg; 300 mg. |

#### 6.2.5 Antituberculosis medicines

WHO recommends and endorses the use of fixed-dose combinations and the development of appropriate new fixed-dose combinations, including modified dosage forms, non-refrigerated products and paediatric dosage forms of assured pharmaceutical quality.

| ethambutol                               | Tablet: 100 mg; 400 mg (hydrochloride).<br>Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg.        |
|--|---|
| ethionamide                              | Tablet: 250 mg.<br>Tablet (dispersible): 125 mg.                                |
| isoniazid                                | Tablet: 100 mg; 300 mg.<br>Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg.                        |
| isoniazid + pyrazinamide +<br>rifampicin | <b>Tablet (dispersible):</b> 50 mg + 150 mg + 75 mg.                            |
| isoniazid + rifampicin                   | Tablet (dispersible): 50 mg + 75 mg.  |
| isoniazid + rifapentine                  | <b>Tablet (scored):</b> 300 mg + 300 mg.  |
| pyrazinamide                             | Tablet: 400 mg; 500 mg.<br>Tablet (dispersible): 150 mg.                        |
| rifampicin                               | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 20 mg/mL.<br><b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 150 mg; 300 mg. |
| rifapentine                              | <b>Tablet:</b> 150 mg; 300 mg.  |

## **Complementary List**

*Medicines for the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB) should be used in specialized centres adhering to WHO standards for TB control.* 

| Injection: 250 mg/mL (as sulfate) in 2 mL vial.  |
|--|
| Powder for oral liquid: 250 mg (as trihydrate) + 62.5 mg (as potassium salt)/5 mL.<br>Tablet: 500 mg (as trihydrate) + 125 mg (as potassium salt). |
| Tablet: 20 mg; 100 mg.   |
| Solid oral dosage form: 50 mg; 100 mg.   |
| Solid oral dosage form: 125 mg; 250 mg.  |
| Tablet (dispersible): 25 mg.<br>Tablet: 50 mg.   |
| Tablet: 250 mg.<br>Tablet (dispersible): 125 mg.   |
| Tablet: 250 mg; 500 mg.<br>Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg.   |
| Tablet: 600 mg.<br>Tablet (dispersible): 150 mg.   |
| <b>Powder for injection:</b> 500 mg (as trihydrate);<br>1 g (as trihydrate) in vial.   |
| Tablet: 400 mg.<br>Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg.   |
| <b>Powder for oral solution:</b> 5.52 g in sachet (equivalent to 4 g p aminosalicylic acid.  |
| <b>Powder for injection:</b> 1 g (as sulfate) in vial.   |
|  |

824

| 6.3 Antifungal medicines  |  |
|---|--|
| amphotericin B*   | <ul> <li>Powder for injection: 50 mg (liposomal complex) in vial.</li> <li>Powder for injection: 50 mg (as sodium deoxycholate) in vial.</li> <li>* Liposomal amphotericin B has a better safety profile than the sodium deoxycholate formulation and should be prioritized for selection and use depending on local availability and cost.</li> </ul>             |
| fluconazole   | Capsule: 50 mg.<br>Injection: 2 mg/mL in vial.<br>Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL.<br>Powder for oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL.  |
| flucytosine   | <b>Capsule:</b> 250 mg.<br><b>Infusion:</b> 2.5 g in 250 mL.   |
| griseofulvin  | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 125 mg/5 mL.<br><b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 125 mg; 250 mg.   |
| itraconazole*   | Capsule: 100 mg.<br>Oral liquid: 10 mg/mL.<br>* For treatment of chronic pulmonary aspergillosis, acute<br>invasive aspergillosis, histoplasmosis, sporotrichosis,<br>paracoccidiodomycosis, mycoses caused by <i>T. marneffei</i> and<br>chromoblastomycosis; and prophylaxis of histoplasmosis and<br>infections caused by <i>T. marneffei</i> in AIDS patients. |
| nystatin  | Lozenge: 100 000 IU.<br>Oral liquid: 100 000 IU/mL.<br>Solid oral dosage form: 500 000 IU.   |
| voriconazole*   | <ul> <li>Tablet: 50 mg; 200 mg.</li> <li>Powder for injection: 200 mg in vial.</li> <li>Powder for oral liquid: 40 mg/mL.</li> <li>* For treatment of chronic pulmonary aspergillosis and acute invasive aspergillosis.</li> </ul>   |
| Complementary List  |  |
| ☐ micafungin<br>Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– anidulafungin<br>– caspofungin | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 50 mg (as sodium); 100 mg<br>(as sodium) in vial.   |
| potassium iodide  | Saturated solution.  |

#### 6.4 Antiviral medicines

#### 6.4.1 Antiherpes medicines

aciclovir

**Oral liquid:** 200 mg/5 mL. **Powder for injection:** 250 mg (as sodium salt) in vial. **Tablet:** 200 mg.

#### 6.4.2 Antiretrovirals

Based on current evidence and experience of use, medicines in the following classes of antiretrovirals are included as essential medicines for treatment and prevention of HIV (prevention of mother-to-child transmission and post-exposure prophylaxis). WHO emphasizes the importance of using these products in accordance with global and national guidelines. WHO recommends and endorses the use of fixed-dose combinations and the development of appropriate new fixed-dose combinations, including modified dosage forms, non-refrigerated products and paediatric dosage forms of assured pharmaceutical quality.

Scored tablets can be used in children and therefore can be considered for inclusion in the listing of tablets, provided that adequate quality products are available.

#### 6.4.2.1 Nucleoside/Nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitors

| lamivudine           | Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL. |
|----------------------|--------------------------|
| zidovudine           | Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL. |
| CARR mudancida movem |                          |

#### 6.4.2.2 Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors

| nevirapine <b>a</b> | Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL.    |
|---------------------|-----------------------------|
|                     | Tablet (dispersible): 50 mg |
|                     | <b>a</b> > 6 weeks          |

#### 6.4.2.3 Protease inhibitors

Selection of protease inhibitor(s) from the Model List will need to be determined by each country after consideration of international and national treatment guidelines and experience. Ritonavir is recommended for use in combination as a pharmacological booster, and not as an antiretroviral in its own right. All other protease inhibitors should be used in boosted forms (e.g. with ritonavir).

| darunavir <b>a</b>    | Tablet: 75 mg. <b>a</b> > 3 years   |
|-----------------------|---|
| lopinavir + ritonavir | Solid oral dosage form: 40 mg + 10 mg.<br>Tablet (heat stable): 100 mg + 25 mg. |
| ritonavir             | Tablet (heat stable): 25 mg; 100 mg.  |

## 6.4.2.4 Integrase inhibitors

| dolutegravir <b>a</b> | Tablet (dispersible, scored): 10 mg.<br>a ≥4 weeks and ≥3 kg<br>Tablet: 50 mg.<br>a ≥ 25 kg   |
|-----------------------|---|
| raltegravir*          | Granules for oral suspension: 100 mg in sachet.<br>Tablet (chewable): 25 mg.<br>* For use in second-line regimens in accordance with WHO<br>treatment guidelines. |

## 6.4.2.5 Fixed-dose combinations of antiretroviral medicines

| abacavir + lamivudine   | Tablet (dispersible, scored): 120 mg (as sulfate) + 60 mg. |
|-------------------------|--|
| lamivudine + zidovudine | <b>Tablet:</b> 30 mg + 60 mg.                              |

#### 6.4.2.6 Medicines for prevention of HIV-related opportunistic infections

| isoniazid + pyridoxine + | Tablet (scored): 300 mg + 25 mg + 800 mg + 160 mg. |
|--------------------------|--|
| sulfamethoxazole +       |  |
| trimethoprim             |  |

## 6.4.3 Other antivirals

| ribavirin*         | <b>Injection for intravenous administration:</b> 800 mg and 1 g in 10 mL phosphate buffer solution.                                     |
|--------------------|---|
|                    | Solid oral dosage form: 200 mg; 400 mg; 600 mg.   |
|                    | * For the treatment of viral haemorrhagic fevers only.  |
| Complementary List |   |
| oseltamivir*       | <b>Capsule:</b> 30 mg; 45 mg; 75 mg (as phosphate).   |
|                    | <ul> <li>Severe illness due to confirmed or suspected influenza virus infection<br/>in critically ill hospitalized patients.</li> </ul> |
| valganciclovir*    | Powder for oral solution: 50 mg/mL  |
|                    | <b>Tablet:</b> 450 mg.  |
|                    | * For the treatment of cytomegalovirus retinitis (CMVr).  |
|                    |   |

#### 6.4.4 Antihepatitis medicines

#### 6.4.4.1 Medicines for hepatitis B

#### 6.4.4.1.1 Nucleoside/Nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitors

entecavir

Oral liquid: 0.05 mg/mL. Tablet: 0.5 mg; 1 mg.

#### 6.4.4.2 Medicines for hepatitis C

Pangenotypic direct-acting antivirals should be considered as therapeutically equivalent for the purposes of selection and procurement at national level.

#### 6.4.4.2.1 D Pangenotypic direct-acting antiviral combinations

| daclatasvir*               | <b>Tablet:</b> 30 mg; 60 mg (as hydrochloride).* Pangenotypic when used in combination with sofosbuvir. |
|----------------------------|---|
| daclatasvir + sofosbuvir   | <b>Tablet:</b> 60 mg + 400 mg.  |
| glecaprevir + pibrentasvir | Granules: 50 mg + 20 mg in sachet.<br>Tablet: 100 mg + 40 mg.   |
| sofosbuvir*                | <b>Tablet:</b> 200 mg; 400 mg.* Pangenotypic when used in combination with daclatasvir.                 |
| sofosbuvir + velpatasvir   | <b>Tablet:</b> 200 mg + 50 mg; 400 mg + 100 mg.   |

#### 6.4.4.2.2 Non-pangenotypic direct-acting antiviral combinations

#### 6.4.4.2.3 Other antivirals for hepatitis C

## 6.5 Antiprotozoal medicines

## 6.5.1 Antiamoebic and antigiardiasis medicines

| diloxanide <b>a</b>       | Tablet: 500 mg (furoate).<br>a > 25 kg. |
|---------------------------|---|
| □ metronidazole           | Injection: 500 mg in 100 mL vial.       |
| Therapeutic alternatives: | Oral liquid: 200 mg/5 mL (as benzoate). |
| – tinidazole              | Tablet: 200 mg; 250 mg; 400 mg; 500 mg. |

#### 6.5.2 Antileishmaniasis medicines

| amphotericin B*       | Powder for injection: 50 mg (liposomal complex) in via  |  |  |  |
|-----------------------|---|--|--|--|
|                       | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 50 mg (as sodium deoxycholate) in vial.  |  |  |  |
|                       | * Liposomal amphotericin B has a better safety profile than the sodium deoxycholate formulation and should be prioritized for selection and use depending on local availability and cost. |  |  |  |
| meglumine antimoniate | Injection: 1.5 g/5 mL in 5 mL ampoule.  |  |  |  |
| miltefosine           | Solid oral dosage form: 10 mg; 50 mg.   |  |  |  |
| paromomycin           | <b>Solution for intramuscular injection:</b> 750 mg of paromomycin base (as sulfate).   |  |  |  |
| sodium stibogluconate | Injection: 100 mg/mL in 30 mL vial.   |  |  |  |

#### 6.5.3 Antimalarial medicines

#### 6.5.3.1 For curative treatment

Medicines for the treatment of P. falciparum malaria cases should be used in combination. The list currently recommends combinations according to treatment guidelines. WHO recognizes that not all of the fixed dose combinations (FDCs in the WHO treatment guidelines exist, and encourages their development and rigorous testing. WHO also encourages development and testing of rectal dosage formulations.

| amodiaquine*               | <b>Tablet:</b> 153 mg or 200 mg (as hydrochloride).* To be used in combination with artesunate 50 mg.  |
|----------------------------|--|
| artemether*                | <b>Oily injection:</b> 80 mg/mL in 1 mL ampoule.<br>* For use in the management of severe malaria.   |
| artemether + lumefantrine* | <ul> <li>Tablet: 20 mg + 120 mg.</li> <li>Tablet (dispersible): 20 mg + 120 mg.</li> <li>* Not recommended in the first trimester of pregnancy or in children below 5 kg.</li> </ul> |

| artesunate*  | <b>Injection:</b> ampoules, containing 60 mg anhydrous artesunic acid with a separate ampoule of 5% sodium bicarbonate solution.   |
|--|--|
|  | For use in the management of severe malaria.   |
|  | <b>Rectal dosage form:</b> 50 mg; 100 mg; 200 mg capsules.<br>For pre-referral treatment of severe malaria only; patients should<br>be taken to an appropriate health facility for follow-up care.   |
|  | Tablet: 50 mg.   |
|  | <ul> <li>* To be used in combination with either amodiaquine,<br/>mefloquine or sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine.</li> </ul>  |
| artesunate + amodiaquine*                              | <b>Tablet:</b> 25 mg + 67.5 mg; 50 mg + 135 mg; 100 mg + 270 mg.   |
|  | * Other combinations that deliver the target doses required such as 153 mg or 200 mg (as hydrochloride) with 50 mg artesunate can be alternatives.   |
| artesunate + mefloquine                                | <b>Tablet:</b> 25 mg + 55 mg; 100 mg + 220 mg.   |
| artesunate + pyronaridine<br>tetraphosphate <b>a</b>   | <b>Granules:</b> 20 mg + 60 mg.<br><b>Tablet:</b> 60 mg + 180 mg.<br><b>a</b> > 5 kg   |
| chloroquine*   | Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL (as phosphate or sulfate).<br>Tablet: 100 mg; 150 mg (as phosphate or sulfate).<br>* For use only for the treatment of <i>Plasmodium vivax</i> infection.  |
| dihydroartemisinin +<br>piperaquine phosphate <b>a</b> | <b>Tablet:</b> 20 mg + 160 mg; 40 mg + 320 mg.<br><b>a</b> > 5 kg  |
| doxycycline*   | Capsule: 100 mg (as hydrochloride or hyclate).<br>Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg (as monohydrate).<br>* For use only in combination with quinine.  |
| mefloquine*  | <b>Tablet:</b> 250 mg (as hydrochloride).         * To be used in combination with artesunate 50 mg.   |
| primaquine*  | <b>Tablet:</b> 7.5 mg; 15 mg (as diphosphate).* Only for use to achieve radical cure of <i>Plasmodium vivax</i> and<br><i>Plasmodium ovale</i> infections, given for 14 days.  |
| quinine*   | <ul> <li>Injection: 300 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule.</li> <li>Tablet: 300 mg (sulfate) or 300 mg (bisulfate).</li> <li>* For use only in the management of severe malaria and should be used in combination with doxycycline.</li> </ul> |

| sulfadoxine +  | <b>Tablet:</b> 500 mg + 25 mg.              |
|----------------|---|
| pyrimethamine* | *Only in combination with artesunate 50 mg. |

## 6.5.3.2 For chemoprevention

| amodiaquine –                  | Co-packaged dispersible tablets:  |  |  |
|--------------------------------|---|--|--|
| sulfadoxine +<br>pyrimethamine | amodiaquine 76.5 mg (as hydrochloride) [3] and sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine 250 mg + 12.5 mg [1];  |  |  |
|                                | amodiaquine 153 mg (as hydrochloride) [3] and sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine 500 mg + 25 mg [1].   |  |  |
| chloroquine*                   | Oral liquid: 50 mg/5 mL (as phosphate or sulfate).<br>Tablet: 150 mg (as phosphate or sulfate).<br>* For use only for the treatment of <i>Plasmodium vivax</i> infection. |  |  |
| doxycycline a                  | Solid oral dosage form: 100 mg (as hydrochloride or hyclate). <ul> <li>a &gt; 8 years.</li> </ul>   |  |  |
| mefloquine a                   | Tablet: 250 mg (as hydrochloride). <b>a</b> > 5 kg or > 3 months.   |  |  |
| proguanil*                     | <b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg (as hydrochloride).* For use only in combination with chloroquine.  |  |  |
| sulfadoxine +<br>pyrimethamine | <b>Tablet:</b> 250 mg + 12.5 mg.  |  |  |

## 6.5.4 Antipneumocystosis and antitoxoplasmosis medicines

| pyrimethamine                      | Tablet: 25 mg.  |
|------------------------------------|---|
| sulfadiazine                       | Tablet: 500 mg.   |
| sulfamethoxazole +<br>trimethoprim | Injection: 80 mg + 16 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule; 80 mg + 16 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule. |
|                                    | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 200 mg + 40 mg/5 mL.  |
|                                    | <b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg + 20 mg; 400 mg + 80 mg.                                  |
|                                    | Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg + 20 mg.   |
|                                    |   |

| 6. ANTI-INFECTIVE MEDICIN                  | ES (continued)  |  |  |  |
|--|---|--|--|--|
| 6.5.5 Antitrypanosomal med                 | icines  |  |  |  |
| 6.5.5.1 African trypanosomia               | ısis  |  |  |  |
| fexinidazole*                              | Tablet: 600 mg  |  |  |  |
|  | * For the treatment of 1 <sup>st</sup> and 2 <sup>nd</sup> stage of human African trypanosomiasis due to <i>Trypanosoma brucei gambiense</i> infection. |  |  |  |
| Medicines for the treatment                | of 1 <sup>st</sup> stage African trypanosomiasis.   |  |  |  |
| pentamidine*                               | Powder for injection: 200 mg (as isetionate) in vial.   |  |  |  |
|  | * To be used for the treatment of <i>Trypanosoma brucei gambiense</i> infection.  |  |  |  |
| suramin sodium*                            | Powder for injection: 1 g in vial.  |  |  |  |
|  | * To be used for the treatment of the initial phase of <i>Trypanosoma</i> brucei rhodesiense infection.   |  |  |  |
| Medicines for the treatment                | of 2 <sup>nd</sup> stage African trypanosomiasis  |  |  |  |
| eflornithine*                              | Injection: 200 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 100 mL bottle.  |  |  |  |
|  | * To be used for the treatment of <i>Trypanosoma brucei gambiense</i> infection.  |  |  |  |
| nifurtimox*                                | Tablet (scored): 30 mg; 120 mg.   |  |  |  |
|  | * Only to be used in combination with eflornithine, for the treatment of <i>Trypanosoma brucei gambiense</i> infection.                                 |  |  |  |
| Complementary List                         |   |  |  |  |
| melarsoprol                                | Injection: 180 mg/5 mL in 5 mL ampoule (3.6% solution).   |  |  |  |
| 6.5.5.2 American trypanosomiasis           |   |  |  |  |
| benznidazole                               | Tablet: 12.5 mg.  |  |  |  |
|  | Tablet (scored): 50 mg; 100 mg.   |  |  |  |
| nifurtimox                                 | Tablet (scored): 30 mg; 120 mg.   |  |  |  |
| 6.6 Medicines for ectoparasitic infections |   |  |  |  |
| ivermectin                                 | Tablet: 3 mg  |  |  |  |

#### 6.7 Medicines for Ebola virus disease

| а | n | S | 11 | v | 1 | n | n | а | h |
|---|---|---|----|---|---|---|---|---|---|
| u |   | - | u  | v |   |   |   | u | ~ |

#### Powder for injection: 400 mg.

atoltivimab + maftivimab + Injection: 241.7 mg + 241.7 mg + 241.7 mg in 14.5 mL vial.

#### 6.8 Medicines for COVID-19

WHO recommends that effective and safe therapeutics for prevention and treatment of COVID-19 should be considered as essential medicines in the context of the public health emergency. WHO recommendations are revised and updated regularly in WHO living guidelines for therapeutics for the treatment and prevention of COVID-19.

Selection of essential therapeutics for COVID-19 at the national level should be informed by recommendations in these guidelines, and consideration of the latest evidence, epidemiology and national priorities.

The latest WHO Therapeutics and COVID-19: living guideline is available online at: https://app.magicapp.org/#/guideline/nBkO1E

The latest WHO Drugs to prevent COVID-19: living guideline is available online at: https://app.magicapp.org/#/guideline/L6RxYL

#### 7. ANTIMIGRAINE MEDICINES

## 7.1 For treatment of acute attack

| ibuprofen                      | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 100 mg/5 mL.<br><b>Tablet:</b> 200 mg; 400 mg.  |  |  |  |
|--------------------------------|---|--|--|--|
| paracetamol<br>(acetaminophen) | Oral liquid: 120 mg/5 mL or 125 mg/5 mL*; 250 mg/5 mL.<br>* The presence of both 120 mg/5 mL and 125 mg/5mL strengths<br>on the same market would cause confusion in prescribing and<br>dispensing and should be avoided. |  |  |  |
|                                | Suppository: 250 mg.  |  |  |  |
|                                | Tablet: 250 mg; 325 mg; 500 mg.   |  |  |  |
|                                | Tablet (dispersible): 100 mg; 250 mg.   |  |  |  |
| 7.2 For prophylaxis            |   |  |  |  |

#### 8. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS

#### 8.1 Immunomodulators for non-malignant disease

#### **Complementary List**

| <b>Injection:</b> 10 mg/0.2 mL; 20 mg/0.4 mL; 40 mg/0.8 mL;<br>40 mg/0.4 mL. |
|--|
|  |
| <b>Oral liquid:</b> 10 mg/mL.  |
| <b>Powder for injection:</b> 50 mg; 100 mg (as sodium salt) in vial.         |
| <b>Tablet:</b> 25 mg.  |
| Tablet (scored): 50 mg.  |
| Capsule: 25 mg.  |
| <b>Concentrate for injection:</b> 50 mg/mL in 1 mL ampoule.                  |
| <b>Oral liquid:</b> 100 mg/mL.   |
| <b>Capsule (immediate-release):</b> 0.5 mg; 0.75 mg; 1 mg; 2 mg; 5 mg.       |
| Granules for oral supsension: 0.2 mg; 1 mg.                                  |
| Injection: 5 mg/mL in 1 mL vial.   |
|  |

#### 8.2 Antineoplastic and supportive medicines

Medicines listed below should be used according to protocols for treatment of the diseases.

#### 8.2.1 Cytotoxic medicines

#### **Complementary List**

| arsenic trioxide  | <b>Concentrate for solution for infusion:</b> 1 mg/mL; 2 mg/mL.<br>– Acute promyelocytic leukaemia |
|---|--|
| asparaginase*<br>* including quality-assured<br>biosimilars | <i>Powder for injection:</i> 10 000 IU in vial.<br>– Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia                 |

8. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued) bleomycin Powder for injection: 15 000 IU (as sulfate) in vial. – Hodgkin lymphoma – Kaposi sarcoma - Testicular germ cell tumours - Ovarian germ cell tumours calcium folinate Injection: 3 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule; 7.5 mg/mL in 2 mL (leucovorin calcium) ampoule; 10 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule. Tablet: 5 mg; 15 mg; 25 mg. - Burkitt lymphoma – Osteosarcoma carboplatin Injection: 50 mg/5 mL; 150 mg/15 mL; 450 mg/45 mL; 600 mg/60 mL. - Low-grade glioma - Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) – Osteosarcoma - Ovarian germ cell tumours Retinoblastoma - Testicular germ cell tumours Injection: 10 mg/10 mL; 20 mg/20 mL; 50 mg/50 mL; cisplatin 100 mg/100mL. - Low-grade glioma - Nasopharyngeal cancer - Osteosarcoma - Ovarian germ cell tumours - Testicular germ cell tumours Powder for injection: 500 mg; 1 g; 2 g in vial. cyclophosphamide Solid oral dosage form: 25 mg; 50 mg. Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia - Anaplastic large cell lymphoma - Burkitt lymphoma - Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma - Ewing sarcoma – Hodgkin lymphoma - Low-grade glioma - Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) - Rhabdomyosarcoma

| 8. | IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued) |  |
|----|--|--|
|    | cytarabine                                       | Injection: 100 mg/mL in vial.<br>Powder for injection: 100 mg in vial.<br>– Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia<br>– Acute myeloid leukaemia<br>– Acute promyelocytic leukaemia<br>– Anaplastic large cell lymphoma<br>– Burkitt lymphoma<br>– Langerhans cell histiocytosis   |
|    | dacarbazine                                      | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 100 mg; 200 mg in vial.<br>– Hodgkin lymphoma   |
|    | dactinomycin                                     | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 500 micrograms in vial.<br>– Ewing sarcoma<br>– Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour)<br>– Rhabdomyosarcoma   |
|    | daunorubicin                                     | Injection: 2 mg/mL; 5 mg/mL (as hydrochloride) in vial.<br>Powder for injection: 20 mg; 50 mg (as hydrochloride) in<br>vial.<br>– Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia<br>– Acute promyelocytic leukaemia.  |
|    | doxorubicin                                      | Injection: 2 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 5 mL, 25 mL vial.<br>Powder for injection: 10 mg; 50 mg (hydrochloride) in vial.<br>– Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia<br>– Anaplastic large cell lymphoma<br>– Burkitt lymphoma<br>– Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma<br>– Ewing sarcoma<br>– Hodgkin lymphoma<br>– Kaposi sarcoma<br>– Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour)<br>– Osteosarcoma |
|    | doxorubicin (as pegylated<br>liposomal)          | <b>Injection:</b> 2 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 10 mL, 25 mL vial.<br>– Kaposi sarcoma  |

836

8. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued) etoposide Capsule: 50 mg; 100 mg. Injection: 20 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule. Powder for injection: 100 mg (as phosphate) in vial. – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia - Acute myeloid leukaemia - Anaplastic large cell lymphoma - Burkitt lymphoma - Ewing sarcoma – Hodgkin lymphoma – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) – Osteosarcoma - Ovarian germ cell tumours - Retinoblastoma - Testicular germ cell tumours fluorouracil Injection: 50 mg/mL in vial. - Early stage colon cancer - Early stage rectal cancer - Nasopharyngeal cancer - Metastatic colorectal cancer hydroxycarbamide **Solid oral dosage form:** 100 mg; 200 mg; 300 mg; 400 mg; (hydroxyurea) 500 mg; 1 g. Chronic myeloid leukaemia ifosfamide Powder for injection: 500 mg; 1 g; 2 g in vial. - Anaplastic large cell lymphoma - Burkitt lymphoma - Ewing sarcoma – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) – Osteosarcoma - Ovarian germ cell tumours Rhabdomyosarcoma - Testicular germ cell tumours irinotecan Injection: 40 mg/2 mL in 2 mL vial; 100 mg/5 mL in 5 mL vial; 500 mg/25 mL in 25 mL vial. - Metastatic colorectal cancer – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) - Rhabdomyosarcoma

| 8. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued)         |   |  |
|---|---|--|
| mercaptopurine  | <b>Tablet:</b> 50 mg.<br><b>Oral liquid:</b> 20 mg/mL.<br>– Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia<br>– Acute promyelocytic leukaemia<br>– Langerhans cell histocytosis  |  |
| methotrexate  | <b>Concentrated injection:</b> 1000 mg/10 mL.   |  |
|   | Powder for injection: 50 mg (as sodium) in vial.<br>Tablet: 2.5 mg (as sodium).<br>– Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia<br>– Acute promyelocytic leukaemia<br>– Anaplastic large cell lymphoma<br>– Burkitt lymphoma<br>– Langerhans cell histocytosis<br>– Osteosarcoma |  |
| oxaliplatin   | <b>Injection:</b> 50 mg/10 mL in 10 mL vial; 100 mg/20 mL in<br>20 mL vial; 200 mg/40 mL in 40 mL vial.<br><b>Powder for injection:</b> 50 mg; 100 mg in vial.<br>– Early stage colon cancer<br>– Metastatic colorectal cancer                                      |  |
| paclitaxel  | <b>Injection:</b> 6 mg/mL in vial.<br>– Ovarian germ cell tumours   |  |
| pegaspargase*<br>* including quality-assured<br>biosimilars | <b>Injection:</b> 3750 units/5 mL in vial<br><b>Powder for injection:</b> 3750 units in vial.<br>– Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia.   |  |
| procarbazine  | <b>Capsule:</b> 50 mg (as hydrochloride).<br>– Hodgkin lymphoma   |  |
| realgar-Indigo naturalis<br>formulation                     | <b>Tablet:</b> 270 mg (containing tetra-arsenic tetra-sulfide<br>30 mg).<br>– Acute promyelocytic leukaemia   |  |
| tioguanine  | <b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 40 mg.<br>– Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia  |  |

838

8. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued) vinblastine Injection: 10 mg/10 mL (sulfate) in vial. Powder for injection: 10 mg (sulfate) in vial. - Anaplastic large cell lymphoma Hodgkin lymphoma - Langerhans cell histiocytosis - Low-grade glioma - Ovarian germ cell tumours - Testicular germ cell tumours vincristine Injection: 1 mg/mL (sulfate); 2 mg/2 mL (sulfate) in vial. Powder for injection: 1 mg; 5 mg (sulfate) in vial. Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia - Burkitt lymphoma. - Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma - Ewing sarcoma – Hodąkin lymphoma – Kaposi sarcoma - Langerhans cell histiocytosis - Low-grade glioma – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour) Retinoblastoma - Rhabdomyosarcoma vinorelbine Capsule: 20 mg; 30 mg. Injection: 10 mg/mL in 1 mL, 5 mL vial. – Rhabdomyosarcoma 8.2.2 Targeted therapies Complementary List all-trans retinoid acid Capsule: 10 mg. (ATRA) Acute promyelocytic leukaemia dasatinib Tablet: 20 mg; 50 mg; 70 mg; 80 mg. - Imatinib-resistant chronic myeloid leukaemia everolimus Tablet: 2.5 mg; 5 mg; 7.5 mg; 10 mg. Tablet (dispersible): 2 mg; 3 mg; 5 mg. - Subependymal giant cell astrocytoma

| 8. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued)       |   |
|---|---|
| imatinib  | <b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 100 mg; 400 mg.<br>– Chronic myeloid leukaemia<br>– Gastrointestinal stromal tumour<br>– Philadelphia chromosome positive acute<br>lymphoblastic leukaemia   |
| nilotinib   | <b>Capsule:</b> 150 mg; 200 mg.<br>– Imatinib-resistant chronic myeloid leukaemia   |
| rituximab*<br>* including quality-assured<br>biosimilars  | Injection (intravenous): 100 mg/10 mL in 10 mL vial;<br>500 mg/50 mL in 50 mL vial.<br>– Burkitt lymphoma<br>– Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma  |
| 8.2.3 Immunomodulators                                    |   |
| Complementary List  |   |
| filgrastim*<br>* including quality-assured<br>biosimilars | Injection: 120 micrograms/0.2 mL; 300 micrograms/0.5 mL; 480 micrograms/0.8 mL in pre-filled syringe.   |
|   | 480 micrograms/1.6 mL in 1.6 mL vial.   |
|   | <ul> <li>Primary prophylaxis in patients at high risk for<br/>developing febrile neutropenia associated with<br/>myelotoxic chemotherapy.</li> <li>Secondary prophylaxis for patients who have<br/>experienced neutropenia following prior myelotoxic<br/>chemotherapy</li> <li>To facilitate administration of dose dense<br/>chemotherapy regimens</li> </ul> |
| pegfilgrastim*  | Injection: 6 mg/0.6 mL in pre-filled syringe.   |
| * including quality-assured biosimilars                   | <ul> <li>Primary prophylaxis in patients at high risk for<br/>developing febrile neutropenia associated with<br/>myelotoxic chemotherapy</li> <li>Secondary prophylaxis for patients who have<br/>experienced neutropenia following prior myelotoxic<br/>chemotherapy</li> <li>To facilitate administration of dose dense<br/>chemotherapy regimens</li> </ul>  |

## 8. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued)

#### 8.2.4 Hormones and antihormones

## Complementary List

| dexamethasone             | <i>Injection:</i> 4 mg/mL (as disodium phosphate salt) in 1 mL ampoule.   |
|---------------------------|---|
|                           | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 2 mg/5 mL.  |
|                           | <b>Tablet:</b> 2 mg; 4 mg.  |
|                           | – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia<br>– Anaplastic large cell lymphoma<br>– Burkitt lymphoma   |
| hydrocortisone            | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 100 mg (as sodium succinate) in vial.<br>– Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia<br>– Burkitt lymphoma   |
| methylprednisolone        | <i>Injection:</i> 40 mg/mL (as sodium succinate) in 1 mL single-<br>dose vial and 5 mL multi-dose vials; 80 mg/mL (as sodium<br>succinate) in 1 mL single-dose vial.                  |
|                           | – Acute lymphoblastic leukamia<br>– Burkitt lymphoma  |
| □ prednisolone            | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 5 mg/mL.  |
| Therapeutic alternatives: | Tablet: 5 mg; 25 mg.  |
| – prednisone              | – Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia<br>– Anaplastic large cell lymphoma<br>– Burkitt lymphoma<br>– Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma<br>– Hodgkin lymphoma<br>– Langerhans cell histiocytosis |

## 8. IMMUNOMODULATORS AND ANTINEOPLASTICS (continued)

## 8.2.5 Supportive medicines

## Complementary List

| allopurinol                   | <b>Tablet:</b> 100 mg; 300 mg.<br>– Tumour lysis syndrome  |
|-------------------------------|--|
| mesna                         | Injection: 100 mg/mL in 4 mL and 10 mL ampoules.   |
|                               | Tablet: 400 mg; 600 mg.  |
|                               | – Burkitt lymphoma   |
|                               | – Ewing sarcoma  |
|                               | – Nephroblastoma (Wilms tumour)  |
|                               | – Osteosarcoma   |
|                               | – Ovarian germ cell tumours  |
|                               | – Rhabdomyosarcoma   |
|                               | – Testicular germ cell tumours   |
| rasburicase                   | <b>Powder and solvent for solution for infusion:</b> 1.5 mg; 7.5 mg in vial.   |
|                               | – Tumour lysis syndrome  |
| 9. THERAPEUTIC FOODS          |  |
| ready-to-use therapeutic food | Biscuit or paste* * of nutritional composition as determined by the UN joint statement on the community-based management of severe |

acute malnutrition and Codex alimentarius guidelines.

10. MEDICINES AFFECTING THE BLOOD

## 10.1 Antianaemia medicines

| ferrous salt                             | <b>Oral liquid:</b> equivalent to 25 mg iron (as sulfate)/mL.<br><b>Tablet:</b> equivalent to 60 mg iron. |
|--|---|
| folic acid                               | Tablet: 1 mg; 5 mg.   |
| hydroxocobalamin                         | <b>Injection:</b> 1 mg (as acetate, as hydrochloride or as sulfate) in 1 mL ampoule.                      |
| Complementary List                       |   |
| □ erythropoiesis-<br>stimulating agents* | Injection: pre-filled syringe   |

| ,   | ··· <b>·</b> ································    |
|---|--|
| stimulating agents*   | 1000 IU/0.5 mL; 2000 IU/0.5 mL; 3000 IU/0.3 mL;  |
| Therapeutic alternatives:                                     | 4000 IU/0.4 mL; 5000 IU/0.5 mL; 6000 IU/0.6 mL;  |
| <ul> <li>epoetin alfa, beta and</li> </ul>                    | 8000 IU/0.8mL; 10 000 IU/1 mL; 20 000 IU/0.5 mL; |
| theta   | 40 000 IU/1 mL.                                  |
| – darbepoetin alfa  |  |
| <ul> <li>including quality-assured<br/>biosimilars</li> </ul> |  |

## 10.2 Medicines affecting coagulation

| 🗆 enoxaparin   | Injection: ampoule or pre-filled syringe  |
|--|---|
| <ul> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>dalteparin</li> <li>nadroparin</li> <li>including quality-assured<br/>biosimilars</li> </ul> | 20 mg/0.2 mL; 40 mg/0.4 mL; 60 mg/0.6 mL;<br>80 mg/0.8 mL; 100 mg/1 mL; 120 mg/0.8 mL;<br>150 mg/1 mL.        |
| phytomenadione   | Injection: 1 mg/mL; 10 mg/mL in ampoule.<br>Tablet: 10 mg.  |
| Complementary List   |   |
| desmopressin   | Injection: 4 micrograms/mL (as acetate) in 1 mL ampoule.<br>Nasal spray: 10 micrograms (as acetate) per dose. |
| heparin sodium   | Injection: 1000 IU/mL; 5000 IU/mL in 1 mL ampoule.  |
| protamine sulfate  | Injection: 10 mg/mL in 5 mL ampoule.  |
| ☐ warfarin<br>Therapeutic alternatives<br>to be reviewed   | <b>Tablet:</b> 0.5 mg; 1 mg; 2 mg; 5 mg (sodium).   |
|  |   |

#### 10. MEDICINES AFFECTING THE BLOOD (continued)

#### 10.3 Other medicines for haemoglobinopathies

| <ul> <li>deferasirox</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>deferiprone</li> </ul> | <b>Tablet (dispersible):</b> 100 mg; 125 mg; 250 mg; 400 mg;<br>500 mg.<br><b>Tablet (film-coated):</b> 90 mg; 180 mg; 360 mg. |
|---|--|
| <b>Complementary list</b>   |  |
| deferoxamine  | <b>Powder for injection:</b> 500 mg (mesilate) in vial.  |
| hydroxycarbamide<br>(hydroxyurea)   | <b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 100 mg; 200 mg; 500 mg; 1 g.  |

#### 11. BLOOD PRODUCTS OF HUMAN ORIGIN AND PLASMA SUBSTITUTES

#### 11.1 Blood and blood components

In accordance with the World Health Assembly resolution WHA63.12, WHO recognizes that achieving self-sufficiency, unless special circumstances preclude it, in the supply of safe blood components based on voluntary, non-remunerated blood donation, and the security of that supply are important national goals to prevent blood shortages and meet the transfusion requirements of the patient population. All preparations should comply with the WHO requirements.

| □ cryoprecipitate,<br>pathogen-reduced                                   | <b>Injection:</b> frozen liquid in bag or lyophilized powder in vial containing:                                       |
|--|--|
| Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– cryoprecipitate (not<br>pathogen-reduced) | <ul> <li>&gt; 50 IU Factor VIII</li> <li>&gt; 100 IU vWF</li> <li>&gt; 140 mg clottable fibrinogen per unit</li> </ul> |
| fresh-frozen plasma  |  |

platelets

red blood cells

whole blood

#### 11.2 Plasma-derived medicines

All human plasma-derived medicines should comply with the WHO requirements.
#### 11. BLOOD PRODUCTS OF HUMAN ORIGIN AND PLASMA SUBSTITUTES (continued)

#### 11.2.1 Human immunoglobulins

| anti-rabies<br>immunoglobulin  | <b>Injection:</b> 150 IU/mL in vial.   |
|--------------------------------|--|
| anti-tetanus<br>immunoglobulin | Injection: 500 IU in vial.   |
| Complementary List             |  |
| normal immunoglobulin          | Intramuscular administration: 16% protein solution.                                  |
|                                | Subcutaneous administration: 15%; 16% protein solution.                              |
|                                | – Primary immune deficiency.   |
|                                | Intravenous administration: 5%; 10% protein solution.                                |
|                                | – Primary immune deficiency<br>– Kawasaki disease<br>– Langerhans cell histiocytosis |

# 11.2.2 Blood coagulation factors

#### **Complementary List**

| <ul> <li>□ coagulation factor IX</li> <li>Powder for injection: 500 IU; 1000 IU in v</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>− coagulation factor IX</li> <li>complex</li> </ul> | n vial. |
|--|---------|

#### 11.3 Plasma substitutes

| 🗆 dextran 70                              | Injectable solution: 6%. |
|---|--------------------------|
| Therapeutic alternatives:                 |                          |
| <ul> <li>Polygeline injectable</li> </ul> |                          |
| solution 3.5%                             |                          |
|   |                          |

#### **12. CARDIOVASCULAR MEDICINES**

#### 12.1 Antianginal medicines

#### 12.2 Antiarrhythmic medicines

#### 12.3 Antihypertensive medicines

| 🗆 enalapril   | Oral liquid: 1 mg/mL (as hydrogen maleate).        |
|---|--|
| Therapeutic alternatives:                             | Tablet: 2.5 mg; 5 mg; 10 mg (as hydrogen maleate). |
| <ul> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical</li> </ul> |  |
| subgroup (C09AA ACE                                   |  |
| inhibitors, plain)                                    |  |

#### 12.4 Medicines used in heart failure

| furosemide         | Injection: 10 mg/mL in 2 mL, 5 mL ampoule.<br>Oral liquid: 20 mg/5 mL; 50 mg/5 mL.<br>Tablet: 20 mg: 40 mg. |  |
|--------------------|---|--|
| Complementary List |   |  |
| digoxin            | Injection: 100 micrograms/mL in 1 mL ampoule;<br>250 micrograms/mL in 2 mL ampoule.                         |  |
|                    | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 50 micrograms/mL.   |  |
|                    | <b>Tablet:</b> 62.5 micrograms; 125 micrograms; 250 mg<br>micrograms.                                       |  |
| dopamine           | <i>Injection:</i> 40 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 5 mL vial.  |  |

#### 12.5 Antithrombotic medicines

| 9, 2024   |
|-----------|
| 104       |
| No.       |
| Series,   |
| Report.   |
| Technical |
| OHM       |

#### 12.6 Lipid-lowering agents

#### 12.7 Fixed-dose combinations for prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease

13. DERMATOLOGICAL MEDICINES

# 13.1 Antifungal medicines

| 🗆 miconazole  | Cream or ointment: 2% (nitrate).       |
|---|--|
| Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– 4 <sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br>subgroup (D01AC Imidazole<br>and triazole derivatives)<br>excluding combinations |  |
| selenium sulfide  | Detergent-based suspension: 2%.        |
| terbinafine   | Cream or ointment: 1% (hydrochloride). |
| 13.2 Anti-infective medicine  | S                                      |

| mupirocin                    | Cream: 2% (as calcium).     |  |
|------------------------------|-----------------------------|--|
|                              | Ointment: 2%.               |  |
| potassium permanganate       | Aqueous solution: 1:10 000. |  |
| silver sulfadiazine <b>a</b> | Cream: 1%.                  |  |
|                              | [a] > 2 months.             |  |

#### 13.3 Anti-inflammatory and antipruritic medicines

| <ul> <li>betamethasone a</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br/>subgroup (D07AC<br/>Corticosteroids, potent<br/>(group III))</li> </ul> | Cream or ointment: 0.1% (as valerate). <ul> <li>a Hydrocortisone preferred in neonates.</li> </ul> |  |  |
|--|--|--|--|
| calamine   | Lotion.  |  |  |
| hydrocortisone   | Cream or ointment: 1% (acetate).   |  |  |
| 13.4 Medicines affecting skin differentiation and proliferation  |  |  |  |
| benzoyl peroxide   | Cream or lotion: 5%.   |  |  |
| □ calcipotriol<br>Therapeutic alternatives:<br>- calcitriol<br>- tacalcitol  | Cream or ointment: 50 micrograms/mL (0.005%).<br>Lotion: 50 micrograms/mL (0.005%).                |  |  |
| coal tar   | Solution: 5%.  |  |  |

## 13. DERMATOLOGICAL MEDICINES (continued)

| <ul> <li>podophyllum resin</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>podophyllotoxin</li> </ul>                      | <b>Solution:</b> 10% to 25%.                     |
|--|--|
| salicylic acid   | Solution: 5%.                                    |
| urea   | Cream or ointment: 5%; 10%.                      |
| Complementary List   |  |
| methotrexate   | <b>Tablet:</b> 2.5 mg; 10 mg (as sodium).        |
| 13.5 Scabicides and pediculi   | cides  |
| <ul> <li>benzyl benzoate a</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>precipitated sulfur topical ointment</li> </ul> | Lotion: 25%. <ul> <li>a &gt; 2 years.</li> </ul> |
| permethrin   | Cream: 5%.                                       |
|  | Lotion: 1%.                                      |
| 14. DIAGNOSTIC AGENTS  |  |
| 14.1 Ophthalmic medicines  |  |

| 14.2 Radiocontrast media       |                              |
|--------------------------------|------------------------------|
| – atropine<br>– cyclopentolate |                              |
| Therapeutic alternatives:      |                              |
| □ tropicamide                  | <b>Eye drops:</b> 0.5%.      |
| fluorescein                    | Eye drops: 1% (sodium salt). |

| 14.2 Radiocontrast media |                     |  |
|--------------------------|---------------------|--|
| Complementary List       |                     |  |
| barium sulfate           | Aqueous suspension. |  |

# **15. ANTISEPTICS AND DISINFECTANTS**

| 15.1 Anusepucs  |   |
|---|---|
| □ chlorhexidine<br>Therapeutic alternatives to be<br>reviewed   | Solution: 5% (digluconate).   |
| <ul> <li>ethanol</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>propanol</li> </ul>  | Solution: 70% (denatured).  |
| <ul> <li>povidone iodine</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>iodine</li> </ul>  | Solution: 10% (equivalent to 1% available iodine).  |
| 15.2 Disinfectants  |   |
| alcohol based hand rub  | Solution containing ethanol 80% volume/volume.<br>Solution containing isopropyl alcohol 75% volume/<br>volume.  |
|   |   |
| chlorine base compound  | <b>Liquid:</b> (0.1% available chlorine) for solution.<br><b>Powder:</b> (0.1% available chlorine) for solution.<br><b>Solid:</b> (0.1% available chlorine) for solution. |
| <ul> <li>chlorine base compound</li> <li>chloroxylenol</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:         <ul> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br/>subgroup (D08AE Phenol<br/>and derivatives)</li> </ul> </li> </ul> | Liquid: (0.1% available chlorine) for solution.<br>Powder: (0.1% available chlorine) for solution.<br>Solid: (0.1% available chlorine) for solution.<br>Solution: 4.8%.   |

| 16. DIURETICS   |  |
|---|--|
| furosemide  | <b>Injection:</b> 10 mg/mL in 2 mL, 5 mL ampoule.<br><b>Oral liquid:</b> 20 mg/5 mL; 50 mg/5 mL.<br><b>Tablet:</b> 20 mg; 40 mg. |
| Complementary List  |  |
| ☐ hydrochlorothiazide<br>Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– chlorothiazide<br>– chlortalidone | Tablet (scored): 25 mg.  |
| mannitol  | Injectable solution: 10%; 20%.   |
| spironolactone  | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 5 mg/5 mL; 10 mg/5 mL; 25 mg/5 mL.<br><b>Tablet:</b> 25 mg.  |

#### **17. GASTROINTESTINAL MEDICINES**

| Comp | lementary List |
|------|----------------|
|------|----------------|

| pancreatic enzymes | Age-appropriate formulations and doses including lipase, |
|--------------------|--|
|                    | protease and amylase.                                    |

#### 17.1 Antiulcer medicines

| <ul> <li>omeprazole</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br/>subgroup (A02BC Proton<br/>pump inhibitors) excluding<br/>combinations</li> </ul>             | <b>Powder for oral liquid:</b> 20 mg; 40 mg sachets.<br><b>Solid oral dosage form:</b> 10 mg; 20 mg; 40 mg.                                  |
|---|--|
| <ul> <li>ranitidine</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br/>subgroup (A02BA<br/>H<sub>2</sub>-receptor antagonists)<br/>orskuding combinations</li> </ul> | Injection: 25 mg/mL (as hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule.<br>Oral liquid: 75 mg/5 mL (as hydrochloride).<br>Tablet: 150 mg (as hydrochloride). |

#### 17.2 Antiemetic medicines

| dexamethasone | Injection: 4 mg/mL in 1 mL ampoule (as disodium phosphate salt). |
|---------------|--|
|               | Oral liquid: 0.5 mg/5 mL; 2 mg/5 mL.                             |
|               | Solid oral dosage form: 0.5 mg; 0.75 mg; 1.5 mg; 4 mg.           |
|               |  |

Powder for oral suspension: 125 mg in sachet.

## 17. GASTROINTESTINAL MEDICINES (continued)

| metoclopramide <b>a</b>                 | Injection: 5 mg/mL (hydrochloride) in 2 mL ampoule.         |
|---|---|
|   | Oral liquid: 5 mg/5 mL.                                     |
|   | Tablet: 10 mg (hydrochloride).                              |
|   | a Not in neonates.  |
| ondansetron a Therapeutic alternatives: | Injection: 2 mg base/mL in 2 mL ampoule (as hydrochloride). |
| – dolasetron                            | Oral liquid: 4 mg base/5 mL.                                |
| - granisetron                           | Solid oral dosage form: Eq 4 mg base; Eq 8 mg base.         |
| - tropisetron                           | <b>a</b> > 1 month.   |
| Complementary list                      |   |
| aprepitant                              | <b>Capsule:</b> 80 mg; 125 mg; 165 mg.                      |

#### 17.3 Anti-inflammatory medicines

| 1 | 7  | Λ | Lovatives |
|---|----|---|-----------|
|   | 7. | 4 | Laxatives |

#### 17.5 Medicines used in diarrhoea

| oral rehydration salts – zinc<br>sulfate | Co-package containing:<br>ORS powder for dilution (see So<br>sulfate solid oral dosage form 2   | ection 17.5.1) – zinc<br>20 mg (see Section 17.5.2)   |
|--|---|---|
| 17.5.1 Oral rehydration                  |   |   |
| oral rehydration salts                   | Powder for dilution in 200 mL;  | 500 mL; 1 L.  |
|  | glucose:<br>sodium:<br>chloride:<br>potassium:<br>citrate:<br>osmolarity:<br>glucose:<br>sodium chloride:<br>potassium chloride:<br>trisodium citrate dihydrate*:<br>* trisodium citrate dihydrate may be<br>carbonate (sodium bicarbonate) 2.5<br>of this latter formulation is very poor<br>is recommended only when manufa | 75 mEq<br>75 mEq or mmol/L<br>65 mEq or mmol/L<br>20 mEq or mmol/L<br>10 mmol/L<br>245 mOsm/L<br>13.5 g/L<br>2.6 g/L<br>1.5 g/L<br>2.9 g/L<br>replaced by sodium hydrogen<br>g/L. However, as the stability<br>or under tropical conditions, it<br>actured for immediate use. |

17. GASTROINTESTINAL MEDICINES (continued)

#### 17.5.2 Medicines for diarrhoea

zinc sulfate\*

- Solid oral dosage form: 20 mg.
- \* In acute diarrhoea, zinc sulfate should be used as an adjunct to oral rehydration salts.

#### **18. MEDICINES FOR ENDOCRINE DISORDERS**

#### 18.1 Adrenal hormones and synthetic substitutes

| fl | пq | rod | or  | tis | on | P |
|----|----|-----|-----|-----|----|---|
|    | uu |     | .01 | 113 |    | C |

hydrocortisone

Tablet: 5 mg; 10 mg; 20 mg.

Tablet: 100 micrograms (acetate).

#### 18.2 Androgens

#### 18.3 Estrogens

#### 18.4 Progestogens

#### 18.5 Medicines for diabetes

#### 18.5.1 Insulins

| <pre>insulin injection (soluble)* * including quality-assured biosimilars</pre>                 | <b>Injection:</b> 100 IU/mL in 10 mL vial; 100 IU/mL in 3 mL cartridge or pre-filled pen.   |  |  |  |
|---|---|--|--|--|
| intermediate-acting insulin* <ul> <li>including quality-assured</li> <li>biosimilars</li> </ul> | <b>Injection:</b> 100 IU/mL in 10 mL vial; 100 IU/mL in 3 mL cartridge or pre-filled pen (as compound insulin zinc suspension or isophane insulin). |  |  |  |
| Iong-acting insulin<br>analogues*   | Injection: 100 IU/mL in 3 mL cartridge or pre-filled pen.   |  |  |  |
| Therapeutic alternatives:   |   |  |  |  |
| <ul> <li>insulin detemir</li> <li>insulin dealudec</li> </ul>                                   |   |  |  |  |
| <ul> <li>insulin glargine</li> </ul>  |   |  |  |  |
| <ul> <li>including quality-assured<br/>biosimilars</li> </ul>                                   |   |  |  |  |
| 18.5.2 Oral hypoglycaemic ag  | gents   |  |  |  |
| Complementary List  |   |  |  |  |

metformin

Tablet: 500 mg (hydrochloride).

18. MEDICINES FOR ENDOCRINE DISORDERS (continued) 18.6 Medicines for hypoglycaemia glucagon Injection: 1 mg/mL. **Complementary List** diazoxide Oral liquid: 50 mg/mL Tablet: 50 mg 18.7 Thyroid hormones and antithyroid medicines levothyroxine Tablet: 25 micrograms; 50 micrograms; 100 micrograms (sodium salt). **Complementary List** Lugol's solution Oral liquid: about 130 mg total iodine/mL. □ methimazole Tablet: 5 mg; 10 mg; 20 mg. Therapeutic alternatives: - carbimazole (depending on local availability) potassium iodide Tablet: 60 mg. propylthiouracil\* Tablet: 50 mg. \* For use when alternative first-line treatment is not appropriate or available

#### 18.8 Medicines for disorders of the pituitary hormone system

#### **19. IMMUNOLOGICALS**

#### 19.1 Diagnostic agents

All tuberculins should comply with the WHO requirements for tuberculins.

tuberculin, purified protein Injection. derivative (PPD)

#### 19.2 Sera, immunoglobulins and monoclonal antibodies

All plasma fractions should comply with the WHO requirements.

| anti-rabies virus<br>monoclonal antibodies*                   | <b>Injection:</b> 40 IU/mL in 1.25 mL, 2.5 mL vial; 100 IU/mL in 2.5 mL vial (human). |
|---|---|
| <ul> <li>including quality-assured<br/>biosimilars</li> </ul> | Injection: 300 IU/mL in 10 mL vial; 600 IU/mL in 1 mL, 2.5 mL and 5 mL vial (murine). |

#### 19. IMMUNOLOGICALS (continued)

| antivenom<br>immunoglobulin*    | Injection.<br>*Exact type to be defined locally.                     |
|---------------------------------|--|
| diphtheria antitoxin            | Injection: 10 000 IU; 20 000 IU in vial.                             |
| equine rabies<br>immunoglobulin | <b>Injection:</b> 150 IU/mL; 200 IU/mL; 300 IU/mL; 400 IU/mL in vial |

#### 19.3 Vaccines

WHO immunization policy recommendations are published in vaccine position papers on the basis of recommendations made by the Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on Immunization (SAGE).

WHO vaccine position papers are updated three to four times per year. The list below details the vaccines for which there is a recommendation from SAGE and a corresponding WHO position paper as at March 2023. The most recent versions of the WHO position papers, reflecting the current evidence related to a specific vaccine and the related recommendations, can be accessed at any time on the WHO website at:

https://www.who.int/teams/immunization-vaccines-and-biologicals/policies/position-papers

Vaccine recommendations may be universal or conditional (e.g., in certain regions, in some high-risk populations or as part of immunization programmes with certain characteristics). Details are available in the relevant position papers, and in the Summary Tables of WHO Routine Immunization Recommendations available on the WHO website at:

https://www.who.int/teams/immunization-vaccines-and-biologicals/policies/who-recommendations-for-routine-immunization---summary-tables

Selection of vaccines from the Model List will need to be determined by each country after consideration of international recommendations, epidemiology and national priorities.

All vaccines should comply with the WHO requirements for biological substances.

WHO noted the need for vaccines used in children to be polyvalent.

#### **Recommendations for all**

**BCG** vaccine

diphtheria vaccine

Haemophilus influenzae type b vaccine

hepatitis B vaccine

human papilloma virus (HPV) vaccine

measles vaccine

#### 19. IMMUNOLOGICALS (continued)

pertussis vaccine

pneumococcal vaccine

poliomyelitis vaccine

rotavirus vaccine

rubella vaccine

tetanus vaccine

#### Recommendations for certain regions

Japanese encephalitis vaccine

tick-borne encephalitis vaccine

yellow fever vaccine

#### Recommendations for some high-risk populations

cholera vaccine

dengue vaccine

hepatitis A vaccine

meningococcal meningitis vaccine

rabies vaccine

typhoid vaccine

#### Recommendations for immunization programmes with certain characteristics

influenza vaccine (seasonal)

mumps vaccine

varicella vaccine

# 20. MUSCLE RELAXANTS (PERIPHERALLY-ACTING) AND CHOLINESTERASE INHIBITORS

| neostigmine                          | <b>Injection:</b> 500 micrograms/mL (methylsulfate) in 1 mL ampoule; 2.5 mg/mL (methylsulfate) in 1 mL ampoule.<br><b>Tablet:</b> 15 mg (bromide). |
|--------------------------------------|--|
| suxamethonium                        | <b>Injection:</b> 50 mg/mL (chloride) in 2 mL ampoule.<br><b>Powder for injection:</b> (chloride), in vial.  |
| vecuronium Therapeutic alternatives: | Powder for injection: 10 mg (bromide) in vial.   |

– atracurium

#### **Complementary List**

| pyridostigmine | Injection: 1 mg in 1 mL ampoule. |
|----------------|----------------------------------|
|                | Tablet: 60 mg (bromide).         |

#### 21. OPHTHALMOLOGICAL PREPARATIONS

| 21.1 Anti-infective agents  |   |
|---|---|
| aciclovir   | Ointment: 3% w/w.   |
| azithromycin  | <b>Solution (eye drops):</b> 1.5%.<br>– Trachoma  |
| erythromycin  | Ointment: 0.5%.<br>– Infections due to Chlamydia trachomatis or Neisseria<br>gonorrhoeae              |
| ☐ gentamicin<br>Therapeutic alternatives:<br>- amikacin<br>- kanamycin<br>- netilmicin<br>- tobramycin  | <b>Solution (eye drops):</b> 0.3% (sulfate).<br>– Bacterial blepharitis<br>– Bacterial conjunctivitis |
| natamycin   | <b>Suspension (eye drops):</b> 5%.<br>– Fungal keratitis  |
| <ul> <li>ofloxacin</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical<br/>subgroup (S01AE<br/>Fluoroquinolones)</li> </ul> | <b>Solution (eye drops):</b> 0.3%.<br>– Bacterial conjunctivitis<br>– Bacterial keratitis             |

#### 21. OPHTHALMOLOGICAL PREPARATIONS (continued)

| □ tetracycline                      | Eye ointment: 1% (hydrochloride).                     |
|-------------------------------------|---|
| Therapeutic alternatives:           | – Bacterial blepharitis<br>– Bacterial conjunctivitis |
| <ul> <li>oxytetracycline</li> </ul> | – Bacterial keratitis                                 |
|                                     | – Trachoma  |

#### 21.2 Anti-inflammatory agents

| □ prednisolone                          | Solution (eye drops): 0.5% (sodium phosphate). |
|---|--|
| Therapeutic alternatives to be reviewed |  |

#### 21.3 Local anaesthetics

cocaine and combinations

| 🗖 tetracaine 🖪  | Solution (eye drops): 0.5% (hydrochloride). |
|---|---|
| Therapeutic alternatives:                             | <b>a</b> Not in preterm neonates.           |
| <ul> <li>4<sup>th</sup> level ATC chemical</li> </ul> |   |
| subgroup (S01HA Local                                 |   |
| anaesthetics) excluding                               |   |

#### 21.4 Miotics and antiglaucoma medicines

#### 21.5 Mydriatics

#### atropine **a**

**Solution** (eye drops): 0.1%; 0.5%; 1% (sulfate).

Therapeutic alternatives:

- homatropine hydrobromide
- cyclopentolate hydrochloride

#### **Complementary List**

epinephrine (adrenaline) Solution (eye drops): 2% (as hydrochloride).

**a** > 3 months.

#### 21.6 Anti-vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) preparations

#### 22. MEDICINES FOR REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH AND PERINATAL CARE

#### 22.1 Contraceptives

#### 22.2 Ovulation inducers

#### 22.3 Uterotonics

#### 22.4 Antioxytocics (tocolytics)

#### 22.5 Other medicines administered to the mother

#### 22. MEDICINES FOR REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH AND PERINATAL CARE (continued)

#### 22.6 Medicines administered to the neonate

| caffeine citrate  | <b>Injection:</b> 20 mg/mL (equivalent to 10 mg caffeine base/mL).                                |
|---|---|
|   | <b>Oral liquid:</b> 20 mg/mL (equivalent to 10 mg caffeine base/mL).                              |
| chlorhexidine   | <b>Solution or gel:</b> 7.1% (digluconate) delivering 4% chlorhexidine (for umbilical cord care). |
| Complementary List  |   |
| ☐ ibuprofen<br>Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– indometacin             | Solution for injection: 5 mg/mL.  |
| □ prostaglandin E1<br>Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– prostaglandin E2 | <i>Solution for injection:</i> 0.5 mg/mL in alcohol.  |
| surfactant  | Suspension for intratracheal instillation: 25 mg/mL or 80 mg/mL                                   |

# 23. PERITONEAL DIALYSIS SOLUTION

# Complementary List

*intraperitoneal dialysis* **Parenteral solution:** of appropriate composition. solution

24. MEDICINES FOR MENTAL AND BEHAVIOURAL DISORDERS

#### 24.1 Medicines used in psychotic disorders

#### 24.2 Medicines used in mood disorders

24.2.1 Medicines used in depressive disorders

#### 24.2.2 Medicines used in bipolar disorders

#### 24.3 Medicines for anxiety disorders

#### 24.4 Medicines used for obsessive compulsive disorders

#### 24.5 Medicines for disorders due to psychoactive substance use

#### 24.5.1 Medicines for alcohol use disorders

#### 24.5.2 Medicines for nicotine use disorders

#### 24.5.3 Medicines for opioid use disorders

#### 25. MEDICINES ACTING ON THE RESPIRATORY TRACT

#### 25.1 Antiasthmatic medicines

| <ul> <li>budesonide</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>beclometasone</li> <li>ciclesonide</li> <li>flunisolide</li> <li>fluticasone</li> <li>mometasone</li> </ul> | <b>Inhalation (aerosol):</b> 100 micrograms per dose;<br>200 micrograms per dose.   |
|---|---|
| epinephrine (adrenaline)  | <b>Injection:</b> 1 mg/mL (as hydrochloride or hydrogen tartrate) in 1 mL ampoule.  |
| <ul> <li>salbutamol</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives:</li> <li>terbutaline</li> </ul>  | Injection: 50 micrograms/mL (as sulfate) in 5 mL<br>ampoule.<br>Metered dose inhaler (aerosol): 100 micrograms (as<br>sulfate) per dose.<br>Respirator solution for use in nebulizers: 5 mg/mL<br>(as sulfate). |

| 26. SOLUTIONS CORRECTING WATER, ELECTROLYTE AND ACID-BASE<br>DISTURBANCES |   |
|---|---|
| 26.1 Oral   |   |
| oral rehydration salts  | See section 17.5.1.   |
| potassium chloride  | Powder for solution.  |
| 26.2 Parenteral   |   |
| glucose   | <b>Injectable solution:</b> 5% (isotonic); 10% (hypertonic); 50% (hypertonic).  |
| glucose with sodium<br>chloride   | <b>Injectable solution:</b> 5% glucose, 0.9% sodium chloride<br>(equivalent to Na+ 150 mmol/L and Cl- 150 mmol/L);<br>5% glucose, 0.45% sodium chloride (equivalent to<br>Na+ 75 mmol/L and Cl- 75 mmol/L). |
| potassium chloride  | <b>Solution for dilution:</b> 7.5% (equivalent to K+ 1 mmol/mL and Cl- 1 mmol/mL); 15% (equivalent to K+ 2 mmol/mL and Cl- 2 mmol/mL).  |
| sodium chloride   | <b>Injectable solution:</b> 0.9% isotonic (equivalent to Na+ 154 mmol/L, Cl- 154 mmol/L).   |
| sodium hydrogen<br>carbonate  | <b>Injectable solution:</b> 1.4% isotonic (equivalent to Na+167 mmol/L, HCO <sub>3</sub> - 167 mmol/L).   |
|   | <b>Solution:</b> 8.4% in 10 mL ampoule (equivalent to Na+ 1000 mmol/L, $HCO_3$ -1000 mmol/L).   |
| sodium lactate, compound solution   | Injectable solution.  |

# 26.3 Miscellaneous

| water for | injection |
|-----------|-----------|
|-----------|-----------|

2 mL; 5 mL; 10 mL ampoules.

#### 27. VITAMINS AND MINERALS

| ascorbic acid   | Tablet: 50 mg.   |
|---|--|
| □ colecalciferol<br>Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– ergocalciferol | Oral liquid: 400 IU/mL.<br>Solid oral dosage form: 400 IU; 1000 IU.  |
| iodine  | Capsule: 190 mg.   |
|   | <b>lodized oil:</b> 1 mL (480 mg iodine); 0.5 mL (240 mg iodine) in ampoule (oral or injectable); 0.57 mL (308 mg iodine) in dispenser bottle. |

| 27. VITAMINS AND MINERAL                                 | <b>S</b> (continued)  |
|--|---|
| multiple micronutrient<br>powder                         | <ul> <li>Sachets containing:</li> <li>iron (elemental) 12.5 mg (as coated ferrous fumarate)</li> <li>zinc (elemental) 5 mg</li> <li>vitamin A 300 micrograms</li> <li>with or without other micronutrients at recommended daily values</li> </ul>             |
| pyridoxine   | Tablet: 25 mg (hydrochloride).  |
| retinol  | Capsule: 100 000 IU; 200 000 IU (as palmitate).<br>Oral oily solution: 100 000 IU/mL (as palmitate) in<br>multidose dispenser.<br>Tablet (sugar-coated): 10 000 IU (as palmitate).<br>Water-miscible injection: 100 000 IU (as palmitate) in<br>2 mL ampoule. |
| riboflavin   | Tablet: 5 mg.   |
| thiamine   | Tablet: 50 mg (hydrochloride).  |
| Complementary List                                       |   |
| calcium gluconate  | Injection: 100 mg/mL in 10 mL ampoule.  |
| 28. EAR, NOSE AND THROAT                                 | MEDICINES   |
| acetic acid  | Topical: 2%, in alcohol.  |
| budesonide<br>Therapeutic alternatives to be<br>reviewed | Nasal spray: 100 micrograms per dose.   |
| □ ciprofloxacin  | Solution (ear drops): 0.3% (as hydrochloride).  |

Nasal spray: 0.05%.

**a** Not in children less than 3 months.

Therapeutic alternatives:

□ xylometazoline **a** 

Therapeutic alternatives to be

– ofloxacin

reviewed

#### 29. MEDICINES FOR DISEASES OF JOINTS

#### 29.1 Medicines used to treat gout

#### 29.2 Disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs)

# **Complementary List**

| hydroxychloroquine | Solid oral dosage form: 200 mg (as sulfate). |
|--------------------|--|
| methotrexate       | Tablet: 2.5 mg (as sodium).                  |

#### 29.3 Medicines for juvenile joint diseases

#### Complementary List

| acetylsalicylic acid*<br>(acute or chronic use)  | Suppository: 50 mg to 150 mg.<br>Tablet: 100 mg to 500 mg.<br>* For use for rheumatic fever, juvenile arthritis, Kawasaki disease. |
|--|--|
| <ul> <li>adalimumab*</li> <li>Therapeutic alternatives*:</li> <li>etanercept</li> <li>infliximab</li> <li>including quality-assured biosimilars</li> </ul> | <b>Injection:</b> 10 mg/0.2 mL; 20 mg/0.4 mL; 40 mg/0.8 mL; 40 mg/0.4 mL.  |
| methotrexate   | Tablet: 2.5 mg (as sodium).  |
| □ triamcinolone<br>hexacetonide  | Injection: 20 mg/mL in vial.   |
| Therapeutic alternatives:<br>– triamcinolone acetonide   |  |

#### **30. DENTAL MEDICINES AND PREPARATIONS**

| fluoride | <b>Gel:</b> containing 2500 to 12 500 ppm fluoride (any type).                    |
|----------|---|
|          | <b>Mouthrinse:</b> containing 230 to 900 ppm fluoride (any type).                 |
|          | <b>Toothpaste: cream or gel:</b> containing 1000 to 1500 ppm fluoride (any type). |
|          | Varnish: containing 22 500 ppm fluoride (any type).                               |

#### 30. DENTAL MEDICINES AND PREPARATIONS (continued)

| glass ionomer cement  | Single-use capsules: 0.4 g powder + 0.09 mL liquid.   |  |
|---|---|--|
|   | Multi-use bottle: powder + liquid.  |  |
|   | Powder (fluoro-alumino-silicate glass) contains: 25-50% silicate,<br>20-40% aluminium oxide, 1-20% fluoride, 15-40% metal oxide,<br>0-15% phosphate, remainder are polyacrylic acid powder and<br>metals in minimal quantities. Liquid (aqueous) contains: 7-25%<br>polybasic carboxylic acid, 45-60% polyacrylic acid. |  |
|   |   |  |
| resin-based composite<br>(low-viscosity)*   | <pre>Single-use applicator or multi-use bottle. * of any type for use as dental sealant.</pre>  |  |
| resin-based composite<br>(low-viscosity)*<br>resin-based composite<br>(high-viscosity)* | <ul> <li>Single-use applicator or multi-use bottle.</li> <li>* of any type for use as dental sealant.</li> <li>Single-use capsule or multi-use syringe.</li> <li>* of any type for use as dental filling material.</li> </ul>   |  |

# Annex 3

# Alphabetical list of essential medicines (with ATC codes & section numbers)

| Medicine or item as in EML/EMLc   | ATC code | Section             |
|---|----------|---------------------|
| abacavir  | J05AF06  | 6.4.2.1             |
| abacavir + lamivudine   | J05AR02  | 6.4.2.5             |
| abiraterone   | L02BX03  | 8.2.4               |
| acamprosate   | N07BB03  | 24.5.1              |
| acetazolamide   | S01EC01  | 21.4                |
| acetic acid   | S02AA10  | 28                  |
| acetylcysteine  | V03AB23  | 4.2                 |
| acetylsalicylic acid  | B01AC06  | 12.5.1              |
| acetylsalicylic acid  | N02BA01  | 2.1; 7.1; 29.3      |
| acetylsalicylic acid + atorvastatin +<br>ramipril                                 | C10BX06  | 12.7                |
| acetylsalicylic acid + simvastatin +<br>ramipril + atenolol + hydrochlorothiazide | -        | 12.7                |
| aciclovir   | J05AB01  | 6.4.1               |
| aciclovir   | S01AD03  | 21.1                |
| adalimumab  | L04AB04  | 8.1                 |
| albendazole   | P02CA03  | 6.1.1; 6.1.2; 6.1.4 |
| alcohol based hand rub  | D08AX08  | 15.2                |
| allopurinol   | M04AA01  | 8.2.5; 29.1         |
| all-trans retinoid acid (ATRA)  | L01XF01  | 8.2.2               |
| alteplase   | B01AD02  | 12.5.2              |
| amidotriozate   | V08AA01  | 14.2                |
| amikacin  | J01GB06  | 6.2.1; 6.2.5        |
| amiloride   | C03DB01  | 16                  |
| amiodarone  | C01BD01  | 12.2                |
| amitriptyline   | N06AA09  | 2.3; 24.2.1         |
| amlodipine  | C08CA01  | 12.3                |

| Medicine or item as in EML                   | ATC code           | Section      |
|--|--------------------|--------------|
| amodiaquine                                  | P01BA06            | 6.5.3.1      |
| amodiaquine – sulfadoxine +<br>pyrimethamine | P01BA06<br>P01BD51 | 6.5.3.2      |
| amoxicillin                                  | J01CA04            | 6.2.1        |
| amoxicillin + clavulanic acid                | J01CR02            | 6.2.1; 6.2.5 |
| amphotericin B                               | J02AA01            | 6.3; 6.5.2   |
| ampicillin                                   | J01CA01            | 6.2.1        |
| anastrozole                                  | L02BG03            | 8.2.4        |
| ansuvimab                                    | J06BD04            | 6.7          |
| anti-D immunoglobulin                        | J06BB01            | 11.2.1       |
| anti-rabies immunoglobulin                   | J06BB05            | 11.2.1       |
| anti-rabies virus monoclonal antibodies      | -                  | 19.2         |
| anti-tetanus immunoglobulin                  | J06BB02            | 11.2.1       |
| antivenom immunoglobulin                     | -                  | 19.2         |
| aprepitant                                   | A04AD12            | 17.2         |
| arsenic trioxide                             | L01XX27            | 8.2.1        |
| artemether                                   | P01BE02            | 6.5.3.1      |
| artemether + lumefantrine                    | P01BF01            | 6.5.3.1      |
| artesunate                                   | P01BE03            | 6.5.3.1      |
| artesunate + amodiaquine                     | P01BF03            | 6.5.3.1      |
| artesunate + mefloquine                      | P01BF02            | 6.5.3.1      |
| artesunate + pyronaridine<br>tetraphosphate  | P01BF06            | 6.5.3.1      |
| ascorbic acid                                | A11GA01            | 27           |
| asparaginase                                 | L01XX02            | 8.2.1        |
| atazanavir + ritonavir                       | J05AR23            | 6.4.2.3      |
| atoltivimab + maftivimab + odesivimab        | -                  | 6.7          |
| atorvastatin + perindopril + amlodipine      | C10BX11            | 12.7         |
| atracurium                                   | M03AC04            | 20           |
| atropine                                     | A03BA01            | 1.3; 4.2     |
| atropine                                     | S01FA01            | 21.5         |
| azathioprine                                 | L04AX01            | 8.1; 29.2    |

| Medicine or item as in EML  | ATC code | Section                |
|-----------------------------|----------|------------------------|
| azithromycin                | J01FA10  | 6.2.2                  |
| azithromycin                | S01AA26  | 21.1                   |
|                             |          |                        |
| barium sulfate              | V08BA01  | 14.2                   |
| BCG vaccine                 | L03AX03  | 19.3                   |
| bedaquiline                 | J04AK05  | 6.2.5                  |
| bendamustine                | L01AA09  | 8.2.1                  |
| benzathine benzylpenicillin | J01CE08  | 6.2.1                  |
| benznidazole                | P01CA02  | 6.5.5.2                |
| benzoyl peroxide            | D10AE01  | 13.4                   |
| benzyl benzoate             | P03AX01  | 13.5                   |
| benzylpenicillin            | J01CE01  | 6.2.1                  |
| betamethasone               | D07AC01  | 13.3                   |
| bevacizumab                 | S01LA08  | 21.6                   |
| bicalutamide                | L02BB03  | 8.2.4                  |
| biperiden                   | N04AA02  | 5.3                    |
| bisoprolol                  | C07AB07  | 12.1; 12.2; 12.3; 12.4 |
| bleomycin                   | L01DC01  | 8.2.1                  |
| bortezomib                  | L01XG01  | 8.2.2                  |
| budesonide                  | R03BA02  | 25.1                   |
| budesonide                  | R01AD05  | 28                     |
| budesonide + formoterol     | R03AK07  | 25.1                   |
| bupivacaine                 | N01BB01  | 1.2                    |
| bupropion                   | N06AX12  | 24.5.2                 |
|                             |          |                        |
| cabergoline                 | G02CB03  | 18.8                   |
| caffeine citrate            | R07AB    | 22.6                   |
| calamine                    | D02AB    | 13.3                   |
| calcipotriol                | D05AX02  | 13.4                   |
| calcium                     | A12AA20  | 27                     |
| calcium folinate            | V03AF03  | 8.2.1                  |
| calcium gluconate           | A12AA03  | 4.2; 27                |

| Medicine or item as in EML | ATC code | Section                |
|----------------------------|----------|------------------------|
| capecitabine               | L01BC06  | 8.2.1                  |
| carbamazepine              | N03AF01  | 5.1; 24.2.2            |
| carbetocin                 | H01BB03  | 22.3                   |
| carboplatin                | L01XA02  | 8.2.1                  |
| cefalexin                  | J01DB01  | 6.2.1                  |
| cefazolin                  | J01DB04  | 6.2.1                  |
| cefiderocol                | J01DI04  | 6.2.3                  |
| cefixime                   | J01DD08  | 6.2.2                  |
| cefotaxime                 | J01DD01  | 6.2.2                  |
| ceftazidime                | J01DD02  | 6.2.2                  |
| ceftazidime + avibactam    | J01DD52  | 6.2.3                  |
| ceftolozane + tazobactam   | J01DI54  | 6.2.3                  |
| ceftriaxone                | J01DD04  | 6.2.2                  |
| cefuroxime                 | J01DC02  | 6.2.2                  |
| charcoal, activated        | A07BA01  | 4.1                    |
| chlorambucil               | L01AA02  | 8.2.1                  |
| chloramphenicol            | J01BA01  | 6.2.1                  |
| chlorhexidine              | D08AC02  | 15.1; 22.6             |
| chlorine base compound     | -        | 15.2                   |
| chloroquine                | P01BA01  | 6.5.3.1; 6.5.3.2; 29.2 |
| chloroxylenol              | D08AE05  | 15.2                   |
| cholera vaccine            | J07AE    | 19.3                   |
| ciclosporin                | L04AD01  | 8.1                    |
| ciprofloxacin              | J01MA02  | 6.2.2                  |
| ciprofloxacin              | S02AA15  | 28                     |
| cisplatin                  | L01XA01  | 8.2.1                  |
| cladribine                 | L04AA40  | 5.2                    |
| clarithromycin             | J01FA09  | 6.2.2                  |
| clindamycin                | J01FF01  | 6.2.1                  |
| clofazimine                | J04BA01  | 6.2.4; 6.2.5           |
| clomifene                  | G03GB02  | 22.2                   |
| clomipramine               | N06AA04  | 24.4                   |

| Medicine or item as in EML        | ATC code           | Section   |
|-----------------------------------|--------------------|-----------|
| clopidogrel                       | B01AC04            | 12.5.1    |
| clotrimazole                      | G01AF02            | 6.3       |
| cloxacillin                       | J01CF02            | 6.2.1     |
| clozapine                         | N05AH02            | 24.1      |
| coagulation factor IX             | B02BD04            | 11.2.2    |
| coagulation factor VIII           | B02BD02            | 11.2.2    |
| coal tar                          | D05AA              | 13.4      |
| codeine                           | R05DA04            | 2.2       |
| colecalciferol                    | A11CC05            | 27        |
| colistin                          | J01XB01            | 6.2.3     |
| condoms                           | _                  | 22.1.4    |
| copper-containing device          | G02BA02            | 22.1.3    |
| cryoprecipitate, pathogen-reduced | B05AA02            | 11.1      |
| cyclizine                         | R06AE03            | 2.3       |
| cyclophosphamide                  | L01AA01            | 8.2.1     |
| cycloserine                       | J04AB01            | 6.2.5     |
| cytarabine                        | L01BC01            | 8.2.1     |
|                                   |                    |           |
| dabigatran                        | B01AE07            | 10.2      |
| dacarbazine                       | L01AX04            | 8.2.1     |
| daclatasvir                       | J05AP07            | 6.4.4.2.1 |
| daclatasvir + sofosbuvir          | J05AP07<br>J05AP08 | 6.4.4.2.1 |
| dactinomycin                      | L01DA01            | 8.2.1     |
| dapsone                           | J04BA02            | 6.2.4     |
| darbepoetin alfa                  | B03XA02            | 10.1      |
| darunavir                         | J05AE10            | 6.4.2.3   |
| dasatinib                         | L01EA02            | 8.2.2     |
| daunorubicin                      | L01DB02            | 8.2.1     |
| deferasirox                       | V03AC03            | 10.3      |
| deferoxamine                      | V03AC01            | 4.2; 10.3 |
| delamanid                         | J04AK06            | 6.2.5     |

| Medicine or item as in EML                          | ATC code | Section                   |
|---|----------|---------------------------|
| dengue vaccine                                      | J07BX04  | 19.3                      |
| desmopressin  | H01BA02  | 10.2                      |
| dexamethasone                                       | H02AB02  | 2.3; 3; 8.2.4; 17.2; 22.5 |
| dextran 70  | B05AA05  | 11.3                      |
| diaphrams   | -        | 22.1.4                    |
| diazepam  | N05BA01  | 2.3; 5.1; 24.3            |
| diazoxide   | V03AH01  | 18.6                      |
| diethylcarbamazine                                  | P02CB02  | 6.1.2                     |
| digoxin   | C01AA05  | 12.2; 12.4                |
| dihydroartemisinin + piperaquine<br>phopshate       | P01BF05  | 6.5.3.1                   |
| diloxanide  | P01AC01  | 6.5.1                     |
| dimercaprol   | V03AB09  | 4.2                       |
| diphtheria antitoxin                                | J06AA01  | 19.2                      |
| diphtheria vaccine                                  | J07AF01  | 19.3                      |
| docetaxel   | L01CD02  | 8.2.1                     |
| docusate sodium                                     | A06AA02  | 2.3                       |
| dolutegravir  | J05AJ03  | 6.4.2.4                   |
| dolutegravir + lamivudine + tenofovir               | J05AR27  | 6.4.2.5                   |
| dopamine  | C01CA04  | 12.4                      |
| doxorubicin   | L01DB01  | 8.2.1                     |
| doxycycline   | J01AA02  | 6.2.1; 6.5.3.1; 6.5.3.2   |
| efavirenz   | J05AG03  | 6.4.2.2                   |
| efavirenz + emtricitabine + tenofovir<br>disoproxil | J05AR06  | 6.4.2.5                   |
| efavirenz + lamivudine + tenofovir<br>disoproxil    | J05AR11  | 6.4.2.5                   |
| eflornithine  | P01CX03  | 6.5.5.1                   |
| empagliflozin                                       | A10BK03  | 18.5.2                    |
| emtricitabine + tenofovir disoproxil                | J05AR03  | 6.4.2.5                   |
| enalapril   | C09AA02  | 12.3; 12.4                |
| enoxaparin  | B01AB05  | 10.2                      |

| Medicine or item as in EML                            | ATC code                      | Section       |
|---|-------------------------------|---------------|
| entecavir   | J05AF10                       | 6.4.4.1.1     |
| ephedrine   | C01CA26                       | 1.2           |
| epinephrine   | S01EA01                       | 21.5          |
| epinephrine (adrenaline)                              | C01CA24                       | 3; 12.2; 25.1 |
| equine rabies immunoglobulin                          | J06BB05                       | 19.2          |
| ergocalciferol  | A11CC01                       | 27            |
| ergometrine   | G02AB03                       | 22.3          |
| erlotinib   | L01EB02                       | 8.2.2         |
| erythromycin  | S01AA17                       | 21.1          |
| erythropoiesis-stimulating agents                     | B03XA01<br>B03XA02<br>B03XA03 | 10.1          |
| estradiol cypionate +<br>medroxyprogesterone acetate  | G03AA17                       | 22.1.2        |
| ethambutol  | J04AK02                       | 6.2.5         |
| ethambutol + isoniazid +<br>pyrazinamide + rifampicin | J04AM06                       | 6.2.5         |
| ethambutol + isoniazid + rifampicin                   | J04AM07                       | 6.2.5         |
| ethanol   | D08AX08                       | 15.1          |
| ethinylestradiol + etonogestrel                       | G02BB01                       | 22.1.6        |
| ethinylestradiol + levonorgestrel                     | G03AA07                       | 22.1.1        |
| ethinylestradiol + norethisterone                     | G03AA05                       | 22.1.1        |
| ethionamide   | J04AD03                       | 6.2.5         |
| ethosuximide  | N03AD01                       | 5.1           |
| etonogestrel-releasing implant                        | G03AC08                       | 22.1.5        |
| etoposide   | L01CB01                       | 8.2.1         |
| everolimus  | L01EG02                       | 8.2.2         |
| fentanyl  | N02AB03                       | 2.2           |
| ferrous salt  | B03AA02<br>B03AA07            | 10.1          |
| ferrous salt + folic acid                             | B03AD02<br>B03AD03            | 10.1          |
| fexinidazole  | P01CA03                       | 6.5.5.1       |

| Medicine or item as in EML            | ATC code | Section     |
|---------------------------------------|----------|-------------|
| filgrastim                            | L03AA02  | 8.2.3       |
| fluconazole                           | J02AC01  | 6.3         |
| flucytosine                           | J02AX01  | 6.3         |
| fludarabine                           | L01BB05  | 8.2.1       |
| fludrocortisone                       | H02AA02  | 18.1        |
| fluorescein                           | S01JA01  | 14.1        |
| fluoride                              | A01AA    | 30          |
| fluorouracil                          | L01BC02  | 8.2.1; 13.4 |
| fluoxetine                            | N06AB03  | 2.3; 24.2.1 |
| fluphenazine                          | N05AB02  | 24.1        |
| folic acid                            | B03BB01  | 10.1        |
| fomepizole                            | V03AB34  | 4.2         |
| fosfomycin                            | J01XX01  | 6.2.3       |
| fresh frozen plasma                   | B05AX03  | 11.1        |
| furosemide                            | C03CA01  | 12.4; 16    |
|                                       |          |             |
| gemcitabine                           | L01BC05  | 8.2.1       |
| gentamicin                            | J01GB03  | 6.2.1       |
| gentamicin                            | S01AA11  | 21.1        |
| glass ionomer cement                  | -        | 30          |
| glatiramer acetate                    | L03AX13  | 5.2         |
| glecaprevir + pibrentasvir            | J05AP57  | 6.4.4.2.1   |
| gliclazide                            | A10BB09  | 18.5.2      |
| glucagon                              | H04AA01  | 18.6        |
| glucose                               | B05CX01  | 26.2        |
| glucose with sodium chloride          | B05BA03  | 26.2        |
| glutaral                              | -        | 15.2        |
| glyceryl trinitrate                   | C01DA02  | 12.1        |
| griseofulvin                          | D01BA01  | 6.3         |
|                                       |          |             |
| Haemophilus influenzae type b vaccine | J07AG01  | 19.3        |
| haloperidol                           | N05AD01  | 2.3; 24.1   |

| Medicine or item as in EML            | ATC code | Section        |
|---------------------------------------|----------|----------------|
| halothane                             | N01AB01  | 1.1.1          |
| heparin sodium                        | B01AB01  | 10.2           |
| hepatitis A vaccine                   | J07BC02  | 19.3           |
| hepatitis B vaccine                   | J07BC01  | 19.3           |
| hydralazine                           | C02DB02  | 12.3           |
| hydrochlorothiazide                   | C03AA03  | 12.3; 12.4; 16 |
| hydrocortisone                        | A07EA02  | 17.3           |
| hydrocortisone                        | D07AA02  | 13.3           |
| hydrocortisone                        | H02AB09  | 3; 8.2.4; 18.1 |
| hydroxocobalamin                      | B03BA03  | 10.1           |
| hydroxycarbamide                      | L01XX05  | 8.2.1; 10.3    |
| hydroxychloroquine                    | P01BA02  | 29.2           |
| hyoscine butylbromide                 | A03BB01  | 2.3            |
| hyoscine hydrobromide                 | A04AD01  | 2.3            |
|                                       |          |                |
| ibrutinib                             | L01EL01  | 8.2.2          |
| ibuprofen                             | C01EB16  | 22.6           |
| ibuprofen                             | M01AE01  | 2.1; 7.1       |
| ifosfamide                            | L01AA06  | 8.2.1          |
| imatinib                              | L01EA01  | 8.2.2          |
| influenza vaccine                     | J07BB    | 19.3           |
| insulin injection (soluble) (human)   | A10AB01  | 18.5.1         |
| Intermediate-acting insulin (human)   | A10AC01  | 18.5.1         |
| intraperitoneal dialysis solution     | -        | 23             |
| iodine                                | H03CA    | 18.7; 27       |
| iodine                                | D08AG03  | 6.3            |
| iohexol                               | V08AB02  | 14.2           |
| ipratropium bromide                   | R03BB01  | 25.1           |
| irinotecan                            | L01CE02  | 8.2.1          |
| isoflurane                            | N01AB06  | 1.1.1          |
| isoniazid                             | J04AC01  | 6.2.5          |
| isoniazid + pyrazinamide + rifampicin | J04AM05  | 6.2.5          |

| Medicine or item as in EML                                  | ATC code           | Section           |
|---|--------------------|-------------------|
| isoniazid + pyridoxine +<br>sulfamethoxazole + trimethoprim | J04AM08            | 6.4.2.6           |
| isoniazid + rifampicin                                      | J04AM02            | 6.2.5             |
| isoniazid + rifapentine                                     | J04AC51            | 6.2.5             |
| isosorbide dinitrate  | C01DA08            | 12.1              |
| itraconazole  | J02AC02            | 6.3               |
| ivermectin  | P02CF01            | 6.1.1; 6.1.2; 6.6 |
| Japanese encephalitis vaccine                               | J07BA02<br>J07BA03 | 19.3              |
| ketamine  | N01AX03            | 1.1.2             |
| lactulose   | A06AD11            | 2.3               |
| lamivudine  | J05AF05            | 6.4.2.1           |
| lamivudine + zidovudine                                     | J05AR01            | 6.4.2.5           |
| lamotrigine   | N03AX09            | 5.1               |
| latanoprost   | S01EE01            | 21.4              |
| ledipasvir + sofosbuvir                                     | J05AP51            | 6.4.4.2.2         |
| lenalidomide  | L04AX04            | 8.2.3             |
| letrozole   | L02BG04            | 22.2              |
| leuprorelin   | L02AE02            | 8.2.4             |
| levamisole  | P02CE01            | 6.1.1             |
| levetiracetam   | N03AX14            | 5.1               |
| levodopa + carbidopa  | N04BA02            | 5.3               |
| levofloxacin  | J01MA12            | 6.2.5             |
| levonorgestrel  | G03AC03            | 22.2.1            |
| levonorgestrel  | G03AD01            | 22.2.1            |
| levonorgestrel-releasing implant                            | G03AC03            | 22.1.5            |
| levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system                | G02BA03            | 22.1.3            |
| levothyroxine   | H03AA01            | 18.7              |
| lidocaine   | C01BB01            | 12.2              |

| Medicine or item as in EML       | ATC code                      | Section          |
|----------------------------------|-------------------------------|------------------|
| lidocaine                        | N01BB02                       | 1.2              |
| lidocaine + epinephrine          | N01BB52                       | 1.2              |
| linezolid                        | J01XX08                       | 6.2.3; 6.2.5     |
| lisinopril + amlodipine          | C09BB03                       | 12.3             |
| lisinopril + hydrochlorothiazide | C09BA03                       | 12.3             |
| lithium carbonate                | N05AN01                       | 24.2.2           |
| long-acting insulin analogues    | A10AE04<br>A10AE05<br>A10AE06 | 18.5.1           |
| loperamide                       | A07DA03                       | 2.3              |
| lopinavir + ritonavir            | J05AR10                       | 6.4.2.3          |
| loratadine                       | R06AX13                       | 3                |
| lorazepam                        | N05BA06                       | 5.1              |
| losartan                         | C09CA01                       | 12.3; 12.4       |
| Lugol's solution                 | H03CA                         | 18.7             |
|                                  |                               |                  |
| magnesium sulfate                | B05XA05                       | 5.1              |
| mannitol                         | B05BC01                       | 16               |
| measles vaccine                  | J07BD01                       | 19.3             |
| mebendazole                      | P02CA01                       | 6.1.1; 6.1.4     |
| medroxyprogesterone acetate      | G03AC06                       | 22.1.2           |
| medroxyprogesterone acetate      | G03DA02                       | 18.4             |
| mefloquine                       | P01BC02                       | 6.5.3.1; 6.5.3.2 |
| meglumine antimoniate            | P01CB01                       | 6.5.2            |
| meglumine iotroxate              | V08AC02                       | 14.2             |
| melarsoprol                      | P01CD01                       | 6.5.5.1          |
| melphalan                        | L01AA03                       | 8.2.1            |
| meningococcal meningitis vaccine | J07AH                         | 19.3             |
| mercaptopurine                   | L01BB02                       | 8.2.1            |
| meropenem                        | J01DH02                       | 6.2.2; 6.2.5     |
| meropenem + vaborbactam          | J01DH52                       | 6.2.3            |
| mesna                            | V03AF01                       | 8.2.5            |

| Medicine or item as in EML                    | ATC code | Section       |
|---|----------|---------------|
| metformin                                     | A10BA02  | 18.5.2        |
| methadone                                     | N07BC02  | 2.2; 24.5     |
| methimazole                                   | H03BB02  | 18.7          |
| methotrexate                                  | L01BA01  | 8.2.1         |
| methotrexate                                  | L04AX03  | 29.2          |
| methyldopa                                    | C02AB01  | 12.3          |
| methylprednisolone                            | H02AB04  | 8.2.4         |
| methylthioninium chloride<br>(methylene blue) | V03AB17  | 4.2           |
| metoclopramide                                | A03FA01  | 2.3; 17.2     |
| metronidazole                                 | J01XD01  | 6.2.1         |
| metronidazole                                 | P01AB01  | 6.5.1         |
| micafungin                                    | J02AX05  | 6.3           |
| miconazole                                    | D01AC02  | 13.1          |
| midazolam                                     | N05CD08  | 1.3; 2.3; 5.1 |
| mifepristone – misoprostol                    | G03XB51  | 22.3          |
| miltefosine                                   | P01CX04  | 6.5.2         |
| misoprostol                                   | G02AD06  | 22.3          |
| morphine                                      | N02AA01  | 1.3; 2.2      |
| moxifloxacin                                  | J01MA14  | 6.2.5         |
| multiple micronutrient powder                 | A11AA01  | 27            |
| multiple micronutrient supplement             | A11AA01  | 22.5          |
| mumps vaccine                                 | J07BE01  | 19.3          |
| mupirocin                                     | D06AX09  | 13.2          |
|   |          |               |
| naloxone                                      | V03AB15  | 4.2           |
| naltrexone                                    | N07BB04  | 24.5.1        |
| natamycin                                     | S01AA10  | 21.1          |
| neostigmine                                   | N07AA01  | 20            |
| nevirapine                                    | J05AG01  | 6.4.2.2       |
| niclosamide                                   | P02DA01  | 6.1.1         |
| nicotinamide                                  | A11HA01  | 27            |

| Medicine or item as in EML            | ATC code         | Section          |
|---------------------------------------|------------------|------------------|
| nicotine replacement therapy          | N07BA01          | 24.5             |
| nifedipine                            | C08CA05          | 22.4             |
| nifurtimox                            | P01CC01          | 6.5.5.1; 6.5.5.2 |
| nilotinib                             | L01EA03          | 8.2.2            |
| nitrofurantoin                        | J01XE01          | 6.2.1            |
| nitrous oxide                         | N01AX13          | 1.1.1            |
| nivolumab                             | L01FF01          | 8.2.3            |
| norethisterone enantate               | G03AC01          | 22.1.2           |
| normal immunoglobulin                 | J06BA            | 11.2.1           |
| nystatin                              | A07AA02          | 6.3              |
| nystatin                              | G01AA01          | 6.3              |
|                                       |                  |                  |
| octreotide                            | H01CB02          | 18.8             |
| ofloxacin                             | S01AE01          | 21.1             |
| olanzapine                            | N05AH03          | 24.1             |
| omeprazole                            | A02BC01          | 17.1             |
| ondansetron                           | A04AA01          | 2.3; 17.2        |
| oral rehydration salts                | A07CA            | 17.5.1; 26.1     |
| oral rehydration salts – zinc sulfate | A07CA<br>A12CB01 | 17.5             |
| oseltamivir                           | J05AH02          | 6.4.3            |
| oxaliplatin                           | L01XA03          | 8.2.1            |
| oxamniquine                           | P02BA02          | 6.1.3            |
| oxygen                                | V03AN01          | 1.1.1; 1.4       |
| oxytocin                              | H01BB02          | 22.3             |
|                                       |                  |                  |
| paclitaxel                            | L01CD01          | 8.2.1            |
| p-aminosalicylate sodium              | J04AA01          | 6.2.5            |
| pancreatic enzymes                    | A09AA02          | 17               |
| paracetamol                           | N02BE01          | 2.1; 7.1         |
| paromomycin                           | A07AA06          | 6.5.2            |
| pegaspargase                          | L01XX24          | 8.2.1            |

| Medicine or item as in EML                                   | ATC code | Section             |
|--|----------|---------------------|
| pegfilgrastim  | L03AA13  | 8.2.3               |
| penicillamine  | M01CC01  | 4.2; 29.2           |
| pentamidine  | P01CX01  | 6.5.4; 6.5.5.1      |
| permethrin   | P03AC04  | 13.5                |
| pertussis vaccine  | J07AJ01  | 19.3                |
| phenobarbital  | N03AA02  | 5.1                 |
| phenoxymethylpenicillin                                      | J01CE02  | 6.2.1               |
| phenytoin  | N03AB02  | 5.1                 |
| phytomenadione   | B02BA01  | 10.2                |
| pilocarpine  | S01EB01  | 21.4                |
| piperacillin + tazobactam                                    | J01CR05  | 6.2.2               |
| platelets  | B05AX02  | 11.1                |
| plazomicin   | J01GB14  | 6.2.3               |
| pneumococcal vaccine   | J07AL01  | 19.3                |
| podophyllum resin  | D06BB04  | 13.4                |
| poliomyelitis vaccine  | J07BF    | 19.3                |
| polymyxin B  | J01XB02  | 6.2.3               |
| potassium chloride   | B05XA01  | 26.1; 26.2          |
| potassium ferric hexacyanoferrate (II)<br>·2H <sub>2</sub> O | V03AB31  | 4.2                 |
| potassium iodide   | D08AG03  | 6.3                 |
| potassium iodide   | V03AB21  | 18.7                |
| potassium permanganate                                       | D08AX06  | 13.2                |
| povidone iodine  | D08AG02  | 15.1                |
| praziquantel   | P02BA01  | 6.1.1; 6.1.3; 6.1.4 |
| prednisolone   | H02AB06  | 3; 8.2.4            |
| prednisolone   | S01BA04  | 21.2                |
| pretomanid   | J04AK08  | 6.2.5               |
| primaquine   | P01BA03  | 6.5.3.1             |
| procaine benzylpenicillin                                    | J01CE09  | 6.2.1               |
| procarbazine   | L01XB01  | 8.2.1               |
| progesterone vaginal ring                                    | G02BB02  | 22.1.6              |

| Medicine or item as in EML       | ATC code | Section          |
|----------------------------------|----------|------------------|
| proguanil                        | P01BB01  | 6.5.3.2          |
| propofol                         | N01AX10  | 1.1.2            |
| propranolol                      | C07AA05  | 7.2              |
| propylthiouracil                 | H03BA02  | 18.7             |
| prostaglandin E1                 | C01EA    | 22.6             |
| protamine sulfate                | V03AB14  | 10.2             |
| pyrantel                         | P02CC01  | 6.1.1            |
| pyrazinamide                     | J04AK01  | 6.2.5            |
| pyridostigmine                   | N07AA02  | 20               |
| pyridoxine                       | A11HA02  | 27               |
| pyrimethamine                    | P01BD01  | 6.5.4            |
|                                  |          |                  |
| quetiapine                       | N05AH04  | 24.2.2           |
| quinine                          | P01BC01  | 6.5.3.1          |
|                                  |          |                  |
| rabies vaccine                   | J07BG    | 19.3             |
| raltegravir                      | J05AJ01  | 6.4.2.4          |
| ranitidine                       | A02BA02  | 17.1             |
| rasburicase                      | V03AF07  | 8.2.5            |
| ravidasvir                       | -        | 6.4.4.2.1        |
| ready-to-use therapeutic food    | -        | 9                |
| realgar-Indigo naturalis formula | -        | 8.2.1            |
| red blood cells                  | B05AX01  | 11.1             |
| resin-based composites           | -        | 30               |
| retinol                          | A11CA01  | 27               |
| ribavirin                        | J05AP01  | 6.4.3; 6.4.4.2.3 |
| riboflavin                       | A11HA04  | 27               |
| rifabutin                        | J04AB04  | 6.2.5            |
| rifampicin                       | J04AB02  | 6.2.4; 6.2.5     |
| rifapentine                      | J04AB05  | 6.2.5            |
| risperidone                      | N05AX08  | 24.1             |
| ritonavir                        | J05AE03  | 6.4.2.3          |

| Medicine or item as in EML       | ATC code | Section      |
|----------------------------------|----------|--------------|
| rituximab                        | L01FA01  | 5.2; 8.2.2   |
| rotavirus vaccines               | J07BH    | 19.3         |
| rubella vaccines                 | J07BJ    | 19.3         |
|                                  |          |              |
| salbutamol                       | R03AC02  | 25.1         |
| salicylic acid                   | D01AE12  | 13.4         |
| selenium sulfide                 | D01AE13  | 13.1         |
| senna                            | A06AB06  | 2.3; 17.4    |
| sevoflurane                      | N01AB08  | 1.1.1        |
| silver diamine fluoride          | -        | 30           |
| silver sulfadiazine              | D06BA01  | 13.2         |
| simvastatin                      | C10AA01  | 12.6         |
| sodium calcium edetate           | V03AB03  | 4.2          |
| sodium chloride                  | B05XA03  | 26.2         |
| sodium hydrogen carbonate        | B05XA02  | 26.2         |
| sodium lactate compound solution | -        | 26.2         |
| sodium nitrite                   | V03AB08  | 4.2          |
| sodium nitroprusside             | C02DD01  | 12.3         |
| sodium stibogluconate            | P01CB02  | 6.5.2        |
| sodium thiosulfate               | V03AB06  | 4.2; 13.1    |
| sofosbuvir                       | J05AP08  | 6.4.4.2.1    |
| sofosbuvir + velpatasvir         | J05AP55  | 6.4.4.2.1    |
| spectinomycin                    | J01XX04  | 6.2.1        |
| spironolactone                   | C03DA01  | 12.4; 16     |
| streptokinase                    | B01AD01  | 12.5.2       |
| streptomycin                     | J01GA01  | 6.2.5        |
| succimer                         | -        | 4.2          |
| sulfadiazine                     | J01EC02  | 6.5.4        |
| sulfadoxine + pyrimethamine      | P01BD51  | 6.5.3.1      |
| sulfamethoxazole + trimethoprim  | J01EE01  | 6.2.1; 6.5.4 |
| sulfasalazine                    | A07EC01  | 17.3; 29.2   |
| sumatriptan                      | N02CC01  | 7.1          |
| Medicine or item as in EML                       | ATC code | Section            |
|--|----------|--------------------|
| suramin sodium                                   | P01CX02  | 6.5.5.1            |
| suxamethonium                                    | M03AB01  | 20                 |
|  |          |                    |
| tacrolimus                                       | L04AD02  | 8.1                |
| tamoxifen  | L02BA01  | 8.2.4              |
| telmisartan + amlodipine                         | C09DB04  | 12.3               |
| telmisartan + hydrochlorothiazide                | C09DA07  | 12.3               |
| tenofovir disoproxil fumarate                    | J05AF07  | 6.4.2.1; 6.4.4.1.1 |
| terbinafine                                      | D01AE15  | 13.1               |
| testosterone                                     | G03BA03  | 18.2               |
| tetanus vaccine                                  | J07AM01  | 19.3               |
| tetracaine                                       | S01HA03  | 21.3               |
| tetracycline                                     | S01AA09  | 21.1               |
| thalidomide                                      | L04AX02  | 8.2.3              |
| thiamine   | A11DA01  | 27                 |
| tick-borne encephalitis vaccine                  | J07BA01  | 19.3               |
| timolol  | S01ED01  | 21.4               |
| tioguanine                                       | L01BB03  | 8.2.1              |
| tiotropium                                       | R03BB04  | 25.1               |
| tranexamic acid                                  | B02AA02  | 10.2; 22.5         |
| trastuzumab                                      | L01FD01  | 8.2.2              |
| triamcinolone hexacetonide                       | H02AB08  | 29.3               |
| triclabendazole                                  | P02BX04  | 6.1.3              |
| trimethoprim                                     | J01EA01  | 6.2.1              |
| tropicamide                                      | S01FA06  | 14.1               |
| tuberculin, purified protein derivative<br>(PPD) | V04CF01  | 19.1               |
| typhoid vaccine                                  | J07AP    | 19.3               |
|  |          |                    |
| ulipristal                                       | G03AD02  | 22.1.1             |
| urea   | D02AE01  | 13.4               |

| Medicine or item as in EML       | ATC code | Section     |
|----------------------------------|----------|-------------|
| valganciclovir                   | J05AB14  | 6.4.3       |
| valproic acid (sodium valproate) | N03AG01  | 5.1; 24.2.2 |
| vancomycin                       | A07AA09  | 6.2.2       |
| vancomycin                       | J01XA01  | 6.2.2       |
| varenicline                      | N07BA03  | 24.5        |
| varicella vaccines               | J07BK    | 19.3        |
| vecuronium                       | M03AC03  | 20          |
| verapamil                        | C08DA01  | 12.1; 12.2  |
| vinblastine                      | L01CA01  | 8.2.1       |
| vincristine                      | L01CA02  | 8.2.1       |
| vinorelbine                      | L01CA04  | 8.2.1       |
| voriconazole                     | J02AC03  | 6.3         |
|                                  |          |             |
| warfarin                         | B01AA03  | 10.2        |
| water for Injection              | V07AB    | 26.3        |
| whole blood                      | B05A     | 11.1        |
|                                  |          |             |
| xylometazoline                   | R01AA07  | 28          |
|                                  |          |             |
| yellow fever vaccine             | J07BL01  | 19.3        |
|                                  |          |             |
| zidovudine                       | J05AF01  | 6.4.2.1     |
| zinc sulfate                     | A12CB01  | 17.5.2      |
| zoledronic acid                  | M05BA08  | 8.2.5       |

882

## SELECTED WHO PUBLICATIONS OF RELATED INTEREST

WHO electronic Essential Medicines List (eEML) World Health Organization (2023) https://list.essentialmeds.org/

AWaRe classification of antibiotics for evaluation and monitoring of use (2023) https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/371093

The WHO AWaRe (access, watch, reserve) antibiotic book (2022) https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/365237

The WHO AWaRe (Access, Watch, Reserve) antibiotic book – Infographics (2022) https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/365135

Selection of essential medicines at country level. Using the WHO Model List of Essential Medicines to update a national essential medicines list (2019) https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/330898

The selection and use of essential in vitro diagnostics: report of the fourth meeting of the WHO Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on In Vitro Diagnostics, 2022 (including the fourth WHO model list of essential in vitro diagnostics) https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/373322

Technical report: pricing of cancer medicines and its impacts: a comprehensive technical report for the World Health Assembly Resolution 700.12: operative paragraph 2.9 on pricing approaches and their impacts on availability of medicines for the prevention and treatment of cancer (2018) https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/277190

Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders. Third edition (2023) https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/374250

Abortion care guideline (2022) https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/349316

Therapeutics and COVID-19: living guideline (13 January 2023) https://app.magicapp.org/#/guideline/nBkO1E

Therapeutics for Ebola virus disease (2022) https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/361697

To purchase WHO publications, please contact:

WHO Press, World Health Organization, 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland; email: bookorders@who.int; order online: www.who.int/bookorders This report presents the recommendations of the WHO Expert Committee responsible for updating the WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children. It contains a summary of the evidence presented and the Committee's consideration, justifications and recommendations for additions, deletions and changes to medicines on the Model Lists.

